PROCEEDINGS

011010001100100

AET 2021

2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology

November 11-12, 2021 Kyiv, Ukraine

EDITORS

Serhiy Semerikov Viacheslav Osadchyi Olena Kuzminska



100

01000

AET 2021

Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology

Kyiv - Ukraine

November 11 - 12, 2021

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

Edited by Serhiy Semerikov, Viacheslav Osadchyi and Olena Kuzminska

Printed in Portugal ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0 DOI: 10.5220/0000159000003431 Depósito Legal: 515689/23

https://aet.easyscience.education/2021/

BRIEF CONTENTS

ORGANIZING COMMITTEES	IV
Foreword	IX
Contents	XI

ORGANIZING COMMITTEES

PROGRAM CO-CHAIRS

Dr. Serhiy Semerikov, Professor of Computer Science and Educational Technology, Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, Ukraine

Dr. Viacheslav Osadchyi, Dean of the Faculty of Economics and Management, Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, Kyiv, Ukraine

Dr. Olena Kuzminska, Professor of Department of Information Systems and Technologies, National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine, Kyiv, Ukraine

PROGRAM COMMITTEE

Dr. George Abuselidze, Professor of Economics and Business, Department of Finance, Banking and Insurance, Batumi Shota Rustaveli State University, Batumi, Georgia

Dr. Svitlana Amelina, Doctor of Education, Professor, Head of the Department of Foreign Philology and Translation, National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine, Kyiv, Ukraine

Dr. Vira Andriievska, Associate Professor, Department of Informatics, H. S. Skovoroda Kharkiv National Pedagogical University, Kharkiv, Ukraine

Dr. Dmytro Antoniuk, Assistant Professor of the Department of Software Engineering, Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, Zhytomyr, Ukraine

Dr. Liudmyla Bilousova, Full Professor, Independent researcher, Israel

Dr. Olena Bondarchuk, Professor of Psychology, Department of Management Psychology, University of Educational Management, Kyiv, Ukraine

Dr. Olga Bondarenko, Candidate of Pedagogical Sciences, Associate Professor, Department of Geography and Methods of Teaching, Kryvyi Rih, Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine

Dr. Roman Danel, researcher at Department of Mechanical Engineering, Faculty of Technology, Institute

of Technology and Businesses (VŠTE) in České Budějovice, Czech Republic; assistant at Department of Applied Informatics, Faculty of Economics, VŠB-Technical university of Ostrava, Czech Republic; visiting professor at WSG Bydgoszcz, Poland

Dr. Hanna Danylchuk, Associate Professor of the Department of Economics and Business Modeling, The Bohdan Khmelnytsky National University of Cherkasy, Cherkasy, Ukraine

Prof. Dr Tetiana M. Derkach, Chair of Professional Education in Technologies and Design, Professor at the Department of Industrial Pharmacy at Kyiv National University of Technologies and Design, Kyiv, Ukraine

Dr. Emre Erturk, PhD, Eastern Institute of Technology, New Zealand

Prof. Halina Falfushynska, Dr. Sci. Biochemistry, Vice-rector for Research and International Relations, Ternopil Volodymyr Hnatiuk National Pedagogical University, Ukraine

Ing. Helena Fidlerová, Ph.D., a senior researcher at the Slovak University of Technology in Bratislava, Faculty of Materials Science and Technology in Trnava, Institute of Industrial Engineering and Management, Slovakia

Dr. Irina Georgescu, Lecturer of Computational Intelligence, Department of Informatics and Economic Cybernetics, Bucharest University of Economics, Bucharest, Romania

Dr. Filip Górski, Assistant Professor, Faculty of Mechanical Engineering and Management, Poznan University of Technology, Poland

Dr. Liudmyla Gryzun, Full Professor of Information System Department at Simon Kuznets Kharkiv National University of Economics, Kharkiv, Ukraine Dr. Yasemin Gülbahar, Professor of Computer Education and Instructional Technologies (CEIT), Ankara University, Ankara, Turkey

Dr. Vita Hamaniuk, Professor of German, Literature and Didactics, Department of German, Literature and Didactics, Kryvyi Rih State Pedadogical University, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine

Dr. Pavlo Hryhoruk, Professor of Department of Automated Systems and Modeling in Economics of Khmelnytskyi National University, Khmelnytskyi, Ukraine

Dr. Anna Iatsyshyn, Senior Researcher, Department of Civil Protection and Innovation, State Institution "The Institute of Environmental Geochemistry of National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine", Kyiv,

Ukraine

Dr. Oleksii Ignatenko, deputy director of research, Institute of Software Systems NAS Ukraine, Kyiv, Ukraine

Dr. Liubov Kibalnyk, Head and Professor of Department of Economics and Business Modelling, Cherkasy Bohdan Khmelnytsky National University, Cherkasy, Ukraine

Dr. Arnold Kiv, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Israel

Dr. Oleksandr Kolgatin, Professor of Informatics, Department of Information Systems, Simon Kuznets Kharkiv National University of Economics, Kharkiv, Ukraine

Prof. Elena Komarova, Dr. of Pedagogical Sciences, Baltic Federal University named after I. Kant, Institute of Living Systems, Kaliningrad, Russia

Dr. Valerii Kontsedailo, PhD, Head of Product at Inner Circle, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Dr. Volodymyr Kukharenko, Head of the The Laboratory of Innovative Technologies in Education, Kharkiv National Automobile Highway University, Kharkiv, Ukraine

Dr. Andrey Kupin, Professor, Head of the Department of Computer Systems and Networks, Kryvyi Rih National University, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine

Dr. Olena Lavrentieva, Full Professor, Professor of the Department of Innovative Technologies in Pedagogy, Psychology and Social Work, Alfred Nobel University, Dnipro, Ukraine

Ph.D., assistant professor Nadiia Lobanchykova, the Dean of the Faculty of Information and Computer Technology, assistant professor Department of computer engineering and cybersecurity at the Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, Zhytomyr, Ukraine

Prof. Olena Lokshyna, Dr. Sc., Head of the Department of Comparative Education, Institute of Pedagogy of the National Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine, Kyiv, Ukraine

Dr. Svitlana Lytvynova, Deputy Director for Research, Institute of Information Technologies and Learning Tools of NAES of Ukraine, Kyiv, Ukraine

Dr. Svitlana Malchenko, Candidate of Physical and Mathematical Sciences, Associate Professor of Astrophysics and methodics of teaching astronomy, Department of Phisycs, Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine

Ph. D. Maiia V. Marienko, PhD (in Pedagogics), Senior Researcher in Department of Cloud-Oriented Systems of Education Informatization, Institute of Information Technologies and Learning Tools of the NAES of Ukraine, Kyiv, Ukraine

Liliia Midak, Candidate of chemical sciences, Associate Professor at the Department of Environmental Chemistry and Chemical Education, Vasyl Stefanyk Precarpathian National University, Ivano-Frankivsk, Ukraine

Ph. D. Iryna Mintii, associate professor of Computer Science, Department of Computer Science and Applied Mathematics, vice dean of Faculty of Physics and Mathematics, Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine

Dr. Natalia Moiseienko, Associated professor of Computer Science and Applied Mathematics Department, Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine

Andrii Morozov, Candidate of Technical Sciences (PhD), Associate Professor, Department of Computer Science, Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, Zhytomyr, Ukraine Dr. Nataliia Morze, Corresponding Member of National Academy of Pedagogical Sciences of Ukraine, Professor of Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University Department of Computer Science and Mathematics, Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, Kyiv, Ukraine

Dr. Ganna Muzychenko, Professor of Sciences and Law, South Ukrainian National Pedagogical University named after K. D. Ushynsky, Odessa, Ukraine

Ranesh Kumar Naha, University of Tasmania, Australia

Pavlo Nechypurenko, Associate Professor of Department of Chemistry and Methods of its Teaching, Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine

Yulia Nosenko, Leading Researcher, Department of Cloud-Oriented Systems of Education Informatization, Institute of Information Technologies and Learning Tools of NAES of Ukraine, Kyiv,

Ukrain

Dr. Nadiia Olefirenko, Chief in Department of Computer Science, H. S. Skovoroda Kharkiv National Pedagogical University, Kharkiv, Ukraine

Vasyl Oleksiuk, PhD (pedagogical sciences), associate professor of the Department of Computer Science and Teaching Techniques, Ternopil Volodymyr Hnatiuk National Pedagogical University, Ternopil, Ukraine

DSc Kateryna Osadcha, Associate professor, Department of Computer Science and Cybernetics, Bogdan Khmelnitsky Melitopol state pedagogical university, Melitopol, Ukraine

Dr. Liubov Panchenko, Professor at the Department of Sociology, National Technical University of Ukraine "Igor Sikorsky Kyiv Polytechnic Institute", Kyiv, Ukraine

Larysa Petrenko, Habilitated doctor, Doctor of Pedagogical Sciences, Department of vocational and higher education of the University of Educational Management, Kyiv, Ukraine

Olga Pinchuk, Deputy Director for Scientific Experimental Work, Leading Researcher, PhD (in Pedagogics), Senior Researcher in the field of information and communication technologies in education

Dr. Zoya Ryabova, Doctor of Education, Professor, University of Educational Management, Kyiv, Ukraine

Dr. Yevhenii Shapovalov, Chief specialist in Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine and Researcher in National Center "Junior Academy of Science of Ukraine"

Ph.D. Svitlana Shokaliuk, Associate Professor of Theory and Methodic Educational of Computer Science, Department of Computer Science and Applied Mathematics, Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine

Dr. Iryna Slipukhina, D.Ed., Professor at the Department of General and Applied Physics, National Aviation University, Kyiv, Ukraine

Dr. phil. Oleksandra Sokolyuk, Acting Deputy of Scientific Secretary Institute of Information Technologies and Learning Tools of NAES of Ukraine, Kyiv, Ukraine

Oleg Spirin, Doctor of Pedagogy, Full Professor, Corresponding Member of the National Academy of Pedagogical Science of Ukraine, Vice Rector for Research and Digitalization of the University of Educational Management, Kyiv, Ukraine

PhD. Viktoriia Tkachuk, associate Professor, Department of Professional and Social-Humanitarian Education, Kryvyi Rih National University, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine

Dr. Tetiana Vakaliuk, professor, professor of the department of Software Engineering, Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, Zhytomyr, Ukraine

Dr. Hanna Varina, Associate Professor at Department of Psychology, Bogdan Khmelnitsky Melitopol State Pedagogical University, Ukraine

Dr. Vladyslav Velychko, Associate Professor of Methods of Teaching Mathematics and Methods of Teaching Computer Science, Faculty of Physics and Mathematics, Donbas State Pedagogical University, Sloviansk, Ukraine

Dr. Kateryna Vlasenko, Professor of Maths, Department of Mathematics, National University of "Kyiv Mohyla Academy", Kyiv, Ukraine Tetiana Voloshyna, associate professor of Department of Information Systems and Technologies, National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine

Dr. Yuliia Yechkalo, Associate professor, Department of Physics, Kryvyi Rih National University, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine

Dr. Nataliia Zachosova, Professor of Management and Economic Security Department, Bohdan Khmelnytsky National University of Cherkasy, Cherkasy, Ukraine

FOREWORD

Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on **Advances in Educational Technology** (AET) is a peer-reviewed international conference focusing on research advances and applications of combined use of computer hardware, software, and educational theory and practice to facilitate learning. Today, AET is the premier interdisciplinary forum for learning scientists, academicians, researchers, professionals, policymakers, postgraduate students, and practitioners to present their latest research results, ideas, developments, and applications.

AET topics of interest are:

- Artificial Intelligence, knowledge engineering, and intelligent tutoring systems
- Aspects of environmental augmented reality security and ethics
- Augmented reality gamification
- · Augmented reality in professional training and retraining
- Augmented reality in science education
- · Augmented reality social and technical issues
- Cloud technologies for informatics learning
- Cloud technologies for mathematics learning
- Cloud technologies for physics learning
- · Cloud technologies of mobile learning
- · Cloud technologies of open education
- · Cloud-based and mobile learning technologies for teacher and VET
- · Cloud-based e-learning platforms, tools and services
- Cloud-based learning environments
- Cloud-based learning management systems
- Computer simulation in science and mathematics learning
- · Design and implementation of augmented reality learning environments
- Development of Soft Skills for teachers of institutions of professional, special before higher and higher education in the context of digitalization
- · Educational data mining and learning analytics
- ICT in higher education for a sustainable future society
- ICT in secondary education for a sustainable future society
- Learning environments models
- · Learning technology
- Machine learning, robot learning and artificial learning
- Management of professional development of specialists in the digital space of formal and non-formal education

- Massive open online courses
- Methodology of informatization in education
- Methods of using cloud-oriented learning tools
- Mobile and blended learning
- Mobile technology of augmented reality
- Modelling systems in education
- · Open learning systems and virtual conferences for training professionals
- Psychological safety of participants in the educational process in the digital educational environment
- Seamless learning and holistic education modelling and design
- STEAM education
- Supporting the development of 21st century skills through ICT
- Training and professional development of specialists in the digital twin of the educational institution
- Training of managers of a socio-political profile in the context of society digitalization: a humanistic aspect
- Virtualization of learning

This volume represents the proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology, held in Kyiv, Ukraine, on November 11-12, 2021. It comprises 65 contributed papers that were carefully peer-reviewed and selected from 200 submissions. Each submission was reviewed by at least 3, and on the average 3.1, program committee members. The accepted manuscripts provide an up-to-the-minute appraisal of successful cases and delineate guidelines for prospective research.

We express our gratitude to all the scholarly authors who submitted their works and the participants who graced the occasion with their presence and interest in AET as a platform for sharing their ingenious ideas. We are profoundly grateful to the program committee members for their unwavering guidance, while the peer reviewers, by offering constructive criticism, commendations, and corrections, have tremendously contributed to the quality of the publications. We extend our appreciation to the developers of HotCRP, whose exceptional conference management system provided us with a wealth of resources, from the call for papers and reviewer invitations to handling paper submissions and communication with the authors. Lastly, we acknowledge the SCITEPRESS team for their cordial and fruitful cooperation in assembling and publishing the symposium proceedings.

Editors Serhiy Semerikov Viacheslav Osadchyi Olena Kuzminska

CONTENTS

PAPERS

FULL PAPERS

The Graph-Based Approach to Creating a System of Educational Management Based on Labour Market Demand in Terms of STEM and Science Education Yevhenii Shapovalov, Viktor Shapovalov and Borys Shapovalov	5
Professional Stress Prevention Program for Employees Working Remotely in Crisis Nataliia Pinchuk, Oleksandra Pinchuk, Olena Bondarchuk, Valentyna Balakhtar, Kateryna Balakhtar, Nataliia Onopriienko-Kapustina, Mariya Shyshkina and Olena Kuzminska	20
Differentiated System for Digital Professional Development of University Teachers Nataliia V. Morze, Oksana P. Buinytska, Liliia O. Varchenko-Trotsenko and Tetiana S. Terletska	35
Learning Environment Design for Teaching Foreign Languages by Means of Instrumental Pedagogical Technologies Mariia O. Kuts, Olena O. Lavrentieva, Nataliia P. Volkova, Vladimir N. Soloviev and Oksana M. Kopylova	46
Implementation of a Single Information and Educational Environment of the University "NMU Digital" Yuriy L. Kuchyn, Oleksandr M. Naumenko, Oleg M. Vlasenko, Svitlana H. Lytvynova, Oleksandr Yu. Burov, Inna I. Kucherenko and Pavlo V. Mykytenko	62
Responsibility and Digital Competence of Future Socionomic Professionals: Relationship and Features of Development Olena I. Bondarchuk, Valentyna V. Balakhtar, Nina Lytvynenko, Nataliia Pinchuk, Oleh Shmanko, Arnold Kiv, Vasyl Oleksiuk, Andrii V. Pavlenok, Kateryna Balakhtar and Tamara Grubi	75
The Methodology for Using a Business Simulator with Elements of Machine Learning to Develop Personal Finance Management Skills Dmytro S. Antoniuk, Tetiana A. Vakaliuk, Vladyslav V. Didkivskyi, Oleksandr Yu. Vizghalov, Oksana V. Oliinyk and Valentyn M. Yanchuk	92
Test Quality Assessment and Adaptive Algorithm Based on IRT Models Alexander A. Kostikov, Kateryna V. Vlasenko, Iryna V. Lovianova, Vadim V. Khoroshailo and Natalia S. Hrudkina	103
Development of the Certification System of Educational Resources Oksana Buinytska and Svitlana Vasylenko	118
The Taxonomies of Educational and Scientific Studies Role in Centralized Informational Web-Oriented Educational Environment Viktor Shapovalov, Yevhenii Shapovalov, Roman Tarasenko, Stanislav Usenko, Adrian Paschke and Irina Shapovalova	128
The "Operating Systems" Course as a Base of Students' Learning Activity Parameters Investigation Oleksandr Kolgatin, Dmytro Holubnychyi and Larysa Kolgatina	144
Using the Discord Platform in the Educational Process Vladyslav S. Kruglyk, Alona V. Chorna, Iryna M. Serdiuk and Anton V. Marynov	158

Author's Refresher Course for Mathematics Teachers on the Use of Open Science Cloud Services Dmytro E. Bobyliev, Maiia V. Marienko, Mariya P. Shyshkina and Svitlana M. Hryshchenko	170
Methodology for Assessing the Quality of an Educational Program and Educational Activities of a Higher Education Institution Using a Neural Network Andriy V. Ryabko, Tetiana A. Vakaliuk, Oksana V. Zaika, Roman P. Kukharchuk, Viacheslav V. Osadchyi and Inesa V. Novitska	179
Complex Systems and Complex Thinking Within the Framework of Education 4.0 Andrii O. Bielinskyi, Arnold E. Kiv and Vladimir N. Soloviev	199
Quantum Transformation of School Informatics Serhiy O. Semerikov, Svitlana V. Shokaliuk, Liudmyla V. Lehka, Pavlo V. Merzlikin and Olena Yu. Tarasova	220
Analysis of Research Activities of University Teachers as Part of the Education Quality Assurance System Nataliia Morze, Oksana Buinytska, Valeriia Smirnova and Bohdan Hrytseliak	236
Cloud Technologies for the Creation of Open Educational Resources by Future and Practicing Teachers Vladyslav Ye. Velychko, Elena G. Fedorenko, Ludmila V. Dolins'ka and Volodymyr V. Zavalnuk	253
Methodological Aspects of Utilization of Immersive Technologies in Japanese Language Learning for Future Language Teachers <i>Olena V. Gayevska</i>	264
Results of Experimental Work to Check the Effectiveness of the Method of Using Geoinformation Technologies Vladimir S. Morkun, Serhiy O. Semerikov, Svitlana M. Hryshchenko, Iryna S. Mintii and Yaroslav O. Hryshchenko	272
The Creative Path of Academician Myroslav Ivanovych Zhaldak in the Informatization of Secondary and Higher Pedagogical Education in Ukraine <i>Nataliia P. Franchuk and Vasyl M. Franchuk</i>	281
Using the Gran1 Program in Mathematics Lessons Myroslav I. Zhaldak, Yurii V. Horoshko, Nataliia P. Franchuk, Vasyl M. Franchuk, Oksana Z. Garpul and Hanna Y. Tsybko	293
Improving the Health-Preserving Competence of a Physical Education Teacher on the Basis of Spatial Value Interpretations of Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Construction of Movements Vasyl M. Fedorets, Oksana V. Klochko, Vitalii I. Klochko, Tetiana R. Branitska and Liudmyla M. Dzyhalenko	303
The Use of Immersive Technology in the Study of Mathematical Logics in Secondary School <i>Vladyslav Ye. Velychko, Elena G. Fedorenko, Nataliia V. Kaidan and Vadym P. Kaidan</i>	326
Pre-Service Teachers' Preparation for Students' Computer Modeling Skills Formation (on the Example of GeoGebra) Olena V. Semenikhina, Marina G. Drushlyak, Volodymyr V. Proshkin and Pavlo P. Mulesa	338
Comparative Study of the Support of Academic Clouds Based on Apache CloudStack and Proxmox VE Platforms Vasyl P. Oleksiuk, Olesia R. Oleksiuk and Oleg M. Spirin	349

Structurization and Processing of the Scientific Studies in the Form of Digital Ontologies Yevhenii Shapovalov, Viktor Shapovalov, Roman Tarasenko, Stanislav Usenko, Adrian Paschke and Iryna Savchenko	362
The Use of Cloud Technologies in the Process of Professional Training of Future Mathematics Teachers Vladyslav Ye. Velychko, Elena G. Fedorenko, Nataliia V. Kaidan and Vadym P. Kaidan	378
Using of Resource Sources of Interactive Semantic Networks in Offline Translator Training Rostyslav O. Tarasenko, Svitlana M. Amelina, Serhiy O. Semerikov and Vasyl D. Shynkaruk	390
Program of Scientific Communication Development for Older Age Cohort Scholars Kateryna Vlasenko, Olha Rovenska, Olena Chumak, Iryna Lovianova and Vitaliy Achkan	406
Digital Transformation in Education: Model for Higher Educational Institutions Nataliia V. Morze and Oksana V. Strutynska	421
Formation Digital Intelligence of a Modern Economist: A Competence Approach Olena G. Glazunova, Taisiia P. Saiapina, Valentyna I. Korolchuk, Olga M. Kasatkina, Tetiana V. Voloshyna and Maksym V. Mokriiev	432
Using GitHub Cloud Service in Training Future IT Professionals: Local Study Olena G. Glazunova, Valentyna I. Korolchuk, Tetiana V. Voloshyna, Yevhenii M. Starychenko and Oleksandra V. Parkhomenko	448
Features and Results of Learning Cloud Technologies by the Teachers for the Organization of the Educational Process in Quarantine <i>Tetiana A. Vakaliuk, Oleg M. Spirin, Oleksii V. Chyzhmotria, Olena H. Chyzhmotria, Inesa V. Novitska and Svitlana O. Didkivska</i>	462
Stages of Adaptive Learning Implementation by Means of Moodle LMS Nataliia V. Morze, Liliia O. Varchenko-Trotsenko and Tetiana S. Terletska	476
System-Forming Aspects of the Computer Science and Mathematics Teachers' Readiness to Develop and Use Computer Didactic Games in Educational Process Oksana V. Klochko, Roman S. Gurevych, Vasyl M. Fedorets, Vitalii I. Klochko, Oleh L. Konoshevskyi and Mariana M. Kovtoniuk	488
Computer-Mediated Communication and Gamification as Principal Characteristics of Sustainable Higher Education Anastasiia V. Tokarieva, Nataliia P. Volkova, Inna V. Chyzhykova and Olena O. Fayerman	515
Mnemonic Techniques and Formation of Teachers' Ability to Use Them Marina G. Drushlyak, Olena V. Semenikhina, Volodymyr V. Proshkin, Svitlana V. Puchno and Artem O. Yurchenko	529
The Potential of Higher Education Digitalization in Central and Eastern Europe Anastasiia Simakhova and Artem Artyukhov	542
Using Online Services to Create Comics with Elements of AR in the Educational Process of Elementary School Dmytro M. Bodnenko, Oleksandra V. Lokaziuk, Lesya A. Poryadchenko, Volodymyr V. Proshkin and Svitlana H. Lytvynova	554
Mobile Application for Advertising Educational Services and Research the Efficiency of Its Use Galyna V. Marchuk, Vitalii L. Levkivskyi, Maryna S. Graf, Dmytro K. Marchuk and Iryna V. Panarina	564

_

Mathematical Interpretation of Educational Student's and Scientific Studies in Form of Digital Ontologies Viktor B. Shapovalov and Yevhenii B. Shapovalov	578
The Current Level of Competence of Schoolteachers on How to Use Cloud Technologies in the Educational Process During COVID-19 and the Russian-Ukrainian War <i>Tetiana A. Vakaliuk, Oleg M. Spirin, Dmytro S. Antoniuk, Mariia O. Medvedieva, Olha O. Osova and Inesa V. Novitska</i>	588
Cloud Service Blogger as Effective Communication Tool of Teacher and Students at the University Dmytro M. Bodnenko, Tamara O. Fedyk, Oleksandra V. Lokaziuk, Volodymyr V. Proshkin, Olena Y. Korzh, Ihor A. Tverdokhlib and Andrii M. Striuk	605
Developing Translators' Soft Skills in a Cloud-Based Environment Using the Memsource System Rostyslav O. Tarasenko, Svitlana M. Amelina, Serhiy O. Semerikov and Liying Shen	617
Raising Students' Motivation in Terms of Blended Learning: The Example of Interface Design Mastering Liudmyla I. Bilousova, Liudmyla E. Gryzun and Natalia V. Zhytienova	629
The Use of ICT of Educational Purposes in the Independent Work of Students in the Study of the Basics of Programming by Future Software Engineers Tetiana A. Vakaliuk, Oleksii V. Chyzhmotria, Olena H. Chyzhmotria, Dmytro S. Antoniuk, Mykhailo G. Medvediev and Svitlana O. Didkivska	644
The Modern STEM Center as a Perspective Educational Resource for Undergraduate Science and Mathematics Training Mariana M. Kovtoniuk, Olena M. Soia, Oksana St. Turzhanska, Olena P. Kosovets and Ivanna M. Leonova	658
The Use of ICT Tools in Teaching Mathematical Modeling to Students Olha I. Matiash, Liubov F. Mykhailenko, Natalia Y. Dmitrenko, Halyna D. Kateryniuk and Ihor V. Kalashnikov	675
Features of Using Mobile Applications to Identify Plants and Google Lens During the Learning Process Zhanna I. Bilyk, Yevhenii B. Shapovalov, Viktor B. Shapovalov, Pavlo D. Antonenko, Sergey O. Zhadan, Daniil Lytovchenko and Anna P. Megalinska	688
How Concept Learning Changes Strategic Choice in Guessing Games? Oleksii Ignatenko	706
The ICT Usage in Teaching Maths to Children with Hearing Impairment Kateryna Bondar, Olena Shestopalova and Tetiana Kramarenko	721
Novel Methods for Integrating Personal Physiological Devices in STEM Education Viktor B. Shapovalov, Yevhenii B. Shapovalov, Zhanna I. Bilyk, Pavlo D. Antonenko, Stanislav A. Usenko, Sergey O. Zhadan, Daniil Lytovchenko and Katerina Postova	733
The Role of Digital Competency in Educational Process of Participants When Designing a Digital Educational Environment <i>Nataliia V. Morze and Viktoriia O. Kucherovska</i>	751

Advanced Technological Solutions to Support Distance Learning via Open-Source H5P Interactive Tools	
Olena H. Kuzminska, Maksym V. Mokriiev, Olena G. Glazunova, Joana Markovska, Valentyna I. Korolchuk and Tetiana V. Voloshyna	760
Computer Mathematics Systems and Tasks with Parameters Yurii V. Horoshko, Tetiana V. Pidhorna, Petro F. Samusenko and Hanna Y. Tsybko	768
Intercultural and Intracultural Diversity in Interdisciplinary Cloud-Oriented Foreign Language Teaching Vita Hamaniuk and Iryna Selyshcheva	781
Methodical System of Teaching Informatics to Pre-Service Mathematics Teachers <i>Nadiia S. Ponomareva</i>	794
The Use of Mobile Internet Devices in Teaching Bachelors of Electromechanics Modeling of Technical Objects Yevhenii O. Modlo, Ruslan P. Shaida and Oleksandr V. Lytovchenko	804
Digital Tools for Designing Interactive Tasks for Teaching German and Analyzing Learners' Performance Yuliya Kazhan and Valentyna Karpiuk	817
Mobile ICT for Teaching Informatics of Future Bachelors of Professional Education Viktoriia V. Tkachuk, Serhiy O. Semerikov, Yuliia V. Yechkalo and Viktoriia M. Zinchenko	825
Developing Research Competencies in High School Students Through Specialized Chemistry Education: A Computer-Based Approach Pavlo P. Nechypurenko and Serhiy O. Semerikov	835
Digital Learning Space to Improve the Conceptual Understanding of Mathematics of non-Mathematical Specialties Students <i>Mariia M. Astafieva, Oksana M. Hlushak, Oksana S. Lytvyn and Volodymyr V. Proshkin</i>	850
Implementing GeoGebra as a Tool for STEM Education in Pre-Service Mathematics Teacher Training: Pedagogical Conditions and Effectiveness <i>Valentyna V. Pikalova</i>	860
Didactic Terms of Shaping Pedagogical Universities Students' Digital Competence in the Process of Teaching Informatics Courses Olena O. Lavrentieva, Mykhailo V. Moiseienko and Natalia V. Moiseienko	869
AUTHOR INDEX	881

PAPERS

FULL PAPERS

The Graph-Based Approach to Creating a System of Educational Management Based on Labour Market Demand in Terms of STEM and Science Education

Yevhenii Shapovalov¹¹⁰^a, Viktor Shapovalov¹⁶^b and Borys Shapovalov²

¹The National Center "Junior Academy of Sciences of Ukraine", 38-44 Degtyarivska Str., Kyiv, 04119, Ukraine ²Kyiv Institute of the National Guard of Ukraine, 7 Oborony Kyieva Str., Kyiv, 03179, Ukraine sjb@man.gov.ua, svb@man.gov.ua, ukrpolice65@gmail.com

Keywords: Ontologies, IT Polyhedron, Labour Market, STEM, Education, New Ukrainian School.

Abstract: The educational system in modern society is required to provide a fast reaction to real-life challenges. Also, the growing role of IT skills in labour market requires to provide changes in educational systems related to enhancing the role of IT. This study aims to provide the development of a system that considers real-life requirements of labour market and defines competencies it requires (including IT skills) and provides the possibility to take them into account during the development of the educational programs. In the paper, the system that provides a correspondence between the demand on competencies provided by employers and delivering that request to Methodists that developing educational programs is described. The main actors in the proposed systems are Employers, Job Seekers, and Ministry specialists (Methodists). The proposed concept may be implemented using simple basic tools such as MS Excel and as well by specialized tools such as CIT Polyhedron and Phyton. A graph-based system using CIT Polyhedron has been developed. In this case, each entity is represented in form of nodes. Proper links have been provided between entities (nodes). Characteristics and descriptions of each specific entity were added in form of semantic and numeric nodes' metadata. An example of CIT Polyhedron's specific tools (rank) usage is described.

1 INTRODUCTION

The problem of building digital-based sociality is relevant today. However, development tendencies are very high, and education is one of the fields that may not provide the required digital-based changes (Mahyoob, 2020; Saminathan, 2021). Moreover, especially digitalization has come sharply during COVID-situation, leading to some problems related to its implementation (Eutsler et al., 2020; Trubavina et al., 2021).

Sure, there were many attempts to provide digital approaches. For example, it is using of cognitive IT platform Polyhedron (Stryzhak et al., 2018; Velychko et al., 2017; Strizhak, 2014) with its functions auditing (Stryzhak et al., 2014; Globa et al., 2015, 2019) and ranking (Nadutenko et al., 2022), virtual educational experiments (Slipukhina et al., 2019), using mobile Internet devices (Modlo et al., 2019) and augmented reality (Leshko and Rykova, 2017), distance learning in vocational education and training institutions (Petrenko et al., 2020), on-line courses (Vlasenko et al., 2020; Yahupov et al., 2020). Also, there are many approaches to providing STEM (Cheng et al., 2021, 2020; Badmus and Omosewo, 2020; Stryzhak et al., 2017).

However, its usage cannot be widely provided if it is not declared in the educational programs. Now, the New Ukrainian School is used to provide modification to the educational process (Elkin et al., 2017; Budnyk, 2018; Zhorova et al., 2022). It contains a list of the competencies that should be taught during education.

Currently, job seekers' search uses web-based services that require not standardized experience, skills and competencies. For example, such services are work.ua, rabota.ua, djinni.co (specialised in IT), etc. Moreover, it seems that the labour market required more digital-based skills than it declared in the New Ukrainian School and educational programs in Ukraine. Also, it seems more relevant to use the results of employers' requests on vacancies compe-

Shapovalov, Y., Shapovalov, V. and Shapovalov, B.

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3732-9486

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6315-649X

The Graph-Based Approach to Creating a System of Educational Management Based on Labour Market Demand in Terms of STEM and Science Education In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 5-19

ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS - Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

tencies to include them in educational programs and forecasting requests in future.

Considering what was noted before, it seems relevant to develop approaches that takes to account job requirements for specialists during projecting of educational courses. Therefore, the study aims to describe an information system that provides data transfer on real-life required competencies from employers who demand job seekers' competencies to specialists in the Ministry of education and science to take them into account. Therefore, the object of the study is an approach that provides taking to account real-life required competencies during providing educational programs.

2 METHODS

To provide study and develop solving approaches, the concepts developed by the Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine were used to define the problem and provide background research. Also, considering growing the role of digital skills (competencies) in digital sociality, the proposed approach focuses on digital competencies but is not limited by them.

The UML schemes were used to describe the informational system that may solve the problem of improving considering required real-life competencies during the development of educational programs. A use case diagram is developed to describe the main actors of the proposed system. Next, a class diagram is developed to describe the database, the main classes in it, and data for each class. Finally, the ways of implementation and some of its features are described.

The cognitive IT Polyhedron was used to create graphs as it was described before (Shapovalov and Shapovalov, 2021). Both graphical and excel-based approaches were used to form graphs. The excelbased approach to constructing a graph is shown in figire 1.

3 RESULTS

3.1 Analysis of Nonconformity of Competency Provided by Education and Requirements by Employers

As noted before, there is the problem of nonconformity of competencies given by teaching and required by employers. It means that some educational time is wasted. The competencies taught during the modern educational process of Ukraine in middle school are declared by the New Ukrainian School concept and its implementation in specific educational programs. However, employers require competencies, and those declared by New Ukrainian School were not compared.

Employers are seeking a person who can solve specific tasks he needs. For example, such skills are knowledge of using MS Office, English level B2, Adobe Photoshop, or using the textile machine. Also, the employer may require some measurable experience in some field (5 years working on environmental projects, three years of C++ coding). These competencies are very static, specific and easy to determine. Such requirements (competencies) may be named as "specific" and can be divided into "static skill-based" and "static experience-based".

However, the competencies declared by New Ukrainian School have different essential nature, and it is instead "abstract", "wide", and "relatively static". Using the term "abstract", we mean competencies that include more specific (in our classification – "static") competencies. In this group, we propose to include mathematical competence, essential competencies in natural sciences and technologies, and information and digital competence. For the term "wide", we mean that it is not provided specific knowledge or skill but rather some dynamic abstract level. Also, the "wide" means that competencies are used in each decision-making. The analysis of competencies declared by the New Ukrainian School is shown in table 1.

As seen from table 1, the competencies declared by New Ukrainian School may not be used by the employer.

All noted before makes the gap between skills provided by education and used in real-life work. However, it seems that it may be solved by standardisation, defining of values of each competency and using simple well-known ranking mechanisms. Sure, the proposed method is not dedicated to violating marketbased society, but it allows for prioritising the competencies that have not been taken to account before. Also, the idea of standardisation can be used to define a median salary for jobs that require specific skills. Then, students can use that to decide on skills required by digitalised sociality.

3.2 Proposed Approach

3.2.1 Using Ranking Tools to Evaluate the Digital Competencies of the Job Seekers

To solve the problem, it seems relevant to use measurable competencies (such as "static skill-based"

The Graph-Based Approach to Creating a System of Educational Management Based on Labour Market Demand in Terms of STEM and Science Education

4	STEM-based program	Ministry Employee					
5	Educational program of subject D	Ministry Employee					
6	Integreted program A	Ministry Employee					
7	Educational program of subject C	Ministry Employee					
8	Educational program of subject B	Ministry Employee					
9	Educational program of subject A	Ministry Employee					
10	Methodist 1	Vacancy 4	Vacancy 3	Vacancy 2	Vacancy 1		
11	Methodist 2	Vacancy 4	Vacancy 3	Vacancy 2	Vacancy 1		
12	Methodist 3	Vacancy 1	Vacancy 2	Vacancy 3	Vacancy 4		
13	Job seeker 4	Vacancy 4					
14	Vacancy 4	Employer 2					
15	Job seeker 3	Vacancy 3	Vacancy 2	Vacancy 1	Vacancy 4	Sertificate C	Sertificate F
16	Vacancy 3	Employer 2					
17	Job seekers	Job seeker 1	Job seeker 2	Job seeker 3	Job seeker 4		
18	Set of vacancies	Vacancy 1	Vacancy 2	Vacancy 3	Vacancy 4		
19	Job seeker 2	Vacancy 2	Sertificate B	Sertificate E			
20	Vacancy 2	Employer 2					
21	Job seeker 1	Vacancy 1	Vacancy 2	Sertificate A	Sertificate D		
22	Vacancy 1	Employer 1					
22	a. 6 1		n 1 n				

Figure 1: Excel-based approach to graph forming.

Table 1: The analysis of	competencies declare	d by New	Ukrainian School.
	F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F		

Competency type title	Description of competency type	List of competencies	
Abstract	Impossible to measure, are very abstract	Mathematical competence; Basic compe-	
	and includes some more specific compe-	tencies in natural sciences and technolo-	
	tencies	gies; Information and digital competence	
Wide	Impossible to measure, is used during solv-	Ability to learn throughout life; Initiative	
	ing any of practical based-problems	and entrepreneurship; Awareness and self-	
		expression in the field of culture; Socia	
		and civic competence; Environmental li	
		eracy and healthy living	
Relatively static	Possible to measure, but still relatively	Communication in the state (and native in	
	hard. However, accepted international lev-	case of difference) languages; Communi-	
	els may be used to measure	cation in foreign languages	

and "static experience-based") that may be processed. Their processing may be used to obtain a general integrated score of the corresponding person to the vacancy.

Also, it seems relevant to use the importance of competency for vacancies description. As for digital specialisations, such skills will provide a core score for Job seekers' evaluation, but for other specialisations in digitalisation of sociality, it may provide up to 50% of the ranking score.

Such a ranking approach will provide a win-win situation during the job-seeking process. Employers will decrease the role and load on the company's HRs. Job seekers will be evaluated objectively and receive reasonable estimates based on the general skills of job seekers, including digital. It will not provide a waiver of HRs, but it significantly decrees their work amount and provides a more accurate, fair candidates selection. As a standard to create a relevant system of ranks inputted by the user, the document "job responsibilities" may be used.

So, the employers will use a well-known raking tool that the modified equation of graph-based rank-

ing can describe:

$$RANK_{abs(i)} = \sum (IMP_i \times \frac{v_i}{v_{max}})$$
(1)

where $RANK_{abs(i)}$ – ranking rank in absolute value for *i*'s node; IMP_i – importance coefficient for data of *i*'s object; v_i – the value *i*'s object; v_{max} – maximum value of the dataset.

For this, the class name of each data will be the name of the competency (skill); its numeric data (v_i) will correspond to the mastery level of that skill; the importance (IMP_i) is a level of such competency requested by the employer. So, each job seeker will obtain his personal *RANK* of corresponded for a specific vacancy. Such an approach will be also useful for job seekers due they will obtain the matrix of the *RANKs* for the vacancies they choose and define by themself work that they are fitted and comfortable to do.

As it was noted before, in the digitalized sociality, the role of digital competencies will be always high. To prove it, the example the IT profession (junior front-end programmer) and non-IT professions (enterprise economist) vacancies *RANKs* is shown in table 2 and table 3, respectively. For the examples, approximations of ranks and levels will be used to simplify understanding. The competency level will be used in form of relative values (%).

As shown from Table 2, Jobseeker 1 with *RANK* of 480 is more suited for vacancy than Jobseeker 2 with *RANK* of 400. Also, digital skills are valuable for non-IT specialists as it is shown in table 3.

As it is shown in table 3, Jobseeker 2 has higher hard Bookkeeping skills, but low IT skills and generally it will be less suitable for the vacancy than Jobseeker 1. That proves that the proposed approach will be helpful to IT specialists and non-IT specialists in the digitalised world. However, it requires providing a certification program to define the competency level (numeric data).

3.2.2 Using of Competency Importance Data to Develop Educational Programs

The developed approach will collect the employer's requests on competencies they need. So, it will be possible to use such data sets to generate real-life required skills and competencies.

The most valuable is a set of Importance (IMP_i) requested by the employer for each skill data to analyse the labour market requirements in competencies and modify the educational process. So, it may be represented as further:

$$< CN_{edu}, IMPC_{edu} >= RANK(< CN_n, IMP_n >)$$
 (2)

where

 $< CN_{edu}, IMPC_{edu} > -$ cortege of skills and its values recommended for education;

 $RANK(\langle CN_n, IMP_n \rangle)$ – ranking results of each element of cortege of skills and their importance for the employer ($\langle CN_n, IMP_n \rangle$).

The general workflow is using such a system provides obtaining of data set (cortege) of required by Employer competencies and its importance. Such data is processed by the system and it provides both, the results of corresponding of Job Seeker to the vacancy and obtaining a set of importance competencies values used for the development of education programs (figure 2).

3.3 Practical Developments

To simplify, the approach will be described in short form. The main actors of the proposed system are an employer that generates demand on competencies and a methodist that uses that demand on competencies to lay down it into educational programs. Also, there is an actor called Jobseeker. That actor is already an educated person who is already characterised by some stack of competencies. Each actor has many functions, but only the most important actions will be described. The employer creates the vacancies and adds required competencies with the importance of the job. The required vacancy competencies and their importance are used to rank the corresponding specific job seeker with its stack of competencies with a vacancy. Ministry specialists use such ranking results to analyse them and lay down the most required competencies in educational programs. The use case diagram of the proposed approach is shown in figure 3.

The classes that correspond to actors and actions are used to create such a system. First of all, some classes describe actors themselves, and they are Jobseeker, Employer and Ministry Employee. Each of such classes has person identifiers due they describe actors. Each Job seeker has its personalised set of competencies called the "Job seeker's set of the competencies". Each Job seeker's set of competencies consists of competencies (skills), competency's (skill's) level and certificates that prove it.

Each Employer is looking for a Job seeker, and finding it creates a vacancy. Each employer can create multiple numbers of Vacancies, and it creates a library of them called Set of Vacancies. Each vacancy has data about competencies and their importance to provide Vacancy's activities well. Job seeker's set of competencies provides a ranking that defines corresponding of its to Vacancy's RequiedCompetency and CompetencyImportance.

Set of Vacancies with its data CompetenciesAndImportance is used by Ministry employees (Methodists) to modify the educational program with an array of StudiedCompetencies. The list of database entities in the form of a class diagram is shown in table 4 and figure 4.

The proposed Use case diagram and Class diagram will be useful to developing real-life systems.

3.4 Implementation

3.4.1 Possible Approaches

The proposed concept may be implemented using simple basic tools such as MS Excel and by specialised tools such as KIT Polyhedron (Tarasenko et al., 2021; Shapovalov et al., 2021) and by using Python.

Also, the proposed approach seems relevant to use in a stack with modern semantic graphbased technologies (Paschke and Schäfermeier, 2018; Schäfermeier et al., 2021) and neural networks to provide analysis and predictions. The Graph-Based Approach to Creating a System of Educational Management Based on Labour Market Demand in Terms of STEM and Science Education

		1		
Class name	Mastery level of the skill (v_n)	Importance (IMP_n)	$RANK_n$	General
(competency name)	(numeric data), %	requested by the employer	of the skill	RANK score
	Job s	seeker 1		
CSS coding	50	5	250	
HTML codding	30	4	120	
MS office skills	50	2	100	100
Business analysis	10	1	10	
Geography skills	10	0	0	
	Job s	eeker 2		
CSS coding	20	5	100	
HTML codding	70	4	280	
MS office skills	10	2	20	83
Business analysis	0	1	0	
Geography skills	50	0	0	

Table 2:	Example	of RANKing	the junior	front-end	programmer.
	r				r-o-

Table 3: Example	of RANKing the	e enterprise	economist	vacancy.
Tuble 5. Example	or rearrang un	e enterprise	ceononnise	vacuncy.

Class name (competency name)	Mastery level of the skill (v_n) (numeric data), %	Importance (<i>IMP_n</i>) requested by the employer	<i>RANK_n</i> of the skill	General <i>RANK</i> score	
	Job seeker 1				
Bookkeeping	80	5	400		
Bookkeeping Law understanding level	40	5	200		
MS office using level	60	3	180	100	
Analysis and reporting	60	4	240		
General skills of PC using	20	4	80		
	Job seeker 2				
Bookkeeping	90	5	450		
Bookkeeping Law understanding level	60	5	300		
MS office using level	10	3	30	85	
Analysis and reporting	30	4	120		
General skills of PC using	10	4	40		



Figure 2: Workflow of data in proposed system.

Sure, while using simplified tools such as MS Excel or Google Sheets, it will not be an informational and communicational system, and it will not be possible to communicate with it using API. However, it will be possible to provide all required functions. For the Excel-based approach, libraries of skills "CompetencyName" will be located in a separate sheet and used as a drop-down list.

Also another vital question to be solved is data collection. Using google forms to create vacancy profiles and cortege on importance and competencies is the simplest way. Such google form can collect



Figure 3: Use case diagram of proposed approach.

Vacancy's "name", "Description", "RequiedCompetenices", and "CompetenicesImprotance". Another form may be used to collect data on a Job seeker's set of competencies.

Sure, it is the most common and straightforward way. The system will be created using full-stack (back end and front end) development in real life. However, MS Excel-, Graph- and Phyton-based tools will be developed to make concept proof tests in further studies.

In any form of its implementation, the proposed approach will be helpful and provide an effective way to consider real-life required competencies. Comparing approaches to create a system that takes to account job requirements for specialists during projecting of educational courses educational programs with reallife labour market demand is shown in table 5.

As seen from table 5, the Excel-based approach is simple to provide, but it does not provide possibly to provide noted database structure in full-scale. On the other side, a python-based approach is a full-scale approach that gives the possibility to provide any system, but it requires a vast number of resources. Thus, the most perspective to use is a no-code cognitive IT Polyhedron to provide such a system. Also, the advantage of Polyhedron has integrated audit and ranking tools.

3.4.2 Graph-Based Approach

One of the advantages of the graph-based approach is a visualisation of entities (in the form of nodes) and their links. Thus, it is possible to implement a UML diagram to represent the database in the form of a graph in full-scale. Also, taking into account the specificity of graphs built using cognitive IT Polyhedron (however, it will be relevant for most graphbased approaches), some classes will be represented not in the form of nodes but in the form of semantic or semantic numeric data of some entities. For example, competency (skill) and its level will be represented in the form of metadata of nodes vacancies or job seekers (depending on the variant of realisation). For this case, competency (skill) will be the class name of the node, and its value will be the value of such a class. Such an approach provides the possibility to provide a ranking. However, competencies (skills) also will be represented in the form of nodes (separate entities) to provide additional structurisation.

The first data structural component is a set of competencies. Each specific competency has been directed on the "Set of competencies" link to represent its dependence on this class. A general view of the

Name of Class	Attributes of Class
Ivalle of Class	Autouco of Class
	+ ID: III
Job seeker	+ name: string
	+Job seeker's set of the competencies: array(Competency (skill), Competency's (skill's) level)
	AddNewCompetency(string): text
	AddCompetency's(skill's)Level: int
	AddCertificate:link
	display(set of the competencies): list(set of the competencies)
Competency's	+ ID: int
(skill's) level	+ value: int
(SKIII S) IEVEI	+ ID: int
Competency	L name: string
(skill)	+ name. sumg
	+ ID: int
Cartificata	+ name: int
Certificate	+file: link
	+authority:name
	+sertificates: list(certificates)
Job seeker's	+ SetOfCompetencyLevel: array Competency (skill);
set of the	Competencies(skills)level
competencies	
	Display(Competency(skill)): list(Competency(skill))
	Display(Competency's(skill's) level): Competency's (skill's) level
	++ ID: int
Ranking	+ rank' int
Runking	+ get(Iob seeker's set of the competencies):array (Iob seeker's set of the competencies)
	+ get (RequiedCompetencies): array(RequiedCompetencies):
	+ get (Competencies/marotance) array (Competencies/marotance)
	+ get (competencesimplotance) array (competencesimplotance)
Employer	T IU. III
Employer	T Hallic, text
	t display(Iab seeker's set of the competencies)
	+display(Job Secker S set of the competencies)
X 7	+ name: text
vacancy	+ Description: text
	+ Requied Competences: array
	+ Competencesimprotance:array
	+Vacancynames(Vacancyname): array
Set of the va-	+CompetenciesAndImportance
canieses	(VacancyRequiedCompetenices);VacancyCompetenicesImprotance:array
Ministry	+ Id: int
employee	+ name: text
	+ displayRequiedCompetenices:array
	+ displayCompetenicesImprotance:array
	+ modify
	+ users: list(User)
Educational	+ TextOfProgram: text
program	+ StudiedCompetenices:array

Table 4: Description of the classes of UML class diagram of proposed system.

structural component "set of competencies" is shown in figure 5. Each competency is linked with the Job seeker whom it owns, a certificate that it proves and a vacancy that is required.

The built graph also represents Job seekers and Vacancies branches. All specific Job seekers are





Table 5: Comparing approaches to create a system that takes to account job requirements for specialists during projecting of educational courses educational programs with real-life labour market demand.

Name of approach	Requiring to write	Possibility to provide noted	Integrated ability to provide raking
	specific code	database structure in full-scale	without writing specific code
Excel-based	No	No	No
Graph-based	No	Yes	Yes
Python-based	Yes	Yes	No



Figure 5: Element "Set of competencies" of proposed graph-based system.



Figure 6: Element "Set of vacancies" (a) and "Set of employers" of the proposed graph-based system.

linked to the "Job seekers" node (figure 6a). Each vacancy is linked with the "Set of vacancies" node to show its belonging and a specific employer who provided such vacancy. All employers are linked with the Set of employers node (figure 6b).

The primary users of demand analysis shown at graph's node "Education management institution". Vacancies are linked with members of education management institutions. Education management institution is the root node linked with ministry employee that in turn linked with Methodists who develop educational programs. Ministry employees form all educational programs. That is why they are linked. Each multiplicity of educational programs is linked to the "Educational programs" node. Educational programs additionally may be represented as a form of nodes of this graph that represents elements of specific programs themselves or have a link to the spe-

cific ontology-based educational program (figure 7).



Figure 7: Elements "Educational management institutions" and "Educational programs" of the proposed graph-based system.

The proposed system is integral is maybe used for decision making. All entities in the form of graph's nodes are linked as noted before:

- Job seekers with vacancies and with competencies and certificates that it proves;
- competencies with certificates that prove job seekers and vacancies
- vacancies with job seekers, required competencies, employers who provide it and methodists who form educational programs;
- job seekers are linked with competencies and certificates and with vacancies they responded on;
- methodists are linked with vacancies that describe real-life demand on competencies and with ministry employees who form educational programs.

A general view of the proposed graph-based solution for taking to account real-life required competencies is shown in figure 8.

Both job seekers and vacancies have metadata. Job seekers' metadata are the skill level that job seekers own, and vacancies' metadata are skills and competencies that are required (figure 9a and b).

The ranking is possible to provide in both ways, to evaluate which vacancy fits the best chosen by a specific job seeker and to evaluate which job seeker fits the best for the proposed vacancy. The type of ranking depended on users' requests. The user chooses factors that he requires to rank and their importance for him.



Figure 8: Developed a graph-based approach to taking to account real-life demand in the labour market.

The Graph-Based Approach to Creating a System of Educational Management Based on Labour Market Demand in Terms of STEM and Science Education

✓ +	● 2	 Назва об'єкту 	Job seeker 1		
+ 💼	Тип:	Текст	~	Н	CSS coding
A 50					4
+ 💼	Тип:	Текст	~	Н	HTML codding
A 30					4
+	Тип:	Текст	~	Н	MS office skills
A 50					<i>A</i>
+	Тип:	Текст	~	Η	Business analysis
A 10					á.
+ 💼	Тип:	Текст	~	Η	Geography skills
A 10					Ä
v +	● 2	 Назва об'єкту 	Vacancy 2		(a)
	-				
+ 1	тип:	Текст	~	Н	Require Bookkeeping
	T			TT	4
+ 1 A 5	тип:	Текст	~	Н	Require Bookkeeping Law understanding level
	Turn	Taura		ц	A
A 3	тип:	текст	¥	н	require m5 once using level
	Tun	Tower		ц	A Beauting Analysis and reporting
A 4	1111.	IENUI	Ť	11	плецине инанузы ани теропилу
	Тип:	Такст		н	A Require General skills of PC using
A 4		renel		11	require control shine of Forward

(b) Figure 9: Metadata in graphs' elements.

So, if he chooses the factors that correspond to competencies that require vacancy and chooses the importance of such factors for this job, the system will rank job seekers to their relevance to this vacancy; on the opposite, if the job seeker chooses competencies that require for jobs (for example, Require HTML codding), he will rank existing vacancies and find which of them fits him best (figure 10).

Methodists and Ministry employees may use a table view of the graph with or without filtering the data. A table view of the generated graph used by the Methodists and Ministry employees is shown in figure 11.

Therefore previously, the connection between education and the practical labour market was not provided systematically. And now it is proposed to use ontologies to produce such connections. In this case connection will be provided by connection relative nodes by graph's edges. The proposed approach will be much more efficient in case of its usage in complexes with forecasting systems such as regression or neurolar networks. However, it is important to collect such data to forecast and ontologies are used to provide it.

4 DISCUSSION

Currently, the labour market requires specialists with soft skills, hard skills, critical thinking, creativity,

AET 2021 - Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology

							-
Syste	m of taking to account… ▼ 42/42 🛇		ເບີ້ ຊື່ 💣	< ≍ ⊞ ш	T	man	nlab ≡
4/20	Назва критерію	Бальна шкала 🗹	Лінгвістична шкала 🗹	Ранжування 🗹		Opt. ≓	:
	Bookkeeping Числа	1 ~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1	~	max	~
	Bookkeeping Law understanding level Чиспа	1 ~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1	~	max	~
	MS office using level Uncon	1 ~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1	~	max	~
	Analysis and reporting Ukrona	1 ~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1	~	max	~
	General skills of PC using	1 ~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1	~	max	~
	nodeShape Texcr	1 ~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1	~	max	~
	Require Bookkeeping	1 ~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1	~	max	~
	Require Bookkeeping Law understanding level Числа	1 ~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1	~	max	~
	Require MS office using level	1 ~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1	~	max	~
	Require Analysis and reporting Числа	1 ~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1	~	max	~
	Require General skills of PC using Nucra	1 ~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1	~	max	~
	CSS coding Hacna	5 ~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1	~	max	\sim
	HTML codding	4 ~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1	~	max	~
	MS office skills	2 ~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1	~	max	~
	Geography skills Harna	1 ~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1	~	max	~
	Business analysis (Hircha	1 ~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1	~	max	~
	Require CSS coding Threes	1 ~	Мапа важливість 🗸 🗸	1	×	max	~
	(a)						

	(4)																		
	CSS coding	HTML codding	MS office skills	Business analysis	Geography skills	nodeShape	Bookkeeping	Bookkeeping Law understanding level	MS office using level	Analysis and reporting	General skills of PC using	Require CSS coding	Require HTML codding	Require MS office skills	Require Business analysis	Require Bookkeeping	Require Bookkeeping Law understanding level	Require MS office using level	Require Analysis and reporting
Job seeker 1	50	30	50	10	10														
Job seeker 2	20	70	10		50														
Educational																			
programs						square													
Job seeker 4							90	60	10	30	10								
Job seeker 3							80	40	60	60	20								
Set of																			
employers						square													
Set of						cauara													
vacancies						square													
Set of						0011070													
sertificates						square													
Education																			
managment						square													
institution																			
Job seekers						square													
Vacancy 1												5	4	2	1				
Set of						cauara													
competencies						square													
Vacancy 2																5	5	3	4

(b)

Figure 10: Metadata in graphs' elements.

project management and other skills. The approach that provides it is STEM/STEAM, but no trivial (as for the Ukrainian educational system) approaches that foresees not-project based and not-real-life based education. The proposed graph will be very effective to modernise both trivial educational programs (as it will highlight the skills and knowledge that are not used in employing process) and STEM-based education.

The skills and their values will prioritise the skills to teach based on market demand. As STEM is more fluent compared to traditional ones, it will be possible to use for STEM-based programs to develop the most required skills. Also, it can develop required reallife skills even during not-specialised subject learning. For example, the task was given to students during chemistry maybe project that foresees using coding, project-management or business analytical skills if such is defined as the most demanded by the labour market.

For example, the task that develops business analysis during chemistry discipline may foresee analysing of current business process and technological process of production of ammonia (for example; it can be related to any production; related to the technology aspect of STEM); find the laws, fundaments and existing modern scientific studies that related to the field (related to science aspect of STEM); provide calculation of the existing production and propose technology that optimises the production (related to science aspect of STEM); find or develop equipment to provide proposed optimised technological approach (related to engineering aspect of STEM). As it can be seen, it provides both STEM-approach and development required for the current state of The Graph-Based Approach to Creating a System of Educational Management Based on Labour Market Demand in Terms of STEM and Science Education

System of taking to account		1/42 😣			G	Q @		■ ⊀	Ø	manlab 🗮
↓F Пошуковий запит O		Require Bookkeeping	Require Bookkeeping Law understanding level	Require MS office using level	Require Analysis and reporting	Require using	General skills of PC	;		
- bu	Vacancy 2	5	5	3	4	4				
MS office using level	^									
Analysis and reporting										
General skills of PC using										
▶ nodeShape										
Require Bookkeeping										
Require Bookkeeping Law										
understanding level										
 Require MS office using level 										
3 - 3										
 Require Analysis and reporting 										
_										
 Require General skills of PC using 										
☑ 4 - 4										
CSS coding										
20 - 50										
 HTML codding 										
30 - 70										
 MS office skills 										
0 10 - 50										
 Geography skills 										
0 10 - 50										
 Business analysis 										
0 10 - 10										
 Require CSS coding 										
 Require HTML codding 										
 Require MS office skills 										
 Require Business analysis 										
0 1 - 1	*									

Figure 11: Table view of the generated graph to use by the Methodists and Ministry employees.

marked skill (for example, business analysis).

high level of flexibility characterises it.

5 CONCLUSION

It is shown that some competencies that are required in real life are not prioritised in educational programs. The study describes an information system that provides data transfer on real-life required competencies from employers to specialists in the Ministry of education and science and Methodists consider them.

The main actors in the proposed systems are Employer, Job Seeker and Ministry specialist (Methodist). The main classes in proposed systems are Jobseeker Competency's (skill's), level Competency, (skill) Certificate, Job seeker's set of the competencies, Ranking Employer Vacancy, Set of the vacancies, Ministry employee, educational program. Each of these classes has the data that describes it.

The proposed concept may be implemented as well using simple basic tools such as MS Excel and as well by specialised tools such as KIT Polyhedron and as by using Phyton. In further studies, MS Excel-, Graph- and Phyton-based tools to make concept proof test.

It is shown that the graph-based approach is characterised by advantages, and it was chosen to build the system's prototype. It represents the graph's root nodes are a Set of competencies, Job seekers, a Set of Vacancies, a Set of employers, educational management institutions and educational programs. It is proven that the most perspective approach during which such a system can be used is STEM because a

REFERENCES

- Badmus, O. T. and Omosewo, E. O. (2020). Evolution of STEM, STEAM and STREAM Education in Africa: The Implication of the Knowledge Gap. *International Journal on Research in STEM Education*, 2(2):99– 106. https://doi.org/10.31098/ijrse.v2i2.227.
- Budnyk, O. (2018). Theoretical Principles of Using Steam-Technologies in the Preparation of the Teacher of the New Ukrainian School. *Journal of Vasyl Stefanyk Precarpathian National University*, 5(1):23–30. https: //doi.org/10.15330/jpnu.5.1.23-30.
- Cheng, L., Antonenko, P. D., Ritzhaupt, A. D., Dawson, K., Miller, D., MacFadden, B. J., Grant, C., Sheppard, T. D., and Ziegler, M. (2020). Exploring the influence of teachers beliefs and 3D printing integrated STEM instruction on students STEM motivation. *Computers* and Education, 158(July):103983. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.compedu.2020.103983.
- Cheng, L., Antonenko, P. P., Ritzhaupt, A. D., and Mac-Fadden, B. (2021). Exploring the role of 3D printing and STEM integration levels in students STEM career interest. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 52(3):1262–1278. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.13077.
- Elkin, O., Hrynevych, L., Kalashnikova, S., Khobzey, P., Kobernyk, I., Kovtunets, V., Makarenko, O., Malakhova, O., Nanayeva, T., Shiyan, R., and Usatenko, H. (2017). *The New Ukrainian School: conceptual principles of secondry school reform.* Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine, Kyiv.
- Eutsler, L., Antonenko, P. D., and Mitchell, C. (2020). Initial response to COVID-19: a mixed-methods analysis of media and school communications to identify ped-

agogical implications for remote teaching. *Interactive Technology and Smart Education*, 18(2):227–245. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITSE-08-2020-0159.

- Globa, L., Kovalskyi, M., and Stryzhak, O. (2015). Increasing Web Services Discovery Relevancy in the Multi-ontological Environment. In Wiliński, A., Fray, I. E., and Pejaś, J., editors, *Soft Computing in Computer and Information Science*, pages 335– 344, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https: //doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-15147-2.
- Globa, L., Sulima, S., Skulysh, M., Dovgyi, S., and Stryzhak, O. (2019). Architecture and Operation Algorithms of Mobile Core Network with Virtualization. In Ortiz, J. H., editor, *Mobile Computing*, chapter 6. IntechOpen, Rijeka. https://doi.org/10.5772/ intechopen.89608.
- Leshko, K. V. and Rykova, L. L. (2017). Augmented reality as a tool in creative development of future education professionals. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 4:76–81. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.329.
- Mahyoob, M. (2020). Challenges of e-Learning during the COVID-19 Pandemic Experienced by EFL Learners. *Arab World English Journal*, 11(4):351–362. https: //doi.org/10.24093/awej/vol11no4.23.
- Modlo, Y. O., Semerikov, S. O., Nechypurenko, P. P., Bondarevskyi, S. L., Bondarevska, O. M., and Tolmachev, S. T. (2019). The use of mobile Internet devices in the formation of ICT component of bachelors in electromechanics competency in modeling of technical objects. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:413–428. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.402.
- Nadutenko, M., Prykhodniuk, V., Shyrokov, V., and Stryzhak, O. (2022). Ontology-Driven Lexicographic Systems. In Arai, K., editor, *Advances in Information and Communication*, pages 204–215, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-030-98012-2_16.
- Paschke, A. and Schäfermeier, R. (2018). OntoMaven -Maven-Based Ontology Development and Management of Distributed Ontology Repositories. In Nalepa, G. J. and Baumeister, J., editors, *Synergies Between Knowledge Engineering and Software Engineering*, pages 251–273, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-64161-4_ 12.
- Petrenko, L., Kravets, S., Bazeliuk, O., Maiboroda, L., and Muzyka, I. (2020). Analysis of the current state of distance learning in the vocational education and training institutions. *E3S Web of Conferences*, 166:10010. https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/202016610010.
- Saminathan, V. (2021). Problems of online classes. International Journal of Academic Research Reflectoor, 9(January):1–4. https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare. 13573550.
- Schäfermeier, R., Herre, H., and Paschke, A. (2021). Ontology Design Patterns for Representing Context in Ontologies Using Aspect Orientation. In Blomqvist, E., Hahmann, T., Hammar, K., Hitzler, P., Hoekstra, R., Mutharaju, R., Poveda-Villalón, M., Shimizu, C., Skjæveland, M. G., Solanki, M., Svátek, V., and Zhou,

L., editors, Advances in Pattern-Based Ontology Engineering, extended versions of the papers published at the Workshop on Ontology Design and Patterns (WOP), volume 51 of Studies on the Semantic Web, pages 183–203. IOS Press. https://doi.org/10.3233/ SSW210014.

- Shapovalov, Y. B. and Shapovalov, V. B. (2021). A Taxonomic Representation of Scientific Studies. In Ermolayev, V., Esteban, D., Mayr, H. C., Nikitchenko, M., Bogomolov, S., Zholtkevych, G., Yakovyna, V., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume 1: Main Conference, PhD Symposium, and Posters, Kherson, Ukraine, September 28 - October 2, 2021, volume 3013 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 353– 360. CEUR-WS.org. http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-3013/ 20210353.pdf.
- Shapovalov, Y. B., Shapovalov, V. B., Tarasenko, R. A., Usenko, S. A., and Paschke, A. (2021). A semantic structuring of educational research using ontologies. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 8:105–123. http: //doi.org/10.55056/cte.219.
- Slipukhina, I., Kuzmenkov, S., Kurilenko, N., Mieniailov, S., and Sundenko, H. (2019). Virtual Educational Physics Experiment as a Means of Formation of the Scientific Worldview of the Pupils. In Ermolayev, V., Mallet, F., Yakovyna, V., Mayr, H. C., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume I: Main Conference, Kherson, Ukraine, June 12-15, 2019, volume 2387 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 318– 333. CEUR-WS.org. http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2387/ 20190318.pdf.
- Strizhak, A. E. (2014). Ontological aspects of transdisciplinary integration of information resources. Otkrytye informatcionnye i kompiuternye integrirovannye tekhnologii, 65:211–223. http://nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/ vikt_2014_65_24.
- Stryzhak, O., Prychodniuk, V., and Podlipaiev, V. (2018). Model of Transdisciplinary Representation of GEOspatial Information. In Ilchenko, M., Uryvsky, L., and Globa, L., editors, Advances in Information and Communication Technologies, volume 560 of Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems, pages 34– 75, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https: //doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-12385-7.
- Stryzhak, O. Y., Horborukov, V. V., Franchuk, O. V., and Popova, M. A. (2014). Ontology selection problem and its application to the analysis of limnological systems. *Ecological safety and nature management*, 15:172–183.
- Stryzhak, O. Y., Slipukhina, I. A., Polikhun, N. I., and Chernetckiy, I. S. (2017). STEM-education: Main definitions. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 62(6):16–33. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt. v62i6.1753.
- Tarasenko, R. A., Shapovalov, V. B., Usenko, S. A., Shapo-

valov, Y. B., Savchenko, I. M., Pashchenko, Y. Y., and Paschke, A. (2021). Comparison of ontology with non-ontology tools for educational research. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 8:82–104. http://doi.org/10. 55056/cte.208.

- Trubavina, I., Vorozhbit-Gorbatyuk, V., Shtefan, M., Kalina, K., and Dzhus, O. (2021). From the experience of organizing artistic and productive activities of older preschool children by means of distance education in the conditions of quarantine measures for the spread of COVID-19. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(1):51–72. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.56.
- Velychko, V., Popova, M., Prykhodniuk, V., and Stryzhak, O. (2017). TODOS – IT-platform formation transdisciplinaryn information environment. *Systems of Arms and Military Equipment*, (1(49)):10–19. http: //nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/soivt_2017_1_4.
- Vlasenko, K., Chumak, O., Lovianova, I., Kovalenko, D., and Volkova, N. (2020). Methodical requirements for training materials of on-line courses on the platform "Higher school mathematics teacher". *E3S Web* of Conferences, 166:10011. https://doi.org/10.1051/ e3sconf/202016610011.
- Yahupov, V. V., Kyva, V. Y., and Zaselskiy, V. I. (2020). The methodology of development of information and communication competence in teachers of the military education system applying the distance form of learning. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:71–81. https: //doi.org/10.55056/cte.312.
- Zhorova, I., Kokhanovska, O., Khudenko, O., Osypova, N., and Kuzminska, O. (2022). Teachers' training for the use of digital tools of the formative assessment in the implementation of the concept of the New Ukrainian School. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(1):56–72. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.11.
Professional Stress Prevention Program for Employees Working Remotely in Crisis

Nataliia Pinchuk¹¹[®]^a, Oleksandra Pinchuk²[®]^b, Olena Bondarchuk¹[®]^c, Valentyna Balakhtar³[®]^d, Kateryna Balakhtar^{3,4}[®]^e, Nataliia Onopriienko-Kapustina⁵[®]^f, Mariya Shyshkina⁶[®]^g and Olena Kuzminska⁷[®]^h

¹University of Educational Management, 52A Sichovykh Striltsiv Str., Kyiv, 04053, Ukraine

²Kyiv National University of Trade and Economics, 19 Kyoto Str., Kyiv, 02156, Ukraine

³National Aviation University, 1 Liubomyra Huzara Ave., Kyiv, 03058, Ukraine

⁴O. O. Bogomolets National Medical University, 13 Tarasa Shevchenko Blvd., Kyiv, 01601, Ukraine

⁵Hryhoriy Skovoroda University in Pereyaslav, 30 Sukhomlynskoho Str., Pereyaslav, 08401, Ukraine

⁶Institute for Digitalisation of Education, 9 M. Berlynskoho Str., Kyiv, 04060, Ukraine

⁷National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine, 15 Heroiv Oborony Str., Kyiv, 03041, Ukraine

 $\label{eq:constraint} $$ tacya3, sashuhis, bkskatrin @gmail.com, {bei.07, ssds_o-kapustina.n}@ukr.net, valentyna.balakhtar@npp.nau.edu.ua, tacya3, sashuhis, bkskatrin $$ tacya3, sashuh$

 $marimodi @gmail.com, \ o.kuzminska @nubip.edu.ua$

Keywords: Professional Stress, Crisis, Remote Work, Mental Health, Psychological Safety.

Abstract: This article highlights the problem of professional stress of workers in the mass transition to remote work caused by the difficult conditions of our time in a pandemic COVID-19. Based on the results of theoretical analysis of scientific literature, the classification of the main models of stress is given. The content, features, factors, consequences of professional stress of workers working remotely in general in a pandemic in particular are highlight. Personal indicators of professional stress of employees are revealed. The role of personal qualities of employees in the emergence of professional stress as a buffer that mediates the impact of stressors, enhancing their action, or inhibiting it, negatively affecting the mental health, psychological safety of employees and the quality of their professional activities are shown. The results of an empirical study show that the influence of stressors, which is significantly enhanced in the forced transition to remote work, causing violations in the communicative, emotional, volitional and need-motivational spheres of personality of employees in general and depending on gender and age and professional features of employees in particular. The expediency of taking into account the personal characteristics of employees to prepare them for the prevention and overcoming of professional stress, developing the ability of employees to conscious and active stress management and counteracting stressors is stated. The article presents the components of the program of professional stress prevention for employees working remotely in crisis (cognitive, motivational, volitional, communicative). The data on approbation of the program is given, which testify to its positive influence on the dynamics of stress subjective perception. Prospects for further research aimed at large-scale implementation of the program in postgraduate education are outlined.

f https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7338-893X

1 INTRODUCTION

The dynamic changes observed in Ukrainian society are caused by a significant number of stressors in professional activities, which, combined with the personal characteristics of employees, contribute to professional stress, which negatively affects the effectiveness of professional activities and well-being. This problem is especially vital in today's crisis when a significant number of professionals went to work re-

Pinchuk, N., Pinchuk, O., Bondarchuk, O., Balakhtar, V., Balakhtar, K., Onopriienko-Kapustina, N., Shyshkina, M. and Kuzminska, O.

Professional Stress Prevention Program for Employees Working Remotely in Crisis. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 20-34

ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1904-804X

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9894-4090

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3920-242X

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6343-2888

e https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9154-9095

g https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5569-2700

^h https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8849-9648

motely under the pressure of external circumstances (pandemic COVID-19, martial law), which led to a radical change in the usual way of life and, consequently, the emergence of new, additional stressors. Given this, developing programs for professional stress prevention of specialists deserve particular study.

Analysis of the literature shows that the problem of stress is the subject of research by many scientists. Intensive research of the phenomenon of stress began after the publication of the works of Selye (Selye, 1976) in the 1950's, in which the main attention was focused on physiological changes in the body under the influence of stressors. Later, the psychological component of stress development was singled out and, accordingly, the concept of "psychological stress" was introduced as a product of the subject's cognitive processes (Lazarus, 2001; Pilkey et al., 2020; Cooper and Quick, 2017).

The problem of professional stress as a factor influencing the ability to work, quality of work and health of employees of organisations, devoted to the research of (Burke et al., 1996; Vodopyanova, 2013; Greenberg, 2008; Edwards et al., 1998; Karamushka and Gnuskina, 2018; Cohen and Wills, 1985; Cooper et al., 1994; Leonova, 2016; Beehr and McGrath, 1992; Pankovets, 2006; Zhou and Salvendy, 2019; Sharit and Salvendy, 1982). There are investigated some aspects of the specifics of the organization of effective work of remote virtual teams online (Pazos, 2012; Orti and Middlemiss, 2019) and the possibility of obtaining the psychological safety in such teams (Lechner and Tobias Mortlock, 2021; Costello, 2020), including crisis (Sandoval-Reves et al., 2021; Horton and Jacobs, 2022).

Some approaches to employee skill improvement, psychological stress relief, work-family balance, and company culture reinforcement from an HRM perspective are considered because of the impact of work-from-home patterns during the COVID-19 crisis (Chen, 2021).

At the same time, the peculiarities of professional stress prevention of specialists who work remotely in general and are forced due to a pandemic or martial law, in particular, have not previously been the subject of a particular study. The urgency and insufficient study of the problem determined the purpose of the study – to theoretically justify and test the program to prevent professional stress of employees who were forced to switch to remote work in a crisis.

2 LITERATURE REVIEW

An in-depth analysis of stress models was made by Ukrainian researcher Pankovets (Pankovets, 2006), who classified such models depending on the factors that cause stress and ways to manage it.

Thus, the models based on biological stressors include P. Parson's Model of Predisposition (Bodrov, 2000), H. Selye's physiological model (Selye, 1976; Pankovets, 2006; Bodrov, 2000), J. Fuller's genetic-constitutional model (Bodrov, 2000). Psychological factors are taken into account primarily in the cognitive model of R. Lazarus (Lazarus, 2001; Bodrov, 2000) and models of mental tension of N. Naenko (Nayenko, 1976). Complex (biological and psychological) factors are considered in the integrative model of R. Scott (Wong et al., 2006) and the model of Greenberg (Greenberg, 2008), and socio-psychological - in the interdisciplinary model of H. Basovich et al. (Bodrov, 2000), D. Dooley's theory of conflict (Bodrov, 2000) and D. Dorenvend's model (Bodrov, 2000). In addition, the scientist distinguishes models of stress depending on the methods of stress management through the mechanisms of adaptation (model D. Mechanic (Bodrov, 2000)), systemic self-regulation (system model of D. Ford and G. Schwart (Bodrov, 2000), or coping (model of coping R. Lazarus and S. Folkman (Lazarus, 2001; Greenberg, 2008; Bodrov, 2000).

Based on the analysis of these models, we can conclude that the occurrence and development of stress depend on both the constantly changing external environment and the individual psychological characteristics of the individual (Bodrov, 2000). The latter is caused by the fact that a difficult situation can be stressful for one person and not for another. It depends on how threatening the person is. The emergence of negative effects of stress is due primarily to the peculiarities of cognitive assessment of the environment and their own resources, in case of noncompliance of the latter with the requirements of the environment in which the person is.

To explain and describe the stressors associated with work, use close but not synonymous concepts: "work stress", "organisational stress", "professional stress", which carry different content loads (Pankovets, 2006; Kulikov, 2000; Nikiforov et al., 2003; Vasilieva et al., 2004).

Thus, work stress (job stress, stress at work), according to researchers, occurs as a result of complications related to the work environment (features of the workplace, working conditions, etc.). Organisational stress arises as a result of the negative impact of the characteristics of the organisation in which the entity operates. These concepts are close, but not synonymous. Therefore, it is vital to use them adequately following the objectives.

Professional stress is often understood as such a negative mental state, which is caused by the peculiarities and requirements of the profession itself, in its narrow sense (Bodrov, 2000; Knorring, 2001; Huhtala et al., 2021; Moreno Fortes et al., 2020; Kendall et al., 2000). These are complications:

- arise in the organic and psychological spheres in the performance of functional duties (according to the requirements of the profession) by the subject of professional activity and depend on the specifics of each profession;
- arising in the absence of a role balance between the professional sphere and the personal sphere: role overload, fuzzy role definition, role conflicts (Pankovets, 2006);
- due to the low level of satisfaction of the needs of the subject of professional activity in the process of performing this professional activity and the emotional attitude of the subject to the same work (Pankovets, 2006).

Currently, there are three main approaches to the study of professional stress: environmental, transactional and regulatory (Vasilieva et al., 2004; Hassard and Cox, 2015). The main task of the environmental approach is to find links between the content of work, the characteristics of the professional environment, the individual characteristics of staff and the violation of the health and psychological well-being of employees.

In the transactional approach, a great role is given to cognitive assessment by employees of professional situations and their own resources. *Proponents of the regulatory approach* (Leonova (Leonova, 2016), G. Hokki (Bodrov, 2000)) emphasise the mechanisms of regulation of activity and the mental state of specialists under the influence of various factors. Based on this, professional stress can be defined as a specific form of violation of the physiological and mental activity of the individual, which is due to individual and personal characteristics and occurs in response to the negative impact of the professional situation.

Both the features of the organisational and professional environment and the personal qualities of employees have a great influence on the development of stress, due to which they, when perceiving such influence of stressors, can reduce their significance or, conversely, strengthen them. In the latter case, there are complications in the psychophysiological state and psychological health and well-being of employees.

During the crisis phenomena that cause the forced transition of several employees to remote work, additional stress factors arise. It is the compulsion of remote work that restricts people's freedom and, despite the understanding of the need for such a state of affairs for survival, at the same time causes internal resistance due to the heavy psychological, emotional and financial burden for people. Employees working at home, especially in small rooms where they are forced to stay with other family members, may feel angry, irritated by the inability to adapt to the conditions and to cope with the difficult current situation. As a result, there is a risk of deteriorating mental health, the spread of symptoms of psychological distress and disorders, and so on (Hawryluck et al., 2004; Parmet and Sinha, 2020; Rubin and Wessely, 2020; Wu et al., 2005; Xiang et al., 2020).

In remote mode, employees receive basic information about the course of events from the media and social networks, which, unfortunately, often broadcast messages that update the perception of danger, threat and risk to life, often against the background of unclear information about the course of events, their uncertainty, etc. (Lechner and Tobias Mortlock, 2021; Pinchuk et al., 2022).

As for social networks, they often talk about spreading unverified rumors or just misinformation, fakes which causes unfounded fears among many people (Bontcheva et al., 2013; Oksanen et al., 2021).

An equally important factor in professional stress is the threat of reduced working hours and job losses in unstable business conditions, reduced payments, risks of housing destruction, etc., which negatively affects the financial capacity of employees due to limited or lost income and, as a consequence – on their emotional state, mental and physical health (Furedi, 2015; Page et al., 2006; Toffler, 1984; Zhou et al., 2020).

The main physiological symptoms of stress include (Pankovets, 2006):

- dysfunction of the nervous system;
- cardiac dysfunction;
- dysfunction of the gastrointestinal tract;
- respiratory dysfunction;
- sleep disorders.

Among the psychological symptoms are (Williams, 2001; Kamenyukin and Kovpak, 2004):

decreased activity of the cognitive sphere: decreased attention; memory impairment; violation of the adequacy of perception and logic of thinking;

- disorders of the emotional sphere: increased anxiety; increase emotional rigidity; an increase in the number of generalized negative emotional reactions such as anger, guilt, shame;
- changes in the behavioural sphere: "stuck" on the problem; difficulty in performing official and domestic duties, etc.

Remote work in pandemic times increased perceived stress, reduced work-life balance, and work satisfaction and increased productivity and engagement. Researchers also found a partial moderating effect, competitive and complementary, of perceived stress, and one significant gender difference: when working remotely, perceived stress affects men's productivity more acutely than women's productivity (Sandoval-Reyes et al., 2021).

Therefore, prevention and coping with professional stress (stress management, according to Greenberg (Greenberg, 2008)) is based on the ability of employees to consciously and adequately use methods and techniques of stress management, in particular, the establishment of personal barriers at all stages of stress in order to combat stressors. In our opinion, such a barrier can be a personal resource as a specific set of personality qualities, which determines the inner readiness to overcome challenging situations.

3 ORGANIZATION AND PROCEDURE OF RESEARCH OF PERSONAL RESOURCE OF PROFESSIONAL STRESS OF EMPLOYEES WORKING REMOTELY

3.1 Research Methods

In situations of change, uncertainty, and the impact of stressors, the role of personal resources becomes especially significant. The features of such spheres are decisive here, such as: motivational (active motivation in overcoming adverse external circumstances, focus on success despite all obstacles and challenges), volitional (personal endurance, control over life situations) and communicative (ability to interact effectively with others and maintain social contacts).

The following methods were used in the study: a questionnaire of interpersonal relations (author – V. Schutz, modification of A. Rukavishnikov) (Krylov and Manichev, 2006), a questionnaire for self-assessment of patience (authors – E. Ilyin, E. Feshchenko) (Ilyin, 2009), the method "Motivation for success and fear of failure" (author – A. Rean) (Fetiskin et al., 2009), method "Level of occupational stress" K. Weiman to study the characteristics of professional stress (Greenberg, 2008), as well as the author's questionnaire for self-assessment of professional stress of employees working remotely.

The questionnaire of interpersonal relations (author – V. Schutz, modification of A. Rukavishnikov) was used in our study to assess the communicative sphere of personality (Krylov and Manichev, 2006) in conditions of professional stress.

The test measures personal characteristics and evaluates relationships between people. The type of behaviour is diagnosed in three areas:

- an inclusion (the need to create and maintain satisfactory relationships with other people (psychologically acceptable), based on which there is interaction and cooperation, considered in two directions: the first - from individual to other people in the range from "establishing contacts with all people" to "does not establish contact with anyone", the second – from other people to the individual in the range from "always establish contact with him" to "never establish contact with him/her"),
- a control (the desire to create and maintain a sense of mutual respect, based on competence and responsibility, to feel competent and responsible person, ranging from the desire for power, authority and control over others to the desire to be controlled, to lose responsibility),
- 3) an affect (the need to create and maintain a satisfying relationship with other people based on emotional attachment, the desire to create and maintain a sense of mutual warm emotional relationship, the individual's need to feel worthy of love is considered in the range: behaviour expected by the individual from others in the range of "always establish a close personal relationship" to "never establish a close personal relationship with an individual").

In the process of the stressor's influence on the personality, its initial cognitive evaluation takes place by cognitive mental processes, such as thinking, memory, attention, imagination, will, etc. Based on this assessment, the situation is considered threatening or favourable, respectively, the analysis is carried out whether there are enough resources to cope at the emotional and volitional level or not.

That is why to assess the emotional and volitional sphere of employees we used the questionnaire for self-assessment of patience (authors – E. Ilyin, E. Feshchenko) (Ilyin, 2009). Under the latter E. Ilyin un-

derstands the quality of personality for a long time with the help of strong-willed efforts to withstand adverse situations (Ilyin, 2009). The questionnaire is aimed at studying the volitional component of personality, personal self-assessment of personality opportunities to perform work or perceive any situation.

The method "Motivation for success and fear of failure" (author – A. Rean) provided an assessment of the severity of motivation to achieve in situations of professional stress, its impact on the effectiveness of employees who are forced to work remotely (Fetiskin et al., 2009).

Analysis of the data by the method allows you to assess which desire mainly determines the behavior: the desire to succeed or avoid failure. The advantage of one of these two options largely determines the level of our aspirations – whether the person is ready to set difficult tasks to experience significant success, or chooses more modest goals so as not to be disappointed.

K. Weimann's method "Level of occupational stress" (Greenberg, 2008) is aimed at studying the degree of manifestation of professional stress in employees of the organization. The methodology contains 15 statements, which respondents are asked to rank in terms of the frequency of experiencing difficult situations.

As a fundamental characteristic of the cognitive component of the personal resource for the prevention of professional stress was chosen features of the subjective perception of professional stress by employees, which were determined by the author's questionnaire. The questionnaire consisted of 10 questions related to various manifestations of professional stress, the presence of which respondents noted in the following gradation: 1 point – manifestations are almost absent, 2 – minor manifestations, 3 – moderate manifestations, 4 – severe manifestations, 5 – pronounced manifestations.

The sample consisted of 156 people, of whom 55.8% were employees with telework, who worked stably outside the headquarters and 44.2% were employees at distance work, who were forced to work remotely due to crisis conditions.

The age composition of the sample is presented as follows: employees under the age of 30 - 51.9%; at the age of 35-45 years - 15.4%; at the age of 45-55 years - 25%; over 55 years - 7.7%

The organisation of employees of organisations was also divided according to the record of professional activity: up to 5 years (25%); 5-15 years (30.8%); 15-25 years (15.4%); more than 25 years (28.8%) of the respondents.

Regarding the organisational and professional

composition of the sample, it is distributed as follows: managers – 25%, employees – 75%. Among them: 5.8% – top managers, 32.7% – middle managers, 61.5% – specialists.

The experimental array of data obtained during the experiment was subjected to quantitative and qualitative analysis. Data processing was performed using the computer package of statistical programs SPSS (version 23.0) Criterion χ^2 , correlation analysis of variance, and K-means cluster were used to identify statistically significant differences and the relationship between different groups of respondents and data.

3.2 Features of the Cognitive Component of the Personal Resource of Professional Stress Prevention for Employees Working Remotely

According to the results of an empirical study based on the author's questionnaire, the distribution of the studied employees according to the subjective perception of professional stress was revealed. It was found that the manifestations of professional stress are virtually absent or insignificant for only 11.1% and 20.4% of respondents, respectively. 37.0% of employees rated the manifestations of professional stress as moderate, 25.9% – as severe, and 5.6% – as pronounced. Thus, the vast majority of respondents (68.5%) perceive the situation of professional activity as stressful.

At the same time, the results of the analysis of variance revealed the features of the subjective stress assessment of employees depending on status (figure 1).

It was stated that managers, regardless of gender, perceive the situation of professional activity as more stressful than ordinary employees, which may be due to their greater overload and responsibility for the results of the case (p < 0.05). At the level of the trend (p = 0.1) it was found that with the increasing length of service in women, regardless of position, the subjective assessment of professional stress deteriorates significantly compared to men.

Thus, in general, the insufficient level of the cognitive component of the personal resource for the prevention of professional stress was stated in a significant part of the respondents, especially in female managers who have a significant length of service.



Figure 1: Features of the subjective stress assessment of employees depending on status.

3.3 Features of the Communicative Component of the Personal Resource of Employees Working Remotely

At the first stage, the study of the communicative component of the personal resource of the employees with telework and distance organisation of work with the help of a questionnaire of interpersonal relations (author – V. Schutz, modification of A. Rukavishnikov) (Krylov and Manichev, 2006).

As follows from the data given in table 1, a significant number of respondents (42.2%) have a low desire to belong to different social groups, avoid large and frequent communication with others; do not feel very comfortable among others. Moreover, they do not require others to be involved in active communication (48.0%).

At the same time, regarding the need for affect, it was found that more than half of the respondents (65.4%) feel very careful in establishing close, intimate relation-ships, based on love and emotional attachment. Only 13.4% of employees have a strong need to create and maintain a feeling of mutual warm emotional attitude.

Regarding the need for control, it was stated that more than half of the respondents (65.4%) seek to build and maintain satisfactory relationships with others based on a sense of mutual respect, competence and responsibility. In fact, we can talk about the expressed need for this category of workers to feel competent and responsible person.

The next step was the analysis of the communicative component of the personal resource of employees with a remote of labour organisation by gender and organisational and professional characteristics.

Thus, according to the results of analysis of variance (figure 2) found statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) gender characteristics of employees in the desire to establish friendly relations with others depending on the form of work organisation. As Figure 2 data shows, men, both at telework and distance work, show a low tendency to be in the company of people, while women at distance work are characterized by a greater desire to maintain relationships with others for interaction and cooperation. For women at telework, this need is relatively less important. In our opinion, this picture shows that women, having experience in the office with constant communication with employees, remain more oriented to psychologically satisfactory interaction with people.

In general, it should be stated that women, regardless of the forms of labour organisation, are more inclined to close emotional contacts with a partner and need a relatively greater feeling and confirmation in the love of a partner, in contrast to men.

Regarding the professional and organisational features of the communicative component of the personal resource of employees, we revealed statistically significant differences (p < 0.01) in the desire for control in communication. Thus, employees in manage-

Trends in interpersonal interaction	The level of severity of the trend, %		
frends in interpersonal interaction	low	medium	high
to be in the company of other people	42.2	38.5	19.3
the desire for others to show interest in the	48.0	19.4	32.6
individual and accept him into their society	40.0		
control relationships with others	21.1	13.5	65.4
to obey others in relationships	34.6	38.5	26.9
to establish close relationships with others	65.4	21.2	13.4
the desire to establish deep emotional relationships with other	38.5	26.9	34.6

Table 1: Features of interpersonal needs and behavior of employees of organisations with different forms of work.



Groups of respondents

Figure 2: Features of the desire in the company of employees depending on gender and form of labour organisation.

rial positions show a greater need for authority, influence over others, and are more likely to show responsibility and dominance over others, in contrast to ordinary employees. Instead, the tendency to obey others is more pronounced in ordinary employees, while managers are less likely to avoid responsibility and obey others.

3.4 Determining the Indicators of the Emotional and Volitional Component of the Personal Resource of Employees Working Remotely

The next stage of the empirical study of the psychological characteristics of the impact of professional stress on employees of organizations involved the analysis of the features of the volitional component of the personal resource using a questionnaire for selfassessment of patience (authors – E. Ilyin, E. Feshchenko) (Ilyin, 2009).

It was found that absolutely all the surveyed employees rated their patience at a high level, which indicates a tendency to highly appreciate the strongwilled qualities associated with purposefulness.

Regarding gender-age and organisationalprofessional features of subjective assessment of volitional ability to regulate activities, it was found that employees (women and men) of telework form of labour organisation evaluate their patience relatively higher as opposed to employees of the distance work form of employment.

Based on the results of the analysis of variance, the statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) were found in the level of subjective assessment of patience from the record of service.

The group of employees of the distance work form of labour organisation with work experience up to 15 years tends to have higher values of volitional assessment; the group of employees with work experience from 15 to 25 years evaluates volitional qualities much lower; and in the group of employees working more than 25 years increase again. A group of respondents from a distance work form of labour organisation is characterized by a relatively high level of assessment of volitional qualities, regardless of the record of professional activity.

Such differences, in our opinion, can be explained by the fact that in the extreme situation of recent years, associated with the spread of coronavirus and martial law and, consequently, a sharp change in living conditions, for a group of workers with experience of distance work, there were significant limitations of career prospects, which affected the level of endurance in contrast to the group of employees of telework, for whom, in general, the changes had less impact.

3.5 The Results of the Study of the Indicators of the Motivational Component of the Personal Resource of Employees Working Remotely

The analysis of the study results of the features of the motivational sphere of the employees' personality was carried out using the method "Motivation for success and fear of failure" (author – A. Rean) (Fetiskin et al., 2009).

Summarizing the results, it was found that only 25.0% of employees are motivated to succeed, which indicates a desire in the process of setting and achieving goals to focus on the successful completion of tasks and getting a positive result. The vast majority of respondents (67.7%) show a tendency of motivation to succeed, which indicates a lower level of their activity in achieving results. In addition, 7.7% of respondents show a tendency of motivation to fail, which can lead to a decrease in self-confidence and, consequently, the level of demands.

At the same time, a detailed analysis revealed the peculiarities of the motivational component of employees depending on gender, position and record of professional activity.

Regarding the peculiarities of the manifestation of motivation for success depending on gender, a statistically significant difference (p < 0.05) was recorded in employees with telework and distance work forms of labour organisation.

Men with a distance work form of labour organisation have higher rates of motivation to succeed than women. While for employees with telework form of activity of both male and female, the indicators of positive motivation are almost indistinguishable. There is a more active desire of men without experience of telework to realize themselves in a new place, in new conditions, with new employees.

Further analysis of variance allowed determining the features of the motivational component of resource depending on the position and form of labour organisation (figure 3).

Figure 3 shows that employees in management positions show higher motivation to succeed than regular employees, both during telework and distance work.

This state of affairs, in our opinion, can be explained by the fact that managers of different levels (top, middle management) have greater access to information about the prospects and plans for the company development, project implementation, are more involved in the financial aspects of the activities of structural divisions and the organisation as a whole, which contributes to the confidence that they are more involved in the process of achieving the company's success and have a direct influence on it.

Next, the study performs the analysis of variance of the positive motivation of employees depending on professional experience during telework and distance work forms of labour organisation. Regarding it, the study established that employees during telework form of labour organisation are characterized by consistently high rates of positive motivation, i.e. they are focused on achieving constructive, positive results. While in contrast to employees with a distance work form of organisation of activities, it shows a decrease in motivation to succeed with work experience from 15 to 25 years.

Thus, both with the general level of patience and with the peculiarities of the motivational sphere, employees with experience of 15 to 25 years have certain difficulties, which may be associated, in our opinion, with crisis experiences related to the age characteristics of this category of respondents. We can assume that external complex circumstances acted as a catalyst for internal fears. However, the positive fact is that the lower values of this group of respondents by professional experience fluctuate within the positive motivation, i.e. employees look to the future with hope.

According to the results of the K-means cluster, the distribution of the surveyed by the levels of personal preventional resources concerning professional stress was established. Previously, the indicators (the distribution of which, despite all the peculiarities, did not differ statistically enormously from the normal distribution curve) were transformed by McCall's Tscale in order to present individual test results in a way that is easy to interpret. As a result, 3 clusters



Figure 3: Features of the motivational sphere of employees depending on the position and form of labour organisation.

were identified, the analysis of which allows us to determine the presence of groups of subjects with levels below average, average and above-average (table 2).

Cluster 1 (34.6% of respondents) included employees with mostly low indicators of personal resources, including a high subjective assessment of professional stress. At the same time, given the sufficient indicators of patience and balance of interpersonal relationships in terms of inclusion in interpersonal relationships, their level of personal resources can be considered as below average.

Cluster 2 (50.0% of respondents) consisted of employees with mainly average indicators of personal resource, which gives grounds to define the level of personal resource in general as average.

Cluster 3 (15.4% of respondents) includes employees with mostly high indicators of personal resources. At the same time, taking into account the subjective assessment of stress and a certain imbalance of interpersonal relations according to the indicator of control in interpersonal relations, their level of personal preventional resources of professional stress can be considered higher than average.

At the same time, according to the results of variance analysis, it was found that higher levels of personal resources correspond to lower indicators of professional stress (p < 0.01). This indicates the expediency of its development as a significant factor in preventing professional stress of employees.

4 CONTENTS OF THE PROGRAM

Therefore, there was a need to develop and approve a program to prevent professional stress of employees who work remotely in crisis conditions, which is based on the development of personal resources. For this purpose were identified and implemented the main principles and psychological conditions for the development of personal resources of employees working remotely. Thus, the main principles include:

- systemic (mutually determining influence of psychological components on the development of the individual's personal resources);
- comprehensiveness (orientation on the integral development of the personality of employees by using a set of complementary methods of corrective and developmental influence);
- individualization (development of a positive attitude towards oneself, belief in one's own abilities by taking into account the individual characteristics of the development of remotely working employees);
- individual activity (overcoming developmental barriers takes place due to strengthening the internal potential of the individual and including it in joint activities);
- objectification of behavior (providing constructive feedback leads to occurring of transforma-

Indicators of personal resources	Cluster			
	1 (lower than average)	2(average)	3 (above average)	
Subjective stress assessment	60.0	41.5	50.7	
Motivation to succeed	48.2	48.7	53.2	
Patience	49.6	49.1	53.8	
Inclusion in interpersonal relationships				
Tendency to be in the company of other people	41.2	52.5	61.9	
The desire for others to show interest in the	41.6	52.4	61.1	
individual and accept him into their society	41.0			
Control of interpersonal relationships				
Tendency to control others in relationships	42.7	54.3	52.4	
Tendency to obey others in relationships	51.2	46.2	59.6	
Intimacy in interpersonal relationships				
Tendency to establish close relationships with others	43.5	48.8	68.4	
The desire to establish deep emotional relationships	41.8	51.5	63.4	
with others				

Table 2: Distribution of employees of organizations by levels of personal resources.

tional changes of the personality in perception, attitude and behavior towards oneself and others);

- research position (activation of self-regulatory strategies due to the application of reflective analysis of one's own activity);
- partner communication (development of reflection, tolerance, recognition of the value of another person, his thoughts, interests, preferences).

These principles were clarified in the psychological conditions of the development of personal resources of employees working remotely in crisis conditions:

- ensuring the correspondence of methods and techniques to life experience and the level of personal development, through a systematic reflective analysis of needs, values and meanings in all types of interactions within the program;
- creation of a safe virtual space for personal changes, based on the feelings, experiences, states, and interests of the participants, admitting the value of their personality, as well as joint development and adoption of the rules of the group and ontime feedback;
- promotion of self-discovery, self-disclosure and self-realization of employees through the discussion of personally significant professional and life situations and the development of a common vision of emerging problems and ways of their solutions;
- maintaining an active position towards a new, developing experience, which allows each participant to discover opportunities for expanding the

perception of the situation, oneself and one's resources, and the vision of others;

- 5) the organization of problem-meaningful creative space, which is aimed at cooperation and joint creativity in solving complex professional and life tasks;
- 6) the use of interactive learning methods as a means of promoting the development of personal resources of employees of organizations that work remotely in crisis conditions;
- stimulation of personal responsibility, which increases involvement in the process of group interaction, increasing motivation for internal changes and becoming personally meaningful.

The program "Prevention of professional stress for employees who work remotely in crisis" is designed for 30 hours (of which – 12 classroom hours and 18 hours for independent work) and was implemented in the format of a special training course on the basis of the Ukrainian Open University of Postgraduate Education (UOUPE) https://bit.ly/3a2PBSe. It consists of four modules, which involve remote individual and group processing of selected components of personal resources (communicative, volitional and motivational). Forms and methods of the program are aimed at the development of all its components and were selected according to the results of the diagnosis of the personal resources of employees who work remotely (Bondarchuk and Pinchuk, 2020).

Taking into account the identified features of the development of the personal resource of employees who work remotely in crisis, we consider the most optimal forms and methods of its development to be active group methods adapted to the specifics of a remote form of interaction in a virtual learning space. These are thematic group discussions (rooms in Zoom), brainstorming (online boards Google Jamboard, Mentimeter), minilectures (Zoom, BigBlueButton, Google Meet), situational role-playing games, individual and group exercises (Zoom), tasks for individual independent works (Google Classroom), etc.

Exercises that ensured the development of personal resources of employees who work remotely in crisis, in accordance with the components we identified and were included in the modules, developed by us personally or borrowed from other authors and modified by us in accordance with the goals and objectives of the program (Greenberg, 2008; Karamushka and Gnuskina, 2018; Leonova, 2016; Pankovets, 2006; Pinyuhina et al., 2015).

To create a comfortable, trusting atmosphere of interaction and communication, relieve emotional tension, and unite the group at the organizational and preparatory stage, techniques were used to get to know the group members, determine the goal and tasks, develop and approve the rules of interaction, and study the expectations from participation in the program. This was achieved by the use of icebreaker exercises, during which, for example, the participants, answering the questions: "I think that I...", "Others think that I...", "Actually, I...", invented three imaginary characters, heroes, animals and then introduced themselves in a circle.

Elaborating on the content of the first module "Cognitive component of personal resource as a factor of prevention of professional stress", the participants were asked to describe and analyze problematic situations of professional activity concerning the main factors of the development of stress, using the following questions:

- regarding the "significance of the situation": What is valuable for me that I will lose if I refuse to perform this activity or from being in this situation?
- regarding "uncertainty": What do I not know about this situation? What information do I need? What am I missing to cope? How should I act?
- regarding the "load": What resources (effort, funds) will I lose or do I need to cope with the situation? At what cost can I succeed in this dish?
- regarding "risk": What valuable for me will I lose if I take the wrong steps?
- regarding the "rush": How much time do I need to deal with the situation? How much time am I willing to devote to this matter? (significance of the situation, uncertainty, load, risk, rush).

This approach helped carry out a detailed cognitive analysis of professional situations in crisis conditions to reduce emotional tension and awareness of ways and personal opportunities to solve difficult circumstances.

Within the deployment of the second module "The role of the communicative component of a personal resource in overcoming professional stress in crisis conditions", the work was aimed at finding and developing means of social support. Thus, the participants were invited to join mini-groups in Zoom Breakout rooms and discuss and write down what are the positive and negative aspects of communication in a remote format in these challenging conditions.

Self-study of this module consisted of the tasks of providing and asking for social support. For example, talking to someone close to them about a difficult situation they are in, talking about their experiences using the I-statement technique, and providing constructive feedback.

Self-regulation techniques, goal-setting techniques and others were suggested for the development of the willpower and perseverance of employees. Thus, performing the "Fortress" technique, the participants were offered, divided into small groups of 4-5 people, to create a security fortress in Google Jamboard, using any of the board's available tools. During the task, it was necessary to think of a group answer to the following questions: "What emotions and feelings accompanied the process of creating the fortress?", "What material is the fortress built from?", "How strong are the walls of your fortress?" If it is not enough -- "Who can help make them stronger? / How can they be strengthened?", "Who (or what) does the fortress protect?", "What resources/things make the inhabitants of the fortress stronger?", "Who defends the fortress from enemies?", "What will you take with you to the fortress?".

The setting goals and developing steps to achieve them technique was also used. For this, the participants independently determined the best result they enjoy to gain (the best purpose) in four areas: health, work, family (relationships with a loved one, children) and personal development. If desired, the spheres could be changed in accordance with one's own priorities. Next, on a scale from 1 to 10, the current level of satisfaction with each area was recorded. After that, it was necessary to write down 3-5 easy, real steps that will help move one position closer to the goal.

The basis of tasks for self-study in this module was based on the statement that repeated mental states gradually change the corresponding personality properties (Maksymenko et al., 2015). And the main principle of managing mental states is the analysis, selection and use of self-regulation methods. Accordingly, the participants were offered to independently compile a list of available and desirable methods of self-regulation, using the list: autogenic training (selfsuggestion), breathing techniques, muscle relaxation, physical exercises, meditation, visualization (use of positive images), etc.

In the process of mastering the tasks of the fourth module "Development of the motivational sphere of personal resource as a factor of preventing professional stress of employees", it was suggested to individually perform the exercise "I want, I can, I will be in professional activity" (Kamenyukin and Kovpak, 2004) when each participant continued unfinished sentences about his/her professional activity:

- "I want to work..." (desire).
- "I can at work..." (abilities and opportunities, unique ability).
- "I will be at work..." (plans).

After that, there was a discussion about the participants' analysis of the correspondence between their desires and opportunities for self-realization in the professional sphere. The value and relevance of the proposed exercise lie in finding and identifying one's own internal resources that will help achieve success in professional activities.

The independent work on this module included the task of analyzing the motives of professional activity in crisis conditions, answering the question: "Why do I work in such difficult times?". Another task was to recall some stressful events that happened in the last year and analyze the motives of one's own behaviour under the influence of a challenging situation.

The developed program for the prevention of professional stress for employees who work remotely in crisis was based on a combination of the following components:

- educational, training and development components;
- agreement and compliance with the rules of group interaction;
- determination of the goals of each stage of the program;
- creation and maintenance of greeting and farewell rituals unique to the group;
- verbal reflection, which created favourable conditions for the development of cognitive, communicative, volitional and motivational components of the personal resource in countering challenging circumstances.

60 employees who were forced to work remotely took part in the approbation of the program, of which 30 were in the experimental group and 30 were in the control group.

At the end of the approbation of the program, the participants were asked to answer the questions of the questionnaire again regarding the determination of the level of subjective perception of professional stress, the results of which are presented in table 3.

Table 3: Distribution of respondents of the experimental regarding the levels of individual perception of professional stress before and after approbation of the program.

Levels of individual	Number of respondents		
	in %		
of manifestations	Before ap-	After ap-	
of professional stress	probation	probation	
of professional succes	(I stage)	(II stage)	
practically absent	10.0	23.3	
insignificant	23.3	30.0	
medium	36.7	26.7	
pronounced	20.0	20.0	
great pronounced	10.0	0.0	

As shown in table 3, a comparative analysis of the individual perception of the manifestations of professional stress of employees working remotely in crisis conditions, as a result of the preliminary approbation of the program, testifies to the effectiveness of the proposed program for participants (statistically significant differences at the level of p < 0.01 according to the sign criterion). At the same time, no statistically significant differences were found in the indicators of individual perception of professional stress in the control group. The obtained results indicate the need its wider implementation with different categories of employees in the postgraduate education system.

5 CONCLUSIONS

Stress as a reaction to a difficult life situation is seen as a result of individual interaction with the environment, individual adaptive response to the complication of the situation or a special class of states that reflects the mechanisms of regulation of activities in difficult conditions.

Professional stress can be defined as a specific form of violation of physiological and mental activity, which occurs in response to the negative impact of the professional situation, and which is due to individual psychological and personal characteristics of employees.

Personal qualities of employees play a very impor-

tant role in the occurrence of professional stress. They are the buffer that mediates the impact of stressors, increasing their action, or inhibiting it, negatively affecting the mental health of employees and the quality of their professional activities.

The influence of stressors is significantly enhanced in the forced transition to remote work, causing violations in the cognitive, communicative, volitional and motivational components of personality resources of employees of the organization, which acquire their specifics depending on gender, age and professional characteristics of employees.

Therefore, personal factors should be taken into account in the prevention and coping of professional stress, developing the ability of employees to consciously and actively manage stress and counteract stressors.

A program for preventing professional stress for employees who work remotely in crisis has been developed, and several principles and psychological conditions for its implementation have been substantiated.

The approbation of the program, which consisted of four modules corresponding to the cognitive, communicative, volitional and motivational components of the personal resource, proved its effectiveness. The results of the analysis of the distribution of respondents regarding the levels of individual perception of professional stress before and after the approbation are evidenced. Accordingly, the need for broader implementation for various categories of workers in crisis is actualized.

REFERENCES

- Beehr, T. A. and McGrath, J. E. (1992). Social support, occupational stress and anxiety. Anxiety, Stress, & Coping, 5(1):7–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10615809208250484.
- Bodrov, V. A. (2000). Informatsionnyy stress [Information stress]. PER SE.
- Bondarchuk, O. and Pinchuk, N. (2020). Yak poperedyty ta podolaty stres u skladnykh umovakh s'ohodennya [how to prevent and overcome stress in today's difficult conditions]. https://tinyurl.com/ynpchyp4.
- Bontcheva, K., Gorrell, G., and Wessels, B. (2013). Social media and information overload: Survey results. https://doi.org/10.48550/ARXIV.1306.0813.
- Burke, R. J., Greenglass, E. R., and Schwarzer, R. (1996). Predicting teacher burnout over time: Effects of work stress, social support, and self-doubts on burnout and its consequences. *Anxiety, Stress,* & Coping, 9(3):261–275. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10615809608249406.

- Chen, Z. (2021). Influence of Working From Home During the COVID-19 Crisis and HR Practitioner Response. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12. https://doi.org/ fpsyg.2021.710517.
- Cohen, S. and Wills, T. A. (1985). Stress, Social Support, and the Buffering Hypothesis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 98(2):310–357. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909. 98.2.310.
- Cooper, C. and Quick, J. C., editors (2017). The Handbook of Stress and Health: A Guide to Research and Practice. John Wiley & Sons. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 9781118993811.
- Cooper, C. L., Kirkcaldy, B. D., and Brown, J. (1994). A model of job stress and physical health: The role of individual differences. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 16(4):653–655. https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0191-8869(94)90194-5.
- Costello, K. (2020). CIOs Play a Key Role in Improving Psychological Safety. https://tinyurl.com/y39nrmxx.
- Edwards, J. R., Caplan, R. D., and Harrison, R. V. (1998). Person-Environment Fit Theory: Conceptual Foundations, Empirical Evidence, and Directions for Future Research. In Cooper, C. L., editor, *Theories of organizational stress*, pages 28–67. Oxford University Press, Oxford. https://public.kenan-flagler.unc.edu/faculty/ edwardsj/edwardsetal1998.pdf.
- Fetiskin, N., Kozlov, V., and Manuilov, G. (2009). Sotsial'no-psikhologicheskaya diagnostika razvitiya lichnosti i malykh grupp [Social and psychological diagnostics of the development of personality and small groups]. Psychotherapy, Moscow, 2nd edition.
- Furedi, F. (2015). Information Overload or a Search for Meaning? *The American Interest*, 11(4). https://www.the-american-interest.com/2015/12/17/ information-overload-or-a-search-for-meaning/.
- Greenberg, J. S. (2008). Comprehensive stress management.
- Hassard, J. and Cox, T. (2015). Work-related stress: Nature and management. https://oshwiki.eu/wiki/ Work-related_stress:_Nature_and_management.
- Hawryluck, L., Gold, W., Robinson, S., Pogorski, S., Galea, S., and Styra, R. (2004). SARS Control and Psychological Effects of Quarantine, Toronto, Canada. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 10(7):1206– 1212. https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/14485.
- Horton, N. and Jacobs, K. (2022). How does the working environment transition impact perceived work-related quality of life for postsecondary teachers within the United States? *Work*, 71(2):417–421. https://doi.org/ 10.3233/WOR-210819.
- Huhtala, M., Geurts, S., Mauno, S., and Feldt, T. (2021). Intensified job demands in healthcare and their consequences for employee well-being and patient satisfaction: A multilevel approach. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 77(9):3718–3732. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jan.14861.
- Ilyin, E. P. (2009). *Psikhologiya voli [Psychology of Will]*. Piter, St. Petersburg, 2 edition.
- Kamenyukin, A. and Kovpak, D. (2004). Antistress-trening [Anti-stress training]. Piter, St. Petersburg.

- Karamushka, L. M. and Gnuskina, G. V. (2018). Psychology of entrepreneur burnout. Kyiv. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/163088378.pdf.
- Kendall, E., Murphy, P., O'Neill, V., and Bursnall, S. (2000). Occupational Stress: Factors that Contribute to its Occurrence and Effective Management. A Report to the Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation commission, Centre for Human Services Griffith University, Shenton Park. https://tinyurl.com/4yu4m535.
- Knorring, V. I. (2001). Teoriya, praktika i iskusstvo upravleniya [Theory, practice and art of management]. NORMA, 2nd edition.
- Krylov, A. A. and Manichev, S. A., editors (2006). Praktikum po obshchey, eksperimental'noy i prikladnoy psikhologii [Workshop on general, experimental and applied psychology]. Piter, St. Petersburg.
- Kulikov, L. V. (2000). *Psikhicheskiye sostoyaniya [Mental states]*. Piter.
- Lazarus, R. S. (2001). Relational meaning and discrete emotions. In Scherer, K. R., Schorr, A., and Johnstone, T., editors, *Appraisal Processes in Emotion: Theory, Methods, Research*, page 37–67. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Lechner, A. and Tobias Mortlock, J. (2021). How to create psychological safety in virtual teams. Organizational Dynamics, page 100849. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.orgdyn.2021.100849.
- Leonova, A. B. (2016). Complex psychological stress management techniques and assessment of individual stressresistance: the experience of integrating different research paradigms (Kompleksnyye psikhologicheskiye tekhnologii upravleniya stressom i otsenka individual'noy stress-rezistentnosti: opyt integratsii razlichnykh issledovatel'skikh paradigm). Moscow University Psychology Bulletin. Series 14. Psychology, (3).
- Maksymenko, S. D., Zlyvkov, V. L., and Kuzikova, S. B. (2015). Osobystist' u rozvytku: psykholohichna teoriya i praktyka [Person in development: Psychological Theory and Practice]. Sumy State Pedagogical University named after A. S. Makarenko.
- Moreno Fortes, A., Tian, L., and Huebner, E. S. (2020). Occupational Stress and Employees Complete Mental Health: A Cross-Cultural Empirical Study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17:3629. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijerph17103629.
- Nayenko, N. I. (1976). Psikhicheskaya napryazhennost' [Psychic tension]. Publishing house of Moscow University.
- Nikiforov, G. S., Avgustov, L. I., Ananiev, V. A., Berezovskaya, R. A., Vodopyanova, N. E., Gurvich, I. N., Davidenko, D. N., Danilenko, O. I., Dobryakov, I. V., Isakova, O. P., et al. (2003). *Psikhologiya zdorov'ya* [*Psychology of health*]. Piter.
- Oksanen, A., Oksa, R., Savela, N., Mantere, E., Savolainen, I., and Kaakinen, M. (2021). COVID-19 crisis and digital stressors at work: A longitudinal study on the Finnish working population. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 122:106853. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb. 2021.106853.

- Orti, P. and Middlemiss, M. (2019). *Thinking remote: Inspiration for Leaders of Distributed Teams*. Virtual not Distant.
- Page, S., Yeoman, I., Munro, C., Connell, J., and Walker, L. (2006). A case study of best practice—Visit Scotland's prepared response to an influenza pandemic. *Tourism Management*, 27(3):361–393. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.tourman.2006.01.001.
- Pankovets, V. L. (2006). Psychological Determinants of Professional Stress in School Principals. The dissertation to earn scientific degree of candidate of psychological sciences in speciality 19.00.10 – organizational psychology; economic psychology, Kostyuk Institute of Psychology, Academy of Pedagogical Sciences of Ukraine. https://nrat.ukrintei.ua/searchdoc/ 0406U005043.
- Parmet, W. E. and Sinha, M. S. (2020). Covid-19 The Law and Limits of Quarantine. New England Journal of Medicine, 382(15):e28. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMp2004211.
- Pazos, P. (2012). Conflict management and effectiveness in virtual teams. *Team Performance Management*, 18:401–417. https://doi.org/10.1108/ 13527591211281138.
- Pilkey, W. D., Pilkey, D. F., and Bi, Z. (2020). *Peterson's Stress Concentration Factors*. John Wiley & Sons, 4th edition.
- Pinchuk, N., Pinchuk, O., Bondarchuk, O., Balakhtar, V., Balakhtar, K., Onopriienko-Kapustina, N., Shyshkina, M., and Kuzminska, O. (2022). Personal indicators of occupational stress of employees working remotely in a pandemic quarantine. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(2):129–142. https://doi.org/ 10.55056/etq.8.
- Pinyuhina, K. O., Merzla, M. M., and Anina, O. V. (2015). Adaptyvni antystresovi tekhnolohiyi [Adaptive antistress technologies]. RIPPE, Mykolayiv.
- Rubin, James, G. and Wessely, S. (2020). The psychological effects of quarantining a city. *BMJ*, 368:m313. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m313.
- Sandoval-Reyes, J., Idrovo-Carlier, S., and Duque-Oliva, E. J. (2021). Remote Work, Work Stress, and Work–Life during Pandemic Times: A Latin America Situation. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(13):7069. https: //doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18137069.
- Selye, H. (1976). Stress without Distress. In Serban, G., editor, *Psychopathology of Human Adaptation*, pages 137–146. Springer US, Boston, MA. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-1-4684-2238-2_9.
- Sharit, J. and Salvendy, G. (1982). Occupational Stress: Review and Reappraisal. *Human factors*, 24(2):129– 162. https://doi.org/10.1177/001872088202400201.
- Toffler, A. (1984). Future Shock. Bantam, reissue edition.
- Vasilieva, T. N., Gabdreeva, G. S., and Prokhorov, A. O. (2004). *Psychology of states*. Rech, St. Petersburg.
- Vodopyanova, N. E. (2013). Psikhodiagnostika stressa [Psychodiagnostics of stress]. Peter, St. Petersburg.
- Williams, X. (2001). From Stress to Success: 10 Steps to a Relaxed and Happy Life. Thorsons.

- Wong, P. T. P., Wong, L. C. J., and Scott, C. (2006). Beyond Stress and Coping: The Positive Psychology of Transformation. In Wong, P. T. P. and Wong, L. C. J., editors, *Handbook of Multicultural perspectives on stress and coping*, pages 1–26. Springer, New York, NY. http://www. drpaulwong.com/documents/stress-coping-resilience/ stress-and-coping-book-chapter-1.pdf.
- Wu, K. K., Chan, S. K., and Ma, T. M. (2005). Posttraumatic Stress after SARS. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 11(8):1297–1300. https://doi.org/10.3201/ eid1108.041083.
- Xiang, Y.-T., Yang, Y., Li, W., Zhang, L., Qinge, Z., Cheung, T., and Ng, C. H. (2020). Timely mental health care for the 2019 novel coronavirus outbreak is urgently needed. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7:228–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30046-8.
- Zhou, J. and Salvendy, G., editors (2019). Human Aspects of IT for the Aged Population. Social Media, Games and Assistive Environments: 5th International Conference, ITAP 2019, Held as Part of the 21st HCI International Conference, HCII 2019, Orlando, FL, USA, July 26-31, 2019, Proceedings, Part II, volume 11593 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22015-0.
- Zhou, X., Snoswell, C., Harding, L., Bambling, M., Edirippulige, S., Bai, X., and Smith, A. C. (2020). The Role of Telehealth in Reducing the Mental Health Burden from COVID-19. *Telemedicine and e-Health*, 26(4):377–379. https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj. 2020.0068.

Differentiated System for Digital Professional Development of University Teachers

Nataliia V. Morze^{®a}, Oksana P. Buinytska^{®b}, Liliia O. Varchenko-Trotsenko^{®c} and Tetiana S. Terletska^{®d}

Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, 18/2 Bulvarno-Kudriavska Str., Kyiv, 04053, Ukraine n.morze@kubg.edu.ua, o.buinytska@kubg.edu.ua, l.varchenko@kubg.edu.ua, t.terletska@kubg.edu.ua

Keywords: Adaptive Learning, e-Learning, Microlearning, Students' Needs, Moodle.

The article highlights the issues of designing a system for teacher digital competence development. The paper Abstract: describes the research that resulted in the development and implementation of a differentiated system for digital professional development of university teachers at the Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University. The principle of system differentiation is realized in two directions: to time possibilities of testing and minicourse passing; to needs of teachers according to professional direction and disciplines taught. A model of organization of this system based on self-assessment, self-education and micro-teaching principles has been developed. The main structural elements of the differentiated system are a diagnostic test and sets of mini courses. The approaches to the formation of the diagnostic test, including ensuring its integration, variability and validity, as well as the principle of its use in order to establish the level of digital competence of teachers in accordance with the developed corporate standard of digital competence were applied in detail. The content of the levels is analyzed on the example of the levels Analyst-Researcher (A), Integrator (B1) and Expert (B2). For the levels Leader (C1) and Innovator (C2) the structure based on the formative assessment process is offered. The system allows teachers to build their own professional development trajectory as a digital footprint reflected in a personal study, and the use of embedded business intelligence tools provides a visualized holistic picture of digital professional performance.

1 INTRODUCTION

The objectively necessary mass transition to elearning during the quarantine and martial law periods has become a global challenge for the whole educational environment of Ukraine, including higher education institutions and teachers in particular.

An important issue is the quality of e-learning, as noted, for example, in the 2021 EDUCAUSE Horizon Report (Pelletier et al., 2021). This focuses specifically on the quality of online learning as a technology, the use of analytics, open resources, a mix of blended and hybrid learning models. At the same time, the requirements for information and digital competence, which is the basis for effective use of digital tools for online learning arrangement, are increasing.

For this reason, the issue of implementing an ef-

fective professional development system that contains research, didactic, leadership and digital components is of particular relevance. Teacher trainings play an important role in educational systems of many developed countries. In Finland teacher trainings are organized at the working place by the educational institution, by The National Board of Education, by The National Centre for Professional Development in Education, by teacher training departments and at higher education institutions with credit system of study (OECD, 2011).

In Great Britain teacher trainings are arranged using one of two models: course model on the basis of higher education institutions and school based inservice education (Machin and Vignoles, 2005). The process of teacher training in Canada is provided by different educational institutions including universities, departments of education, school boards, regional centres of education, volunteer organisations, teachers communities and privat professional development companies (Thomas, 2013). Professional development of American teachers takes place at higher

Morze, N., Buinytska, O., Varchenko-Trotsenko, L. and Terletska, T.

Differentiated System for Digital Professional Development of University Teachers.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3477-9254

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3611-2114

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0723-4195

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8046-423X

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 35-45 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

educational institutions of different levels (Darling-Hammond et al., 2010).

This leads us to the question of a higher educational institution as a teacher training provider. The aim of the paper is to describe a differentiated system for digital professional development of university teachers implemented on the basis of Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University. In particular, the authors consider the question of teachers digital competence level determination and providing a differentiated approach to learning through the system of mini courses for personalization of teachers learning trajectory in digital sphere. The structure and the topics of the courses are offered to meet the needs of teachers at different levels. Also the possibility of formative assessment implementation at advanced levels is taken into consideration for high quality learning provision.

The analysis of current research has shown that a significant number of scholars pay a lot of attention to this issue. Seel and Zierer (Seel and Zierer, 2019) stress that the implementation of digital technologies in education will be effective if it is teacher and pedagogy rather than technology that takes the lead: "The main focus of educational responsibility has always been human development. The human being in pedagogy is both the starting point and the end result. This approach must also be applied to the digitalisation of education. Digital technologies cannot become a substitute for the pedagogical component of the educational process. Moreover, digitalization must be subordinated to pedagogy". Meyers et al. (Meyers et al., 2013) believe that the development of digital technologies and tools requires new knowledge and skills from the educator; the educator should ensure that applicants for education master digital tools in order to be ahead of the younger generation and help them master the necessary competencies to increase the availability of new knowledge.

Yarbro et al. (Yarbro et al., 2016) stresses that in the digital space it is the teacher who determines the pace of learning, organizes the topics that implement subject knowledge, and is responsible for students' learning progress.

The Digital Competence Profile of Educators (DigCompEdu, 2017) proposed in 2017 describes 22 competencies, the focus of which is not on technical skills, but on the teacher's ability to use digital technologies to provide high quality education.

Kluzer and Pujol Priego (Kluzer and Pujol Priego, 2018) describe the implementation practices of the European Digital Competence Framework (Dig-Comp) consisting of 50 case studies and tools.

Ottestad et al. (Ottestad et al., 2014) define the digital competences of an educator as a set of com-

ponents: general, which includes general knowledge and skills that teachers should have; didactic, which reflects the digital specificity in each discipline and professional oriented with a description of digital rice.

According to the 2021 EDUCAUSE Horizon Report (Pelletier et al., 2021) at the beginning of the pandemic, educational institutions started to develop portals/hubs that included different educational resources and use new teaching strategies. The educational reference materials presented on them to help teachers move quickly from traditional to online learning. One of the best examples was the training of teachers at Indiana University and its partners. The developers actively developed the site's resources, allowing them to quickly review and redistribute materials to meet faculty needs. The site, its structure and content have also been used in the future not only by colleges and universities in the United States but also by other higher education institutions.

The pandemic and martial law require new pedagogical approaches for educators to rethink the ways and methods of delivering educational content to applicants, motivating them, establishing electronic communication and collaboration, performance assessment, interactive tasks preparation and formative assessment.

At the same time, an important point in defining quality is standardization, which is a complex multifactorial process.

The Standards and Guidelines for Quality Assurance in the European Higher Education Area (ESG) (Tomas and Kelo, 2020), standards for quality assurance in higher education: internal and external, based on the experience of quality assurance in the Western European countries, set the only European format for quality assurance systems and the creation of a single European educational area. The documents stipulate that HEIs should have certain procedures and criteria to validate the qualifications and professional level of teachers. Given that Ukraine is a party to this space, higher education institutions implement these standards, which are specifically stated in the Law of Ukraine on Higher Education (On Higher Education, 2017).

The professional standard for the group of professions "Teachers of Higher Education Institutions" (Standard, 2021) defines the conditions for the professional development of teachers and specifies a list of their job functions, each of which provides a detailed description of professional competences, noting the necessary knowledge, skills and abilities, a considerable part of which require a sufficiently high level of digital competence.

Taking into account the above-mentioned require-

ments in the professional standard of a teacher at Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University the "Teacher Profile" was developed, which reflects the manifestation indicators and learning outcomes of a university teacher in the context of such qualities: didactic, research, leadership and digital competence.

2 DIGITAL PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF UNIVERSITY TEACHERS

Professional development at the University is implemented in five modules: digital competence module, research competence module, leadership competence module, didactic competence module, professional competence module (Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, 2015; Morze et al., 2022).

The digital competence module is offered to teachers to develop information and digital competence, namely an introduction to modern educational trends in the process of digital transformation, ways of introducing innovative pedagogical technologies based on various digital instruments into the educational process, 21st century skills, the peculiarities of blended and online learning arrangement. Participants explore digital tools for creating high quality e-content, implementing formative assessment, effective communication and collaboration. Learning takes place in a blended learning format using the elearning course "Digital Module" located in the university's e-learning system.

In order to improve the teacher professional development system, teacher satisfaction with the process and the learning results is constantly monitored. To analyze the dynamics of professional development indicators analytical data is tracked in real time using a modern business intelligence tool – Microsoft Power BI, which is a set of business intelligence services with cloud support for data analysis and visualization. The main advantage of this tool is the ability to build interactive dashboards, with key performance indicators that are available for viewing from any device connected to the Internet (Microsoft, 2022).

The availability of reports enables the top management of the University to analyse the development of the teaching staff in dynamics, and for the teacher to rationally build a trajectory of further selfdevelopment.

3 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND AND PRACTICAL IMPLEMENTATION

According to the Concept of Digital Competence Development to improve the system of professional development the Corporate Standard of Digital Competence of University Teacher was developed, introduced to increase the level of digital competence of teachers, which is recognized as one of the key competencies of successful person of the 21st century, to improve the quality of educational process, actualization of competitiveness of teachers by mastering new digital competences. The spheres of application of digital competence at Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University are determined by the main types of teacher's activities: teaching, research activities, professional communication and cooperation; digital self-management. Five levels of digital competence are defined:

- Analyst-Researcher (A), which is mandatory;
- Integrator (B1) Expert (B2) sufficient
- Leader (C1) Innovator (C2) high.

As teaching and research activities are the prevailing ones for HEI teachers, the courses covering corresponding topics receive more attention especially at lower digital competence levels (figure 1).

The volume of a level varies from 50 to 60 academic hours. The average duration of a mini-course is between 2 and 6 academic hours. Some topics are introduced at different levels so that any gap in the knowledge on the topic could be covered. For example, at the Analyst-Researcher level there is a course "Basics of e-communication and e-collaboration". At the Integrator level the topic is presented by two courses: "Collaboration arrangement using digital instruments" and "Digital instruments for communication". That means that a teacher with a higher level of digital competence could return to the basics on the specific topic when needed.

3.1 Model of a Differentiated System for Digital Professional Development of University Teachers

According to the approved digital competence standard, the systems for enhancing teachers' digital competence have been amended and the practice of compulsory university-wide testing of teachers has been abolished. Instead, a differentiated system of professional development has been developed, which is



Figure 1: e-Courses by the types of activities.

based on self-assessment, self-study, the principles of microlearning, e-learning, etc.

The differentiated professional development system contains a diagnostic test and a structured set of mini-courses that are presented according to the levels of digital competence.

The differentiation of the system is provided with the help of micro modules placed in the e-learning system of the university. Online storage means that teachers are not limited in the choice of time and location to work with the courses. Such organization also makes it possible to build your own professional development trajectory by choosing the sequence of learning. Teachers are not forced to take all the topics presented in the level. They are also allowed to return to lower levels to refresh their knowledge. That is the content can be adapted to the professional needs of a teacher at the moment.

The model of the differentiated professional development system is shown in figure 2.

The developed model allows the teacher to be aware and self-motivated to improve their skills, including in the digital skills, using a diagnostic test and passing mini-courses.

First of all, the level of digital competence of a teacher is determined by the results of a diagnostic test, mastery of level mini-courses with the possibility of building an individual trajectory of professional development and the marking in a personal office of the achievement of the appropriate level – the digital footprint.

3.2 Diagnostic Test to Determine the Level of Digital Competence of a Teacher

The development of a diagnostic test to determine the level of digital competence of a teacher was carried out in several stages. Firstly, the goals of the test were defined - self-assessment of the level of digital competence and determining the need for its further improvement. It is self-assessment that lies at the heart of a teacher's motivation to choose their own trajectory of professional development and improvement of digital resource skills. Traditionally, goal classification has been implemented similar to Bloom's taxonomy (Bulakh and Mruha, 2006), but according to the levels of digital competence defined in the Corporate Standard, and the domain is described, will be diagnosed. It is defined that this test will assess the cognitive domain, i.e. knowledge and attitudes towards aspects of digitalization in the areas: learning activities, research activities, professional communication and cooperation; digital self-management. Indirectly the psychomotor domain is assessed, because the passing of the test takes place using a digital tool in a differentiated system developed. The objectives do not include and consequently do not offer tasks for the assessment of the personal emotional domain.

The choice of testing as a measurement method offers a number of advantages given the rapid response in the self-assessment process. The diagnostic test determines the level of digital competence of teachers, i.e. the competences that colleagues have



Figure 2: Model of a differentiated system for digital professional development of university teachers.

or do not have now according to the given descriptors of the corporate standard, detailing the skills of university teachers according to the levels of digital competence and the areas of application.

Secondly, a base of test tasks is created according to the matrix, which is developed based on the structure of digital competence standard and 97 descriptors. The matrix is three-dimensional 1 dimension is one of the four activities of a university teacher; 2 dimension is one of the five levels of digital competence; 3 dimension is conditional horizontal lines of development of a certain competence, which are formed according to the content and aspects of the activity.

In order to be able to provide a variable diagnostic test to determine the level of digital competence 3-5 alternative test tasks to each descriptor are provided.

The choice of test item formats is limited by the capabilities of the chosen tool, i.e. LMS Moodle. We use test tasks of the following types: multiple choice with one or more correct answers, yes/no questions, establishing logical sequences or correspondences. Graphic objects of a certain quantity are used in the test tasks, but more textual materials.

Thirdly, in the process of shaping the test its integrated nature is taken into account and in connection with those two lines are defined, i.e. the test has subtests in accordance with the activities of university teachers and on the other hand it is integrated according to the levels of the CC. A decision was made at the physical conclusion of the test and accordingly it was taken into account in its specification, the subtests of the activities to be concluded into a test for the specific level of the GC. Thus, a separate test for the confirmation or non-confirmation of the Analyst-Researcher level is created. The results will be processed as soon as a statistically relevant number of participants is achieved for the analysis and the summarising. There is no need to equalise the test when concluding it for a particular GC level, because its balance in terms of difficulty has already been taken into account, and consideration of the logical coverage of meaningful questions is provided by including test items in accordance with the matrix for the establishment of comprehension of the competence described by each descriptor without exception.

The validation process to establish the validity and reliability of the test results will take place in parallel. The participants will be informed of these nuances. The passing score is provisionally set at 80%. However, the feasibility of such a limit to determine the pass/fail result will also be tested and adjusted if necessary.

For professional development using the differentiated system the teacher is firstly invited to take the test to prove the compulsory level of digital competence "Analyst-Researcher". If the teacher enters 80% of points, he/she can receive a certificate of confirmation of this level, or take the test of the highest level. If the compulsory level is not confirmed, the teacher can take the mini-courses directly in the differentiated professional development system. The list of minicourses on offer generally enables the teacher to practise all areas of digital activity in accordance with the requirements defined in the standard.

3.3 Multi-Level Mini-Courses in an Differentiated System for Digital Professional Development of University Teachers

The title of each course indicates the number of hours that are allocated to studying the material and what will be entered into the accumulation system, there are also marks on the percentage of completion of the course and its completion.

The courses in the system are built on the basis of microlearning which allows personalization achievement of teachers learning path by several indicators including time framework, level of knowledge, conformity to teachers needs in digital technologies implementation.

Mini-courses contain educational materials, including mandatory ones with the appropriate mark, and a final test (for the levels Analyst-Researcher – Expert) (figure 3).

At the levels Leader and Innovator formative assessment is used to track the courses participants progress. As at the above mentioned levels users have become not only educational content consumers, but also its authors and distributors, they are capable of assessing their own progress according to the set criteria as well as assess the results of the co-learners activities. According to CCSSO formative assessment (Formative Assessment for Students and Teachers (FAST) State Collaborative on Assessment and Student Standards (SCASS), 2022) is a planned, ongoing process used by learners and teachers in the educational process to reveal and use results of student learning to improve student understanding of intended learning outcomes and support students in their individual learning path. Effective formative assessment process (figure 4) includes the following steps: identifying learning goals and the ways to achieve them, analyzing student's achievements within their learning path, providing self-assessment and peer feedback, using received feedback to improve further learning strategy.

At different steps of learning formative assessment can be performed using various digital instruments including those available in Moodle. Steps 1 and 2 can be implemented by Checklists in Moodle or with the help of whiteboards. In the activity Checklist students there might be a list added by the course designers, but students can be allowed to add their own items. To encourage students to work with checklists, grades and activity completion options might be set up, so that a course won't be completed unless this activity is done. Implementation of such activity makes learners analyze their expectation from the course and estimate afterwards what is achieved and plan further steps for improvement.

Step 3 has the widest variety of activities and instruments for implementation.

Quizzes still remain one of the options. However, at Leader and Innovator levels those activities, which allow not only to check the knowledge but also to analyze, widen and implement it, should be given preference. For example, it can be such activities in Moodle as Forum and Wiki or external instruments such as whiteboards, mind maps can be used.

There are different forum types available in Moodle (figure 5) which can serve different purposes: standard forum for general use, a single simple discussion, each person posts one discussion, Q and A forum, standard forum displayed in a blog-like format.

Standard forums are the most suitable for connectivism learning application, when students learn from each other. This type of forum allows learners to create an unlimited amount of topics as well as leave comments on existing topics. A student can read answers of co-learners before giving their own answer, which contributes to their understanding of a theme. Standard forums are also the best option for a help forum as previous questions and answers can be studied before adding your own one, so the answer might be found even without questioning. Each person posts one discussion forum is similar to a standard forum, but it lets one user create only one topic. Q and A forum requires a student's answer before viewing other learners' posts. This type of forum makes a student find their own solution to a given task and then gives an opportunity to compare it with other options.

A single simple discussion is a forum where students cannot create their own topics, but only give answers to the existing one. This type of forum might be used for assessment criteria discussion or feedback on some topic.

Feedback is important both for a learner to improve their learning strategy and for course authors to apply changes to the course. Moodle provides several options for feedback implementation. First of all, a checklist created at the beginning of the course is helpful for a learner to estimate whether they achieve their goals or their learning path requires some changes. Secondly, Questionnaire and Feedback activities can be used. Feedback answers might be shown to all participants or available to the course creators only depending on the goals; it can also be anonymous. Feedback templates can be created to be

Analyst-Researcher	Integrator	Expert
Basics of e-communication and e-	Collaboration arrangement using	Theory and practice of digital tools
collaboration (2 hours)	digital instruments (4 hours)	utilisation in different kinds of ac-
		tivities (6 hours)
Basics of netiquette and corporate	Digital instruments for communica-	Interactive learning resources de-
culture (2 hours)	tion (4 hours)	sign (4 hours)
Work with scientific profiles (2	Methodology of statistical data pro-	Digital tools for professional self-
hours)	cessing (4 hours)	presentation (6 hours)
Checking a scientific publication	Use of advanced search in sciento-	Means for students' project (group)
for uniqueness (2 hours)	metric databases (4 hours)	work arrangement (4 hours)
Collection and analysis of statistical	Video filming and editing (4 hours)	Design and utilisation of interactive
data (4 hours)		videos (4 hours)
Quotation rules in scientific publi-	Use of bibliographic managers and	Different types of web-conferences
cations and bibliographies (4 hours)	cross-references (4 hours)	arrangement depending on needs (4
		hours)
Gradebook maintenance (2 hours)	Infographics utilisation for learning	Implementation of scientific statis-
	materials design (4 hours)	tical data analysis using digital in-
		struments (4 hours)
Assessment of students' study	Implementation of peer assessment	Adaptive educational activities ar-
achievements in the e-learning	in ELC (4 hours)	rangement (6 hours)
system (2 hours)		
Use of digital instruments with cor-	Use of ELC for microlearning im-	Layout of publications in Latex (4
porate account (4 hours)	plementation (4 hours)	hours)
Work with ELC (10 hours)	Use of ELC for blended learning	Professional YouTube channel cre-
	implementation (4 hours)	ation and editing (4 hours)
Video design and utilisation (4	Interactive quizzes (4 hours)	Work with international scientific
hours)		communities (4 hours)
Infographics design and utilisation	Intergration of MOOCs into educa-	Systematic utilisation of innovative
(4 hours)	tional process (2 hours)	pedagogical methods in ELC (4
		hours)
Structuring and visualising theoret-	Arrangement of work with col-	
ical materials (4 hours)	leagues using corporate accounts (4	
	hours)	
Use of digital instruments for plan-	Arrangement of students interac-	
ning work (4 hours)	tion during a web-conference (4	
	hours)	
Online classes arrengement using	Layout of publications (4 hours)	
web-conference tools (4 hours)		
Main types of quizzes design (4		
hours)		

used in all courses of the system.

Thus, courses of Leader and Innovator level (figure 6) follow all steps of the formative assessment process from setting up goals to feedback and further learning strategy planning.

The system provides tracking of tasks and own learning progress (figure 7, 8).

The full completion of the mini-course is displayed in the block "Status of completion of the course" of the mini-course, and the points scored, i.e. hours, are automatically displayed in the Gradebook of a certain level of digital competence (figure 9).

The analysis of data from the additionally in-

stalled plug-in block "Progress of completion" and the report "Activity completion" for each level of digital competence separately allows to evaluate the progress of each teacher in mastering mini-courses of a certain GC level, to identify which mini-courses are most or least in demand for further consideration in the process of improving the system as a whole (figure 10).

► NOW	General	
Hover over the panel or touchpad for information.	News	
= Now on the site	Question and answer	
No online users (last 10 minutes)	Theoretical materials	
E Statistics	 Web conferencing tools Not delivered yet 	O
2	 Organize Google Meetings Not delivered yet 	D
• \ \ \ \ \ \ \	 Organize a distance lesson with Google Meet 	
Connections today: 2	How to check your background and sound before meeting Google	
■ Navigation	 New Meet interface Google Meet Accessibility 	
	Final control	
	 Final test Not delivered yet 	٥

Figure 3: Example of the mini-course for Analyst-Researcher level.



Figure 4: Formative assessment process.



Figure 5: Forum types in Moodle.

4 CONCLUSIONS AND FURTHER RESEARCH PERSPECTIVES

Today's requirements and normative documents adopted at different levels prompted the research par-

ticipants to review approaches and methods of professional development. Thus, a differentiated system for digital professional development of university teachers was designed in accordance with the model presented in the paper, where the main parts are digital competence levels, diagnostic test, sets of mini courses for each level of digital competence.

The designed diagnostic test considers the need for integration of digital instruments implementation skills in all kinds of teachers activities: research, teaching, professional communication and





Figure 7: Tracking the performance of mini-course activities.

digital self-management. It is aimed at the current level of teacher digital competence definition.

Level mini-courses, arranged according to the levels of digital competence of the teacher, declared in the developed Corporate Standard of Digital Competence, contain materials according to the defined descriptors by types of activities. Teacher qualification improvement in the differentiated system begins with passing a diagnostic test, based on the results of which redirection is made to take mini-courses of the appropriate level.



Figure 9: Course completion status.

The designed differentiated system for digital professional development allows to personalize teacher's learning path by providing possibility to choose courses within the determined level or below according to the teacher's needs, gaps in the knowledge and topics of interest. Related topics are placed at different levels which provides learners with an opportunity to widen and deepen their knowledge on the most required themes as well as to return to the previous level. As the courses are built for self-learning, the participants are not limited to a certain time or location. Altogether these promote the self-motivation of teachers to increase the level of digital competence and, accordingly, the quality of providing educational services in general.

Implementation of formative assessment at the advanced levels of the system provides learners with wider study options as they not only consume information presented in the course, but also identify their own goals, track their progress, learn from each other and perform self assessment and peer assess-



Figure 10: Activity Completion Report.

ment. Such activities available in Moodle as Forum, Checklist, Feedback, Questionnaire and others can be used to arrange formative assessment.

In the future, it is planned to expand the system of teacher training in other areas: research, didactic, leadership, professional. This will allow teachers to acquire additional knowledge and constantly improve their skills to perform their professional duties.

The experience of the differentiated system for digital professional development implementation might be useful for other universities which can take the offered system as a basis and adapt it to their conditions and needs.

REFERENCES

- Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University (2015). Regulations on improving the qualifications of scientific and pedagogical workers of the university. https://kubg.edu.ua/phocadownload/Nauka/ stajuvannia/polozhennya_pidvyschennya2015.pdf.
- Bulakh, I. Y. and Mruha, M. R. (2006). Stvoriuiemo yakisnyi test [Creating a Qualitative Test]. Maister-klas, Kyiv. https://testcentr.org.ua/books/ stvoryuyemo-yakisnyy-test.pdf.
- Darling-Hammond, L., Wei, R. C., Andree, A., Richardson, N., and Orphanos, S. (2010). Professional Development in the United States: Trends and Challenges. Technical report, Dallas, TX. https://edpolicy. stanford.edu/library/publications/89.
- DigCompEdu (2017). Digital Competence Framework for Educators (DigCompEdu). https:// joint-research-centre.ec.europa.eu/digcompedu_en.

- Formative Students Assessment for and Teachers (FAST) State Collaborative on Assessment and Student Standards (SCASS) (2022).Revising the Definition of Formative Assessment. https://ccsso.org/resource-library/ revising-definition-formative-assessment.
- Kluzer, S. and Pujol Priego, L. (2018). *DigComp into Action: Get inspired, make it happen. A user guide to the European Digital Competence Framework.* Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg. https://doi.org/10.2760/112945.
- Machin, S. and Vignoles, A. (2005). What's the Good of Education?: The Economics of Education in the UK. Princeton University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j. ctv301fj7.
- Meyers, E. M., Erickson, I., and Small, R. V. (2013). Digital literacy and informal learning environments: an introduction. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 38(4):355– 367. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2013.783597.
- Microsoft (2022). What is power bi? https://powerbi. microsoft.com/en-us/what-is-power-bi/.
- Morze, N., Buinytska, O., Varchenko-Trotsenko, L., Vasylenko, S., Nastas, D., Tiutiunnyk, A., and Lytvynova, S. (2022). System for digital professional development of university teachers. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(2):152–168. https: //doi.org/10.55056/etq.6.
- OECD (2011). Lessons from PISA for the United States. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264096660-en.
- On Higher Education (2017). Law of Ukraine on Higher Education. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/ show/1556-18?lang=en#Text.
- Ottestad, G., Kelentrić, M., and Guðmundsdóttir, G. B. (2014). Professional Digital Competence in Teacher Education. *Nordic Journal of Digital Liter*-

acy, 9(4):243–249. https://www.idunn.no/doi/abs/10. 18261/ISSN1891-943X-2014-04-02.

- Pelletier, K., Brown, M., Brooks, D. C., McCormack, M., Reeves, J., Arbino, N., Bozkurt, A., Crawford, S., Czerniewicz, L., Gibson, R., Linder, K., Mason, J., and Mondelli, V. (2021). 2021 educause horizon report, teaching and learning edition. Technical report, Boulder, CO. https://library.educause.edu/-/media/files/ library/2021/4/2021hrteachinglearning.pdf.
- Seel, N. M. and Zierer, K. (2019). Bibliometric synthesis of educational productivity research: Benchmarking the visibility of German educational research. *Research in Comparative and International Education*, 14(2):294–317. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1745499919846189.
- Standard (2021). Professional Standard for the group of professions "Higher education institutions teachers". https://tinyurl.com/y6r9a9d4.
- Thomas, L., editor (2013). What is Canadian about Teacher Education in Canada? Multiple Perspectives on Canadian Teacher Education in the Twenty-First Century. Canadian Association of Teacher Education. http://hdl.handle.net/1880/113301.
- Tomas, C. and Kelo, M. (2020). ESG 2015–2018 ENQA Agency Reports: Thematic Analysis. ENQA Occasional Paper 28, European Association for Quality Assurance in Higher Education AISBL, Brussels, Belgium. https://www.enqa.eu/wp-content/uploads/ ESG-2015-ENQA-Thematic-Analysis-final.pdf.
- Yarbro, J., McKnight, K., Elliott, S., Kurz, A., and Wardlow, L. (2016). Digital Instructional Strategies and Their Role in Classroom Learning. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 48(4):274–289. https://doi.org/10.1080/15391523.2016.1212632.

Learning Environment Design for Teaching Foreign Languages by Means of Instrumental Pedagogical Technologies

Mariia O. Kuts¹[®]^a, Olena O. Lavrentieva^{2,3}[®]^b, Nataliia P. Volkova²[®]^c, Vladimir N. Soloviev³[®]^d and Oksana M. Kopylova³[®]^e

¹Mykhailo Tuhan-Baranovskyi Donetsk National University of Economics and Trade, 16 Tramvaina Street, Kryvyi Rih, 50005, Ukraine

²Alfred Nobel University, 18 Sicheslavska Naberezhna, Dnipro, 49000, Ukraine

³Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine

{Kuts.mariia.kr, helav68}@gmail.com, npvolkova@yahoo.com, vnsoloviev2016@gmail.com, kopylova261205@gmail.com

- Keywords: Pedagogical Foreign Language Learning Technologies, Instrumental Technologies, Technologies of Technical Teaching Aids Application, Computer Learning Technologies, Ergonomic Approach, Learning Environment Design.
- Abstract: The paper reveals the content of the research aimed at studying the possibilities of computer-oriented technologies in the intensification of teaching foreign languages to students of non-linguistic specialties. The content of pedagogical foreign language learning technologies has been characterized; their classification has been carried out. The role, place and advantages of instrumental technologies in teaching methods update of a foreign language in the digital society have been shown. The main types of instrumental technologies that allow to increase the efficiency of teaching foreign languages have been identified, among them the following ones have been mentioned: technologies of technical teaching aids application, computer learning technologies, telecommunication technologies, and hybrid model of instrumental technologies. The leading part of ergonomic principles and methods for designing a learning environment that provides the most optimal ratio of modern digital and traditional intensive technologies for learning foreign languages have been emphasized. The criteria have been formulated, the methodology for diagnosing the level of ergonomics of the educational environment using the method of expert assessments has been disclosed. The positive dynamics in the level of ergonomics of the educational environment, which is designed on the basis of the use of instrumental technologies for teaching foreign languages, has been shown. The conclusions regarding the effectiveness of methodological approaches to designing an ergonomic educational environment using instrumental technologies for teaching a foreign language have been formulated.

1 INTRODUCTION

In connection with Ukraine entry into the European educational space, European integration, internationalization of business relations and professional activity, the problem of personal development and professional success is singled out, which today is undoubtedly associated with fluency in foreign languages, learning intercultural communication through the latest technologies.

- ^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9419-5926
- ^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0609-5894
- ^c https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1258-7251
- do https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4945-202X
- ^e https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0750-8782

In the context of modern educational concepts, in terms of democratization of society and socioeconomic reforms in Ukraine, higher education is based on the principles of fundamentalization, systematization and humanization of knowledge, competency and cultural approaches and involves social determination of target guidelines. The dominant place among the educational goals belongs to the creation of conditions for the formation of personal qualities of students, in particular communicative, as well as traits mediated by the level of their foreign language communicative competence – ability to academic mobility, autonomous learning and lifelong learning.

Meanwhile, taking into account the specifics of teaching foreign languages to students of nonlanguage specialties and the uniqueness of the cur-

46

Kuts, M., Lavrentieva, O., Volkova, N., Soloviev, V. and Kopylova, O.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS - Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

Learning Environment Design for Teaching Foreign Languages by Means of Instrumental Pedagogical Technologies.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 46-61 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

rent stage of development of digital and globalized society, a number of unresolved *contradictions* still remain. They are, in particular, between the urgent needs of society for professionals capable of intercultural foreign language professional communication, the growing amount of professionally oriented information in foreign languages and the possibilities of educational systems, limited time and extensive type of foreign language training of students in institutions of higher education.

The *purpose* of the paper is to research the possibilities of computer-based technologies in teaching foreign languages to students of non-linguistic specialties and ergonomic foundations in the design of the appropriate educational environment with the use of these technologies. The authors are going to reveal the classification of pedagogical technologies for teaching foreign languages, among them they will focus on characteristics and types of instrumental technologies applying for goals of intensification of teaching students of non-linguistic specialties. Yet another task of the paper is producing the sense of ergonomic analysis, as well as the methods of its use to design an environment for teaching foreign languages. In addition, the criteria and diagnostic tools for evaluation of designing the educational environment for learning foreign languages will be illustrated and clarified; the results of their approbation in real educational process will be shown and analyzed.

2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

The experience of studying foreign languages for special purposes in non-language institutions of higher education contains a lot of thorough work on the use of modern methods, forms, techniques of activating the educational process, increasing its efficiency. Thus, the theory and methodology of communication in a foreign language are disclosed in (Bartosh et al., 2020; Lyakhovitsky and Koshman, 1981; Nikolaeva and Synekop, 2020; Tarnopolsky et al., 2020; Zimnyaya, 2021); problems of students' foreign language communicative competence and foreign language culture formation – in (Amelina et al., 2022; Bondar et al., 2022; Buzhykov and Buzhykova, 2020; Chorna et al., 2022; Holiver et al., 2020; Kravtsova et al., 2022; Tokarieva et al., 2021).

The results of leading scientists and teacherspractitioners work analysis show that the reduction of the volume of foreign language learning in nonlanguage institutions of higher education to a critical value has led to the loss of its effectiveness. This primarily influences the level of competitiveness of graduates, reduces academic and professional mobility, the inability of most bachelors to continue their studies at the next level of higher education. That is why in the scientific literature there are more and more works on the conceptualization of empirical developments in the application of the latest pedagogical technologies that are able to ensure the process of intensive learning of foreign languages by students of non-language specialties (Bespalko, 1960; Klarin, 2016; Strelnikov, 2002), in particular, using digital technologies (Burov and Pinchuk, 2021; Buzhykov, 2006; Bykov and Shyshkina, 2018; Gurevich et al., 2016; Hodovaniuk et al., 2022; Kramarenko et al., 2022; Kukharenko, 2017; Tkachuk et al., 2019).

The works of researchers on the theoretical substantiation of methodological bases, genesis and experience of pedagogical technologies application (Driscoll, 2002; Lynch, 1996; Molnar, 1997; Negoescu and Bostina-Bratu, 2016; Skinner, 1931; Stanford, 2009; Thorndike, 1932) also make an important basis for scientific research; as well as their adaptation to modern conditions and development on this basis of new pedagogical technologies for teaching foreign languages (Lozynska et al., 2021; Rozhkova, 2014; Serdyukov, 1997).

Researchers also constantly emphasize the need for qualitative changes in the methodology of teaching foreign languages. In particular, it means the transition from extensive to intensive studying, in so far as in the process of extensive studying the capabilities of the brain are used by only 15-20%. At the same time, methods based on intensive teaching require excessive expenditure of mental energy. Thus, the discrepancy between the modern requirements of the digital society to improve the efficiency of learning and the shortcomings of modern methods of knowledge mastering raise the problem of developing such educational systems, which would be commensurate with the intensive work of lecturers, but without their excessive workload. These and other related issues are taken care of by pedagogical ergonomics, taking into account the achievements of which provides an opportunity to significantly increase the effectiveness of pedagogical technologies for teaching foreign languages (Gervas, 2011; Karapuzova et al., 2012; Lavrentieva, 2019; Okulova, 2011; Skydan, 1999).

Pedagogical ergonomics as a scientific discipline arose on the basis of ergonomics, the subject of which is a specific human activity (group of people) using machines (technical means) (Gervas, 2011, p. 3–4). Ergonomic analysis of the learning environment involves the movement in two directions – from human requirements to technical means of learning and the conditions of their optimal use, and vice versa – from the requirements of technology and conditions of its operation to a human. Our special attention is drawn to such a direction as cognitive ergonomics, which was started and is developing in connection with the development and improvement of computer technology. Cognitive ergonomics takes care of the levels of interaction in the human-machine system – from physical interaction (angle, focus, colour perception, background, animation) to abstract (lexical, syntactic, semantic and conceptual levels), which are worth noting in the context of efficiency teaching foreign languages to students using pedagogical technologies (Gervas, 2011).

The basis of pedagogical ergonomics is a set of achievements of the complex of sciences in pedagogical work and student activities, educational environment and advanced pedagogical experience, modern technical means and pedagogical technologies used in the educational process. In this case, any phenomenon that occurs in the educational process has its meaning and is assessed through the functional structure of the system "educator – student – learning environment" (Skydan, 1999, p. 12).

Therefore, the above overview of modern foreign language learning technologies allows us to focus on the study of such issues as: classification of existing pedagogical foreign language learning technologies, the role, place and importance of instrumental technologies updated in the digital society, as well as ergonomic principles and methods of designing a learning environment that provides the most optimal ratio of modern digital and traditional intensive technologies for learning foreign languages.

3 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

Content development research of "pedagogical technologies" concept by many researchers (Daniushenkov, 1994; Esnault, 2007; Guerrero, 2005; Petersson et al., 2007; Polat, 2004) singled out its long evolution. The genesis of pedagogical technologies can be found in technical teaching aids. For the first time the principle of manufacturability was formulated by Thorndike (Thorndike, 1932). The scientist noted that first there is a machine that can provide certain sensorimotor stimuli, then it is introduced into the educational process as a didactic tool and finally create a technological scheme of application (Thorndike, 1932). However, the mechanism of technologicalization of the educational process - its construction with rigidly planned, fixed results, was outlined by Skinner (Skinner, 1931) in the concept of programmed instruction (Young, 1961). Thus, the level of implementation of pedagogical technologies in the educational process is subject to the vector of pedagogical systems development, is determined by the type of social thinking and is associated with scientific and technological progress of society and the introduction of new techniques.

In general, the development of the technological approach can be outlined by the following scheme: from the use of technical teaching aids and on their basis technologies in education to educational technologies and finally to the actual pedagogical learning technologies, when the educational process is based on the principles of systematization, scientificity, structure and procedurality.

It is established that the modern theory and practice of introduction of the technological approach in training offers numerous interpretations.

The conducted semantic analysis allowed to find out that *pedagogical technology* is a system category, which functions autonomously at three semantic levels (scientific, procedural-descriptive and proceduralactivity), at the same time is in systemic interrelations and takes its place in the hierarchy of educational, upbringing and didactic technologies. Pedagogical technology is not identical to the type, method, teaching methods, didactic model and the methodology itself (Kuts, 2021).

We consider *pedagogical technologies of teaching* as types of concepts from generic "pedagogical technologies" and consider them as being based on modern positions of professional development of the person and directed on achievement of the educational purposes. In the process of learning foreign languages, such technologies are a way of step-bystep system organization of communicative interaction between lecturer and student in terms of prompt feedback between them through the use of specific methods, forms and means of learning. The leading class of pedagogical technologies for teaching foreign languages is communicatively oriented technologies.

The conceptual basis of pedagogical technologies of teaching foreign languages is the communicativeactivity approach; leading idea – modelling a real foreign language professionally oriented communication in the educational process, principles – speech orientation, individualization and the primary role of the personal aspect, situationality and novelty, professionalization.

Approach systematization for the content problem in pedagogical technologies of teaching foreign languages made it possible to develop their classification based on different methodological principles (figure 1).

A special place among the variety of pedagogical



Figure 1: Classification of pedagogical technologies for teaching foreign languages.

technologies of foreign language teaching belongs to instrumental technologies. Next, we proceed directly to the analysis of their content and role in the intensification of the educational process.

4 ERGONOMIC BASES OF USING INSTRUMENTAL TECHNOLOGIES FOR DESIGNING EDUCATIONAL ENVIRONMENT FOR LEARNING FOREIGN LANGUAGES

4.1 Characteristics of Instrumental Technologies of Foreign Language Teaching

Technological approach to creating an artificial foreign language environment is one of the important issues of modern methods of teaching foreign languages. As a retrospective analysis of existing concepts shows, scholars and educators are constantly looking for tools that intensify the process of learning foreign languages. Thus, *instrumental technologies of foreign language teaching* are considered as a process of development and application of special teaching aids, which is based on the language training method and is aimed at achieving educational goals.

Depending on the didactic purpose of instrumental technologies of foreign language teaching can be used as: sources of foreign language knowledge, means of organizing their learning under the guidance of a teacher or independently, means of visualization, practice, repetition and systematization of foreign language knowledge for all types of speech activity.

Based on the research of Serdyukov (Serdyukov, 1997), we include in instrumental technologies such interdependent components as:

- 1) technologies of technical teaching aids application;
- 2) computer learning technologies;
- 3) telecommunication technologies based on the use of telecommunication tools and networks.

Our vision of the types of instrumental technologies of foreign language teaching is presented in figure 2.

Considering the first component – the technology of modern technical teaching aids application, we should note the following. Despite the fact that



Figure 2: Family of instrumental technologies for teaching foreign languages.

modern technical teaching aids are almost entirely digital technical devices, the technologies of their application are based on the approaches developed by Lyakhovitsky and Koshman (Lyakhovitsky and Koshman, 1981). They names teaching aids in foreign language learning as a technical means that requires the use of technical equipment for phonogram, videogram and videophonogram (Lyakhovitsky and Koshman, 1981, p. 60). This generally accepted of technical teaching aids classification reflects the main means of supporting the leading types of students' speech activity.

Auditory technical teaching aids are used to teach listening, speaking through the use of speech patterns (emphasis, pronunciation, intonation); rational presentation of speech samples and their consolidation (for example; models, clichés, typical structures); introduction of speech material in dialogic form; demonstration of songs, folklore and artistic reading performed by native speakers; analysis of audio recording of students' statements; sound accompaniment of visual aids. In this way, audio technical teaching aids allow clarity for all types of sound and the presentation of educational information in natural language form (Rozhkova, 2014). The work, depending on the didactic goals, can be organized according to one of the following three basic schemes: audiopassive, audioactive or audiocomparative (Lyakhovitsky and Koshman, 1981, p. 55).

The value of *on-screen videograms* lies in visual support, which increases the emotional perception of students of educational information and helps to focus and concentrate their attention on the objects of study. In addition, on-screen tools allow students to practice their reading and translation skills. As screen tools in the study of a foreign language can be used: illustrations of local lore and special professional material, authentic texts, various tables, schemes for studying grammatical material, etc.

Dynamic means of visualization, in comparison with static ones, allow to stimulate students' creative thinking. Sensory images, which consistently change and clearly reflect the logic of mental actions, facilitate the assimilation of all phases of educational material, contribute to the transformation of involuntary attention into a stable and consciously controlled one (Prykhodko et al., 2019). Dynamic screen tools include slide shows, which, with the correct didactic design, serve as a kind of screen story, which involves the plot organization of the material. For slides with pictures, you can select or use ready-made subtitles, questions and answers according to the logic of learning the material. The image should appear on the screen only when it requires methodical design. This contributes to the maximum correspondence between the story and the visual image. Individual phases demonstration of dynamic processes development allows teachers, based on the imagination of students, to use their ability to think out on intermediate stages. This approach in the study of foreign languages stimulates interest, increases attention, helps to find logical connections in the material, to learn dialogic units (Rozhkova, 1987).

Screen technical teaching aids, videograms provide, first of all, the supply and processing of visual information, which during training can perform a variety of functions: 1) to serve as a support for understanding the language structure; 2) combine the semantic and sound side of the word and thus facilitate memorization; 3) to model language, speech situations; 4) perform the role of feedback in the form of keys to tests, tasks (Rozhkova, 1987, p. 46).

Slideshows with sound accompany combine two main means of creating a situation – an image and a word, they are characterized by flexibility and mobility. Soundtrack is the standard on which students adjusts their speech. At the same time, it is a kind of key or control text with which the answer can be correlated. This function is implemented by fragments that include tasks based on the visual series, drawings (Rozhkova, 1987, p. 58).

Today's technical teaching aids are developed and applied on the basis of computer technology. To use them effectively, integrated computer-based technologies are being developed that significantly intensify foreign language learning. In particular, these are technologies of *podcast* (audio material) and *videocast* (video material), which the author sends by subscription via the Internet, as well as hub technologies.

With the development of equipment and related technologies, it became possible to create fundamentally new technical teaching aids - multimedia ones in foreign languages. Their valuable characteristic is the high quality of reproduction of all constituents of its data components, as well as the possibility of their interdependent or complementary use. For example, a combination of video with text and sound; audio fragments with text data on the content of the audio series; images with music and text. The minimal set of multimedia system in addition to the multimedia projector, equipped with a video camera, microphone, headphones, pedagogical software - performs in full the functions of language equipment. In this case, the possibility of manipulating information (stop-frame, repetition, increase-decrease, transfer, etc.) allows teachers to organize learning at the pace necessary

for students and at a level accessible to them (Molnar, 1997). Modern computer-based *technical teaching aids* also helps to master foreign language writing, grammar and spelling skills with automatic control by special programs (Polat, 2009).

Didactically correct use of modern *computer-based technical teaching aids* allows intensification of foreign language learning due to the maximum load of students' language and auditory channels, activation of their mental and speech activities, optimization of knowledge of special professional, intercultural and foreign language phenomena (Buzhykov, 2006).

A special class of tool technologies are Internet, web (web-learning/web-based learning) and cloud technologies. Their significance lies in the ability to use online services for learning a foreign language and work with authentic materials of cultural and scientific kinds. Pedagogical technologies in teaching, built on foreign language Internet information, contribute to the most effective formation of students of all types of foreign language communicative competence, allow to use language as a means of real communication. In addition, the information competence of students, the ability to organize communication by interests in oral and written forms is further developed. It is clear that working with authentic sources involves the level of formation of foreign language communicative competence of students is not below average. At the same time, lecturers are required to be able to organize such activities of students on a technological basis (Tkachuk et al., 2019).

It seems impossible to ignore the growing prevalence of computer-based foreign language teaching technologies, which allow to form all aspects of foreign language communicative competence. Among them are the following: electronic translators (including network), simulators for learning vocabulary, training of pronunciation, writing and speaking; virtual teachers, interlocutors and assistants; text editors with built-in checking and proofing tools and much more with the use of virtual and augmented reality. Smart Sync technologies provide students with quick access to up-to-date educational information under the guidance of lecturers.

Today, the computer in teaching foreign languages is also a technical means of interpersonal communication based on multifunctional network multimedia learning systems and automated learning systems – *telecommunications technology* (Buzhykov and Buzhykova, 2020), which creates a special virtual authentic foreign language environment.

Varieties of instrumental technologies can be used both separately and in combination, simultaneously or sequentially combining different technical, educational, developmental and upbringing capabilities during the performance of pre-explanation exercises by students during explanation, training, repetition and consolidation of educational material. Modern computer-based *teaching aids* are fully capable of compensating for and modelling the natural foreign language environment for individual and differentiated foreign language learning according to academic achievement and the level of cognitive interest and professional needs of students.

Given the characteristics of the above subspecies of instrumental technology, Serdyukov (Serdyukov, 1997) quite rightly identifies areas of their application, in particular: technologies for the application of modern *teaching aids* are appropriate in the educational process with a group form of education under the guidance of a teacher; computer technologies – mostly in the organization of independent work and self-education, but also in the system of group classroom learning; telecommunication technologies – mainly in individual training, extracurricular activities and self-education. Computer technology can also be used autonomously and over a network (such as on-line services or cloud and Smart Sync technologies, LMS, LCMS, Web 4.0, MOOC).

The widespread use of modern digital technologies contributes to the emergence of *hybrid models* of instrumental technology for teaching foreign languages. Technologies of electronic learning are in their heart.

Let us consider further how the educational environment which allows effective use of pedagogical technologies of foreign languages teaching should be designed.

4.2 Ergonomic Approach to Intensify Foreign Language Teaching

First of all, we should note that *pedagogical ergonomics* is the direction of modern pedagogy, which aims to comprehensively study and design the pedagogical activities of lecturers and students in the system "educator – student – learning environment" to ensure its effectiveness and optimality. The most essential feature of pedagogical ergonomics is the consideration of phenomena in the relationship of the human factor with the factors of the learning environment (Gervas, 2011, p. 22–23). At the same time, pedagogical ergonomics is able to design appropriate options for specific activities related to the use of new technology; to formulate requirements to technical teaching aids, to a level of readiness of teachers and students concerning use of instrumental pedagogical technologies of training, means of intensification of educational process in general (Karapuzova et al., 2012).

This becomes possible due to the fact that from the standpoint of pedagogical ergonomics a lecturer and a student are considered as carriers of activity, and the learning environment as one that ensures the integration of teaching and learning by the most optimal consideration of sanitary, psychophysiological, aesthetic and socio-psychological factors (Skydan, 1999, p. 11-12). The learning environment is interpreted in two ways: as an external physical environment that surrounds the subjects of educational activities and provides external information processes, as well as an internal environment, which initiates internal information processes, affects the inner world and thus enables educational and developmental impact on students and faculty. External information processes characterize the relationship between lecturer and student with sources of information, in particular with help of digital technologies. Internal information processes determine the psychophysiological side of studying - the proper course of the processes of perception, information processing and storage, knowledge and skills formation. Therefore, the effectiveness of application of pedagogical technologies of foreign language teaching depends on the appropriate design of the learning environment, where the activities of teaching and studying take place in externally and internally plan. This requires taking into account the production, sanitary, anthropometric, psychophysiological and aesthetic factors of study work, which is organized using pedagogical technologies of foreign language teaching (Gervas, 2011) (figure 3).

The means of pedagogical ergonomics make it possible to determine the appropriate relationship between "traditional" methods and teaching foreign language and computer-oriented instrumental technologies. In particular, pedagogical leaning technologies, introduced from ergonomic positions, take into account the motives, temperament, employment of students, allow students with special needs to study, activate students' perception of information, increase their emotional tone. Pedagogical teaching technologies, based on pedagogical ergonomics, improve the quality of work through the possibility of proper distribution of time, transfer of routine functions to instrumental technologies, promote the stability of working postures and rational movements, prevent overload, including the language apparatus of foreign language teachers.

The technologies of partnership interaction in the system "lecturer – student – group", based on the principles of ergonomic approach, provide the opti-



Figure 3: Ergonomic characteristics of educational environment.

mal way to organize educational activities, intensify it, but at the same time prevent fatigue by setting a certain pace, rhythm of educational work and proper feedback. Taking into account the requirements of ergonomics when using instrumental technologies is a guarantee of convenience, reliability and safe use of equipment in the educational process, reducing the intensity of educational work. Didactically correct use of instrumental technologies allows intensification of foreign language learning due to the maximum load of the language and auditory channels of learners, activation of their mental and speech activity, optimization of knowledge of intercultural and foreign language phenomena (Lavrentieva, 2019).

Designing the learning environment from the standpoint of pedagogical ergonomics requires the construction of a special language environment for students. Continuing the traditions of pedagogical ergonomics and didactics, we distinguish two types of learning environment – material and virtual. The subject-material part of the learning environment of foreign languages consists of: classrooms, language laboratories and students' workplaces, where educational equipment is located, teaching aids, multimedia equipment, mobile interactive devices, etc., as well as virtual laboratories created by modern platforms for remote teaching students using computer and network technologies (Skydan, 1999). It is pedagogical ergonomics that makes it possible to take into account the physical characteristics of sources of foreign language knowledge and the psychological features of their assimilation by means of pedagogical learning technologies.

4.3 Methods of Designing an Ergonomic Environment for Teaching Foreign Languages

We proceed from the fact that the design in terms of pedagogical ergonomics affects the organization of teachers and students in a specially created language laboratory – directly in a classroom and in a virtual laboratory.

Today, the concept of "foreign language classroom" is a special audience (class), equipped with a set of sound, projection and film projection equipment, which allows audio-visual methods to create optimal conditions for students' independent work to master non-native language skills, native language speech culture and professional – performing skills in students' specialty (Lozynska et al., 2021).

Under ergonomic requirements, the working space of students, teachers and groups in the class-room in general should be designed for a certain number of study seats (from 10 to 25), and so that each lesson can be organized both individually and in a group, and change forms of work would not cause overload, delays, inconveniences, unnecessary movements of both teachers and students.

We have taken into account that the widespread use of multimedia teaching aids and instrumental technologies based on them makes it possible to properly design the workspace of foreign language teaching in the language laboratory so as to achieve the required level of functional comfort for lecturers and students. Multimedia technologies organize the teaching of foreign languages on the basis of psychologically correct modes of functioning of attention, memory, mental activity of students, reconstruct the learning process from the standpoint of integrity. In particular, they allow to take into account the physiological basis of information perception, to provide the appropriate angle, focusing students' eyes, based on psychological features in the perception of colour, background, the rate of change of information flow for the person working.

As it is known, the minimum set of multimedia system consists of a computer, projector, screen and speakers. Equipped with a video camera, microphone, headphones, supplemented by a smartboard, it successfully implements the task of creating a natural functionally comfortable foreign language environment (Tokarieva et al., 2021). At the same time, from the point of view of pedagogical ergonomics, it is important to ensure proper processing of information presented by multimedia, in particular – to organize active language practice of students, work on learning foreign languages, solving educational problems. Therefore, in the language laboratory we consider it appropriate to combine the screen on which the image of the learning task is projected, and the board on which such a task can be performed quickly (close test, restored scheme or sequence, support scheme, speech pattern, crossword puzzle, text, etc.) (Lynch, 1996). Such board should be white, have magnetic properties for attaching any illustrative material and be appropriate for work with coloured markers.

A full-fledged language laboratory should provide autonomous and network work of the group, prompt feedback between lecturers and students. This is facilitated by placing the group in a semicircle so that everyone has the opportunity to exchange information while working in a group, during frontal work with the blackboard in both real and online communication. A properly designed learning environment should use Internet communications, including Wi-Fi.

A review of the existing literature revealed the leading software tools for the organization of electronic, combined and blended learning of students in the language laboratory, namely:

- tools of communication: SMS, smartphone, email, chat, instant messaging, voice and video conferencing, forums;
- means of presenting educational materials: electronic textbooks, text, hypertext, audio, video (including those located on websites, blogs, wikis,

video repositories, podcast servers, slide hosting, electronic libraries, file servers, cloud services);

- means of practicing skills: simulators, virtual classes, electronic translators and dictionaries, multimedia materials, etc.;
- collaboration tools (webinars, wikis, virtual classes, cloud services, web quests, collaborative projects, etc.);
- 5) means of assessment of educational achievements, monitoring and management of the learning process (survey, planning, testing) (Driscoll, 2002; Lavrentieva et al., 2021).

The proposed *pedagogical software* (PS) of foreign language teaching was based on a number of requirements, namely: 1) general didactic requirements (individualization, activity, student independence, scientific character, visualization of educational information, etc.); 2) linguistic requirements (correctness and normativeness of the language used); 3) methodical requirements (communicative and professional orientation of PS); 4) electronic-didactic requirements (interactivity, modular construction of the content of the material, multimedia presentation of study information, friendly interface) (Buzhykov and Buzhykova, 2020).

In our research, as a basis for the organization of active language practice, we use tools provided by well-known services, including Google, Office 365, Facebook, Edmodo, Studyboard and distance learning platforms such as LMS Moodle. The leading idea in their application was to create a semantic basis for the technology of the *teacher's website* – an interactive didactic tool that allows the organization of interaction between all participants in the educational process. Analysis of advanced pedagogical experience shows that the teacher's website is a holistic information and communication technology that can provide pedagogical guidance in teaching foreign languages to students (Holiver et al., 2020). In our practice we use such models of application of the teacher's website technology as: subject site, educational site, thematic blog, portfolio site.

Among other existing opportunities for organizing students' work, we chose the LMS Moodle platform, which allows convenient organization of the entire foreign language course, in particular: presents students with curriculum, schedules, provides teaching materials in electronic and multimedia format (Stanford, 2009). With the help of the LMS Moodle platform, even a teacher who is not well versed in computer technology can independently form their own strategy for foreign language teaching, which includes the necessary amount of educational material in text, graphics and multimedia forms, audio and video database, a list of hyperlinks to achieve specific learning objectives. In general, for the implementation of feedback between lecturer and student, the system supports the exchange of files of any format, allows to organize joint studying activities, energetic foreign language communication through a blog, forum, workshop etc. This significantly intensifies the learning process, ergonomically organizes the students' study activities and allows the implementation of many pedagogical technologies for teaching foreign languages – training, design, interactive, game, test, etc., as well as hypermedia, media, multimedia technologies.

According to the results of the analysis of scientific and methodical literature, we came to the conclusion that the structure of the network electronic methodical complex is not regulated. The *electronic* complex developed within the limits of our professional activity includes both the volume obligatory for studying (electronic educational materials, audio and video applications, test materials, podcasts and videocasts, links to them), as well as additional one, constructed on the principle of complex differentiation (glossary of professional terms, materials for independent project activities, additional scientific, technical and linguistic resources, links to reference materials). In addition, the complex combines the advantages of a text editor, e-mail, e-journals and many other attributes of modern information and communication technologies, represented by the LMS platform like Moodle. The object orientation of the platform provided individual adjustment of certain elements of the training course to the needs of lecturers and students.

The educational complex we used for the study of foreign languages is structured in a module, in accordance with the curriculum of the discipline. The structural components of each module are: a text page, a list of links, a book, an explanation, a workbook, a forum, an exercise, a test, a webinar. Each of them consists of such sections as: Reading, Vocabulary, Listening and Video. Materials for study are presented by topics and content training modules. An important part of the complex is a system of test tasks that are processed automatically using the builtin Moodle services. The "Forum" option is used by us for the formation and development of oral and written speech skills, as well as for the organization of foreign language communication (Rymanova, 2013).

At the same time, we practice the means of a *the*matic blog – a specially created resource, which contains relevant information for students of scientific, technical, cultural, linguistic and professionally significant nature, mostly in a foreign language (Polat, 2009).

In authors' opinion, the effective teaching of foreign languages and its intensification is facilitated by the use of relevant media materials in shaping the content of the teacher's website and its varieties. In particular, the texts of such British newspapers as: "The Guardian", "The Observer", "The Times", "The Sunday Times", "The Daily Telegraph", "The Sunday Telegraph", "The Independent", "The Independent on Sunday", "The Financial Times". We believe that the British press is a classic example of a comprehensive coverage of the processes taking place in the country and abroad in various spheres of political, socioeconomic and cultural life (Tokarieva et al., 2021).

The appropriate content of the teacher's website is all kinds of professionally important information provided by means of tool technology. In particular, TED (Technology Entertainment Design) presentations are widely used in the work of lecturers of the Department of Foreign Philology, Ukrainian Studies and Social and Law Disciplines of the Mykhailo Tuhan-Baranovsky Donetsk National University of Economics and Trade and Department of the English Language with Methods of Teaching of the Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University. TED is a private non-profit foundation in the United States that has held annual conferences since 1984 to promote unique ideas. Some of the lectures on science, art, design, politics, culture, business, global issues, technology and the entertainment industry are available on the conference website (https://www.ted.com/). Lectures are usually held at a high methodological and linguistic level, their topics concern, in particular, issues of subject specialization of students, as well as their culturological, socio-cultural, linguistic needs. As of today, more than 400 video recordings of lectures in different languages are available online. The translations are available in subtitle format. Therefore, videocasts from this site can serve as a semantic basis for the organization of foreign language teaching in non-language institutions of higher education.

Now, there are a lot of websites offering similar services. We are intended to mention some of them. The *Learn Out Loud* provides the podcasts and other educational materials in the 16 directions (https://www.learnoutloud.com). The *Artana* spreads the lectures about Art for free (https://artanablog. com). The *Englishcentral* contains interesting audio and video materials to study various topics equipped with subtitles (https://www.englishcentral.com). *English Listening Lesson Library Online (ELLO)* permits acquainting students with issues of modern society (https://www.elllo.org/). And this is not to men-
tion the numerous foreign language educational channels on *YouTube*.

In the practice of teaching foreign languages, we usually use two modes of operation. Synchronous mode of management of students' study activities involves the use of network technologies and real-time communication, in particular through video conferencing, web conferencing, virtual classrooms, chats etc. (Bykov and Shyshkina, 2018). Access to Internet resources, the possibility of authentic communication, acquaintance with the latest advances in science and technology, participation in international discussions significantly increases the level of motivation of students to learn a foreign language. At the same time, there is an intensification of educational activities, when students replenish their vocabulary, improve their receptive and productive skills, form and improve skills of dialogic speech, get acquainted with the culture and traditions of the language they are studying in a convenient time and space format (Negoescu and Bostina-Bratu, 2016).

Asynchronous communication allows us to exchange time-delayed information via the Internet. The possibilities of podcast and videocast technologies, e-mail correspondence, forums, chats, specialized sites, blogs, and electronic libraries can be widely used here. Foreign forums, joint projects with foreign students, quests, postponed conferences, work on foreign language sites, and communities on social networks have significant opportunities in the formation of foreign language communicative competence.

4.4 Effectiveness Evaluation of Designing the Educational Environment for Learning Foreign Languages

An important criterion for the effectiveness of pedagogical technologies in teaching foreign languages, along with the level of formation of foreign language communicative competence, is the *ergonomics of the learning environment*, which reflects the degree of influence on lecturer and students of psychophysiological, physiological, anthropometric and hygienic factors. This means assessing the effectiveness of foreign language teaching using pedagogical technologies (accuracy, reliability, productivity of their application) and compliance with human psychophysiology (safety for lecturer and student health, level of tension and fatigue, emotional impact on the process of lecturer and student) (Skydan, 1999, p. 11–12).

Ergonomic criterion serves three main factors of influence of pedagogical technologies on the educa-

tional environment – technological, labour and organizational ones (Skydan, 1999).

The technological factor involves the assessment of teaching aids, technical equipment, content and procedural parameters of applied pedagogical technologies. This involves, first of all, taking into account the anthropometric and biomechanical characteristics of the applied technical teaching aids, which should reduce the cost of muscular and mental energy, replace manual processes with automated, reduce static and dynamic load of information channels of students and lecturers. At the same time, in pedagogical ergonomics it is important to assess the degree of manufacturability of the educational process: algorithmicity, conceptuality, expediency, subjectivity, purposefulness, reproducibility, effectiveness, controllability, design, statefulness, etc. A certain level of manufacturability should provide a certain quality of educational material (depth, effectiveness, strength, system) compared to "nontechnological" approaches.

Pedagogical ergonomics also takes care of the degree of workload of students and lecturers. Insufficient workload of students due to prolonged automatic execution of monotonous actions and operations or insufficient level of problems or overload due to rapid rate of presentation of information or exceeding its volume dramatically reduce the effectiveness of foreign language studying. The state of functional comfort is also provided by external factors: the aesthetics of the room, the norms of the work environment, the workplace, the teaching aids offered by the lecturer (Karapuzova et al., 2012).

The labour factor considers the rhythm and intensity of study work, the correctness of individual actions with maximum economy of movement and prevention of awkward position during the work, its compliance with speed, energy, visual and other capabilities of students and lecturers. To the kinetic characteristics of the labour factor adds aesthetic – the conformity of the design of jobs, objects of labour, components of pedagogical technologies to the aesthetic needs of students and lecturers in the process of foreign languages learning (Okulova, 2011).

The organizational factor, first of all, takes into account the organization of the workplace of students and lecturers in the educational environment (in the classroom and virtual language laboratory). This involves a certain functional organization for a student or group of students to perform certain educational work with the use of pedagogical technologies. Properly organized workplace includes the availability of sufficient workspace; basic and auxiliary language equipment, convenient approach and access to them; the ability to establish physical, visual and auditory connections between the subjects of the educational process; safety priority; compliance with the norms of the working environment (permissible noise level, temperature, light, humidity, etc.), the possibility of remote autonomous studying.

Thus, the *indicators on ergonomics criterion of the educational environment* include: functional comfort of the student; technological, labour and organizational parameters of the educational environment of learning foreign languages with the use of pedagogical technologies and modern technical teaching aids, the quality of learning foreign language knowledge by students, the degree of their sensitivity to new technologies of educational activities.

Ergonomic analysis of the level of functional comfort of students in teaching foreign languages with the use of pedagogical technologies was conducted using the method of expert evaluations (figure 4).

Based on the testing of the card above in the prequarantine period, it was found that the reason for most of the failures of students is their failure to master at the appropriate level of pedagogical technologies for studying foreign languages, especially instrumental technologies. Unformed ability of individual students, especially freshmen, to concentrate, quickly switch attention, engage in work in the classroom, organize their work space, which affects the working environment in the language laboratory. Quantitative indicators are shown in table 1.

Table 1: Degree development dynamics of students' study work ergonomics (in %).

Indicators	Study year			
mulcators	Ι	II	III	
Elementary	40,0	31,3	25,0	
Intermediate	40,0	31,3	31,3	
Upper-Intermediate	12,0	20,8	22,9	
Advanced	8,0	16,6	20,8	

Thus, we singled out the *contradiction* between the existing potential of foreign language teaching pedagogical technologies in the direction of intensification of learning, complex impact on the motivational, cognitive and linguistic spheres of students' personality and the existing average level of effectiveness of their use in the educational process at a nonlanguage higher education institution. A number of *difficulties* have been identified, including: objective difficulties due to economic factors – extremely small amount of time for learning a foreign language in a non-language free economic zone, lack of funding for extracurricular activities and elective courses; insufficient hardware and software of instrumental technologies, limited direct communication with native speakers. There are also difficulties of semantic nature – imperfect development of the educational environment in terms of its ergonomics and functional comfort of students in the language laboratory, as well as procedural nature – insufficient level of mastery of some foreign language lecturers of instrumental educational technologies, especially computer and network; the advantage of technology-transformations in the educational activities of students, uniformity in their use; low share of communicative activity of students, their participation in extracurricular activities for professional interests during their studies in higher education institutions.

At the same time, the experience of application and widespread use of instrumental technologies during quarantine measures, balanced approach and hard work of foreign language teachers in the development of professional skills allowed to achieve significant changes in the levels of ergonomics of the educational environment (table 2).

Table 2: Ergonomic factor dynamic of students' study work (in %).

Levels	December	September
LEVEIS	2019	2021
Elementary	40,0	20,0
Intermediate	40,0	30,0
Upper-Intermediate	12,0	30,0
Advanced	8,0	20,0
Pearson's χ^2 -criterion	20,952 > 1	1,345, $\rho = 0,001$

This became possible due to the design of the learning environment taking into account the requirements of pedagogical ergonomics, which intensifies the teaching of foreign languages by means of instrumental pedagogical technologies.

5 CONCLUSIONS

Having considered the features learning environment design that provides intensive teaching of foreign languages to students of non-linguistic specialties, we came to the following conclusions.

1. The pedagogical technologies of teaching should be considered as types of concepts from generic "pedagogical technologies". In the teaching methods of foreign languages such technologies are based on the communicative-activity approach; their leading idea is modelling a real foreign language professionally oriented communication in the educational process, principles are speech orientation, individualization and the pri-

Parameter	Feature	Evaluation zones	Grade
Technological factor:	Language / linguistic laboratory, its equipment	0-10	
technical perfection; compliance with	Virtual language laboratory, its completeness	0-10	
anthropometric data;	Educational content	0-10	
functionality, quality,	Didactic teaching aids	0-10	
sufficiency	Computer-based technical teaching aids, local area network, Internet	0-10	
	Pedagogical software for teaching foreign languages	0-10	
Labour factor:	Classroom design	0-10	
aesthetics,	Virtual lab interface	0-10	
compliance with psychophysiological	Rhythm, regularity of the educational process	0-10	
and psychological characteristics of a	Ease of use of technical teaching aids, equipment	0-10	
human; requirements	Labour intensity	0-10	
of labour protection and hygiene	Educational and methodical complex of teaching the discipline	0-10	
Organizational	Student workplace in the classroom	0-10	
factor:	Student workplace in a virtual laboratory	0-10	
time indicators;	Organization of independent study work	0-10	
functionality of educational work, authenticity of	Organization of extracurricular activities (clubs, electives, events)	0-10 and additional 2 points	
content	Organization of communication with native speakers	0-10	
	Research work in the specialty by means of a foreign language	0-10 and additional 2 points	

Figure 4: Expert card for assessing technological, labour and organizational parameters of educational environment.

mary role of the personal aspect, situationality and novelty, professionalization. The pedagogical technologies of teaching foreign languages can be classified based on different methodological principles, namely: according to the place in the organization of educational process, under the methodological approaches to their development and application, according to the subjects of the educational process, under the level of application. A special place among them belongs to instrumental technologies.

2. The instrumental technologies of foreign language teaching are considered as a process of development and application of special teaching aids, which is based on the methodology of foreign language teaching and is aimed at achieving educational goals. The instrumental technologies include such interdependent components as 1) technologies of technical teaching aids application; 2) computer learning technologies; 3) telecommunication technologies based on the use of telecommunication means and networks as well as 4) hybrid models of instrumental technology, where the technologies of electronic learning are in their heart.

3. Pedagogical ergonomics is the direction of modern pedagogy, which aims to comprehensive study and design the pedagogical activities of lecturer and students in the system "educator - student learning environment" to ensure its effectiveness and optimality. These features permit the use of ergonomic approach to design education environment for intensive learning foreign language by means of digital technologies. The effectiveness of the application of pedagogical technologies of foreign language teaching depends on the appropriate design of the learning environment, where the activities of teaching and studying take place in external and internal plan. Designing the learning environment from the standpoint of pedagogical ergonomics requires the construction of a special language environment for students material and virtual. This requires taking into account the production, sanitary, anthropometric, psychophysiological and aesthetic factors of study work, which is organized using pedagogical technologies of foreign language teaching including instrumental technologies.

- 4. The widespread use of multimedia teaching aids and instrumental technologies based on computer makes it possible to properly design the workspace of foreign language teaching in the physical or virtual language laboratory in order to achieve the required level of functional comfort for teachers and students. In this purpose it should consider organization of physical space, availability of the necessary set of computer equipment and technical teaching aids, pedagogical software, rhythm of study work, mode of study activities (synchronous, asynchronous), available opportunities in the use of educational Internet resources. In any case, design of the process of foreign language learning by means of instrumental technologies should be realised through the prism of functional structure of the system "lecturer student - learning environment", and to do the ergonomic analysis of the learning environment in two directions - from human requirements to technical teaching means of learning and the conditions of their optimal use, and vice versa - from the requirements of instrumental technologies and conditions of their operation to a human.
- 5. Ergonomic model of learning environment organisation reflects the degree of influence on lecturer and students of psychophysiological, physiological, anthropometric and hygienic characteristics of study work. Degree of influence of instrumental technologies on the educational environment of foreign languages learning can be defined with help of ergonomic criterion, which estimates three main factors – technological, labour and organizational ones. The indicators on ergonomics

criterion of the educational environment include: functional comfort of the student; technological, labour and organizational parameters of the educational environment of learning foreign languages with the use of pedagogical technologies and modern technical teaching aids, the quality of learning foreign language knowledge by students, the degree of their sensitivity to new technologies of educational activities. Ergonomic analysis of the level of functional comfort of students in teaching foreign languages with the use of instrumental technologies can be conducted using the method of expert evaluations and special expert card.

The positive dynamics in the levels of ergonomics obtained as a result of approbation of the method of learning environment design for teaching foreign languages by means of instrumental pedagogical technologies allows us to consider it as appropriate and effective one.

Given the fact that in a modern digital society, new technological approaches are constantly being developed, the prospect of further research seems in the development of a methodology for the use of smart-technologies, augmented reality technologies, technologies for mobile learning for foreign language teaching.

REFERENCES

- Amelina, S. M., Tarasenko, R. O., Semerikov, S. O., and Shen, L. (2022). Using mobile applications with augmented reality elements in the self-study process of prospective translators. *Educational Technol*ogy Quarterly, 2022(4):263–275. https://doi.org/10. 55056/etq.51.
- Bartosh, D., Stoyanova, E., Galskova, N., and Petkova-Kaleva, S. (2020). Teaching foreign languages in the context of cognitive and conceptual priorities of modern education. *Ezikov Svyat*, 18(1):186–196.
- Bespalko, V. P. (1960). Requirements of educational films for professional and technical education. Soviet Education, 2(3):17–19. https://doi.org/10.2753/ RES1060-9393020317.
- Bondar, N. V., Konovalenko, T. V., and Riznitskii, I. G. (2022). Development of Future Foreign Language Teachers' Soft Skills by Means of ICT in Ukrainian Universities. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 2: AET*, pages 425–433. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/0010932400003364.
- Burov, O. and Pinchuk, O. (2021). Extended reality in digital learning: Influence, opportunities and risks' mitigation. CEUR Workshop Proceedings.

- Buzhykov, R. and Buzhykova, R. (2020). The potential of STEAM-technologies in teaching foreign languages. In Proceeding of the International scientific-practical seminar on December 8, 2020 "Innovations and traditions in students' language training", pages 42–45.
- Buzhykov, R. P. (2006). Pedagogical conditions of application of innovative and communication technologies in the process of teaching foreign languages to students of higher economic educational institutions. Candidate's thesis: 13.00.04, Kyiv.
- Bykov, V. Y. and Shyshkina, M. P. (2018). The conceptual basis of the university cloud-based learning and research environment formation and development in view of the open science priorities. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 68(6):1–19.
- Chorna, O. V., Hamaniuk, V. A., Markheva, O. Y., Voznyak, A. V., and Uchitel, A. D. (2022). Use of YouTube Resources in the Process of Training German Language Teachers. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 1: AET*, pages 511–526. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/0010925800003364.
- Daniushenkov, V. S. (1994). Students' practical projects from the standpoint of pedagogical technology. *Russian Education & Society*, 36(9):66–76. https://doi. org/10.2753/RES1060-9393360966.
- Driscoll, M. (2002). Blended learning: Let's get beyond the hype. *E-Learning*, 3(3).
- Esnault, L. (2007). Web-based education and pedagogical technologies: Solutions for learning applications. IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-59904-525-2.
- Gervas, O. G. (2011). Ergonomics. Vizavi, Uman.
- Guerrero, S. M. (2005). Teacher knowledge and a new domain of EXPERTISE: Pedagogical technology knowledge. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 33(3):249–267. https://doi.org/10.2190/ BLQ7-AT6T-2X81-D3J9.
- Gurevich, R., Gurjii, A., and Kademiya, M. (2016). Information and communication technologies in vocational education. Nilan, Vinnytsia.
- Hodovaniuk, T. L., Makhometa, T. M., Tiahai, I. M., Medvedieva, M. O., Pryshchepa, S. M., and Voznyak, A. V. (2022). Educational Trainings as One of the Effective Forms of Digital Competence Development of Secondary School Teachers. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 2: AET*, pages 372– 381. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/ 0010931900003364.
- Holiver, N., Kurbatova, T., and Bondar, I. (2020). Blended learning for sustainable education: Moodle-based English for Specific Purposes teaching at Kryvyi Rih National University. *E3S Web of Conferences*, 166:10006.
- Karapuzova, N. D., Pochynok, Y. A., and Pomohaibo, V. M. (2012). Fundamentals of pedagogical ergonomics. Akademvydav, Kyiv.

- Klarin, M. V. (2016). Twenty-first century educational theory and the challenges of modern education: Appealing to the heritage of the general teaching theory of the secondary educational curriculum and the learning process. *Russian Education and Society*, 58(4):299–312. https://doi.org/10.1080/10609393. 2016.1250510.
- Kramarenko, T. H., Pylypenko, O. S., and Serdiuk, O. Y. (2022). Digital Technologies in Specialized Mathematics Education: Application of GeoGebra in Stereometry Teaching. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 1: AET*, pages 576–589. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/0010926300003364.
- Kravtsova, I. A., Kravtsova, A. O., Hamaniuk, V. A., Bilozir, O. S., and Voznyak, A. V. (2022). Development of Professional Competence of Primary School Teachers of the New Ukrainian School in the Aspect of Foreign Language Teaching. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 1: AET*, pages 164– 187. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/ 0010922200003364.
- Kukharenko, V. (2017). Features of the electronic university. Open educational e-environment of modern university, 3:238–246.
- Kuts, M. O. (2021). Technique approaches in teaching foreign languages to student of economics. Bulletin of Alfred Nobel University. Series "Pedagogy and Psychology", 1(21):172–177.
- Lavrentieva, O., Horbatiuk, R., Skripnik, L., Kuchma, O., Penia, V., and Pahuta, M. (2021). Theoretical and methodological bases of designing the educational institution information and consulting environment. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840:012060. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1840/1/012060.
- Lavrentieva, O. O. (2019). Ergonomic approach to the organization of educational heals-saving environment. In Rybalko, L. M., editor, *Health technologies in the educational environment*, pages 94–111. Osadtsa V. M., Ternopil.
- Lozynska, L., Ishchuk, N., Ferri, A., and Tsihotska, O. (2021). Experience of using information and communication technologiesin foreign language teaching. *Youth and the market*, (4 (190)):125–131.
- Lyakhovitsky, M. V. and Koshman, I. M. (1981). Technical means in teaching foreign languages. Prosveshchenie, Moscow.
- Lynch, T. (1996). *Communication in the Language classroom*. Oxford Handbooks for Language Teachers Series. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Molnar, A. R. (1997). Computers in education: A brief history. *THE Journal*, 24(11):63–68.
- Negoescu, A. and Bostina-Bratu, S. (2016). Teaching and learning foreign languages with ICT. *Scientific Bulletin*, 21(1(41)):21–27.
- Nikolaeva, S. and Synekop, O. (2020). Social aspect of student's language learning style in differentiated esp in-

struction. Universal Journal of Educational Research, 8(9):4224–4233.

- Okulova, L. P. (2011). Pedagogical ergonomics. IKI, Izhevsk.
- Petersson, K., Olsson, U., and Popkewitz, T. S. (2007). Nostalgia, the future, and the past as pedagogical technologies. *Discourse*, 28(1):49–67. https://doi.org/10. 1080/01596300601073598.
- Polat, E. S. (2004). Pedagogical technologies for distance learning. Upravlyayushchie Sistemy i Mashiny, (4):62–69.
- Polat, E. S., editor (2009). New pedagogical and information technologies in education. Logos, Moscow.
- Prykhodko, A. M., Rezvan, O. O., Volkova, N. P., and Tolmachev, S. T. (2019). Use of Web 2.0 technology tool – educational blog – in the system of foreign language teaching. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:256–265. https://acnsci.org/10.55056/cte.389.
- Rozhkova, F. M. (1987). *Movies in English lessons*. Prosvescshenie, Moscow.
- Rozhkova, N. (2014). The use of informationand computer technologies as an innovative methodin teaching foreign languages. *Scientific notes Pedagogical Sciences*, page 121—125.
- Rymanova, I. E. (2013). Using the moodle environment for teaching a professional foreign language to students of a technical university. *Philological sciences. Questions of theory and practice*, (11(29). Part II):164– 167.
- Serdyukov, P. I. (1997). Theoretical bases of teaching foreign languages in a language university with the use of information technologies. D.Sc. thesis: 13.00.02, Kyiv.
- Skinner, B. F. (1931). The concept of the reflex in the description of behavior. *The Journal of General Psychology*, 5(4):427–458.
- Skydan, S. O. (1999). Ergonomic foundations of the educational process in high school. D.Sc. thesis: 13.00.01, Kyiv.
- Stanford, J. (2009). Moodle 1.9 for Second Language Teaching: Engaging online language-learning activities using the Moodle platform. Packt Publishing.
- Strelnikov, V. Y. (2002). Pedagogical bases of providing personal and professional development of students by means of innovative technologies of training. RVV PUSKU, Poltava.
- Tarnopolsky, O., Volkova, N., and Kozhushko, S. (2020). Sustained english lingua-cultural education: A solution for Ukraine. *E3S Web of Conferences*, 166:10004.
- Thorndike, E. L. (1932). The Fundamentals of Learning. Bureau of Publications. Teachers College, Columbia University, New York.
- Tkachuk, V. V., Yechkalo, Y. V., and Semerikov, S. O. (2019). The research of process of applying mobile ict by university students: mobile testing systems and mobile means of multimedia development. *Educational Dimension*, 1:125–146. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.v53i1.3839.
- Tokarieva, A. V., Volkova, N. P., Degtyariova, Y. V., and Bobyr, O. I. (2021). E-learning in the present-day

context: from the experience of foreign languages department, PSACEA. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840.

- Young, J. A. (1961). Programmed instruction in chemistry - an invitation to participate. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 38(9):463–465. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ed038p463.
- Zimnyaya, I. (2021). A psychological analysis of translation as a type of speech activity, volume 3. Taylor and Francis Inc.

Implementation of a Single Information and Educational Environment of the University "NMU Digital"

Yuriy L. Kuchyn¹[®]^a, Oleksandr M. Naumenko¹[®]^b, Oleg M. Vlasenko¹[®]^c, Svitlana H. Lytvynova²[®]^d, Oleksandr Yu. Burov²[®]^e, Inna I. Kucherenko¹[®]^f and Pavlo V. Mykytenko¹[®]^g

¹Bogomolets National Medical University, 13 Taras Shevchenko Blvd, Kyiv, 01601, Ukraine

²Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the NAES of Ukraine, 9 M. Berlynskoho Str., Kyiv, 04060, Ukraine innanmu2018@gmail.com

- Keywords: Digital Transformation, Information and Educational Environment, Distance Learning, Automated Control System.
- Abstract: The publication considers theoretical and practical approaches to the design and creation of a single information and educational environment of the Bogomolets National Medical University. The main factors that were taken into account in the development of information and educational environment of the university are identified and substantiated. The basic educational and methodical resources that ensure the functioning of the information and educational environment of modern Medical (Pharmaceutical) Higher Educational Establishment (M(P)HEE) are given. The peculiarities of the educational process at the university are analyzed and the scheme of interaction of the educational-methodical department with the faculties of the university is given. In the process of research, it was developed a model of information and educational environment of the Bogomolets National Medical University "NMU Digital". The list of works related to the educational process performed by the structural units of the university in the automated control system is highlighted. The main advantages of use and functionality of the automated control system, electronic document management system and distance learning platform are revealed and analyzed. The results of an online survey of research and teaching staff and students of different faculties on determining the level of digital orientation are analyzed. Presented a comparison of the results of the survey in 2020-2021 and 2021-2022 academic years on the quality of the organization of a single information and educational environment at the Bogomolets National Medical University.

1 INTRODUCTION

Today, every governmental institution (health care is no exception) requires qualified professionals who have a high level of digital skills and are able to work with new technologies. Digital transformation (digitalization) of all spheres of public life, including education and science, is an important area of higher education not only because of the pandemic, but also in general through global trends and national policy (Morze and Strutynska, 2021).

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5450-6635

According to the draft of the Concept of digital transformation of education and science for the period up to 2026 (Concept of Digital Transformation, 2021), the resolution of the Cabinet of Ministers of January 30, 2019 No. 56 (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2019) and priority areas and tasks of digital transformation for the period up to 2023 approved by the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine dated February 17, 2021 No. 365-r (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2021) the existing system of education and science must undergo radical digital changes and meet global trends in digital development for the successful realization of each person's potential. Acquisition of digital competencies is a basic need of a modern specialist, so the education system (Medical (Pharmaceutical) Higher Educational Establishment – M(P)HEE) should ensure the formation of digital competencies of students and research and teaching staff (Kuzminska et al., 2019), as well as initiate the introduction of

62

Kuchyn, Y., Naumenko, O., Vlasenko, O., Lytvynova, S., Burov, O., Kucherenko, I. and Mykytenko, P.

Implementation of a Single Information and Educational Environment of the University "NMU Digital"

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9667-1911

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9001-7580

[°] https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0979-851X

e https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0733-1120

f https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0734-6544

^g https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1188-4334

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 62-74 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS - Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

digital infrastructure and electronic services.

The digital transformation of higher medical education is an integral part of the digital society as a whole, where there is a rapid filling of the world with digital technologies, systems, as well as with their help to establish communication and data exchange. These processes contribute to the development of digital competencies of the subjects of the educational process and are aimed at building an innovative, open and secure digital environment of the university.

Problems of design, implementation and use of an open cloud-oriented educational and scientific environment of a higher education institution have been the subject of research by (Bezverbnyi and Shyshkina, 2022; Bykov et al., 2019; Glazunova et al., 2022; Kolgatin et al., 2022; Oleksiuk and Spirin, 2022; Oleksiuk et al., 2021; Osadcha et al., 2022; Spirin et al., 2019). The researches of (Fedorenko et al., 2019; Kartashova et al., 2022a,b; Hurzhii et al., 2018) are devoted to the analysis of informatization of general secondary and higher education in Ukraine. The study of some features of informative terminology is revealed in (Zhaldak, 2019). Morse and Varchenko-Trotsenko (Morse and Varchenko-Trotsenko, 2015) considers the design of the model of effective learning environment of the university using information technology. The research of Spirin and Vakaliuk (Spirin and Vakaliuk, 2017) is devoted to the definition of criteria and establishment of appropriate indicators for the selection of open web-based learning technologies, Trius and Sotulenko (Trius and Sotulenko, 2017) talks about problems of creating distance learning support systems for health professionals. Franchuk (Franchuk, 2020) analyzes and systematizes the most common web-based computer systems in higher education. Stuchynska et al. (Stuchynska et al., 2021) consider approaches to the design and creation of a cloud learning environment for medical students. Marin (Marin, 2021) describes different practices which attempted to enact a digital university: MOOCs and videoconferencing apps used for lecturing. Michaeli et al., 2021) investigate the digital changes that have taken place in medical school that are related to the pandemic COVID-19. Rosenman and Swanson (Rosenman and Swanson, 2020) discusses the advantages and disadvantages of using digital platforms and wearables, as well as the problems of "Digital Health" in Medical School. Maltese (Maltese, 2018) offers new methodologies, data models, authority control mechanisms, and system infrastructures that are able to support a broader range of services in digital university.

Purpose of the article is presentation of design experience and general approaches to creating a single information and educational environment of Bogomolets National Medical University "NMU Digital".

2 METHODS

Theoretical and empirical methods of scientific research were used to perform the set tasks, namely:

- method of system analysis, comparison and generalization for theoretical substantiation and development of information and educational environment of the Bogomolets National Medical University "NMU Digital";
- bibliosemantic method for the study of psychological and pedagogical, scientific literature, regulations on the design of information and educational environment, the use of automated control systems and distance learning technologies;
- empirical methods conversations with students and teachers, analysis of ways to use learning materials management systems;
- questionnaire in order to determine the level of digital orientation of students and research and teaching staff of the university;
- modeling to develop the information and educational environment of the university and analyze its functionality.

3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

First of all, it is necessary to consider the essence of the concepts of "digital competence" and "digitalization of education" to understand the need for the formation of certain skills in the subjects of the educational process when working in the information and educational environment. In the Recommendations of the European Parliament and of the Council (Council Recommendation, 2018), digital competence involves the confident, critical and responsible use of, and engagement with, digital technologies for learning, at work, and for participation in society. It includes information and data literacy, communication and collaboration, media literacy, digital content creation (including programming), safety (including digital wellbeing and competences related to cybersecurity), intellectual property related questions, problem solving and critical thinking. Carretero et al. (Carretero et al., 2017) defines the digital competence not only as the ability to use the latest digital technologies, but also as the ability to use these digital technologies in a critical, collaborative and creative way. In particular, this

publication identifies five main structural components of digital competence, namely:

- 1. literacy of information operations (viewing, searching, filtering data, information and digital content; evaluation of data, information and digital content; data, information and digital content management),
- 2. communication and cooperation (interaction through digital technologies; sharing of digital technologies; involvement in active public activities through digital technologies; cooperation with the help of digital technologies; network etiquette; digital identity management),
- creation of digital content (digital content development; integration and processing digital content; copyright and licenses; programming),
- security (device protection; protection of personal data and privacy; protection of health and wellbeing; protection of the environment),
- 5. problem solving (solving technical problems; identifying needs; creative use of digital technologies; defining spaces in numbers competence).

According to (Bykov et al., 2020), digitalization of education "is a modern stage of its informatization, which involves saturation of information and educational environment with electronic-digital devices, tools, systems and electronic communication between them, which actually allows integrated interaction of virtual and physical, that is, it creates a cyberphysical educational space". In turn, the information and educational environment will be understood as a continuum of spatio-temporal, socio-cultural, activity, communicative, informational and other factors that appear as conditions for interaction between the developing individual and the objective world of higher education, which are purposefully created and arise spontaneously. Obviously, for effective interaction between the user and the information and educational environment, the subject of the educational process must have established digital competencies.

The results of the analysis of scientific and pedagogical literature allow us to interpret concept of "informational and educational environment" as a continuum of spatio-temporal, socio-cultural, activityoriented, communicative, informational, and other factors that appear as conditions of interaction between the developing individual and the objective world of higher education that are purposefully created and arise spontaneously. Kasatkin and Tverezovska (Kasatkin and Tverezovska, 2011) gives another interpretation of this concept, namely as a system-organized set of tools, information resources, interaction protocols, hardware and software, and organizational and methodological supports, focused on meeting the educational needs of users. In particular, the educational environment of M(P)HEI is a necessary component of the holistic mechanism of professional socialization, life, and professional situations that ensure the entry of students into professional life.

The results of the analysis of scientific and pedagogical literature allowed to identify the main factors that were taken into account in the design and creation of information and educational environment of the university, namely: widespread use in the educational process of computer-based learning technologies; practical implementation of distance learning technologies; providing ICT support for research; wide introduction of digital technologies in education management at different levels; use of cloud technologies; taking into account the features of different computer technology platforms. In the course of digitalization, it is necessary to consider such principles as:

- ensuring access to data and knowledge;
- compliance with the system;
- focus on the development of a single information and educational environment;
- organization of communication, partnership and international cooperation;
- ensuring digital security and management priorities.

Analyzing the experience of organizing training with the help of distance technologies in institutions of higher medical (pharmaceutical) education, it can be stated that important educational and informational and methodological resources for the formation of the educational environment are:

- official portal of the institution of higher education;
- structured media library;
- thematic collection of video, audio materials, printed materials, methodical materials that provides the maximum visualization of educational, scientific and methodical activity, satisfies the interests of real and potential consumers of educational services in terms of the content of educational activities;
- virtual library an electronic library with educational, educational and methodical, methodical literature, catalogs of other electronic libraries;
- distance learning courses or their elements as a form of organization and implementation of educational activities and self-education of students using ICT.



Figure 1: Model of information and educational environment of the Bogomolets National Medical University "NMU Digital".

Information and educational environment of the Bogomolets National Medical University is based on the use of the latest technologies and provides the educational process with electronic textbooks and teaching aids in relevant disciplines, guidelines for the use of various web services, resources, and creates conditions for: introduction of pedagogically balanced learning models, use of cloud and mobile-oriented learning environments, use of various virtual laboratories, monitoring of academic achievements and disclosure of personal abilities of students.

The modern educational environment of M(P)HEI must meet a number of conditions, namely:

- to have the aesthetic appeal of the elements of the environment;
- to ensure compliance of the content and means of education with modern requirements for medical (pharmaceutical) education;
- to provide professional, psychological, and pedagogical needs of scientific and pedagogical workers and students; to have a positive image that contributes to the successful positioning of M(P)HEI in Ukraine and abroad;

- to have a high level of pedagogical skills, general and social culture of the teaching staff;
- to provide conditions for the formation of a competitive specialist in the medical (pharmaceutical) industry.

Thus, the informational and educational environment M(P)HEI in distance learning can be understood as a systematically organized set of modern educational and other information resources focused on meeting the needs of participants in the educational process and its scientific and educational support, as well as a set of hardware and software for storing, processing, and dissemination of educational materials and communications interaction to achieve educational aims, in particular in order to form the necessary professional competencies.

In figure 1 shows a model of information and educational environment of the Bogomolets National Medical University "NMU Digital". First of all, all electronic data of entrants are entered by the staff of the Admissions Committee into the Unified State Electronic Database on Education (USEDE) and as soon as the entrant is enrolled in the number of university students, he/she immediately becomes part of the digital environment. All data of the entrant goes to the ACS, and thanks to the integration of the ACS with the university distance learning platform LIKAR NMU, students of our university will have access to video and teaching materials on the YouTube distance learning channel in the disciplines taught to them this or that semester. Orders on the movement of the contingent (enrollment, transfer, deduction or academic leave) of students are formed in the ACS and transferred to the electronic document management environment (electronic management system – EMS), and from there to the necessary departments.

Based on distance learning technologies, it is possible to provide access to a wide range of information resources - from assistance in performing specific practical work and autonomous training courses downloaded to the student's mobile device, to fully networked training courses with problemoriented software running on the server. It is also important that distance learning solves the problem of professional development of those who live and work in remote areas and helps to solve cost problems. Distance learning is currently impossible to imagine without systems of software products (distance learning platforms), through which remotely, via the global internet, the student can master the material, and the teacher in turn can create distance learning courses and conduct distance learning. The use of such platforms provides an interactive connection between teacher and student; distribution and verification of control tasks; keeping an electronic journal of records of assessments and visits; setting up various course resources; integration with cloud technologies. Using the latter opens up new learning opportunities, provides almost unlimited storage space, and most importantly - provides access from various devices to server resources and does not "tie down" the user to the workplace.

Let's consider the features of training at Bogomolets National Medical University, which are due to the "specific" organization of both the educational process and its structure. These features include: different duration of initial classes (1, 2, 3 and 5 hours); availability of monodisciplines (the department of a certain faculty teaches the same discipline for students of different faculties); academic disciplines for students of the faculty are taught by scientific and pedagogical employees of the departments belonging to other faculties. Analyzing the scheme of interaction of the educational and methodical department with the faculties of the university (figure 1) it can be traced that the students of the pharmaceutical faculty have academic disciplines taught by different departments, which in turn belong to different faculties, for example:

- faculty of training of foreign citizens (disciplines: "Information Technology in Pharmacy", "Higher Mathematics and Statistics", "Latin");
- medical faculty No. 1 ("Human Anatomy");
- medical faculty No. 4 ("Hygiene and Ecology").

Sometimes one department is taught by several departments, for example, the discipline "Life Safety, Fundamentals of Bioethics and Biosafety" will be divided between the Department of Hygiene and Ecology No. 3 of the Medical Faculty No. 4, and the Department of Philosophy, Bioethics and History of Medicine.

In accordance with figure 2, the logical sequence of interaction is as follows: the educational and methodical department calculates the pedagogical load and forms the schedule of educational classes; faculties (dean, deputy dean, methodologists, dispatchers, inspectors) form lists of student groups, monitor academic performance, make curricula into the automated control system (ACS), etc. Having received the previously mentioned information from the educational and methodical department and faculty, the responsible persons from the department assign teachers in the schedule by groups, publish thematic plans for disciplines (calendar-thematic plans of lectures, practical and seminar classes, as well as independent work of students) syllabuses and regulations. classes, final modular controls. In addition, they fill in grade journals, attend lectures, and fill in information on academic performance.

During the period of adaptive quarantine and digitalization of education it is important to ensure not only students' access to educational and methodical material, but also a reliable communicative component between students, departments, faculties and educational and methodical department and other structural units of Bogomolets National Medical University, as well as automation of processes related to the placement or completion of information. Especially important is the support and assistance to research and teaching staff of the university in organizing the provision of quality educational services.

At present, it is important to install a new ACS module, namely its synchronization with the AC-TION application. In particular, the following documents are available for "sharing":

- Passport of a citizen of Ukraine in the form of an ID card;
- Biometric passport;
- Registration number of taxes;
- Internally Displaced Persons (IDP) certificate;



Figure 2: Scheme of interaction of the educational and methodical department with the faculties of the university.



Figure 3: Attendance statistics of the LIKAR NMU distance learning platform.

• Child's birth certificate.

In addition to working in the ACS, research and teaching staff carry out organizational and pedagogical activities on the distance learning platform LIKAR NMU (develop and fill distance learning courses and YouTube distance learning channel). Three modules are available on the LIKAR NMU distance learning platform: distance learning; deanery; the organizational structure (figure 3).

The scientific and pedagogical staff of the university developed almost 2000 video recordings of lectures and video recommendations for practical and laboratory work, which were uploaded to the YouTube distance learning channel of Bogomolets National Medical University. The mantis is placed (figure 4). The channel currently has more than 3,000 subscribers.

In order to optimize the information support and counseling of higher education students, teachers, course managers and faculty members responsible for educational work, support chats were created in Viber and Telegram messengers. In addition to the organizational and control function, the university administration together with the educational and methodical department and the department of computer technology of learning and distance education provides constant scientific support, updating instructions, publishing methodical materials and scientific articles placed in the rubric "Distance learning" on the official website of the university, as well as step-by-step video

AET 2021 - Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology

=	Studio		Q Search across your cl	hannel	
		Channel analytics	Audience		ADVANCED MODE 21 Sept 2020 – 20 Sept 2021 Last 365 days
Канал	Your channel п дистанційної освіти НМУ ім	Your channe	l got 69,187 views in the	last 365 days	Realtime • Updating live
==	Dashboard				3,129
	Content	Views 69.2K	Watch time (hours) 6.1K	Subscribers ▲ +2.2K	Subscribers SEE LIVE COUNT
≡,	Playlists				447
	Analytics				Views - Last 48 hours
	Comments			2,250	
1.7	Subtitles	A		750	Top videos Views
C	Copyright	21 Sept 21 Nov 2020 20 Jan	2021 22 Mer 2021 22 Mey 2021	21 Jul 2021 20 Sept 2	7 😻 5. Кровотеча. Класифікаці 49
\$	Monetisation	SEE MORE			1 4 Несприятливі побічні р 28
ï.	Customisation				Лекція 1 Вчення про хворо 27

Figure 4: Analytics of views of the YouTube distance learning channel of Bogomolets NMU.



Figure 5: Application window for optimizing user registration without an ACS account.

instructions for teachers were recorded and posted on the distance learning channel.

With regard to postgraduate education, this includes interns and students of advanced training or technical improvement courses. In fact, we have former students of our university, information about which was stored in the ACS and on the platform LIKAR NMU and new users. Data on graduates is stored on the distance learning platform, and software was developed for unregistered users, which solved the problem of fast data transfer from the spreadsheet, and registration of users absent in the ACS (figure 5). This software application is designed for local use.

In addition, a special module on the LIKAR NMU platform has been developed for advanced training and technical improvement courses, which allows generating certificates confirming the completion of training courses. These certificates indicate the educational institution, name, subject of the training course and the date of completion.

An important role in the interaction between structural units is played by the environment of electronic document management (EMS). Thanks to EMS, the hierarchy of management actions of the university administration, structural units and faculties is clearly traced and adhered to. Quite convenient is the fact that the order or order of the university can be immediately sent to all necessary users for review, signature or review. The head of the structural unit has the opportunity to review the status of execution of the order and find out whether all colleagues are performing their duties properly. This is quite convenient, especially when there is a powerful institution and structural units are located in different parts of the city, you do not need to spend time and resources on the way to the office building and waiting in line for signatures under offices, most importantly to have constant access to the Internet.

In the process of designing an information and educational environment of the university, it was expedient to establish the readiness of the teaching staff and students of different faculties to use digital technologies in their activities. In order to determine the level of digital orientation of research and teaching staff and students of Bogomolets National Medical University a questionnaire was conducted. A total of 939 respondents took part in the survey, of which 87 were faculty, 817 were full-time students and 38 were part-time students.

Respondents were asked to rate their own components of digital competence on a 5-point scale:

- Respondents rated information literacy as follows: 37% by 5 points, 46% by 4 points, 14% by 3 points, 2% by 2 points, 1% by 1 point.
- Respondents rated communication and cooperation as follows: 45% – by 5 points, 38% – by 4 points, 13% – by 3 points, 3% – by 2 points, 1% – by 1 point.
- Respondents rated the creation of digital content as follows: 25% – by 5 points, 36% – by 4 points, 27% – by 3 points, 8 – by 2 points, 4% – by 1 point.
- Respondents rated data protection as follows: 29% by 5 points, 33% by 4 points, 27% by 3 points, 7% by 2 points, 4% by 1 point.
- The solution of technical problems was assessed by the respondents as follows: 23% – by 5 points, 33% – by 4 points, 30% – by 3 points, 9% – by 2 points, 5% – by 1 point.

Table 1: Distribution of respondents depending on the position.

Academic title	2020-2021 a.y.	2021-2022 a.y.
Professor	1.5%	2.3%
Docent	3.3%	7.3%
Senior Lecturer	0.2%	0.9%
Teacher	0.3%	1%
Assistant	3.8%	6.6%
Full-time student	86.5%	72%
Part-time student	4.1%	7.7%
Intern	0%	1.7%
Postgraduate	0%	0.3%
Other	0.3%	0.1%

As can be seen from the results of the answers to this question, most respondents assess themselves at a sufficient level of digital competence. It was also suggested to assess one's own level of interest in the use of digital tools:

- Work on the global Internet: 65% respondents have a high level, 30% respondents have a medium level, and 5% respondents have a low level.
- Visualization: 63% respondents have a high level, 34% respondents have a medium level, and 3% respondents have a low level.
- Ensuring cybersecurity: 45% respondents have a high level, 38% respondents have a medium level, and 17% respondents have a low level.
- Scientific communication: 51% respondents have a high level, 40% respondents have a medium level, and 9% respondents have a low level.
- Electronic documents: 53% respondents have a high level, 38% respondents have a medium level, and 9% respondents have a low level.
- Mobile devices: 71% respondents have a high level, 24% respondents have a medium level, and 5% respondents have a low level.

It can be stated that the majority of respondents are interested in using digital tools when working on the global Internet and with mobile devices, at least in ensuring cybersecurity of data.

In response to the questionnaire "In your opinion, what are the main requirements to be met during the digital transformation of education?", distance learning technologies were identified in the first place, research learning and blended learning in the second and third, respectively (figure 6).

To the question "Do you have the skills to create digital content?" the following answers were received: 51.9% of respondents have a basic level (I create simple digital content (text, tables, images, audio files) in at least one format), 39.5% of respondents have a medium level (I create complex digital content in different formats (for example, text, tables, images, audio files) and have the skills to create web pages or blogs); 8.6% of respondents have a high level (I create complex multimedia content in different formats, using a variety of digital tools and environments, I can create a website).

To the questionnaire question "Do you have the skills to create digital content online in cloud storage (for example, Google Drive or Dropbox)?" such answers were received, 58.4% indicated that "yes", 41.6% – "no".

To the question "Do you have the skills to use email and messengers (for example, Viber, Telegram or



Figure 6: Distribution of respondents' answers to the main requirements should be provided during the digital transformation of education.



Figure 7: Distribution of respondents' answers to the question "How would you assess the quality of education at the Bogomolets National Medical University?"

WhatsApp) in professional activities?" the following answers were received, 97.1% – said "yes", 2.9% – "no". Having studied the attitude of respondents to the organization of the educational and information environment of Bogomolets National Medical University we can note that 44.4% are completely satisfied, 37.9% are undecided, and 17.7% are dissatisfied. Analyzing satisfaction with the quality of information support, the following results were obtained: 44.5% were completely satisfied, 35.5% were undecided and 20% were dissatisfied.

In order to study the quality of the organization of a single information and educational environment at

the Bogomolets National Medical University for the last 2 years has been conducting online surveys of research teaching staff and students of various faculties. In 2020-2021 academic year 4610 respondents took part in the survey, and 2021-2022 academic year 3940 respondents (table 1). The following results were obtained after the survey. To the question of the questionnaire "How would you assess the quality of education at the Bogomolets National Medical University?" (figure 7) in 2020-2021 a.y. 78.8 % of respondents answered positively, 15.6 % of respondents considered the level of education rather low or very low and 5.6 % did not decide on the answer. In 2021-2022 a.y. the distribution of respondents answers was as follows: 83.4 % of respondents answered positively, 11.2% of respondents considered the level of education rather low or very low and 6.4 % did not decide on the answer.

To the question "How would you assess the quality of education at the Bogomolets National Medical University for distance learning in adaptive quarantine?" 2020-2021 academic year the following answers were received: 45.3% - very high and high, 35.3% average quality score; 16.2% - low and very low and 3.2% of respondents did not decide on the answer. Since 2021-2022 a.y. training was carried out according to the classroom-distance form of education, the question of assessing the quality of the form of education was posed as follows: "How would you assess the quality of education at the Bogomolets National Medical University the classroom-distance form of education in the conditions of adaptive quarantine? "respondents' answers are divided as follows: 44.3% - very high and high, 35.9% average quality score; 15.8% - low and very low and 4.9% of respondents did not decide on the answer. However, regardless of the form of student learning, whether distance or mixed, the issue of improving the quality of distance learning at the Bogomolets National Medical University. The worshiper remains relevant today. Last educational year, 57.2% of respondents believed that this issue is a priority, this year 42.4% share this opinion.

In 2020-2021 academic year answering the question "Do you agree with the statement that distance learning puts everyone on an equal footing?" The opinion of the respondents was divided: 30% – said they completely agreed, 29.6% – mostly agreed, 13.5% – mostly disagreed, 16.2% – completely disagreed and 10.6% did not decide on the answer. In 2021-2022 a.y. The distribution of respondents' answers was as follows: 29.3% – said they completely agreed, 15.2% – mostly disagreed, 14.4% – completely disagreed and 10% did not decide on the answer. In addition, it is appropriate to determine the form of organization of the educational process that most puts students in a level playing field.

In 2020-2021 academic year 68.9% of respondents were satisfied with the organization of distance learning, 13.1% – rather dissatisfied and 17.9% found it difficult to determine the answer. This year we had a task to determine how many respondents are satisfied with different forms of education at the university (figure 8): classroom, mixed, distance. It should be noted that the combination of classroom and distance learning has become commonplace for teachers

of the Bogomolets National Medical University. Answering the question "Can distance learning affect the reduction of corruption?" 64.1% of respondents indicated that "rather yes", 16% - "probably not", 19% did not decide on the answer. In 2021-2022 a.y. respondents' answers were divided as follows: 57.4% of respondents indicated that "rather yes", 19.9% -"probably not", 22.7% - did not decide on the answer. As for the use of additional tools to provide distance and classroom distance learning, it is the same as last year - Zoom and GoogleMeet are preferred. As the epidemiological situation in the country is constantly preparing new challenges for the education and health care system, students and teachers have to adapt to change. It is important, regardless of the form of classes to convey the necessary information to students, and get a positive result of its assimilation. Constantly improve pedagogical skills, following modern methods and teaching methods.

4 CONCLUSIONS AND PROSPECTS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH

The designed single information and educational environment "NMU Digital" unites all participants of educational and scientific activity, providing space for communication and data exchange, simplifies and modernizes management processes at the university. The implementation of the proposed concept aims to ensure: a qualitatively new level and effectiveness of the university; development of a unified information educational environment of the university; high level of quality of training and advanced training of students; increasing the efficiency and effectiveness of research; high level of digital competence of university employees.

The information and educational environment developed at the university consists of many components. Its organization involves not only the use of modern digital technologies, such as automated document management system, distance learning platform, automated control system, YouTube, telegram channel, official website, but also establishing communication between all structural units of the university, creating conditions for the formation of digital competence in order to work in the information and educational environment of the university. Analysis of the results on the level of digital orientation of teaching staff and students of Bogomolets National Medical University gives grounds to conclude that a significant number of respondents need to improve



Figure 8: Distribution of respondents' answers to the question "Can distance learning affect the reduction of corruption?"

their digital competence. Most users have high skills in working on the Internet and with mobile applications, this applies mainly to students. In our opinion, it is possible to expand knowledge in other directions by updating the content of computer science disciplines. As for the teaching staff, web training's and seminars should increase their digital competence. Tracking the dynamics of digital competence changing is a prospect for future research, as the process of creating information and educational environment of the university is long and is implemented in stages. The results of the conducted sociological research will contribute to the creation of new opportunities for adjustment, development, and functioning of the informational and educational environment of the university. As we can be seen from the results of the comparison of 2020-2021 and 2021-2022 academic years, the percentage of respondents who positively assess the quality of education at the university has increased. Most likely, this is due to the introduction of a mixed form of education and the establishment of mechanisms for interaction between students and teachers.

Prospects for further research are aimed at developing proposals for ways to develop digital competence of students and research and teaching staff of the university. The proposed concept for the design of information and educational environment of the university needs constant improvement and in our opinion, the results of sociological research will help create new opportunities for adjustment, development and functioning of the information and educational environment of the university.

REFERENCES

- Bezverbnyi, I. A. and Shyshkina, M. P. (2022). The Use of Serverless Technologies to Support Data Processing within the Open Learning and Research Systems. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 2: AET, pages 489–494. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10. 5220/0010933200003364.
- Bykov, V., Spirin, O., and Pinchuk, O. (2020). Modern tasks of digital transformation of education. Unesco Chair Journal "Lifelong Professional Education in the XXI Century, 1:27–36.
- Bykov, V. Y., Vernygora, S. M., Hurzhii, A. M., Novohatko, L. M., Spirin, O. M., and Shyshkina, M. P. (2019). The design and use of the open cloud based learning and reserch environment of a university. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 74(6):1–19. https: //doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v74i6.3499.
- Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine (2019). Resolution "On some issues of digital development". https://zakon. rada.gov.ua/laws/show/56-2019-%D0%BF#Text.
- Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine (2021). Order "On some

issues of digital transformation". https://zakon.rada. gov.ua/laws/show/365-2021-%D1%80#Text.

- Carretero, S., Vuorikari, R., and Punie, Y. (2017). *DigComp* 2.1: The Digital Competence Framework for Citizens with eight proficiency levels and examples of use. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg. https://doi.org/10.2760/38842.
- Concept of Digital Transformation (2021). Draft concept of digital transformation of education and science for the period up to 2026. https://mon.gov.ua/storage/app/media/news/2021/ 05/25/tsifrovizatsiigromadskeobgovorennya.docx.
- Council Recommendation (2018). Council Recommendation of 22 May 2018 on key competences for lifelong learning (Text with EEA relevance). https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/ ?uri=uriserv:OJ.C_.2018.189.01.0001.01.ENG&toc= OJ:C:2018:189:TOC.
- Fedorenko, E. H., Velychko, V. Y., Stopkin, A. V., Chorna, A. V., and Soloviev, V. N. (2019). Informatization of education as a pledge of the existence and development of a modern higher education. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:20–32. https://doi.org/10.55056/ cte.366.
- Franchuk, V. (2020). Methods of teaching informative disciplines in pedagogical universities using web-oriented systems. National Pedagogical Dragomanov University Publishing House, Kyiv.
- Glazunova, O. G., Korolchuk, V. I., Parhomenko, O. V., Voloshyna, T. V., Morze, N. V., and Smyrnova-Trybulska, E. M. (2022). Methodology for using Cloud-oriented Environment for Flipped Learning of the Future IT Specialists. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 1: AET*, pages 445– 460. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/ 0010925100003364.
- Hurzhii, A., Kartashova, A., and Lapinsky, V. (2018). Informatization of general secondary education in Ukraine. In *Reports of the XIII International Scientific Conference Modern Advances in Science and Education*, pages 9–13, Netanya, Israel.
- Kartashova, L. A., Gurzhii, A. M., Zaichuk, V. O., Sorochan, T. M., and Zhuravlev, F. M. (2022a). Digital Twin of an Educational Institution: An Innovative Concept of Blended Learning. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 2: AET*, pages 300– 310. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/ 0010931100003364.
- Kartashova, L. A., Prykhodkina, N. O., Makhynia, T. A., Tymoshko, H. M., Sholokh, O. A., and Zhuravlev, F. M. (2022b). Social Media as a Strategic Tool in School Management: Experience of Ukraine and USA. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium* on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 1: AET, pages 196–210. INSTICC, SciTePress. https: //doi.org/10.5220/0010922400003364.

- Kasatkin, D. and Tverezovska, N. (2011). Information and educational learning environment: history, classification and functions. *Sci notes Ternopil Volodymyr Hnatiuk Natl Pedagog Univ. Series: Pedagogy*, 3:190– 196.
- Kolgatin, O. H., Kolgatina, L. S., Ponomareva, N. S., Shmeltser, E. O., and Uchitel, A. D. (2022). Systematicity of Students' Independent Work in Cloud Learning Environment of the Course "Educational Electronic Resources for Primary School" for the Future Teachers of Primary Schools. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 1: AET*, pages 538– 549. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/ 0010926000003364.
- Kuzminska, O., Mazorchuk, M., Morze, N., Pavlenko, V., and Prokhorov, A. (2019). Study of Digital Competence of the Students and Teachers in Ukraine. *Communications in Computer and Information Science*, 1007:148–169. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-030-13929-2_8.
- Maltese, V. (2018). Digital transformation challenges for universities: Ensuring information consistency across digital services. *Cataloging & Classification Quarterly*, 56(7):592–606. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 01639374.2018.1504847.
- Marin, L. (2021). The Digital University. In On the Possibility of a Digital University: Thinking and Mediatic Displacement at the University, pages 57–77. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-65976-9_4.
- Michaeli, D., Michaeli, D., Keough, G., Strotzer, Q., and Michaeli, T. (2021). Digital medical education and students' mental health: effects of the COVID-19 pandemic in Germany. *The Journal of Mental Health Training, Education and Practice*. https://doi.org/10. 1108/JMHTEP-03-2021-0035.
- Morse, N. and Varchenko-Trotsenko, L. (2015). Using wiki-technology to organize the learning environment of a modern university. *Open educational eenvironment of a modern university*, 1:115–125.
- Morze, N. V. and Strutynska, O. V. (2021). Digital transformation in society: key aspects for model development. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1946(1):012021. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/ 1946/1/012021.
- Oleksiuk, V. and Spirin, O. (2022). The experience of using cloud labs in teaching linux operating system. In Ignatenko, O., Kharchenko, V., Kobets, V., Kravtsov, H., Tarasich, Y., Ermolayev, V., Esteban, D., Yakovyna, V., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, *ICTERI 2021 Workshops*, pages 281–291, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-031-14841-5_18.
- Oleksiuk, V. P., Oleksiuk, O. R., Spirin, O. M., Balyk, N. R., and Vasylenko, Y. P. (2021). Some experience in maintenance of an academic cloud. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 8:165–178. https://doi.org/10. 55056/cte.230.

- Osadcha, K. P., Osadchyi, V. V., Kruglyk, V. S., and Spirin, O. M. (2022). Analysis and Summarization of the Experience of Developing Adaptive Learning Systems in Higher Education. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 2: AET*, pages 208–215. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/0010930000003364.
- Rosenman, D. and Swanson, W. S. (2020). Digital health in medical school. *Academic Medicine*, 97(7). https: //doi.org/10.1097/ACM.00000000003359.
- Spirin, O., Oleksiuk, V., Balyk, N., Lytvynova, S., and Sydorenko, S. (2019). The blended methodology of learning computer networks: Cloud-based approach. In Ermolayev, V., Mallet, F., Yakovyna, V., Kharchenko, V. S., Kobets, V., Kornilowicz, A., Kravtsov, H., Nikitchenko, M. S., Semerikov, S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kherson, Ukraine, June 12-15, 2019, volume 2393 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 68–80. CEUR-WS.org. http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2393/ paper_231.pdf.
- Spirin, O. M. and Vakaliuk, T. A. (2017). Criteria of open web-operated technologies of teaching the fundamentals of programs of future teachers of informatics. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 60(4):275–287. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v60i4. 1815.
- Stuchynska, N. V., Belous, I. V., and Mykytenko, P. V. (2021). Use of modern cloud services in radiological diagnostics training. *Wiadomości Lekarskie*, 74(3):589–595. https://doi.org/10.36740/ WLek202103205.
- Trius, Y. and Sotulenko, O. (2017). Creating a distance learning support system for health professionals based on Moodle. In Automation and computerintegrated technologies in production and education: state, achievements, development prospects: materials All-Ukrainian scientific-practical Internet conference (AKIT-2017), page 259–261, Cherkasy. ChNU B. Khmelnytsky.
- Zhaldak, M. I. (2019). Some features of ukrainian informatic terminology. Naukovyi chasopys NPU imeni M.P. Drahomanova. Seriia 2. Kompiuternooriientovani systemy navchannia, (21 (28)):3–9. https: //doi.org/10.31392/NPU-nc.series2.2019.21(28).01.

Responsibility and Digital Competence of Future Socionomic Professionals: Relationship and Features of Development

Olena I. Bondarchuk¹^{®a}, Valentyna V. Balakhtar^{2,4}^{®b}, Nina Lytvynenko³^{®c}, Nataliia Pinchuk¹^{®d}, Oleh Shmanko⁴^{®e}, Arnold Kiv⁵^{®f}, Vasyl Oleksiuk⁶^{®g}, Andrii V. Pavlenok⁷^{®h}, Kateryna Balakhtar^{2,3,4}^{®i} and Tamara Grubi⁸^{®j}

> ¹University of Educational Management, 52A Sichovykh Striltsiv Str., Kyiv, 04053, Ukraine ²National Aviation University, 1 Liubomyra Huzara Ave., Kyiv, 03058, Ukraine

³O. O. Bogomolets National Medical University, 13 Tarasa Shevchenko Blvd, Kyiv, 01601, Ukraine

⁴Yuriy Fedkovych Chernivtsi National University, 2 Kotsiubynskyi Str., Chernivtsi, 58012, Ukraine

⁵Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, P.O.B. 653, Beer Sheva, 8410501, Israel

⁶Ternopil Volodymyr Hnatiuk National Pedagogical University, 2 M. Kryvonosa Str., Ternopil, 46000, Ukraine

⁷International Education College, Minzu University of China, 27 Zhongguancun South Ave., Beijing, 100081, China

⁸Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, Bulvarno-Kudriavska St, 18/2, Kyiv, 04053, Ukraine

{bei.07, pavlinka15}@ukr.net, valentyna.balakhtar@npp.nau.edu.ua, {bkskatrin, nplytvynenko1, tacya3, kiv.arnold20, tamaragrubi}@gmail.com, o.shmanko@chnu.edu.ua, oleksyuk@fizmat.tnpu.edu.ua

- Keywords: Future Specialists of Socionomic Professions, Responsibility, Information, Digital Competence, Psychological Safety.
- Abstract: The article dwells on to the study of the relationship between responsibility and digital competence of future professionals in socionomic professions and the study of the features of their development. The role of responsibility as a vital indicator of digital competence of future specialists of socionomic professions was determined, which determines their conscious and responsible activities in the context of obtaining and disseminating information in the digital space, promoting both their own psychological safety alongside psychological safety of other members of the digital community. The results of an empirical study were highlighted, which revealed an insufficient level of both responsibility and cognitive-operational components of digital competence for a significant number of future specialists in socionomic professions. Gender differences in the manifestations of responsibility of future specialists depending on the gender are characterized according to which the female respondents were slightly more responsible for the consequences of dissemination of information than male specialists. The expediency of promoting the development of responsibility of future specialists of socionomic professions as an indicator of their digital competence is stated, which can be provided in a specially organized psychological training. The program of responsibility development as a component of digital competence of future specialists of socionomic professions and the results of its approbation are presented, which testify to the effectiveness of this program.

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3920-242X ^b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6343-2888 ^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6572-2392 ^d https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1904-804X

- e https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9491-4564
- f https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0991-2343
- g https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2206-8447
- https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4613-7179

1 INTRODUCTION

The development of the digital society in today's complex conditions leads to the growing role of information and digital technologies, in general, and in professional activities, in particular. This, in turn, requires the development of digital competence, the creation of conditions conducive to effective work with a variety of information sources, the identification of factors that ensure these processes, and so on. Today, the infrastructure of the metaverse is still evolv-

Bondarchuk, O., Balakhtar, V., Lytvynenko, N., Pinchuk, N., Shmanko, O., Kiv, A., Oleksiuk, V., Pavlenok, A., Balakhtar, K. and Grubi, T. Responsibility and Digital Competence of Future Socionomic Professionals: Relationship and Features of Development. In *Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021)*, pages 75-91 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

ⁱ https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9154-9095

^j https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2345-588X

ing. Researchers, educators, policymakers and digital designers have the chance to use the potential of the metaverse as a three-dimensional, global, interconnected, exciting and online space in real-time. Therefore we need new ways to connect the physical virtual reality (VR) (Hirsh-Pasek et al., 2022). The digital competence is recognised by the EU as one of the 8 key competencies for a full life condition and activity, which according to the updated Digital Competence framework (DigComp 2.2) contains 5 main blocks of competencies (Adz, 2016) (information literacy and data literacy; communication and interaction; digital content; security; problemsolving). Digital competence is especially important for specialists in socionomic professions who work in the human-human system, and their activities support and develop the human capital and intellectual potential of the country. This imposes special requirements on the training of future specialists in socionomic professions, providing their ability to navigate independently in the digital space, strive for self-regulation, search for professionally vital information, and be able to analysing and systematising, use digital technologies as a set of professional solutions, be responsible for the consequences of information dissemination, help prevent cyberbullying, mobbing and other negative phenomena that accompany the formation of a digital society. Digital competence combines knowledge, skills, motivation and responsibility. Thus, taking into account these components, the following components should be distinguished: information and media literacy - knowledge, skills, motivation and responsibility due to the searching, organization, archiving of digital information and its critical thinking, as well as the creation of information objects using digital resources (text, graphics, audio and video); communicative competence knowledge, skills, motivation and responsibility necessary for various forms of communication (e-mail, chats, blogs, forums, social networks, etc.); technical competence - knowledge, skills, motivation and responsibility which allow effectively and safely using the hardware and software to solve various problems; consumer competence - knowledge, skills, motivation and responsibility in making it possible to solve with the help of digital means and the Internet various everyday tasks that involve meeting needs, solving specific life situations, etc. (Soldatova et al., 2013, p. 5). However, scholars point to several specific difficulties coming from what was originally considered the upside of the whole idea - the lack of rigid rules, the lack of controlling teachers, and the lack of conditions forced upon students. Electronic training of future professionals, in many cases, are simply neither ready nor even aware of their lack of readiness to take control over how what and when they learn (Postek et al., 2010, p. 105). Moreover, in our opinion, there is an additional confirmation of the development of responsibility as a vital component of future professionals' digital competence.

2 LITERATURE REVIEW

It should be noted that some aspects of the research problem have already been the subject of attention of researchers. Thus, there were investigated the following: the psychological aspects of computer literacy those contribute to the effective use of digital technologies in both educational and professional activities (Balakhtar, 2018; Balakhtar et al., 2022; Bondarchuk et al., 2022b; Meshko et al., 2020; Osadchyi et al., 2020); information personality culture of specialists (Voitovych et al., 2022); the problem of digital competence and its separate components (Balyk et al., 2019; Bezverbnyi and Shyshkina, 2022; Burov et al., 2020; Kartashova et al., 2018; Kiv et al., 2019; Klochko and Fedorets, 2022; Nosenko and Sukhikh, 2019; Semerikov et al., 2021; Shokaliuk et al., 2020; Yevtuch et al., 2021; Soldatova et al., 2013; Riezina et al., 2022), in general, and future specialists of various profiles: teachers (Mintii et al., 2021; Oleksiuk and Spirin, 2022; Spirin and Vakaliuk, 2019; Zaika et al., 2021), economists (Hlushak et al., 2020), specialists in agronomy (Yevstratiev, 2020).

The investigations were conducted on the studies of the socio-psychological consequences of the development of digital technologies on the personality of a specialist or a user (Vakulich, 2006; Yeung, 2019), including in the context of responsibility for the consequences of using digital technologies (Aguilera et al., 2007; Aguinis and Glavas, 2012; Rupp et al., 2013; Glavas, 2016).

There are studies of CSR (Corporate social responsibility) which are focused on the macro and institutional levels (Aguilera et al., 2007; Aguinis and Glavas, 2012; Rupp et al., 2013), and some studies are focused of how CSR influences employees – micro level (Glavas, 2016).

On the other hand, many works are devoted to the study of various aspects of psychological and pedagogical problems of professional and personality development of future specialists, including in the context of responsibility and professional ethics (Bezrukova, 2015; Meshko et al., 2021; Vinoslavskaya, 2002, 2005) et al. The Digital Competence Framework for Citizens (DigComp 2.2), mentioned in the Digital Competence Framework for Citizens, highlights responsibility as an important indicator of digital competence, but the content of responsibility, in our opinion, is somewhat generalised as the ability to apply and adapt different communications in digital environments alongside the various forms of behaviour, know-how, aspects of cultural and age diversity, using digital technologies (Dig, 2021). This, in turn, requires the responsible use of ICT and includes issues of privacy and copyright, ethical issues and the ability to evaluate digital information (Hatlevik et al., 2021).

We read, write, listen and communicate differently than we did 500 years ago (Coiro et al., 2008). It is quite reasonable in our information society (Martin and Grudziecki, 2006) to understand digital competence as a basic need if we are to function in society (Chapman, 1999), as an essential requirement for life (Bawden, 2008) or even as a survival skill (Eshet, 2004).

The specificity of the professional activity of specialists of socionomic professions determines the increased requirements for their professional competence, in general, and digital competence, in particular. This is a significant number of factors that are directly dependent on the more general problem of the relationship between science, morality and ethics. Socionomists deal with social relations at different levels of their implementation in accordance with legal documents (Constitution, Law of Ukraine "On Information", norms, rules, etc.), which define the concepts of information, information relations, objects of these relations, rights and responsibilities of their participants, information ownership (Law, 1992).

Currently, many codes of ethics have been developed, which contain relevant rules, including on the responsible use of information, protection of information systems from viruses and artificially created errors in them. Within the ethics of the media, a separate area of digital ethics is identified and designed to address a number of issues due to the needs of selection and evaluation of information, contextualisation of information, information control, information security and reliability of information (Nazarov, 2005, p. 222). However, compliance with these rules is not enough. In particular, decision-making in the process of information retrieval requires an appropriate level of formation in the personality of the future specialist of socionomic professions of responsibility, which will allow ensuring the regulation of activities based on ethical norms and principles (Papakitsya, 2014, p. 36). At the same time, it is digital competence according to the National Council on Curriculum and Assessment (NCCA) (National Council for Curriculum and Assessment, 2004) that contributes to learning, the growth of achievements and motivation of professionals, and the spread of technology in everyday life, which will allow all citizens to be functional in our knowledge society (Ferrari, 2012). Higher educational institutions should provide the necessary skills and knowledge to determine the social, ethical and environmental impacts of entrepreneurship (Bampton and Maclagan, 2005), moreover, integrate ethical and social responsibility aspects in curriculum design (Nelson et al., 2012; Stonkutė et al., 2018; Rodríguez-Gómez et al., 2020).

Modern psychological science has accumulated considerable theoretical and practical material on various aspects of personal responsibility, in general (Bezrukova, 2015; Kosulya, 2010; Nazarenko, 2016; Papakitsya, 2014).

The study is *aimed* at theoretical and empirical research of psychological features of responsibility of future specialists of socionomic professions as an indicator of their digital competence.

3 THEORETICAL SUBSTANTIATION OF RESPONSIBILITY AS AN INDICATOR OF DIGITAL COMPETENCE OF FUTURE SPECIALISTS OF SOCIONOMIC PROFESSIONS

The ratio of freedom and responsibility, the ratio of social and personal responsibility, understanding of responsibility as a moral category, action and an important component of education are being significant in the study of responsibility in the context of digital competence of future specialists of socionomic professions (Kartashova et al., 2018).

Scientists interpret the concept of responsibility in different ways, namely: the presence of freedom because only free beings can recognize a sense of responsibility (Agazzi, 2009); the possibility of fulfilling an obligation or a duty; quality, which is an indicator of reliability and trust; an element of government, responsibility for something, certain obligations to others (Dic, 2022); "The ability of the individual to understand the compliance of the results of his/her actions with the goals set, recognised in a society or the collective by the norms, as a result of which there is a feeling of complicity in a common cause, and in case of non-compliance, a feeling of unfulfilled duty; the individual's readiness to admit that he or she himself/herself is the cause of the consequences of his/her behaviour and activities" (Prykhodko and Yurchenko, 2020, p. 34), etc.

Henceforward, on the one hand, responsibility is inconceivable without freedom, but on the other hand, freedom without responsibility becomes arbitrariness. Behind the solution of this dilemma is the freedom of choice, in general, for everyone in society. Thus, a person always has a choice, however, only a person should be responsible for this choice (Kosulya, 2010; Prykhodko and Yurchenko, 2020). Therefore, a person has the right to make decisions and act in accordance with his/her opinion, but he/she must also be personally responsible for the results of his/her actions, and not shift the blame for the negative results of his/her decisions and actions to others. This indicates the phenomenon of "personal responsibility". In addition, in the framework of social responsibility, the latter is seen as a certain relationship between the individual and society, aimed at the benefit of society as a whole, making decisions that meet the goals and values of mankind.

Responsibility in the social context is a certain concept that integrates common human values, ethical norms of behaviour of the government agencies employees, public organisations, research institutions, different levels of business structures etc.

Worth noting the concept of responsibility is formed on the basis of the international standard of social responsibility ISO 26000, developed in 2003 by the Strategic Advisory Group on Social Responsibility from around the world (Lazorenko and Kolyshko, 2008). Ukraine was among these countries. This standard makes clear the relationship between the principles of social responsibility and organisational governance structures.

A significant contribution to the study of aspects of social responsibility in the educational sphere in Ukraine also was made by Vinoslavskaya (Vinoslavskaya, 2002). Responsibility from the standpoint of action or not action, but conscious, is considered through a personal form of behaviour - an act (Bondarchuk et al., 2022a; Zinchenko and Meshcheryakova, 2003). Investigating the act, Rubinshtein (Rubinshtein, 2002) considered it as a special kind of action. The content of the act determines the moral behaviour of the individual, his/her value attitude not only to the results of his/her work but also to the information itself; has the following properties: axiological, responsibility, eventfulness (Bakhtin, 1986). Romenets created in modern Ukrainian psychological science the so-called action paradigm, according to which "an action becomes ... not only a subject but also a methodical basis for the study of the psyche" (Tatenko et al., 1999, p. 181). An act is a "way of personal existence in the world" (Romanets, 2006, p. 13).

The concept of action allows the assessment of actions performed by the subject in information retrieval activities, which requires the adoption of certain criteria according to which this assessment can be carried out and determine the degree of responsibility of future socionomic specialists in the implementation of information retrieval activities. In particular, such a criterion may be the result of the performed action (aftereffect), its impact on the well-being of the environment. This requires the definition of some motivation as a motive and the identification of the degree of its morality. After all, a moral act is a holistic act and is manifested in the unity of motive, action and result (Rogozha, 2010).

Considering the above, it is worth noting that decision-making in action always testifies to freedom of choice, and this choice lies in the moral and ethical plane of the personality of a specialist of socionomic professions, forming a responsible attitude to information as a value based on predicting possible consequences for the use of this information and, however, be prepared to be held accountable for these consequences.

With regard to digital competence, the concept of "competence" should be understood in the sense proposed by European educational experts. Digital competence is "a set of knowledge, skills, values and attitudes, as well as strategies needed to use information and communication technologies and digital media for effective, critical, creative, independent and ethically-oriented learning" (Ferrari et al., 2012). Digital competence involves the confidence and, at the same time, critical application of digital technologies for the creation, retrieval, processing, exchanging of information at work, in public space and in private communication respectively. At the same time, information and media literacy, basics of programming, algorithmic thinking, working with databases, acquiring Internet and cybersecurity skills, understanding the ethics of working with information (copyright, intellectual property, etc.) are essential too (Zaporozhtseva, 2019).

Thus, digital competence implies the continuous ability of future specialists of socionomic professions to master competencies (knowledge, skills, motivation, and responsibility), confidently, critically and safely choose and apply various information and communication technologies in professional activities. The activity and attitude to it should be based on a sense of responsibility, understanding of the rights and rules of behaviour and activity in the digital world (Soldatova et al., 2013). At the same time, responsibility is correlated with the problem of the safety of modern technologies in the information world.

4 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

In order to study the characteristics of the responsibility of future specialists of socionomic professions, their attitude to information as a value and willingness to be responsible for its use alongside the impact on the formation of digital competence, we conducted an empirical study. Accordingly, we used the methods of Papakitsa (Papakitsa, 2013) "Responsibility for the use of information" and the authors modified questionnaire "Information" (Law, 1992), aimed at determining the level of awareness of future specialists of socionomic professions, content and properties of information, responsibility for its dissemination, and adapted methodology "Index of digital competence" (Soldatova et al., 2013) - digital competence, blocks "Knowledge" and "Skills", which determine the cognitive and operational components of digital competence of the individual.

The observational stage of the study (2019-2020) was attended by 748 students – future specialists in socionomic professions of the 1st, 3rd and 5th courses. At the formative stage (2021) – 60 people, 29 of them formed an experimental group (divided into 2 subgroups of 14 people each for the convenience of training, providing and receiving feedback from all participants within the appropriate time frame) and 31 – control. The research was carried out based on the University of Education Management and the Yuriy Fedkovych National University of Chernivtsi. Respondents were distributed according to gender: 40.1% – men, 59.9% – women. Statistical processing of the obtained data was carried out using the computer program SPSS (version 23.0).

5 ANALYSIS OF THE RESULTS OF EMPIRICAL RESEARCH

At the first stage of the empirical research, based on the results of the analysis of the data of the "Information" questionnaire, an insufficient level of awareness by future specialists of socionomic professions of the content and properties of information, responsibility for its dissemination, and the like was found.

At the ascertaining stage of the empirical study based on the results of the analysis of the data of the questionnaire "Information" revealed an insufficient level of awareness of future specialists of socionomic professions content and properties of information, responsibility for its dissemination and more.

Thus, regarding the first question "Information is...", only 22.2% of respondents answered in the affirmative and agreed with the proposed interpretation of the concept of "information". In particular, there were such answers as the following: facts understandable to a person; information about the world around us that is understandable to humans; information that carries a semantic load; a set of symbols or drawings that are accessible to human perception; information presented in any form and understandable to a person, etc. At the same time, 77.8% of respondents gave answers that may be grouped into two groups. The first group (59.6%) consisted of such answers as, for example, the following: information - this is what you can receive something new, data, knowledge, skills, everything new that surrounds us, the properties of the world. As you can see from the above example, respondents take information for data or readymade knowledge. The second group (24.4%) – such answers as the like: method of development, means, source of development, method of governing society, means of achieving the goal, and so forth. The answers obtained indicate that this group of respondents considers information as a tool of achieving goals. Besides, there were 2.8% respondents who found it difficult to answer the first question.

Regarding the second question "The main sources of information for me are ...", the answers of the respondents according to the semantic units of content analysis have the following distribution: Internet – 91.4%, books – 64.0%, subject expert – 38.9%, mass media – 47.5%. At the same time, 8.2% of respondents gave such answers as, for example, the world around them, data, personal life conclusions, practice. This suggests that respondents understood the questions but were unable to classify their answers. Furthermore, 0.5% of respondents found it difficult to answer in general.

Moreover, 6.8% of respondents understood the essence of the third question "Digital competence is…", giving complete, detailed answers such as the following: the degree of readiness to work in a digital environment, the ability to perceive and process information for their needs using digital tools, possession of digital technologies and their use for successful activity in the modern world, etc. At the same time, other respondents gave incomplete, fragmentary answers, primarily related to the level of knowledge of digital technologies ("know how to act on the Internet, social networks"), mastering modern innovations in the digital world (43.8%) or skills use the Internet, the ability to find certain information, etc. (42.1%).

Besides, 7.3% of respondents found it difficult to answer the third question.

The answers to the fourth question "Information has the following properties ..." according to the semantic units of content analysis have the following distribution: adequacy -4.4%, relevance -8.2%, reliability -6.4%, accessibility -6.7%, objectivity -3.8% and completeness of information -2.5%. Furthermore, 11.1% of respondents found it difficult to answer.

Nevertheless, the respondents answered not only according to the semantic units of content analysis but also to several additional answers. We grouped these additional answers into two groups. The first group (64.1%) includes such answers as, for example: cognitive, developmental, usefulness, harmfulness, variability, instability, influence. The second group (35.9%) includes the following answers, e.g.: by content, by volume, by place, by quality, technical and professional. Although these examples of properties cannot be attributed to the group of semantic units that are compiled for this study based on accepted properties of information in the scientific and educational literature, they reflect different aspects of the category of property as a whole in the philosophical plane, and the accepted answer within the framework of this study does not fully express the meaning determined by the semantic units of content analysis.

Only 22.5% of respondents gave the correct answers to the fifth question "Digital technologies are ...". These are, for instance, the following: information processing technology, where the tool is a computer and various digital tools; technologies that allow receiving, processing, transmitting and storing information using a computer; computer technologies that allow the user to effectively search and further process information. At the same time, 76.5% of respondents gave incorrect answers, which can be grouped into two groups. The first group (38.7%) includes the following answers, for instance, as the like: computer, Internet, technical base, technology that creates information, digital technology. As can be seen from the given example, it can be assumed that this group of respondents believes that information and computer technologies are generally a technique, or a separate device or a network itself, while not indicating which particular technique and the subject of processing, without focusing on key words - technology, information - and work will be carried out based on some technical device (computer). From the dictionary of philosophy of science and technology (Gub, 2003), the term technology – is a set of various devices, mechanisms and devices that do not exist in nature and are made by human to meet socio-cultural

needs. Thus, the answers of the respondents indicate either a misunderstanding of the term "technology" or a misunderstanding that technology can be tools that do not belong to the so-called new information technologies.

The second group (29.8% of the respondents) includes the following answers, for instance, as the like: type of activity aimed at developing technical means; a set of knowledge that is used to create and use computer technology; the ability to correctly find and use information in their activities. As can be seen from the given examples of answers, the respondents believe that information and computer technologies are a certain amount of knowledge or the abilities and skills of a person to perform any actions. Besides, 9.7% of the respondents found it difficult to answer.

Exclusively 11.3% were able to justify their choice a search engine, answering on the sixth question "I used a search engine to find information. I argue my choice by the fact that ...", e.g.: a user-friendly interface, no advertising, and the ability to search on English-language sites, access speed, and ease of search. Worth noting, the name of the search engines corresponded to the given arguments of the respondents, like the following: the Google search engine is the speed of indexing pages, the absence of advertising.

Moreover, 88.7% of respondents could not argue their choice and answered very superficially, for instance: the most popular, convenient, well-known, familiar, used by my friends, and the like. Besides, 0.5% of the respondents found it difficult to answer.

Thus, the analysis of the given as examples answers showed that there is a certain dissonance between the high level of development of digital technology in general and the low level of knowledge of the content of the information concept, the patterns of its existence, understanding of the variability of information sources, including methods of searching for information in the network, using search engines and the responsible attitude to its distribution.

The latter conclusion was confirmed by the analysis of the data of the "Responsibility" questionnaire, aimed at studying the attitude to information as a value and the willingness to bear responsibility for the consequences of its use.

The results obtained indicate that only 17.0% of the respondents have a high level of responsibility in the context of receiving and disseminating information (table 1). Other respondents do not fully (56.7%) or do not understand at all (27.3%) that the possession of information is already valuable. This indicates that information that satisfies the need for personal development, learning new things to prepare for a future

profession, and is not of value for the respondents. They also do not realise the possible negative consequences of using the information in their activities and, as a result, do not fully realise their responsibility for the consequences of using this information, in general. In addition, these respondents often underestimate the negative consequences of spreading unnecessary information about themselves, which can negatively affect their psychological and even, sometimes, physical safety.

Table 1: Distribution of researched future specialists of socionomic professions by levels of responsibility.

Levels of	Development indicators	
responsibility	(number of respondents, in%)	
Low	27.3	
Average	56.7	
High	17.0	

At the same time, according to the criterion χ^2 , the peculiarities of the responsibility of *future specialists of socionomic professions of different genders* are stated (table 2).

Table 2: Features of responsibility of future specialists of socionomic professions depending on gender.

Gender of the	Levels of responsibility (number of respondents,		
respondents	in%)		
	Low	Average	High
Female	19.9	56.9	25.2
Male	34.7	56.5	8.8

As follows from table 1, a high level of responsibility was found in 25.2%, future female specialists against 8.8% of future male socionomic professions, while a low level of competence was found in 34.7% of male, and among female – only in 19.9% (p < 0.05). Thus, the future specialists of socionomic professions of the female gender have a slightly higher rate of development of digital competence than males.

Differences in the development of responsibility of the respondents depending on gender are consistent with the position of the gender approach, which states that women strive for social activity, are more responsible for their actions, seek to control their behaviour in accordance with social expectations (Burn, 1995).

The obtained data also correlate with those obtained by Pryadein (Pryadein, 2001). He highlights that "in the implementation of responsible cases in female students to a greater extent than in male students, the desire to adhere to ethical norms prevails. More often than students, they prioritize the public over the personal". Thus, when analysing the benefits of meaningful signs of responsibility by young people, the scientist received the following data according to the following components: "The desire to comply with ethical standards" (female students – 78%, male students – 68%), "Guidance of duty" (female students – 69%, male students – 62%), "Priority of publicity over personal" (female students – 62%, male students – 51%) (Pryadein, 2001, p. 171).

Thus, according to the results of empirical research, responsibility needs special development for a significant number of future specialists in socionomic professions.

On the other hand, in accordance with the purpose of our study, the levels of development of cognitive and operational components of digital competence were established by the relevant blocks "Knowledge" and "Skills" of the methodology "Index of Digital Competence" – authors –(Soldatova et al., 2013).

Hence, 9.3% of respondents have a high level of development of the cognitive component of digital competence, are able to use the Internet for education, install their own software update settings on the device used to work on the Internet. At the same time, 30.5% of the respondents are characterised by an average and 60.2% – a low level of development of the cognitive component of information readiness. The results showed that the respondents are not awareness enough about the various mobile applications and the possibilities of its usage; the Internet is used only to maintain relationships with friends, make purchases, payments and more (table 3).

Table 3: Distribution of researched future specialists of socionomic professions by levels of development of cognitive component of digital competence.

Levels of development of the cognitive component digital competence	Number of respondents, in%
Low	60.2
Average	30.5
High	9.3

Examining the operational component of digital competence of future specialists of socionomic professions, difficulties in understanding the content and analysis of the semantic structure of the text, in constructing questions about missing information, finding a piece of information from another text. Thus, only 9.8% of respondents are able to use special search engine settings (operators) to find specific information; make payments using electronic payment systems and Internet banking, use cloud technologies to store and work with own content (for example, Google Docs, Etherpad, Microsoft Office Live), check the reliability of software sources, etc. 52.6% of respondents are able to browse the network in order to search people with whom they would like to communicate, find inaccurate information, mark ("Check") in those places where they have been (e.g., in a social network or through special services), etc. Moreover, 37.6% of respondents can only post their photos, posts, statuses on social networks and special services (Twitter, Tumbrl, Instagram), find the most profitable offers of goods and services on the Internet, interact with members of various Internet communities (via Twitter, forum, wiki, etc.), create and post videos on a special service (e.g. YouTube), etc.

Regarding the second question of the questionnaire "Give your name to the text", 52.7% of respondents formulated the title of the text according to its content and gave the following answers: information inequality in the world, opportunities for social networks to study and work, setting up antivirus programs, cookies files, to protect personal information. There was not found the respondents who would hesitate to answer. However, 47.3% of respondents could not create and post videos on a special service (e.g., YouTube), create multiple user accounts for a particular computer, change their passwords, settings for accessing their information on social networks for different user groups etc.

47.3% of respondents coped with the task and in accordance with the content of the text formulated queries on the third question "Please formulate a query for the search engine for the missing, in your opinion, information in the text", for example the following: methods of combating information inequality, with information crime in Ukraine, information terrorism in the world, problems of access to information in Ukraine, digital gap and measures to eliminate it. From the given answers to this question of the questionnaire it should be noted that future specialists of socionomic professions are interested only in the question concerning information processes in the world, and Ukraine respectively. 11.6% of the respondents hesitated with the answer. At the same time, 41.1% of respondents formulated queries that do not relate to the content of the text. Accordingly, it can be assumed that the respondents either did not understand the instructions or did not understand the content of the proposed text, for instance: earnings on the Internet, globalization (not understanding the term - author's note) in Ukraine, whether these problems can be solved (what problems – author's note) and in what ways.

To the fourth question "Did you notice information that is not related to the topic of the text? If so, indicate the number of the sentence or paragraph", only 26.1% of respondents were able to find and indicate this fragment, 8.2% found it difficult to answer. At the same time, 65.7% of respondents could not find and accordingly indicated that they did not have such information, or pointed to an incorrect fragment of the text.

According to the generalization of the obtained results, the levels of development of the operational component of digital competence are determined (table 4).

Table 4: Distribution of researched future specialists of socionomic professions by levels of development of operational component of digital competence.

Levels of operating room development component of digital competence	Number of respondents, in%	
Low	37.6	
Average	52.6	
High	9.8	

As it follows from the data given in table 4, a small number of respondents have (9.8%) a high level of development of the operational component of digital competence

Hence, 52.6% and 37.6% of the respondents characterise, respectively, the average and low levels of development of the operational component of digital competence of future specialists in socionomic professions.

Thus, we can conclude that future specialists of socionomic professions are insufficiently prepared to develop "normal" information literacy and skills of semantic analysis of information as the basis of their digital competence in professional activities and responsibility for its use and dissemination, which in our opinion may be explained by gaps in the modern education system.

6 RESPONSIBILITY DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM AS A COMPONENT OF DIGITAL COMPETENCE OF FUTURE SPECIALISTS OF SOCIONOMIC PROFESSIONS AND RESULTS OF ITS APPROBATION

In our opinion, the development of digital competence and responsibility for the use of information dissemination in professional activities may be facilitated by the creation of an educational environment taking into account this need in the modern education system, alongside the organization of specially organized training. The patterns and mechanisms of development of information competence and responsibility should be taken into account, defining the principles, content, methods and forms, as well as the expected result. In addition, the development of information competence requires the creation of special psychological conditions as a mechanism that takes into account and implements favourable psychological factors (figure 1).

Favourable psychological conditions for the development of responsibility and digital competence of future specialists in socionomic professions include:

- organization of special socio-psychological training with emotional comfort and creative freedom, which will expand awareness of the essence of the responsibility and digital competence, ways of their development and role in future professional activities;
- orientation of future specialists on the value attitude to digital competence and its development, alongside the responsibility for its use and dissemination;
- formation of beliefs about one's value, ability to use information resources responsibly;
- the desire for personal self-development, self-regulation of emotional state, reflexive and prognostic abilities;
- formation of motivation for search activities, focus on success in educational and professional activities;
- development of the ability to be reflective on the way to achieving information competence, understanding the possibilities and conditions of its development in today's challenging conditions;
- development of abilities to use information resources in educational and professional activities, be successful and independent in solving complex professional problems in the future professional activity area, purposeful and able to responsibly manage the information environment;
- the need for constant personal and professional growth, expanding the information, business and psychological field, enabling the emergence and development of complex subjective relationships, exchange of experience, knowledge, skills and abilities based on moral values of society and personality of the future specialist, according to his focus on self-realization (Onoprienko-Kapustina, 2021, p. 124);

• introduction of innovative forms and methods in the process of professional training of future specialists, modelling future professional activities in higher education, quality and effective cooperation with practice bases to reach the top of professional maturity as the main condition for selfrealization, as an opportunity to realize their social potential (Sotska, 2017, p. 388).

The creation of such conditions in higher education institutions is carried out by implementing the process of training a psychological program for the development of responsibility and digital competence of future specialists in socionomic professions, built on the following basic principles:

- "taking into account the needs of the individual in self-organization, self-determination and selfdevelopment; recognition of the priority of individuality and self-worth of the individual" (Zeer, 2005, p. 269);
- reflexivity (self-analysis of their behaviour and activities, as well as the behaviour of other participants in the program, providing mandatory feedback during the completion of all stages of training and practical classes);
- purposefulness (observance of the purpose, awareness and perception by future specialists of the development of their information competence in the process of professional training);
- adherence to uniform ethical principles in the use of information resources (Dustin, 2007) because every person has the right to freedom, happiness, development and expression of all abilities, and good is a criterion for assessing social phenomena, equality, justice, humanity as a desirable norm in society;
- efficiency, predictability and control (Lyons and Lovelock, 2004, p. 37-54);
- creativity and creative position (openness to new experiences, generating innovative ideas, modelling, designing ways to develop information competence, responsibly using the features of interpersonal interaction, which approves and supports any initiative, expression of any position (Balakhtar et al., 2022), experimenting with personal resources, finding non-standard solutions;
- the principle of partnership (creating an atmosphere of security, trust, openness, which allows future professionals to experiment with their behaviour without being ashamed of mistakes);
- activity and autonomy (aimed at achieving success in educational and professional activities, self-realization, developing



Figure 1: The program of development of responsibility as an indicator of digital competence of future specialists of socionomic professions.

the ability to autonomy by performing specially designed exercises, playing situations that allow all members of the group to actively participate in them);

- the principle of uncertainty (set in the instructions, where in most cases there are no clear rules for the task, future professionals are free to find solutions);
- the principle of spontaneity (spontaneity makes it possible to change the usual behavioural stereo-types with further activation of the individual creative potential).

Among the forms and methods of development of responsibility and digital competence of future specialists of socionomic professions, it is worth noting: express survey using the Mentimeter program, brainstorming (expert evaluation based on the results of project defence); individual and group exercises; modelling; practicum; training, creative tasks; questionnaires; method of active learning "Alphabet", organizational and activity game, situation analysis, reflection etc.

Forms of development of responsibility and digital competence of future specialists of socionomic professions: individual (questionnaires, creative tasks, design etc.) and group (interactive mini-lectures, discussions, modelling, discussions, games, analysis of professional situations etc.) as in general halls on the ZOOM platform and in session halls, as well as work on the online board (Google Jamboard, Padlet etc.).

Methods and forms of work were selected in such a way as to ensure the development of responsibility and digital competence of future specialists in socionomic professions based on their individual qualities and abilities. They will develop mental strategies, search activities and motivation to carry out information retrieval activities as close as possible to the professional, alongside providing an opportunity to develop practical knowledge, skills and abilities to work with information in conditions of uncertainty.

This approach, in our opinion, will help ensure the development of digital competence of future socionomic professionals and responsibility for the use and dissemination of information in professional activities due to the implementation of certain psychological conditions, principles, forms and methods and prove its effectiveness by predetermined criteria. The specifics of this work combined theoretical and practical-reflective components that allowed gaining new knowledge, master new tools and the experience their use in future practice. In particular, informing future specialists about the work procedures was carried out at the ZOOM conference, alongside – being acquainted with the instructions for the use of digital services and ways to connect them.

The study of participants' expectations was carried out using an online board (Google Jamboard, Dashboard etc.), followed by a group discussion in ZOOM). Participants answer the following questions: "Why do I strive to develop information competence?"; "What is the importance for me of information for professional activities and personal life, in general, and the possibility of negative consequences during the process of finding and using information?"

Defining the rules of group work "Brainstorming" (group form of developing rules for the process of finding information as an opportunity to achieve a certain level of professional and personal development). Multimedia presentation: "What will our training be like? (definition of the purpose and tasks of training)".

Team building (5-7 people): grouping; announcement of tasks for presentation; immersing participants in the problem (micro discussion on the development of the ability to predict the consequences of the use of information, along with the willingness to take responsibility for it). Presentation of teamwork.

The theoretical aspect was an interactive lecture: "The essence of information and features of working with it: thinking and its styles, behavioural strategies, professional responsibility etc.", which allowed participants to be more active (argue on problematic issues, give interesting examples, draw conclusions etc.). For example, instructing and activating the knowledge of the group - participants were asked to express in one word "What does it mean to be responsible?" Clear instructions were provided to demonstrate the Mentimeter screen. The discussion took place after the exercise.

The practical-reflexive component included a workshop, training, the elements of which were: mini-presentations, diagnostic, analytical and psychogymnastic exercises, discussion, brainstorming (exercise "16 associations"), role play, project tasks, modelling, modelling, creative homework ("My responsibility: past, present and future", "What are the typical mistakes, problems that arise in the process of finding and using the information in professional activities?"), the method of active learning "Alphabet", organizational and activity game, situation analysis, reflection and others. The work was carried out in groups in the session halls on the ZOOM platform using an online board (Google Jamboard, Miro etc.). In particular, the diagnosis of responsibility, the search for opportunities and conditions for its development. To do this, future specialists were informed about the tasks and conditions of the activity: 1) to identify

the main contradictions and problems in the development of responsibility; 2) to analyze the possibilities of developing responsibility; 3) to determine the conditions for the development of responsibility. After the announcement of the tasks, the participants were divided into groups and the work was carried out in the session halls. The speakers of the teams presented the results of the work in the main hall (2 minutes for each team. Brainstorming in groups in session halls on the ZOOM platform using an online board (Google Jamboard, Miro etc.) involved the development of a program to empower and develop responsibilities as part of information competence.

Creative homework, such as "My responsibility: past, present and future", included an analysis of their life situations. Drawing up a summary table of factors which are conducive to the development of compliance and the following scheme: which you used in the past, use today and factors that could be used in the future.

In the process of program implementation, we paid considerable attention to future specialists' reflections on their actions, statements, actions, opinions, solving practical problems, analysis of the situations of educational and professional activities of future specialists in socionomic professions that require responsibility. After all, it is impossible to achieve success in professional activities without reflexivity as the most important regulatory component of personality, which allows him/her to consciously build his/her life. This encouraged us to use reflection, completing each exercise, action, session and training, in general.

Analysis of the results of the approbation of the program showed its effectiveness (table 5). In the experimental group, the implementation of the program of development of responsibility of future specialists was carried out following psychological conditions, principles, methods and forms of work that provided holistic and systematic work aimed at developing responsibility as part of information competence of the experimental group members.

In the control group, classes were conducted traditionally, according to the requirements of the educational-professional program and the curriculum of professional training of future specialists, with only two sections before and after the approbation of the program.

In both the experimental and control groups, sections were performed according to the same methods as at the ascertaining stage of the empirical study. Statistical processing of the results of approbation of the program "Development of responsibility as a component of digital competence of future professionals

Levels of	Groups, the number of respondents in %			
responsibility	Before the approbation (I stage)		After the app	probation (II stage)
development	Control group Experimental group		Control group	Experimental group
low	38.5	42.9	38.5	7.7*
average	53.8	53.6	50.0	65.4*
high	7.7	3.5	11.5	26.9*

Table 5: Distribution of respondents of experimental and control groups on the levels of responsibility development before and after the approbation of the program.

*– differences are statistically significant at the level p < 0.05

of socionomic professions" was carried out using the SPSS version 23.0. Criterion χ^2 was used to compare the results between the experimental and control groups and the G-criterion of signs to assess the statistical significance of differences in the results separately in the experimental and control groups.

Table5 shows that before the approbation (I stage) there were no significant differences between the experimental and control groups in the levels of responsibility development. After the approbation (second stage) in the experimental group, in contrast to the control. The expressed positive dynamics of levels of development of responsibility are fixed. Thus, the number of studied future specialists with a low level of responsibility decreased from 42.9% to 7.7%, and with a high level, on the contrary, increased from 3.5% to 26.9%.

It is equally important that positive trends in the development of the cognitive component of digital competence were identified. In particular, the positive, statistically significant dynamics of the levels of the cognitive component of digital competence of the participants of the experimental group after the approbation were noted (table 6).

Table 6 dwells on the statistically significant differences in the levels of the cognitive component between the results of the first and second stages in the experimental group participants.

In particular, it is an increase in the number of respondents with a high level of development of this component from 17.8% to 50.0%, and a decrease with a low level from 28.6% to 3.6% (p < 0.05). Instead, in the control group according to the results of the first and second sections, small differences were found, which, in general, do not affect the levels of the cognitive component of the digital competence of the experimental group participants. Thus, the number of studied future specialists with a low level of selfefficacy decreased from 23.1% to 19.20%, and with a high level, on the contrary, increased from 19.2% to 26.9%. At the same time, the identified differences are not statically significant.

Such a positive dynamics of the levels of the cog-

nitive component was due to the growth of awareness of the essence of the component of digital competence, knowledge of late mobile applications and the possibilities of their use in socionomic professions, increasing opportunities to use the Internet.

There was also an increase in the number of participants in the experimental group with a high level of the operational component of digital competence (table 7).

Table 7 shows among the participants of the experimental group between the results of the first and second sections recorded statistically significant differences in the levels of the operational component of digital competence: a reduction of low from 50.0% to 15.4%, while an increasing high development from 7.7% to 23.1% (p <0.05).

In the control group, the results of the first and second sections showed minor differences: the number of low-level specialists decreased from 48.0% to 40.0% (although the differences are not statically significant) and generally do not affect the levels of operational competence of digital competence.

Thus, the comparative analysis of the results of approbation of the program allowed making conclusions about positive changes in the growth of information literacy and skills of semantic analysis of information as the basis of their digital competence in professional activities and responsibility for its use and dissemination.

7 CONCLUSIONS

Responsibility is an important indicator of the digital competence of future specialists in socionomic professions, which determines their conscious and responsible activities in the context of obtaining and disseminating information in the digital space, contributes to their own psychological safety and psychological safety of other members of digital community.

The results of the empirical study revealed an insufficient level of both responsibility and cognitiveoperational components of digital competence for a

1		e		
Levels of the	Groups, the number of respondents in			n %
cognitive component	Before the approbation (I stage)		After the app	probation (II stage)
of digital competence	Control group	Experimental group	Control group	Experimental group
low	23.1	28.6	19.2	3.6*
awerage	57.7	53.6	53.8	46.4*
high	19.2	17.8	26.9	50.0*

Table 6: Distribution of respondents of experimental and control groups by levels of the cognitive component of digital competence before and after the approbation of the program.

*- differences are	statistically	significant at	the level $p < 0.05$
--------------------	---------------	----------------	----------------------

Table 7: Distribution of experimental and control groups by levels of operational component of digital competence before and after the approbation of the program.

Levels of the	Groups, the number of respondents in %			
operational component	Before the approbation (I stage)		After the approbation (II stage)	
of digital competence	Control group	Experimental group	Control group	Experimental group
low	48.0	50.0	40.0	15.4*
awerage	48.0	42.3	56.0	61.5*
high	4.0	7.7	4.0	23.1*

*– differences are statistically significant at the level p < 0.05

significant number of future specialists in socionomic professions.

Furthermore, statistically significant differences in the manifestations of responsibility of future specialists depending on gender were found: female respondents were slightly more responsible for the consequences of information dissemination than male (p < 0.05). Such differences appear to be gender in nature, as women live in a more controlled and rigidly structured world than men. Therefore, women are more focused on complying with regulations on their activities, in this case, educational and professional.

There were no statistically significant differences in both responsibility and digital competence, depending on the profession of the representative of the socionomic profession.

Men are more likely to be characterised with concepts of independence and initiative, and reinforced with the norms of "anti-emotionality" (Burn, 1995) which determines their greater autonomy and selfcontrol.

The expediency of promoting the development of responsibility of future specialists of socionomic professions as a component of their digital competence, which can be provided in specially organized psychological training, is stated.

The program of responsibility development as an indicator of digital competence of future specialists of socionomic professions, which includes psychological conditions (organization of special sociopsychological training; values of IC and its development; formation of beliefs about self-worth, responsible use of information resources; desire for selfdevelopment, reflective and prognostic abilities; gaining motivation for search activities, etc.), principles (taking into account the needs of the individual; reflexivity; purposefulness; adherence to uniform ethical principles in the use of information resources; efficiency, predictability and control; creativity and creative position; principle of partnership; principle uncertainties, etc.), methods (express survey using the Mentimeter program, brainstorming (expert evaluation of project defence results); modelling; workshop; training, creative tasks; questionnaires; method active learning "Alphabet", organizational and activity game, situation analysis, reflection, etc.) and forms (individual forms (questionnaires, creative tasks, design, etc.) and group (interactive mini-lectures, discussions, modelling, workshops, trainings, discussions, game, analysis of professional situations, etc.) work.

The results of approbation of the program testify to its effectiveness: after the conduction of the formative experiment, the participants of the experimental group, in contrast to the control, recorded statistically significant positive dynamics of responsibility as an indicator of digital competence. Accordingly, it is possible to use the responsibility development program as an indicator of digital competence in the process of their professional training and refresher courses.

The study does not cover all aspects of the relationship between responsibility and digital competence of future specialists in socionomic professions and the peculiarities of their development. In our opinion, an in-depth study of the factors of development of specialists' responsibility, as well as study of the psychological readiness of teachers of higher education institutions to responsibility and digital competence of future specialists of socionomic professions in the process of training in the mental network, work in virtual environment and practical psychologists education – to the psychological support of such training.

REFERENCES

- (1992). Law of Ukraine "On Information".
- (2003). Philosophical encyclopedic dictionary. INFRA-M.
 (2016). Project "Digital Agenda of Ukraine" 2020. Conceptual Background (version 1.0). https://ucci.org.ua/
- uploads/files/58e78ee3c3922.pdf. (2021). Description of the framework of digital competence
- for citizens of Ukraine. DigCompUA for Citizens 2.1. https://tinyurl.com/yc5e7pzp.
- (2022). Responsibility.
- Agazzi, E. (2009). Why has science also moral dimensions? *Questions of philosophy*, (10):93–104. http://vphil.ru/ index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=73.
- Aguilera, R. V., Rupp, D. E., Williams, C. A., and Ganapathi, J. (2007). Putting the S back in corporate social responsibility: A multilevel theory of social change in organizations. *Academy of Management Review*, 32(3):836–863. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr. 2007.25275678.
- Aguinis, H. and Glavas, A. (2012). What We Know and Don't Know About Corporate Social Responsibility: A Review and Research Agenda. *Journal* of Management, 38(4):932–968. https://doi.org/10. 1177/0149206311436079.
- Bakhtin, M. M. (1986). To the philosophy of action. In Philosophy and sociology of science and technology. Yearbook 1984-1985, pages 80–160.
- Balakhtar, K. S., Bondarchuk, O. I., and Ostapov, S. E. (2022). Creativity of Foreign Languages Teachers in Ukrainian Higher Education Institutions: Empirical Data. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium* on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 1: AET, pages 81–96. SciTePress. https://doi.org/10. 5220/0010920500003364.
- Balakhtar, V. V. (2018). Influence of information and communication technologies for forming professional personal competence of social work specialist. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 66(4):93–104. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v66i4.2066.
- Balyk, N., Vasylenko, Y., Shmyger, G., Oleksiuk, V., and Skaskiv, A. (2019). Design of Approaches to the Development of Teacher's Digital Competencies in the Process of Their Lifelong Learning. In Ermolayev, V., Mallet, F., Yakovyna, V., Kharchenko, V. S., Kobets, V., Kornilowicz, A., Kravtsov, H., Nikitchenko, M. S., Semerikov, S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors,

Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kherson, Ukraine, June 12-15, 2019, volume 2393 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 204–219. CEUR-WS.org. http: //ceur-ws.org/Vol-2393/paper_237.pdf.

- Bampton, R. and Maclagan, P. (2005). Why teach ethics to accounting students? A response to the sceptics. *Business Ethics: A European Review*, 14(3):290–300. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8608.2005.00410.x.
- Bawden, D. (2008). Origins and Concepts of Digital Literacy. In Lankshear, C. and Knobel, M., editors, *Digital Literacies: Concepts, Policies and Practices*, number 2008, pages 17–32. Peter Lang Publishing. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/291334632.
- Bezrukova, O. A. (2015). Social responsibility in modern Ukrainian society: sociological conceptualization and experience of empirical research. Classic private university, Zaporizhyia.
- Bezverbnyi, I. A. and Shyshkina, M. P. (2022). The Use of Serverless Technologies to Support Data Processing within the Open Learning and Research Systems. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 2: AET, pages 489–494. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10. 5220/0010933200003364.
- Bondarchuk, O., Balakhtar, V., Gorova, O., Lytvynenko, N., Pinchuk, N., Shmanko, O., Kiv, A., and Oleksiuk, V. (2022a). Features of responsibility of future specialists of the socionomic professions as an indicator of their digital competence. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(1):35–55. https://doi.org/10.55056/ etq.12.
- Bondarchuk, O. I., Balakhtar, V. V., Ushenko, Y. O., Gorova, O. O., Osovska, I. M., Pinchuk, N. I., Yakubovska, N. O., Balakhtar, K. S., and Moskalov, M. V. (2022b). The Psychological Safety of the Educational Environment of Ukrainian Higher Education Institutions in a Pandemic: Empirical Data of a Comparative Analysis of Participants' Assessments Studying Online. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology* - Volume 1: AET, pages 14–31. SciTePress. https: //doi.org/10.5220/0010920100003364.
- Burn, S. M. (1995). The Social Psychology of Gender. McGraw-Hill Humanities/Social Sciences/Languages.
- Burov, O., Bykov, V., and Lytvynova, S. (2020). ICT Evolution: from Single Computational Tasks to Modeling of Life. In Sokolov, O., Zholtkevych, G., Yakovyna, V., Tarasich, Y., Kharchenko, V., Kobets, V., Burov, O., Semerikov, S., and Kravtsov, H., editors, *Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kharkiv, Ukraine, October 06-10, 2020*, volume 2732 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings,

pages 583–590. CEUR-WS.org. http://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-2732/20200583.pdf.

- Chapman, B. (1999). Digital Literacy: By Paul Gilster. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1997. 276 p. \$22.95 (\$12.95, paper). ISBN 0-471-16520-4. Government Information Quarterly, 16(1):77–78. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0740-624X(99)80019-7.
- Coiro, J., Knobel, M., Lankshear, C., and Leu, D. J., editors (2008). *Handbook of Research on New Literacies*. Routledge.
- Dustin, D. (2007). The McDonaldization of Social Work. Routledge.
- Eshet, Y. (2004). Digital Literacy: A Conceptual Framework for Survival Skills in the Digital era. *Journal of Educational Multimedia and Hypermedia*, 13(1):93– 106. https://www.learntechlib.org/p/4793.
- Ferrari, A. (2012). Digital competence in practice: An analysis of frameworks. Technical Report JRC68116, Joint Research Centre of the European Commission, Luxembourg. https://doi.org/10.2791/82116.
- Ferrari, A., Punie, Y., and Redecker, C. (2012). Understanding Digital Competence in the 21st Century: An Analysis of Current Frameworks. In Ravenscroft, A., Lindstaedt, S., Kloos, C. D., and Hernández-Leo, D., editors, 21st Century Learning for 21st Century Skills, volume 7563 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 79–92, Berlin, Heidelberg. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-33263-0_ 7.
- Glavas, A. (2016). Corporate Social Responsibility and Organizational Psychology: An Integrative Review. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7:144. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fpsyg.2016.00144.
- Hatlevik, O. E., Gudmundsdottir, G. B., and Rohatgi, A. (2021). Digital Downsides in Teacher Education. *Nordic Journal of Comparative and International Education (NJCIE)*, 5(4):123–139. https://doi.org/10. 7577/njcie.4227.
- Hirsh-Pasek, K., Zosh, J., Hadani, H. S., Golinkoff, R. M., Clark, K., Donohue, C., and Wartella, E. (2022). A whole new world: Education meets the metaverse. Policy brief, Center for Universal Education at The Brookings Institution. https://www.brookings.edu/research/ a-whole-new-world-education-meets-the-metaverse/.
- Hlushak, O. M., Semenyaka, S. O., Proshkin, V. V., Sapozhnykov, S. V., and Lytvyn, O. S. (2020). The usage of digital technologies in the university training of future bachelors (having been based on the data of mathematical subjects). *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:210–224. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.354.
- Kartashova, L. A., Bakhmat, N. V., and Plish, I. V. (2018). Development of teacher's digital competency in terms of information and educational environment of a secondary education establishment. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 68(6):193–205. https: //doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v68i6.2543.
- Kiv, A. E., Shyshkina, M. P., Semerikov, S. O., Striuk, A. M., and Yechkalo, Y. V. (2019). Aredu 2019 - how augmented reality transforms to augmented learning.

In Kiv, A. E. and Shyshkina, M. P., editors, *Proceedings of the 2nd International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, March 22, 2019*, volume 2547 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 1–12. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2547/paper00.pdf.

- Klochko, O. V. and Fedorets, V. M. (2022). Using immersive reality technologies to increase a physical education teacher's health-preserving competency. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(4):276–306. https: //doi.org/10.55056/etq.431.
- Kosulya, I. Y. (2010). "Social responsibility": approaches to the definition and analysis of the concept. Sociospace: an interdisciplinary collection of scientific papers on sociology and social work, (1):185–188.
- Lazorenko, O. and Kolyshko, R. (2008). CSR Guidance. Basic Information on Corporate Social Responsibility. Energija, Kyiv.
- Lyons, K. and Lovelock, R. (2004). The McDonaldization of Social Work - or 'Come Back Florence Hollis, All Is (or Should Be) Forgiven'. In Lyons, K. and Lovelock, R., editors, *Reflecting on Social Work - Discipline and Profession*, pages 37–54. Routledge, London.
- Martin, A. and Grudziecki, J. (2006). DigEuLit: Concepts and Tools for Digital Literacy Development. *Inno*vation in Teaching and Learning in Information and Computer Sciences, 5(4):249–267. https://doi.org/10. 11120/ital.2006.05040249.
- Meshko, H., Meshko, O., Drobyk, N., and Mikheienko, O. (2020). Psycho-pedagogical training as a mean of forming the occupational stress resistance of future teachers. *E3S Web of Conferences*, 166:10023. https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/202016610023.
- Meshko, H. M., Habrusieva, N. V., and Kryskov, A. A. (2021). Research of professional responsibility of students of technical specialities by means of information and communication technologies. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840(1):012058. https: //doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1840/1/012058.
- Mintii, I. S., Vakaliuk, T. A., Ivanova, S. M., Chernysh, O. A., Hryshchenko, S. M., and Semerikov, S. O. (2021). Current state and prospects of distance learning development in ukraine. In Lytvynova, S. H. and Semerikov, S. O., editors, *Proceedings of the 4th International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education (AREdu 2021), Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May* 11, 2021, volume 2898 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 41–55. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws. org/Vol-2898/paper01.pdf.
- National Council for Curriculum and Assessment (2004). Curriculum, Assessment and ICT in the Irish Context: A Discussion Paper. https://ncca.ie/media/1787/curriculum_assessment_ and_ict_in_the_irish_context_a_discussion_paper.pdf.
- Nazarenko, K. S. (2016). Conceptualization of the concept of "social responsibility". Bulletin of NTUU "KPI". Politology. Sociology. Law: a collection of scientific papers, 1/2 (29/30):70–75.
- Nazarov, V. N. (2005). Applied ethics. Gardariki.

- Nelson, J. K., Poms, L. W., and Wolf, P. P. (2012). Developing Efficacy Beliefs for Ethics and Diversity Management. Academy of Management Learning & Education, 11(1):49–68. http://www.jstor.org/stable/ 23100456.
- Nosenko, Y. and Sukhikh, A. (2019). The Method for Forming the Health-Saving Component of Basic School Students' Digital Competence. In Ermolayev, V., Mallet, F., Yakovyna, V., Kharchenko, V. S., Kobets, V., Kornilowicz, A., Kravtsov, H., Nikitchenko, M. S., Semerikov, S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kherson, Ukraine, June 12-15, 2019, volume 2393 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 178–190. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-2393/paper_248.pdf.
- Oleksiuk, V. and Spirin, O. (2022). The Experience of Using Cloud Labs in Teaching Linux Operating System. In Ignatenko, O., Kharchenko, V., Kobets, V., Kravtsov, H., Tarasich, Y., Ermolayev, V., Esteban, D., Yakovyna, V., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, *ICTERI 2021 Workshops*, pages 281–291, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-031-14841-5_18.
- Onoprienko-Kapustina, N. V. (2021). Psykholohichni osoblyvosti rozvytku samoefektyvnosti maybutnikh fakhivtsiv sotsial'nykh sluzhb u protsesi profesiynoyi pidhotovky. PhD thesis, Ivan Zyazyun Institute of Pedagogical and Adult Education of the National Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine. https: //nrat.ukrintei.ua/searchdoc/0421U102031.
- Osadchyi, V., Varina, H., Prokofiev, E., Serdiuk, I., and Shevchenko, S. (2020). Use of AR/VR Technologies in the Development of Future Specialists' Stress Resistance: Experience of STEAM-Laboratory and Laboratory of Psychophysiological Research Cooperation. In Sokolov, O., Zholtkevych, G., Yakovyna, V., Tarasich, Y., Kharchenko, V., Kobets, V., Burov, O., Semerikov, S., and Kravtsov, H., editors, Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kharkiv, Ukraine, October 06-10, 2020, volume 2732 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 634–649. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-2732/20200634.pdf.
- Papakitsa, E. K. (2013). The responsibility as an indicator of information readiness of future engineers to their profession. *Bulletin of the Perm University*, (3(15)):133–136.
- Papakitsya, O. K. (2014). Psychological features of development of information readiness of future engineers for professional activity. The dissertation on competition of a scientific degree of the candidate of psychological sciences 19.00.07 - pedagogical and age psychology, NPU named after M. P. Drahomanov.
- Postek, S., Ledzińska, M., and Czarkowski, J. (2010). Psychological and pedagogical problems of distance education for adults. *Problems of Education in the*

21st Century, 22:99–108. http://oaji.net/articles/2014/ 457-1400515828.pdf.

- Pryadein, V. P. (2001). *Responsibility as a systemic quality* of personality. Publishing house of UrGPU, Ekaterinburg.
- Prykhodko, Y. O. and Yurchenko, V. I. (2020). Psykholohichnyi slovnyk-dovidnyk [Psychological dictionaryreference book]. Karavela, Kyiv, 4 edition.
- Riezina, O. V., Puzikova, A. V., and Kotyak, V. V. (2022). The experience of thesis writing in terms of the methodological students' digital competence development. *Educational Dimension*, 7:242–260. https: //doi.org/10.31812/educdim.4715.
- Rodríguez-Gómez, S., Garde-Sánchez, R., Arco-Castro, M. L., and López-Pérez, M. V. (2020). Does the use of social media tools in classrooms increase student commitment to corporate social responsibility? *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11:3690. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpsyg.2020.589250.
- Rogozha, M. M. (2010). Moralnyi postupok i moralnoe deistvie: kriterii otcenki (Moral act and moral action: evaluation criteria). *Eticheskaia mysl*, (10). https://tinyurl.com/3mu55az5.
- Romanets, V. A. (2006). The act and rise of canonical psychology. In Tatenko, V. O., editor, *Man. Subject. Act. Philosophical and psychological studies*, pages 11– 36. Lybid, Kyiv.
- Rubinshtein, S. L. (2002). Fundamentals of general psychology. Piter.
- Rupp, D. E., Shao, R., Thornton, M. A., and Skarlicki, D. P. (2013). Applicants' and Employees' Reactions to Corporate Social Responsibility: The Moderating Effects of First-Party Justice Perceptions and Moral Identity. *Personnel Psychology*, 66(4):895–933. https: //doi.org/10.1111/peps.12030.
- Semerikov, S. O., Teplytskyi, I. O., Soloviev, V. N., Hamaniuk, V. A., Ponomareva, N. S., Kolgatin, O. H., Kolgatina, L. S., Byelyavtseva, T. V., Amelina, S. M., and Tarasenko, R. O. (2021). Methodic quest: Reinventing the system. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840(1):012036. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/ 1840/1/012036.
- Shokaliuk, S. V., Bohunenko, Y. Y., Lovianova, I. V., and Shyshkina, M. P. (2020). Technologies of distance learning for programming basics on the principles of integrated development of key competences. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:548–562. https://doi.org/10. 55056/cte.412.
- Soldatova, G. U., Nestik, T. A., Rasskazova, E. I., and Zotova, E. Y. (2013). Tcifrovaia kompetentnost podrostkov i roditelei. Rezultaty vserossiiskogo issledovaniia (Digital competence of teenagers and parents. Results of the all-Russian study). Internet Development Foundation. https://ifap.ru/library/book536. pdf.
- Sotska, H. (2017). Akmeolohichnyi pidkhid u pedahohichnii osviti Ukrainy [Acmeological approach to teacher education in Ukraine]. Edukacja dla przyszłości w świetle wyzwań XXI wieku, 1:387–396. https://lib.iitta. gov.ua/709238/.

- Spirin, O. M. and Vakaliuk, T. A. (2019). Formation of information and communication competence of bachelors of informatics on the use of cloud-oriented learning environment. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 72(4):226–245. https://doi.org/10. 33407/itlt.v72i4.3262.
- Stonkutė, E., Vveinhardt, J., and Sroka, W. (2018). Training the csr sensitive mind-set: The integration of csr into the training of business administration professionals. *Sustainability*, 10(3):754.
- Tatenko, V. O., Kirichuk, O. V., and Roments, A. V. (1999). Action as a principle of constructing the theory and history of psychology. In *Fundamentals of psychology*, pages 169–193. Lybid, Kyiv, 4 edition.
- Vakulich, T. M. (2006). Psychological factors of prevention of Internet addiction of teenagers. Dissertation ... psychol. science: 19.00.07, TsIPPO APN of Ukraine, Kyiv.
- Vinoslavskaya, O. V. (2002). In Collection of scientific works of teachers and graduate students of the Faculty of Management and Marketing, pages 345–371. IPC Polytechnic Publishing House, Kyiv.
- Vinoslavskaya, O. V. (2005). Technology of formation of professional ethics of managers. In Karamushka, L. M., editor, *Technologies of work of organizational psychologists*, pages 170–191. INCOS, Kyiv.
- Voitovych, O. P., Horbatiuk, R. M., Voitovych, I. S., Shyshkina, M. P., and Shostakivska, N. M. (2022). Formation of Information Culture of Vocational Education Specialists. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 2: AET*, pages 480–488. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/0010933100003364.
- Yeung, K. (2019). A study of the implications of advanced digital technologies (including AI systems) for the concept of responsibility within a human rights framework. Technical Report DGI(2019)05. https: //tinyurl.com/2xhayuhc.
- Yevstratiev, S. (2020). Digital competences of junior bachelors in agronomy. *Educological discourse*, (3):185–205. https://doi.org/10.28925/2312-5829. 2020.3.11.
- Yevtuch, M. B., Fedorets, V. M., Klochko, O. V., Shyshkina, M. P., and Dobryden, A. V. (2021). Development of the health-preserving competence of a physical education teacher on the basis of N. Bernstein's theory of movements construction using virtual reality technologies. In Lytvynova, S. H. and Semerikov, S. O., editors, *Proceedings of the 4th International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education (AREdu* 2021), Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 11, 2021, volume 2898 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 294– 314. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2898/ paper16.pdf.
- Zaika, O. V., Vakaliuk, T. A., Riabko, A. V., Kukharchuk, R. P., Mintii, I. S., and Semerikov, S. O. (2021). Selection of online tools for creating math tests. In Lytvynova, S. H. and Semerikov, S. O., editors, *Proceedings of the 4th International Workshop* on Augmented Reality in Education (AREdu 2021),

Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 11, 2021, volume 2898 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 82–106. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2898/paper04.pdf.

- Zaporozhtseva, Y. S. (2019). Information and digital competence as a component of the modern educational process. *Innovative Pedagogy*, 1(12):79–82. https: //doi.org/10.32843/2663-6085.2019.12-1.15.
- Zeer, E. F. (2005). Kompetentnostnyi podkhod k obrazovaniiu. *Obrazovanie i nauka*, (3 (33)):27–40. https://cyberleninka.ru/article/n/ kompetentnostnyy-podhod-k-obrazovaniyu.
- Zinchenko, V. P. and Meshcheryakova, B. G., editors (2003). *Large psychological dictionary*. OLMA Media Group, Moscow.
The Methodology for Using a Business Simulator with Elements of Machine Learning to Develop Personal Finance Management Skills

Dmytro S. Antoniuk¹¹^a, Tetiana A. Vakaliuk^{1,2,3}^b, Vladyslav V. Didkivskyi¹⁶^c,

Oleksandr Yu. Vizghalov¹^{od}, Oksana V. Oliinyk¹^{oe} and Valentyn M. Yanchuk¹^{of}

¹Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, 103 Chudnivsyka Str., Zhytomyr, 10005, Ukraine

²Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the NAES of Ukraine, 9 M. Berlynskoho Str., Kyiv, 04060, Ukraine

³Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine

dmitry_antonyuk@yahoo.com, tetianavakaliuk@gmail.com, v.didkivskyi@sana-commerce.com, aleksandrvizur@gmail.com, oov76@ukr.net, v.yanchuk@gmail.com

Keywords: Business Simulator, Machine Learning, Personal Finance, Personal Finance Management Skills.

Abstract: Any person, not even a financier, should be knowledgeable in the field of personal finance management. As a result of the survey, it was concluded that schoolchildren and students should be interested in the study of personal finance, even within other disciplines in the form of separate sections. Successful personal experience and knowledge of the teacher in the field of personal finance is an important component of the effectiveness of the formation of competence of pupils, students, and adults in the field of personal finance. Business simulators come in handy here. That is why the authors developed a business simulator for the development of personal finance management skills, which was developed in the form of a web service. The article presents a methodology for using the use of a business simulator with elements of machine learning to develop personal finance management skills, its main components are given: content, purpose, forms, methods and means. The main features of this simulator, which are presented in different sections of the simulator, are considered. It is shown what skills of personal finance management are developed using this business simulator. Since this simulator was designed to develop personal finance management skills, an attempt was made to apply machine-learning elements to make this business simulator work even better. The proposed simulator can be used in the future to teach the elements of personal finance management to people who are not sufficiently knowledgeable in the field of such finance. Moreover, the web application can be useful even for school-age children, so the simulator can complement the educational process within the economic courses not only in higher education institutions but also in secondary education institutions of Ukraine.

1 INTRODUCTION

Almost every day, each person spends money on housekeeping, utility bills, payment for services and purchases. It also includes debts on loans, or just borrowed money from friends. Personal finance includes all the funds available to us and the ability to manage them, so the topic of personal finance is relevant and worthy of attention for everyone who cares about their financial well-being. That is why any person, not even a financier, should be knowledgeable in the field of personal finance management. As a result, a survey was conducted to find out certain aspects of the financial literacy of first-year students as individuals who have their financial resources. In 2019, 167 respondents took part in the survey, in 2020 – 214 respondents (first-year students of the Faculty of Information and Computer Technologies of the Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University).

As a result, it was found that in 2019, 70.7% of respondents consider themselves financially literate, ready to consciously and effectively manage their own and family financial resources; in 2020 - 74.3%. At the same time, 29.3% of respondents in 2019 do not consider themselves sufficiently aware in this regard; in 2020 - 25.7% (see figure 1, a).

It was also found that in 2019 45.5% of respon-

92

Antoniuk, D., Vakaliuk, T., Didkivskyi, V., Vizghalov, O., Oliinyk, O. and Yanchuk, V.

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7496-3553

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6825-4697

[°] https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4615-7578

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0985-4929

e https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2188-9219

f https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6715-4667

The Methodology for Using a Business Simulator with Elements of Machine Learning to Develop Personal Finance Management Skills. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 92-102 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)



Figure 1: Financial literacy education results.

dents studied the basics of financial literacy in at least one form, in 2020 - this figure dropped to 19.6%, in 2019 54.5% - did not study in any form, in 2020 this figure is 80.4% (see figure 1, b).

In addition, by the results of the survey, it was found that in 2019 14.4% of respondents at the highest level assess their level of readiness for conscious and effective management of own and family financial resources, in 2020 - 10.7%, 38.3% of respondents in 2019 – indicated the level of readiness "good" and "satisfactory", while in 2020 46.7% indicated the level of readiness "good", 35% - "satisfactory". All others either rated the level at the lowest level or an unsatisfactory level.

As a result of the survey, it was concluded that schoolchildren and students should be interested in the study of personal finance, even within other disciplines in the form of separate sections. Successful personal experience and knowledge of the teacher in the field of personal finance is an important component of the effectiveness of the formation of competence of pupils, students, and adults in the field of personal finance. Business simulators come in handy here.

1.1 Theoretical Background

The need for personal finance competency development was analyzed in the research internationally. The challenge is relevant for both developed and developing countries. Influence of the financial literacy on the well-being of people worldwide and the need to recognize it as the fundamental right and universal need was discussed by Lusardi (Lusardi, 2019). Another research by Lusardi et al. (Lusardi et al., 2017) shows that in the USA 30–40% of retirement wealth inequality is associated with the level of financial literacy alone. As for the initial personal finance management, knowledge, and skills formation, the study concludes significant influence of the high school financial literacy courses on the lower default rates and better credit scores (Urban et al., 2020).

Using business simulations in education is a shared practice now. Simulations are being used in practical training, such as flight or combat simulations as well as in economic, managerial, and financial areas. Researchers study the pedagogical significance of this type of technology-enhanced educational method. Hernández-Lara et al. (Hernández-Lara et al., 2019) concluded the positive impact of business simulations on the generic competencies. Farashahi and Tajeddin (Farashahi and Tajeddin, 2018) conclude the effectiveness of business simulations in their comparative study. The study of business simulations in economic or finance evolves with the evolution of technologies available to develop immersive, attractive, and highly functional experiences. The range of use-cases differs from elementary schools to life-long learning establishments. Korgin (Korgin, 2015) provides evidence of the effectiveness of the simulation games for kids with basic arithmetical operations literacy. Palan (Palan, 2015) studied the criterion and approaches to select business simulation software for asset market experiments to use in the higher education establishments.

The analysis provides evidence of the effectiveness of business simulation usage in education in general and the need to further development of business simulation for the economy and finance literacy development, assessment, and study of its behavioral aspects.

The *purpose of the article* is to describe the methodology for using the business simulator with elements of machine learning to develop personal fi-

nance management skills.

2 RESULTS

The analysis of the analogues (Antoniuk et al., 2019, 2020) revealed that most part of the simulation software is appropriate for a specific area of the finance in the countries with developed financial markets. Based on the conclusions above this work represents the experiment in developing more generalized simulator for the countries with less developed market of financial instruments.

That is why the authors developed a business simulator for the development of personal finance management skills (Antoniuk et al., 2022a,b), which was developed in the form of a web service (10, 2020).

The methodology for using a business simulator with elements of machine learning to develop personal finance management skills is presented in the next part of this work.

The methodology for using a business simulator with elements of machine learning to develop personal finance management skills, like any other methodology, includes the purpose and content of the application, forms, methods, and tools.

It is focused on the expected result – the improved personal finance management skills because of using a business simulator with elements of machine learning.

The purpose of using a business simulator with elements of machine learning is to develop personal finance management skills.

The content of using is the improvement of the process of teaching normative disciplines using a business simulator with elements of machine learning.

The proposed methodology includes the following methods for using a business simulator with elements of machine learning:

 Adaptive learning. In the simulator, a process is created in a game form, which in the literature is called the examination cycle. At each stage of the simulator, the user is faced with a list of problems corresponding to the current level of competence. In the process of passing the simulation, the user is allowed to use new tools available in the field of personal finance management, which could not be effectively used at previous levels of the formation of the relevant competence. This approach requires the user to iteratively master new knowledge, skills, and abilities that are more complex from a theoretical and psychological point of view, and the ability to use them in situations close to real ones. In the process of passing the simulation and the corresponding stages of the formation of competence, the user gets the opportunity to work out tools and situations that were previously unfamiliar to him or are of additional interest to him, taking into account the stage of the life cycle, the field of activity or current problems and interests.

2. Situational modeling. The simulator proposed for use in this work is based on a realistic simulation of common and more specific situations in the process of managing personal or family finances. The initial stage is modeling the creation of a diversified currency and forms of storing the user's financial basket. In the future, to move to more complex personal finance management tools, credit and deposit operations with a different set of time parameters, payment schedules, and forms of provision are added to the simulated situations. The realism of the simulation is ensured by the presence of probabilistic events with a positive or negative impact of different monetary values on the user's personal finances. Nonfinancial investment transactions are the next step in familiarizing and developing the user's competence in the field of personal finance management.

Here are the main forms of conducting training sessions using a business simulator with elements of machine learning within the framework of this methodology:

- Introductory classes for teachers and facilitators on the functionality, modes, and features of using the simulator, the analytical capabilities of the platform, and the means of scientific research on the effectiveness and adaptability of the process of developing user competence;
- autonomous and group independent work with the simulator, aimed both at independent in-depth or a convenient pace through the training and game plot of the simulator and at the joint learning activities of user groups and facilitators of such classes either with elements of the competition or without such elements;
- an in-depth analysis of the situations of the simulator can take place in face-to-face or remote format with individual students or groups. This form of interaction is aimed at additional elaboration of situations, behavioral and psychological aspects or financial instruments, the work with which causes difficulties, misunderstanding, or attracting additional interest of users.

The tools for developing personal finance management skills provided in the proposed methodology using a business simulator with machine learning elements include computers, smartphones, tablets with Internet access, a business simulator with machine learning elements; teaching materials.

The result of the proposed methodology: the skills of managing personal money are formed at a high level; acquired skills to successfully apply a business simulator with elements of machine learning to perform practical work.

Within the framework of this methodology, we offer different forms and methods of using a business simulator with machine learning elements to develop personal finance management skills: organization and development of a business simulator with machine learning elements to develop personal finance management skills; sessions of using a business simulator with elements of machine learning to simulate socioeconomic situations that correspond to the topic of the lesson; organization of thematic economic training using a business simulator with elements of machine learning; visualization of economic and behavioral concepts; using a business simulator with elements of machine learning as a means of targeted indepth problem-based learning; using a business simulator with elements of machine learning as a means of organizing an assessment.

At the same time, the organization and development process of a business simulator with elements of machine learning for the development of personal finance management skills ensures the use of knowledge needed to complete a project in the field of professional activity of students of IT specialties as an incentive for obtaining new knowledge in the field of economics. In the process of developing a business simulator with elements of machine learning, the acquisition of skills and abilities is ensured, as well as the formation of a personal attitude to the problematic issues of the economic industry.

Sessions of using a business simulator with elements of machine learning to simulate socioeconomic situations that correspond to the subject of the lesson material provide students with interest, provide the necessary theoretical information in the field of the lesson, organize the possibility of obtaining skills in this topic, and initiate the formation of students' personal attitude to the socio-economic situation, considered by focusing on a specific economic law, principle or concept, which reduces the complexity of understanding.

The organization of thematic economic training using a business simulator with elements of machine learning contributes to motivation and increased attention to the knowledge of the lesson material. Obtaining the skills and abilities of rational behavior in the problematic area of training is an integral part of the training, providing one's own experience, close to practice and the formation of a stable personal attitude, provoked by the experience of mastering problematic material and the active generation of relevant conclusions.

Visualization of economic and behavioral concepts allows students to be motivated to perceive the lesson material. When using a business simulator with elements of machine learning with dynamic parameters or dynamic content, provides students with the skills and abilities to manage an object of a socioeconomic nature. Visualization and selection of topics relevant to the audience contribute to the formation of one's own attitude towards the object of knowledge. The use of a business simulator with elements of machine learning as a means of targeted in-depth problem-based learning basically contains the need for independent work on organizing such a lesson. This approach allows for the development of personal finance management skills, initiating the independent study of the lesson material. Supplementing this method with an assessment in the form of an essay, including questions on the relevance of the subject of the simulation conducted for the student who conducts it, and the group as a whole, contributes to the formation of a personal attitude to the problems of the studied material.

A separate object of study in the process of using such a simulator can be the results of comparing the optimality of decisions made by a person and a model using machine learning algorithms. Such a comparison complements the learning process with visual data on the causes and consequences of applying various approaches to managing personal finances.

Consider the main features of this simulator, which are presented in different sections of the simulator (figure 2):

- 1. Current account management options.
- 2. Savings management options.
- 3. Deposit management options.
- 4. Credit management options.
- 5. Non-financial investment management options.
- 6. Information on changes in current accounts that have occurred in the last week.
- 7. Analytical information on the dynamics of changes in current account funds, savings, and investments.
- 8. Information on current exchange rates.
- 9. List of recent transactions that have been made on current accounts.

Personal Finance - Week	1							
Selected conditions Selected conditions Selected conditions Selected conditions Selected conditions Next week Next month	Current account	@ 0	^ 15000 @	Savings UAH TO CLIMIERY ACCOUNT Analytics		^ 00	Your deposits O No open deposits To start depositing press 'Open deposit' button below! OPEN DEFORT Your credits	^
C Reset game Report results in 59 week(s) Assessments in 23 week(s)	15,000 e	, Output		Exchange rates Currency	Buy 28.51 8	^ Sell 29.08 €	No open credits. You are doing well: TAKE CREDIT Non financial investments No options available for now.	^
	Transactions Currency Operation UAH Salary VIEW DETAILS	C Amount 15000 8	A Balance					

Figure 2: Business simulator.

Consider in more detail the section with current account management options (figure 2, A). The "Current account" section contains a list of current accounts in the form: code and available amount.

The user has the opportunity to open a new account. To do this, click on the "Open account" button, then a window will appear where you need to select the currency in which you want to open a new account (figure 3). Each user action in the simulator (for example, opening a new account) is accompanied by a message that appears in the lower right corner of the page.



Figure 3: Example of opening a new account.

After opening a new account, the "Exchange" option will be available in the "Current account" section, which allows you to exchange currencies at the rate that can be viewed in another section "Exchange rates" (figure 2, B). To exchange currencies, the user can enter the amount he wants to sell and the amount in the currency to be purchased will be filled in automatically. The user can also enter the amount to purchase and the amount required for the purchase will be filled in automatically. The user can also change currencies and the amounts will be automatically transferred.

In the process of performing all actions by the user, a real-time section is available with information about changes in current accounts that have occurred in the last week (figure 2, D). The user can choose the currency of the account for which he wants to see the relevant data (figure 4).



CANCEL EXCHANGE Figure 4: Example of currency exchange.

In addition, in the simulator, there is a section with analytical data on the dynamics of changes in current account funds, savings, and investments since the beginning of the simulation (figure 5). The user can select the currency of the account for which he wants to see the information. By default, to visualize the dynamics of funds in all accounts, the option "Accounts total amount in USD" is selected, which displays the total amount of funds in all accounts converted into USD.

Analytics



Figure 5: Analytical information on the dynamics of changes in current account funds, savings, and investments.

The user also can view transaction information on all current accounts (figure 2, C). The corresponding section contains a list of the last 5 transactions. In this case, the user can view all transactions or filter them by specific weeks in the details window (figure 6).

Transactions

Start week 21	End week		
Currency	Operation	Amount	Balance
UAH	Transfer from savings	2000 €	2314.24 운
USD	Completed deposit 'Standard (3 months)'	400 \$	400.84\$
USD USD	Deposit 'Standard (3 months)'	0.42 \$	0.84 \$
UAH	Regular spending	-1250 €	314.24 €
UAH	Regular spending	-1250 8	1564.24 €

Figure 6: List of transactions with the filter by weeks.

CLOSE

At the beginning of the 4th week of the simulation, a window with a test question appears, in which the participant is asked what the amount is enough to save for savings from a monthly salary per month. This question is part of the assessment, and the user is obliged to answer it.

To sometimes distract the user from financial instruments and bring more of the reality into the simulation process, random events were added to the system, including various diseases, repairs, the birth of a child, and so on. Most random events last for some time and additional costs for the entire period of validity. Some events are constant, so costs are made every week, such as the birth of a child. You can't cancel any random event, you can just accept it and close the window (figure 7).



Figure 7: An example of a random event.

Upon reaching the 60th week of the simulation, the user will be shown a page where the participant can view analytical data on the dynamics of changes in funds on all current accounts, savings, and investments since the beginning of the simulation (figure 8). Funds on all accounts, savings, and investments are converted into USD and shown in one chart. On this page, the user can compare their results with the results of other participants in their country, as well as from other countries, in addition, they can share their thoughts or ideas about the simulator by filling in the field at the bottom of the page.

Your 60 weeks report is ready!

Thank you for participating in Personal Finance simulator development. You are still able to proceed with implementing any ideas you want to try. There is just a report for your first 60 weeks.

You can compare it with other game sessions for your country or select different country to compare



Figure 8: Example of simulation results.

The use of the Simulator facilitates forming of the following knowledge, skills, and competencies as well as the personal attitude towards:

- Using the diversified list of currencies.
- Forming widely-acknowledged standard of emergency savings and assessing readiness for longerterm investment.
- Using basic saving and investment instruments available in a wide range of countries such as deposits (deposit certificates), real estate, and business investments. Experiencing different types of instruments and understanding their specific.
- Debt-management and forming personal behavioral attitude to using debt as constructive investment leverage.

Since this simulator was designed to develop personal finance management skills, an attempt was made to apply machine-learning elements to make this business simulator work even better. This requires the creation of a system that could determine for the user an effective strategy of action in the simulator because the amount of real data of simulation participants is extremely small for analysis and identification of hidden dependencies using cluster analysis. This task is suitable for those that are solved by the latest approach in machine learning, namely reinforcement training. Reinforcement learning (RL) is a type of machine learning in which the agent directly examines environmental data, receives rewards, and sets policies for optimal action. The goal of RL is to find the optimal policy that maximizes the expected amount of future rewards (Sutton and Barto, 2015).

Reinforcement learning focuses primarily on how to obtain the optimal strategy (Sutton and Barto, 2015) (figure 9). Ideally, the system should determine what will be financially optimal, as well as understand what is inherent in man, given its characteristics. For example, if a person has never used investment instruments, it is not worth building a strategy for him with too aggressive investment behavior, because it is unlikely that a person will follow it.

Reinforcement learning includes an agent, a set of states *S*, and a set of actions by states *A*. By acting $a \in A$, the agent moves from state to state. Acting in a certain state provides the agent with a reward. The agent's goal is to maximize his overall (future) reward. He does this by adding the maximum reward that can be achieved from future states to the reward for reaching his current state, thus influencing the current action with a potential future reward. This potential reward is the sum of the rewards of all subsequent steps, starting from the current state.

Formally, reinforcement learning is modeled as a Markov decision-making process (MDP). MDP pro-



Figure 9: The principle of operation of the model of training with reinforcement (Sutton and Barto, 2015).

vides a mathematical basis for modeling decisionmaking in situations where the results are partly random and partly controlled by the decision-maker (Puterman, 2008).

One of the algorithms of reinforcement training is Q-learning. The purpose of Q-learning is to learn a strategy that gives the agent information about which step is best to perform in a particular state *S*.

The algorithm contains the following elements:

- *r_t* the reward received in the transition from state *s_t* to state *s_{t+1}*;
- α the pace of learning, which determines the extent to which new information will override old information;
- γ depreciation ratio, which gives the effect of valuing rewards received earlier, higher than those received later (figure 10).

Before training, Q is initialized with an arbitrary fixed value (selected by the programmer), for example, 0. Then, at each point in time t, the agent selects an action a_t , receives a reward r_t , moves to a new state s_{t+1} (which may depend on both the previous state s_t and the selected action), and table Q is specified. The core of the algorithm is the Bellman equation as a simple update of values by iteration, using the weighted average old value and new information (Watkins and Dayan, 1992).

As a result, the open-source library SharpRL was chosen (Jansson, 2015). This library provides ba-

sic functionality for developing a learning environment with reinforcement based on the Q-learning algorithm. The program for defining personal financial strategies is a console application. Running this program involves setting certain parameters, including:

- number of simulation passes in training mode;
- the number of simulations in the mode of compliance with the model policy after training;
- duration of the simulation in weeks;
- monthly income and expenses of the user in a certain currency, which will be determined as the main currency of this user.

At the end of the training process, the screen will display the maximum reward that was achieved during the program; data on the user in the last week, which include: funds in current accounts, amounts invested in deposits and savings of the user; the best way that was found during the operation of the system. Each step of the path is an action that is recommended for the user to perform in a particular week. For more information, user data is displayed next to each step after performing the specified operation.

To have more opportunities to analyze the results, the program saves them in a CSV file, which can be used to compare the data with data from other launches of the program.

The generated file has only two columns: the first – indicates the week of the simulation, the second – the reward received by the user this week.

$$Q^{new}(s_t, a_t) \leftarrow \underbrace{Q(s_t, a_t)}_{\text{old value}} + \underbrace{\alpha}_{\text{learning rate}} \cdot \underbrace{\left(\underbrace{r_t}_{\text{reward}} + \underbrace{\gamma}_{\text{discount factor}} \cdot \underbrace{\max_a Q(s_{t+1}, a)}_{\text{estimate of optimal future value}} - \underbrace{Q(s_t, a_t)}_{\text{old value}}\right)}_{\text{old value}}$$

new value (temporal difference target)

Figure 10: Q-learning algorithm.

As a result, the operation of the system with different initial parameters was analyzed and it was found that a small number of iterations is the cause of an untrained model, which results in unstable results. Experiments were conducted and it was hypothesized that the optimal ratio of initial parameters, namely: the number of simulation passes in the training mode and the number of simulation passes in the mode of adherence to the model policy after training, is close to 1000. It was found that best results. After attempts to increase these figures, the results remained within the statistical error. For example, figure 11 shows the result of increasing the number of training epochs to 2000, which, compared to the results of 1000 epochs, remained almost unchanged. As a result of the study, it was concluded that with the current set of possible actions in the system (for example, to open a deposit of 10% of profits, etc.), increasing the number of training epochs does not improve the result.



Figure 11: Results with different number of epochs of training in the mode of adherence to the trained model.

To test the trained model, a method of comparing the results of the system with the average values of the results of the passage of real users in the developed simulator was chosen. Thus, it was decided to take a certain period, for example, 54 weeks, and collect user data using the available functionality of the simulator. Based on the collected user data and the results of the trained model, several comparative graphs with different indicators of income and expenses were





Figure 12: Comparison of model and user results with parameters of UAH 10,000. income and 6,000 UAH costs.

It was found that for 54 weeks, the system shows consistently better results than the average results of users who underwent the simulation. From the graph, you can see that the performance of the model is growing from week to week, which means that the system adapts to the environment.

After increasing the parameters of profit and expenses, the difference in the graphs becomes more significant in favor of the trained model. This is shown in figure 13, 14, 15.



Figure 13: Comparison of model and user results with parameters of UAH 15,000 income and UAH 9,000 costs.

Jumps can be seen in the graph showing the results of the reinforcement learning model. They can be seen more often on charts where higher incomes and a large difference between income and expenses. This is the effect of specific rules that are described to train the model so that the virtual agent system follows the best path. For example, if an agent has opened a deposit for 3 months, after this period the deposit will be closed automatically and this closing



Figure 14: Comparison of the results of the model and users with the parameters of UAH 30,000 income and UAH 15,000 costs.



Figure 15: Comparison of the results of the model and users with the parameters of UAH 100,000 income and 30,000 UAH costs.

of the deposit will significantly affect the user's reward for this week. However, the system learns and "understands" where to invest or save. As a result, this leads to sharp increases in performance, as seen in the graphs. In the graphs responsible for the results of real users, such behavior is not observed, which indicates the ignorance of users with effective ways to manage personal finances within the developed simulator.

3 CONCLUSIONS

Currently, economic processes are a new topic for research into the possibilities of applying the full potential of machine learning. Scientists from around the world are just making the first attempts to reproduce such processes programmatically to use artificial intelligence to find solutions and answer various economic questions of humanity.

The proposed developed software package consists of two parts: a personal finance management simulator and a system for determining effective financial strategies, which uses reinforcement learning opportunities.

The proposed simulator can be used in the future to teach the elements of personal finance management to people who are not sufficiently knowledgeable in the field of such finance. Moreover, the web application can be useful even for school-age children, so the simulator can complement the educational process within the economic courses not only in higher education institutions but also in secondary education institutions of Ukraine.

The prospects for further research include testing the effectiveness of the proposed simulator of personal finance as a learning tool.

When constructing a methodology for using a business simulator with elements of machine learning to develop personal finance management skills, it is advisable to take into account: various types, scopes, methods of placement, and purposes of using business simulators. The use of a business simulator with elements of machine learning is expedient and contributes to an increase in the efficiency of the educational process, the formation of personal finance management skills, and also forms a steady cognitive interest in students in educational activities. The application of the author's methodology will improve and supplement the educational process in higher education by including a business simulator with elements of machine learning.

In addition, the prospects for further study include the selection of different simulators of this type, the possibility of using simulators of this type to develop the managerial and financial competencies of students in various specialties, as well as the development of an appropriate methodology and testing its effectiveness. In the future, we plan to develop guidelines for teachers on using a business simulator with elements of machine learning to develop personal finance management skills in the educational process of higher education.

REFERENCES

- (2020). Personal finance. https://financesimulator. azurewebsites.net.
- Antoniuk, D., Vakaliuk, T., Didkivskyi, V., and Vizghalov, O. (2020). The need to develop a personal finance management simulator. *Innovative peda*gogy, 24(2):208–212. http://www.innovpedagogy.od. ua/archives/2020/24/part_2/43.pdf.
- Antoniuk, D., Vakaliuk, T., Yanchuk, V., and Yakobchuk, A. (2019). Review of software tools for planning personal finances. In *Collection of materials of the VII All-Ukrainian Scientific and Practical Conference of Young Scientists "Scientific Youth-2019"*, pages 105– 107. Comprint.
- Antoniuk, D. S., Vakaliuk, T. A., Didkivskyi, V. V., and Vizghalov, O. (2022a). Development of a simulator to determine personal financial strategies using machine learning. In Kiv, A. E., Semerikov, S. O.,

Soloviev, V. N., and Striuk, A. M., editors, *Proceedings of the 4th Workshop for Young Scientists in Computer Science & Software Engineering*, volume 3077 of *CS&SESW 2021*, pages 12–26. CEUR Workshop Proceedings, CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-3077/paper02.pdf.

- Antoniuk, D. S., Vakaliuk, T. A., Didkivskyi, V. V., Vizghalov, O., Oliinyk, O. V., and Yanchuk, V. M. (2022b). Using a business simulator with elements of machine learning to develop personal finance management skills. In Ermolayev, V. A., Kiv, A. E., Semerikov, S. O., Soloviev, V. N., and Striuk, A. M., editors, Proceedings of the 9th Illia O. Teplytskyi Workshop on Computer Simulation in Education (CoSinE 2021) co-located with 17th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research, and Industrial Applications: Integration, Harmonization, and Knowledge Transfer, volume 3083 of CoSinE 2021, pages 59– 70. CEUR Workshop Proceedings, CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-3083/paper131.pdf.
- Farashahi, M. and Tajeddin, M. (2018). Effectiveness of teaching methods in business education: A comparison study on the learning outcomes of lectures, case studies and simulations. *The International Journal of Management Education*, 16(1):131–142. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijme.2018.01.003.
- Hernández-Lara, A. B., Serradell-López, E., and Fitó-Bertran, À. (2019). Students' perception of the impact of competences on learning: An analysis with business simulations. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 101:311–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2019. 07.023.
- Jansson, A. (2015). SharpRL: Reinforcement learning library for .NET. https://github.com/svenslaggare/ SharpRL.
- Korgin, N. A. (2015). Introduction to theory of control in organizations for kids via interactive games. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 48(29):289–294. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ifacol.2015.11.250.
- Lusardi, A. (2019). Financial literacy and the need for financial education: evidence and implications. *Swiss Journal of Economics and Statistics*, 155(1):1. https: //doi.org/10.1186/s41937-019-0027-5.
- Lusardi, A., Michaud, P.-C., and Mitchell, O. S. (2017). Optimal financial knowledge and wealth inequality. *Journal of Political Economy*, 125(2):431–477. https: //doi.org/10.1086/690950.
- Palan, S. (2015). GIMS—Software for asset market experiments. Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Finance, 5:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbef.2015.02. 001.
- Puterman, M. L. (2008). Markov decision processes: Discrete stochastic dynamic programming. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470316887.
- Sutton, R. S. and Barto, A. G. (2015). Reinforcement learning: an introduction. The MIT Press, Cambridge, 2nd edition. https://web.stanford.edu/class/psych209/ Readings/SuttonBartoIPRLBook2ndEd.pdf.
- Urban, C., Schmeiser, M., Collins, J. M., and Brown, A. (2020). The effects of high school personal financial

education policies on financial behavior. *Economics of Education Review*, 78:101786. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.econedurev.2018.03.006.

Watkins, C. J. C. H. and Dayan, P. (1992). Technical Note: Q-Learning. *Machine Learning*, 8(3):279–292. https: //doi.org/10.1023/A:1022676722315.

Test Quality Assessment and Adaptive Algorithm Based on IRT Models

Alexander A. Kostikov¹[®]^a, Kateryna V. Vlasenko^{2,3}[®]^b, Iryna V. Lovianova⁴[®]^c, Vadim V. Khoroshailo¹[®]^d and Natalia S. Hrudkina¹[®]^e

¹Donbass State Engineering Academy, 72 Academichna Str., Kramatorsk, 84313, Ukraine

²National University of "Kyiv Mohyla Academy", 2 Skovorody Str., Kyiv, 04070, Ukraine

³Limited Liability Company Technical University "Metinvest Polytechnic", 80 Pivdenne Hwy, Zaporizhzhia, 69008,

Ukraine

⁴Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine alexkst63@gmail.com, vlasenkokv@ukr.net, lirihka22@gmail.com, vadim_khoroshaylo@ukr.net, nata.grudkina@gmail.com

- Keywords: Adaptive Algorithm, Rasch Model, Item Response Theory (IRT), Information Function of Test, Latent Variables, Birnbaum Model.
- Abstract: In this paper the algorithm for adaptive testing of students' knowledge in distance learning and an assessment of its effectiveness in the educational process has been proposed. The results of the study are based on the achievements of modern testing theory IRT. The objective of the study was to build test items that allow adequately assessing the student's achievements and automating the assessment process using an adaptive algorithm. To achieve this goal, mathematical models of modern testing theory IRT were used, namely, the Rasch model, 2-PL and 3-PL Birnbaum models. The important outcomes of this work are a thorough analysis of the developed test tasks, identification of their shortcomings and automation of the process of assessing students' knowledge using an adaptive algorithm based on the methods of modern testing theory IRT. The paper provides an overview of the results of the application of modern test theory, a description and block diagram of the proposed algorithm and the results of its application in the real educational process. The effectiveness of using this algorithm for the objective assessment of students' knowledge has been experimentally shown. The test quality has been assessed using the IRT models.

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Motivation and Research Challenges of the Study

Important components of the educational process are the quality control of the assimilation of knowledge in higher education and the assessment of the degree to which students achieve their educational goals. Recently, distance learning has become widespread, which has become especially relevant in connection with the COVID19 pandemic. In this regard, there is a problem of the adequacy of knowledge assessment with the help of computer testing. The solution to this problem is of great importance, because it allows you

- ^a https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3503-4836
- ^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8920-5680

- d https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6539-8329
- ^e https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0914-8875

to reduce the time for knowledge control, facilitate the work of teachers, and immediately get the result of the assessment.

While solving this problem, we faced the following challenges:

- 1. Choice of research methodology.
- 2. Experimental verification of the research results.

Our studies were evaluated on the results of modern testing theory, which allows us to adequately assess the quality of test items and create effective adaptive knowledge assessment algorithms based on them. To test knowledge, test items of varying complexity were developed for the discipline "Higher Mathematics" to assess the level of students' knowledge of with different levels of training.

1.2 Problem Statement

Modern approaches to assessing students' academic achievements are based on the use of classical testing

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3186-2837

Kostikov, A., Vlasenko, K., Lovianova, I., Khoroshailo, V. and Hrudkina, N.

Test Quality Assessment and Adaptive Algorithm Based on IRT Models.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 103-117 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

theory and Item Response Theory (IRT). The mathematical background of pedagogical measurement theory was created in the works of (Andersen, 1973; Andrich, 2021; Avanesov, 1980; Guttman, 1944; Lord et al., 1968; Maslak et al., 2005; Rasch, 1960; Wright and Linacre, 1987; Wright and Masters, 1982). In IRT, the concept of a latent variable is used. The term "latent variable (parameter)" is usually understood as a theoretical concept that characterizes a certain hidden property or quality (for example, the level of students' ability, the difficulty of the test task), which cannot be directly measured. The advantages of the classical testing theory are the provision of information about the indicators of the knowledge quality of the subjects, the clarity of the performed calculations and the simple interpretation of the processing data. The main disadvantage is the dependence of the results of evaluating the participants' parameters on the difficulty of the proposed tasks. Application of IRT, based on Rasch models, provides the possibility of the evaluation independence of the latent parameter "ability level" calculated values of participants α_i from the values of the "item difficulty" β_i . This helps to increase the objectivity of the obtained assessments of the students' ability level and allows to build effective algorithms for assessing knowledge.

The *purpose of this paper* is to develop an algorithm of adaptive testing for objective assessment of students' knowledge in distance learning, which becomes especially relevant in the quarantine of COVID-19.

1.3 State of Arts and Review

The educational standards of the new generation are based on a competency-based approach to assessing the quality of a student's training, when it is not his knowledge that is tested, first of all, but his readiness to apply it in practice and to act productively in a nonstandard situation, the ability to create the required mode of action. Therefore, the quality of training is understood as the degree of the student's readiness to demonstrate the relevant competencies. The generalization of the world experience in the implementation of the competence-based approach to assessing learning outcomes allows us to make the following conclusions that determine the main approaches to assessing the level of competence mastery, the main of which are the following:

 competencies are dynamic, since they are not an invariable quality in the structure of a pupil's personality, but are able to develop, improve or completely disappear in the absence of an incentive to manifest them. Therefore, we can talk about the level of competence, assess it quantitatively, and monitor it.

- when assessing learning outcomes, it is necessary to consider them in dynamics, which requires diagnostics of the educational process using monitoring procedures
- the level of possession of a competence is a hidden (latent) parameter of the pupil and direct measurement is not amenable. It can be estimated with a certain probability. Therefore, when evaluating it, a probabilistic approach should be used.

It follows from this that in order to create tools for the automated assessment of the learning outcomes, it is necessary, first of all, to solve two problems:

- 1. develop theoretical and methodological foundations for modeling and parameterization of the learning process and the diagnostic tools used to evaluate its results.
- 2. theoretically substantiate and implement software-algorithmic means for processing the results of participants' diagnostics (testing, questionnaires), as well as tools for assessing learning outcomes and the quality of diagnostic tools.

The theoretical and methodological basis for solving these problems was the study results, first of all, by such Brown (Brown, 1910), Cronbach (Cronbach, 1951), Guilford (Guilford, 1942), Gulliksen (Gulliksen, 1986), Guttman (Guttman, 1944), Kuder and Richardson (Kuder and Richardson, 1937), Luce and Tukey (Luce and Tukey, 1964), Lord et al. (Lord et al., 1968), Sax (Sax, 1989), Spearman (Spearman, 1910). They developed the theoretical foundations for the creation of diagnostic materials and the classical approach to processing, analysis and interpretation of diagnostic results: the conceptual apparatus of the classical test theory, criteria and indicators of the quality of diagnostic tools, methodological basics of their design and quality expertise. The issues of scaling and comparison of processing data have been deeply investigated.

The theoretical basis for the creation of tools for automatic assessment of the results of the educational process has received its further development due to the creation of the IRT (Item Response Theory) the foundations of which are set out in the works of (Andrich, 2021, 2005; Andersen, 1973; Bezruczko, 2005; Bond et al., 2020; Andrich et al., 2001; van der Linden and Hambleton, 1997; Ingebo, 1997; Eckes, 2011; Lord, 1980; Perline et al., 1979; Smith and Smith, 2004; Rasch, 1960; Fischer and Molenaar, 1995; Wilson, 2005; Wright and Masters, 1982; Wright, 1977; Wright and Stone, 1979; Wright and Linacre, 1987). Currently, IRT mathematical models are widely used to assess the quality of test items. In (Tjabolo and Otaya, 2019) the quality of the questions of school exams was assessed using 1, 2,3-PL models. As a result of the study, school exam questions were classified into two categories(the good and the bad categories) based on the value of the difficulty level of the test items.

In (Amelia and Kriswantoro, 2017) the quality of items in chemistry was also assessed using 1-PL, 2-PL and 3-PL models. By these models, assessments of the students' ability level, the difficulty level of test items were obtained, and the difference in the obtained assessments was analyzed. Various adaptive algorithms based on the Rasch model have been proposed in the works (Al-A'ali, 2006; Zaqoot et al., 2021) Despite the large number of papers devoted to the creation of adaptive algorithms based on IRT models, we could hardly find any reference to works that would consider an adaptive algorithm selecting the model that best suits the test data. The adaptive algorithm proposed by us can use any of three IRT models: 1-PL, 2-PL and 3-PL.

2 ALGORITHM OF ADAPTIVE TESTING BASED ON RASCH MODEL

Adaptive testing is a type of testing in which the order of presentation of test items and the difficulty of the next task depends on the participant's answers to previous items. The basis of adaptive testing systems are statistical models. Very easy and very difficult tasks are automatically uninformative. Therefore, for most tests, the optimal level of difficulty is the item, to which the correct answer is given by about half of the test participants.

The difficulties of the test items is determined experimentally, and the measurement process consists of determining the percentage of participants who are able to give the correct answer to the task in previous experiments. The problem of developing adaptive algorithms has been considered in (Weiss, 1982; Al-A'ali, 2006; Weiss, 2004).

The Rasch model was used to construct the adaptive testing algorithm. This model is defined by formulas:

$$P_{ni} = \frac{\exp(\theta_n - \beta_i)}{1 + \exp(\theta_n - \beta_i)} \tag{1}$$

where P_{ni} is the probability that the participant n, n = 1, ..., N with the ability θ_n correctly performs the task i, i = 1, ..., I, with the difficulty β_i .

To start the algorithm, it is necessary to determine the initial levels of difficulties. To this end, at the beginning of the testing session the accumulation of primary information about the level of preparation of the participant is carried out. To do this, participant receive N_p tasks with an average level of difficulty. Tasks to determine the initial level of the participant are chosen by the teacher. Then, using the received answers, the initial estimation of the ability level of the student is calculated, and also recalculation of the difficulty level current values of test items is carried out.

The initial assessment of the ability level of the *i*-th student (in logs) is based on the formula:

$$\theta_i^0 = \ln\left(\frac{p_i}{q_i}\right), \quad i = 1, 2 \cdots N,$$
(2)

where *N* is the number of test participants, p_i is the proportion of correct answers of the *i*-th participant to all tasks, q_i is the proportion of incorrect answers $(q_i = 1 - p_i)$.

The difficulty level of test items in logs is determined by the formula:

$$\beta_j^0 = \ln\left(\frac{q_j}{p_j}\right), \quad j = 1, 2 \cdots M, \tag{3}$$

where *M* is the number of test items, p_j is the proportion of correct answers of all participants to the *j*-th test item, q_j is the proportion of incorrect answers.

At the next stage, the initial values in the logs of the ability level of participants θ_i^0 and the initial values in the logs of the difficulty level of the test item β_j^0 are reduced to a same interval scale (Lord et al., 1968). The formula for such transition is based on the idea of reducing the impact of the items difficulty on the assessments of test participants.

Pre-calculating the average value of the initial logits of the students' ability level

$$\overline{\mathbf{\Theta}} = \frac{\sum\limits_{i=1}^{N} \mathbf{\Theta}_{i}^{0}}{N}$$

and the standard deviation V of the initial values distribution of the parameter θ

$$V^{2} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(\theta_{i}^{0} - \overline{\theta}\right)^{2}}{N - 1},$$

we obtain a formula for calculating the difficulty level logit of the *j*-th item

$$\beta_j = \overline{\Theta} + Y \cdot \beta_j^0, \quad j = \overline{1, M}, \tag{4}$$

where

$$Y = \left(1 + \frac{V^2}{2.89}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

105

Similarly, calculating

$$\overline{\beta} = \frac{\sum\limits_{j=1}^M \beta_j^0}{M}, \quad W = \sqrt{\frac{\sum\limits_{j=1}^M \left(\beta_j^0 - \overline{\beta}\right)^2}{M-1}}$$

we get the formula for calculating the ability level logit of the *i*-th student:

$$\theta_i = \overline{\beta} + X \cdot \theta_i^0, \quad i = \overline{1, N}, \tag{5}$$

where $X = \left(1 + \frac{W^2}{2.89}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

The obtained values allow to compare the level of students' ability with the level of test item difficulty. If $\theta_i - \beta_j$ is a negative quantity and is large in modulus, then the problem of difficulty β_j is too difficult for a student with the ability level θ_i , and it will not be useful for measuring the level of knowledge of the *i*-th student. If this difference is positive and large in modulus, then the task is too easy, it has long been mastered by the student. If $\theta_i - \beta_j$, then the probability that the student correctly completes the task is equal to 0.5.

The information function of the *i*-th problem for the Rasch model (1) $I_i(\theta)$ is defined as the product of the probability of the correct answer $P_i(\theta)$ to this problem on the probability of the incorrect answer $Q_i(\theta)$ (Lord et al., 1968)

$$I_i(\theta) = P_i(\theta) \cdot Q_i(\theta) \tag{6}$$

Figure 1 shows the information function of the *i*th item. Figure 1 shows that the test item, the answer to which all students know, does not provide any information, as well as the item, the answer to which no one knows. We get useful information when some participants know the answer to the task and some do not.



Figure 1: Information function of the test task.

The information function of the test is calculated as the sum of the information functions of the test items (Lord et al., 1968):

$$I(\theta) = D^2 \cdot \sum_{j=1}^{M} I_j(\theta)$$
(7)

where *D* is the correction factor (D = 1.7), necessary to approximate the distribution of logistic probability to the law of normal distribution.

After calculating the information function, the measurement error SE is calculated, the value of which is used to check the condition of the end of the test procedure.

In the Rusch model, the measurement error depends on the level of training θ and is calculated by the formula (Lord et al., 1968):

$$SE(\theta) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{I(\theta)}}.$$
 (8)

If the error takes a value less than the threshold set by the teacher, the adaptive testing algorithm ends. Otherwise, the following test task is selected. To select the next task, use the value of θ_i , calculated by formula (5). The next task is the one whose difficulty level is closest to the current assessment of the ability level of the participant. This task has the largest information contribution and its choice reduces the total number of required test tasks.

Thus, the developed adaptive testing algorithm consists of the following stages:

- 1. Selection of 5 tasks of average difficulty from the bank of questions, which is determined by the teacher.
- 2. Finding the initial level of student's ability θ_i^0 and the initial difficulty level of items β_j^0 by formulas (2) and (3).
- 3. Summary of the obtained initial values θ_i^0 and β_j^0 to a single interval scale using formulas (5) and (4).
- 4. Calculation of the information function of test tasks to which the student answered by formulas (6) and (7).
- 5. Finding the measurement error by the formula (8).
- 6. If the measurement error is less than the threshold, the adaptive testing is completed.
- 7. If not, then the next task is selected from the condition $|\theta_i \beta_j| = \min$.
- Then the algorithm is repeated starting from point 3.

The block diagram of the algorithm is shown in figure 2. The proposed algorithm can use any of three models: 1-PL, 2-PL and 3-PL.



Figure 2: Block diagram of the adaptive testing algorithm.

р

3 RESULTS OF TEST ANALYSYS BASED ON THE RASCH MODEL

Let us consider the procedure for calculating the parameters of student ability level θ_i and item difficulty parameter β_i from empirical data. As initial data we will take results of testing of students in Moodle system on discipline "Higher Mathematics" of the Mathematics and Modeling Departement of the Donbass State Engineering Academy (table 1). Table 1 shows the records of the first 10 test participants. A total of 50 participants took part in the testing.

The test in this discipline consisted of 20 questions. First, it is necessary to calculate the proportions of correct p_i and incorrect q_i answers of participants. These values are calculated by formulas

$$p_i = \frac{R_i}{N}, q_i = 1 - p_i, \tag{9}$$

where R_i is the number of correct answers for the *i*-th test item, = 1, 2, ..., n, and *n* is the number of items

in the test. For example, for the first participant of testing we have

$$_{1} = \frac{18}{20} = 0.9, q_{1} = 1 - 0.9 = 0.1$$

The values p_i and q_i are given in columns 3 and 4 of table 1.

Next, calculate the initial values θ_1^0 of the ability level of participants by formula (2). For the first participant we have

$$\theta_1^0 = \ln \frac{0.9}{0.1} = 2.197$$

Using the statistical module Moodle, the following characteristics were obtained for test tasks: facility index (F), standard deviation (SD), random guess score (RGS), intended weight, effective weight, distinction, distinction efficiency.

These data are shown in table 2.

Based on the data in table 2, we can estimate the initial values of the item difficulty parameter. By formula (3) for the first problem we obtain

$$\beta_1^0 = \ln \frac{2}{98} = -3.891$$

Participant's number	Score	Number of correct answers	p_i	q_i	θ_i^0
1	90	18	0.9	0.1	2.197225
2	75	15	0.75	0.25	1.098612
3	85	17	0.85	0.15	1.734601
4	100	20	1	0	∞
5	75	15	0.75	0.25	1.098612
6	100	20	1	0	∞
7	90	18	0.9	0.1	2.197225
8	90	18	0.9	0.1	2.197225
9	70	14	0.7	0.3	0.847298
10	85	17	0.85	0.15	1.734601

Table 1: Test results in the Moodle system in the discipline "Higher Mathematics" of the Mathematics and Modeling Department of the Donbass State Engineering Academy.

Table 2: Statistical characteristics obtained using the statistical module of the Moodle system based on the results of final testing in the discipline "Higher Mathematics".

Q#	F	SD	RGS	Intended weight	Effective weight	Distinction	Distinguishing efficiency
1	98.00%	14.14%	33.33%	5.00%		-11.54%	-28.62%
2	94.00%	23.99%	33.33%	5.00%	3.41%	6.93%	11.28%
3	90.00%	30.30%	16.67%	5.00%	6.75%	44.07%	65.85%
4	94.00%	23.99%	20.00%	5.00%	4.66%	22.91%	39.11%
5	96.00%	19.79%	20.00%	5.00%	3.34%	11.72%	23.66%
6	90.00%	30.30%	14.29%	5.00%	3.18%	-1.53%	-2.22%
7	92.00%	27.40%	14.29%	5.00%	6.32%	43.38%	70.79%
8	84.00%	37.03%	20.00%	5.00%	6.48%	26.08%	35.44%
9	88.00%	32.83%	20.00%	5.00%	5.32%	17.26%	23.76%
10	74.00%	44.31%	20.00%	5.00%	9.75%	68.31%	84.84%
11	98.00%	14.14%	20.00%	5.00%	2.85%	14.64%	35.69%
12	100.00%	0.00%	16.67%	5.00%	0.00%		
13	94.00%	23.99%	33.33%	5.00%	4.93%	27.00%	45.87%
14	90.00%	30.30%	33.33%	5.00%	5.51%	23.81%	34.88%
15	88.00%	32.83%	25.00%	5.00%	5.32%	17.26%	23.76%
16	90.00%	30.30%	33.33%	5.00%	5.51%	23.81%	33.33%
17	42.00%	49.86%	20.00%	5.00%	5.23%	-2.60%	-3.57%
18	80.00%	40.41%	33.33%	5.00%	8.11%	45.46%	56.25%
19	56.00%	50.14%	20.00%	5.00%	7.01%	13.80%	17.23%
20	82.00%	38.81%	20.00%	5.00%	6.32%	21.10%	27.68%

The results of calculations of the initial values of the item difficulty parameter are given in table 3.

As can be seen from table 3, all participants in the quiz answered the 12th item, so the score was equal to infinity with a minus sign. But practically at $\beta >$ -6 the probability value $P_i(\beta)$ close to one. These items are performed by all participants and they become redundant. Items with $\beta > 6$ are also useless. Such items will not be overcome by any participant and they do not carry any information about differences in the students' ability levels.

In tables 1 and 3, the parameter values θ_i^0 and β_i^0 are on different interval scales. In order to reduce them to a single scale of standard estimates, it is nec-

essary to calculate the variances V_2 and W_2 using the data from tables 1 and 3. Infinite data are excluded from consideration.

Calculating the variance, we obtain

$$V^{2} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} (\theta_{i}^{0} - \overline{\theta})^{2}}{N - 1} = 0.634,$$
$$W^{2} = \frac{\sum_{j}^{M} (\beta_{j}^{0} - \overline{\beta})^{2}}{M - 1} = 4.873$$

Next, we calculate the angular coefficients (Lord et al., 1968):

$$Y = \left(1 + \frac{V^2}{2.89}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = 1.104$$

Q#	Progress	p_i	q_i	β_i^0
1	98.00%	0.98	0.02	-3.89182
2	94.00%	0.94	0.06	-2.75154
3	90.00%	0.90	0.10	-2.19722
4	94.00%	0.94	0.06	-2.75154
5	96.00%	0.96	0.04	-3.17805
6	90.00%	0.90	0.10	-2.19722
7	92.00%	0.92	0.08	-2.44235
8	84.00%	0.84	0.16	-1.65823
9	88.00%	0.88	0.12	-1.99243
10	74,00%	0.74	0.26	-1.04597
11	98.00%	0.98	0.02	-3.89182
12	100.00%	1.00	0.00	-∞
13	94.00%	0.94	0.06	-2.75154
14	90.00%	0.90	0.10	-2.19722
15	88.00%	0.88	0.12	-1.99243
16	90.00%	0.90	0.10	-2.19722
17	42,00%	0.42	0.58	0.322773
18	80.00%	0.80	0.20	-1.38629
19	56,00%	0.56	0.44	-0.24116
20	82.00%	0.82	0.18	-1.51635

Table 3: Initial values β_i^0 of the item difficulty parameter.

$$X = \left(1 + \frac{W^2}{2.89}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = 1.63$$

Next on the formulas

$$\theta_i = -2.103 + 1.104\theta_i^0$$

$$\beta_i = 1.86 + 1.63\beta_i^0$$

calculate the scaled values β_i and θ_i of the parameters. In tables 4 and 5 scaled parameter values are pro-

vided.

For the analysis of test items quality we will create histograms of students' ability levels and levels of items difficulties on the basis of the received data. These histograms are shown in figure 3 and figure 4.



Figure 3: Ability levels histogram.



Figure 4: Items difficulty levels histogram

The histograms of the distributions of ability levels and difficulty levels of test items are visually similar to a normal distribution, which is typical for a good test. However, the distribution of difficulty levels of test items has a negative maximum, which indicates that there are more simple than difficult tasks in the test. The presence of a large number of easy tasks leads to the fact that assessments of the level of preparation of students will be inflated. This is clearly seen from the histogram of the training levels of the test participants, which clearly shows that the range of ability levels is from -1.8 to 2.3 logs, while the range of items difficulties levels is from -1.8 to 1.2 logs.

The sum of the scaled difficulty levels of test items is -27.93.

This means that the test items are very easy. This test is not balanced, it contains a lot of easy items. It is necessary to strive to ensure that this amount is close to zero. Thus, the assessment of latent parameters allows to determine noninformative items that should be excluded from the quiz. The use of the developed adaptive algorithm will allow to objectively assess the level of students' knowledge.

Now for all test tasks we construct characteristic curves using the relation (10)

$$P_j = \frac{1}{1 + \exp(-1.702(\theta - \beta_j))}$$
(10)

where P_j is the probability that the participant with the ability θ correctly performs the task j, j = 1, ..., M, with the difficulty β_j .

The graph of these characteristic curves is shown in figure 5.

Figure 5 shows that the characteristic curves for the items 1-2, 4-6, 8-11, 12-13 coincide, and the curves for tasks 17-18, 18-19 are more than 0.5 log apart. Thus, the characteristic curves are uneven. Since tasks with the same level of difficulty do not provide additional information when measuring a



Figure 5: Characteristic curves of test items.

Table 4: Scaled values of item difficulty parameter β_i .

Q#	β_i^0	β_i
1	-3.89182	-4.48367
2	-2.75154	-2,625
3	-2.19722	-1.72148
4	-2.75154	-2.625
5	-3.17805	-3.32023
6	-2.19722	-1.72148
7	-2.44235	-2.12103
8	-1.65823	-0.84291
9	-1.99243	-1.38766
10	-1.04597	0.155071
11	-3.89182	-4.48367
13	-2.75154	-2,625
14	-2.19722	-1.72148
15	-1.99243	-1.38766
16	-2.19722	-1.72148
17	0.322773	2.386121
18	-1.38629	-0.39966
19	-0.24116	1.466906
20	-1.51635	-0.61165

given level of knowledge, one should be left out of the tasks that match in terms of difficulty, and the rest should be deleted. It is necessary to keep the item that

Table 5:	Scaled	values	of the	ability	level	θ_i

Participant's number	Θ_i^0	Θ_i
1	2.197225	0.322736
2	1.098612	-0.89013
3	1.734601	-0.188
5	1.098612	-0.89013
7	2.197225	0.322736
8	2.197225	0.322736
9	0.847298	-1.16758
10	1.734601	-0.188

is most different from the remaining items in the test. To create a quality test, it is necessary to remove tasks 1, 5, 6, 10, 11, 12 from the test and add to the test items with difficulty that is in the interval between the complexity of 17-18 and 18-19 items.

The graph of the information function of test items and the test as a whole, defined by formulas (6) and (7), is shown in figure 6. Figure 6 shows that the information function has one clearly expressed maximum. This is a sign of a "good" test. However, it can be seen that the test contains a lot of easy test items with difficulties in the interval (-3; -2), which can be excluded from the test. Also in the test there are many easy tasks with the same difficulties, which can also be excluded from the test without violation of its information content. However, the more difficult tasks (with difficulties of 1-2 logits) are clearly not enough in the test, so it is necessary to add more complex tasks.



Figure 6: Information functions of the test and test items.

The graph of the measurement error, depending on the level of training, is shown in figure 7.



Figure 7: Measurement error graph.

It can be seen from the graph that the measurement error is large for the values of the ability in the interval (2, 4), which is associated with the lack of test items of increased difficulty.

4 RESULTS OF TEST ANALYSIS BY 2PL AND 3PL BIRNBAUM MODEL

The two-parameter (2PL) Birnbaum model differs from the Rasch model by the presence of the a_j parameter, which characterizes the differentiating ability of the *j*-th task. According to this model, the probability of a correct answer by an examinee with θ ability level to a test item with β_j difficulty is determined by the formula:

$$P_j(\boldsymbol{\theta}) = \frac{1}{1 + \exp\left(-1.7a_j\left(\boldsymbol{\theta} - \boldsymbol{\beta}_j\right)\right)}$$

The a_i parameter is defined by the relation

$$a_j = \frac{(r_{bis})_j}{\sqrt{1 - \left((r_{bis})_j\right)^2}}$$

where $(r_{bis})_j$ is the biserial correlation coefficient of the *j*-th task. Often, instead of this coefficient, a point biserial coefficient r_{ab}^j is used – correlation coefficient of each task with student individual score

$$r_{pb}^{j} = \frac{\overline{X_{1}} - \overline{X_{0}}}{s_{x}} \sqrt{\frac{n_{1}n_{0}}{n(n-1)}}$$
(11)

Here n_1 is the number of students who completed this item;

 n_0 – the number of students who did not complete it;

 $n = n_0 + n_1$ – total number of students;

 X_1 – average individual score of students who coped with the given item (the ratio of the sum of individual scores of students who completed this item to n_1);

 $\overline{X_0}$ – the average individual score of students who did not cope with this iten (the ratio of the sum of individual scores of students who did not completed this item, to n_0);

 s_x is the standard deviation for the individual scores of all students.

So, we will assume that

$$a_j \approx \frac{r_{pb}^j}{\sqrt{1 - \left(r_{pb}^j\right)^2}} \tag{12}$$

The parameter a_j is directly proportional to the slope of the characteristic curve at the inflection point. The greater the value of this parameter, the greater the steepness of the characteristic curve and, therefore, the greater the differentiating ability of the item. Therefore, to compare the levels of student's knowledge among themselves, it is important to select items depending on the values of the parameter a_j .

The table 6 shows the values of the point biserial coefficient r_{pb}^{j} , the parameter a_{j} and the difficulty of the items β_{j} . These parameters are calculated by formulas (4), (11), (12) respectively.

To obtain a test with a good distinguishing ability, we will use the following recommendations for selecting items. First of all, it is necessary to exclude tasks 7 and 3 from the test, which have a negative

Q#	7	3	6	14	16	9	15	8	20	18	10	19	17
β_j	-2.12	-1.72	-1.72	-1.72	-1.72	-1.39	-1.39	-0.84	-0.61	-0.40	0.16	1.47	2.39
r_{pb}^{j}	-0.01	-0.14	0.00	0.26	0.43	0.40	0.64	0.26	0.59	0.65	0.65	0.49	0.35
a_j	-0.01	-0.15	0.00	0.27	0.47	0.43	0.84	0.27	0.73	0.84	0.85	0.56	0.37

Table 6: The values of the parameters r_{pb}^{J} , a_j and β_j .

value of the discrimination parameter. This is due to the fact that examinee with a low level of knowledge respond well to them and poorly – with a high level of knowledge, which is contrary to common sense. This is due to guessing, when a student with a low level of knowledge randomly selects the correct answer. In addition, it is necessary to select tasks with sufficiently large values – from the interval (0.5; 2.5). In the test, from this point of view, tasks 6, 14, 8 will be the worst. Further analysis involves the selection of tasks with the greatest differentiating ability with equal difficulty.

Consider tasks 9 and 15, which have the same difficulty and differ in the parameter $a_j:a_9 = 0.43$, $a_{15} = 0.84$. According to the one-parameter Rasch model, both tasks have the same probability curve for the correct answer of the subjects (curve 1, figure 8), that is, from the point of view of the differentiating ability of the tasks, they are indistinguishable. In the case of a two-parameter model, we obtain two different characteristic curves: steeper (2) for task 15 and less steep (3) for task 9. Thus, when minimizing the length of the test, task 15 is preferable.



Figure 8: Comparison of the Rasch model and the twoparameter Birnbaum model for items 9 and 15.

The test in question is a closed-type test with the choice of a single correct answer out of five offered for each task. In such cases, in order to reduce the guessing effect, it is proposed to use the threeparameter Birnbaum model.

This Birnbaum model contains one more parameter c_i , which characterizes the probability of a correct answer to the task j if this answer is guessed and not based on knowledge. In this case, the probability of the correct answer of the subjects to the task of the jtest is expressed by the formula

$$P_{j}(\theta) = c_{j} + (1 - c_{j}) (1 + \exp(-1, 7a_{j}(\theta - \beta_{j})))^{-1},$$

where $c_j = \frac{1}{k_j}$, k_j is the number of responses to task *j*. In the test under consideration $k_j = 5$, $c_j = 0.2$.

The characteristic curves of these tasks cross the line $P_j(\theta) = c_j$, so the characteristic curves themselves become flatter, which leads to a decrease in the differentiating ability of the test.

The figure 9 shows the probability curves for the correct answer of the subjects to item 5, depending on the ability level θ , corresponding to the Rasch model(curve 1),the two-parameter model (curve 3) and the three-parameter model (curve 2).



Figure 9: Characteristic curves for item 15 according to Rasch and Birnbaum models.

Let us compare the information functions for the Rasch and Birnbaum models. For the Rasch model, the information function is determined by relation (6). For the two-parameter Birnbaum model, the information function is given by the expression

$$I_{j}(\boldsymbol{\theta}) = 2.89a_{j}^{2}P_{j}(\boldsymbol{\theta})Q_{j}(\boldsymbol{\theta}).$$

For the three-parameter Birnbaum model, the information function has the form

$$I_{j}(\boldsymbol{\theta}) = \frac{2.89a_{j}^{2}(1-c_{j})}{R_{i}(\boldsymbol{\theta})Q_{i}(\boldsymbol{\theta})},$$

where $R_i(\theta) = (c_j + \exp(1.7a_j(\theta - \beta_j)))$ and $Q_i(\theta) = (1 + \exp(-1.7a_j(\theta - \beta_j)))^2$.

The maximum value of the information function for the Rasch model and the two-parameter Birnbaum model is reached at the inflection point of the characteristic curve, that is, when the difficulty (in logits) is equal to the ability level. The maximum value of the information function for the Rasch model and the two-parameter Birnbaum model is reached at the inflection point of the characteristic curve, that is, when the difficulty (in logits) is equal to the level of knowledge (in logits). Thus, for θ_i , tasks with difficulty values β from the neighborhood of the point θ_i are the most informative (in logits). Thus, for θ_i , tasks with difficulty values β from the neighborhood of the point θ_i are the most informative.

In the figure 10, for items 9 and 15 of the test, information functions are shown: according to the Rasch model (curve 1 - common for two items), according to the two-parameter model for item 9 (curve 2) and for item 15 (curve 3). The difficulty of tasks is equal to -1.39, therefore these items are the most informative for values close to -1.39.



Figure 10: Information functions for items 9 and 15.

In the case of the three-parameter Birnbaum model, the maximum information function is reached at the point

$$\theta_{\max} = \beta_j + \frac{1}{1,7a_j} \left(0.5 + 0.5\sqrt{1+8c_j} \right).$$

For items 9, with difficulty $\beta = -1.39$, the maximum of the information function is reached at the point $\theta_{max} = 2$, and for task 15, with the same difficulty, at the point $\theta_{max} = 2$. The information function of the entire test is determined by the formula 7. The information function of the entire test must have one clearly defined maximum, otherwise the test needs to be improved, items with difficulties corresponding to the failure areas of the information function should be added to it.

The figure 11 shows the information functions of the entire test, based on the Rasch model, twoparameter (2PL) model, three-parameter (3PL) Birnbaum model. In the test under consideration, this condition is satisfied because each curve has one maximum point.



Figure 11: Information functions of test.

So, for the test in the discipline "Higher Mathematics", two Birnbaum models were built: two- and three-parameter. If we consider that the test should correspond to these models, it is necessary to get rid of some tasks, and change others. In particular, from the point of view of a normatively oriented test, it should have a sufficiently high differentiating ability. Therefore, tasks 9 and 14 should be removed, which are identical in difficulty with tasks 15 and 16, respectively, and differ in lower differentiating ability. In addition, it is necessary to replace or change tasks 6, 8, 17 so that their differentiating ability increases. Tasks 7 and 3 with a negative value of the discrimination parameter should be removed. As regards the information functions, the graphs built according to the three models, including the Rasch model, did not reveal any contradictions between theory and experiment.

To use the IRT model for assessing the quality of test items, it is necessary that the test results are adequate to this model. To check this fact, the adequacy is assessed based on Pearson's chi-squared test. To calculate the value $\chi^2_{\beta_j}$ for the *j*-th task, all test participants are divided according to the ability level into Q intervals, and for each interval the average value of their ability level $\bar{\theta}_q$ is found. The algorithm for dividing the range of change in the value of θ into intervals is constructed in such a way that if the level of ability of any participant coincides with the interval border, it shifts to the right so much that the value of this ability falls into the previous interval.

 $\chi^2_{\beta_j}$ is calculated based on the expression (Baker and Kim, 2017)

$$\chi_{\beta_j}^2 = \sum_{q=1}^{Q} \frac{(x_{qj} - T_q P_{qj})^2}{\delta_{\beta_j}^2},$$
 (13)

where x_{qj} is the number of test participants with ability level θ_q , who correctly answered the *j*-th test item; T_q is the total number of test participants with ability level $\bar{\theta}_q$; value δ_{β_i} is calculated by the formula:

$$\delta_{\beta_j} = \sqrt{T_q P_{qj} \left(1 - P_{qj}\right)}.$$
 (14)

 P_{qj} is the probability expression of successful completion of *j*-th item with difficulty β_j by a participant with the ability level $\bar{\theta}_q$ and is defined by IRT models. To assess the adequasy of test results with IRT models, we will use the R language tools. To do this, we will load the test results saved in the input.csv file with the CSV extension using the call

```
data<-read.csv("input.csv")</pre>
```

For data analysis, we use the ltm library of the R language. To use this library, it must be installed and loaded using the commands

```
install.package("ltm")
library("ltm")
```

After that, the following commaands can be used to estimate Rasch model for test data.

```
f1<-rasch(data,constraint =
    cbind(length(data)+1,1)))</pre>
```

To view the results of estimation, we use the following command

summary(data.rasch)

As a result, we obtain the following output:

```
Model Summary:
log.Lik AIC BIC
-321.6515 681.3031 717.6315
```

```
Coefficients:
```

	value	std.err	z.vals
Dffclt.v1	-4.3305	1.0338	-4.1888
Dffclt.v11	-4.3305	1.0338	-4.1888
Dffclt.v5	-3.5941	0.7533	-4.7712
Dffclt.v2	-3.1457	0.6323	-4.9751
Dffclt.v4	-3.1458	0.6323	-4.9751
Dffclt.v13	-3.1458	0.6323	-4.9751
Dffclt.v7	-2.8155	0.5619	-5.0104
Dffclt.v3	-2.5500	0.5151	-4.9510
Dffclt.v6	-2.5498	0.5150	-4.9509
Dffclt.v14	-2.5504	0.5151	-4.9511
Dffclt.v16	-2.5503	0.5151	-4.9511
Dffclt.v9	-2.3256	0.4813	-4.8319
Dffclt.v15	-2.3254	0.4813	-4.8318
Dffclt.v8	-1.9529	0.4355	-4.4842
Dffclt.v20	-1.7924	0.4193	-4.2750
Dffclt.v18	-1.6442	0.4060	-4.0502
Dffclt.v10	-1.2505	0.3775	-3.3122

Dffclt.v19	-0.2938	0.3435	-0.8552			
Dffclt.v17	0.3859	0.3450	1.1184			
Dscrmn	1.0000	NA	NA			
Integration	1:					
method: Gauss-Hermite						
quadrature points: 21						

```
Optimization:
Convergence: 0
max(|grad|): 0.0014
quasi-Newton: BFGS
```

The output contains the following information: log-likelyhood value (LogLik),the Akaike information criterion (AIC),Bayesian information criteria (BIC). AIC and BIC can be used to compare the relative fit of the models for the same data. The lower AIC and BIC value, the better the model fits the data. The output also include item difficulty estimates (Dffclt) with their standard error and z statistic. Using the functions ltm library, we can assess absolute model fit. This assessment can be conducted using chi-square test of the null hypothesis. The null hypothesis is that our model fits the data. To determine whether the model fit the individual items, we use the following command

```
item.fit(data.rasch,simulate.p.value=FALSE)
```

After using these command we obtain the following output:

Item-Fit Statistics and P-values

```
Call:
rasch(data = data,
constraint = cbind(ncol(data) + 1, 1))
```

```
Alternative: Items do not fit the model Ability Categories: 10
```

	X^2	Pr(>X^2)
v1	12.4481	0.0527
v11	12.4481	0.0527
v5	24.2183	0.0005
v2	35.3998	<0.0001
v4	18.3807	0.0053
v13	18.3807	0.0053
7	12.7657	0.0469
v3	19.6667	0.0032
v 6	17.7808	0.0068
v14	8.0073	0.2376
v16	9.8845	0.1296
v9	15.6480	0.0158
v15	15.6579	0.0157
v 8	19.6375	0.0032
v20	9.4753	0.1486
v18	15.7466	0.0152
v10	24.7008	0.0004
v19	29.4453	0.0001
v17	19.5219	0.0034

Analysing this result, we can conclude that the model does not accurately fit responses for the individual tasks. Item 2 turned out to be the worst. Items 19,10 and 5 are also poorly consistent with the Rasch model. Similar results can be obtained for the 2PL Birnbaum model.

To obtain estimates of latent trait, we use the following commands:

```
data.2pl<-ltm(data<sup>~</sup>z1)
summary(data.2pl)
```

As a result, we obtain

```
Call:
ltm(formula = data ~ z1)
Model Summary:
```

log.Lik AIC BIC -251.8978 579.7955 652.4524

Coefficients:

COCTITCIC			
	value	std.err	z.vals
Dffclt.v1	-3.6349	6.5440	-0.5555
Dffclt.v11	-3.6349	6.5440	-0.5555
Dffclt.v5	-2.8923	4.1718	-0.6933
Dffclt.v2	-2.3626	3.3693	-0.7012
Dffclt.v4	-2.5588	3.4556	-0.7405
Dffclt.v13	-4.1300	5.4315	-0.7604
Dffclt.v7	12.4254	34.7564	0.3575
Dffclt.v3	-9.4923	24.8491	-0.3820
Dffclt.v6	10.1668	23.5444	0.4318
Dffclt.v14	2.9872	2.4793	1.2049
Dffclt.v16	1.7069	1.2336	1.3837
Dffclt.v9	1.6604	1.0279	1.6154
Dffclt.v15	0.7883	151.3151	0.0052
Dffclt.v8	13.1975	51.8541	0.2545
Dffclt.v20	0.9232	0.5943	1.5533
Dffclt.v18	0.6679	2601.7180	0.0003
Dffclt.v10	0.4715	439.4082	0.0011
Dffclt.v19	-0.0204	65.1284	-0.0003
Dffclt.v17	-0.6392	797.0869	-0.0008
Dscrmn.v1	1.3535	1.8244	0.7419
Dscrmn.v11	1.3535	1.8244	0.7419
Dscrmn.v5	1.5005	1.5262	0.9832
Dscrmn.v2	1.7745	1.6673	1.0643
Dscrmn.v4	1.5215	1.4152	1.0751
Dscrmn.v13	0.7628	0.8333	0.9153
Dscrmn.v7	-0.1942	0.5450	-0.3563
Dscrmn.v3	0.2395	0.5988	0.4000
Dscrmn.v6	-0.2130	0.4947	-0.4305
Dscrmn.v14	-0.7469	0.5524	-1.3522
Dscrmn.v16	-1.5396	0.8178	-1.8827
Dscrmn.v9	-1.3673	0.6043	-2.2627
Dscrmn.v15	-27.8310	2871.9894	-0.0097
Dscrmn.v8	-0.1238	0.4912	-0.2521
Dscrmn.v20	-2.2078	0.9535	-2.3155
Dscrmn.v18	-36.3006	70169.1000	-0.0005
Dscrmn.v10	-44.8844	17157.7715	-0.0026
Dscrmn.v19	-38.3693	122239.5199	-0.0003
Dscrmn.v17	-33.1395	20052.6276	-0.0017

Integration: method: Gauss-Hermite quadrature points: 21 Optimization: Convergence: 0 max(|grad|): 0.012 quasi-Newton: BFGS

Comparing AIC and BIC for the Rasch model (AIC=681.3031, BIC=717.613) and for the 2PL Birnbaum model (AIC=579.7955,BIC=652.4524) we can conclude that 2PL model better fits the test data.

However, the function did not correctly calculate the difficulty level for some items, as evidenced by the std.err value. The presence of negative values of the discrimination coefficient indicates that these items does not fits the model. To assess the fit of each items, we use χ^2 test.

item.fit(data.2pl,simulate.p.value=FALSE)

The output of this command is shown below:

Item-Fit Statistics and P-values

Call: ltm(formula = data ~ z1)

Alternative: Items do not fit the model Ability Categories: 10

	X^2	Pr(>X^2)
v1	17.2949	0.0272
v11	17.2949	0.0272
v5	5.7470	0.6756
v2	8.6983	0.3684
v4	8.6199	0.3754
v13	18.0006	0.0212
v7	27.8472	0.0005
v3	32.8960	0.0001
v6	15.0469	0.0582
v14	19.2362	0.0136
v16	15.7731	0.0457
v9	19.5417	0.0122
v15	0.2435	1
v8	22.2559	0.0045
v20	11.2384	0.1886
v18	0.7094	0.9995
v10	23.5588	0.0027
v19	18.7206	0.0164
v17	2,4617	0.9635

From this output we see that the 2PL Birnbaum model did not fit items 3, 7, 10, 8, 19. Thus, by the R language tools, it was established which items correspond to the Rasch model and the two-parameter Birnbaum model.

5 DISCUSSION

The purpose of this paper was to automate the process of testing students' knowledge, which is especially relevant for distance learning. To achieve this goal an adaptive testing algorithm based on the Rasch model was proposed and the modeling of the students' knowledge assessment process using this algorithm was carried out. The results of testing their knowledge in the course "Higher Mathematics" obtained in the Moodle system were taken as the initial values of the tasks complexity and the levels of the students' ability.

As a result of modeling, the levels of students' abilities were recalculated. the information functions of the test tasks and the entire test as a whole were built. the standard measurement error was calculated. depending on the student's ability level. The analysis of the obtained results allows us to conclude that the test is not balanced and contains too many easy tasks. They are tasks with numbers 1, 3, 11. Removing them from the test will reduce the number of test items and speed up the process of determining the student's level of training.

A change in the assessment of the student's ability level as a result of testing indicates the need to introduce an adaptive testing system into the educational process which will improve the quality of assessment of students' knowledge.

These conclusions are confirmed by the works of other authors. So in this paper (Al-A'ali, 2006) it was shown that the use of adaptive testing based on IRT made it possible to reduce the number of test tasks and increase the reliability of determining the level of student readiness. The effectiveness of the use of adaptive testing to improve the quality of pedagogical measurements is evidenced by the works (Weiss, 1982, 2004).

6 CONCLUSIONS

In connection with the development of distance learning, the problem of automating the process of evaluating students' knowledge is becoming important. To solve this problem, the achievements of modern testing theory IRT were used. Mathematical models of IRT provide the basis for building an adaptive testing algorithm that allows you to automate the process of knowledge assessment.

As a result of this work, the following results were obtained:

 An algorithm of adaptive knowledge assessment based on the IRT approaches was proposed. This algorithm consists of an initial assessment of the difficulty level of test items and students' abilities, scaling of these parameters, selection of the next question based on minimizing the module of their difference and estimation of the measuring error of the knowledge level by the information function of the proposed question.

- 2. The test parameters were evaluated on the basis of IRT theory, which identified non-informative test questions that should be excluded from the set of test items.
- 3. The correspondence of the experimental data to the Rasch and 2PL Birnbaum model was assessed based on the Pearson's chi-squared test by using the language R, which made it possible to identify tasks that require replacement or processing.
- 4. The quality of the test was examined using three IRT models (Rasch model, 2PL and 3PL Birnbaum model), which allowed for a more careful selection of test items.

The results of the study showed the effectiveness of using IRT to assess knowledge. An analysis of these results allows us to conclude that the use of the IRT methods to build an adaptive algorithm will automate the process of knowledge assessment and increase the objectivity of assessment in distance learning. The use of several mathematical models in the adaptive algorithm makes it possible to choose among them the one that best fits the experimental data, which will improve the accuracy of assessing the student's knowledge.

In the future, we plan to improve the adaptive algorithm for assessing educational achievements by combining the Knowledge Space (KS) and IRT (Muñoz-Merino et al., 2018).

REFERENCES

- Al-A'ali, M. (2006). IRT-Item Response Theory Assessment for an Adaptive Teaching Assessment System. In Proceedings of the 10th WSEAS International Conference on APPLIED MATHEMATICS, MATH'06, page 518–522, Stevens Point, Wisconsin, USA. World Scientific and Engineering Academy and Society (WSEAS).
- Amelia, R. N. and Kriswantoro, K. (2017). Implementation of Item Response Theory for Analysis of Test Items Quality and Students' Ability in Chemistry. *JKPK (Jurnal Kimia dan Pendidikan Kimia)*, 2(1):1– 12. https://doi.org/10.20961/jkpk.v2i1.8512.
- Andersen, E. B. (1973). A goodness of fit test for the Rasch model. *Psychometrika*, 38(1):123–140. https://doi. org/10.1007/BF02291180.
- Andrich, D. (2005). The Rasch model explained. In *Applied Rasch measurement: A book of exemplars*, pages 27–59. Springer.
- Andrich, D. (2021). Rasch Models for Measurement. Thousand Oaks. https://methods.sagepub.com/book/ rasch-models-for-measurement.

- Andrich, D., Sheridan, B., and Luo, G. (2001). RUMM2010: Rasch Unidimensional Measurement Models. http://www.rummlab.com.au/.
- Avanesov, V. S. (1980). The problem of psychological tests. Soviet Education, 22(6):6–23. https://doi.org/ 10.2753/RES1060-939322066.
- Baker, F. B. and Kim, S.-H. (2017). The basics of item response theory using R. Statistics for Social and Behavioral Sciences. Springer Cham. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-319-54205-8.
- Bezruczko, N., editor (2005). Rasch measurement in health sciences. Jam Press Maple Grove, MN.
- Bond, T., Yan, Z., and Heene, M. (2020). Applying the Rasch model: Fundamental measurement in the human sciences. Routledge, fourth edition.
- Brown, W. (1910). Some experimental results in the correlation of mental abilities. *British Journal of Psychology*, 1904-1920, 3(3):296–322. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.2044-8295.1910.tb00207.x.
- Cronbach, L. J. (1951). Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. *Psychometrika*, 16(3):297–334. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02310555.
- Eckes, T. (2011). Introduction to Many-Facet Rasch Measurement. Peter Lang, Bern, Switzerland. url "https://www.peterlang.com/view/title/13347".
- Fischer, G. H. and Molenaar, I. W., editors (1995). Rasch models: Foundations, recent developments, and applications. Springer Science & Business Media. https: //doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-4230-7.
- Guilford, J. P. (1942). Fundamental Statistics in Psychology and Education. McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York, US. https://archive.org/details/in.ernet.dli. 2015.228996.
- Gulliksen, H. (1986). Perspective on Educational Measurement. Applied Psychological Measurement, 10(2):109–132. https: //doi.org/10.1177/014662168601000201.
- Guttman, L. (1944). A Basis for Scaling Qualitative Data. American Sociological Review, 9(2):139–150. https: //doi.org/10.2307/2086306.
- Ingebo, G. S. (1997). Probability in the Measure of Achievement. Mesa Press.
- Kuder, G. F. and Richardson, M. W. (1937). The theory of the estimation of test reliability. *Psychometrika*, 2(3):151–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02288391.
- Lord, F. M. (1980). Applications of Item Response Theory To Practical Testing Problems. Routledge. https://doi. org/10.4324/9780203056615.
- Lord, F. M., Novick, M. R., and Birnbaum, A. (1968). Statistical theories of mental test scores. Addison-Wesley, Oxford.
- Luce, R. D. and Tukey, J. W. (1964). Simultaneous conjoint measurement: A new type of fundamental measurement. *Journal of Mathematical Psychology*, 1(1):1– 27. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2496(64)90015-X.
- Maslak, A. A., Karabatsos, G., Anisimova, T. S., and Osipov, S. A. (2005). Measuring and comparing higher education quality between countries worldwide. *Journal of Applied Measurement*, 6(4):432–442.
- Muñoz-Merino, P. J., Novillo, R. G., and Kloos, C. D. (2018). Assessment of skills and adaptive learning

for parametric exercises combining knowledge spaces and item response theory. *Applied Soft Computing*, 68:110–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asoc.2018.03. 045.

- Perline, R., Wright, B. D., and Wainer, H. (1979). The Rasch model as additive conjoint measurement. *Applied Psychological Measurement*, 3(2):237–255. https://doi.org/10.1177/014662167900300213.
- Rasch, G. (1960). Studies in mathematical psychology: I. Probabilistic models for some intelligence and attainment tests. Nielsen & Lydiche.
- Sax, G. (1989). Principles of educational and psychological measurement and evaluation. Wadsworth Pub. Co., Belmont, 3rd edition.
- Smith, E. V. and Smith, R. M., editors (2004). Introduction to Rasch measurement: Theory, models and applications. JAM Press.
- Spearman, C. (1910). Correlation calculated from faulty data. British Journal of Psychology, 1904-1920, 3(3):271–295. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8295. 1910.tb00206.x.
- Tjabolo, S. A. and Otaya, L. G. (2019). Quality of School Exam Tests Based on Item Response Theory. Universal Journal of Educational Research, 7(10):2156– 2164. https://doi.org/10.13189/ujer.2019.071013.
- van der Linden, W. J. and Hambleton, R. K., editors (1997). Handbook of Modern Item Response Theory. Springer Science & Business Media. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-1-4757-2691-6.
- Weiss, D. J. (1982). Improving measurement quality and efficiency with adaptive testing. *Applied Psychological Measurement*, 6(4):473–492. https://doi.org/10.1177/014662168200600408.
- Weiss, D. J. (2004). Computerized adaptive testing for effective and efficient measurement in counseling and education. *Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development*, 37(2):70–84. https://doi.org/10. 1080/07481756.2004.11909751.
- Wilson, M. (2005). Constructing Measures: An Item Response Modeling Approach. Routledge.
- Wright, B. D. (1977). Solving Measurement Problems with the Rasch Model. *Journal of Educational Measurement*, 14(2):97–116. http://www.jstor.org/stable/ 1434010.
- Wright, B. D. and Linacre, J. M. (1987). Dichotomous rasch model derived from specific objectivity. *Rasch measurement transactions*, 1(1):5–6. https://www.rasch. org/rmt/rmt11a.htm.
- Wright, B. D. and Masters, G. N. (1982). Rating scale analysis. Mesa Press, Chicago.
- Wright, B. D. and Stone, M. H. (1979). Best test design. Mesa Press, Chicago. https://www.rasch.org/BTD_RSA/pdf%20[reduced% 20size]/Best%20Test%20Design.pdf.
- Zaqoot, W., Oh, L.-B., Koh, E., Seah, L. H., and Teo, H.-H. (2021). The Use of Rasch Model to Create Adaptive Practices in e-Learning Systems. In ACIS 2021 Proceedings, page 69. https://aisel.aisnet.org/acis2021/ 69.

Development of the Certification System of Educational Resources

Oksana Buinytska¹^a and Svitlana Vasylenko¹^b

Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, 18/2 Bulvarno-Kudriavska Str, Kyiv, 04053, Ukraine {o.buinytska, s.vasylenko}@kubg.edu.ua

Keywords: Internal Certification System, ELC, Educational Resources, HEI Teachers.

Abstract: The article is devoted to the coverage of research on the development of system of internal certification of e-learning courses (hereinafter - ELC), which was carried out for several years with the aim of modeling the system of internal certification of educational resources for mixed and electronic learning in higher education and the creation of quality educational resources for blended and e-learning in Higher education. The authors describe the prerequisites for the internal certification system modeling and the features of recent changes in the process of internal certification of educational resources, approved by the university regulations, which is related to the requirements of the situation with COVID-19. The article describes the current model of the system of internal certification of educational resources, which is based on the approbation of the pilot model of ELC certification. The key components of the internal certification system are three mandatory expertise (professional, resource and technical). Based on the results of which, the methodological commission decides on the quality of educational resources of the ELC and its certification. Expectations from the current system of internal certification of ELC implementation were justified to a high degree, in particular, we have the following ad-vantages of their use: the creation of quality educational resources, expanding access to various categories of participants in the educational process to educational content; ensuring the individualization of the educational process under the needs, characteristics and capabilities of learners; improving the quality and efficiency of the educational process through the use of digital and innovative educational technologies; ensuring systematic monitoring of the quality of education, implementation of blended and e-learning in higher education.

1 INTRODUCTION

Students and teachers of Ukrainian universities are in a situation of limited access to classrooms due to active hostilities, and before that in connection with the COVID-19 pandemic. For higher education, the transition to blended and e-learning is the best way to organize learning. Today, all teachers understand and support changes in many dimensions of higher education and the transformation not only of approaches to the educational process, but also of their consciousness, psychological attitude and motivation to actively use e-resources in the implementation of blended learning and e-learning (Morze et al., 2018; Velykodna, 2021).

Also, general global trends in education need a transformation of pedagogical approaches, because, on the one hand, generations of students who need modern quality resources and greater use of digital tools, on the other hand, the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic and the war of February 24, 2022 do not leave our country has alternatives in choosing the form of education (Hrynevych et al., 2020b,a). The implementation of blended and e-learning further stimulates the development of a system of certification of educational resources for the creation of quality educational materials in various electronic formats by introducing quality assessment of educational materials used by students.

Higher education institutions try in different ways to solve the issue of ensuring the quality of e-learning, including e-courses and e-content through the development of standards and the creation of e-learning systems (Abdel-Haq and Asfoura, 2021), implementing many-sided evaluation of e-learning and digital competences of teachers (Al-Hunaiyyan et al., 2021). An important factor influencing the quality of educational e-resources is determined by their students' assessment both in the process of use and upon completion of work in e-courses through various surveys (Kaewsaiha and Chanchalor, 2021; Sultan et al.,

118

Buinytska, O. and Vasylenko, S. Development of the Certification System of Educational Resources. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 118-127 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0 Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3611-2114

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5790-572X

2021).

To develop an internal certification system of educational resources, it is necessary to develop criteria for creating quality educational resources and their comprehensive evaluation, which includes evaluation of e-course students, examination of e-resources and determining the technological feasibility of e-course components.

From this point of view, the preparation of quality educational resources for higher education can be provided by the university internal certification system of educational resources. The study, aimed at studying the impact of the system of internal certification of educational resources for blended and e-learning at the university took place in several stages:

- 1. Creating an internal certification system of educational resources:
 - Creation of a pilot model for certification of elearning courses (hereinafter – ELC).
 - Approbation of the pilot model of certification of electronic training courses
 - Development of an internal certification system of educational resources for blend-ed and e-learning in higher education institutions
- 2. Active promotion of criteria for the quality of educational resources in e-courses through training for the vast majority of university teachers, depending on the level of their digital competence. For this purpose, the curriculum of the course "Digital Module" and the corresponding e-course in the e-learning system of the university have been created.
- 3. Creation of the Corporate standard of digital competence of the university teachers. The approbation pilot model for e-course certification, those ELC which teachers created as an additional resource to support academic disciplines, was tested by collectively discussing the results of the implementation. At the same time, trainings were held for teachers who wanted to be at the forefront of promoting blended and e-learning at the University. The research was managed by IT in Education Laboratory together with institutes and faculties of Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University.

The development of the system of internal certification of educational resources for blended and elearning took place at the University level and resulted in the approval of the Regulations on the creation and certification of e-learning courses, which is the main tool for the internal certification of educational resources offer for University (Reg, 2020). It should be noted that until the approval of the internal certification system to ensure education at the University, only 9% of certified ELC were used for bachelor's degree, and 18% for master's degree (Buinytska and Vasylenko, 2020).

The current model of the internal certification system of educational resources is described in the articles (Morze et al., 2016; Buinytska and Vasylenko, 2022).

Research and intermediate results of the process of development of the internal system of certification of educational resources are described in the article below.

2 THE ELC DESIGN IN THE E-LEARNING SYSTEM

The university e-learning system is a special educational portal built on the Moodle platform (modular object-oriented dynamic learning environment), which allows you to create learning material that is stored as a structured ELC and through which is implemented as blended and e-learning links. The elearning system is designed to provide the educational process at the university.

For effective work of teachers and students in the e-learning system were created personal digital cabinets of users (students, teachers, administrators), which provide quick access to useful digital resources: class schedule, means of communication and cooperation with colleagues and students, libraries (scientific materials, access to scientometric databases, etc.), electronic portfolio systems, search for scientific publications and checking student work for plagiarism, questionnaires for students to assess ELC, catalog of courses of choice for university students and other useful links (Ogneviuk et al., 2020; Buinytska, 2016).

In the personal cabinet, teachers have the opportunity to use filters to show the ELCs they are currently working with, view their own workload, work with the automated module "Individual teacher plan" and so on.

ELC are formed automatically in accordance with the curricula of higher education students in the academic/educational professional program of the university. The ELC is developed by authors, which can be a teacher or a team of teachers, who are appointed by the decision of the department of the university from among the academic staff/professors/lecturers/employees of the university. In the future, teachers are enrolled in the ELC and their role is defined: author, author-teacher, teacher with appropriate levels of access. The developed ELC is the property and intellectual property of the University and must have a unified structure and meet the following characteristics:

- structured teaching and methodical materials;
- logical configuration of the discipline studies;
- a clear schedule for students to complete the curriculum;
- the system of interactive interaction of participants of educational process among themselves, means of resources of ELC and technologies of distance learning, during all time of studying of discipline is adjusted;
- high-quality training materials that allow the form of competencies declared in the working program of the academic discipline;
- system of control and evaluation of all types of educational activities of students.

Electronic resources included in the ELC have two types according to the level of student activity. Resources are designed to provide students with the content of educational material, such as structured electronic lecture notes, multimedia lecture presentations, audio and video materials (podcasts, videocasts, webcasts, etc.). And methodical recommendations, resources that ensure the development of the studied material, the formation of skills, acquisition of general and special (professional) competencies, selfassessment and evaluation of educational achievements of applicants, for example: tasks, testing, questionnaires, forums, etc. including the use of digital technologies. The digital learning technologies encourage the development of cognitive, creative, communicative and collaborative skills (Leshchenko et al., 2020; Buinytska and Vasylenko, 2019) using ELCs, which are developed for each discipline of the curriculum.

3 UNIFICATION OF THE ELC STRUCTURE

The structure of the ELC is unified for easy use by students. The structure of the ELC needs obligatory components of the ELC, approved by the Regulations on the procedure for creating e-learning courses, their certification and use in the e-learning system of Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University (Sultan et al., 2021):

1. The section with the description of ELC contains an indication of the Academic/Education Professional Program with title and educational level; contains the reference to the actual working program of educational discipline in the Institutional repository; general information about the discipline through resources: working program - syllabus; evaluation criteria; printed and Internet sources; glossary; announcements; information about the author (figure 1);

- 2. Teaching and methodical materials from each content module (figure 2):
 - theoretical material (structured electronic learning materials, manual in the form of resources Lecture or Book, multimedia presentations of lectures, audio, video, animation learning resources, a list of printed and Internet sources);
 - practical/seminars/laboratory works (content, methodical instructions on their performance, list of tasks, form of presentation of results of performance, terms of performance, evaluation criteria);
 - tasks for individual work of applicants (content, guidelines for their implemen-tation, list of tasks, form of submission of results, deadlines, evaluation criteria);
 - module control (control questions, tasks, form of work submission, deadlines, evaluation criteria);
- 3. Materials for the final control in the form of an examination (description of the procedure, examination program or references, indicative list of questions, evaluation criteria); in the resource Exam give a brief description indicating the procedure for the exam and evaluation criteria.
- 4. Additional materials.

Special conditions: if the course is practical, it is advisable to present theoretical in-formation in at least one general resource Lecture or Book; for courses where listening, speaking, etc is obligatory, the form of submission of the completed work in the form of audio or video file, communication/interview in voice or video chat is allowed.

4 THE ELC INTERNAL CERTIFICATION SYSTEM

4.1 Model of the ELC Internal Certification System

The process of testing the pilot model lead to its significant modeling and design of a qualitatively new



Teaching and methodical materials from each content module



Figure 2: The module content.

integrated system of internal certification of educational resources for blended and e-learning (figure 3).

The ELC internal certification system is regulated by the approved Regulations and, accordingly, is carried out monthly following the decisions of the Academic Councils of the institutes and faculties of the university.

The main processes of the certification system presented in the model are: ELC design; organization and conduct of expertise; analysis of expertise results and certification decision-making.

During the professional expertise the scientific level of the course materials is determined, the correspondence of all created resources to the working programs, goals and objectives of the discipline. The relevance of the content, novelty of the submit-ted material, its completeness and logical consistency, content and methodological expediency of the created resources, methodological aspects of the course organization, pedagogical and psychological bases of organization of students' and pedagogical staffs' educational activity, their interaction, organization of control system are analyzed.

The procedure for managing a professional expertise includes the following steps:

- appointment of experts by the director dean of the structural unit;
- online expertise by appointed experts with conclusion;
- discussion of the results of the expertise at the meeting of the department.

The expertise of ELC resources is carried out by the ICT Assistant Director/Dean and involves the analysis of the availability of obligatory ELC components and the determination of the level of compliance of each component with the requirements specified in the regulation. The passing score for the expertise of ELC resources for further submission for technical examination is 70 (out of 130 possible).

The professional expertise and expertise of resources takes place in the first two weeks of the cur-



Model of the ELC internal certification system

Figure 3: Model of the ELC internal certification system.



Figure 4: Key-steps of the ELC Internal Certification.

rent month, after which the ICT assistant can acquaint the author/authors with the conclusions of the expertise.

The generalized conclusion of the ELC examination is signed by the director/dean and submitted by the ICT assistant to IT in Education Laboratory.

The technical expertise of the ELC is carried out by the IT in Education Laboratory at the request of structural units with obligatory monitoring in an online document, which is set up open access for viewing to all participants in the educational process. Technical expertise provides an analysis of the implementation of system-wide requirements: the correct operation of the Journal of Assessments; optimal filling of the test bank; correct test setup; availability and settings of blocks "Now on the site", "Progress of completion"; setting deadlines for tasks.

4.2 Key-steps of the ELC Internal Certification

The ELC certification decision is made by the methodical commission for ELC certification, the composition of which is approved by the order, is adopted collectively based on the generalized conclusion of the head of structural division based on conclusions of expertise.

Authors should initiate ELC certification and take

the following steps (figure 4):

- I. Send a request to the ICT Assistant to lead an expertise of resources and request the appointment of the director/dean of the structural unit of experts.
- II. Enroll experts in the ELC and invite them by letter with a link to the ELC and password access.
- III. Monitor and respond on time to the results of the expertise.

The results of each stage of certification are reflected in a free-to-view document, which allows authors to make adjustments to the submitted ELC in accordance with the submitted recommendations.

5 THE IMPACT OF THE ELC INTERNAL CERTIFICATION ON THE QUALITY OF LEARNING RESOURCES FOR BLENDED AND E-LEARNING

In a pandemic, the university's educational process was organized using e-learning, to ensure which the university's e-learning system was used quite actively in combination with online communication and collaboration tools (Buinytska and Vasylenko, 2020).

The number of activities by both teachers and students of higher education has increased many times, which confirms a significant increase in the use of ELC. The number of actions of students in 2020 exceeded 9 million and, compared to 2019, increased more than 3 times, teachers – exceeded 2,5 million, an increase of 4 times, due to the processing of educational material, performance and loading of tasks applicants, checking the downloaded tasks, as well as filling the ELC with educational content and keeping a journal of assessment by teachers.

Ensuring the quality of educational resources with which students work has become an important task for the University teachers.

The number of ELCs created in 2020 has almost doubled compared to 2019, which made it possible to provide ELCs to almost 90% of disciplines, of which 60% of ELC are fully developed and fully used in the study of disciplines, others are gradually filled with educational content and used for keeping a log of assessments.

Analysis of ELC that are actively used in the educational process confirms an increase in active ELC by 1,5 times compared to 2019 (figure 5).

Students rated the ELC on a five-point scale from 0 to 5, according to the proposed criteria: Clarity;



Figure 5: Comparison of the number of Active ELC.

Accessibility; Relevant; Creativity; Expediency. The evaluation of the ELC in 2020 compared to 2019 remained almost at the same high level of evaluation.

The ELC score in 2021 has significantly increased compared to 2020. The 2020 and 2019 estimates were almost at the same high valuation level. This is a confirmation of the development of the internal certification system of ELC, the effectiveness of conducting systematic trainings for teachers and the implementation of the Corporate Standard of Digital Competence of University teachers (figure 6).



Figure 6: The results of ELC assessment by students.

The observed decrease in the assessment of ELC exhibited by students is caused by the creation and simultaneous use of them during a pandemic, in the mode of full distance learning. Among the reasons are: during the transition to distance learning teachers and students experienced technical difficulties (the need to create activities quickly; insufficient level of digital competence of teachers, psychological barriers to using e-learning, sometimes poor access to the Internet). In 2020, teachers began to use the e-learning system in extreme conditions, not all were fully created ELC, some ELC contained only checkpoints for scoring to form a journal of grades, so students objectively more rigorously assessed ELC in the e-learning system already having a large number of ELC for comparison.

The analysis of the evaluated ELCs confirms the use of ELCs that were filled with content at the same time as the classes, as only 22% of the evaluated ELCs were certified and, accordingly, the level of evaluation of such ELCs averages 4,6 out of 5,0, which remains at levels of 2019.

According to the results of student assessment, certified ELCs are qualitatively developed, the resources presented to them are clear, accessibility; relevant; creativity; expediency and they are sufficient to master the discipline (figure 7). This study was conducted until 2021, and based on its results, it was decided that students will only evaluate certified ELCs.



Figure 7: Comparison of assessment of certified and noncertified ELC.

In 2021 and 2020, the percentage of ELC certification remains at a high level of 93%, which is an increase of 20% compared to 2019 (72%) and indicates a positive trend in providing disciplines with certified ELC (figure 8).



Figure 8: Dynamics of ELC certification.

The positive trend of increasing the number of certified ELCs confirms the need for them by students and teachers. That is why the introduction of the internal certification system justifies an important role in the preparation of quality educational resources and in general in the modernization of the e-learning system of the University now and in the future.

In particular, the opportunity has already been realized for students in a separate ELC not only to have access to educational materials 24/7/365, but also to monitor the progress of personal educational activities. The introduction of the ELC internal certification system has prompted the creation of academic/educational professional programs in the elearning system, the main advantages of which are the student's ability to see a list of all disciplines to study during semesters and scores in disciplines (figure 9).

The implementation of Academic/Educational Professional Programs in the e-learning system has provided the structuring of the e-learning system, access to educational resources of all disciplines of the curriculum; made it possible to carry out constant monitoring of the provision of academic disciplines with the relevant ELC, the level of their development and certification. It is due to the functioning of the internal certification system that there is an increase in the percentage of quality ELCs that have the status of certified. In the future, it is expected that 100% of all educational programs will be certified by ELC.

Part of the ELC internal certification system is the automated control "Report by the department", which reflects the percentage of certified ELC, provided by the curriculum in graphical form (figure 10).

When deploying such a report, the e-learning system displays a complete list of names of disciplines for which ELC are developed and used and which of them are certified, which encourages teachers to improve the ELC used and initiate their certification. The analysis of the results of the implementation of the ELC internal certification system shows its positive impact on the quality of educational resources and the provision of educational services in general.

6 DEVELOPMENT OF THE ELC INTERNAL CERTIFICATION SYSTEM AND ITS IMPACT ON TEACHERS' USE OF THE E-LEARNING SYSTEM FOR BLENDED AND E-LEARNING

The certification process is a formal procedure and is mandatory for those teachers who wish to extend their employment contract at Grinchenko University. But without a detailed model of the system and the requirements for ELC resources without additional training, it is difficult for teachers to create materials in accordance with the declared quality criteria. Therefore, for the development of ELC Internal Certification System there is a system of increasing digital competence in several schemes. One of them is the involvement of teachers to participate in mastering the Digital Module (figure 11), which aims to increase the level of digital competence of scientific and pedagogical, scientific and pedagogical staff of the university, their ability to effectively use digital technologies in the educational process. The program of the module involves the study of the following topics:

- Modern educational trends and ways of introduction into the educational process of innovative technologies. 21st century skills and digital skills.
- 2. Blended and e-learning. E-learning technologies. Resources for creating e-content and criteria for its evaluation.

011.00.03 Corporate education and staff development (2020). Master's degree
谷 Home 🛛 Dashboard 🛔 This course ᠿTeacher's page ᠿHelp on ENC
> Courses > Pedagogical Institute > Educational programs > 011.00.03 Corporate education and staff development
News
Educational and professional program
😑 Curriculum
Semester 1
Sociology of educational needs (credit)
💊 Andragogy (exam)
💊 Leadership in education (credit)
G Personnel management (credit)
Foreign language for professional purposes (without final control)
Final control in the 2nd semester
Course link
😋 Organizational psychology and psychology of work (exam)
🍋 Monitoring the educational needs of the corporation (credit)
Internet and applied information technologies in education (exam)
Corporate pedagogy and staff development (without final control)
Final control in the 2nd semester
Course link
Production practice (methodical) (without final control)
Final control in the 2nd semester
Semester 2
Solution Provide the American Structure (Section 2019) Section 2019 (Section 2019) Section 2019 (Section 2019) Section 2019 (Section 2019) Section 2019 (Section 2019) Section 2019) Section 2019 (Section 2019) Sec
💪 Corporate pedagogy and staff development (exam)

Corporate culture and ethics (credit)

Figure 9: Academic/Educational Professional Programs in the e-learning system.







Actuality of implementation of project activities

50 Figure 11: Representation about relevant resources in the Digital Module.

- 3. Online services and digital technologies of effective communication.
- 4. Online services and digital technologies of effective collaboration.
- 5. Online services and digital technologies for formative assessment.

Answering the question about the most relevant resources, the majority chose resources for creating e-content, Resources for organizing effective collaboration, re-sources for organizing effective communication, University e-learning system, Tools for creating infographics.

The developed and approved Corporate Standard of Grinchenko University Teacher Digital Competence (Corporate Standard of Digital Competence, 2021) describes the use of digital skills in the main areas of activity of the teacher, in particular research, educational activities, digital self-management, professional communication and cooperation. The standard defines five levels of digital competence: Research Analyst - A, Integrator - B1, Expert - B2, Leader - C1, Innovator - C2. In accordance with these levels, detailed descriptors were developed, which are the basis of the newly created adaptive system for the development of the teacher's digital competence, access to which is implemented in the personal office of the University teacher.

7 CONCLUSIONS

The development of the system of internal certification of educational resources after the approval of the pilot model of ELC certification confirms the effectiveness of its use and the expediency of further work.

A system of internal certification of educational resources for blended and e-learning can be recommended for implementation in higher education institutions.

150

200

100

The three independent and diverse expertise (professional, resource and technical) that underlie the system of internal certification and evaluation of ELC by students ensure high quality educational resources and, as a result, the quality of educational services. In the future, it is planned to achieve 100% ELC certification for all educational programs that train professionals with a sufficient level of digital and professional competence and are competitive in the labor market.

The development of the internal certification system encourages teachers to increase the level of technical and professional competence, allows you to increase your rating among university teachers; expand the use of digital technologies in the educational process; the creation of modern educational digital resources taking into account the peculiarities of the styles of material perception and the design of criteria for assessing their quality; using digital tools for effective communication and collaboration in blended and e-learning; development of abilities and a sense of the need for constant self-development and selfimprovement. On the other hand, teachers, having tools and opportunities for self-development, create high-quality e-content for teaching students.

According to the purpose of the research, we have achieved very important results and have the following advantages:

- quality educational resources,
- expanding access to educational content;
- the individualization,
- improving the quality and efficiency of education through the use of digital and innovative educational technologies;

• monitoring the quality of education.

REFERENCES

- (2020). Regulations on the procedure for creating e-learning courses, their certification and use in the e-learning system of Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University. https://kubg.edu.ua/images/stories/Departaments/ vdd/documenty/rozdil_7/nakaz_674_29.10.20.pdf.
- Abdel-Haq, M. S. and Asfoura, E. (2021). Proposed V-E-learning Model: Applying V-Model to Ensure theQuality of E-Learning System Implementationat Higher Education Institutions (The Case of Dar Al Uloom University - COVID-19 Pandemic Effect). *Turkish Journal of Computer and Mathematics Education*, 12(6):1492–1507. https://doi.org/10.17762/ turcomat.v12i6.2688.
- Al-Hunaiyyan, A., Alhajri, R., and Bimba, A. (2021). Towards an Efficient Integrated Distance and Blended Learning Model: How to Minimize the Impact of COVID-19 on Education. *International Journal* of Interactive Mobile Technologies, 15(10):173–193. https://doi.org/10.3991/ijim.v15i10.21331.
- Buinytska, O. (2016). E-education content management. In Smyrnova-Trybulska, E., editor, *E-learning Method*ology – Implementation and Evaluation, volume 8 of *E-learning*, pages 451–467. Studio NOA for University of Silesia in Katowice, Katowice, Cieszyn.
- Buinytska, O. and Vasylenko, S. (2019). Using e-courses to enhance the future teachers' digital competence. *Open educational e-environment of modern university*, Special edition:44–62. https://doi.org/10.28925/ 2414-0325.2019s5.
- Buinytska, O. and Vasylenko, S. (2020). E-learning to Ensure the Educational Services' Quality in University Distance Learning. In Smyrnova-Trybulska, E., editor, *Innovative Educational Technologies, Tools and Methods for E-learning*, volume 12 of *E-learning*, pages 88–100. Studio NOA for University of Silesia in Katowice, Katowice, Cieszyn.
- Buinytska, O. P. and Vasylenko, S. V. (2022). Modeling of an internal educational resource certification system. *Educational Dimension*, 6:118–130. https://doi.org/ 10.31812/educdim.4487.
- Corporate Standard of Digital Competence (2021). Corporate standard of digital competence of teachers of Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University. https://kubg.edu.ua/images/stories/Departaments/ vdd/nakaz_421_11.06.21.pdf.
- Hrynevych, L., Ilich, L., Morze, N., Protsenko, O., Proshkin, V., Shemelynets, I., Lynov, K., and Rii, H. (2020a). Organization of the educational process in Ukrainian schools under quarantine: an analytical note. Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, Kyiv. https://tinyurl.com/yxv5nx8x.
- Hrynevych, L., Morze, N., and Boiko, M. (2020b). Scientific education as the basis for innovative competence formation in the conditions of digital transformation of the society. *Information Technologies and Learning*

Tools, 77(3):1–26. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v77i3. 3980.

- Kaewsaiha, P. and Chanchalor, S. (2021). Factors affecting the usage of learning management systems in higher education. *Education and Information Technologies*, 26:2919–2939. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10639-020-10374-2.
- Leshchenko, M., Hrynko, V., and Kosheliev, O. (2020). Methods of Designing Digital Learning Technologies for Developing Primary School Pre-Service Teachers' 21st Century Skills. In Sokolov, O., Zholtkevych, G., Yakovyna, V., Tarasich, Y., Kharchenko, V., Kobets, V., Burov, O., Semerikov, S., and Kravtsov, H., editors, Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kharkiv, Ukraine, October 06-10, 2020, volume 2732 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 1028–1043. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2732/20201028.pdf.
- Morze, N., Buinytska, O., and Varchenko-Trotsenko, L. (2016). Creating a modern e-learning course in the MOODLE system. Kamenets-Podolsky.
- Morze, N., Vasylenko, S., and Hladun, M. (2018). Ways to improve the motivation of university teachers to develop their digital competence. *Open educational eenvironment of modern University*, 5:160–177. https: //doi.org/10.28925/2414-0325.2018.5.160177.
- Ogneviuk, V., Morze, N., Buinytska, O., and Varchenko-Trotsenko, L. (2020). *I am in the digital environment of the university*, chapter 5, pages 117–174. I am a student. Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, Kyiv, 9th. edition.
- Sultan, R. A., Alqallaf, A. K., Alzarooni, S. A., Alrahma, N. H., AlAli, M. A., and Alshurideh, M. T. (2021). How Students Influence Faculty Satisfaction with Online Courses and Do the Age of Faculty Matter. In Hassanien, A. E., Haqiq, A., Tonellato, P. J., Bellatreche, L., Goundar, S., Azar, A. T., Sabir, E., and Bouzidi, D., editors, *Proceedings of the International Conference on Artificial Intelligence and Computer Vision (AICV2021)*, volume 1377, pages 823–837, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76346-6.72.
- Velykodna, M. (2021). Psychoanalysis during the COVID-19 pandemic: Several reflections on countertransference. *Psychodynamic Practice*, (27):10–28. https: //doi.org/10.1080/14753634.2020.1863251.
The Taxonomies of Educational and Scientific Studies Role in Centralized Informational Web-Oriented Educational Environment

Viktor B. Shapovalov¹[®]^a Yevhenii B. Shapovalov¹[®]^b, Roman A. Tarasenko¹[®]^c,

Stanislav A. Usenko¹^{od}, Adrian Paschke²^{oe} and Irina M. Shapovalova³^{of}

¹The National Center "Junior Academy of Sciences of Ukraine", 38-44 Degtyarivska Str., Kyiv, 04119, Ukraine

²Fraunhofer FOKUS (with support of BMBF "EXPAND+ER WB3"), 31 Kaiserin-Augusta-Allee, Berlin, 10589, Germany

³Secondary comprehensive school No. 69 of Kyiv, 25 Donetska Str., Kyiv, 03151, Ukraine sjb@man.gov.ua,

svb@man.gov.ua, tarasenko@man.gov.ua, farkry17@gmail.com, paschke@inf.fu-berlin, 2429920@gmail.com

Keywords: Cloud Technologies, Ontology, Educational Research, Taxonomy, Systematization.

Abstract: The scientific/educational studies may be structured using the formalization of IMRAD approach that provides interoperability of data. The study focusing on the using of the studies' results as part of the centralized informational web-oriented educational environment. The structurization was provided on two studies – "Development of a rational approach for utilizing methane tank waste at LLC Vasylkivska chicken farm" and "Development of a strategy for utilizing methane tank effluent". The specific tools of CIT Polyhedron were used to make specific tools related to processing of studies data. The audit tool provides comparing the newly inputted data to existing data in taxonomies and highlights the cases of full corresponding of some elements of works for existing ones (for example, objects of studies). The approach of integration of studies with educational ontologies (that is part of centralized informational web-oriented educational environment) is described. The formalization of this process is described using mathematical expressions.

1 INTRODUCTION

Now, more than ever, science affects all aspects of human life. The latest scientific developments are often and quickly implemented in the industry. However, the scientific results are usually presented in humanreadable form and not in a machine-readable format, so it is hard to process the knowledge using automated informational technologies.

The basic structure of a typical research paper is the sequence of Introduction, Methods, Results, and Discussion (sometimes noted as IMRAD) (Oriokot et al., 2011). Each section addresses a different objective. For example, the Introduction section motivates the research problem that was discovered or the known facts about the problem; the Method section states what authors did to learn and address the issue in a new solution, and what they achieved as results in experiments is written in the Discussion section,

- ^b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3732-9486
- ° https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5834-5069
- ^d https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0440-928X
- e https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3156-9040
- f https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3156-9040

and what they had observed is discussed in the Results section.

The most common form of science reporting is a written paper. Depending on the purpose, there are a few different types of papers: Analytical Research Paper, Argumentative (Persuasive) Research Paper, Definition Paper, Compare and Contrast Paper, Cause and Effect Paper, and Interpretative.

The most common research papers types are shown in table 1 (Paperpile, 2019).

Nowadays, most of the papers (but not all of them) are systemized by using scientometric databases. However, educational research reports, which use scientific methods, have not been systemized. Unlike pupils, scientists already know their field of research in detail and can determine their research hypothesis, and they can do further analysis by themselves. Students, instead, can't do this. Automated informational tools can help students in this scientific discovery and analysis tasks.

The STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering and Math) may be interpreted as using of the scientific method in an educational process while providing academic research. This approach is only recently applied in countries such as Ukraine. There are various school competitions for scientific works,

128

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6315-649X

Shapovalov, V., Shapovalov, Y., Tarasenko, R., Usenko, S., Paschke, A. and Shapovalova, I.

The Taxonomies of Educational and Scientific Studies Role in Centralized Informational Web-Oriented Educational Environment. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 128-143 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

Types of the Research	Oriented amount of	Specific characteristics
papers	words required	
Analytical Research Pa-	3000+	Someone poses a question and then collect relevant data
per		from other researchers to analyse their different view-
		points.
Argumentative (Persua-	3000+	The argumentative paper presents two sides of a contro-
sive) Research Paper		versial question in one paper.
Definition Paper	5000+	The definition paper describes facts or objective argu-
		ments without using any personal emotion or opinion of
		the author.
Compare and Contrast	5000+	Compare and contrast papers are used to analyse the dif-
Paper		ference between two viewpoints, authors, subjects or sto-
		ries.
Cause and Effect Paper	3000+	Cause and Effect Paper trace probable or expected re-
		sults from a specific action and answer the main questions
		"Why?" and "What?".
Interpretative Paper	3000+*	An interpretative paper requires to use knowledge that
		have gained from a particular case study.
Experimental Research	3000+*	This type of research paper describes a particular experi-
Paper		ment in detail.
Survey Research Paper	5000+*	This research paper demands the conduction of a survey
		that includes asking questions to respondents.

Table 1: The most common research papers types.

* Depends on the purpose of the article and the requirements of the journal, institute, teacher.

such as the competition on scientific articles of the Junior academy of sciences of Ukraine and international competitions (Intel ISEF). Also, the scientific method can be used during the creation of thesis papers (for masters' degrees, bachelor's degrees, etc.) and pupil's research reports. (for events noted before), or in simpler, but more common form of essays. In addition, students can report their results in scientific papers if the quality of their work is satisfactory for the scientific requirements. An overview of the types of educational research reports works is presented in table 2. This paper focuses on the systematization and processing of academic research reports. The problem to be addressed is the lack of a structuring mechanism that complicates the automated processing of such reports.

2 LITERATURE REVIEW

The active dissemination and use of different scientometrics databases continue to increase the convenience and efficiency of scientific data processing, structuring, and systematization of research and scientific results. Specialized databases for structural science information are an integral part of the information-support system for any scientist. Scientometrics is the "quantitative study of science, communication in science, and science policy" (Ramesh Babu and Singh, 1998), commonly referred to as the "science of science". Scientometrics is essential to help academic disciplines understand various aspects of their research efforts, including (but not limited to) the productivity of their scholars (Ramesh Babu and Singh, 1998; Abramo et al., 2011), the emergence of specializations (Pianta and Archibugi, 1991), collaborative networks (Newman, 2001), patterns of scientific communications (Braun et al., 2001), and quality of research products (Lawani, 1986). Metric studies have been developed as a subsidiary branch of Library and Information Science (LIS) (Khasseh et al., 2017). Often, scientometrics applies bibliometrics, which measures the impact of publications.

To increase the quality and performance of scientometrics the ten principles of the "Leiden Manifesto of Scientometrics" have been stated:

- 1. Quantitative evaluation should support qualitative expert assessment.
- 2. Measure performance against the research missions of the institution, group, or researcher.
- 3. Protect excellence in locally relevant research.
- 4. Keep data collection and analytical processes open, transparent and simple.
- 5. Allow those evaluated to verify data and analysis.

Types of the edu-	Oriented required	Specific characteristics	The event for which the re-		
cational research	amount of the pages	-	port was prepared		
	ano and of the pages		port was prepared		
report					
Esse	In general, up to 10-	Is simple and very flexible	Classes, completions of		
	15 pages	on the content	school level		
Research reports	In general, up to 30-	Relatively static structure;	Competitions of Junior		
	100 pages	similar to IMRAD	academy of sciences of		
			Ukraine and Intel ISEF		
Scientific paper	Declared by the	Declared by the source	Publication in the journal		
	source				
Thesis papers	In general, 40-100	Relatively static structure	Defence of the qualification		
	pages	similar to IMRAD	works		

Table 2: Types of the educational research reports.

- 6. Account for variation by field in publication and citation practices.
- 7. Assessment of individual research on a qualitative judgment of their portfolio.
- 8. Avoid misplaced concreteness and false precision.
- 9. Recognize the systemic effects of assessment and indicators.
- 10. Scrutinize indicators regularly and update them (Khasseh et al., 2017).

Today, all existing scientometrics databases can be divided into two major groups: international and national (Khasseh et al., 2017; Kostenko et al., 2015; Mulla, 2012; Ravikumar et al., 2015; Pavlovskiy, 2017; Perron et al., 2017; Ramírez and Rodríguez Devesa, 2019). The most well-known international databases are Springer, Scopus, Web of Science, CiteseerX, Microsoft Academic, aminer, refseek, BASE (Bielefeld Academic Search Engine), WorldWideSciense, JURN, Google Scholar, Google Patents, and others. National databases incorporate a variety of bibliographic databases and a variety of library and university repositories. International scientometric databases are characterized by a larger scale and mandatory support for various languages, including English. Also, a characteristic feature of such databases is the availability and work with multiple unique indices that have international recognition, for example, the h-index (Kinouchi et al., 2018).

As scientific publications continue to grow exponentially, the number of academic databases and scientometrics databases increases, which supports gaining insights into the structure and processes of science (Perron et al., 2017). In this case, many scientific publications are devoted to the principle of working scientometrics databases, and their number is growing. Thanks to them, concepts such as "metadata" of scientific articles began to be actively used in scientometrics (Khasseh et al., 2017; Kostenko et al., 2015; Mulla, 2012; Ravikumar et al., 2015; Pavlovskiy, 2017; Perron et al., 2017; Ramírez and Rodríguez Devesa, 2019). Metadata is essential data about data providing information such as titles, authors, abstracts, keywords, cited references, sources, bibliography, and other data. Metadata does not substitute the corresponding article, but it explicitly describes valuable information about the report.

By using scientometrics systems, researchers' contributions in informatics and scientometrics were previously quantified (Mulla, 2012). The principal metadata indicators are:

- The indicators and citation indices of journals.
- The number of authors.
- The number of publications.
- The degree of cooperation is based on affiliation data.

The disadvantage of this research is that it is devoted only to scientific articles. The authors noted that their study could not cover students' and pupils' research reports because there is no single database where they are all located.

The application of the principles of the "Leiden Manifesto of Scientometrics" is stated and substantiated, providing transparent monitoring and support of research and encouraging constructive dialogue between the scientific community and the public. In this work, the bibliometric base, which corresponds to principles of the "Leiden Manifesto of Scientometrics", has been created. The proposed bibliometric center did not address the systematization of students' and pupils' research reports. Still, the authors noted the necessity of involvement of students' and pupils' research reports in their bibliometric center.

The approach of co-word analysis has been introduced, and its application in scientometrics is substantiated in (Ravikumar et al., 2015). The trends and patterns of scientometrics in journals has been revealed by measuring the association strength of selected keywords which represent the produced concept and idea in the field of scientometrics. Also, the authors have developed a web system for extraction of keywords from the title and abstract of the article manually. However, the web system proposed by them cannot work with research reports of students and pupils.

Another concept of analysis is iMetrics, or "information metrics". Its application in scientometrics is substantiated in (Milojević and Leydesdorff, 2013). iMetrics is devoted to the scientometrics of scientific journals in the field of informatics. The authors note the possibility of applying their approach to the systematization of the scientific works of students and pupils. The research related to scientometrics databases is shown in table 3.

Table 3: Researche related to scientometrics databases.

Subject of study	The general result of the au-
	thors study
Citation indices	The contributions of re-
of journals, num-	searchers in the field of in-
ber of authors of	formatics and scientometrics
the publication	(Mulla, 2012)
their affiliation	
Principles of	Stated and substantiated
the "Leiden	"Leiden Manifesto of Scien-
Manifesto of	tometrics" (Kostenko et al.,
Scientometrics"	2015)
Co-word analysis	The trends and patterns of
	scientometrics in the jour-
	nals were revealed (Raviku-
	mar et al., 2015)
iMetrics ("infor-	iMetrics scientometric
mation metrics")	system has been provided
	(Milojević and Leydesdorff,
	2013)

Previously, ontological graphs were used to systematize scientific articles (Amami et al., 2017; Boughareb et al., 2020; Perraudin, 2017; Parveen, 2018). Systematization and structuring in such graphs are based on different approaches, such as using of scientific article recommendation system (Amami et al., 2017), Scientific Articles Tagging system (Boughareb et al., 2020), machine learning (Perraudin, 2017), and automatic summarization (Parveen, 2018). Also, ontologies can be used to provide interoperability through semantic technologies (Alnemr et al., 2010). However, none of the proposed ontological approaches for systematization and structuring addresses the structuring of research reports of students and pupils.

None of the scientometrics database systems previously proposed (Khasseh et al., 2017; Kostenko et al., 2015; Mulla, 2012; Ravikumar et al., 2015; Pavlovskiy, 2017; Perron et al., 2017; Ramírez and Rodríguez Devesa, 2019) can offer a universal solution for systematization and structured presentation of research and scientific results to pupils and students. Also, the disadvantages of all these systems are the complete lack of many valuable parameters for processing information about scientific works. These parameters are the scientific novelty of the article, the practical value of the study, the hypothesis of the study, subject and object of the research. Also, existing solutions do not allow for comparing the meta data about the research reports between each other.

This work aims to propose and justify using an ontological system, which permits the systematization of scientific articles with all advantages of existing scientometrics systems and without disadvantages of these systems. Which at the same time will not be deprived of the functionality of current scientometrics systems and will meet the Leiden Manifesto for Scientometrics.

As Proof of Concept (PoC) we propose to use the existing cognitive IT platform Polyhedron as the technical basis for solving this problem. The core of the Polyhedron system consists of advanced and improved functions of the TODOS IT platform described in previous works. The polyhedron is a multiagent system that allows for transdisciplinary and acts as an interactive component in educational and scientific research (Stryzhak et al., 2014). Besides, the cognitive IT platform Polyhedron contains a function for comparison with standards which is called auditing (Stryzhak et al., 2014; Globa et al., 2015, 2019). Polyhedron provides: semantic web support, information systematization and ranking (Stryzhak et al., 2021), transdisciplinary support, and internal search (Shapovalov et al., 2019), has all advantages of ontological interface tools (Popova and Stryzhak, 2013), and the construction of all chains of the process of transdisciplinary integrated interaction is ensured (Velychko et al., 2017). Due to active states for hyper-ratio plural partial ordering (Volckmann, 2007; Nicolescu, 2008), the cognitive IT platform Polyhedron is an innovative IT technology for ontological management of knowledge and information resources, regardless of the standards of their creation. The user of the Polyhedron IT system has an opportunity to use an internal search function that has more views than the external one because it provides information created by experts.

Also, the proposed solution for the structuring of educational and research projects can be used to-

gether with other modern developments in the academic field, like a virtual educational experiment (Slipukhina et al., 2019), different tools to provide development of ICT (Modlo et al., 2018), the use of mobile Internet devices (Modlo et al., 2019), using the technology of augmented reality education (Bilyk et al., 2022), online courses (Vlasenko et al., 2020; Yahupov et al., 2020), distance learning in vocational education and training institutions (Modlo et al., 2019), educational and scientific environments (Shapovalov et al., 2019).

As was investigated before, the main elements of educational studies are represented by IMRAD nodes and their specific subnodes related to a particular study (Shapovalov et al., 2022). They may be described by a set of formulas. According to the theory of using IMRAD, each examination consists of an Introduction, Methods, Results, and Discussion (that in terms of informational systems, the discussion is charged to processing -P):

$$\{I, M, R, P\} \in S \tag{1}$$

where I – node of ontology that integrates data related to introduction; M – subject of study: node of ontology that integrates data related to methods; R – node of ontology that integrates data related to results; P – results of study's results processing.

Each scientific study contains specific data structured by IMRAD, and it may be represented as a set of tuples (corteges) that describe elements of specific studies. The equations 2 and 3 are used to describe representing two different studies structured by IM-RAD:

$$S_I = \langle I_I, M_I, R_I, P_I \rangle \tag{2}$$

$$S_{II} = \langle I_{II}, M_{II}, R_{II}, P_{II} \rangle$$
 (3)

Two different studies integrated into a single ontology will be described as the sum of IMRAD elements. Such representation is shown in equation 4:

$$\langle S_I, S_{II} \rangle = \langle I_I, M_I, R_I, P_I, I_{II}, M_{II}, R_{II}, P_{II} \rangle \qquad (4)$$

In such case, some specific elements of studies are overlapping and other are not. For example, the Method section of two different studies represented in form of an ontology using IMRAD will be as follows:

$$M_I = M_a, M_b, M_c, M_d \tag{5}$$

$$M_{II} = M_b, M_d, M_f \tag{6}$$

In such representation M_b and M_d belong to both studies, and it is possible to use them as linking nodes to connect the two studies:

$$M_b \in M_I, M_{II} \tag{7}$$

$$M_d \in M_I, M_{II} \tag{8}$$

It is worth noting that such representation of studies leads to the ontologization of the studies' data. The most specific terms may be used to connect to different types of ontology-based knowledge, for example, educational programs. However, such an approach was not conducted before. This study also aims to provide interoperability between different ontology-based knowledge systems using terms used in conducted studies and other knowledge systems (on the example of educational systems).

3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Ontology Creation Mechanism

To create ontologies in Polyhedron, Google Sheets were used to collect by expert who took the data manually and structuring the information (see example in figure 1). The sheets with research report data (structure file and numeric/semantic data file) have been downloaded and saved in .xls format. The files have been loaded to "editor.stemua.science", part of Polyhedron. After that, the generation of the graph nodes (in .xls) with their characteristics using the data structures in the file has been carried out. The obtained graphs have been saved in .xml format and located in the database. The graphs have been filled with semantic and numeric information for ranking and filtering. Ontological edges (relations) have been formed using predicate equations, as described previously in (Velychko et al., 2017).

3.2 Ranking Tools

Considering that, e.g., proposed reports "A" and "B" are technical, the results of the reported works can be used to analyze the rationality of the implementation proposed in the concrete project. For instance, to offer it, research reports "A" and "B" were also compared with each other using a ranking tool applying the following criteria: "Short-term economic perspective", "Long-term economic prospects". For creating a ranking, the ontologies have used the module "Alternative", described in (Stryzhak et al., 2021). The nodes of a graph have been filled with semantic data to provide this ranking.

The ranking uses a grade scale from one to ten points to underline the relevance coefficient. The projects with a payback period of more than 25 years have been evaluated with 1 point, with 20-25 years of payback period with 2 points, from 15-20 years of payback period with 3 points, from 10-15 years

	Вкла File	адний Edit Vie	.xLSX w Insert	☆ টা Format	⊘ Data T	Fools He	Ip Acce	ssibility	Last edit	was on M	<u>/lay 27, 20</u>	<u>16</u>								
lic"			100% 👻	\$%.	0 __ .00 __ 13	23 ▼ De	fault (Ca	÷ 11	- B	I S	A 🔶	• 🖽 🗄	- =	+ <u>↓</u> + ·	+ - 17 -	œ∄	- III - Y	-Σ-	-	
fx	nodeprop	perties																		
	Α	в	С	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	К	L	м	N	0	Р	Q	R	S	т
1	nodeprop	Точність	Нижня м	Верхня м	Кут нахил	Клас елен	Потужніс	нтервал	Січення	Максима	наявніст	відповідн	Наявністі	Показнин	Максима	Наявність	Наявністі	Наявність	Охоплени	Якість стр
2	Амперме	0.005	0	400	25	3	0.25	1	0.5	0.5	Так	Так	Так	0.01	30	Hi	Hi	Так	40	8
3	Амперме	0.01	0	500	20	3	0.1	1	0.5	0.5	Так	Так	Так	0.0005	25	Hi	Hi	Так	60	4
4	Амперме	0.0075	0	300	30	3	0.3	1	3	0.5	Так	Так	Так	0.01	40	Hi	Hi	Hi	70	6
5	Амперме	0.02	0	100	10	2	0.5	1	0.25	3	Так	Так	Так	1	45	Hi	Hi	Hi	80	7
6	Амперме	0.2	0	150	10	1	0.8	0.01	0.25	0.1	Так	Так	Так	0.01	43	Hi	Hi	Hi	30	3
7	Амперме	0.013	0	20	40	3	0.3	5	0.1	0.2	Так	Так	Так	0.02	42	Hi	Hi	Hi	25	8
8	Амперме	0.0014	3	250	50	1	0.25	1	0.5	0.1	Так	Так	Так	0.01	40	Hi	Hi	Так	60	6
9	Амперме	0.1	0	10	5	1	0.1	1	0.5	0.3	Так	Hi	Так	0.003	41	Hi	Hi	Hi	20	1
10																				

Figure 1: Google sheet with data.

of payback period with 4 points, 6-10 years of payback period with 5 points and with 1-5 years were evaluated as 6-10 points, respectively, by the "Economic attractiveness" criterion. A detailed evaluation for projects with 1-5 years is provided due to its utmost interest for the investor's "payback time", which determines investment expediency.

3.3 Auditing Tools

To provide an audit of the hypothesis of work "A" and "B", the "standard" graph (with which the comparison is done) and the "comparison" graph (which is compared with the "standard") have been created. The "standard" ontology graph contains the data on hypotheses, subjects, objects of research, keywords, and other parameters of the research reports done before. For the "standard" graph, each parameter was presented in a separate node. The content of this ontological graph "standard" is constantly updated and supplemented.

The nodes of the "comparison" graph have been represented as names of the works which need to be audited with the "standard" graph. The parameters of the work used to be audited with the "standard" graph have been located in the metadata of each separate node. The metadata type names were identical to the terms of the nodes of the "standard" graph to enable interaction between graphs.

3.4 Using Centralized Informational Web-Oriented Educational Environment Concept and Ensuring Interdisciplinarity

The developed ontologies were saved in the same environment where elements of the centralized informational web-oriented educational environment were saved. Its features were used to provide interoperability with educational programs, methods, equipment, ontology-based didactical materials, and other ontology tools. As all such ontologies had the same graphs' nodes names, we provided the integration between elements of the centralized informational web-oriented educational environment and proposed structurization of academic studies. We used the same nodes and provided links with each graph that it contains. For example, the term temperature regime that is used in educational programs is connected with all academic programs in physics (part of topic energy, thermal energy), chemistry (amount of topic energy of reaction), and scientific study graph that was conducted by young researcher on biogas production research called temperature regime. Also, we can link this term with a method called ensuring of requested temperature by a thermostat and with equipment dry air thermostat. So, for this, we are using the term temperature regime to provide an interdisciplinarity approach that is related to different fields of science and to varying types of data (educational plans, equipment that is used, specific methods and specific personal studies).

4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The general concept of the proposed ontology-based graph model for Polyhedron research reports has a specific, logically connected structure and can be represented as an ontology. After structuring, it is possible to describe the reports' content in simpler to understand presentation form. Besides, most results can be domain-specific for each industry, and if the current standards are correctly identified, these values will be easy to compare. Also, most research in one field often uses the same equipment, materials, chemicals, standard methods of analysis, literature, etc., which allow comparing these works with each other and correctly structuring them.

However, the main advantage of the proposed approach (besides structuring the research) is processing results in terms of separated result parameters of the reports. This supports data analysis, further processing using ranking, and semantic data interoperability. The separation of numeric data and its location metadata class is possible due to the addresses of the same field, describing the process using the same (or similar) parameters of the process description and result parameters description. For example, for most reports on anaerobic digestion, the process parameters are temperature, type of substrate, reactor volume, moisture content, initial pH, parameters; the characteristics of efficiency of the process are biogas yield, methane content, average pH during the process, destruction process, etc. (Zhadan et al., 2021).

As all research reports will be simplified, this approach will be especially relevant for pupils and novice researchers with further potential use in the educational process or to streamline the literature review process for the new academic research.

4.1 Description of Scientific Works Used to Provide Structuring

For example, the object of the study of research report "A" is the disposal of anaerobic effluent. The subject of the report's research is the Cultivation of Chlorella Vulgaris microalgae on effluent obtained after methane fermentation. The study aims to develop a method of growing Chlorella Vulgaris in the effluent after methane fermentation. The practical significance of this scientific work is the results, which will contribute to the spread of biogas technologies. Also, the proposed approach makes it possible to increase the economic benefits of utilizing chicken manure by converting the anaerobic digestion effluent into microalgae with a wide range of applications. The scientific novelty of that research report is a method of utilization of anaerobic digestion effluent by using microalgae, also had obtained cultures of Chlorella Vulgaris that had adapted to the anaerobic digestion effluent. The working hypothesis was that the effluent obtained after anaerobic digestion could be used as a nutrient medium for microalgae Chlorella Vulgaris.

The object of the research report "B" study is the disposal of anaerobic digestion effluent. The subject of the research is the processing of anaerobic digestion effluent into humates by the autocatalytic catalysis method. The study aims to establish regularities of processing the solid fraction obtained during the methane fermentation of chicken manure by the autocatalytic catalysis method. The practical significance of this scientific work is that the study indicates the possibility of acquiring salts of humic and fulvic acids by the autocatalytic catalysis method. This approach makes it possible to increase the economic benefits of chicken manure disposal by converting the anaerobic digestion effluent into a more valuable product with a wide range of applications. Its scientific novelty is that potassium humate had firstly obtained from anaerobic digestion effluent. For the first time, the efficiency of receiving humates from the solid fraction of anaerobic digestion was investigated, and the main regularities of the process were determined. The working hypothesis was that the solid fraction of methane fermentation of chicken manure can be recycled by the autocatalytic catalysis method.



Figure 2: The general view of the (a) research report "A" (b) research report "B" ontological graph.

For both research reports, "A" and "B", as a substrate for anaerobic digestion, have used the chicken manure from the same poultry farm. In this case, chicken manure and its effluent, which has been obtained by anaerobic digestion, were analyzed by the same methods and indicators. Such indicators were:

- "Ash and dry content".
- "Determination of volatile fatty acids content" (in

terms of acetic acid).

• "Determination of ammonium nitrogen content with Nessler's reagent".

The equipment used to determine these indicators was also the same. Therefore, how these works can be structured and integrated using the cognitive IT platform Polyhedron has been considered. All examples of ontological nodes in the obtained graphs for further potential information processing are presented in table 4.



Characteristics of chicken manure Characteristics of chicken manure Ash content Apparatus Some necessary apparatus include: crucible (or similar porcelain or metal dishes) drying cabinet the sample Procedure A crucible and its lid are pre-weighed after thorough drying. The sample is added to the completely dry crucible and id and together they are weighed to determine the mass of the sample by difference. The sample is placed in the hot furnace on 2 hours enough so that the complete combustion of the sample occurs . The crucible, lid, and ash then are re-weighed. Some necessary apparatus include: crucible (or similar porcelain or metal dishes) muffled furnace

(b)

the sample Procedure

Figure 3: The general view of a) research report "A" b) research report "B" "Materials and methods" node.

4.2 Structuring of the Scientific Works Using Ontologies

To present possibilities and systematization of the research report, we have applied an ontological taxonomy for students' works "A" and "B". The general view of the obtained graphs is shown in figure 3 (Velychko et al., 2017).

A separate node called "Abstract" has been created, which contains all the necessary metadata of the work, such as "Object of the study", "Subject of study", "The aim of the study", "Practical value", "Scientific novelty", "Keywords" and "Hypothesis of scientific works" in the form of the attributes. All metadata has been used to provide filtering and ranking.

The "Materials and methods" node, which contains all the materials, was used to perform the experiments. Every approach has been divided into the separate attribute of the node. This allows concentrating the reader's attention, and it helps to process the data with each other. For further researchers, this mechanism will be described in detail. The general view of both works' "Material and Methods" node is shown in Figure 3 (Velychko et al., 2017).

For each ontological node that duplicates sections of the research report, and that contain specific indicators after analysing, additional separate leaf nodes with these results have been created.

In this leaf node, all the issues are held in the form of semantic and numeric data. These results are automatically available for filtering, auditing and ranking. An example of this leaf node is shown in Figure 4.

1 d d Indicators
10
pH 8
рН 7,5
рН 7,35
Concentration mg/l 1000
Concentration mg/l 1200
Concentration mg/l 1500
Density kg/m3 1,03
Density kg/m3 1,12
Density kg/m3 1,21

Figure 4: An example of leaf node with indicators after analyzing.

T 1 (TT • 0 (1 1 (
Element	Example	The role of the node in	Using of the data
of the ed-		the resulting graph	
ucational			
research			
Title	Node: "Development a method for	Parent node	Used only for structuration
	utilization of anaerobic digestion		
	effluent"		
Object	Node: Abstract	Located in Abstract	Used for the audit; to provide
	Class: Object	node; each object pre-	literature review; to link reports
	(object is only one per report)	sented as attribute	for each other with same data; to
	Value: Anaerobic digestion;		identify novelty and plagiarism
	Value: Microalgae's growth		
	Value: Disposal of the waste		
Subject	Node: Abstract	Located in Abstract	Same as previous
~ J	Class: Subject	node: each object pre-	
	Value. The processing of anaero-	sented as attribute	
	bic digestion effluent into humates	sented us utilibute	
	by the autocatalysis method		
Hypothesis	Node: Abstract	Located in Abstract	Same as previous
Hypothesis	Class: Hypothesis	node: each object pre	Same as previous
	Value: Effluent obtained after	sonted as attribute	
	value. Efficient obtained after	sented as attribute	
	anaerobic digestion can be used as		
	a nument medium for microalgae		
77 1	Chlorella Vulgaris		0 .
Keywords	Node: Abstract	Located in Abstract	Same as previous
	Class: Keywords	node; each object pre-	
	Value1: Biogas;	sented as attribute	
	Value2: Anaerobic digestion		
	Value3: Microalgae		
Sections, Ab-	Node: Introduction;	Each section presented	Used for representing of the
stract, Intro-	Class1: Text;	in separated nodes; all	main text of the educational re-
duction	Value1: text itself;	text is presented in sep-	ports; structuration and naviga-
	Class2: Biogas production in liter-	arate class of metadata,	tion
	ature, ml/g of VS;	based on type of data	
	Value2: 368;		
	Class3: methane content, %;		
	Value3: 59		
Materials	Node: Materials and methods	Located single node;	Used to provide links between
and methods	Class1: Method1;	each method is separated	the reports used same method
	Value1: Desorption1;	class of metadata	by indexing and search
	Class2: Method2;		
	Value2: Desorption2		
Concrete	Node: Results	Located a in separate	Used for the creation of the sin-
results and	Class1: pH;	node; each parameter is	gle ranking tool to systemize re-
parameters	Value1: 7.3;	separated class of meta-	sults from same field
of the re-	Class2: Decomposition, %;	data	
search	Value2: 87		
Economic	Node:Economic data Class: Pav-	Located the separate	Used to provide comparison of
data	back period, years;	node; payback period	the approaches to assess invest-
	Value: 5.3	presented in metadata	ment attractiveness
References	Node: Li et al. 2018 Chen 2003	Each report (paper) lo-	Used to link reports used same
	Sergienko et al. 2016	cated in separate node	reference with each other

Table 4: Examples of the usage of the educational research element in ontology.

5 INFORMATION PROCESSING OF THE RESEARCH REPORT USING POLYHEDRON TOOLS

5.1 Using an Audit Tool to Test a Hypothesis

The audit tool (Stryzhak et al., 2014; Globa et al., 2015, 2019) can be used to compare the hypotheses, subjects, objects of research, keywords, and other parameters of the research reports. To demonstrate the capabilities of the audit tool, the focus is on auditing only hypotheses. "A" model version of the "standard" ontology has been created, which contains metadata from the "Abstract" node of the research reports "A" ontological graph. This ontology had a simple structure without branches, with the parent node being named "Abstract". The child nodes duplicate metadata from the "Abstract" node of the research reports "A".

The "comparison" ontology has been created with the child nodes, which contain the following hypothesis: the effluent obtained after anaerobic digestion can be used as a nutrient medium for microalgae Spirulina Platensis (hypothesis 1), and the effluent obtained after anaerobic digestion can be used as a nutrient medium for microalgae Chlorella Vulgaris (hypothesis 2), the effluent obtained after anaerobic digestion cannot use it as a nutrient medium for microalgae Chlorella Vulgaris (hypothesis 3). The hypothesis 2 node also contains some metadata. This ontology also had a simple structure without branches with the parent node, the "Hypothesis test system". The general view of the obtained ontology of the comparison and the ontology of the standard in taxonomic form is shown in figure 5.

The system has checked whether the hypothesis is true or false by using the audit function. Those indicators which do not correspond to the standard have been colored red. Thus, this solution will allow to test the idea of these scientific works and check other metadata that have already been set by using information from the "Abstract" node (figure 5b).

5.2 Analysing of the Research Reports Result on the Practice Value

Research report "A" and research report "B" have been compared with each other by the following criteria "Short-term economic perspective", "Long-term economic prospects". According to section 2 of the research report "A", the payback period of project "A" is five years, which corresponds to 6 points according



Figure 5: General view of in the taxonomic form the ontology of the comparing" (a) and (b) the ontology of the "standard".

to the criterion "Economic attractiveness". This parameter is better for the project described in report "B" with a payback period of four years and three months, which corresponds to 5 points on "Economic attractiveness". The system provides raking of the results. If there is a large amount of data, the instrument will be helpful to quickly and effectively evaluate the projects on "Economic attractiveness". Besides, in further research, the other criteria will be justified and used to provide data management on the educational research, which will make the tool more functional.

5.3 The Role of Taxonomies of Educational Studies in Centralized Informational Web-Oriented Educational Environment

5.3.1 Mathematical Interoperation of Integration of Taxonomies of Educational Studies in Centralized Informational Web-Oriented Educational Environment

As it was shown before, the preleaf nodes (L4) are terms (main ontology elements) that are very promising to use in terms of interoperability with other ontologies of subject areas, for example, with educational programs that in that term will be the additional instrument for Centralized informational weboriented educational environment.

So, such connection with the centralized informational web-oriented educational environment concept

Hypothesis testing system (Aydum)

Вра	раховуються властивості							
	Devreen	Одиниця	BODY		Зразки			
*	показники	виміру	детя	supposition 1	supposition 2	supposition 3		
Ab	stract							
1	Object of study	Object of study	Chlorella vulgaris		Chlorella vulgaris			
2	Subject of study	Subject of study	Cultivation of Chlorella vulgaris microalgae on effluents obtained after methane fermentation.		Cultivation of Chlorella vulgaris microalgae on effluents obtained after methane fermentation.			
3	The aim of the study	The aim of the study	Developing a method of growing Chlorella Vulgans in effluents after methane fermentation.		Developing a method of growing Chlorella Vulgaris in effluents after methane fermentation.			
4	Practical value	Practical value	The results of this work will contribute to the spread of biogas technologies. This approach makes it possible to increase the economic benefits from the utilization of bird droppings by converting the anaerobic digestion effluents into microalgae that have a wide range of applications.		The results of this work will contribute to the spread of biogas technologies. This approach makes it possible to increase the economic benefits from the utilization of bird droppings by converting the anaerobic digestion effluents into microalgae that have a wide range of applications.			
5	Scientific novelty	Scientific novelty	A method of utilization of methane tank effluent using microalgae is proposed. Cultures of Chlorella Vulgaris were adapted to the methane tank effluent.		A method of utilization of methane tank effluent using microsigae is proposed. Cultures of Chlorella Vulgaris were adapted to the methane tank effluent.			
6	Keywords	Keywords	microalgae		Chlorella Vulgaris			
7	Hypothesis	Hypothesis	The effluent obtained after anaerobic digestion can be used as a nutrient medium for microalgae Chlorella Vulgaris.	The effluent obtained after anaerobic digestion can be used as a nutrient medium for microalgae Spirulina Platensis.	The effluent obtained after anserobic digestion can be used as a nutrient medium for microalgae Chlorella Vulgaris.	The effluent obtained after anaerobic digestion can not used it as a nutrient medium for microalgae Chlorella Vulgaris.		

Figure 6: General view of the audit results in the "Hypothesis test system" ontology.



Figure 7: General view of the ranking result.

and ensuring interdisciplinarity is described by formulas. Each ontology is based on the conceptualization of terms. It means that each ontology is described as a tuple (cortege) of terms from the field it contains:

$$O_i = < t_i > \tag{9}$$

So, we can describe ontology of educational program, ontology of equipment that being used, ontology of method and ontology of educational studies as further:

$$O_1 = t_1, t_2, t_3, t_4, t_5 \tag{10}$$

$$O_2 = t_1, t_3, t_5, t_6 \tag{11}$$

$$O_3 = t_3, t_5, t_6, t_7 \tag{12}$$

$$O_4 = t_1, t_3, t_8, t_9, t_{10}, t_{11}, t_{12} \tag{13}$$

As seen for equations, some ontologies have cross-terms that will provide inoperability with CI-WOEE and interdisciplinary. The terms that are cross-terms will be used by the user to transfer from elements (nodes) of one ontology to aspects of another. For this example, leaf or sub-leaf (in the case of educational studies' ontology; such as specific methods, keywords, objects, etc.), t_1 , t_3 , and t_5 are cross-terms:

$$t_1 \in O_1, O_2, O_4 \tag{14}$$

$$t_3 \in O_1, O_2, O_3, O_4 \tag{15}$$

$$t_5 \in O_1, O_2, O_3 \tag{16}$$

The Taxonomies of Educational and Scientific Studies Role in Centralized Informational Web-Oriented Educational Environment







Figure 9: The general view of educational programs' ontology related to chemistry educational programs in Ukraine and terms that may be used to link with ontology of scientific studies.



Figure 10: Using of same terms to provide interoperability between educational programs ontology and scientific studies ontologies.



Figure 11: Workflow diagram of the creation of structured ontologies on scientific reports and their processing.

5.3.2 Practical Application of Ontology-Based Integration of Scientific Studies Educational Programs of Centralized Informational Web-Oriented Educational Environment

As shown in equations 10-13, the terms of scientific study ontology, such as specific methods, keywords, objects, etc., are used to provide a link with terms of educational programs. Terms of studies that may be used to link the ontology of scientific studies with the ontology of educational programs are shown in figure 8.

A similar situation is also related to educational programs. There is an ontology that systemizes the data on the knowledge field related to chemistry using schools' educational programs. It also consists of terms that are presented in the form of nodes. The general view of academic programs' ontology related to chemistry educational programs in Ukraine and phrases that may be used to link with the ontology of scientific studies is shown in figure 9.

Therefore, some terms may be related to both educational programs and scientific studies ontologies. In this case, such links allow using subnodes (keywords, methods, etc.) to find scientific studies related to this term. The exact words to provide interoperability between educational programs ontology and scientific studies ontologies are shown in figure 10. As can be seen, the terms "methane" and "biogas" are related to both educational programs and scientific studies and, therefore, they are used to link these ontologies.

6 **DISCUSSION**

The proposed database follows the "Leiden Manifesto of Scientometrics." In the obtained ontological database, quantitative evaluation can be supported by qualitative expert assessment. Additionally, this ontological database can unite the research missions of the institution, group, or researcher and protect excellence in internally relevant research. The ontological form of research reports can keep data collection and analytical processes open, transparent, and straightforward. Because all metadata is contained in a separate node that can be expanded and supplemented. Thus, the obtained ontological database can also account for variations, e.g., in publication and citation practices. It can provide a base assessment of individual researchers' qualitative judgment of their portfolios. Because all ontological graphs are validated by experts, in this way, it is possible to avoid misplaced concreteness, including false precision, and recognize the systemic effects of all assessments and indicators. In addition, indicators can be scrutinized regularly and updated in the obtained ontological database. Furthermore, the proposed ontology-based research reports can be integrated into a single environment ontology repositories, as suggested before (Paschke and Schäfermeier, 2018).

The process starts with paper creation. For this stage, we can use various text editors, for example, word or google Docs. Then expert or author of the paper will formulate metadata, which is necessary for the ontology. For this purpose, the author will use Microsoft Excel or Google Sheets. Then, an editor needs to add information to the graph. In our case, the IT Platform Polyhedron is used for this. And last but not least, it is possible to use the "Alternative" system, which includes Audit, Filtering, and Ranking instruments. All proposed tools are illustrated in the workflow diagram below.

It is worth mentioning that this methodology of the centralized information web-oriented educational environment of Ukraine has been developed, and with ontological approach is more systematic now. Educational programs are essential to the world picture that is given to people during education, so they contain all basic terms that may be used to systemize other fields of human activities, including scientific studies. Like researchers, pupils interested in terms can also use such specific term nodes to continue their studying by investigating the studies conducted.

7 CONCLUSIONS

An ontological approach to scientific work systematization has been proposed, assuring compatibility. A system for arranging research reports based on digital taxonomies (ontologies) has been created. It allows users to construct node hierarchies utilizing the natural structure of the reports. Concrete parameters were added to the nodes as metadata (semantic, numeric, images, and links) to enable Polyhedron tools processing. Ranging and filtering were employed to handle semantic and numerical metadata. The obtained results allow for interchange across various study reports (including educational). The "Leiden Manifesto of Scientometrics" is the acknowledged ontological method.

Further study will improve interoperability across research works by developing a single taxonomy that provides hierarchization using the same methodologies, literature, and report findings and its processing using both methods suggested in the research and newly developed ones.

For the first time, it presents the concept of integration of scientific studies ontologies with educational programs that make them more usable for both students and young researchers. The proposed approach aligns with the centralized informational weboriented educational environment concept.

REFERENCES

- Abramo, G., D'Angelo, C. A., and Di Costa, F. (2011). University-industry research collaboration: a model to assess university capability. *Higher Education*, 62(2):163–181. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10734-010-9372-0.
- Alnemr, R., Paschke, A., and Meinel, C. (2010). Enabling Reputation Interoperability through Semantic Technologies. In *Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Semantic Systems*, I-SEMANTICS '10, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/1839707.1839723.
- Amami, M., Faiz, R., Stella, F., and Pasi, G. (2017). A Graph Based Approach to Scientific Paper Recommendation. In *Proceedings of the International Conference on Web Intelligence*, WI '17, page 777–782, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3106426.3106479.
- Bilyk, Z. I., Shapovalov, Y. B., Shapovalov, V. B., Megalinska, A. P., Zhadan, S. O., Andruszkiewicz, F., Dołhańczuk-Śródka, A., and Antonenko, P. D. (2022). Comparison of Google Lens recognition performance with other plant recognition systems. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(4):328–346. https://doi. org/10.55056/etq.433.
- Boughareb, D., Khobizi, A., Boughareb, R., Farah, N., and Seridi, H. (2020). A Graph-Based Tag Recommendation for Just Abstracted Scientific Articles Tagging. *International Journal of Cooperative Information Systems*, 29(03):2050004. https://doi.org/10. 1142/S0218843020500045.
- Braun, T., Glänzel, W., and Schubert, A. (2001). Publication and cooperation patterns of the authors of neu-

roscience journals. *Scientometrics*, 51(3):499–510. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1019643002560.

- Globa, L., Kovalskyi, M., and Stryzhak, O. (2015). Increasing Web Services Discovery Relevancy in the Multi-ontological Environment. In Wiliński, A., Fray, I. E., and Pejaś, J., editors, *Soft Computing in Computer and Information Science*, volume 342 of Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, pages 335–344, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-15147-2.28.
- Globa, L. S., Sulima, S., Skulysh, M. A., Dovgyi, S., and Stryzhak, O. (2019). Architecture and Operation Algorithms of Mobile Core Network with Virtualization. In Ortiz, J. H., editor, *Mobile Computing*, Rijeka. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.89608.
- Khasseh, A. A., Soheili, F., Moghaddam, H. S., and Chelak, A. M. (2017). Intellectual structure of knowledge in iMetrics: A co-word analysis. *Information Processing & Management*, 53(3):705–720. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ipm.2017.02.001.
- Kinouchi, O., Soares, L. D., and Cardoso, G. C. (2018). A simple centrality index for scientific social recognition. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 491:632–640. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. physa.2017.08.072.
- Kostenko, L., Zhabin, A., Kuznetsov, A., Lukashevich, T., Kukharchuk, E., and Simonenko, T. (2015). Scientometrics : A Tool for Monitoring and Support of Research. *Science and Science of Science*, (3):88–94. http://nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/NNZ_2015_3_12.
- Lawani, S. M. (1986). Some bibliometric correlates of quality in scientific research. *Scientometrics*, 9(1):13–25. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02016604.
- Milojević, S. and Leydesdorff, L. (2013). Information metrics (*iMetrics*): a research specialty with a sociocognitive identity? *Scientometrics*, 95(1):141–157. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-012-0861-z.
- Modlo, Y. O., Semerikov, S. O., Nechypurenko, P. P., Bondarevskyi, S. L., Bondarevska, O. M., and Tolmachev, S. T. (2019). The use of mobile Internet devices in the formation of ICT component of bachelors in electromechanics competency in modeling of technical objects. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:413–428. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.402.
- Modlo, Y. O., Semerikov, S. O., and Shmeltzer, E. O. (2018). Modernization of Professional Training of Electromechanics Bachelors: ICT-based Competence Approach. In Kiv, A. E. and Soloviev, V. N., editors, Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, October 2, 2018, volume 2257 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 148–172. CEUR-WS.org. https: //ceur-ws.org/Vol-2257/paper15.pdf.
- Mulla, K. R. (2012). Identifying and mapping the information science and scientometrics analysis studies in India (2005-2009): A bibliometric study. *Library Philosophy and Practice*, page 772. https://www. researchgate.net/publication/215709587.
- Newman, M. E. J. (2001). The structure of scientific collaboration networks. *Proceedings of the National*

Academy of Sciences, 98(2):404–409. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.98.2.404.

- Nicolescu, B., editor (2008). *Transdisciplinarity: Theory and Practice*. Hampton Press, 1 edition.
- Oriokot, L., Buwembo, W., Munabi, I. G., and Kijjambu, S. C. (2011). The introduction, methods, results and discussion (IMRAD) structure: a Survey of its use in different authoring partnerships in a students' journal. *BMC Research Notes*, 4(1):250. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1756-0500-4-250.
- Paperpile (2019). What are the different types of research papers? https://paperpile.com/g/ types-of-research-papers/.
- Parveen, D. (2018). A Graph-based Approach for the Summarization of Scientific Articles. PhD thesis, Ruprecht-Karls-Universität Heidelberg. https://doi. org/10.11588/heidok.00027924.
- Paschke, A. and Schäfermeier, R. (2018). OntoMaven - Maven-Based Ontology Development and Management of Distributed Ontology Repositories. In Nalepa, G. J. and Baumeister, J., editors, Synergies Between Knowledge Engineering and Software Engineering, volume 626 of Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, pages 251–273. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-319-64161-4_12.
- Pavlovskiy, I. S. (2017). Using Concepts of Scientific Activity for Semantic Integration of Publications. *Procedia Computer Science*, 103:370–377. XII International Symposium Intelligent Systems 2016, INTELS 2016, 5-7 October 2016, Moscow, Russia. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.procs.2017.01.123.
- Perraudin, N. (2017). Graph-based structures in data science: fundamental limits and applications to machine learning. PhD thesis, École Polytechnique Fédérale De Lausanne. https://infoscience.epfl.ch/ record/227982?ln=en.
- Perron, B. E., Victor, B. G., Hodge, D. R., Salas-Wright, C. P., Vaughn, M. G., and Taylor, R. J. (2017). Laying the foundations for scientometric research: A data science approach. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 27(7):802–812. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1049731515624966.
- Pianta, M. and Archibugi, D. (1991). Specialization and size of scientific activities: A bibliometric analysis of advanced countries. *Scientometrics*, 22(3):341–358. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02019767.
- Popova, M. and Stryzhak, O. (2013). Ontological interface as a means of presenting information resources in the GIS. Uchenye zapiski Tavricheskogo natcionalnogo universiteta imeni V. I. Vernadskogo. Seriia "Geografiia", 26(65)(1):127–135. https://tinyurl.com/ 5fhtrmck.
- Ramesh Babu, A. and Singh, Y. P. (1998). Determinants of research productivity. *Scientometrics*, 43(3):309–329. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02457402.
- Ramírez, M. C. and Rodríguez Devesa, R. A. (2019). A scientometric look at mathematics education from Scopus database. *The Mathematics Enthusiast*, 16(1-3):37–46. https://doi.org/10.54870/1551-3440.1449.

- Ravikumar, S., Agrahari, A., and Singh, S. N. (2015). Mapping the intellectual structure of scientometrics: a coword analysis of the journal Scientometrics (2005– 2010). *Scientometrics*, 102(1):929–955. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11192-014-1402-8.
- Shapovalov, V. B., Shapovalov, Y. B., Bilyk, Z. I., Atamas, A. I., Tarasenko, R. A., and Tron, V. V. (2019). Centralized information web-oriented educational environment of ukraine. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:246–255. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.383.
- Shapovalov, Y. B., Shapovalov, V. B., Bilyk, Z. I., and Shapovalova, I. M. (2022). Structurization of educational expedition studies in the form of taxonomies. *Educational Dimension*, 7:130–149. https://doi.org/ 10.31812/educdim.7618.
- Slipukhina, I., Kuzmenkov, S., Kurilenko, N., Mieniailov, S., and Sundenko, H. (2019). Virtual Educational Physics Experiment as a Means of Formation of the Scientific Worldview of the Pupils. In Ermolayev, V., Mallet, F., Yakovyna, V., Mayr, H. C., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume I: Main Conference, Kherson, Ukraine, June 12-15, 2019, volume 2387 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 318– 333. CEUR-WS.org.
- Stryzhak, O., Horborukov, V., Prychodniuk, V., Franchuk, O., and Chepkov, R. (2021). Decision-making System Based on The Ontology of The Choice Problem. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1828(1):012007. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1828/1/012007.
- Stryzhak, O. Y., Horborukov, V. V., Franchuk, O. V., and Popova, M. A. (2014). Ontology selection problem and its application to the analysis of limnological systems. *Ecological safety and nature management*, 15:172–183. http://nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/ebpk_ 2014_15_21.
- Velychko, V., Popova, M., Prykhodniuk, V., and Stryzhak, O. (2017). TODOS – IT-platform formation transdisciplinaryn information environment. Systems of Arms and Military Equipment, (1(49)):10–19. http: //nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/soivt_2017_1_4.
- Vlasenko, K., Chumak, O., Lovianova, I., Kovalenko, D., and Volkova, N. (2020). Methodical requirements for training materials of on-line courses on the platform "Higher school mathematics teacher". *E3S Web* of Conferences, 166:10011. https://doi.org/10.1051/ e3sconf/202016610011.
- Volckmann, R. (2007). Transdisciplinarity: Basarab Nicolescu Talks with Russ Volckmann. *Integral Review*, (4):73–90. https://tinyurl.com/39y6fdm3.
- Yahupov, V. V., Kyva, V. Y., and Zaselskiy, V. I. (2020). The methodology of development of information and communication competence in teachers of the military education system applying the distance form of learning. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:71–81. https: //doi.org/10.55056/cte.312.
- Zhadan, S., Shapovalov, Y., Tarasenko, R., and Salyuk, A. (2021). Development Of An Ammonia Production Method For Carbon-Free Energy Genera-

tion. Eastern-European Journal of Enterprise Technologies, 5(8-113):66 – 75. https://doi.org/10.15587/1729-4061.2021.243068.

The "Operating Systems" Course as a Base of Students' Learning Activity Parameters Investigation

Oleksandr H. Kolgatin¹[®]^a, Dmytro Yu. Holubnychyi¹[®]^b and Larysa S. Kolgatina²[®]^c

¹Simon Kuznets Kharkiv National University of Economics, 9a Science Ave., Kharkiv, 61166, Ukraine
²H. S. Skovoroda Kharkiv National Pedagogical University, 29 Alchevskykh Str., Kharkiv, 61002, Ukraine kolgatin@ukr.net

Keywords: Operating Systems, Students, Learning Activity, Pedagogical Diagnostics, Time Planning, Indicators.

Abstract: The paper is devoted to the study of students' learning activity indicators that concern to the time of learning product submission. There were analysed relations of these indicators with parameters of student model in context of pedagogical diagnostics and prognosis. The research was based on the course "Operating Systems" that were studied in traditional blended learning educational process and in distance mode during COVID-19 pandemic. Empirical work gave possibility to analyse correlation between timeliness of completing the learning tasks by students and their educational achievements as well as to analyse the structure of students' time planning at homework. There was shown that students, who completed their educational tasks in time, have good educational achievement according to test results. But we can not say that all students with high educational achievements submitted results of their independent work in time. There was analysed the distribution of students activity during a day. There was shown that working time of students at distance learning is more natural and correspond to business time of day. Some approaches to improve students' competences in learning activity self-management were discussed. Recommendations to improve the educational process have been suggested.

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Statement of the Problem

Nowadays, effective educational process is not possible without active use of information and communication technologies. New educational environment puts forward advanced requirements to management of students' learning activity that become more independent. Such management should be grounded on comprehensive models. Theoretical basis of modelling of the open education organizational systems, theory of designing such systems have been expounded from systemic positions in monograph of Bykov (Bykov, 2008). Kiv et al. (Kiv et al., 2019) underline that Information technologies, especially, cloud technologies transform education, and have analysed according to results of the "Cloud Technology in Education" scientific conference modern approaches to managing students' learning activity in university educational environment. Triakina et al. (Triakina et al., 2018) have described the existing E-learning instruments that was designed by the international organizations for self-education and have suggested the ways of this tools implementation into professional training. Vlasenko et al. (Vlasenko et al., 2019) on the base of survey, conducted for teachers, suggested to develop an educational platform – an online environment for collaboration of the experienced professionals, whose joint activities should help in greatly enhancing their professional skills.

Independent work of students become one of the most significant part of modern educational systems. It is the demand of the curriculums and necessity to provide of the dual learning. Therefore, elements of distance learning are widely used in educational process as a form of education and as a form of management of students' independent work. Students' work is realised in specialised learning management environments without teacher's personal presence, and the teacher has no possibility to use traditional forms of pedagogical observation. The teacher needs in special system for management of students' independent learning activity instead of traditional intuitive man-

144

Kolgatin, O., Holubnychyi, D. and Kolgatina, L.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8423-2359

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1719-7586

[°] https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2650-8921

The "Operating Systems" Course as a Base of Students' Learning Activity Parameters Investigation

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 144-157 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

agement of learning process.

Learning management systems, for example Moodle, give us various new highly informative tools for pedagogical diagnostics. Management of students' learning activity in information and communication environment should be based on individual pedagogical prognosis for each student with use of an idealised student's achievements model, a model of student's real state and a model of available variants of learning methods (Kolgatin, 2012). The relationship between parameters of this models and indicators that can be directly measured in a learning management system should be studied experimentally and theoretically. The field of interest in this paper is systematicity of student learning activity as a characteristic of student's leaning style and a parameter of student model in learning management system. Indicators of systematicity and its influence on student learning achievements are in the centre of our attention.

1.2 Analysis of Previous Researches

There are many scientific work devoted to students' independent work, its systematicity. But we want to pay attention to experimental data according to this problem. In focus of our interest are time planning and influence of systematicity of students' learning activity on educational achievements. So, Valynuk and Konovalenko (Valynuk and Konovalenko, 2017) pointed on the basis of survey that only 14 % of students prepare to classes systematically, 8 % occasionally, but 78 % of students work at home only before practical and seminar classes. Klimenko (Klimenko, 2016) believes that systematic learning work of students promotes accumulation of knowledge, mastering in skills. But large amount of short structured tasks leads to obliviousness of educational material, so special work for systematisation should be suggested to students periodically. Lavrentieva et al. (Lavrentieva et al., 2019) draw attention to the necessity of planning independent work with accounting the complexity of its various types and analysing new methods of organization of students' independent study activities together with the use of ICT and tools.

Particularities of students' independent work distribution in time were experimentally studied by Kolgatin et al. (Kolgatin et al., 2020) with use of learning management system Moodle for measuring and collecting data. These results were obtained in traditional in situ educational process with ICT support of out of classes independent work. The authors concluded that students, who suggested their reports on laboratory works in time were more successful in the assessment at low and sufficient levels. Very useful investigation of time-related behaviours was carried by Boroujeni et al. (Boroujeni et al., 2016). They have analysed three key dimensions of regularity: intra-course, intra-week and intraday. These authors considered two strategies for participating in MOOCs: regular scheduling of learning activities and adaptive scheduling based on daily work or study schedule.

We can see that researchers consider two aspects of systematicity: according to the educational material structure and according to learning process regularity. The first one correspond to systematicity as knowledge quality, the second - to stability of the learning activity pace. More over, researchers differ systematic and systemic. Systematic work is spread over the days in small portions, which are logically selected and organized by content (Klimenko, 2016). Systematization involves the generalization of knowledge, the establishment of system-forming links to make knowledge to be systemic. There were suggested formulas to process measurements and some criteria were built. There was shown positive correlation between the defined regularity measures and the performance of the student. Students who planed their learning activities in a regular manner had better chances of succeeding in the MOOC.

1.3 Objectives

Despite a number of theoretical and empirical studies in the field of modelling the learning process, there is no integrated model yet. Available models are based on teacher intuition and personal pedagogical observation that complicates using such models for pedagogical prognosis at managing the learning activity in Internet-oriented environments. Great work for specification of models parameters and its indicators, detection of pedagogical criteria influence at efficiency of educational process is very actual. In this way the aim of this paper is to study some indicators of student's time planning in context of their leaning activity systematicity. We try to find correlations between these indicators and at learning results in course "Operating systems". Also we try to look at influence of students independent work management peculiarities on regularity of this work.

2 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

In the context of mass education, the teacher cannot pay enough attention to each student to make pedagogical forecast for each student on the basis of own intuition, experience, theoretical and methodological knowledge. It is necessary to equip the student himself as the subject of the educational process with the skills and appropriate pedagogical forecasting tools for an independent choice of the appropriate variant of educational activity. The teacher should manage this pedagogical diagnostics system and provide the student with necessary help. Design of the computerbased pedagogical diagnostic system requires the development of a learning objectives model, a student psychological and pedagogical model (SPPM) and learning technologies model that would form the basis of this system. These models should be specially structured and should contain a limited number of parameters, which can be directly measured in the educational process.

Let fix our attention at one of this three major models in the system of pedagogical diagnostics - the psychological and pedagogical model of the student (SPPM) (Kolgatin, 2012). SPPM is built on the basis of learning objectives model so that the parameters of the student model reflect the forthcoming to the intended learning goal. The SPPM is to allow comparison of successive academic achievements, reflecting the dynamics of learning process. That is, this model should be dynamic. Based on the analysis of pedagogical science data in the field of educational achievement modelling (Pustobaev and Saiapyn, 2005; Bespalko, 2002; Lerner, 1978; Raven, 1991; Babansky, 1989), a system of criteria has been proposed (Kolgatin, 2012) according to such components: motivation and target, educational content mastering, self-management and activity, reflection and prognosis (table 1). Further comprehensive developing of this model needs in a lot of experimental data on correspondence between criteria indicators that can be directly measured in educational process and real results of students' educational work. But we have not enough such data in modern publications as it was shown above.

Estimation of the parameters that characterise the educational content criteria is carried out by means of pedagogical testing based on the concept of the level of educational achievements in accordance with the works of Bespalko (Bespalko, 2002) and Lerner (Lerner, 1978) as well the Ukrainian educational standards. These works are not modern, but classic. The ideas of Bespalko correlate with Bloom's taxonomy (Bloom et al., 1956), but Bespalko's approach is more simple and useful for practical automated pedagogical measurements. Lerner's ideas give us possibility to classify criteria according to indicators than can be measured directly as it was shown in (Kolgatin, 2012).

The parameter of the lasting of knowledge has not included to composition of database for model param-

eters (Kolgatin, 2012). According to definition, lasting of knowledge is the permanent fixation in the student's memory of the system of essential knowledge and methods of their application or the willingness to derive the necessary knowledge from other based knowledge (Lerner, 1978). A natural measure of lasting of knowledge is the ratio of the appropriate mastering coefficients according to the preliminary and current testing. If the mathematical model used in the automated system of diagnostics considers the parameters of student's academic achievements in dynamics (as a function of time), then a separate parameter "lasting of knowledge" is not needed. It is replaced by the functional dependence of all other parameters on the time that, definitely, carries more information.

The parameters of the student's psychological and pedagogical characteristics are determined by the teacher on the basis of pedagogical observation and analysis of the products of the student's educational activity. The student also takes active part in determining these parameters by introspection.

A high level of reflection on the result of the activity indicate the student's ability to objectively evaluate own results of the learning activity and his desire to complete the task qualitatively, to bring the work to a logical conclusion. The presence of an appropriate parameter in the student psychological and pedagogical model (SPPM) gives a reason to offer students, who have the developed reflection to the result of own activity, educational tasks of a creative nature. Otherwise, such tasks as projects, creative works etc. can be ineffective without student's own reflection, because it is difficult to build an objective and unambiguous algorithm for its checking.

High importance of the result of learning activity for the student is expressed in the desire to master given knowledge and skills as soon as possible, to get the result of the activity in the form of a fully completed task or project, a solved problem, etc. Of great importance is the student's sense of satisfaction from the successful completion of similar tasks in the past (Raven, 1991). The organization of education of such students should provide for certain stop points at which the student can feel the completion of the stage of work. It is advisable to prevent the unexpected additional tasks and complications.

High interest in the process of learning is often native for students with research abilities, who can unlimited improve a computer program or laboratory equipment, collect some data from the Internet and so on. Modern multimedia tools and intelligent learning systems help to increase delight of the learning process itself. But the interest in certain activities in the absence of significance of the learning result leads to a

Component	Criteria
	Significance of the result of learning activity for the student
Motivation and target	Student's interest in the educational process, cognitive interest
	Conscious adherence to the educational discipline
	Completeness of knowledge
	Promptness of knowledge
Educational content mastering	Depth of knowledge
Educational content mastering	Flexibility of knowledge
	Systematic of knowledge
	Automation of activity
Salf management and activity	Stability of pace of learning activity
Sen-management and activity	Ability of the student to mobilize energy, persistence and will
Paflaction and prognosis	Student's reflection on the result of activity
Reflection and prognosis	Student's reflection on the process of activity

Table 1: Structure of the student psychological and pedagogical model.

shift in the focus on minor things and reduce the effectiveness of learning. Such students need in regular diagnose of the structure of academic achievement and control the implementation of the curriculum. They need in systematicity of learning activity according to curriculum. Such systematicity can be achieved by direct management of student's independent work or by training the student in skills of self-management.

Cognitive interest as a separate parameter of the student model provides an opportunity to distinguish features of the student's motivation for learning activities. An important element of the emotional setting for learning activities is the conscious adherence to the educational discipline (Babansky, 1989), which is expressed in the self-control of the correspondence of the learning activity to the work plan and culture of interaction with other participants of the educational process (timely completion of tasks, conscious fulfilment of requirements, accuracy in visiting classes and appointed consultations).

The strength and stability of the student's concentration on learning activities in a particular discipline largely depends on the peculiarities of the mental processes and physiological properties of the student and determines the style of educational activity. Therefore, it is important to add to the student model (SPPM) a parameter that characterizes a student's ability to mobilize persistence and will (Raven, 1991), and a parameter that characterizes the stability of the pace of student's academic work (Babansky, 1989).

Activity of the student on introspection, observation of student's educational work, analysis of the style of educational achievements tests passing, analysis of the order of performance and presentation of educational products, analysis of the content of products of educational activity – are the sources of the

information for the SPPM. It is advisable to measure parameters of reflection, emotional setting and volitional qualities on a scale of order (low, medium, high). The application of the equal-interval scale is problematic, because these parameters are complex and may include various indicators with significantly non-linear effect. Such measuring becomes a problem in case of lack of personal interconnection between student and teacher.

Summarising the above, it should be pointed that all indicators, which can be measured in some learning management system, are complex and are connected with several criteria of student's motivation, target of education, educational content mastering, self-management and activity, reflection and prognosis. We need to understand the main binds of each indicator with criteria. There will be studied the time of learning activity products submissions in this paper. We assume that in-time submission of student's works characterise student's motivation (criterion: Conscious adherence to the educational discipline), competency in self-managing (criteria: Stability of pace of learning activity; Ability of the student to mobilize energy, persistence and will) and reflection (criterion: Student's reflection on the process of activity). The time of submission can be directly analvsed in Internet-oriented learning management systems, such as Moodle. We can see if the learning activity product was submitted in-time or not. We can also see the time of the submission. We can see if the student worked regular during a week or submitted the work in the last moment.

In this paper the systematicity of student's activity are understood in context of activity by the plan given by teacher or designed by student in accordance to curriculum. Correlations of systematicity indicators with parameters of student psychological and pedagogical model are analysed both hypothetical and experimental

3 SYSTEMATICITY OF STUDENTS LEARNING ACTIVITY IN BLENDED LEARNING

3.1 Methodology of Empirical Research

Study of features of students learning activity, connection between its systematicity and students' learning achievements was conducted in course "Operating Systems" with use of learning management system Moodle. Methods of learning the course "Operating Systems" are not a matter of this paper, but we should to describe the ground of our empirical work. In 2019 this course combines theoretical and practical issues of operating systems concepts, models of its interconnection with hardware, applied software and users (Tanenbaum and Bos, 2014; Allievi et al., 2022; Bacon and Harris, 2003). The first content module of this course is devoted to history and diversity of operating systems according to peculiarities its application. Students should understand the basic principles of computer hardware building, in particular, von Neumann principles, shared bus architecture, address space, function of the registers, interrupts etc. One of the main fundamental issues of this module is to show the deep connection between the hardware and operating systems architecture. The simple operations in operating systems with use of command interpreter and graphical user interface were also the object of students' educational activity. Second module is devoted to detailed study of main abstractions in the theory of the operating systems: virtual memory, processes and threads. Students used built in and third party software as well as the authors' models to investigate the peculiarities of internal mechanisms of multiprogramming realisation, especially of scheduling CPU time and access to slow devices as well as RAM memory access. The third module covers wide spectrum of practical issues of booting the operating systems and logical organisation of disk drives, file systems, the structure of executable files, mechanism of management of the Windows operating system, security in operating systems.

Practical component of students' educational activity was dominant. Students of second year, future bachelors of computer science and software engineering completed the practical tasks on analysing structure, functionality, principles of design of some operating systems with use of virtual machines. Special software for virtualisation was used for supporting educational activity on installing different operating systems and third party software. Methods of study operating systems with using of virtualisation are enough developed in modern pedagogical works. As an example we can suggest the research of Spirin and Holovnia (Spirin and Holovnia, 2018). The tasks that were suggested for students assumed a part of work to be done in classes and other part was homework. There was traditional educational process in 2019 with some components of student independent work management in Moodle. Personal Learning System in Moodle contained some theoretical materials, reference lists, instructions for the laboratory works. Personal Learning System was used by students to submit their reports on laboratory works completion.

Each student worked according to unique variant of the tasks, but some steps were very similar for all students. Each of these task contained both reproductive and creative steps with problem solving. There were suggested 11 tasks in 2019 year for every student for the semester according to the topics of the curricular:

- Analysing the ReactOS operating system (installing and customising the operating system, doing some work in it);
- Analysing the KolibriOS operating system (installing and customising the operating system, doing some work in it);
- Analysing the Ubuntu operating system (installing and customising the operating system, doing some work in it);
- Analysing active processes and threads in the Windows operating system (operating with processes and threads, obtaining the information about the active processes and threads using builtin and third-party software);
- Analysing CPU and memory managing procedure in the Windows operating system (simulating of the operating system scheduling with use of the special designed model WinMOS);
- Analysing the Windows virtual memory (getting the information and optimising RAM memory with use of built-in and third-party software);
- Analysing the structure of the Windows executable files (getting the information about files and its structure with use of the fields map and third-party software);
- · Analysing the Registry in the Windows operating

system (using and changing the registry information for managing the operating system);

- Analysing system services and drivers in the Windows operating system;
- Analysing data security in the Windows operating system (working with accounts, encryption algorithms, digital signature);
- Analysing and optimising the Windows operating system booting.

As the result of this work, students prepared and submitted reports using Assignment activity in the university Personal Learning System based on Moodle. So, we have possibility to monitor the time of completing the task by the student. The grades for reports with late submission were less. The reports that were prepared later than 2 weeks after deadline were not accepted by personal learning system, and students presented such reports to teacher in printed form personally with oral discussion. These reports with very late submissions have not analysed in this paper. In total, 54 students took part in experiment. 274 reports were analysed. The final test in written form has been suggested to students for evaluating their educational achievements. The results of this test were the base for study the connection between systematicity of student's learning activity and his/her educational achievements.

3.2 **Results and Discussion**

Specific values of final test results were used for analysing correlation between systematicity of students' learning activity and their educational achievements (figure 1). This values were calculated as ratio of test result of each student to maximal test result. The indicator of systematicity was evaluated as a part of reports, submitted in time by a student, that is as a ratio of the number of reports, submitted by a student in time, to the number of reports according to plan (11 reports for 11 tasks). We believe that both these variables are measured on an interval scale, so Pearson correlation was used for analysis. The correlation between these two variables is 0.28 and is statistically significant at the significance level 5 % for samples size of 54 that is enough in pedagogical researches.

So, we can conclude that the part of reports, submitted by student in time, positively connected with educational achievements. What is the kind of this correlation? Three variants are possible: 1) systematic work according to the plan, given by the teacher, contributes for increasing educational achievements; 2) students with high initial educational achievements easily execute the tasks and submit their reports in time; 3) students with high competence in self-management of their independent work have high educational achievements at all and, in particular, use their skills to complete the tasks in time for higher grading. Both the first and the third variants correspond the positive influence of systematicity on educational achievements.

Analysing the diagram at figure 1, we can see that the second variant was not realised: students with high test results (above 60 %) had systematicity indicator from 0 to 100 % and there was not any trend. Moreover, there was not any student with very high (above 80 %) systematicity indicator and test results simultaneously. So, we can see that the student with highest educational results did not work according to common plan even losing some grades. They, may be, worked systematically, but according to their own plans, so methodology of our experiment did not give us possibility to measure peculiarities of this work. Otherwise, they may be characterised by low level of importance of the learning activity results and high interest in the process of learning, and high cognitive interest. It should be appropriate to use for such students not the direct management of their independent work, but co-management or self-management.

Analysing the lowest boundary of points allocation at figure 1, we can see that high value of the systematicity indicator (above 60 %) guaranteed sufficient educational results (above 40 %). But students with highest systematicity indicator did not show excellent results in testing. This analysis gives grounds for hypothesis that the kind of management of student's independent work should be timely turned from direct management through co-management and subsidiary management to self-management according to the level of student's educational achievements and skills in self-managing for increasing the efficiency of educational process.

Choosing the day for completing the report, students taken into account many tasks in various sides of their life and study. But the fact that the number of reports, submitted in the last day, exceeds in near four times the number of reports, submitted in any other day (see figure 2), show us the lack of students' competence in time planning and managing own work.

The deadline was set on Sunday at 11:55 PM. There was Saturday, free of classes. In some cases, students had more than a week to prepare their reports. But only 40 % reports were submitted in this period. Only 2 students used this period for stably work with every of their tasks. Our conclusion is to provide students with detailed direct management of their independent work at the initial stages of the course as well as to provide special training for in-



Figure 1: Correlation between systematicity of students' learning activity and their final assessment results at traditional blended learning process.





Figure 2: Frequency distribution of students' report submissions by days relatively from the official deadline.

creasing student's competence in time planning and self-management.

Did students work enough hardly in the educational process? Let us analyse diagram at figure 3. We can see that students work at any time of day and night accept of period from 4 AM to 7 AM. In our opinion, such time scheme does not promote the learning of deeper questions of educational material, does not support productive and creative learning activity. This is not a problem of one course or one university, but a complex goal of development the methodology of education in direction to turning from reproductive methods of learning to more efficient students' activity with active use the information and communication technologies in education. We should take into account dual educational process, which is coordinated with professional-oriented practice work.

4 SYSTEMATICITY OF STUDENTS LEARNING ACTIVITY IN DISTANCE LEARNING

4.1 Methodology of Empirical Research

COVID 2019 pandemic changed the educational process to mostly distance form of learning. So we could possibility to compare students behaviour in blended and full distance educational process. We continued to use the course "Operating Systems" and the Personal Learning System in Moodle as the base for our investigations. Participants of this work were future bachelors of software engineering both Ukrainian and foreign citizens. The language of study was English. The educational program was modified a little to shift accent on the student independent work. Theoretical and practical issues of operating systems concepts were studied in two content modules devoted to operating system concepts and administrating processes (table 2). There were suggested 8 laboratory work tasks to students (table 2), which assume solving practical problems on analysing structure, functionality and principles of design of some operating systems. The key attention was paid to Microsoft Windows operating system, because Linux solutions are the matter of additional course according to our educational program. These tasks were devoted to deep understanding fundamentals of operating systems and mastering skills of operating system administrating. Each of these task contained both reproductive and creative steps with problem solving. The tasks were suggested for students assumed all work to be done at home, but with online help of a teacher. The teacher was present online with using Zoom Cloud Meeting environment according to schedule. Each laboratory work was assisted by 2 academic hours of such online consultation and there were additional individual consultation in Zoom Cloud Meeting.

As the result of this work, students prepared and submitted reports using Assignment activity in the university Personal Learning System based on Moodle. The grades for reports with late submission were less. There were not hard deadline for submissions. Students had to presented all their reports to teacher online using Zoom Cloud Meeting environment with oral discussion. In total, 25 students took part in the course during 2020 and 2021 years under COVID-19 conditions. 147 reports were analysed. The final test has been suggested to students for evaluating their educational achievements using Moodle Assessment element. The results of this test were the base for study the correspondence between measured indicators and student educational achievements.

4.2 Results and Discussion

Values of final test results were used for analysing correlation between the part of reports submitted intime by students and their educational achievements (figure 4). This values were calculated as ratio of test result of each student to maximal test result. The indicator of systematicity was evaluated as a part of reports, submitted in-time by a student, that is as a ratio of the number of reports, submitted by a student intime, to the number of reports according to plan (8 reports for 8 tasks). Pearson correlation between these two variables is 0.67. This correlation is statistically significant at the significance level 0.1 % for samples size of 25.

We can conclude that the part of reports, submitted by student in time, positively connected with educational achievements.

Analysing the diagram in figure 4, we can see that despite the main tendency some students with high test results had systematicity indicator from 10 %. This results proves our previous hypothesis that some student with highest educational results did not work according to common plan even losing some grades. According to our pedagogical observations some of such students tried to complete the tasks earlier as soon as possible if they wanted to have highest grades. And distance learning process gave them such possibility, because all tasks were uploaded on Personal Learning System in Moodle environment. This situation ones more proves our conception that we need adaptively transform the mode of student independent



Figure 3: Frequency distribution of students' report submissions by time, summarising all days (Deadline was 11:55 PM).

work management from direct management through co-management and subsidiary management to selfmanagement. We still can see that all students, who completed more than 50 % of the practical tasks intime, had more than 50 % in test. So systematicity is the base obligatory requirement in educational process.

We see that the day before deadline is the most popular to complete the educational tasks, similar to traditional blended learning process (figure 5). Such behaviour require from student mobilizing energy, persistence and will. From the other side such behaviour can be the result of the lack of students' competence in time planning and managing own work.

The deadline was set at 11:55 PM in different days of a week. All students had more than a week to prepare their reports. But only 44 % reports were submitted in-time. We could not prove the statistical identity of student groups in 2019 and 2021 – 2022 years. There were different proportions of foreign and Ukrainian citizens in these samples, for example. So we can not make statistical comparison of relative time frequency distributions in blended and distance learning process. But analysing the diagram (figure 5) we can see more free students' time planning. There are some local maximums with a week (7 days) period before and after the deadline. The right tail (tasks that was not completed in-time) decreases slow. We believed that obtained new data confirm the conclusion to provide students with detailed direct management of their independent work at the initial stages of the course as well as to provide special training for increasing student's competence in time planning and self-management.

The distribution of students' working time has become more natural in distance learning process (figure 5). The most of reports were submitted in business time unlike the traditional blended learning.

The relative (on deadline) time of student's report submission can be used to build once more indicator – standard deviation of the submission relative time. We calculate the set of differences between the real time of each submission and deadline. After that we calculated the standard deviation for this set of values. Such an indicator take into account not the fact of in time submission, but evaluate stability of earlier and late submissions in comparison with our previous indicator ("Part of tasks that have been completed in time"). May be, some students have the own work schedule. They can submit the report 1 day later each

		-
Content Module	Theme	Laboratory Work Task
	Basic concepts, evolution, types of op-	Virtual Machine and Virtual Disks
Operating	erating systems	(creating virtual machine, installing
System Concepts		and customising the operating system
		Kolibrios, doing some work in it)
	Architecture and resources of operating	Operating System Ubuntu: Basics of
	systems	Administrating
		(installing and customising the oper-
		ating system, doing some work in it,
		analysing resourses of the operating
		system using internal tools)
	Multitasking. Scheduling and interac-	Operating System Windows: Basics of
	tion of processes and threads	Administrating. Task Manager
	-	(operating with processes and threads,
		obtaining the information about the ac-
		tive processes and threads using built-in
		and third-party software)
	RAM management	RAM and Virtual Memory
		(getting the information and optimising
		RAM memory with use of built-in and
		third-party software)
Quanting	Operating system booting. File systems	Operating System Booting. File Sys-
Operating		tems
A desiriatentia a		(getting the information about files and
Administrating		file system of different devices using
		internal Microsoft Windows tools and
		third party software, analysing and op-
		timising the Windows operating system
		booting)
	System Registry in OS Windows	System Registry in OS Windows
		(using and changing the registry infor-
		mation for managing the operating sys-
		tem)
	Executable files. System services and	Executable Files. System Services and
	drivers	Drivers
		(getting the information about exe-
		cutable files and its structure with use
		of the fields map and third-party soft-
		ware, analysing internal structure of
		driver initialisation files, managing sys-
		tem services using internal tools of Mi-
		crosoft Windows operating system)
	Information security in operating sys-	Information Security in Operating Sys-
	tems	tems
		(working with accounts, encryption al-
		gorithms, digital signature)

Table 2: Structure of the "Operating System" course in distance learning format.

time, the stability of learning activity will be high and the value of "Standard deviation of the submission relative time" will be low. May be, some other student always submits the work in time, but does it 1 hour or 1 week randomly earlier. The stability of his learning work will be low, and the "Standard deviation of the submission relative time" indicator will be of high value. The suggested indicator can be useful in cases when the deadline is not hard but is only recommended by a teacher.

We apply this indicator only to students, who complete at least a half of the educational tasks, so the



Figure 4: Correlation between systematicity of students' learning activity and their final assessment results at distance learning process under COVID-19 conditions.



Relative time of submission, days

Figure 5: Frequency distribution of students' report submissions by days relatively from the official deadline (distance learning under the COVID-19 conditions).



Figure 6: Frequency distribution of students' report submissions by time, summarising all days at distance learning under COVID-19 pandemic conditions (Deadline was 11:55 PM).



Figure 7: Correlation between standard deviation of the submission relative time and final assessment results of students at distance learning process under COVID-19 conditions.

sample size was 19. We assume that this indicator corresponds to such criteria of the student psychological and pedagogical model: stability of pace of learning activity, student's reflection on the process of activity. We can see negative correlation between this indicator and student's learning achievements (figure 7). The value of Pearson correlation is -0.51 and this correlation is significant at significance level 0.05 for the samples size 19. This result correlates with behaviour of our previous indicator – "Part of tasks that have been completed in time" figure 4. The standard deviation of relative (on deadline) time of student's report submission can be used as a prognosis parameter for student success in education.

5 CONCLUSIONS

Analysis of obtained experimental data in context of our theoretical framework has given the base for such conclusions:

- the ratio of educational tasks number completed in-time to its total number is an indicator that provide combined information about such criteria in student psychological and pedagogical model as
 1) stability of pace of learning activity; 2) student's reflection on the process of activity; 3) conscious adherence to the educational discipline;
 4) significance of the result of learning activity for the student. This indicator has good prognostic ability on the educational achievements;
- the analysis of relative to deadline time of students' learning product submissions give us information about 1) student's reflection on the process of activity; 2) ability to mobilize energy, persistence and will; 3) stability of learning activity pace;
- new data conform our previous conclusion that students' competency in self-management and time planning should be improved by providing students with detailed direct management of their independent work at the initial stages of the course as well as to provide special training for increasing student's competence in time planning and self-management;
- the mode of student's independent work management should be timely turned from direct management through co-management and subsidiary management to self-management according to the level of student's educational achievements and skills in self-managing for providing the efficiency of educational process at highest level of educational achievements.

This study does not exhaust all the aspects in the field of creating of comprehensive student model for the systems of pedagogical diagnostics and prognosis. The main task in this direction is in obtaining a lot of experimental data about corresponding of some educational process indicators and efficiency of one or another methods of learning. We also need to develop algorithms for estimating given criteria using available indicators.

Concerning further development of the course "Operating Systems" we plan to introduce the management of student's independent work with more or less elements of self-management according to the features and educational achievements of a student.

REFERENCES

- Allievi, A., Ionescu, A., Russinovich, M. E., and Solomon, D. A. (2022). Windows Internals. Part 1, 2. Microsoft Press, 7 edition.
- Babansky, Y. K. (1989). Izbrannye pedagogicheskie trudy [Selected pedagogical works]. Pedagogika, Moskva.
- Bacon, J. and Harris, T. (2003). *Operating Systems: Concurrent and Distributed Software Design*. Pearson Business.
- Bespalko, V. P. (2002). Obrazovanie i obuchenie s uchastiem kompiuterov [Education and training with the participation of computers]. MPSI – MODEK, Moskva – Voronezh.
- Bloom, B. S., Englehart, M. D., Furst, E. J., Hill, W. H., and Krathwohl, D. R. (1956). *Taxonomy of Educational Objectives: The Classification of Educational Goals. Handbook I: Cognitive Domain.* Longmans, Green and Co Ltd, New York.
- Boroujeni, M. S., Sharma, K., Kidziński, Ł., Lucignano, L., and Dillenbourg, P. (2016). How to Quantify Student's Regularity? In Verbert, K., Sharples, M., and Klobučar, T., editors, Adaptive and Adaptable Learning, volume 9891 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 277–291, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-319-45153-4_21.
- Bykov, V. Y. (2008). Modeli orhanizatsiinykh system vidkrytoi osvity [Models of the open education organizational systems]. Atika, Kyiv. https://lib.iitta.gov.ua/ 845/.
- Kiv, A. E., Soloviev, V. N., and Semerikov, S. O. (2019). CTE 2018 – How cloud technologies continues to transform education. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:1–19. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.352.
- Klimenko, L. V. (2016). Samostiina robota studentiv yak obiekt systemnoho doslidzhennia [Independent work of students as the object of systematic research]. *Pedahohika formuvannya tvorchoyi osobystosti u vyshchiy i zahal'noosvitniy shkolakh*, 49:320–328. http://nbuv. gov.ua/UJRN/Pfto_2016_49_46.

- Kolgatin, O. (2012). Base models in computer-based pedagogical diagnostics system. *Journal of Information Technologies in Education (ITE)*, (12):14–20. http: //ite.kspu.edu/index.php/ite/article/view/364.
- Kolgatin, O., Holubnychyi, D., and Kolgatina, L. (2020). Systematicity of students' independent work in the course of operating systems. SHS Web of Conferences, 75:03009. https://doi.org/10.1051/shsconf/ 20207503009.
- Lavrentieva, O. O., Rybalko, L. M., Tsys, O. O., and Uchitel, A. D. (2019). Theoretical and methodical aspects of the organization of students' independent study activities together with the use of ict and tools. *Educational Dimension*, 1:27–59. https://doi.org/10.31812/ educdim.v53i1.3831.
- Lerner, I. Y. (1978). Kachestva znanii uchashchikhsia. Kakimi oni dolzhny byt? [The quality of students' knowledge. What should they be like?]. Znaniye, Moskva.
- Pustobaev, V. P. and Saiapyn, M. Y. (2005). Formalizatsiia elementov diagnostiki znanii uchashchegosia [formalization of elements of student knowledge diagnostics]. *Informatika i obrazovanie [Informatics and Education]*, 2005(7):120–123.
- Raven, J. (1991). *The Tragic Illusion: Educational Testing*. Trillium Press, New York.
- Spirin, O. M. and Holovnia, O. S. (2018). Using Unixlike operating systems virtualization technologies in training the bachelors of computer science. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 65(3):201–222. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v65i3.2055.
- Tanenbaum, A. S. and Bos, H. (2014). *Modern Operating Systems*. Pearson Education Inc, 4 edition.
- Triakina, O. O., Pavlenko, O. O., Volkova, N. P., and Kassim, D. A. (2018). Usage of E-learning Tools in Self-education of Government Officers Involved in Global Trade Activities. In Kiv, A. E. and Soloviev, V. N., editors, Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, October 2, 2018, volume 2257 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 173–181. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2257/paper16.pdf.
- Valynuk, A. B. and Konovalenko, S. O. (2017). Eksperymentalne obgruntuvannia ta perevirka zaprovadzhenoi metodyky samostiinoi roboty studentiv (experimental confirmation and verification of introduced methods of students' individual work). *MEDSESTRYNSTVO*, 2:20–22. https://doi.org/10.11603/2411-1597.2017.2. 8502.
- Vlasenko, K., Chumak, O., Sitak, I., Lovianova, I., and Kondratyeva, O. (2019). Training of Mathematical Disciplines Teachers for Higher Educational Institutions as a Contemporary Problem. Universal Journal of Educational Research, 7(9):1892– 1900. http://www.hrpub.org/download/20190830/ UJER7-19513465.pdf.

Using the Discord Platform in the Educational Process

Vladyslav S. Kruglyk^{®a}, Alona V. Chorna^{®b}, Iryna M. Serdiuk^{®c} and Anton V. Marynov^{®d}

Bogdan Khmelnitsky Melitopol State Pedagogical University, 59 Naukovoho mistechka Str., Zaporizhzhia, 69000, Ukraine kryglikvlad@gmail.com, chornaa@mdpu.org.ua, serdiuk_iryna@mdpu.org.ua, marinovanton98@gmail.com

Keywords: Distance Learning, Blended Learning, Platform, Informatization, Quality of Education.

Abstract: The paper reveals the results of a study of the feasibility of using the Discord platform in a blended learning environment in higher education institutions. The authors conducted an in-depth analysis of research on the creation and establishment of convenient and productive elements of distance learning (methods of building distance learning courses, special needs of distance learning, requirements for distance learning platforms). The authors believe that modern distance education systems do not fully use the opportunities of blended education, which creates conditions in which the educational process does not use its maximum potential, which leads to a decrease in the level of intensification of education. The main problem, scientists consider the insufficient level of development of distance communication systems and, in order to solve the problem, conduct an experiment on the basis of the Department of Informatics and Cybernetics of Melitopol State Pedagogical University named after Bohdan Khmelnytsky platform Discord as an environment of educational process offline during distance learning, quarantine caused by the global pandemic virus COVID-19.

1 INTRODUCTION

Analyzing the statistics, we can note that 2020 was the year of global informatization of all segments of human activity, the reason for such an increase in the need for IT development, was the global pandemic virus COVID-19. Of course, among the leading problems of mankind, there is the problem of education in full or partial quarantine, which in turn has become a catalyst for research in a particular vector of the educational process in a pandemic. Carrying out a preliminary analysis of research, we can note a significant increase in the number of scientific publications on the educational process in the languages of blended and distance learning, among the leading areas of research are: development of adaptive testing systems for students, use of automated learning systems, process. However, we can note that the educational process, especially in secondary and vocational education requires closer contact when communicating with the teacher and creating conditions for synchronous communication and a preliminary analysis of scientific sources showed insufficient study of this issue, which confirms the relevance of our research

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5196-7241

analysis and development of recommendations use of distance communication systems in terms of quality learning process on the example of using the Discord platform.

2 RELATED WORK

Before the analysis of current research in a particular area, we decided to identify the leading vectors of our selection, it was noted:

- scientific developments on determining the specific needs of participants in the learning process in terms of distance and blended learning;
- scientific developments on the peculiarities of the use of the platform identified in the study;
- scientific developments on the coverage of the experience of using the means of distance communication during the educational process in terms of distance and blended learning.

Thus, we expected to get a comprehensive and comprehensive vision of the problem and ways to solve it, to analyze the experience of using remote communication tools by scientists and teachers around the world and to develop recommendations for the use of the platform identified in the study.

158

Kruglyk, V., Chorna, A., Serdiuk, I. and Marynov, A.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0062-1144

[°] https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6808-0586

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7421-0487

Using the Discord Platform in the Educational Process

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 158-169 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

First of all, it is appropriate to note the contribution of scientists who focused their work on determining the fundamentals of the development and conduct of distance or blended learning, among them important in our study were (Bilousova et al., 2021; Kalashnikova et al., 2022; Kukharenko et al., 2022; Martyniuk et al., 2021; Nofandi et al., 2020; Osadcha et al., 2021; Voloshinov et al., 2020).

Methods of using online communication and the problem of creating high-quality blended learning in general quarantine are revealed in (Osadcha et al., 2020; Ovcharuk et al., 2022; Oyegoke et al., 2021; Tkachuk et al., 2022; Trubavina et al., 2021).Important for our study was the work of Jiang et al. (Jiang et al., 2019), who partially revealed the features of the problems of moderation of voice associations, in particular the problem of cyber-bullying, incitement to hatred and other social problems. Based on the preliminary analysis of the sources regarding the actual topic of the study, it is important to note the contribution of Odinokaya et al. (Odinokaya et al., 2021), Arifianto and Izzudin (Arifianto and Izzudin, 2021), Vladoiu and Constantinescu (Vladoiu and Constantinescu, 2020), Lacher and Biehl (Lacher and Biehl, 2018), Ardiyansah et al. (Ardiyansah et al., 2021), Di Marco (Di Marco, 2021), Warni et al. (Warni et al., 2021), Uong et al. (Uong et al., 2022), Wiles and Simmons (Wiles and Simmons, 2022) and Mock (Mock, 2019). These scientists conducted similar experiments on the introduction of the Discord platform in educational institutions and revealed the peculiarities of their experience, which enabled a significant expansion of the research framework and served as a basis for further work.

3 FEATURES OF USING THE DISCORD PLATFORM IN THE LEARNING PROCESS

Starting research on the use of any software to create conditions for quality distance communication during the educational process, it is advisable to analyze the current scientific developments on the fundamental pedagogical principles of implementation and use of distance education to further verify the feasibility of using the Discord platform in education. process. For this purpose it is expedient to refer to the works of Valko and Osadchyi (Valko and Osadchyi, 2020), Voloshinov et al. (Voloshinov et al., 2020), Bykov (Bykov, 2008), Kyslova and Slovak (Kyslova and Slovak, 2015), Kukharenko et al. (Kukharenko et al., 2022), Dushchenko (Dushchenko, 2020). Thus, according to Bykov (Bykov, 2008), we can identify priority properties that are common to all distance learning systems:

- *Flexibility and adaptability.* Students generally do not attend regular classes in the traditional form, but work at a convenient time in a convenient place and at a convenient pace, which provides great benefits for those who can not or do not want to disrupt their usual, active social life.
- *Modularity*. The modular principle is the basis of distance learning programs. Each individual course creates a holistic view of a particular subject area.
- *Economic efficiency*. Due to the use of a more concentrated presentation and unification of the content of educational material, the focus of distance learning technologies on a large number of learners, more efficient use of teaching staff and material and technical base that provide training.
- *New role of the teacher*. The teacher is entrusted with such functions as: coordination of the cognitive process, adjusting the course being taught, advising on the development of an individual curriculum, management of educational projects, checking current tasks, and so on.
- *Specialized quality control of education*. In distance education, both traditional forms of quality control of existing and received education, and distance forms of such work are used.
- Use of specialized technologies and teaching aids. Distance learning uses special technologies: case technologies; television technologies; video conferencing technologies; combined technologies. Distance learning technologies combine most of the existing teaching methods and give them a qualitatively new educational and technological level.

The central link in distance learning is the means of telecommunications and their transport base. They are used to provide the educational process: the necessary educational and methodological materials; feedback between the teacher and the learners; exchange of management information within the distance learning system; access to international information networks.

In summary, it can be argued that the tools and methods of distance learning form a unique distributed environment, which provides the main features, benefits and problems of this promising form of education.

Bykov (Bykov, 2008) describe modern means of distance learning that adhere to certain properties, but

this range of tasks cannot be fully accepted in the conditions of long-term learning during an emergency situation. This is primarily due to the low level of preparedness of educational institutions for such situations and the low level of preparation of modern students and schoolchildren for conditions of complete isolation and independence in learning. Osadchyi and Varina (Osadchyi and Varina, 2020), Osadchyi (Osadchyi, 2019) and Bykov (Bykov, 2008) claim that the system environment of distance learning is a set of methods and software that ensure the implementation of remote distance learning technology. In our opinion, such an environment can be formed in two ways: 1) using distance learning platforms (systems) (examples may be Moodle, Lotus Learning Space, Blackboard Learning System and others); 2) through a set of services and services of the Internet (blog, email, online board, online video and audio, chats, forums, online testing tools, online presentations, electronic libraries, book publishing services etc). That is, the use of only one online resource at the present stage of development of distance learning does not provide a sufficient number of functions necessary to create conditions for quality distance learning, there is a need to use a set of resources to comprehensively cover distance learning.

Modern distance learning systems allow full interaction with educational content and testing and other forms of control, but communication between teacher and student takes place in chat or video conferences, which are not convenient for the student on a number of issues, the main of which there is insufficient provision of remote settlements with quality material support (high-speed Internet, the latest computer software, etc.). This leads to the impossibility of the student's perception of information in full. Analyzing a similar situation in terms of the educational process in schools, we can say about the low level of readiness of students for self-study and the need for constant interaction between teacher and student in the usual usual format of the lesson.

Analyzing the functionality of modern distance education systems on the example of Moodle, Lotus Learning Space, Blackboard Learning System (Bukreiev, 2020) it was determined that these systems are developed in the vector of asynchronous communication to create greater mobility, but the direction of synchronous communication needed by students quarantine is almost absent. This determines the need to use additional software to create quality conditions for synchronous communication.

As part of the study, we identified the main tasks to be performed by the online communication system. So we were defining general learning objectives as the distribution of tasks for the teacher. They emphasize the need to decide what needs to be done in the classroom, what can be learned, studied and solved at home, which tasks are suitable for individual lessons, and which - for group work on the project. It is important that lessons take the form of project defense, presentation, debate or discussion between students or the teacher with students, which in turn confirms the need for "live" synchronous communication. The electronic unit should contain projects for group work, creative, laboratory and practical tasks, reference materials and links to additional materials on the Internet, intermediate and test tests, as well as tasks of increased complexity for gifted students. Thus, the online communication system must satisfy the possibility of conducting classes in the form of project defense, presentation, debate or discussion between students or teachers with students, ie the system should allow a large number of users to communicate and access visual material on their computer. users. Thus, we can say that the creation of conditions for quality active interaction between teacher and student, especially in the context of distance learning of students, is mandatory. Under quarantine, students can quickly use their motivation, which will reduce the quality of learning, so the use of distance communication should enable students and teachers to conduct quality and productive communication with the addition of multimedia education. Summarizing the general needs and tasks assigned to online communication services, we can determine that the service should meet the following needs: low load on the computer and the Internet; the ability to create conferences in real time; providing the ability to simultaneously display the screens of all participants in the learning process; providing the opportunity to communicate in the mode of individual consultation, or consultations of a small group of users; creating a visual intuitive server interface for users; the ability to administer the server and configure user rights.

Thus, having analyzed and identified the general objectives and needs of the online communication service, we will analyze the features of the Discord platform to verify the feasibility of its use. Discord has support for Windows, macOS, Android, iOS, Linux and runs on all browsers. Determining the system requirements for the computer for the normal operation of the program, we can note the low level of load on the system, for greater visualization, we conducted a comparative description of system requirements between three software tools focused on video conferencing, the most popular nowadays is Skype, Zoom and Google Meet (table 1).

Thus, we can say that Discord requires a lower

Feature	Skype	Zoom	Google Meet	Discord	
Processor	1 GHz	3 GHz	2 GHz	1200 MHz	
Hard disk space	200 MB	500 MB	200 MB	256 MB	
RAM	512 MB	8 GB	512 MB	256 MB	
Bit architecture	x86, x64	x86, x64	x86, x64	x86, x64	
Operating System	Windows, Linux,	Windows, Linux,	Windows, Linux,	Windows, Linux,	
	Mac OS X, An-	Mac OS X, An-	Mac OS X, Google	Mac OS X, An-	
	droid, IOS	droid, IOS	Chrome OS	droid, IOS	

Table 1: Comparative characteristics of the minimum system requirements of Skype, Zoom, Google Meet, Discord.

level of load on the system and works with almost all operating systems. A significant advantage of using Discord is also a simple and fast software launch system, for this you need to download the program from the official website, install it and go through the registration procedure. Then you have the opportunity to send invitations and start communicating. Convenience is confirmed by the fact that for Discord there is no need to install a client, the user can communicate through a browser. To do this, you will need to send him an invitation link. This method of use greatly simplifies the system of interaction between teacher and student in a constant academic mobility, because the system allows mobile connection to the server from any access point and platform. This creates the necessary learning mobility conditions that are required in distance learning during quarantine, but other systems for webinars have not been developed. For such systems, the presence of the installed software and all plug-ins to it is mandatory.

Discord is a completely free platform that does not contain hidden payments or premium subscriptions, which is very important for state and purely educational institutions in the economic situation of the state. Stable operation, good communication quality and simplicity of the interface confirm the expediency of using Discord by users of any skill level. In addition, the platform has features: Push to talk and voice activation, the system allows you to create conditions for simultaneous communication of a large number of user groups, while communication in other software is exclusively synchronous or asynchronous and requires a large number of mutually exclusive connected servers to provide training of one course / flow / school / etc. The platform allows you to add interlocutors to friends and make direct and group calls with text chat support, which creates conditions for working with students with high levels of nervousness and students with low levels of logistics, which causes problems when working with the general flow of students.

The analysis causes an increase in the level of relevance of the use of Discord, but this is not enough to determine the overall feasibility of the selected platform, so it was decided to turn to the works of Striuk (Striuk, 2021, 2022). The authors use the example of training future software engineers to reveal the need for intensive training of future professionals for professional activities and emphasize that it can be effective only if the range of organizational and pedagogical conditions of its operation. In this case we can say that opportunity: creation of high-quality conditions for conducting practice-oriented individualized practical and seminar classes, motivating students to study the subject component through a multimedia worldview during the learning process, motivating students to self-study and self-improvement; establishing synchronous learning in terms of full interaction between teacher and student; involving students in creating a personal information environment.

As we have already mentioned, creating conditions for improving the level of students' motivation for self-study is one of the most important tasks of any distance learning system. Taking into account a certain range of requirements for a modern remote communication system and to further verify the feasibility of using Discord, we will conduct a comparative analysis of software functions when working with them, for comparison we will also use Skype, Zoom and Google Meet (table 2 and table 3).

Based on the results of the analysis, it can be argued that there is a significant advantage in the use of Discord compared to other software tools in the vector of creating quality conditions for synchronous educational process. The problem point of Discord remains the limitation of the number of users on one video channel, but given the need for small groups of up to 30 students, this factor can be considered weightless.

During the study, a detailed review of the possibilities of working with Discord was conducted:

1. *Create an unlimited number of servers*. Creating the conditions for a quality management system of the educational unit is the most important factor in the development of the distance learning system. Thus, the problem arises in the absence of modern

Function	Skype	Zoom	Google Meet	Discord
Individual text messages	+	+	+	+
Conference text messaging	+	+	+	+
Individual calls	+	+	+	+
Conference calls	+	+	+	+
Screencast	+	+	+	+
Ability to control users	+	+	+	+

Table 2: Positive characteristics of Skype, Zoom, Google Meet, Discord software functions.

Table 3: Negative characteristics of Skype, Zoom, Google Meet, Discord software features.

Function	Skype	Zoom	Google Meet	Discord
Multiplayer screen	-	-	-	+
User rights settings	±	±	-	+
Creating parallel channels	-	±	-	+
Connecting bots	-	-	-	+
Restrictions on the number of users	-	-	-	-
Limitations on the number of concurrent video conference participants	25	-	-	50
Set voice priority	-	-	-	+
User Activity Report	-	-	-	+
Server moderation	-	+	+	+
Creating a separate server	-	+	+	+



Figure 1: Developed a distance learning server on the Discord platform.

remote communication systems. With the functionality of the Discord platform, a high-quality system for the distribution of training units has been created, which allows for full stratification of user rights and a transparent monitoring system (figure 1 on the left). In terms of the learning process, this feature allows you to create a large number of servers that can conditionally divide the overall structure of distance learning into clearly defined groups (division by faculties or classes). Subject to the development of a quality server system, conditions are created for further reporting and quality control of the educational process by moderating each individual structure of the learning environment.

2. Configure the interface language and general in-

formation about the server. Analyzing the needs of the learning space, we identified the need to create a high-quality and clear interface of online communication servers to create conditions for high-quality perception of information by students or schoolchildren. To solve this problem, Discord has created: the ability to define the language region of users; setting up an instant notification system; creation of AFK-channel for automatic transfer of currently inactive users to a separate room, which in turn allows you to reduce the load when working with individual channels; creating a unique server logo, for greater separation of each individual server. This feature allowed us to create a high-quality clear interface for all participants in the learning process. Thus, students and teachers already at the initial stage had an intuitive interface that allowed to start work without a long period of training and training of users in the skills of using the platform. What works best during training is important to create conditions for quality learning of foreign languages, so for foreign language classes it is advisable to create a server using the interface of the language, which will qualitatively affect the learning process through full immersion.

3. Creating an unlimited number of text and voice communication channels. One of the main problems of the total number of remote communication systems is the development of asynchronous communication and the need to use a single communication channel. This problem significantly affects the possibility of conducting streaming classes in terms of distance learning in the long term. Modern systems of remote communication, in the long run, need to create a developed system of synchronous communication and the ability to create a large number of parallel channels for different academic groups. The previous analvsis showed the need to create a common system that would be able to use the school in full. This need determines the need to create separate communication channels for each group or class, to solve this problem, Discord provides a fairly optimal system (we can see the implementation in figure 1) to create an unlimited number of voice and text channels. Thus, we were able to create a stream of learning and a system of quality synchronous communication of all academic groups of students in the distance learning.

- 4. Create invitations of new users by invitation-link, invitation from the list of friends, invitation by creating a widget for the site. In emergency situations, first of all, there is the problem of creating a single channel of communication, which creates aggressive conditions that do not allow quality dissemination of information and general acquaintance of all users with the future form of work. When using Discord, server administrators have the ability to create user invitations in several different ways, such as creating new user invitations by invitation-link, Discord friend list invitation, and invitation by creating a site widget. This allows full coverage of all communication channels of recipients of training services in order to speed up their connection to the general system. Using a certain range of ways to invite users, in the conditions of our experiment we managed to deploy the server within one week and fill it with users.
- 5. Configure user roles. To create conditions for quality operation of the remote communication server, there is a need for extensive rights of users, in order to prevent offenses by users of the server. Thus, we have developed a system of strict stratification of user rights. This simplified the server management process and the process of monitoring user actions. With the help of a welldeveloped system of rights, a number of measures were taken to ensure the quality of education (checking couples by the head of the department, mutual visits of couples by teachers of the department).

- 6. Setting access rights for different communication channels. As mentioned above, in order to create conditions for quality operation of the remote communication server, it is necessary to branch out the work areas of each individual user or user group, therefore there is a need to configure access rights of each user group to individual communication channels. channel "Faculty Council"). This creates a clear stratification and user management system, as shown in the figure, creating separate text channels for use by individual courses and channels for use by each individual study group.
- 7. Audit journal and moderation. It is important in the work of distance learning systems and services for their operation is to create a high-quality reporting system, in order to create such a system in Discord created a quality system of moderation and audit, which allows visual and textual display of each user's actions. opportunity to check the quality of work of teachers and students. Thus, we were able to fully verify all the actions of participants in the learning process and conduct transparent monitoring of the success of user actions. With the help of this system, the administration of the educational institution has the opportunity to take similar measures to check the quality of the educational process and the availability of teachers and students in the classroom.
- 8. *Pin messages for each of the channels*. During the work of the educational institution an important factor is the early and high-quality dissemination of information among all participants in the educational process. Typically, systems that work in real time have the ability to quickly "clutter" the open text chat, to create the ability to separate and highlight the most important messages, created the ability to pin messages in each text channel. Thus, we have created conditions for the dissemination of information among users without determining the date of their connection to the system. This has greatly facilitated the information process due to the gradual connection of new users to the platform over a period of time.
- 9. *Live broadcasts.* The most important feature of each system of distance communication in a quality learning process is the ability to conduct online broadcasts by both teachers and students, this is primarily due to the need for quality transmission of information during lectures, and the possibility of feedback (student comments, questions, screen display for verification and clarification, etc.). Discord's GoLife mode allows you to display a specific application or screen in real
time, and all registered users with a defined access and installed Discord software can connect to this broadcast. Thus, we managed to create conditions for a quality process of conducting classes, which fully allowed to reproduce the usual format of classes. This created a reliable channel of active communication between teachers and students, which helped increase the number of active students and increase the level of activation of students.

10. Management of user communication tools. In the conditions of active work of a large number of simultaneous users (especially work with primary and secondary school students) there is a problem with conveying information due to too high a level of noise, usually the causes of noise can be: microphone noise; general household noise of users; presence in the group of energetic and restless students and more. To solve this problem, it is possible for administrators of the system of user communication to have full control. This function includes: reducing the level of "voice" of each individual user; mute the user's microphone, mute the speakers / user headphones. Using certain functions, you can solve problems with the conditions of high-quality information transfer in the shortest possible time.

As part of the study, we conducted an experiment that took place over one year in two stages, in the first stage (March-May 2020), the developers of the Discord platform were ambivalent about the use of the platform in the educational process, as the platform was primarily developed as a tool communications during the gaming process, but under the first quarantine, the number of simultaneous broadcasts was expanded to 25 people in one voice channel, which generally made it possible to use the platform for educational purposes. However, at this stage we noticed a number of significant problems that occurred when using the platform, namely: high noise levels during communication, problems with video connection and broadcasting in some students, problems with low bandwidth of Discord servers and insufficient the level of informativeness of user instructions. In addition, minor problems included the lack of a Ukrainian-language interface and a generally insufficient range of languages for use on the server and encryption of documents when sent in messages, which led to the need to disclose more information before sending. However, all these problems were found to be insufficiently critical to complete the experiment. During the first half of the year, the developers of the platform completed improvements and today we can emphasize the correction of a significant num-

164

ber of significant problems related to the first stage of the experiment, namely: a new noise reduction system for Krisp communication was developed and the system for configuring audio input and output and video information, which in turn solved the problems of most students; The developers carried out highquality work on debugging and expanding the server part of the platform, which solved the problem of low bandwidth.

At the first stage of the experiment (March-May 2020) a remote communication server was created and implemented on the basis of the Department of Informatics and Cybernetics of Bohdan Khmelnitsky Melitopol State Pedagogical University for students of I-III courses: 122 Computer Science, 014.09 Secondary Education (Informatics), 015 Vocational education. During the first stage of the experiment, a number of measures were taken to check the quality of interaction between students and teachers:

- General organizational and educational hour. During this event, conditions were created for the simultaneous transmission of three parallel simultaneous broadcasts with first- and third-year students. This approach, unlike other remote communication software, creates conditions for uniting students and teachers in improvised groups, which have an active connection with each other, which allowed the general information of a large number of students and receiving feedback from them at the same time. This qualitatively reduces the time required for work and creates the conditions for intensification of the learning process in terms of distance learning.
- 2. Mutual visits and verification. During training it is very important to create an opportunity to check the quality of classes. With the help of the developed server, we created the possibility of fast transition between channels, which enabled the administration departments of the educational institution to conduct a qualitative check of the presence of students in pairs and the quality of their education. A big problem in the conditions of distance learning is the problem of mutual visits of teachers in order to check the quality of education, improve the educational process or gain experience of teaching by young teachers from the faculty. In the conditions of the developed server and the period of the experiment, a number of mutual visitation activities were carried out, where the teachers had the opportunity to join the pairs of their colleagues and follow the course of the lesson. They had the opportunity, if necessary, to ask questions or clarify, join the broadcast and turn on their own.

- 3. Conducting classes online. During the whole period of the experiment, classes were held on the basis of the distance learning site of Bohdan Khmelnitsky Melitopol State Pedagogical University (https://dfn.mdpu.org.ua), but direct communication, lectures and seminars were held on the Discord server. According to a survey of teachers and students, which was attended by 102 students and teachers (table 4), 41.18% answered about the significant negative impact of quarantine measures on learning, but after the introduction of the Discord platform 74.51% of respondents said that significantly increased the quality of perception and transmission of information, students had the opportunity to ask questions during the lecture broadcast, and teachers could adjust their report or explanation of students' questions.
- 4. Conducting active seminars. During the period determined by the experiment, laboratory and seminar classes were conducted strictly in the order determined by the schedule. In the process of pairing, conditions were created under which students simultaneously launched parallel broadcasts on one voice channel and performed tasks, transmitting their work to the teacher, this process significantly accelerated the lesson and all tasks. Focusing on further comments from students, it can be emphasized that it has become much easier for students to complete classes in an environment where the teacher can look around and advise on possible approaches to solving problems. In addition, the opportunity for students to join each other's broadcasts was a qualitative fact, which created conditions for working in groups.
- 5. *Work in online groups*. Creating conditions for synchronous work and connecting students to broadcast each other, created conditions for group work, so students, divided into groups, developed individual projects under the supervision of the teacher, then on the general channel, were performances and defense projects of each group.

Carrying out of these actions acted in confirmation of expediency of use of the created system and confirmation of expediency of use of the Discord platform as it provides opportunities for carrying out certain actions while the majority of them are impossible in realization on other systems for carrying out webinars.

The survey (table 4) showed a qualitative increase in the level of students' interest in the educational process in quarantine, so 83.33% of students adopted the new system as a quality application to create conditions for synchronous communication with teachers in quarantine, 75.51% of students emphasize that the system greatly simplifies the process of perception of information and 77.45% consider Discord more convenient than the currently available software. However, 82.35% of students emphasize the need to develop distance communication systems, and 80.39% say the need to improve the educational server Discord to expand its pedagogical potential. We consider it appropriate to address the direction of automation of student management processes in pairs, development of bots for the server and training on the use of the platform in general.

We consider it important to determine the factor of psychological isolation of students, so when asked about the use of audio and video, only 79.41% and 38.24% answered positively. This highlighted the need to create quality conditions to reduce the emotional load on students and reduce their stress during training through pedagogical and psychological training, development of automated learning and confidence-building measures during the adaptation of first-year students.

During the first stage of the experiment it was determined that the constant activity of students in interaction with teachers (online lectures, visual seminars, etc.) in the system of distance communication, leads to a qualitative increase in the quality of student interaction. Summing up this stage, we can say about improving the quality of the educational process by activating the desire of students to continue their studies in a familiar and convenient for them, which is as close as possible to real classes. To this end, we considered it appropriate to state that a number of activities are mandatory in the context of longterm distance learning. Creating a remote communication system for these activities is a priority. These measures include:

- 1. General organizational and educational hour.
- 2. Mutual visit and check.
- 3. Conducting couples online.
- 4. Conducting active seminars.
- 5. Work in online groups.

To carry out these activities, a system of monitoring the conduct of classes and the opportunity for students and teachers to visit couples who are not part of the spectrum of their personal influence was created. This made it possible for teachers and the administration of the educational institution to check the quality of the educational process, and students had the opportunity to create their own individualized vector of education by visiting additional pairs with the permission of the teacher. Thus, a system was created to fully cover all the needs of educators to create a quality educational environment in terms of long-term

Question	Yes	No	It is difficult to answer
Have you been negatively affected by the transition to distance learning	41.18	32.35	26.47
during quarantine?			
Do you use the Discord platform while studying?	83.33	16.67	0
Does the Discord platform make the process of perceiving information	74.51	18.63	6.86
in pairs easier for you?			
Do you combine the use of a distance learning site with the Discord	76.47	16.67	6.86
platform?			
Do you find Discord more convenient than other online communication	77.45	9.80	12.75
software (Skype, Zoom, Google Meet, etc.)?			
Do you use audio communication in your work in pairs?	79.41	20.59	0
Do you use video communication in your work in pairs?	38.24	61.76	0
Has the notification process improved since the launch of the Discord	69.61	8.82	21.57
platform?			
In your opinion, is it important to further develop the system of remote	82.35	2.94	14.71
communication?			
Is it necessary to refine the Discord training server to expand its peda-	80.39	0.98	18.63
gogical potential?			
In your opinion, is it appropriate to use Discord in your learning pro-	79.41	3.92	16.67
cess?			

Table 4: Survey of students and teachers on the feasibility of using Discord in the educational process (%).

distance learning. This confirmed the assumption that the use of Discord is appropriate in emergencies and in the transition to distance learning qualitatively activates the work of students, facilitating the process of perception and assimilation of the material.

In the second phase of the experiment (September-December 2020), we expanded the functions of the Discord platform to test the asynchronous component of the educational process to determine the possibility of integrated use of the Discord platform as a single platform for distance learning and blended learning.

During the second stage of the experiment, in addition to those already mentioned in the first stage, a number of measures were taken to test the quality of interaction between students and teachers in conditions of complete limitations in the means of conducting classes only Discord platform:

 Conducting the total number of classes. During all classes, conditions were created for the simultaneous transmission of parallel broadcasts with students of I-III courses, by expanding the structure of the educational unit and constant coverage of lectures and practical materials on the appropriate channels of groups and conducting practical classes in constant open communication. The result was the confirmation of the results of the first stage of the experiment, because unlike other remote communication software, with the help of the Discord platform we managed to create conditions for uniting students and teachers in improvised groups, debates between students and presentation of group and individual results. All this significantly reduced the time required for students to perceive the information, which created the conditions for intensification of the learning process in terms of distance learning.

2. Carrying out settlement practice. During the study, we had the opportunity to test the feasibility of using the Discord platform not only in the context of general disciplinary classes, but also a more complex process of computational practice in third-year students majoring in 122 Computer Science. Prior to the internship, students were asked about their wishes for the internship platform and according to the results it was determined that 87% of students voted for the internship based on the Discord platform, 11% supported all options and 2% voted for the internship based on the Zoom. This survey once again confirms the high level of motivation and support of students in the vector of using the Discord platform compared to other modern platforms. The result of the work was an excellent increase in the pace of work of students, relative to the results of previous years, all students coped well with the task of practice and managed to defend their work. Regarding the increase in the level of quality of work performed, we can emphasize that there is a decrease in the number of students with a "medium" level of knowledge and a relative increase in the number of students with a "high level of knowledge" (table 5). We see the reason for this trend in the group work of students in synchronous mode, students were able to support and complement each other, which significantly reduced the level of students with insufficient knowledge and expand the creative abilities of students with sufficient and high levels of knowledge. In addition, communication in a student-friendly mode significantly reduced the level of psychological stress and accelerated the time of work.

- 3. Carrying out modular control. At the first stage of the experiment, all forms of student certification were conducted on the basis of the Zoom platform, but the free form of the Zoom platform is not enough for such an event, so it was decided to conduct an experimental modular control based on the Discord platform. In general, the results fully justified the hypothesis of the expediency of using Discord, all periodic modular tests were conducted in a timely and productive manner, students did not have a high level of psychological load and in a convenient and "already familiar" format for them on the Discord platform passed periodic control and confirmed their assessments. Conducted at the end of the periodic module control stressed that 82% of students "very positively" evaluate the transition of periodic module control to the Discord platform.
- 4. Session control. As part of the experiment, it was decided to conduct a series of exams for thirdyear students based on the Discord platform. Before the beginning, the hypothesis about the expediency of using Discord during the examination control was determined, but after the examination control, the determined hypothesis was partially refuted. The reason for this refutation was the insufficient development of internal resources of the Discord platform to record the control. Examination in distance learning requires a complete record of the entire process of writing and defending the student's work, its evaluation and possible refinements, but the Discord platform in its free format does not allow recording the process, which required the teacher to find additional screen recording software. The solution to this problem was found in the use of Bandicam Screen Recorder and Faststone Capture software, which are shareware and do not fully solve the problem assigned to them. Therefore, at this stage of platform development, we consider it appropriate to use external platforms (Zoom, Skype and others) for session control, or additional use of screen

recording software.

Table 5: The results of the calculation practice of students in 2018-2020 (%).

The level of knowl-	2018	2019	2020
edge of the student			
Average	33	28	11
Sufficient	54	66	55
High	13	16	34

Therefore, we can conclude that the experiment allowed us to mark the Discord platform as useful in terms of general educational process, organizational and educational activities, administration of educational process and periodic control, but needs to expand the functionality and additions to reporting on session control, which requires recording the process of passing the exams by the student. The conducted questionnaires and analysis of the results of students' calculation practice emphasize the presence of a high positive evaluation of the platform by users (especially students). The growing level of students motivation to use the platform and the intensification of their educational activities confirms the positive impact of using the Discord platform on the quality of students' knowledge during distance and blended learning. The presence of constant development of the platform by developers, their attitude to the problems of society in quarantine allows us to emphasize the significant constant growth of the platform and make a hypothesis about the possibility of solving the problems of the platform in the future. All this confirmed the assumption that the use of Discord is appropriate in emergencies and in the transition to distance learning qualitatively activates the work of students, facilitating the process of perception and assimilation of the material.

4 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

The purpose of our study was to determine the feasibility and features of using the Discord platform as an environment for creating a quality system of distance communication in distance learning during emergencies. To solve the main task of the study, we analyzed information sources on safety during quarantine activities related to the pandemic of viral diseases and concluded on the needs of users of educational services to provide a quality means of distance learning and communication in long-term emergencies. Having identified the general tasks and needs of the online communication service, a comparative analysis of its Discord platform with Skype, Zoom and Google Meet systems was conducted. The results of the analysis showed that Discord requires much less load on the system and works with almost all operating systems. Further work revealed the features of using Discord functions to establish a quality environment for learning and reflected the results of an experiment conducted in the study, which surveyed students and teachers on the quality of the initial process. For educational activities, a system of monitoring classes and the opportunity for students and teachers to visit couples who are not part of the spectrum of their personal influence was created. This made it possible for teachers and the administration of the educational institution to check the quality of the educational process, and students had the opportunity to create their own individualized vector of education by visiting additional pairs with the permission of the teacher. Thus, a system was created to fully cover all the needs of educators to create a quality educational environment in terms of long-term distance learning. This confirmed the assumption that the use of Discord is appropriate in emergencies and in the transition to distance learning qualitatively activates the work of students, facilitating the process of perception and assimilation of the material. The experiment made it possible to mark the Discord platform as useful in general educational process, organizational and educational activities, educational administration and periodic control, but needs to be expanded and supplemented in terms of reporting on session control, which requires recording the process student exams. The conducted questionnaires and analysis of the results of students' calculation practice emphasize the presence of a high positive evaluation of the platform by users (especially students). The growing level of students 'motivation to use the platform and the intensification of their educational activities confirms the positive impact of using the Discord platform on the quality of students' knowledge during distance and blended learning. Thus, a system was created to fully cover all the needs of educators to create a quality educational environment in terms of long-term distance learning.

In further work, we consider it necessary to expand the existing functionality of the developed platform in the vector of automation of educational processes (class schedule, notification, automatic testing of students after class, creation of automated bots for conducting control tests) and conduct an experiment to identify their impact on the quality of education, in order to increase the quality education under quarantine restrictions or other man-made disasters.

REFERENCES

- Ardiyansah, T., Batubara, R., and Auliya, P. (2021). Using Discord to Facilitate Students in Teaching Learning Process during COVID-19 Outbreak. *Journal of English Teaching, Literature, and Applied Linguistics*, 5(1):76–78. https://doi.org/10.30587/jetlal.v5i1.2528.
- Arifianto, M. L. and Izzudin, I. F. (2021). From Gaming to Learning: Assessing the Gamification of Discord in the Realm of Education. In 2021 7th International Conference on Education and Technology (ICET), pages 95–99. https://doi.org/10.1109/ ICET53279.2021.9575079.
- Bilousova, L., Gryzun, L., and Zhytienova, N. (2021). Interactive methods in blended learning of the fundamentals of UI/UX design by pre-service specialists. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(3):415–428. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.34.
- Bukreiev, D. (2020). Neuro-network technologies as a mean for creating individualization conditions for students learning. 75:04013. https://doi.org/10.1051/shsconf/ 20207504013.
- Bykov, V. Y. (2008). Modeli orhanizatsiinykh system vidkrytoi osvity [Models of the open education organizational systems]. Atika, Kyiv. https://lib.iitta.gov.ua/ 845/.
- Di Marco, L. (2021). User-centered evaluation of Discord in midwifery education during the COVID-19 pandemic: Analysis of the adaptation of the tool to student needs. *European Journal of Midwifery*, 5:1–6. https://doi.org/10.18332/ejm/142638.
- Dushchenko, O. (2020). Distance course: features of development and use. Ukrainian Journal of Educational Studies and Information Technology, 8(4):1–12. https://doi.org/10.32919/uesit.2020.04.01.
- Jiang, J. A., Kiene, C., Middler, S., Brubaker, J. R., and Fiesler, C. (2019). Moderation Challenges in Voice-Based Online Communities on Discord. *Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact.*, 3(CSCW). https://doi.org/ 10.1145/3359157.
- Kalashnikova, L., Hrabovets, I., Chernous, L., Chorna, V., and Kiv, A. (2022). Gamification as a trend in organizing professional education of sociologists in the context of distance learning: analysis of practices. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(2):115–128. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.2.
- Kukharenko, V., Shunevych, B., and Kravtsov, H. (2022). Distance course examination. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(1):1–19. https://doi.org/10. 55056/etq.4.
- Kyslova, M. A. and Slovak, K. I. (2015). Cloud tools of constructing mobile learning environment in higher mathematics. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 3:194–199. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.264.
- Lacher, L. and Biehl, C. (2018). Using Discord to Understand and Moderate Collaboration and Teamwork: (Abstract Only). In *Proceedings of the 49th ACM Technical Symposium on Computer Science Education*, SIGCSE '18, page 1107, New York, USA. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/ 10.1145/3159450.3162231.

- Martyniuk, O. O., Martyniuk, O. S., Pankevych, S., and Muzyka, I. (2021). Educational direction of STEM in the system of realization of blended teaching of physics. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(3):347–359. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.39.
- Mock, K. (2019). Experiences Using Discord as Platform for Online Tutoring and Building a CS Community. In *Proceedings of the 50th ACM Technical Symposium* on Computer Science Education, SIGCSE '19, page 1284, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3287324. 3293769.
- Nofandi, F., Widyaningsih, U., and Hariyono, H. (2020). Development of blended learning model in subject fundamental automation and control system technology for electro technical cadets of Surabaya Merchant Marine Polytechnic. Ukrainian Journal of Educational Studies and Information Technology, 8(2):44–54. https://doi.org/10.32919/uesit.2020.02. 04.
- Odinokaya, M. A., Krylova, E. A., Rubtsova, A. V., and Almazova, N. I. (2021). Using the Discord Application to Facilitate EFL Vocabulary Acquisition. *Education Sciences*, 11(9):470. https://doi.org/10.3390/ educsci11090470.
- Osadcha, K., Osadchyi, V., and Kruglyk, V. (2020). The role of information and communication technologies in epidemics: an attempt at analysis. Ukrainian Journal of Educational Studies and Information Technology, 8(1):62–82. https://doi.org/10.32919/uesit.2020. 01.06.
- Osadcha, K., Osadchyi, V., Kruglyk, V., and Spirin, O. (2021). Modeling of the adaptive system of individualization and personalization of future specialists' professional training in the conditions of blended learning. *Educational Dimension*, 5:109–125. https: //doi.org/10.31812/educdim.4721.
- Osadchyi, V. (2019). Mobile technologies in the professional training of students of economic specialties. *Ukrainian Journal of Educational Studies and Information Technology*, 7(1):43–53. https://doi.org/10. 32919/uesit.2019.01.04.
- Osadchyi, V. and Varina, H. (2020). Future masters of psychology training for professional activity in the conditions of non-formal education. Ukrainian Journal of Educational Studies and Information Technology, 8(3):49–61. https://doi.org/10.32919/uesit.2020. 03.05.
- Ovcharuk, O. V., Gurzhii, A. M., Ivaniuk, I. V., Kartashova, L. A., Hrytsenchuk, O. O., Vakaliuk, T. A., and Shyshkina, M. P. (2022). The use of digital tools by secondary school teachers for the implementation of distance learning in the context of digital transformation in Ukraine. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 9:16–27. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.96.
- Oyegoke, T., Olotu, J., and Ojetunde, A. O. (2021). Impact of COVID-19 lockdown policy on the anxiety of the engineers-in-training in ABU Zaria Engineering Faculty in Nigeria. Ukrainian Journal of Educational Studies and Information Technology,

9(2):20–36. https://doi.org/10.32919/uesit.2021.02. 02.

- Striuk, A. M. (2021). Problematic questions of software requirements engineering training. *Educational Dimension*, 4:90–101. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim. v56i4.4441.
- Striuk, A. M. (2022). Formation of software design skills among software engineering students. *Educational Dimension*, 6:1–21. https://doi.org/10.31812/ educdim.4519.
- Tkachuk, V. V., Yechkalo, Y. V., Semerikov, S. O., Khotskina, S. M., Markova, O. M., and Taraduda, A. S. (2022). Distance learning during COVID-19 pandemic: mobile information and communications technology overview. *Educational Dimension*, 7:282–291. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim.7612.
- Trubavina, I., Vorozhbit-Gorbatyuk, V., Shtefan, M., Kalina, K., and Dzhus, O. (2021). From the experience of organizing artistic and productive activities of older preschool children by means of distance education in the conditions of quarantine measures for the spread of COVID-19. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(1):51–72. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.56.
- Uong, T. G. T., Nguyen, D. K., and Nguyen, H. N. (2022). Teachers' Feedback on Using Discord as an Online Learning Platform. *International Journal of TESOL Education*, 2(4):84–104. https://doi.org/10.54855/ijte. 22246.
- Valko, N. and Osadchyi, V. (2020). The transforming of an online, distance-learning masters of nature science. Ukrainian Journal of Educational Studies and Information Technology, 8(2):1–12. https://doi.org/ 10.32919/uesit.2020.02.01.
- Vladoiu, M. and Constantinescu, Z. (2020). Learning During COVID-19 Pandemic: Online Education Community, Based on Discord. In 2020 19th RoEduNet Conference: Networking in Education and Research (RoEduNet), pages 1–6. https://doi.org/10. 1109/RoEduNet51892.2020.9324863.
- Voloshinov, S., Kruglyk, V., Osadchyi, V., Osadcha, K., and Symonenko, S. (2020). Realities and prospects of distance learning at higher education institutions of Ukraine. Ukrainian Journal of Educational Studies and Information Technology, 8(1):1–16. https: //doi.org/10.32919/uesit.2020.01.01.
- Warni, H., Arifin, S., Ferry, M., Pebriyandi, and Kristiyandaru, A. (2021). The application of discord as an effort to increase students' wellbeing in physical education learning during the COVID-19 emergency. *Journal Sport Area*, 6(3):335–348. https://doi.org/10.25299/ sportarea.2021.vol6(3).6612.
- Wiles, A. M. and Simmons, S. L. (2022). Establishment of an Engaged and Active Learning Community in the Biology Classroom and Lab with Discord. *Journal* of Microbiology & Biology Education, 23(1):e00334– 21. https://doi.org/10.1128/jmbe.00334-21.

Author's Refresher Course for Mathematics Teachers on the Use of Open Science Cloud Services

Dmytro E. Bobyliev¹^{®a}, Maiia V. Marienko²^{®b}, Mariya P. Shyshkina²^{®c} and Svitlana M. Hryshchenko³^{®d}

¹Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine

²Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the NAES of Ukraine, 9 M. Berlynskoho Str., Kyiv, 04060, Ukraine

³National University of Fiscal Service of Ukraine, 31 Universytetska Str., Irpin, 08205, Ukraine {dmytrobobyliev, popelmaya, marimodi}@gmail.com, s-grischenko@ukr.net

Keywords: Refresher Courses, Mathematics Teachers, Author's Course, Open Science, Cloud Services.

Abstract: Nowadays teachers need to learn how to use cloud-based technologies and systems to organize distance and blended learning. It is a single cloud-based platform that would ensure the organization of the learning process in the whole without using the third-party tools. The use of the European Open Science Cloud (EOSC) in the process of teachers' training may be useful as a possible platform that brings together more than 200 cloud services. The use of EOSC may help to support the interdisciplinary links. It is the appropriate instrument being helpful for teachers to support the organization of the process of blended and distance learning. The article presents the structure of the author's advanced training course for mathematics teachers "Cloud services of open science in the educational environment of a school". The content of advanced training course, its purpose, and the list of topics are described. It is indicated which competencies are to be improved after successful completion of this course. The given study is the initial stage of the multilevel research. The author's advanced training course for mathematics teachers "Cloud services of open science in the educational environment of the model of the cloud-oriented methodical system for training science and mathematics teachers to work in a scientific lyceum that was introducted and tested in the educational process of Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University.

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Problem Statement

In view of the approval of the Resolution of the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine 21.08.2019 No. 800 "Some issues of professional development of pedagogical and scientific and pedagogical staff" (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2019) the teachers' training courses have undergone significant changes. In the speech of Mandzii (Mandzii, 2020) the main opportunities for professional development of teachers were revealed. The main changes in the professional development of teachers include the availability of free choice of seminars, training, workshops, webinars within the in-service training program. There are several areas of teachers' training, but in this study we can single out the use of information and communication technologies and particulary the cloud-based in the educational process.

The content of teachers' training courses is also influenced by the situation connected with the introduction of quarantine measures in Ukraine related to the spread of COVID-19 (2020–2021), as the different forms of distance work, blended and distance learning have become widely used (Abdula et al., 2022; Kovalchuk et al., 2023; Kucher et al., 2022; Tkachuk et al., 2021). To organize distance and blended learning, teachers need to learn how to use the cloud-based training technologies and systems that ensure the organization of the learning process in the whole within the single platform without the use of third-party tools. The option is to use cloud services and cloud-based systems in the process of teachers' training.

On January 16, 2020, the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine adopted the Law "About Full General Sec-

170

Bobyliev, D., Marienko, M., Shyshkina, M. and Hryshchenko, S.

Author's Refresher Course for Mathematics Teachers on the Use of Open Science Cloud Services.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1807-4844

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8087-962X

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5569-2700

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4957-0904

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 170-178 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

ondary Education" (Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine, 2020), according to which the grades 10-12 belong to a profile level, which also requires appropriate specific changes in the retraining of subject teachers. A separate issue is in changing the legal status of the school because the lyceum teachers should meet higher requirements than other ones. Therefore, the content of refresher courses needs to be revised, updated, and filled with modern digital technologies. In particular, the requirements for teachers who will work in lyceums (or scientific lyceums) are increasing, so in-service training courses should gain more academic and scientific components.

The principles of open science will help effectively bridge the gap between researchers and teachers. However, cloud-oriented services of open science have not yet gained widespread use in teaching and professional development of teachers. Underlying the understanding of open science is the concept that research should be reproducible and transparent, and also have long-term value through effective data storage and sharing. Using the principles of open science can be useful for training and professional development of teachers, for the formation of cloud-oriented systems of open science. Effective adoption of open science principles through data management, reproducible research, and stakeholder engagement in multimedia applications may enhance teacher learning. However, there are technical, sociocultural, and institutional challenges to embracing open science, including practical approaches to overcoming these obstacles in teacher training and in-service courses.

The participation of teachers and students in the process of scientific research is an important element in establishing new connections between science and teaching staff. Therefore, it is important to introduce open science, which can contribute to innovations taking into account the needs of teachers, lead to mutual learning and develop a scientific culture in the entire society as a whole. In particular, the introduction of cloud-oriented systems of open science into the process of teaching and professional development of teachers will lead to an increase in the level of distance and mixed learning organization in general secondary education institutions.

1.2 Literature Review

Kaplun (Kaplun, 2021) analyzes the meaning of the concept of "blended learning" and describes possible scenarios for its implementation for teachers' training (for this, the scientist provides a classification of models of blended learning). At the Department of Science Education of the Kharkiv Academy of Continuous Education, the content of advanced training courses for teachers of natural and mathematical disciplines includes the study of the specifics of blended learning and its features.

Yevtushenko (Yevtushenko, 2020) described the system of professional development of science and mathematics teachers in postgraduate education in Ukraine at the structural (national, regional (regional level), local (city/district/united territorial community level) levels. The author highlights the most promising trends in the development of in-service teachers' training: a balanced combination of traditional and distance technologies and methodological systems of training, improving accessibility of resourses and personal orientation.

The study by Bozkurt (Bozkurt, 2021) is devoted to the analysis of the social science teacher training program in terms of skills development in the 21st century. The study showed that the program needs to be improved because teachers had a low level of competence of interaction in the digital environment.

Arslan et al. (Arslan et al., 2020) implemented and evaluated the author's program of advanced training of English teachers in non-formal educational institutions. The two-week online curriculum was designed to meet the professional needs of teachers and and also contained tests. The results of the study showed that the program had a significant impact on the knowledge and behavior of teachers. Although most were positive about the program, some teachers suggested conducting a full-time program and extending the duration of the training.

Kimav and Aydın (Kimav and Aydın, 2020) describes the project of a contextual program of teacher training for the use of Web 2.0 tools in EFL lessons. The participants were 122 English teachers who worked at the School of Foreign Languages of Anadolu University. Eight consecutive stages were followed in the curriculum. This project, according to researchers, can be proposed and developed for such institutions that want to increase the competence of their teachers to integrate technology into the educational process.

According to Vicente-Saez et al. (Vicente-Saez et al., 2020), open science approach has great potential for organizing training and creating new knowledge, accelerating the process of research and innovation to find solutions to societal challenges and it will help to increase the level of specialists' training in certain fields.

Scientists note that the practices of the "old school" – a lot of outdated scientific norms sometimes impair the reliability of research. Therefore, certain

norms and practices of "open science" have been developed for different scientific fields to solve these problems. This question was explored in (Gehlbach and Robinson, 2021) namely to what extent and how these norms should be adopted and adapted to pedagogical psychology and education in a broader sense.

In November 2018, the European Commission launched the European Open Science Cloud (EOSC) in Vienna. EOSC envisages the creation of a European data transmission infrastructure, the integration of high-capacity cloud solutions, and ultimately expanding the scope of these services to include the public sector and industry. The European Open Science Cloud (EOSC) initiative aims to support more than 1.7 million researchers and promote interdisciplinary research in Europe. To consider the research community needs, the EOSC Secretariat organizes seminars, interviews and consultations (Chambers et al., 2021). The purpose of such activities is not only to identify the real needs for research infrastructure services and policies in social sciences and humanities, but also the visions and future needs.

Understanding the structure of EOSC is the first step in recognizing the opportunities offered by the recently launched EOSC services. The study (Budroni et al., 2019) offers ideas for a better understanding of EOSC implementation at the present stage.

Higher education is an environment where open science and open education can be linked within a general concept of openness. Open-source research tools are easy and accessible to use for teaching and learning and to access research data and resources by students (Heck et al., 2020).

The purpose of the study is to describe and sustantiate the results of development and implementation of the author's course for advanced training of mathematics teachers "Cloud services of open science in the educational environment of a school".

2 RESULTS

Due to the transition to new standards, there is a need to retrain mathematics teachers. In the coming years, several problems related to mathematics education will have to be solved, among them there are such as:

- the modification of the content and change of some methodical features of teaching mathematics in secondary and specialized school in particular:
 - the preparation for the implementation of educational standards of the new generation during the teaching of mathematics;

- the formation and development of mathematics educational competencies;
- the introduction of modern educational technologies in teaching mathematics;
- the strengthening of applied and practical orientation in teaching mathematics;
- the analysis and adaptation of the logical and general cultural components of mathematical training of teachers to modern requirements;
- the improving the system of working with learners who show interest and ability to study mathematics;
- the use of modern information and communication technologies (ICT) in teaching mathematics at school:
 - the methodological aspects of using interactive whiteboards in teaching mathematics;
 - the use of Internet resources in education;
 - the analysis of ICT capabilities in distance learning of mathematics;
 - the mathematical packages and training programs in mathematics;
 - the development of media resources and experience of their application in teaching mathematics;
- 3) the formation of quality assurance system of science education due to the new standards:
 - the modern means of assessing the results of teaching mathematics;
 - the monitoring, measuring, and analyzing the quality of mathematical training of learners;
 - the information technologies in quality assurance systems of science education.

The formulated topical problems of mathematics education in a modern school served as a basis for compiling the program of the author's course of professional development of mathematics teachers based on Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University (6 hours).

In 2019, the experiment "Designing a cloudoriented methodological system for training teachers of science and mathematics to work in a scientific lyceum" was launched. Research work is carried out based on 6 institutions of higher education, among them there is the Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University. The author's advanced training course for mathematics teachers "Cloud services of open science in the educational environment of a school" is an experimental introduction of the model of the cloudoriented methodical system of training science and mathematics teachers and mathematics to work in a scientific lyceum in the educational process of Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University.

The main purpose of the refresher course implementation is to form the theoretical foundations and practical techniques necessary for teachers professional activity due to the new standards.

The goal is achieved by mastering the concept of open science, the principles of open science and its significance for a teacher of mathematics; the practical mastering of skills of work with an open science platform, the application of its tools (the separate components) by mathematics teachers; the creation of own project and its filling it cloud services of open science.

The objectives of the refresher course application. The task of the refresher course introduction for teachers of mathematics is to master the theoretical foundations of open science, awareness of the need to use cloud-based systems and cloud services of open science in education; the formation of knowledge about the forms, methods, and approaches to the use of the open science platform and its components for the organization and maintenance of educational activities; gaining practical skills in using the open science platform, in particular the services of the European Open Science Cloud by teachers of mathematics.

The direction of study: the use of information and communication (digital) technologies in the educational process, including e-learning, information and cyber security.

The scope: 0.2 ECTS credits, 6 hours.

The distribution of hours: classroom work, 6 hours.

Persons carrying out the program: mathematics teachers of general secondary education institutions of any qualification category.

A certificate about advanced training of the appropriate standard is issued based on the results of successful training under the program.

The teaching methods are: the practical; the problem-based teaching; the research; the partial search; the problem-searching; the explanatory-illustrative.

The forms of study are: the practical; the problembased teaching; the research; the partial search; the problem searching; the explanatory-illustrative.

The teaching tools are: European Open Science Cloud (EOSC) tools (separate cloud services) and a platform (or system) for organizing and conducting distance learning courses (e.g. Moodle or Google Classroom).

The requirements for hardware and software on the user's computer are: up to 1000 learners can simultaneously work with the tools (separate cloud services) of the European cloud of open science, which are available through a browser; the workplace must be equipped with a computer (laptop, netbook, tablet), possibly using a smartphone.

The prerequisite: an Internet connectivity (wired, mobile, or Wi-Fi).

While mastering the advanced training course the mathematics teachers learn to use modern digital technologies, with the focus on the introduction of cloud services to the organization of the educational process, the implementation of individual and group projects, the organization of distance and blended learning.

Here is the content of the author's refresher course (table 1). In the process of teaching mathematics, teachers develop spatial imagination, develop the ability to think logically, operate with abstract objects and correctly use mathematical concepts and laws to build a mathematical model of a situation, to understand the beauty of mathematical reasoning, to cultivate determination, perseverance.

However, today not only mathematical but also ICT competencies of teachers related to teaching mathematics play an important role. The world is becoming more dependent on information technology, and both learners and teachers must have a fairly high level of relevant competence. The program of the refresher course includes lectures and laboratory work of learners on ICT. There are some topics examples.

Topic 1. The concept of open science and its significance for the teacher of mathematics (the lecture).

Topic 2. Open science platform and its components (the workshop).

When working according to the new standards, the problem of identifying, supporting and developing talented young people, their specific training and education aimed at training future highly qualified specialists remains relevant. During the course, the issues related to the olympiads of students of different levels were analyzed; the goals, objectives of the olympiads; the methods of training students were analyzed.

Here are the main issues of the methodological section of the course program.

Topic 1. The concept of open science and its significance for the teacher of mathematics (the lecture).

The basic concepts. The fundamentals of open science. The concept of open science. The principles of open science. The fundamentals of academic integrity for teachers and students. The importance of open science for mathematics teachers in the learning process at the profile level.

No	Tonic	The form of the	The duration						
110.	Topic	training session	of the lesson						
1.	The concept of open science and its significance for the	lecture	2						
	teacher of mathematics								
2.	Open science platform and its components	workshop	4						
	Total:								

Table 1: The structure of the author's refresher course.

Topic 2. The open science platform and its components (the workshop).

The pequliarities of using the European Open Science Cloud (EOSC). The main features of the open science platform and the difference from EOSC. The stages of registration and project creation in EOSC. The main classification and categories of cloud services of open science. The selection of open science cloud services for use in the educational process. A brief overview of specialized cloud services of open science. There is an exchange of experience in the use of ICT in mathematics lessons between learners. The list of competencies to be improved is the next:

- 1. The ability to monitor pedagogical activities and identify individual professional needs.
- 2. The ability to determine the conditions and resources of professional development throughout life.
- 3. The ability to search for scientific and methodological materials in open journal systems.
- 4. The ability to select and use open source cloud services to achieve this goal.
- 5. The ability to organize and implement the learning process using the European Open Science Cloud and to effectively use open science cloud services.
- 6. The ability to establish cooperation within the open science platform.

The expected learning outcomes:

- 1. Knowledge and understanding of the role of cloud services of open science in the educational environment of the school.
- 2. The ability to use cloud services of open science in the educational environment of higher education.
- 3. The ability to analyze and select a cloud service of open science to achieve educational goals.
- 4. The knowledge and understanding of the basic concepts of open science, the principles of open science.

The teaching methods

- 1. The methods of organization and implementation of educational and cognitive activities:
 - (a) According to the source of information:
 - Verbal: lecture (traditional or problematic), explanation.
 - Visual: observation, illustration, demonstration.
 - Practical: exercises.
 - (b) According to the degree of management of educational activities:
 - under the guidance of a teacher;
 - performance of practical tasks.
- 2. The methods of stimulating interest in learning and motivating educational and cognitive activities:
 - educational discussions,
 - situations of cognitive novelty.

The control methods

- 1. The methods of oral control:
 - frontal survey,
 - interview.
- 2. The methods of self-control:
 - self-analysis.

The methodical support

- lecture outline;
- supporting presentations;
- methodical and training manuals;
- methodical recommendations;
- · digital resources;
- professional development program.

The presented author's course is one of the components in the model of the cloud-oriented methodical system of preparation of teachers of natural and mathematical subjects for work in the scientific lyceum (Marienko, 2021). It can be offered as part of the implementation of this methodical system. The block of the methodical system unites three levels of implementation, each of which is a separate technique. The block of the methodical system of preparation of teachers of natural and mathematical subjects for work in a scientific lyceum is the key one. However, its components include three main blocks, the introduction of a methodological system of training teachers of science and mathematics to work in the scientific lyceum at: the basic, the intermediate, and the advanced levels. The described author's refresher course is the intermediate level. This level involves not only a survey of existing cloud services but at least their groups, simultaneously used for different activities (Marienko, 2021).

Formalized interviews with learners (math teachers) were conducted at the beginning and at the end of the course. The interview showed which active and interactive methods were used by teachers in the learning process and for what purpose they were used:

- 1. What active and interactive methods do you use?
- 2. How often do you use them?
- 3. Explain and justify the technology of use.

During a survey conducted in a form of the formalized conversation and interview at the beginning of the training, it was found that:

- The use of some elements of the strategy of the open science introduction and the teaching techniques of its realization in the learning process: 52% yes, 48% no; including pair and group works: 62% yes, 38% no;
- 2. The comprehensive use of the strategy and techniques in the classroom in the presentation of educational material: 48% yes, 52% no;
- The independent work on educational material, to use the strategy and techniques in the classroom: 33% yes, 67% no.

Also, at the beginning of the refresher course, a group of mathematics teachers (17 respondents) was interviewed to develop learners' research skills (figure 1). Learners of the refresher course believe that one of the best ways is to use a selection of creative tasks (14 respondents answered). Only 9 teachers out of 17 surveyed work with learners in electives and consider this path not very effective. For some reason, only 4 teachers believe that more complex tasks will help develop students' research skills.

Some questions concerned previous knowledge on the subject of the refresher course (figure 2). The total number of respondents in this survey was 19 learners of the refresher course. It turned out that before taking the refresher course, most respondents (16 teachers out of 19 respondents) were not familiar with the concept of open science, its principles and did not know what European Open Science Cloud (EOSC) was. At the same time, all respondents answered that they use



Figure 1: Ways to develop students' research skills.



🖬 Yes 📓 No

Figure 2: Preliminary awareness of learners on the subject of open science.

only open electronic resources to search for educational literature (figure 2).

A survey conducted at the end of the training in a form of the formalized conversation and interview showed the results presented in table 2.

Questionnaires of learners (mathematics teachers) showed their great interest in using interactive learning technology in advanced training courses. It turned out that learners:

- approve the assistance and recommendations proposed for teachers of mathematics within the advanced training courses – 68%, difficult to answer – 20%, do not approve – 12%;
- the level of use of the learning course electronic manuals contained in the LMS of Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University in the process of conducting the advanced training courses in mathematics is – 75%, can not use -12%, do not want to use – 13%;
- 3) the level of the use of the technologies described in the manual in LMS of Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University for their developments in mathematics are -41%, can not use -44%, do not want to use -15%;
- 4) the ability to work independently on the material on the subject 37%, can not work independently 42%, do not want to work independently 21%;

	Yes	No
used some elements and techniques in the classroom in the presentation of educational material	65%	35%
including pair and group works	77%	23%
comprehensive use of techniques in the classroom when teaching educational material	58%	42%
used independent work on educational material, to use strategy and techniques in the classroom	38%	62%

Table 2: Conducting a formalized interview and interview at the end of the course.

- the ability to use of the cloud technologies of open science in preparation for presentations – 45%, can not use – 34%; do not use – 21%;
- the desire to master the technologies described in the course manual in LMS of Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University for further professional activity – 90%, difficult to answer – 8%, do not want – 2%;
- the ability to use the technologies described in the course manual in mathematics lessons in secondary education institutions – 80%, do not have a hard time answering – 12%, do not want – 8%.

Two months later after the course, a selective survey of students that have been taught by teachers was conducted. Students highly appresiated the advantages of open science technology in teaching mathematics used by mathematics teachers (that they acquired after passing the refresher course): 65% say that the favorable atmosphere for investigative learning and research has increased, 20% say that in such an atmosphere will be able to learn and investigate independently and only 15% are not sure efficiency. Students' interest in learning mathematics is more than 55%. Students claim that active and interactive technologies of open science help them to study mathematics (52%), to find the right direction in teaching mathematics (29%). And only 19% of students say that it does not affect their learning. More than 65% of students believe that math teachers make little use of active and interactive technologies of open science in the learning process (figure 3).

The last stage of the course was a round table



Active and interactive technologies help:

Figure 3: Feedback from students on the use of interactive technology to technologies mathematics.

for learners and teachers. During the round table the most successful aspects of the retraining course were highlighted, the learners expressed their wishes to improve the program of future courses. In particular, it was proposed to increase the time for the analysis of the peculiarities of the development of Internet pages and sites of mathematics teachers, to consider the practical implementation of the technology of systemactivity approach in mathematics lessons. In general, both teachers and learners of the course conducted the work was considered successful and useful for the practical activities of a mathematics teacher.

3 CONCLUSIONS AND PROSPECTS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH

The author's course of advanced training of mathematics teachers "Cloud services of open science in the educational environment of a school" is an experimental introduction of the model of the cloudoriented methodical system of preparation of teachers of natural and mathematical subjects to work in scientific lyceum in Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University. The competencies of open science for learners of the advanced training course of Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University are constantly monitored. Due to the determined level, timely adjustment of methodical work and further planning for raising the professional competency of course learners is carried out. All participants in the experiment are provided with access to a cloud-oriented methodological system of training science teachers and mathematics to work in a scientific lyceum.

The introduction of the author's advanced training course for mathematics teachers "Cloud services of open science in the educational environment of a school" will lead to a partial solution to the problems associated with mathematics education. First of all, it concerns the modification of the content and changes in some methodological features of teaching mathematics in secondary and specialized schools. The main issues of the methodological section of the course program, aimed at individual competencies to be improved are the next:

- 1. The ability to monitor pedagogical activities and identify individual professional needs.
- 2. The ability to determine the conditions and resources of professional development throughout life.
- 3. The ability to search for scientific and methodological materials in open journal systems.
- 4. The ability to select and use open source cloud services to achieve this goal.
- 5. The ability to organize and implement the learning process using the European Open Science Cloud and to effectively use open science cloud services.
- 6. The ability to establish cooperation within the open science platform.

Questionnaires of learners (teachers of mathematics) showed their great interest in the use of interactive learning technology in advanced training courses. Two months later, a survey of students taught by teachers after the course was conducted. The students highly appreciated the use of interactive technology in teaching mathematics by mathematics teachers after taking a refresher course.

The study involved a small sample of respondents. Further research will be expanded and the sample of respondents will be increased. Subsequent research will deepen the study of the problem of teachers using open science services. As further researches discussion of problems of effective use of a cloud-oriented methodical system of preparation of teachers of natural and mathematical subjects for work in a scientific lyceum, including electronic educational resources, cloud services, etc.

As part of the author's refresher course, teachers only got acquainted with some EOSC services. The number of hours allocated for the workshop is not enough to study each individual EOSC tool in detail. Prospects for further research will expand the content of the author's course and focus on the use of individual services.

REFERENCES

Abdula, A. I., Baluta, H. A., Kozachenko, N. P., Kassim, D. A., and Zhuravlev, F. M. (2022). The Use of Moodle in the Teaching of Philosophy and Distance Learning. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 1: AET*, pages 616–630. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/0010926600003364.

- Arslan, S., Mirici, I., and Oz, H. (2020). Implementation and evaluation of an EFL teacher training program for non-formal education settings. *İlköğretim Online*, 19:1337–1370. https://doi.org/10.17051/ilkonline. 2020.729666.
- Bozkurt, F. (2021). Evaluation of social studies teacher training program in terms of 21st century skills. *Pamukkale University Journal of Education*, 51:34–64. https://doi.org/"10.9779/pauefd.688622.
- Budroni, P., Claude-Burgelman, J., and Schouppe, M. (2019). Architectures of Knowledge: The European Open Science Cloud. ABI Technik, 39(2):130–141. https://doi.org/10.1515/abitech-2019-2006.
- Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine (2019). Resolution "Some issues of professional development of pedagogical and scientific-pedagogical workers". https://zakon.rada. gov.ua/laws/show/800-2019-%D0%BF#Text.
- Chambers, S., Barbot, L., Rauber, A., Gingold, A., Di Donato, F., Birkholz, J., and Erzsébet Tóth-Czifra (2021). EOSC Co-creation: Anticipating the future of research in the social sciences and humanities. *Opening up Social Sciences and Humanities in Europe: From Promises to Reality.* https://doi.org/10.25360/ 01-2021-00011.
- Gehlbach, H. and Robinson, C. D. (2021). From old school to open science: The implications of new research norms for educational psychology and beyond. *Educational Psychologist*, 56(2):79–89. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/00461520.2021.1898961.
- Heck, T., Peters, I., Mazarakis, A., Scherp, A., and Blümel, I. (2020). Open science practices in higher education: Discussion of survey results from research and teaching staff in Germany. *Education for Information*, 36(3):301–323. https://doi.org/10.3233/EFI-190272.
- Kaplun, S. V. (2021). Features of the organization of advanced training of science teachers and mathematics in terms of distance and blended learning. In Ovcharuk, O. V., editor, *Digital competence of a modern teacher of a new Ukrainian school: 2021 (Overcoming challenges during the quarantine period caused by COVID-19): collection of materials of the All-Ukrainian scientific-practical seminar (Kyiv, March 2, 2021)*, pages 57–60, Kyiv, Ukraine. Institute of Information Technologies and Learning Tools of National Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine.
- Kimav, A. and Aydın, B. (2020). A Blueprint for In-Service Teacher Training Program in Technology Integration. *Journal of Educational Technology and Online Learning*, 3(3):224–244. https://doi.org/10. 31681/jetol.761650.
- Kovalchuk, V., Maslich, S., and Movchan, L. (2023). Digitalization of vocational education under crisis conditions. *Educational Technology Quarterly*. https: //doi.org/10.55056/etq.49.
- Kucher, S. L., Horbatiuk, R. M., Serdiuk, O. Y., Ozhha, M. M., Hryniaieva, N. M., and Fridman, M. M. (2022). Use of Information and Communication

Technologies in the Organization of Blended Learning of Future Vocational Education Professionals. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 2: AET*, pages 44–51. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/ 10.5220/0010928300003364.

- Mandzii, L. (2020). Professional development of a teacher: new opportunities in 2020. https://tinyurl. com/ycyda2y6.
- Marienko, M. V. (2021). Tools and Services of the Cloud-Based Systems of Open Science Formation in the Process of Teachers' Training and Professional Development. In Wrycza, S. and Maślankowski, J., editors, *Digital Transformation*, pages 108–120, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-030-85893-3_8.
- Tkachuk, V., Yechkalo, Y., Semerikov, S., Kislova, M., and Hladyr, Y. (2021). Using Mobile ICT for Online Learning During COVID-19 Lockdown. In Bollin, A., Ermolayev, V., Mayr, H. C., Nikitchenko, M., Spivakovsky, A., Tkachuk, M., Yakovyna, V., and Zholtkevych, G., editors, *Information and Communication Technologies in Education, Research, and Industrial Applications*, pages 46–67, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-030-77592-6_3.
- Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine (2020). Law "About Full General Secondary Education". https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/ laws/show/463-20#Text.
- Vicente-Saez, R., Gustafsson, R., and Van den Brande, L. (2020). The dawn of an open exploration era: Emergent principles and practices of open science and innovation of university research teams in a digital world. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 156:120037. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2020. 120037.
- Yevtushenko, N. V. (2020). Characteristics of the system of professional development of science teachers and mathematics in the system of postgraduate education of Ukraine. Scientific journal of the National Pedagogical Dragomanov University. Series 5: Pedagogical sciences: realities and prospects, 76:67–71. https://doi.org/10.31392/NPU-nc.series5.2020.76.14.

Methodology for Assessing the Quality of an Educational Program and Educational Activities of a Higher Education Institution Using a Neural Network

Andriy V. Ryabko¹^(Da), Tetiana A. Vakaliuk^{2,3,4}^(Db), Oksana V. Zaika¹^(Dc), Roman P. Kukharchuk¹^(Dd), Viacheslav V. Osadchyi⁵^(De) and Inesa V. Novitska⁶^(Df)

¹Olexander Dovzhenko Glukhiv National Pedagogical University, 24 Kyievo-Moskovska Str., Glukhiv, 41400, Ukraine ²Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, 103 Chudnivska Str., Zhytomyr, 10005, Ukraine

³Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the NAES of Ukraine, 9 M. Berlynskoho Str., Kyiv, 04060, Ukraine

⁴Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine

⁵Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, 18/2 Bulvarno-Kudriavska Str., Kyiv, 04053, Ukraine

⁶Zhytomyr Ivan Franko State University, 30 Velyka Berdychivska Str., Zhytomyr, 10002, Ukraine

ryabko@meta.ua, {tetianavakaliuk, ksuwazaika}@gmail.com, kyxap4yk1@ukr.net, {poliform55, inesanovicka}@gmail.com

- Keywords: Evaluation Criteria, Educational Program, Educational Activities, Prognostication, Rating, ANFIS, Artificial Neural Networks.
- Abstract: The article discusses a methodology for assessing the quality of educational programs and activities in higher education institutions using artificial intelligence tools such as the adaptive system of neuro-fuzzy inference (ANFIS) and an L-layer neural network. The purpose of the study was to address the problem of objectivity in self-assessment and identify potential problems and shortcomings in educational activities before the start of an accreditation examination. The study used student ratings on a four-level assessment scale as input data for the L-layer neural network, and the criteria for assessing the quality of the educational program as input variables for the ANFIS system. The hypothesis was that students with higher ratings of educational activities. The results showed that the L-layer neural network made more accurate predictions than the ANFIS model. The article suggests that this approach can provide higher education managers with qualitative forecasts to determine the quality of educational services and identify potential problems before the start of an accreditation examination. However, the study acknowledges the need for further research on larger data volumes to improve the predictive capabilities of the models.

1 INTRODUCTION

In assessing the quality of education, as well as in conducting pedagogical research, we are faced with information that has non-numerical characteristics that are difficult to formalize. For example, the number of computers, the number of students, the area of educational premises in a higher education institution are measurable, but the evaluation of the edu-

- ^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7728-6498
- ^b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6825-4697
- ^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8479-9408
- ^d https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7588-7406
- e https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5659-4774
- f https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0780-0580

cational program and educational activities according to the educational program is carried out according to non-numerical criteria. The institution in the process of self-assessment, and subsequently the experts in the process of accreditation examination, must assess according to the assessment scale, which covers four levels of compliance with the criteria: A, B, E, F.

As a result, there is a need to build methods for quantitative description of processes and subjects related to assessing the quality of the educational program and educational activities. Of particular importance is the quality of education, which means some total indicator that reflects the results of the educational institution, as well as compliance with the needs and expectations of society (different social groups) in the formation of individual competen-

Ryabko, A., Vakaliuk, T., Zaika, O., Kukharchuk, R., Osadchyi, V. and Novitska, I.

Methodology for Assessing the Quality of an Educational Program and Educational Activities of a Higher Education Institution Using a Neural Network. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 179-198 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

cies. The methods of quantitative evaluation of the educational program and educational activities under this program will allow the higher education institution to identify existing shortcomings and potential problems, as well as provide an opportunity to address them before the accreditation examination.

Assessing the quality of educational programs and educational activities is complicated by the fact that the value of this indicator depends on many factors, possibly with an unknown nature of influence. Also in this case there is a specificity of the "product" of education - a graduate of an educational institution, which should be considered as a complex system. There are various methods and algorithms for assessing the quality of educational activities. In this study, we propose a method of assessing the quality of educational programs and educational activities based on the neuro-fuzzy approach, due to the active development of analytical systems, based on the technology of artificial intelligence. The most popular and proven of these technologies are neural networks, which successfully solve a variety of "fuzzy" tasks - prediction, classification, recognition of handwritten text, language, images (Markova et al., 2018; Tarasenko et al., 2019; Kirichek et al., 2019; Porokhnya and Ostapenko, 2019; Horal et al., 2020; Valko and Osadchyi, 2020). In such problems, where traditional technologies are powerless, neural networks often act as the only effective solution. In this work, artificial neural networks are used to solve the problem of assessing the quality of educational programs and educational activities.

Mandatory conditions for accreditation are compliance with the educational program and educational activities of the higher education institution under this educational program with the criteria established by law. In particular, the forms and methods of teaching should contribute to the achievement of the stated goals of the educational program and program learning outcomes.

Since the educational program and educational activities must meet the requirements of a studentcentered approach and the principles of academic freedom, the hypothesis of the study is that based on a sample of students and graduates of higher education, the quality of educational programs and educational activities, which will be able to adequately perform a comprehensive assessment of the quality of the educational program and educational activities.

Intelligent data processing using a neural network allows forming forecast probabilities of values of future results of accreditation examination in a higher education institution, which can contribute to the improvement of measures to improve the educational program. The results of forecasting can be used by the management of faculties and graduating departments as informative and recommendatory. In addition, guarantors of educational programs based on forecasts can plan activities and individual work with teachers to positively change the forecast. Thanks to the analysis of the received data it is possible to reveal weak points of the educational process that will give the chance to modernize it.

With this in mind, the article aims to substantiate, develop and implement a mathematical model of a comprehensive assessment of the quality of educational programs and educational activities based on the methods of the neuro-fuzzy approach.

1.1 Theoretical Background

Assessing the quality of educational activities according to clearly defined criteria and methodologies is an important task in the process of accreditation of educational programs, which are used to train applicants for higher education in Ukraine. In the process of preparing for accreditation and preparation of materials for self-assessment of the educational program, there are problems in determining the objectivity of self-assessment and finding potential problems and shortcomings of educational activities. Due to this problem, the urgent task is to find mathematical tools that could be used by managers of higher education institutions in their approaches to determining the quality of educational services offered.

The paradigm shift in educational philosophy and practice has led to focusing primarily on student learning outcomes. The educational process should be results-oriented – what exactly students know and can actually do. Accordingly, student-centered learning is an approach in which students influence the content, activities, materials, and pace of their learning. This model of learning puts the student at the center of the learning process (Black et al., 2015).

EU initiatives call for increased efficiency, international attractiveness, and competitiveness of higher education institutions. Wächter et al. (Wächter et al., 2015) considers different approaches to quality, quality assurance, and ratings, analyzes recent research, critically analyzes these approaches in a comparative perspective, provides recommendations and policy options for parliament.

The problem of determining a set of effective indicators that are easy to determine and can be applied to both large public universities and small regional private colleges, from university programs to alternative programs is also relevant for the United States (Hammerness and Klette, 2015).

Cherniak et al. (Cherniak et al., 2020) investigated the possibility of assessing the quality of qualimetry objects by graph analytical method, ie to apply the principle of determining the area and volume under curved surfaces both in the plane and in space, which are created by combining estimates of individual quality indicators on a dimensionless scale. It is shown that, as a rule, mathematical dependences are nonlinear and their research is reduced to the development of universal methods that could be applied to objects of qualimetry, regardless of their nature, complexity, importance, and more. Having unit quality indicators in a single (dimensionless) rating scale, it is proposed to determine a single comprehensive quality indicator of the object of qualimetry using the method of integration, which takes into account the evaluation of unit quality indicators.

Parvu and Ipate (Parvu and Ipate, 2007) propose a mathematical model based on a set of indicators that are adapted to the classification structure of intellectual capital, which is unanimously recognized worldwide, namely to the external and internal structure and competence of employees. The Rompedet method, an original product of the Romanian school of management (Isac et al., 2010), was used as a mathematical calculation tool.

When assessing the quality of education, we are faced with a huge number of different criteria, each of which may consist of many sub-criteria, therefore, the task of assessing the quality of education in its mathematical formulation is multi-criteria. Problem situations that are modeled and described by linear models and depend on many factors play an important role, so solving a multicriteria decision-making problem is often accompanied by solving multicriteria linear programming problems, or in other words, vector optimization problems.

Given these problems, mathematical models of integrated quality assessment using methods that are based on the convolution of criteria were also of interest for our study. Models and methods of multicriteria optimization are considered in (Kondruk and Maliar, 2019), in particular, the method of additive convolution of criteria and the method of multiplicative and minimax convolution of criteria. The method of multiplicative convolution of partial criteria to a single generalized indicator, which provides as a normalized divisor to use the maximum (minimum) values of partial criteria, obtaining which does not cause significant difficulties, ie is carried out on many available design solutions is considered in (Grytsyuk and Grytsiuk, 2014). Chervak (Chervak, 2010) uses one of the methods of solving the Paretian multicriteria optimization problem as a mathematical tool of the decision-making process. To organize the selection problems on the same admissible set of alternatives, the concept of the super criterion of any criterion is introduced; if the criterion is a super criterion of this criterion on this set, then the last criterion is a subcriteria of the first. It is shown that the solution of the problem of multicriteria selection by the Paretian convolution is reduced to the solution of the problems of scalar or lexicographic optimization.

The theory of artificial neural networks and models of deep learning is considered in the fundamental works (Goodfellow et al., 2016; Müller et al., 1995; Sivanandam et al., 2006), system design based on a neuro-fuzzy approach (Shtovba, 2007; Shtovba and Pankevych, 2018).

The use of neural networks to classify the status of a graduate of a higher education institution based on selected academic, demographic, and other indicators is considered by Lesinski et al. (Lesinski et al., 2016). A multilayer neural network with feedback is used as a model. The model was taught based on more than 5,000 records of entrance exams and university databases. Nine input variables consisted of categorical and numerical data that contained information about high school education, test results, assessment of high school teachers, parental assessment, and others. Based on these inputs, the multilayer neural network predicted the success of university entrants. With the help of the neural network, it was possible to predict the success of graduates and achieve the best performance with an accuracy of classification exceeding 95%. Black et al. (Black et al., 2015) examining the relationship between quality and success of high school students in college found no convincing evidence that exposure characteristics of high school diminish over time teaching students.

To address the issue of determining the quality of educational training, Mahapatra and Khan (Mahapatra and Khan, 2007) developed the EduQUAL methodology and proposed an integrative approach using neural networks to assess the quality of education. Four neural network models based on a feedback algorithm are used to predict the quality of education for different stakeholders. This study showed that the P-E Gap model is the best model for all stakeholders.

The need to introduce neural network technology in educational courses of educational institutions indicates by Semerikov et al. (Semerikov et al., 2022). Educational neural networks are often used for forecasting. For example, students must choose courses that interest them for the next semester. Due to limitations, including lack of sufficient resources and the overhead of several courses, some universities may not be able to teach all courses of the student's choice. Universities need to know each student's requirements for each course each semester for optimal course planning. Kardan et al. (Kardan et al., 2013) used a neural network to model student choice behavior and apply the resulting function to predict the final enrollment of students for each course. The results showed high prediction accuracy based on experimental data. Arsad et al. (Arsad et al., 2013), Osadchyi et al. (Osadchyi et al., 2018), Okubo et al. (Okubo et al., 2017b) prove that the use of neural networks in predicting educational processes will allow obtaining results with a much higher level of accuracy and less time. According to Abu Naser et al. (Abu Naser et al., 2015), an artificial neural network can correctly predict the success of more than 80% of future students.

Chaban and Kukhtiak (Chaban and Kukhtiak, 2020) analyze the problem of the social system, which consists of many students and teachers of higher education to create effective learning pairs "teacherstudent". Elements of the theory of artificial intelligence based on artificial neural networks were used to form the mentioned learning pairs. Okubo et al. (Okubo et al., 2017a) propose to use a recurrent neural network (RNN) to predict students' final grades using journal data stored in educational systems.

Liu et al. (Liu et al., 2022) propose a method for assessing the quality of preparation for graduate school, which is based on the algorithm of neural network backpropagation and stress testing. This method creates a publicly available list of indicators consisting of 19 criteria in 4 groups of criteria, such as attitudes towards teaching, teaching content, approach to teaching, and the main characteristics of teachers. After the neural network algorithm is used to determine the optimal parameters of the evaluation model, a sensitivity test is used to identify indicators that have a significant impact on the quality of education. Also, scenario analysis is used to study the impact of the quality of education in pre-defined situations, providing theoretical and empirical support for assessing the quality of postgraduate teaching, improving the quality of education, and professional growth of teachers.

Educational institutions are constantly striving to improve the services they offer, their goal is to have the best teaching staff, improve the quality of teaching and academic success of students. Knowledge of the factors influencing student learning can help universities and learning centers adapt their curricula and teaching methods to students' needs. One of the first measures taken by educational institutions in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic was the creation of virtual learning environments (Pererva et al., 2020). To understand the factors influencing the university learning process in virtual learning environments, Rivas et al. (Rivas et al., 2021) applied several automatic learning methods to publicly available data sets, including tree-like models and various types of artificial neural networks.

The availability of educational data supported by learning platforms provides opportunities to study student behavior and solve problems in higher education, optimize the educational environment and ensure decision-making using an artificial neural network (Waheed et al., 2020).

Cader (Cader, 2020) uses a deep neural network to assess students' acquisition of knowledge and skills. It is noted that the obstacle to the application of the method in teaching is the relatively small amount of data in the form of available estimates required for neural network training. A new method of data augmentation is proposed – asynchronous data augmentation through pre-categorization, which solves this problem. Using the proposed method, it is possible to carry out neural network training even for small amounts of data.

Do and Chen (Do and Chen, 2013) present a neuro-fuzzy classifier that used the results of previous exams and other related factors as input variables and classified students based on their expected learning outcomes. The results showed that the proposed approach achieved high accuracy compared to the results obtained based on other known approaches to classification, in particular, Naive Bayes, neural networks, and others.

Fazlollahtabar and Mahdavi (Fazlollahtabar and Mahdavi, 2009) proposed a neuro-fuzzy approach based on evolutionary techniques to obtain the optimal learning pathway for both teacher and student. The neuro-fuzzy approach allows providing recommendations to the teacher for making pedagogical decisions based on the student's learning style. On the other hand, the neural network approach is used for the student to create a personalized curriculum profile based on the individual needs of the student in a fuzzy environment.

Taylan and Karagözoğlu (Taylan and Karagözoğlu, 2009) use a systematic approach to designing a fuzzy inference system based on a class of neural networks to assess student achievement. The developed method uses a fuzzy system, supplemented by neural networks, to enhance some of its characteristics, such as flexibility, speed, and adaptability, called the adaptive neuro-fuzzy inference system (ANFIS). The results of the ANFIS model are as reliable as statistical methods, but they encourage a more natural way of interpreting student learning outcomes.

In comparison with these works, this study fills a gap in the methods of a comprehensive assessment of the quality of educational programs and educational activities based on a neuro-fuzzy approach.

1.2 Methods

In this study, methods of mathematical modeling and computational experiment based on statistical processing of data assessments of the quality of educational programs and educational activities were used. The essence of the methodology of mathematical modeling is to replace the original object with its mathematical model and study it with the help of computer technology. Processing, analysis, and interpretation of calculation results were carried out by constant comparison with the results of statistical processing of expert estimates. In the course of the research, refinements were made and the mathematical model was revised and the cycle of the computational experiment was repeated.

The methodology for assessing the quality of the curriculum and educational activities is built using methods and tools of artificial intelligence, implemented in the package Fuzzy Logic Toolbox system MATLAB in the form of adaptive neuro-fuzzy output ANFIS.

A fuzzy inference system can be represented as a neuro-fuzzy network – a neural network of direct signal propagation of a special type, or ANFIS-model. The architecture of a neuro-fuzzy network is isomorphic to a fuzzy knowledge base. Neuro-fuzzy networks use differentiated implementations of triangular norms (multiplication and probabilistic OR), as well as smooth membership functions. This makes it possible to use fast algorithms for training neural networks based on the backpropagation method to tune neuro-fuzzy networks.

ANFIS implements the Sugeno fuzzy inference system through a five-layer feed-forward neural network. Purpose of network layers:

- first layer terms of input variables;
- the second layer antecedents (parcels) of fuzzy rules;
- the third layer is the normalization of the degree of implementation of the rules;
- the fourth layer is the conclusion of the rules;
- fifth layer aggregation of the result obtained according to different rules.

The network inputs are not allocated to a separate layer. Figure 1 shows an ANFIS network with two

input variables $(x_1 \text{ and } x_2)$ and four fuzzy rules. Three terms are used for the linguistic evaluation of the input variable, and two terms for the variable.



Figure 1: An example of an ANFIS network.

We will use the following notation:

- x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n network inputs;
- *y* network output;
- R_r : if $x_1 = a_{1,r}, ..., x_n = a_{n,r}$ it $y = b_{0,r} + b_{1,r}x_1 + ... + b_{n,r}x_n$ is a fuzzy rule with a serial number r;
- m number of rules $\overline{r=1,m}$,
- $a_{i,r}$ fuzzy term with a membership function $\mu_r(x_i)$ used for linguistic evaluation of a variable x_i in the *r*-th rule $(r = \overline{1, m}, i = \overline{1, n})$;
- $b_{q,r}$ are the conclusion coefficients of the *r*-th rule $(r = \overline{1, m}, q = \overline{0, n}).$

ANFIS-network works as follows.

Layer 1. Each node of the first layer represents one term with a bell membership function. The inputs of the network are connected only to their terms. The number of nodes in the first layer is equal to the sum of the cardinalities of the term set of input variables. The degree of belonging of the value of the input variable to the corresponding fuzzy term is fed to the output of the node:

$$\mu_r(x_i) = \frac{1}{1 + \left|\frac{x_i - c}{a}\right|^{2b}},\tag{1}$$

where *a*, *b* and *c* are membership function parameters that can be tuned.

Layer 2. The number of nodes in the second layer is *m*. Each node of this layer corresponds to one fuzzy rule. The node of the second layer is connected to the nodes of the first layer, which form the antecedents of the corresponding rule. Therefore, each node of the second layer can receive from 1 to *n* signals. The output of the node is the degree of execution of the rule, calculated as the product of the input signals. Let us denote the outputs of the nodes of this layer as $\tau_r, r = \overline{1, m}$.

Layer 3. The number of nodes in the third layer is also *m*. Each node of this layer calculates the relative level of execution of the fuzzy rule according to the formula:

$$\mathbf{t}_r^* = \frac{\mathbf{\tau}_r}{\sum_{j=1}^m \mathbf{\tau}_j}.$$
 (2)

Layer 4. The number of nodes in the fourth layer is also *m*. Each node is connected to one node of the third layer, as well as to all inputs of the network (figure 1 connections to the inputs are not shown). The node of the fourth layer calculates the contribution of one fuzzy rule to the network output by the formula:

$$y_r = \tau_r^* (b_{0,r} + b_{1,r} x_1 + \dots + b_{n,r} x_n).$$
(3)

Layer 5. A single node of this layer sums up the contributions of all rules:

$$y = y_1 + \dots + y_r + \dots + y_m.$$
 (4)

Typical neural network training procedures can be applied to tune an ANFIS network, as it uses only differentiated features. It is common to use a combination of gradient descent as a backpropagation algorithm and the least-squares method. The error backpropagation algorithm regulates the parameters of rule antecedents, that is, membership functions. The least-squares method evaluates the rule inference coefficients since they are linearly related to the network output.

Each iteration of the tuning procedure is performed in two steps.

In the first stage, a training sample is fed to the inputs, and, based on the discrepancy between the desired and actual behavior of the network, the optimal parameters of the nodes of the fourth layer are determined using the least-squares method.

In the second stage, the residual mismatch is transmitted from the network output to the inputs, and the parameters of the nodes of the first layer are modified by the backpropagation of the error. At the same time, the rule inference coefficients found at the previous stage do not change. The iterative tuning procedure continues as long as the mismatch exceeds a predetermined value. To tune the membership functions, in addition to the error backpropagation method, other optimization algorithms can be used, for example, the Levenberg-Marquardt method.

The ANFIS editor in Matlab allows you to automatically synthesize a neuro-fuzzy network from experimental data. In this case, the accessories of the synthesized systems are tuned (trained) in such a way as to minimize the deviations between the results of fuzzy modeling and experimental data. The ANFIS editor is loaded using the anfisedit command.

The ANFIS editor contains 3 top menus – File, Edit and View, visualization area, ANFIS properties area, data loading area, source fuzzy inference system generation area, training area, testing area, current information output area, as well as Help and Close buttons, which allows you to call the help window and close the ANFIS editor, respectively.

Participants in the experiment – full-time master's students (22 people) and graduates of higher education institutions of the previous term of study are the same specialties (32 people) - a total of 54 people. This number of respondents is due to the number of indicators of quality criteria because the data format of the artificial network in MATLAB supports square matrices, in this case, 54x54. Before the accreditation examination, students were offered questionnaires with a proposal to assess the quality of the educational program and educational activities of the specialty on an assessment scale covering four levels: F, E, B, A. Student assessments were used to form the vector of artificial neural network inputs. After the accreditation examination, the expert assessments were used to check the quality of the prediction of the artificial neural network.

The experience of European countries demonstrates the expediency of involving students in accreditation examination. For example, the Polish Accreditation Commission consists of 80 - 90 members appointed by the Minister of Science and Higher Education among the candidates nominated by the Senates of higher education institutions, the conferences of rectors of scientific schools and universities in Poland, the Parliament of Students of Poland (the President of the Student Parliament is a member of the Polish Accreditation Commission). In Slovakia, Academic Ranking and Rating Agency is a civic association founded in 2004 on the initiative of former student leaders and academics. The Slovenian Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education SQAA-NAKVIS (Slovenian Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education) appoints at least three members of each expert group, of which at least one foreign expert, an expert in the field of quality assessment of higher education and one representative from among students) and others (Tryhub, 2016).

To ensure the representativeness of the sample, the study of its design was carried out based on randomization. The decision on the statistical deviation of the null hypothesis regarding the differences between the averages, thus, was also associated with the procedure of random sampling.

The rating scale covers four levels of compliance by the requirements of the legislation (F, E, B, A) (Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine, 2019). Also, the legislation establishes 10 criteria for assessing the quality of the educational program (Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine, 2019):

- design and objectives of the educational program (4);
- structure and content of the educational program (9);

- access to the educational program and recognition of learning outcomes (4);
- teaching and learning according to the educational program (5);
- 5) control measures, evaluation of applicants for higher education and academic integrity (4);
- 6) human resources (6);
- educational environment and material resources (6);
- internal quality assurance of the educational program (7);
- 9) transparency and publicity (3);
- 10) learning through research (6).

In turn, each of these criteria has from 3 to 9 indicators (the number is indicated in parentheses). Together, all 10 criteria contain 54 indicators.

2 RESULTS

At the first stage of the study, the collection and statistical processing of data on the results of the assessment of students and graduates of higher education educational programs and educational activities on the educational program for each criterion.

In the second stage, a computational experiment was performed. The cycle of the computational experiment was carried out in several stages:

- the choice of approximation and mathematical formulation of the problem (construction of a mathematical model of the phenomenon under study);
- 2) development of a computational algorithm for solving the problem;
- 3) implementation of the algorithm in the form of a program for the PC;
- 4) settlements on the PC;
- 5) processing, analysis and interpretation of calculation results, comparison with the results of statistical processing of expert estimates and, if necessary, refinement or revision of the mathematical model, i.e. return to the first stage and repeat the cycle of the computational experiment.

Assessing the quality of the curriculum and learning activities is complicated by the fact that each of the 10 criteria, in turn, consists of several indicators (3-9) and is due to many factors, possibly with an unknown nature of influence, which is also nonnumerical. To assess the quality of the curriculum and training activities, it is proposed to use a two-tier system based on the ANFIS package and artificial neural networks to predict assessment scores.

The ANFIS hybrid system is a combination of the Sugeno neuro-fuzzy inference method with the ability to train a five-layer artificial neural network (ANN) of direct propagation with a single output and multiple inputs, which are fuzzy linguistic variables. As input variables of the ANFIS system, we use the criteria for evaluating the quality of the educational program of 10 groups of factors V_i (i = 1, ..., 10).

The output variable of the ANFIS system is a numerical assessment of the quality of the curriculum and training activities and is defined as a function $y = f(V_1, V_2, V_3, V_4, V_5, V_6, V_7, V_8, V_9, V_10)$.

Layer 1 of the ANFIS system for the linguistic evaluation of input parameters uses the term set of all possible values of the linguistic variable. $A_{Vi} =$ {"F", "E", "B", "A"}. In symbolic form we write: $A_{Vi} = \{F < i >, E < i >, B < i >, A < i >\}$. The term set of the original linguistic variable y is the set of values of quality assessments of the curriculum and educational activities: $T_y = \{F, E, B, A\}$. The outputs of the nodes of layer 1 are the values of the membership functions at specific values of the input variables.

Layer 2 is non-adaptive and defines the preconditions of fuzzy production rules. Production rules – a form of representation of human knowledge in the form of a sentence type – if (condition), then (action). The rules provide a formal way to present recommendations, guidance, or strategies. They are ideal in cases where the knowledge of the subject area arises from the empirical associations accumulated during the work on solving problems in a particular field.

Each node of this layer is connected to those nodes of layer 1, which form the prerequisites of the corresponding rule. To solve this problem, four fuzzy production rules are formulated: $P = \{p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4\}$, because according to the features of the ANFIS network, the number of network rules must correspond to the dimension of the term set of the source variable y.

Nodes perform a fuzzy logical operation "T" (min). The outputs of the nodes of this layer are the degree of truth (fulfillment) of the preconditions of each of the four fuzzy production rules, which are calculated by the formulas:

$$\begin{cases} w_1 = \min(\mu_{F1}(V_1), \mu_{F2}(V_2), \mu_{F3}(V_3), \mu_{F4}(V_4)) \\ w_2 = \min(\mu_{E1}(V_1), \mu_{E2}(V_2), \mu_{E3}(V_3), \mu_{E4}(V_4)) \\ w_3 = \min(\mu_{B1}(V_1), \mu_{B2}(V_2), \mu_{B3}(V_3), \mu_{B4}(V_4)) \\ w_4 = \min(\mu_{A1}(V_1), \mu_{A2}(V_2), \mu_{A3}(V_3), \mu_{A4}(V_4)) \end{cases}$$
(5)

Layer 3 normalizes the degree of implementation of each of the fuzzy production rules (calculation of

the relative degree of implementation of the rules) as follows:

$$\overline{w}_h = \frac{w_h}{\sum_{i=1}^h w_i},\tag{6}$$

where h = 1, ..., 4 is production rule number. Layer 4 calculates the contribution of each fuzzy production rule to the output of the network according to the formula.

$$y_h(v,V) = \overline{w}_h(v_h^{(0)} + v_h^{(1)}V_1 + v_h^{(2)}V_2 + v_h^{(3)}V_3 + v_h^{(4)}V_4 + v_h^{(5)}V_5),$$
(7)

where $v_h^{(0)}$ – coefficients of the initial function (i = 0, ..., 5).

Layer 5 summarizes the contributions of all the rules:

$$y = \sum_{i=1}^{4} y_i.$$
 (8)

Training of the ANFIS network was carried out for 24 epochs by a hybrid method. During training, the type of membership functions, the type of initial function, and their coefficients are selected. As a result of training a fuzzy network for four rules, Gaussian functions were adopted as membership functions, and a linear function was adopted as the initial function. As a result of training, membership functions and their coefficients were also obtained.

To assess each of the 10 groups of factors that affect the quality of the curriculum and educational activities by the evaluation criteria, 10 modules are used, which are implemented using artificial neural networks. Thus, it is necessary to design neural networks, a mathematical model of a comprehensive assessment of the quality of the educational program and educational activities based on the methods of the neuro-fuzzy approach. For this purpose, the Neural Network Toolbox was used. To form neural networks, it is necessary to determine their topology, learning mechanism, and testing procedure. Also, the training of an artificial neural network requires input data a sample of answers of students and graduates with reliable quality indicators, determined based on these criteria.

A standard *L*-layer feedforward neural network consists of a layer of input nodes (we will stick to the position that it is not contained in the network as an independent layer), (L-1) hidden layers, and an output layer that is connected in series in the forward direction and does not contain a connection between elements within a layer and feedback between layers. The most popular class of multilayer feed-forward networks is formed by multilayer perceptrons, where each computational element uses a limit or sigmoidal activation function. A multilayer perceptron can form arbitrarily complex decision limits and implement arbitrary Boolean functions. The development of a backpropagation algorithm for determining weights in a multilayer perceptron has made these networks the most popular among researchers and users of neural networks. The vast majority of programs involve the use of such multilayer perceptrons. Networks consisting of successive layers of neurons are more commonly used. Although any network without feedback can be represented as successive layers, the presence of many neurons in each layer can significantly speed up calculations using matrix accelerators.

The popularity of perceptrons is due to a wide range of available tasks that can be solved with their help. In the general case, they solve the problem of approximating multidimensional functions, that is, constructing a multidimensional mapping $F : x \Rightarrow y$ that generalizes a given set of parameters $\{x^{\alpha} \Rightarrow y^{\alpha}\}$.

Depending on the type of output variables (the type of input variables is not critical), the approximation of functions can take the form of classification (discrete set of initial values), or regression (continuous initial values).

Many practical problems of pattern recognition, noise filtering, time series prediction, etc. come down to basic settings. The reason for the popularity of perceptrons is that, for their range of tasks, they are, firstly, universal, and secondly, they are efficient in terms of the computational complexity of devices.

As a result of the development of neurocomputing, a large number of efficient models of neural networks have been created, focused on solving various problems. Due to this, artificial neural networks are successfully used to solve a wide class of practical problems. Therefore, when solving a specific problem, it is necessary to solve the issue of choosing the most appropriate neural network model, its parameters, and the training method.

Typically, a network consists of many sensor elements (input nodes or source nodes) that form an input layer; one or more hidden layers of computational neurons, and one output layer of neurons. The input signal propagates through the network in a forward direction from layer to layer. Such networks are usually called multilayer perceptrons. They are a generalization of a single layer perceptron.

Multilayer perceptrons are successfully used to solve various problems. At the same time, supervised learning is performed using such a popular algorithm as the error back-propagation algorithm. This method consists of error correction (error-correction learning rule). It can be thought of as a generalization of the equally popular adaptive filtering algorithm, the mean squared error minimization (LMS) algorithm.

Multilayer perceptrons have three characteristic features.

1. Each neuron of the network has a non-linear activation function. It should be noted that this non-linear function is smooth (that is, differentiated everywhere), in contrast to the hard threshold function used in the Rosenblatt perceptron. The most popular form of a function that satisfies this requirement is the sigmoidal nonlinearity, defined by the logistic function

$$y_i = \frac{1}{1 + exp(-v_j)},$$
 (9)

where v_j is the induced local field (i.e., the weighted sum of all synaptic inputs plus the limit value) of neuron j; y_j is the output of the neuron. The presence of non-linearity plays a very important role, since otherwise the "input-output" mapping of the network can be reduced to a conventional single-layer perceptron. Moreover, the use of the logistic function is biologically motivated, since it takes into account the recovery phase of a real neuron.

2. The network contains one or more layers of hidden neurons that are not part of the input or output of the network. These neurons allow the network to learn how to solve complex problems by sequentially extracting the most important features of the input image (vector).

The network has a high degree of connectivity (connectivity), implemented using synaptic connections. Changing the level of network connectivity requires changing the plurality of synaptic connections or their weights.

The combination of all these properties, along with learning-by-doing, provides the computational power of a multilayer perceptron. However, these same qualities are the reason for the incompleteness of modern knowledge about the behavior of such networks. First, the distributed form of nonlinearity and the high connectivity of the network significantly complicate the theoretical analysis of a multilayer perceptron. Second, the presence of hidden neurons makes the learning process more difficult to visualize. It is in the learning process that it is necessary to determine which signs of the input signal should be given by hidden neurons. Then the learning process becomes even more difficult, since the search must be performed in a wide range of possible functions, and the choice must be made among alternative representations of the input images.

The emergence of the backpropagation algorithm was a landmark event in the development of neural

networks, since it implements a computationally efficient method for training a multilayer perceptron. The backpropagation algorithm does not offer a truly optimal solution to all potential problems, but it is most effective in learning multilayer machines.

An artificial neural network for the analysis of indicators of the quality of the educational program and educational activities will have the number of input neurons (according to the number of indicators for all criteria) 54; output neurons – 54. Input signals were determined based on students' assessments of each indicator of this quality criterion, while the scale F, E, B, A were translated into numerical 1; 2; 3; 4 respectively. Part of the data is given in table 1.

Table 1: Input signals (T) based on students' assessments of quality criteria.

Indicators of	Student grades											
quality criteria	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		54			
1	3	4	3	3	4	3	4		4			
2	4	3	3	3	4	3	3		4			
3	3	3	4	3	4	4	3		4			
54	4	3	3	3	4	3	3		4			

It is important that the neural network can predict expert assessments if student and graduate assessments are to be ranked in ascending order based on the determination of the grade point average. According to the hypothesis, we assume that students with higher academic performance are better acquainted with the goals, structure, and content of the educational program, the process and characteristics of teaching and learning according to the educational program, control measures, assessment system, and all other aspects of educational activities. assessments of the quality of the educational program and educational activities will be more objective.

The Neural Network Toolbox application package Matlab Mathematical Modeling Environment (version R2014a) was used in the work. After starting the Matlab system, enter the nntool command on the command line, which opens the window for entering data and creating a neural network (Neural Network / Data Manager) (figure 2).

After starting the MATLAB system, you need to enter the tool command on the command line, which will open the window for entering data and creating a neural network (Neural Network / Data Manager). Clicking the New button opens the Create Network or Data window. After selecting the Data tab in the Name field you must enter a new name of the input data "P", and in the Value field the values of the input data, in which the numbers 1-54 are indicators of

📣 MATLAB R2014a				_ 8 ×
HOME PLOTS APPS				🚡 🕤 🕝 📇 🕐 Search Documentation 🛛 🔎 🗖
New New Den End Files End Files	ariable Analyze Code ariable Analyze Code & Run and Time orkspace Clear Commands CODE	Simulink Layout Simulink Layout SIMULINK ENVIRONMENT	Image: Community Hebp → Add-Ons ◆ RESOURCES	
< 💠 🔁 🔀 🕌 🕨 C: 🕨 Users 🕨 Andrey 🕨 Documents 🕨 MA	LAB 🕨 🥠 Neural Network/Data Mana	nager (nntool)		
Current © B ACO B ACO Command Window >> nntool fx >> Current Details ^ Worksp © Name _	Target Data: Target Data: Target Data: Target Data: Target Data:	Networks	Cutput:	elay States:
	S Import Street	w	t	V Help Oose

Figure 2: Data entry and neural network creation windows.

quality criteria, and 55-108 – students' and graduates' indicators quality criteria.

To create a new network, we chose New, to view the data you need to select Import. The data is contained in the P.mat file. This file is a matrix of two lines, in which the numbers 1-54 are indicators of quality criteria, and 55-108 – are the evaluation of students and graduates on the indicators of quality criteria. Its contents are stored in the P.txt file.

The next step is to import the data (figure 3).

The next step was to create data ("T") – goals, which are an array of size 54x54, which contains information about the grades given by the participants of the experiment – full-time master's students (22 people) and graduates of higher education institutions there are specialties (32 people) – a total of 54 people. This number of respondents is due to the number of indicators of quality criteria because the data format of the artificial network in Matlab supports square matrices, in this case, 54x54. The data is stored in a T.mat file. Its contents can be viewed using a text editor.

We import data in the same way as for the array P.

In the next step, a neural network was created (figure 4). An artificial neural network for the analysis of indicators of the quality of the educational program and educational activities will have the number of input neurons (according to the number of indicators for all criteria) 54; output neurons – 54. Input signals were determined based on students' assessments for each indicator of this quality criterion, while the scales F, E, B, A were converted to numerical 1; 2; 3; 4 respectively.

The configuration of the neural network of direct propagation is chosen based on a heuristic rule: the number of neurons of the hidden layer is equal to half of the total number of input and output neurons. The artificial neural network for the analysis of quality indicators of the educational program and educational activity will have the number of input neurons 2 (according to the dimensionality of the data – indicators of quality criteria and student evaluation); source neurons 54, therefore, the number of hidden neurons is 28. The View button allows you to view the network structure (figure 5).

In our case, 2 is the number of input neurons, which is known to be selected based on the dimension of the input data (1 - indicators of quality criteria; 2 - student assessments). Output neurons - 54. The configuration of the neural network of direct propagation (feed-forward backdrop) is chosen based on the heuristic rule: the number of neurons in the hidden layer is equal to half the total number of input and output neurons, so the hidden layer has 28 neurons.

The next stage is network training and coaching. Double-clicking with the left mouse button on the created neural network network1 in the window of the Neural Network / Data Manager opens a window with the network.

The View tab presents the neural network itself. Go to the Reinitialize Weights tab, where the Input Ranges column selects the P input from the Get from Methodology for Assessing the Quality of an Educational Program and Educational Activities of a Higher Education Institution Using a Neural Network

秦 Import to Network/Data Manager		X
Source	Select a Variable	Destination
C Import from MATLAB workspace	(no selection)	Name
C Load from disk file	P	
MAT-file Name		Import As:
ті\Статті_2021\CTE-2021\Ryabko_CTE_2021\P.mat		O Network
Browse		Input Data
		🔿 Target Data
		O Initial Input States
		O Initial Layer States
		O Output Data
		C Error Data
		🕹 Load 😢 Close



Create Network or Data	
Name	
network1	
Network Properties	
Network Type:	Feed-forward backprop
Input data:	P
Target data:	Т
Training function:	
Adaption learning function:	LEARNGDM 🔻
Performance function:	MSE
Number of layers:	2
Properties for: Layer 1	
Number of neurons: 28	
Transfer Function: TANSIG	
	🔄 View 🔗 Restore Defaults
1 Help	😤 Create 🙆 Close

Figure 4: Creating a neural network.

the input list. Then press the Set Input Ranges and Initialize Weights buttons in succession allowing us to initialize the scales needed to initialize the entire network.

The next step is network learning.

Learning the backpropagation method involves two passes through all layers of the network: forward and backward. In a forward pass, the image (incoming vector) is fed to the sensor nodes of the network, after which it propagates through the network from layer to layer. As a result, a set of output signals is generated, which is the actual response of the network to a given input image. In forward traversal, all synaptic weights of the network are fixed. In a backward pass, all synaptic weights are adjusted according to the error correction rule, namely: the actual output of the network is subtracted from the desired (target) response, resulting in an error signal. This



Figure 5: The structure of the neural network.

signal subsequently propagates through the network in the opposite direction of the synaptic connections. Hence the name – backpropagation algorithm. The synaptic weights are tuned to bring the network output as close as possible to the desired statistical meaning. The back-propagation algorithm is sometimes referred to as the simplified back-propagation algorithm. The learning process using this algorithm is called back-propagation learning.

Going to the Train tab opens a learning window in which P and T are selected instead of input data and targets, respectively (figure 6). On the right of the Training Results column, you need to change the name of the Outputs and Errors to O and E, respectively. Then pressing the Train Network button will start network training, the process of which can be observed in the Neural Network Training window. You can close the window after graduation.

After the training was completed, two types of data appeared in the Neural Network / Data Manager window: Output Data (O) and Error Data (E). Double-clicking on data O opens a window with data output. By clicking the Export button in the manager window, and then clicking Export again in the window that opens, you can transfer the data to the Matlab workspace, where it will be presented in the most presentable form. You can view the results in the O.mat and E.mat files.

You can calculate that the average network error is 0.0321, which indicates the efficiency of the system.

After learning the network, you can proceed to data forecasting. Returning to the Neural Network / Data Manager window, you need to create additional input by clicking the New button. Going to the Data tab, the name of the data changes, for example, to P1, and the values are set as follows: values 1-54 still indicate the numbers of indicators of quality criteria of educational programs and educational activities, and 56-109 assessments of students and graduates quality, and the last column – projected expert assessments.

Next, you need to return to the Network window. In the Simulate tab of the input values house, the P1



Figure 6: Neural network learning.

array is selected, and the Outputs output value is renamed to forecast (figure 7).

After clicking the Simulate Network button, you can return to the Neural Network / Data Manager window and, by clicking the Export button, copy the source forecast array to the Matlab workspace. After receiving the table in the workspace, pay attention to the last column, which is responsible for forecasting (figure 8).

The data obtained in the study can be viewed in the forecast.mat file.

Comparing the data issued by the system and the real data, we can see that the neural network does make predictions that are quite close to reality. ComMethodology for Assessing the Quality of an Educational Program and Educational Activities of a Higher Education Institution Using a Neural Network

Indicators of		Student grades													
quality criteria	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		54						
1	3.1985	3.252	3.3058	3.3541	3.3933	3.4235	3.4475		3.9704						
2	3.4521	3.3478	3.2644	3.2035	3.1633	3.1404	3.1319		3.9997						
3	3.1516	3.1812	3.219	3.2627	3.3062	3.3417	3.3638		3.9992						
••••															
54	4	3.4192	3.3522	3.3128	3.291	3.2798	3.2756		3.9716						

Table 2:	Output	signals	(\mathbf{O})
14010 2.	Culput	orginaro	$(\mathbf{\nabla})$

🐺 Network: network1								
View Train Simulate Ad	lapt Reinitialize Weights View	/Edit Weights						
Simulation Data		Simulation Results						
Inputs	P1 💌	Outputs	forecast					
Init Input Delay States	(zeros) 💌	Final Input Delay States	network1_inputStates					
Init Layer Delay States	(zeros) 💌	Final Layer Delay States	network1_layerStates					
Supply Targets								
Targets	(zeros) 💌	Errors	network1_errors					
			Simulate Network					

Figure 7: Simulate.

pared with expert estimates, the average absolute error is 0.0321, the relative error is 7.08%.

In the second part of the experiment, forecasting was carried out using a different type of neural network – a neuro-fuzzy network, or ANFIS-model.

Expert estimates are used as validation data. Create data files: training.dat, testing.dat, checking.dat. It should be noted that attempts to consider large data volumes lead to a reduction in the number of observations in the training sample and its simultaneous unjustified growth, which can negatively affect the network's ability to learn. So, first you need to turn the available information into a form that is understandable and meaningful for the neuro-fuzzy network. Consider the average value of the assessment of each of the 10 criteria for assessing the quality of the educational program. For training, we use the average scores of all students for each of the 10 criteria. For testing, the marks of students numbered from 12 to 30 are used, for verification – the marks that were put by 31 students.

We preliminarily transpose the data, so the numbers of students will be in the rows, and the grades according to the quality criteria will be in the columns. The data in the files contains 10 columns – 9 grades (incoming) and 1 grade (source). The first file contains 54 lines and 10 columns. The second has 18 rows and 10 columns. The third has one row and 10

📣 MATLAI	3 R2014	a																	_ 8 ×
НОМЕ		PLC	DTS	APPS		VARIABLE	VEW							88.	6 🖻 🛍 🖄) e 6 (Search Docu	mentation	<u>م</u>
÷	1	ipen 👻	Rows	Columns	-	: 🚟 🚙	Transpose												
New from Selection	- = P	rint 👻	1	1	inse •	ert Delete a	Sort 💌												
VA	RIABLE			SELECTION		EDIT													
\Rightarrow	3 🔊) +	C: 🕨 Us	ers 🕨 Andrey 🕨	Docum	nents 🕨 MATLA	8 ⊧												- P
C 💿	Comr	nand W	lindow		🗹 V	ariables - fore	cast{1, 1}												⊙ × 5
□ <u>·</u> □ <u>·</u>		>>	nnt	ool	 	forecast{1, 1} 4x54 double	×												iables
E 🎽		>>	loa	d('D:\		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
					1	3.1949	3.2473	3.3010	3.3505	3.3920	3.4255	3.4540	3.4823	3.5142	3.5497	3.5832	3.6078	3.6218	3.6 🔺
		>>			2	3.4302	3.3222	3.2403	3.1851	3.1526	3.1379	3.1386	3.1572	3.2014	3.2808	3.3902	3.5005	3.5841	3.6
	fr	~~			3	3.1670	3.2044	3.2491	3.2950	3.3339	3.3597	3.3696	3.3626	3.3398	3.3065	3.2743	3.2556	3.2569	3.2
	JĄ	//			4	3.6361	3.6727	3.6807	3.6725	3.6566	3.6365	3.6114	3.5774	3.5329	3.4859	3.4615	3.4956	3.6065	3.7
					5	3.8739	3.7459	3.5860	3.4415	3.3410	3.2835	3.2591	3.2616	3.2910	3.3501	3.4374	3.5441	3.6536	3.7
					6	3.0014	3.0048	3.0158	3.0448	3.1001	3.1743	3.2499	3.3166	3.3728	3.4152	3.4295	3.3939	3.3080	3.2
					7	3.2025	3.2097	3.2097	3.2063	3.2043	3.2078	3.2208	3.2483	3.2948	3.3560	3.4042	3.3945	3.3102	3.2
					8	3.7686	3.7005	3.6207	3.5410	3.4752	3.4299	3.4046	3.3964	3.4026	3.4202	3.4444	3.4692	3.4931	3.5
					9	3.3822	3.5300	3.6524	3.7384	3.7923	3.8233	3.8389	3.8434	3.8380	3.8220	3.7923	3.7417	3.6646	3.5
					10	3.7130	3.6605	3.5998	3.5407	3.4908	3.4523	3.4224	3.3963	3.3683	3.3321	3.2812	3.2124	3.1374	3.0
					11	3.7462	3.6559	3.5675	3.4907	3.4298	3.3822	3.3418	3.3023	3.2614	3.2251	3.2085	3.2334	3.3250	3.4
					12	3.5619	3.5219	3.4921	3.4682	3.4494	3.4349	3.4234	3.4128	3.4029	3.3971	3.4057	3.4451	3.5238	3.6
Deta					13	3.9837	3.9855	3.9871	3.9883	3.9888	3.9885	3.9869	3.9831	3.9742	3.9550	3.9191	3.8699	3.8237	3.7
W 🕥					14	3.8940	3.9018	3.9085	3.9127	3.9140	3.9115	3.9036	3.8861	3.8523	3.7952	3.7188	3.6474	3.6060	3.5
Name					15	3.3690	3.4304	3.5063	3.5784	3.6317	3.6599	3.6610	3.6319	3.5695	3.4841	3.4126	3.4014	3.4716	3.5
					16	3.9186	3.8116	3.6521	3.4858	3.3590	3.2792	3.2333	3.2088	3.1997	3.2089	3.2532	3.3747	3.6046	3.8
11 Ioreca					17	3.0538	3.0615	3.0750	3.0929	3.1134	3.1354	3.1611	3.1966	3.2523	3.3394	3.4606	3.6019	3.7328	3.8
					18	3.4800	3.5337	3.5737	3.5998	3.6115	3.6066	3.5795	3.5211	3.4225	3.2931	3.1703	3.0861	3.0415	3.0
					19	3.0403	3.0912	3.1796	3.2945	3.4040	3.4831	3.5257	3.5337	3.5089	3.4528	3.3711	3.2739	3.1799	3.1
					20	3.4315	3.4443	3.4716	3.5038	3.5321	3.5519	3.5617	3.5614	3.5512	3.5325	3.5087	3.4835	3.4587	3.4
					21	3.6049	3.5156	3.4278	3.3523	3.2977	3.2650	3.2515	3.2554	3.2773	3.3189	3.3798	3.4574	3.5417	3.6
					22	3.9011	3.8425	3.7570	3.6585	3.5747	3.5267	3.5238	3.5710	3.6642	3.7716	3.8463	3.8685	3.8360	3.7
					23	3.0659	3.1256	3.2130	3.3151	3.4079	3.4755	3.5152	3.5304	3.5250	3.5032	3.4715	3.4377	3.4063	3.3
		4			1	2 2022	0.4004	0.4040	0 5010	0.000	0 5011	3 5005	0.0404	0.000	2,525	2 (210	2 (152	0 5220	

Figure 8: Getting a table with forecasting in the work area.

Table 3: Errors (E).									
Indicators of	Student grades								
quality criteria	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		54
1	-0.199	0.748	-0.306	-0.354	0.607	-0.424	0.552		0.0000237
2	0.548	-0.348	-0.264	-0.203	0.837	-0.140	-0.132		0.029607
3	-0.152	-0.181	0.781	-0.263	0.694	0.658	-0.364		0.00027
54	0.58076	-0.3522	-0.3128	-0.2909	0.7202	-0.2755	-0.2769		0.028442

Table 4: Neural network forecast and expert evaluation.

Indicators of	Forecast	Estimates		
quality criteria				
1	3.999977	4		
2	3.974844	4		
3	3.999750	4		
4	3.999379	3		
5	3.956661	4		
6	3.991731	4		
7	3.985698	4		
54	3.970182	4		

columns.

Anfis Editor is used to building MATLAB fuzzy neural networks. Run the editor with the anfisedit command. In the Load data menu, select Training, and From disk, click the load data button. In the window that opens, select the previously created training.dat file. In the Load data menu, select Testing and From disk, click the load data button. In the window that opens, select the previously created testing.dat. In the Load data menu, select Checking and From disk, and click the load data button. In the window that opens, select the previously created checking.dat. The visualization area contains two types of information: when training the system, the learning curve in the form of a graph of the dependence of the learning error on the iteration ordinal number; when loading data and testing the system – experimental data and simulation results.

Experimental data and simulation results are displayed as a set of points in two-dimensional space. In this case, the serial number of the data line in the sample (training, test, or control) is plotted along the abscissa axis, and the value of the initial variable of this sample line is plotted along the ordinate axis. The following markers are used: blue dot (.) – test set; blue circle (o) – training sample; blue plus (+) – control sample; a red asterisk (*) – simulation results.

Then, having set the Generate FIS menu switch to the Grid partition position, you should press the Generate FIS button. In this case, the model has 10 input variables, each of which corresponds to 9 terms Methodology for Assessing the Quality of an Educational Program and Educational Activities of a Higher Education Institution Using a Neural Network

Training.dat file (first three lines):

3.5000 3.3333 3.5000 3.4000 3.5000 3.3333 3.3333 3.5714 3.3333 3.1667 4.0000 3.4444 3.2500 3.8000 3.7500 3.5000 3.6667 3.4286 3.6667 4.0000 3.2500 3.6667 3.2500 3.4000 3.5000 3.6667 3.0000 3.5714 4.0000 3.8333

Testing.dat file (first four lines): 3.2500 3.4444 3.7500 3.6000 3.2500 3.8333 3.5000 3.4286 3.6667 3.5000 3.7500 3.6667 4.0000 3.2000 3.5000 3.3333 3.1667 3.8571 3.6667 3.6667 4.0000 3.5556 3.5000 3.6000 3.5000 3.8333 3.5000 3.2857 3.3333 3.8333 3.5000 3.5556 3.2500 3.4000 3.5000 3.6667 3.6667 3.5714 4.0000 3.5000

Checking.dat file: 3.5000 3.3333 3.2500 3.4000 4.0000 3.3333 3.8333 3.2857 3.0000 3.8333



Figure 9: Data for network training and validation.

of the gaussmf type. The original variable is determined by a linear function. Let's generate a Sugenotype fuzzy inference system by pressing the Generate FIS button. In the window that opens, set 3 membership functions of the gaussmf type for each input variable. The choice of the property function here is because we assume a normal distribution for a random variable, defined by a Gaussian function according to probability theory. For the output variable, we set the membership function const.

To train the hybrid network, we will choose the backdrop method (error backpropagation) with an error level of 0 and a number of cycles of 10. Let's start training the hybrid network (figure 10).

As can be seen from figure 10, according to the training results, the average error is approximately 0.007.

We test the fuzzy inference system first on the training set.

Now let's test the resulting fuzzy inference system on the known values of expert estimates. Now we download this sample in testing mode in the Anfis editor. The results are shown in Figure 12. The mean score of the experts is 3.99; network prediction of the neural fuzzy network is 3.51. The relative forecast error is 12.57%.

Comparing the prediction errors of the neurofuzzy network (12.57%) and the L-layer feed-forward neural network (7.08%), we can see that the latter makes a more accurate prediction. It should be noted that the ANFIS model requires significantly more computing resources from the computer, which forced us to reduce the number of input variables to 10, which corresponded to the number of program



Figure 10: Network training error.



Figure 11: Network training results.

Methodology for Assessing the Quality of an Educational Program and Educational Activities of a Higher Education Institution Using a Neural Network



Figure 12: The results of network testing on known values of expert estimates.

evaluation criteria, and use the average values of quality indicators for each of the criteria. Of course, the problem requires further study of large data volumes of other accreditation examinations, but in general, this approach has demonstrated very good predictive capabilities.

Table 4 also shows that the quality of the program and educational activities is at a fairly high level, which reflects the average score of the peer review.

3 DISCUSSION

The study aimed to demonstrate the possibility of predicting the assessment of the quality of educational programs and educational activities can be adequately addressed through an artificial neural network and obtain a comprehensive assessment of the quality of educational programs and educational activities based on a possible neuro-fuzzy approach. The mathematical model involves the use of neural networks and is based on the technology of analytical processing of statistical data. Standard methods of mathematical statistics are used to analyze the estimates received from respondents.

Debatable are proposals for using students as experts in the educational program and educational activities; it is more appropriate to use teachers from other educational institutions, but in the process of preparing for introspection, this approach can be considered quite appropriate.

The results of the neural network should be considered not as final, but as a test. As noted, for more detailed conclusions, it is necessary to train the network on a larger amount of experimental data.

The network structure has room for further improvement and customization in future studies.

The assumption that based on a sample of students and graduates of higher education the quality of the educational program and educational activities can prepare a sample for setting up and teaching artificial neural networks is confirmed by ordering the quality of the curriculum of students and graduates. teaching. In practice, this allows you to predict the results and identify existing shortcomings and eliminate them before the accreditation examination. However, the difficulty of this method is to choose the architecture of the neural network and prepare a training sample to configure the neural network. In particular, in the future, it is planned to increase the volume of the input vector of the artificial neural network, and the form is based on estimates of teachers, stakeholders, and experts.

4 CONCLUSIONS

As a result of a mathematical model of a comprehensive evaluation of the quality of educational programs and educational activities based on the methods of neuro-fuzzy approach, first managed to work out a mechanism for obtaining a quantitative evaluation of educational programs and educational activities in this program that will allow the institution of higher education detect shortcomings and potential problems and solve them before the accreditation examination. Secondly, based on a sample of students and graduates of higher education to evaluate the quality of educational programs and educational activities, you can prepare a training sample for setting up and learning an artificial neural network that can adequately perform a comprehensive assessment of educational programs and educational activities. This can be done by arranging the assessments of the quality of the curriculum and the educational activities of students and graduates in ascending order based on the determination of the average grade point average. It is emphasized that these methods are effective provided they meet the requirements of a student-centered approach and the principles of academic freedom.

Based on a sample of students and graduates of higher education, the quality of the educational program and educational activities was prepared to prepare a training sample for setting up and teaching artificial neural network, which was able to adequately perform a comprehensive assessment of the quality of educational programs and educational activities. A comparison of the results of the operation of an artificial neural network of direct propagation with one output and several inputs with real data shows that the neural network does make predictions close to reality. Compared with expert estimates, the average absolute error was 0.0321; the relative error was 7.08%.

The results of the study can be used in the practice of higher education institutions to predict the results and identify existing shortcomings and eliminate them before the accreditation examination.

We see prospects for further research in the application of software products based on the theory of neural networks to automate the processes of the organization, control, and analysis of the educational process; introduction of neural network software for direct training of students in certain disciplines.

REFERENCES

Abu Naser, S., Zaqout, I., Abu Ghosh, M., Atallah, R., and Alajrami, E. (2015). Predicting student performance using artificial neural network: In the faculty of engineering and information technology. *International Journal of Hybrid Information Technology*, 8(2):221– 228. https://doi.org/10.14257/ijhit.2015.8.2.20.

- Arsad, P. M., Buniyamin, N., and Manan, J.-I. A. (2013). A neural network students' performance prediction model (NNSPPM). In 2013 IEEE International Conference on Smart Instrumentation, Measurement and Applications (ICSIMA), pages 1–5. https://doi.org/10. 1109/ICSIMA.2013.6717966.
- Black, S. E., Lincove, J., Cullinane, J., and Veron, R. (2015). Can you leave high school behind? *Economics of Education Review*, 46:52–63. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2015.02.003.
- Cader, A. (2020). The Potential for the Use of Deep Neural Networks in e-Learning Student Evaluation with New Data Augmentation Method. In Bittencourt, I. I., Cukurova, M., Muldner, K., Luckin, R., and Millán, E., editors, *Artificial Intelligence in Education*, pages 37–42, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-52240-7_7.
- Chaban, H. and Kukhtiak, O. (2020). Application of the artificial neural networks theory in problems of applied pedagogy of higher education institutions. Ukrainian Educational Journal, (1):51–56. https://doi.org/10. 32405/2411-1317-2020-1-51-56.
- Cherniak, O., Sorocolat, N., and Kanytska, I. (2020). Graph analytical method for determining the complex quality indicator of qualimetry objects. *Innovative Technologies and Scientific Solutions for Industries*, 4(14):169–175. https://doi.org/10.30837/ITSSI.2020. 14.169.
- Chervak, O. Y. (2010). Teoriya optymalnogo vyboru. Pidkryteriyi paretivskoyi zgortky kryteriyiv [The theory of optimal choice. Sub-criteria for convolution of Pareto criteria]. *Naukovyj visnyk Uzhgorodskogo universytetu*, 30:28–30. https://dspace.uzhnu.edu.ua/ jspui/handle/lib/7372.
- Do, Q. H. and Chen, J.-F. (2013). A neuro-fuzzy approach in the classification of students' academic performance. *Computational intelligence and neuroscience*, 2013:179097. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/179097.
- Fazlollahtabar, H. and Mahdavi, I. (2009). User/tutor optimal learning path in e-learning using comprehensive neuro-fuzzy approach. *Educational Research Review*, 4(2):142–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2009. 02.001.
- Goodfellow, I., Bengio, Y., and Courville, A. (2016). Deep Learning. Adaptive Computation and Machine Learning series. MIT Press. http://www.deeplearningbook. org.
- Grytsyuk, Y. I. and Grytsiuk, M. Y. (2014). The Peculiarities of Multiplicative Coagulation a Partial Criteria Into One Generalized Index. *Scientific Bulletin of UNFU*, 24(11):341–352. https://nv.nltu.edu. ua/Archive/2014/24_11/57.pdf.
- Hammerness, K. and Klette, K. (2015). Indicators of quality in teacher education: Looking at features of teacher education from an international perspective. In *Promoting and sustaining a quality teacher*

workforce, volume 27 of International Perspectives on Education and Society, pages 239–277. Emerald Group Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/ S1479-367920140000027013.

- Horal, L., Khvostina, I., Reznik, N., Shyiko, V., Yashcheritsyna, N., Korol, S., and Zaselskiy, V. (2020).
 Predicting the economic efficiency of the business model of an industrial enterprise using machine learning methods. In Kiv, A., editor, *Proceedings of* the Selected Papers of the Special Edition of International Conference on Monitoring, Modeling & Management of Emergent Economy (M3E2-MLPEED 2020), Odessa, Ukraine, July 13-18, 2020, volume 2713 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 334– 351. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2713/ paper37.pdf.
- Isac, C., Nita, D., and Dura, C. (2010). Optimizing Franchising Investment Decision Using Electre and Rompedet Methods. *The IUP Journal of Managerial Economics*, 8(1/2):7–32. https://www.iupindia.in/510/IJME_Optimizing_ Franchising_Investment_Decision_7.html.
- Kardan, A. A., Sadeghi, H., Ghidary, S. S., and Sani, M. R. F. (2013). Prediction of student course selection in online higher education institutes using neural network. *Computers & Education*, 65:1–11. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2013.01.015.
- Kirichek, G., Harkusha, V., Timenko, A., and Kulykovska, N. (2019). System for detecting network anomalies using a hybrid of an uncontrolled and controlled neural network. *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, 2546:138–148. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2546/ paper09.pdf.
- Kondruk, N. E. and Maliar, M. M. (2019). Bagatokryterialna optymizatsiia liniinykh system [Multicriteria optimization of linear systems]. Autdor-Shark, Uzhgorod, Ukraine. https://dspace.uzhnu.edu.ua/jspui/ handle/lib/24042.
- Lesinski, G., Corns, S., and Dagli, C. (2016). Application of an Artificial Neural Network to Predict Graduation Success at the United States Military Academy. *Procedia Computer Science*, 95:375–382. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.procs.2016.09.348.
- Liu, C., Feng, Y., and Yuling, W. (2022). An innovative evaluation method for undergraduate education: an approach based on bp neural network and stress testing. *Studies in Higher Education*, 47(1):212–228. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2020.1739013.
- Mahapatra, S. S. and Khan, M. S. (2007). A neural network approach for assessing quality in technical education: an empirical study. *International Journal of Productivity and Quality Management*, 2(3):287–306. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJPQM.2007.012451.
- Markova, O. M., Semerikov, S., and Popel, M. (2018). Cocalc as a learning tool for neural network simulation in the special course "foundations of mathematic informatics". In Ermolayev, V., Suárez-Figueroa, M. C., Yakovyna, V., Kharchenko, V. S., Kobets, V., Kravtsov, H., Peschanenko, V. S., Prytula, Y., Nikitchenko, M. S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, *Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on ICT*

in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kyiv, Ukraine, May 14-17, 2018, volume 2104 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 388–403. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-2104/paper_204.pdf.

- Müller, B., Reinhardt, J., and Strickland, M. T. (1995). Neural Networks: An Introduction. Physics of Neural Networks. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 2 edition. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-57760-4.
- Okubo, F., Yamashita, T., Shimada, A., and Konomi, S. (2017a). Students' performance prediction using data of multiple courses by recurrent neural network. In Mohd Ayub, A. F., Mitrovic, A., Yang, J.-C., Wong, S. L., and Chen, W., editors, *Proceedings of the 25th International Conference on Computers in Education, ICCE 2017 Main Conference Proceedings*, page 439 444. Asia-Pacific Society for Computers in Education. https://www.apsce.net/icce/icce2017/140.115. 135.84/icce/icce2017/sites/default/files/proceedings/main/C3/Students%20Performance%20Prediction% 20Using%20Data%200f%20Multiple%20Courses% 20by%20Recurrent%20Neural%20Network.pdf.
- Okubo, F., Yamashita, T., Shimada, A., and Ogata, H. (2017b). A neural network approach for students' performance prediction. In *Proceedings of the Seventh International Learning Analytics & Knowledge Conference*, LAK '17, page 598–599, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery. https: //doi.org/10.1145/3027385.3029479.
- Osadchyi, V., Kruglyk, V., and Bukreyev, D. (2018). Development of a software product for forecasting the entrance of applicants to higher educational institutions. Ukrainian Journal of Educational Studies and Information Technology, 6(3):55–69. https://doi.org/ 10.32919/uesit.2018.03.06.
- Parvu, I. and Ipate, D. M. (2007). Mathematical model of measuring the quality of services of the higher education institutions. *Journal of Applied Economic Sciences*, 2(1(2)_Fall2007). https://EconPapers.repec. org/RePEc:ush:jaessh:v:2:y:2007:i:1(2)_fall2007:5.
- Pererva, V. V., Lavrentieva, O. O., Lakomova, O. I., Zavalniuk, O. S., and Tolmachev, S. T. (2020). The technique of the use of virtual learning environment in the process of organizing the future teachers' terminological work by specialty. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:321–346. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.363.
- Porokhnya, V. and Ostapenko, O. (2019). Neural network and index forecasting of the strategies of development of the armed forces of ukraine depending on their own economic opportunities and encroachments of the aggressor states. In Kiv, A., Semerikov, S., Soloviev, V. N., Kibalnyk, L., Danylchuk, H., and Matviychuk, A., editors, *Proceedings of the Selected Papers of the 8th International Conference on Monitoring, Modeling & Management of Emergent Economy,* M3E2-EEMLPEED 2019, Odessa, Ukraine, May 22-24, 2019, volume 2422 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 111–120. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws. org/Vol-2422/paper09.pdf.

Rivas, A., González-Briones, A., Hernández, G., Prieto,

J., and Chamoso, P. (2021). Artificial neural network analysis of the academic performance of students in virtual learning environments. *Neurocomputing*, 423:713–720. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neucom. 2020.02.125.

- Semerikov, S., Teplytskyi, I., Yechkalo, Y., Markova, O., Soloviev, V., and Kiv, A. (2022). Using spreadsheets as learning tools for neural network simulation. Ukrainian Journal of Educational Studies and Information Technology, 10(3):42–68. https://doi.org/10. 32919/uesit.2022.03.04.
- Shtovba, S. and Pankevych, O. (2018). Fuzzy technologybased cause detection of structural cracks of stone buildings. In Ermolayev, V., Suárez-Figueroa, M. C., Lawrynowicz, A., Palma, R., Yakovyna, V., Mayr, H. C., Nikitchenko, M. S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume 1: Main Conference, Kyiv, Ukraine, May 14-17, 2018, volume 2105 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 209–218. CEUR-WS.org. https: //ceur-ws.org/Vol-2105/10000209.pdf.
- Shtovba, S. D. (2007). Proektirovanie nechetkikh sistem sredstvami MatLab [Fuzzy systems design of by means of MatLab]. Goryachaya Liniya–Telekom, Moscow. http://pistunovi.inf.ua/ shtovba_proek_nechet_sistem__matlab.pdf.
- Sivanandam, S. N., Sumathi, S., and Deepa, S. N. (2006). Introduction to neural networks using Matlab 6.0. Tata McGraw-Hill Education, New Delhi.
- Tarasenko, A. O., Yakimov, Y. V., and Soloviev, V. N. (2019). Convolutional neural networks for image classification. *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, 2546:101– 114. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2546/paper06.pdf.
- Taylan, O. and Karagözoğlu, B. (2009). An adaptive neuro-fuzzy model for prediction of student's academic performance. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 57(3):732–741. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie. 2009.01.019.
- Tryhub, I. (2016). Professional training of experts in the field of education in Slavic Eastern European countries. *Pedagogical process: theory and practice*, 4:78– 78. https://tinyurl.com/4vb4ysub.
- Valko, N. and Osadchyi, V. (2020). Education individualization by means of artificial neural networks. *E3S Web of Conferences*, 166:10021. https://doi.org/110. 1051/e3sconf/202016610021.
- Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine (2019). Regulations on the accreditation of educational programs, which provide training for higher education. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/z0880-19\#Text.
- Waheed, H., Hassan, S.-U., Aljohani, N. R., Hardman, J., Alelyani, S., and Nawaz, R. (2020). Predicting academic performance of students from VLE big data using deep learning models. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 104:106189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb. 2019.106189.
- Wächter, B., Kelo, M., Lam, Q., Effertz, P., Jost, C., and Kottowski, S. (2015). University quality indicators: a

critical assessment. Technical report, Directorate General for Internal Policies, Policy Department B: Structural and Cohesion Policies. https://doi.org/10.2861/426164.

Complex Systems and Complex Thinking Within the Framework of Education 4.0

Andrii O. Bielinskyi^{1,2}^o^a, Arnold E. Kiv^{3,4}^o^b and Vladimir N. Soloviev^{1,5}^o^c

¹Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine

²State University of Economics and Technology, 16 Medychna Str., Kryvyi Rih, 50005, Ukraine

³Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, P.O.B. 653, Beer Sheva, 8410501, Israel

⁴South Ukrainian National Pedagogical University named after K. D. Ushynsky,

26 Staroportofrankivska Str., Odesa, 65020, Ukraine

⁵Kyiv National Economic University named after Vadym Hetman, 54/1 Peremogy Avenue, Kyiv, 03680, Ukraine {krivogame, kiv.arnold20, vnsoloviev2016}@gmail.com

- Keywords: Education 4.0, Synergetics, Complex systems, Complex thinking, Chaos, Self-organization, Interdisciplinarity.
- Abstract: The presented paper raises the question of how the principles of Education 4.0 and the theory of selforganization (synergetics) can help in the reformation of the higher education system, and how interdisciplinary research can be useful for both teachers and students. In this paper, we give a brief review of different studies devoted to Education 4.0 and synergetics concepts. Next, we demonstrate the most important characteristics of complex systems and conceptually simplest methods for complex systems modelling. As part of the complex systems modeling course, which will first be presented to students of physics and mathematics, and then, possibly, to students of other specialties, we present signals of seismic activity, gravitational waves, magnetic activity, and stress-strain signal for a typical metal in the process of destruction. Our study demonstrates that complex systems theory and its toolkit can help to study phenomena of various nature and indentify (forecast) their catastrophic states. This kind of analysis can serve as a good basis for the formation of professional skills and universal competencies.

1 INTRODUCTION

In 2021, Syukuro Manabe, Klaus Hasselmann, and Giorgio Parisi were awarded the Nobel Prize in Physics "for groundbreaking contributions to our understanding of complex physical systems" (Nobel Foundation, 2021). That is a sign that the study of complex systems is of paramount importance. Nevertheless, we need to deal with the problems of their implementation in the educational process.

The education system in the world today is in a state of crisis. This is evidenced by the following trends: a further increase in the number of illiterate people in the world; the widespread decline in the quality of education; the growing gap between education and culture, education and science; alienation of the student from the educational process. This situation in the world at the present stage makes the problem of finding a new paradigm of education urgent, since the possibility of sustainable development of society, successful overcoming of global problems, regional and national conflicts characteristic of the present time of the development of civilization is closely related to the achieved level of education of all members of society (Karlov, 1998). But the education system is always based on a certain scientific understanding of the world and man, which determines the goals and objectives of education, its content, principles and methods.

Education 4.0 is such paradigm of education in which complex thinking, reasoning, teaching methods, and techniques become central to support educational processes for the formation of citizens committed to society and its complexity (Ramírez-Montoya et al., 2022). Modern generation of students meet business tasks which nowadays demand a wide range of knowledge, skills, and abilities: integrative, critical, systemic, scientific, innovative thinking; enabling

Bielinskyi, A., Kiv, A. and Soloviev, V.

Complex Systems and Complex Thinking Within the Framework of Education 4.0.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 199-219 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS - Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2821-2895

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0991-2343

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4945-202X
analysis, synthesis, continues learning, problem solving. Without an extensive range of different fields of science, it is problematic to be an active transformer of the society. The complexity paradigm proposes new point of view in which contradictory parts of a system compose into interrelated. For soling complex task, the encounter and the exchange between all researchers and academicians in disjunctive domains are necessary.

Figure 1 represents core components that enable to design innovative pedagogical environments in terms of Education 4.0 with correct technologies and infrastructures which will carry out best practices.

Modern technological environment embraces advances of humanity that provide high capacities and performance capabilities in many systems and platforms. Such technologies provide high level of digitalization, virtualization, and datafication. Due to corresponding spectrum of possibilities and studentcentral environment, we are able to seek, prepare, and graduate new highly competitive professionals capable to propose innovative solutions for current world. Searching for real-world challenges and combining educational experience with ICTs, students are able to transfer from theory to practice very quickly.

Open education, innovations, science, and technologies are the cornerstones of Education 4.0. It relies on personalized learning pathways, innovative digital and management tools complemented with such trending computer science topics as artificial intelligence (AI), blockchain, robotics, virtual reality, etc. Especially should be emphasized AI which provides a framework for understanding complex systems behavior: how multi-agent, interconnected, and intelligent environments interact with each other, mostly producing non-linear and non-predictable dynamics.

The heyday of education in the XVII-XVIII centuries, which happened through the development and spread of classical mechanics of the New Time, led to the determination of the picture of the world, where the studied elements are unchangeable, and the laws of classical mechanics are universal and apply to all types of motion of matter.

Such real-world systems as a pandemic, storm, transport systems, the world-wide web, stock and crypto indices are presented to be complex, irreversible, and sensitive to initial perturbations (Hipkins, 2021). Following deterministic paradigm, where each phenomenon has a cause and at the same time there is a cause of other phenomena, i.e., all the processes taking place in the world are predetermined and predictable, we would encounter that real-world systems neither precisely random nor deterministic.

Complex systems tend to display ordered features and unpredictable dynamics simultaneously (Ovens et al., 2013).

Therefore, such ideological and methodological principles as rationalism, determinism, mechanismism and reductionism began to dominate in scientific knowledge, which also had a decisive influence on the education system: on the forms of knowledge acquisition, presentation of material, organizational principles of education.

The discovery by synergetics of the processes of self-organization in inanimate nature clearly shows that the transition from disorder to order, accompanied by the emergence of self-organization and stable structures, the replacement of old structures with new ones occurs according to specific internal laws inherent in certain forms of the movement of matter. Ultimately, it is the qualitative and quantitative criteria of self-organization that characterize the level of complexity and perfection of the corresponding forms of movement (Haken, 1977, 1982). Based on these ideas, it is possible to develop a classification of types, forms, properties of matter according to their degree of complexity, perfection of organization, and thereby the degree of development. In this regard, development itself appears as a very complex, self-organizing process of movement from simple to complex, from less organized and perfect to more organized and perfect. In other words, development, in contrast to the movement that characterizes any changes in general, acts as a directed change associated with the emergence of a new one.

The post-non-classical stage of the development of science shows that rigid determinism and reductionism, which serve as the basis of the mechanistic view of the world, cannot be considered as universal principles of scientific knowledge, since an extensive class of phenomena and processes does not fit into the framework of linear, equilibrium and reversible schemes. In the world around us, a very real irreversibility plays an essential role, which is the basis of the majority of self-organization processes. Reversibility and rigid determinism in the world are applicable only in simple limiting cases, and irreversibility and randomness should be considered not as an exception, but as a general rule.

To integrate the synergetics approach into the educational process, it is important to instill in students ways of setting and solving problems of being and developing complex systems in various spheres: economic, social, natural, etc. It is equally important, at the beginning of studying the methods of studying complex systems, to instill in students at first or repeat with them the concepts of self-organization,



Contexts and Challenging Real-Life Scenarios

Figure 1: Core components for effective learning in Education 4.0 (Ramírez-Montoya et al., 2022).

chaos, destructive phenomena, to voice the difference between complex and complicated systems, etc.

Complex systems are a field of research that is now acquiring the characteristic features of a wellformed area of science with its own object, conceptual apparatus, and methods of analysis (Thurner, 2017). The concept of a complex system is gradually becoming one of the fundamental concepts of modern science, or, more broadly, it is increasingly appearing in a general cultural context. The expansion of the scope of application of this concept, as well as the identification and awareness of an increasing number of phenomena where it is applicable, causes difficulties in its exact definition. Although the science of complex systems covers a broad interdisciplinary field of research, the methods and concepts of physics (dynamical systems theory, quantum mechanics, statistical physics) are central to it.

So, the processes of self-organization in nonequilibrium conditions correspond to the dialectical interaction between chance and necessity, fluctuations and deterministic laws. Near bifurcations, the main role is played by chaos, randomness, while deterministic connections dominate in the intervals between bifurcations. The ways of development of selforganizing systems are not predetermined. Probability appears not as a product of our ignorance, but as an inevitable expression of chaos at the points of bifurcations. This means the end of the classical ideal of omniscience and creates the need to revise the principle of mechanical rationalism as the dominant scientific explanation of reality. The traditional education system, based on the principles of classical science, cannot effectively fulfill the role of a means of mastering the world by a person.

Hence, there is a need to provide new principles and ideas of the complex systems paradigm in the sphere of Education 4.0.

2 ANALYSIS OF PREVIOUS STUDIES

For building a new way of learning and education, we must be aware that linear thinking and methods are very dangerous in non-linear world (Jörg et al., 2007). Consequently, we should tend to a new way of thinking beyond dualism, reductionism, and the idea of controllable and perfectly predictable events.

Analysis of scientific sources and publications shows that today there is an opinion that synergetics could provide significant assistance in the search for a new paradigm of education. A synergistic approach to understanding patterns operating in nature is associated with the names of Haken (Haken, 1977, 1982, 1984, 2004; Haken and Schiepek, 2006), Prigogine (Prigogine, 1989, 1980; Prigogine and Stengers, 1984, 1997; Nicolis and Prigogine, 1989). Some scientists believe that synergetics, as a theory of self-organization of complex systems, describes the general (common) that is in their development, education is a complex system, and therefore synergetics, which today is developed by various branches of scientific knowledge, necessarily becomes its new philosophy. However, despite the existence of a sufficient number of works devoted to the application of synergetics in various spheres of human activity, the methodological and practical context of synergetics in the philosophy of education remains insufficiently developed. This is especially true for applying a synergistic approach to understanding the higher education system.

In contrast to the traditional interdisciplinary approach in education, the goal is not only to provide knowledge, but also to teach to hear and understand colleagues working in different specialties, to develop skills of dialogue between specialists in different branches of scientific knowledge. Thus, complexity theory is transdisciplinary rather than interdisciplinary: members of research team from different fields of science such as physics and economics are able to work together if they are sufficiently informed about one anothers's perspectives and motives (Benthem, 2002). The need for such a dialogue is becoming more and more palpable. Since the theoretical physicist Haken (Haken, 2004) introduced this concept into scientific use, the world has been accumulating some experience in the use of synergetics and in the study of social and educational systems.

Research conducted in schools and universities shows that interactive chaotic environments are very productive for developing creative thinking. The results of work in this area were presented by Davis-Seaver et al. (Davis-Seaver et al., 2000), who analyzed the learning process at three levels – from a single point of balance, statement of fact, statement of a single point of view to learning on the verge of chaos, when there are many points of view, when reasoning develops in different directions, when students listen to the opinions of others and on this basis develop their own judgments. The role of the teacher is not to spread knowledge and evaluate the correctness of judgments, but to monitor the progress of reasoning and transfer the learning process from one level to another. As a result, the understanding becomes deeper, more versatile, and the incentives for learning are largely created by the energy of the group, and not by the diligence of the teacher. In the context of revealing a person's creative abilities, a synergistic approach to education seeks not to eradicate chaos, but to find the relationship between order and disorder that would be most fruitful (Kremen, 2013).

The above-mentioned concept of chaos from the point of view of synergetics loses its negative connotation. As Prigogine and Stengers (Prigogine and Stengers, 1997) notes, instability can be a condition for stable and dynamic development. Only systems that are far from equilibrium are able to organize and evolve spontaneously. Thus, there is no development without instability. And if the system is strict against the implementation of new units, new units ('innovators') die''. In higher education, self-organizing systems are the Student, Teacher, their interrelation, etc. (Taranenko, 2014).

Jacobson and Wilensky (Jacobson and Wilensky, 2006; Wilensky and Jacobson, 2014) emphasize different research issues that need to be explored. They present such principles in studying complex phenomena as

- experiencing complex systems phenomena;
- making the complex systems conceptual framework explicit (Council, 2000);
- encouraging collaboration, discussion, and reflection; the design of environments for learning about complex systems needs to take advantage of lessons learned from the extensive research on pedagogy that foster collaboration, discussion, and reflection (National Research Council, 2000);
- constructing theories, models, and experiments;
- learning trajectories for deep understandings and explorations.

With a given appropriate conceptual and representational scaffolding in the learning environment, students should be able to tap into their everyday experiences and channel and enhance these experiences to construct understandings of complex systems that are cognitively robust. Nowadays, students should have more possibilities to explore world through computational modeling which progressive scientists use almost everyday.

Jackson (Jackson, 1995) and other, such as Pagels (Pagels, 1988), have observed how the use of computational tools in science allows dramatically enhanced capabilities to investigate complex and dynamical systems that otherwise could not be systematically investigated by scientists. These computational modeling approaches include cellular automata, network and agent-based modeling, neural networks, genetic algorithms, Monte Carlo simulations, and so on that are generally used in conjunction with scientific visualization techniques. Examples of complex systems that have been investigated with advanced computational modeling techniques include climate change (West and Dowlatabadi, 1998), urban transportation models (Balmer et al., 2004; Helbing and Nagel, 2004; Noth et al., 2003), and economics (Anderson et al., 1988; Arthur et al., 1997; Axelrod, 1997; Epstein and Axtell, 1996b). New communities of scientific practice have also emerged in which computational modeling techniques, in particular agent-based models and genetic algorithms, are being used to create synthetic worlds such as artificial life (Langton, 1989, 1995) and societies (Epstein and Axtell, 1996a) that allow tremendous flexibility to explore theoretical and research questions in the physical, biological, and social sciences that would be difficult or impossible in "real" or nonsynthetic settings.

Jörg et al. (Jörg et al., 2007) addressed their study to the theory of complexity, arguing that the present paradigms in the field of education neglect the inherent complexity of educational reality and therefore are not able to give an adequate understanding of reality. They discussed the importance of studying complex systems paradigm and its integration into educational process. In their opinion, complexity paradigm should help to uncover some of the myths we live by, but it is not necessary an unlimited source of truth. It is rather a better alternative for our rapidly evolving world in which we already encounter 'deprivation of our culture' (Midgley, 2001) and 'perversion in system of education' (Baistrocchi, 2018)

Costan et al. (Costan et al., 2021) investigated the existing barriers to Education 4.0 implementation. They collected a systematic review of the 30 journal articles on Engineering, Social Sciences, Computer Science, Business, Management, and Accounting generated from the initial search on Scopus, which were in turn related to Education 4.0. Their analysis provided 12 existing barriers for Education 4.0 implementation: cybersecurity threat, costly, skills gap of human capital, apprehensive stakeholders, lack of training resources, lack of collaboration, knowledge gap for the customization of curriculum design, insufficient available technologies, health issues, time constraint for material preparation, complexity of learning platforms, and insufficient foundation of basic education. Furthermore, a theoretical predictive model was constructed to present the causal relationships in modeling the problems associated with implementing Education 4.0.

Sigahi and Sznelwar (Sigahi and Sznelwar, 2022) studied following questions: (1) how complexity thinking could be applied to engineering education; (2) how that could contribute to current engineering challenges; (3) what were different complexity approaches in engineering and how to integrate them. They conducted a review from fifty eight journal articles and five book chapters. They discussed: engineering axiology; epistemological and ontological perspectives; complex thinking and competences; systematic transformations of engineering education, etc. Were identified main gaps of such education and discussed different thoughts on topic complexity.

Complexity captures even physical education (Bielinskyi et al., 2022). Swedish National Agency for Education presented new curriculum which included such term as *complex movement*. Researchers (Janemalm et al., 2019) provided insights into the meanings of *complex movements* in the context of physical education in Sweden. Using a discourse analytic methodology, six policy texts were examined. The study suggests that there is needed greater consensus as complex movement can have a wide range of meaning, have a context-depended meaning, and for different audiences will be understood in individual ways.

New paradigm of thinking and teaching concerns even sustainable development. It aims to equip learners with necessary knowledge about complex sustainability problems and develop in students creative thinking to acquire innovative sustainable solutions. Green et al. (Green et al., 2022) formed a randomized controlled trial to understand whether an innovative sustainability learning tools help to increase the understanding of a specific sustainability prob-Their learning toolkit incorporates two faclem. tors - system thinking and system dynamic simulation. They also tested whether those factors help to transfer knowledge to a second problem with a similar system structure. They used different statistical techniques to analyse the effect of the factors on sustainability understanding. Their research presented that the effectiveness of education for sustainable development increased significantly. Participants gave qualitative feedback on usefulness of systems thinking and simulation.

Network science (graph theory) is the key data analysis instrument for solving problems through their *graph representations*. For Education 4.0 it is one of the main fields of science which must be included into learning process. Many real-world complex systems exhibit common organizing principles, non-trivial patterns that were derived with graph theory. Therefore, network science can be considered as highly interdisciplinary research field (Börner et al., 2008). Weber et al. (Weber et al., 2021) addressed their study to sustainability problems through the tool of network science and presented schematically how complex, real-world sustainability problems can be considered through the prism of graph theory (figure 2).

As the environmental, economic, and political problems of humanity have become global, complex and nonlinear, traditional ideas about individual responsibility are becoming questionable. We need to study and teach new models of collective behavior that take into account the different degrees of our individual abilities and understanding of what is happening.

We believe that the study of the apparatus of physics, graph theory, and computer science is now of paramount importance for the further development of both our society and the entire universe.

In further we need to understand how to grow an interest of students in constructing and revising computational models with multi-agent or qualitative modeling software, and how model building activities may enhance student conduct of real world experiments related to the phenomena under consideration (Abrahamson and Wilensky, 2005a,b; Jackson et al., 2000).

3 THE MOST IMPORTANT PROPERTIES OF COMPLEX SYSTEMS TO BE STUDIED

Based on the previously described characteristics and the direction in which we should move, it becomes clear that synergetics (the theory of complex systems) is the foundation of almost any system. Including pedagogical. Although the initial direction of research within this paradigm was physical systems, the latest objects of research on various manifestations of complexity also appear in the context of business organization and economics. For example, Wheatley (Wheatley, 2006) suggests that we view organizations as being more like living organisms than machines. As such, we need to modify traditional views on controlling organizations. Wheatley (Wheatley, 2006) argues that organizations are dynamic, nonlinear networks of relationships and cannot be separated into parts while maintaining their essential identity.

Complexity thinkers have been seeking for common characteristics in a tremendous range of simple and complex systems: dependence on initial perturbations, long-term correlations, multi-layered and multi-scale, mutual and reciprocal, etc.

In general, they are

- dynamic;
- non-equilibrium and have the potential to change suddenly and may take one path out of an infinite number of others (bifurcate);
- open systems, that is interchange energy (and information) with their surroundings;
- depended. What happens next depends on what happened previously;
- systems where the whole is more than the sum of its parts;
- causal and yet indeterminate;
- irreversible, since the interaction of parts together is transforming;
- multi-agent. They composed of a diversity of agents that interact with each other, mutually affect each other, and in so doing generate novel, emergent behavior for the system as a whole. The system is constantly adapting to the conditions around it and over time it evolves;
- co-evolving and move spontaneously towards the edge of chaos.

3.1 Time Series Data

In order to maintain students' interest in studying complex systems and their corresponding data analysis tools, programming languages, etc. (Shumway and Stoffer, 2016; Fulcher et al., 2013), it is important to select truly interesting and complex systems (series). It is equally important that the studied systems are within the framework of the specialty that students are guided by. However, since we strive for an interdisciplinary approach, the study, for example, by biologists of the corresponding nonlinear methods on the example of the same socio-economic series or physical ones can also be beneficial for general development.

Complexity theory is subdivided into hard and soft complexity. Hard complexity theory stands for analytical analysis that concern with the nature of reality, while soft complexity aims to describe social and living systems. Davis and Sumara (Davis and Sumara, 2006) proposes such term as "complexity thinking" which lies somewhere in between hard and soft skills. We support such idea and would like to promote it among ordinary citizens who are not specialists and, particularly, among universities and their student. Focusing on interdisciplinarity, both hard and soft skills,



Figure 2: Sustainability problems that are solved through network science.

teachers and students will be more creative and productive in their further research. Knowing about interconnections across different disciplines, there are much more possibilities for collaborative research between different faculties and there is larger probability that people will be able to find common topics for communication and will be engaged to cooperate.

The goal of this work is to present the basic characteristics of complex systems, which should be introduced to students during the course of studying complex systems, and the basic sets of methods that allow analyzing the varying randomness (complexity) of the system during the development of the studied signals.

In this paper, we present some of the most fundamental, applied, robust, and powerful methods on the example of four physical signals: seismic (SEI), gravitational wave (GW), the distribution storm time (Dst) index, and stress-strain ($\sigma(\epsilon)$) signal for a typical metal in the process of destruction.

SEI dataset constructed by Bladford (Bladford, 1993). Each event has 2048 points fixed at a seismic recording station in Scandinavia.

We used GW data GW150914 from Events of LIGO Open Science Center and select strain data (H1 and L1) after noise subtraction (The LIGO Scientific Collaboration and the Virgo Collaboration, 2016) (https://www.ligo.org/detections/GW150914.php).

The Dst index is an index of magnetic activity derived from a network of nearequatorial geomagnetic observatories that measures the intensity of the globally symmetrical equatorial electrojet ("ring current"). Dst is maintained at National Centers for Environmental Information (National Centers for environmental information, 2021) from 1957 to the present. Dst equivalent equatorial magnetic disturbance indices are derived from hourly scalings of low-latitude horizontal magnetic variation. They show the effect of the globally symmetrical westward flowing high altitude equatorial ring current, which causes the "main phase" depression worldwide in the H-component field during large magnetic storms. In this paper, the time series of hourly values of the storm on March 13, 1989 is investigated. It is the strongest storm in the space age in several ways; the power system of the province of Quebec was out of order. The peak of the storm falls in the middle of the time series (point 1000).

The stress-strain signal $\sigma(\epsilon)$ contains integrated information about the structural transformations of the spectrum of defects in the material under study (point, dislocations, pores, cracks) depending on the applied stress.

In order to study changes of complexity dynamically, i.e., to get not only one value that will characterize the whole system, but an array of values, where each value will reflect the complexity of a signal in a specific period, we use sliding window approach (Soloviev and Belinskyi, 2018a; Bielinskyi et al., 2021b,c).

In figures 3a and 3b is presented the dynamics of all physical signals that could be studied during physics classes. However, students of other faculties



Figure 3: The signals of SEI, GW, and Dst in normalized scale (a). Stress-strain curve in absolute scale (b).

can also be interested.

Figure 3b shows a typical dependence $\sigma(\epsilon)$ with 4 highlighted characteristic areas. In the first of them, elastic (reversible), point defects dominate. In the second region of plastic flow and hardening, dislocations multiply and move. It is the most informative. The third region is characterized by a quasi-stationary process of accumulation of pores and microcracks, as well as the nucleation of a neck. Finally, the last region is the phase of the formation of a global crack, ending with the destruction (rupture) of the material.

3.2 Fat-Tailed Distribution

When studying complex systems, we inevitably encounter power distributions characterized by thick tails. A classic example is the power-law of dividing words by their frequency of use in a text, known as Zipf's law (Zipf, 1950).

In economics, this is the law of wealth distribution among individuals (Pareto, 1896); in demography, the distribution of cities by their size (Auerbach, 1913); in biology, the distribution of the size of forest patches (Saravia et al., 2018); in scientometry, the distribution of citations (Brzeziński, 2014). In general, a wide class of phenomena is described in the framework of distributions with a degree dependence, but the researcher (student) will have to find out the nature of such a dependence, which can be caused by many factors: critical phenomena, processes with preference, self-organized criticality, multiplicative processes with connections, optimization and path-dependent nonergodic processes, the phase space of which decreases with evolution (Domp, 1996; Sornette, 2006; Bak et al., 1987; Mandelbrot, 1953; Corominas-Murtra et al., 2015).

First of all, it will be important to build an empirical distribution for our data (figure 4). Having visualized the series we study in this paper, we can already be convinced of the non-Gaussian dynamics of the presented systems.

In the course of our research, we have determined that the Lévy α -stable distribution most successfully covers the key statistical characteristics of both the economic (Bielinskyi et al., 2019, 2021a,c) and those systems that are presented in this paper. Figures 5a to 5d show the window dynamics of the α index derived from the Lévy distribution that characterizes the "heaviness" of tails.

From the figures above we can observe that the dynamics of all signals is beyond normal. Index of stability α decreases during regions of instability, indicating an increase in the tails of the distribution.

3.3 Multifractality

When studying various types of systems, we often encounter both fractal (self-similar) structures and sets of different fractal dimensions (Stanley and Meakin, 1988). In such problems, it is necessary to take into account the entire range of critical indicators that characterize different moments in the distribution of observed quantities. Such properties usually relate to the term "multifractality" (Sreenivasan and Meneveau, 1986).

There are several different algorithms that allow the obtention of multifractal spectra from time series. The most famous is the MF-DFA (Kantelhardt et al., 2002; de Freitas et al., 2019; Eghdami et al., 2018).

Based on the MF-DFA procedure, we select the maximum value of such a quantitative characteristic of multifractality as the singularity strength (Ashkenazy et al., 2003), although in the corresponding section of fractal (multifractal) analysis, it would be necessary to characterize and demonstrate the dynamics of all multifractality indicators. The following figure



Figure 4: Probability density functions (PDF's) of Dst, Sei, and GW (normalized time series – ts norm) (a). PDF of $\sigma(\epsilon)$ signal comparing to along with the Gaussian curve (b).



Figure 5: The dynamics of four signals and their α index of stability.

shows the window dynamics of the maximum value of the singularity strength.

Figure 6 demonstrates the increase of multifractality during period of collapse. For Dst, SEI, and $\sigma(\epsilon)$ critical periods become more multifractal, whereas for GW we have the opposite relation.



Figure 6: The dynamics of four signals and their α_{max} index of multifractality.

3.4 Network Analysis

Equally important is the network analysis of complex systems. Today, networks play a central role in modeling complex systems, as they offer a way to describe different types of relationships between agents that act as endpoints in the network. Complex networks can characterize information, social, economic, biological, neural, and other systems (Newman, 2003; Boccaletti et al., 2014, 2006; Baiesi and Paczuski, 2004). For example, a society can be represented as a network, where each individual (university, wealth, city) can be represented as nodes of a graph, and the connection between them through edges. For cities, edges can represent a road, where the possibilities of movement can vary, and therefore a different weight can be determined for each edge.

In general, the computer network model is a random graph, the law of mutual arrangement of edges and vertices for which is defined by the probability distribution.

The simplest of networked objects, so-called

Erdös-Rényi, or random graphs (Erdös and Rényi, 1959). Such graphs can be characterized within the framework of the Poisson distribution, but most complex systems, as already noted, are characterized within the framework of distributions with heavy tails. One of the most interesting characteristics of networks is the vertex degree. The vertex degree distribution for many real-world networks shows a powerlaw dependence. Such networks are called scaleindependent. Scale-free networks are often characterized by very short average distances between randomly chosen pairs of nodes that may have a strong impact on the whole dynamics.

In addition to the topology of graphs, you can also study their quantitative characteristics. In our case, using the window procedure, we get a variable graph representation of our signal over time. For the presented work, we calculated the maximum vertex degree of the graph (D_{max}), since this measure is one of the conceptually simplest measures, although many other measures can be represented. It is worth noting that there are also various algorithms for con-



Figure 7: The dynamics of four signals and their D_{max} in accordance with the visibility graph.

verting a time series to a graph. We would like to emphasize the visibility graph algorithms (Bielinskyi et al., 2021c,b; Juan and Guzmán-Vargas, 2013; Kundu et al., 2021; Soloviev and Belinskiy, 2018; Bielinskyi and Soloviev, 2018) (figure 7) and one based on recurrence analysis (Donner et al., 2011) (figure 8).

The index of maximum degree D_{max} start to increase during abnormal phenomena. We can make a conclusion that crisis period is presented to be more concentrated in terms of graph comparing to normal dynamics.

3.5 **Recurrence Analysis**

Processes in nature are characterized by pronounced recurrent behavior, such as periodicity or irregular cyclicity.

Moreover, the recurrence (repeatability) of states in the sense of passing a further trajectory quite close to the previous one is a fundamental property of dissipative dynamical systems. This property was noted in the 1880s by the French mathematician Poincaré and subsequently formulated in the form of the "recurrence theorem", published in 1890 (Poincaré, 1890).

The essence of this fundamental property is that, despite the fact that even the smallest perturbation in a complex dynamical system can lead the system to an exponential deviation from its state, after a while the system tends to return to a state that is somewhat close to the previous one, and goes through similar stages of evolution.

In 1987, Eckmann et al. (Eckmann et al., 1987) proposed a method for mapping the recurrence of phase space trajectories to $N \times N$ matrix. The appearance of a recurrence diagram allows us to judge the nature of processes occurring in the system, the presence and influence of noise, states of repetition and fading (laminarity), and the implementation of sudden changes (extreme events) during the evolution of the system. If you look at recurrent diagrams in more detail, you can find small-scale structures (textures) consisting of simple points, diagonal, horizontal, and vertical lines, which in turn correspond to chaotic, repetitive, or laminar states.

Using combinations of these states, Zbilut and



Figure 8: The dynamics of four signals and their D_{max} in accordance with the algorithm based on recurrence analysis.

Webber (Zbilut and Webber, 1992; Webber and Zbilut, 1994) developed a tool for calculating a series of measures based on the distribution of recurrent points on a recurrence matrix. Later, the toolkit for quantitative recurrent analysis was supplemented by Marwan and Kurths (Marwan and Kurths, 2002). The tools of quantitative recurrent analysis include the recurrence rate, determined by the ratio of recurrent points to the total number of points on the recurrence matrix under study. In addition to the recurrence measure, in the course of analyzing complex systems, it would be possible to present such measures as determinism, divergence, entropy, trend, and so on (Soloviev and Belinskiy, 2018; Soloviev and Belinskyi, 2018a; Derbentsev et al., 2020; Fan et al., 2018; Lin et al., 2015; Banerjee et al., 2021).

In this paper, we will focus on the recurrence rate and present it for the already specified series (figure 9).

Figure 9 demonstrates *RR* measure that indicates the probability of finding recurrent (close to each other) points. Our empirical results show that due to abrupt changes that correspond to crisis state, the probability of finding recurrent points become lower. This indicator starts to decrease even before crash, which makes it as indicator-precursor of such events.

3.6 Entropy and Non-Extensive Statistics

The Boltzmann-Gibbs statistical entropy and the classical statistical mechanics associated with it are extremely useful tools for studying a wide range of simple systems that are characterized by a small range of space-time correlations (short memory), the additivity of noise, the presence of intense chaos, the ergodicity of dynamic processes, the Euclidean geometry of phase space, the locality of interaction between elements, the Gaussian probability distributions, etc.

The Boltzmann-Gibbs statistical entropy is a fundamental concept of the school section and the university course of thermodynamics and statistical physics.

In statistical mechanics, entropy denotes the num-



Figure 9: Phase space portrait and recurrence plot of GW (a-b). The dynamics of RR for GW (b), Dst (c), SEI (d), and $\sigma(\epsilon)$ (f).



Figure 10: Autocorrelation of SEI, GW and Dst (a), and sliding window autocorrelation for $\sigma(\epsilon)$ (b).



Figure 11: The pdf's of the four signals, Gaussian, and q-Gaussian functions (a-d).

ber of possible configurations of a thermodynamic system. The notion of entropy can be associated with the uncertainty in the system (Clausius, 1870; Boltz-

mann, 1970). In 1948, Shannon transformed classical statistical entropy to information entropy (Shannon, 1948). Since then, a number of other types of information entropy have been developed (Karakatsanis et al., 2013; Javaherian and Mollaei, 2021; Litvinenko, 2019; Posadas et al., 2021).

In order to study many real-world systems, it is necessary to go beyond the standard course of thermodynamics, statistical physics, and classical Shannon entropy. A whole range of natural, artificial and social systems, which, unlike those mentioned above, are characterized by a long range of spatio-temporal correlations and non-Gaussian processes.

Since the non-Gaussian and multifractal behavior of the studied systems was presented previously, we will depict the autocorrelation function in the figure 10a, as it should demonstrate an indicator decline. This fact will indicate the dependence of the following values on the previous ones.

It is also worth mentioning that such systems are characterized by multiplicative noise, the presence of weak chaos (vanishing maximum Lyapunov exponent), non-ergodicity of dynamic processes, hierarchy (usually multifractality) of the geometry of the phase space, the presence of asymptotically power-law statistical distributions. A fairly wide class of these complex systems (although not all) it is adequately described by non-additive statistics based on the Tsallis parametric entropy.

Figures 11a to 11c show the *q*-Gaussian distribution from the Tsallis statistics for the considered series in comparison with the classical Gaussian one.

Autocorrelation plot (figure 10a) represents that the highest long-range dependence has the signal of magnetic activity, and autocorrelation with the sliding window approach for $\sigma(\varepsilon)$ signal represents how increases dependence between defects during transition from elastic region to the region of plastic flow and hardening.

Figures 11a to 11d present that signals which dynamics exceeds $\pm 10\sigma$ are described more appropriately in terms of *q*-Gaussian distribution. Parameter *q* represented the degree of non-extensivity in each system. With the higher *q*, we expect more multifractal, chaotic, and dependent dynamics.

3.7 Reversibility and Irreversibility

The last characteristic that we would like to mention is time-reversibility. Temporary irreversibility is a key property of non-equilibrium systems.

Again, such systems are characterized by the presence of memory, while reversibility increases with more noisy and unpredictable signals. Thus, by calculating the irreversibility, we determine the degree of nonlinearity and predictability. It is important to note that the significant time reversibility excludes linear Gaussian processes as a model of generating dynamics. Within the framework of the systems we are considering, we need to think about methods of nonlinear dynamics and non-Gaussian ones (Lawrance, 1991; Stone et al., 1996).

Over the past decade, various methods have been proposed for calculating the degree of irreversibility in systems (Daw et al., 2000; Kennel, 2004; Lacasa et al., 2012; Donges et al., 2013; Flanagan and Lacasa, 2016; Costa et al., 2005; Zanin et al., 2018; Jiang et al., 2016) and we have presented how to use some of them for crises identification (Bielinskyi et al., 2021b). For pedagogical purposes, along with the mentioned concept of multifractality and entropy, we would like to present irreversibility based on the multifractal approach (Jiang et al., 2016) and permutation patterns (Zanin et al., 2018). The last mentioned approach could be taught within the section of entropy approaches if we were teaching students. However, the calculation of irreversibility based on graph theory is also possible (Lacasa et al., 2012; Donges et al., 2013; Flanagan and Lacasa, 2016).

Figures 12a to 12d show the mentioned measures of irreversibility for the studied signals.

In figure 12 we can see that abnormal periods are followed with the increase of irreversibility in signal. In our opinion, permutation-based irreversibility is most stable comparing to the second one. Nevertheless, additional improvements of algorithm for their calculations can be made, and indicators of irreversibility based on graph theory can be studied.

4 CONCLUSION

Nowadays real-world challenges and mass integration of information and communication technologies in every sphere of our life demand an evolution of a pedagogical sector. Consequently, increasing complexity of all social structures require multidisciplinary projects, which can provide valuable experience and competencies not only for colleagues from seemingly independent disciplines, but also for students from the same fields.

The analysis of the adaptive nature of many complex systems led to the creation of methods and the development of concepts that were successfully applied to describe formally similar phenomena in chemical, biological, social and other systems of agents of non-physical nature. It is sometimes argued that if physics is the science of the four fundamental forces that matter interacts with.

It is still relevant to create appropriate open innovation laboratories (Cortes et al., 2020) in which will



Figure 12: The dynamics of irreversibility measures along with the studied signals.

be possible adaptation of various solutions from the fields of physics, higher mathematics, and computer science to social sciences.

In this paper, we have presented some of the most significant approaches on the example of SEI, GW, Dst, and $\sigma(\epsilon)$. Empirical results emphasize that we can not only study critical processes (as in the first three cases), but also physical objects in which these (critical) processes alternate with (quasi)-linear and even catastrophic (destruction). Obviously, to-day's transformations towards Industry 4.0 gave us a wide range of different indicators and signals to study (Chen et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2019), and the task is to get students interested in learning the appropriate complexity theory tools and developing their complexity thinking.

The theory of complex systems is obviously not limited to the methods presented in this paper. Further, we would like to supplement the presented material with entropy (Soloviev and Belinskyi, 2018b; Soloviev et al., 2019, 2020b), chaotic algorithms (Soloviev et al., 2020a), and, for example, the tools of random matrix theory (Soloviev and Belinskiy, 2019; Bielinskyi et al., 2021c).

REFERENCES

- Abrahamson, D. and Wilensky, U. (2005a). Collaboration and equity in classroom activities using Statistics As Multi-Participant Learning-Environment Resource (S.A.M.P.L.E.R.). In Stroup, W., Wilensky, U., and Lee, C. D., editors, *Patterns in group learning with* next-generation network technology.
- Abrahamson, D. and Wilensky, U. (2005b). The stratified learning zone: Examining collaborative-learning design in demographically diverse mathematics classrooms. In White, D. Y. and Gutstein, E. H., editors, Equity and diversity studies in mathematics learning and instruction. Conference: annual meeting of the American Educational Research Associationannual meeting of the American Educational Research Association.

Anderson, P. W., Arrow, K. J., and Pines, D., editors

(1988). The Economy As An Evolving Complex System. Addison-Wesley, 1 edition.

- Arthur, W. B., Durlauf, S. N., and Lane, D. A., editors (1997). *The Economy As An Evolving Complex System II*. Addison-Wesley, 1 edition.
- Ashkenazy, Y., Baker, D. R., Gildor, H., and Havlin, S. (2003). Nonlinearity and multifractality of climate change in the past 420,000 years. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 30(22):4. https://doi.org/10.1029/ 2003GL018099.
- Auerbach, F. (1913). Das gesetz der bevölkerungskonzentration, Petermanns. Geographische Mitteilungen, 59:74–76.
- Axelrod, R. (1997). The Complexity of Cooperation: Agent-Based Models of Competition and Collaboration. Princeton Studies in Complexity. Princeton University Press.
- Baiesi, M. and Paczuski, M. (2004). Scale-free networks of earthquakes and aftershocks. *Physical Review E*, 69(6). https://doi.org/10.1103/physreve.69.066106.
- Baistrocchi, S. (2018). Edgar Morin: Seven complex lessons in education for the future. *Early Years Educator*, 20(6):38–44. https://doi.org/10.12968/eyed.2018. 20.6.38.
- Bak, P., Tang, C., and Wiesenfeld, K. (1987). Selforganized criticality: An explanation of the 1/f noise. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 59:381–384. https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.59.381.
- Balmer, M., Nagel, K., and Raney, B. (2004). Large-Scale Multi-Agent Simulations for Transportation Applications. *Journal of Intelligent Transportation Systems*, 8(4):205–221. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15472450490523892.
- Banerjee, A., Goswami, B., Hirata, Y., Eroglu, D., Merz, B., Kurths, J., and Marwan, N. (2021). Recurrence analysis of extreme event-like data. *Nonlinear Processes in Geophysics*, 28(2):213–229. https://npg.copernicus. org/articles/28/213/2021/.
- Benthem, J. (2002). Science and Society in Flux. In Tindemans, P. A. J., Verrijn-Stuart, A. A., and Visser, R. P. W., editors, *The Future of the Sciences and Humanities: Four Analytical Essays and a Critical Debate on the Future of Scholastic Endeavor*, pages 63–90. Amsterdam University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/ 9789048503667-005.
- Bielinskyi, A., Khvostina, I., Mamanazarov, A., Matviychuk, A., Semerikov, S., Serdyuk, O., Solovieva, V., and Soloviev, V. N. (2021a). Predictors of oil shocks. Econophysical approach in environmental science. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 628:012019. https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1755-1315/628/1/012019.
- Bielinskyi, A., Soloviev, V. N., Semerikov, S., and Solovieva, V. (2019). Detecting Stock Crashes Using Levy Distribution. In Kiv, A., Semerikov, S., Soloviev, V. N., Kibalnyk, L., Danylchuk, H., and Matviychuk, A., editors, Proceedings of the Selected Papers of the 8th International Conference on Monitoring, Modeling & Management of Emergent Economy, M3E2-EEMLPEED 2019, Odessa, Ukraine, May 22-

24, 2019, volume 2422 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 420–433. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws. org/Vol-2422/paper34.pdf.

- Bielinskyi, A. O., Hushko, S. V., Matviychuk, A. V., Serdyuk, O. A., Semerikov, S. O., and Soloviev, V. N. (2021b). Irreversibility of financial time series: a case of crisis. In Kiv, A. E., Soloviev, V. N., and Semerikov, S. O., editors, *Proceedings of the Selected* and Revised Papers of 9th International Conference on Monitoring, Modeling & Management of Emergent Economy (M3E2-MLPEED 2021), Odessa, Ukraine, May 26-28, 2021, volume 3048 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 134–150. CEUR-WS.org. http: //ceur-ws.org/Vol-3048/paper04.pdf.
- Bielinskyi, A. O., Kiv, A. E., Prikhozha, Y. O., Slusarenko, M. A., and Soloviev, V. N. (2022). Complex systems and physics education. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 9:56–80.
- Bielinskyi, A. O., Serdyuk, O. A., Semerikov, S. O., and Soloviev, V. N. (2021c). Econophysics of cryptocurrency crashes: a systematic review. In Kiv, A. E., Soloviev, V. N., and Semerikov, S. O., editors, *Proceedings of the Selected and Revised Papers of 9th International Conference on Monitoring, Modeling & Management of Emergent Economy (M3E2-MLPEED* 2021), Odessa, Ukraine, May 26-28, 2021, volume 3048 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 31–133. CEUR-WS.org. http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-3048/paper03. pdf.
- Bielinskyi, A. O. and Soloviev, V. N. (2018). Complex network precursors of crashes and critical events in the cryptocurrency market. *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, 2292:37–45. http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2292/ paper02.pdf.
- Bladford, R. R. (1993). Discrimination of earthquakes and explosions. Report AFTAC-TR-93-044 HQ, Air Force Technical Applications Center, Patrick Air Force Base FL 32925-6001. https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/ pdfs/ADA267638.pdf.
- Boccaletti, S., Bianconi, G., Criado, R., del Genio, C. I., Gómez-Gardeñes, J., Romance, M., Sendiña-Nadal, I., Wang, Z., and Zanin, M. (2014). The structure and dynamics of multilayer networks. *Physics Reports*, 544(1):1–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. physrep.2014.07.001.
- Boccaletti, S., Latora, V., Moreno, Y., Chavez, M., and Hwang, D.-U. (2006). Complex networks: Structure and dynamics. *Physics Reports*, 424(4):175–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physrep.2005.10.009.
- Boltzmann, L. (1970). Weitere Studien über das Wärmegleichgewicht unter Gasmolekülen, volume 67, pages 115–225. Vieweg+Teubner Verlag. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-322-84986-1_3.
- Börner, K., Sanyal, S., and Vespignani, A. (2008). Network Science. Annual Rev. Info. Sci & Technol., 41(1):537–607. https://doi.org/10.5555/1658843. 1658862.
- Brzeziński, M. (2014). Power laws in citation distributions: Evidence from Scopus. Working Papers 2014-05, Faculty of Economic Sciences, University of Warsaw. https://ideas.repec.org/p/war/wpaper/2014-05.html.

- Chen, Y., Manchester, W. B., Hero, A. O., Toth, G., DuFumier, B., Zhou, T., Wang, X., Zhu, H., Sun, Z., and Gombosi, T. I. (2019). Identifying Solar Flare Precursors Using Time Series of SDO/HMI Images and SHARP Parameters. *Space Weather*, 17(10):1404–1426. https://doi.org/10.1029/ 2019sw002214.
- Clausius, R. (1870). XVI. On a mechanical theorem applicable to heat. *The London, Edinburgh,* and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science, 40(265):122–127. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 14786447008640370.
- Corominas-Murtra, B., Hanel, R., and Thurner, S. (2015). Understanding scaling through history-dependent processes with collapsing sample space. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 112(17):5348– 5353. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1420946112.
- Cortes, D., Ramirez, J., and Molina, A. (2020). Open innovation laboratory: Education 4.0 environments to improve competencies in scholars. In Proceedings of 18th LACCEI International Multi-Conference for Engineering, Education Caribbean Conference for Engineering and Technology: Engineering, Integration, and Alliances for a Sustainable Development. Hemispheric Cooperation for Competitiveness and Prosperity on a Knowledge-Based Economy, pages 1–8. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc. https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.18687/laccei2020.1.1.422.
- Costa, M., Goldberger, A. L., and Peng, C.-K. (2005). Broken Asymmetry of the Human Heartbeat: Loss of Time Irreversibility in Aging and Disease. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 95:198102. https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.95.198102.
- Costan, E., Gonzales, G., Gonzales, R., Enriquez, L., Costan, F., Suladay, D., Atibing, N. M., Aro, J. L., Evangelista, S. S., Maturan, F., Selerio, E., and Ocampo, L. (2021). Education 4.0 in Developing Economies: A Systematic Literature Review of Implementation Barriers and Future Research Agenda. *Sustainability*, 13(22):12763. https://doi.org/10.3390/ su132212763.
- Council, N. R. (2000). *How People Learn: Brain, Mind, Experience, and School: Expanded Edition.* The National Academies Press, Washington, DC. https: //10.17226/9853.
- Davis, B. and Sumara, D. (2006). Complexity and Education: Inquiries Into Learning, Teaching, and Research. Routledge.
- Davis-Seaver, J., Leflore, D., and Smith, T. (2000). Promoting critical thinking at the university level. National forum of teacher educational journal, 10E(3):1–11. http://www.nationalforum.com/ Electronic%20Journal%20Volumes/Davis-Seaver% 20Jane%20Promoting%20Critical%20Thinking% 20at%20the%20University%20Level.pdf.
- Daw, C. S., Finney, C. E. A., and Kennel, M. B. (2000). Symbolic approach for measuring temporal "irreversibility". *Phys. Rev. E*, 62:1912–1921. https: //doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevE.62.1912.
- de Freitas, D. B., Nepomuceno, M. M. F., and De Medeiros, J. R. (2019). Multifractal signatures of gravitational

waves detected by LIGO. https://arxiv.org/abs/1912. 12967.

- Derbentsev, V., Semerikov, S., Serdyuk, O., Solovieva, V., and Soloviev, V. (2020). Recurrence based entropies for sustainability indices. *E3S Web Conf.*, 166:13031. https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/202016613031.
- Domp, C. (1996). The Critical Point: A Historical Introduction To The Modern Theory Of Critical Phenomena. CRC Press, 1 edition. https://doi.org/10.1201/ 9781482295269.
- Donges, J. F., Donner, R. V., and Kurths, J. (2013). Testing time series irreversibility using complex network methods. *EPL (Europhysics Letters)*, 102(1):10004. https://doi.org/10.1209/0295-5075/102/10004.
- Donner, R. V., Small, M., Donges, J. F., Marwan, N., Zou, Y., Xiang, R., and Kurths, J. (2011). Recurrence-Based Time Series Analysis by Means of Complex Network Methods. *International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos*, 21(04):1019–1046.
- Eckmann, J.-P., Kamphorst, S. O., and Ruelle, D. (1987). Recurrence Plots of Dynamical Systems. *Europhysics Letters (EPL)*, 4(9):973–977. https://doi.org/10.1209/ 0295-5075/4/9/004.
- Eghdami, I., Panahi, H., and Movahed, S. M. S. (2018). Multifractal Analysis of Pulsar Timing Residuals: Assessment of Gravitational Wave Detection. *The Astrophysical Journal*, 864(2):162. https://doi.org/10.3847/ 1538-4357/aad7b9.
- Epstein, J. and Axtell, R. (1996a). Growing artificial societies: Social science from the bottom up. MIT.
- Epstein, J. M. and Axtell, R. (1996b). *Growing Artificial Societies: Social Science from the Bottom Up*, volume 1. The MIT Press, 1 edition. https://EconPapers. repec.org/RePEc:mtp:titles:0262550253.
- Erdös, P. and Rényi, A. (1959). On Random Graphs I. Publicationes Mathematicae Debrecen, 6:290– 297. https://snap.stanford.edu/class/cs224w-readings/ erdos59random.pdf.
- Fan, Z., Chen, Q., Sun, G., Mastorakis, N., and Zhuang, X. (2018). Nonlinear analysis of gravitational wave signals based on recurrence quantification analysis. *MATEC Web Conf.*, 210:05011. https://doi.org/10. 1051/matecconf/201821005011.
- Flanagan, R. and Lacasa, L. (2016). Irreversibility of financial time series: A graph-theoretical approach. *Physics Letters A*, 380(20):1689–1697. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.physleta.2016.03.011.
- Fulcher, B. D., Little, M. A., and Jones, N. S. (2013). Highly comparative time-series analysis: the empirical structure of time series and their methods. *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, 10(83):20130048. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2013.0048.
- Green, C., Molloy, O., and Duggan, J. (2022). An Empirical Study of the Impact of Systems Thinking and Simulation on Sustainability Education. *Sustainability*, 14(1):394. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14010394.
- Haken, H. (1977). Synergetics. Physics Bulletin, 28(9):412.
- Haken, H. (1982). Synergetics: Formation of Ordered Structures out of Chaos. *Leonardo*, 15(1):66–67. http: //www.jstor.org/stable/1574350.

- Haken, H. (1984). Can synergetics be of use to management theory? In Self-organization and management of social systems, pages 33–41. Springer.
- Haken, H. (2004). Synergetics: Introduction and Advanced Topics. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1 edition. https: //10.1007/978-3-662-10184-1.
- Haken, H. and Schiepek, G. (2006). *Synergetik in der Psychologie: Selbstorganisation verstehen und gestalten.* Hogrefe Göttingen.
- Helbing, D. and Nagel, K. (2004). The physics of traffic and regional development. *Contemporary Physics*, 45(5):405–426. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 00107510410001715944.
- Hipkins, R. (2021). Teaching for Complex Systems Thinking. NZCER Press.
- Jackson, E. A. (1995). The second metamorphosis of science: A second view. SFI Working Papers 96-05-059, Santa Fe Institute. https://EconPapers.repec.org/ RePEc:wop:safiwp:95-01-001.
- Jackson, S., Krajcik, J., and Soloway, E. (2000). Model-It: A design retrospective. In Jacobson, M. J. and Kozma, R. B., editors, *Innovations in science and mathematics education: Advanced designs for technologies of learning*, pages 77–115. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Jacobson, M. J. and Wilensky, U. (2006). Complex Systems in Education: Scientific and Educational Importance and Implications for the Learning Sciences. *Journal* of the Learning Sciences, 15(1):11–34. https://doi.org/ 10.1207/s15327809jls1501_4.
- Janemalm, L., Quennerstedt, M., and Barker, D. (2019). What is complex in complex movement? A discourse analysis of conceptualizations of movement in the Swedish physical education curriculum. *European Physical Education Review*, 25(4):1146–1160. https://doi.org/10.1177/1356336X18803977.
- Javaherian, M. and Mollaei, S. (2021). Multiscale entropy analysis of gravitational waves. Adv. High Energy Phys., 2021:6643546. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/ 6643546.
- Jiang, C., Shang, P., and Shi, W. (2016). Multiscale multifractal time irreversibility analysis of stock markets. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 462:492–507. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physa.2016. 06.092.
- Juan, B. A.-S. and Guzmán-Vargas, L. (2013). Earthquake magnitude time series: scaling behavior of visibility networks. *The European Physical Journal B: Condensed Matter and Complex Systems*, 86(11):1–10. https://doi.org/10.1140/epjb/e2013-40762-2.
- Jörg, T., Davis, B., and Nickmans, G. (2007). Towards a new, complexity science of learning and education. *Educational Research Review*, 2(2):145–156. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2007.09.002.
- Kantelhardt, J. W., Zschiegner, S. A., Koscielny-Bunde, E., Havlin, S., Bunde, A., and Stanley, H. (2002). Multifractal detrended fluctuation analysis of nonstationary time series. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 316(1):87–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0378-4371(02)01383-3.

- Karakatsanis, L. P., Pavlos, G. P., and Xenakis, M. N. (2013). Tsallis non-extensive statistics, intermittent turbulence, SOC and chaos in the solar plasma. Part two: Solar flares dynamics. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 392(18):3920–3944. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physa.2013.05.010.
- Karlov, N. V. (1998). Preobrazovaniye obrazovaniya. Voprosy filosofii, 11:3–20.
- Kennel, M. B. (2004). Testing time symmetry in time series using data compression dictionaries. *Phys. Rev. E*, 69:056208. https://10.1103/PhysRevE.69.056208.
- Kremen, V. (2013). Pedahohichna synerhetyka: poniatiinokatehorialnyi syntez. *Teoriia i praktyka upravlinnia* sotsialnymy systemamy, 3:3–19.
- Kundu, S., Opris, A., Yukutake, Y., and Hatano, T. (2021). Extracting Correlations in Earthquake Time Series Using Visibility Graph Analysis. *Frontiers in Physics*, 9:179.
- Lacasa, L., Nuñez, A., Roldán, E., Parrondo, J. M. R., and Luque, B. (2012). Time series irreversibility: a visibility graph approach. *Eur. Phys. J. B*, 85(6):217. https://doi.org/10.1140/epjb/e2012-20809-8.
- Langton, C., editor (1989). Artificial life. Addison-Wesley.
- Langton, C., editor (1995). Artificial life: Overview. MIT.
- Lawrance, A. J. (1991). Directionality and Reversibility in Time Series. *International Statistical Review / Revue Internationale de Statistique*, 59(1):67–79. http: //www.jstor.org/stable/1403575.
- Lin, M., Zhao, G., and Wang, G. (2015). Recurrence quantification analysis for detecting dynamical changes in earthquake magnitude time series. *International Journal of Modern Physics C*, 26(07):1550077. https: //doi.org/10.1142/S0129183115500771.
- Litvinenko, Y. E. (2019). A Maximum Entropy Argument for the Slopes of Power-law Particle Spectra in Solar Flares. *The Astrophysical Journal*, 880(1):20. https: //doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/ab2760.
- Liu, H., Liu, C., Wang, J. T. L., and Wang, H. (2019). Predicting Solar Flares Using a Long Short-term Memory Network. *The Astrophysical Journal*, 877(2):121. https://doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/ab1b3c.
- Mandelbrot, B. B. (1953). An Informational Theory of the Statistical Structure of Languages. *Communication Theory*, pages 486–502.
- Marwan, N. and Kurths, J. (2002). Nonlinear analysis of bivariate data with cross recurrence plots. *Physics Letters A*, 302(5-6):299–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0375-9601(02)01170-2.
- Midgley, M. (2001). Science and poetry. Routledge, London.
- National Centers for environmental information (2021). The Disturbance Storm Time Index. https://www. ngdc.noaa.gov/geomag/indices/dst.html.
- National Research Council (2000). Inquiry and the National Science Education Standards: A Guide for Teaching and Learning. The National Academies Press, Washington, DC. https://10.17226/9596.
- Newman, M. E. J. (2003). The Structure and Function of Complex Networks. SIAM Review, 45(2):167–256. https://doi.org/10.1137/s003614450342480.

- Nicolis, G. and Prigogine, I. (1989). *Exploring complexity: An Introduction*. W.H. Freeman New York.
- Nobel Foundation (2021). Press release: The nobel prize in physics 2021. https://www.nobelprize.org/prizes/ physics/2021/press-release/.
- Noth, M., Borning, A., and Waddell, P. (2003). An extensible, modular architecture for simulating urban development, transportation, and environmental impacts. *Computers, Environment and Urban Systems*, 27(2):181–203. https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0198971501000308.
- Ovens, A., Hopper, T., and Butler, J. (2013). Complexity Thinking in Physical Education: Reframing Curriculum, Pedagogy and Research. Routledge, 1 edition. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203126455.
- Pagels, H. (1988). The Dreams of Reason: The Computer and the Rise of the Sciences of Complexity. Simon & Schuster.
- Pareto, V. (1896). Cours d'Économie Politique, volume 1.
- Poincaré, H. (1890). Sur le problème des trois corps et les équations de la dynamique. Acta Math, 13:1–270.
- Posadas, A., Morales, J., and Posadas-Garzon, A. (2021). Earthquakes and entropy: Characterization of occurrence of earthquakes in Southern Spain and Alboran Sea. *Chaos: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Nonlinear Science*, 31(4):043124. https://doi.org/10.1063/5. 0031844.
- Prigogine, I. (1980). From Being to Becoming Time and Complexity in the Physical Sciences. W.H. Freeman.
- Prigogine, I. (1989). The philosophy of instability. *Futures*, 21(4):396–400. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0016-3287(89)80009-6.
- Prigogine, I. and Stengers, I. (1984). Order Out of Chaos Man's New Dialogue with Nature. Bantam Books.
- Prigogine, I. and Stengers, I. (1997). *The End of Certainty*. Free Press.
- Ramírez-Montoya, M. S., Castillo-Martínez, I. M., Sanabria-Z, J., and Miranda, J. (2022). Complex Thinking in the Framework of Education 4.0 and Open Innovation – A Systematic Literature Review. Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity, 8(1):4. https://doi.org/10.3390/ joitmc8010004.
- Saravia, L. A., Doyle, S. R., and Bond-Lamberty, B. (2018). Power laws and critical fragmentation in global forests. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1):17766. https: //doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-36120-w.
- Shannon, C. E. (1948). A Mathematical Theory of Communication. *Bell System Technical Journal*, 27(3):379–423. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1538-7305. 1948.tb01338.x.
- Shumway, R. H. and Stoffer, D. S. (2016). Time Series Analysis and Its Applications. With R Examples. Springer Texts in Statistics. Springer, 4 edition.
- Sigahi, T. F. A. C. and Sznelwar, L. I. (2022). Exploring applications of complexity theory in engineering education research: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 111(1):232–260. https://doi.org/10.1002/jee.20438.

- Soloviev, V. N. and Belinskiy, A. (2018). Complex Systems Theory and Crashes of Cryptocurrency Market. In Ermolayev, V., Suárez-Figueroa, M. C., Yakovyna, V., Mayr, H. C., Nikitchenko, M. S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, *Information and Communication Technologies in Education, Research, and Industrial Applications - 14th International Conference, ICTERI 2018, Kyiv, Ukraine, May 14-17, 2018, Revised Selected Papers, volume 1007 of Communications in Computer and Information Science*, pages 276–297. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13929-2_14.
- Soloviev, V. N. and Belinskiy, A. (2019). Complex Systems Theory and Crashes of Cryptocurrency Market. *Communications in Computer and Information Science*, 1007:276 – 297. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-030-13929-2_14.
- Soloviev, V. N. and Belinskyi, A. (2018a). Methods of Nonlinear Dynamics and the Construction of Cryptocurrency Crisis Phenomena Precursors. In Ermolayev, V., Suárez-Figueroa, M. C., Yakovyna, V., Kharchenko, V. S., Kobets, V., Kravtsov, H., Peschanenko, V. S., Prytula, Y., Nikitchenko, M. S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kyiv, Ukraine, May 14-17, 2018, volume 2104 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 116–127. CEUR-WS.org. https: //ceur-ws.org/Vol-2104/paper_175.pdf.
- Soloviev, V. N. and Belinskyi, A. (2018b). Methods of Nonlinear Dynamics and the Construction of Cryptocurrency Crisis Phenomena Precursors. In Ermolayev, V., Suárez-Figueroa, M. C., Yakovyna, V., Kharchenko, V. S., Kobets, V., Kravtsov, H., Peschanenko, V. S., Prytula, Y., Nikitchenko, M. S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kyiv, Ukraine, May 14-17, 2018, volume 2104 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 116–127. CEUR-WS.org. http: //ceur-ws.org/Vol-2104/paper_175.pdf.
- Soloviev, V. N., Bielinskyi, A., Serdyuk, O., Solovieva, V., and Semerikov, S. (2020a). Lyapunov Exponents as Indicators of the Stock Market Crashes. In Sokolov, O., Zholtkevych, G., Yakovyna, V., Tarasich, Y., Kharchenko, V., Kobets, V., Burov, O., Semerikov, S., and Kravtsov, H., editors, *Proceedings* of the 16th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kharkiv, Ukraine, October 06-10, 2020, volume 2732 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 455–470. CEUR-WS.org. http://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-2732/20200455.pdf.
- Soloviev, V. N., Bielinskyi, A., and Solovieva, V. (2019). Entropy Analysis of Crisis Phenomena for DJIA Index. In Ermolayev, V., Mallet, F., Yakovyna, V., Kharchenko, V. S., Kobets, V., Kornilowicz, A., Kravtsov, H., Nikitchenko, M. S., Semerikov, S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, *Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on ICT in Education, Re-*

search and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kherson, Ukraine, June 12-15, 2019, volume 2393 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 434– 449. CEUR-WS.org. http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2393/ paper_375.pdf.

- Soloviev, V. N., Bielinskyi, A. O., and Kharadzjan, N. A. (2020b). Coverage of the coronavirus pandemic through entropy measures. *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, 2832:24–42. http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2832/ paper02.pdf.
- Sornette, D. (2006). Critical Phenomena in Natural Sciences. Chaos, Fractals, Selforganization and Disorder: Concepts and Tools. Springer Series in Synergetics. Springer-Verlag, 2 edition. https://doi.org/10. 1007/3-540-33182-4.
- Sreenivasan, K. R. and Meneveau, C. (1986). The fractal facets of turbulence. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 173:357–386. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0022112086001209.
- Stanley, H. E. and Meakin, P. (1988). Multifractal phenomena in physics and chemistry. Nature, 335:405–409. https://ui.adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/ 1988Natur.335..405S.
- Stone, L., Landan, G., and May, R. M. (1996). Detecting TimeArrow: a method for identifying nonlinearity and deterministic chaos in time-series data. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 263(1376):1509–1513. https://doi.org/ 10.1098/rspb.1996.0220.
- Taranenko, T. M. (2014). Synerhetychnyi pidkhid v orhanizatsii navchalno-vykhovnoho protsessu. *Tavriiskyi* visnyk osvity, 1(45):10–15.
- The LIGO Scientific Collaboration and the Virgo Collaboration (2016). Observation of Gravitational Waves from a Binary Black Hole Merger. *Physical Review Letters*, 116(6):061102. https://doi.org/10.1103% 2Fphysrevlett.116.061102.
- Thurner, S., editor (2017). 43 Visions for Complexity, volume 3 of Exploring Complexity. World Scientific, Singapore. http://pure.iiasa.ac.at/id/eprint/14000/.
- Webber, C. L. and Zbilut, J. P. (1994). Dynamical assessment of physiological systems and states using recurrence plot strategies. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 76(2):965–973. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl. 1994.76.2.965.
- Weber, J., Lindenmeyer, C., Lio, P., and Lapkin, A. (2021). Teaching sustainability as complex systems approach: a sustainable development goals workshop. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 22(8):25–41. https://doi.org/10. 1108/IJSHE-06-2020-0209.
- West, J. J. and Dowlatabadi, H. (1998). On assessing the economic impacts of sea-level rise on developed coasts. In Downing, T. E., Olsthoorn, A. A., and Tol, R. S. J., editors, *Climate, Change and Risk*, page 16. 1 edition.
- Wheatley, M. J. (2006). *Leadership and the New Science: Discovering order in a chaotic world*. Berrett-Koehler Publishers, 3 edition.

- Wilensky, U. and Jacobson, M. (2014). Complex systems and the learning sciences. In *The Cambridge Handbook of the Learning Sciences, Second Edition*, pages 319–338. Cambridge University Press. https: //doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139519526.020.
- Zanin, M., Rodríguez-González, A., Menasalvas Ruiz, E., and Papo, D. (2018). Assessing Time Series Reversibility through Permutation Patterns. *Entropy*, 20(9):665. https://doi.org/10.3390/e20090665.
- Zbilut, J. P. and Webber, C. L. (1992). Embeddings and delays as derived from quantification of recurrence plots. *Physics Letters A*, 171(3):199–203. https: //doi.org/10.1016/0375-9601(92)90426-M.
- Zipf, G. K. (1950). Human Behavior and the Principle of Least Effort. *The Economic Journal*, 60(240):808– 810. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2226729.

Quantum Transformation of School Informatics

Serhiy O. Semerikov^{1,2,3}[©]^a, Svitlana V. Shokaliuk¹[©]^b, Liudmyla V. Lehka¹[©]^c, Pavlo V. Merzlikin¹[©]^d and Olena Yu. Tarasova¹[©]^e

¹Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine

²Kryvyi Rih National University, 11 Vitalii Matusevych Str., Kryvyi Rih, 50027, Ukraine

³Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the National Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine, 9 M. Berlynskoho Str., Kyiv, 04060, Ukraine

{semerikov, legkalv, ipmcourses}@gmail.com, {shokalyuk, e.ju.tarasova}@kdpu.edu.ua

- Keywords: Methods of Teaching Informatics, General Secondary Education, Methods of Teaching Lyceums Students, Quantum Technologies, Quantum Informatics, Competencies in the Basics of Quantum Informatics.
- Abstract: The study's objective was to theoretically examine, create, and experimentally test various approaches for instructing lyceum students in the fundamentals of quantum informatics. The following was accomplished as a result of the research assignments: 1) The sources on the issue of teaching quantum informatics in Ukraine and abroad were examined; 2) The structure and content of the competences in the basics of quantum informatics for the lyceum students were theoretically grounded and developed (the results of the expert survey and the European competence framework in the field of quantum technologies were taken into consideration); 3) the structural and functional model for forming the competences in the basics of quantum informatics were developed; 4) in the optional course of the same name, it was proposed a methodological framework for teaching the fundamentals of quantum informatics to lyceum students; and 5) it was also experimentally tested to see how well the developed methodology worked in developing the students' competency in the fundamentals of quantum informatics. Further scientific investigations into the quantum transformation of the school's informatics are also described.

1 INTRODUCTION

The changes that took place in the methodology of teaching informatics in schools were caused by the development of information technology and changes in society as a result of their influence (Semerikov et al., 2021). The latter led to the fact that school informatics together with foreign language became available at all levels of school education – from primary school to vocational training at the lyceum. Informatics tools are an integrator for all school subjects, and its methods are the basis for the integration of natural sciences, mathematics and technology. This creates a deep understanding of the service, subordinate and second-row role of informatics in the system of school education. The fundamentalization of teaching content informatics, in particular –

- ^a https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0789-0272
- ^b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3774-1729
- ° https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5768-5475
- ^d https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0752-411X
- ^e https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6001-5672

through a quantum transformation of basic knowledge about information processes and systems, hardware and software, networks, algorithms and programs will help to get rid of it.

According to the analytical report of the National Institute for Strategic Studies (NISS, 2020), Ukraine is on the sidelines of the development of breakthrough technologies, in particular quantum technologies, which is due, firstly, due to insufficient state budget financing of scientific research on the whole, and secondly, due to the significant inadequacy of professional and qualification workforce to market demands. At the same time, European job search sites have hundreds of job postings for "quantum software engineer" and "quantum programmer".

The analysis of the experience of teaching informatics in Ukraine and the resources on the problems of research allowed us to identify the contradictions:

• between the importance of quantum informatics for increasing competitiveness and successful self-fulfillment of graduates of lyceums in the labor market (in particular, in the field of informa-

220

Semerikov, S., Shokaliuk, S., Lehka, L., Merzlikin, P. and Tarasova, O.

Quantum Transformation of School Informatics.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 220-235 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

tion technology) and the lack of adequate training materials in Ukrainian language;

- between the importance of practical experience with quantum computers and the difficulty of direct access to them;
- between the need to form competences in the basis of quantum informatics in the lyceums and undevelopment of the appropriate methods.

The need to solve the above-mentioned contradictions led to the definition of the study's aim and formulation of its hypothesis. The aim of the study was to theoretically analyze, develop and experimentally test the methods of teaching the basics of quantum informatics to lyceums students. It has been suggested that the formation of competencies on the basics of quantum informatics to lyceums students at a high level is possible by changing some components of the methodological system of teaching computer science: content and teaching tools.

2 THEORETICAL FOUNDATIONS OF TEACHING THE BASICS OF QUANTUM INFORMATICS TO LYCEUMS STUDENTS

2.1 Quantum Informatics as a Perspective Field of Information Technology Development

In August 2020, consulting company Gartner published yet version of its Hype Cycle of advanced technologies that will have a significant impact on society and business in the next five to ten years. Based on a review of 1,700 advanced technologies, Panetta (Panetta, 2021) identifies 5 new trends in their development:

- Composite architectures;
- Algorithmic trust;
- Beyond silicon;
- Formative artificial intelligence (AI);
- Digital me.

The Beyond silicon description of the direction says that Moore's Law has run out of steam because it is almost impossible to create transistors smaller than 1 nm. There are technical difficulties in manufacturing, so there is a chance to develop non-silicon technologies – carbon-based transistors and quantum hardware, including quantum computers (Panetta, 2021).

At the time when classical computers continue to develop (processors became multicore, co-processors appeared to solve photo processing tasks, video coding, etc.) the pace of quantum technologies development is gaining momentum and quantum computers are becoming a reality. Appearance and development of quantum equipment, in particular quantum computers, has led to a new field of informatics – quantum informatics (Lehka and Shokaliuk, 2018).

One should understand that quantum computers by no means supersede classical ones, but they are indispensable for certain types of tasks - modeling complex chemical reactions to develop drugs and substances with predetermined properties, modeling of physical quantum systems inaccessible for conventional calculations, quantum calculations of complex mathematical tasks, quantum long-distance communication, etc. The solution of these problems is based on already known quantum algorithms – algorithms for function balancing (Deutsch-Jozsa and Bernstein-Vazirani algorithms), algorithm for determining the totality of functions (Simon's algorithm), harmonic analysis algorithms (the quantum Fourier transform algorithm), cryptoanalysis algorithms (Grover's and Shor's algorithms), quantum teleportation algorithm and new (still experimental) algorithms.

In many countries of the world the development of quantum technologies is supported by legislation and financed by the government.

Thus, in the U.S., artificial intelligence and quantum technologies have been identified as two strategically important fields for the country's economic growth and national security. In 2018, the U.S. government approved legislation for the National Quantum Initiative, which aims to ensure that the U.S. remains a world leader in quantum informatics and its technological applications. Funding for National Quantum Initiative activities for the first five years is \$1.2 billion (NQIA, 2018). Individual commercial research is conducted at the expense of IBM, Microsoft, Google, Intel and others.

In China, in 2016 the government approved the National Science and Technology Innovation Plan until 2030 (NSTI, 2016), and in 2017 the construction of the National Quantum Informatics Laboratory was launched with initial funding of 7 billion yuan (Chen, 2018). The Chinese tech giant Alibaba is making significant investments in its own quantum initiatives, including the launch of a quantum calculator service via a cloud platform (Alibaba, 2018).

Since October 2018, EU countries have launched project program to support fundamental quantum re-

search – "The European Quantum Flagship" (QFlagship), with a minimum duration of 10 years and an expected budget of 1 billion billion euros (EQF, 2021). In addition, to protect against cybersecurity threats, in June 2019, 24 European states participated in the signing of a declaration on the research, development and deployment of quantum communication infrastructures (EDS, 2019).

The demand for specialists in the field of quantum technologies becomes urgent. The lack of quantumliterate specialists hinders the development of the industry. For example, Hilton (Hilton, 2019), vice president of D-Wave, argues that it is necessary to increase the number of quantum-literate workers, invest in the training of teenagers, identify capable young people, develop them in the field of quantum technologies and create a talent pool of promising workers with knowledge in the quantum field.

2.2 Teaching Experience of Quantum Informatics and Popularization of Quantum Technologies in Ukraine and the World

In Ukraine all educational programs on quantum informatics were initiated only in universities within the specialty 104 – Physics and Astronomy (Pinkevych et al., 2018; NUL-bachelor, 2020; NUL-master, 2021), while in the world the training of corresponding specialists is carried out by different specialties (QTEdu, 2022).

The European Competence Framework for Quantum Technologies, launched in 2021, provides for training in quantum informatics, starting from primary school. Such education should be based on conceptual and intuitive understanding of quantum informatics key essences.

Today, both in Ukraine and abroad, mostly programs of non-formal education on individual topics of quantum technologies are offered for students of general secondary education institutions. Its are online schools, master classes, summer camps for children, etc.

Popular science resources about quantum technologies for Ukrainian students are offered by Gnatenko (Gnatenko, 2020a,b). With these electronic materials (after payment) students can get acquainted with fundamental concepts of quantum mechanics – quantum entanglement, quantum beat, quantum parallelism, quantum sensing, quantum entanglement, quantum superposition, tunneling, quantum teleportation, as well as examples of basic tasks of quantum cryptography. The Richelieu Lyceum, in cooperation with the Odesa I. I. Mechnykov National University, offers a series of lectures "Nanoelectronics: Science and Modernity" (including lectures on quantum effects) (NSM, 2021), and "Quantum Mechanics" (QM, 2021).

Korshunova and Zavadsky (Korshunova and Zavadsky, 2018) in their textbook on informatic for 5th grade (section "Information processes and systems") gives an overview of quantum computers as a technology of the future, pointing out the rapid development of the quantum industry in the next ten years, the use of quantum computers to solve certain types of mathematical problems, emphasizing the use of quantum computers (Korshunova and Zavadsky, 2018, p. 28-29).

Since August 2020, the White House Office of Science and Technology Policy and the National Science Foundation have launched an innovative project, the Q-12 National Education Partnership, which over the next ten years will bring together industry and science educator leaders for large-scale quantum technology education, ranging from providing classroom tools for hands-on experience, developing educational materials, and supporting students on their way to professional careers in quantum technologies (Q12, 2023). Leading IT companies - IBM, Microsoft, D-Wave, Google and others - offer joint courses with universities, as well as educational resources for informal education, based on the use of a cloud access to quantum simulators and quantum computers, tools for creating and executing quantum circuits and programs, language-independent and languageindependent development environments, etc. (QC-IBM, 2021; Google, 2022; QDKit-Microsoft, 2023).

A variety of educational resources on quantum technologies for primary and secondary school students and all those interested are offered on the QT-Edu community portal (QTEduCSA, 2021). The portal is designed to develop an educational ecosystem in support of the QFlagship project aimed at popularizing, informing and educating in the field of quantum technologies. The portal's collection of resources, structured by education level and target audience, includes educational programs, hyperlinks to external resources, quantum games, simulators, video resources, etc., mostly in English, German and Polish (Ukrainian and Russian resources are not available on February, 2023).

Experience of European and world practice of popularization of quantum technologies among high school students is a good evidence of the possibility of mastering the basics of quantum technologies, provided methodical adaptation of educational materials to the specifics of the audience perceiving them.

2.3 The Competencies in the Basics of Quantum Informatics to Lyceums Students

The key idea of the competency-based approach is to provide all interested individuals with a diagnostic tool to measure the level of preparedness of an individual to perform certain activities.

Review of the previous results of the world projects for the selection and determination of the list of competences in quantum technologies - World-Skills International professional competitions (figure 1 and 2), seminar "Key Concepts for Future Quantum Information Science Learners" (NSF, 2020), Competence Framework for Quantum Technologies (figure 3) - made it possible to identify competencies in the fundamentals of quantum information science of lyceum students as a dynamic combination of knowledge, skills, abilities, ways of thinking, and attitudes, other personal qualities in the field of quantum technologies, which determine the ability of an individual to successfully carry out further professional and/or educational activities using such technologies. Competences in quantum informatics basics of lyceum students include 8 groups of competences:

- 1) physical basics of quantum technologies (basic concepts of quantum physics, cubic dynamics);
- mathematical basics of quantum informatics (basics of linear algebra, mathematics of quantum physics basics, basics of quantum measurement statistics);
- software technology (optical technology, laboratory technology, experimental control);
- hardware for quantum computers and sensors (spin-based devices, neutral atoms and ions, new types of cubes, equipment for integration, manipulation and counting of cubes, use of hardware platforms for quantum computing);
- quantum computing and modelling (quantum gates, quantum languages, programming tools and platforms, basic quantum algorithms, quantum error correction, quantum modelling elements);
- 6) quantum sensors and metrology (atomic gauges, sectors of quantum sensors application);
- quantum communication (quantum cryptography, quantum networks, quantum communication infrastructure and equipment);

8) practical skills and general competences (basics of classical programming, application of quantum technologies, general skills/competences).

Considering that quantum information technology is an interdisciplinary branch of knowledge, the relevant competencies cannot be defined as part of digital competencies.

3 METHODICAL FOUNDATIONS OF TEACHING THE BASICS OF QUANTUM INFORMATICS TO LYCEUMS STUDENTS

3.1 Special Hardware and Software Tools for Teaching the Basics of Quantum Informatics

For the selection of special hardware and software tools for teaching quantum informatics to lyceums students we analyzed services from Microsoft, QuTech, Amazon and IBM (Lehka and Shokaliuk, 2021; Lehka et al., 2022a,b).

The greatest number of criteria is satisfied with IBM Quantum platform, which was turned into the main instrumental tool for learning the basics of quantum informatics for the course program.

Now IBM provides the greatest opportunities for free use of quantum computers and simulators through two services – IBM Quantum Composer and IBM Quantum Lab.

The first service – IBM Quantum Composer – the simplest tool for working with quantum algorithms in the form of quantum circuits.

The second service – IBM Quantum Lab – provides the possibility to implement quantum algorithms in Python programming language using the Qiskit library.

3.2 Pedagogical Reasonability and Content of Teaching the Basics of Quantum Informatics in Secondary Schools

The model of the educational process (learning) within a single educational unit, which reflects the ordering (elementary in time and space, in accordance with the goals of education and training and taking into account the reverse pedagogy) of the students (those who learn) in terms of the content of training



Figure 1: Key skills and roles of the 2020s and 2030s for WorldSkills (WS, 2020, p. 120).

and elements of the learning environment of a particular learning unit, students (those who are taught) regarding the content of the teaching and elements of the learning environment for a particular educational unit is called a normative teaching methods (Bykov, 2008, p. 310).

The real teaching method is based on the normative one and differs from it. The real teaching methods take into account the characteristics of the existing educational environment and mirror the creative aspect of the educational process participants (e.g., specificity of the educational environment of a particular educational institution, mastery of the teacher, additional meaningful elements that he or she uses in the lessons).

The normative teaching method of a certain educational unit (in our case – basics of quantum informatics as a single subject, elective, integrated course, etc.) can be presented in the form of a structuralfunctional model – a model graphically depicts functional peculiarities of structural elements of a certain process (in our case – formation of competences in quantum informatics basics). The developed structural-functional model of competence formation in the basics of quantum informatics (Lehka, 2022, p. 82) includes 4 basic (system) blocks – Purpose, Content, Technological and Productive (figure 4) – and 3 additional blocks ensuring the interaction of the model's basic blocks: general didactic principles of teaching quantum informatics, hardware and software tools for teaching quantum informatics and methodological approaches (competence-based, systemic, integrative, personal and activity-based).

Let us consider the aim and content blocks of the model.

The *aim block* of the model includes components (factors) that determine the pedagogical feasibility of the educational unit in the educational process (local or global). Factors of pedagogical feasibility of implementation of quantum informatics basics in the educational process of secondary general education institutions are:

- rapid development of quantum technologies;
- · demand of the society for qualified quantum sci-



Figure 2: Forecast of the time of mass demand for skills from quantum technologies for WorldSkills (WS, 2020, p. 121).

entists;

- quantum computerization (availability of quantum computers and other quantum equipment);
- free access to quantum computers;
- world experience in "quantum transformation" of the school informatics;
- pre-professional training in quantum informatics.

To substantiate the feasibility of introducing the basics of quantum informatics into educational programs of secondary general education institutions, To find out the state of awareness of teachers in the field of quantum technologies and readiness to teach an elective course (or a course of their choice) to lyceum students we have studied the opinion (conducted an interview) of teachers of informatics in secondary general education institutions. The survey involved 26 IT teachers who teach chemistry, labor and technology, and mathematics at the same time. 100% of respondents supported the opinion that secondary education should provide up-to-date knowledge and take into account the modern achievements of the industry when studying the disciplines. All survey participants indicated that they use moderate technologies when teaching their subject (65.4% – always, 34.6% – only during distance learning).

96.2% of respondents agree that the educational material (in particular, quantum informatics) should be adapted according to the age of the students.

96.2% of the respondents indicated that they would be pleased with the introduction of new sections and topics to the discipline curriculum, especially if sufficient methodological support is available.

The responses of the respondents indicate that 88.5% would like to take the course "Fundamentals of Quantum Informatics", and 38.5% of them noted that they have encountered a lot of publications on this topic and were interested in it.



Figure 3: General structure of Competence Framework for Quantum Technologies (Greinert and Müller, 2021).

61.6% of respondents responded positively to the question "Would you offer the course "Fundamentals of Quantum Informatics" for students at your school? 23.1% refused because, in their opinion, this course would not meet the profile of the educational institution where they work. Only 3.8% said no.

The survey indicates that teachers follow new trends in the field and are ready to teach modern and relevant courses in their institutions. As for the implementation of the basics of quantum informatics for lyceum students, the teachers expressed their support for such implementation due to the presence of a corresponding course for teachers and methodological support.

The content block of the model of competence formation in the basics of quantum informatics as a corresponding normative teaching methodology reflects the main content of competence formation in the basics of quantum informatics.

The content block of the model depicts the main content of the competence formation in the fundamentals of quantum informatics:

- European framework of competences for quantum technologies (see section 2.3);
- State educational standards;
- content of informatics curriculum;
- expert selection.

Analysis of the development of methodological systems of teaching informatics (from 1985 and up to now, with the consolidation of four stages) showed that content of teaching school informatics expanded from algorithms and programming through the knowledge of information and information and communication technologies to informatics as a basis for STEM integration.

In order to clarify the content and recommendations for teaching the basics of quantum informatics to lyceums students, to determine the importance of the European framework of competencies for quantum technologies, an interview was conducted among those who are interested in the field of quantum technologies. 36 respondents took part in the survey, some of them combining several positions, such as university teacher and researcher or university teacher and school teacher.

The analysis of the evaluation results (taking into account the competence level of the participant of the expert survey – "have a basic idea" (1), "know with some components" (2), "deeply know with some components" (3), "expert" (4)) has allowed to specify the content of teaching the basics of quantum informatics of the lyceum students and the system of corresponding competences (which included, first of all, those components (knowledge and skills), calculated parameters of which exceeded the specified threshold value).

The first group of competencies "Competencies in the physical foundations of quantum technologies" includes:

· knowledge of the basic understanding of quantum



Figure 4: Structural-functional model of competence formation in the basics of quantum informatics.

physics;

- skill to determine whether qubits are in binded states;
- skill to represent qubits on a Bloch sphere.

The second group of competencies "Competencies in mathematical foundations of quantum informatics" includes:

- knowledge of the fundamentals of the theory of complex numbers;
- knowledge of linear algebra fundamentals;
- knowledge of quantum physics mathematical fundamentals;
- knowledge of statistical nature of quantum measurements;
- skill to design vectors (matrix-columns, matrix-rows) of Dirac notation;
- skill to operate with standard bases;
- skill to arrange a vector in a selected basis;
- skill of giving examples of unitary matrices and performing operations with them.

The third group of competencies "Competencies in support technologies" includes:

- knowledge of optical technologies;
- knowledge of laboratory technologies;
- knowledge of experimental control;
- skill to separate photon sources.

The fourth group of competences "Competences in hardware of quantum computers and sensors" includes:

- knowledge of the structure of spin-based devices (in particular, quantum dots);
- knowledge of hardware platforms for quantum computing, methods of their integration with standard equipment;
- skill to describe types of quantum structures of quantum computers and explain their general principles of operation;
- skill to arrange remote access to quantum computers;
- skill to perform quantum programs on quantum computers.

The fifth group of competences "Competences in quantum calculations and modelling" includes:

• knowledge of quantum gates (single-, double- and multi-qubits);

- knowledge of quantum programming languages, tools for development of quantum software and platforms (including graphical ones);
- knowledge of basic quantum algorithms (Shore, Grover, quantum optimization, quantum phase evaluation, quantum linear algebra, etc.);
- skill to record quantum gates by means of unitary matrices;
- skill to separate and use single-cube gates (Pauli transubstantiation, Adamar gate, phase tensions);
- skill to perform operations using multi-qubit gates (CNOT, Toffoli and Fredkin gates);
- skill to use quantum gates for writing quantum algorithms;
- skill to use quantum programming languages and tools;
- skill to implement quantum algorithms (Shore, Grover etc.);
- skill to work with quantum simulators.

The sixth group of competencies "Competencies in quantum sensors and metrology" includes the following:

- knowledge of the quantum sensors applications;
- skill to guide examples of quantum sensors application in various fields.

The seventh group of competencies "Competencies in quantum communication" includes:

- knowledge of quantum cryptography (quantum key distribution, secure authentication, digital signatures, use halls);
- knowledge of quantum networks (quantum internet, sensor and dinode networks);
- knowledge of quantum communications infrastructure and equipment (fiber optic systems, wireless links, satellite systems; quantum random number generators; quantum memory, interfaces, switches; repeaters, terminal nodes);
- skill to describe the operating principles and structure of quantum network equipment;
- skill to give examples of application of quantum cryptography in various fields.

The eighth group of competences "Practical skills and general competences" includes

- knowledge of classical (non-quantum) programming basics: programming languages, algorithms, complexity classes, cryptography;
- knowledge of quantum technologies application;

- skill to implement algorithms of basic complexity classes (in particular, cryptographic algorithms) using programming languages;
- skill to give examples of using quantum algorithms to achieve quantum advantages.

3.3 Teaching Methodology the Basics of Quantum Informatics to Lyceums Students

Experimental realization of the structural-functional model of forming competences on quantum informatics basics is carried out within the optional course "The Basics of Quantum Informatics" for students of 10 (11) grades. The course content is represented by three subject content lines – "Physical and mathematical foundations of quantum informatics", "Quantum computing, algorithms and programming" and "Quantum telecommunication technologies".

Content line "Physical and mathematical foundations of quantum informatics" reveals fundamental physical and mathematical aspects of quantum technique functioning, demonstrates physical realization of microscience phenomena described mathematically.

The conceptual apparatus of the content line "Physical and mathematical foundations of quantum informatics" – quantum physics, quantum, photon, superposition principle, quantum entanglement, tunneling, singularity principle, quantum teleportation, chiral function, interference, diffraction coherence, decoherence, quantum computer, qubit (quantum bit), bracket notation, complex numbers, Bloch sphere.

Here are formulations of concepts, which should be mastered by students in classes on fundamentals of quantum informatics:

- Quantum physics (quantum mechanics) is a science that studies laws of microcosm and describes phenomena at microparticle level (molecules, atoms, electrons, photons, etc.).
- A quantum is an indivisible microparticle, a portion of some quantity (energy, light, etc.).
- Photon (quantum of light) is the elementary particle of which light consists.
- The principle of superposition consists in the ability of a microparticle to be in different states of the same set of characteristics at the same time.
- Quantum entanglement microcosm phenomenon meaning dependence of microparticles on each other regardless of distance between them.

- Tunneling ability of microparticles to pass through a barrier. A microparticle can undercut a barrier, "overcome" it or pass through it.
- The singularity principle was formulated by W. Heisenberg and consists in the fact that it is impossible to measure simultaneously coordinates and momentum of a microparticle with a certain accuracy.
- Quantum teleportation is an ultra-fast (on average) transfer of states from one microparticle to another. Quantum teleportation is not transportation or any other physical movement of a microparticle from one place to another.
- Quantum function (state vector) is a quantity, which completely describes a state of a microparticle or quantum system as a whole. Quantum function determines not physical parameters, but approximate law of microparticle state distribution.
- Wave interference is a phenomenon that occurs when two waves arising in the same medium come in contact with each other.
- Diffraction the ability of waves to ignore imperfections.
- Coherence coherence of several colival or chiral processes in time, which occurs when they overlap each other.
- Decoherence incoherence of several colival or chiral processes in time, which is found when they are added to each other.
- Quantum computer computing device, using quantum superposition and quantum multiplicity phenomena to transmit and process data.
- Qubit (quantum bit) is the most important element for data storage in quantum computers. A qubit is a quantum object with two basic structures, for example: electron spin, photon, neutral atom or ion. Mathematical model of a qubit state is a single two-dimensional vector.

The competence in the basics of linear algebra includes understanding not only the concept of vectors but also matrices, as well as the basic operations over matrices (addition, matrix multiplication by number, usual matrix multiplication, tensor matrix multiplication).

At this stage, students must understand that a vector can be represented algebraically – in the form of a linear (vertical or horizontal) table of numbers or geometrically – in the form of a tensed frame. Vector column, which represents the state of the cube, is a certain table of numbers with one column and two rows. Further, it is worth explaining that there can be several columns and rows of numbers. Such a table of numbers arranged in rows and columns is a matrix. The number of rows and columns determines the matrix size. Vector columns or vector rows are separate (partial) kinds of matrices.

The next step will be to familiarize students with the actions on matrices. We draw students' attention to the fact that matrix multiplication by a number (scalar) is carried out by multiplying each element of the matrix by the required number (scalar). Demonstration of the application of vector multiplication by a number and matrix multiplication by a number.

Explanation of the operation of conventional matrix-to-matrix multiplication begins with matrixto-vector multiplication, emphasizing that multiplication can be applied only to matrices in which the number of columns of the first matrix and the rows of the second matrix are identical. The result of multiplication is a dimension matrix equal to the number of rows of the first matrix and the number of columns of the second matrix. The elements of the result matrix are the sum of pairwise additions of the elements of the row of the first matrix to the elements of the corresponding column of the second matrix. To multiply a matrix by a vector, each matrix row should be elementally multiplied by the value of the vector.

In the case of a matrix with three (or more) rows and columns, the multiplication technique is analogous.

It is advisable to offer students examples of square matrices and vectors whose elements are exclusively zeros and ones, both for manual (written) execution and using the capabilities of a table processor (and/ or a universal computer mathematics system or programming language) for self-multiplication.

Then students should explain that quantum computing theory uses tensor multiplication of vectors (matrices), which is used to multiply vectors (matrices) of sufficient size. Students must learn that for tensor multiplication two steps are necessary:

- scalar multiplication of each element of the first matrix by another matrix;
- 2) to combine the obtained matrices according to the output positions of these elements.

At first, students can find examples of tensor multiplication of vectors. As a practical task, students may be presented with the task of realizing tensor multiplication with the help of a table processor (or/and a universal system of computer mathematics or programming language) for two and three vectors. The following is an application of tensor multiplication of matrices. Formation of competence in mathematical foundations of quantum informatics is based on knowledge of statistical nature of quantum measurements. Microparticle structures described by the Quantum function have a statistical, i.e., luminescent, nature: the square of the absolute value (module) of the Quantum function indicates the luminescence value of those quantities, on which the Quantum function is dependent.

Before starting to get acquainted with quantum gates (actions that can be performed over cubes), it is necessary to consider the notion of unitary matrix (a special numerical square matrix, elements of which are real or complex numbers, and the result of their multiplication by the Hermite-conjugate matrix is equal to the unity of matrix E), explaining the terms used in the formula. Namely, the square matrix (matrix in which the number of rows is equal to the number of columns), the Hermite-conjugate matrix (the A+ matrix obtained from the A matrix by transposition and replacement of each element with a complexconjugate one), singular matrix (diagonal matrix, diagonal elements of which are equal to one), diagonal matrix (square matrix, posterior diagonal elements of which are equal to zero). The notion of unitary matrix is suitable to show on two examples - in the first application, we will use matrix with real-integer elements, and in the second - matrix with complex numerical elements.

Methods of teaching the content line "Physical and mathematical foundations of quantum informatics" can be revised, expanded with additional explanations, or shortened, taking into account the training of scientists in mathematics and physics.

Within the framework of the content line "Quantum computing, algorithmization and programming" the competences in hardware of quantum computers and sensors, quantum metrology, competences in quantum computing and modeling are formed and/or developed, first of all, Formation of knowledge and skills to distinguish and use quantum single- and large-cube gates for recording quantum algorithms, use platforms for implementation of quantum algorithms in the form of schemes and programs on quantum simulators and real quantum equipment.

It is advisable to start studying this content line by looking at the structure of a quantum computer and then move to the issue of providing special conditions for their functioning:

- temperature control (close to absolute zero);
- insulation against magnetic, electric and thermal fluctuations, vibrations;
- air dissipation lower than the atmospheric pressure by billions of times.

Further it is advisable to acquaint students with hardware platforms for quantum computing, ways to integrate them with the classical equipment using quantum simulators and computers of IBM, Microsoft, Google, Intel, QuTech and others.

We suggest that competence development in remote access to quantum computers should be based on the IBM Quantum platform, focusing on the specifics of selecting a simulator or quantum computer in graphical (IBM Quantum Composer) and software (IBM Quantum Lab) modes.

The skill to perform quantum programs on quantum computers should be formed starting with simple tasks on using quantum gates to change the state of a quantum system. And then proceed to implementation of quantum algorithms (Bernstein-Vazirani, Deutsch-Jozsa, Grover, Shore).

When introducing the concept of "quantum gates" (basic logical elements/operations for a quantum computer), it is important to pay attention of students, that the understanding of quantum gates is similar to the understanding of gates (logical elements, operations) of a classical computer, and therefore it is necessary to use the previous knowledge about logical operations.

Students must learn that the same logical operations are performed on qubits in order to change their state as on classic bits. It is necessary to consider mathematical representation of each gate (in the form of unitary matrix) and their graphical representation and result of quantum scheme application at the same time.

The interface of the IBM Quantum Composer chromatically oriented service should be considered in a mandatory order, focusing on the instrumental panel of quantum operations, peculiarities of color categorization of gates by type, adding, setting up and disconnecting of quantum gates in the Quantum Scheme Editor area, reviewing changes in the state of qubits.

One should start from one-qubit quantum gates as the simplest, and then go to two- and three-qubit gates. At this stage, students' attention is necessarily focused on the result, which is reflected in the form of the state vector. It is necessary to explain that the received record of the state of qubits in the twofold code is read from right to left. In our application, the result obtained is 01: the zero qubit has a value of 1 and the first one is 0. If there is time, we can ask the students to use a few more cubes on the diagram one after another to observe the display of the results.

After familiarization with basic operations on qubits you can move on to introduction of quantum algorithms, starting with quantum teleportation algorithm. First students are offered a verbal description of the algorithm, then a graphical quantum circuit, and after that a software implementation of the algorithm.

Let us give a verbal description of the quantum teleportation algorithm, which is described graphically using the IBM Quantum Composer service, shown in figure 5:

- by means of the operation NOT we transfer the zero qubit to state 1, and we leave the first and second qubits in the primary zero state. It should be noted that this operation is mandatory for this example, only to avoid transferring the zero value of the qubit. Indeed, the zero qubit
- we put the first qubit into superposition by the gate H;
- we rotate the first and second qubits with the CNOT gates (the first one is control and the second one is purpose. If the control (first) qubit is in state 1, the main (second) qubit is inverted by the CNOT gate);
- 4) we will similarly loop the zero and first qubits;
- 5) convert the zero qubit to superposition (using gate H);
- 6) measurement of the zero and the first qubits (Measurement operation). The measurement results are stored in two classic bits, which are transmitted by the usual (classic, non-quantum) way of communication (channel, protocol);
- 7) on the side where the zero qubit status is transmitted, there is another qubit to which CX and CZ gates are used (either CX or CZ in turn does not matter which will be the first), as a result we get the value of zero qubit in the other qubit;
- 8) we measure the value of the other qubit.

After creating the algorithm for quantum teleportation in IBM Quantum Composer, students should be given the task of running this scheme with the help of a simulator or a quantum computer and analyze the results. At this point, it is appropriate to encourage students to focus on automatically generated code in a programming language (e.g., Python). Students should conclude that the resulting code is fully consistent with the structure of the reverse language program. It would be useful to make an analogy between the graphical representation of the gates and their equivalent – the corresponding command (method) in programming language and open this scheme with automatically generated code in IBM Quantum Lab.

After acquiring knowledge about the basic quantum gates, creating a quantum teleportation circuit,



Figure 5: Quantum teleportation algorithm in IBM Quantum Composer

the students are ready to proceed to the next stage of learning the basics of quantum informatics – to implement quantum algorithms in programming language, within the framework of which the formation of knowledge and skills to distinguish and use quantum one-, two- and three-cube gates for the implementation of quantum algorithms in programming language (Python), use online programming services, which support Python work with Qiskit module, for the implementation of quantum algorithms on quantum simulators and real quantum equipment.

The basic foundation for the teaching methodology of this section is the knowledge of the basics of classical (non-quantum) programming and the ability to implement basic classical algorithms in programming language.

This is a dedicated platform for working with quantum algorithms (IBM Quantum) that provides their implementation in Python language. Therefore, it is methodologically appropriate to repeat the basics of structural programming in Python.

Despite the lack of experience of students in the implementation of Python programs with the help of Jupyter Notebook, it is obvious, that before starting to implement quantum algorithms using the IBM Quantum Lab server it is necessary to familiarize students with the peculiarities of their writing and launching, for example, using the online service Google Colab (https://colab.research.google.com/).

After implementing and launching the application programs by means of the online service Google Colab, it is advisable for the students to propose the automatically generated code for the implementation of the quantum teleportation algorithm in IBM Quantum Lab. It is necessary to ask the students: What is similar in the interface of Google Colab and IBM Quantum Lab online services? We make a joint conclusion about the uniqueness of these environments and proceed to consider the features of the connection to the quantum simulators and computers in IBM Quantum Lab on the requested code fragments.

It should be noted that after completing the content line "Quantum calculations, algorithmization and programming" students will be able not only to learn about the most popular algorithms of quantum programming and try to learn how to implement them on real quantum equipment, but also to improve competence in the basics of programming in Python.

Within the framework of the content line "Quantum telecommunication technologies" the formation of competencies in security technologies (optical technologies, laboratory and experimental control technologies, photon sources) and quantum communication technologies (quantum cryptography, quantum networks, quantum communication infrastructure and equipment).

Formation of competences from the enabling technologies can be carried out in the form of short selfprepared student reports on the topics suggested by the teacher, or in the form of watching short popular science stories that reflect the current state of development of the field.

It is important for students to know about the limitation of quantum communications. The teacher states that the main limitations of quantum cryptography are the speed of key distribution and the distance between the transmitter and the receiver. This problem is trying to be solved by modern physicists who have proposed new protocols, new optical circuits, new methods of quantum-state measurements.

It is also necessary to tell the students that an important task of quantum communication channel quality is to reduce the number of errors (the critical error rate is 11%). Students should know that the greater the distance over which a quantum key is transmitted, the greater the attenuation of the signal in the fiber optic lines, while the noise remains. Because of this, it is not possible to transmit information for hundreds of kilometers in real fiber optic lines.

It will be useful to remember the previously discussed phenomenon of decoherence (disintegration of quantum state due to interaction of quantum system with ambient environment). The teacher can describe that photons after transmission through many kilometers of real fiber optic lines in most cases cease to be quantum entangled (connected) and transform into usual, not interconnected, quanta of light. Therefore, in order to produce efficient fiber optic line it is necessary to ensure preservation of quantum entanglement when the signal is weakened and when it passes through an amplifier. Fibre optic cables laid at the bottom of the oceans contain a number of special amplifiers based on optical warehouse of rare-earth element houses, and these amplifiers make high quality transmission of information possible.

It is worthwhile to find some examples of quantum cryptography application spheres that would motivate further study. It is worthwhile to make an example that today world's bank data centers have encryptors that use symmetric keys. They are additionally complemented by quantum distribution systems for keys, which are changed not monthly (in the classical approach), but every second. On the one hand, this mechanism is not good for the disposable notebook, but on the other hand, it gives tremendous advantage.

You can ask students to use any search engine to find information about the use of quantum technologies in the field of finance, for example, for the last six months. If a sufficient number of students work, the task can be refined by geographical location (on certain continents, in certain countries, etc.).

It will be interesting for students to learn that quantum cryptography can also be used for distributed data storage. It is possible to distribute information in several data centers and constantly move it by means of quantum-secured channels. Thus, even if someone gains access to some of these data centers, he or she does not receive all of the necessary information. This will also work if some of the data centers are disconnected: a light user will be able, by authenticating to the network of data centers, to restore all relevant information.

We also inform the students that quantum keys will be useful for securing authentication tasks, which, in essence, is a check "friend-or-foe". In this case, the combination of hash function technologies and a one-time notepad allows you to check if, for example, the data for the online speech system came from the control center or from someone else. This is very important, because in five or seven years the work of quantum computer is a reality. At the same time on the streets will appear a large number of driverless cars, which are not just a few, but will be millions. And all of them will need to receive control signals and update the firmware in a trusted manner, not interacting with people for thousands of years. This means that they will have to receive quantum keys and use them afterwards in the process of flight.

Prospects of quantum cryptography can be described by the application of China, which has already established a national quantum network that connects Beijing, Shanghai, Hefei and Jinan.

The main technological problem nowadays is whether the humanity will be able to produce a highquality quantum repeater in the nearest ten years? This question can be discussed by the scientists by dividing them into supporters and opponents of this idea.

4 EXPERIMENTAL TESTING OF METHODS FOR TEACHING THE BASICS OF QUANTUM INFORMATICS TO LYCEUMS STUDENTS

Forty-five students from three schools in the city of Kryvyi Rih (Ukraine) took part in the experiment. In order to evaluate the level of competence in the fundamentals of quantum informatics the entrance examination and post-assessment test were conducted.

Positive dynamics of changes in the level of competence was noted in each group of competencies, which confirmed the study hypothesis.

As a result of the experiment the ways of introduction of quantum informatics basics into the educational process of lyceums were determined:

- 1. choice module "The Basics of Quantum Informatics" (17 hours);
- cross-curricular study of quantum informatics basics in physics, mathematics and informatics courses (17 hours);
- integrated course "The Basics of Quantum Informatics" (35 hours).

Regardless of the choice of experimental model of propaedeutic study of quantum informatics, the main goal of its implementation is to develop the components of computer literacy and information culture through the acquisition of basic theoretical knowledge and practical skills to manage quantum computers as a new generation of computers.

5 CONCLUSIONS

Quantum transformation of school informatics course should be carried out due to the perspective of quantum technologies and the demand for quantumliterate specialists.

The competences of quantum informatics basics of lyceums students is a natural integration of some interdisciplinary physical and mathematical competences and new subject-specific informatics competences.

The normative methods of teaching the basics of quantum informatics to lyceum students is the structural-functional model of forming the corresponding competences.

Teaching the basics of quantum informatics to 10 (11) grades on the IBM Quantum platform can be carried out with the author's optional course materials.

This study does not cover all aspects of the problem of quantum transformation of informatics education. Subsequent scientific searches for its solution are appropriate in the following directions: 1) development of partial methods of competence formation in the field of quantum technologies in accordance with the European framework; 2) integrated teaching of quantum physics and informatics to students of scientific lyceums; 3) use of immersive medium for development of virtual manipulatives of quantum technologies; 4) teaching method development of the basics of quantum technologies to professional schools students.

REFERENCES

- Alibaba (2018). Quantum laboratory. https://damo.alibaba. com/labs/quantum.
- Bykov, V. Y. (2008). Modeli orhanizatsiinykh system vidkrytoi osvity [Models of the open education organizational systems]. Atika, Kyiv. https://lib.iitta.gov.ua/ 845/.
- Chen, S. (2018). China building world's biggest quantum research facility. https://tinyurl.com/fftfa49a.
- EDS (2019). Austria, Bulgaria, Denmark and Romania join initiative to explore quantum communication for Europe. https://tinyurl.com/3xb2s3rc.
- EQF (2021). Quantum Flagship. https://qt.eu/.
- Gnatenko, K. (2020a). Kvantovi kompiutery: sohodennia ta maibutnie [Quantum computers: the present and the future]. *Kolosok*, (5):2–7. https://tinyurl.com/ yckuhxz3.
- Gnatenko, K. (2020b). Neimovirne u kvantovomu sviti [The unbelievable in a quantum world]. *Kolosok*, (4). https: //tinyurl.com/sdvyzubw.
- Google (2022). Educational resources. https://quantumai. google/education.
- Greinert, F. and Müller, R. (2021). Competence Framework for Quantum Technology. Version 1.0. https://qt.eu/app/uploads/2019/02/ Competence_Framework_for_QT_1.0_May2021.pdf.
- Hilton, J. (2019). Building The Quantum Workforce Of The Future. https://www.forbes. com/sites/forbestechcouncil/2019/06/19/ building-the-quantum-workforce-of-the-future.
- Korshunova, O. and Zavadsky, I. (2018). Informatika [Computer science]. Osvita, Kyiv.
- Lehka, L. V. (2022). Metodyka navchannia osnov kvantovoi informatyky uchniv litseiv [Methods of teaching the basics of quantum informatics to lyceums students]. The dissertation submitted for scientific degree of doctor of philosophy) on specialty 014 secondary education (informatics), Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University. http://elibrary.kdpu.edu.ua/xmlui/handle/ 123456789/7042.
- Lehka, L. V., Bielinskyi, A. O., Shokaliuk, S. V., Soloviev, V. N., Merzlykin, P. V., and Bohunenko, Y. Y. (2022a).

Prospects of Quantum Informatics and the Study of Its Basics in the School Course. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Vol. 1: AET*, pages 233– 240. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/ 0010922900003364.

- Lehka, L. V. and Shokaliuk, S. V. (2018). Quantum programming is a promising direction of IT development. CEUR Workshop Proceedings, 2292:76–82. http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2292/paper07.pdf.
- Lehka, L. V. and Shokaliuk, S. V. (2021). Hardware and software tools for teaching the basics of quantum informatics to lyceums students. *Educational Dimension*, 4:102–121. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim. v56i4.4440.
- Lehka, L. V., Shokaliuk, S. V., and Osadchyi, V. V. (2022b). Hardware and software tools for teaching the basics of quantum informatics to students of specialized (high) schools. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 9:228–244. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.117.
- NISS (2020). Analytical report to the annual Presidential Address to the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine "On the internal and external situation of Ukraine". https:// niss.gov.ua/en/node/3797.
- NQIA (2018). National Quantum Initiative Act. https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/ house-bill/6227/text.
- NSF (2020). Key concepts for future qis learners. https://files.webservices.illinois.edu/9156/ keyconceptsforfutureqislearners5-20.pdf.
- NSM (2021). Nanoelektronika: nauka i sovremennost [Nanoelectronics: science and modernity]. https://youtube.com/playlist?list= PLuKEIL5ZUv-Wt4DutmgVmddaHQPSpj6uX.
- NSTI (2016). Guówùyuàn guānyú yìnfā "shísānwů" guójiā kējì chuàngxīn guīhuà de tongzhī guó fā (2016) 43 hào [Circular of the state council on printing and distributing the national science and technology innovation plan for the "13th five-year plan" guo fa [2016] no. 43]. http://www.gov.cn/zhengce/content/2016-08/ 08/content_5098072.htm.
- NUL-bachelor (2020). Osvitno-profesiina prohrama bakalavra "kvantovi kompiutery ta kvantove prohramuvannia" [Quantum computers and quantum programming. Educational and professional program]. https://physics.lnu.edu.ua/wp-content/ uploads/OP_bak_kvant_komp_2020.pdf.
- NUL-master (2021). Osvitno-profesiina prohrama mahistra "kvantovi kompiutery ta kvantove prohramuvannia" [Quantum computers and quantum programming. Educational and professional program]. https://physics.lnu.edu.ua/wp-content/ uploads/OP_mag_kvant_comp_1.9_2021.pdf.
- Panetta, K. (2021). 5 Trends Drive the Gartner Hype Cycle for Emerging Technologies, 2020. https://tinyurl.com/ abp7aktd.
- Pinkevych, I. P., Dmytruk, I. M., Yeshchenko, O. A., and Kravchenko, V. M. (2018). Osvitno-naukova prohrama "kvantovi kompiutery, obchyslennia ta

informatsiia" na zdobuttia osvitnoho stupeniu: mahistr za spetsialnistiu 104 "fizyka ta astronomiia" [Quantum computers, calculations, information. Educational and scientific program for obtaining a master's degree, specialty 104 "Physics and Astronomy"]. https://www.phys.univ.kiev.ua/wp-content/ uploads/2021/05/onp_magistry_kvant_komp_obch_ inf_last_03_12_2018.pdf.

- Q12 (2023). About National Q-12 Education Partnership. https://q12education.org/about.
- QC-IBM (2021). Educators program IBM Quantum. https://quantum-computing.ibm.com/programs/ educators.
- QDKit-Microsoft (2023). Q# and the quantum development kit. https://azure.microsoft.com/en-us/ resources/development-kit/quantum-computing.
- QM (2021). Kvantova mekhanika [Quantum mechanics]. https://youtube.com/playlist?list= PLuKEIL5ZUv-WlkkZQb0DPPTmmgQLl6_By.
- QTEdu (2022). Programs, Courses and Trainings QTEdu. https://qtedu.eu/programs-courses-and-trainings/ higher-education.
- QTEduCSA (2021). Qt educational initiatives in primary and secondary schools and public outreach. https://drive.google.com/file/d/ 14mt_X2xA5smT3_kYZSiXqdWpevRlLY6W/view.
- Semerikov, S. O., Teplytskyi, I. O., Soloviev, V. N., Hamaniuk, V. A., Ponomareva, N. S., Kolgatin, O. H., Kolgatina, L. S., Byelyavtseva, T. V., Amelina, S. M., and Tarasenko, R. O. (2021). Methodic quest: Reinventing the system. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840(1):012036. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/ 1840/1/012036.
- WS (2020). Future Skills for the 2020s. https: //api.worldskills.org/resources/download/12832/ 14248/15165?l=en.
Analysis of Research Activities of University Teachers as Part of the Education Quality Assurance System

Nataliia Morze¹, Oksana Buinytska¹, Valeriia Smirnova¹, and Bohdan Hrytseliak¹

Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, 18/2 Bulvarno-Kudriavska Str, Kyiv, 04053, Ukraine {n.morze, o.buinytska, v.smirnova, b.hrytseliak}@kubg.edu.ua

- Keywords: Publishing Activity, Scientist Profile, Scientometric Databases, Transparency Rating, Rating System, Research Activity, Quality Assurance of Education.
- Abstract: The rapid development of digital technologies is changing the role of the university in the digital society. An important aspect of increasing the level of competitiveness of the university in the market of educational services is to ensure the quality of results of all higher education institution activities, especially research, so to analyze the university is important to develop and implement internal university rankings. The article analyzes the international and Ukrainian experience of presenting the results of research activities of university teachers to ensure the quality of education, ways to design systems for analyzing research activities of teachers, tools and components for evaluating the effectiveness of research. The model and stages of designing a rating system for evaluating research activities of teachers are described, which allows for systematic monitoring of openness, transparency, and efficiency of the research component of teachers' professional activities. The key indicators for evaluating the effectiveness of scientific research are identified - citation indicators of the three most important scientometric databases - Scopus, Web of Science, Google Scholar: number of publications, number of bibliographic references, h-index, i10-index. The article presents one of the stages of the model implementation, namely the development of transparency rating by citation indicators in Google Scholar. According to the results of the study, the positive impact of the rating system is identified, the main measures to increase visibility, presence, dissemination of research results are identified, the systematic implementation of which provides effective representation of the scientist in domestic and international rankings.

1 INTRODUCTION

The main priority of each university is to provide quality educational services and increase competitiveness to attract the most promising applicants for education. The rapid development of digital technologies is leading to the transformation of education, changing the role of the university in the digital society. The influence and authority of the university in the European Higher Education Area is significantly influenced by the openness and transparency of all activities. Key areas of educational transformation for global sustainability were discussed at the UNESCO World Higher Education Conference, which include cooperation and diversity, interdisciplinarity, flexible approaches to lifelong learning and knowledge that meet today's societal needs, support for research, etc. (WHEC, 2022). Therefore, an important aspect of increasing the level of competitiveness of the university in the market of educational services is to ensure the quality of results of all types of educational activities of higher education institution, especially scientific.

The defining documents regulating the functioning of the internal quality assurance system of higher education at the university are the requirements of the Laws of Ukraine "On Higher Education", "On Education" and Standards and Recommendations for Quality Assurance in the European Higher Education Area (ESG 2015). According to the Standards and Guidelines for Quality Assurance in the European Higher Education Area (ENQA, 2015), the key aspects of quality assurance in education are: internal and external quality assurance systems of education and quality assurance institutions. The main components of the university's internal quality assurance system include the introduction of internal regulations on the implementation of education quality assurance policy, periodic review and improvement

236

Morze, N., Buinytska, O., Smirnova, V. and Hrytseliak, B.

Analysis of Research Activities of University Teachers as Part of the Education Quality Assurance System.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 236-252 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3477-9254

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3611-2114

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9965-6373

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2953-8560

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

of educational programs in accordance with modern labor market needs and state standards, changing paradigms of higher education, including studentcentered teaching and learning, monitoring the level of professional competence of teaching staff and creating conditions for continuous professional development and improvement of teachers, availability of educational resources, transparent enrollment procedures, achievements, certification of students based on learning outcomes, introduction of effective information management technologies, transparent coverage of accurate, objective, accessible information in the public domain on various aspects of university, periodic external monitoring of quality assurance. An important component of the internal quality assurance system of education is to increase the openness of university, ensuring transparent evaluation of teachers' professional activities, open access to results, professional and scientific achievements.

One of the tools for measuring the competitiveness of the university is its participation in international and domestic educational rankings. To ensure a complete and objective assessment of the methodology of the most authoritative rankings are based on indicators covering various areas of university activity. Such key indicators are indicators of academic reputation and reputation among employers; teaching quality indicators - the ratio of teachers and students, PhD and academic staff, etc.; indicators of the quality of scientific research - the number of publications and citations in publications included in influential scientometric databases; indicators of international cooperation - the percentage of foreign students and teachers; indicators of visibility and influence of sites, etc. The quality and transparency of research activities of universities is assessed by indicators of publishing activity of teachers. Indicators of the quality of scientific citations according to Google Scholar citations and citations in influential scientific journals are taken into account in international rankings - "Academic Ranking of World Universities" (ARWU), "QS Top University Ranking", webometric ranking of world universities "Webometrics", "Transparent ranking: Top Universities by Google Scholar Citations" and Ukrainian ones - "University rankings according to Scopus indicators", "Top-200 Ukraine", "Consolidated rating of higher education institutions of Ukraine", "Bibliometrics of Ukrainian science" (Buinytska et al., 2018). Comparison of the weight of research indicators in the methodologies of the most authoritative ratings are presented in table 1.

Periodic monitoring of methodologies and key indicators of the most influential ratings is important for the analysis of the effectiveness of the university's performance in the rankings. An effective tool for analyzing university performance is the introduction of internal university rankings. For a comprehensive and complete assessment, it is important that the methodologies of internal university rankings are based on key performance indicators that are taken into account in the methodologies of the most authoritative international and Ukrainian educational rankings. Therefore, to ensure optimal presentation of the research component of the university in the rankings and ensure openness, transparency of the university, it is necessary to develop and implement a rating system for evaluating the research activities of teachers to monitor the effectiveness of research activities and create an appropriate system to increase its openness, transparency international scientific networking communities in order to promote and communicate.

The *purpose* of the study is to develop a rating assessment of research activities of university teachers as part of the internal system of quality assurance of education for openness and transparency of the university.

2 RESEARCH OF THE EXPERIENCE OF THE ANALYSIS OF RESEARCH ACTIVITY OF TEACHERS IN THE EUROPEAN SPACE OF HIGHER EDUCATION

Delgado López-Cózar et al. (Delgado López-Cózar et al., 2019), Martín-Martín et al. (Martín-Martín et al., 2018b), Bykov and Spirin (Bykov and Spirin, 2016), Bykov et al. (Bykov et al., 2020), Semerikov et al. (Semerikov et al., 2018), Kuzminska et al. (Kuzminska et al., 2022), Vakarenko (Vakarenko, 2018) studied the features of the analysis of research results using open scientometric and bibliometric systems.

Theoretical bases of rating estimation of activity of teachers of universities of Ukraine are described in (Dzoba, 2019; Reheilo, 2020; Yaroshenko, 2020). Reheilo (Reheilo, 2020) identified the basic conceptual principles of evaluating the effectiveness of research activities of teachers, identified the principles, structural components and indicators of evaluation of research activities of teachers in the European Higher Education Area. Yaroshenko (Yaroshenko, 2020) emphasized the need to modernize indicators of research activities of teachers, in accordance with the modern realities of university education, summarized the

Dating name	The weight of
Kaung name	research indicators
Academic Ranking of World Universities	60%
QS Top University Ranking	20%
Webometrics	50%
Transparent ranking: Top Universities by Google Scholar Citations	100%
University rankings according to Scopus indicators	100%
Top-200 Ukraine	40%
Consolidated rating of higher education institutions of Ukraine	45%
Bibliometrics of Ukrainian science	100%

Table 1: Comparative table of the weight of research indicators in the methodologies of the most authoritative ratings.

main characteristics of rating evaluation of teachers: goals, objectives, functions, principles of ranking.

Kostenko et al. (Kostenko et al., 2019), Shynenko et al. (Shynenko et al., 2021), Gasparyan et al. (Gasparyan et al., 2018) presented features of quality assessment of research results.

Bykov et al. (Bykov et al., 2021), Tkachuk et al. (Tkachuk et al., 2017), Morze et al. (Morze et al., 2022a), Morze and Buinytska (Morze and Buinytska, 2017), Buinytska (Buinytska, 2021) considered the evaluation of the results of research activities of teachers to increase the competitiveness of the university in general and the results of the participation of universities in international and Ukrainian rankings.

The use by scientists their profiles in Google Scholar, ORCID, Mendeley, Academia, Research-Gate increases the visibility of publications in the information space and has a positive effect on increasing citation rates, as noted in (Hohunskyi et al., 2016).

Nazarovets (Nazarovets, 2019) investigated the search engine and database of scientific citations, which contains metadata of all publications that use the Cited-by service from Crossref and support the Initiative for Open Citations - Open Ukrainian Citation Index (OUCI), developed by the State Research Technical Library of Ukraine (OUCI, 2021). The OUCI database contains metadata of scientific publications that receive DOI from Crossref and takes into account citations between scientific publications. OUCI is designed to simplify the search and analysis of research results and expand the presentation of information about Ukrainian scientific publications in international search engines such as Dimensions, Lens.org, 1findr, Scilit, etc. The implemented analytical tool allows to assess the state and dynamics of development of scientific potential of scientific institutions and researchers in terms of fields of knowledge, years, to select appropriate scientific journals for publication.

In (Kostenko et al., 2019) the informationanalytical system "Bibliometrics of Ukrainian Sci-

ence", developed by the Social communication research center, which is a single register of bibliometric profiles of researchers and research teams in the most authoritative scientometric databases Scopus, Web of Science and Google Scholar system. The system allows to analyze the domestic scientific potential, to carry out a comparative analysis of the effectiveness of research activities of Ukrainian scientists in the fields of knowledge, cities, affiliation, agencies, etc. by building rankings on the value of hindex in Scopus, Web of Science or Google Scholar (Bibliometrics, 2022). The presentation of a scientist in the "Bibliometrics of Ukrainian Science" is a passport of a scientist in the educational space, which reflects his authority and influence on the development of a particular scientific field.

3 INTERNATIONAL AND UKRAINIAN EXPERIENCE IN PRESENTING THE RESULTS OF TEACHERS' RESEARCH ACTIVITIES TO ENSURE THE QUALITY OF EDUCATION AT THE UNIVERSITY

During the digitalization of education, traditional tools for managing and organizing the educational process no longer meet the educational needs of different categories of participants – students, teachers, administration, etc., so the quality of information and educational environment of the university acquires special importance (Buinytska, 2021), which will ensure transparency and openness of the organization of the educational process, management, research, internationalization, etc. and will allow participants to access it from anywhere and at a convenient time. One of the components of such an informational and educational environment is the e-portfolio system, which

is used to analyze various aspects of teachers' activities: scientific, international, teaching activities and professional development. Therefore, to ensure monitoring of the level of teacher competence, transparency and openness of data, the issue of implementing open systems for research analysis is relevant for the university, which will have a positive impact on the presentation of professional results of university teachers in ranking.

An analysis of the official websites of leading Ukrainian and international universities on the format of presenting the results of research activities of university teachers in open access showed the lack of implemented tools to ensure transparency, openness of key indicators of research activities of teachers.

The National Technical University of Ukraine "Igor Sikorsky Kyiv Polytechnic Institute" has implemented the "Information System Intellect" (Intellect, 2023), which is designed to present the results of the university scientists. The system contains personal pages of scientific and pedagogical, research staff of the university, graduate students, which contains a list of their scientific publications, results of research and development work, reports at scientific conferences, seminars, including international, identifiers of scientometric databases – Scopus Author ID, ORCID, Google Scholar.

At the Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv are formed rating tables of publication activity of employees within the university and rating of publication activity of structural subdivisions. Summary ranking tables within the general reports on scientific work in the form of files are published on the official website of the University (Research department of KNU, 2023). The calculation of the rating takes into account the number of monographs, textbooks, scientific articles, citations and the number of articles indexed by the scientometric database Scopus.

At the National Pedagogical Dragomanov University has been introduced a rating system for evaluating the activities of research and teaching staff, but access to it is limited (Rating system of NPDU, 2022).

Lviv Polytechnic National University has introduced an e-portfolio of teachers based on wiki technologies (LPNU, 2023). In addition to personal information, pages of teacher's present areas of study, research interests, a list of selected publications, but there are no links to open access publications and researcher profiles and citation rates in scientometric databases.

The personal pages of teachers of Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University contain basic personal information – position, degree, academic title, research interests, etc., as well as links to the teacher's profile in scientometric databases, published scientific papers in the Institutional Repository. The university also formed and published in the form of a file a rating of scientific activities of departments on the main indicators of scientific activity – the number of articles in databases Scopus, Web of Science, Index Copernicus, articles in professional journals, published monographs, defended dissertations, etc (KRSPU, 2023).

The website of the National Aviation University publishes ratings of teachers on the indicators of scientometric databases Scopus, Web of Science, Google Scholar, Russian Science Citation Index (Scientific library of NAU, 2023). The ranking is based on the value of the h-index, as well as the number of publications and citations in the relevant databases. Data for the ranking are obtained from personal pages of teachers, which contain links to the profile of the scientist in scientometric databases with citation rates – number of publications, number of citations, h-index, direction of scientific interests, English transcription of the scientist's name, links to published papers in scientific journals, conference proceedings, publications placed in the institutional repository, etc.

On the official websites of leading foreign universities, employees' pages are published in the form of an e-portfolio with basic contact information and performance indicators. No open ranking rating systems were identified during the study. For example, on the websites of Harvard University, Stanford University, University of Washington, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, published pages of employees contain mostly general contact information, information about education, work experience, research interests, awards, list of selected publications and more (Harvard, 2023; Stanford, 2023; Washington, 2023; MIT, 2022).

The study (Spivakovsky et al., 2019) highlights the experience of designing an information system for the analysis of research activities of university teachers, which is tested on the basis of Kherson State University and Kherson State Maritime Academy. The system implements tools for building ratings of teachers on the main indicators of scientific citation in databases Scopus, Web of Science, Google Scholar, Semantic Scholar, Tutor Network. Ratings are built in terms of structural units, departments, scientific journals on the maximum value of quoting profiles of employees in the unit (Rating of KSU departments, 2023). Data for the ranking are obtained from personal pages of employees, which presents the main citation indicators in scientometric databases - researcher identifiers, citation indicators (number of documents, citations, h-index), list of indexed publications, list of co-authors. The system allows to analyze the publishing activity of university scientists in terms of years in a visualized form, to determine the priority areas of research, to build a network of coauthors.

Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University has implemented an "E-portfolio" system, which reflects a holistic picture of the teacher's activities with certain quantitative and qualitative indicators. The system allows not only to create an e-portfolio of the teacher, but also to form rating tables of indicators of evaluation of the main activities of each teacher and structural units (Morze and Buinytska, 2017). Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University has implemented Corporate Standards for Teachers, in particular the Corporate Standard of Research Activity and the Corporate Standard for Digital Competence of Teachers, which take into account and correlate indicators of teachers' research results and corresponding indicators of digital competence levels of teachers. One of the indicators of compliance of the teacher's research activities with the requirements of the Corporate Standard of Research Activity of Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University (Corporate Standard of Research Activity, 2018) is the indicator of scientific recognition, which is determined by the values of citation indices in Scopus, Web of Science, Google Scholar databases. The key to the optimal presentation of the teacher's research activities in scientometric databases is a sufficient level of digital competence of the scientist (Bykov et al., 2021), which is the ability to effectively use open digital systems in their own research, create, update, supplement articles profiles of scientists in scientometric databases, disseminate research results in scientific web communities and social networks (Corporate Standard of Digital Competence, 2021).

Analysis of official university websites shows that modern universities use a variety of technologies to present the results of research activities of teachers, including Wiki-technologies, published pages on official websites, developed information systems. The main technologies used in the construction of ratings of research activities of teachers are the publication of rating tables in the form of files, the introduction of information systems with tools for rating. The introduction of information systems has a number of advantages, such as rapid data updates, the formation of a single database of employees, automation of ranking, reviewing the details of the indicators, the ability to generate reports, present information in a convenient visualized form.

Analysis of the experience in developing rating systems for evaluating the research activities of teachers determines the most common quantitative indicators of evaluation of research activities: publications included in influential scientometric databases, including Scopus and Web of Science; values of citation indices in scientometric databases – Scopus, Web of Science, Google Scholar, etc. (Morze and Buinytska, 2017).

4 TOOLS FOR DETERMINING THE PUBLICATION ACTIVITY OF TEACHERS

The main indicators of assessing the publishing activity of teachers are the number and quality of published scientific works, namely the number of individual and collective monographs, articles in publications included in scientometric databases Scopus and Web of Science, articles in publications included in other scientometric databases, articles in professional scientific publications included in the approved list of the Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine, citation indices in scientometric databases, the number of published publications on the results of scientific conferences and seminars, including international, etc.

The most common tools for assessing the publishing activity of teachers are the determination of citation indices in scientometric databases. Scopus and Web of Science databases allow scientometric analysis of a scientist's productivity by analyzing the dynamics of the number of publications in influential international journals, the impact and demand for scientific publications, analyzing the dynamics of bibliographic references and citation indices by year (Smirnova, 2020).

Scopus and Web of Science have powerful analytical tools SciVal and InCites, respectively. The tools allow for a comprehensive analysis of the effectiveness of research on a wide range of indicators: impact, productivity, collaboration, open access, influence of journals, etc. in a visual rendered form; identify promising areas of research, expand the range of scientific collaboration and cooperation.

An alternative to commercial systems is the free Google Scholar system, which indexes full-text scientific publications from many disciplines in various databases. The main advantage of Google Scholar is its freeness and the fact that its index is not limited to a list of journals, unlike commercial scientometric databases like Scopus, Web of Science, but more broadly covers the web space, it indexes publications on electronic journals, repositories, electronic conferences, personal blogs of scientists, etc. For efficient indexing, web resources should be based on platforms with special meta tags (EPrints, DSpace, Open Conference System) (Luparenko, 2020), from which the Google Scholar system receives basic meta data of the publication or publication files designed according to certain formatting requirements of document - design of titles, personal data of the authors, the main content of the article, the list of sources used, etc. (Bykov and Spirin, 2016). The Google Scholar system allows a researcher to create a personal profile and add systemindexed publications to it. The Google Scholar profile has a toolkit for analyzing citation statistics by year, tracking total citations, h-index and i10 index, which are calculated on the basis of the total number of publications and the number of citations by individual indicators for the entire period of scientific work and for the last 5 years in digital form and in the form of a comparative histogram (Smirnova, 2020).

On the basis of scientometric indicators of teachers in scientometric databases the profile of the university is formed, which reflects the main direction of scientific research and the productivity of the research component of the university in general. Figures 1-3 presents the profiles of Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University in open scientific systems and databases: Scopus (figure 1), Open Ukrainian Citation Index (figure 2), Google Scholar (figure 3).

The analysis of indicators confirms that a set of indicators of important scientometric databases should be used for a full comprehensive assessment of the effectiveness of research in various areas.

5 RESEARCH RESULTS

5.1 Model of Rating System of Evaluation of Teachers' Research Activity

In building the model of the rating system for evaluating the research activities of the teacher used indicators of key scientometric databases that demonstrate the effectiveness of research activities of the teacher – Scopus, Web of Science and Google Scholar, quantitative indicators of evaluation and analysis using bibliographic citations. At the same time, it is important for university professors to adhere to the Corporate Standards of Scientific Activity and the Corporate Standard of Digital Competence approved by Grinchenko University, as the level of scientific and digital competence directly affects the quality of research and therefore the university's international and domestic rankings.

The following principles were guided in develop-

ing the methodology of the rating system for evaluating research activities of teachers: objectivity, measurability and transparency, so the indicators of citations of scientific publications in open profiles of teachers in Scopus, Web of Science and Google Scholar were chosen as indicators of research performance of teachers easy to get and check – number of bibliographic references, h-index and i10-index.

The main functions to be performed by the rating system of analysis of the research component of the university teachers are presented in table 2.

The implementation of certain functions is possible in the presence of such structural components of the rating system for evaluating research activities as the organizational component, the component of obtaining personal data of teachers, technological component and performance component.

The organizational component provides for the delimitation of access rights to the rating system – administrator, teacher, guest. Administrator rights include starting the formation of the rating, marking incorrectly filled profiles, exporting reports. Rating is available only for viewing and analysis for teachers and unauthorized users.

Component of obtaining personal data of teachers. A personal page in the "E-portfolio" system is automatically generated for each lecturer of the Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University. On the personal page of the e-portfolio the teacher can independently establish the affiliation to the structural unit, department, indicate the degree, academic title, links to the profile of the scientist in Scopus, Web of Science, Google Scholar and ORCID, as well as other personal data and links to pages in social networks Facebook, LinkedIn and on the Wiki-portal of the university. Data from the profile of the e-portfolio of the teacher on the affiliation to the structural unit, department and indicators of scientific citation in Scopus, Web of Science and Google Scholar are obtained during the formation of the rating.

The technological component provides scientometric indicators from Scopus databases, Web of Science, Google Scholar system and personal data of teachers. The structural model of the technological component of the model of the rating system of analysis of research activities of teachers is presented in figure 4. The E-portfolio system of Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University automatically synchronizes the values of bibliographic references, h-index and i10-index for the last 5 years from the bibliographic profile of a scientist in the Google Scholar system, a link to which the teacher can add to his portfolio.

In addition, the "E-portfolio" system automatically synchronizes scientometric indicators from the

Borys Grinchenko Kyiv Univ	Affiliation profile actions			
18/2 Bulvarno-Kudriavska Str, Kyiv Ukraine Affiliation ID: 60105254 Other name formats: (Borys Grinchenko Kyiv Universit (Borys Grinchenko Kiev Universit	Iversity Iversity VUniversity Image: Second state			
Documents, affiliation only 582 Documents by subject area Collaborat	Authors 381 💽 S ing affiliations	ave to author list Documents by source		
		Document count (high-low)	~	Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University
Computer Science	240	Earth and Planetary Sciences	14	12.2 %
Social Sciences	203	Materials Science	13	2.7 %
Arts and Humanities	99	Environmental Science	9	3.2 %
Engineering	83	Biochemistry, Genetics and Molecular Biol	8	5.9 % 4.9 %
Business, Management and Accounting	49	Agricultural and Biological Sciences	7	5.1 %
Medicine	47	Energy	5	8.7 %
Economics, Econometrics and Finance	37	Multidisciplinary	5	10.4 %
Health Professions	30	Chemical Engineering	4	Computer Science
Decision Sciences	26	Chemistry	4	 Social Sciences Arts and Humanities
Mathematics	22	Neuroscience	4	Engineering
Physics and Astronomy	21	Pharmacology, Toxicology and Pharmaceutics	4	Medicine
Psychology	18			Economics, Econometrics and Finance Health Professions Decision Sciences Mathematics

Figure 1: Profile of Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University in the Scopus scientometric database.

Ë⊒|OUCI



Figure 2: Profile of Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University in the Open Ukrainian Citation Index database.

teacher's profile in Scopus and Web of Science using API-interfaces. The main scientometric indicators are automatically synchronized to the teacher's e-portfolio page – the number of publications indexed by scientometric databases under the university affiliation, the number of citations and the h-index. Data are obtained from the Scopus Author Identifier and the Web of Science ResearcherID, which the teacher can add to their own e-portfolio profile. The profile values of scientometric indicators from Scopus, Web of Science and Google Scholar databases are obtained during the formation of the "Transparency Rating", which is one of the results of the designed model and allows to assess the scientific achievements of a particular teacher and the university in general.

Other

To reflect the importance of the teacher's research

Analysis of Research Activities of University Teachers as Part of the Education Quality Assurance System

≡ Google Sch	holar					Q 8	SIGN IN
	Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University / Київський університет імені Бориса Грінченка ^{Університет Грінченка} Verified email at kubg.edu.ua - <u>Homepage</u>		FOLLOW	GET Cited by	MY OWN PROF	ILE VIEW Since 2	ALL 2017
TITLE		CITED BY	YEAR	Citations h-index	53516 90	29	9833 61
Основи педагог СО Сисоєва Міленіум	ічної творчості	1266 *	2006	i10-index	1177	7	722 7000
Хортинг–школа ЖВ Петрочко, ЕА Є К.: Паливода АВ	сили і честі юного українця рьоменко	729	2016	11	пĿ	5	5250
Дошкільна лінге навчальних зак АМ Богуш	зодидактика: Теорія і методика навчання дітей рідної мови в дошкільних ладах	712 *	2015			1	1750
Бойовий хортин	и як засіб виховання патріотизму у школярів і студентів	633	2017	2015 2016 2017	2018 2019 2020 2	2021 2022	0

ЖВ Петрочко, ЕА Єрьоменко К.: Паливода АВ

Figure 3: Profile of Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University in the Google Scholar database.

Table 2: Functions of the rating system of analysis of the research component of the university teachers' activity.

Function	Description
Informational	Formation of a single information base of research performance indicators of university
	teachers for quality assessment
Visualization	Presentation of information in a visualized form to improve perception, reporting
Motivational	Creating an atmosphere of healthy competition, activating the scientific potential of the
	university
Competence	Encouraging teachers to create, update information in their own profiles in scientometric
	databases
Analytical	Analysis of the current state of the research component of the activities of departments,
	chairs and the university in general, identification of factors influencing the effectiveness
	of research activities of teachers, identification and analysis of relationships
Prognostice	Forecasting of perspective trajectories of university development, development of system
	measures for increase of indicators of efficiency of research activity of university teachers
Management	Information basis for making management decisions

activity in a certain scientific field, it is planned to expand the technological component of the rating with a new indicator of the Web of Science system – Author Impact Beamplots. The indicator is a normalized indicator of a scientist's citation, reflects the effectiveness of citing the publication and allows to provide a qualitative assessment of the effectiveness of research activities.

Effective component – on the basis of collected data on the affiliation and scientometric indicators of teachers are formed ranking tables of research performance at the university in general and in terms of departments and chairs, based on which the ability to export reports.

Structurally functional model of the rating system for the analysis of research activities of teachers is described in detail in the study (Morze et al., 2022b) and has the following view (figure 5).

5.2 Transparency Rating Methodology and Design

Taking into account the model of the rating system for the analysis of research activities of teachers, a transparency rating has been designed, the indicators of which are system performance indicators.

The rating system model was implemented as a web-based client-server architecture. The PHP programming language was used in the development of the server software. The web interface is implemented using HTML, CSS and JavaScript.

As a result of experimental implementation, a Google Scholar citation rating was developed, which ranks teachers according to their indicators of publishing activity (figure 6).

All teachers of the Borys Grinchenko Kyiv Uni-



Figure 4: Technological component of the model of the rating system for evaluating the research activities of teachers.

versity take part in the "Transparency Rating of Structural Units". In the ranking, the list of teachers is ranked in descending order of the value of the total number of bibliographic references according to the Google Scholar system. The detailed table of research indicators contains the values of the total number of bibliographic references, h-index, i10-index and links to the teacher's profile in Google Scholar. Also, the page of the rating of teachers reflects the dynamics of citation indicators compared to the previous issue of the rating, which allows teachers to monitor and analyze the effectiveness of their own research activities.

The increase in the total number of citations of both the h-index and the i10-index in the teacher's profile may be due to the indexing by Google Scholar of new publications by other authors that contain direct citations of articles of the teacher; supplementing Google Scholar's teacher profile with previously unstated publications that are already cited in research by other Google Scholar-indexed researchers. On the other hand, a decrease in citation rates may be due to a change in the five-year citation period. When the five-year citation period changes, the publication may no longer be included in the calculation, which negatively affects the total number of citations and the value of the indexes. Another possible reason may be the disappearance from the Google Scholar index or open access to a publication that contains a citation of the relevant article by the teacher.

Creating a database of scientific profiles of teachers in Google Scholar allowed to implement the designation of incorrectly configured profiles in one place.

In addition, the presence of this database of scientific profiles of teachers ensured the implementation of the formation of scientific profiles of structural units with the definition of citations per teacher of the unit (figure 7).

To design the rating of structural units and departments, the average citation rate per 1 teacher was determined as the ratio of the sum of the total number of citations to the number of full-time employees of the structural unit. This approach reflects the con-



Figure 5: Structurally functional model of the rating system for the analysis of research activities of teachers (Morze et al., 2022b).

tribution of each individual teacher in the scientific achievement of the structural unit and the effectiveness of the research team in general. In the case of the same values, the units in the "Transparency Rating" are ranked by the total number of citations, which is defined as the sum of the number of citations according to Google Scholar for a five-year period of all staff members of the structural unit.

The ranking of structural units and chairs in the "Transparency Rating" is carried out in descending order of the average citation rate per 1 teacher. In the case of the same average citation rates, the structural units are ranked in descending order of the total number of citations of teacher profiles. The choice of the Google Scholar system is due to the fact that, unlike the scientometric databases Scopus and Web of Science, it has a wider coverage and includes publications from these databases and has a high level of correlation in citation values with Scopus, Web of Science, which is confirmed by the results research (Martín-Martín et al., 2018a,b) and provides a greater presence of teachers in the ranking.

AET 2021 - Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology

N⊵	Name	Structural Unit	Department / Research Laboratory	Number of citations	Dynamics of the number of citations	h-index	Dynamics of the h- index	i10-index	Dynamics of the i10-index	
1	Morze Natalia Viktorivna	FITM	Department of Computer Science and Mathematics	2714	+465	23	~2	84	~ 21	Google Scholar
2	Petrochko Zhanna Vasylivna	IHS	Department of Social Pedagogy and Social Work	1908	+932	12	~1	14	~3	Google Scholar
3	Kraus Natalia Nikolaevna	FITM	Department of Finance and Economics	1500	+638	19	~ 6	48	~ 25	Google Scholar
4	Styshov Alexander Anatolyevich	IP	Department of Ukrainian Language	974	+974	10	~ 10	10	~ 10	Google Scholar
5	Oleksyuk Olga Mykolayivna	IA	Department of Musicology and Music Education	923	+152	10		10		Google Scholar
6	Videiko Mykhailo Yuriiovych	FHP	Archeology Research Laboratory	917	-105	16	≫-1	28	∿-3	Google Scholar
7	Ilyich Lyudmila Mykolayivna	FITM	Department of Management	819	+129	10		12	~2	Google Scholar
8	Kraus Kateryna Mykolayivna	FITM	Department of Management	787	+349	14	~ 4	22	~ 11	Google Scholar
9	Lytvyn Oksana Stepanivna	FITM	Department of Computer Science and Mathematics	777	+88	15	~1	27	~ 4	Google Scholar
10	Lysenko Olena Mykolayivna	FHPES	Department of Physical Rehabilitation and Biokinesiology	707	+112	13	~1	22	~7	Google Scholar

Figure 6: Ranking of teachers by citation indicators in Google Scholar.

Nº	Unit	Average citation rate per 1 teacher	Dynamics of average citation rate per 1 teacher	Total number of citations	Dynamics of the total number of citations
1	Faculty of Information Technology and Management	181.1	+43.89	10866	+2908
2	Institute of Human Sciences	133.14	+56.86	6657	+2309
3	Faculty of History and Philosophy	83.2	-0.12	3827	-89
4	Pedagogical Institute	80.43	+18.19	4906	+985

Figure 7: Transparency Rating of Structural Units according to citations in Google Scholar.

To analyze the effectiveness of research activities of the unit on the page of the rating of units and chairs realized the dynamics of citation rates per 1 teacher and the total number of citations compared to the previous issue of the rating. Increasing the value of citations per 1 teacher in the rating of the chair or department can occur both by increasing the number of citations of teachers and by increasing the proportion of highly cited employees in the structural unit.

Visibility and transparency indicators of the university are influenced not only by the activities of teachers, but also by chairs in general, including the dissemination of information on social networks about the main activities, announcements of scientific events, videos, research results and more.

Monitoring of key indicators of research activities of structural subdivisions of the Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University is carried out monthly due to the developed internal rating of structural units, the methodology of which is based on the indicators of the international Webometrics rating. Analyzing the internal rating for research activities, attention is paid to the Quality indicator, namely, the rate of uploading scientific papers to the Institutional Repository, citation rates according to Google Scholar (figure 8).

To monitor the representation of chairs in the Internet space at the Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, the frequency of updating the official pages of departments in social networks and Google Scholar is periodically analyzed, the results of which are reflected in a specially developed information resource (figure 9). The resource contains a database of official pages of the chairs on social networks Facebook, YouTube and profiles in the Google Scholar system, for which the period of the last update of the profile is marked with special marks, such as week, month, three months, etc.

Periodic monitoring of the period of updating the pages of chairs on the Internet is a motivating factor for updating, filling pages on social networks, disseminating information about current research activities, research results, updating profiles of chairs in Google Scholar, thus increasing visibility, openness and dissemination information about the scientific activity of the departments and the university in general.

To further analyze the ranking positions and indicators of research activities of teachers, build visualized reports on the effectiveness of research activities,

_ <u>v</u>				١	/isib	ility (55%	6)		(Quality	(25%)	Tra	anspe	ranc	cy (20%)	_	
Place in the genera rating of subdivision	Subdivision	Webpage of Subdivision	Link source domains, 10%	External backlinks, 30%	Facebook, 5%	Visits for the last month, 10%	Visibility rating	Place in Visibility rating	Index of publishing activity, 15%	Institutional repository, 10%	Quality rating	Place in Quality rating	h-index (Google Scholar), 7%	Bibliographic references, 10%	i10-index 3%	Transperancy rating	Place in the Transparency	Dynamics of the general rating for a month	Total rating
1	Institute of Human Sciences	il.kubg.edu.ua	1	1	34	5 420	5,65	4	0,67	34	5,47	1	30	88	100	3,29	3	1,4	14,4
2	Faculty of Information Technology and Management	fitu.kubg.edu.ua	1	1	3	4 225	4,51	7	0,61	33	5,11	2	28	97	150	3,64	2	-0,2	13,3
3	Pedagogical Institute	pi.kubg.edu.ua	1	1	35	6 519	5,82	3	0,36	21	3,08	3	28	112	121	3,82	1	1,1	12,7
4	Institute of Philology	if.kubg.edu.ua	1	1	10	11 586	5,62	5	0,21	35	3,06	4	22	44	86	2,04	4	-0,2	10,7
5	Institute of Journalism	ij.kubg.edu.ua	1	2	6	8 290	8,09	1	0,11	6	0,93	9	15	13	24	0,88	8	1,0	9,9
6	Institute of Arts	im.kubg.edu.ua	1	1	9	3 285	4,59	6	0,27	25	2,83	5	16	18	37	1,08	7	5,0	8,5
7	Faculty of Health, Physical Education and Sports	fzfvs.kubg.edu.ua	1	1	6	2 255	4,37	10	0,14	6	1,07	8	18	48	42	1,79	5	-0,8	7,2
8	Vocational College "Universum"	uk.kubg.edu.ua	1	1	19	14 492	6,26	2	0,02	2	0,22	11	11	11	14	0,66	10	-1,7	7,1
9	Institute of In-Service Training	ippo.kubg.edu.ua	1	0	30	21 080	4,40	9	0,15	8	1,25	7	14	12	21	0,81	9	-0,8	6,5
10	Faculty of Law and International Relations	fpmv.kubg.edu.ua	1	1	3	4 013	4,49	8	0,07	3	0,53	10	7	2	- 5	0,30	11	-3,6	5,3
11	Faculty of History and Philosophy	iff.kubg.edu.ua	1	0	0	2 381	1.19	11	0,19	8	1.44	6	20	34	64	1.67	6	-1,3	4,3

Figure 8: Internal rating of structural subdivisions of Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University.

Representation of the departments of Grinchenko University in the Internet space

Symbols of the period of the last update of the official page of the department on Facebook and YouTube:

✓- during the week	📴- 6-12 months
🗐 - within a month	🔋 - over a year
3- 1-3 months	🗵 - no records
ြေ- 3-6 months	
Published data as of the beginning of 2022.	

#	Unit	Chair	Facebook	YouTube	Google Scholar	Number of publications GS (21/22)
1	Institute of Journalism	Department of Journalism and New Media	Facebook 🔳	YouTube 📴	Google Scholar	14
2	Institute of Journalism	Department of Advertising and Public Relations	Facebook 🔋	YouTube 🕒	Google Scholar	9
3	Institute of Journalism	Department of Publishing	Facebook 🔳	YouTube 📴	Google Scholar	6

Figure 9: Representation of University Chairs in the Internet space.

it is planned to implement 2 stages of research – expanding the "Transparency Rating" for other indicators presented in the model – the number of publications in databases Scopus and Web of Science with university affiliation, establishing relationships to increase the publishing activity of teachers.

5.3 Influence of Rating Indicators on the Improvement of Research Activities at the University

The research took place in several stages: preparatory, design, experimental (implementation).

At the preparatory level the theoretical bases of rating estimation of research activity of research and pedagogical workers were investigated. At the design stage, a structural-functional model of the rating system for evaluating teachers' research activities was designed, a "Google Scholar Citation Transparency Rating of Structural Units" was developed, and an experimental rating was built. For two months, the administration and faculty of the university had the opportunity to review and analyze the data of the experimental rating, after which the first issue of the rating was built in June 2021. The second issue of the rating was built in January 2022.

The analysis of the experimental, first issue and second issues of the rating, built with an interval of 2 and 6 months, respectively, confirmed the positive dynamics of research performance (figure 10).

There is an increase in the total number of citations and the value of citations per 1 research and teaching staff for all units. The largest increase in citations is the Institute of Philology, which increased the total number of citations by 2648 (+117%) and citations per teacher increased by 15,01 (+109%) and the Institute of Human, whose total citations increased by 2948 (+79%) and citations per 1 teacher increased by 69,19 (+108%), which indicates the active work of teachers in these departments to update and supplement their research profiles in the Google Scholar system.

A negative factor in evaluating the results of research of university teachers is the possible cases



of intentional influence on citation rates to increase them, in particular by violating the principles of academic integrity, increasing the percentage of selfcitation, etc. (Recommendations NAQA, 2022). In order to reduce the possibility of intentional influence on increasing citation rates, the rating system uses a set of indicators of various scientometric databases, including important international databases Scopus and Web of Science, which make high demands on the quality of scientific publications in the included publications, which reflects the quality and demand for research results on the accumulation of the number and volume of publications and citations.

Having a system and rating is an incentive for teachers to update their e-portfolio profiles, create profiles in scientometric databases, in the absence, update information in profiles, including Google Scholar, supplement indexed publications, disseminate research results, discuss them in the international networked scientific community, thus developing skills in the use of digital technologies in the organization of research and dissemination of research results.

The active work of university teachers on updating their own profiles in the Google Scholar system and the positive impact of the rating system of analysis of research activities of university teachers on visibility, transparency is also confirmed by the dynamics of Grinchenko University in the international ranking "Transparent Ranking: Top Universities by Google Scholar Citations" during 2020-2022 years. The rating methodology is based on the importance of citing profiles of university employees in the Google Scholar system.

Analyzing the indicators of the university in the ranking of 2022, we note that the value of the total number of citations of employee profiles in the Google Scholar system increased by 10921, which is almost 4 times more than the increase in citations from the previous year (+2735). However, the overall position of the university in the ranking of Ukrainian universities decreased by 4 positions, as other universities are also actively working to increase the openness and transparency of research results (figure 11).





Figure 11: Dynamics of university indicators in the rating "Transparent Ranking: Top Universities by Google Scholar Citations" for the period 2020 – 2022.

According to the results of the study, it was determined that the optimal presentation of the results of research activities of teachers in the ranking contributes to (Smirnova, 2021):

- implementation of measures to ensure open access, transparency, openness of research results;
- use of open journal systems when publishing research results (Open Journal Systems, Open Conference System, DPubS, OpenACS, etc.) (Luparenko, 2020);
- giving preference to publications that give articles a unique DOI that simplifies publication identification and provides a permanent link to the publication, regardless of the change in the publication's web address;
- use of the international identifier of the ORCID scientist to correctly determine the affiliation of the article to the author's profile. ORCID International Scientist Identifier is designed to unambiguously identify the author of an article, which is especially relevant in the case of different spellings of the name of the scientist, scientists with the same names and surnames, etc.;
- placement of publications in open institutional repositories, electronic libraries to increase the visibility of scientific achievements in the network;
- systematic updating of scientist profiles in scientometric databases to increase visibility and update citation indexes such as Google Scholar, ResearchGate, Mendeley, etc.;
- placement of researcher IDs and profile links in scientometric and bibliometric databases on the eportfolio page (Scopus Author ID, Researcher ID, Google Scholar, ResearchGate, etc.);
- implementation of measures to disseminate research results to increase visibility and presence in the international scientific community.

Currently, work is underway to refine and expand the rating on other indicators Scopus, Web of Science, presented in the model to obtain a full-fledged rating system; systems of analytics and statistics with the formation of dynamic visualization of the effectiveness of the scientific potential of the university.

6 CONCLUSIONS

One of the tools for measuring the competitiveness of universities is participation in international and domestic educational rankings. Full and objective assessment in the most authoritative international and Ukrainian rankings is provided by a set of indicators covering various areas of university activities, including research. To monitor the university's indicators in the rankings, it is important to implement internal university rankings, the methodologies of which are based on key performance indicators that are taken into account in international and Ukrainian educational rankings. One of the key indicators of educational ratings are indicators of research activities of university teachers, so for the implementation of systematic monitoring of openness, transparency of the effectiveness of research activities of teachers is an effective tool to develop and implement a rating system for research analysis. Ensuring transparent evaluation of teachers' professional activities, increasing openness, transparency of university activities, open access to results, professional and scientific achievements of teachers are fundamental components of the internal quality assurance system of education. Also, the placement of open identifiers of scientists in scientometric databases, research results, contact data of the scientist promotes the dissemination of knowledge in the scientific information space and allows to expand the possibilities of scientific cooperation.

The rating system for research analysis is based on the indicators of the three most important scientometric databases - Scopus, Web of Science, Google Scholar and provides the main functions - informational, visualization, motivational, competence, analytical, prognostic and management. The rating system is implemented as a web-oriented client-server architecture. One of the components implemented in the system at the 1st stage of the study is the "Google Scholar Transparent Rating". Based on the results of the research were developed recommendations for improving the quality of teachers' research activities. The formation of the rating confirmed the importance of designing a system of research analysis that improves the quality of research, dissemination of research results in the international educational space, analysis of teachers' own development, monitoring the scientific growth of university faculty and obtaining visualized analytics in real time. Prospects for further research are seen in supplementing the ranking with other indicators of research, implementing real-time rating system updates, integration of modern business intelligence systems to build visualized statistics to analyze the effectiveness of the research component of the university.

Systematic implementation of measures to ensure open access to own research results, increase visibility, transparency and dissemination of research results on the Internet contributes to the optimal representation of the scientist in the rating of the research component of professional activities of university teachers, improving professional competence of teachers and positively influences on the indicators of the quality of research work of higher education institutions in domestic and international rankings.

REFERENCES

- Bibliometrics (2022). Bibliometryka ukrainskoi nauky [Bibliometrics of Ukrainian Science]. http://nbuviap. gov.ua/bpnu/.
- Buinytska, O. (2021). Systema pedahohichnoho proiektuvannia informatsiino-osvitnoho seredovyshcha dlia zdiisnennia pidhotovky maibutnikh sotsialnykh pedahohiv [The system of pedagogical design of information and educational environment for the training of future social educators]. Instytut informatsiinykh tekhnolohii i zasobiv navchannia NAPN Ukrainy, Kyiv. https://elibrary.kubg.edu.ua/id/eprint/40182/.
- Buinytska, O., Hrytseliak, B., and Smirnova, V. (2018). Rating as assessment tool of quality and competitiveness of university. *Open educational e-environment* of modern University, 4:16–32. https://doi.org/10. 28925/2414-0325.2018.1632.
- Bykov, V. and Spirin, O. (2016). Informatsiino-analitychna pidtrymka naukovo-pedahohichnykh doslidzhen na osnovi elektronnykh bibliometrychnykh system [Information and analytical support of scientific and pedagogical research based on electronic bibliometric systems]. In Zvitna naukov-praktychna konferentsiia Instytutu informatsiinykh tekhnolohii i zasobiv navchannia NAPN Ukrainy Instytut informatsiinykh tekhnolohii i zasobiv navchannia NAPN Ukrainy, pages 1–3. https://lib.iitta.gov.ua/106914/.
- Bykov, V., Spirin, O., Biloshchytskyi, A., Kuchansky, O., Dikhtiarenko, O., and Novytskyi, O. (2020). Vidkryti tsyfrovi systemy v otsiniuvanni rezultativ naukovopedahohichnykh doslidzhen [Open digital systems for assessment of pedagogical research results]. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 75(1):294–315. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v75i1.3589.
- Bykov, V. Y., Spirin, O. M., Ivanova, S. M., Vakaliuk, T. A., Mintii, I. S., and Kilchenko, A. V. (2021). Scientometric indicators for evaluating the effectiveness of pedagogical research of scientific institutions and educational institutions. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 86(6):289–312. https://doi.org/10. 33407/itlt.v86i6.4656.
- Corporate Standard of Digital Competence (2021). Korporatyvnyi standart tsyfrovoi kompetentnosti vykladachiv Universytetu Grinchenka [Corporate Standard of Digital Competence of Teachers of Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University]. https://kubg.edu.ua/images/stories/Departaments/ vdd/nakaz_421_11.06.21.pdf.
- Corporate Standard of Research Activity (2018). Korporatyvnyi standart naukovoi diialnosti spivrobitnykiv universytetu [Corporate Standard of Research Activity of the staff of University].

https://kubg.edu.ua/images/stories/Departaments/ vdd/documenty/rozdil_8/nakaz_212_02.04.2018.pdf.

- Delgado López-Cózar, E., Orduña-Malea, E., and Martín-Martín, A. (2019). Google Scholar as a Data Source for Research Assessment, pages 95–127. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-030-02511-3_4.
- Dzoba, O. H. (2019). Teoretyko-metodychni aspekty reitynhovoho otsiniuvannia naukovo-pedahohichnykh pratsivnykiv: rynkovyi pidkhid [Rating assessment of scientific and pedagogical workers: theoretical and methodical aspects within a market approach]. Naukovyi visnyk Ivano-Frankivskoho natsionalnoho tekhnichnoho universytetu nafty i hazu (seriia "Ekonomika ta upravlinnia v naftovii i hazovii promyslovosti"), 1(19):84–95. 10.31471/ 2409-0948-2019-1(19)-84-95.
- ENQA (2015). Standards and Guidelines for Quality Assurance in the European Higher Education Area (ESG). https://www.britishcouncil.org.ua/sites/default/files/ standards-and-guidelines_for_qa_in_the_ehea_2015. pdf.
- Gasparyan, A. Y., Yessirkepov, M., Duisenova, A., Trukhachev, V. I., Kostyukova, E. I., and Kitas, G. D. (2018). Researcher and Author Impact Metrics: Variety, Value, and Context. *Journal of Korean Medical Science*, 33. https://doi.org/10.3346/jkms.2018. 33.e139.
- Harvard (2023). Harvard University. https://harvard.edu/.
- Hohunskyi, V. D., Yakovenko, V. O., Liashchenko, T. O., and Otradska, T. V. (2016). Zahalni mekhanizmy formuvannia systemy tsytuvannia naukovykh statei [General mechanisms of citation system of scientific articles]. Visnyk NTU "KhPI". Seriia: Strateh. upr., upr. portfeliamy, prohramamy ta proektamy, 1173:14–18. http://dspace.opu.ua/jspui/handle/ 123456789/1774.
- Intellect (2023). Intellect National Technical University of Ukraine "Igor Sikorsky Kyiv Polytechnic Institute". https://intellect.kpi.ua.
- Kostenko, L., Symonenko, T., and Zhabin, O. (2019). Proekt "Bibliometryka ukrainskoi nauky": ideia, realizatsiia, zadumy [Project "Bibliometrics of Ukrainian Science": Idea, Realization, Plans]. Visnyk knyzhkovoi palaty, 5:30–33. http://nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/vkp_2019_ 5_10.
- KRSPU (2023). Kryvorizkyi derzhavnyi pedahohichnyi universytet [Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University]. https://kdpu.edu.ua/.
- Kuzminska, O., Morze, N., and Smyrnova-Trybulska, E. (2022). Artificial Intelligence in Education: A Study on Using Bibliometric Systems. In *The 14th International Scientific Conference on Distance Learning in Applied Informatics*, volume 4631, pages 393–403. https://www.divai.sk/assets/divai2022.pdf.
- LPNU (2023). Natsionalnyi Universytet "Lvivska Politekhnika" [Lviv Polytechnic National University]. http://wiki.lp.edu.ua/.
- Luparenko, L. (2020). The Use of Electronic Open Journal Systems in Scientific and Pedagogic Research: Results of Experiment. In Sokolov, O., Zholtkevych, G.,

Yakovyna, V., Tarasich, Y., Kharchenko, V., Kobets, V., Burov, O., Semerikov, S., and Kravtsov, H., editors, *Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kharkiv, Ukraine, October 06-10, 2020*, volume 2732 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 1113–1128. CEUR-WS.org. http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2732/20201113.pdf.

- Martín-Martín, A., Orduna-Malea, E., and Delgado López-Cózar, E. (2018a). Coverage of highly-cited documents in Google Scholar, Web of Science, and Scopus: a multidisciplinary comparison. *Scientometrics*, 116(3):2175–2188. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11192-018-2820-9.
- Martín-Martín, A., Orduna-Malea, E., Thelwall, M., and Delgado López-Cózar, E. (2018b). Google Scholar, Web of Science, and Scopus: A systematic comparison of citations in 252 subject categories. *Journal* of Informetrics, 12(4):1160–1177. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.joi.2018.09.002.
- MIT (2022). Massachusetts Institute of Technology. https: //mit.edu/.
- Morze, N. and Buinytska, O. (2017). Systema reitynhovykh pokaznykiv otsiniuvannia diialnosti vykladachiv suchasnykh universytetiv [Rating indicators system of evaluation teacher's activities in modern universities]. Naukovyi chasopys Natsionalnoho pedahohichnoho universytetu imeni M. P. Drahomanova. Seriia 02: Kompiuterno-oriientovani systemy navchannia, 26(19):34–44. http://enpuir.npu. edu.ua/handle/123456789/19082.
- Morze, N., Buinytska, O., Varchenko-Trotsenko, L., Vasylenko, S., Nastas, D., Tiutiunnyk, A., and Lytvynova, S. (2022a). System for digital professional development of university teachers. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(2):152–168. https: //doi.org/10.55056/etq.6.
- Morze, N. V., Buinytska, O. P., and Smirnova, V. A. (2022b). Designing a rating system based on competencies for the analysis of the university teachers' research activities. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 9:139–153. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.109.
- Nazarovets, S. (2019). Proekt Open Ukrainian Citation Index (OUCI): ideia, pryntsyp roboty ta perspektyvy rozvytku [Open Ukrainian Citation Index (OUCI) project: idea, working principle and development prospects]. *Intelektualna vlasnist v Ukraini*, 3:10–13. http://eprints.rclis.org/34365/.
- OUCI (2021). Open Ukrainian Citation Index. https://ouci. dntb.gov.ua/.
- Rating of KSU departments (2023). Reitynh kafedr. Khersonskyi derzhavnyi universytet [Rating of departments of Kherson State University]. http:// publication.kspu.edu/rating/departments/.
- Rating system of NPDU (2022). Reitynhova systema Natsionalnoho pedahohichnoho universytetu imeni M.P. Drahomanova [Rating System of National Pedagogical Dragomanov University]. https://npu.edu.ua/ resursy/reitynhy/vykladachi/reitynhova-systema-2.

- Recommendations NAQA (2022). Rekomendatsii dlia ekspertiv iz rozghliadu vnutrishnoi polityky i protsedur zabezpechennia akademichnoi dobrochesnosti ta zovnishnoi otsinky yikh yakosti [Recommendations for experts to review internal policies and procedures for ensuring academic integrity and external evaluation of their quality]. https://cutt.ly/7KOJR7L.
- Reheilo, I. (2020). Teoretychni osnovy otsiniuvannia ta rozvytku naukovo-pedahohichnykh pratsivnykiv universytetiv u konteksti realizatsii naukovoi diialnosti [Theoretical bases of estimation and development of scientific and pedagogical workers of universities in the context of realization of scientific activity]. In Skyba, Y., editor, *Teoretychni osnovy* rozvytku naukovo-pedahohichnoho potentsialu universytetiv Ukrainy u konteksti rozshyrennia instytutsiinoi avtonomii: preprynt (analitychni materialy) (I chastyna), pages 72—103. Instytut vyshchoi osvity NAPN Ukrainy, Kyiv. https://doi.org/10.31874/ 978-617-7486-40-3-2020.
- Research department of KNU (2023). Naukovodoslidna chastyna Kyivskoho Natsionalnoho Universytetu imeni Tarasa Shevchenka [Research department of Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv]. https://science.knu.ua/.
- Scientific library of NAU (2023). Naukovo-tekhnichna bibiloteka Natsionalnoho Aviatsiinoho Universytetu [Scientific and technical library of the National Aviation University]. http://www.lib.nau.edu.ua/profesors/ default.aspx.
- Semerikov, S. O., Pototskyi, V. S., Slovak, K. I., Hryshchenko, S. M., and Kiv, A. E. (2018). Automation of the Export Data from Open Journal Systems to the Russian Science Citation Index. In Kiv, A. E. and Soloviev, V. N., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, October 2,* 2018, volume 2257 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 215–226. CEUR-WS.org. http://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-2257/paper21.pdf.
- Shynenko, M. A., Kilchenko, A. V., and Tukalo, S. M. (2021). Zastosuvannia naukometrychnykh pokaznykiv dlia otsiniuvannia rezultatyvnosti naukovo-pedahohichnykh doslidzhen [Application of Scientific Metric Indicators to Evaluate the Performance of Scientific and Pedagogical Research]. In Zvitna naukovo-praktychna konferentsiia Instytutu informatsiinykh tekhnolohii i zasobiv navchannia NAPN Ukrainy, prysviachena 20-richchiu Instytutu Instytut informatsiinykh tekhnolohii i zasobiv navchannia NAPN Ukrainy, pages 89–93, Kyiv, Ukraine. https: //lib.iitta.gov.ua/724336/.
- Smirnova, V. (2020). Doslidzhennia vidkrytykh tsyfrovykh informatsiinykh system dlia analizu rezultativ doslidnytskoi diialnosti naukovo-pedahohichnykh pratsivnykiv zakladiv vyshchoi osvity [Research on open digital information systems for analysis of research activity results of higher education institutions academic staff]. Open educational e-environment of modern university, 9:134–144. https://doi.org/10.28925/ 2414-0325.2020.9.11.

- Smirnova, V. (2021). Otsiniuvannia doslidnytskoi diialnosti naukovo-pedahohichnykh pratsivnykiv zakladu vyshchoi osvity yak skladova systemy zabezpechennia yakosti osvity [Evaluation of research activities of higher education institutions academic staff as part of the system of education quality assurance]. Open educational e-environment of modern university, 11:146–157. https://doi.org/10.28925/ 2414-0325.2021.1113.
- Spivakovsky, A., Vinnik, M., Poltoratskiy, M., Tarasich, Y., Spivakovska, Y., Gardner, G., and Panova, K. (2019). Information System of Scientific Activity Indicators of Scientific Organizations: Development Status and Prospects. In Ermolayev, V., Mallet, F., Yakovyna, V., Kharchenko, V. S., Kobets, V., Kornilowicz, A., Kravtsov, H., Nikitchenko, M. S., Semerikov, S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kherson, Ukraine, June 12-15, 2019, volume 2393 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 220–228. CEUR-WS.org. http://ceur-ws. org/Vol-2393/paper_260.pdf.
- Stanford (2023). Stanford University. https://stanford.edu/.
- Tkachuk, V. V., Semerikov, S. O., and Yechkalo, Y. V. (2017). Reitynh suchasnoho naukovtsia yak skladnyk reitynhu universytetu [Rating of a Modern Scientist as a Component of the University Rating]. In Materialy Mizhnarodnoi naukovo-tekhnichnoi konferentsii "Rozvytok promyslovosti ta suspilstva", page 405. https://doi.org/10.31812/0564/723.
- Vakarenko, O. (2018). Naukometrychni bazy danykh: vid systemy otrymannia informatsii do instrumentu otsiniuvannia naukovykh doslidzhen [Scientometric databases: from system of obtaining information to instrument for evaluating scientific research]. Nauka Ukrainy v svitovomu informatsiinomu prostori, 15:9– 15. https://doi.org/10.15407/akademperiodyka.372. 009.
- Washington (2023). University of Washington. https://uw. edu/.
- WHEC (2022). Call for transformation runs through UN-ESCO World Higher Education Conference. https: //cutt.ly/nXpmAV6.
- Yaroshenko, O. (2020). Teoretychni osnovy reitynhuvannia yak instrumentu otsiniuvannia diialnosti naukovopedahohichnykh pratsivnykiv universytetiv ukrainy [Theoretical Bases of Rating as a Tool for Evaluating the Activities of Scientific and Pedagogical Staff of Ukrainian Universities]. In Skyba, Y., editor, Teoretychni osnovy rozvytku naukovo-pedahohichnoho potentsialu universytetiv Ukrainy u konteksti rozshyrennia instytutsiinoi avtonomii: preprynt (analitychni materialy) (I chastyna), pages 57—71. Instytut vyshchoi osvity NAPN Ukrainy, Kyiv. https://doi.org/10. 31874/978-617-7486-40-3-2020.

Cloud Technologies for the Creation of Open Educational Resources by Future and Practicing Teachers

Vladyslav Ye. Velychko¹[®]^a, Elena G. Fedorenko¹[®]^b, Ludmila V. Dolins'ka²[®]^c and Volodymyr V. Zavalnuk²[®]^d

¹Donbas State Pedagogical University, 19 Batiuk Str., Sloviansk, 64122, Ukraine ²National University "Odesa Law Academy", 23 Fontanska Str., Odesa, 65009, Ukraine {vladislav.velichko, fedorenko.elena1209}@gmail.com, lslvvvas@ukr.net

Keywords: Educational Practice, Development of Electronic Educational Resources, Open Educational Resources.

Abstract: Practical training plays a significant role in the process of professional training of future teachers. An integral part of the training is the full participation of future teachers in the educational process of secondary education during the internship. The simulation of the professional activity of future teachers in two stages takes place. The first is seminars that provide practical skills in mastering the theory. Educational practice in secondary school is the next step in the practical testing of students' knowledge. During the internship in secondary schools, interns not only implement their own theoretical knowledge, but also increase the level of information competence one. During the period of epidemiological restrictions, the methods and means of e-learning were rapidly used. Electronic educational resources allow us to solve new challenges facing the education system. The change of the quality of e-learning tools and improving the methods of their application realized as soon well. The development of e-educational resources is a difficult task. One of the ways to solve this problem is to involve future teachers in this process during their initial practice. Future teachers have theoretical knowledge of information technology. They know how to use their theoretical knowledge. This is because e-learning in higher education school is actively implemented for many years. By the way, during the initial practice, future teachers have the opportunity to test the developed e-eucational resources. Then, to make some adjustments. Our experiment on the creation of open educational resources by means of cloud technologies during the internship proved the possibility of solving an important practical problem. Analytical analysis of the obtained results allowed making a promising conclusion on the feasibility of developing the practice of developing open educational resources.

1 INTRODUCTION

The basis of informatization of education are information and communication technologies. It is a powerful tool for intensifying the educational process, its organizational processes and activities. The field of accessibility and acquisition of new knowledge, skills and abilities is expanding. The ultimate goal of open education and e-learning cannot be considered informatization and implementation of e-learning tools in the educational process. Modern educational practice needs tools not only for publishing and for storing educational resources. It is necessary to have a developed set of tools for teamwork with different materials (Semerikov et al., 2022). Such materials must meet clearly defined criteria within educational systems. Such systems both inside and outside educational institutions should be used. Not only do users need to have free access to resources. Users need to be able to work collaboratively with learning materials. Users should be able to modify materials, adapt them to the needs of their own educational activities. In fact, the ability to modify e-educational resources their quality will improve. This process provides new knowledge in e-learning. And this is a necessary condition for the creation of open education.

Today, the Open Content Initiative, or Open Educational Resources (OER), dates back to the 2000s, with initiatives from the University of Tübingen in Germany, the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Hewlet Fondantion. We will use a term that, in our

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9752-0907

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1897-874X

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8763-1977

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1057-3852

Velychko, V., Fedorenko, E., Dolins'ka, L. and Zavalnuk, V.

Cloud Technologies for the Creation of Open Educational Resources by Future and Practicing Teachers. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 253-263 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

opinion, is more successful "Open Educational Resources" or "Open E-Learning Resource". OERs are resources used to teach learning material. These teaching materials or research resources are in the public domain. These materials are free of intellectual property licenses. They are widely available for use or reuse for others.

2 THEORETICAL FOUNDATIONS OF THE STUDY

The development of open electronic resources is a complex and multifaceted problem. Specialists of various specialities are involved in the creation of electronic educational resources. Such specialists are specialists in such fields as learning theory, psychology, ergonomics, information and communication technologies, etc. (Lytvynova, 2018; Day and Erturk, 2017; Vakaliuk et al., 2020; Valko et al., 2020; Shyshkina and Marienko, 2020; Popel and Shyshkina, 2019; Kholoshyn et al., 2019; Markova et al., 2019; Nechypurenko et al., 2017) formulated a number of questions about the process of creating and using open educational resources, such as:

- Do students assigned to create, revise, or remix artifacts find these assignments more valuable, interesting, motivating, or rewarding than other forms of assessment? Why or why not?
- Do students who make their assignments publicly available demonstrate greater mastery of learning outcomes or show more enthusiasm for their work than students assigned traditional assessments? Why or why not?
- Do students who openly license their work find additional learning benefits? Does openly licensed student work produce additional benefits to the broader community?
- Are there any drawbacks (real or perceived) that are voiced by students or faculty that participate in OER-enabled pedagogy?

Some answers to these questions can be found in (Velychko et al., 2021a,b). In particular, in Velychko et al. (Velychko et al., 2021a) the stages of development of open e-educational resources during the educational activity are offered. We conducted the study of the possibilities of creating open educational resources during the educational practice by means of cloud technologies in the future.

E-learning has made it possible to create and spread such a phenomenon as "Open Education". The

advantages of the specifics and basic principles of open education are as follows:

- application of information and communication technologies;
- using of technologies of interaction between participants of educational process in synchronous and asynchronous modes;
- specially designed teaching aids that differ from traditional ones;
- network structures of organization and management of educational content, as well as the learning process;
- specific presentation of educational information, due to lack of control over the concentration of attention on educational material;
- specialized quality control of training, without which there can be no transition to the next stage of training or training material.

Thus, open education is fundamentally different from traditional. It is more in line with the goals, objectives and content of the information society. The main advantages of open education include:

- a) popularity and accessibility (open education has almost limitless opportunities for wide coverage of the population and territories, the organization of free access to information and educational resources);
- b) adaptability and flexibility (the open education system has a wide range of opportunities to adapt to changing environmental conditions. It is capable of significant transformations of all-important elements of the educational process)
- c) internationality and globalization (free functioning of the open education system outside state borders);
- d) planetary openness and availability of information and educational resources;
- e) modular structure and asynchrony (modular principle of constructing the content and organization of the educational process allows to form individual curricula and programs that best meet the personal needs of students, as well as spread over time various elements of the educational process);
- f) economic efficiency (educational results are achieved with less time, money and other resources compared to traditional approaches).

Based on the definition of the General Conference of the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) during the meeting in Paris from 12 to 27 November 2019 at its 40th session the following was emphasized.

Open Educational Resources (OER) are learning, teaching and research materials in any format and medium that reside in the public domain or are under copyright that have been released under an open license, that permit no-cost access, re-use, re-purpose, adaptation and redistribution by others (UNESCO, 2019).

Open License is a standard way of granting, restricting the rights to use, transform, reuse, or distribute creative results (sound, text, images, multimedia, etc.). To protect copyright in environments where content (especially digital) can be easily copy and made availabled for public access without the author's permission, Open Licenses have been developed. Open licenses to help guarantee permission to copy and share in a structured legal form are expected. This approach is more flexible than it is today (when all rights automatically granted). Licenses in each case provide certain rights, exempting from the restrictions of traditional copyright. OER is an integral part of this process. OERs provide greater flexibility in the use, reuse, and adaptation of materials to local contexts and learning environments. In this case, the authors receive well-deserved recognition.

Licensing software or electronic educational resources allows you to grant usage rights. They are a mechanism for copyright protection. Licenses must have granted even when authors wish to provide their designs for use free of charge. This mechanism allows you to make no exceptions uses. Moreover, while there are free licenses for software such as the GNU General Public License, the Apache License, the Mozilla Public License, and others, Creative Commons (CC) licenses are typically for content that includes most e-learning resources. The Creative Commons initiative (founded in 2001) is a companion to the Open E-Learning Resource initiative. The main purpose of the organization is to help revive the public domain among creative works, which include electronic educational resources. Creative Commons promotes a collective goal focused on the information society. Creative Commons a web application that helps people grant their creative work open licenses or partially retain copyright has developed. At the same time, it licenses them as free uses, under certain conditions. Unlike the GNU General Public License or others, Creative Commons licenses are not intended for software, but for other types of creative work. Namely, the creation of websites, musical works, movies and videos, photographs, literary works, training courses, etc. The goal is to increase the content on the Internet, as well as open access

to educational material free and accessible. To this end, metadata has been developed that can be used by search engines and other online search applications. For example, photos that are free if you mention the original photographer, or songs that can copied, distributed or removed without any restrictions, or electronic educational resources.

Ukraine has a low culture of digital content consumption. An example of this is the significant percentage of unlicensed software use. The Software Alliance estimates that unlicensed software use in Ukraine in 2017 estimated at 80%, equivalent to \$108 million, with an average of 57% across Central and Eastern Europe (BSA, 2018). This culture of consuming digital content also applies to electronic educational resources. How the developed educational resources be protected from illegal use? This question is the most common of many colleagues. Technological tools to limit digital content operations exist, but they are unable to address this issue at a fundamental level. We believe that the introduction of comprehensive licensing of digital content will help address this issue. Compliance with open licenses should help shape the perception of licenses for digital content and the possibility of its use, depending on the license. In fact, the presence of a requirement for a mandatory license for digital content is an indicator of legal relations in the field of electronic educational resources, the civilized process of their creation, distribution and use.

OER-Enabled Pedagogy is based on a studentcentered approach to learning. The originality of our learning experience is that in the learning process students are involved as creators of open content development using 5R permissions (retain, reuse, revise, remix, redistribute). In essence, 5R permissions coincide with the four levels of freedom free software and the corresponding practice of its application in educational activities (Velychko et al., 2018). In their study, David Wiley and John Hilton identified the relationship between the types of tasks and the end results of their performance (table 1) (Wiley and Hilton III, 2018). According to these scientists, the results of one-time tasks are important only for students, and therefore, other participants in the educational process can not use the results. Nevertheless, the results of authentic tasks, due to the specifics, can be useful not only to their authors but also to other users. The results of construction tasks, according to the authors of the study, can be made public and reach a wider audience. Ongoing tasks public and licensed openly must made. Renewable tasks provide an opportunity to create open educational resources that meet the requirements of 5R.

Open educational resources should not only have

the appropriate licenses, but also the location (link) where they can be downloaded and downloaded, provide an assessment and describe the experience. Most of the open educational resources are stored in appropriate repositories. Examples of open educational resources repositories include Open Discover Space (https://portal.opendiscoveryspace.eu), MER-LOT (https://merlot.org) and OER Commons (https: //www.oercommons.org).

Unfortunately, there are no repositories in this area in Ukraine. Universities, institutes of postgraduate pedagogical education, city and regional departments of education form their own repositories. Such Repositories are local and do not gain widespread popularity in the educational environment. Despite this, the pedagogical community in Ukraine is uniting. Opportunities for improving and expanding professional competencies on such open educational platforms as EdEra, Vseosvita, "Na urok", Prometheus, etc. are expanding. Thus, skills in working with open educational resources during the period of study of students in higher education institutions should be acquire. In this context, future teachers have a special advantage. Their responsibility here to society is obvious.

Practical training of future teachers is one of the important stages of the educational process. One of the basic components of practical training of future teachers is, in fact, educational practice in secondary schools - schools, colleges and more. On the one hand, during the internship the future teacher is ready to implement the acquired theoretical skills. On the other hand, they gain practical experience. And this allows you to form the holistic competencies of the future teacher. In the period of sanitary restrictions caused by biological threats, the role of information and communication technologies is growing. This is especially important during the internship. During such challenges, the exchange of experience and learning materials takes place through communication between students, mentors and trainees, between trainees and practice leaders, and directly between trainees. The possibility of collegial activity opens up. Effective results are those that collectively are performs. The result is such electronic educational resources that can be used by the general community. Such practical activity aims to increase the level of formation of information, communication, organizational competencies of students.

What are the opportunities for joint work on the creation of electronic educational resources? First, practical acquaintance with the means of sharing digital content; second, the practical use of cloud technologies; third, conducting a critical analysis of the suitability of certain cloud technology services for the development and creation of electronic educational resources.

Some teachers use open educational resources only as teaching aids. However, another group of teachers involves future teachers in their creation and exchange during training. For example, in the Digital Futures in Teacher Education (DeFT) project, practicing teachers, future teachers and educators participated on an equal footing in the study of digital literacy. They jointly developed open educational resources that were used in the study of digital literacy in high school (Gruszczynska et al., 2013). A similar experience of creating open educational resources in a study by Tur et al. (Tur et al., 2016) was describe. The study involved three groups of future primary school teachers studying at the University of the Balearic Islands. During the course, future teachers had to create open educational resources, which was a testament to their technical skills. The survey showed an overall positive impact on students' perceptions of such developments, the creation and use of open educational resources. However, during the analysis of their answers there were some inconsistencies and nuances.

Kim (Kim, 2018) considered the issue of preparing future teachers for the use of open educational resources and the practice of using open educational resources in educational activities. In particular, the author cited the following principles of training future teachers: 1. It is necessary to involve those teachers who care about the problem of open educational resources, who use different approaches to solving the problem. 2. There is a need to promote the deepening of cognitive processing of educational material by future teachers. 3. Give broad autonomy to future teachers in the process of developing open educational resources. 4. Peer interaction should be encouraged and maintained to improve lesson planning outcomes. 5. Interaction with peers should be encouraged to improve lesson planning outcomes.

The results of a study by Kimmons (Kimmons, 2014) revealed the following points. First, this is what is valuable for improving the literacy of teachers with open education K-12. The need to overcome various misconceptions to support the large-scale development of open education literacy in K-12 has also proven. In addition, proponents of open education must recognize that all teachers, regardless of the time of study: a) are willing to innovate, b) use open resources, c) openly share their achievements. Open pedagogy is becoming increasingly popular as a teaching method to reduce authoritarianism in the classroom while learning. It allows to involve students in pedagogical testing to obtain the initial re-

sults of pedagogical work.

To study the impact of open pedagogy on motivation, Werth and Williams (Werth and Williams, 2021) conducted interviews with first-year students of the College of Four-Year Humanities. The survey was conducted after the end of the semester project in the framework of the pedagogical approach described above. The evaluation of students' responses was conducted using the theory of self-determination, in particular on the styles of motivation regulation, which were demonstrated by the research participants. The results showed that students are influenced by various forms of external motivation during a project based on open pedagogy. Incidentally, autonomous forms of regulation were more common than controlled regulation.

Cloud technology services have both advantages and disadvantages. We further highlight those that are critical to the objectives of our study on the application of cloud technologies. The advantages of using cloud technologies include:

- it is not necessary to have your own powerful computers (this is relevant for solving the problem of providing educational institutions with modern computers);
- the problem of using unlicensed software is solved (this is relevant for solving the problem of insufficient funding for the payment of licensed software);
- mobility of resource use (open possibility to work from any suitable point of the network if the necessary communication channel is available);
- the possibility of joint work on documents (which is relevant for solving the problem of organizing collective work on joint projects at a distance).

The disadvantages of using cloud technologies in educational activities are:

- dependence on Internet connection (stability of broadband access is critical for collaboration on documents);
- not every cloud application provides the ability to save the results in a user-friendly form on the desired media (the difference between data formats in cloud applications and desktop software versions sometimes requires data reformatting and loss of original quality);
- there is a risk that the service provider will stop providing cloud services (such problems occur quite often when using free services).

Moreover, if the advantages of using cloud technology services in full must be use, then to overcome the shortcomings must be prepared as follows: a) have an alternative source of Internet connection; b) use open data formats; c) keep backup copies of your own data. The concept and phenomenon of joint activities are actively study by psychology and pedagogy. In the process of studying such a concept as "joint activity", attention should be pay to two aspects: 1) substantive activity; 2) the process of building relationships between people involved in activities and communication. The main "unit" of the analysis of joint activities and its collective subject is the interaction of participants in joint activities.

At the heart of the dynamic concept of joint activities is a conceptual "triangle", which combines three areas:

- 1) subject-oriented interaction (interaction aimed at changing the subject of joint activities),
- subject-oriented interaction (interaction aimed at changing the characteristics of the individual subject of joint activities),
- organizational-oriented interaction (interaction that changes the ways and style of performing activities).

Much attention is paid to the impact of joint activities on intellectual development, the formation of social intelligence and social competence of the subject of education. For all the development of the concept of "joint activities", the organization of such activities in terms of development of technical means that specifically support and strengthen the joint nature of activities is not considered. In this context, the concept of "joint network activity" is a further development of the concept of "joint activity", including special network tools.

Joint networking requires its design based on the following conditions:

- the availability of new pedagogically sound technical means of joint activities on the Internet, which open up opportunities to expand the range of programs, objects, data and communications;
- the availability of new organizational forms and scenarios of educational network activities, focused on the creation of a social network by participants in joint activities.

3 RESEARCH RESULTS

Educational pedagogical practice as a type of practical activity of students aimed at solving various pedagogical problems should be considere. The specificity of this activity is that it identifies with the professional activities of teachers. At the same time, educational pedagogical practice is a form of professional training in a higher education institution, the purpose of which is:

- to deepen and consolidate the theoretical knowledge that the student received at the university, and learn to apply this knowledge in practice in educational work with students;
- to equip students with the ability to observe and analyze the educational work carried out at school with students;
- to prepare students for lessons with the use of methods that enhance the cognitive activity of students;
- to develop and consolidate in students a love for the teaching profession, to encourage the desire to study advanced pedagogical experience and improve their pedagogical skills.

Epidemiological limitations and widespread use of distance learning make adjustments in the process of practical training of future teachers. Until now, it was a good practice to gather from time to time in a higher education institution and discuss with classmates and methodologist's problematic issues of educational practice, share experiences, adjust their theoretical knowledge and more. Today requires communication and common tasks at a distance. To solve this problem, it is necessary to use information and communication technologies and means of joint activities. The best solution to this problem is the widespread use of cloud technology. This is quite effective for the preservation of accumulated data and for communication between participants in educational activities. Using cloud technologies, we get the opportunity to establish communication and joint activities to work in groups.

Based on the above provisions on joint activities, the benefits of using cloud technologies and the need to develop and create open electronic educational resources (Velychko et al., 2022a,b), a program of educational pedagogical practice for future teachers of mathematics, physics and computer science was developing. The peculiarity of the program is that the creation of electronic educational resources to the obligatory results of educational pedagogical practice has been add. The subject of electronic educational resources was limited to the topics of training sessions conducted by trainees. The following two requirements applied to e-learning resources, the first of which is collective resource development. The second requirement was to publish the developed electronic educational resource under an open license, ie the final product must be an open electronic resource. Tasks offered to students of educational programs 014 Secondary education (mathematics), (physics), (computer science) of the Faculty of Physics and Mathematics of Donbas State Pedagogical University. These students underwent training and production practice in general secondary education institutions of Donetsk, Kharkiv, Luhansk and Dnipropetrovsk regions provided for three areas of activity: the creation of joint electronic educational resources, information visualization, and online organizational platforms. Consider what tools to perform the tasks have been analyzing.

The use of presentations, even in dynamic systems, does not provide an opportunity to engage students in active learning. Quite different opportunities are providing by whiteboards, thanks to which in the online learning format the participant of the educational process takes part in discussing problems, solving problems, etc. We selected and offered 10 cloud services to create training material for the training session (table 1). Before conducting the classes, the trainees had to get acquainted with the proposed list, explore the functions and capabilities of each of these cloud facilities and create training materials for the class. For comparison, the trainees prepared the teaching material in the form of a presentation and demonstrated it to the students, while the students performed the tasks on paper. After the lesson, students were interviewe. It was found out which of the proposed options the students liked the most. The survey of the class showed that 70.0% of the surveyed students out of 374 who took part in the survey preferred the lesson where the "white board" was use.

The systems presented in table 2 were studied to visualize information and create interactive content. Visibility is one of the benefits of electronic educational resources. The development and creation, even of static, e-learning resources is one of the tasks of e-learning. The limited space available for inspection requires the use of scrolling presentation technologies. Accordingly, the method of their application should change, in contrast to the fact that students see a large paper poster. The constant use of the same templates, design styles, etc. in educational activities leads to a loss of visual interest in educational material. Using a variety of design styles, fonts, icons, etc. increases students' visual activity. Each of the proposed systems has its own unique design style. Even having created infographics in different cloud services based on common data, we get fundamentally different digital products.

Practitioners faced the problem of downloading created digital objects to their own device. At the same time, their integration into other objects created

Name	Free usage	Localization	Download object	Embedding in systems
Padlet.com	freemium	Yes/Partly	No	Yes
Linoit.com	free	No	No	Yes
Idroo.com	free	No	Yes	Yes
Miro.com	freemium	No	Yes	Yes
Whiteboardfox.com	freemium	No	No	Yes
Jamboard.google.com	free	Yes	Yes	Yes
NoteBookCast.com	free	No	No	Yes
Conceptboard.com	freemium	No	No	Yes
Groupboard.com	freemium	No	No	Yes
Classroomscreen.com	freemium	No	No	Yes

Table 1: Whiteboard cloud services.

by cloud technology applications took place without hindrance. This problem arose because the cloud technology services we considered, at the beginning of its establishment, most of them offered their resources free. Increasing their popularity, most cloud services have moved to the financial model "Free -Premium" (Freemium), where some services on a free basis and some on a commercial basis are provide. As a rule, on a commercial basis, offer to upload your own data to the user's device. However, for each of the applications, we were able to obtain a digital object created by us on our own computing device by third-party methods.

The created means of visual presentation of data during the training activities of trainees were use. In addition, the interns invited students to create their own posters, charts, graphs, illustrations, etc. in computer science classes and outside classroom. 362 students took part in this study, of which 235 students (about 65%) liked to create digital content of this type. The students included such categories as "beautiful", "visual", and "useful". Students who were dissatisfied with this work used terms such as "not clear", "difficult", "I have no artistic flair". The answers of dissatisfied students have no meaningful basis. It should be noted this fact. Such answers are a weak justification for their unwillingness to use the proposed cloud services. We did not study the reasons for such reluctance on the part of students.

We also asked the students: "What is the main thing in the cloud service to create data visualization in your opinion?". The obtained answers for clarity are presented in figure 1 in the form of a diagram. The largest number of students (32.6%) spoke about "understandable language" used in the cloud service interface. Despite the availability of cloud online translation services, the English-language interface caused difficulties when using the application. In second place (28.2%) is the option that corresponds to the ability to conveniently work with the service on mobile devices, or even as a separate application. Today, the number of users via mobile systems exceeds the number of users via a desktop computer system, so this figure is extremely important. In third position was the design criterion (23.5%). Moreover, although the systems that were proposed were directly relate to graphic design, the ergonomics of these systems still need to be improved. In last place was the criterion of "available examples of work" (15.7%). In our understanding, this criterion indicates a lack of creative thinking and corresponds to the task according to the template. The fact that the smallest number of students are ready to do tasks on the model gives hope, because the capabilities of the systems are sufficient for creativity and creative presentation of information.



Figure 1: Results of a student survey on the use of cloud services.

The task of creating shared electronic resources was to analyze existing cloud services to create presentations and text documents. For this purpose, it was proposing to use office applications of cloud services, which are presented in table 3. Unlike the previous comparison tables, we analyzed the advantages and disadvantages that were collected according to the subjective judgments of the trainees. It was in these applications that they tried to create electronic educational resources, which then had to be-

Name	Free usage	Localization	Download object	Embedding in systems
Easel.ly	Free	No	Yes (wiles)	Yes
Infogram.com	Freemium	No	Yes (wiles)	Yes
Canva.com	Freemium	Yes	Yes	Yes
Crello.com	Free	Yes	Yes	Yes
Genial.ly	Freemium	No	Yes (wiles)	Yes
Chartblocks.com	Free	No	Yes	Yes
Piktochart.com	Freemium	No	Yes (wiles)	Yes
Venngage.com	Freemium	Yes	Yes	Yes
Vizzlo.com	Freemium	No	Yes (wiles)	Yes
Adioma.com	Freemium	No	Yes	Yes

Table 2: Whiteboard cloud services.

come open educational resources. It should be note that the trainees were already familiar with Google Docs and Office Online. Nevertheless, Zoho Office Suite and ONLYOFFICE turned out to be extremely interesting and useful for students. Interns are interested in both the new built-in design styles and the new functionality provided by cloud services. It was in these office applications that interns tried to create electronic educational resources. Tasks for creating open educational resources were propose for groups of three students and the selected topics were similar in content.

After the end of pedagogical practice, a survey of interns was conduct on the joint creation of open educational resources. They were ask the following questions:

- A. Your attitude to open digital content (Positive / Negative)?
- B. Do you have previously had experience of using open educational resources during pedagogical practice (Yes / No)?
- C. Have you used digital resources before despite not having this action with a license agreement (Yes / No)?
- D. Are you ready to create open educational resources (Yes / No)?
- E. How do you feel about the joint development of e-learning resources (Positive / Negative)?
- F. Is it appropriate to use unlicensed software to develop open educational resources (Yes / No)?

88 students of the Faculty of Physics and Mathematics of Donbas State Pedagogical University took part in the survey. The term of the experiment is two years. The results of the survey are presents in figure 2. Questions A-C were relating to the use of open educational resources, and questions D-F were relating to their development. The question of the research was to find out: are students who use open educational resources ready to develop them? Comparisons of responses between the two groups (A-C) and (D-F) were performed using the Mann-Whitney U test. The results of calculations $U_{emp} = 18$, $U_{0,1} = 3.0$, $U_{0,05} = 7.0$ indicate the absence of significant differences between groups. Therefore, students who are ready to use open educational resources are ready to develop them.

The analysis of the answers shows that there is a not very pleasant aspect, which is highlighted in questions C and F. Students do not pay much attention to the issue of licensing a digital product, and it does not matter whether it is an electronic educational resource or software. It should be note, that the surveys conducted in 2019 on free access to software showed an even worse attitude to the licensing of software.

The following resources were proposed to address the identified issues regarding the licensing purity of digital content, including electronic educational resources, open educational resources, joint development of electronic educational resources, licensing of electronic content, etc:

- open mass online courses "Prometheus: AI101" (https://prometheus.org.ua);
- course of review lectures "Open licenses. Creative Commons Initiative";
- elective subjects of wide choice for students "Data Visualization" and "Infographics in Education";
- advanced training courses for research and teaching staff of Donbas State Pedagogical University "Information and communication technologies in education";
- certificate training courses for teachers "Information and communication technologies in education";
- modernization of the content of academic disciplines.

The final results of the proposed resources are open and need further study. This is because each of the proposed resources for students of different

Name	Advantages	Disadvantages				
Google Docs	Free and no significant restrictions; Con-	Occasionally there are failures; There is				
(docs.google.com)	venient, non-distracting design; Well-	no possibility to personalize the workspace				
	thought-out collaboration in the cloud; In-	(branding).				
	tegration with Google services regular in-					
	novations; Templates gallery					
Zoho Office Suite	Extensive list of additional applications;	Lack of localized documentation and incom-				
(zoho.com)	Interesting features in the paid version;	plete localization of applications; The mobile				
	Free version available; Convenient work	version only works in read mode Numerous				
	with projects thanks to Workspaces.	disadvantages of Zoho Sheet.				
Office Online (of-	Excellent compatibility with MS Office	Working with documents needs to be re-				
fice.microsoft.com	formats; Responsive, stable touch interface	viewed; A small selection of import and ex-				
/online/)	and convenient Ribbon tape; Close inte-	port formats, limited by proprietary licenses;				
	gration with Office 365 and Microsoft ser-	No automatic saving, inconvenient version				
	vices.	control; Functional "gaps" in Excel; Fuzzy				
		commenting system.				
ONLYOFFICE	User-friendly interface; Import documents	No spell check; Quite high rates for individual				
(onlyoffice.com)	from other services.	use of the service; There are no full screen and				
		compact modes; Documentation in English;				
		Weak functionality of Spreadsheet Editor and				
		Presentation Editor.				

Fable 3: Cloud	office a	pplications
----------------	----------	-------------

	Yes / Positive	No / Negative		
A	66	22		
В	65	23		
C	53	35		
D	45	43		
E	75	13		

Development and creation of OER



Figure 2: The results of the survey on the joint creation of open educational resources.

courses is designed. By the way, practicing teachers and educators are ready to continue working in this direction in order to create an environment to promote e-learning and create resources for e-learning. The ideas of open education, which are embodies in the process of development and implementation of open educational resources, only when the content of education and information of society will have a common basis, will be spread. Such a process is necessary to create a useful public good.

4 CONCLUSIONS

Open educational resources are a product of the digital world, which has great potential for further achieving UNESCO's goals in the field of education. They help countries, institutions and teachers to share quality education and materials free of charge. They give teachers a new challenge to integrate digital technology into their courses and programs, and enable students to access quality content offline. They are an incentive for teachers, students and institutions to work together to create original learning material. The creation of open educational resources by future teachers during pedagogical practice provides an opportunity not only to get a great practice of creating elearning tools. They allow implementing in practice the acquired theoretical knowledge of the theory of learning, methods of teaching specialized subjects, a creative vision of solving urgent problems of learning. The conducted experiment revealed the potential of such a practical activity as the creation of open electronic educational resources. Improving interaction between participants of educational activities by means of information and communication technologies. Launching the process of creating digital educational content of a new type.

Strategic policies need to involve OER in education systems at the state level to be developed, encouraging educational institutions to make full use of these developments to achieve global development goals. Prospective areas of research are the study of the quality of created open electronic educational resources and their classification.

REFERENCES

- (2018). Software management: Security imperative, business opportunity. Bsa global software survey, BSA. https://gss.bsa.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/ 05/2018_BSA_GSS_Report_en.pdf.
- Day, S. and Erturk, E. (2017). e-Learning objects in the cloud: SCORM compliance, creation and deployment options. *Knowledge Management & E-Learning*, 9(4):449–467. https://doi.org/10.34105/j.kmel.2017. 09.028.
- Gruszczynska, A., Merchant, G., and Pountney, R. (2013). "Digital futures in teacher education": Exploring open approaches towards digital literacy. *Electronic Journal of e-Learning*, 11(3):193–206. https://files.eric.ed. gov/fulltext/EJ1016248.pdf.
- Kholoshyn, I. V., Bondarenko, O. V., Hanchuk, O. V., and Varfolomyeyeva, I. M. (2020). Cloud technologies as a tool of creating Earth Remote Sensing educational resources. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:474–486. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.388.
- Kim, D. (2018). A Framework for Implementing OER-Based Lesson Design Activities for Pre-Service Teachers. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 19(4). https://doi.org/ 10.19173/irrodl.v19i4.3394.
- Kimmons, R. M. (2014). Developing open education literacies with practicing K-12 teachers. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 15(6). https://doi.org/10.19173/ irrodl.v15i6.1964.
- Lytvynova, S. H. (2018). Cloud-oriented learning environment of secondary school. CTE Workshop Proceedings, 5:7–12. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.129.
- Markova, O. M., Semerikov, S. O., Striuk, A. M., Shalatska, H. M., Nechypurenko, P. P., and Tron, V. V. (2019). Implementation of cloud service models in training of future information technology specialists. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:499–515. https://doi. org/10.55056/cte.409.
- Nechypurenko, P. P., Stoliarenko, V. G., Starova, T. V., Selivanova, T. V., Markova, O. M., Modlo, Y. O., and Shmeltser, E. O. (2019). Development and implementation of educational resources in chemistry with elements of augmented reality. In Kiv, A. E. and Shyshkina, M. P., editors, *Proceedings of the 2nd International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, March 22, 2019*, volume 2547 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 156– 167. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2547/ paper12.pdf.
- Nosenko, Y. H., Popel, M. V., and Shyshkina, M. P. (2019). The state of the art and perspectives of using adaptive cloud-based learning systems in higher education

pedagogical institutions (the scope of Ukraine). *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:173–183. https://doi.org/10. 55056/cte.377.

- Popel, M. V. and Shyshkina, M. P. (2019). The areas of educational studies of the cloud-based learning systems. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:159–172. https: //doi.org/10.55056/cte.375.
- Semerikov, S. O., Vakaliuk, T. A., Mintii, I. S., Hamaniuk, V. A., Soloviev, V. N., Bondarenko, O. V., Nechypurenko, P. P., Shokaliuk, S. V., Moiseienko, N. V., and Shepiliev, D. S. (2022). Design methodology for immersive educational resources. *Educational Dimension*, 6:176–199. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.4716.
- Shyshkina, M. P. and Marienko, M. V. (2020). The use of the cloud services to support the math teachers training. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:690–704. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.419.
- Tur, G., Urbina, S., and Moreno, J. (2016). From OER to Open Education: Perceptions of Student Teachers after Creating Digital Stories with Creative Common Resources. BRAIN. Broad Research in Artificial Intelligence and Neuroscience, 7(2):pp. 34– 40. https://lumenpublishing.com/journals/index.php/ brain/article/view/2077.
- UNESCO (2019). Recommendation on Open Educational Resources (OER). http://portal.unesco.org/en/ ev.php-URL_ID=49556&URL_DO=DO_TOPIC& URL_SECTION=201.html.
- Vakaliuk, T., Antoniuk, D., Morozov, A., Medvedieva, M., and Medvediev, M. (2020). Green IT as a tool for design cloud-oriented sustainable learning environment of a higher education institution. *E3S Web of Conferences*, 166:10013. https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/ 202016610013.
- Valko, N. V., Kushnir, N. O., and Osadchyi, V. V. (2020). Cloud technologies for STEM education. CTE Workshop Proceedings, 7:435–447. https://doi.org/10. 55056/cte.384.
- Velychko, V., Omelchenko, S., and Fedorenko, O. (2021a). Open Access to ICT and Electronic Educational Resources as a Guarantee of Sustainable Development of Society. In Proceedings of the 2020 3rd International Seminar on Education Research and Social Science (ISERSS 2020), pages 79–85. Atlantis Press. https://doi.org/10.2991/assehr.k.210120.017.
- Velychko, V. Y., Fedorenko, E. H., and Kassim, D. A. (2018). Conceptual bases of use of free software in the professional training of pre-service teacher of mathematics, physics and computer science. In Kiv, A. E. and Soloviev, V. N., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, October 2, 2018*, volume 2257 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 93– 102. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2257/ paper11.pdf.
- Velychko, V. Y., Fedorenko, E. H., and Serdiuk, O. Y. (2022a). Theoretical Bases of Application of Free Software in Preparation of Pre-service Teachers of Mathematics, Physics and Computer Science. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., edi-

tors, Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 1: AET, pages 261–271. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10. 5220/0010923600003364.

- Velychko, V. Y., Omelchenko, S. O., Fedorenko, E. G., and Kravtsov, H. M. (2022b). Familiarity with Free Software through Online Services. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 1: AET, pages 605– 615. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/ 0010926500003364.
- Velychko, V. Y., Omelchenko, S. O., Khyzhniak, I. A., and Fedorenko, E. G. (2021b). Developing and using open electronic educational resources in educational activities. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840(1):012063. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/ 1840/1/012063.
- Werth, E. and Williams, K. (2021). What Motivates Students About Open Pedagogy? Motivational Regulation Through the Lens of Self-Determination Theory. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 22(3):34–54. https://doi.org/10. 19173/irrodl.v22i3.5373.
- Wiley, D. and Hilton III, J. L. (2018). Defining OER-Enabled Pedagogy. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 19(4). https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v19i4.3601.
- Wiley, D., Webb, A., Weston, S., and Tonks, D. (2017). A Preliminary Exploration of the Relationships Between Student-Created OER, Sustainability, and Students' Success. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 18(4). https://doi. org/10.19173/irrodl.v18i4.3022.

Methodological Aspects of Utilization of Immersive Technologies in Japanese Language Learning for Future Language Teachers

Olena V. Gayevska^{Da}

Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv, 60 Volodymyrska Str., Kyiv, 01033, Ukraine olenasan@gmail.com

Keywords: Immersive Technologies, Augmented Reality, Virtual Reality, Japanese Language Learning, Future Japanese Language Teachers, Blended Learning, Oriental Languages Learning, Distance Learning.

Abstract: The article is dedicated to methodological aspects of utilization of immersive technologies in Japanese language learning for future language teachers. We analyzed the use of virtual and augmented reality for supporting and organizing Japanese language learning for future language teachers and identification of the main approaches to the usage of augmented reality in language learning. It is concluded that immersive technologies provide a new paradigm of teaching materials, which has a positive impact on the formation of basic and professional competencies of future Japanese language teachers; it can be effective when used in blended learning that combines distance, online, traditional and self-directed learning of Oriental languages. Prospect for further research is the creation of guidelines for the use of immersive technologies for teaching Oriental languages at different levels of the training of future language teachers.

1 INTRODUCTION

The development of information and communication technologies and their active use in various fields of human activity require young people to adapt to new ways of working, living, and interacting.

Current technologies, used for various professional activities, are of great importance for implementation in the educational process, in particular general education institutions, and are necessary for the competitiveness of young people in the global labor market.

In this regard, immersive technologies are becoming increasingly popular in education (3, 2020). Immersive Technologies (ITs) are influencing many areas of human life in the 21st century: trade, tourism, the interaction and perception of digital information and media, science and education. Immersive technologies are technologies that extend reality or create a new reality by leveraging the 360° space. Makransky and Petersen (Makransky and Petersen, 2021) note that the use of these technologies can improve real-world visualization through virtual objects, graphics, and object recognition technologies.

ITs include Virtual Reality (VR), Augmented Reality (AR) and Mixed Reality (MR), which are now used in many and varied fields – ranging from games and entertainment; theater and live events; museums and cultural heritage; marketing, advertising and tourism; architecture, product development and design; to simulation and health care (Buttussi and Chittaro, 2018).

The ITs are mostly used in education for science classes for covering human anatomy (Anatomy AR-VR, AR Human Anatomy, The Brain AR App, etc.), the universe (Planets AR, EARTH AR Poster, etc.), chemical reactions (MoleculAR, Chemistry Augmented Reality Education Arloon, etc.) and plant anatomy contents (Froggipeadia, Arloon Plants AR, etc.). However, this paper deals with ITs place in foreign language education, in particular Japanese language learning. Since a very limited number of applications and ITs content are available for language education, we will describe all possible uses ITs (VR and AR) for Japanese language learning and the experience of students.

2 THEORETICAL BACKGROUNDS

The multifunctionality of ITs and unfamiliarity of "virtual reality" became the impetus for the actualiza-

264

Gayevska, O.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6850-8757

Methodological Aspects of Utilization of Immersive Technologies in Japanese Language Learning for Future Language Teachers. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 264-271 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

tion of the concept of "virtual", the rapid expansion of its scope; the impetus for the conceptual design of the idea of virtual reality in various fields of human activity.

AR has great potential in the field of language education (Amelina et al., 2022), as it performs such functions as contextual visualization (that is presentation of virtual information in an extended context) and interactivity of learning (that is the embodiment of interaction with virtual content). VR is a virtual 3D world that allows users to get visual simulations and feel immersed in a time and space-free environment.

The popularization of the phrase "virtual reality" belongs to Jaron Lanier in the late 1980's (Firth, 2013).

At the present stage of information and communication technologies (ICT) development Immersive technologies based on VR can be represented as (figure 1):

- VR with full immersion, which provides realistic simulation of the virtual world with a high degree of detail (for example, the game zone Virtual Shooter);
- Partial immersion VR, consisting of VR and realworld attributes, is performed by embodying computer graphics objects in a reality scene (for example, a flight simulator) (de Oliveira et al., 2020);
- VR without immersion, related to the virtual experience with a computer, when you can control individual characters or their actions in the software, while the environment does not interact directly with the user (for example, World of War-Craft, ReHabgame);
- VR with group work, which represents a threedimensional virtual world with elements of a social network (for example, Minecraft already has a version of virtual reality, which is supported by Oculus Rift and Gear VR helmets) (Monahan et al., 2008);
- CAVE (Cave Automatic Virtual Environment), which was developed by students of University of Illinois in 1995, and is a three-dimensional stage with wall projections (de Oliveira et al., 2020; Chang et al., 2012).

The term "Augmented Reality" was created by aircraft engineers Caudell and Mizell (Caudell and Mizell, 1992) in 1990. They developed the headmounted displays as equipment for electricians to be used during assembling complicated wiring harnesses (Arth et al., 2015).

Nelson (Nelson, 2012) singles out augmented reality as important element of "Bring your own device" (BYOD) approach, which stands for usage of mobile devices by teachers and students in classroom for learning purposes.

Calo et al. (Calo et al., 2015) define Augmented Reality as "... a mobile or embedded technology that senses, processes, and outputs data in real-time, recognizes and tracks real-world objects, and provides contextual information by supplementing or replacing human senses".

AR is a technology that incorporates digital information such as images, video, and audio into realworld spaces, giving the possibility to blend virtual environment with reality (Kiv et al., 2019). Users of this technology have a chance to learn in immersive, computer-generated environments through realistic sensory experiences.

The mobile AR applications can be grouped into three categories depending on their purpose, place of use, and usability, such as marker-based, creationbased, and marker-less AR (figure 2).

It should also be noted that some apps in these categories may have both creation-based and markerless features. However, if an app is a marker-based one, it can't have a marker-less AR feature because it could only work with flashcards.

We can distinguish the following types of mobile AR (Soroko, 2021):

- marker-based, that uses a camera and a special visual marker, such as a QR code (quick response code);
- creation-based, that uses the browser-based platform allows users to upload 3D files and edit them with comments, detailed instructions and animations via a drag-and-drop interface;
- marker-less, that uses Global Positioning System (GPS); the most common uses are to mark destinations, search for the right number, such as a café or office, or in location-oriented apps.

Researchers identify the following positive effects of AR on students' foreign language learning: improving the effectiveness of their language skills in professional translation, increasing motivation to learn, and involving students in cooperation with each other, as well as with native speakers of the foreign language studied (Cheng et al., 2010; Chik, 2014; Kiv et al., 2019; Frazier et al., 2018; Makransky and Petersen, 2021; Geng and Yamada, 2020a,b; Monahan et al., 2008; Nelson, 2012; Popova, 2017). AR has great potential in the field of language education, as it performs such functions as contextual visualization (i.e. presentation of virtual information in an extended context) and interactivity of learning (i.e. the embodiment of interaction with virtual content).

Review of the literature by Viberg and Grönlund



Figure 2: The three categories of mobile AR.

(Viberg and Grönlund, 2013) states that Mobile Assisted Language Learning (MALL), as the mobile technology which can be adapted to support language learning, is applied in a number of ways but generally focuses on vocabulary acquisition, listening and speaking skills and language acquisition while grammar learning, pronunciation and writing skills were underrepresented in the application of MALL.

Hein et al. (Hein et al., 2021) analyzed 2507 sources and selected 54 articles for the period from

2001 to 2020, relating to the immersive technology's role in students' foreign language learning.

They found that most of these studies concerned the comparative analysis of traditional blended learning methods, which included the use of VR and AR. The main characteristics of these technologies, that support the foreign language learning, are to promote the vocabulary learning, to development of speaking skills and intercultural competence, students' motivation to foreign language learning, to overcome anxiety and discomfort when communicating in a foreign language. The advantage of learning with AR over traditional teaching methods is in a fact that the student is given the opportunity to feel, rather than imagine, the subject, situation, scenario, which cannot be demonstrated or described in traditional teaching methods.

The purpose of the article is to analyze the use of immersive technologies for supporting and organizing the Japanese language learning for future language teachers, and identification of the main approaches to the use of immersive technologies in Japanese language learning.

3 RESEARCH METHODS

To achieve the purpose of our study and also to clarify the problem of utilizing the immersive technologies for future Japanese language teachers we used the following methods: systematic and comparative analysis of pedagogical, psychological, philosophical, sociological works, methodological and specialized literature; analysis of the pedagogical experience of usage of immersive technologies at the Institute of Philology of Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv at lecturers and seminars of study of "Japanese characters"; synthesis and generalization to formulate the main points of the study; interpretation of the research results by student survey and comparative analysis of exam results in Japanese lexicology of students who will study language using ICT and immersive technologies with exam results of students who will study language using ICT but not using immersive technologies. The research hypothesis is based on the assumption that the training of future Japanese language teachers will be effective if the following pedagogical conditions are implemented: activating the motivation of future foreign language teachers to carry out project activities in the use of immersive technologies as didactic tools for learning Japanese; improving the content of training future foreign language teachers in order to form their knowledge about the use of information and communication technologies and immersive technologies for learning Japanese.

4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Scientists attach special importance to the use of augmented reality in the study of Oriental languages by students, in particular future teachers of Japanese language.

They note that the preparation of future teachers of Oriental languages (including languages with character-based writing, such as Japanese, Chinese) for professional activities is a complex process, as it differs significantly from the study and teaching of any other foreign language (for instance, English, French, German, Italian, Spain, Turkish languages that are also included into educational planning of Institute of Philology of Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv).

Researchers recognize the use of ITs as solving the problems of fast, active, correct, and convenient students' Oriental languages learning (Cheng et al., 2010; Kiv et al., 2019; Frazier et al., 2018; Makransky and Petersen, 2021; Geng and Yamada, 2020a; Nelson, 2012). They note that the use of these technologies can improve real-world visualization with virtual objects, graphics, and object recognition technologies.

Frazier et al. (Frazier et al., 2018) singles out application Google Earth VR and AR for foreign language learning, including Japanese language that allowed users to visit different locations throughout the world; in meanwhile supports their own learning of various studies i.e. history, political studies, international relations, etc.

Google Earth AR includes various numerous instruments, like Mindshow for creation of different new exciting places and using them for role playing (Nelson, 2012). This tool is marker-less, that uses GPS. Scientists focuses their attention on the issue that these instruments are useful for distant language learning, thought should be supervised by teacher.

We should pay attention to the possibility of foreign language learn-ing, in particular Japanese, with the help of this service and others that focus on various fields of science in Japanese.

We want to pay attention to augmented reality services that support the teaching of various disciplines. Special emphasis should be placed on training in the fields of STEM training, which involves integration between the disciplines of natural sciences, technological sciences, engineering and mathematics (Soroko, 2021; Lukychova et al., 2022; Mintii, 2023). For example, many augmented reality applications offer materials in Japanese (BioDigital Human 3D anatomy, 3D Anatomy Learning – Atlas, GeoGebraAR, Planets AR, etc.). It is clear that the vocabulary of these applications is designed for students who have language skills at the level of B1 and above.

Geng and Yamada (Geng and Yamada, 2020a,b) offer their experience of usage of AR generators to create markers based on Kanji characters as QR codes. They made an AR compound verb learning system to support learning of Japanese verbs. Under this system, students can scan a card with the Kanji characters of a particular verb, and thus watch an animation that displays the corresponding action with the card through the smartphone screen in the application. "In this system, the meanings of verbs, including both single verbs and compound verbs, were represented by 3D animations created using Maya, according to the image schemas of the verbs. Maya is a 3D computer graphics software, and it is used to create interactive 3D animations and visual effects". The application was developed by scientists using Unity 3D and Vuforia. In addition, the combination function was proposed based on a combination of two cards with the corresponding Kanji characters (V1 + V2) to facilitate the effective study of complex verbs by students. Researchers have proven that approach involving AR in Oriental languages learning is the most effective for students compared to the traditional method.

Platte et al. (Platte et al., 2020) suggests using ARTranslate (https://github.com/benpla/ ARTranslate) to foreign language learning using augmented reality. ARTranslate is software that recognizes up to 1,000 objects in a user's environment using the Convolutional Neural Networks (CNN) method and names them accordingly. Objects are superimposed on 3D information in different languages, using AR. The user can open the surrounding everyday objects in any language by switching languages in the ARTranslate application settings. The software runs on iOS version 12.

We surveyed students (31 students took part in this survey) about their attitudes toward the use of ITs to improve the quality of Japanese language learning. We proposed the following statements, that students should be designated as "Strong disagree", "Disagree", "Neither agree", "Agree", "Strongly agree": "I have a clear understanding of what ITs are and how I can it integrated it into my own education process", "I have heard about ITs in foreign language learning", "I have discussed with my friends about ITs for foreign language learning", "I have experience when teachers use approaches with ITs for Japanese language learning".

According to the questionnaire analysis of the attitudes and understanding of ITs in Japanese language learning process, it was found out that students understand what augmented reality is, but have not used these tools to learn Japanese: "I have a clear understanding of what ITs are and how they can be integrated into my own education process": Strongly disagree -8% students; Disagree -17% students; Neither agree nor disagree -32% students; Agree -39%students; Strongly agree -4% students; "I have heard about ITs in foreign language learning": Strongly disagree -3%; Disagree -16%; Neither agree nor disagree - 28%; Agree - 49%; Strongly agree - 4%.

We showed students the options for using such IM for different levels of Japanese language learning (Japanese language learning levels are available at https://www.jlpt.jp/) as:

- ITs for not language learning such, as BioDigital Human 3D anatomy, 3D Anatomy Learning – Atlas, GeoGebraAR, Planets AR, Google Earth AR and VR;
- ITs for language learning such, as Easy japanese news, Triplens, ARTranslate;
- Platforms for creating web projects with AR elements such, as BlippAR and Google ARCore, and with VR such, as CoSpaces, that for students to create their own examples of language learning.

This tools were proposed to use by 3rd year students of Bachelor program in study "Japanese Kanji characters", 4th year students of Bachelor program in study "Linguistic Tradition of Japan", 4th year students of Bachelor program in study "Japanese Language Etiquette", 2nd year students of Bachelor program in study "Japanese language: Practical Course for Translators", 1-2 courses year students of Bachelor program in study "Oriental Language (Japanese language)" of the Department of Languages and Literatures of the Far East and Southeast Asia of the Institute of Philology of Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv.

After classes and self-study of students with the help of ITs, a survey was conducted as experts (27 students) on the choice of approaches to the study of Japanese characters. They were asked to use the Likert Scale method to rank approaches to language learning according to their importance – from ineffective (1 point) to very effective (5 points).

Approaches to the study of Japanese Kanji characters were determined according to traditional methods (direct method, grammar-translation method, audiolinguistic method, cognitive method) and considering the use of information and communication technologies, in particular immersive technologies.

Our students were offered the following approaches to Japanese Kanji () learning for the assessment:

- use of electronic dictionaries;
- search and use of Internet resources;
- usage of online educational literature;
- creation and application of their own associations (offline);
- handwriting Kanji characters (offline);
- use of AR and VR applications;

	Strongly	Disagraa	Neither agree	Agree	Strongly
	disagree	Disagice	nor disagree		agree
I have a clear understanding of what ITs are and how	8%	17%	32%	39%	4%
they can be integrated into my own education process					
I have heard about ITs in foreign language learning		16%	28%	49%	4%
I have discussed with my friends about ITs for foreign	18%	35%	14%	33%	0
language learning					
I have experience when teachers use approaches with ITs	8%	43.6%	35.5%	12.7%	0
for Japanese language learning					
Total $(N = 31)$					

Table 1: The results of students' survey on their understanding of ITs in Japanese language learning process (2020-2021).

• creation of their own educational materials on the basis of ITs.

The results of this questionnaire are presented in table 2 "Results of students' questionnaires on their opinion on the choice of approaches to the Japanese Kanji characters learning".

Thus, the results of students' questionnaires about their opinion on the choice of methods for studying Japanese Kanji characters showed that the most necessary for them was an approach based on the creation of students' own learning materials based on augmented reality (5). According to interviews with students who wished to comment on their answers, this was motivated by the creation of an augmented reality Kanji characters that would be of interest to other students and reflect the most difficult cases in Oriental language translation practice. It is also important to use electronic dictionaries (4.8), in particular, most AR applications are focused on the assimilation of foreign language vocabulary by users (for example, Triplens, ARTranslate, etc.).

To achieve our goal, we created organized and implemented educational content (training course) "Information Support of Philological Research in Japanese Studies" for philologists-bachelors of Oriental languages, based on the use of immersive technologies. It consists of the following modules: Module 1 "Theoretical foundations of the use of ICT in the study of foreign languages", covering topics such as "Basic concepts", "Methods of using ICT in the study of foreign languages", etc .; Module 2 "Electronic educational resources for learning a foreign language (Japanese)", which covers topics such as "Electronic dictionaries and their practical use in translation and teaching", "Online tests in foreign languages: the use of international test systems and the creation of personal tests using web services"; Module 3 "Immersive technologies of learning a foreign language (Japanese)", which covers such topics as "Model of learning a foreign language using virtual reality", "Model of learning a foreign language using augmented reality"; Module 4 "Research activities on the establishment of Electronic Educational Resources for the translation and teaching of Japanese".

Students were divided into groups according to their desire to learn language using ICT, including immersive technologies, which are present in separate modules of the course "Information Support of Philological Research in Japanese Studies", which is part of a series of linguistic disciplines that form the philological basis of the bachelor's program at the Institute of Philology of Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv at different lecturers and seminars.

To the question "Do you want to learn a language using immersive technologies?" 21 students answered, 8 students did not take an active part in the survey and training due to extreme conditions (military action in Ukraine). As a result of the survey, two groups were created: 11 students who will study language using ICT and immersive technologies, and 10 students who will study language using ICT but not using immersive technologies. A group of students studying "Japanese language and literature" course using ICT and immersive technologies passed the exam with an average of 95 points, a group of students that studied language using ICT, but did not use immersive technology, passed the exam with an average of 85 points only.

5 CONCLUSIONS AND PROSPECTS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH

Thus, ITs provide a new paradigm of presentation of educational materials, which has a positive impact on the formation of basic and professional competencies of the future teachers Japanese language. We can indicate the following benefits of using ITs to train future teachers with the Japanese language:

· the usage of ITs makes the learning process more

Table 2: Results of students' questionnaires on their opinion on the choice of approaches to the Japanese Kanji characters learning.

The approaches to Japanese Kanji () learning	Mean values	
use of electronic dictionaries	4.8	
search and use of Internet resources		
usage of online educational literature		
creation and application of their own associations (offline)		
handwriting Kanji characters (offline)		
use of AR applications	3.8	
use of VR applications	3.7	
creation of their own educational materials on the basis of augmented reality		

visual and mobile;

- the usage of ITs increases the interest and motivation of students to learn the language;
- ITs improve the learning process, which uses innovative forms of work with students;
- ITs use the conditions for the formation and development of creative abilities of students;
- these technologies and approaches contribute to the support of the linguistic and cultural aspect in student learning.

The following approaches to the use of ITs for the study of Japanese by students should be distinguished: 1) the use of specialized applications for language learning; 2) the use of applications for the study of other disciplines (anatomy, biology, computer science, astronomy, etc.), using a foreign language learning by students; 3) creation of personal examples by students for learning a foreign language with the help of special Web platforms.

ITs can be effective if they are used in blended learning that combines distance, online, traditional and self-directed learning of Oriental languages.

Author is planning to continue the longitudinal research, analyzing the statistical data of students' academic performance, expanding the research to several other subjects (taught by Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv) during the academic year of 2022-2023.

Prospects for further research are the creation of guidelines and manuals on the use of immersive technologies for the study of prefabricated languages at different levels of training of future teachers of Japanese language.

REFERENCES

(2020). 2020 Augmented and Virtual Reality Survey Report. Technical report, Perkins Coie.

https://www.perkinscoie.com/images/content/2/3/v4/231654/2020-AR-VR-Survey-v3.pdf.

- Amelina, S. M., Tarasenko, R. O., Semerikov, S. O., and Shen, L. (2022). Using mobile applications with augmented reality elements in the self-study process of prospective translators. *Educational Technol*ogy Quarterly, 2022(4):263–275. https://doi.org/10. 55056/etq.51.
- Arth, C., Grasset, R., Gruber, L., Langlotz, T., Mulloni, A., and Wagner, D. (2015). The History of Mobile Augmented Reality. https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.1505. 01319.
- Buttussi, F. and Chittaro, L. (2018). Effects of Different Types of Virtual Reality Display on Presence and Learning in a Safety Training Scenario. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 24(2):1063–1076. https://doi.org/10.1109/TVCG. 2017.2653117.
- Calo, R., Denning, T., Friedman, B., Kohno, T., Magassa, L., McReynolds, E., Newell, B., Roesner, F., and Woo, J. (2015). Augmented reality: A technology and policy primer. Tech Policy Lab (University of Washington). http: //techpolicylab.uw.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/ Augmented_Reality_Primer-TechPolicyLab.pdf.
- Caudell, T. and Mizell, D. (1992). Augmented reality: An application of heads-up display technology to manual manufacturing processes. In *Proceedings of the Twenty-Fifth Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, volume 2, pages 659–669. https://doi. org/10.1109/HICSS.1992.183317.
- Chang, B., Sheldon, L., Si, M., and Hand, A. (2012). Foreign language learning in immersive virtual environments. In McDowall, I. E. and Dolinsky, M., editors, *The Engineering Reality of Virtual Reality 2012*, volume 8289, page 828902. International Society for Optics and Photonics, SPIE. https://doi.org/10.1117/12. 909835.
- Cheng, H.-J., Zhan, H., and Tsai, A. (2010). Integrating Second Life Into a Chinese Language Teacher Training Program: A Pilot Study. *Journal of Technology and Chinese Language Teaching*, 1(1). https: //commons.erau.edu/publication/1099.
- Chik, A. (2014). Digital Gaming and Language Learning: Autonomy and Community. Language Learning

& Technology, 18(2):85–100. https://doi.org/10125/44371.

- de Oliveira, A. C. C., Nascimento, J. A., Santos, S. R., de Queiros, S. M. D., Brito, P. K. G., and Clericuzi, A. Z. (2020). REANIME a neonatal resuscitation simulator for evaluating team training. In 2020 22nd Symposium on Virtual and Augmented Reality (SVR), pages 174–178. https://doi.org/10.1109/SVR51698. 2020.00038.
- Firth, N. (2013). Interview: The father of VR Jaron Lanier. New Scientist, 218(2922):21. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0262-4079(13)61542-0.
- Frazier, E., Bonner, E., and Lege, R. (2018). A Brief Investigation into the Potential for Virtual Reality: A Tool for 2nd Language Learning Distance Education in Japan. In 2018

, pages 189–194. https://www.kandagaigo. ac.jp/kuis/cms/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/15.pdf.

- Geng, X. and Yamada, M. (2020a). An augmented reality learning system for Japanese compound verbs: study of learning performance and cognitive load. *Smart Learning Environments*, 7(1):27. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s40561-020-00137-4.
- Geng, X. and Yamada, M. (2020b). The development and evaluation of an augmented reality learning system for Japanese compound verbs using learning analytics. In 2020 IEEE International Conference on Teaching, Assessment, and Learning for Engineering (TALE), pages 71–76. https://doi.org/10.1109/ TALE48869.2020.9368345.
- Hein, R. M., Wienrich, C., and Latoschik, M. E. (2021). A systematic review of foreign language learning with immersive technologies (2001-2020). AIMS Electronics and Electrical Engineering, 5(2):117–145. https: //doi.org/10.3934/electreng.2021007.
- Kiv, A. E., Shyshkina, M. P., Semerikov, S. O., Striuk, A. M., and Yechkalo, Y. V. (2019). AREdu 2019
 How augmented reality transforms to augmented learning. In Kiv, A. E. and Shyshkina, M. P., editors, *Proceedings of the 2nd International Work*shop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, March 22, 2019, volume 2547 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 1–12. CEUR-WS.org. http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2547/paper00.pdf.
- Lukychova, N. S., Osypova, N. V., and Yuzbasheva, G. S. (2022). ICT and current trends as a path to STEM education: implementation and prospects. *CTE Work-shop Proceedings*, 9:39–55. https://doi.org/10.55056/ cte.100.
- Makransky, G. and Petersen, G. B. (2021). The Cognitive Affective Model of Immersive Learning (CAMIL): a Theoretical Research-Based Model of Learning in Immersive Virtual Reality. *Educational Psychol*ogy Review, 33(3):937–958. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10648-020-09586-2.
- Mintii, M. M. (2023). Selection of pedagogical conditions for training STEM teachers to use augmented reality technologies in their work. *Educational Dimension*. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim.4951.
- Monahan, T., McArdle, G., and Bertolotto, M. (2008). Virtual reality for collaborative e-learning. *Computers* &

Education, 50(4):1339–1353. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.compedu.2006.12.008.

- Nelson, D. (2012). BYOD: An Opportunity Schools Cannot Afford to Miss. *Internet@Schools*, 19(5):12–15. https://tinyurl.com/bde3u7b7.
- Platte, B., Platte, A., Thomanek, R., Roschke, C., Rolletschke, T., Zimmer, F., and Ritter, M. (2020). AR-Translate - Immersive Language Exploration with Object Recognition and Augmented Reality. In Proceedings of The 12th Language Resources and Evaluation Conference (LREC 2020), pages 356–362. https: //www.researchgate.net/publication/354571674.
- Popova, O. V. (2017). Theoretic-and-methodic grounds of the professional speech training targeted to the future translators of Chinese under conditions of university education. The dissertation for a doctoral degree of Pedagogical Sciences in specialties 13.00.04 – Theory and Methods of Professional Training, 13.00.02 – Theory and Methods of Teaching (oriental languages), State institution "South Ukrainian National Pedagogical University named after K. D. Ushynsky", Odesa. https://nrat.ukrintei.ua/searchdoc/0517U000325.
- Soroko, N. (2021). The augmented reality functions to support the STEAM education at general education institutions. *Physical and Mathematical Education*, 29(3):24–30. https://doi.org/10.31110/ 2413-1571-2021-029-3-004.
- Viberg, O. and Grönlund, Å. (2013). Systematising the Field of Mobile Assisted Language Learning. International Journal of Mobile and Blended Learning (IJMBL), 5(4):72–90. https://doi.org/10.4018/ijmbl. 2013100105.
Results of Experimental Work to Check the Effectiveness of the Method of Using Geoinformation Technologies

Vladimir S. Morkun¹[®]^a, Serhiy O. Semerikov^{2,3,4,5}[®]^b, Svitlana M. Hryshchenko⁷[®]^c, Iryna S. Mintii^{2,4,5,6}[®]^d and Yaroslav O. Hryshchenko⁸

¹Faculty of Engineering Sciences, Bayreuth University, Universitätsstraße, 30, Bayreuth, 95447, Germany ²Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine

³Kryvyi Rih National University, 11 Vitalii Matusevych Str., Kryvyi Rih, 50027, Ukraine

⁴Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the NAES of Ukraine, 9 M. Berlynskoho Str., Kyiv, 04060, Ukraine

⁵Academy of Cognitive and Natural Sciences, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine

⁶Lviv Polytechnic National University, 12 Stepana Bandery Str., Lviv, 79013, Ukraine

⁷University of the State Fiscal Service of Ukraine, 31 Universytetska Str., Irpin, 08200, Ukraine

⁸State University of Telecommunications, 7 Solomenska Str., Kyiv, 03680, Ukraine

{morkunv, semerikov}@gmail.com, s-grischenko@ukr.net, irina.mintiy@kdpu.edu.ua, grischenckokgtl@gmail.com

Keywords: Geoinformation Technologies, Pedagogical Experiment, Digital Technologies, Mining Profile Engineer.

Abstract: A modern person cannot live without the Internet, namely without digital technologies. The constant growth of information has led to the fact that there are many opportunities for digital transactions in various professions, one of them is a mining engineer. The process of reforming this profession requires more effective use of digital technologies in ecology, providing information management through introduction of innovations, creation of databases, programs, implementation of which will improve the quality of management of innovation processes. One of the promising directions of solving this problem is the use of geoinformation technologies. The article presents the results of the formula stage of the pedagogical experiment on checking the effectiveness of the method of using geoinformation technologies as a means of forming ecological competence of future engineers of the mining profile using the Pearson's χ^2 -criterion, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov's λ -criterion and Fischer's ϕ^* -criterion. It is clear that the distribution of students in experimental and control groups by the level of environmental competence is statistically significant, due to the application of the developed methodology. In continuation of scientific search on this problem, it is expedient in the direction of development of methodical system of training of geoinformation technologies in students of specialty 122 "Computer sciences".

1 INTRODUCTION

The use of information and communication technologies in education at the present stage, undoubtedly, can be a catalyst in the solution of important social problems of increasing accessibility and quality of educational resources and services. The constant increase in the amount of information and the speed of transmission of information flows through digital communication networks remains as important as ever. Information technology has reached an un-

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3586-4311

precedented level of sophistication. Everything has changed with the arrival of the Internet in every home. Modern people of any age can no longer do without the Internet. The information space provides a lot of opportunities to perform all possible operations while staying in the office or an apartment.

Many professions are obliged to their appearance in computer, they would simply not appear without the creation of digital technologies.

If we consider the profession of an engineer – a person who is engaged in engineering activity, i.e., in particular, different researches, designing, development of various documentation and conducting of a huge number of calculations, for very complex calculations, which even when using the computer equip-

272

Morkun, V., Semerikov, S., Hryshchenko, S., Mintii, I. and Hryshchenko, Y.

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1506-9759

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0789-0272

[°] https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4957-0904

Results of Experimental Work to Check the Effectiveness of the Method of Using Geoinformation Technologies.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 272-280 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS - Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

ment's capabilities are hours and days, but without its use or would be decided for many months, or could not be realized at all (Semerikov et al., 2021).

Legal and organizational principles of mining engineering activity are defined by the Mining Law of Ukraine (zak, 2020), according to which the state policy in mining industry is based, in particular, on the principles of improvement of ecological safety of mining enterprises and provision of training of personnel of high qualification for mining industries. The level of ecological state in the country has become dangerous not only for the present, but to a greater extent for future generations. The negative impact of harmful environmental factors on the human body is the deterioration of the health of the nation.

The main environmental requirements in the field of mining work, prevention of harmful effects of mining work and ensuring environmental safety during mining work are not only the subject of consideration of separate articles of the Ukrainian Mining Law, but also the obligatory components of preparation of an environmentally competent engineer of the mining profile.

The problem of forming the environmental competence of the practitioner has been the subject of research at different levels, such as (Orr, 1992; Bofinger, 2006; Harvey, 2002).

Various aspects of professional training of mining engineers were investigated in (Bidiuk, 2000; Medvedovska, 2012; Derevianko, 2013; Morkun et al., 2014; Hryshchenko and Morkun, 2015; Morkun et al., 2017).

The problem of using information and communication technologies in training of mining engineers of the mining profile is especially urgent today. The process of reform requires more efficient use of digital technologies in the environment, providing information management through introduction of innovations, creation of databases and programs, which implementation will help to improve the quality of management of innovation processes. One of the promising directions of solving this problem is the use of geoinformation technologies.

An analysis of the recent studies and publications on the investigated issues reveals that the use of modern geoinformation technologies was investigated by Kulibekova (Kulibekova, 2008), Hryshchenko and Morkun (Hryshchenko and Morkun, 2015), Morkun et al. (Morkun et al., 2014, 2017) and other scientists.

However, the peculiarities of using geoinformation technologies in teaching and conditions of their introduction into the state administration of ecology and mining in scientific literature are not covered enough.

One of the promising ways of solving this task is application of geoinformation technologies that allow considering the location of a mining enterprise's facilities, mineral storages and rock dumps on any required detail level; monitoring discharged water and air purification while introducing advanced mining methods; simulation of a sanitary protection area between a mining enterprise and residential buildings in accordance with the law; ensuring complex steps for preventing subsidence, submergence, salting, salting, draining and pollution of the surface by industrial wastes; preventing unfavourable influence of water removal on the level of ground waters and surface water objects; monitoring the decreased pollutant emissions in the mining industry and introducing accident prevention measures associated with volley and immediate emissions and releases, etc.

The **purpose** of the article is to highlight the results of experimental work on the verification of effectiveness of the method of using geoinformation technologies as a means of forming ecological competence of realization of future engineers of the mining profile using the Pearson's χ^2 -criterion, Kolmogorov-Smirnov's λ -criterion and Fischer's ϕ^* -criterion.

At the time of scientific and pedagogical workers should be ready to use digital technologies in teaching, which help to define the following approaches of students of engineering specialties formation of motivation, intensification of cognitive activity, professional orientation and creativity in teaching, remote complex application of methods and means, and also assessment of quality and systematization of control.

2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

In order to achieve the set goal, the following research methods were used: theoretical analysis of different views of scientists; statistical, generalization of results.

3 EXPERIMENTS

The purpose-oriented creation of a future mining engineer's environmental competence using geoinformation technologies occurs in the special course, Environmental Geoinformatics. The three-component structure of its method system is the central element that determines the training content and goals which, together with the training technology are made concrete in the special course, Environmental Geoinformatics. The special course goal is to create environmental competence through specific knowledge and skills, thereby, providing students with the opportunity to use geoinformation technologies both in their learning activities and then, later, in their professional lives. The special course goals are determined by the following tasks: introduction of basic models and methods of geoinformatics, mastering the modern means of geoinformation technologies in one's professional activities, and the formation of environmental research skills using geoinformation technologies.

The basic forms of training that use geoinformation technologies include lectures, demonstrations, frontal laboratory works, laboratory and calculation "immersion" practicals, seminars, practical classes, projects, consultations, training excursions, simulation games, and independent work. Among these training methods, the leading ones are demonstrative examples, reasonably chosen tasks, a calculation experiment, and projects.

The choice of training (with regard to geoinformation technologies in particular) is determined by the peculiarities of its creation on different stages. In the first stage geoinformation technologies such as cartographical software (Google Maps, Google Earth) and Internet sources with geographical and environmental data (with regional specific features in the field of professional activity) are used. In addition, in the course, "Informatics", students learn how to deal with electronic tables and databases as means of working with table space and coordinated data; they also use search engines to gather geographical and environmental data and to put this into a system. Computer mathematics systems (MATLAB as the basis of the multifunctional GIS Mapping Toolbox) are also used. Training used in the second stage of creating a future mining engineer's environmental competence are divided into general (course books, Internet sources, means for creating, storing, processing text, table and graphic data, and Moodle) and specific purposes (cartographical software such as Google Maps and MapInfo; multifunctional such as Mapping Toolbox and QGIS; and mining and environmental GIS such as Datamine Studio and Geoblock). At the third stage of creating environmental competence, all of the geoinformation technologies mastered in the previous stages are used; however, special attention is paid to the application of mining and environmental GIS (Datamine Studio, Geoblock, K-MINE, etc.).

The pedagogical experiment results were processed and the efficiency of the developed methods of training mining students was assessed using mathematical statistical methods. As the research aimed to determine differences in feature distribution (the level of maturity of the environmental competence) when comparing two empirical distributions (students in the control and experimental groups) (Sidorenko, 2003, p. 34), either the Pearson's χ^2 -criterion, or the Kolmogorov-Smirnov's λ -criterion and ϕ^{**} -criterion (Fischer's angular transformation) can be used.

The Fischer's angular transformation was calculated according to table 1:

- 1. Before the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment:
 - in the control groups, 66 students (88%) had low and medium maturity levels of environmental competence and 9 students (12%) had sufficient and high levels;
 - in the experimental groups, 64 students (85.33%) had low and medium levels of maturity of environmental competence and 11 students (14.67%) had sufficient and high levels.
- After the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment:
 - in the control groups (CG), 60 students (88%) had low and medium maturity levels of environmental competence and 15 students (20%) had sufficient and high levels;
 - in the experimental groups (EG), 40 students (53.33%) had low and medium maturity levels of environmental competence and 35 students (46.67%) had sufficient and high levels.

The experimental data completely met the restrictions of the Fischer's angular transformation:

- a) any compared fraction is not equal to zero;
- b) the number of observations in both selections is more than five, which enables any comparison.

Let us formulate hypotheses (H).

 H_0 : The fraction of students whose environmental competence is at the sufficient and high levels was not greater in the experimental groups than in the control ones.

 H_1 : The fraction of students whose environmental competence is at the sufficient and high levels was greater in the experimental groups than in the control ones.

The below formula was applied:

$$\phi_{emp}^* = 2 \left| \arcsin \sqrt{P} - \arcsin \sqrt{Q} \right| \sqrt{\frac{n_1 n_2}{n_1 + n_2}},$$

where *P* and *Q* are the percentage of students whose environmental competence is sufficient or high, $n_1 = n_2 = 75$ is the number of students in the control and experimental groups. Therefore:

1. Before the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment: $\phi_{emp}^* = 0.481$.

	Before the formation stage			After the formation stage						
Level	C	G	E	G	C	G	E	G		
	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%		
			The fir	st compo	nent:					
Unders	tanding a	nd percep	tion of etl	nical norr	ns of beha	vior with	regard to	other		
		people	and nature	e (princip	les of bioe	ethics)				
low	9	12%	8	10.67%	3	4%	1	1.33%		
medium	18	24%	25	33.33%	12	16%	2	2.67%		
sufficient	45	60%	36	48%	55	73.33%	50	66.67%		
high	3	4%	6	8%	5	6.67%	22	29.33%		
The second component:										
			Enviror	nmental li	teracy					
low	28	37.33%	29	38.67%	14	18.67%	11	14.67%		
medium	23	30.67%	24	32%	24	32%	22	29.33%		
sufficient	20	26.67%	15	20%	32	42.67%	27	36%		
high	4	5.33%	7	9.33%	5	6.67%	15	20%		
	1	1	The thi	ird compo	onent:					
A ba	sic knowl	edge of e	cology to	be applie	d in one's	professio	onal activi	ties		
low	28	37.33%	29	38.67%	14	18.67%	11	14.67%		
medium	23	30.67%	24	32%	24	32%	22	29.33%		
sufficient	20	26.67%	15	20%	32	42.67%	27	36%		
high	4	5.33%	7	9.33%	5	6.67%	15	20%		
	1		The fou	rth comp	onent:					
The al	bility to a	oply scien	tific laws	and meth	nods to ass	sess the c	ondition o	of the		
enviro	nment, tal	ke part in	environm	ental ope	rations, pe	erform an	environm	nental		
ana	alysis of s	teps in the	e field of a	activity, a	nd to wor	k out plai	ns to reduc	ce		
	-	techno	genic pres	sure on t	he enviror	ment				
low	65	86.67%	66	88%	61	81.33%	24	32%		
medium	8	10.67%	6	8%	11	14.67%	31	41.33%		
sufficient	2	2.67%	3	4%	3	4%	18	24%		
high	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%	2	2.67%		
			The fif	th compo	nent:					
	The a	ability to	ensure sus	stainable	activities,	and meth	nods			
	for the	e rational	and comp	lex devel	opment of	f georeso	urces			
low	65	86.67%	67	89.33%	67	89.33%	36	48%		
medium	7	9.33%	6	8%	6	8%	26	34.67%		
sufficient	3	4%	2	2.67%	2	2.67%	10	13.33%		
high	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%	3	4%		
-	1		Environm	ental con	petence	1				
low	35	46.67%	41	54.67%	23	30.67%	13	17.33%		
medium	31	41.33%	23	30.67%	37	49.33%	27	36%		
sufficient	9	12%	10	13.33%	15	20%	28	37.33%		
high	0	0%	1	1.33%	0	0%	7	9.33%		

Table 1: The comparative distribution of students by the level of environmental competence maturity in the control and experimental groups.

2. After the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment: $\phi_{emp}^* = 3.532$.

The critical value of ϕ_{cr}^* corresponds to the level of statistical significance established in psychological and pedagogical investigations, and is equal to

$$\phi_{kr}^* = \begin{cases} 1.64 \ (p \le 0.05) \\ 2.31 \ (p \le 0.01) \end{cases}$$

1

Then:

1. Before the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment, the inequality $\phi_{emp}^* < \phi_{cr}^*$ is realized and this provides the evidence for accepting the zero hypothesis H_0 and stating that before the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment, the difference in the maturity level of students' environ-

mental competences from the control and experimental groups is statistically insignificant (figure 1): i.e., the control and experimental groups before the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment coincide with the significance level of 0.05.

2. After the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment the inequality $\phi_{emp}^* < \phi_{cr}^*$ is realized thereby providing the evidence to reject the zero hypothesis H_0 and accept the alternative H_1 . Considering the fact that $\phi_{emp}^* = 3.532 > 2.31 = \phi_{0.01}^*$, we have obtained the following result: the validity of differences in the experimental and control groups after the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment is 0.99 (figure 2).

4 RESULTS

Therefore, after the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment, students from the control and experimental groups have statistically significant differences with regard to the sufficient and high maturity levels of environmental competence that result from the application of the suggested methods.

To find out the difference in distribution of maturity levels in environmental competence, we applied the Pearson's χ^2 -criterion.

In our research, the samples are random and independent. Considering the fact that intervals with zero frequencies are unacceptable and not less than 80% of frequencies should be more than 5, the "sufficient" and "high" levels were united. The measurement scale is the one with C = 3 levels (1 is "low", 2 is "medium", 3 is "sufficient and high"). One independent condition was imposed and the number of freedom degrees was v = C-1 = 2.

The zero hypothesis was H_0 and therefore, the probability of the control group students ($n_1 = 75$) and those of the experimental one ($n_2 = 75$) getting into each of *i* (i = 1, 2, 3) categories is equal: i.e., H_0 : $p_{1i} = p_{2i}$ (i = 1, 2, 3), where p_{1i} is the probability of maturity of the control group's environmental competence on the *i* level (i = 1, 2, 3) and p_{2i} the probability of formation of the experimental groups' environmental competal competence on the *i* level (i = 1, 2, 3).

The alternative hypothesis implies H_1 : $p_{1i} \neq p_{2i}$, at least for one of *C* categories.

The value of χ^2 is calculated by the formula:

$$\chi^2 = \frac{1}{n_1 n_2} \sum_{i=1}^{C} \frac{(n_1 Q_{2i} - n_2 Q_{2i})^2}{Q_{1i} + Q_{2i}}$$

where Q_{1i} is the number of the control group participants with the environmental competence formed at the *i* level; Q_{2i} is the number of the experimental group participants with the environmental competence formed at the *i* level.

Let us denote

$$S_{12i} = \frac{(n_1 Q_{2i} - n_2 Q_{2i})^2}{Q_{1i} + Q_{2i}}$$

Calculation results of the given samples are in table 2.

Table 2 shows that the χ^2 values of the freedom degrees number provides the critical value of the statistics: the significance level of $\alpha = 0.05$, $\chi^2_{0.05} =$ 5.99; the significance level of $\alpha = 0.01$, $\chi^2_{0.01} = 9.210$.

As before the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment the value is $\chi^2 < \chi^2_{0.05}$ (1.859 < 5.991), it does not occur in the critical zone. The acceptance of the hypothesis, H_0 , reveals that before the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment, the control and experimental groups with a significance level of 0.05 are not different in the three formation levels of environmental competence.

The calculation of the χ^2 criterion for the experimental and control samples, after the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment, reveals that $\chi^2 > \chi^2_{0.05}$ (12.340 > 5.991) and $\chi^2 > \chi^2_{0.01}$ (12.340 > 9.210). It is the reason for rejecting the zero hypothesis H_0 . Acceptance of the alternative hypothesis H_1 involves stating that the samples have statistically significant differences with the significance level of 0.01: i.e., the developed methods of applying geoinformation technologies to training future mining engineers enhance the maturity level of their environmental competence.

To find out the level of maximum differences, we checked the samples according to the Kolmogorov-Smirnov's λ -criterion, which is not parametric and applied if:

- samples are random and independent;
- categories are arranged by an increasing or decreasing order.

The given conditions are fulfilled for the obtained samples and the λ -criterion can be applied to assess the deviation of distribution in the experimental groups and the control groups in all four levels.

Let us denote F(x) as the unknown distribution function of probabilities with regard to the maturity level of a future mining engineer's environmental competence in the control groups and G(x) as the unknown distribution function of probabilities in the experimental groups.

The zero hypothesis implies H_0 : F(x) = G(x). The alternative hypothesis implies H_1 : $F(x) \neq G(x)$. When the hypothesis H_0 : F(x) = G(x) is fulfilled, the deviation $D = \sup_x |G(x) - F(x)|$ is small and when the hypothesis is not fulfilled, this deviation is great.



Figure 1: The significance axis for the ϕ^* -criterion before the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment.



Figure 2: The significance axis for the ϕ^* -criterion after the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment.

Table 2: Calculation of χ^2 -criterion.										
i	Befo	re the	formation stage	After	r the fo	ormation stage				
	Q_{1i}	Q_{2i}	S_{12i}	Q_{1i}	Q_{2i}	S _{12i}				
1 - low	35	41	2664.474	23	13	15625				
2 – medium	31	23	6666.667	37	27	8789.063				
3 – sufficient and high	11	1125	15 35 45000							
χ ²	1.859	χ	2	12.340						

The value of the criterion λ is calculated by the formula

$$\lambda = D_{max} \sqrt{\frac{n_1 n_2}{n_1 + n_2}},$$

where $n_1 = n_2 = 75$ is the number of students in the control group (CG) and in the experimental group (EG). Under $n_{1.2} > 50$, the limit values are $\lambda_{0.01} = 1.63$, $D_{0.01} = 0.2662$; $\lambda_{0.05} = 1.36$, $D_{0.05} = 0.2221$.

The results of processing the experimental data are given in table 3 (before the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment) and in table 4 (after the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment).

The calculation of Kolmogorov-Smirnov's criterion before the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment results in $D_{max} = 0.08 < D_{0.05}$ and $\lambda = 0.4899 < \lambda_{0.05}$, which accepts the zero hypothesis H_0 : F(x) = G(x) with a significance level of 0.05.

After the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment, $D_{max} = 0.2667 > D_{0.05}$ ($D_{max} \approx D_{0.01}$) and $\lambda = 1.6330 > \lambda_{0.05}$ ($\lambda \approx \lambda_{0.01}$) allows the rejection of the zero hypothesis H_0 with a significance level of 0.05 and the acceptance of H_1 : $F(x) \neq G(x)$.

Considering the fact that in the experimental groups, environmental competence is formed by the developed methods, one can state that this allowed better results. Therefore, we assume that the suggested hypothesis is experimentally confirmed.

The significance of changes in certain components of the environmental competence in the case of applying geoinformation technologies is determined by Fischer angular transformation (table 5) on the basis of table 2.

The statistic hypotheses are formulated as follows:

- H_0^i : the fraction of students with the *i*-th component of environmental competence (*i* = 1,2,3,4,5) at sufficient and high levels in the experimental groups was not greater than in the control;
- *H*ⁱ₁: the fraction of students with the *i*-th component of environmental competence (*i* = 1,2,3,4,5) at sufficient and high levels in the experimental groups was greater than in the control.

Table 5 reveals that statistically significant changes did not occur when forming two components of the environmental competence: the second and the third ones. It is caused by the fact that the experimental work was conducted while teaching the special course, Environmental Geoinformatics, which was preceded by the course "Ecology" according to the model of applying geoinformation technologies when creating a future mining engineer's environmental competence. When studying the latter, statistically significant changes in the formation level of the second and the third components of the environmental competence were observed.

After the completion of the experimental work, the first component of environmental competence is the most developed, which is explained by the general orientation of mining and geological activity in sustainable industrial development. The fourth and the fifth components of environmental competence re-

Level	Absolute frequency		Accumulated frequency		Rela accum frequ	D		
	CG	EG	CG	EG	CG	EG		
0 - low	35	41	35	41	0.4667	0.5467	0.08	
1 – medium	31 23		66	64	0.88	0.8533	0.0267	
2 – sufficient	9	10	75	74	1	0.9867	0.0133	
3 – high	0	1	75	75	1	1	0	
D_{max}								
λ								

Table 3: Calculation of the Kolmogorov-Smirnov's criterion before the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment.

	17 1 0 1		c	1 1	• •
Table 4. Calculation of the	e Kolmogorov_Smirnov's	criterion after the 1	tormation stage of the	nedagogical	evneriment
Table 4. Calculation of the	c Ronnogorov-Simmov s	cincilon and the	formation stage of the	pedagogicar	caperiment
	0				1

Level	Absolute frequency		Accumulated frequency		Rela accum frequ	D		
	CG	EG	CG	EG	CG	EG		
0 - low	23	13	23	13	0.3067	0.1733	0.1333	
1 – medium	27 27		60	40	0.8	0.5333	0.2667	
2 – sufficient	15	28	75	68	1	0.9067	0.0933	
3 – high	0	7	75	75	1	1	0	
D _{max}								
λ								

Table 5: The ϕ^* -criterion value for each of the environmental competence components after the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment.

Environmental competence component	\$	Hypothesis (p)
Understanding and perception of ethical norms of behavior with regard to other peo-	3.212	$H_1^1(0.01)$
ple and nature (principles of bioethics)		-
Environmental literacy	0.680	$H_0^2(0.05)$
A basic knowledge of ecology to be applied in one's professional activities	0.818	$H_0^3(0.05)$
The ability to apply scientific laws and methods to assess the condition of the envi-	4.180	$H_1^4(0.01)$
ronment, take part in environmental operations, perform an environmental analysis		-
of steps in the field of activity, and to work out plans to reduce technogenic pressure		
on the environment		
The ability to ensure sustainable activities, and methods for the rational and complex	3.250	$H_1^5(0.01)$
development of georesources		

mained underdeveloped at a high level. This is due to the fact that the experimental special course had been suggested much earlier than the special professional subjects aimed at applying scientific laws and methods when assessing the condition of the environment, taking part in environmental operations, conducting an environmental analysis, working out plans to reduce the technogenic pressure of the industry on the environment, ensuring sustainable activities, and mastering methods to facilitate the rational and complex development of georesources.

In spite of this, the statistical significance of changes in the formation of the fourth and fifth components of environmental competence indicates that it is the introduction of professionally-oriented geoinformation technologies (mining and environmental GIS) in the process of training future mining engineers that predetermines the efficiency of the experimental work.

We can draw the conclusion that the application of mining and environmental geoinformation technologies is the major factor when forming environmental competence and their methodologically substantiated application is one of the conditions of training an environmentally competent mining engineer. Therefore, the research hypothesis is confirmed.

The analysis of the experimental work results concluded that the introduction of geoinformation technologies when training future mining engineers created the following conditions:

- sharing information in professional training through the systematic application of geoinformation ICT;
- increasing inter-subject connections between fundamental and professionally-oriented subjects through the integrated content when teaching Environmental Geoinformatics;
- using the research-based approach in training and teaching Environmental Geoinformatics; this is forms organization skills and allows individual and collective investigations to be conducted.

5 CONCLUSIONS

Applying geoinformation technologies to create a future mining engineer's environmental competence requires a system of interrelated methods and teaching methods to realize these technologies at all stages of creating competence. the authors have analyzed sources that investigate the problems of environmental competence formation and the of geoinformation technologies in training. this research also improves the system of competences and examines the geoinformation technology used in the education process.

The experimental research program aims to check the efficiency of the methods used to apply geoinformation technologies when forming environmental competence was realized in three stages: analyticalascertaining, designing-searching, and forminggeneralizing.

The formation stage of the pedagogical experiment introduced the application of geoinformation technologies to create environmental competence in the special course, Environmental Geoinformatics. In the laboratory lessons of the control groups, multifunctional geoinformation systems were used, while the experimental groups used multifunctional GIS, mining and environmental GIS, and the software component of the methodological complex, "EcoKryvbas". After completing the experimental training, it was found that 49.33% of students in the control groups achieved a medium level of environmental competence maturity. 20% achieved a sufficient level, while in the experimental, 37.33% achieved a suffucuent level and 36% a medium level.

The pedagogical experiment results were processed and efficiency of the developed methods of training mining students was assessed using mathematical statistics. As the research aimed to determine differences in feature distribution (the level of maturity of the environmental competence) when comparing two empirical distributions (students of the control and the experimental groups) (Sidorenko, 2003, p. 34), the Pearson's χ^2 -criterion or the Kolmogorov-Smirnov's λ -criterion and ϕ^* -criterion (Fischer's angular transformation) were used.

When using the ϕ^* -criterion, it was found that after the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment, students in both the control and experimental groups had statistically significant differences with regard to their achievement of sufficient and high levels of environmental competence maturity ($\phi^*_{emp} = 3.532 > 2.31 = \phi^*_{0.01}$). The adequacy of differences in the experimental and control groups was 0.99.

The χ^2 -criterion was used to calculate the control and experimental samples after the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment revealed that $\chi^2 =$ $12.340 > 9.210 = \chi^2_{0.01}$ with the adequacy of differences in the experimental and control groups of 0.99 for the 3-level scale. Considering that intervals with zero frequencies were not acceptable and not less than 80% of frequencies were to be more than 5, the levels "sufficient" and "high" were united.

To find the level, on which the differences were the greatest, the samples of the formation stage of the pedagogical experiment were checked by means of the Kolmogorov-Smirnov's λ -criterion. The criterion value, $\lambda = 1.6330 > 1.36 = \lambda_{0.05}$, resulted in the students' differences in the experimental and control groups of 0.95 and $D_{max} = 0.08$, which corresponded to the maximum changes on the low maturity level of environmental competence.

The significance of the changes in environmental competence when applying geoinformation technologies was determined by means of the Fischer's angular transformation. It was found that statistically significant changes did not occur in the formation of the second ($\phi^*_{emp}=0.680<1.64=\phi^*_{0.05})$ and the third $(\phi_{emp}^* = 0.818) \ (\phi_{emp}^* = 0.818)$ components of environmental competence. This was explained by the fact that the second stage of environmental competence formation (the special course, Environmental Geoinformatics) was preceded by the first stage (the special course, "Ecology"), during which the given components were formed. The changes in the rest of the environmental competence components were statistically significant: the first component $\phi_{emp}^* =$ 3.212, the fourth component $\phi_{emp}^* = 4.180$, the fifth component $\phi_{emp}^* = 3.250$. The fourth and the fifth components of environmental competence remained underdeveloped due to this fact, and determined the need to conduct the third stage of environmental competence formation. The statistical significance of changes during the formation of the two components indicated that the introduction of professionoriented geoinformation technologies (mining and environmental GIS) conditioned the efficiency of the experimental research work and its results confirmed the research hypothesis.

REFERENCES

- (2020). Hirnychyi zakon Ukrainy: Zakon #1127-XIV (The Mining Law of Ukraine: Law #1127-XIV). http: //zakon0.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/1127-14/.
- Bidiuk, N. M. (2000). Rozvytok zmistu ta form orhanizatsii pidhotovky bakalavriv inzhenerii v universytetakh Velykoi Brytanii [Development of the content and organization forms of training engineering bachelors at British universities]. PhD thesis, Ternopyl State Teachers' Training University name after V. Hnatiuk, Ternopil, Ukraine.
- Bofinger, C. (2006). Comparison of the Australian and South African Mining Engineering Courses to the Competency Requirements for Mine Managers. In *Queensland Mining Industry Health and Safety Conference: 2006 Coping with Growth.* https://www.qmihsconference.org.au/wp-content/ uploads/qmihsc-2006-writtenpaper-bofinger.pdf.
- Derevianko, O. V. (2013). Pedahohichni umovy formuvannia profesiinoi kompetentnosti maibutnikh hirnychykh inzheneriv v protsesi fakhovykh dystsyplin [Pedagogical conditions of forming future mining engineers' professional competence when studying professional subjects]. *Bulletin of the National Academy of the State Border Service of Ukraine*, 4:1–12. http: //nbuv.gov.ua/j-pdf/Vnadps_2013_5_10.pdf.
- Harvey, B. E. (2002). New Competencies in Mining Rio Tinto's Experience. In CMMI Congress 2002. https://resolution88.com.au/wp-content/uploads/ articles/NewCompetencies%20in%20Mining.pdf.
- Hryshchenko, S. and Morkun, V. (2015). Using gistechnology in role-play as an effective means of ecological competence formation among the future engineers. *Metallurgical and Mining Industry*, 4:139– 142. http://www.metaljournal.com.ua/assets/MMI_ 2014_6/MMI_2015_4/020-Grischenko-Morkun.pdf.
- Kulibekova, R. D. (2008). Geoinformatcionnye tekhnologii kak sredstvo formirovaniia informatcionnoi kultury budushchego uchitelia geografii [Geoinformation technologies as means of creating future geography teachers" informational culture]. PhD thesis, Dagestan State Teachers' Training University, Makhachkala.
- Medvedovska, T. P. (2012). Zmist i formy professinoi pidhotovky hirnychykh inzheneriv v Ukraini [The content and forms of training mining engineers in Ukraine]. Dnipro University of Technology, Dnipro, Ukraina.
- Morkun, V., Semerikov, S., and Hryshchenko, S. (2014). Environmental competency of future mining engineers. *Metallurgical and Mining Industry*, 4:4– 7. http://www.metaljournal.com.ua/assets/Journal/1. 2014.pdf.
- Morkun, V., Semerikov, S., Hryshchenko, S., and Slovak, K. (2017). Environmental geo-information technologies as a tool of pre-service mining engineer's training

for sustainable development of mining industry. In Ermolayev, V., Bassiliades, N., Fill, H., Yakovyna, V., Mayr, H. C., Kharchenko, V. S., Peschanenko, V. S., Shyshkina, M., Nikitchenko, M. S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, *Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer, ICTERI 2017, Kyiv, Ukraine, May 15-18, 2017*, volume 1844 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 303–310. CEUR-WS.org. https: //ceur-ws.org/Vol-1844/10000303.pdf.

- Orr, D. W. (1992). Ecological Literacy: Education and the Transition to a Postmodern World. State University of New York Press, Albany, New York.
- Semerikov, S., Kiianovska, N., and Rashevska, N. (2021). The early history of computer-assisted mathematics instruction for engineering students in the United States: 1965-1989. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(3):360–374. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq. 18.
- Sidorenko, E. V. (2003). *Methods of mathematical processing in psychology*. Rech, Saint Petersburg.

The Creative Path of Academician Myroslav Ivanovych Zhaldak in the Informatization of Secondary and Higher Pedagogical Education in Ukraine

Nataliia P. Franchuk^{1,2}¹^a and Vasyl M. Franchuk¹^b

¹National Pedagogical Dragomanov University, 9 Pyrohova Str., Kyiv, 01601, Ukraine
²Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the National Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine, 9 M. Berlynskoho Str., Kyiv, 04060, Ukraine n.p.franchuk@npu.edu.ua

- Keywords: A Prominent Scientist of Ukraine, Academic M. I. Zhaldak, Prominent Specialist in the Field of Informatics, Scientific School of M. I. Zhaldak, Bibliographic Information About M. I. Zhaldak.
- Abstract: The article is about a prominent specialist in the field of informatics and methods of its teaching, the founder of a powerful scientific school and research areas, the author of many textbooks and manuals in mathematics and computer science. The stages of his formation as a scientist. Biographical and bibliographic information about him and his scientific achievements are given. The study highlights "First steps in life", "Beginning of scientific path and management", "Scientific works and educational materials", "Scientific and organizational work and awards", "Formation of the scientific elite of the state", "Main activities of scientific school M. I. Zhaldak". The achievements and main directions of functioning of the scientific school of M. I. Zhaldak are analyzed. The influence of the scientific school on the informatization of secondary and higher pedagogical education of Ukraine is determined.

1 INTRODUCTION

Historical and biographical research occupies a prominent place in the history of science and allows to personify the history of its branches, to assess the contribution of scientists, individuals involved in research and organization of science. In the context of biography, the method of organizing biographical information and research tools are important (Liashko, 2013). Therefore, the figure of a prominent Ukrainian computer scientist - Myroslav Ivanovych Zhaldak - was chosen for this study. The personal scientific achievements of M. I. Zhaldak and his students are an invaluable, socially significant contribution to solving the problems of informatization of the education system in Ukraine, humanization of education and humanization of the educational process, fundamentalization of knowledge and providing them with applied, practical significance.

The creation of scientific schools is a good national tradition, which is a consequence of the peculiarities of the cultural and historical development of Ukraine. Trends in modern science, which gave rise to a number of problems, including problems related to the organization of research: creating optimal conditions for the most effective activities of research teams, ways to form and manage them - made relevant the study of the origin and operation of specific scientific schools. "Scientific School" is a community of scientists of different statuses, competencies and specializations who coordinate their research activities, who have contributed to the implementation and development of the research program and are able to actively represent and defend the goals and results of the program (Honcharenko, 2012). Thus, the scientific school is an informal association of scientists whose research is concentrated in the field of ideas created by scientists of high spiritual and intellectual potential. We emphasize that a necessary condition for the creation of a scientific school is the presence of spiritually and intellectually gifted personality of the scientist - the founder of the school (Leshchenko and Yatsyshyn, 2015). The organizer, leader and first initiator of scientific ideas of the school is its leader, and its students and staff form its staff. Such groups have a common ideology, it can be their own methodology and methodology, their own views and

The Creative Path of Academician Myroslav Ivanovych Zhaldak in the Informatization of Secondary and Higher Pedagogical Education in Ukraine. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 281-292 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0213-143X

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9443-6520

Franchuk, N. and Franchuk, V.

beliefs about certain facts and phenomena, their own vision of the main path of science. Important is the product of their activities, publication of results, i.e., school publications, which should be published regularly (periodically): thematic collections, monographs, etc. (Zaruba, 2007). The reasons for recording the existence of such a school are three generations of researchers: the founder of the school – his follower – the students of the follower (Marahovsky and Kozubtsov, 2012).

From the works (Honcharenko, 2012; Leshchenko and Yatsyshyn, 2015; Marahovsky and Kozubtsov, 2012; Zaruba, 2007) it can be concluded that the main tasks of the scientific school are: training of scientific and scientific-pedagogical staff; discussion of the main results of dissertations of graduate students, doctoral students, applicants and staff; opposing doctoral and candidate dissertations, preparing responses to abstracts, reviewing curricula, manuals, textbooks, guidelines, collections, etc.; study, generalization and dissemination of advanced interdisciplinary scientific and pedagogical experience; preparation, organization and holding of scientific and practical events of different levels.

Therefore, it is important to generalize the experience of the scientific school, the leader of which is Academician M. I. Zhaldak, and its role in the informatization of secondary and higher pedagogical education in Ukraine.

2 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

The study analyzed scientific publications and supporting sources in several areas:

- 1. Publications devoted to the activities of scientific schools (Kremen and Levovitsky, 2012; Franchuk, 2017; Honcharenko, 2012; Marahovsky and Kozubtsov, 2012) and historical and biographical research (Liashko, 2013).
- 2. The source base of the study were publications about the personality of M. I. Zhaldak. The collection (Bibliographic Index, 2011) on the life and scientific path of M. I. Zhaldak presents the most comprehensive data, but this information now needs to be updated. The sources present certain biographical data (Nahorody, 2022) and memoirs of colleagues of M. I. Zhaldak (Mykhalin, 2010).
- 3. The training of scientific and scientificpedagogical staff of the highest qualification for informatization of education is described in works (Leshchenko and Yatsyshyn, 2015; Spirin and Iatsyshyn, 2013; Spirin and Yatsyshyn, 2014;

Spirin et al., 2016) which mention the role of M. I. Zhaldak and representatives of his scientific school in this process.

We believe that the significant scientific heritage of Academician M. I. Zhaldak and his students has not been studied enough, and this study is an attempt to summarize the significant contribution of M. I. Zhaldak in the development of informatization of the educational process of secondary schools and universities of Ukraine.

The purpose of the article is to clarify the features of the scientific school of Academician M. I. Zhaldak and its impact on the informatization of domestic secondary and higher pedagogical education.

To perform this study, a set of methods was used:

- theoretical biographical analysis and systematization to determine the stages of formation of M. I. Zhaldak as a scientist and manager; analysis and generalization to clarify the prerequisites for the creation of the scientific school of M. I. Zhaldak and determine the main directions of its work; concretization and generalization of the provisions shown in the scientific works of M. I. Zhaldak and his students; systematization of materials about the life and scientific achievements of M. I. Zhaldak; comparative method was used to determine the stages of formation and organizational features of the scientific school of M. I. Zhaldak, as well as to identify the importance of experience in training scientific and scientific-pedagogical staff of the highest qualification in the new scientific specialty "Information and Communication Technologies in Education"; bibliometric method for studying the citation of the works of the leader by his students and followers;
- empirical conducting interviews with graduate students, doctoral students, applicants who performed dissertations under the guidance of M. I. Zhaldak and his students; supervision of training and certification of scientific and scientific-pedagogical staff in specialized scientific councils, which included M. I. Zhaldak.

3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

Liashko (Liashko, 2013) found that for a long time (since the XII century) mankind has created the principles and mechanisms of practical or normative classification of people who worked in the field of science. The basis of such a classification is a person's contribution to the development of a particular branch of science on a formal basis – a degree, academic or academic title, acquired in the normatively defined manner. That is, it is the fixation of certain stages of normative recognition of a person's scientific achievements.

As already mentioned, each time, epoch, period of history is associated with the relevant people who influenced the development of science in a particular field, one of them is M. I. Zhaldak. Throughout his life, he demonstrated to society the potential of a talented scientist, strong leader, progressive educator, and wise mentor. The results of scientific work and his creative work give grounds to claim that he has currently formed a solid scientific school of researchers in the theory and methods of teaching computer science and the use of information and communication technologies in education (Franchuk, 2017).

The formation and development of scientific schools in each country is an extremely important problem of national importance. The development of one or another field of scientific knowledge, and accordingly - education, culture, and economy, largely depends on its support and consistent solution (Kremen and Levovitsky, 2012). According to (Honcharenko, 2012, p. 28), a full-fledged scientific school cannot exist without a teacher, without students, without the substantive content of joint activities, but each school in science necessarily differs in certain unique, unique, properties. The nature of science does not support reduplication, reproduction of standard products, the invention of the invention. Therefore, the function of learning, involvement in the tradition is inextricably linked in the scientific school with the search for new solutions and approaches - both conceptual and methodological. That is why every scientific school is unique.

Thus, scientific schools are the core informal structure of science because they make a significant contribution to its development, and their representatives usually achieve significant scientific results (Leshchenko and Yatsyshyn, 2015). Researchers of scientific schools (Honcharenko, 2012), and (Kremen and Levovitsky, 2012, p. 82), emphasize that the school operates not only through the development of scientific ideas, but also through the organization of scientific work on the basis of scientific principles, tact, respect, responsibility and creating an atmosphere of decency. And the educational influence on the personality of the applicant has the ability of the head of the school to think strategically. Also, the presence of mature intelligence, broad worldview, prudence, wisdom of life, the ability to generate ideas, anticipate the consequences of decisions, commitment, and self-discipline (Kremen and Levovitsky,

2012). In our opinion, M. I. Zhaldak meets all these qualities and therefore, to describe his path as a scientist and the work of his scientific school is an important and honorable task.

Myroslav Ivanovych was a doctor of pedagogical sciences, professor, full member of the National Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine, head of the Department of Theoretical Foundations of Informatics of the National Pedagogical Dragomanov University. He is a well-known scientist and organizer of national education and science in Ukraine and abroad. He himself was always at the forefront and involved his students, gained followers, gathered around him like-minded people. It is easy and difficult to study the biography and activities of the scientific school of M. I. Zhaldak, because he is friendly, open, respected by people, has charisma and his scientific achievements are large and diverse, and to thoroughly study this requires special research. M. I. Zhaldak was a prominent figure in modern Ukrainian pedagogical science.

According to the results of generalization and clarification of the system of basic criteria, which determine the scientific and pedagogical school among other scientific associations, the following criteria include (Honcharenko, 2012):

- creation of educational materials of different nature, recognized at the national and regional levels, fully provide the educational process from the block of academic disciplines and constitute the content of the educational process in a particular specialty (group of specialties);
- the use of original or creatively adapted teaching methods with essential elements of developmental learning and the use of modern means of communication in the scientific community;
- conducting teaching activities from the block of academic disciplines that constitute the educational and content core of the program of a particular specialty (specialties) during the period of specialist training;
- the topic of dissertation research of members of the scientific school should be conceptually related to the direction of scientific research of its leader. This indicates a set of qualitative indicators, primarily conceptual, related to the continuation of scientific direction and the development of ideas of a scientific school;
- recruiting new members of the community, including from the student body of the university, until the end of the training of highly qualified specialists;

- conducting scientific-practical and scientifictheoretical events (conferences, seminars, etc.), including a permanent seminar of scientific and methodological nature. During these events, the function of replication of pedagogical innovations is realized;
- simultaneous implementation of two functions:
 1) the initiator of fundamental scientific ideas, their dissemination and protection;
 2) training of young scientific candidates (Doctor of Philosophy) and Doctor of Sciences (Bykov et al., 2017).

To conduct this study, the analysis of biographical information about the life and scientific achievements of M. I. Zhaldak is paramount. After all, in (Kremen and Levovitsky, 2012) it was determined that it is important to analyze the personality of the founder and head of such a school as the most important factor in its formation. Next, it is worth considering the school's research program - when the leader involves students in their own ideas, creativity, which involves his desire for collective forms of work and the need to relay their views and their discussion. An important condition for entering a scientific school is the identification of the student with the teacher, that is, the perception of his methods, ideas, way of thinking and acting. The identification of the student with the teacher and with the scientific school is a characteristic feature of scientific schools and is extremely important for understanding them as a pedagogical phenomenon. Inheritance and identification ensure the transmission and preservation of the achievements and traditions of the scientific school. However, this should not prevent the formation of the scientist's independence, the discovery of his own professional and personal position.

4 RESULTS

4.1 The First Steps in Life

Myroslav Ivanovych Zhaldak (figure 1) was born into a family of teachers on August 15, 1937 in the village of Lazirky (formerly Lazirkivsky, now Orzhytsky district), Poltava region. He began his studies at the school in 1944 in the village of Tarandyntsi (formerly Lazirkivsky, now Lubensky district) Poltava region, which he graduated in 1954.

The future scientist was educated at the Taras Shevchenko Kyiv State University, where he studied at the Faculty of Mechanics and Mathematics, graduating in 1959. It was also fateful that for the first time



Figure 1: Myroslav Ivanovych Zhaldak.

in 1959 graduates of this faculty were awarded qualifications in Mathematics. mathematics-calculator, which received and M. I. Zhaldak.

While still a student, he met a close person, Valentina Nikolaevna Babakova (1936–1973), whom he married in 1958. He had three sons – Andrew (1958), Igor (1961), Vladimir (1968), and now grand-children.

After graduating from university, Myroslav Ivanovych was sent to work in Tula (Russia) as an engineer (DKB subscriber box 56). However, in 1960 he returned to Kiev and was enrolled in the position of assistant professor of higher mathematics at the Kyiv Higher engineering radio engineering schools of air defence forces.

4.2 The Beginning of the Scientific Path and Management Activities

Zhaldak's scientific path began in 1960 with admission to part-time graduate school at the Department of Higher Mathematics of the Kyiv State Institute of Food Industry (now the National University of Food Technology), and his supervisor was Doctor of Physical and Mathematical Sciences, professor S. I. Zukhovytsky (1908-1994). And again, the fateful case directed the further future of M. I. Zhaldak, because in 1962 he was transferred to the inpatient graduate school of the same institute, where in the same 1962 (due to a change of place of work of the supervisor), transferred to graduate school at the Department of Mathematical Analysis of the Kyiv State Pedagogical Institute named after O. M. Gorky (now the National Pedagogical Dragomanov University). He graduated from graduate school in 1964 and was enrolled as a junior researcher in the computer laboratory at the Department of Mathematical Analysis of the Kyiv State Pedagogical Institute named after O. M. Gorky, and later was transferred to the position of assistant professor of higher mathematics. In May 1965 M. I. Zhaldak presented his scientific results in the form of a candidate's dissertation and received the degree of candidate of physical and mathematical sciences.

M. I. Zhaldak began to hold leading positions in 1968, working as Deputy Dean of the Faculty of Physics and Mathematics, and later, in 1980 – Head of the Department of Higher Mathematics. During this period, the range of scientific issues studied by the scientist significantly expanded. He was awarded the title of Higher Mathematics in 1970. In connection with the organization of the Department of Fundamentals of Informatics and Computer Science he became an associate professor of this department and was appointed Deputy Head of the Department, and in 1989 was elected Head of the Department.

From the mid-60's to the mid 70's of the twentieth century. in the laboratory of computer technology of Kyiv State Pedagogical Institute named after O. M. Gorky worked a group of young scientists who worked on one electronic computer "Minsk-1". In this group of young researchers stood out M. I. Zhaldak, who not only worked on the computer "Minsk-1", but also excellently taught future teachers. "Personally, I (recalls H. O. Mykhalin (08.01.1945-03.12.2020)) enjoyed the lectures of M. I. Zhaldak on probability theory (Mykhalin, 2010)". M. I. Zhaldak in 1972 was an experienced associate professor of higher mathematics and at the same time conducted research at the Main Computing Center of the Ministry of Education of Ukraine and which already had the most modern computers of the ES series. During the period from 1960 to 1985, young scientists of the Kyiv State Pedagogical Institute named after O. M. Gorky worked on computers of all generations - from the earliest to the most modern and involved their students and graduate students in this activity (Mykhalin, 2010).

As H. O. Mykhalin noted, a team was gradually formed around M. I. Zhaldak, and later a scientific school, which he headed. During the 25 years from 1985 to 2010, this school included hundreds of teachers from all over Ukraine, whose scientific and pedagogical activities are related to the pedagogical software GRAN, created under the leadership of M. I. Zhaldak (Mykhalin, 2010).

In 1989 the attention of the scientific community was drawn to the dissertation of M. I. Zhaldak for the degree of Doctor of Pedagogical Sciences "Teacher training system for the use of information technology in the educational process", which was defended in 1990 at the Research Institute of Content and Methods of Teaching USSR (Moscow). The scientific consultant was Doctor of Physical and Mathematical Sciences, Corresponding Member of the Academy of Educational Sciences of the USSR, later a full member of the National Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine, Professor M. I. Shkil (1932-2015). After defending his doctoral dissertation, the leading role of M. I. Zhaldak was fully manifested. If during the period from 1965 to 1990 under his leadership only two dissertations were prepared and defended (Yu. V. Tryus and N. V. Morze), then for the period from 1990 to 2010 the number of defended as PhD and doctoral dissertations, and now his students work in all parts of Ukraine and in leading institutions of higher education (Mykhalin, 2010).

In 1991 M. I. Zhaldak received the title of professor, and in 1992 he was elected a corresponding member, and in 1995 – a full member of the Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine.

At the National Pedagogical Dragomanov University of Institute of Informatics was established in 2008, where M. I. Zhaldak was elected its director and head of the Department of Theoretical Foundations of Informatics, which he headed until the end of his life.

Myroslav Ivanovych Zhaldak passed away on February 26, 2021. His heart stopped beating at the age of 84. Myroslav Ivanovych was buried in the town of Rzhyshchiv, Obukhiv district, Kyiv region, Ukraine.

4.3 Scientific Works and Educational Materials

Scientific schools carry out theoretical and methodological, information-analytical, scientificorganizational, experimental-pedagogical, and innovation-research activities. By exchanging experience, ideas, scientists enrich each other's innovative potential, create an environment of productive scientific communication, creative style of teamwork, contribute to the development of new effective methodology and original methods of scientific knowledge of innovation processes (Kremen and Levovitsky, 2012).

It should be noted that in the early 1990's at the National Pedagogical Dragomanov University were created positive prerequisites for the emergence of scientific and pedagogical school on the problem of informatization of secondary and higher pedagogical education. Under the leadership and with the direct participation of M. I. Zhaldak, a number of concepts, standards, educational materials, educational and methodological and program-methodological complexes were developed: content and programs of courses "Numerical Methods", "Mathematical Logic and Theory of Algorithms", "Fundamentals of Informatics", "Informatics", "Computational Practice" for physics and mathematics faculties of pedagogical institutes (1992), in-depth study of mathematics at school (2001), the concept of informatization of education in Ukraine (1994), the concept of the content of end-to-end education of Informatics and Computer Engineering for All Levels of Education (1993), State Standard of General Secondary Education in Ukraine in Informatics (2003), standard program of the candidate exam in specialties 13.00.02 "Theory and methods of teaching computer science" (1999) and 13.00.10 "Information and communication technologies in education" (2008), Industry standards of higher education in the direction of training 0101 Pedagogical education, Specialty 6.010100 Pedagogy and methods of secondary education - Mathematics and Physics (2002) (Bykov et al., 2017).

M. I. Zhaldak, a reviewer of more than 100 scientific and methodological works, is the author and coauthor of more than 300 works, including 50 books and brochures (figure 2), including:

- Zhaldak, M. I., Kuzmina, N. M., and Mykhalin, H. O. (2009) Probability theory and mathematical statistics: a textbook for students of physical and mathematical specialties of pedagogical universities. Poltava. 500 pages.
- Zhaldak, M. I., Kuzmina, N. M., and Mykhalin, H. O. (2009) Collection of problems and exercises in probability theory and mathematical statistics: a textbook for students of physical and mathematical specialties of pedagogical universities. Kyiv. 610 pages

and others (Naukova diyalinist, 2022).

In the works of M. I. Zhaldak introduced modern computer-based methodological systems for teaching mathematics and, in part, physics, focused on a harmonious pedagogically appropriate and balanced combination of traditional methodological systems of teaching and modern information and communication technologies.

The software complex GRAN (figure 3), which is well known today in schools and pedagogical universities of Ukraine, was developed by M. I. Zhaldak and his graduate student A. V. Penkov (1958– 2016) as early in 1989. The program and methodological complex GRAN, together with other textbooks and manuals for students at pedagogical universities, teachers and students of secondary schools ("Probability Theory and Mathematical Statistics" (Zhaldak et al., 2020), "Stochastics", "Mathematics with a computer (Zhaldak et al., 2012)") contains more than 20 books, electronic copies of which are available on the website of the Department of Theoretical Foundations of Informatics (https://ktoi.fi.npu.edu.ua/).

You can get acquainted with GRAN software using Open Virtual Desktop (OVD) cloud technologies. The Ulteo OVD system was used to deploy Remote Desktop. For this purpose, the work of two servers (application server and session manager server) was organized, using the web-oriented virtual environment PROXMOX.

One server, namely the session manager server, is configured using the Linux Ubuntu operating system. Using the Windows operating system, an application server was configured on which the GRAN software (Gran1, Gran2D, Gran3D) was installed (Zhaldak and Franchuk, 2020).

You can get to the virtual desktop to the remote server at the link http://gran.npu.edu.ua. As a result, a page with the form (Ulteo Open Virtual Desktop) will open, where in the line "Username" you need to select from the proposed list one of the available names, such as "gran", and then in the line "Password" enter the password "gran" (Zhaldak et al., 2021).

It should be noted that developed by M. I. Zhaldak and his colleagues approved the textbook "Probability Theory and Mathematical Statistics" in 2008 by the Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine as a textbook for students of physical and mathematical specialties of higher pedagogical educational institutions (Bibliographic Index, 2011; Zhaldak et al., 2020).

M. I. Zhaldak was a member of organizing committees and regularly participates in many masses' scientific events, both in Ukraine and abroad. Particularly M. I. Zhaldak was the permanent head of the All-Ukrainian scientific-methodical seminar on the problems of informatization of the educational process.

Here are the indexes of citations of publications M. I. Zhaldak according to Google Scholar The Creative Path of Academician Myroslav Ivanovych Zhaldak in the Informatization of Secondary and Higher Pedagogical Education in Ukraine



Figure 2: The main books of M. I. Zhaldak.

(https://scholar.google.com.ua/citations?user= SDRlaCAAAAAJ) as of February 2023: general citation statistics – 4698, h-index – 34, i10-index – 58 (figure 4).

To convey his work, M. I. Zhaldak successfully used digital technologies. In particular, he created profiles in various citation systems so that everyone could see the real value of his publications. Especially for domestic research, especially in the social sciences and humanities, it is mandatory to publish in publications that are indexed in international databases Web of Science or Scopus. In figure 5 (https://www.scopus.com/authid/detail.uri? authorId=16424101400) we can see the number of publications as well as the years of these publications. It is from this that it can be argued that in this case the scientist was one of the first to place his work in scientometrics databases. However, it should be noted that Myroslav Ivanovych was a supporter of the publication of his works in Ukrainian scientific journals.

4.4 Scientific and Organizational Work and Awards

Scientific and organizational achievements of M. I. Zhaldak is reflected in his character traits: friendliness, perseverance, principledness, great diligence and the ability to bring the case to an end. The scientist can be described as a purposeful leader who had broad scientific interests, because he always supported new developments and improvements in technical means and tried to implement them in the educational process.

M. I. Zhaldak was the scientific editor of many monographs and manuals, was a member of the editorial boards of professional publications in pedagogical sciences of Ukraine, namely: the scientific journal "Computer at school and family", "Mathematics at school", newspaper "Informatics", electronic publication "Information technologies and teaching aids", editor-in-chief of the collection of scientific works



Figure 3: Software and methodological complex GRAN.

"Computer-based learning systems" and others (Nahorody, 2022).

Scientific and organizational activities of M. I. Zhaldak include work in numerous methodological commissions and groups, including: member (later chairman) of the methodological commission on informatics at the Scientific and Methodological Council of the Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine (1985-2005), member of the Interdepartmental Council for Coordination of Scientific Research in Pedagogical and Psychological Sciences in Ukraine, Chairman of the Informatics Section of the Commission for Higher Pedagogical Education (0101) of the Scientific and Methodological Council of the Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine (since May 2007), Chairman of the Working Group for Development direction 6.040302 Informatics* training of specialists in higher educational institutions at the educational and qualification level of bachelor (since October 2007). From 1987 to 2002 he was the chairman of the jury of regional and national competitions in computer science, national competitions "Teacher of the Year" in computer science (2002, Kherson) and mathematics (2004, Bila Tserkva), participated. in the work of the Small

Academy of Sciences (1998–2000, chairman of the jury), Vice-President of the Kyiv Small Academy of Sciences of Ukraine (Bibliographic Index, 2011).

The selfless scientific and organizational work of M. I. Zhaldak was worthily awarded numerous state and scientific awards. For 59 years of work at the university M. I. Zhaldak received (Bibliographic Index, 2011; Nahorody, 2022):

- 1. Letter of thanks from the administration of the secondary school number 2 town Ukrainka (1984).
- 2. Diploma of the Kyiv State Pedagogical Institute named after O. M. Gorky (1985).
- 3. Excellence in Public Education of the USSR (1987).
- 4. Diploma of the Kyiv City Committee of Trade Unions (1988).
- 5. Excellence in Education of the USSR (1989).
- 6. Veteran of Labor (1997).
- 7. Diploma of the Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine (1997).
- Diploma of the II degree of the Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine (1997).
- 9. Honored Worker of Science and Technology of Ukraine (2000).
- 10. Excellence in Education of Ukraine (2004).
- 11. Diploma of the first degree of National Pedagogical Dragomanov University (2004).
- 12. Diploma of the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine "For significant personal contribution to the development of education, training of highly qualified specialists, many years of hard work" (2005).
- 13. Gratitude of National Pedagogical Dragomanov University (2007).
- 14. Sign "K. D. Ushynsky" (2007).
- 15. Title of Honorary Professor of Chernihiv State T G Shevchenko Pedagogical University (2007).
- Award of the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine "For preparation of scientific change" (2009); Medal of M. P. Kravchuk "For scientific achievements" (2010).
- 17. Diploma of the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine "For special services to the Ukrainian people" (2010).
- Title of Honorary Director of the Institute of Informatics of National Pedagogical Dragomanov University (2011).
- 19. Honored Professor of National Pedagogical Dragomanov University (2011).

The Creative Path of Academician Myroslav Ivanovych Zhaldak in the Informatization of Secondary and Higher Pedagogical Education in Ukraine

=	Google Schol	ar									Q		
		Мирослав Іва професор, завідувач Verified email at при.є теорія ймовірностей	а нович Жал кафедри, <u>НПУ ім</u> du.ua - <u>Homepage</u>	ІДАК ані М.П. Драгоманова 2			FOLLOW	Cited Citation h-index i10-ind	by ns 4 x lex	All 598 34 58	VIEW Since 2	2018 1154 17 28	
	TITLE					CITED BY	YEAR	_				440	
	Комп'ютер на урог МІ Жалдак К.: Техніка 302 (1)	ках математики: Посі	5ник для вчителіі	3		435	1997		h.,			330 220	
	Комп'ютерно-оріє для вчителів МІ Жалдак, ВВ Лапінс К.: Дініт. 55-67	нтовані засоби навча зький, МІ Шут	ння математики,	фізики, інформатики: Г	Тосібник	402	2004	2016 20	017 2018 2019 202	20 2021 20:	22 2023	110 0	
	Педагогічний поте МІ Жалдак	енціал комп'ютерно-о	рієнтованих сист	ем навчання математи	ки	334	2003						
	НПУ імені МП Драгома Формування мате дослідницького пі	анова эматичних компетентн дходу в навчанні з ви	юстей учителя м користанням інф	атематики на основі ормаційних технологій		324	2005	Co-au	ій канд	>			
	СА Раков Нац пед. ун-т ім. МП Д Математика з ком МІ Жалдак, ЮВ Гороц	Драгоманова IП'ютером ико, ЄФ Вінниченко				207	2015	1	Микола Шут завідувач кафе, Морзе Наталія	цри загаль	ної т	>	
	НПУ імені МП Драгома Комп'ютер на урог	^{анова} ках геометрії: Посібни	к для вчителів			207	2004		Київський уніве Биков Валерій I Val	оситет імен Охимович	ні Бо (Bykov	>	
	BULLI BULT	Figure 4: Citat	ion indices	of M. I. Zhaldak [*]	's publica	tions acc	cording to	Googl	le Scholar.		-ninnu		
10	Scopus						Q Searc	h Sou	rces SciVal ↗	0	Ŷ	侴	ss
			This author profile is ger Zhaldak, N O National Pedagor I 16424101400 O Ø Edit profile	erated by Scopus Learn more M. I. gical Dragomanov University, Ki (D) Connect to ORCID 3. Set alert := Save to list	iev, Ukraine Shov 옷 Potential au	v all author info uthor matches	Export to SciVa	al					
	Metrics overview 4 Documents by author 22 Citations by 21 docum	ients	Document & cit	ation trends	!	14 Citations	Most contril Augmented Reali <u>2 documents</u>	buted Top ity; Mobile In	pics 2017–2021 ternet Devices; Educa	D			
	3 h-index: View h-graph		1985 Analyze author output	Documents Citations Citation overview		2022	View all Topics						
			4 Documents	Cited by 21 Documents	0 Preprints	s 3 Co-Aut	thors 1 Topic	c 0 Aw	arded Grants			_	
	N Affred Part 1	and the Gamma d	Export all Save all t	o list					Sort by	Date (newe	est)	~	
	 > View list in search re > View references 	esults format	Conference Paper • Op Some applications continuous probal Zhaldak, M.I., Franchuk Journal of Physics: Confe	of the GRAN1 to analyze tw of the GRAN1 to analyze tw bility distributions t, N.P. rerece Series, 2021, 1946(1), 012002	o-dimensional						3 Citations	5	
			Show abstract >> \										

Figure 5: Citation indices of M. I. Zhaldak's publications in Scopus.

- 20. Medal "Grigory Skovoroda" (2012).
- 21. Gold Medal "Mykhailo Petrovych Dragomanov 1841-1895" (2012).
- 22. Diploma of the Institute of Information Technologies and Teaching Aids of the National Academy

of Educational Sciences of Ukraine (2012).

- 23. Medal of M. P. Kravchuk "For scientific achievements" (2012).
- 24. Diploma of the Kyiv City Organization of the Trade Union of Education and Science Workers

of Ukraine (2017).

- 25. Diploma of the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine (2017).
- 26. Medal "Dragomanov Family" (2018).
- 27. Medal "People's Honor to Ukrainian Scientists 1918–2018" (2018).

4.5 Formation of the Scientific Elite

Being an effective form of organization of scientific life of the researcher, the scientific school greatly contributes to the acquisition of scientific experience, the formation of values in the implementation of research. Involvement of a young scientist in scientific research, giving him real powers and rights, the opportunity to choose a personally significant problem, pedagogical support and trust have a positive effect on the overall development of the researcher's personality and significant results (Kremen and Levovitsky, 2012). Training of scientific personnel in postgraduate and doctoral studies is one of the main sources of constant replenishment and renewal of the intellectual potential of the state, its scientific elite (Biriukova, 2010).

M. I. Zhaldak was a permanent member (and since 2003 chairman) of the specialized Academic Council D 26.053.03 at the National Pedagogical Dragomanov University on the defense of doctoral dissertations in the specialty 13.00.02 – theory and methods of teaching (mathematics, computer science). Note that it is under the leadership of M. I. Zhaldak, this scientific field has reached the highest popularity, because applicants came from all over Ukraine to defend their scientific results in this specialized scientific council.

The most common method of identifying scientific schools is the study of various candidate and doctoral theses of scientists who are part of these informal teams (Marahovsky and Kozubtsov, 2012).

M. I. Zhaldak took great care of young people and actively involved talented students in research, postgraduate studies, and recommended talented colleagues for doctoral studies. According to scientific advice M. I. Zhaldak trained 16 doctors of pedagogical sciences. Under his scientific guidance, the scientific results of 41 candidate dissertations have already been evaluated (Nahorody, 2022).

It is worth noting the historical experience and analysis of the current state of training and certification of domestic scientific and scientific-pedagogical staff of the highest qualification in the field of pedagogical sciences, particularly in the new scientific specialty 13.00.10 - "Information and communica-

tion technologies in education", established in 2009 (Spirin and Yatsyshyn, 2014).

It should be noted that back in 2008 at the initiative of academicians of the National Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine V. Yu. Bykov and M. I. Zhaldak at the Institute of Information Technologies and Teaching Tools of the National Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine consisting of 11 people created a working group to prepare a draft passport of a new scientific specialty 13.00.10 - "Information and Communication Technologies in Education", approved by the Higher Attestation Commission of Ukraine in 2009. to the field of pedagogical sciences, which investigates the theoretical and methodological problems of the use of ICT in education, psychological and pedagogical rationale for the development of these technologies to ensure the functioning and development of educational systems (Spirin et al., 2017).

In 2010 M. I. Zhaldak became a member of the specialized doctoral scientific council for the first time created in Ukraine in the Institute of information technologies and learning tools of the National Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine (now Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the National Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine) in the specialty 13.00.10. This council has a unique composition, as it combines outstanding personalities known not only in Ukraine but also abroad – scientists, managers, practitioners who have degrees in various fields of science and have made a significant contribution to the computerization of general and higher pedagogical educational institutions, informatization of scientific and educational space of Ukraine (Spirin et al., 2016).

4.6 The Main Activities of the Scientific School of M. I. Zhaldak

The scientific school is called the guardian of acquired traditions, scientific worldview, concentrated experience of many generations, a kind of relay transfer of experience, which helps to reveal the creative abilities of young scientists, their education, formation, and transformation into mature researchers. In modern conditions, the scientific school, in order to maintain its progressive character, must be armed with advanced methodology, have professional mobility (Leshchenko and Yatsyshyn, 2015).

Given (Mykhalin, 2010; Bibliographic Index, 2011; Nahorody, 2022) we outline the main directions of the scientific school, headed by Academician M. I. Zhaldak:

• features of teaching computer science in secondary schools and training computer science The Creative Path of Academician Myroslav Ivanovych Zhaldak in the Informatization of Secondary and Higher Pedagogical Education in Ukraine

teachers for this;

- development of electronic educational resources (pedagogical software) focused on the school course of mathematics, easy for students to master, easy to use;
- creation of computer-oriented systems of teaching mathematics in various educational institutions;
- development and improvement of methodical systems of teaching computer science and mathematics to university students;
- introduction of technologies of distance learning of computer science and mathematics disciplines;
- development of information-didactic and educational-methodical materials, in particular creation of new textbooks, task books, textbooks for school, for teachers and students of pedagogical universities;
- introduction of information and communication technologies for training, management, and support of scientific research (Bykov et al., 2017).

According to many leading scientists, the scientific school of Academician M. I. Zhaldak is a source for the creation and development of new scientific schools, which will later be headed by his students.

5 CONCLUSIONS

M. I. Zhaldak was a man of hard work and modesty, versatile talent, deep knowledge, and wisdom of life. High decency, simplicity, modesty, principledness and determination in defending their positions, the ability to work with people became an example of devotion and service to the pedagogical field to which he dedicated himself. His fruitful work is generous with life-giving fruits, respect, and love. And the result is an extremely powerful scientific school.

M. I. Zhaldak managed to prepare and focus highly qualified scientific and scientific-pedagogical staff on priority and promising areas of informatization of the educational process in schools and universities, which determine the innovative development of education and science of Ukraine. The study provides grounds to argue about the significant role of the scientific school of M. I. Zhaldak and its impact on the development, promotion of international prestige and authority of national education and science.

From his own many years of experience working with M. I. Zhaldak, we note that in the educational process, research, and management, he uses effective innovative approaches. M. I. Zhaldak is a great professional, whose potential is realized in all spheres of education and science. His colleagues and students know that it is worth working with him according to his principles and at his own pace. And his principledness in scientific and organizational issues ensured the respect of colleagues and students and contributed to his scientific recognition.

Carrying out research on the biography, scientific achievements of Academician M. I. Zhaldak and his scientific school, it should be noted that he is one of the leaders, scientists, creators of educational innovations: teacher, scientist, organizer of education and science.

In the future it is expedient to study the phenomenon of development of scientific schools of students and followers of Academician M. I. Zhaldak.

REFERENCES

- Bibliographic Index (2011). Myroslav Ivanovych Zhaldak: biobibliohrafichnyi pokazhchyk [Myroslav Ivanovich Zhaldak: bibliographic index]. Vcheni NPU imeni M. P. Drahomanova. Vyd-vo NPU im. M. P. Drahomanova, Kyiv. http://enpuir.npu.edu.ua/handle/ 123456789/2295.
- Biriukova, M. V. (2010). Aspirantura i doktorantura yak mekhanizmy formuvannia intelektualnoho potentsialu derzhavy : [z dosvidu KhHU "NUA"]. Vyshcha shkola, (2):52–59.
- Bykov, V. Y., Spirin, O. M., Ramskyi, Y. S., Franchuk, V. M., Franchuk, N. P., and Iatsyshyn, A. V. (2017). The role of the scientific school of academician M. I. Zhaldak in the informatization of secondary and higher pedagogical education in Ukraine. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 60(4):1–16. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v60i4.1836.
- Franchuk, N. P. (2017). Naukova shkola Myroslava Ivanovycha Zhaldaka [Myroslav Ivanovych Zhaldak Scientific School]. *Kompiuter u shkoli ta simi*, (5):3– 6.
- Honcharenko, S. U. (2012). Naukovi shkoly v pedahohitsi [Scientific schools in pedagogy]. In Kremen, V. and Levovitsky, T., editors, Stanovlennia i rozvytok naukovo-pedahohichnykh shkil: problemy, dosvid, perspektyvy [Formation and development of scientific and pedagogical schools: problems, experience, perspectives], pages 27–43. Vyd-vo ZhDU imeni Ivana Franka, Zhytomyr. http://eprints.zu.edu.ua/id/eprint/ 8552.
- Kremen, V. and Levovitsky, T., editors (2012). Stanovlennia i rozvytok naukovo-pedahohichnykh shkil: problemy, dosvid, perspektyvy [Formation and development of scientific and pedagogical schools: problems, experience, perspectives]. Vyd-vo ZhDU imeni Ivana Franka, Zhytomyr. http://eprints.zu.edu.ua/id/eprint/ 8552.
- Leshchenko, M. P. and Yatsyshyn, A. V. (2015). Rol naukovoi shkoly akademika NAPN Ukrainy V. Yu.

Bykova v informatyzatsii osvity i nauky Ukrainy [The role of a scientific school of academician of the National Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine V. Yu. Bykov in informatization of education and science of Ukraine]. *Kompiuter u shkoli ta simi*, (8):10–17. http://nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/komp_2015_8_4.

- Liashko, S. M. (2013). "Naukova biohrafiia" u konteksti teorii ta metodyky biohrafichnykh doslidzhen: naskilky varto keruvatysia zmistom poniattia "naukova biohrafiia" ta totozhnymy iz nym u praktytsi biohrafistyky ["Scientific Biography" in the Context of the Theory and Methodology of Biographical Studies Ukrainian Biography]. Ukrainska biohrafistyka, 10:25–47. http://irbis-nbuv.gov.ua/ everlib/item/er-0000001374.
- Marahovsky, L. F. and Kozubtsov, I. N. (2012). Naukova shkola – osnova suchasnoi mizhdystsyplinarnoi aspirantury [Scientific school as the fundamentals of modern interdisciplinary postgraduate course]. Visnyk Hlukhivskoho natsionalnoho pedahohichnoho universytetu imeni Oleksandra Dovzhenka. Seriia : Pedahohichni nauky, 20:54–62. http://nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/ vgnpu_2012_20_15.
- Mykhalin, H. O. (2010). Z istorii stanovlennia Kyivskoi naukovoi shkoly u haluzi informatyko-matematychnoi osvity [From the history of formation of the Kiev scientific school in the field of informatics and mathematics education]. Scientific journal of the National Pedagogical University named after M. P. Dragomanov Series 2, Computer-Oriented Learning Systems, (9(16)):105–110. https://sj.npu.edu.ua/index. php/kosn/article/view/354.
- Nahorody (2022). Nahorody, pochesni vidznaky. https:// zhaldak.fi.npu.edu.ua/nahorody-pochesni-vidznaky.
- Naukova diyalinist (2022). Naukova diyalinist. https: //zhaldak.fi.npu.edu.ua/naukova-diialnist.
- Spirin, O. M. and Iatsyshyn, A. V. (2013). Features of the highest qualification in the specialty "Information and communication technologies in education". *Journal of Information Technologies in Education (ITE)*, (14):022–033. http://ite.kspu.edu/index. php/ite/article/view/320.
- Spirin, O. M., Nosenko, Y. H., and V., I. A. (2016). Current requirements and contents of training of qualified scientists on information and communication technologies in education. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 56(6):219–239. https://doi.org/10. 33407/itlt.v56i6.1526.
- Spirin, O. M., Ramskyi, Y. S., Franchuk, V. M., and Franchuk, N. P. (2017). Naukova shkola Myroslava Ivanovycha Zhaldaka [Myroslav Ivanovych Zhaldak Scientific School]. In Problems of informatization of the educational process in school and higher pedagogical educational institution: materials of the All-Ukrainian scientific-practical conference, pages 5–11. Kyiv. http://eprints.zu.edu.ua/25931/.
- Spirin, O. M. and Yatsyshyn, A. V. (2014). Dosvid pidhotovky naukovykh kadriv z informatsiino/komunikatsiinykh tekhnolohii v osviti (do 15/richchia Instytutu informatsiinykh tekhnolohii i zasobiv navchannia NAPN Ukrainy) [Experience

of training of scientific personnel on information and communication technologies in education (up to the 15th anniversary of the Institute of information technologies and learning tools of NAES of Ukraine)]. *Kompiuter u shkoli ta simi*, (2):3–8. http://eprints.zu.edu.ua/15475/1/Sp_Ya_ITLT.pdf.

- Zaruba, V. (2006-2007). Scientific school in historical science. To the Problem Statement. In Ukraine: Cultural Heritage, National Consciousness, Statehood, volume 15, pages 769–781. http://www.inst-ukr.lviv. ua/files/23/690Zaruba.pdf.
- Zhaldak, M. I. and Franchuk, V. M. (2020). Some applications of cloud technology in mathematical calculations. Scientific journal of National Pedagogical Dragomanov University. Series 2 Computer-based learning systems, (22(29)):3–17. https://doi.org/10. 31392/NPU-nc.series2.2020.22(29).01.
- Zhaldak, M. I., Franchuk, V. M., and Franchuk, N. P. (2021). Some applications of cloud technologies in mathematical calculations. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840:012001. https://iopscience.iop. org/article/10.1088/1742-6596/1840/1/012001.
- Zhaldak, M. I., Goroshko, Y. V., Vinnychenko, E. F., and Tsybko, G. Y. (2012). *Mathematics with a computer: The teacher's guide*. National Dragomanov Pedagogical University, Kyiv, 3 edition. http://erpub.chnpu. edu.ua:8080/jspui/handle/123456789/1523.
- Zhaldak, M. I., Kuzmina, N. M., and Mykhalin, H. O. (2020). Teoriia ymovirnostei i matematychna statystyka : Pidruchnyk dlia studentiv fizykomatematychnykh ta informatychnykh spetsialnostei pedahohichnykh universytetiv [Probability Theory and Mathematical Statistics. Textbook for students of physics, mathematics, and computer science specialties of pedagogical universities]. National Dragomanov Pedagogical University, Kyiv, 4 edition. http: //enpuir.npu.edu.ua/handle/123456789/35207.

Using the Gran1 Program in Mathematics Lessons

Myroslav I. Zhaldak¹[®]^a, Yurii V. Horoshko²[®]^b, Nataliia P. Franchuk^{1,3}[®]^c, Vasyl M. Franchuk¹[®]^d, Oksana Z. Garpul⁴[®]^e and Hanna Y. Tsybko²[®]^f

¹National Pedagogical Dragomanov University, 9 Pyrohova Str., Kyiv, 01601, Ukraine

²Taras Shevchenko National University "Chernihiv Colehium", 53 Hetman Polubotko Str., Chernihiv, 14013, Ukraine

³Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the NAES of Ukraine, 9 M. Berlynskoho Str., Kyiv, 04060, Ukraine ⁴Vasyl Stefanyk Precarpathian National University, 57 Shevchenko Str., Ivano-Frankivsk, 76025, Ukraine

n.p.franchuk@npu.edu.ua

Keywords: A Software Package Gran, Mathematics, Gran1, Mathematical Problems, Cloud Technology.

Abstract: The article considers the mathematical software package Gran. There are described examples of solving problems by the graphical method using the Gran1 program, which can be used in the process of teaching mathematics at school. The issues under consideration are quite complex, and their solving without software such as Gran1 for graphical analysis of various issues is quite time-consuming. The range of tasks that can be solved using the Gran software package, in particular, the Gran1 program, is quite wide and needs a creative approach. Their analysis and solution can have a positive effect not only on the mental but also on the general cultural development of students. The purpose of the study is to consider examples of the effective use of the GRAN complex in mathematics lessons for solving issues of different levels of complexity.

1 INTRODUCTION

On February 26, 2021, Ukrainian science suffered a heavy loss. A well-known scientist in Ukraine and the world, the founder of a powerful scientific school, Myroslav Ivanovych Zhaldak, Doctor of Pedagogical Sciences, professor, academician of the National Academy of Pedagogical Sciences of Ukraine, passed away. One of the most significant contributions of Myroslav Ivanovich to science and education is the Gran software complex conceived by him and developed under his leadership. The Gran program complex has received an author's certificate, it is recommended by the Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine for use in secondary and higher education institutions of Ukraine, and is also known abroad, for example in Poland.

Myroslav Ivanovych Zhaldak began active scientific and pedagogical activities at a time when computerized means of searching, collecting, storing, pro-

- ^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5570-2235
- ^b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9290-7563
- ^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0213-143X
- ^d https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9443-6520
- e https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1181-8524
- ^f https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1861-3003

cessing, presenting, and transmitting various data began to be introduced into the educational process. He emphasized that this opens broad perspectives for humanitarian education and human learning, contributes to the deepening and expansion of the theoretical foundations of knowledge, gives practical significance to learning results, creates conditions for revealing the creative potential of children, taking into account their age characteristics and experience, individual requests, and abilities. At the same time, the teacher is not forced to use any specific method of presentation, consolidation of knowledge and control, any specific content, methods, forms of organization and teaching tools, to maintain a certain balance between independent preparation of students and group work, etc. (Zhaldak, 1989).

Teacher should determine all these aspects according to his own preferences, with specific conditions of work, with individual features of pupils and of whole class. It's clear that it's impossible and unnecessary to teach all the children equally, to form equal knowledge in various subjects for all the children, to claim reaching equal level of logical and creative thinking development, equal perception of reality. It also relates to teaching mathematics, methods of problems solving, plotting and analysis of mathematical models for various processes and phenomena, results in-

Zhaldak, M., Horoshko, Y., Franchuk, N., Franchuk, V., Garpul, O. and Tsybko, H. Using the Gran1 Program in Mathematics Lessons.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 293-302 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

terpretation, and generalization of results of this analysis. At the same time there arise a lot of difficulties dealing with the content, methods, organization forms and means of study, necessary knowledge levels in various subjects for every pupil (Bobyliev and Vihrova, 2021).

Of particular importance is the teaching of natural sciences and mathematics, during which students must consider and build models of various processes and phenomena, and then explore them, analyzing their various features and characteristics, possibly using different information and communication models to perform calculations or experiments, and based on the results of such analysis, synthesizing the relevant conclusions. This approach to learning allows students to effectively develop logical, critical, creative thinking, scientific worldview, creative approach to solving various problems, their correct vision and ability to explain their nature and essence (Zhaldak et al., 2021).

The specified educational aspects can be effectively implemented using the pedagogical software complex GRAN, created under the creative leadership of Myroslav Ivanovich Zhaldak.

We consider the advantages of the specified software complex to be:

- convenient user interface, in particular, the possibility of using most services without a keyboard;
- availability of English and Polish localizations;
- methodical support developed over several decades, including teaching aids recommended by the Ministry of Education and school textbooks;
- confirmation of the effectiveness of the program by the results of numerous candidate and doctoral dissertations on the methodology of teaching mathematics and computer science.

2 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

For the study, scientific publications and supporting sources in the following areas were analyzed: theory and practice in mathematics teaching development (Jaworski, 2006), development of mathematical and logical thinking (Astafieva et al., 2019), mathematical speech of students (Semenikhina and Drushlyak, 2015), using the Gran software package in mathematics lessons (Zhaldak et al., 2012, 2020) and other.

Since 2003, the Gran software complex has been used in some educational institutions in Poland (Smirnova-Trybulska, 2003; Smyrnova-Trybulska, 2004). The widespread introduction of modern ICT tools in the educational process makes it possible to significantly strengthen the links between the content of education and everyday life, to give the results of training practical significance, applicability to solving everyday life problems, satisfying practical needs, which is one of the aspects of the humanization of education.

At the same time, the informatization of the educational process should be based on the creation and widespread introduction into everyday pedagogical practice of new computer-oriented methodological teaching systems for all academic disciplines without exception on the principles of gradual and non-antagonistic, without destructive restructurings and reforms, embedding information and communication technologies into existing didactic systems, a harmonious combination of traditional and computeroriented learning technologies, not denying and discarding the achievements of pedagogical science of the past, but, on the contrary, their improvement and strengthening, including through the pedagogically balanced and expedient use of achievements in the development of computer technology and communications.

However, it is important to understand that not all tasks require the use of a computer. Scientific analysis of creative, productive thinking shows that the main thing in the process of thinking is not so much operational and technical procedures and programs for solving already set tasks, but rather building a model of a problem situation, putting forward a hypothesis, guessing, formulating a problem, setting a task. The modern development of computer software has reached a level where in many cases the algorithm for achieving the goal can be built automatically. In this case, instructions to the computer can be given in terms of the desired results, and not in descriptions of the processes leading to such results. The main difficulty is to characterize the desired results in a qualified and accurate manner, which puts forward appropriate requirements for the overall rigor and logic of the user's thinking.

3 RESULTS

The latest version of the software Gran1, Gran2D, Gran3D, as well as some training manuals can be obtained on the website: https://ktoi.npu.edu.ua. All materials posted on this site are distributed free of charge (Gran, 2021).

Let's consider some examples of solving some math problems using the cloud version of Gran1. Note that the names of services, help, tips, messages, etc., depending on the settings provided in the program, can be provided in one of four languages: Ukrainian, Russian, English, Polish.

Suppose it is necessary to solve an equation f(x) = 0, i.e., in domain of dependence y = f(x) find all the values of the argument x that their corresponding values f(x) are equal to zero.

When the dependence y = f(x) is represented graphically, to find a solution of the equation f(x) = 0means to find all the points on the graph of dependence y = f(x) that have zero ordinates. In other words, it is necessary to find points that lie both on the graph of dependence y = f(x) and on the axis Ox that is described by the equation y = 0. That is, one should find points that lie on the line (straight or curve) that has equation y = f(x) as well as on the line, that has equation y = 0.

Plotting graph of the dependence y = f(x) with the help of the command "Graph /Plot" and setting cursor in corresponding points for getting their ordinates makes it easy to determine abscises of all the points on the graph of dependence y = f(x) that also lie on the axis Ox.

Examples

1. Find solutions of the equation $x^2 - 2 = 0$.

Plot a graph of the dependence $y = x^2 - 2$ and set cursor so that the cursor's abscissa coincides with the intersection point of the graph and the axis Ox. The result is as follows $x_1 \approx -1.4$, $x_1 \approx 1.4$ (figure 1).

If it is necessary to precise the roots one can enlarge a part of the graph or change the segment of function determination and plot the graph in quite small areas of the points defined before, with the help of enlarged zoom.

2. Find solutions of the equation

$$|x-1| + |x+1| - 3 = 0.$$

Plot a graph of the dependence

$$y = abs(x-1) + abs(x+1) - 3$$

and make sure that any point on the axis Ox of the segment [-1,1] lies on the graph of a considered dependence (figure 2). Thus, for the equation exists unlimited set of solutions and any value $x \in [-1,1]$ is a solution of the equation.

3. Find solutions of the equation

$$\sin x + 2 - \ln x = 0.$$

Plot a graph of the dependence

$$y = \sin(x) + 2 - \ln(x)$$

on the segment [-1,40] (figure 3) and make sure (considering properties of functions $\sin x$ and $\ln x$),

that out of the segment [-1,40] there aren't roots of the equation.

While considering the graph of dependence

$$y = \sin\left(x\right) + 2 - \ln\left(x\right)$$

represented in the figure 3, one can suppose that the equation $\sin(x) + 2 - \ln(x) = 0$ has 6 solutions:

$$x_1 \approx 3.9; x_2 \approx 6.1; x_3 \approx 9.2;$$

 $x_4 \approx 13.2; x_5 \approx 14.9; x_6 \approx 20.25.$

If high accuracy of calculation is not necessary, such conclusion can be accepted.

However, if higher accuracy of results is required one should enlarge the zoom of plotting in quite small areas of the points x_1 , x_2 , x_3 , x_4 , x_5 , x_6 (figure 4, figure 5) to sure that the equation has 5 solutions:

$$x_1 = 3.851, x_2 = 6.088, x_3 = 9.203$$

$$x_4 = 13.184, x_5 = 14.928$$

It should be noted that precise analytical solution of the equation cannot be found, while the search of its approximate solutions without graphical plotting requires laborious calculations and careful analysis of the results.

The calculus mathematics investigates special methods of search approximate solutions of equations of the form f(x) = 0 on given segment [a,b] (bisection method, chord method, tangent method, iteration method etc.).

Sometimes it is convenient to represent the equation f(x) = 0 in the following form:

$$f_1(x) - f_2(x) = 0$$

where $f_1(x) - f_2(x) = f(x)$, or a problem leads to searching solutions of the equation of the form

$$f_1\left(x\right) = f_2\left(x\right).$$

In this case it is convenient to plot graphs of the dependencies $y = f_1(x)$ and $y = f_2(x)$, then set cursor in intersection points of the graphs and determine coordinates of the points lying on both graphs simultaneously. Abscissas x of the points are solutions of the equation $f_1(x) = f_2(x)$. If the values x are found in a such way, the values $f_1(x)$ and $f_2(x)$ are equal.

4. Find solutions of the equation:

$$\sqrt[3]{x} + \frac{1}{8}\sin(10x) = \log_{\frac{1}{2}}(x+3.5).$$

Plot graphs of the dependencies

$$y = \sqrt[3]{x} + \frac{1}{8}\sin\left(10x\right)$$

and $y = \log_{0.5}(x+3.5)$ and make sure that the equation has unique solution. Set cursor in the intersection point of the graphs to get $x \approx -1.3$ (figure 6).



Figure 1: Graph of a given function $y = x^2 - 2$.



Figure 2: Graph of a given function |x-1| + |x+1| - 3 = 0.

Now solve the system of equations of the form

$$\begin{cases} G_1(x,y) = 0, \\ G_2(x,y) = 0, \end{cases}$$

where $G_1(x, y)$ and $G_2(x, y)$ are some expressions of two variables x and y.

Set the type of dependence $G_1(x,y) = 0$ and plot graphs of the dependencies $G_1(x,y) = 0$ and $G_2(x,y) = 0$, then set cursor in intersection points of the graphs and determine coordinates of the points that meet both equations

$$G_1(x,y) = 0$$
 and $G_2(x,y) = 0$

i.e. coordinates of intersection points of the lines described by the equations

$$G_1(x, y) = 0$$
 and $G_2(x, y) = 0$.

5. Solve the system of equations $\begin{cases}
x^2 + y^2 = 16, \\
\lg(xy) = 0.1
\end{cases}$



Figure 3: Graph of the dependence y = sin(x) + 2 - ln(x).



Figure 4: Increasing the scale of graphic constructions in rather small points.

Represent the equations in the following form: $0 = x^2 + y^2 - 16$, 0 = lg(xy) - 0.1 and plot graphs of the dependencies (figure 7).

Set cursor in each of intersection points of the graphs and obtain:

1.
$$x \approx -3.99, y \approx -0.31;$$

- 2. $x \approx -0.31$, $y \approx 3.99$;
- 3. $x \approx 0.31, y \approx 3.99;$
- 4. $x \approx 3.99, y \approx 0.31$.

For more precise determination of coordinates of the intersection points of graphs one should enlarge the zoom of plotting, i.e., use the command AET 2021 - Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology



Figure 5: Enlarged scale of graphic construction y = sin(x) + 2 - ln(x).



Figure 6: The point of intersection of graphs of functions.

"Zoom in" or change bounds for the variables *x* and *y*. For example, if we change the zoom by setting the bounds MinX = -4.5, MaxX = -3.5, MinY = -0.5, MaxY = 0.1 and plot the corresponding graphs, we obtain the image represented in the figure 8. Use the coordinate cursor to get $x \approx -3.988$, $y \approx -0.316$, and while cursor is moving, the third digit after the comma is changing (is defined more exactly).

One can put MinX = -4.0, MaxX = -3.98, MinY = -0.32, MaxY = -0.3 (using the command "Graph / Zoom / User zoom") to obtain $x \approx -3.9875$, $y \approx -0.3157$, and while the cursor is moving, the fourth digit after comma is changing (is defined more exactly).

It should be noted that the problem of finding solutions of the equation f(x) = 0 can be also considered as the problem of solving the system of equations

$$\begin{cases} 0 = y - f(x) \\ 0 = y, \end{cases}$$

and the problem of finding solutions of the equation $f_1(x) = f_2(x)$ as the problem of solving the system of



Figure 7: Two equations are graphically represented.



Figure 8: Graphically, two equations are presented on a modified scale.

equations

$$\begin{cases} 0 = y - f_1(x), \\ 0 = -f_2(x). \end{cases}$$

In many cases finding solutions of the system of equations $\{G_1(x, y) = 0, G_2(x, y) = 0\}$ with the help of plotting is unique suitable method for practical use since the method of variable exclusion or other methods are very difficult or lead to wrong results.

6. Solve the system of equations (figure 9)

$$\begin{cases} 0 = \sin(xy) + \cos(x-y) \\ 0 = \frac{x}{y} - \lg(x+y). \end{cases}$$

In this case it is impossible to exclude one of the variables x or y and it is difficult to offer any practically suitable way of solution besides the graphical method.

It is obvious that plotting can be used for determination of intersection points of lines independently of types of the dependencies. For example, if it is



Figure 9: The system of equations $\begin{cases} 0 = \sin(xy) + \cos(x-y), \\ 0 = \frac{x}{y} - \lg(x+y). \end{cases}$ is presented graphically.

required to determine coordinates of points of the circle $x^2 + y^2 = 9$, that lie on the parabola $y = \frac{x^2}{7} - 2$ or on the five-petalled (pentapetalous) rose (5φ) (figure 10), one should plot the graphs and obtain coordinates of the required points (with accuracy up to hundredths) with the help of the coordinate cursor:

- 1. x = -2.89, y = -0.81; x = -2.89, y = 0.39;
- 2. x = 2.89, y = -0.81; x = 2.89, y = 0.39;
- 3. x = -2.18, y = -2.06; x = 2.18, y = -2.06;
- 4. x = -2.63, y = 1.44; x = 2.63, y = 1.44;

5.
$$x = -1.29, y = -2.71; x = 1.29, y = -2.71;$$

6. x = -0.55, y = 2.95; x = 0.55, y = 2.95.

In this case it is impossible to exclude one of the variables x or y and it is difficult to offer any practically suitable way of solution besides the graphical method.

4 CONCLUSIONS

The research examines the GRAN software complex, known in Ukraine and abroad.

Its expediency and effectiveness of use in the educational process of secondary and higher schools is confirmed by many years of practice, numerous research results for obtaining scientific degrees of doctors and candidates of sciences in the field of teaching mathematics and informatics (Vlasenko et al., 2020).

The approach to the study of mathematics, proposed by Myroslav Ivanovych Zhaldak, gives a clear



Figure 10: Dependence graphs.

idea of the concepts being studied, develops figurative thinking, spatial imagination, allows one to penetrate deeply enough into the essence of the studied phenomenon, to solve the problem informally. At the same time, clarification of the problem, formulation of the problem, development of the appropriate mathematical model, and material interpretation of the results obtained with the help of a computer come to the fore. All technical operations related to processing the built mathematical model, implementation of the results of input data processing rely on the computer. It was to implement this approach that the GRAN software complex was developed.

Some selected problems proposed in the study demonstrate the expediency of using the GRAN complex for in-depth study of mathematics. Namely: the ability to conduct the necessary numerical experiment; quickly perform the necessary calculations or graphic constructions; to test the hypothesis; check the problem-solving method; to be able to analyze and explain the results obtained with the help of a computer; find out the limits of use. When learning mathematical methods, the use of a computer or the chosen method of solving a problem is extremely important.

The problems presented in the work were successfully used by the authors of the study during classes in various informatics disciplines, including computer modeling and computer mathematics.

A significant improvement of the GRAN complex has recently been its transfer to the cloud, which provides access to its services from any platform through a browser (Zhaldak and Franchuk, 2020). To get to the virtual desktop on a remote server, you must access the browser services and in the input line above the desktop enter the address https://gran.npu.edu.ua, then press the Enter key on the keyboard (or in the list of appropriate symbols on the screen "press" the label with the word "Go" in the case when using a smartphone or other laptop computer where there is no keyboard). As a result, a virtual desktop will open on which in the line "Username" you should select from the proposed list one of the available names, such as "gran", and then in the line "Password" enter password "gran" (Zhaldak et al., 2021).

Currently, the expediency and possibility of transferring the entire GRAN complex of individual services into a mobile application is being investigated.

REFERENCES

- Astafieva, M., Bodnenko, D., and Proshkin, V. (2019). Cloud-oriented training technologies as a means of forming the XXI century skills of future mathematics teachers. In Ermolayev, V., Mallet, F., Yakovyna, V., Mayr, H. C., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume I: Main Conference, Kherson, Ukraine, June 12-15, 2019, volume 2387 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 507–512. CEUR-WS.org. http: //ceur-ws.org/Vol-2387/20190507.pdf.
- Bobyliev, D. Y. and Vihrova, E. V. (2021). Problems and prospects of distance learning in teaching fundamental subjects to future Mathematics teachers. *Journal of*

Physics: Conference Series, 1840. https://iopscience. iop.org/article/10.1088/1742-6596/1840/1/012002.

- Gran (2021). Download software. https://ktoi.fi.npu.edu. ua/zavantazhyty/category/4-prohramni-zasoby.
- Jaworski, B. (2006). Theory and Practice in Mathematics Teaching Development: Critical Inquiry as a Mode of Learning in Teaching. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 9(2):187–211. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10857-005-1223-z.
- Semenikhina, O. and Drushlyak, M. (2015). On the Results of a Study of the Willingness and the Readiness to Use Dynamic Mathematics Software by Future Math Teachers. In Batsakis, S., Mayr, H. C., Yakovyna, V., Nikitchenko, M. S., Zholtkevych, G., Kharchenko, V. S., Kravtsov, H., Kobets, V., Peschanenko, V. S., Ermolayev, V., Bobalo, Y., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications: Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer, Lviv, Ukraine, May 14-16, 2015, volume 1356 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 21–34. CEUR-WS.org. http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-1356/paper_9. pdf.
- Smirnova-Trybulska, E. M. (2003). GRAN1, GRAN-2D, GRAN-3D programs for teaching mathematics. *Computer at school and family*, (8):10–17.
- Smyrnova-Trybulska, E. M. (2004). The basics of using a computer: guide for students of higher educational institutions. Sosnowiec.
- Vlasenko, K., Volkov, S., Sitak, I., Lovianova, I., and Bobyliev, D. (2020). Usability analysis of online educational courses on the platform "Higher school mathematics teacher". *E3S Web of Conferences*, 166:10012. https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/ 202016610012.
- Zhaldak, M. I. (1989). Sistema podgotovki uchitelya k ispol'zovaniyu informatsionnoy tekhnologii v uchebnom protsesse [The system of preparing a teacher for the use of information technology in the educational process]. A dissertation in the form of a scientific report for the degree of Doctor of Pedagogical Sciences on specialty 13.00.02 – theory and methods of teaching informatics, Kyiv State Pedagogical Institute named after A. M. Gorky. http://elibrary.kdpu.edu.ua/ handle/0564/1365.
- Zhaldak, M. I. and Franchuk, V. M. (2020). Some applications of cloud technology in mathematical calculations. Scientific journal of National Pedagogical Dragomanov University. Series 2 Computer-based learning systems, (22(29)):3–17. https://doi.org/10. 31392/NPU-nc.series2.2020.22(29).01.
- Zhaldak, M. I., Franchuk, V. M., and Franchuk, N. P. (2021). Some applications of cloud technologies in mathematical calculations. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840:012001. https://iopscience.iop. org/article/10.1088/1742-6596/1840/1/012001.
- Zhaldak, M. I., Goroshko, Y. V., Vinnychenko, E. F., and Tsybko, G. Y. (2012). *Mathematics with a computer: The teacher's guide*. National Dragomanov Pedagogical University, Kyiv, 3 edition. http://erpub.chnpu. edu.ua:8080/jspui/handle/123456789/1523.

Zhaldak, M. I., Kuzmina, N. M., and Mykhalin, H. O. (2020). Teoriia ymovirnostei i matematychna statystyka : Pidruchnyk dlia studentiv fizykomatematychnykh ta informatychnykh spetsialnostei pedahohichnykh universytetiv [Probability Theory and Mathematical Statistics. Textbook for students of physics, mathematics, and computer science specialties of pedagogical universities]. National Dragomanov Pedagogical University, Kyiv, 4 edition. http: //enpuir.npu.edu.ua/handle/123456789/35207.

Improving the Health-Preserving Competence of a Physical Education Teacher on the Basis of Spatial Value Interpretations of Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Construction of Movements

Vasyl M. Fedorets¹[®]^a, Oksana V. Klochko²[®]^b, Vitalii I. Klochko³[®]^c, Tetiana R. Branitska¹[®]^d and Liudmyla M. Dzyhalenko¹[®]^e

¹Vinnytsia Academy of Continuing Education, 13 Hrushevskoho Str., Vinnytsia, 21050, Ukraine
 ²Vinnytsia Mykhailo Kotsiubynskyi State Pedagogical University, 32 Ostrozhskogo Str., Vinnytsia, 21100, Ukraine
 ³Vinnytsia National Technical University, 95 Khmelnytsky Hwy., Vinnytsia, 21021, Ukraine

- Keywords: Health-Preserving Competence, Physical Education Teacher, Post-Graduate Education, Virtual Reality, N. Bernstein, Biomechanics, Methodology, Pedagogy of Health, Ecologization, Spatial Approach, Spatial Value.
- In the article, based on the integrative use of Nikolai Bernstein's theory of movement construction, virtual real-Abstract: ity technologies, and spatial and ecological approaches, ways of improving the methodology of developing the health-preserving competence of a Physical Education teacher in the conditions of postgraduate education are considered. Based on the use of AR/VR technologies a software application "Virtual Model Illustrating Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Movement Construction" was developed. The stated model is one of the tools of the "Methodology of development of the health preserving competence of a Physical Education teacher on the basis of Nikolai Bernstein's theory of the levels of movement construction". The experimental study determines that the application of the virtual model within the stated methodology is an effective tool for the development of the health preserving competence of a Physical Education teacher. The application of the virtual model allows the actualization of the health preserving, conceptual, gnoseological, biomechanical, inclusive, corrective potentials of Nikolai Bernstein's theory of movement construction. The use of the virtual model presents the ways of targeted and meaningful use of Nikolai Bernstein's theory of the levels of movement construction by a Physical Education teacher and the improvement of physical and recreational technologies and concrete physical exercises and movement modes. Due to the application of virtual reality tools, health-preserving, preventative, corrective and developmental strategies are being formed among which the significant ones are: "Application of synergistic movements to adaptation to movement activity, and recreation", "Application of spatial movements for actualization of the orientation and search activities and development of spatial thinking", "Use of movements with a complicated algorithm for intellect development". In order to ecologize and anthropologize and for the health-preserving oriented disclosure of human bodily-motor-spatial phenomenology, a spatial approach was applied and positive results were obtained in the training of Physical Education teacher.

1 INTRODUCTION

The application of digital technologies in education is a priority vector of innovative development, which gives the chance to disclose the potential of a personality and education. Burov et al. (Burov et al., 2020) speak of the significance of digital technologies for

- ^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9936-3458
- ^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6505-9455
- ^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9415-4451

education, "... integration of virtual reality technologies into the educational process would facilitate the increase of the quality of education". These scientists note that this would facilitate the achievement of the "flexibility of the educational process". The stated scientists emphasize that the use of modern digital technologies in the field of education can be viewed as an opportunity for improving education accessibility for children with disabilities as well as children with special educational needs (Osadchyi et al., 2020). An important idea of these authors is that "the described technologies will allow to minimize the link of the educational process to a certain place or time as well as

Fedorets, V., Klochko, O., Klochko, V., Branitska, T. and Dzyhalenko, L.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

303

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4503-3140

^e https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9844-7932

Improving the Health-Preserving Competence of a Physical Education Teacher on the Basis of Spatial Value Interpretations of Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Construction of Movements. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 303-325 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

enable the access to educational resources in a form that would suit the learner..." (Burov et al., 2020).

The stated digital technologies are significant for the development of a health preserving competence of a Physical Education teacher in conditions of postgradual education (Klochko et al., 2020a,b). This is caused by the need of an educator to perceive a person in conditions of movement activity at a qualitatively new level. The demand for such a perception, apart from health preservation, is the importance for prevention of various disorders as well as the need in the improvement of the skills of a Physical Education teacher related to working with the movement sphere of a person (Klochko and Fedorets, 2022). We actualize the need to use digital technologies, particularly, of virtual reality technologies, to increase the qualification level of a Physical Education teacher in conditions of post-graduate education, first of all, for the study of complicated movements spatial and anthropological phenomena and theories, which they disclose.

Movement as a manifestation of human nature and a way of existence, personality formation and development and its corporality in the professional activity of a Physical Education teacher is a central phenomenon that he or she works with. Therefore, a person's health is also perceived and interpreted in the format of movement activity (Klochko and Fedorets, 2022). At the same time, the nature of movement activity, which includes the knowledge and the practically oriented perception of its in-depth, neurological and systemic mechanisms is currently not fully understood by a Physical Education teacher. Consequently, the knowledge about movement as the essence of human existence is not fully used in the professional activity, primarily, within the health preserving aspect. The insufficient understanding of the in-depth and systemic physiological, neuro-physiological and psychophysiological mechanisms of movement activity by a Physical Education teacher is caused by a number of factors. Among the above mentioned factors, the following main ones can be singled out: the complexity and specificity of the issue; the insufficient understanding of its practical and technological significance; the need to study the neurological foundation of movement; domination of practical and technological training without proper consideration of the knowledge about the nature of movement; underestimation of the importance of the theoretical knowledge about the nature of movement for a professional and thus its insufficient operationalization (in the sense of transformation of theoretical concepts into practices and technologies) as well as targeted use in health preserving technologies and practices of physical education. The stated vector, which discloses the nature of movement activity, is primarily, even though incompletely, studied within the framework of formation and development of the professional competence.

In Ukraine, an important factor of insufficient actualization of knowledge about the nature of movement activity, were the limitations to studying biomechanics, which existed in the former Soviet Union. In the former Soviet Union, the foundations of biomechanics as a science that discloses the nature of movement were made by an outstanding scientist Nikolai Bernstein (Klochko and Fedorets, 2022; Bernstein, 1990; Devishvili, 2015; Latash and Latash, 1994; Bernstein, 2020; Talis, 2015; Bongaardt and Meijer, 2000; Meijer and Bruijn, 2007) at the end of 1940-s. One of the focal points of biomechanics is the theory of the levels of movement construction developed by Nikolai Bernstein. In the 1950-s, Nikolai Bernstein and his movement theory were severely criticized and essentially forbidden, and the scientist was persecuted (Klochko and Fedorets, 2022; Talis, 2015; Meijer and Bruijn, 2007) because of the fact that sociocultural processes, including the educational ones, are somewhat inert, biomechanics as a science that discloses the nature of movement and is even currently insufficiently used in the training a Physical Education teacher and development of his health preserving competence. Accordingly, this also applies to the issues of insufficient application of biomechanics, namely, Nikolai Bernstein's classic theory of movement construction in the course of post graduate training of Physical Education teachers.

The current processes of European orientation and humanization of the Ukrainian education as well as the active use of the child-centric, inclusive (Fahr et al., 2020; Safonicheva and Ovchinnikova, 2021), competence based and innovative approaches, determine the new intellectualized and humane format of Physical Education (Klochko and Fedorets, 2022; Aksonova, 2010; Barnard, 2000; Bykhovskaya, 1991; Dmitriev, 2014; Donskoy and Dmitriyev, 1999; Efimenko, 2011) as a diverse creative anthropological practice and as a variant of a "technology of self", improvement of both the movement sphere and corporality as well as self-realization and personal development and creativity. In this aspect the application of a personality-oriented approach is relevant as it includes the need to consider the personal and age biomechanical peculiarities of a child. One of the main aspects in setting this problem is the introduction of inclusive education. The inclusive paradigm determines the need for a Physical Education teacher to develop intellectual skills of taking into consideration the sensor and motor capabilities of children with

special educational needs. Accordingly, in this aspect it is important that an educator gains knowledge and skills that make it possible to correct the sensor and motor disorders with Physical Education (Fahr et al., 2020; Safonicheva and Ovchinnikova, 2021).

The above mentioned tendencies determine professionalization and a central vector in post-graduate training of a teacher. This creates a need for a practice oriented disclosure of the mature of movement, both in the state of norm and pathology caused by certain motor disorders. An important aspect of actualization of the stated problem is also the issue of primary diagnostics of the state of the motor system, which includes the teacher's understanding of the peculiarities of its neurological foundations in order to personalize and optimize the motion activity at Physical Education lessons (Klochko and Fedorets, 2022). Diagnosing of the peculiarities and the state of the motor system, based on the knowledge about its nature is significant for health preservation as it allows the teacher to design and organize movement activities of the pupils using a targeted, conceptual and nature corresponding approach as well as correct those activities in the course of the classes. In conditions of commercialization and competition it is important for a Physical Education teacher from the point of their professional and social adaptation and self-realization.

The peculiarity of Nikolai Bernstein's theory of the levels of movement construction (Klochko and Fedorets, 2022; Bernstein, 1990; Devishvili, 2015; Latash and Latash, 1994; Bernstein, 2020; Bongaardt and Meijer, 2000) is its systemic nature and the fact that it is rather difficult for perception as well as practical application. That is why, effective representation tools are needed in order to present this theory in conditions of post-graduate education and with the focus on its practical implementation. The possibility of using the augmented reality technologies is one of such effective tools. Apart from general tendencies towards digitalization of education, the determining reasons for choosing technologies of virtual and augmented reality include the possibility to work with spatial objects, which is important for biomechanics, which studies mostly spatial changes and movement of a human body; another important factor is the time factor - the need to cover complex scientific theories in the context of their practical application within a short period of time, which is always the case in conditions of post-graduate training; another significant factor is the representative and sense-forming potential of augmented and virtual reality.

The need to use a spatial approach in this methodology is determined by the visual turn and spatial turn, which are important trends in modern science and the socio-cultural sphere, including education. An important factor in the actualization of the spatial approach, in addition to the indicated paradigmatic transformations, is the bodily-spatial, motor-spatial, spatial-cognitive and visual-spatial of physical culture and sports. This determines the need to know the motor sphere of a person not only as a being that moves in a "neutral" space.

The application of the spatial understanding of a person and his motor activity reveals ways to the development of the student's intentions, visions, interpretations and understanding of himself as a person who is spatial and is closely connected with the planet Earth and its landscapes, which are considered as special "spatial earthly values" and "value-meaning contexts". Spatial understanding is also aimed at the student's awareness of himself as a person of culture. This spatial approach is ecologically and anthropoculturally oriented. Accordingly, it represents human nature through its value-oriented spatial interaction with the planet Earth, which we consider as one of the central intentions in maintaining health. In the system of spatial and ecological interpretations of the phenomenon of man, his corporeality and motor activity indicated above, human health is considered classically as agate (well-being), which includes eudaemonia (happiness) (according to Aristotle). The implementation of the indicated "health-well-being" and "health-happiness" becomes possible under the condition of harmonization of man and the Earth.

In the scientific pedagogical literature, the problem of the integrative application of N. Bernshtein's movement theory, augmented reality technologies, and spatial and ecological approaches for the development of the health-preserving competence of the Physical Education teacher in the conditions of postgraduate education is not sufficiently disclosed. Together with the health preserving significance of Nikolai Bernstein's theory of the levels of movement construction, which is being disclosed using augmented reality, it is relevant for the development of the professional competence of a Physical Education teacher as well as for working with children with special educational needs. The mentioned aspects of problematization together with the scientific and practical significance of the problem presented above aimed at preserving the health of students, environmentalization and digitalization of the educational process, as well as at the professional development of the Physical Education teacher define this research as relevant.

Purpose. Improvement of the methodology for the development of the health-preserving competence of a Physical Education teacher in the conditions of

postgraduate education based on the integrative use of Nikolai Bernshtein's movement construction theory, virtual reality technologies, and spatial and ecological approaches.

2 SELECTION OF METHODS AND DIAGNOSTICS

The following approaches were used in the study: analysis of the scientific literature; competence based; systemic; morphological-functional; anthropological (Tkhostov, 2002); biomechanical (Klochko and Fedorets, 2022; Bernstein, 1990, 2020; Devishvili, 2015; Bongaardt and Meijer, 2000; Dmitriev, 2014; Donskoy and Dmitriyev, 1999; Efimenko, 2011); ontological, neurophysiological, spatial, pathopedagogical (V. Fedorets); hermeneutic, inclusive (Klochko and Fedorets, 2022; Fahr et al., 2020; Safonicheva and Ovchinnikova, 2021).

The following concepts were applied: anthropologization Ushinskii (Ushinskii, 1950a,b) and knowledge transfer Nonaka and Takeuchi (Nonaka and Takeuchi, 1995).

Anthropologization. The methodologically defining idea of anthropologization was formed by Ushinskii (Ushinskii, 1950b). He presents the essence of anthropologization in his classic work "Man as a subject of education. Experience of pedagogical anthropology" (Ushinskii, 1950a,b). In this book, Ushinskii (Ushinskii, 1950a) reveals the fundamental systemorganizing methodological message, - "If pedagogy wants to educate a person in all respects, then it must first of all get to know him in all aspects" (Ushinskii, 1950a). In the context of the ideas of anthropologization, the teacher must know, understand the child and interpret his nature and problems humanly and multidimensionally. At the same time, the teacher should consider the child as a special anthropic, biomechanical, spiritual, psychological, cultural, age-related, physiological, existential phenomenon. Anthropologization is considered as a determining factor in the professionalization of the Physical Education teacher and the development of his vision-saving and professional competences based on the actualization of a multidisciplinary, multidimensional, holistic and systemic vision of the child. This, first of all, also includes the teacher's knowledge of certain specific phenomena of a different nature (biomechanical, spatial, psychological, etc.). In this study, we integratively consider mainly biomechanical and spatial phenomena. The indicated idea of anthropologization is a way of both humanizing the teacher and the educational process, and it is also a way of implementing the Concept of the "New Ukrainian School" (Anosov and Stanishevska, 2018; Elkin et al., 2017; Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine, 2019; Zhorova et al., 2022). Anthropologization, in addition to general ideas about human nature, also includes knowledge of certain specific anthropological phenomena and private problems. Therefore, anthropologizing as an idea and as a direction is one of the fundamental methodological directions and, accordingly, it determines the logic of this research. Anthropologization as a way of humanization and professionalization is the methodological basis of this pedagogical system, a fragment of which is presented in this study. Anthropologization corresponds to the modern ideology of the anthropological turn in philosophy, in education, which includes humanistic and existential (Abbagnano, 1969) transformations of educational practices and traditions. Knowledge transfer. We apply the concept of

the child-centered and humanistic ideas embedded in

knowledge transfer as one of the central and crosscutting strategies. Knowledge transfer is applied in two directions - "methodical professional-personally oriented" and "methodological-innovative". It is part of the foundations of the methodology of this pedagogical system and, accordingly, of this study. The first "methodical professionally and personally oriented direction" of applying knowledge transfer is based on the SECI model (Nonaka-Takeuchi model) (Nonaka and Takeuchi, 1995). This model reveals the process of transition of implicit (tacit, implicit, background) knowledge (Chergui et al., 2020; Hélie and Sun, 2010) into explicit (explicit, formalized, codified) knowledge (Weinberger and Green, 2022). The SECI model also represents the following transformation of explicit knowledge into implicit knowledge. The indicated metamorphoses of knowledge constitute one cycle or circle of knowledge, which is a component of the spiral of knowledge. To clarify, we note that the specified SECI model defines four interrelated epistemological processes of knowledge transformation: "S" - socialization, which consists in the formation of collective implicit (tacit) knowledge by a group of persons; "E" - externalization is the transformation of implicit knowledge revealed in the process of socialization into explicit knowledge; "C" - combination consists in the fact that the formed explicit knowledge through combination, systematization, categorization and integration acquires a new qualitative level by being represented in understandable verbal formulations; "I" - internalization is manifested by the fact that the formed explicit knowledge is transformed into the implicit knowledge of a specific teacher, entering into his intellectual potential

(Nonaka and Takeuchi, 1995).

The SECI model is used in the educational process for health-oriented understanding of N. Bernstein's movement theory. This model is used for the purpose of deepening, expanding, updating, specifying knowledge, as well as for the formation of new knowledge. The SECI model is also used for health-preserving, anthropologically valuable and ecologically valuable interpretations and practical directions of knowledge, as well as for their axiologisation, anthropologization, phenomenology, aestheticization, existentialization, technologization, and psychologization. In the context of the integrative application of N. Bershtein's theory of building movements and the spatial approach, a significant and relevant aspect of knowledge transfer is the growth of knowledge and its practical orientation, direction and concretization. The indicated epistemological transformations of knowledge are, first of all, necessary for the teacher to acquire the ability to solve a certain amount of specific practical problems of a biomechanical nature aimed at preserving the student's health. The decisive factor in this aspect is that the student's specific "biomechanical" problems, which are related to his motor sphere and physicality, respectively, can be solved on the basis of the optimal organization by the Physical Education teacher of children's motor activity based on his application of N. Bershtein's theory of building movements.

As a result of the process of knowledge externalization, professional experiences and practically directed personal knowledge of biomechanics and health preservation are formalized and unified. Accordingly, such knowledge becomes available, comprehensive and understood by participants of the educational process both for theoretical understanding and for practical application. It is significant that such knowledge becomes conventional, that is, recognized as relevant by the professional community. In turn, as a result of the process of internalization, theoretical knowledge of biomechanics and theoretically understood professional experiences are included in the intellectual potential of the teacher. Accordingly, the specified internalized knowledge is included in the cognitive-value component of the health-preserving competence of the Physical Education teacher. In this component, knowledge of human biomechanics and preservation of health become the knowledge base of health-preserving thinking. This includes the teacher's formation of metacognitive strategies (Fedorets et al., 2022), as well as typical health preservation strategies and algorithms.

The second "methodological and innovative direction" of the application of knowledge transfer, which is the main one in this study and is innovative in its essence, represents the process of transformation of scientific (in this case, biomechanical) and applied knowledge into educational and professional knowledge (Levchenko and Zhukova, 2011). The considered educational and professional knowledge is necessary for professional development in the conditions of postgraduate education. This direction also includes the application of the SECI model (Nonaka-Takeuchi model) (Nonaka and Takeuchi, 1995) for methodological and educational purposes. The formed world-professional knowledge is directed to the targeted use in the final epistemological process in postgraduate education and the professional activity of a teacher, which is the internalization of knowledge, as a result of which it becomes personal (according to Polanyi (Polanyi, 1964)). In this pedagogical system, knowledge transfer is used for the formation of educational and professional health-preserving knowledge, which is carried out using knowledge of biomechanics, medicine, hygiene, neurophysiology, psychophysiology, psychology, anthropology, and systemic, existential, and spatial approaches.

The indicated "methodological and innovative direction" of the application of knowledge transfer is implemented within the framework of a significant modern trend - the knowledge triangle (Unger and Polt, 2021). The concept of the triangle of knowledge is aimed at effective innovative interaction, and in fact the integration of science, education and innovation. In this study, we reveal the scientific knowledge of N. Bernstein's theory of movement construction and their educational and practically oriented understanding in the conditions of postgraduate education, representing it in an innovative aspect with the use of digital technologies (AR/VR technologies) and a spatial approach. The innovative aspect consists in the creation of a new educational product through the spatial-valued understanding and practical-technological orientation of N. Bernstein's theory of building movements. Although the specified theory is basic in biomechanics, at the same time, it is not sufficiently applied in health pedagogy and in the educational health-preserving practices of the Physical Education teacher. From the innovative and economic standpoint, the application of the knowledge triangle concept in this study has the final economically and socially significant goal of preserving and forming the health of students. The implementation of the indicated goal by improving the health-preserving competence of the Physical Education teacher contributes to the development of health capital, which is a basic component of human capital (Ogundari and Awokuse, 2018), which ensures inno-
vative development in which education and health are important (Iacopetta, 2010).

Digital technologies. Digital technologies were used (Prokhorov et al., 2022; Semerikov et al., 2022; Osadchyi et al., 2020; Klochko et al., 2020b,a). The study worked with the Internet-resources of the technology of virtual reality, namely the software application "Virtual Model Illustrating Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Movement Construction" (Fedorets & Klochko, 2022; CoSpaces Edu, 2023). The CoSpaces Edu software was used to develop and view the virtual reality software application (CoSpaces Edu, 2023).

Methods of mathematical statistics. Wilcoxon's rank sum test (Wilcoxon, 1945; Wilcoxon et al., 1963). In order to confirm the statistical significance of the difference in the results of solving the control problems of Physical Education teachers before and after the experiment, we used Wilcoxon's rank sum test. The criterion is used to compare the indicators of the same sample in two different conditions. In this case, the "typical" shift is considered to be a shift in the direction of increasing the values of the studied feature.

We formulate hypotheses:

 H_0 : The values of the indicators after the experiment exceeds the values of the indicators before the experiment at the level of significance $p < \psi$.

 H_1 : The values of indicators after the experiment are less than the values of indicators before the experiment at the level of significance $p < \psi$.

The calculation of the sum of the ranks of "atypical" shifts T_{emp} is carried out according to the formula

$$T_{emp} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} r_i, \tag{1}$$

where k is a number of atypical shifts, r_i is the ranks of atypical shifts (i = 1...k).

 T_{cr} is found in the table for a given n (number of indicators) according to the level of significance Ψ . Ψ is determined in accordance with the problem 0,05 or 0,01, ie p < 0,05 or p < 0,01. If $T_{emp} \le T_{cr}$ at the level of significance $p_1\Psi$, the shift in the "typical" direction in intensity with high probability prevails, we accept hypothesis H_0 . If $T_{emp} > T_{cr}$, with an intensity with high probability is dominated by a shift in the "atypical" direction, we accept hypothesis H_1 at the level of significance $p < \Psi$.

Methodological concepts developed by V. Fedorets and O. Klochko. The developed "Virtual Model Illustrating Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Movement Construction" is the determining, conceptualizing and system organizing part of the study. The stated virtual model is a part of the "Methodology of development of the health preserving competence of a Physical Education teacher on the basis of Nikolai Bernstein's theory of the levels of movement construction" (developed by V. Fedorets). This methodology is formed on the basis of using pedagogical tasks, analysis of movements and movement modes as well as on the study of practically all significant situations, issues and biomechanical and anthropological phenomena in the normal and pathological states. A significant component of the methodology is the implementation of tasks aimed at the development and correlation analysis of physical exercises and movement modes based on the application of N. Bernstein's theory of movement construction (Klochko and Fedorets, 2022; Bernstein, 1990, 2020; Devishvili, 2015; Bongaardt and Meijer, 2000; Dmitriev, 2014; Donskoy and Dmitriyev, 1999; Efimenko, 2011). The important approaches used within the framework of this methodology include problem based learning and flipped learning as well as game-based teaching methods and Socratic (maieutic) methods. The analysis and study of pedagogical, movement and sport experiences and practices of Physical Education teachers seems important.

Within the stated methodology, we use our own methodological technique "Wheels of problems and senses". This technique represents a broadened and adapted to practical use "version" of the hermeneutic circle. In the course of its development we used the holistic and systemic approaches as well as ideas of contextual learning. The developed "Virtual Model Illustrating Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Movement Construction" (developed by V. Fedorets and O. Klochko.) (Fedorets & Klochko, 2022; CoSpaces Edu, 2023) was used throughout the stated methodology and represents its "central" and senseforming component.

Methodology of control over the efficiency of application of "Virtual Model Illustrating Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Movement Construction" as a part of the methodology (developed by V. Fedorets). The basis of the control methodology is presented by 10 interrelated questions. The questions are given in the form of a test (Yevtuch et al., 2021b). A Physical Education teacher needs to choose one correct answer of the four suggested options. This is done to form a systemic and practically oriented understanding of this issue in a teacher as well as to develop his skill of conceptualizing relevant issues of motor activity in a practical way with the focus on health-preservation. Here is the list of the question.

Question (Yevtuch et al., 2021b):

- 1. From the list of movements select those in which level A is the leading one.
- 2. From the list of movements select those in which

level B is the leading one.

- 3. From the list of movements select those in which level C is the leading one.
- 4. From the list of movements select those in which level D is the leading one.
- 5. From the list of movements select those in which level E is the leading one.
- 6. Which movement level (choose from A, B, C, D, E) domineers in dancing or physical exercises that have a relatively complex algorithm or scenario? How can this be used at the lessons of Physical Education from the point of health-preservation and personality development?
- 7. At which level of movements (choose from A, B, C, D, E) the movements are implemented with minimal energy losses? How can this be used from the point of health-preservation in organization of workout process at Physical Education lessons?
- 8. Development of which level of movements (choose from A, B, C, D, E) is the basis of praxis? How can this be used at the lessons of Physical Education from the point of health-preservation and personality development?
- 9. At which movement level (choose from A, B, C, D, E) basic motor disorders are formed in conditions of infantile cerebral paralysis? Is it possible to consciously and arbitrarily influence this level?
- 10. Which of the levels of movements (choose from A, B, C, D, E) is associated with orientation and search activity, and can be fully realized thanks to the visual analyzer. The formation of which thinking is facilitated by the actualization of this level of movements? How can this be used at the lessons of Physical Education from the point of health-preservation and personality development?

Spatial aspect of methodology. An important professional aspect of considering a person as a spatial being in relation to the earth's space is both a philosophical-methodological and a purely practicaltechnological issue, which is determined by the complex biomechanics of a person. Clarifying this provision, we focus on the phenomenon of spatiality, which is contextually present both in biomechanics and directly in the practices and technologies of physical culture and sports. In his professional activity, in the process of organizing motor activity, a Physical Education teacher constantly works with the spatiality of a person, with the existentiality of space, with the existentiality of corporeality (Binswanger, 1942), and also reveals for himself the phenomenology of cultural space, physical space as the space of the Earth, presented in the format of its natural and anthropogenic landscapes.

In this pedagogical system, for an ecologically valuable, health-oriented and aesthetic understanding of the phenomenology of the spatial organization of the human body, its physicality and motor activity, as well as the space of the Earth, terrestrial landscapes as natural and anthropogenic, in particular, architectural structures, the theory of construction is used movements of M. Bernstein and its "digital illustration" "Virtual Model Illustrating Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Movement Construction". Accordingly, the theory of M. Bernstein is interpreted culturally, ecologically-valuably, aesthetically and healthoriented.

The "Methodology for the development of the health-preserving competence of the Physical Education teacher based on M. Bernstein's theory of the level construction of movements" includes consideration of environmental and health-preserving problems. These problems are considered based on the application of a spatial approach. For this purpose, appropriate health-preserving and ecologically oriented narratives, "Virtual Model Illustrating Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Movement Construction", photographs, diagrams and images of people and natural and anthropogenic landscapes, objects, as well as architectural structures and works of art were used. The use of images, architectural, works of art and images of landscapes and landscapes also aims to aestheticize the learning process and activate emotional intelligence and stimulate the emotional and aesthetic factor of creativity and intellectual activity.

To diagnose the effectiveness of training, we used the questionnaire developed by us "Fedorets Questionnaire for the definition of ecological value and health-preserving reflection of the earth's space and human motor activity based on the spatial interpretations of M. Bernstein's theory of movement construction", which is presented below.

"Fedorets Questionnaire for the definition of ecological value and health-preserving reflection of the earth's space and human motor activity based on the spatial interpretations of N. Bernstein's theory of movement construction".

When processing the questionnaire, it is necessary to choose one of three answers.

 A person's own inner space and world in bodilymotor representation can to some extent be represented by the level of tonic movements (level A) according to N. Bernstein. Under the influence of external conditions, social and psychological factors of a person at the indicated level can be formed (according to V. Reich)

Variants of answers: muscle clamps and carapace of the character, protrusion, blood circulation disorders.

The correct answer: muscle clamps and armor of character.

2. In a person, his inner space and world, which in motor activity is represented by pendulum-like, repetitive, balancing movements that create a spatial effect of "mixing" and close interaction of the inner human and outer earthly space, represented by the level of synergistic movements according to N. Bernstein, determines the relevant for health preservation ... aspect.

Variants of answers: neuronal, recreational, volitional.

The correct answer: recreational.

3. From an ecological and value point of view, the implementation of "level C – Spatial movements" according to N. Bernshtein, which defines the possibility of active movement of a person in space, can be considered as a universal way

Variants of answers: formation of stress resistance; harmonization and knowledge of the Earth, the world and man; development of entrepreneurial competence.

The correct answer: harmonization and knowledge of the Earth, the world and man.

4. Level D – substantive actions according to N. Bernshtein, which determines the formation of a special anthropogenic space of objects, tools, buildings, which from the standpoint of the concept of sustainable development should be ... to the earthly world and space.

Variants of answers: ecophobic and competitive; ecophilic and harmonized; active and enterprising.

The correct answer: ecophilic and harmonized.

5. The development of "level E – intellectual (speech) movements", according to N. Bernstein, is an anthropogenic and mental prerequisite for the formation of a special shell of the Earth, which V. Vernadsky defined as

Variants of answers: lithosphere, hydrosphere, noosphere.

The correct answer: noosphere.

Let's consider the main ideas and meanings on the basis of which the "Fedorets Questionnaire for the definition of ecological value and health-preserving reflection of the earth's space and human motor activity based on the spatial interpretations of N. Bernstein's theory of movement construction" was developed. The questionnaire is based on a worldview concept inherent in many secular and religious systems, namely, the ancient anthropocosmic idea of the macrocosm – the harmonious world in which we exist, and the microcosm – the special inner world of man, which is within us. The microcosm is essentially seen as a version of the big cosmos (microcosm). Therefore, by influencing the inner world, we can change the outer world. The microcosm of a person, as well as his essence as a whole, manifests itself through motor activity.

The methodological and worldview value of N. Bernstein's theory of building movements lies not only in its systematicity but also in its cosmos. It reveals the motor sphere of a person as a special harmonized World – "Cosmos of movement". Cosmos in classical ancient Greek ideas is a harmonized, aestheticized, ordered, stable and living world. Ancient ideas are indicated, which fully correspond to the currently dominant concept of sustainable development, which is aimed at building a harmonious "anthropoearthly" world.

N. Bershtein's theory reveals to us a unique cosmos of motor activity, which is primarily based on harmony between different levels of movements. Violation of this harmony forms pathologies. Thus, the "internal" (anthropic) cosmism of the motor sphere of man as a manifestation of his high "spiritual-motor" nature revealed by N. Bershtein in the specificity of the organization of certain levels (A, B, C, D, E) must be correlated with the "external" anthropocosmism earthly world. We consider motor activity as spatial and oriented towards the disclosure and formation of ecological values and intentions. This is realized through a person's understanding of its spatiality, spatial values in interaction with the disclosure of the value of earthly spaces (landscapes). The questionnaire contains five questions, which corresponds to the number of levels in N. Bernstein's theory of movement construction. Accordingly, in each question, in addition to the characteristics of a certain level of movements, the spatial, anthropological and ecological aspects that it reveals are reflected.

Question $\mathbb{N}^{\mathbb{Q}}$ 1 – "A person's own inner space and world in bodily-motor representation can to some extent be represented by the level of tonic movements (level A) according to N. Bernstein. Under the influence of external conditions, social and psychological factors of a person at the indicated level can be formed (according to W. Reich) ..." (Gilbert, 1999) – the presence of changes at level A in the format determines the "bodily-spatial" phenomenon, which is important for the corrective and preventive work of a Physical Education teacher – muscle tension. The essence of the phenomenon of muscle tension is that under the influence of both external life (psychologicalphysical-social) factors and conditions, tension zones (muscle tension) may appear at the said level. The specified tension zones are subsequently fixed and manifest outwardly over time in barely noticeable peculiarities of a posture and motor activity. Internally, a human feels discomfort in certain areas of the body. In addition, bodily changes relate to certain psychological problems and affect a personality and the quality of life. The concept of the character armour, which is formed by fixing muscle tension, which was introduced by an outstanding Austrian psychologist Wilhelm Reich, is relevant in the practice of body psychotherapy. The character armour is a bodily, psychological as well as spatial and motor phenomenon at the same time. In the character armour, the peculiarities of a human's interaction between himself/herself and the outside world are reflected to a significant degree. Therefore, we consider the said problem from the standpoint of the need to harmonise a human with himself/herself, terrestrial landscapes and other people. Accordingly, the practices and technologies of intellectualised, ecologised, and psychologised physical culture can be ways of harmonisation. Motor activity in this case is considered to be recreation, self-therapy and reflection, which are implemented through "spatial, bodily and motor" practices. Physical culture becomes a way of understanding and cognition of oneself, and a way of restoration of harmony with oneself, the Terrestrial world and social environment.

Question № 2 – "In a person, his inner space and world, which in motor activity is represented by pendulum-like, repetitive, balancing movements that create a spatial effect of "mixing" and close interaction of the inner human and outer earthly space, represented by the level of synergistic movements according to N. Bernstein, determines the relevant for health preservation ... aspect" - reveals important vital and motor features of synergistic movements (level B) according to N. Bernstein. These movements are economical, "pulsating", rhythmic. These characteristics determine their ability for recreation, which is one of the important aspects of physical culture. At the same time, synergistic movements can be "easy", rhythmic and have the "natural potential" of spontaneity. In turn, a person who is tired or who has certain life and psychological problems that "lock" him in the armor of his character partially loses lightness, fluidity, rhythmicity and spontaneity. The rhythmicity of synergistic movements integratively reflects the metaregularities of the human macrocosm and microcosm, which exist and develop as megasystems of synchronized, harmonized rhythms. In this pedagogical system, special attention is paid to the ability of the Physical Education teacher to use the vital, recreational and motor potential of synergistic movements, as those that harmonize a person with himself and the world through motor activity. An example of effective movement for a person in which a synergistic component is prominent is gait. Accordingly, walking has powerful recreational and intellectual effects.

Question \mathbb{N}_{2} 3 – "From an ecological and value point of view, the implementation of "level C - Spatial movements" according to N. Bernshtein, which defines the possibility of active movement of a person in space, can be considered as a universal way ... "reveals ancient ontological and worldview-forming ideas of movement and path (for example, there is the Chinese tradition "Tao Te Ching") as a manifestation and formation of life, as ways of existence. Implementation of "Level C - Spatial movements" a priori requires movement in space. In physical culture, purposeful motor activity within the specified level is one of the main ones. This level C (spatial movements) integratively ensures the development of both the body and sensorimotor intelligence. From the ecological and geopsychological point of view (Mindell, 2007), the actualization of this level is significant in the knowledge of the world and the harmonization of man with the earth's spaces (landscapes). Activity at this level is also a way to oneself, i.e., a way of self-discovery through understanding oneself as a part of the great earthly world, which occurs in the process of moving in space and contemplating landscapes. The main movements in this level are walking and running. Walking and running are also based on synergistic movements (level B according to N. Bernstein).

Question № 4 – "Level D – substantive actions according to N. Bernshtein, which determines the formation of a special anthropogenic space of objects, tools, buildings, which from the standpoint of the concept of sustainable development should be ... to the earthly world and space" – reveals the special space of human activity and its results – objects of material culture and the phenomenon of architecture. Emphasis is placed on the need to implement human activity in an ecologically oriented manner in accordance with the ideology of the Concept of Sustainable Development.

Question N_2 5 – "The development of "level E – intellectual (speech) movements", according to N. Bernstein, is an anthropogenic and mental prerequisite for the formation of a special shell of the Earth, which V. Vernadsky defined as ..." – reveals deep philosophical and worldview ideas about the special shell of the Earth – the noosphere, which is considered as the highest manifestation of the spiritualmental and motor-metal nature of man. We interpret the noosphere as a manifestation of human nature integrated with planet Earth. In this case, man is to some extent derived from her, from Terra Mater (lat.) – Mother Earth. These ideas contribute to the development of intentionality, values, and meanings aimed at preserving the Earth as a planet, as a human environment, and as its "cosmic" homeland. The actualization of the phenomenon of the noosphere contributes to the development of anthropocosmic consciousness and a holistic perception of the Earth as a special and unique anthropoearthly world for humans (Yevtuch et al., 2021a). In such a world, space is interpreted and has a metric as "telus-existential – res extenza".

Thus, each level highlighted in N. Bernstein's theory of movement construction corresponds to its own special "telus-anthropic" and cosmic understanding of space. Each level reflects its specificity of interaction of the motor sphere of a person with space and with itself, and forms a certain systemic multi-level integrity in the perception of oneself and the world. The actualization of different levels of human interaction with the earthly space is also a method of selfreflection and physicality. In his imagination, a person almost always imagines himself not separately, but connected to some fragment of reality in which there is a distinct spatial aspect. That is, a person always reflects a fragment of some artificial or natural landscape in his mental reality. Psychologically, it is essentially inseparable from Terra Mater - Mother Earth.

3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Improving the health-preserving competence of a Physical Education teacher in the conditions of postgraduate education is a defining and systemorganizing educational precondition for the effective preservation of the health and life of children in the conditions of the educational process. Guided by the paradigm of competence approach and the ideas of inclusion, creativity, child-centeredness and humanization, we define the health-preserving competence of a Physical Education teacher as an integrative professional and personal ability of a teacher aimed at preserving the life and health of students with typical development and special educational needs in the educational process by forming a healthy lifestyle, prevention and correction of disorders; by promoting the formation of children's competence in personal healthpreserving, physical activity, corporeality, physical image, personal freedom, as well as the development of socially adapted, harmonious, ecophilic and lifecreating personality through the use of physical culture means. A relevant component of improving the health-preserving competence of Physical Education teachers in postgraduate education is the use of virtual and augmented reality technologies to deepen and expand practical knowledge about motor activity as a manifestation of human nature and as a way to his or her health.

Let us consider the ways and peculiarities of using the virtual model ("Virtual Model Illustrating Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Movement Construction") as a system organizing model within the "Methodology of development of the health preserving competence of a Physical Education teacher on the basis of Nikolai Bernstein's theory of the levels of movement construction" (Yevtuch et al., 2021b). In this methodology, the virtual model is the central and sense-forming element, representing a spatial image-semiotic system. We formed the stated methodology on the basis of methodological idea of cyclic, repetitive, rhythmic, step-by-step development of knowledge and senses as well as on the "panoramic" and holistic perception of reality. Together with knowledge development, we actualize the formation of corresponding senses, values, intentions, reflections, interpretations and professional health preserving attitudes. Cyclicity and repetitiveness, being the determining structural and didactic ideas of knowledge representation and sense shaping, are initially defined by systemic nature and a "multi-dimensional" and diverse specifics of N. Bernstein's theory of movement construction (Bernstein, 1990, 2020; Bongaardt and Meijer, 2000). Within the framework of this theory five levels of movements are defined - A, B, C, D, E. Being interrelated and interdependent, these levels represent a complex hierarchic system. It is relevant that every level of motor activity is relatively autonomous and specific and may be considered as a determining and defining for movements that are characterized by common features. At the same time, a certain level is presented as a necessary component or the basis for the next, "higher" level of movements. According to the above described understanding, movements activity may be presented either by all levels or by one, two (e.g. balancing movements), three (e.g. walking) or more (up to five) levels.

Highlighting the essence of N. Bernstein's theory, we characterize each level of movements in the relation to other levels and thus disclose the phenomenology of movements activity as a whole. At the same time, we highlight one key determining aspect (vector) and a few additional ones. These additional aspects facilitate a deeper, widened and interpretation oriented disclosure of the key aspect by supplementing its senses. In this pedagogical system the key aspects (vectors) are presented as problem-conceptual lines. These lines differ from the aspects (in a narrow sense) as they are clearly directed, aimed at problem setting, interpretation and constructing of new knowledge. The orientation towards knowledge and sense construction, transfer and transformation includes the actualization of an individual problem as well as the formation of complex and general understandings about movement perceiving the peculiarities of all five levels. Thus, the consideration of the issue of movements activity is being actualized through its consideration within the "individual-general" system, which is one of the central correlations in hermeneutics (Dilthey, 1996). The stated "individual-general" correlation is reflected in the concept of a hermeneutic circle. In our pedagogical system of didactic positions, the central and main differences between the problem-conceptual line and aspect lie in the fact that it is primarily viewed and formed as a certain epistemiological, hermeneutic, value-conceptual and practically and technologically oriented subsystem with the corresponding orientations. The consideration of a certain problem-conceptual line (aspect) discloses the nature of all five levels of movement as a complex system and accentuates each of these levels as a particular "movement ontology". By actualizing each next aspect as the previous one we "take it through" all A, B, C, D, E levels (Yevtuch et al., 2021b).

For instance, while disclosing the nature of movement through the representation of "Key manifestations of movement" and "Movement characteristics", we analyze and illustrate it with the help of a virtual model. The movement is structured into subsystems represented by a certain level: A (tonic movements) - ensures muscle tonus, mimic movements, trembling from cold and stress, etc. (figure 1); B (synergistic movements) - synergistic, economic, balancing, reciprocal (movements in which antagonist muscles contract and relax in turn), smooth, "round" movements etc. (e.g. body movements when a person stands, balances or does physical exercises without lifting the legs from the surface or changing his or her position) (figure 2); C (level of spatial movements) - movements that ensure active spatial movements: jumps, walking, running, thrusts (figure 3); D (level of concrete actions) - movements that ensure an effective and targeted work with objects, tools praxis (figure 4); E - intellectual movements: language movements and dances and "motion scenarios", which have a complicated structure (figure 5) (Yevtuch et al., 2021b).

We briefly represent another important problemconceptual line, which is a group of interrelated aspects - "Movement as a manifestation of existence, movement as a body scheme, movement as a spatial and orientation phenomenon" (Yevtuch et al., 2021b). Level A - level of tone - is a manifestation of existence as a given; is "discloses" the space of the body as a self-sufficient, self-referential and self-reflective system; the level of tone (A) essentially "forms" the "vital body" as a self-referential phenomenon both in the consciousness and in reality; this level ensures the formation of a "primary" scheme of the body; discloses the corporal "self" as the one that is in the body in general, actualizes it; existential of corporality; forms a certain orientation within one's body, which is relatively independent from the environment. Level B - level of synergy - swaying, synergistic movements form: movement as such, which is characteristic of a body and the movement of body parts relatively to the body as well as swaying shifts (sways, bends etc.) of a body in space; discloses the corporal "self" as such exists in the body through synergistic movements; actualized the existential of space (Besoli, 2017), the existential of corporality as the existential of movement (Klochko and Fedorets, 2022) by shifting parts of the body (limbs and the body itself) relatively to it; discloses the existential of temporality through movements, which are repetitive and periodical, forming a "temporal-biochemicalswaying" process, which facititates the perception of time; forms orientation within one's body with regard to and depending on the movement of parts of the body (arms, legs) relatively to it and while making swaying movements, also taking gravitation into consideration; balancing movements give the realization of gravitation and thus form a close connection with the Earth as a planet and the foundation of life; these movements are a precondition for forming spatial metaphors, which represent the basis of the sensor-motoric thinking. Level of spatial movements - C: represents and "unveils" the space, landscape and the Earth with the existing objects and perspectives; presents movement as a "spatial" existence through spatial movement; discloses the existential of spatiality and temporality; actualizes the existential of corporality and the existential of locomotion (Klochko and Fedorets, 2022) through movement of the body in space; forms an orientation and goal setting in space; is a precondition of forming spatial metaphors as the basis of thinking and values (Lakoff and Johnson, 1980). Level of concrete actions - D; "forms" a "world of things" in the consciousness (the object domain); discloses the orientation within the objects and actions; "creates" praxis as an ability for



Figure 1: Level A – Tonic movements (Fedorets & Klochko, 2022). The figure shows a man standing. This is provided by the tonic level (A). A person can jump sharply. This is an example of changes in the tonic level – ballism. Movement: muscle tone, statotonic, coordination-tonic, facial expressions, trembling in the cold, grouping when falling. Level basis (is the "background level") – B, C, D, E. Characteristic of movement: unconscious (automatic), the involvement of all muscles of the body, basic and background for all levels, associated with the subconscious. Attitude to space and orientation: own body (Yevtuch et al., 2021b).



Figure 2: Level B – Synergistic movements (Fedorets & Klochko, 2022). Movement: base walking and dancing (rhythmic), maintaining balance and balancing, facial expressions. Level basis (is the "background level") – C, D, E; rhythm of speech and intonation. Characteristic of movement: movements without taking into account the spatial structure of the environment, economical, balancing, stereotic, equilibrium, "pulsating", rhythmic, repetitive, smooth and precise, partially automatic, the basis of walking, may be partially automatic and unconscious. Attitude to space and orientation: own body and the immediate surrounding space (Yevtuch et al., 2021b).

targeted, creative and "transformational" work with objects, tools and the environment and to a certain extent as a "specific" interaction with people and animate objects (plants, animanls). Level of intellectual movements – E: forms mental and corporal activity as a semiotic-conceptual and intentionally-targeted,

in the formats of language and communication; discloses the language and dialogue as existence and a mental-communicative way of existing in it; determines the spaces and fields of concepts, senses and values; discloses intellectual activity as a human way of being; actualizes the existentials of love and health Improving the Health-Preserving Competence of a Physical Education Teacher on the Basis of Spatial Value Interpretations of Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Construction of Movements



Figure 3: Level C – Spatial movements (Fedorets & Klochko, 2022). Movement: movement based on orientation in space, walking, running, throwing, jumping. Level basis (is the "background level") – level D, E. Characteristic of movement: spatially oriented, differentiated, precise, conscious, conscious movements. Attitude to space and orientation: Three-dimensional Space (Yevtuch et al., 2021b).



Figure 4: Level D – Substantive action (Fedorets & Klochko, 2022). The figure shows the idea of movement of level D – Substantive action. It is primarily formed through contact in the "man-man" system as a contact. In this case, the participation of level A (tonic movements) is relevant – which forms the possibility of contact with another person, and later (in the process of human development) with the object (tool). Movement: actions and work with objects, praxis. Level basis (is the "background level") – level E. Characteristic of movement: has a complex algorithm, is targeted, subject-manipulative and meaningful, system-forming and meaning-forming factor is the goal and the result is focused on the action with the objects, this level is semantic and objective, conscious movements. Attitude to space and orientation: "space" of objects and tools that are in three-dimensional Space (Yevtuch et al., 2021b).



Figure 5: Level E – Intellectual (speech) movements (Fedorets & Klochko, 2022). Movement: intellectualized movements – sign language and partly body language and dance (understood as complex choreographic actions), reading, spoken and written language and reading. Characteristic of movement: characteristics related to speech, physical communication, complex dances and motor scenarios, conscious. Attitude to space and orientation: for language – space of objects and ideas, ideal (virtual) spaces of values, values; for dances and complex motor scenarios – three-dimensional space, space of speech, "space" of tools and objects, space of ideas, values and meanings.

as a manifestation of human nature.

The presented brief overview of the three problem-conceptual lines (aspects) in the learning process discloses with the help of the "Virtual Model Illustrating Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Movement Construction" the essence of movements activity in a consecutive, "layer-by-layer", cyclic way. In the course of this process the knowledge from various fields (knowledge transfer) is used, which is then naturally integrates into a certain epistemological system. Such a variety of knowledge facilitates the actualization of the hermeneutic potential of N. Bernstein's theory, which accordingly launches the active formation of interpretations, reflections, understandings and senses. From the didactic point of view, the stated methodology of knowledge representation and perception allows to present the knowledge in various ways, not being limited to a fixed hierarchic model. Problem-conceptual lines may be represented in any order and combination. This creates a corresponding learning diversity, facilitates spontaneous manifestations and is a precondition for creativity and active dialogue-based interaction. Physical Education teachers can independently choose the aspect that needs to be analyzed in the context of N. Bernstein's theory. This may further be used for a formal description of the methodology for the improvement this virtual reality model of the stated issue and creation of a corresponding interactive model.

Within this pedagogical system we present the repeated and multi-dimensional highlighting of the nature of movement, together with the actualization of its various aspects and with a corresponding subsequent formation of complex understanding of the movements field and a human being, as a methodology (methodological technique) of cyclic and layerby-layer shaping of knowledge, values and senses, calling it the "Wheel of problems and senses". The axis idea of this methodology is the cyclic and repetitive knowledge formation, reproduction, transfer and transformation in various aspects, contexts, formats and in correlation with various problems and aims of movements activity and corporality. This, in turn, determines the hermeneutic and sense forming potentials of the methodology as well as the existence of knowledge in the form of a problem. Accordingly, in the course consideration of various aspects and their analysis in correlation with the nature of various levels of motor activity organization, knowledge is being constantly updated. The very existence of knowledge in the form of problematization, as a problem and as interpretations, facilitates its preservation, development, growth and widens the opportunities for a value based and practical orientation of creativity. Using the ideas expressed by Frank (Frank, 2016), we may characterize such knowledge as "living knowledge". Thus, thanks to its multi-dimensional, systemic, representative nature, N. Bernstein's theory allows to disclose the phenomenology of movement using the "Wheel of problems and senses" methodology, which is a practical and targeted application of the idea of a hermeneutic circle and which, speaking metaphorically, forms new knowledge and senses in the course of its "movement" within the "knowledge space".

The "Virtual Model Illustrating Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Movement Construction" forms the foundation of the above presented practical implementation of the ideas of a layer-by-layer and cyclic shaping of knowledge and senses about movement with the help of the "Wheel of problems and senses" methodology (methodological technique). The stated model contains anthropic images, typical situation (e.g. a person is running – level C, or talking – level E) and "motion spaces" in which the peculiarities of every level of movements is being disclosed. The virtual spaces of the stated model as well as the corresponding anthropic images are used to study the peculiarities of various levels of movements and are also subsequently used as sense-forming contexts to highlight and particularize the relevant issues of the motion sphere, health preservation and disclosure of the human phenomenon as a whole.

Thanks to the use of the "Virtual Model Illustrating Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Movement Construction", the "Wheel of problems and senses" and the problem-conceptual lines, which form it to a great extent, motor activity is disclosed as a manifestation of the poly-ontological human nature (Nosov, Accordingly, the motor activity is repre-1999). sented as a particular "existential-vital-movementsactivity-intellectual ontology", and is not reduced (simplified) to mechanic movements. Motion is viewed as a continuum of anthropological phenomena - from purely "biological-corporal" ones (levels A, B) and "corporal-spatial" (level C) and "corporalpraxeological" to "gnoseological-linguistic" and spiritual ones (level E).

For a "dialogue-based" "immersion" of course participants into the "biomechanical essence of movement", the initial demonstration of the virtual model includes the actualization of maieutic and interactive practices. The idea of this aspect is to disclose movement as a complex, multi-level anthropic system. In the virtual model, the five levels are demonstrated in the form of anthropic images and are a spatial formation. Such a presentation is essentially a "spatial" as well as "anthropic" metaphorization. It creates the effects and levels of movements are presented using real examples and in real situations, which are considered with the relation to and together with the use of the virtual model.

While focusing the attention of course participants on the phenomena of complexity and consistency as the determining ones in movement construction, we analyze when the stated complexity is distorted by considering the virtual model. Therefore, the fine interaction between the levels of movements is also distorted. The fact that probable distortions really exist, can be modelled and thus "extracted" from N. Bernstein's level theory poses a special methodological interest (Klochko and Fedorets, 2022; Bernstein, 1990; Devishvili, 2015; Latash and Latash, 1994; Bongaardt and Meijer, 2000). We suggest that the course participants model probable distortions on the basis of knowledge about the nature of movement disclosed with the help of the virtual model. The stated aspect of decomposition with the subsequent "construction" of movement is possible even after the basic familiarization with N. Bernstein's theory.

Using the virtual model and, consequently, the "layer-by-layer and periodic consideration", we present various aspects of movement, each time quickly analyzing the peculiarity of all five levels. In the course of this process, the movements, sport, life and professional experiences of Physical Education teachers are being actualized. As an example, we will consider the problem of sense as a significant component of organizing movements activity by analyzing three levels (A, B, C) of N. Bernstein's theory.

A – "The level of tone" – reflects the sense of corporal existence. In this aspect we focus on the existentiality of corporality, remembering classical ideas of Binswanger (Besoli, 2017). We consider the stated aspect in the spirit of existential pedagogics (Bollnow (Bollnow, 1955)). Thus, it is significant for the humanization of the educational process and the formation of a kind attitude of a teacher towards a child, which corresponds to the child-centric ideas of the "New Ukrainian School". While analyzing the "A" level, we indicate that the main "purpose" of a child is the existential perception of self as a possibility and a reality – "I AM" and "BE".

Senses of the next level B ("Synergistic movements"), which is well represented in the virtual model, is also characterized by human corporality. At the same time, relevant senses of human existence in the environment are added. This level is directly linked with the Earth, namely with gravity. Balancing movements are also included into this level. Thanks to this level, the essential initial contact with the Earth is created. I this aspect, we actualize the ideas of Embodied Cognitive Science within the framework of which the relevant aspect of intellectual activity is the body and human corporality, which are "inscribed" and interact with the environment.

Senses of level C ("Spatial movements") are primarily disclosed through a possibility to shift the position in space, which is effectively presented in the model. Thus, through the realization of this level, the orientation and search activity, which is one of the preconditions of the intellect and a manifestation of the vitality and spatial nature of a person, is manifested and developed.

The main reason for actualizing the idea of senses of motor activity is for the teacher to understand the ways and possibilities for motivating the pupils to work out and lead a healthy lifestyle. For instance, at level A (tonic movements) the educator works with the senses of corporal being and being as such. This includes beauty, health, the sense of life (Klochko and Fedorets, 2022; Besoli, 2017). This is the "source" of motivation and not the fact that a child "must" workout.

Level B ("Synergistic movements"), just as the previous one, allows a person to understand himself in relation with "himself" and the "environment", with the Earth. At this level, in order to form senses and influence a pupil, it is necessary to be congruent. In our opinion, this level is linked with a person's perception of his/her body. To a certain extent, it may be called "corporal reflective". It discloses the corporality dynamically, in synergistic movements and through rhythms (it is the basis of dances).

At level C ("Spatial movements"), it is important to use the informative-value and vital potential of the "Earth space" in order to form senses and motivations for motor activity and healthy lifestyle. A relevant point is the environmentally friendly application of landscape pedagogics, spatial metaphors etc.

In the course of implementation of this virtual model, we consider the issue of inclusion (as one of the central problem-conceptual lines) in order to give the teacher an understanding of the ways of improving pedagogical interaction with as well as teaching the children with special educational needs (Fahr et al., 2020; Safonicheva and Ovchinnikova, 2021), and also to broaden the professional abilities of an educator in terms of correction of sensor-motoric and other disorders with the help of Physical Education tools.

Motor health-preserving strategies are formed on the basis of N. Bernstein's theory of construction of movements. Based on the practical and technological understanding of the features of biomechanics, psychology and neuronal foundations of different levels of movement revealed in N. Bernstein's theory and through the reception of pedagogical and sports experiences of Physical Education teachers the strategies are developed that are considered as health-preserving and prophylactic ones. The very same strategies are to some extent corrective and developmental. These strategies can be used for health-preserving improvement of existing physical culture and health technologies and practices as well as for the development of new ones. We will briefly present the main aspects of motor health-preserving strategies.

Motor health-preserving strategy "Application of synergistic movements to adaptation to movement activity, and recreation" is developed on the basis of practically oriented understanding of synergistic movements - level B. The feature of these movements is economical, adjusting, pulsating, repetitive, rhythmic, balancing and to some extent "recreational" nature (figure 2). This strategy can be applied to the formation of new motor actions (in the sense of physical exercises), as well as used in the already existing ones with the actualization of the synergistic component. That is, already known exercises can be performed in a "synergistic mode". Such movements are balancing, rhythmic, repetitive and are realized with a sense of ease. The movements can also be performed partially in an automated mode, which creates the effect of rest, comfort of the movement itself, "comfortable" feeling of your body, as well as calming due to the actualization of the rhythmic component. The application of spatial and body-spatial motor metaphors is relevant, in which there is an orientation in the directions up/down, forward/backward, right/left, the movement around own axis. The application of this "synergistic strategy" is necessary for the "soft entry" into motor activity, which corresponds to human nature i.e. for warming-up and getting out of the load for a hitch. "Entering" and "exiting" motor activity should be delicate and inconspicuously synchronize the work of the cardiovascular and respiratory systems and musculoskeletal system, taking the body to a qualitatively new level of functioning systematically, smoothly, rhythmically, not abruptly, quickly, "avalanche like" and not synergistically. Synergistic movements also play a setting and tuning role for a particular activity or other movements. Let's remember the soft, delicate, oscillating and rhythmic movements when a woman shakes a baby. In the same semantic series there are synergistic (rhythmic, oscillating) combat or "marriage" (expressed in animal dances) movements, both in humans and in animals that have a corresponding reflection in dances.

The motor health-preserving strategy "Application of spatial movements for actualization of orientation-search activity and development of spatial

thinking" is formed on the basis of actualization of orientation-search activity which has expressive spatial character (figure 3). In the implementation of this activity, visual and auditory analyzers are activated as the main ones that provide adaptation in space. The development and active functioning of the mentioned analyzers (visual, auditory) is a sensory prerequisite for the formation of spatial thinking, orientation and imagination. To implement this strategy, we recommend using outdoor activities, the potential of landscape pedagogy and tourism, as well as the demonstration of landscapes and spatial objects and their discussion. It is important to use motor games with elements of orientation in space and complex-coordinated movements and movements on various including circular trajectories and their subsequent analysis and discussion. The application of spatial motor metaphors, elements of theatrical pedagogy, which includes reincarnation into various images in which the motor and spatial-motor components are expressive, is relevant.

The motor health-preserving strategy "Application of movements with a complex algorithm for the development of intellect" is formed on the basis of updating the intellectual potential of the level E intellectual movements) (figure 5). We recommend using relatively complex motor scenarios, including choreographic and those that can be performed both individually and collectively, as well as to teach to work with spatial images, routes and actions, thinking about their trajectory and method of implementation. An example is the performance of combat movements in martial arts combined into a special system (dance) – kata. The combat motor actions are integrated and transformed into a sequence of movements and a sequence of actions (if movements with objects or weapons) in kata. Motor actions are thus interconnected and "intercurrent" successive combat movements that are integrated into a system. They represent "motor-spatial algorithms" and a system of body-movements "tools" of influence and action. The spatial-temporal integration of motor actions is based on: principles and cultural traditions and experiences of combat, ideas about the enemy and the combat situation, modeling and reflexive understanding of the probable problem, concentration and meditation techniques, knowledge of biomechanics and human psychology. Thus, the kata from the standpoint of cognitivistics can be considered as a "body-space-activity" semiotic system defining characteristic, which is cognition. It is interesting to use the representative potential of movements, which includes the ability to communicate through motor activity and demonstrate complex ideas, feelings, which is also considered in

the framework of theater pedagogy. The use of music and the arts in general, including poetry, is important. The use of elements of play, carnival, imitation of life scenarios, as well as narrative and communicative skills of a teacher is important for the actualization of this level.

We recommend using augmented and virtual reality technologies in the implementation of all these motor health-preserving strategies, which will allow implementing them at a new quality level.

One of the significant results of contemporary European centric transformations of the Ukrainian education is the formation of intellectualized, axiologized, "human-centric", psychology driven and "humaniticized" physical culture (Aksonova, 2010; Efimenko, 2011). Such physical culture is considered as a relevant component of movements activity, development and existence of a child and not only as a school subject. Thus, it is represented as a system of personality-oriented and culture-corresponding techniques of the body, which we view in correlation with mental, spiritual and health preserving practices as well as, to a certain extent, their inseparable components. Judging from the anthropological-cultural and humanistic positions, it is important that the teacher perceives the cultural heritage and includes it into the value-conceptual contexts of the educational process, namely, for the organization of motor activity, development of corporality and the corporal image of the pupils.

In the light of such views, physical culture may be viewed not only as a corporal technique and a motion practice of a particular culture, but first and foremost as a culture forming unit. We believe that corporal techniques make up the basis of preserving physical as well as psychological, existential and spiritual health.

N. Bernstein (Klochko and Fedorets, 2022; Bernstein, 1990; Devishvili, 2015; Talis, 2015; Bongaardt and Meijer, 2000; Meijer and Bruijn, 2007) defined a person and his/her locomotor sphere as a set of super complex integratively functioning intentional systems, which have a certain potential for autonomy (in a modern auto-poetic understanding). This made his views radically different from the views of a simple person (lat. Homo simplex) and a reflex person, mechanic person, automated person. N. Bernstein's ideas are disclosed and have undergone value based comprehension with the help of virtual reality and they lead us to an idea that movement is a manifestation of the higher nature of human existence as well as to an understanding of metaphysical and ontological for mans of motor activity.

An experimental study. To analyze the efficiency

of using the "Virtual Model Illustrating Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Movement Construction" within the "Methodology of development of the health preserving competence of a Physical Education teacher on the basis of Nikolai Bernstein's theory of the levels of movement construction" in the Communal Higher Educational Institution "Vinnytsia Academy of Continuous Education" and study was conducted in 2019 among 165 Physical Education teachers, who were taking the professional growth training course. The experimental group was made up of 85 people.

Let us prove the statistical confidentiality of the obtained results. The number of tasks that had to be completed by the Physical Education teachers before and after the using the methodology of development of health-preserving competence of a Physical Education teacher in the conditions of postgraduate education on the basis of N. Bernstein's theory of construction of movements with the use of virtual reality technologies. The results showing the number of correct answers of Physical Education teachers to questions before and after using this methodology are considered at $n_1 = 10$ and $n_2 = 10$ (figure 6) (Yevtuch et al., 2021b).

Let us confirm the statistical significance of exceeding the values of the indicators of the results of solving control problems by Physical Education teachers after the experiment over the values of the corresponding indicators before the experiment using the Wilcoxon's rank sum test (Wilcoxon, 1945; Wilcoxon et al., 1963).

We find the difference between the values of the corresponding indicators of the results of solving control tasks by Physical Education teachers before and after the experiment (table 1) (Yevtuch et al., 2021b).

We arrange the obtained absolute values of the differences in the indicators of the studied trait before and after the experiment in ascending order. Rank them in ascending order of absolute differences with using average ranks (because there are related ranks) from 1 to 10 (table 1) (Yevtuch et al., 2021b).

Analysis of the table data showed that there are no "atypical" shifts. So, calculated by formula (1)

$$T_{emp} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} r_i = 0$$

Find the critical value for the Wilcoxon's rank sum test for n = 10, using the data in table 1:

for p < 0.05 the $T_{cr} = 10$,

for p < 0.01 the $T_{cr} = 5$.

The empirical value $T_{emp} = 0 < T_{cr} = 5$ at the significance level p < 0.01.

Hypothesis H_0 is accepted. The values of the indicators of the results of solving control tasks by Phys-



Figure 6: The results showing the number of correct answers of Physical Education teachers to the question before and after using the methodology of development of health-preserving competence of a Physical Education teacher in the conditions of postgraduate education on the basis of N. Bernstein's theory of construction of movements with the use of virtual reality technologies (Yevtuch et al., 2021b).

Table 1: The value of the corresponding indicators of the results of solving control tasks by Physical Education teachers before and after the experiment, their difference and ranks of absolute values of differences.

Order	Before the	After the	Difference,	The absolute	Ranks of
number of	experiment,	experiment,	$x_{after} - x_{before}$	value of the	absolute values
the task, n	x_{before} (%)	x_{after} (%)	(%)	difference (%),	of differences, r_i
	-	-		$ x_{after} - x_{before} $	
1	21	77	56	56	3,5
2	25	81	56	56	3,5
3	35	98	63	63	7,5
4	17	61	44	44	1
5	13	75	62	62	6
6	15	82	67	67	9
7	16	89	73	73	10
8	10	68	58	58	5
9	8	71	63	63	7,5
10	43	97	54	54	2
Sum total	-	-	-	-	55

ical Education teachers after the experiment statistically with a high probability exceed the values of the indicators before the experiment at the level of significance p < 0.01.

We will present the results of research on educational effectiveness "Methodology for the development of the health-preserving competence of the Physical Education teacher based on N. Bernstein's theory of the level construction of movements" using a spatial approach (figure 7). The specified spatial approach was aimed at the ecological-value and spatial-value understanding of human motor activity based on N. Bernshtein's theory of movement construction. The study was conducted at the Communal Institution

of Higher Education "Vinnytsia Academy of Continuing Education" in 2022. The studied sample consisted of 32 Physical Education teachers.

Let us prove the statistical confidentiality of the obtained results. The number of questions that had to be completed by the Physical Education teacher before and after the introduction of the "Methodology for the development of the health-preserving competence of the Physical Education teacher based on N. Bernstein's theory of the level construction of movements" with the use of the "Fedorets Questionnaire for the definition of ecological value and health-preserving reflection of the spatial interpretations of N. Bernstein's theory of movement construction" is n = 5 (figure 7).

We find the difference between the values of the corresponding indicators of the results of solving control questions by Physical Education teachers before and after the experiment in table 2.

Analysis of the table 2 data showed that there are no "atypical" shifts. So, calculated by formula (1)

$$T_{emp} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} r_i = 0.$$

Find the critical value for the Wilcoxon's rank sum test for n = 5, using the data in table 1:

for p < 0.05 the $T_{cr} = 0$,

The empirical value $T_{emp} = 0 \le T_{cr} = 0$ at the significance level p < 0.05.

Hypothesis H_0 is accepted. The values of the indicators of the results of solving control tasks by Physical Education teachers after the experiment statistically with a high probability exceed the values of the indicators before the experiment at the level of significance p < 0.05.

Theoretical and conceptual understanding of the use of the spatial approach. The "Concept of tellusexistential - res extenza" was developed (V. Fedorets, O. Klochko). In this space-value understanding of man, the consideration of space and spatiality not only as the "res extenza" (lat.) of Descartes or the ideal space of physicists, in which, or against the background of which motor activity is realized, is a relevant direction. Understanding space as a special earthly spatial reality and as a cultural space with which people interact becomes significant. Accordingly, a person is presented as a "bodily-motor-spatial being". Space is considered not only as physical, but above all as earthly and as human and cultural space. With such an "anthropo-telus" (in the sense of "human-terrestrial") representation of space, in addition to its 3 physical dimensions, additional "dimensions" - earthly and human - are also actualized.

The specified humanitarian-aesthetic, ecological and anthropocultural understanding of space translates it into the category of living objects. Accordingly, the physical space is transformed into the world or cosmos, as it was imagined by the ancient Greek philosophers, namely, into a harmonious, balanced, aestheticized, stable, anthropologically oriented. We present the above methodologically oriented interpretations of physical space as the "tellus-existential" (res extenza, lat.) educational concept. To clarify, let's note that the word "telus" is used in the "tellus-existential" (res extenza, lat.) concept, which comes from the name of the ancient Roman goddess Mother Earth -Tellus (lat.). The educational meaning of the specified methodological metamorphoses is the disclosure to man of high meanings and significance, ontological meanings and the beauty of space, as a harmonized anthropo-earthly world. This is the basis for determining the ways of preservation and harmonious existence in the Earthly world. The "tellus-existential" (res extenza, lat.) concept reveals the deep existential meanings of the existential of spatiality and the existential of corporeality (according to L. Binswanger) (Binswanger, 1942). This concept also at the level of methodology represents the deep meanings and perspectives of the anthropological and valuable understanding and reception of the concept of sustainable development.

4 CONCLUSION

The application of virtual reality technologies for health and practically oriented perception of the phenomenology of movement activity, the essence of which is disclosed in Nikolai Bernstein's theory of movement construction, is an important innovative tool for improvement of the health preserving competence of a Physical Education teacher in conditions of post-graduate education. Based on the use of AR/VR technologies a software application "Virtual Model Illustrating Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Movement Construction" was developed. This virtual model is an effective tool for the development of the stated competence.

The results of the analysis of the research aimed at the study of the efficiency of the virtual model within the "Methodology of development of the health-preserving competence of a Physical Education teacher on the basis of Nikolai Bernstein's theory of the levels of movement construction" using the Wilcoxon's rank sum test prove the statistical significance of the efficiency of application of the given methodology, namely, a statistically viable positive

Table 2: The value of the corresponding indicators of the results of solving control tasks by Physical Education teachers before and after the experiment with the use of the "Fedorets Questionnaire for the definition of ecological value and health-preserving reflection of the earth's space and human motor activity based on the spatial interpretations of N. Bernstein's theory of movement construction", their difference and ranks of absolute values of differences.

Order Before th		ore the	After the	Difference	e, T	he absolute	Ranks of	
n	number of experiment,		experiment,	$x_{after} - x_{bej}$	fore V	alue of the	absolute values	
tl	he task, $n = x_{before}$ (%)		x_{after} (%)	(%)	dif	ference (%),	of differences, r_i	
						$ x_a $	$_{fter} - x_{before}$	
	1		7	95	88		88	5
	2		11	71	60		60	3
	3	32 81 49			49	2		
	4 13		88	75		75	4	
	5		76	98	22		22	1
S	Sum total		-	-	-		-	15
Percentage		80 60 40 20						 Before the study After the study
		0	1	2	3	4	5	
->	Before the	study	7	11	32	13	76	
-	After the s	tudy	95	71	81	88	98	

Figure 7: The results showing the number of correct answers of Physical Education teachers to the questions of the "Fedorets Questionnaire for the definition of ecological value and health-preserving reflection of the earth's space and human motor activity based on the spatial interpretations of N. Bernstein's theory of movement construction" before and after the introduction of the "Methodology for the development of the health-preserving competence of the Physical Education teacher based on N. Bernstein's theory of movements".

dynamics of the educational achievements of Physical Education teachers have been determined. With the help of the virtual model the health-preserving, intellectual, gnoseological, hermeneutic, representative, axiological, praxeological, technological and sense forming potentials of Nikolai Bernstein's theory are being disclosed. This facilitates the formation in a teacher of systemic views and structuralfunctional, holistic and value-conceptual understandings of movement as the basis of life and health as well as the "existential-vital-movement-activityintellectual ontology".

Disclosing the theory of movement construction through the application of the virtual model and other tools as viewed as a gnoseological precondition of fundamentalization of the health-preserving knowledge and the corresponding competence and it is also a cognitive factor of the health-preserving oriented professionalization and axiologization of the work of a Physical Education teacher. The use of a virtual model for the representation of Nikolai Bernstein's theory in the methodology of the health-preserving competence of Physical Education teachers is a necessary condition for the development of the stated competence both in the context of its integration with the professional competence as well as to raise the scientific, fundamental and technological level. This also facilitates the effective practically oriented application of the state theory by a Physical Education teacher for the analysis and improvement of physical and recreational technologies as well as of concrete physical exercises and movement modes.

Nikolai Bernstein's theory of movement construction, virtual reality technology, and spatial and ecological approaches were used integratively for ecologization, anthropologization, and for the health-careoriented disclosure of human bodily-motor-spatial phenomenology. Improving the Health-Preserving Competence of a Physical Education Teacher on the Basis of Spatial Value Interpretations of Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Construction of Movements

"Methodology for the development of the healthpreserving competence of the Physical Education teacher based on N. Bernstein's theory of the level construction of movements" includes the representation of environmental and health-preserving issues using a spatial approach. The "Virtual Model of the Illustration of N. Bernstein's Theory of Movement Construction" and photographs, diagrams and pictures of people and natural and anthropogenic landscapes, objects, and architectural structures were used to implement the indicated methodology. As a result of studies of the educational effectiveness of the specified methodology, the positive dynamics of educational results were determined using the "Fedorets Questionnaire for the definition of ecological value and health-preserving reflection of the earth's space and human motor activity based on the spatial interpretations of N. Bernstein's theory of movement construction".

Accordingly, a Physical Education teacher gains professional opportunities for the application of Nikolai Bernstein's theory in the health preserving and correction-development work with children with special educational needs as well as in inclusive education practices. On the basis of the health-preservation oriented disclosure of the nature of movement, healthpreserving, preventative, corrective and developmental strategies are being formed among which the significant ones are: "Application of synergistic movements to adaptation to movement activity, and recreation", "Application of spatial movements for actualization of the orientation and search activities and development of spatial thinking", "Use of movements with a complicated algorithm for intellect development".

REFERENCES

- Abbagnano, N. (1969). Critical existentialism. Anchor Books, Garden City, N.Y. https://archive.org/details/ criticalexistent0000abba.
- Aksonova, O. P. (2010). Nova fizychna kultura abo shkola rozumnoho rukhu [New physical culture or school of intelligent movement]. *Physical Education Theory and Methodology*, (12):29–34. https://tmfv.com.ua/ journal/article/view/678.
- Anosov, I. and Stanishevska, T. (2018). Osobystisnoprofesiinyi rozvytok uchytelia Novoi ukrainskoi shkoly v konteksti antropolohizatsii osvity [Personalprofessional development of the teacher of the New Ukrainian school in the context of anthropologization of education]. Naukovyi visnyk Melitopolskoho derzhavnoho pedahohichnoho universytetu. Seriia : Pedahohika, (1):17–22. http://nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/ Nvmdpu_2018_1_4.

- Barnard, S. (2000). Construction and Corporeality: Theoretical Psychology and Biomedical Technologies of the Self. *Theory & Psychology*, 10(5):669–688. https: //doi.org/10.1177/0959354300105005.
- Bernstein, N. A. (1990). Fiziologiya dvizheniy i aktivnost [Physiology of movements and activity]. Nauka, Moskva.
- Bernstein, N. A. (2020). Biomechanics for Instructors. Springer Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-030-36163-1.
- Besoli, S. (2017). On the Emergence of Thymic Space in Ludwig Binswanger. In Catena, M. T. and Masi, F., editors, *The Changing Faces of Space*, volume 39 of *Studies in Applied Philosophy, Epistemol*ogy and Rational Ethics, pages 35–55. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-319-66911-3_3.
- Binswanger, L. (1942). Grundformen und Erkenntnis menschlichen Daseins [Basic Forms and Knowledge of Human Existence]. Max Niehans Verlag, Zurich.
- Bollnow, O. F. (1955). Neue Geborgenheit: Das Problem einer Überwindung des Existentialismus. Kohlhammer Stuttgart.
- Bongaardt, R. and Meijer, O. G. (2000). Bernstein's Theory of Movement Behavior: Historical Development and Contemporary Relevance. *Journal of Motor Behavior*, 32(1):57–71. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 00222890009601360.
- Burov, O. Y., Kiv, A. E., Semerikov, S. O., Striuk, A. M., Striuk, M. I., Kolgatina, L. S., and Oliinyk, I. V. (2020). AREdu 2020 - How augmented reality helps during the coronavirus pandemic. In Burov, O. Y. and Kiv, A. E., editors, *Proceedings of the 3rd International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 13, 2020*, volume 2731 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 1–46. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2731/paper00.pdf.
- Bykhovskaya, I. (1991). Sports, New Way of Thinking and Human Values. International Review for the Sociology of Sport, 26(3):193–201. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 101269029102600304.
- Chergui, W., Zidat, S., and Marir, F. (2020). An approach to the acquisition of tacit knowledge based on an ontological model. *Journal of King Saud University -Computer and Information Sciences*, 32(7):818–828. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jksuci.2018.09.012.
- CoSpaces Edu (2023). Make AR & VR in the classroom. https://cospaces.io/edu/.
- Devishvili, D. M. (2015). N. A. Bernshteyn osnovatel sovremennoy biomekhaniki [N. A. Bernstein – the founder of modern biomechanics]. *Natsionalnyy psikhologicheskiy zhurnal*, 4:74–78. https://doi.org/ 10.11621/npj.2015.0407.
- Dilthey, W. (1996). Wilhelm Dilthey: Selected Works, Volume IV: Hermeneutics and the Study of History. Princeton University Press. http://www.jstor.org/ stable/j.ctv39x6db.
- Dmitriev, S. (2014). Alternativnaya biomekhanika "Zhivykh dvizheniy" v sfere sporta i adaptivnoy fizicheskoy kultury [Alternative biomechanics "Live

movements" in the sphere of sports and adaptive physical culture]. Visnyk Chernihivskoho natsionalnoho pedahohichnoho universytetu. Ser.: Pedahohichni nauky. Fizychne vykhovannia ta sport, 118(2):10– 14. http://nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/VchdpuPN_2014_118% 282%29_4.

- Donskoy, D. D. and Dmitriyev, S. V. (1999). Psikhosemanticheskie mekhanizmy upravleniia dvigatelnymi deistviiami cheloveka [Psychosemantic mechanisms of human motor actions control]. *Teoriia i praktika fizicheskoi kultury*, (9):2–6.
- Efimenko, N. N. (2011). Nauchnoye naslediye N. A. Bernshteyna v svete sovremennykh problem korrektsionnogo fizicheskogo vospitaniya detey s narusheniyami oporno-dvigatelnogo aparata (Scientific heritage of N. A. Bernshtein in the light of modern problems of correctional physical education of children with musculoskeletal disorders). Naukovyi chasopys natsionalnoho pedahohichnoho universytetu im. M. P. Drahomanova. Seriia 19. Korektsiina pedahohika ta spetsialna psykholohiia, 19:68–73.
- Elkin, O., Hrynevych, L., Kalashnikova, S., Khobzey, P., Kobernyk, I., Kovtunets, V., Makarenko, O., Malakhova, O., Nanayeva, T., Shiyan, R., and Usatenko, H. (2017). *The New Ukrainian School:* conceptual principles of secondry school reform. https://mon.gov.ua/storage/app/media/zagalna% 20serednya/Book-ENG.pdf.
- Fahr, A., Keller, J. W., and van Hedel, H. J. A. (2020). A Systematic Review of Training Methods That May Improve Selective Voluntary Motor Control in Children With Spastic Cerebral Palsy. *Frontiers in Neurol*ogy, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2020.572038.
- Fedorets & Klochko (2022). Scene 2, "Fedorets VM, Klochko OV: Virtual model of the illustration "Nikolai bernstein's theory of construction of movements".
- Fedorets, V. M., Klochko, O. V., Klochko, V. I., Berezhna, T. I., and Ivanytsia, H. A. (2022). Methodological aspects of revealing the metacognitive potential of a teacher in the context of the development of his health-preserving competence. In SHS Web of Conferences, volume 142, page 03007. EDP Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1051/shsconf/202214203007.
- Frank, S. L. (2016). Predmet znaniya [Subject of knowledge]. Directmedia.
- Gilbert, C. (1999). Breathing: the legacy of Wilhelm Reich. Journal of Bodywork and Movement Therapies, 3(2):97–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1360-8592(99) 80029-1.
- Hélie, S. and Sun, R. (2010). Incubation, insight, and creative problem solving: a unified theory and a connectionist model. *Psychological review*, 117(3):994– 1024. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019532.
- Iacopetta, M. (2010). Phases of economic development and the transitional dynamics of an innovation–education growth model. *European Economic Review*, 54(2):317–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. euroecorev.2009.06.011.
- Klochko, O., Fedorets, V., Maliar, O., and Hnatuyk, V. (2020a). The use of digital models of hemodynamics for the development of the 21st century skills

as a components of healthcare competence of the physical education teacher. *E3S Web of Conferences*, 166:10033. https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/202016610033.

- Klochko, O. V. and Fedorets, V. M. (2022). Using immersive reality technologies to increase a physical education teacher's health-preserving competency. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(4):276–306. https: //doi.org/10.55056/etq.431.
- Klochko, O. V., Fedorets, V. M., Uchitel, A. D., and Hnatyuk, V. V. (2020b). Methodological aspects of using augmented reality for improvement of the health preserving competence of a Physical Education teacher. In Burov, O. Y. and Kiv, A. E., editors, *Proceedings of the 3rd International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 13, 2020*, volume 2731 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 108–128. CEUR-WS.org.
- Lakoff, G. and Johnson, M. (1980). *Metaphors We Live By*. The University of Chicago Press, Chicago and London. https://archive.org/details/ metaphorsweliveb00lako.
- Latash, L. P. and Latash, M. L. (1994). A New Book by N. A. Bernstein: "On Dexterity and Its Development". *Journal of Motor Behavior*, 26(1):56–62. https://doi. org/10.1080/00222895.1994.9941662.
- Levchenko, O. M. and Zhukova, V. O. (2011). Transfer suchasnykh znan yak chynnyk zabezpechennia vysokoi yakosti pidhotovky kadriv z vyshchoiu osvitoiu v umovakh formuvannia innovatsiinoi modeli ekonomiky [Modern knowledges transfer as a factor of high quality graduates studying process under conditions of innovation based economy forming]. Naukovi pratsi Kirovohradskoho natsionalnoho tekhnichnoho universytetu. Ekonomichni nauky, 19:127–131. http://nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/Npkntu_e_ 2011_19_22.
- Meijer, O. G. and Bruijn, S. M. (2007). The Loyal Dissident: N.A. Bernstein and the Double-Edged Sword of Stalinism. *Journal of the History of the Neurosciences*, 16(1-2):206–224. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09647040600720979.
- Mindell, A. (2007). Earth Based Psychology: Path Awareness from the Teachings of Don Juan, Richard Feynman, and Lao Tse. Lao Tse Press.
- Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine (2019). New Ukrainian School. https://mon.gov.ua/eng/tag/ nova-ukrainska-shkola.
- Nonaka, I. and Takeuchi, H. (1995). The knowledgecreating company: How Japanese companies create the dynamics of innovation. Oxford University Press. https://archive.org/details/knowledgecreatin00nona.
- Nosov, N. A. (1999). Virtual'naya real'nost': Filosofskie i psihologicheskie aspekty [Virtual Reality: Philosophical and Psychological Aspects]. Voprosy filosofii, 10:152–154.
- Ogundari, K. and Awokuse, T. (2018). Human capital contribution to economic growth in Sub-Saharan Africa: Does health status matter more than education? *Economic Analysis and Policy*, 58:131–140. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.eap.2018.02.001.

Improving the Health-Preserving Competence of a Physical Education Teacher on the Basis of Spatial Value Interpretations of Nikolai Bernstein's Theory of Construction of Movements

- Osadchyi, V. V., Varina, H. B., Osadcha, K. P., Prokofieva, O. O., Kovalova, O. V., and Kiv, A. E. (2020). Features of implementation of modern AR technologies in the process of psychological and pedagogical support of children with autism spectrum disorders. In Burov, O. Y. and Kiv, A. E., editors, *Proceedings of the 3rd International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 13, 2020*, volume 2731 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 263–282. CEUR-WS.org. http://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-2731/paper15.pdf.
- Polanyi, M. (1964). Personal Knowledge: Towards a Post-Critical Philosophy. Harper Torchbook, New York and Evanston. https://archive.org/details/ personalknowledg0000mich.
- Prokhorov, O. V., Lisovichenko, V. O., Mazorchuk, M. S., and Kuzminska, O. H. (2022). Implementation of digital technology for student involvement based on a 3d quest game for career guidance and assessing students' digital competences. *Educational Technol*ogy Quarterly, 2022(4):366–387. https://doi.org/10. 55056/etq.430.
- Safonicheva, O. G. and Ovchinnikova, M. A. (2021). 15 - Movements and development. Art-therapy approach in the complex rehabilitation of children with intellectual disorders, including autism spectrum disorder. In Papaneophytou, N. L. and Das, U. N., editors, *Emerging Programs for Autism Spectrum Disorder: Improving Communication, Behavior, and Family Dynamics*, pages 243–264. Academic Press. https: //doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-85031-5.00019-0,.
- Semerikov, S., Teplytskyi, I., Yechkalo, Y., Markova, O., Soloviev, V., and Kiv, A. (2022). Using spreadsheets as learning tools for neural network simulation. Ukrainian Journal of Educational Studies and Information Technology, 10(3):42–68. https://doi.org/10. 32919/uesit.2022.03.04.
- Talis, V. L. (2015). New Pages in the Biography of Nikolai Alexandrovich Bernstein. In Nadin, M., editor, Anticipation: Learning from the Past: The Russian/Soviet Contributions to the Science of Anticipation, pages 313–327. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-19446-2_18.
- Tkhostov, A. S. (2002). Psikhologiya telesnosti [Psychology of corporality]. Smysl, Moskva.
- Unger, M. and Polt, W. (2021). Knowledge Triangle Between Research, Education, and Innovation: A Conceptual Discussion. In Meissner, D., Gokhberg, L., Kuzminov, Y., Cervantes, M., and Schwaag Serger, S., editors, *The Knowledge Triangle: Changing Higher Education and Research Management Paradigms*, pages 33–61. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-030-81346-8_3.
- Ushinskii, K. D. (1950a). Chelovek kak predmet vospitaniia (Opyt pedagogicheskoi antropologii) [Man as an object of education: An attempt of pedagogical anthropology], volume 1, volume 8 of Sobranie sochinenii. Izdatelstvo Akademii Pedagogicheskikh Nauk RSFSR, Moscow. https://imwerden.de/pdf/ushinsky_ sobranie_sochineny_tom08_1950_text.pdf.

- Ushinskii, K. D. (1950b). Chelovek kak predmet vospitaniia (Opyt pedagogicheskoi antropologii) [Man as an object of education: An attempt of pedagogical anthropology], volume 2, volume 9 of Sobranie sochinenii. Izdatelstvo Akademii Pedagogicheskikh Nauk RSFSR, Moscow. https://imwerden.de/pdf/ushinsky_ sobranie_sochineny_tom09_1950_text.pdf.
- Weinberger, A. B. and Green, A. E. (2022). Dynamic development of intuitions and explicit knowledge during implicit learning. *Cognition*, 222:105008. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2021.105008.
- Wilcoxon, F. (1945). Individual Comparisons by Ranking Methods. *Biometrics Bulletin*, 1(6):80–83. https://doi. org/10.2307/3001968.
- Wilcoxon, F., Katti, S. K., and Wilcox, R. A. (1963). Critical values and probability levels for the Wilcoxon rank sum test and the Wilcoxon signed rank test. American Cyanamid, Pearl River, N.Y.
- Yevtuch, M. B., Fedorets, V. M., Klochko, O. V., Kravets, N. P., and Branitska, T. R. (2021a). Ecological and axiological reflection of the concept of sustainable development as a basis for the health-preserving competence of a physical education teacher. SHS Web of Conferences, 104:02008. https://doi.org/10.1051/ shsconf/202110402008.
- Yevtuch, M. B., Fedorets, V. M., Klochko, O. V., Shyshkina, M. P., and Dobryden, A. V. (2021b). Development of the health-preserving competence of a physical education teacher on the basis of N. Bernstein's theory of movements construction using virtual reality technologies. In Lytvynova, S. H. and Semerikov, S. O., editors, *Proceedings of the 4th International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education (AREdu* 2021), Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 11, 2021, volume 2898 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 294– 314. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2898/ paper16.pdf.
- Zhorova, I., Kokhanovska, O., Khudenko, O., Osypova, N., and Kuzminska, O. (2022). Teachers' training for the use of digital tools of the formative assessment in the implementation of the concept of the New Ukrainian School. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(1):56–72. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.11.

The Use of Immersive Technology in the Study of Mathematical Logics in Secondary School

Vladyslav Ye. Velychko¹[©]^a, Elena G. Fedorenko¹[©]^b, Nataliia V. Kaidan^{1,2}[©]^c and Vadym P. Kaidan³[©]^d

¹Donbas State Pedagogical University, 19 Batiuk Str., Sloviansk, 64122, Ukraine

²Limited Liability Company Technical University "Metinvest Polytechnic", 80 Pivdenne Hwy, Zaporizhzhia, 69008,

Ukraine

³University of Economics and Entrepreneurship, 13 Heroiv Maidanu Str., Khmelnytskyi, 29013, Ukraine velichko@ddpu.edu.ua, {fedorenko.elena1209, kaydannv, kajtan.kt}@gmail.com

Keywords: Mathematical Logics, Immersive Technology, Learning Tools.

Abstract: The majority of information which a person perceives during their lifetime is received through the perception of visual images. This rule is observed during the performance of any kind of activity. Therefore, not taking into account the visual presentation of new knowledge during the learning process as well as its quality are a mistake, which becomes an obstacle for the new generations to receive a quality education. Taking into account the current realities and demands on the knowledge, skills and abilities acquired during the training, the problem of using high-quality visual educational content is closely related to the development and use of information and communication technologies. The work examines and analyzes the current state of the use of immersive technologies in education, examines the possibilities and specifics of the use of virtual worlds in the educational process. The practical results of approbation of virtual tools in the educational process are given. A pedagogical experiment aimed at determining the effectiveness of immersive technologies in the realities of Ukrainian education system has been launched.

1 INTRODUCTION

The tendencies of modernization of education depend on the globalization processes in the world, the needs of the labor market, external factors such as, for example, the quarantine caused by COVID-19, and so on. Considering this, the digitalization of the education system opens up many prospects for quality improvement in the educational process. Thus, under the conditions of the rapid development of information and communication technologies (ICT), the ways of teaching at schools of general education are changing.

For many years in a row, teachers have been using videos during classroom lessons to present the theoretical part of the new material in the classroom. Nowadays the flipped classroom technology is gaining popularity. The implementation of the technology is not possible without the use of educational information, which is based on video. However, the increase in the level of learning with the help of electronic educational resources based on the use of video clips in the "Let's Plays" genre cannot be seen. We note that unlike previous generations of students who interacted with websites, blogs, and educational channels based on social media, the current generation learns more through YouTube Let's Plays and Twitch-based video streams. The current younger generation does not use books, web pages, or any of the technologies traditionally used by older people.

The formation of a new format of digital literacy is necessary for the participation of young people in these, mostly special, educational environments. First of all, it is the ability to record and edit videos, "capturing" and broadcasting gameplay and other activities on the screen, a high level of technical communication, and the ability to inform and teach others by performing complex tasks. The so-called immersive technology, i.e. the technology that integrates the virtual environment with the physical environment, becomes relevant, which allows users to naturally inter-

326

Velychko, V., Fedorenko, E., Kaidan, N. and Kaidan, V.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9752-0907

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1897-874X

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4184-8230

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2008-3539

The Use of Immersive Technology in the Study of Mathematical Logics in Secondary School.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 326-337 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

act with the mixed reality, which includes two main types of reality, as augmented (AR) and virtual (VR) (Arbogast, 2019).

2 RESEARCH METHODS

In the process of the study, the theoretical and general scientific methods were used to solve the tasks set in the work: the analysis of psychological and pedagogical resources on the problem of the research to understand the state of development of using immersive technology in the study of mathematical logics in secondary schools, the identification of the areas of research, the principles and approaches to the use of immersive technology in teaching; a summary of national and foreign experience in the use of immersive technology in secondary schools to identify the tendencies of development, the clarification of the basic conceptual and terminological framework, the establishment of the conceptual foundations of the study; theoretical analysis, systematic analysis. In order to solve the set tasks such empirical research methods were used: the experimental study of the use of immersive technologies in the study of mathematical logics in the secondary school, the expert evaluation of the results of the survey, the observation of the initial activities with the use of immersive technologies in the educational activities.

3 LITERATURE REVIEW

Among the researchers, the problem of immersive technologies in education was addressed by Babkin et al. (Babkin et al., 2021), Burov and Pinchuk (Burov and Pinchuk, 2021), Klochko and Fedorets (Klochko and Fedorets, 2022), Kovalchuk et al. (Kovalchuk et al., 2020), Mintii (Mintii, 2023), Mintii and Soloviev (Mintii and Soloviev, 2018), Shepiliev et al. (Shepiliev et al., 2021). The concept of immersive technologies is interpreted differently, so, for example, Sokolyuk (Sokolyuk, 2021) defines it as a complex of people's sensations, which are located in an artificially created three-dimensional world, in which they can change their viewpoint, zoom in and out the objects, and so on.

According to Sergeev (Sergeev, 2013), the exposure of the subject to the environment of learning, in particular to the immersive environment, and the orientation in it allows us to examine the processes of including the subject into the "worlds" of learning, which can live according to their own laws and not correspond to the worlds of physical reality. The researcher specifies three types of exposure: exposure to the subjective world, exposure to the physical environment and exposure to the virtual environment.

Among the investigators of the problem of edutainment, which is learning through play, in modern pedagogy we can see such scholars as Buckingham (Buckingham, 2013), DeVary (DeVary, 2008), Kazanci and Okan (Kazanci and Okan, 2009), Tokarieva (Tokarieva et al., 2019), Varina (Varina et al., 2022). Addis (Addis, 2005), a professor at Bocconi University in Italy, points out that edutainment is a specific activity that is based on learning and satisfaction with one's own curiosity.

Semerikov et al. (Semerikov et al., 2022) analyze the approaches to the definition of "immersiveness", "immersive educational environment", "immersive approach in education", "immersive educational resources" (IER), which were used to identify the relationship between the virtual environment and the learning environment, which is being implemented, the pedagogical aspects of learning in immersive environments are examined.

Video games for education form an essential segment of educational content today. Digital-Game Based Learning is becoming increasingly popular. A study by Tokac et al. (Tokac et al., 2019) presents the effectiveness of video games-based mathematics training. In their work the researchers claim that video games contribute to the improvement of mathematical knowledge in comparison with traditional ones. Wouters et al. (Wouters et al., 2013) have studied the influence of "serious games" on learning in detail. They have proved that those who learn through serious games have learned more compared to those who learned through conventional teaching methods. Scientists have different opinions on the use of games in teaching. One part of them says that for the success of digital-game based learning it is necessary to have "correct" games for teaching. Another part believes that teachers should take an active role in developing educational activities with the help of digital games (Cayatte, 2014; Gallagher, 2014). Teachers should adapt digital games as part of their teaching tools.

In the study by Chen et al. (Chen et al., 2020) the effect of competition in digital game learning was analyzed. According to the data obtained during the research, competition in digital game-based learning (DGBL) was effective for mathematics, science, and language. It was effective for students of schools and college students. The highest effect was observed during the task performance in puzzle games, strategy, role-playing games and modeling, but not in action games. As a result, it was discovered that the com-

petition in DGBL was equally effective for cognitive and non-cognitive results.

Similar results of the research on the use of games in K-12 mathematics education were acquired by Byun and Joung (Byun and Joung, 2018). First of all, this paper examines the current trend of digital learning based on games by analyzing the research on DGBL for mathematics learning and achievements in mathematics learning. Secondly, the future directions of DGBL research in the context of mathematics teaching have been noted. Researchers have analyzed 296 studies, of which only 33 were identified as empirical and were systematically analyzed to investigate current trends. In addition, due to lack of statistical data, only 17 out of 33 selected studies were analyzed to calculate the overall effect of digital games on mathematics education.

A related study was conducted by Clark et al. (Clark et al., 2016). The authors analyzed the published results of research on the overall effect of digital games on learning outcomes from 2000 to 2012. They took into account 1040 papers, of which only 69 had information about the unique empirical research use of digital electronic games in education. A total of 6,869 respondents were involved in the selected studies. As a result the researchers concluded that games as a medium certainly provide new and powerful opportunities, but it is the active creative activity in the game environment that determines the effectiveness of the learning environment.

Gunter et al. (Gunter et al., 2008) analyzed the RETAIN model (Relevance, Transfer, Adaptation, Immersion, Naturalisation) model, which is based on the following positions: relevance represents the correspondence of the materials to the students' needs; concordance – the necessity of presenting the academic content in accordance with the game plot; integration based on the existing experience of students in other spheres, as well as the possibility of using the knowledge in real life; adaptation – change of behavior as a result of integration from the virtual into the real world; engagement – intellectual involvement in the game process; implementation of the skills acquired in the game and their use in real life.

Apart from the above-mentioned issues, the relationship between game, pedagogical, and realistic components in serious games is no less important. Harteveld (Harteveld, 2011) says in his work that the attributes of serious games are: pedagogy, low resource intensity, timeliness, harmony, experience, unambiguity, research, game elements, attributes, interactivity, involvement, learning goal, goal groups, organization, reality and challenge. Pedagogy declares the necessity of reflexion, but the game, ideally, encourages it. The highest results are achieved by learning by doing, which means that students must not just read the text, but live the learning process internally. The low level of informational intensity of resources allows children to form the ability to make self-evaluations and make decisions.

An important issue is also the efficiency of digital learning on the basis of games. There is a variety of methods for evaluating DGBL, which leads to controversy in determining the reliability and validity of certain methods. All et al. (All et al., 2016) investigated various methods of assessing teaching effectiveness, which were developed by experts in the field of psychology and pedagogy by means of structured meetings in order to identify the most important methods for conducting DGBL effectiveness studies. The suggested improvements in the methodology of determining the level of efficacy relate to the implementation of the intervention both in the experimental and control groups. The participants of the experiment themselves determine which elements should be omitted during the exercise (for example, the instructor's supervision, additional elements consisting of essential information), and which elements will be important (for example, procedural support, training). The investigators determined the parameters for which the similarity between the experimental and control conditions (e.g., time of influence on the workout, instructor, day of the day) can be achieved. Regarding the testing of methods, the suggested improvements concern the exposition of participants to the conditions (e.g., parameters to be taken into account when using blocked randomized design), the general design (e.g., the need of an initial test and a control group), and the test development (e.g., the need to design and run a parallel test), the need for an initial test and a control group) test development (e.g., developing and running parallel tests) and testing (e.g., next steps after at least 2 weeks of training).

Gamification is the use of certain elements of games in non-gaming practices. Salen and Zimmerman (Salen and Zimmerman, 2004) define a game as a system in which players are involved in an artificial conflict, which is defined by the rules and is expressed in a quantitative result. Gamification is distinguished from other game formats by the fact that its participants are focused on the purpose of their real activity, not on the game as such. Game elements are integrated into real situations to motivate specific forms of behavior under given conditions.

4 RESEARCH RESULTS

The research of recent years shows that the market value of educational software in 2018 was \$2.3 billion, and by 2025 this number will be doubled. This assumption indicates the active implementation and use of software in all spheres of education and culture. And these interactive tools include immersive technologies, i.e. the technologies of full or partial inclusion in the virtual world, as well as different kinds of virtual and mixed reality. But first we need to find out what kind of technologies allow to create modern content, and what the difference between them is.

- Real reality (RR) the objective reality in which we are and which we perceive by our senses.
- Augmented Reality (AR) the technology of visualization, which is associated with the combination of real world objects and information, combined through the use of computers, is able to project digital information behind the screens of devices and connect virtual objects to the real environment. PokemonGO, which has been popular for a few years now, is a great example of AR technology.
- Virtual Reality (VR) is a technology that transports people into a artificial world where the natural environment is completely altered. In general, virtual reality means the creation of an imitation of real world experience, in which people can enter at any time with the help of technology.
- Mixed reality (MR) is the latest development in the technology of virtual reality, which can cause a variety of sensations. Mixed reality occurs not only in the physical or virtual world, but it is a mixture of the reality of our world and virtual reality, which can be seen as a supplement to reality and a supplement to virtual reality.
- 360-photos, video is a content consisting of one 360° or several stitched photos and videos. This is the process of creating photos of a certain object, which are taken from different sides and combined into one package. Viewing 360-photo gives you the opportunity to see a lot more details, so to say to feel them at the physical level.

The use of immersive technologies opens up a lot of new possibilities in teaching and education, which are quite complicated, time-consuming or costly for traditional approaches. They outline nine facts in favor of immersive technologies, such as clearness, concentration, maximum involvement, safety and effectiveness. With the help of AR and VR, learning a subject is a much more effective way than standard teaching. The majority of publications on this problem indicate the possibility of using VR and AR technologies in the educational sphere for the purpose of visual modeling of educational material, supplementing it with more knowledge, developing children's spatial ideas, skills of research and experimentation, extensive projecting, which saves time on learning information, accelerates learning and makes this process fun and active.

It is known that the number of different natural and social sciences, which usually act simultaneously as a consumer and provider of scientific and practical results for the field under consideration – physics, mathematics, linguistics, biology, psychology, etc., belong to the number of calculating sciences. An important place among computational sciences is occupied by the relevant part of mathematics, which has various names: theoretical informatics, mathematical theory of calculations, cybernetics, etc.

The part of mathematics, which is a numbering science, is also not homogeneous. It includes branches of mathematical physics, the theory of numerical methods of differential equations, the theory of mass maintenance, which is used for creating operational systems, in the theory of games and so on. However, the central place in this field of mathematics, which is connected to the computational sciences, belongs to mathematical logics and algorithm theory. Often these two disciplines are combined under the joint name "mathematical logics", considering algorithm theory to be a part of mathematical logics in the broad sense of the word.

Since among mathematical disciplines mathematical logics is the only discipline that studies the relationship between texts and their meaning, The mathematical description of this relationship is of primary importance when texts are transformed from a means of communication between people into a means of interaction with a computer.

Nowadays mathematical logics is becoming more and more important, it is a theoretical basis for informatics, which middle school students study in grades 10-11, so it is very useful to develop and refine the concepts of mathematical logics at an early school age. It is necessary to introduce it to students as early as possible, using it in practice. We therefore propose to introduce mathematical logical elements in the school mathematics course. This approach can be closely connected with the program of developmental teaching, which is now being implemented in many schools.

But many children find it difficult to learn mathematics at school and one of the reasons is the loss of motivation for learning or the subject itself. To get rid of this problem, elements of mathematical logic should be introduced in the primary and secondary schools through educational games. In the process of games children memorize different logical tasks, which form certain logical operations without noticing. Thus, the basis for learning the number of words, one of the sections of mathematical logics, is laid.

Game techniques have always been used in school education. Tests and examinations, passing from one class to another, final tests – all of these have elements of the game, but they are not always valid. The problem is that classical educational methods often ignore the simple but important fact that learning should bring joy and satisfaction, should be entertaining. It is known that the human brain is set up for the positive, that is, when instead of struggling with boredom there is a drive and positive emotions, information is absorbed more easily.

The main reason for play-based methods is to focus on mistakes. Teachers at school always focus on mistakes, but rarely praise for correct answers or solutions. The fixation on mistakes causes students to concentrate more on grades than on knowledge. In computer games, on the other hand, faults are accepted and are the main tool for achieving success. Let's take the game Angry Birds, which at least once played all modern children. It vividly demonstrates how with each failure the player tries new variants of successful achievement of the goal - to kill the pigs. By playing, we know that there is nothing wrong with failure - the sooner we do something wrong, the sooner we can find a good solution. Game is one of the ways of motivation, the development of logical thinking, but not universal peremptory mean. Gamification without high-quality educational content will not work.

In order for the learning process to be called gamifiable, it must contain the 4 characteristics that Mc-Gonigal (McGonigal, 2010) revealed in her TED talk:

- clearly defined goals that provide motivation to participate in the game;
- logical and step-by-step rules that set the limits and framework for achieving the goals;
- a stable communication system ensuring that the objectives can be achieved and the players comply with the rules;
- a voluntary agreement to participate in the game and follow the rules for achieving the goal.

Werbach and Hunter (Werbach and Hunter, 2020) emphasize on the motivational function of gamification. They believe that gamification allows to activate people's learning activity. Moreover, gamification allows not only to create new games, but also to use their components for motivation. According to them, any game component can be used behind the game format to shape people's attitudes toward a certain environment.

Among the many applications of digital learning, Lifeliqe's main product, the Digital Science Curriculum, deserves special attention. This project (https: //www.lifeliqe.com/products/lifeliqe-app) focuses on the K-12 science curriculum, involving students in an open-ended interaction with STEM subjects. This interaction is enabled by interactive 3D models, more than 1,500 available in AR/VR, and a large number of animated videos. Thanks to this, users can use more than 1,000 prepared and ready-to-use activities with great efficiency. An important factor of handy use is that the available digital content is fully compatible with the main natural science textbooks used in the U.S. educational system.

One of the games that has become very popular among children and teachers is Minecraft (https: //minecraft.net). Minecraft is a virtual community where players can wander and interact with the world from blocks. Since its release in 2011 the game has become a cultural phenomenon. Over 200 million units were sold worldwide (data as of August 2020) (Chiang, 2020). Due to this success, a special version of Minecraft: Education Edition (Minecraft EDU, https://education.minecraft.net/) was released.

The Minecraft EDU educational game process is structured as follows: the teacher controls the virtual map where students play; the teacher can integrate lessons and assignments into this map. To prevent teachers from doing too much extra work, the game offers a rich library of previously created "worlds" as well as a collection of previously created lessons. The Minecraft EDU learning environment provides you with a wide range of options. For example, finding the perimeter of that particular area or distinguishing dinosaur remains from other digs. The teacher gives each student access to the buildings and places on the virtual map, thus coordinating his or her activities. This makes it possible to teach many people at the same time individually (Fedorenko et al., 2021).

Due to its flexibility, the game is easily adaptable to different educational subjects. For those who have decided to try Minecraft EDU in their classes, you may want to consider these suggestions:

- 1. Before the game, discuss together with students the rules of behavior in the virtual world. No one will be pleased if a classmate destroys a copy of the Arc de Triomphe you've been working on for a couple of sessions.
- 2. Confirm that your world is set up for the task of the lesson, before the start of his students.

For those teachers who are too busy, Minecraft EDU offers a ready-to-use starter kit of core school subjects (https://education.minecraft.net/ class-resources/lessons/).

- Make a paper copy of the instructions, assignments, questions, or suggestions for your students. This will help them concentrate on the task.
- 4. Allow time for an introductory lesson to show children the basics of the game: click on the menu, perform the main actions. It is better to combine beginners players with experienced, to facilitate learning. It's important to remember that this is just a game that helps us accomplish a certain task. Combine the secondary educational environment – books, textbooks with the Minecraft environment.
- 5. Take a break every 30 minutes. At this time, ask students to share their accomplishments or difficulties, as well as their feelings with the class.

Let's look at a few already existing Minecraft EDU worlds that can be used by teachers of various school subjects. The first world is called Tutorialworld and is a guide to the Minecraft world. In fact, it is necessary for those teachers and students who are not familiar with Minecraft, or for those who need to update their memory about the basics of the game and the means of controlling their actions, for example, in the creation of objects. To use this guide you only need to download the file .mcworld and import it into Minecraft: Education Edition. During the course of the course you will be accompanied by two guides -Jessica and Stephen. However, you should not forget that to get the best results, you should get the maximum amount of information, which you can get from the special knowledge base.

Fantastic-mr-fox's world is Mr. Fox's fantastic world, which gave us the idea of creating a fantastic world of our own. The use of this world in the teaching process has the following goals: to learn to recognize the meanings of individual words and whole phrases; to learn how to describe characters and events and to write stories based on the text, using the details found in the text itself. As one of the variants for the development of the teaching process itself, you can use the previous viewing of the final of the animated film "Fantastic Mr. Fox" with the subsequent analysis of the events and attempts to invent a continuation of the story. That is, students are encouraged to invent their own history of how the stars will live in the future, what kind of resources they will need, what kind of housing and its modifications they will need. "Practical" activity with the world of Minecraft Fantastic Mr. Fox is in the creation of housing for the

own character in the underground zone of the virtual construction. In addition, the students are encouraged to use these coordinates, create tunnels to three farms. A separate task is to write an article for the newspaper or a story about a day in the life of the inhabitants of the underground city.

The geography teacher will enjoy worlds with such biomes as the savannah, mountains, taiga, and the ocean, for example, the world of secret-reef. This world is dedicated to learning about coral reefs, their possible structure, the most varied forms, sizes and colors. A coral reef is composed of several assemblages of coral blocks. Each of these assemblages has a certain type. For example, dead corals. Moreover, these assemblages can be realized with different forms. But there is no rule that necessarily some structure must be composed of one type of corals. More often for everything on one reef there are several types of corals. Depending on the edition, there may be different types of assemblages.

The world of project-storytelling offers its own variant of teaching, which will be useful for teachers of literature and Ukrainian language. Its purpose is to encourage the development of creative skills in writing texts. In this world, where the "Tree of Souls" is located, you will find yourself in a rural area with stores and houses. The temples of the 4 elements (Fire, Water, Air and Earth), 11 theme factories and buildings, 35 vacant lots for students to create their own buildings or businesses, 6 mini islands with unique possessions – so many opportunities encourage each of the students to create their own story.

For biology teachers there is a lesson on elephant life and protection called watr-humans-andelephants. Interesting lesson lesson-hub-volume-i, where the author wrote that in this world there is a collection of educational activities you can engage in learning fractions or study the history of the United States in the mid-20th century. Physics teachers will find it interesting to study the properties of Redstone in the redstone-breakout and redstonelodge worlds. In this educational virtual world you can create traps, automated crop farms, and much more. World-of-chemistry and lessons in chemistrylessons will be of use to chemistry teachers. In these worlds there is a great table of chemistry elements of Mendeleev. Children are happy to learn the process of creation of air balloons. Teachers of informatics are interested in the program lessons/code-builderfor-minecraft-education-edition. In this course, it is necessary to use Code connection and be able to work with Scratch, CodeMake, Tynker, which also deals with 3D modeling and allows you to move the created objects in the Minecraft world.

The most interesting thing in Minecraft is the Redstone resource, which can be used to create logical schemes. Thus, the player can make their buildings interactive. The chains created with Redstone transmit energy from one unit to another, like electric chains, and the torch is needed to supply energy to the chain. If you install pins, buttons and other control elements and use them, the grader will be able to switch the lance from one position to another.

Minecraft allows players to create logical valves that perform simple logical operations. For example, by using two shafts, you can create an "AND" valve that lets "energy" through only when both levers are active, or an "OR" valve that lets "energy" through if either of the two levers are active. This system has a device of real electronics and Boolean logic, which allows to create complex mechanisms. Thanks to this feature the game can serve as a virtual constructor for programmers and engineers. The teacher can use not only ready-made lessons, but also create their own.

One of the most widespread and popular types of games are constructors, because they allow you to learn through the gameplay and discover the basics of technical skills. A variety of programs and web resources that allow you to look at the process of creating new devices or appliances are also the essence of the designers, if you look at them for the impact on the development of skills. The online resource Tinkercad (https://www.tinkercad.com) is a web tool that allows you to model objects of any complexity, which in the future can be built on a 3D printer. Tinkercad does not have any restrictions in the professional context. In particular, it is possible to create electronic circuits and connect them to the Arduino virtual circuit board simulator. These powerful tools make it much easier to learn how to design and program new circuits for those who are just starting to use Arduino.

We investigated two virtual learning environments, one created with Minecraft EDU and the other created with Tinkercad and their practical use on the topic "Logical operators".

According to the curriculum, the subject "Logic operators" is studied during the study of the subject "Informatics" (8th grade) and is related to such issues as the basics of algorithmization and programming, processing and storage of information. For a better understanding of the educational material is needed not only sources of information, but also working digital models. To implement these models on the basis of real mechanics or electromagnetic devices is quite difficult and ineffective, because the students, for the most part, will not be able to understand the existing analogues. In this case, it is better to use the virtual learning environment for everything, which is in fact a virtual world where most of today's children feel "at home".

Despite the large number of researches on gamification, this educational trend has not become popular in the Ukrainian education system, as evidenced by the survey conducted as part of the MoPED (Morze et al., 2018). Only 7.5% of lecturers, 18.6% of students, and 15% of teachers considered gamification as one of the three most important educational trends. The reasons for this result lie in the weak technical base of universities, partial awareness of the teaching staff in the information and communication sphere, the use of English language in most Internet platforms, the lack of methodological methods of using gamification, the lack of financial resources for paid subscriptions.

Partly this problem can be solved by training prospective teachers to use gamification technology in the educational process of the school within the framework of university educational programs. Training of future teachers for the use of serious games must be a process that is purposeful, planned, multilevel and multi-stage nature with the organized interaction of all participants in the educational process and aimed at mastering the knowledge and skills of using serious games in educational activities with constant monitoring of the achieved results. This makes it possible to assert the necessity to include in the vocational training of future teachers disciplines aimed at acquiring knowledge and skills in the field of gamification in the educational activities of schoolchildren.

Educational training programs for future teachers of mathematics, physics and informatics do not include educational components that form competencies for using serious games in professional activities. However, the elements of such training should be included in the educational components, taking into account the departmental spheres of professional training. The topic "Logical operators" is related to such educational components as mathematical logic, algorithm theory, discrete mathematics, programming, teaching methods, etc. The inclusion of elements of gamification in these educational components will form the basis for the further use of gamification in professional activities. For this purpose it is necessary to use every opportunity. Thus, in our opinion, such possibilities can include:

- visual materials for lectures (screenshots created in the game environment or in its background, product placement);
- practical tasks with elements of gamification (full or partial use of serious games);
- · independent work performed in game environ-

ments (additional points for use in the process of playing games);

• laboratory works on teaching methods (results are aimed at creating educational content and taking into account students' desire to use games).

Special attention should be paid to the training of future teachers for the knowledge and skills of using serious digital games in teaching in the teaching discipline Methods of teaching by branches of knowledge. It is necessary not only in theory but also in practice to study the stages of organization of educational activities on the basis of serious games, such as:

- to identify the target audience of the educational content;
- to set the instructional goal;
- to create the structure of the educational content;
- to identify the elements that can be gamified;
- to implement the selected elements through a digital game;
- to use the developed educational content;
- to perform monitoring of the educational process on the spot and at the end of the day;
- to analyze the results obtained.

During the training at the HEI, future teachers need to be prepared to use serious games based on the advantages and disadvantages of gamification. Advantages include: the ability to use distance learning (both individually and collectively); the ability to use a variety of multimedia tools and modern technology; strengthening the creative abilities of individuals, development of creative thinking, self-organization, self-control and self-discipline; less academic pressure, increasing independence in learning and selfdevelopment; increasing interest in learning through an interesting presentation of the material, which increases the level of mastering the material. The disadvantages of gamification are: the presence of deficit of communication during the training; the possibility of the emergence of irrational judgments; increased number of hours that people spend at the computer; possible technical failures in the work; the need for special training of teachers and a certain amount of time for learning new technologies; a considerable amount of time for the development and implementation of game technologies; high financial and time costs.

During our research we carried out an survey among the students of the State Higher Educational Institution "Donbas State Pedagogical University", who are studying on the educational programs of secondary education (mathematics), secondary education (physics), secondary education (informatics) or on their combination with other educational programs. Respondents were asked the following questions:

- 1. How do you feel about the use of any games in the educational process? (positive/negative)
- 2. Are you familiar with the concept of gamification? (yes/no)
- 3. How do you feel about limiting the use of mobile devices in educational institutions? (supportive/not supportive)
- 4. How do you feel about the increasing influence of mobile devices on children's education? (positively/negatively)
- 5. Do you support the teaching of children at school through computer games as a necessary element of the teaching process? (I do/I do not)
- 6. Do you support the training of adults through computer games as a necessary element for improving qualification and acquiring new knowledge and skills? (I approve/not approve)
- 7. Did you have your own experience of learning through the computer game? (yes/no)
- Do you know someone who has had some experience with learning through a computer game? (yes/no)
- Should the teaching of methods that use gamification in the teaching process be a necessary element of pedagogical education? (yes/no)
- 10. Are you ready to learn how to use games during your own professional activities? (yes/no)

A total of 102 students took part in the survey. The results of their responses are presented in table 1.

Question	yes / positive	no / negative
Question	/ support	/ do not support
Q1	85	17
Q2	76	26
Q3	22	80
Q4	63	39
Q5	74	28
Q6	55	47
Q7	19	83
Q8	24	78
Q9	63	39
Q10	69	33

The results show that most of the students are familiar with the concept of "gamification", are ready to learn by playing and to teach others. Most of the respondents are ready to learn new methods and support new forms and means of learning and do not understand the restrictions on the use of mobile devices that can be useful in educational activities. However, the number of those who have used or interacted with them is very small, although there is a tendency for the number of students who learn through games to grow.

As it was mentioned in the theoretical part of our research, we introduced elements of gamification into the educational disciplines of teaching methods. We have been offered the laboratory tasks of working out the educational scenarios of "Logical operators" in the Minecraft EDU environment (figure 1) and creating the educational project in the Tinkercad environment (figure 2). As a result of the group project, several teaching tasks were created and tested during the students' production practice at educational institutions.

The aim of the educational project in the Tinkercad environment is to demonstrate the principles of algebraic logic and the construction of tables of truth, which the students studied as part of this subject. However, this material was theoretical for them, because it did not create an idea of how it could be implemented in real life. Therefore, the main condition for the effectiveness of the lessons was to create conditions for a clear demonstration of the work of logical elements. The most optimal variant in this case is to conduct lessons with additional study of materials related to electronics and circuit engineering.

The students were given the task to independently create tables of truth for logical "AND" and "OR", design an informational model of the circuit in the Tinkercad environment, test it on the basis of the principle circuit, and, in case of a successful result, build this circuit on the breadboard.

After the scheme was created, it should be tested and the results of the work should be compared with the results of the tables of truth. The result of this project is the creation of a physical object as a proof of the correctness of the truth tables for logical elements. This was successfully achieved due to the fact that all subject areas were taken into account in the necessary proportions with the successful implementation of the interdisciplinary approach. The goal was successfully achieved and the results of their work resulted in an electrical scheme, which fully corresponded to the results of their calculations and reflected the principles of logical "AND" and "OR" operation.

With the help of the Tinkercad environment you can introduce students to the concept of relay-contact circuits. We explain, under the contact we mean the physical body, which can exist in only two states -"on", "off", which we will denote as 1 and 0 accordingly. Connecting contacts in series corresponds to the operation "conjunction", and connecting them in parallel corresponds to the operation "disjunction". By opening contact we denote a contact that does not conduct current, which corresponds to the negation operation of the algebra of statements. In other words, we show that the algebra of relay-contact circuits, which is isomorphic to the algebra of statements, is created. The analogous equivalences of the algebra of statements correspond to equivalences of the algebra of relay-contact schemes. Using examples, it can be shown that each of the investigated schemes is described by the corresponding formula of the algebra of relay-contact schemes. Thus, the practical significance of mathematical formulas is explained.

The students' reports on the internship and their own observations revealed a significant interest in the suggested tasks. Despite the fact that the topic "Logical Expressions. Changes of Logical Type. Logic operations" in the 8th grade belongs to the section "Programming" and is often difficult to understand, the material was studied at a high level. This is evidenced by the fact that further use of the knowledge gained during the study of the topic "Logical Expressions. Changes of Logical Type. Logic operations" in such topics as "Algorithms with branching" and "Cyclic algorithms" did not cause any difficulties in learning these new topics. Moreover, the homework assignment, which students often do without enthusiasm, was completed successfully and absolutely by all students without exception (boys and girls), indicating their interest in this educational tool. The survey of students showed that close to 18% of 8th grade students had active Minecraft accounts and participated in collaborative game sessions. This difference did not have much effect on the results of the tasks. Children who already have Minecraft game accounts completed the tasks quicker than their peers. However, the virtual learning environment created by the Tinkercad tools has caused more interest among children who are engaged in robotics. This can be explained by the fact that robotics has a more realistic realization than the imaginary world of Minecraft.

5 CONCLUSIONS

The development of computer technology and a general increase in digital literacy on the one hand and the complication of conditions for achieving education on the other (COVID-19) contribute to the search for new, more effective, ways and methods of learn-



Figure 1: Example of creating a logical operator in Minecraft EDU.



Figure 2: An example of creating a scheme for the logical operator "AND" in Tinkercad.

ing. Besides the use of electronic educational resources in the form of websites, blogs, channels, there is a need to implement learning through technologies that provide a high level of visualization in combination with the "interaction" with the physical environment. In other words, there is a need to teach using immersive technology that integrates the virtual environment with the physical environment and allows users to naturally interact with mixed reality, which in turn includes the augmented (AR) and virtual (VR)

realities.

Practical use of immersive technologies in the educational process is best combined with gamefication – the use of certain elements of games in nongame practices. So, in order to motivate specific forms of behavior in given conditions, game elements are integrated into real situations. The positive results of this synergy can be seen through such examples as the Lifeliqe – an educational program for the digital sciences (Digital Science Curriculum), the special version for teaching Minecraft: Education Edition, and an online resource Tinkercad – a web tool that allows you to simulate objects, which in the future can be built on a 3D printer.

During the practical part of the research it was found that most of the students are familiar with the concept of "gamification" and are ready to learn and use this methodology in their educational activities. At the same time, studying the topic "Logic Operators" in the Minecraft EDU environment and creating a teaching project in the Tinkercad environment showed a growing interest in mathematical logics and the quality of work results among the students as well as among the students.

So, we can conclude that such a relatively new form for Ukraine as gamefication of the educational process and educational processes in general is a promising tool to improve the quality of education for children, adolescents and adults, deepening the level of acquired knowledge, more effective use of skills and abilities, given the creation of a clear procedure for its implementation in the education system and following the key stages of the creation of a game mechanism. The review of methods of using digital game content, the creation of a library of digital electronic educational resources, methods of teaching the use of gamefication for further use are the new topics for further scientific research and development.

REFERENCES

- Addis, M. (2005). New technologies and cultural consumption – edutainment is born! *European Journal of Marketing*, 39(7/8):729–736. https://doi.org/10.1108/ 03090560510601734.
- All, A., Castellar, E. P. N., and Looy, J. V. (2016). Assessing the effectiveness of digital game-based learning: Best practices. *Computers & Education*, 92–93:90– 103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2015.10.007.
- Arbogast, M. A. (2019). Immersive Technologies in Preservice Teacher Education: The Impact of Augmented Reality in Project-Based Teaching and Learning Experiences. PhD thesis, University of Toledo, Toledo, Ohio, United States. http://rave.ohiolink.edu/etdc/ view?acc_num=toledo1553266590134835.
- Babkin, V. V., Sharavara, V. V., Sharavara, V. V., Bilous, V. V., Voznyak, A. V., and Kharchenko, S. Y. (2021). Using augmented reality in university education for future IT specialists: educational process and student research work. In Lytvynova, S. H. and Semerikov, S. O., editors, *Proceedings of the 4th International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education (AREdu* 2021), Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 11, 2021, volume 2898 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 255– 268. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2898/ paper14.pdf.

- Buckingham, D. (2013). Media Education: Literacy, Learning and Contemporary Culture. Wiley.
- Burov, O. and Pinchuk, O. (2021). Extended reality in digital learning: influence, opportunities and risks' mitigation. *Educational Dimension*, 5:144–160. https: //doi.org/10.31812/educdim.4723.
- Byun, J. H. and Joung, E. (2018). Digital game-based learning for K-12 mathematics education: A meta-analysis. *School Science and Mathematics*, 188(3-4):113–126. https://doi.org/10.1111/ssm.12271.
- Cayatte, R. (2014). Where Game, Play and Art Collide. In Garrelts, N., editor, Understanding Minecraft: Essays on Play, Community, and Possibilities, pages 203– 214. Mc-Farland & Company, Inc., Jefferson, NC.
- Chen, C.-H., Shih, C.-C., and Law, V. (2020). The effects of competition in digital game-based learning (DGBL): a meta-analysis. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 68:1855–1873. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11423-020-09794-1.
- Chiang, H. (2020). Minecraft: Connecting More Players Than Ever Before. https://news.xbox.com/en-us/2020/05/18/ minecraft-connecting-more-players-than-ever-before/.
- Clark, D. B., Tanner-Smith, E. E., and Killingsworth, S. S. (2016). Digital Games, Design, and Learning: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Review of Educational Research*, 86(1):79–122. https://doi.org/10. 3102/0034654315582065.
- DeVary, S. (2008). Educational Gaming: Interactive Edutainment. Distance Learning, 5(3):35–44.
- Fedorenko, E. G., Kaidan, N. V., Velychko, V. Y., and Soloviev, V. N. (2021). Gamification when studying logical operators on the Minecraft EDU platform. In Lytvynova, S. H. and Semerikov, S. O., editors, Proceedings of the 4th International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education (AREdu 2021), Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 11, 2021, volume 2898 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 107– 118. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2898/ paper05.pdf.
- Gallagher, C., editor (2014). *Minecraft in the Classroom: Ideas, inspiration, and student projects for teachers.* Peachpit Press.
- Gunter, G. A., Kenny, R. F., and Vick, E. H. (2008). Taking educational games seriously: using the RETAIN model to design endogenous fantasy into standalone educational games. *Educational Technology Research* and Development, 56:511–537. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11423-007-9073-2.
- Harteveld, C. (2011). Triadic Game Design: Balancing Reality, Meaning and PlayTriadic Game Design: Balancing Reality, Meaning and Play. Springer.
- Kazanci, Z. and Okan, Z. (2009). Evaluating English Language Teaching Software for Kids: Education or Entertainment or Both? *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology - TOJET*, 8(3):30–38. https: //eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ859490.
- Klochko, O. V. and Fedorets, V. M. (2022). Using immersive reality technologies to increase a physical education teacher's health-preserving competency. *Educa*-

tional Technology Quarterly, 2022(4):276–306. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.431.

- Kovalchuk, O. I., Bondarenko, M. P., Okhrey, A. G., Prybytko, I. Y., and Reshetnyk, E. M. (2020). Features of using immersive technologies (virtual and augmented reality) in medical education and practice. *Morphologia*, 14(3):158–164. https://doi.org/10. 26641/1997-9665.2020.3.158-164.
- McGonigal, J. (2010). Gaming can make a better world. https://www.ted.com/talks/jane_mcgonigal_ gaming_can_make_a_better_world.
- Mintii, I. S. and Soloviev, V. N. (2018). Augmented reality: Ukrainian present business and future education. In Kiv, A. E. and Soloviev, V. N., editors, Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, October 2, 2018, volume 2257 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 227–231. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2257/paper22.pdf.
- Mintii, M. M. (2023). Selection of pedagogical conditions for training STEM teachers to use augmented reality technologies in their work. *Educational Dimension*. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim.4951.
- Morze, N., Gladun, M., Vember, V., Buinytska, O., and Vasylenko, S. (2018). 3D mapping of Ukrainian Education System. Modernization of Pedagogical Higher Education by Innovative Teaching Instruments (MoPED) 586098-EPP-1-2017-1-UA-EPPKA2-CBHE-JP. https://drive.google.com/file/d/ 1FXwfrUrTcPI0J3FI9-UGS94osH_yp14P/view.
- Salen, K. and Zimmerman, E. (2004). Rules of Play: Game design fundamentals. The MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts & London, England.
- Semerikov, S. O., Vakaliuk, T. A., Mintii, I. S., Hamaniuk, V. A., Soloviev, V. N., Bondarenko, O. V., Nechypurenko, P. P., Shokaliuk, S. V., Moiseienko, N. V., and Shepiliev, D. S. (2022). Design methodology for immersive educational resources. *Educational Dimension*, 6:176–199. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.4716.
- Sergeev, S. F. (2013). Education in global informationcommunication and anthropogenic environment: new opportunities and limits. *Open Education*, (1(96)):32– 39. https://doi.org/10.21686/1818-4243-2013-1(96) -32-39.
- Shepiliev, D. S., Semerikov, S. O., Yechkalo, Y. V., Tkachuk, V. V., Markova, O. M., Modlo, Y. O., Mintii, I. S., Mintii, M. M., Selivanova, T. V., Maksyshko, N. K., Vakaliuk, T. A., Osadchyi, V. V., Tarasenko, R. O., Amelina, S. M., and Kiv, A. E. (2021). Development of career guidance quests using WebAR. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840(1):012028. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1840/1/012028.
- Sokolyuk, O. M. (2021). Immersion in modern educational environments. In Bykov, V. Y. and Vakaliuk, T. A., editors, "Immersive technologies in education": the collection of materials of the I Scientific and Practical Conference with International Participation, pages 143–148, Kyiv. Institute of Information Technologies and Learning Tools of NAES of Ukraine. https://lib.iitta.gov.ua/727353/.

- Tokac, U., Novak, E., and Thompson, C. G. (2019). Effects of game-based learning on students' mathematics achievement: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 35(3):407–420. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12347.
- Tokarieva, A. V., Volkova, N. P., Harkusha, I. V., and Soloviev, V. N. (2019). Educational digital games: models and implementation. *Educational Dimension*, 1:5–26. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim. v53i1.3872.
- Varina, H. B., Osadchyi, V. V., Goncharova, O. A., and Sankov, S. M. (2022). Features of gamification component introduction during the development of constructive strategies for overcoming youth life crises. *Educational Dimension*, 6:84–107. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.4454.
- Werbach, K. and Hunter, D. (2020). For the Win: The Power of Gamification and Game Thinking in Business, Education, Government, and Social Impact. Wharton School Press, second edition.
- Wouters, P., van Nimwegen, C., van Oostendorp, H., and van der Spek, E. D. (2013). A meta-analysis of the cognitive and motivational effects ofserious games. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 105(2):249–265. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031311.

Pre-Service Teachers' Preparation for Students' Computer Modeling Skills Formation (on the Example of GeoGebra)

Olena V. Semenikhina¹[®]^a, Marina G. Drushlyak¹[®]^b, Volodymyr V. Proshkin²[®]^c and Pavlo P. Mulesa³[®]^d

¹Makarenko Sumy State Pedagogical University, 87 Romenska Str., Sumy, 40002, Ukraine

²Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, 18/2 Bulvarno-Kudriavska, Str., Kyiv, 04053, Ukraine

³Uzhhorod National University, 3 Narodna Sq., Uzhgorod, 88000, Ukraine

{e.semenikhina, marydru}@fizmatsspu.sumy.ua, v.proshkin2017@gmail.com, pavlo.mulesa@uzhnu.edu.ua

- Keywords: Modeling Skills, Skills Development Methodology, Cloud Service, GeoGebra Cloud Service, Constructive Approach, Modeling, Interesting Curves, Math Problems, Professional Training.
- Abstract: Modeling as a leading method of scientific knowledge and a means of developing intellectual skills of young people. The students' modeling skills can be successfully formed under the condition of appropriate advanced teacher training, and therefore models and methods of pre-service teachers' preparation for students' modeling skills formation are in demand in modern society. The model of pre-service teachers' preparation for the formation of students' computer modeling skills is based on the consistent achievement of three goals: 1) mastering GeoGebra computer tools; 2) formation of pre-service teachers' skills to model (on the material of interesting curves in Analytical Geometry or word problems in secondary school); 3) formation of students' skills to select and/or formulate author's problems that can be solved by the modeling method in GeoGebra. The content on which the model is implemented was a special course on mastering GeoGebra and two experimental modules "Modeling interesting curves" and "Word problems modelling". According to the sign test the developed model allows successful pre-service teachers' preparation to develop students' computer modeling skills.

1 INTRODUCTION

Modern science operates with various methods, among which modeling is one of the most popular. This method allows you to move away from the object's ideal representation and use its analogue, which retains the most important characteristics that allow you to talk about the object properties after certain changes or influences on it.

The development of computer technologies has contributed not only to the revival of the modeling method, but also led to the emergence of specialized environments, where it became possible to model various objects (processes) based on a constructive approach. At the same time, the widespread use of smartphones and tablets that have access to the Internet has led to the emergence of cloud services, which also allow you to model objects of different nature. However, methods of using cloud services to develop modeling skills are just beginning to be developed and implemented, and therefore are not well established and need experimental confirmation.

2 LITERATURE REVIEW

The authors believe that the pre-service teachers' preparation for the formation of students' computer modeling skills is based on the perception of a constructive approach as the leading one in the formation of modeling skills.

The importance of developing constructive skills of youth is emphasized in the findings of Laksha (Laksha, 2011), Kononenko (Kononenko, 2010), Ivanina (Ivanina, 2010), and the formation of modeling skills by individual scientists is associated with the formation of research skills (Bilousova et al., 2022). Ziatdinov and Valles (Ziatdinov and Valles,

338

Semenikhina, O., Drushlyak, M., Proshkin, V. and Mulesa, P.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 338-348 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS - Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3896-8151

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9648-2248

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9785-0612

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3437-8082

Pre-Service Teachers' Preparation for Students' Computer Modeling Skills Formation (on the Example of GeoGebra).

2022) think that "while the model is being constructed, the student can stumble upon a pathway that results in a better understanding of the connection present amidst the model world and reality". Flehantov et al. (Flehantov et al., 2022) performed a study to investigate the effectiveness of GeoGebra in gaining and cultivating knowledge on mathematical modeling. Marciuc et al. (Marciuc et al., 2016) emphasize, that use of GeoGebra offers a specific, constructivist, teaching approach that allows students to independently build their own models while offering guidance.

Analysis of the problem shows that with the advent of specialized mathematics software its solution has focused not so much on understanding the algorithms of elementary constructions, but on the ability to use computer tools and the ability to visualize the result. The latter, in particular, is emphasized in the findings of Bilousova and Zhytyenyova (Bilousova and Zhytyenyova, 2017). For example, Lenchuk and Franovskyi (Lenchuk and Franovskyi, 2016) consider it possible to expand the visual presentation of information in the field of planimetry by reproducing the real state of operation of its objects, resorting, as a priority, to visual methods of activity based on constructive modeling. Regarding the ability to use tools, it should be noted the emergence of cloud services, including specialized services.

Different aspects of educational using of cloud technologies and services are examined in the studies of (Shakeabubakor et al., 2015; Smith et al., 2014). For example, Shakeabubakor et al. (Shakeabubakor et al., 2015) explore advantages of using cloud technologies in research, such as availability of various tools and applications for analyses and collecting data, for managing and organizing references, for communication with peers and experts, the absence of constraints, the access to cloud resources from anywhere any time that has an active Internet connection, etc. (Smith et al., 2014). They offer the approach to applying of cloud services for enhancing the productivity of university research activities, increasing competitiveness and flexibility of educational institutions.

Shyshkina and Popel (Shyshkina and Popel, 2013) consider the problems of implementation of cloud technology services in the educational process, describe the current state of development and use of cloud technology services in educational institutions and analyze the content of educational and scientific components of cloud-based educational environment.

The use of specialized software for modeling mathematical objects is mentioned in (Sheng, 2014). Rubio et al. (Rubio et al., 2015) emphasize that

by fusing modeling and digital technologies through simulation, there are obtained learning environments that promote the development of knowledge and skills of scientific thinking in students. The teaching of students to model is discussed in (Çekmez, 2020). Author discuss the pedagogical value of a real-world phenomenon selected for a modelling activity, followed by the implementation sequence of the activity in the classroom. Çekmez (Çekmez, 2023) believes that pre-service mathematics teachers should be familiar with the potential use of computers in mathematical modelling.

Currently, cloud versions of well-known environments with mathematical modeling capabilities are available, including SageMath. We can also add GeoGebra cloud service to this list, because it "can be considered a very creative tool for mathematical modeling" (Ziatdinov and Valles, 2022).

Experience in using GeoGebra cloud service (visualization of mathematical objects; organization of not only analytical but also empirical search for answers in determining individual characteristics of mathematical objects; organization of home computer experiment) (Drushlyak et al., 2021a; Hrybiuk, 2020; Semenikhina et al., 2019b,a) allowed us to consider GeoGebra as means for formation of students' modeling skills.

However, the analysis of scientific findings confirmed the lack of established models of pre-service teachers' preparation for the formation of students' modeling skills based on GeoGebra, which determined **the purpose of our study**: to develop and experimentally test the model of pre-service teachers' preparation for the formation of students' computer modeling skills (based on GeoGebra).

3 MATERIAL AND METHODS

Experimental base was Makarenko Sumy State Pedagogical University. The total number of respondents is 51 people (students, pre-service mathematics and computer science teachers).

The model of pre-service teachers' preparation for the formation of students' computer modeling skills is based on the consistent achievement of three goals: 1) mastering GeoGebra computer tools; 2) formation of pre-service teachers' skills to model (on the material of interesting curves in Analytical Geometry or word problems in secondary school); 3) formation of students' skills to select and/or formulate author's problems that can be solved by the modeling method in GeoGebra.

To test the effectiveness of the developed model, a

pedagogical experiment was organized, which lasted 3 years (2019-2021) and was conducted among preservice mathematics and computer science teachers.

The model was implemented using the free GeoGebra software (https://www.geogebra.org) in the study of the disciplines "Dynamic Mathematics Software" for pre-service mathematics teachers and "Computer Mathematics Systems" for pre-service computer science teachers (2nd year). Within the discipline "Methods of teaching mathematics" and "Methods of teaching computer science" (3rd year) were introduced experimental modules "Modeling of interesting curves" (10 hours – 2 lecture hours and 8 laboratory hours) to achieve the second goal; "Modeling of word problems" (6 laboratory hours) to achieve the third goal.

Testing the effectiveness of the methodology involved two tests: after mastering GeoGebra and after studying the second module.

Students were offered two typical problems for modeling the Conic sections by its geometric definition (the problems differed from each other in the initial conditions, for example, the distance between the foci was different or one of the foci was at a specific point in a given coordinate system, etc.) and motion word problem.

The solution of the problems was evaluated by the following indicators (table 1, 2).

Since the results of the tests were dependent and each time provided for the accumulation of marks, the

Table 1: Indicators of the formation of modeling skills (Module "Interesting Curves").

No	Indicators	Marks
1	Ability to take into account the analyti-	1
	cal relationship between the elements	
2	Ability to take into account the geomet-	1
	ric relationship between the elements	
3	Ability to use Locus	1
4	Ability to use Trace	1
5	Ability to demonstrate the change of the	1
	curve shape when changing the input	
	data	
6	Ability to construct a model visually	1
	correct (location, color, size and style of	
	geometric objects)	
7	Ability to add dynamic text to study nu-	1
	merical characteristics	
8	Ability to write an algorithm for con-	1
	structing a model	
9	Ability to reproduce the steps of the al-	1
	gorithm to construct the model	
10	Ability to interpret the result of a com-	1
	puter experiment	

340

Table 2:	Indicators	of the	e formation	of	modeling	skills
(Module '	'Word Prob	lems")).			

No	Indicators	Marks
1	Ability to analyze the problem	1
2	Ability to establish a relations between	1
	data and questions	
3	Ability to use Slider	1
4	Ability to use Dynamic Text	1
5	Ability to use Button	1
6	Ability to use Check Box	1
7	Ability to use Image	1
8	Ability to construct a model visually	1
	correct (location, color, size, etc.)	
9	Ability to write an algorithm and repro-	1
	duce the steps of the algorithm to con-	
	struct the model	
10	Ability to interpret the result of a com-	1
	puter solution	

sign test was used. The number of respondents, whose total score decreased ("–"), did not change ("0") and increased ("+"), was fixed.

In accordance with the experiment purpose and the sign test, the null hypothesis was formulated: the developed model does not provide successful preservice teachers preparation for the formation of students' computer modeling skills. Then the alternative hypothesis was "the author's methodology contributes to the formation of such skills".

The constructed hypotheses define the one-sided sign test for checking the dependent samples. According to the decision-making rule (Grabar and Krasnjanskaja, 1977) the null hypothesis of inefficiency / effectiveness of the author's methodology was accepted or rejected.

4 CONSTRUCTIVE APPROACH

The constructive approach is characterized by the fact that acquaintance with the properties of concepts begins with constructive activities for their "discovery" and assimilation with a gradual transition to definitions and logical proofs. This, in particular, simplifies the perception of the Geometry course, makes it more accessible, while raising the scientific level through the intensification of educatees' research activities.

The use of the constructive approach contributes to the fact that the activity is manifested in the gradual transition of actions for the construction of objects from the executive level (is characterized by external regulation), then to reproductive (is marked by internal regulation of actions in the construction of known structures), then to the applied level (using the method of construction), and, finally, the creative level (involves the construction of new objects) (figure 1) (Tukholko, 2018).



Figure 1: Constructive approach activity levels.

We consider constructive tasks to be one of the means of implementing a constructive approach. Many authors use the term "constructive tasks" in a sense identical to construction problems. However, the peculiarities of the constructive approach require the use for its implementation and other tasks, the solution of which requires the implementation of a particular constructive activity. Therefore, for example, Lisimova (Lisimova, 1997) considers constructive tasks as tasks for construction, imaging, measurement, geometric design and structural-geometric modeling. Dalinger (Dalinger, 2012) considers constructive tasks as "problems in the process of solving which reveal the material conditions of geometric figures. Their purpose is to identify the essential features of ideas that are formed through the material conditions of their origin".

Constructive tasks can be a base for establishing new properties of figures (concepts formation), for the consolidation of knowledge, for repetition, control, intensification of research activities. "The peculiarity of constructive tasks is that they can be solved both logically and figuratively or visually effective" (Dalinger, 2012).

When solving constructive tasks, there is a productive activity that motivates to think independently (methods of constructing have to be developed independently), and not reproductive activity, which is often not an independent mental process, but is a repetition of known steps (Dalinger, 2012).

Mastering the system of knowledge and skills can take place on two levels: constructive and analytical. The main feature of the constructive level of mastery of the material is its visual and constructive awareness. This is manifested:

- in the ability to recognize objects that belong and do not belong to the content of this concept, give examples, demonstrate the existence of the studied figures by construction;
- in the knowledge of their most essential properties and the ability to apply known properties in solving problems.

The constructive approach provides "points of support" for Geometry study at a higher abstract level, which is characterized by the ability to formulate definitions of concepts, statements and prove already in formal language, rather than the language of geometric images.

5 MODEL OF PRE-SERVICE TEACHERS' PREPARATION FOR STUDENTS' COMPUTER MODELING SKILLS FORMATION (BASED ON GEOGEBRA)

The model of pre-service teachers' preparation for the formation of students' computer modeling skills (based on GeoGebra) is based on the perception of a constructive approach as leading in the formation of modeling skills and requires the use of certain forms, methods and teaching purpose (figure 2). Let's dwell on them in more detail.

The purpose of implementing the developed model is pre-service teachers' preparation for students' computer modeling skills formation.

The content on which the model is implemented was a special course on mastering GeoGebra and two experimental modules.

Module "Modeling interesting curves"

Nowadays, their study in the classical course of Analytical Geometry is possible in three ways:

- analytical description and further study of curves

 at first analytical (parametric, implicit, explicit)
 equations, usually of conics, are given and then
 they are investigated;
- study of curves as locus with a given property at first the geometric definitions of curves are given, on the basis of which their analytical equations are written (as a rule, these are conics, conchoid of Nicomedes, limaçon of Pascal, strophoid, cissoid of Diocles, lemniscate of Bernoulli, Cassini oval);
- study of curves generated in the kinematic way (as the trajectory of a point), usually cycloidal curves (figure 3), folium of Descartes, witch of Agnesi, logarithmic spiral.

Module "Word problems modelling"

Among other things, the general method of solving word problems includes knowledge of the solving steps. The solving steps include: analysis of the problem text; translation of the text into the mathematics



Figure 2: Model of pre-service teachers' preparation for students' computer modeling skills formation.



Figure 3: Construction of a hypocycloid using the Locus tool.



Figure 4: Word problem modelling based on GeoGebra (https://www.geogebra.org/m/fmupxx5a).
language (modeling); establishing the relationship between the input data and the problem question; drawing up a problem solution plan; implementation of the solution plan; checking and evaluating the problem solution.

The essence of the method of modeling in solving word problems is to translate the text of the problem into the language of visual models of various kinds: drawings, diagrams, graphs, tables, symbols, formulas, equations, etc. The translation of the text into the form of a visual model allows you to identify properties and relationships that are often difficult to detect when reading the text (figure 4).

Learning forms of the model are visualization lectures and laboratory classes.

Among the teaching methods used problem method, modeling method and netnography.

GeoGebra, constructive tasks and instructional materials are learning means.

The model of pre-service teachers' preparation for students' computer modeling skills formation is implemented in three stages:

- 1) mastering GeoGebra computer tools;
- pre-service teachers' preparation to modele (on the material of interesting curves in Analytical Geometry or word Math problems in secondary school);
- formation of students' skills to select and/or formulate author's problems that can be solved by the modeling method in GeoGebra.

In the first stage, GeoGebra computer tools are mastered: students get acquainted with the possibilities of using GeoGebra to solve different classes of math problems. Particular emphasis should be placed on tools of geometric constructions and sliders, thanks to which it is possible to change the constructed structure in an interactive mode.

The methodology of forming the skills to model interesting curves is as follows: the teacher on a common online platform informs about constructive approaches to the construction of various curves, which were studied in ancient times (the netnography method). He briefly tells about how such constructions were done (compass and ruler, one compass, two compasses, one or two rulers, etc.), or gives an example of practically oriented problems that are solved using interesting curves. After that, the teacher demonstrates one of the described constructions in GeoGebra cloud service, and then asks students to write an algorithm for the above construction (the problem method).

Then the teacher asks students according to the algorithm (provided to each student) to reproduce the construction and demonstrate the result, to analyze errors, and if not, to analyze possible limit cases. After that, students are offered the definition of curves generated in mechanical way together with the algorithms of their construction in the cloud service; students must model this type of curve according to the existing algorithm. Then together with students, the task of the following type is carried out: algorithms of curves construction are offered and after their construction, students need to characterize properties of the modeled curves, to give them definitions or kinematic characteristics. After completing this type of task, students are offered only the definition of the curves or their kinematic characteristics, and they must model the curve themselves.

The methodology should be briefly described as follows. Step 1 – the teacher offers an example of a curve model through the definition (the teacher step by step models the curve), and students must independently compile an algorithm for constructing the model. Step 2 – the teacher offers a description-definition of the curve and provides a ready-made algorithm according to which students model the curve independently. Step 3 – the teacher offers an algorithm for constructing a curve model, and students need to characterize the properties of the curve or give its definition based on the results. Step 4 – students are offered definitions of curves that they have to model them.

More details about the methodology in (Drushlyak et al., 2021b).

The method of the second stage described by us differs from the traditional one, as the latter usually involves only step 2 and step 4, which does not allow students to understand the algorithms involved in building a model, to develop the ability to compare step-by-step ideas and steps. There is also no practice of qualitative analysis of the algorithm (which is provided by step 3 and which is supported by the "stepby-step playback service" in GeoGebra). This is what we consider to be fundamentally important for the effective learning of modeling skills and what makes the GeoGebra service possible.

Mastering the module "Modeling of word problems" involves providing students with instructional materials with examples of solving word problems in GeoGebra. At the first lesson, students must complete tasks on modeling word problems of the school mathematics course on the model and independently. For the second lesson, students have to prepare 10 word problems, up to 5 of which provide instructional materials for solving in GeoGebra. Students must exchange developed didactic materials, solve problems and return them for testing. For the third lesson, stu-



Figure 5: The problem of proportional division (author Nataliia Kishchuk, https://www.geogebra.org/m/bhw6xbcp).



Sa = va*t_i =40 km (b) Visual model of the motion problem.

Figure 6: Visual models.

dents should check the tasks performed by another student and analyze the errors, which should be presented to the general public for discussion.

We will describe in more detail the method of teaching this module.

The method of forming the skills to model word problems is as follows: the teacher on the cloud service https://www.geogebra.org/ introduces students with examples of visual models for word problems (the method of netnography, figure 5). This briefly dwells on how such constructions were carried out (using Slider, Text, Button, Check Box). After that he demonstrates one of the described constructions in GeoGebra cloud service (figure 4), and then asks students to prescribe the algorithm of the given construction (the problem method).

Then the teacher asks students according to the algorithm (provided to each student) to reproduce the construction and demonstrate the result, to analyze possible errors.

Briefly, the technique should be described as follows:

Step 1 – the teacher offers an example of a visual model of a word problem, and students must independently create an algorithm for a model constructing;

Step 2 – the teacher offers a ready-made algorithm by which students independently reproduce the visual model;

Step 3 – students are offered a type of word problems (motion problems, work problems, alloy mixtures problems, etc.), they select the appropriate problem and independently construct a visual model.

It should also be noted that in the conditions of distance learning, GeoGebra service allows the demonstration of shared constructions and the ability to work with models at any time from anywhere.

Student	Mark 1	Mark 2	Student	Mark 1	Mark 2	Student	Mark 1	Mark 2
1	10	10	18	13	12	35	17	17
2	13	11	19	11	16	36	12	13
3	12	12	20	9	10	37	11	13
4	5	9	21	8	8	38	11	13
5	14	14	22	9	11	39	9	12
6	6	7	23	9	11	40	9	13
7	9	10	24	9	9	41	9	11
8	10	12	25	9	9	42	9	11
9	12	12	26	7	16	43	7	10
10	12	11	27	15	15	44	9	12
11	11	12	28	13	14	45	7	10
12	11	15	29	14	15	46	8	9
13	6	6	30	11	11	47	13	11
14	5	9	31	11	12	48	15	14
15	7	12	32	11	12	49	16	16
16	9	9	33	12	12	50	12	13
17	9	11	34	7	9	51	12	11

Table 3: The results of students' tests.

6 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS OF RESULTS

The effectiveness of the developed model was tested on the basis of two tests. Students had to solve problem 1 (for example, to build a curve for which "A point and a line, the distance between which is equal to *a* are given. A line is drawn through an arbitrary point *X* of the line and the point. The points at a distance *b* from point *X* are marked. Find the locus of such points", figure 6 (a)) and problem 2 (for example, to build a visual model for the problem "From points *A* and *B*, the distance between which is 210 km, car and truck moved to meet each other. The speed of a car is 80 km/h, and a truck – 60 km/h. What will be the distance between the machines in half an hour?", figure 6 (b)) before the experiment and after the experiment.

Assessment of the solutions of problem 1 was carried out through the assessment of skills: take into account the analytical and geometric relationship between the elements; use the Locus and Trace tools; successfully visualize the model; add dynamic text to demonstrate numerical characteristics; develop an algorithm for model constructing; reproduce the steps of the algorithm for the model constructing; interpret the result of a computer experiment (in more detail in table 1). Assessment of the solutions of problem 2 was carried out through the assessment of skills: the ability to analyze the text of the problem; establish a relationship between the input data and the question; use Slider, Text, Button, Check Box, Image; successfully visualize the model; to develop an algorithm for a model constructing; reproduce commands of the model construction algorithm; check and evaluate the computer solution of the problem (more details in table 2).

The results of the tests are presented in table 3.

These marks were used to determine the number of respondents whose total score decreased ("–"), did not change ("0") and increased ("+") (table 4).

Table 4: Dynamics of scores based on the results of students' tests

Dunamics of sacros	Number of
Dynamics of scores	respondents
Negative, "–"	6
Without changes, "0"	13
Positive, "+"	32
Number of changes, $n = "-"+" + "$	38

7 CONCLUSIONS

1. The development of information technology has actualized the perception of modeling as a leading method of scientific knowledge and a means of developing intellectual skills of young people. Thus for the decision of many mathematical problems the method of modeling which is realized on the basis of the constructive approach is used.

- The students' ability to model can be successfully formed under the condition of appropriate advanced teacher training, and therefore models and methods of pre-service teachers' preparation for students' modeling skills formation are in demand in modern society.
- 3. The developed model of pre-service teachers' preparation for students' modeling skills formation (based on GeoGebra) is based on the perception of a constructive approach as a leader in the development of intellectual skills of young people. Its implementation is based on a special course on mastering GeoGebra and two experimental modules "Modeling curves" and "Modeling word problems", mastering which involves the use of appropriate forms (visualization lectures and laboratory classes), methods (problem, modeling and netnography) and training means (GeoGebra, constructive tasks and instructional materials).
- 4. The model of pre-service teachers' preparation for students' modeling skills formation is implemented in three stages: 1) mastering the GeoGebra computer tools; 2) formation of pre-service teachers' skills to model; 3) formation of students' skills to select and/or formulate author's problems that can be solved by the method of modeling in GeoGebra.
- 5. The developed model is focused not only on the pre-service teachers' preparation for students' modeling skills formation with GeoGebra, but also thanks to the role-playing game in the third stage of its implementation allows awareness of their own mistakes in future professional activities and typical mistakes of students.

Further scientific research is needed to implement the methodology: in the training of teachers of natural specialties (biology, chemistry, geography); in the conditions of mobile training; based on other specialized software.

REFERENCES

Bilousova, L. I., Gryzun, L. E., Lytvynova, S. H., and Pikalova, V. V. (2022). Modelling in GeoGebra in the Context of Holistic Approach Realization in Mathematical Training of Pre-service Specialists. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 1: AET*, pages 499–510. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10. 5220/0010925700003364.

- Bilousova, L. I. and Zhytyenyova, N. V. (2017). Functional approach to the use of technology of visualization for intensification of learning process. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 57(1):38–49. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v57i1.1525.
- Dalinger, V. A. (2012). Metodicheskie osobennosti obucheniia uchashchikhsia planimetrii v stereometricheskoi srede [Methodological features of teaching students planimetry in a stereometric environment]. Sovremennye naukoemkie tekhnologii, (7):59–61. https://top-technologies.ru/ru/article/view?id=30743.
- Drushlyak, M. G., Semenikhina, O. V., Proshkin, V. V., Kharchenko, S. Y., and Lukashova, T. D. (2021a). Methodology of formation of modeling skills based on a constructive approach (on the example of geogebra). *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 8:458–472. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.300.
- Drushlyak, M. G., Semenikhina, O. V., Proshkin, V. V., Kharchenko, S. Y., and Lukashova, T. D. (2021b). Methodology of formation of modeling skills based on a constructive approach (on the example of geogebra). *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 8:458–472. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.300.
- Flehantov, L. O., Ovsiienko, Y. I., Antonets, A. V., and Soloviev, V. N. (2022). Using Dynamic Vector Diagrams to Study Mechanical Motion Models at Agrarian University with GeoGebra. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 1: AET*, pages 336– 353. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/ 0010924200003364.
- Grabar, M. I. and Krasnjanskaja, K. A. (1977). Application of mathematical statistics in pedagogical researches. Nonparametric methods. Pedagogika, Moscow.
- Hrybiuk, O. (2020). System of dynamic mathematics of GeoGebra as a means of supporting general and special abilities of students in the process of research learning: practical work experience. *Physical and Mathematical Education*, (2(24)):37–51. https://doi.org/10. 31110/2413-1571-2020-024-2-006.
- Ivanina, T. A. (2010). Rol konstruktivnoi deiatelnosti v razvitii rebenka [The role of constructive activity in the development of the child]. Bulletin of the Krasnoyarsk State Pedagogical University, (2):124–128. https://cyberleninka.ru/article/n/ rol-konstruktivnoy-deyatelnosti-v-razvitii-rebyonka.
- Kononenko, N. V. (2010). Peculiarities of development of pupils' mental process structural component in the field of geometry. Scientific notes of the Trans-Baikal State University. Series: Physics, mathematics, engineering, technology, 94:128–131. https://tinyurl.com/ 2r33up2n.
- Laksha, H. I. (2011). The formation of constructive mathematics skills of pupils in teaching algebra in 7 – 9 grades. PhD thesis, Minsk. https: //elib.bspu.by/bitstream/doc/505/1/%D0%90%D0% B2%D1%82%D0%BE%D1%80%D0%B5%D1% 84%D0%B5%D1%80%D0%B0%D1%82%20% D0%9B%D0%B0%D0%BA%D1%88%D0%B0.pdf.

- Lenchuk, I. G. and Franovskyi, A. T. (2016). Computer modeling of problems of plane geometry: the inversion method. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 56:88–106. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v56i6. 1485.
- Lisimova, O. A. (1997). Sistema konstruktivnykh zadach kak metod izucheniia planimetrii v 7 klasse [The system of design tasks as a method for studying planimetry in grade 7]. PhD thesis, Herzen State Pedagogical University of Russia, Saint Petersburg.
- Marciuc, D., Miron, C., and Barna, E. S. (2016). Using GeoGebra software in the teaching of oscillatory motions. *Romanian Reports in Physics*, 68(3):1296– 1311. https://rrp.nipne.ro/2016_68_3/A35.pdf.
- Rubio, L., Prieto, J., and Ortiz B, J. (2015). La matemática en la simulación con geogebra. Una experiencia con el movimiento en caída libre. *IJERI: International Journal of Educational Research and Innovation*, (5):90–111. https://www.upo.es/revistas/index.php/ IJERI/article/view/1586.
- Semenikhina, E., Drushlyak, M., Bondarenko, Y., Kondratiuk, S., and Dehtiarova, N. (2019a). Cloud-based Service GeoGebra and Its Use in the Educational Process: the BYOD-approach. *TEM Journal*, 8(1):65–72. https://doi.org/10.18421/TEM81-08.
- Semenikhina, O. V., Drushliak, M. G., and Khvorostina, Y. V. (2019b). Use of GeoGebra cloud service in future math teachers' teaching. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 73(5):48–66. https://doi.org/ 10.33407/itlt.v73i5.2500.
- Shakeabubakor, A. A., Sundararajan, E., and Hamdan, A. R. (2015). Cloud Computing Services and Applications to Improve Productivity of University Researchers. *International Journal of Information and Electronics Engineering*, 5(2):153–157. https://doi. org/10.7763/IJIEE.2015.V5.521.
- Sheng, J. (2014). Study on Mathematical Modeling Software MATLAB Teaching in Higher Vocational Colleges. International Journal of Technology Management, (6):127–130. https://qikan.cqvip.com/Qikan/Article/Detail?id= 49483643&from=Qikan_Article_Detail.
- Shyshkina, M. P. and Popel, M. V. (2013). Cloud based learning environment of educational institutions: The current state and research prospects. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 37(5):66–80. https: //doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v37i5.903.
- Smith, A., Bhogal, J., and Sharma, M. (2014). Cloud Computing: Adoption Considerations for Business and Education. In 2014 International Conference on Future Internet of Things and Cloud, pages 302–307. https://doi.org/10.1109/FiCloud.2014.54.
- Tukholko, L. L. (2018). Development of Constructive Activity of X-XI-Grades Pupils When Teaching Geometry. PhD thesis, Belarusian State University, Minsk. https://elib.bsu.by/bitstream/123456789/ 194893/1/%D0%90%D0%B2%D1%82%D0%BE% D1%80%D0%B5%D1%84%D0%B5%D1%80% D0%B0%D1%82%20%D0%A2%D1%83%D1% 85%D0%BE%D0%BB%D0%BA%D0%BE.pdf.

- Ziatdinov, R. and Valles, J. R. (2022). Synthesis of Modeling, Visualization, and Programming in GeoGebra as an Effective Approach for Teaching and Learning STEM Topics. *Mathematics*, 10(3):398. https: //doi.org/10.3390/math10030398.
- Çekmez, E. (2020). Using dynamic mathematics software to model a real-world phenomenon in the classroom. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 28(4):526–538. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2019.1674882.
- Çekmez, E. (2023). An example of the use of GeoGebra for simulation: Buffon's needle problem. *International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology*, 54(1):132–140. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 0020739X.2022.2034063.

Comparative Study of the Support of Academic Clouds Based on Apache CloudStack and Proxmox VE Platforms

Vasyl P. Oleksiuk^{1,2}^o^a, Olesia R. Oleksiuk³^o^b and Oleg M. Spirin^{2,4}^o^c

¹Ternopil Volodymyr Hnatiuk National Pedagogical University, 2 M. Kryvonosa Str., Ternopil, Ukraine ²Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the National Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine,

9 M. Berlynskoho Str., Kyiv, 04060, Ukraine

³Ternopil Regional Municipal Institute of Postgraduate Education, 1 V. Hromnytskogo Str., Ternopil, 46027, Ukraine

⁴University of Educational Management, 52A Sichovykh Striltsiv Str., Kyiv, 04053, Ukraine

 $olek syuk@fizmat.tnpu.edu.ua, \ o.olek syuk@ippo.edu.te.ua, \ oleg.spirin@gmail.com and a state stat$

Keywords: Cloud Computing, Academic Cloud, Apache CloudStack, Proxmox VE, Google Workspace.

Abstract: Cloud technologies provide users with efficient and secure tools for data management, computing, storage and other services. The article analyzes the projects for the introduction of cloud technologies in education and identifies the main advantages and risks in creating a cloud infrastructure for the university. Such startups contribute to the formation of a new paradigm of education. It involves the virtualization of education, the introduction of mobile and blended learning, ie the combination of cloud computing with modern learning concepts. In this paper, we compare some aspects of deployment and supportin our experience in improving the academic cloud for the training of a bachelor's degree in computer science. This is through the integration of the Proxmox VE platform into existing computing power by deploying the Proxmox VE system. In the study, we reveal some technical and methodological aspects of the organization of the educational process using this corporate cloud platform. The scheme of the organization of physical components of cloud infrastructure (nodes, virtual networks, routers, domain controller, VPN-server, backup system of students' virtual machines) is given. All characteristics of this environment and possibilities of their application are studied.

1 INTRODUCTION

Today, many universities are creating their own cloudbased learning environments (CBLE). Although there is currently no single concept for CBLE, scientists understand it as similar concepts (Glazunova and Shyshkina, 2018; Korotun et al., 2020; Bykov et al., 2020; Vakaliuk, 2021; Spirin et al., 2022). In general, it can be understood as an IT system consisting of cloud services and providing learning mobility, group collaboration of teachers and students to achieve educational goals (Lytvynova, 2018).

As the analysis of the literature shows, many university CBLE are usually deployed according to the hybrid model (Shyshkina, 2016; Markova et al., 2019; Vorozhbyt, 2017; Vakaliuk et al., 2021). One of the most important components in the structure of this environment is the private academic cloud (Glazunova,

2015). It is now deployed according to the most productive IaaS service model. A hybrid cloud is a cost-effective way to solve the problem of insufficient computing resources. The private academic cloud allows the university to meet the peak demand of students and faculty through a combination of local infrastructure and one or more public clouds (Wang et al., 2020).

Various commercial and free platforms are used in universities to build private academic clouds (AL-Mukhtar and Mardan, 2014; Ilin et al., 2016; Amiel et al., 2020). A productive method of deploying private academic clouds is to use solutions from leading cloud vendors such as Google, Microsoft, Amazon and others. Google offers researchers, universities, faculties, faculty and students grants and loans for teaching and research. In particular, leading European educational institutions can access Google Cloud within the Internet2 project (Internet2, 2023). Unfortunately, these opportunities are not currently available for our country (Ukraine). For example, Microsoft Educator Grant is a program designed specif-

Comparative Study of the Support of Academic Clouds Based on Apache CloudStack and Proxmox VE Platforms.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 349-361 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0789-0272

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5659-4774

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9594-6602

ically to provide access to Microsoft Azure to college and university professors teaching advanced courses. As part of this program, faculty teaching Azure in their curricula are awarded subscriptions to support their course (Microsoft, 2023). In general, these programs are very useful and productive. However, they are usually provided on a temporary basis and therefore cannot completely replace the cloud-based IT infrastructure of universities and colleges.

Among the free platforms for cloud infrastructure deployment, CloudStack, Openstack, Proxmox VE, and Eucalyptus are the most suitable. Each of them has its advantages and disadvantages. There are many attempts to compare these platforms. The authors of articles comparing such platforms state (Microsoft, 2023; Fylaktopoulos et al., 2016):

- OpenStack has large community, offers wide integration with storage, network and compute technologies, but is too complex to deploy and configure;
- Eucalyptus the longest-standing open source project is banking on its very tight technical ties to Amazon Web Services (AWS). The platform is configurable, but not very customizable;
- Proxmox is open source platform. It can provide easy way to deployment cloud infrastructure. But it is not very suitable as a platform for a private cloud in the CLBE;
- CloudStack has well rounted GUI, can provide an advanced cloud infrastructure, but it is very GUI centric built on single Java core.

We have been deploying a private academic cloud based on the Apache CloudStack platform for the past 8 years. For the last 2 years we have been deploying an academic cloud based on Proxmox VE as well. Apache CloudStack deployment is housed in the infrastructure building. It contains a management server, 4 hosts, 4 primaries and 1 secondary storage. We decided to use hypervisors instead of containers. This is because the former are more versatile. In addition, the use of hypervisors is safer than containers. To save computing resources, we have installed primary storage on the hosts. We used VLANs to distribute traffic across individual networks. These networks can be allocated to groups or individual students.

We have so far rented one refurbished physical server based on a used Intel Xeon processor with 32 Gb of RAM for deployment of Proxmox VE. This was also done because Ukraine is currently at war and it is difficult to say whether servers will be available as they are in university buildings. In general, our private academic cloud provides (Fylaktopoulos et al., 2016):

- Development and Execution of student virtual machines;
- Aggregation of computing resources of several hosts;
- VM migration between repositories;
- VM connections to each other through guest networks;
- Launching VMs within other VMs;
- Integration with Active Directory;
- Distribution of student accounts according to their academic groups.

There are many advantages and disadvantages to using Apache CloudStack and Proxmox VE as an academic cloud platforms. There are some problems happens in the process private academic cloud using.

The purpose of the article is to compare some tasks in maintenance of academic clouds based on Apache CloudStack and Proxmox VE platforms.

The following tasks are required to achieve the goal of the research:

- 1. Analysis of maintenance tasks of academic clouds in foreign and Ukrainian universities.
- Definition of maintenance tasks of academic clouds based on Apache CloudStack and Proxmox VE platforms.
- 3. Describe and compare methods for solving these tasks.

We used a set of research methods such as theoretical (analysis of scientific, technical literature, experience; generalization of experience of using cloud computing in education) and empirical (modelling, designing, developing of scripts).

2 THE PRIVATE CLOUDS MAINTENANCE TASKS

As the experience of cloud infrastructure maintenance shows, this is an ongoing process. It requires constant attention from engineers, network system administrators, teachers, and student involvement. Scientists describe the experience of deploying an academic private cloud, including determining the performance of hypervisors and storage (Spirin et al., 2018). The biggest challenge for researchers was the transition from a prototype of an academic cloud to a productive one. In this context, they addressed the problem of load balancing, elastic hypervisors, security threats. Storage backup tasks are also important for such clouds.

Rao and Nayak (Rao and Nayak, 2014) offer the concept of backup to cloud storage. They say that both the cloud provider and the cloud consumers have to take comprehensive steps to ensure appropriate configurations, hardening of the CBLE, appropriate design and development, appropriate interoperability, and adequate testing.

Rusyn et al. (Rusyn et al., 2019) have developed an effective method of deduplication and distribution of data in cloud storage during the creation of backups. Researchers have developed an intelligent system for such deduplication and tested it.

Tian et al. (Tian et al., 2020) also studied cloud data backup. The authors propose a scheme for data separation and backup and encryption. They state that their own scheme resolves the conflict between data security and the survivability of the IT infrastructure with the help of encrypted backup.

The Apache CloudStack cloud infrastructure redundancy model developed by Paul Angus is very useful for our study. It creates a vendor agnostic API and UI in CloudStack for end users. The author's Framework abstracts the specifics of solutions, such that through the use of a plugin, a 3rd party solution can deliver backup and recovery solutions (Khmelevsky and Voytenko, 2015).

Here are some tasks for servicing our sample private academic cloud:

- 1. Making changes to the cloud infrastructure.
- 2. Creating and verification of the academic cloud performance model.
- 3. Designing and realization an academic clouds' backup model.

Let's consider these tasks in more detail.

3 MAKING CHANGES TO THE CLOUD INFRASTRUCTURE

Maintenance of our developed cloud infrastructure involves the implementation of tasks such as:

- changing the parameters of the components of the cloud infrastructure – zones, clusters, hosts, storages;
- creating and routing of virtual networks for individual groups or students;
- creating and modifying templates of compute offering services that determine the performance of VM;

- creating and modifying network offering service templates such as VPN, DHCP, DNS servers, Firewall, Load Balancer and others;
- creating projects for VM sharing by students.

This task also involves creating student and faculty accounts. We authenticate users of the academic cloud from a centralized database – LDAP-directory (Microsoft Active Directory). This approach makes it possible to use single registration data to access all hybrid IT infrastructure services. We used Cloud-Stack domains to distribute students according to academic groups. Adding users to them is possible in automatic (using links at the first successful authentication) and manual mode. Unfortunately, due to the incompatibility of our users' logins with the Apache CloudStack platform, we had to choose the manual mode. To reduce the technical work involved in finding LDAP directory entries, we have created several queries to filter user account data.

Proxmox VE also provides authentication based on the LDAP directory (Active Directory). To do this, cloud administrator need to specify some parameters such as socket to connect to the domain controller, user data for reading data from the directory, some user attributes, filters to restrict access.

To log in to the system, the administrator can add it manually, for example using the web interface. However, it is possible to automatically synchronize the directory with the *pveum realm sync <realm>* command. Like Apache CloudStack domains, Proxmox VE can create groups. For these groups, cloud administrator can define privileges for access to cloud infrastructure.

Apache CloudStack users automatically have access to their own VMs. This is good for students to complete individual tasks. The creation and providing permission to VMs isn't a trivial task in the Proxmox VE Platform. We offer two approaches to do this. The first involves the administrator creating copies of VMs and giving students access to these VMs. Permissions may vary depending on the operations to be performed with these VMs. For example, cloud administrators can provide students with administrative access to such VMs. Another approach involves students cloning their own machines from the templates. It requires providing some rights. They are displayed as a table 1.

Creating permissions that match the last row of the table requires defining *<students_login>* - *<VM_ID>* pairs. Finally, permission is granted through the command:

pveum acl modify /vms/<WM_ID> <username>
 -role Administrator

Permissions	Path	Propagate
PVEAuditor	/	+
PVEDatastoreUser	/storage	+
PVETemplateUser	/pool	+
PVEVMUser	/nodes	+
Administrator	/vms/VM_ID	—

Table 1: Permissions are required to clone student VMs from templates.

Later, using a script, we obtained a list of users from the LDAP directory and set the appropriate IDs for them. It is important that when cloning VM, students must indicate the ID provided by the teacher for VM.

3.1 The Academic Cloud Performance Model

Performance calculations are needed to understand the number of VMs that can run in the cloud. It is also needed to understand the computing performance of these machines, which is required to create their templates.

Both platforms use CPU and memory redundancy depending on the number of VMs. VE allows cloud administrators to do this more flexibly when running containers instead of VMs.

When creating the service offering templates, we compared the characteristics of the hardware hosts (CPU frequency, RAM) with the minimum guest OS requirements and the number of students. To do this, we used the inequality:

$$FRQ = N_{st} * F_{OS} < FRQ_{hosts},$$

where FRQ – the total frequency of VMs processors; N_{st} – amount of students; F_{OS} – the minimum frequency is recommended for the guest OS; FRQ_{hosts} – total frequency of hardware host processors. The last value can be found from the ratio:

$$FRQ_{hosts} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (N_{ci}F_{ci}),$$

where N_{ci} – the number of cores in the processor of the *i*-th host, F_{ci} – CPU frequency of the *i*-th host.

Unlike Apache Cloudstack, Proxmox VE does not have performance templates. Appropriate parameters must be set for each VM during its installation. If a student clones a VM from a template, he/she cannot change its performance settings. Instead, when using the VM, these parameters are available for change. However, the last two formulas are also valid for the Proxmox VE platform. In order to compare the computing capabilities of the studied cloud platforms, we will consider the hardware characteristics of the respective servers (table 2).

Table 2: Main characteristics of academic cloud's hardware.

N	N _{ci}	F _{ci}	MEM _{ci}	FRQ _{hosts}
Host0	4	3200	16384	12800
Host1	4	3100	24576	12400
Host2	4	3100	16384	12400
Host3	4	3700	32768	14800
CloudStack	16		90112	52400
Proxmox VE	8	3500	28000	31980

As table 2 shows, the private academic cloud based on Apache CloudStack has a total frequency of about 50GHz. And the total amount of memory is about 90 Gb.

Unfortunately, we do not have the equipment to deploy identical academic clouds based on the Cloud-Stack and Proxmox VE platforms. However, we can assume that the performance of the physical server with Proxmox VE should be equal to the computing power of the two servers with CloudStack (Host0 and Host2). Therefore, in the CloudStack deploymengt, we disabled Host1 and Host3. During the testing, Host1 stayed online as a management server in the CloudStack infrastructure. But it didn't run any VMs.

Regarding the frequency, two other opposite factors should be taken into account:

- table 2 shows the base frequency, and processors can run faster thanks to Turbo-Boost technology;
- hosts run other software (OS, databases, management servers, hypervisors). It also consumes resources.

It is well known that the frequency of a modern processor is not constant. It can increase or decrease depending on the mode of operation of the CPU. That's why we use Processor Base Frequency in the tables and formulas above. Processor Base Frequency describes the rate at which the processor's transistors are open and close. The KVM hypervisor measures this processor frequency. It is software for launching and executing virtual machines in the Apache Cloud-Stack and Proxmox VE platforms.

Similarly, to determine the required amount of memory we used the inequality:

 $MEM = N_{st} * MEM_{OS} < MEM_{hosts}$

3.2 Verification of the Academic Cloud Performance Model

To check computation performance of both clouds we loaded the same VMs on two clouds until their CPU load was 90%. There were several types of test virtual machines (table 3). These types corresponded to the VM templates that were created for the various training courses. For example, templates LinuxGUI, WindowsWs were used in the course of operating systems, AdvLinux in the course of computer networks, WindowsSrv in the course of administration. The Linux OS with CLI worked as Proxmox VE containers and as regular VMs in CloudStack. We use the EVE-NG platform based on AdvLinux template for modelling in the study of computer networks. It launches its own VMs inside the main Apache Cloud-Stack VM (Spirin et al., 2019). Such nested virtualization requires more resources.

Table 3: Some templates types of our academic cloud's performance.

Template	Fos	MEM _{OS}	N_{st}	FRQ	MEM
LinuxCLI	500	500	20	10000	10000
LinuxGUI	1500	2000	20	30000	40000
WindowsWs	1000	2000	20	20000	40000
WindowsSrv	1500	2000	20	30000	40000
AdvLinux	2500	4000	20	50000	80000

The number of VMs that were loaded is shown in table 4.

Table 4: Comparison of the number of VMs running on Apache CloudStack and Proxmox VE platforms.

Template	CloudStack	Proxmox VE
LinuxCLI*	50	120
LinuxCLI	112	120
LinuxGUI	18	19
WindowsWs	20	22
WindowsSrv	16	16
AdvLinux	12	8

Comparing the data in table 2 and table 3, we can conclude that our deployments of both platforms provides about 50 VMs with Linux with command line interface (CLI), more than 40 VMs with Windows Workstation, about 35 VMs with Windows Server and OC Linux with GUI (see table 4). This test showed that the number of virtual machines loaded on Proxmox VE is slightly higher than in Apache CloudStack (except for the template AdvLinux).

To verify the performance model, we performed academic cloud testing. The experiment was performed according to the method described in the article (Algarni et al., 2018). The authors' model used traditional benchmarking systems to measure system performance and individual components like CPU, memory, cache and disk performance. Like the previous case, we compared the performance of two CloudStack hosts and one Proxmox VE. To test performance of clouds we have created 16 identical VMs (8 on Apache CloudStack and 8 on Proxmox VE). They had equivalent 2-core processors, the same amount of RAM (2 Gb) and the size of disks (14 Gb). The same Ubuntu server 20.04 x64 was installed on all these VMs.

We have performed real-tasks tests such as:

- Ab is a tool for benchmarking Apache web server. Ab was used for measuring of time taken for the system to respond to a request from a web client. This can estimate the response efficiency of each VM by measure the number of static web page requests a server can fulfil in one second.
- The LZMA benchmark measures the amount of time consumed in compressing a file using its own compression algorithm.
- John the Ripper is a tool for measure CPU throughput. In this benchmark, the efficiency of the process management of the hypervisors is evaluated. This benchmark is a common decipher application which uses diverse ciphers such as DES and MD5.
- IOzone benchmark is used to evaluate performance of file system. IOzone generates and assesses many file operations such as read, write and random read.

Ab was used for measuring of time taken for the system to respond to a request from a web client. This can estimate the response efficiency of each VM. Our script have completed 100000 requests with concurrency level 1000 simultaneous requests. The results of all test available by the URL https://drive.google.com/ file/d/1m-3oS7cOWyCFUVeBe8t4EnHOcll6ApyX. Shared table contains the designations of VMC for VMs Cloudstack and VMP for Proxmox VE ones. The average values of ab-test are given in the table 5.

Table 5: Ab benchmark results.

Platform	Requests per sec	Transfer rate, Kb/s
CloudStack	2115,68	95150,89
Proxmox VE	1787,62	80437,84

In the Apache benchmark, CloudStack performance is 18% higher in terms of both the number of requests and transfer rate. A slightly smaller advantage of Apache CloudStack (near 7%) was shown by the LZMA test. We performed John the Ripper benchmarks for the case of coding according to DES 128 and MD5 algorithms. Because the test was run on a single CPU core, the "real" and "virtual" results were the same. We analyzed the results for the single-salt case. They indicate (table 6) that Apache CloudStack has significantly advantage under Proxmox VE (38% and 54% for DES 128 and MD5 algorithms).

Table 6: John the Ripper benchmark results

Platform	MD5 hash	DES 128 hash
CloudStack	14526,13	61055,88
Proxmox VE	10503,75	39524,38

Similar results were obtained in the performance test of virtual HDDs (figure 1).

Therefore, it is reasonable to predict that the performance of the virtual machines themselves will be higher on the Cloudstack platform. It is hoped that students will feel this in their academic research work. However, another important factor in this assessment is the functionality and usability of the interface. The Proxmox VE console interface is more advanced than Apache Cloudstack. This fact, together with a good mobile version of the platform allows you to work with the cloud from different devices.

The previous test concerned the performance of the virtual machines themselves. We decided to investigate the performance of hardware servers (hosts) with their running hypervisors. This test will allow us to evaluate the efficiency of the use of computing resources by cloud platforms. To do this we used the formula to rank hypervisors' performance proposed by Reddy and Shyamala (Reddy and Shyamala, 2016). According to it, the hypervisor's score scores of its CPU and memory.

 $Score_{HSI} = Score_{HCPU} + Score_{HMEM}$

Each of these scores is calculated as the sum of the CPU and RAM performance of any VM in the cloud.

$$Score_{HCPU} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} CP_{VMi}$$
$$Score_{MEM} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} MP_{VMi}$$

The CP_{VMi} and MP_{VMi} values are calculated as follows

$$CP_{VMi} = \alpha_{CPU} \times \frac{ACPU_{VMi}}{HCP_{VMs}}$$

and

$$MP_{VMi} = \alpha_{MEM} \times \frac{AM_{VMi}}{HMP_{VMs}},$$

where α_{CPU} and α_{MEM} are CPU and memory weight factors; $ACPU_{VMi}$ and AM_{VMi} are available CPU and memory resources of VMi; HCP_{VMs} and HMP_{VMs} are all VMs relative CPU(RAM) utilization with respect to host.

The formulas for calculating the values HCP_{VMs} and HMP_{VMs} are as follows

$$HCP_{VMs} = \frac{TotalCPU - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ACPU_{VMi}}{Total_{CPU}} \times 100,$$

$$HMP_{VMs} = \frac{TotalMEM - \sum_{i=1}^{n} AMEM_{VMi}}{Total_{Memory}} \times 100$$

where $ACPU_{VMi}$ and $AMEM_{VMi}$ are available CPU(RAM) of VMi.

Alpha coefficients are the ratio of processor resources (memory) of one VM to all VMs. Since we have all 8 machines the same, for each platform $\alpha_{CPU} = \frac{1}{8}$ and $\alpha_{MEM} = \frac{1}{8}$.

We applied the above formulas and obtained the following values for the studied platforms (table 7).

Table 7: The obtained scores of Cloudstack and Proxmox VE platforms.

	AB	lzma	iozone
Score_CloudStack	77,24	68,55	349,29
Score_Proxmox	79,03	87,18	284,85

Thus, we can state that the score of both platforms based on the Apache benchmark test is almost the same (the difference is about 1.5%). Proxmox VE showed the best results in the lzma test (about 27%). The opposite result of the advantage of Apache Cloudstack is observed in the iozone test. However, we have doubts about this case, because the disk subsystems of the two platforms are significantly different (Proxmox VE uses a software raid, and Cloudstack generally contains two separate physical hosts with HDDs). Diagrams of the obtained ratings are shown in the figure 2.

So, based on the verification of the cloud platform performance model, we can say that the Apache Apache Cloudstack and Proxmox VE have roughly equal ratings. In naked academic clouds, the performance of 2 physical Apache Cloudstack hosts is approximately equal to the performance of one Proxmox VE host. In this case, other factors of the cloud platform at the university will be decisive.

4 DESIGNING AND REALIZATION AN ACADEMIC CLOUDS' BACKUP MODEL

The backup model depends on which platform will be stored. There are general backup principles that are valid for both platforms. However, the technical implementation will be different. We had to develop scripts for the Apache Cloudstack. Proxmox VE has powerful built-in backup tools.

Experience shows that the task of backup is very important and time consuming. This is primarily due to the large amounts of student VMs data in the private academic cloud. Large companies develop a dis-



Figure 1: Comparison of the results of iozone test.



Figure 2: Comparison of the Apache CloudStack and Proxmox VE scores.

aster recovery plan in this case. But in educational institutions, IT services work to perform such tasks. Therefore, they need to develop a model, identify potential risks in the IT infrastructure, consider and implement an appropriate backup system.

The development of a backup strategy requires the definition of the main goals and objectives of the backup, tools and regulations. In general, the problem of back-up is relevant for almost all IT infrastructures. When choosing a backup method, the following criteria are important (Angus, 2019):

- backup time to the storage;
- recovery time from backup;
- the number of copies that can be stored;
- risks due to inconsistency of backups, imperfection of the backup method, complete or partial loss of backups;
- overhead costs: the level of load on the servers

when performing copying, reducing the speed of service response, etc;

• the cost of renting all services and storage.

Currently, there are 3 main backup schemes such as:

- *Full*. This type of backup creates a complete copy of all data.
- *Incremental*. In this case, only files that have changed since the previous backup are copied. The following incremental backup only adds files that have been modified since the previous backup.
- *Differential*. The backup program copies each file that has changed since the last full backup. Differential copying speeds up the recovery process (Paulsen, 2011).

To save material costs, we use almost no server equipment and powerful and high-speed network storage in our academic cloud installation. Instead, we decided to use cloud services. For example, the Google Drive service within the Google Workspace for Education Fundamentals package offers virtually unlimited disk space (Oleksiuk et al., 2017). The disadvantage of such a repository is the significant time to upload or download backups. This speed will be limited by the bandwidth of the university's Internet channel. The latter requirement can be considered acceptable, as our implementation of the academic cloud is used primarily for training rather than for production.

To use Google Drive in our own scripts, we need to use the API of this service. This interface is accessible through Google Developers Console, a software developer service. First you need to create your own project. Credentials were created to access this project. We have chosen to access OAuth 2.0 accounts. OAuth is an open authorization standard that allows a user or application to give and access data without having to enter a login and password. Access tokens are used for this purpose. Each access token provides access to a specific client to specific resources and for a specified period of time (Oleksiuk et al., 2017). After adding a new project, we created new data for authentication, selected the type of application (desktop) and activated the appropriate API (Google Drive API).

Because templates and ISO images in the Cloud-Stack infrastructure do not change, but only new ones are added, we chose the incremental method to back up the secondary storage. Its implementation was based on the use of a ready-made utility for synchronizing storage files. Unfortunately, there is currently almost no such high-quality utility like Google backup and Sync, which is developed for OC Windows. We analysed several tools such as:

- Gdrive (grive2). Google Drive client with the support for the new Drive REST API and partial sync. It can't provide continuously wait for changes in file system or in Google Drive to occur and upload.
- Gnome-online-accounts. It is system utility located within system's settings in Gnome GUI. But it can only be executed in a graphical interface.
- GoSync is a Google Drive client with GUI support for Linux. It is designed under the GNU General Public License. The client is not perfect enough, for example, it has automatic regular synchronization every 10 minutes.
- Google-drive-ocamlfuse is a FUSE (Filesystem in Userspace) filesystem for Google Drive, written in OCaml. FUSE is a free module for the kernel

of Unix-like operating systems. It allows developers to create new types of file systems available for users to mount without the root privileges of Google Drive on Linux (Yallop et al., 2018).

We used the latest utility. Here are its main features:

- full read/write access to ordinary files and folders;
- read-only access to google docs, sheets, and slides;
- multiple account support;
- duplicate file handling;
- · access to trash;
- storing Unix permissions and ownership;
- support symbolic links;
- streaming through read-ahead buffers.

Some problem was that the utility requires authorization using a browser in a graphical interface. Therefore, we used an alternative authorization mode. Since we already had our own OAuth2 client ID and client secret, we specified them in the command:

google-drive-ocamlfuse -id
 12345678.apps.googleusercontent.com
 -secret abcde12345

As the command tries to start the browser on the server where there is no GUI we formed the necessary URL as it is written in the documentation on Google Developers Console. After going to this address, we received a verification code. This code gave access to folder synchronization to the Google Drive.

For security reasons, we decided to sync not the Apache Cloudstack secondary storage itself, but a copy of it from the backup drive. So, we first synchronized local folders with the command:

```
rsync -azvh /export/secondary
    /export/sync_secondary/arch_cloud
```

where */export/secondary* – the secondary storage of Apache CloudStack infrastructure;

/export/sync_secondary/arch_cloud – the local copy of this storage.

```
To synchronize the
```

/export/sync_secondary/arch_cloud folder, the following command has been added to the server task scheduler:

google-drive-ocamlfuse

/export/sync_secondary

It runs every time a server with secondary storage is loaded.

A backup of all databases is required to restore the Apache CloudStack cloud infrastructure. These are such databases:

- *Cloud.* It contains all objects of cloud infrastructure.
- *Cloud_usage*. A database that contains generalized data on resource consumption by the end user. It is used to obtain statistics and compile reports.

Since the backup of these databases is quite small, we decided to store all backups in the cloud storage (Backup_Database task, figure 3). The traditional database for the Apache CloudStack platform is MySQL. The main utility for backing up MySQL databases is mysqldump. Its syntax involves entering a login name and password. Because the shell script in Linux is written as a plain-text file, it will contain the name of the user's password (usually the root) of the database. This is a potential security risk for the entire server. In order not to leave open the data for authorization of the database user, we used the "login path" option. A "login path" is an option group containing options that specify which MySQL server to connect to and which ac-count to authenticate as. To create or modify a login path file, we have used the mysql_config editor utility. In general, the commands for creating and archiving a database dump are as follows:

```
/usr/bin/mysqldump
--login-path=DailyBackup -u root -A >
$BACKUP_DIR/"_cloud_all_""$date_daily"".sql"
```

The variable *\$date_daily* contains the current date of the archive. This allows you to see the date of archiving directly in the file name.

```
tar -czf
$BACKUP_DIR/"archive_cloud_all_$date_daily.sql.tgz"
$BACKUP_DIR/"archive_cloud_all$date_daily.sql"
```

To upload the files to the server, we used a readymade script from GitHub. Here is its launch:

```
upload.sh "arch_cloud/DB" "$entry" $upl_file
folder_ID "application/x-gzip"
```

where

- *arch_cloud/DB* folder for uploading files;
- *\$entry* full path to the file;
- *\$upl_file* file name to download;
- *folder_ID* Google Drive folder ID;
- *application/x-gzip* file MIME-type.

A special refresh_token token is required to provide long-term access of the up-load.sh script to Google Drive. It can be obtained by curl-calling a URL such as: client_id=<client_ID>&
client_secret=<client_secret>&
redirect_uri=urn:ietf:wg:oauth:2.0:oob&
grant_type=authorization_code"

In general, the scheme of backuping of Apache Cloudstack infrastructure is shown in figure 3.

Performing backup of primary repositories (Backup_Primary task (cloud0,cloud1,cloud2,cloud3)) has some difficulties. An analysis of Internet sources, management server databases, and storages files showed that the Apache CloudStack platform does not typically use full copies of disk templates for each VM. This means that full backups should be made to reduce the risk of inconsistencies in primary repository archives.

Additionally, it is necessary to prepare a cloud platform, stopping all VMs. Of course, students need to form an understanding of the need to turn off their own VMs. However, in practice this is not always possible. Therefore, it is necessary to stop all VM programmatically, by means of a script. This can be done using the API features of the Apache Cloud-Stack platform. Using API functions allows the developer to access data about cloud infrastructure objects. It is also possible to change the state of these objects. To generate a query that contains API functions, you must specify:

- URL of the management server;
- Service construct "api?". It contains the path to a certain API-function, and indicates the beginning of the parameters that are transmitted using the GET method.
- Command. It is the name of the API-function.
- ApiKey. The key, that can be generated for each user account.
- Additional query options separated like GET queries using the "&" character.
- Response format (JSON or XML).
- Signature of the request.

Regardless of the protocol (HTTP or HTTPS) used to access the Apache Cloud-Stack API functions, the request must be signed. This allows the platform to confirm that the request was sent from a trusted accounting request that has the authority to execute the appropriate command. To sign a request, the developer must have an API key and an account secret key. They are generated by the platform administrator (OAuth, 2020).

Here is our bash-script to stop all working users' VMs

mysql --login-path=DailyBackup -D cloud -e "SELECT uuid FROM vm_instance WHERE

curl -silent "https://accounts.google.com/o/\
 oauth2/token" --data "code=<access_token>&



Task: Backup_Secondary

Figure 3: Apache Cloudstack infrastructure backup scheme.

Crea	ate: Bac	kup	Job				\otimes
Nod	e:		Debian-1010	I-buster- $ imes$ $ imes$	Send email to:		
Storage: nfs Day of week: Saturda		nfs	~	Email	Always	~	
		Saturday	~	notification: Compression: Mode:	ZSTD (fast and good)	~	
Star	Start Time:		00:00 ~		Snapshot	~	
Sele	ction mo	de:	Exclude sel	ected VMs 🛛 👻	Enable:		
	ID 个	N	lode	Status	Name	Туре	
	245	C)ebian-101	stopped	CT245	Ixc	
	246	Ľ)ebian-101	stopped	CT246	lxc	
	247	C)ebian-101	stopped	∨M254	qemu	
	248	Ę)ebian-101	stopped	CT248	Ixc	
	249	E)ebian-101	running	VM249	qemu	
	250	۵)ebian-101	running	mikrotik	qemu	

Figure 4: Proxmox VE backup job.

```
type = \"User\" and state = \"running\";"
> uuid.txt
sed -i '1d' uuid.txt
```

```
while read LINE; do php -q
    cloudstackapi.php "$LINE";
    done < uuid.txt</pre>
```

In the first line we receive in a file from a database the list of user VM with a running state. The next command clears the first line because it does not contain a VM. The third line runs the cloudstackapi.php script. It generates a signature and calls the stopVirtualMachine API.

Another way to back up the current state of the VM is to create their snapshots. The Apache Cloud-Stack platform provides 2 types of images (Rusyn et al., 2019):

• VM Snapshot - a hypervisor-driven point-in-time

image of a virtual machine's disks. The exact mechanism of this is dependent on the hypervisor.

 Volume snapshot – a point-in-time image of a specific volume. The process usually involves taking a VM snapshot and then copying the required volume to secondary storage and the deleting the VM snapshot.

This approach requires additional space on the secondary storage or data coping on the user's local disk. Such images can be taken by students from the web interface of the Apache CloudStack platform. Performing this action and turning off their own VMs after the end of their use are important components of ICT competence of the student.

However, experience shows that not all students perform these actions. Therefore, these are also worth automating with scripts. Among the API functions of the Apache Cloudstack platform are relevant (Sneddon, 2017).

Another task of backing up our academic cloud is to estimate the time required to upload data to the cloud storage. Currently (June 2022) the sizes of our academic cloud storage is approximately as follows:

- primary250 132 Gb;
- primary251 70 Gb;
- primary252 126 Gb;
- primary253 88 Gb;
- secondary 110 Gb.

Since we make a full copy of the primary storage, we need to download about 400 GB to the cloud storage each time. Let the speed of the Internet channel at night be 80 Mbps (10 Mbytes per second). Then it will take 11 hours to download 400*1024 MB. That's a lot. Therefore, we balanced Internet access through 2 providers. At the time of backup, our router routes hosts cloud0 and cloud1 through the first provider, and cloud2 and cloud3 through the second. In this case, a full backup takes about 6 hours. This time is also significant, but is acceptable.

Another disadvantage of our scheme is the significant time required to download backups from the Google Drive service. However, this time will be significant if the management or storage servers fail. This means that we must back up the entire OS of the management server to fast local area network storage.

As mentioned earlier Proxmox VE provides many tools, including storage and backup types. To back up all cloud infrastructure, it is advisable to install and configure Proxmox Backup Server. It is an enterprise backup solution, for backing up and restoring VMs, containers, and physical hosts. By supporting incremental, fully deduplicated backups, Proxmox Backup Server significantly reduces network load and saves valuable storage space. Unfortunately, we do not have the physical resources to install a separate Proxmox Backup Server. Nevertheless, we have performed some tasks from the cloud infrastructure backup model.

Stop Students' VMs. There is no need to use Proxmox API to perform this task. We already have student VM_ID (used them to establish access rights). To stop these VMs on the Proxmox host, we executed the commands qm shutdown VM_ID or pct stop container_ID. It is advisable to use such commands to enable (disable) student VMs and containers at the beginning (end) of classes.

VM Reservation. We have set up a scheduled task to back up the cloud infrastructure to an NFS share. It is connected to our university local network via an OpenVPN tunnel. This allows us to save the condition of all machines.

Standard Proxmox VE tools allow cloud administrator to perform this task flexibly. The following backup options are available (figure 4):

- host (node) to be copied;
- storage for which to perform job;
- date and time of the task;
- backup objects such as some VMs, all VMs, all except some VMs;
- compression method (LZO, GZIP, ZSTD, without compression)
- copy mode (snapshot, suspend, or turn off VM)
- email notification about the status of the job or errors during its execution

The advantage of this method is the reservation of working VMs "on the fly". Like Apache CloudStack we use VMs backup from Proxmox VE cloud infrastructure into Google Drive storage.

5 CONCLUSIONS

The private academic clouds should be used in cloud based learning environment, as they are necessary for education of future ICT specialists. Despite the availability of educational grants from leading cloud vendors, many universities are deploying their own private academic clouds. Cloud administrators have a lot of work to do to maintain and support these academic clouds. Among these tasks, one of the most important is to ensure the productivity and elasticity of the cloud. Solving them will allow them to load the maximum number of VMs in the cloud infrastructure. In this study, the performance of academic clouds based on Apache Cloudstack and Proxmox VE was evaluated. Despite some assumptions in comparison, we can state that the platforms have approximately the same performance and therefore can provide the same amount of VM for students. This is because they both use the same KVM hypervisor. As our experience has shown, the process of cloud deployment based on Proxmox VE is technically simpler and faster. This is even though we have installed Apache CloudStack many times and Proxmox VE for the first time.

An important task in the maintenance of the academic private cloud is the backup of its components. To solve it effectively, you need to use different backup schemes such as full, incremental, differential. To save data, it is advisable to use both cloud and local storage. In any case, administrators should determine how long it will take to build and restore the entire cloud infrastructure. It is also advisable to use the API functions of the cloud platform. This will automate some maintenance tasks.

To back up Apache Cloudstack, we had to use API and develop our own tools. In any case, this process requires large repositories and fast networks. If the first requirement is not met, it is advisable to use cloud storage. We did so and copy the backups to Google Drive. Backup of Proxmox VE infrastructure is technically simpler. To ensure the full functionality of this process, it is advisable to install a Proxmox Backup Server. All of the above factors indicate that it is time to migrate our academic cloud to the Proxmox platform. Maybe for a while we'll use them both together.

REFERENCES

- AL-Mukhtar, M. M. A. and Mardan, A. A. A. (2014). Performance Evaluation of Private Clouds Eucalyptus versus CloudStack. *International Journal of Ad*vanced Computer Science and Applications, 5(5). https://doi.org/10.14569/IJACSA.2014.050516.
- Algarni, S. A., Ikbal, M. R., Alroobaea, R., Ghiduk, A. S., and Nadeem, F. (2018). Performance Evaluation of Xen, KVM, and Proxmox Hypervisors. *International Journal of Open Source Software and Processes (IJOSSP)*, 9(2):39–54. https://doi.org/10.4018/ IJOSSP.2018040103.
- Amiel, T., ter Haar, E., Vieira, M. S., and Soares, T. C. (2020). Who Benefits from the Public Good? How OER Is Contributing to the Private Appropriation of the Educational Commons. In Burgos, D., editor, *Radical Solutions and Open Science: An Open Approach to Boost Higher Education*, Lecture Notes in Educational Technology, pages 69–89.

Springer Singapore, Singapore. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-981-15-4276-3_5.

- Angus, P. (2019). CloudStack Backup and Recovery Framework. https://www.slideshare.net/ShapeBlue/ cloudstack-backup-and-recovery-framework.
- Bykov, V., Mikulowski, D., Moravcik, O., Svetsky, S., and Shyshkina, M. (2020). The use of the cloud-based open learning and research platform for collaboration in virtual teams. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 76(2):304–320. https://doi.org/10.33407/ itlt.v76i2.3706.
- Fylaktopoulos, G., Goumas, G., Skolarikis, M., Sotiropoulos, A., and Maglogiannis, I. (2016). An overview of platforms for cloud based development. *SpringerPlus*, 5(1):38. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40064-016-1688-5.
- Glazunova, O. (2015). Theoretical and methodological bases for the design and application of an e-learning system for future IT specialists in an agrarian university. Thesis for the degree of Doctor of Pedagogical Sciences, specialty 13.00.10 - "Information and Communication Technologies in Education", Institute of Information Technologies and Learning Tools of the NAPS of Ukraine, Kyiv, Ukraine. https://lib.iitta.gov. ua/9212/.
- Glazunova, O. G. and Shyshkina, M. (2018). The Concept, Principles of Design and Implementation of the University Cloud-based Learning and Research Environment. In Ermolayev, V., Suárez-Figueroa, M. C., Yakovyna, V., Kharchenko, V. S., Kobets, V., Kravtsov, H., Peschanenko, V. S., Prytula, Y., Nikitchenko, M. S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, *Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kyiv, Ukraine, May 14-17, 2018, volume 2104 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 332–347. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2104/paper_158.pdf.*
- Ilin, D. Y., Volovich, M. E., and Filatov, V. V. (2016). Analysis of CloudStack Platform Suitability for Management of Different Cloud Infrastructure Configurations. *Cloud of Science*, 3(3):433–443. http://web.archive.org/web/20180422194515/http: //cloudofscience.ru/sites/default/files/pdf/CoS_3_433. pdf.
- Internet2 (2023). Google Cloud Services (GCP). https://www.internet2.edu/products-services/ cloud-services-applications/google-cloud-platform/.
- Khmelevsky, Y. and Voytenko, V. (2015). Hybrid Cloud Computing Infrastructure in Academia. In WCCCE 2015 - the 20th Western Canadian Conference on Computing Education. May 8-9, 2015, Vancouver Island University (VIU), Nanaimo, British Columbia, Canada. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.4082.6647.
- Korotun, O. V., Vakaliuk, T. A., and Soloviev, V. N. (2020). Model of using cloud-based environment in training databases of future IT specialists. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:281–292. https://doi.org/10.55056/ cte.360.
- Lytvynova, S. H. (2018). Cloud-oriented learning environ-

ment of secondary school. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 5:7–12. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.129.

- Markova, O. M., Semerikov, S. O., Striuk, A. M., Shalatska, H. M., Nechypurenko, P. P., and Tron, V. V. (2019). Implementation of cloud service models in training of future information technology specialists. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:499–515. https://doi. org/10.55056/cte.409.
- Microsoft (2023). Student developer resources. https: //azure.microsoft.com/en-us/resources/students/.
- OAuth (2020). Using OAuth 2.0 to Access Google APIs. https://developers.google.com/identity/protocols/ oauth2.
- Oleksiuk, V., Oleksiuk, O., and Berezitskyi, M. (2017). Planning and Implementation of the Project "Cloud Services to Each School". In Ermolayev, V., Bassiliades, N., Fill, H., Yakovyna, V., Mayr, H. C., Kharchenko, V. S., Peschanenko, V. S., Shyshkina, M., Nikitchenko, M. S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer, ICTERI 2017, Kyiv, Ukraine, May 15-18, 2017, volume 1844 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 372–379. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-1844/10000372.pdf.
- Paulsen, K. (2011). 12 Archives, Backups, and Linear Tape. In Paulsen, K., editor, *Mov*ing Media Storage Technologies, pages 327–377. Focal Press, Boston. https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-0-240-81448-3.00012-5.
- Rao, U. H. and Nayak, U. (2014). Data Backups and Cloud Computing. In *The InfoSec Handbook: An Introduction to Information Security*, pages 263– 288. Apress, Berkeley, CA. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-1-4302-6383-8_13.
- Reddy, P. V. V. and Shyamala, K. (2016). New scoring formula to rank hypervisors' performance complementing with statistical analysis using DOE. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, 61:54–65. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.future.2016.02.012.
- Rusyn, B., Pohreliuk, L., Vysotska, V., and Osypov, M. (2019). Method of data dedublication and distribution in cloud warehouses during data backup. *Information systems and networks*, 6:1–12. https://doi.org/ 10.23939/sisn2019.02.001.
- Shyshkina, M. (2016). The Hybrid Cloud-based Service Model of Learning Resources Access and its Evaluation. In Ermolayev, V., Spivakovsky, A., Nikitchenko, M. S., Ginige, A., Mayr, H. C., Plexousakis, D., Zholtkevych, G., Burov, O., Kharchenko, V. S., and Kobets, V., editors, Proceedings of the 12th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer, Kyiv, Ukraine, June 21-24, 2016, volume 1614 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 241–256. CEUR-WS.org.
- Sneddon, J. (2017). Mount Your Google Drive on Linux with google-drive-ocamlfuse. https://www.omgubuntu.co.uk/2017/04/ mount-google-drive-ocamlfuse-linux.

- Spirin, O., Oleksiuk, V., Balyk, N., Lytvynova, S., and Sydorenko, S. (2019). The blended Methodology of Learning Computer Networks: Cloud-based Approach. In Ermolayev, V., Mallet, F., Yakovyna, V., Kharchenko, V. S., Kobets, V., Kornilowicz, A., Kravtsov, H., Nikitchenko, M. S., Semerikov, S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume 11: Workshops, Kherson, Ukraine, June 12-15, 2019, volume 2393 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 68–80. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2393/paper-231.pdf.
- Spirin, O., Oleksiuk, V., Oleksiuk, O., and Sydorenko, S. (2018). The Group Methodology of Using Cloud Technologies in the Training of Future Computer Science Teachers. In Ermolayev, V., Suárez-Figueroa, M. C., Yakovyna, V., Kharchenko, V. S., Kobets, V., Kravtsov, H., Peschanenko, V. S., Prytula, Y., Nikitchenko, M. S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, *Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications.* Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kyiv, Ukraine, May 14-17, 2018, volume 2104 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 294–304. CEUR-WS.org. shttp://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-2104/paper_154.pdf.
- Spirin, O. M., Vakaliuk, T. A., Ievdokymov, V. V., and Sydorenko, S. I. (2022). Criteria for selecting a cloudbased learning management system for a higher education institution. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 89(3):105–120. https://doi.org/10. 33407/itlt.v89i3.4958.
- Tian, J., Wang, Z., and Li, Z. (2020). Low-cost data partitioning and encrypted backup scheme for defending against co-resident attacks. *EURASIP Journal on Information Security*, 2020(1):7. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13635-020-00110-1.
- Vakaliuk, T. (2021). Structural model of a cloudbased learning environment for bachelors in software engineering. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(2):257–273. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.17.
- Vakaliuk, T., Spirin, O., and Kontsedailo, V. (2021). Formation of digital competence of CS bachelors in the use of cloud-based learning environments. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(3):388–401. https: //doi.org/10.55056/etq.26.
- Vorozhbyt, A. V. (2017). Creation of multimedia content of the cloud-based learning environment in technical lyceum. CTE Workshop Proceedings, 4:59–63. https: //doi.org/10.55056/cte.325.
- Wang, B., Wang, C., Song, Y., Cao, J., Cui, X., and Zhang, L. (2020). A survey and taxonomy on workload scheduling and resource provisioning in hybrid clouds. *Cluster Computing*, 28:2809–2834. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s10586-020-03048-8.
- Yallop, J., Sheets, D., and Madhavapeddy, A. (2018). A modular foreign function interface. *Science of Computer Programming*, 164:82–97. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scico.2017.04.002.

Structurization and Processing of the Scientific Studies in the Form of Digital Ontologies

Yevhenii Shapovalov¹¹[®], Viktor Shapovalov¹[®], Roman Tarasenko¹[®], Stanislav Usenko¹[®], Adrian Paschke²[®] and Iryna Savchenko¹[®]

¹The National Center "Junior Academy of Sciences of Ukraine", 38-44 Degtyarivska Str., Kyiv, 04119, Ukraine ²Fraunhofer FOKUS (with support of BMBF "Qurator" 03WKDA1F), Kaiserin-Augusta-Allee 31, 10589 Berlin, Germany {gws0930191302, farkry17}@gmail.com, {sjb, svb, savchenko}@man.gov.ua, paschke@inf.fu-berlin.de

- Keywords: Cognitive IT-Platform Polyhedron, Ontology, Ontological Tool, Scientific Studies, Scientific Reports, Learning Environments.
- Abstract: Nowadays, there is a wide variety of scientific articles. Due to this fact, it is hard to read and be familiar with all of them. Also, it is hard for a young scientist to understand the complicated terms and methods used in a specific research domain. This problem was partially solved by bibliographic management software and other specific software. This article aims to develop an approach for structuration and processing sets of studies using the IT Platform Polyhedron using an ontology-based hierarchical model. The ontological graph is complex because it has additional branches from child nodes in its structure. The basis of our solution was IMRAD (Introductions, Methods, Results, Abstract, Discussion structure) which has been represented in the view of nodes. Those nodes have been connected with specific representations of IMRAD elements. Specific articles have been represented in the view of leaf nodes. That could help to use the taxonomies for the structuration of the articles. Each data block is in the form of separate attributes of the ontological node. The proposed solution allows to obtain structured sets of studies and separate their characteristics. Thus, the proposed ontology allows viewing all methods, measured parameters, etc., of the studies in a graph node structure and using them to find the used studies. The usage workflows to demonstrate mechanisms of the system's usage are presented. The method of merging a few graphs of studies is developed and presented.

1 INTRODUCTION

Usage of information technologies (IT) in various fields of research activities and the capability of software support in science to automatically classify and structure information, e.g., in publication data, becomes increasingly important. Nowadays, vast amounts of research data are available that is not structured, e.g., publications, presentations, etc. It is complicated for young researchers and scientists to use such large amounts of publication data. During the research process, young scientists are looking for, e.g., examples of research methods and parameters. However, this task is challenging at the early stage

° https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5834-5069

of their scientific career. When preparing papers and reports, such literature search and analysis problems (e.g. state of the art) are challenging for every scientist (including youth and school researchers). For instance, according to Lens.org, the number of articles on biogas in 2002 was approximately 134, then in 2014, the number grew to almost 1164, as shown in (figure 1).

So, it is relevant to provide a solution that can simplify processing and information/knowledge extraction in scientific publications. There are two hypotheses in our study. The first one is about structuring and digitalizing the data, which can simplify finding the details about the research method. The second one is about structuring the results of previous studies, which can be represented as data of the informational system. Previously, this goal was partially achieved using metadata for data processing. In this paper, we further contribute with a semantic ontology and a more expressive semantic metadata approach.

362

Shapovalov, Y., Shapovalov, V., Tarasenko, R., Usenko, S., Paschke, A. and Savchenko, I.

Structurization and Processing of the Scientific Studies in the Form of Digital Ontologies

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3732-9486

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6315-649X

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0440-928X

e https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3156-9040

f https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0273-9496

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 362-377 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0



Figure 1: Dynamic of the number of papers on biogas.

1.1 Using Metadata to Provide Data Management in Science Publications

It is relevant to use metadata about each paper to support publication data management. This metadata represents the data about the publication. In this case, the metadata can represent relevant information about each specific publication. Metadata can include, e.g., contact information, year of publication, author details, instrument and protocol information, survey tool details and much more (Noyer et al., 2009).

For instance, reference management software maintains a database of articles and creates bibliographies and reference lists for the written works. This software simplifies the record of metadata. Several popular reference management software, for example, Refworks, Mendeley, EndNote and Zotero are used worldwide (Kumar Basak, 2014; Parabhoi et al., 2017; Salem and Fehrmann, 2013; Ram and Paul Anbu K., 2014). These managers can save profiles, build a database of citations, save PDF files, extract metadata, and import references from library catalogues, websites, and other citation managers (Ivey and Crum, 2018; Butros and Taylor, 2011; Cuschieri et al., 2019).

However, these systems only use limited metadata vocabularies without expressive semantic models. For instance, such systems do not support metadata concepts such as "Results," "Materials and methods," "References", etc. As a result, all these systems do not provide a systematic approach, and they are not entirely semantically structured and not hierarchical.

1.2 Using Metadata Information of Scientific for Automatic Literature Review Processing

There are different types of metadata information that we can use to structure the articles, for example, by the relation to source, function, purpose, language, and publication date.

With using the a "Relation to Source" metadata the user defines the type of text that can be included in a classification program. A classification composed of extracts having exact sentences of a source document is known as an extractive summary. That is the simplest type of classifier.

With using a "Function" metadata the user can use any helpful and relevant information from source documents, for example, an abstract of a scientific article or the reviewers' opinion on the quality of work.

With using a "Purpose" metadata structures the article's purpose or main idea. The user needs to write down the general purpose or sense of the text in the program by himself.

With using a "Language" metadata, a classifier can be monolingual or multilingual is used. The monolingual classifier uses only one language and produces an output classification in the same language as the input document. In contrast, the multilingual classifier uses multiple languages and gives an output classification in one of the languages from the input document. With using "Publication date" metadata, it is possible to arrange the articles by the time of their publication. To do so, the user must enter the article's publication date in the system, and then the system will arrange the article in an appropriate section.

There is a lack of methods for the structuration of scientific articles. Also, it is necessary to add metadata "By the Results" (each specific results that has been obtained during study) and "By the methods" methods (each specific method that has been obtained during study).

"By the Results" this method structures the article by its results. It provides possibility to process new numeric and semantic data that was obtained during research.

"By the Methods" this metadata is used structure studies by the scientific methods and matherials used in the study.

Considering that most articles have a typical IM-RAD (Introductions, Methods, Results, Abstract, Discussion) structure, it seems advisable to build an algorithm that uses data from many specific articles to create ontological graphs that can be integrated with specialized educational institutions environments for young scientists.

1.3 Instruments for the Creation of Ontology-Based Learning Environments

A learning environment is a diverse platform where users engage and interact with learning new skills. While learners can learn in various settings, the term typically refers to a digital alternative to the traditional classroom. To improve learning efficiency and adaptability, formalized information resources that provide a high degree of structuring should be used in learning. An ontological approach could support this. The ontological approach provides a holistic and systematic approach to the study of various information sources and a specific subject domain, ensures the conceptualization and taxonomization of terms within the subject area and the existence of relationships between the terms of different subject areas to ensure multidisciplinarity. Computer ontologies are one of the effective mechanisms for ensuring a stable digital learning environment.

In recent years significant progress was made in developing ontologies. In this article, an "ontology" is a term that means a software or web system that consists of nodes with data. All ontology nodes are arranged in a specific hierarchical order, often referred to as an ontological tree or ontological graph. The node from which all branches start is called the root node. The other nodes are called subsidiaries.

One of the most promising solutions, in our opinion, are ontologies (Parveen, 2018). For example, we can use hierarchies with multi-criteria techniques during the classification of metadata of various articles. Ontologies aim to capture the domain knowledge generally and ensure a common understanding of the domain.

IsaViz is a virtual environment for viewing and creating RDF models in the view graphs. IsaViz imports RDF/XML and N-Triples and exports RDF/XML. Apollo is the program for modelling knowledge systems. Apollo's knowledge system base consists of hierarchically organized ontologies that can be inherited from other ontologies. SWOOP contains OWL (Web Ontology Language) validation and offers various. OWL presentation syntax views. In SWOOP, Ontologies can be compared, edited, and combined. Protégé 3.5 is a knowledge-based ontology editor that provides a graphical user interface. It ensures better flexibility for meta-modelling and enables the construction of domain ontologies.

1.4 Ontological Problems

Nowadays, most standard systems (such as Mendeley, Scopus etc.) provide support for displaying data but not for comparison and providing search functions. Also, given that articles in the same domain have the same indicators, the metadata of the results can be represented as ontology node attributes and then processed.

Previously, ontological graphs were used to systematize scientific articles (Parveen, 2018; Amami et al., 2017; Boughareb et al., 2020; Perraudin, 2017; Poulakakis et al., 2017). Systematization and structuring in such ontological systems were based on different approaches, such as using of scientific article recommendation system (Amami et al., 2017), a Scientific Articles Tagging system (Boughareb et al., 2020), machine learning and automatic summarization (Parveen, 2018). However, none of the proposed ontological approaches (Parveen, 2018; Amami et al., 2017; Boughareb et al., 2020; Perraudin, 2017) can provide a decent level of structurization and systematization.

We have proposed to use the cognitive IT platform Polyhedron (Stryzhak et al., 2019; Velychko et al., 2017; Strizhak, 2014) for this aim. The core of the Polyhedron system consists of advanced and improved functions of the TODOS IT platform described in previous works. Moreover, the Polyhedron is a multi-agent system that provides transdisciplinary and interactivity in any study (Stryzhak et al., 2014). Besides, the cognitive IT platform Polyhedron contains a different variety of special functions like auditing (Stryzhak et al., 2014; Globa et al., 2015, 2019), semantic web, information systematization and ranking (Nadutenko et al., 2022), transdisciplinary support (Nicolescu, 2008; Dovgyi and Stryzhak, 2021), internal search and have all advantages of ontological interface tools (Globa et al., 2015; Popova and Stryzhak, 2013; Martyniuk et al., 2021) Due to active states are hyper-ratio plural partial ordering (Nicolescu, 2008; Volckmann, 2007), cognitive IT-platform Polyhedron is an innovative IT technology of ontological management of knowledge and information resources, regardless of the standards of their creation.

The proposed solution can be used with other applications in the field of structuration studies like a virtual educational experiment (Slipukhina et al., 2019), the use of mobile Internet devices (Modlo et al., 2019), using the technology of augmented reality education (Bilyk et al., 2022; Nechypurenko et al., 2023), and smart physiological tools (Shapovalov et al., 2022), distance learning in vocational education and training institutions (Kovalchuk et al., 2023), on-line courses (Vlasenko et al., 2020; Vakaliuk et al., 2023), educational and scientific environments (Tarasenko et al., 2021b; Shapovalov and Shapovalov, 2021), different tools to provide development of ICT (Information computer technologies) (Modlo et al., 2018).

2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Ontology Creation Mechanism

Systematization of the scientific studies is provided using the cognitive IT platform Polyhedron (Shapovalov et al., 2021b). Graphs were made in one of two ways: using a single Google sheet file (that defines both structure of the graph and metadata of each node; or by using of specific constructor https: //editor.stemua.science/ or http://work.inhost.com.ua/ that provided a generation of the XML file of both, structure and metadata. The first Google sheet document contained the data on the graph's structure. The second sheet of it contained a list of nodes that contains metadata, metadata of this node itself and the type of metadata (figure 2). When the file was filled, it was downloaded in .xlsx format and uploaded to the graph editors. Then, it was transformed into an XML file and stored in the graph's storage. This method was used to create massive graphs as it simplifies the creation of the graph structure due to no need to select the location of the nodes visually with the mouse but locates nodes automatically. Tools https: //editor.stemua.science/ or http://work.inhost.com.ua/ are graphical editors used to create simple graphs and test if the structure and metadata of graphs built by Google sheet's method are processed well.

As the scientific works were written with an IM-RAD structure, IMRAD was used as the core of each graph. For example, the field of anaerobic treatment of waste was chosen as general studies in this field also used IMRAD (Shapovalov et al., 2021a; Zhadan et al., 2021; Ivanov et al., 2019). To test using the approach for both high educational institutions students and schools' pupils (in the form of work of Junior Academy of Sciences of Ukraine), examples of such studies were used. As the example of master's study "Development a method for utilization of anaerobic digestion effluent at LLC Vasylkivska Poultry Farm" (study "A"); as an example of school student's study "Development a method for utilization of anaerobic digestion effluent (study "B"). Both studies were represented in the form of graphs.

To represent ontology graphs, the structure view in the form tools of view https://manlab.stemua. science/ and http://work.inhost.com.ua/ were used. In addition, ontology representer https://editor.stemua. science/ or http://work.inhost.com.ua/ has a structure view, table view and specific ontology prism view.

Metadata of generated graphs were used in filtering, ranking and audit tools. The simplest toll is filtering. It provides filtering of graph nodes by the presence of metadata in the nodes. The audit tool provides comparing of scientific studies with a standard graph. For science, this tool may provide two aims: define if such element of study (object, subject, keywords, etc.) was used previously to do not duplicate existing study; to provide simple (basic) antiplagiarism.

The ranking tool was used to compare numeric data in nodes and provide rank using users' requests. IT Polyhedron has a specific interface to input the importance of each metadata category that's numeric using a scale from 0 to 10. System process user's request by using values inputted by users and numeric data of nodes. Then it formed the rank of each node and showed it to the user.

To combine graphs, the first graph of scientific study that is IMRAD-based was downloaded to http: //work.inhost.com.ua/ and then its tool "add XML" was used to add nodes and the link between them of the second IMRAD-based ontology graph of scientific study.

A2	 JX Reports on 	biotec	chnology						
_	A	В	C	D	E	F	G	н	I.
1	Scientific reports		Reports on biotechnology						
2	Reports on biotechnology		Reports on anaerobic digestion						
3	Reports on anaerobic digestion		Main Metadata	Materials and methods	References	Results			
4	Results		Final results	Input parameters of the reseach					
5	Materials and methods		Materials for researching	Methods for Quantitative Analisis					
6	References		Використання хлорели в сільському господарстві дик докт. біол. Науч/ Кулішенко Ю.Л., Мельник I.A., Новиков О.М., 2011.	Водорості та гриби; навч. пос. / Костінов I.Ю., Джаган В.В. та ін., 2004	Екологічна безпека при виробництві продукції птахівництва: дик. докт. біол. наук / Тертична О. В., 2007.	Оценка биомассы Spirulina Platensis (Nordst.) по оптической плотиости культуры: дис. докт. біол. наук / Геворгиз Р. Г., 2003.	Ростовые и биохимические характеристики Spirulina Platenisi и Chiorella vulgaris при различных условика минерального питания : дис. докт. / Пробецка И. В., 2001.	Bioconversion of Poultry Droppings for Biogas and Algal Production: g.kc. goor. Sion. Hayar/, M. Mahadevaswamy, L. V. Venkataraman, 2013.	Removal of nitrate and phosphate from municipal wastewater sludge by Chlorella Vulgaris, Spirulina Platensis and Scenedesmus Quadricaude: Auc. gort. Gion. Hayw/ Jalal K.C., Komoruzzaman B.Y, Akbar J.
7	Main Metadata		Object of research	Subject of research	The aim of the research	Practical value of research	Scientific novelty of research	Hypothesis	Keywords
8	Input parameters of the reseach		Temperature mode	Moisture content of substrate	Substrate				
9	Materials for researching		Glassware for chemistry lab	Gauze-cotton plugs	Chlorella vulgaris	MES (Mineral Nutrient Environment)	Chicken manure	Spectrophotometer	Effluent from methane tank (fertilizer) from JSC

Figure 2: Google sheet with data.

3 RESULTS

3.1 Model of Creation Ontology to Systemizing

As was noted before, IMRAD is widely used to prepare research and science papers. It is possible to provide structuration by using IMRAD components as parent nodes. So, the parent nodes can be represented by Introduction, Methods, Results and Discussion. An ontology cannot efficiently further structure the discussion part. Important part that it contains is the analysis and the comparison of the obtained data by the researcher. Specific parts of IMRAD will be used as branch nodes, and the study will be used as a leaf node. So, the general structure of the ontology that structures the research data is represented as:

$$REP \in I, M, R, P \tag{1}$$

where REP – set of reports, I – sets of Introduction of all study, M – set of Methods of all study, R – set of Results of all study, P – instruments of processing of the results of a set of studies discussions.

To provide better systematization, we have split the introduction into two different parts – basic metadata and literature review:

$$I = \langle BMD, LR \rangle \tag{2}$$

where BMD – is a set of basic metadata of study, LR – a set of Sources used for Literature Review.

The primary metadata node of the study is linked with the graph's leaf nodes that characterize primary data on the study, such as hypothesis, object, subject, practical value, scientific novelty, etc. So, the nodes of the report's basic metadata of the study can be presented as a further equation:

$$BMD = \langle H, O, S, PV, SN \rangle \tag{3}$$

where H – hypothesis or hypotheses of each specific study; O – object of the study of each specific study; S – the subject of each specific study; PV – practical value of each specific study; SC – the scientific novelty of each specific study.

The main advantages of using such a structure are that some parts of the Introduction materials and methods and results (measured parameters) of the study (reports) can coincide. A few specific studies that coincide will be linked by nodes (in case of methods and results) or by classes of data (in case of keywords or scientific novelty) due to using the same sub-nodes of the ontology. The representation of each work as a set of the Introduction, Methods, Results, and Processing of the data (Discussion):

$$REP_I = \langle I_I, M_I, R_I, P_I \rangle \tag{4}$$

$$REP_{II} = \langle I_{II}, M_{II}, R_{II}, P_{II} \rangle \tag{5}$$

So, these studies can be integrated into a single ontology using IMRAD:

$$O = \langle S_I, S_{II} \rangle = \langle I_I, M_I, R_I, P_I, I_I, M_I, R_{II}, P_{II} \rangle \quad (6)$$

The same approach will be applied to each element of the IMRAD structure study. Generally, it can be represented as:

$$M = (REP_I) = \sum_{i}^{n} M_I \tag{7}$$

where M_I – every separated scientific method.

In a different study, a different set of methods can be used. However, some of them can coincide. Thus, the set of methods used in two different studies may be represented as:

$$M = (REP_I) = M_a, M_b, M_c, M_d \tag{8}$$

$$M = (REP_I I) = M_b, M_d, M_f \tag{9}$$

And, so, M_b coinciding with both M_I and M_{II} :

$$M_b \in M_I, M_{II} \tag{10}$$

Therefore, in this case, and M_b can be used as a parent node that connects two different studies. The node M_b itself will contain general theoretic information on it, and node REP_I and REP_{II} will contain information on the specific case of its usage and measured parameters using it.

Similar mechanism can be provided by using specific ontology tools using metadata. For example, there will be a hierarchical approach for representing and usage of keywords:

$$Kw(BMD_i) = Kw_a, Kw_b, Kw_c, Kw_d, \qquad (11)$$

where $Kw(BMD_i)$ – node of the basic metadata that integrates all keywords; Kw_i – specific keyword.

Also, as was noted in the introduction, the metadata of each work will be used for filtering the information, and for supporting specific processing functions of the IT solution Polyhedron. Such specifics mechanisms are AUDIT and RANKING. Metadata can be included in each node. For the parent node metadata will be used to represent the general information (for example, the essence of the method itself), and the resulting leaf node will contain the specific metadata related to a specific study (such as specific results of the study obtained using set methods M; for example, metadata: 5,35, and its class: "Ammonium nitrogen content, g/L"). So, metadata, with the same class, will be processed by using filtering by users request or by ranking using the ranks of the nodes for specific classes (or their set) based on the user's request.

So, the proposed approach uses IMRAD to collect and process the data with ontologies. In this way, the ontologies are constructed not by the specific structure of each work but by the generally accepted IM-RAD structure. The parent node will be a specific area set to which the study belongs ($A = \sum inREP_{II}$ where A – specific area of the set of *REP*). The A node is linked with *I*, *M*, *R*, *P* nodes (representing IMRAD). Each IMRAD node is linked with the specific IM-RAD type node (such as ammonia determination by Nessler's method (for methods) or "chicken manure" or "glycerine" (for subjects)). Moreover each specific IMRAD type node is linked with leaf nodes of ontology – specific studies where such entities were used.

3.2 Structuring of the Set of Studies in the Form of Ontology

To demonstrate the capabilities of the proposed ontological system, scientific works on anaerobic digestion were chosen. The general view of the resulting graph is shown in figure 3.

The root node of the resulting graph is the "Scientific reports" node. The ontological graph is complex because it has additional branches from child nodes in its structure. Child nodes are: "Reports on biotechnology" and "Reports on anaerobic digestion." From the child node, "Reports on anaerobic digestion" are going to the central sub-leaf nodes that reflect the basic principle of systematization of scientific works: "Results," "Materials and methods," and "References". This basic principle is shown in figure 4. A separate node of Main Metadata was also additionally created. This node contains the central metadata: object, subject of study; practical significance, the scientific novelty of study; hypotheses; keywords; abstract, conclusions.

The entire sequence and principle of filling and maintenance of data by users in the received ontology are shown in the Workflow diagram (figure 5).

The child nodes of these systematizing ontological nodes are the scientific works themselves. Each data block is in the form of separate attributes of the ontological node. This solution allows using all the information processing tools of the CIT Polyhedron system. In particular, such tools are general (for example, filtering) and specialized, such as ranking and auditing. An example of filtering is shown in figure 6.

An ontology prism is a specific form of ontology graph in cognitive IT Polyhedron. It provides the possibility to use nodes and their relation to the form of a prism. The most helpful form can represent the relevel of IMRAD and provide a high level of visualization of its sub-nodes. An example of an ontology cube representation of a graph is shown in figure 7.

3.3 Application of Ranking Mechanism in the Structuring of Scientific Works

All attributes can rank information using the "Alternative module" described in previous works (Nadutenko et al., 2022; Tarasenko et al., 2021a). The attributes of Each node are filled with numeric, textual, and mixed types of data. The following attributes are filled with text data: "References", "Methods for Quantitative Analysis", "Materials for researching", "Thermophilic", "Chicken manure substrate", "Spec-

AET 2021 - Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology



Figure 3: General view of the resulting ontological graph.



Figure 4: General view of the primary systematizing ontological vertices.

trophotometer parameters of the experiment", "The actual rate of reproduction of ", "Keywords", "Glassware", "Reagents", "Equipment", "Object ", "Subject of study", "The aim of the study", "Chicken". Numeric data contains the following attributes: "Initial pH", "Methane content, % Vol.", "pH of obtained solid product", "Ammonium nitrogen concentration, mg/L", "The concentration of volatile fatty acids (VFA) mg/L", "The dry matter content, %", "The ash content, %". The attribute "The native moisture content of the substrate" contains mixed-type data, numeric and textual. An example of incoming data maintenance panel for ranking is shown in figure 8.

For example, there may be a case when the user wants to arrange work on the pH. The ranking result is shown in figure 9. Other examples of usage of the Polyhedron IT platform are shown in table 1.

3.4 Application of the Audit Mechanism in Structuring Scientific Works

Users can also use the specialized audit module described in previous works (Stryzhak et al., 2014; Globa et al., 2015, 2019; Tarasenko et al., 2021a) for all attributes. The graph "Standard" is the ontology itself, containing works that will be supplemented and expanded. This solution will allow users to automatically check whether there is a particular work in the database. Also, this solution will allow checking the hypotheses for compliance with already completed studies. Also, the audit module will allow users to compare an existing METADATA and attributes available in the ontology at the same time. In particular, these attributes are the materials and methods of the results and the list of sources. Results that do not match the "standard" ontology attributes are em-



Figure 5: Workflow diagram of filling and maintenance of data by users.



Figure 6: Example of attribute filter.

AET 2021 - Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology



Figure 7: Ontology prism view of IMRAD-based graph of scientific studies.

Метод	За вамовчуваеми 🗸 Налаштування ранкування				Викознати і відобразанти таблицо	Зберети
23/23	назва критерію	Бальна шкала 🗆		Лінгвістична шкала 🗹	Ранжування	Opt. =
	Reference: Tear	1	~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1 ~	max 🗸
	Methods for Quantitative Analisis Tever	1	~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1 *	max 🗸
•	Materials for researching Temy	1	~	Мала важливість	1 ~	max 🛩
•	Internechtic Foor	1	~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1 ~	max 🛩
	Chicken manure substate Tame	1	~	Мала важливість 🔷	1 ~	max 👻
	India pH Neone	1	~	Абсолютна важливість 🐱	1 ~	max 👻
	The native moisture content of the substrate Twent wood	1	~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1 ~	max 🛩
	Seattophotometer parameters of the asperiment term	1	~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1 ~	max 🛩
	The actual rate of reproduction of Chitorelia Vulgority Teer	1	~	Мала важливість	1 ~	max 🛩
	Kevendds Teer	1	~	Мала важливість	1 ~	max 🛩
	Classwate Tweet	1	~	Мала важливість	1 ~	max 👻
	Respects Terrer	1	~	Мала важливість	1 ~	max 👻
	Eculoment Texes	1	~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1 🗸	max 👻
	Object of research Teera	1	~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1 🗸	max 🛩
	Subject of research Team	1	~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1 ~	max 🛩
	The aim of the research woo	1	~	Мала важливість	1 ~	max 👻
	<u>Ohleen manute</u> Tees	1	~	Мала важливість	1 ~	max 👻
	Methane content, % Vol. Means	1	~	Мала важливість	1 ~	max 👻
	pH of obtained solid product News	1	~	Мала важливість 🔷	1 ~	max 🛩
	Ammonium nitrogen concentration, mg / dm3 www.	1	~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1 🗸	max 👻
	The concentration of volatile faily acids (LFA) mg1 News	1	~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1 🗸	max 🛩
	The dry matter content, % Mexica	1	~	Мала важливість 🗸 🗸	1 🗸	max 🗸
	The ash content. % [Mana]	1	~	Мала важливість	1 .	mar ¥

Figure 8: An example of incoming data maintenance panel for ranking.

phasized in red. An example of an audit fragment is shown in figure 10.

3.5 Interoperability of Ontology Graphs on Students' Scientific Studies

To make an effective personalized system, it is essential to provide interoperability between similar content of previous studies to allow users to create unique resources that will be used as the base of knowledge or literature review of the current researcher. So, interoperability is required. Moreover, using an IM-RAD structure allows merging graphs because of the similar parent's nodes.

So, each student can use the developments made

earlier. In addition, students can download a few existing ontology graphs from open data located on ontology.stemua.science and provide merging using MS Excel tool or specifically developed tools.

To solve this task, graphs-blanks (standards) are relevant to use. The standard consists of broad used categories for the field that will be filled by researchers who conduct studies. The general view of such graph-standard is presented in figure 11.

The researchers could input the specific data used during the research. Different researchers would have their specific graphs, but they were built by the same structure using IMRAD standard. Such graphs can be used to combine a single graph. Thus, the interoperability of different studies is provided. Therefore,

Structurization and Processing of the Scientific Studies in the Form of Digital Ontologies

reports be	ta v2	٣	105/105 O												G	۹. ۵	4	x = 🖬	e menleh =
	Райтинг	Keywords	Methods for Quantitative Analisis	Materials for researching	Equipment	Reagents	Thermophilic	Chicken manure substrate	initial pH	The native moisture content of the substrate	Glassware	Chiken manure	Spectrophotometer parameters of the experiment	The actual rate of reproduction of Chlorella Vulgaris	Object of research	Subject of research	The aim of the research	Practical value of research	Scientific novelty of research
Development a method for utilization of methane tank effluent	100	Food processing waste Broges Effluent Methane	Analysis of ammonium nitrogen content with Nessien's reagent.	Chideen menure , Spectrophotometer Ethuent from methane tank (delikeer) from JSC "Vasyldzska Bauther Sereet"	Spectrophotomeler Crucible (or similar porcelain or metal distres) Mutiled fumece	Nessler's reagent. H3P04 H3P04	The list of scientific reports where was used as this temperature mode for an arcenter.	The list of scientific reports where was used as the substrate tor	8.35	73.9 A List of works have used the substrate with not w	250 mi volumetric flask Conical flask (Erlenmeyer) for 200 mi	List of works which have used chiken manure as the substrate for methane for methane			Disposal of methane tank effluent.	Processing of methane tank effluent into humeles by the autocatalytic method	To establish regularities of processing of solid fraction of methane frementation	The study indicates the possibility of obtaining sets of humic and hubic acids by the	1. Potassium humate was inst obtained from methane tank
Development of a rational way for utilization of meta- tank waste at JSC "Vasylkivska poultry furm" Object of study by Development a	0,1	Elogas Chlorella Vulgats Effuent Mathane fermentation	Anslysis of an antimorium of tropen content with Nessler's reagent.	Chicken menure Spectrophotometer Effuent from methane tank (lettiluee) from JSC "Vesykiveka Poutry Farm"	Crucitle (or similar porcelsin or metal dishes) Mutfled fumace Electronic scales Drying cabinet	Nessler's reegent. H3PD4 Phenolphthalcin 0.1 N NaOH Distiliciturity	The list of scientific reports where was used as this temperature mode for anaerobic	The list of a scientific reports where was used as the substrate for	82	73.5 Ust of works have used the substrate with not	250 ml volumetric flask Conical flask (Erlenmeyer) for 200 ml Pipette per 1		Spectrophotometer parameters from the 1st to the 9th day of the experiment	Rate of reproduction of Chlorella Vulgaris	Disposal of methane tank offluent.	Cultivistion of Chioretta vulgaris microalgae on effuents obtained after methane	Developing a method of growing Chlorolla Vulgens in effuents after methane	The results of this work will contribute to the spread of broges technologies. This	A method of , utilization of methane tank effluent using microeigee is
method for utilization of methane tank effluent report Titrimetry																			
Methane tank																			
Analysis of dry content Moisture Content $W = -\frac{\pi^{-2}}{2} + \infty$																			
<																			•
																			1 2 3

Figure 9: Example of ranking results.

reports beta v2 (Audit)

#	Indicators	Units	DSTU	Development of a rational way for utilization of meta- tank waste at JSC "Vasylkivska poultry farm"	Development a method for utilization of methane tank effluent				
Ab	stract								
1	Keywords	Keywords	microalgae	Microalgae	Humate				
2	Hypothesis	Hypothesis	The effluent obtained after anaerobic digestion can be used as a nutrient medium for microalgae Chlorella Vulgaris.	The effluent obtained after anaerobic digestion can be used as a nutrient medium for microalgae Chlorella Vulgaris.	The solid fraction of methane fermentation of chicken manure can be recycled by the autocatalytic catalysis method.				

Figure 10: Example of audit results.

such graphs could contain more data on specific fields in the future.

As described in Section 3.1, the graph's combining will provide stability of IMRAD structure and the addition of sub nodes belonging to a specific study and the second to second. The two examples of filled studies to merge are presented in figure 12.

For example, the study "Anaerobic treatment under low moisture content" has a node "Biogas" related to node "Keywords". The same node also belongs to the second study, "Recirculation of the liquid phase of effluent during anaerobic digestion". After combining, the edge "Biogas" will have two subnodes "Anaerobic treatment under low moisture content" and "Recirculation of the liquid phase of effluent during anaerobic digestion" which provides belonging the keyword "Biogas" to both studies.

As for some other nodes that do not belong to both studies, they will also be represented in a combined graph, but they will contain only a single study to which it belongs. For example, such a case will be for nodes "Inhibition", "Ammonia", "Recycling", and "Water consumption". A general view of the result of combining is presented in figure 13.



Figure 11: The structure of the ghaph, (a) The function of adding to the graph another graph (combining), (b).

Table 1: Examples of Polyhedron IT Platform Ranking Module.

	D ! !	
Name of filter (On-	Priority	Main results (list of ontological nodes)
tological attributes)		
Initial pH (type of	Absolute	Development of a rational way for utilization of meta-tank waste at JSC "Va-
data are numbers)		sylkivska poultry farm", Titrimetry, Methane tank, Development a method for
		utilization of methane tank effluent Methods for Quantitative Analysis, Materi-
		als for researching, Abstract
Methane content, %	Absolute	Development of a method for utilization of methane tank effluent, Development
Vol. (type of data		of a rational way for utilization of meta-tank waste at JSC "Vasylkivska poultry
are numbers)		farm, Methods for Quantitative Analisis, Materials for researching, Abstract
The ash content, %	Absolute	Development of a rational way for utilization of meta-tank waste at JSC "Va-
		sylkivska poultry farm, Development of a method for utilization of methane tank
		effluent, Methods for Quantitative Analisis, Materials for researching, Equip-
		ment, Reagents, Thermophilic, Chicken manure substrate
The dry matter con-	Absolute	Development of a method for utilization of methane tank effluent, Development
tent, %		of a rational way for utilization of meta-tank waste at JSC "Vasylkivska poultry
		farm Keywords, Methods for Quantitative, Analysis, Materials for researching,
		Equipment, Thermophilic Chicken manure substrate

4 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

4.1 Cases of Usage

Generally, it is possible to use such an approach in two cases "Personalized science study graph creation" and "Combining using Script editor". The first case foresees a simple scientific process, but the results of such a study and its description are provided by the creation ontology of such work using the graph template based on IMRAD. So, all researchers will prepare the description of their work using similar for-

Structurization and Processing of the Scientific Studies in the Form of Digital Ontologies



(b)

Figure 12: Example of ontology "Anaerobic treatment under low moisture content", (a) Example of ontology "Recirculation of the liquid phase of effluent during anaerobic digestion" (b).

malization. Furthermore, it provides the possibility to implement the "Combining using Script editor" use case. This use case is an easy way for the researcher to systemize all studies in his field that were done before. After combining, the obtained graph is merged as it was created from graphs with the same formalization. This graph is ready to use systemized literature review of the study for the scientist who provided it. Tools of Polyhedron will provide data processing of merged graph by using ranking, filtering and audit.

4.2 Role of Proposed System Among Existing Systems

Using of IMRAD as the primary approach to structure the articles in the form of a semantic ontology is proposed. The implementation of a universal ontological

solution that can provide systematization and structuration of any scientific studies as proof of the concept is provided. The advantages and potential scenarios for using our solution have been demonstrated by the example of biogas studies. The potential of using ranking and auditing tools in the obtained ontological database has also been shown. Numeric and semantic characteristics were separated from the main text and used to process by specialized algorithms of IT Platform Polyhedron. For example, users can find studies where a specific method was used by both, using the structure and filtering of studies data. The numeric data of studies are processed by the ranking tool that assigns ranks to nodes depending on the value of these numeric characteristics. The created ontology allows to obtain the structured set of studies, separate their characteristics, provides the possibility to view

AET 2021 - Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology



Figure 13: Combined graph of two studies.



Figure 14: Use cases of the proposed approach.

all of the methods, measured parameters in the view of node and use them to find the studies where they were used. A detailed comparison of our ontological solution with the most common analogues is presented below.

As we can see from the table 2, proposed ontological solution has the essential functions of the most common software. Proposed solution can be used as bibliographic software and a scientometric database. In addition, our solution could provide such functions as ranking based on specific attributes, comparing different articles, visualizing the information given an ontological tree or ontology-based cube, and using the IMRAD approach to sort articles.

Mathematical interpretation of proposed model is based on that IMRAD foresees those papers consist

	Personalized science study graph creation	Combining graphs using Script editor	Mendeley	Endnote	Scopus	Google Scholar
Automatic extraction of the informa- tion from any added PDFs	Present	Present	Present	Present	Absent	Absent
Tags, keywords, or search the full text of most PDFs functions.	Present	Present	Present	Present	Present	Present
Ability to cite articles in word/pages	Absent	Absent	Present	Present	Absent	Absent
Count citing	Possible	Present	Absent	Absent	Present	Present
Ability to use numeric data of the articles for ranking	Present	Present	Absent	Absent	Absent	Absent
Accentuation of important semantic characteristics for management of the wide range of articles	Present	Present	Absent	Absent	Absent	Absent
Ability to compare different articles	Possible	Present	Absent	Absent	Absent	Absent
Visualization of the information	Present	Present	Absent	Absent	Absent	Absent
Usage of IMRAD approach to sort ar- ticles	Present	Present	Absent	Absent	Absent	Absent

Table 2: Comparison of "Polyhedron" system with similar analogues.

*proposed approach using CIT " Polyhedron"

for, Introduction, Methods, Results and Discussion. In form of detail systems, it is impossible to provide Discussion, but the similar results will be provided by data Processing. In turn, the formed graph of IM-RAD that formed subject area is linked with specific to each study parts of each element of IMRAD (specific method or result). Therefore, the graph that describes few studies will consist from set of specific to each study parts of each element of IMRAD.

Such same formalization for different studies provides possibility to use specific features of ontologies. One of the most important is interoperability that is possible by merging few graphs of studies that has similar structure into single one. This feature provides possibilities to make digital ontology-based libraries of studies.

4.3 Further Research

The proposed approach may be much developed. The proposed approach foresees using Google Sheets and then transferring it into XML. However, it seems possible to simply such a process by generating ontologies exetly from Google Sheets and providing real-life synchronization.

Also, as the proposed approach is based on specific studies, it seems relevant and possible to provide scientometry. CIT "Polyhedron" is not a reference manager like "Endnote", "Mendeley", and it is also not a scientometric database, but in the nearest perspective, it is possible to convert the proposed technology into a functional analogue.

REFERENCES

- Amami, M., Faiz, R., Stella, F., and Pasi, G. (2017). A Graph Based Approach to Scientific Paper Recommendation. In *Proceedings of the International Conference on Web Intelligence*, WI '17, page 777–782, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3106426.3106479.
- Bilyk, Z. I., Shapovalov, Y. B., Shapovalov, V. B., Megalinska, A. P., Zhadan, S. O., Andruszkiewicz, F., Dołhańczuk-Śródka, A., and Antonenko, P. D. (2022). Comparing Google Lens Recognition Accuracy with Other Plant Recognition Apps. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 2: AET*, pages 20– 33. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/ 0010928000003364.
- Boughareb, D., Khobizi, A., Boughareb, R., Farah, N., and Seridi, H. (2020). A Graph-Based Tag Recommendation for Just Abstracted Scientific Articles Tagging. *International Journal of Cooperative Information Systems*, 29(03):2050004. https://doi.org/10. 1142/S0218843020500045.
- Butros, A. and Taylor, S. (2011). Managing information: evaluating and selecting citation management software, a look at EndNote, RefWorks, Mendeley and Zotero. In *Proceedings of the 36th IAMSLIC Conference: Mar del Plata, Argentina, 17-21 October, 2010*, pages 53–66. https://hdl.handle.net/1912/4595.
- Cuschieri, S., Grech, V., and Calleja, N. (2019). WASP (Write a Scientific Paper): The use of bibliographic management software. *Early Human Development*, 128:118–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev. 2018.09.012.

- Dovgyi, S. and Stryzhak, O. (2021). Transdisciplinary Fundamentals of Information-Analytical Activity. In Ilchenko, M., Uryvsky, L., and Globa, L., editors, Advances in Information and Communication Technology and Systems, volume 152 of Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems, pages 99–126, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-030-58359-0_7.
- Globa, L., Kovalskyi, M., and Stryzhak, O. (2015). Increasing Web Services Discovery Relevancy in the Multi-ontological Environment. In Wiliński, A., Fray, I. E., and Pejaś, J., editors, *Soft Computing in Computer and Information Science*, volume 342 of Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, pages 335–344, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-15147-2.28.
- Globa, L. S., Sulima, S., Skulysh, M. A., Dovgyi, S., and Stryzhak, O. (2019). Architecture and Operation Algorithms of Mobile Core Network with Virtualization. In Ortiz, J. H., editor, *Mobile Computing*, chapter 6. IntechOpen, Rijeka. https://doi.org/10.5772/ intechopen.89608.
- Ivanov, V., Stabnikov, V., Stabnikova, O., Salyuk, A., Shapovalov, E., Ahmed, Z., and Tay, J. H. (2019). Iron-containing clay and hematite iron ore in slurryphase anaerobic digestion of chicken manure. *AIMS Materials Science*, 6(5):821–832. https://doi.org/10. 3934/matersci.2019.5.821.
- Ivey, C. and Crum, J. (2018). Choosing the Right Citation Management Tool: Endnote, Mendeley, Refworks, or Zotero. *Journal of the Medical Library Association*, 106(3):399–403. https://doi.org/10.5195/jmla.2018. 468.
- Kovalchuk, V., Maslich, S., and Movchan, L. (2023). Digitalization of vocational education under crisis conditions. *Educational Technology Quarterly*. https: //doi.org/10.55056/etq.49.
- Kumar Basak, S. (2014). A Comparison of Researcher's Reference Management Software: Refworks, Mendeley, and EndNote. *Journal of Economics and Behavioral Studies*, 6(7):561–568. https://doi.org/10.22610/ jebs.v6i7.517.
- Martyniuk, D., Falkenthal, M., Karam, N., Paschke, A., and Wild, K. (2021). An Analysis of Ontological Entities to represent Knowledge on Quantum Computing Algorithms and Implementations. In Paschke, A., Rehm, G., Qundus, J. A., Neudecker, C., and Pintscher, L., editors, Proceedings of the Conference on Digital Curation Technologies (Qurator 2021), Berlin, Germany, February 8th - to - 12th, 2021, volume 2836 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings. CEUR-WS.org. https: //ceur-ws.org/Vol-2836/qurator2021_paper_15.pdf.
- Modlo, Y. O., Semerikov, S. O., Nechypurenko, P. P., Bondarevskyi, S. L., Bondarevska, O. M., and Tolmachev, S. T. (2019). The use of mobile Internet devices in the formation of ICT component of bachelors in electromechanics competency in modeling of technical objects. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:413–428. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.402.
- Modlo, Y. O., Semerikov, S. O., and Shmeltzer, E. O. (2018). Modernization of Professional Training of

Electromechanics Bachelors: ICT-based Competence Approach. In Kiv, A. E. and Soloviev, V. N., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, October 2, 2018*, volume 2257 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 148–172. CEUR-WS.org. https: //ceur-ws.org/Vol-2257/paper15.pdf.

- Nadutenko, M., Prykhodniuk, V., Shyrokov, V., and Stryzhak, O. (2022). Ontology-driven lexicographic systems. In Arai, K., editor, Advances in Information and Communication, volume 438 of Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems, pages 204–215, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-030-98012-2_16.
- Nechypurenko, P., Semerikov, S., and Pokhliestova, O. (2023). Cloud technologies of augmented reality as a means of supporting educational and research activities in chemistry for 11th grade students. *Educational Technology Quarterly.* https://doi.org/10.55056/etq. 44.
- Nicolescu, B., editor (2008). *Transdisciplinarity: Theory and Practice*. Hampton Press, 1 edition.
- Noyer, U., Beckmann, D., and Köster, F. (2009). Semantic technologies and metadata systematisation for evaluating time series in the context of driving experiments. In 11th International Protégé Conference, pages 17–18. https://protege.stanford.edu/conference/ 2009/abstracts/P9-Noyer.pdf.
- Parabhoi, L., Seth, A. K., and Pathy, S. K. (2017). Citation Management Software Tools: a Comparison with Special Reference to Zotero and Mendeley. *Journal of Ad*vances in Library and Information Science, 6(3):288– 293. http://jalis.in/pdf/6-3/Arabinda.pdf.
- Parveen, D. (2018). A Graph-based Approach for the Summarization of Scientific Articles. PhD thesis, Ruprecht-Karls-Universität Heidelberg. https://doi. org/10.11588/heidok.00027924.
- Perraudin, N. (2017). Graph-based structures in data science: fundamental limits and applications to machine learning. PhD thesis, École Polytechnique Fédérale De Lausanne. https://infoscience.epfl.ch/ record/227982?ln=en.
- Popova, M. and Stryzhak, O. (2013). Ontological interface as a means of presenting information resources in the GIS. Uchenye zapiski Tavricheskogo natcionalnogo universiteta imeni V. I. Vernadskogo. Seriia "Geografiia", 26(65)(1):127–135. https://tinyurl.com/ 5fhtrmck.
- Poulakakis, Y., Vassilakis, K., Kalogiannakis, M., and Panagiotakis, S. (2017). Ontological modeling of educational resources: a proposed implementation for greek schools. *Education and Information Technologies*, 22(4):1737–1755. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10639-016-9511-z.
- Ram, S. and Paul Anbu K., J. (2014). The use of bibliographic management software by Indian library and information science professionals. *Reference Services Review*, 42(3):499–513. https://doi.org/10.1108/ RSR-08-2013-0041.
- Salem, J. and Fehrmann, P. (2013). Bibliographic Management Software: A Focus Group Study of the Prefer-

ences and Practices of Undergraduate Students. *Public Services Quarterly*, 9(2):110–120. https://doi.org/10.1080/15228959.2013.785878.

- Shapovalov, Y., Tarasenko, R., Usenko, S. A., Shapovalov, V., Andruszkiewicz, F., and Dołhańczuk-Śródka, A. (2021a). Ontological information system for the selection of technologies for the treatment and disposal of organic waste: engineering and educational aspects. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, 236:226– 239. https://doi.org/10.5004/dwt.2021.27689.
- Shapovalov, Y. B., Bilyk, Z. I., Usenko, S. A., Shapovalov, V. B., Postova, K. H., Zhadan, S. O., and Antonenko, P. D. (2022). Using Personal Smart Tools in STEM Education. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology Volume 2: AET*, pages 192–207. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/0010929900003364.
- Shapovalov, Y. B. and Shapovalov, V. B. (2021). A Taxonomic Representation of Scientific Studies. In Ermolayev, V., Esteban, D., Mayr, H. C., Nikitchenko, M., Bogomolov, S., Zholtkevych, G., Yakovyna, V., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume 1: Main Conference, PhD Symposium, and Posters, Kherson, Ukraine, September 28 - October 2, 2021, volume 3013 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 353– 360. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-3013/ 20210353.pdf.
- Shapovalov, Y. B., Shapovalov, V. B., Tarasenko, R. A., Usenko, S. A., and Paschke, A. (2021b). A semantic structuring of educational research using ontologies. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 8:105–123. https: //doi.org/10.55056/cte.219.
- Slipukhina, I., Kuzmenkov, S., Kurilenko, N., Mieniailov, S., and Sundenko, H. (2019). Virtual Educational Physics Experiment as a Means of Formation of the Scientific Worldview of the Pupils. In Ermolayev, V., Mallet, F., Yakovyna, V., Mayr, H. C., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume I: Main Conference, Kherson, Ukraine, June 12-15, 2019, volume 2387 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 318– 333. CEUR-WS.org.
- Strizhak, A. E. (2014). Ontologicheskie aspekty transdistciplinarnoi integratcii informatcionnykh resursov [Ontological aspects of transdisciplinary integration of information resources]. Otkrytye informatcionnye i kompiuternye integrirovannye tekhnologii, 65:211– 223. http://nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/vikt_2014_65_24.
- Stryzhak, O., Prychodniuk, V., and Podlipaiev, V. (2019). Model of Transdisciplinary Representation of GEOspatial Information. In Ilchenko, M., Uryvsky, L., and Globa, L., editors, Advances in Information and Communication Technologies, volume 560 of Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering, pages 34–

75, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16770-7_3.

- Stryzhak, O. Y., Horborukov, V. V., Franchuk, O. V., and Popova, M. A. (2014). Ontology selection problem and its application to the analysis of limnological systems. *Ecological safety and nature management*, 15:172–183. http://nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/ebpk_ 2014_15_21.
- Tarasenko, R. A., Shapovalov, V. B., Usenko, S. A., Shapovalov, Y. B., Savchenko, I. M., Pashchenko, Y. Y., and Paschke, A. (2021a). Comparison of ontology with non-ontology tools for educational research. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 8:82–104. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.208.
- Tarasenko, R. A., Usenko, S. A., Shapovalov, Y. B., Shapovalov, V. B., Paschke, A., and Savchenko, I. M. (2021b). Ontology-based learning environment model of scientific studies. In Kiv, A. E., Semerikov, S. O., Soloviev, V. N., and Striuk, A. M., editors, *Proceedings of the 9th Illia O. Teplytskyi Workshop on Computer Simulation in Education (CoSinE 2021) colocated with 17th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research, and Industrial Applications: Integration, Harmonization, and Knowledge Transfer (ICTERI 2021), Kherson, Ukraine, October 1, 2021, volume 3083 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 43–58. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-3083/paper278.pdf.*
- Vakaliuk, T., Chyzhmotria, O., Chyzhmotria, O., Didkivska, S., and Kontsedailo, V. (2023). The use of massive open online courses in teaching the fundamentals of programming to software engineers. *Educational Technology Quarterly*. https://doi.org/10. 55056/etq.37.
- Velychko, V., Popova, M., Prykhodniuk, V., and Stryzhak, O. (2017). TODOS – IT-platform formation transdisciplinaryn information environment. Systems of Arms and Military Equipment, (1(49)):10–19. http: //nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/soivt_2017_1_4.
- Vlasenko, K. V., Volkov, S. V., Kovalenko, D. A., Sitak, I. V., Chumak, O. O., and Kostikov, A. A. (2020). Web-based online course training higher school mathematics teachers. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:648–661. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte. 420.
- Volckmann, R. (2007). Transdisciplinarity: Basarab Nicolescu Talks with Russ Volckmann. *Integral Review*, (4):73–90. https://tinyurl.com/39y6fdm3.
- Zhadan, S., Shapovalov, Y., Tarasenko, R., and Salyuk, A. (2021). Development Of An Ammonia Production Method For Carbon-Free Energy Generation. *Eastern-European Journal of Enterprise Tech*nologies, 5(8-113):66 – 75. https://doi.org/10.15587/ 1729-4061.2021.243068.

The Use of Cloud Technologies in the Process of Professional Training of Future Mathematics Teachers

Vladyslav Ye. Velychko¹[©]^a, Elena G. Fedorenko¹[©]^b, Nataliia V. Kaidan^{1,2}[©]^c and Vadym P. Kaidan³[©]^d

¹Donbas State Pedagogical University, 19 Batiuk Str., Sloviansk, 64122, Ukraine

²Limited Liability Company Technical University "Metinvest Polytechnic", 80 Pivdenne Hwy, Zaporizhzhia, 69008, Ukraine

³University of Economics and Entrepreneurship, 13 Heroiv Maidanu Str., Khmelnytskyi, 29013, Ukraine velichko@ddpu.edu.ua, {fedorenko.elena1209, kaydannv, kajtan.kt}@gmail.com

Keywords: Cloud Technologies, Training of Mathematics Teachers, e-Learning, e-Learning Resources.

Abstract: During the restrictions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, the education system was forced to make an urgent transition to e-learning. The transition revealed problems not only in the material part of the organization of education (lack of access to digital technology in a significant number of both students and teachers) but also in the lack of accessible electronic educational resources needed for educational activities. There were problems with the appropriate training of practical teachers. It cannot be said that this issue was not addressed by the educational community and state authorities, however, the results speak of the formality of the solution of these issues. The general level of teachers' mastery of information and communication technologies remains the main problem, and mathematics teachers are not an exception to this problem, the readiness to use electronic educational resources is at a low level due to the specificity of the methodological design of the educational process. The problem of joint activities of students and teachers during the synchronous and asynchronous interaction remains unsolved. The solution of these problems lies not only in the widespread use of information and communication technologies during the practical training of future mathematics teachers and during the practical re-training of practicing teachers, but also in the construction of an open educational environment on the basis of cloud technology, which solves the problem of interaction between the participants in the educational process.

1 INTRODUCTION

Due to the introduction of quarantine measures as a result of the spread of COVID-19 in 2020-2021 and the military aggression of Russia in 2022, distance learning has been introduced in Ukrainian schools (Hamaniuk et al., 2022). The organization of distance learning is possible through the use of distance learning systems. Despite the active use of distance learning systems by educators, there are some problems in organizing teaching and improving teachers' qualifications. One of the main problems is the lack of methods of using copyright services, which are not localized, but free for use in educational activities. We assume that the use of cloud systems will make the educational process not only possible, but will also gain the traditional form of education, as much as possible.

News reports, social media, reports on webinars of educators and teachers speak not only about the possibility of achieving the goal of learning through e-learning, but also about the problems that arise in this process. These problems affect each of the subjects of educational activity: students, teachers, lecturers, parents, and the administrations of educational institutions. General problems are related to the low level of knowledge of information and communication technologies among teachers, especially older teachers, lack of understanding of the specifics of the educational process when using electronic educational resources, the specifics of the ongoing and post-summary control through the use of information and communication technologies, etc.

Let's look at the problems that arise for teach-

378

Velychko, V., Fedorenko, E., Kaidan, N. and Kaidan, V.

The Use of Cloud Technologies in the Process of Professional Training of Future Mathematics Teachers

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 378-389 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9752-0907

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1897-874X

[°] https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4184-8230

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2008-3539

ers and educators during the transition to e-learning. The transition to the online space and transfer of even one course read at a higher education institution or a secondary educational institution is a long and complex work of a whole team of professors. Some examples are the Coursera or Prometheus courses. All video materials are recorded by professional operators in the studio, with the lecturer's voice overlaying on the video presentation, with a very accurate and competent distribution of information on the hour intervals. The course consists of 10-15 minutes informative videos with tests, a large amount of materials for self-study, peer to peer review assignments, and so on (Velychko and Fedorenko, 2020).

To implement such a feature, the teacher has to be competent in information and communication technology, have the necessary material base for shooting, editing, data processing, etc. Such work takes much more time than preparing for lectures or lessons and making presentations to them. The results of mastering the material in most subjects, disciplines or courses cannot be assessed by taking tests, there is a need to check the written work, listening to auditions, etc. Thus, the amount of mechanical work added to the duties of a teacher or educator is significantly increased. To practice this you can, for example, open 20 e-mail letters, download 20 completed tasks and store them in the appropriate folder. We can see that even such primitive mechanical operations are very costly in terms of working hours.

In addition, there is a great psychological problem if during the lessons online listener is just a passive observer, who does not even appear on the screen. Not every teacher or trainer can talk for 40 minutes to a black screen without any feedback from the audience, even if from time they can hear the responses in the form of voice messages from time to time. Also no less important is the problem of keeping the audience's attention during the lesson.

The results of scientific and methodological work are still one of the unresolved issues. This is required by the duties of educators. It is very important to get good results in the conditions of urgent creation of electronic educational resources. It is also important that the electronic educational resources should have no less functionality of teaching in comparison with the planned, verified face-to-face education.

Research conducted by the scientists and statistical data of mass open online courses have shown that distance learning is effective for 20-25% of listeners. This is the exact number of those who successfully complete the distance learning course as compared to the number of registrants. There is also another side which is the specificity of the selection of material for distance learning, which is determined by the professional competence of the curator of the content. The search for educational material, its systematization, processing in accordance with the level, goals and content of the training makes it necessary to process a large amount of existing digital content.

Students and learners are also exposed to a lot of stress. This category of participants in the educational process has several problems:

- the procedure for evaluating the submitted assignments is incomprehensible, especially those of a summary nature;
- learning at home is more likely to be relaxing than mobilizing and motivating for learning activities, and it deprives the teacher of visual supervision;
- lack of own room to work remotely (presence of parents, younger or older siblings) and, therefore, the simplest decision that students make is not to participate in online classes;
- cases of lack of access to Internet resources both due to the lack of devices and communication channels.

Secondary and higher education institutions are making great efforts to organize distance learning by means of distance platforms. Distance learning seminars, webinars, trainings on forms, methods and tools of distance learning for teachers and educators are held on an urgent basis. Teachers and educators communicate with their students by any means possible, from e-mails, messengers, and available distance learning platforms to phone calls. It should be noted that due to the different activity of participants in the educational process there is a great difference in the results. Thus, the need to investigate the professional preparation of future mathematics teachers for educational activities in a distance form of organization of the educational process is extremely interesting for us.

2 RESEARCH METHODS

The research work is carried out on the basis of the systematic approach as a methodological basis for studying pedagogical and social facts, phenomena, processes; the position of psychological and pedagogical science in the use of information and communication technologies in the educational process of educational institutions.

To solve the tasks set in the work such theoretical and general scientific methods were applied: the analysis of psychological and pedagogical, philosophical
databases on the problem of research to understand the state of development of the formation and development of the cloud-oriented systems of learning support, the identification of the research directions, the principles and approaches to the cloud-oriented systems of learning support; the analysis of existing standards and regulations on the use of digital services in the learning process and informatization of educational institutions; the generalization of the national and foreign experience in the use of digital services and technologies in the institutions of higher education to identify development trends, the clarification of the basic conceptual and terminological apparatus, establishing the conceptual foundations of the study; theoretical analysis, system analysis.

The empirical research methods were used to solve the set tasks: the experimental study of the use of cloud services in the institutions of higher education in Ukraine, the expert assessment of the results of the study, the monitoring of the initial activities with the use of cloud technologies in the educational activities.

3 LITERATURE REVIEW

The issue of using information and communication technologies, and cloud technologies in particular, in the process of professional training of future teachers of mathematics is the subject of active research of the scientists. We will consider in more detail some of those that are relevant to our research.

The professional preparation for the wide use of information and communication technologies in the educational activities of future mathematics teachers begins long before the entering the institution of higher education. Even during the study at the secondary general education institution, future mathematics teachers can extensively observe the forms and methods of using information and communication technologies. The research of the results of using information and communication technologies during the teaching in general secondary education institutions was presented by Vakaliuk et al. (Vakaliuk et al., 2020). The answer to question 13 of their survey is critical for our study: "Did any information and communication technology tools (curricula, multimedia, simulators, games, virtual laboratories, etc.) get used in the school/college by non-CS teachers?". Unfortunately, only 48.5% of respondents answered this question positively. The result suggests that every other future teacher has not acquired the necessary experience of using information and communication technologies in educational activities during his/her studies at a secondary general education institution. However, the variability at the time of answering question 14: "If the answer to the previous question is "Yes", in what lessons did the teachers use such tools?" (Vakaliuk et al., 2020)) indicate that some subject teachers, including teachers of language and literature, mathematics, physics, history, chemistry, biology and geography not only found the possibility of using information and communication technologies in teaching, but also that the use of these technologies was successful, otherwise they would not have been understood by the students. So, thanks to the introduction of information and communication technologies into the secondary school education system, future mathematics teachers are already occasionally familiar with the use of information and communication technologies in educational activities.

Let's review the approaches used in electronic education based on the results of the research by Proskura and Lytvynova (Proskura and Lytvynova, 2020) for Bachelors in Computer Science. The content analysis of the scientific paths of their colleagues and their own experience allowed the authors to develop "The Model of Web-based learning of Computer Science Bachelors" (see figure 1 in (Proskura and Lytvynova, 2020)). Considering such structural components as learning environment, web-oriented environment, control and evaluation unit, levels of students' educational achievements, the authors define the content of e-learning. E-learning components include cloud computing, working together classroom, web-automated knowledge validation systems and others. These components are realized through web technologies as a mean of data transport. Their appearance is conditioned by the presence of network technologies and they belong to the high quality services. Therefore, the need for the use of cloud services to support the training of future mathematics teachers is one of the current educational trends.

No less important for our research is the practice of online training of master's degree students in "Mathematics" for the practical training in universities. The research by Vlasenko et al. (Vlasenko et al., 2021) was focused on the organization of students' educational activities using the online course "Methods of Teaching Mathematics to Students of Technical Universities". The study examines the problems faced by the students during the internship in technical universities, and discusses the possibility of taking into account students' needs in developing the content of the course. This study provides a description of the activities of students while working on the course materials, requirements and recommendations to facilitate the learning process with the help of this course. The active participation of students and their contribution to the discussion of the course, its content, and their support of the learning process implies that the implementation of the online course and its integration into the training program for master's students will increase their readiness for the internship.

Markova et al. (Markova et al., 2015) conducted a general review of the use of cloud computing in educational activities. The authors made a historical analysis of the stages of using computer technology in education, starting with the study of the problems of providing computer services conducted by Alan O. Mann and to the prospects for the use of cloud technologies in education in accordance with the forecast of their development. Researchers came to the conclusion that the consolidation of established and promising cloud technologies in education requires scientific forecasting of the development of cloud technologies in education based on taking into account historical trends in the development of ICT.

The logical continuation of our study is to identify specific tools to support the professional training of future teachers of mathematics. The specificity of professional training is determined by the specificity of the field of science. The specificity of mathematics is in its abstractness. The research of Vlasenko et al. (Vlasenko et al., 2020) discuss the requirements to modern web-based online courses for training of future mathematics teachers. The authors analyzed the ways of mathematical text presentation through the peculiarities of its formation and creation of mathematical content with a focus on measure use.

The study by Zhaldak et al. (Zhaldak et al., 2021) discusses the use of mathematical technologies in cloud calculations using Remote Desktop Ulteo OVD. As an example, the researchers examined in detail some examples of using pedagogical software for the educational purposes called Gran1. In particular, the calculation of approximate value of the subsumed integral; the graphical solution of two-dimensional tasks, the so-called linear programming tasks; twodimensional problems including the convex programming - finding the highest value of a convex function (or the highest convex function) on a convex set of inequalities (including linear ones). However, the use in the educational process of any technology, including modern information and communication, as well as the content of the teaching must be pedagogically balanced, which will allow to avoid any negative influences on the formation of the personality of the future member of society, his mental and physical development.

Popel et al. (Popel et al., 2017) have investigated reasonable ways of using cloud systems to sup-

port student collaboration in mathematics courses. In particular, the researchers implemented a component based on SageMath that combines electronic resources for teaching several mathematical disciplines. They proposed a training methodology for using the SageMath in the training of educational personnel. In addition, the usefulness of implementing this methodology for the active development of innovative approaches, forms and methods of teaching mathematics using modern devices was proved. The experimental results of the implementation of the Sage-Math educational component and methods of its use which were developed in the course of the research are presented. The use of the proof-based method to improve the educational environment of the university, expand the possibilities of access to electronic teaching resources during mathematics teaching and involvement of the educational community into this process, as well as increasing their ICT competence is explained.

Shyshkina and Marienko (Shyshkina and Marienko, 2020) determined the content of necessary general skills and specific skills necessary for future mathematics teachers (see table 2 in (Shyshkina and Marienko, 2020)) based on professional functions and typical tasks that teachers of mathematics must be able to perform (see table 1 in (Shyshkina and Marienko, 2020)). The authors used Web-SCM CoCalc (SageMath) to conduct an experimental study that revealed the advantages of using the CoCalc cloud service in the professional training of prospective mathematics teachers.

Fedorenko et al. (Fedorenko et al., 2020) investigated the problem of studying virtual software through the use of cloud services. The results of this research had a positive result especially for the professional training of future mathematics teachers. Investigators have revealed the didactic capabilities of the cloud services, which allow you to run free software for mathematical orientation.

The GeoGebra environment is one of the most powerful systems of computer mathematics for dynamic visualization, calculations during problem solving, data processing and scientific and research work. Dubovyk and Rudnytskyi (Dubovyk and Rudnytskyi, 2022) have looked at the peculiarities of using the author's applets and other products of GeoGebra during the teaching of disciplines of differential geometry and linear algebra in the training of future mathematics teachers, in particular, their research describes the possibilities of using this tool to study the properties of space curves and to form practical skills and abilities to perform operations on matrices, finding the invertible matrices. The advantages and disadvantages of using the GeoGebra environment in the educational process of linear algebra and differential geometry are outlined.

Kholifah et al. (Kholifah et al., 2020) aimed to show how effective the use of blended learning model influences the learning motivation of vocational education students. The results obtained in the course of the research show that the use of the model of blended learning has a significant impact on the motivation of students of vocational education. Attard and Holmes (Attard and Holmes, 2020) investigated the willingness of teachers to use blended learning approaches. The study was conducted on teachers who taught mathematics classes in secondary schools. As a result of the study it was found that the use of technology expands the possibilities for students to study mathematics by providing multiple methods and access methods, and students can use mixed teaching approaches.

Kadirbayeva et al. (Kadirbayeva et al., 2022) have assessed the methods of using blended learning technology in school mathematics from the viewpoint of teachers. According to the results of the research, most mathematics teachers stated that the attitude of students to the mathematics lesson was ambiguous and negative. Most of the teachers who participated in the study stated that the combination of the wonderful characteristics of the classroom environment, the diversity of teaching and learning methods, the variety of teaching materials and increasing student success are the strengths of mathematics education in a mixed learning environment. Most teachers who participated in the study stated that a disadvantage of mathematics education in the mixed environment is the lack of educational programs suitable for mixed learning, the disadvantages of software and hardware that will be used in the course, and inability to use technology effectively and efficiently, and the learning environment.

4 RESEARCH RESULTS

The normative and regulatory documents that determine the content and organization of the educational process in institutions of higher education of Ukraine provide the main requirements for lectures. The implementation of these principles allows us to fully use the significant teaching and educational possibilities of this form of learning, to increase the impact of each lecture on the knowledge and feelings of the students. However, the lecture in some way trains the student to passive absorption of others' ideas, does not stimulate the desire for self-study, does not provide for an individualized, differentiated approach to learning. The leading role of the lecture in teaching disciplines associated with their contents aspect, organizing principles and methodological features. The main content consists of the central methodological, theoretical and practical problems. Not all questions of the topic are revealed, but the most important, the most essential, which require scientific discussion.

The pace of development of modern technologies significantly affects teaching methods and teaching models in general. This allows you to expand ways to implement the paradigm of competence in order to improve the quality of education. The model of blended learning has the greatest potential for optimizing the educational process. This model allows for the implementation of new technologies without disregarding the generally accepted teaching methods. Blended learning is a model for organizing the educational process because "it allows to increase the motivation of future teachers to learn, makes it transparent, interactive and guided, and ensures the constant involvement of students in the educational process" (Kukharenko, 2016) and continuous advancement of qualification. The aim of this form of learning is to combine the advantages of face-to-face learning and electronic educational resources through the combination of distance and traditional communication in an integrated educational activity. The integration of traditional and computer-based learning in the educational environment leads to a purposeful process of developing knowledge and skills and abilities in the classroom and post-attendance educational activities of the subjects of the educational process on the basis of the use of information and communication technologies. The existence of this form of learning is possible due to the effective combination of different ways of presenting educational content, teaching models and styles. It is based on the interaction between all participants in the educational process.

One of the forms of blended learning is implemented through Flipped Classroom. There are different ways of implementing the Flipped Classroom model, all of which are based on one basic principle: traditional learning takes place outside the classroom, while practical work and application of the acquired knowledge takes place in the classroom. In general, the essence of inverted learning lies in restructuring the key components of the educational process. With the help of this teaching model "the content of new educational material is mastered by oneself in the electronic environment, and then the acquired knowledge is used during practical lessons or discussions" (Hlazova et al., 2018).

The shortening of classroom hours (lectures,

workshops, seminars, laboratory classes) leads to a failure of the traditional logics of the educational process. This fact leads to loss of quality of teaching. One of the ways to "renew the balance of the educational process is to use the mixed teaching model with Flipped Classroom technology" (University of Queensland, 2017). In this case, the key components of the learning process change places: the basic components of the new material are studied independently at home, and in the classroom the studied material is consolidated and the more complex issues and practical use of the teaching information are discussed together with the tutor. The Flipped Classroom technology is characterized by the fact that the necessary "theoretical knowledge is acquired in the classroom, and in the classroom the individual tasks are performed or a group project is developed" (Pieri and Laici, 2017).

Flipped Classroom technology was used in the study of mathematical disciplines "Mathematical Logic and Theory of Algorithms" and "Elementary Mathematics" at the 3rd year of the Physics and Mathematics Faculty of the Donbas State Pedagogical University. Taking into account the fact that the students of the specialty "Secondary education (mathematics)" specialization "Informatics" at the 3rd year of study have significant experience of educational activities, and the level of self-awareness is already sufficient for the personal motivation to learn, it is not only logical, but also quite profitable to use the elements of Flipped Classroom technology. Moreover, this model of learning does not interfere with the educational program, in which the main part of the years is allocated for the students' self-directed work.

Based on the practical experience of use, the following structure of the approach to each individual topic was formed:

- 1. Formulation of the topic and the goal.
- 2. Identifying the place of the topic in the work program of the discipline.
- 3. Suggesting sources of information.
- 4. Definition of types and content of control.
- 5. Control and evaluation.

Implementing the Flipped Classroom technology while teaching the course "Mathematical Logic and Theory of Algorithms" it is advisable to consider the following topics:

- Boolean n-ary functions;
- Zhegalkin Polynomial;
- Complete systems of Boolean functions;
- Mathematical theories of the first order.

For each of the proposed topics identified a place in the work program and sources of information, selected the content of tasks for the control of the type.

For example, to study the topic "Boolean function systems" students receive the following information (table 1).

The main reason for the implementation of the Flipped Classroom model of teaching in the educational process of the university is the active cooperation between the students and the teacher and, as a result, increasing the success and motivation of the students. A special feature of this model is the possibility of using group classroom sessions where students can discuss key aspects of lecture materials, test their knowledge and interact with each other. The task of the teacher is to explain the problems, comment on the work of students. Thus, we came to the need to have in their arsenal of specialized mathematical platforms for collaborative work. Through the use of collaborative platforms, or even mathematical platforms that allow the exchange of output data, with the results of calculations or developed electronic educational resources for mathematics courses, we get a mechanism for organizing blended learning with Flipped Classroom technology for future mathematics teachers.

It is necessary to review the training tools for future teachers of mathematics, which implement the above-mentioned ideas. The CoCalc Cloud Platform (https://cocalc.com/) is part of the SageMath Project (https://www.sagemath.org/) developed by William A. Stein. The main idea is that currently there is a large number of open and complete mathematical software already developed but they are implemented in various programming languages. The SageMath project integrates all existing developments and adds its own, and integrates them with the Python language. The cloud service CoCalc provides the opportunity not only to work online with SageMath worksheets via Jupiter notepad, but also to use the La-TeX language for the design of documents. Merzlykin et al. (Merzlykin et al., 2022) investigated the capabilities of the CoCalc system for scientific and educational purposes and came to the following conclusions:

- the use of cloud services leads to the formation and development of forms of learning focused on collaborative learning activities on the Internet;
- cloud services can be used in the training of mathematics teachers as tools: communication; collaboration; storage and processing of data.

An example of supporting the process of professional training of future teachers of mathematics is the use of computer-based mathematics systems in

Topic	Complete Systems of Boolean Functions
Purpose	To learn the concepts of classes of functions that store zero, functions that store one unit, self-
	similar functions, monotonic and linear functions. To define the criteria of totality.
The sources of information (self-selection of sources of information is encouraged)	 Similar functions, monotonic and linear functions. To define the criteria of totality. Borodkina I. Teoriia alhorytmiv. Posibnyk dlia studentiv vyshchykh navchalnykh zakladiv. (A guide for students of higher educational institutions.) K.: Tsentr navchalnoi literatury, 2019. 184 p. Zubenko V.V., Shkilniak S.S. Osnovy matematychnoi lohika: navchalnyi posibnyk. (The Fundamentals of Mathematical Logic: A Tutorial.) K.: NUBiP Ukrainy, 2020. 102 p. Kaidan N.V., Pashchenko Z.D. Metodychni vkazivky do praktychnykh zaniat z kursu "Matematychna lohika ta teoriia alhorytmiv". Rozdil "Matematychna lohika" dlia spetsialnosti 014 Serednia osvita (Matematyka) (The methodological guidelines for practical exercises in the course "Mathematical Logic and Theory of Algorithms". Section "Mathematical Logic" for the specialty 014 Secondary Education (Mathematics)). Sloviansk: Vyd B. I. Matorina, 2019. 92 p. Matviienko M.P., Shapovalov S.P. Matematychna lohika ta teoriia alhorytmiv : navchalnyi posibnyk. (Mathematical Logic and Theory of Algorithms: A Manual.) Kyiv : Lira-K, 2018. 211 p. Rosen K.H. et al. Handbook of Discrete and Combinatorial Mathematics. 2000. 1183 p. Discrete Mathematics. Lecture: Completeness criterion of a Boolean function system. Access mode: https://cutt.ly/JJaHyNj "Collect the Crystals" game simulator. Access mode: https://cutt.ly/OJaHK3c Simulator for Minimizing Logic Functions by the Ouine-McCluskey Method. Access
	 A Simulator for Minimizing Logic Functions by the Quine-McCluskey Method. Access mode: https://cutt.ly/hJaH49v
	• Creating the Truth Table. PDNF. PCNF. Zhegalkin polynomial. Access mode: https://cutt.ly/IJaJqzR
	• Truth table. Access mode: https://cutt.ly/3JaJufo
Types of control	Test for the comprehension of the material (carried out remotely during class time), individual assignment to determine the completeness of the system
Date of control	Conducting a self-study test

Table 1: Information resources of the topic.

the form of cloud services. One of these free services is Math Partner, available at http://mathpar.com. This service allows you to create your own cloud math "Workbook", in which the user performs the necessary mathematical calculations. To ensure quality and comfortable work this service provides access to a large amount of guidance material with examples. The language of this service is Mathpar, based on TeX, a widely used by mathematicians specialpurpose data layout language developed by Donald Knuth. There is a possibility to save both the statement of the problem and its solutions. You can save both textual and pictorial views. Although for studying mathematical logic Math Partner system does not contain expanded functions, the basic logical operations the system is able to process (figure 1).

In particular, Math Partner allows you to efficiently perform such common tasks as finding the shortest distances between all vertices of the graph (\searchLeastDistances(A)) and finding the shortest path between vertices (\findTheShortestPath(A,i,j)). It should be noted that this service is convenient to use for checking your own connections, because it gives the answer itself, without access to the intermediate results of the calculations.

The Graph Online service https://graphonline.ru/ en/), which is available under the MIT License, is designed for graph visualization and execution of algorithms on the created graph. The graph is created using the complexity matrix or the incident matrix. Besides searching for the shortest path, you can also search for the connectivity component. The service

MATH PARTNER	Hor	ne	Workbook	Help
1286 / 1365MB	*	▶) ≭ +	
Space R64[x,y,z,t] •		fo	r(A=0;A)	\leq 1; $A = A + 1)$
Symbols -		{ fo	r(B=0; B	< 1; B = B + 1)
ts, inequalities, Boolean operators \bullet ∞ \emptyset \cup \backslash \triangle $'$ \cap (a,b) $[a,b) \ge \neq = \le$ $\Leftrightarrow \implies$ Other symbols \bullet		{ fo { F p	r(C = 0; C) = $(A \lor B)$ 8 rint (A, B, C)	$\leq 1; C = C + 1)$ $\leq (B \lor C) \& \neg (A \& B)$ $\langle F \rangle;$
Greek lowercase + Greek uppercase +		}} ou	} t:	. ,.
mbers, polynomials × Matrices ×		$A \\ B$	= 0 = 0	
Functions •		C	= 0 - 0	
raphics and tables 🔹		P A	= 0 = 0	
Files 🔻		В	= 0	
Cluster -		C	= 1	

Figure 1: Calculation of logical function values in the Math Partner system.

supports work with directed graphs (digraphs) and non-directed graphs. You can save the result of the work, i.e. the generated graph, and continue working on it later. In addition, the cloud service Graph Online gives the user a number of additional functions to make the work easier. Graph saving and loading is available with maintenance of visual representation, quick conversion between all supported types, vertex, arc, background, constructor mode, etc.

Let us demonstrate the application of the presented services when solving the problem of finding the shortest distances between graph vertices, which are often encountered in practice. It is clear that for the possibility to find the shortest distances at least one path from vertex 0 to each other vertex must exist, i.e. the graph must be connected. For this problem the most well-known connectivity algorithm is the Dijkstra's algorithm. The idea of this algorithm is that at first each vertex other than vertex 0 is given a distance equal to $+\infty$, and then we decrease these distances step by step until we find the minimum distance d(v)and the shortest path p(v) for each vertex v.

Problem statement: In an arbitrary graph G = (V, E), the set of vertices $V = \{0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5\}$, and the set of edges *E* is given by a matrix of weights:

$$E = \begin{pmatrix} - & 8 & 7 & - & 10 & 12 \\ 8 & - & 5 & 1 & 4 & - \\ 7 & 5 & - & 3 & - & 4 \\ - & 1 & 3 & - & 2 & 1 \\ 10 & 4 & - & 2 & - & 3 \\ 12 & - & 4 & 1 & 3 & - \end{pmatrix}$$

Use Dijkstra's algorithm to build a spanning tree

Table 2: The progress of the Dijkstra algorithm.

	1	2	3	4	5
ĺ	8	7	10	10	12
			9		11
					10
	0; 1	0; 2	0; 2; 3	0; 4	0; 5
			0; 1; 3		0; 2; 5
					0; 1; 3; 5

of the shortest paths from vertex 0 to all other vertices of graph *G* and find the shortest distances.

Solution: Let's show the progress of the Dijkstra's algorithm in the table 2.

During the execution of the Dijkstra's algorithm, the vertices were in this order: 2, 1, 3, 4, 5. Thus, the shortest distance to vertex 1 is 8, d(2) = 7, d(3) = 9, d(4) = 10, d(5) = 10. The shortest path to vertex 1 is 0.1; p(2) = 0.2; p(3) = 0.1.3; p(4) = 0.4; p(5) = 0.1.3.5. Figure 2 shows these shortest paths in the form of a tree.



Figure 2: The spanning tree of the shortest paths from vertex 0 to all other vertices of graph G.

With the Math Partner service, we have the opportunity to check the correctness of the results in figure 3. But the visualization of the graph is better performed by Graph Online in figure 4.

The Robert Coleman SA403_FY17 project (https: //cutt.ly/PKp7bJ4) on the CoCalc platform includes the implementation of popular graph algorithms. In particular, Dijkstra's algorithm was implemented (https://cutt.ly/FKp7eLy). Thus, we can conclude that during the professional training of mathematics teachers, the use of various cloud services is not only possible but also appropriate.

The students of the 2nd-4th years of Secondary Education (Mathematics) at the Faculty of Physics and Mathematics of the Donbas State Pedagogical University were repeatedly interviewed (the first one was described in the study (Velychko et al., 2021)) in order to find out what means of computer teaching are



Figure 3: The shortest distances from the vertex 0 to all other vertices of graph G in the Math Partner service.

Graph Online

shortest path

aph and find the shortest path. On the Help page you will f





Figure 4: The visualization of the graph G and the shortest distance from the vertex 0 to the vertex 5 of the graph G in the Graph Online service.

used by future mathematics teachers in the process of their professional training, including during the selfstudy activity. A total of 80 students were involved in the survey (in the first one -120 respondents). We asked the respondents the following questions:

- 1. Have you used electronic educational resources during your studies?
- 2. Did you use the cloud services during the study period?
- 3. Did you use the cloud services during self-study activities?
- 4. If the answer to the 2nd or 3rd question is positive, then what cloud services did you use?
- 5. If the answer to the second and third questions is negative, what kinds of software did you use during the training?

We received the following results:

- 100% positive result on the first question. This result indicates that future mathematics teachers understand the concept of "electronic educational resources" without regard to their diversity.
- The second question was answered positively by 92% of respondents (in the first survey -82%). The result of the answer to the second question shows that not all respondents identify the concept of a cloud service. We reached this conclusion during the discussion of the results of the survey with the respondents since during the practical exercises that we described in the study all the students were involved in the use of cloud services.
- 76% of respondents (46% in the first survey) responded positively to our third question. This number is a good result of self-awareness activities.

The answer to the fourth question is shown in the figure 5.

It should be noted that there was a significant outpacing of cloud communication services due to quarantine measures caused by COVID-19 pandemic and cloud file-saving and collaborative work servers. In comparison with the first study, tools for creating infographics and interactive presentations appeared. A positive result of the study is an increased use of mathematical cloud services. The answer to our question 5 is shown in figure 6.

By comparing the results of the study with those described in the publication "The support of the process of training pre-service mathematics teachers by means of cloud services" (Velychko et al., 2021) we get both quantitative and qualitative changes. First of all, the respondents not only expanded their knowledge of cloud technologies, but also expanded their use in their own teaching activities. Software on the





Figure 6: Software tools used by future mathematics teachers.

desktop system as well as on mobile systems has a greater focus on learning, the advantages are given to the available software. Respondents' responses are more demanding compared to the previous one. As before, special software for mathematical purposes is not used as often as desired, however, the rate of its use is increasing.

5 CONCLUSIONS

The learning process at a high school is implemented within a diverse and integral system of organizational forms and teaching methods. Each form carries out its own specific task, but the totality of forms and methods of learning creates a single didactic complex, the functioning of which is consistent with the specific psychological and pedagogical laws of the educational process. The advantages of the cloud services lead to their widespread use in educational activities. Experience gained in implementing cloud technologies in educational activities make it possible to begin to analyze the work carried out – what results were obtained, which are the best practices of their use. Quarantine restrictions and the rapid transition to e-learning has led to the creation of electronic educational resources, development of methods of elearning, in which the cloud services play a significant role.

The results of the research allow us to conclude that cloud technology is used in the process of teaching mathematics in secondary schools. Future mathematics teachers have the opportunity to use cloud technology during their professional training. Modern cloud technologies have a wide range of use in mathematics education. The training of future mathematics teachers has begun to be based on new teaching tools and technologies.

The next step of the research is the accumulation of empirical data on the use of cloud computing in the process of professional training of future teachers of informatics and software for applied orientation. We have analyzed the trends in the use of cloud computing and software of mathematical orientation both during the professional training of future mathematics teachers and during the professional activities of practicing mathematics teachers. The problem of harmonious combination of digital technology and classical methods of mathematics learning, even in modern pedagogical teaching technology, is not solved. In our opinion, the feasibility of reduction of computing operations through the use of information technologies in opposition to the loss of skills of operational competence is interesting.

REFERENCES

- Attard, C. and Holmes, K. (2020). An exploration of teacher and student perceptions of blended learning in four secondary mathematics classrooms. *Mathematics Education Research Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13394-020-00359-2.
- Dubovyk, V. and Rudnytskyi, S. (2022). Using GeoGebra environment to visualize educational material in the process of training pre-service mathematics teachers. *Physical and Mathematical Education*, 34(2):33–37. https://doi.org/10.31110/ 2413-1571-2022-034-2-005.
- Fedorenko, E. H., Velychko, V. Y., Omelchenko, S. O., and Zaselskiy, V. I. (2020). Learning free software using cloud services. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:487–499. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.387.
- Hamaniuk, V., Semerikov, S., and Shramko, Y. (2022). ICHTML 2022 - Education under attack. SHS Web Conf., 142:00001. https://doi.org/10.1051/shsconf/ 202214200001.
- Hlazova, V. V., Kaidan, N. V., and Kaidan, V. P. (2018). Practical use of remote training elements and methods of "flipped classroom" at professional training of future computer science teachers. In Ostenda, A., Ekkert, M., and Mikos, P., editors, *Information and innovation technologies in education*, volume 19 of *Series of monographs Faculty of Architecture, Civil Engineering and Applied Art*, pages 192–199, Katowice. Wydawnictwo Wyższej Szkoły Technicznej w Katowicach. http://www.wydawnictwo.wst.pl/uploads/files/ b36a49544b9f35584d39768fddc393b2.pdf.
- Kadirbayeva, R., Pardala, A., Alimkulova, B., Adylbekova, E., Zhetpisbayeva, G., and Jamankarayeva, M. (2022).

Methodology of application of blended learning technology in mathematics education. *Cypriot Journal of Educational Science*, 17(4):1117–1129. https://doi.org/10.18844/cjes.v17i4.7159.

- Kholifah, N., Sudira, P., Rachmadtullah, R., Nurtanto, M., and Suyitno, S. (2020). The Effectiveness of Using Blended Learning Models Against Vocational Education Student Learning Motivation. *International Journal of Advanced Trends in Computer Science and Engineering*, 9(5):7964–7968. https://doi.org/10.30534/ ijatcse/2020/151952020.
- Kukharenko, V. M., editor (2016). Teoriia ta praktyka zmishanoho navchannia [Theory and practice of blended learning]. Miskdruk, NTU "KhPI", Kharkiv. http: //repository.ldufk.edu.ua/handle/34606048/24840.
- Markova, O. M., Semerikov, S. O., and Striuk, A. M. (2015). The cloud technologies of learning: Origin. Information Technologies and Learning Tools, 46(2):29–44. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt. v46i2.1234.
- Merzlykin, P., Marienko, M., and Shokaliuk, S. (2022). Co-Calc Tools as a Means of Open Science and Its Didactic Potential in the Educational Process. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2020), volume 1, pages 109–118. SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/ 0010921000003364.
- Pieri, M. and Laici, C. (2017). The Flipped Classroom approach in the "Avanguardie Educative" Movement. *Italian Journal of Educational Technology*, 25(3):55– 66. https://doi.org/10.17471/2499-4324/948.
- Popel, M., Shokalyuk, S. V., and Shyshkina, M. (2017). The Learning Technique of the SageMathCloud Use for Students Collaboration Support. In Ermolayev, V., Bassiliades, N., Fill, H., Yakovyna, V., Mayr, H. C., Kharchenko, V. S., Peschanenko, V. S., Shyshkina, M., Nikitchenko, M. S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer, ICTERI 2017, Kyiv, Ukraine, May 15-18, 2017, volume 1844 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 327–339. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-1844/10000327.pdf.
- Proskura, S. L. and Lytvynova, S. H. (2020). The approaches to web-based education of computer science bachelors in higher education institutions. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:609–625. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.416.
- Shyshkina, M. P. and Marienko, M. V. (2020). The use of the cloud services to support the math teachers training. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:690–704. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.419.
- University of Queensland (2017). Flipped classroom project (OLT). https://www.pinterest.com.au/pin/ 258534834836373906/.
- Vakaliuk, T. A., Antoniuk, D. S., and Soloviev, V. N. (2020). The state of ICT implementation in institutions of general secondary education: a case of Ukraine. CTE

Workshop Proceedings, 7:119–133. https://doi.org/10. 55056/cte.316.

- Velychko, V. Y. and Fedorenko, E. G. (2020). Organization of educational activities on microlearning technology during the COVID-19 pandemic. *eLearning TeXnology*, 4:67–75. https://doi.org/10.31865/ 2709-840002020222557.
- Velychko, V. Y., Fedorenko, E. H., Kaidan, N. V., Soloviev, V. N., and Bondarenko, O. V. (2021). The support of the process of training pre-service mathematics teachers by means of cloud services. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 8:318–332. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte. 265.
- Vlasenko, K., Lovianova, I., Chumak, O., Sitak, I., and Achkan, V. (2021). The arrangement of on-line training of master students, majoring in Mathematics for internship in technical universities. *Journal* of Physics: Conference Series, 1840:012007. https: //doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1840/1/012007.
- Vlasenko, K. V., Volkov, S. V., Kovalenko, D. A., Sitak, I. V., Chumak, O. O., and Kostikov, A. A. (2020). Web-based online course training higher school mathematics teachers. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:648–661. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte. 420.
- Zhaldak, M. I., Franchuk, V. M., and Franchuk, N. P. (2021). Some applications of cloud technologies in mathematical calculations. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840(1):012001. https://doi.org/10. 1088/1742-6596/1840/1/012001.

Using of Resource Sources of Interactive Semantic Networks in Offline Translator Training

Rostyslav O. Tarasenko¹[®]^a, Svitlana M. Amelina¹[®]^b, Serhiy O. Semerikov^{2,3,4}[®]^c and Vasyl D. Shynkaruk¹[®]^d

¹National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine, 15 Heroiv Oborony Str., Kyiv, 03041,Ukraine ²Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine

³Kryvyi Rih National University, 11 Vitalii Matusevych Str., Kryvyi Rih, 50027, Ukraine

⁴Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the NAES of Ukraine, 9 M. Berlynskoho Str., Kyiv, 04060, Ukraine r_tar@nubip.edu.ua, svetlanaamelina@ukr.net, semerikov@gmail.com, vashyn@nubip.edu.ua

- Keywords: Interactive Semantic Network, Terminology Resources, Terminology Databases, Autonomous Learning, Translator.
- Abstract: The article focuses on the use of resource sources of interactive semantic networks in translator training, particularly during offline and autonomous learning due to lockdown and martial law situations. The most common external terminology resources associated with interactive semantic networks are identified. The technology of selection and structuring of specialised terminology on the basis of interactive semantic networks for their further use in the study of foreign languages and mastering automated translation systems has been developed and proposed. The criteria for creating and supplementing terminological databases with appropriate structuring of the domain terminology selected on the basis of interactive semantic networks have been defined, namely universality, structurability, convertibility, extensibility. The possibility of further use of terminology bases for foreign language learning using mobile applications, mastering Computer Aided Translation (CAT) systems, mastering Computer Aided Interpretation (CAI) are outlined. Based on the experimental construction of an individual interactive semantic network based on external terminology resources, positive results are stated and directions for further research activities to strengthen the technological training of prospective translators are identified.

1 INTRODUCTION

In a changing world at the beginning of the 21st century, education is also changing rapidly. Learning is now seen as a lifelong process that is essential for adapting to new environments, and therefore for ensuring personal economic and social success. Such learning implies that people have to 'learn to learn'. Consequently, providing students with the knowledge and skills to enable them to manage their own educational process effectively becomes one of the aims of higher education. During the evolution of the education system, the issue of autonomy has become one of the main themes of language education research, and in the context of recent global developments (the coronavirus pandemic, COVID-19, restrictive quarantine measures and lockdowns, the transition to distance learning) it has become particularly relevant.

At the same time, the new format of the educational process puts forward new requirements regarding the ways of realising learning objectives, methods of learning communication and teacher-student interaction, means of ensuring the effectiveness of learning subjects and achieving the programme learning outcomes envisaged in the standards and curricula for training specialists, including translators. Both in terms of learning activities and in terms of the future work of translators, technological training is becoming increasingly important. The present is forcing, on the one hand, a strengthening of the technological aspects of university translator training and, on the other hand, a rethinking of the organisational forms of training, the search for appropriate means, the combination of students' independent mastering of individual study materials with the technologicalization of the

390

Tarasenko, R., Amelina, S., Semerikov, S. and Shynkaruk, V.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6258-2921

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6008-3122

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0789-0272

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8589-4995

Using of Resource Sources of Interactive Semantic Networks in Offline Translator Training.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 390-405 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

educational process. Using elements of augmented and virtual reality can meet such complex objective requirements of the current situation.

2 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

An analysis of the psycho-pedagogical literature has shown that there has recently been increased interest in certain aspects of autonomous learning by both domestic and foreign researchers in different fields of science. Benson (Benson, 2005), noting the recent increased attention to learning autonomy and self-organised learning, including in foreign language learning, emphasised the importance of different levels of student autonomy in distance learning. Cotterall (Cotterall, 2000) identified five principles on which a stand-alone language course should be based and attributed them to learners' goals; language learning process; theory - task, design; learners' strategies; reflection on learning. Hurd et al. (Hurd et al., 2001) emphasise one of the main problems of autonomy in distance learning, which in their view is the difficulty of selecting learning material for students to learn independently. This decision is complicated by two factors. On the one hand, in order to be successful in the programme, students must develop a number of strategies and skills that will allow them to work individually. At the same time, the syllabus of an academic course has a definite structure in which the scope, pace and content of the syllabus are determined by the teacher. Exploring the notion of autonomy in distance language learning, scholars have identified some of the skills that distance learners need to achieve successful outcomes. Similar views are held by Murphy (Murphy, 2006), who emphasizes that the success of autonomy in distance learning depends largely on the teaching materials, and demonstrates the role of the teacher in the process of autonomy in the language distance-learning programme of The Open University in the UK.

While considering the organisation of autonomous language learning, scholars have also explored the possibilities of using information technologies in this process. In highlighting the changes in educational philosophy reflected in the theory of language learning, Pemberton et al. (Pemberton et al., 1996) noted the need to adapt to the rapid changes in the areas of technology, communications, and the labour market and to realise that the ability to learn is now more important than knowledge. In his view, it is advisable to take full advantage of the opportunities for expanding educational services that come with the development of technologies. In this context, it should be noted that foreign scholars and practitioners are increasingly hoping for the integration of augmented reality elements into the training of university programmes in philology and translation. Indiana University, in particular, has initiated one such project, which involves the multidimensional deployment of elements of AR technology that can meet precisely the specific needs of these programmes in the form of individual modules: "We plan on compiling the following learning modules 1) listening comprehension; 2) pronunciation practice; 3) animated 2D and 3D vocabulary introduction; 4) vocabulary quizzes; 5) roleplay dialogues where students interact with an avatar and 6) videos with cultural content, geography, and history. In contrast to other digital technologies available at IU, such as embedded videos in Canvas, we will be able to bring real objects into language classrooms, such as cultural artifacts, culinary samples, maps and other objects, and connect them virtually to an augmented world" (Scrivner et al., 2016).

According to Reinders (Reinders, 2006), in order to provide students with easy access to learning materials during offline foreign language learning, it is advisable to create an appropriate e-learning environment. The main aim is to support students in their self-directed learning by structuring self-study by providing a recommended sequence of steps, providing students with information on learning strategies and conducting electronic monitoring of student work, with advice if necessary (Reinders, 2006; Scharle and Szabó, 2000).

Researchers whose academic work is related to foreign language teaching point out that special attention should be paid to the development of students' responsibility; otherwise, the learning process will not be successful (Scharle and Szabó, 2000). I. Moore even points out that student autonomy begins with students taking responsibility for both the process and the results of their learning: "In doing this: They can identify their learning goals (what they need to learn), their learning processes (how they will learn it), how they will evaluate and use their learning; they have well-founded conceptions of learning, they have a range of learning approaches and skills, they can organize their learning, they have good information processing skills, they are well motivated to learn" (Moore, 2010).

Little (Little, 2002) considers it likely that in the next few years much of the research on student autonomy will focus on the impact of autonomous learning, particularly when learning a foreign language, on everyone involved – students, teachers and educational systems in general. According to the researcher, the role of the teacher is to create and support a learning environment in which students can be autonomous. The development of their learning skills cannot be completely separated from the learning content, since learning how to learn a foreign language differs from learning other courses in some important respects.

At the same time, as the above list of issues examined by scholars from various countries shows, autonomous learning, in particular the learning of foreign languages, is associated by many with the using information technologies and the search for new approaches, not the least of which are nowadays augmented, virtual and mixed reality (Liu et al., 2017). Yagcioglu (Yagcioglu, 2015), focusing his research on new approaches to student autonomy in language learning, relies on UNESCO's declared role of information and communication technologies in learning: "Information and communication technology (ICT) can complement, enrich and transform education for the better" (UNESCO, 2022). Some academics, while extremely appreciative of the potential of augmented and virtual reality in learning, have expressed concerns about whether the education system is ready for the fundamental changes in the educational process that arise from these technologies, or even their elements. Ochoa (Ochoa, 2016) sees augmented and virtual reality as a new challenge for education.

The use of terminology resources is an important support both for training (face-to-face, remote, offline) and for the professional work of translators. It should be noted that, appreciating the importance of correct use and unification of terminology, the European Commission has created a specific database of terminology tools and resources (KCI, 2022). More recently, scholars have noted that the creation of terminological resources should aim at the possibility of using them during both human and machine translation: "In a globalised society, terminological dictionaries – including resources such as knowledge and terminological databases, ontologies, wordnets, "traditional" dictionaries, etc. – should comply with both human and machine needs" (Roche et al., 2019).

Given the importance of the factors for organising offline foreign language learning identified in the reviewed studies (students' motivation, choice and access to learning material, skills and strategies for offline learning, use of information technology, AR technology), we consider it advisable to introduce the use of augmented reality elements in this process, which can provide the above aspects. In previous studies to determine the possibilities of using AR technology in the process of learning a foreign language, a number of advantages of using elements of this technology have been identified: the involvement of different channels of information perception, the integrity of the representation of the studied object, faster and better memorization of new vocabulary, etc. (Tarasenko et al., 2020b). The study of a certain section of a foreign language's vocabulary – domain-specific terminology – is relevant both for specialists studying a foreign language and for translators who plan to translate the field. Therefore, continuing our research, we will focus on autonomous learning activities using AR technology in terminology work, which is the initial phase for several possible directions of further development of the educational process – language learning, scientific and technical translation, mastering automated translation systems (Tarasenko et al., 2020a).

The *purpose* of this paper is to consider the possibility of using interactive semantic networks as elements of augmented reality in the process of autonomous learning to improve the technological training of translators in the aspect of creating domain-specific terminology bases for their further use in foreign language learning and mastering automated translation systems.

3 RESULT AND DISCUSSION

Translation education at the current stage necessarily involves technological training of translators, which aims to develop competencies in the use of modern tools and techniques of translation, based on the use of information technologies. An important part of this training is for translators to acquire skills in working with electronic terminology resources, such as searching, structuring, storing, using terminology in computer-assisted translation (CAT) systems, computer-assisted interpreting (CAI) systems, interactive foreign language learning systems and the like. The search for effective technological training for translators is becoming increasingly urgent, but is complicated by the emergence of new tools and the rapid growth of their number. At the same time, there is a trend towards the increasing use of cloud services and online resources. All this makes it necessary to constantly update the content of the educational programme components. One of the ways of solving this problem could be the implementation of augmented reality elements into the educational process. The application of augmented reality (AR - augmented reality) technology will allow students to find and obtain the necessary information more quickly, which can be presented in symbolic, audio, graphic or animated form (Amelina et al., 2022). The use of such technology will be particularly effective in off-line learning, as its peculiarity is the absence of constant direct contact with the teacher and, consequently, the possible complications of acquiring certain knowledge. This necessitates a search for augmented reality technologies that were primarily aimed at building professional skills, particularly in the case of autonomous learning for translators in their technological training.

3.1 Technology for Selecting and Structuring Domain-Specific Terminology Based on Interactive Semantic Networks

One of the options for using augmented reality elements in the technological training of translators can be developed by us the technology of selecting and structuring domain-specific terminology based on interactive semantic networks for their further use in the study of foreign languages and mastering automated translation systems. A schema of this technology based on interactive semantic networks is shown in figure 1. This technology is designed to be used in the learning process by undergraduate students who have already acquired the skills of working with CAT and CAI (Tarasenko and Amelina, 2020). In developing it, we used existing interactive semantic networks, which are new online services and have only become available for use in the last few years. In particular, one such service has been developed in the framework of the EU Terminology as a Service (TaaS) project. The goal of the TaaS project was to provide operational access to up-to-date terms based on the exchange of multilingual terminology data and to create effective mechanisms for the reuse of terminology resources.

According to the developed technology (figure 1), the initial step is to use interactive semantic networks for the selection and structuring of domain terminology, which consists in the possibility of defining a semantic field within a certain domain to identify terminological entities for integration in the terminological database of the respective domain. In this case, to initialise the algorithm for the student's construction of his/her individual semantic network, he/she only needs to decide on any source term that relates to the domain with which he/she plans to work on the basis of the created terminological base. This term is entered into the relevant elements of the interface and a hierarchical structure of the semantic field with multi-level relationships between its elements is formed around it by means of the search engine of the interactive semantic network. In this way, the student is at the outset provided with a defined set of directions, each of which opens up a separate terminology pathway. At the same time, the system provides easy and clear visual identification of the elements in their hierarchical order and the different types of links between them. Figure 2 shows the initial phase of building a personalised interactive semantic network based on the source term "genetics".

Further action should be taken by the student to develop the semantic network in one or more directions that are appropriate for his or her individual task. The types of links between the elements of the network, which indicate the hierarchical relationship between them, can help the student to decide on the appropriate direction. In particular, the system can automatically establish four types of such links: exact, broader, narrower, related. The exact type of link means that it is an exact match or synonymy. In terms of moving along the development of a network with such a link, the system can provide additional opportunities to obtain search results in the form of related terms. Using the network development direction of the broader link, the student will be able to further search for terms at a higher hierarchical level of concepts and move to related domains, which will contribute to his/her understanding of the integrity of a particular domain. A 'narrower' link will allow the student to build a network in the narrower direction of the field and access a list of terms that under other circumstances he/she might have obtained after a lengthy search in the relevant reference books. This is an important aspect of using such online networks, given that the translator is usually not an expert in a particular domain and therefore cannot have a detailed understanding of the terminological vocabulary of that domain.

3.2 Resource Sources for Terminological Support for Interactive Semantic Networks

However, working with an interactive semantic web to find relevant terms can be effective not only in the direction of using the appropriate type of links between the network elements in a visualised mode, but also when using a system of interactive links to relevant terminology resource repositories. This can be used if a student is interested in a specific terminological element in a semantic network schema. When it is highlighted, the system identifies and generates a link to one so-called original site whose information better answers the created query. In most cases, the system identifies three main resources as original sites:

• the Agricultural Information Management Stan-



Figure 1: The scheme of technology for selecting and structuring domain-specific terminology based on interactive semantic networks for further use in foreign language learning and mastering computer assisted translation systems.



Figure 2: Initial phase of creating a personalised interactive semantic network based on the source term "genetics".

dards (AIMS) portal of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), • the UNESCO Thesaurus, which is a structured list of terms used for subject analysis and searching

http://aims.fao. genetics	org/aos/agrovoc/c_3222			
Property	Value	prefLabel	altLabel	Lang
rdf:type	skos:Concept	علم الوراثة		ar
skos:inScheme	http://aims.fao.org/aos/agrovoc http://aims.fao.org/aos/agrovoc/conceptScheme_7a97495f	genetika Genetik		cs de
skos:broader	http://aims.fao.org/aos/agrovoc/c_925	genetics		en
	http://aims.fao.org/aos/agrovoc/c_34327	Genética		es
	http://aims.fao.org/aos/agrovoc/c_92382	ژشیک	علم زنتيك	fa
	nttp://aims.fao.org/aos/agrovoc/c_27577	génétique		fr
	http://aims.fao.org/aos/agrovoc/c_2089	आनवांशिकी		hi
skos:narrower	http://aims.fao.org/aos/agrovoc/c_49985	genetika		hu
	http://aims.fao.org/aos/agrovoc/c_24037	Genetica		it
	http://aims.rao.org/aos/agrovoc/c_331345	遺伝学		ia
	http://aims.fao.org/aos/agrovoc/ab1380d7	요저하		ko
	http://aims.fao.org/aos/agrovoc/c_34326	ท่อมหนังเดียงขอ		lo
	http://linkeddata.ge.imati.cnr.it:2020/resource/EARTh/73290	Genetyka		nl
	http://eurovoc.europa.eu/5651	Genética		pt
skos:exactMatch	http://lod.asis.org/these2/concent/10042870	генетика		nu
	http://cat.aii.caas.cn/concept/53497	genetika		sk
	http://www.eionet.europa.eu/gemet/concept/3633	พันธศาสตร์		th
	http://d-nb.info/gnd/40/1/11-2	遗传学		zh
skos:closeMatch	http://dbpedia.org/resource/Genetics	genetik bilimi	kalıtımbilim	tr
ckos: broadMatch	http://par.aii.org/nici/to/12940	జనుణానం		te
skostbroadmateri	http://daims.fao.org/aos/agr/yoo/c/_34af5401	ຄາຍົາດ້າວ		ka
skos:related	http://aims.fao.org/aos/agrovoc/c_43edf424	genetică		го
	http://aims.fao.org/aos/agrovoc/c_78324e1e	генетика		uk
		genetikk		nb

Figure 3: Agricultural Information Management Standards Portal (AIMS) page.

for documents and publications in the fields of education, culture, natural, social and human sciences, communication and information,

 the classification system of international standard nomenclature for the fields of science and technology.

It is important to note that all of these resources support a specific model of knowledge organisation for the World Wide Web, the so-called Simple Knowledge Organisation System (SKOS). This knowledge organisation system greatly facilitates interoperability between different information systems by standardising thesauri, classification systems, taxonomies and subject header systems.

The approaches to the use of these resources differ significantly. In particular, the peculiarity of using the AIMS portal is that in the initial phase of its use, in addition to providing specific information about a particular term, in particular the creation of a list of its entries in different languages, a hierarchical structure of URL links to the sites of a number of libraries, thesauruses, dictionaries, etc. where available terminological resources have a certain relation to the term for which the query is formed (figure 3) is also generated.

An extremely important feature of this portal is the hierarchical structure of the URL links, which allows students to consciously determine the further steps to take in order to find the necessary information about the relevant term. In particular, all links are concentrated into categories: broader, narrower, exactMatch, closeMatch, broadMatch, related. By organising the resource links into these categories, translators can focus their efforts on the resources that are of most interest to them in the context of their particular assignment. The exactMatch category is by far the most interesting as it groups the resources where you can find the most accurate information on a given term. However, the closeMatch category can also be interesting, as the resources offered there can significantly enhance the understanding of the nature of a term and its application and translation terms. Overall, the AIMS portal offers more than twenty of the world's leading terminology repositories, whose resources are very powerful. A list of the main ones is given in table 1.

An important resource that the Interactive Semantic Web uses as original sites in the initial search for information about a certain term is the UNESCO Thesaurus. It contains a verified and structured list of terms covering a rather broad thematic list in the branches of the different sciences - natural sciences, social sciences and humanities. Terms in the fields of information and communication and education are also presented. Structurally, the thesaurus is divided into seven main thematic areas, which in turn are divided into microthesauri. This clear hierarchical structure allows a quick understanding of the essence of the individual concepts and the connections between them. Each term is accompanied by an explanation of its meaning, which helps to avoid mistakes in its use, and the designation of the number and name of the microthesaurus to which it belongs. When available, synonyms of varying degrees of approximation to the meaning of the term are also indicated. These can be so-called broad, narrow or related concepts. A broad term is represented as a reference to a terminological element that is one level higher in the thesaurus structure. A narrow term, on the other hand, is reflected through a reference to a terminological element one level lower in the thesaurus structure. Related terms are essentially related concepts.

	e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e
The name of the online terminology resource	Support and accompaniment
GEMET (General Multilingual Environmental Thesaurus)	European Topic Centre on Catalogue of Data
	Sources (ETC/CDS) and the European
	Environment Agency (EEA)
The National Agricultural Library's	United States government
Agricultural Thesaurus and glossary	
IATE (Interactive Terminology for Europe)	European Union
TAUS (The language data Network)	
SKOS UNESCO Thesaurus	The University of Murcia (Spain),
SKOS UNESCO nomenclature for fields	UNESCO Chair in Information
of science and technology	Management in Organizations
Nuovo soggettario – Thesaurus	The National Central Library of Florence
DBpedia	University of Leipzig and Christian Bizer
	from FU Berlin (now University of Mannheim)
UNESCO Thesaurus	United Nations Educational,
	Scientific and Cultural Organization
Standard-Thesaurus Wirtschaft	Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft
Katalog Der Deutschen Nationalbibliothek	Deutsche National Bibliothek
Skosmos THESOZ Thesaurus	
AIMS (The Agricultural Information Management	Food and Agricultural Organization
Standards Portal	of the United Nations (FAO)
The Library of Congress Linked Data Service	Library of Congress
Bibliothèque Nationale De France	
Chinese Agricultural Thesaurus (CAT)	Agricultural Information Institute of CAAS

Table 1: Online terminology resources used when working with the Interactive Semantic Web.

The structuring of terms in the UNESCO Thesaurus is shown in figure 4.

A great advantage of using the UNESCO Thesaurus in a translator's work is that this terminology resource is quadrilingual, so the translator can use it both to gain knowledge in order to better understand the industry and therefore the context in which the term is actualised, and directly for translation if the target language is supported by this resource. There are various options to search for a term's description and relationships, which can be done through an alphabetical list or in a hierarchical structure. Hierarchical search options for a term are shown in figure 5.

A valuable terminology resource is of course the IATE (Interactive Terminology for Europe) database (figure 6), created and maintained by the European Union. It contains terminology that is used by EU institutions and agencies, so referring to this terminology database will enable a translator to use harmonised and standardised terminology.

A special feature of the IATE terminology database is that the search results not only match the term in the target language but also the word combinations into which the term is included (figure 7). This makes the translator's job a lot easier, as there can be direct matches for the purpose of his/her terminology search. On the other hand, the terms are

given in their immediate context, which makes it easier for a translator who is not an expert in the relevant field to understand their meaning.

As shown in figure 7, the term crop production can be used in different sectors and domains - environment, agriculture, fish farming, and forestry. Therefore, the results of the search for correspondences to an English term in German are represented by these semantic fields and, as we can see, there are different terms in German as correspondences, depending on the sector.

Before the experimental part of the study, which involved the construction of an individual interactive semantic network by the students on the terminology of their choice, the experimental participants were introduced to the terminology resources described above and presented in table 1. The students could choose any of the suggested terminology resources to realise their goal.

0

Overview
Browse thesaurus
Alphabetical browsing
Hierarchical browsing
SPARQL Endpoint
Download
Statistics
Credits and legal notice
UNESKOS Vocabulary

Español English Français Русский

кий Text to search

RDF/XML | N-Triples | N3/Turtle | JSON | JSON-LD

Soil sciences > Soil conservation

Soil conservation

http://skos.um.es/unescothes/C03748

Search in UNESDOC

Other languages

- Conservación del suelo (Término español)
- Conservation du sol (Terme français)
- Сохранение почв (Русский термин)

Domain → Microthesaurus

• 2 Science \rightarrow 2.35 Earth sciences

Broader concepts

BT Soil sciences

Related concepts

- RT Resources conservation
- RT Soil resources

Figure 4: Structuring of terms in the UNESCO Thesaurus.

SKOS

UNESCO Thesaurus	
Overview	Español English Français Русский soil
Browse thesaurus	
Alphabetical browsing	21 concepts with labels containing "soil"
Hierarchical browsing	Desert soils (en)
SPARQL Endpoint	http://skos.um.es/unescothes/C01013 Suelo desértico (es), Sol désertique (fr), Пустынные почвы (ru)
Download	2.35 Earth sciences
Statistics	Saline soils (en)
Credits and legal notice	nttp://skos.um.es/unes/cones/c/03481 Suelo salino (es), Sol salin (fr), Солончаки (ru)
UNESKOS Vocabulary	2.35 Earth Sciences
	Soil classification (en) — Soils (en) http://skos.um.es/unescothes/C03760 Suelo (es), Sol (fr), Почвы (ru) 2.35 Earth sciences
	Soil compaction (en) → Soil mechanics (en) http://skos.um.es/unescothes/C03753 Mecánica de los suelos (es), Mécanique des sols (fr), Почвенная механика (ru) 2.35 Earth sciences
	Soil conservation (en) http://skos.um.es/unescothes/C03748 Conservación del suelo (es), Conservation du sol (fr), Сохранение почв (ru)

Figure 5: Results of a search for the term "soil" in the UNESCO Thesaurus.

3.3 Development of a Personalised Interactive Semantic Network with Support for External Terminology Resources

Given the development of the network to cover a wider terminological spectrum, it is advisable to move

along the related type links. The results of the development of the individual interactive semantic network in different directions depending on the type of linkage are shown in figure 8.

At this stage in the implementation of the technology for selecting and structuring sector-specific terminology based on interactive semantic networks, students can already begin to extract selected terms

Search			← Q
Reset Search settings			
			Open expanded search
* Source language 🔺		* Target language 🔺	
bg cs da de el en es e	t fi fr ga hr hu it	bg cs da de el en es et	fi fr ga hr hu it
It iv mt ni pi pt ro si	k si sv la mul	lt lv mt ni pi pt ro sk	: si sv la mul 🗋
Searches last week 1 112 268 Number of entries 931 951 New terms last week 1 722	Number of terms 8 050 990 Modifications last week 7 940 Terms deleted last week	About IATE IATE (Interactive Terminology for Europe) is the been used in the EU institutions and agencies dissemination and management of EU-specific in 1999 with the aim of providing a web-based resources, enhancing the availability and stan	the EU's terminology database. It has since summer 2004 for the collection, c terminology. The project was launched infrastructure for all EU terminology dardisation of the information.
1755	0.000	La Download IATE	IATE brochure

Discover the new search

Figure 6: Interactive Terminology for Europe database.

45872				2
ENVIRONM	ENT	CdT		
en	crop production	***	o 🕺	CdT
				Lou
de	Nutzpilanzenproduktion	***	<u>«</u>	Cal
No more ex	act results found with your settings. Similar results displayed below	V.		
278463				3
AGRICULT	IRE. FORESTRY AND EISHERIES			EP
en	crop production group	*	ā 🛛 👔 🐳	EP
en				1
de	Anbaugemeinschaft	*	oe 🗌 🗌 🗼 🐳	EP
1351321				4
AGRICULTU	JRE, FORESTRY AND FISHERIES			СОМ
en	fodder crop production	***	õ 🗌 🗌 🗼 🗧	сом
de	Feldfutterbau	***	õ 🚺 📄 🗼	СОМ
1177505				5
ENERGY				COM

Figure 7: Search results for the term "crop production" with English as the source language and German as the target language.

from the constructed network and place them into the terminology database. In doing so, the students must be made familiar with the criteria we have defined for creating and completing terminology bases in which it is appropriate to structure domain-specific terminology derived from interactive semantic networks. In defining the criteria, we were guided primarily by the possibility of further use of terminology bases for such purposes as: learning foreign languages using mobile applications, mastering Computer Aided Translation (CAT) systems, mastering Computer Aided Interpretation (CAI) systems, which corresponds to the logic of the developed technology. To such criteria, we have classified:

- universality (ability to meet the need for terminological support for different processes directly or with minimal modification),
- structurability (possibility of placing terms), synonyms, matches and other additional information to the term in compliance with generally accepted



Figure 8: A individual interactive semantic network, developed along different lines depending on the type of relationship.

principles,

- convertibility (the ability to convert to other formats for the needs of other systems without changing the structure and content),
- extensibility (the possibility of changing the structure of the database to accommodate additional information in the entry at any stage of its completion, without loss of data).

After being introduced to these criteria, the students had to decide on their own about the software to create the terminology database, the format of the database and its initial structure. The autonomy given to the students to make such decisions was due to their experience with CAT and CAI and therefore with the terminology bases used in such systems.

However, using the specialised functions of the interactive semantic networks, the students were able to obtain extended information about the terms defined for entry into the terminology base, if necessary. This toolkit is based on the interactive use of online resources that can be accessed via external links and which concentrate a considerable amount of terminology indicating its affiliation to a domain, its interpretation, definitions of terms, their matching, etc. (figure 3). The online resources used include powerful bases such as: Interactive Terminology for Europe (IATE), General Multilingual Environmental Thesaurus (GEMET), National Agricultural Library's Agricultural Thesaurus and Glossary, LusTRE (multilingual Thesaurus Framework), TAUS (The language data Network) etc.

Using the resources of such databases makes it possible to extend the content of terminology bases beyond the simple structure, containing only terms and their matches, to the use of extended information. In particular, the extension of each terminology entry with additional information such as domain, definition, synonyms, etc. (figure 9) contribute to increasing their informative value. They can be useful when such databases are used with automated translation systems. In this case, the terminology databases should be structured with appropriate fields for structuring such information.

In the list of links to external online resources generated by the interactive semantic network, there can also be resources containing additional information in the form of multimedia documents, electronic



Figure 9: Structure of the presenting additional information on the term "horticulture" in the online resource "National Agricultural Library's Agricultural Thesaurus and Glossary".

documents, videos, books, images (figure 10). The value of such resources in autonomous learning lies not only in the selection of terminology for terminology bases, but more in the opportunity to understand in detail the nature of the term, the context of its use, and to form an idea of defining the object. With this technology of using semantic networks, students are able to learn more about the objects of a particular domain through a terminological apparatus without being overloaded with redundant information.

It is important to note that a developed interactive semantic network can be automatically converted into another format for displaying its elements, namely by hierarchical structure (figure 11). This format of presenting the network allows students to enhance their ability to explore the constructed network in terms of the interrelationship of its elements, in particular in the aspect of distinguishing more general concepts from highly specialised vocabulary.

According to the scheme of technology for selecting and structuring sector-specific terminology (figure 1), working in the Hierarchy of concepts representation of the interactive semantic network, students can also extract terms from it and add them to the terminology base, but without the possibility of obtaining additional information from the online resources.

3.4 Experimental Testing of the Use of Interactive Semantic Networks with External Terminology Resources in Translator Training

In order to identify the possibilities and ways of using interactive semantic networks with external terminology resources in the process of technological training of translators, we conducted a survey of students who were asked to experience them while they were in distance learning, which created a situation of autonomous learning. Thirty-eight students took part in this type of experiential learning, learning how to create terminology bases with a view to their future use in foreign language learning using mobile applications and mastering the use of computer-assisted translation systems. The questionnaire used for the survey contained 11 questions and provided two alternative answers to each question "Yes" or "No". The content of the questionnaire, as well as summarised quantitative data on the responses, are shown in table 2.

The responses to the first question show a positive effect on the learning of domain-specific terminology bases precisely in the aspect of term identification and selection technology in the lack of an in-depth understanding of the domain. This was made possible

Using of Resource Sources of Interactive Semantic Networks in Offline Translator Training

(BnF	Data	search data.bnf.fr		Q			
Horticu	lture						Ø
	_	Topic :	Horticulture				
		Source file :	RAMEAU				
-		Field :	Agriculture. Pêche				
		Variant subject headings	: Orticoltura (<i>italien</i>) Plantes cultivées Cultures Plantes Cultures				
related t	o this theme	(11 resources in d	lata.bnf.fr)		 	 	
Broade	r concept (1)						
Agricult	ture						9
Narrow	er concept (3)						
Related	l Terms (7)						۵
Docume	nts on this to	nic (256 resources	s in data hnf fr)		 	 	
Docume			s in data.biii.ii)				
Multim	edia document	ts (1)					
Videos	, films (7)						
Electro	nic documents	(7)					۵
Books	(217)						
Picture	s (24)						

Figure 10: Structure of presentation of additional information about the term "horticulture" in online resources in the form of multimedia and electronic documents, videos, books, images.

Table 2. Results of a student questionnane on the using interactive semantic networks.	Table 2:	Results	of a student	questionnaire	on the using	interactive	semantic networks.
--	----------	---------	--------------	---------------	--------------	-------------	--------------------

Question	Response	rate, %
Question	Yes	No
Did the use of interactive semantic networks help you acquire the skills?	78.9	21.1
Has the use of interactive semantic networks contributed to the identification of related	84.2	15.8
concepts and terms associated with a particular source term?		
Has the visualised representation of the interactive semantic network contributed to an	81.6	18.4
understanding of the integrity of a particular field in which you are not an expert?		
Has the use of an interactive semantic network enabled you to understand better the range	73.7	26.3
of components of a particular field in order to detail terminology in the right direction?		
Does the presence of established relationships between the different hierarchical levels in	76.3	23.7
the interactive semantic network help to outline a terminology dataset for input into the		
terminology database according to a certain logic?		
Have you used MS Excel to create and complete your terminology database?	68.4	31.6
Have you used specialised CAT system modules to create and complete your terminology	21.1	78.9
base?		
Have you used the functionality of computer-assisted interpreting systems to create and	10.5	89.5
complete your terminology base?		
Did you fill your terminology database with additional information about the terms en-	34.2	65.8
tered?		
Have you used the specialised functions of interactive semantic networks to find more	39.5	60.5
information about terms?		
Have you needed to change the structure of your base in order to expand it?	13.2	86.8



Figure 11: Presentation of the created interactive semantic network with a hierarchical structure.

precisely using interactive semantic networks, as indicated by 78.9% of the students. A convincing proof of the effectiveness of interactive semantic networks was the responses to the second question of the questionnaire, as 84.2% of the students owe it to them to be able to identify related concepts and terms related to a certain source term. In other words, only 15.8% of the students could identify the lexical field of certain terms based on their own prior knowledge in a certain field.

The high number of affirmative responses to the third question (81.6%) is most likely due to the easier perception of information presented in visual form, which is generally an effective support for autonomous learning. In particular, the functionality of the interactive network to visually reproduce the terms of a particular area and the relationships between them contributed to an understanding of its integrity, even at an early stage of familiarity with it.

In addition, the use of an interactive semantic network to highlight terms of a particular domain allowed the students to detail the elements of the terminological system in the right direction quite effectively, as reported by 73.7%. This kind of activity is directly related to the filling of terminology bases and would have required significantly more time if done by other means.

The availability of an automated function in the interactive semantic network to generate relationships between terms across the four hierarchical levels proved to be an effective tool for 76.3% of the students, who indicated that it allowed them to identify the right set of terminology data to add to the terminology database aimed at solving a specific problem.

The responses to the questions on the software that the students used to create the terminology bases can be explained by the influence of two factors, namely the availability for use of a particular software product and the level of proficiency in it. The fact that 68.4% of students chose MS Excel to create and complete their terminology databases, confirms the fact that the programme is commonly available and the experience of using it is acquired not only in the study of specialised courses, but also in previous phases of mastering information technologies. However, it is important that 21.1% of the students created terminology bases using specialised modules designed to generate such bases when working with CAT systems. This indicates that a fairly large proportion of students have not only mastered these modules to a level which has enabled them to carry out such operations at a higher technological level, but are also aware of possible ways of obtaining and using them. It is important to note that although only 10.5% of students reported using the functionality of CAI systems to create and complete a terminology base, but due to the relatively low prevalence of such systems, this indicates that students valued certain aspects of these systems and gave them preference over others.

Judging by the responses to the question about finding and using additional information about terms, more than a third of the students used the available potential of interactive semantic networks for this purpose. This is an indication that some of the students were not only forming terminological bases, but also trying to understand the essence of the industry in more depth.

Analysing the high number of "No" responses (86.8%) regarding the need to modify the structure of the database in order to expand it, it can be stated that the students had sufficient experience in designing the structure of the terminology bases during the creation phase. This allowed them to predict the necessary fields for concentrating the information available in the semantic network about the term entered in such a way that, in the vast majority of cases, they met the requirements.

Overall, the results of the survey indicate the potential of interactive semantic networks in the process of technological training of translators, in particular for forming terminological bases for their further use in learning foreign languages and mastering automated translation systems.

Given the rather broad list of available external terminology resources related to interactive semantic networks, we also found out which of these resources the participants in the experiment preferred and why. The results of the students' choices are presented in table 3.

The reasons given by the students for their preference for a particular terminology resource were as follows:

- frequency of hyperlinks to this resource in the interactive semantic web,
- availability of more detailed information about this resource, obtained for familiarisation before the experiment,
- amount of terminology data presented in the database,

Table 3: Results of students' choice of external terminology resources.

	Number
Terminology resource name	of cases
	selected
UNESCO Thesaurus	17
IATE (Interactive Terminology for Eu-	11
rope)	
The Agricultural Information Manage-	4
ment Standards Portal (AIMS)	
THESOZ Thesaurus	3
The Library of Congress Linked Data	3
Service	

• specific need for the terminology (e.g. a narrow domain).

In view of these student considerations, it should be noted that the small number of selections of some resources is precisely due to the specific terminological needs of the participants in the experiment and the corresponding orientation of their chosen base. Therefore, this in no way diminishes the value of any terminology resources. At the same time, we have concluded that attention needs to be paid to familiarising students in more detail with the large number of terminology resources available.

Overall, the results of the survey indicate the potential of interactive semantic networks in the process of technological training of translators, in particular for forming terminological bases for their further use in learning foreign languages and mastering automated translation systems. A separate value of this potential is external terminology resources linked to hyperlinks to interactive semantic networks.

4 CONCLUSIONS

In the process of technological training of translators, it has been found that it is advisable to implement elements of augmented reality in order to increase its efficiency. One of these elements can be interactive semantic networks, the technology of using which for the selection and structuring of industry terminology we have developed and tested in the conditions of autonomous learning. This technology allows:

- create a personalised, interactive semantic network to form a domain-specific terminology base,
- to develop a personalised, interactive semantic network along various lines, depending on the need for detailing and structuring domain-specific terminology,

- to select domain-specific terminology on the basis of its detailing, taking into account the types of hierarchical relationships of the interactive semantic network,
- to get more information about terms through the interactive use of external online resources, the links to which are automatically generated by the created semantic networks,
- to investigate the generated semantic networks in the aspect of distinguishing more general concepts from highly specialised vocabulary.

To structure the domain terminology selected on the basis of interactive semantic networks we defined the criteria of creation and filling terminological bases, with possibility of their further use for foreign language learning with mobile applications, mastering computer aided translation (CAT) systems, mastering computer aided interpretation (CAI). These criteria are universality, structurability, convertibility, extensibility.

The experimental use of the developed technology in the process of autonomous training of translators has shown a positive influence on their technological training, in particular in the aspect of the ability to define and select terms when there is no deep understanding of the domain, to detail elements of the terminological system in the right direction, to create terminological bases on the basis of selection and detailing of terms using interactive semantic networks.

In order to informational-terminological support of translators' training and activities and to enhance the use of interactive semantic networks, students were additionally familiarized with external terminological resources hyperlinked to the interactive semantic networks. Because of the experimental use of these resources in the process of building a customised interactive semantic network, it was found that they could meet the specific terminological needs of a translator.

REFERENCES

- Amelina, S. M., Tarasenko, R. O., Semerikov, S. O., and Shen, L. (2022). Using mobile applications with augmented reality elements in the self-study process of prospective translators. *Educational Technol*ogy Quarterly, 2022(4):263–275. https://doi.org/10. 55056/etq.51.
- Benson, P. (2005). Autonomy and information technology in the educational discourse of the information age. In *Information technology and innovation in language education*, chapter 9, pages 173–193. Hong Kong University Press, Hong Kong.

- Cotterall, S. (2000). Promoting learner autonomy through the curriculum: principles for designing language courses. *ELT Journal*, 54(2):109–117. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/elt/54.2.109.
- Hurd, S., Beaven, T., and Ortega, A. (2001). Developing autonomy in a distance language learning context: issues and dilemmas for course writers. *System*, 29(3):341–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0346-251X(01)00024-0.
- KCI (2022). Terminology tools and resources. https:// knowledge-centre-interpretation.education.ec.europa. eu/en/content/terminology-tools-and-resources-0.
- Little, D. (2002). Learner Autonomy and Second/Foreign language Learning. In Bickerton, D., editor, *The Guide to Good Practice for Learning and Teaching in Languages, Linguistics and Area Studies.* LTSN Subject Centre for Languages, Linguistics and Area Studies, Southampton. https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/259874624.
- Liu, D., Dede, C., Huang, R., and Richards, J., editors (2017). Virtual, Augmented, and Mixed Realities in Education. Springer, Singapore. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-981-10-5490-7.
- Moore, I. (2010). What Is Learner Autonomy? http: //web.archive.org/web/20100325013329/https://extra. shu.ac.uk/cetl/cpla/whatislearnerautonomy.html.
- Murphy, L. (2006). Supporting learner autonomy in a distance learning context. In Gardner (ed.), pages 72–92.
- Ochoa, C. (2016). Virtual and augmented reality in education. Are we ready for a disruptive innovation in education? In *ICERI2016 Proceedings*, 9th annual International Conference of Education, Research and Innovation, pages 2013–2022. IATED. https://doi.org/ 10.21125/iceri.2016.1454.
- Pemberton, R., Li, E. S. L., Or, W. W. F., and Pierson, H. D., editors (1996). *Taking Control: Autonomy in Language Learning*. Hong Kong University Press, Hong Kong. http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt2jc12n.
- Reinders, H. (2006). Supporting independent learning through an electronic learning environment. In Lamb, T. and Reinders, H., editors, Supporting Independent Language Learning: Issues and Interventions, volume 10 of Bayreuth Contributions to Glottodidactics, pages 219–238. Peter Lang, Frankfurt. https://innovationinteaching.org/docs/ book-chapter-2006-independent-learning-book.pdf.
- Roche, C., Alcina, A., and Costa, R. (2019). Terminological resources in the digital age. *Terminology*. *International Journal of Theoretical and Applied Issues in Specialized Communication*, 25(2):139–145. https://doi.org/10.1075/term.00033.roc.
- Scharle, À. and Szabó, A. (2000). Learner Autonomy: A guide to developing learner responsibility. Cambridge Handbooks for Language Teachers. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Scrivner, O., Madewell, J., Buckley, C., and Perez, N. (2016). Augmented reality digital technologies (ARDT) for foreign language teaching and learning. In 2016 Future Technologies Conference (FTC),

pages 395–398. https://doi.org/10.1109/FTC.2016. 7821639.

- Tarasenko, R. and Amelina, S. (2020). A unification of the study of terminological resource management in the automated translation systems as an innovative element of technological training of translators. In Sokolov, O., Zholtkevych, G., Yakovyna, V., Tarasich, Y., Kharchenko, V., Kobets, V., Burov, O., Semerikov, S., and Kravtsov, H., editors, *Proceedings* of the 16th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kharkiv, Ukraine, October 06-10, 2020, volume 2732 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 1012–1027. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws. org/Vol-2732/20201012.pdf.
- Tarasenko, R. O., Amelina, S. M., and Azaryan, A. A. (2020a). Improving the content of training future translators in the aspect of studying modern CAT tools. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:360–375. https: //doi.org/10.55056/cte.365.
- Tarasenko, R. O., Amelina, S. M., Kazhan, Y. M., and Bondarenko, O. V. (2020b). The use of AR elements in the study of foreign languages at the university. In Burov, O. Y. and Kiv, A. E., editors, *Proceedings of the 3rd International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 13, 2020*, volume 2731 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 129– 142. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2731/ paper06.pdf.
- UNESCO (2022). Digital learning and transformation of education: Open digital learning opportunities for all. https://www.unesco.org/en/education/digital.
- Yagcioglu, O. (2015). New Approaches on Learner Autonomy in Language Learning. *Procedia - Social* and Behavioral Sciences, 199:428–435. The Proceedings of the 1st GlobELT Conference on Teaching and Learning English as an Additional Language. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.07.529.

Program of Scientific Communication Development for Older Age Cohort Scholars

Kateryna Vlasenko^{1,2}[®]^a, Olha Rovenska³[®]^b, Olena Chumak⁴[®]^c, Iryna Lovianova⁵[®]^d and Vitaliy Achkan⁶[®]^e

¹National University of "Kyiv Mohyla Academy", 2 Skovorody Str., Kyiv, 04070, Ukraine

²Limited Liability Company Technical University "Metinvest Polytechnic", 80 Pivdenne Hwy,

Zaporizhzhia, 69008, Ukraine

³Donbass State Engineering Academy, 72 Academichna Str., Kramatorsk, 84313, Ukraine

⁴Donbas National Academy of Civil Engineering and Architecture,

⁵Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine

⁶Berdyansk State Pedagogical University, 4 Shmidta St, 71100, Berdyansk, Ukraine

vlasenkokv@ukr.net, {olha.rovenska, chumakelena17}@gmail.com, lovyanova.iryna@kdpu.edu.ua, vvachkan@ukr.net

Keywords: Types of Activities, Web Tools, Research Activities on Mathematics.

Abstract: This paper is aimed at studying scientific communication as an integral part of a scientist's activity. The authors of this article analysed the development of informational technologies, which gave rise to a new paradigm of scientific communication Research 2.0. In the present study the analysis of research papers, describing models of scientific communication is done. The findings allow to define the structure and content of a comprehensive program of activities, connected to scientific communication in compliance with the Scientific Communication Life Cycle Model. In order to introduce a program, aimed at lowering scholars' emotional barriers in course of their professional interaction, a target group of older age cohort scholars in the fields of Mathematics and Methods for teaching Mathematics was chosen. The five-stage program of activities encouraged professional interaction of older age cohort scholars and introduced them to the methods of presenting research findings, elements of managing and mechanisms of applying the findings by means of Research 2.0. A constructive description of each module of the program is done, actions and a strategy are described, communication between participants and tutors through the platform Higher School Mathematics Teacher is arranged in this research. In order to assess the efficiency of implementing the program, Researcher Development Framework (RDF) is used. The study also presents the results of the activity of older age cohort researchers, who were engaged in the program. Following the change in the phase of the development of researchers' characteristic features and in compliance with RDF, a conclusion is made about a positive impact of the program on the development of scholars' interaction skills, the awareness of the procedures of actual professional conduct. The impact of the program on the scholar's emotional comfort in course of professional communication is proved as well.

1 INTRODUCTION

The scholars' effective performance is an attribute of sustainable development of the society. Factors, contributing to effective scientific activity. The development of intellectual and psychological qualities of a scientist, correlation between the process of thinking and creativity, phenomena of scientific discovery and genious were always of high interest for psychologists, educators, science historians. Numerous researches were done into specific attributes of a scientist, considering them from different theoretical perspectives. Attempts to identify personal qualities, which are central to the professional activity of a scientist, were made in classical research by Bogoyavlenskaya (Bogoyavlenskaya, 2021), Cox

406

Vlasenko, K., Rovenska, O., Chumak, O., Lovianova, I. and Achkan, V.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

¹⁴ Heroyv Nebesnoy Sotni Str., Kramatorsk, 84333, Ukraine

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8920-5680

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3034-3031

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3722-6826

db https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3186-2837

^e https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8669-6202

Program of Scientific Communication Development for Older Age Cohort Scholars.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 406-420 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

(Cox, 1926), Guilford (Guilford, 1959), Hollingworth (Hollingworth, 1926), Roe (Roe, 1961), (Terman, 1922), stated, that scientific communication (a complex of processes and mechanisms of transmitting scientific ideas inside a scientific community) is an integral part of a scientist's activity. Fast-paced development of modern science and the level of scientific achievements prompted scientists to search for new means of scientific communication.

The first aspect meant integrating skills of scientific communication into a basic set, which is identified by sociologists, employers and scientists (Brownell et al., 2013; Gray et al., 2005; West, 2012; Vlasenko et al., 2019) as critical for any scientist. Hence, courses in communication are introduced into curricula for postgraduate students in many countries, among which are the following: Great Britain (Quality Assurance Agency, 2019), the USA (American Association for the Advancement of Science, 2009, 2023), Canada (Ontario Universities Council on Quality Assurance, 2023) and Australia (Australian Qualifications Framework, 2014). In turn, in educational literature there are numerous papers (Levine, 2001; Mulnix, 2003; Gillen, 2006; Kozeracki et al., 2006; Jones et al., 2011; Cameron et al., 2020), which state, that such components of scientific communication as reading scientific papers by other scientists and promoting own scientific concepts can help budding researchers to develop core skills of a scientist and boost their confidence in scientific thinking. So, inspired by this idea, the authors in the present paper did an overall review of the history of communication in science. A paper by Vickery (Vickery, 2000) presents detailed means and attributes of oral and written communication in pre-digital era and shows a picture of prerequisites for modern methods of scientific communication. Special attention is given to the development of scientific communication in the 20th century. It's result from industrial research, occurrence of Big Data, computer networks and Internet communication. Early in the 21st century, Hurd (Hurd, 2000, 2004) offers a new paradigm of communication in science and shows that digital media offer new roles and functional opportunities to the participants. Thus, the development of information technologies changed the mode of scientific communication. The conventional system based on printing, which relied on a referred scientific journal as a key mechanism for presenting scientific findings, underwent transformation and turned into a system, dependent on digital means of transmitting information. As Hurd (Hurd, 2000) stated, scientometrics bases replaced conventional libraries and publications turned to electronic formats; communication in science evolves to the process, which counts more on on-line resources. This transition from printed to digital format changed the roles of all the participants of the scientific communication system. Transformation of contemporary science, namely its digital aspect, has a specific impact on older age cohort scholars. In many cases a wellestablished ethos of scientific activity contradicts new rules: lack of skills for searching digital information puts under threat relevance and timeliness of a research; absence of experience in disseminating scientific findings by means of digital resources obstructs partners' interest in those findings.

Though new policy of scientific communication, as well as academic rules, cannot be formally labelled as norms, they start dominating science universally. Non-compliance forces older age cohort scholars and researchers feel uneasy, to adapt, to find ways of internal and external solutions to the conflict. Recently the issue of adapting older age cohort scholars to new rules of scientific communication has become a pressing one.

1.1 Analysis of Scientific Papers

In educational literature, dedicated to academic education, scientific communication is considered from a point of view of positive impact on the process of developing scientist's core skills of a. In papers by Levine (Levine, 2001), Mulnix (Mulnix, 2003), a correlation between the skills level of processing scientific literature and efficient scientific activity is stated. Research by Gillen (Gillen, 2006) proves that though a majority of scientists are able to understand and absorb informative aspects of scientific articles, they often face difficulties interpreting the findings and analyzing them critically. As researchers might lack in strategies, necessary for building up credible criticism, then developing the skills of scientific communication becomes critical for engaging them into active scientific process. Research paper by Kozeracki et al. (Kozeracki et al., 2006) highlight, that designing courses, aimed at the critical analysis of articles in scientific journals and presentation of own research increases scientific literacy and self-confidence of researchers.

Researching the problem of developing a skill in scientific communication, Cameron et al. (Cameron et al., 2020) came to a conclusion, that behavior and attitude to scientific writing, speaking and presenting findings contribute to scientific identity. As the main factor of this process is its fulfillment in all the academic stages from a postgraduate student to a scientific advisor, it is indicative of a potential for engaging means of scientific communication for enhancing career perseverance. Research papers by Smyrnova-Trybulska et al. (Smyrnova-Trybulska et al., 2019), Kuzminska (Kuzminska, 2021), look into this issue. These works allow to state that introducing the scientific communication program into educational process ensures development and improvement in researchers such a skill as undertaking scientific communication; contributes to developing digital competencies and building up an image of a scientist, thus integrating into a single scientific community. The researchers confirmed that digital competencies concerning scientific competencies allow researchers to search for scientific and professional information more efficiently, to work with open systems of scientific research support, to analyse data and visualize them with the help of up-to-date informational computer technologies, to create and manage personal educational environment, a portfolio, etc.

Studying the problems, connected to developing professional skills in a scientist, experts emphasized the necessity to build models of scientific communication. One of the earliest models of scientific communication is the UNISIST model (UNESCO, 1971) (the United Nations Information System in Science and Technology), offered by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) with the aim to improve scientific and technical communications. Taking into account ever-growing impact of the Internet technologies on communication between scientists, Søndergaard et al. (Søndergaard et al., 1972) presented an extended and revised UNISIST model. One more model by Garvey and Griffith (Garvey and Griffith, 1972) means to describe the communication process in science, but it lacks informational technologies support. In studies by Hurd (Hurd, 2000, 2004) this model is revised in order to consider the impact of digital technologies, such as electronic publications, self-publications and electronic libraries.

Kling et al. (Kling et al., 2003) offer a model of scientific collaboration STIN (Socio-Technical Interaction Network), which allows to understand better the character of professional relationships inside scientific communities. Swisher (Swisher, 2003) offer a linear step-by-step model which defines the stages that a new concept goes through in the system of scientific communication. In a cycle of research by Björk and Hedlund (Björk and Hedlund, 2003, 2004; Björk, 2007a,b) a model of SCLC (Scientific Communication Life Cycle) is presented. It describes the process of communication from the beginning of a research up to using the findings for the benefit of the society. This model covers both, formal and informal communication, but the main focus is on the life cycle of publications as well as readers' activity aimed at getting access to those publications. A systematized review of the characteristics of these and other models of scientific communication can be found in a study by Lugović et al. (Lugović et al., 2015). The scientists put focus on the development of technological innovations of Web 2.0 that resulted in occurrence of a new paradigm of scientific communication Research 2.0.

The analysis of papers by Luzón (Luzón, 2009), Ullmann et al. (Ullmann et al., 2010), Procter et al. (Procter et al., 2010), Koltay et al. (Koltay et al., 2015) shows, that the term "Scientific communication Research 2.0" determines new approaches in creating scientific knowledge, based on the notions of unity and collaboration. The scientists describe how generating and managing collective knowledge brings about new structures and systems of scientific communication. Kuzminska (Kuzminska, 2021) consider that scientific blogs, social networking sites for the collaboration of scientists ResearchGate and Academia.edu, applications for managing and sharing publications (Mendeley, Qiqqa, EndNote), services Open Peer Review, international and national bibliometric systems (in Ukraine - Open Ukrainian Citation Index, "Bibliometrics of Ukrainian science") and other make part of such structures. Though the main channel for publishing the research findings is still an article in a journal with a peer review, Research 2.0 provides wide opportunities for the improvement of research processes and can lead to changing the principles of research activity in future.

The research is dedicated to the development of a comprehensive program of activities, linked to scientific communication in compliance with SCLC Model and principles of Research 2.0. There is evidence among the objectives of the research, that introduction of the program in place into the process of the professional development of older age cohort scholars contributes to enhancing digital scientific communication skills and validates the role thereof as a catalyst for building up confidence and stabilizing scholars' personal comfort.

2 METHOD

2.1 Participants

During 2019-2020 the comprehensive program of activities, aimed at developing scholars' digital scientific communication skills was introduced into the educational process of professional development of older age cohort scholars at Ukrainian universities. 52 scholars aged 50+ participated in the experiment (figures 1, 2).



Female Male

Figure 1: Gender sampling frame, % of the total number of participants.





Figure 2: Age sampling frame, % of the total number of participants.

According to targeted selection, the sampling frame must comprise researchers working in the same area of knowledge. It was done, taking into account the specifics of the scientific communication system for different disciplines. The experiment was done at scientific schools, where the researchers work in the domain of Mathematics and Teaching Methods. The quality composition of the program participants in accordance with specialization and professional attributes is presented in figures 3–5.

Development of a comprehensive program of activities in scientific communication in compliance with SCLC Model. In the first stage of the program development with the help of the deductive content analysis of the research papers (Søndergaard et al., 1972; Kling et al., 2003; Swisher, 2003; Björk, 2007a,b), dedicated to the models of scientific communication, the authors of this study defined the structure of the program and the key aspects of the content, designed to provide its compliance with the paradigm of Research 2.0. Compared to other models, the SCLC Model Björk (Björk, 2007a,b) is more comprehensive, detailed and contains more constituents that reflect activity, findings, elements of governance,



Figure 3: Specialisation of the participants of the experiment, % of the total number.



Figure 4: Qualitative composition of the participants of the experiment in accordance with professional attributes, % of the total number.

mechanisms, etc. when developing the program of activities, connected to scientific communication, the SCLC Model serves as a roadmap for positioning all the components of the system of scientific collaboration as a global interconnected informational system. The developed comprehensive program consists of five stages of different duration from 0.5 to 2 credits ECTS, each of them contains 2–5 modules (tables 1, 2).

In the second stage, when doing analysis concerning the nature of Research 2.0, Koltay et al. (Koltay et al., 2015), Sheombar (Sheombar, 2019) gave a constructive description of activities and projects, as well as actions and strategies which contribute to developing scientific research skills in young scientists and which are based on the principles of openness, collaboration, conversation and connectedness.

Communication between the program participants and tutors took place on the platform Higher School



■ No Rank ■ Associate Professor ■ Professor Figure 5: Qualitative composition of the participants of the experiment in accordance with professional attributes, % of the total number.

Mathematics Teacher (Vlasenko and Sitak, 2023). Forum, on-line chatting and electronic mailing were chosen as the means of communication. Through their personal accounts the participants got access to the description of events, activities and strategies for each of the stages of the program, listed below.

2.2 Developing Topics for the Informational Environment

Most of the older age cohort researchers have no proper information basis regarding digital scientific communication, which is connected to the fact that digital scientific communication is a rather specific activity, avoided by older people in everyday life. As a rule, even scholars, who are active in doing scientific research, have fragmented knowledge of scientific communication basics. The main goal of this stage is developing in researchers a systematic knowledge concerning scientific communication, its key components, new trends and technologies, basics of efficient work with information, research data management. Watching video-lectures allows the participants to understand how digital scientific communication happens nowadays, how open access, open science and licenses, research data management impact the life cycle of a research. Participation in seminars, trainings means applying best updated practices and search techniques in order to work with scientific sources, to use universal and specialized information resources, new web-applications for various types of research, etc.

Table 1: The structure of the comprehensive program of activities, concerning scientific communication in compliance with the SCLC Model. Stages 1, 2.

Creating the in	formation environment	
Activities concerning	Content of the activity	
scientific communi-		
cation		
An on-line course in	Watching video lectures,	
scientific communi-	chatting	
cation		
Practical assign-	Doing practical assignments	
ments	on searching information,	
	quoting, preparing pre-	
	sentations, designing a	
	manuscript, etc.	
Presentation of Uni-	Electronic mailing of video	
versity programs,	materials and samples of	
events by the Min-	documents; meetings with	
istry for Education	management, representa-	
and Science and	tives of the Ministry for	
businesses, aimed at	Education and Science	
supporting scientists	representatives of business,	
	program alumni	
Doing the research		
Searching for ideas,	Getting acquainted with so-	
defining a topic for	cial networking web-sites	
research	for scientists; creating pro-	
Compline the infer	files and micro-networks.	
Searching the infor-	Searching publications in	
mation resources	databases, archives, book-	
	marks, getting (saving) the	
	subscriptions	
Deading publications	Reading summarias full	
Reading publications	texts	
Doing the research it	Communication in collabo	
self	rations	
Integrating the re-	1410115	
integrating the It-	Work with references quot-	
sults into the context	Work with references, quot-	

The authors of the present study believe, that in the informational environment, dedicated to the problem of digital scientific communication, it makes sound sense to highlight the following topics:

- 1. General overview of key components and strategies of digital scientific communication, usage of new web-applications in all the stages of the research life cycle, especially when searching for information and spreading the findings. Social networks for scientists ResearchGate, Mendeley, Academia.edu.
- 2. Scientific information: main types of sources.

Table 2: The structure of the comprehensive program of activities, concerning scientific communication in compliance with the SCLC Model. Stages 3–5.

Presenti	ing the findings		
Non-formal commu-	Seminars, conferences,		
nication	mailing colleagues, mi-		
	croblogs, subscriptions		
	to the projects in social		
	networking web-sites		
Publication in a re-	Preparing a manuscript,		
viewed edition	searching publishing		
	houses. Designing the		
	manuscript, communica-		
	tion with an editor and a		
	reviewer		
Promoting sharing	Promotion in blogs, so-		
and search	cial networks for scientists,		
	open libraries, University re-		
	sources		
Tracking the publica-	Indexing, bookmarks, tags		
tion			
Secondary publica-	Monographs, publishing in		
tions	mass media		
Applyi	ng the findings		
Promoting the im-	Getting acquainted with the		
provement of the	process of standartisation,		
standard of living	filing an author certificate/a		
(application in indus-	patent		
try, 11, nealthcare)	D : 1 1 1		
Education	Passing on knowledge		
	through workshops, educa-		
	tional videos, one-to-one		
Easthaalt for soismas	Counselling		
Feedback for science	Forecasting benefits for the		
Contrata for as			
Contests for yours	Eiling documents		
contests for young	Filing documents		
scientists by Univer-			
istry for Education			
and Science			
Contests organized	Prenaring presentations		
by husinesses	participation in startup		
by businesses	schools		

Specialized search systems such as Google Scholar, ScienceDirect, DOAJ and databases (Web of Science, Scopus, ZbMATH, Math-SciNet), strategies for efficient search on the Internet.

3. Tools for monitoring new publications on the research problems. Subscriptions (Mendeley Groups, ResearchGate). Scientist's profiles (Sco-

pus Author ID, ResearherID, ORCID iD).

- 4. A scientific article in a reviewed journal as the main element of scientific communication. Academic publishing houses (Springer, Elsevier, Pleiades Publishing).
- 5. Studying various aspects of scientific papers and publication strategies. OJS/PKP journal systems.
- Management of bibliographic references (applications Mendeley Web Importer, EndNote, BibTex, Zotero).
- Key notions of scientometrics. Scientometric indices Web of Science, Scopus, Google Scholar, Open Ukrainian Citation Index et al.
- 8. Copyright. Creative Commons license.
- 9. Archiving the research data. Repositories DOAJ and ArXiv.

When creating the informational environment, educational materials published on the platforms Prometheus (Prometheus, 2020), EdEra (EdEra, 2019, 2018), YouTube channel (PC Technology Center, 2019; Research HUB, 2019) and own materials by the authors of this study were used (Vlasenko et al., 2021). As an illustrative basis for scientometric and bibliometric techniques, a cycle of research by Rovenska and Novikov (Rovenska, 2019; Rovenska and Novikov, 2020; Novikov and Rovenska, 2017a,b) was used.

As the main indicator of the efficiency of scientific work is receiving accolades and financial rewards, the authors of this paper believe it pertinent to share relevant links to grant programs and awards with the program participants, announced by university management, businesses and professional unions. Receiving an accolade by a researcher can serve as one of the criteria of developed skills in digital scientific communication and core skills in general.

2.3 Doing Research

The first module, which is to define the topic, initiates the research. Review of ideas is the main function of this module. Social media offer useful communication channel for finding new ideas and communicating with the world. Participants register and create own accounts in the main social networks for scientists, such as ResearchGate, Academia.edu and Mendeley. According to a research by Nentwich and König (Nentwich and König, 2014) on academic use of social networks, the function "Profile" comes top among eight most popular functions of social media for scientific purposes. The profiles created can be filled with publications that the participants already have. In this module the participants also create micro-networks with the representatives of a certain scientific school. When the topic is defined, social networking sites for scientists become an additional tool for searching partners for collaboration.

Since the research process is based on the competencies, related to searching, assessing and applying information, the second module is dedicated to developing skills in searching information resources. The development of Web 2.0 brought about easy and accessible means of receiving information. Still, access to information does not necessarily mean expanding knowledge. Research 2.0 resources allow to make changes in the methods of assessing information sources on their topic. The participants are offered to focus on the assessment of the accessible information, based on bibliometric indicators. The module gives an opportunity to master the specifics of work with both, interdisciplinary (Scopus, Web of Science, Google Scholar), and specialised (ZbMATH, MathSciNet) scientometric databases.

It is necessary to draw the participants' attention to the opportunities which subscriptions (both, free and paid) give as well as risks arising out of it. Not only using social media for private purposes, but also for academic ones requires preventive measures from spam and harassment from unscrupulous communities. Participants can also face challenges when receiving publications, for instance, if the publication is not accessible any more, or the publication was not digitalized. When such situations happen, it prompts finding alternative ways of receiving the publication, such as buying a hard copy, search in archives or among colleagues.

The third module is dedicated to the development of practical skills in reading publications. The participants work on the constructive methods for reviewing the content of a publication with the help of key words, summaries, reading full texts, creating bookmarks, comments and annotations in Mendeley, applications for tracking quotes EndNote, BibTex.

When doing own research, the need for expanding own scientific horizon through communication with single-minded scientists increases, and most of the older age cohort scholars scientists enhance live communication etiquette. However, the challenges of the time require mastering on-line modes of communication with colleagues. According to a recent research by the Ministry for Education and Science of Ukraine (MESU, 2020) the most common reasons that hamper the development of scientific communication among scientists are: psychological unpreparedness for new types, modes of scientific communications and underdeveloped network of personal connections and communication channels. For remote communication the participants are recommended (but not limited by) such means of communication as Zoom, email, Viber, Facebook (Messenger), Telegram, Skype, WhatsApp. As the survey shows (MESU, 2020), these channels are the most widely used in professional communication among scientists.

The final module of this stage is dedicated to improving the practical skills in working with referencemessengers, such as Mendeley Web (functions Web Importer and Citation Plugin), EndNote (adding information about sources from Web of Science, from on-line libraries, websites of publishing houses, and own notes), Zotero and others.

2.4 Presentation of Findings

This stage comprises five modules, which are - informal communication, presentation of findings through publishing, sharing promotion, tracking and secondary publications. The main difference from communication within the first module is that an author has a complete control over those who become the receivers of the information about the findings. On top of conventional presentations at conferences, seminars, the participants also learn about informal communication channels which are accessible tools of Research 2.0, such as blogs, subscriptions for Research-Gate projects, tags and opportunities for joint work in Mendeley Groups. Using the resources of Research 2.0 increases the efficiency of scientific communication, as researchers receive a feedback (on-line comments) much earlier and can fix the errors, complete the article and send it for publication.

In the module, dedicated to presenting the findings through publication in a reviewed journal, the participants can learn about the proper formats of articles for academic publishing houses Springer, Elsevier, Pleiades Publishing (mastering AMS-LaTex is an obligatory prerequisite) and acquire the practices for communication with the editor and reviewers through Open Journal Systems. An important nuance of the module is that some participants experience communication with predaceous publishing houses and for the first time face academic plagiarism. Taking it into account, maintaining academic reputation becomes profoundly valuable.

Modules, dedicated to sharing, promoting search and tracking publications, encompass the whole spectrum of practical skills in using bibliometric means – from identifying the indices universal decimal classification (UDC) and Mathematics Subject Classification (MSC) to using descriptors (DOI, ISSN). The basics of information search and scientometrics, which the participants learnt during lectures and seminars in the first stage, are now acquired through personal experience in using scientometric databases (Scopus, Web of Science, Google Scholar), archives (ArXiv), etc. The participants are recommended not only to create formal profiles Scopus Author ID, ResearcherID and ORCID, but also de-facto analysis of absolute and normalized indicators, namely h-index and impact-factor of the publication.

The final module of this stage concerns secondary publications of scientific findings. This module significantly falls behind the previous ones and is optional. Secondary publications make sense in terms of sustainable impact on the development of science, when they give other scientists or external experts an opportunity to learn more about the findings in solving a certain problem. Among the communication norms, which are also mastered in this stage are copyright for scientists, open access and research ethics.

2.5 Application of Findings

This stage highlights practical skills in transferring scientific knowledge in several directions in parallel – improving the quality of life through its application in industry, IT, healthcare; integration of the knowledge into education and learning; feedback in science. The participants are recommended to select a direction of application, depending on the kind of scientific research. Thus, in order to commercialize scientific knowledge, the participants are advised to register a patent or an author certificate. Application in education and learning means running classes and workshops for students, one-to-one counselling, creating educational videos, etc.

The specifics of scientific communication in Mathematics is to use the findings broadly in order to amass theoretical knowledge. The research findings, as well as the methods of receiving them can be used for further studying various issues of Mathematics, including Applied Mathematics, prognostication, hypothesizing and other. Secondary publications, for instance sections of monographs or a popular science article allow the participants to acquire the skills in digital communication with the audience outside their own scientific school.

2.6 Contests for Scientists and Participation in Grant Programs

According to Björk (Björk, 2007b), the global system of scientific communications performs two functions – the first is to pass on scientific knowledge, the

second is to contribute to decision-making in supporting research from the side of University leadership, business, non-governmental organisations. This stage must be introduces into the program, as lack of understanding concerning the mechanisms of grant participation is a strong communication barrier in the general system of science and innovations support. Participation in contests is not obligatory, but is recommended to all the program participants. This stage allows to develop skills in preparing contest papers, presentations, startup projects.

2.7 Method of Assessing the Findings During the experiment

The assessment of the program implementation was done with the help of Domain B (Personal effectiveness), Domain D (Engagement, influence and impact) of Researcher Development Framework (RDF) (The Careers Research and Advisory Centre (CRAC) Limited, 2023), offered by a world leader in supporting professional development of researchers, the Research and Advisory Centre "Vitae", Cambridge, UK. RDF is made of the empiric data, collected through surveying experts in order to identify characteristic features of researchers, defined in RDF as descriptors. Descriptors are structured into four domains and twelve subdomains that cover knowledge, intellectual abilities, methods and professional standards of doing a research, as well as personal qualities, knowledge and ability to ensure efficient collaboration with others, and a wider impact of research (figure 6). Each of sixty three descriptors contains three to five phases, that are separate development stages or the efficiency level within the descriptor (The Careers Research and Advisory Centre (CRAC) Limited, 2023).

2.8 Findings

In this work, we offer an overview of the developed program and the results of its implementation. Our study does not involve in-depth statistical analysis of the obtained results.

The comprehensive program of the activities, which is aimed at developing core skills of a scientist with the help of scientific communication means, was introduced into the process of advanced training of scientists in 9 scientific schools of and Teaching Methods of Donbas State Engineering Academy, Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, Sumy State Pedagogical University, Berdiansk State Pedagogical University.

The assessment of the results of the program implementation was done through surveying partici-



Figure 6: The Researcher Development Framework by Vitae (The Careers Research and Advisory Centre (CRAC) Limited, 2023).

pants. Every participant of the program was assessed by at least 2 stakeholders through an on-line surveying. The goal of the survey was to identify the skills level in the participant attributes that personal communication skills that prompt the progress in scientific activity and academic career.

The data concerning changes in the descriptor development or the level of efficiency within the descriptor in the program participants can be found in tables 3, 4.

Positive results of implementing the program (marked as "+") are confirmed by deepening of the development phase or the level of efficiency within 4

descriptors in 30–50% of the participants, 11 descriptors in 50–75% of the participants and 14 descriptors in more than 75% of the participants of the program. The program has the most significant impact on the development of career skills, necessary for responsibility and control over professional development; awareness of the standards, requirements and procedures of professional behavior; skills, necessary for interaction, management and influence on academic, social, cultural and economic context.

In course of detecting communication competence it is appropriate to test emotional difficulties in professional communication. For this reason, a method

Descriptor/Subdomain	in 30-	in 50-	in more		
	50%	75%	than		
	of the	of the	75%		
	partic-	partic-	of the		
	ipants	ipants	partici-		
			pants		
Personal	qualities	5			
Enthusiasm			+		
Perseverance		+			
Integrity		+			
Self-confidence			+		
Self-reflection	+				
Responsibility					
Self management					
Preparation and prioriti-					
sation					
Commitment to research			+		
Time management		+			
Responsiveness to			+		
change					
Work-life balance	+				
Professional and career development					
Career management			+		
Continuing professional			+		
development					
Responsiveness to oppor-		+			
tunities					
Networking			+		
Reputation and esteem		+			

Table 3: Changing the development phase of a descriptor or the level of efficiency inside a descriptor in the program participants (Domain: Personal effectiveness).

"Diagnostics of emotional barriers" (Fetiskin et al., 2002, p. 166–167) was applied by the authors of this paper. After doing the course, based on the program in place, a number of persons who define their emotions as 'hindering interaction with partners' (N_1) or 'complicating establishing contacts' (N_2) decreased, as it was anticipated. The diagnostics findings are presented on figure 7.

Forming such skills as financial management of research, understanding of academic and commercial systems of financial support becomes an additional factor for the impact that the program has, which is proved by the data concerning the program participants' involvement in contests and grant programs for researchers (figure 8).

3 DISCUSSION

In connection with the present research it makes sound sense to mention the papers, dedicated to Table 4: Changing the development phase of a descriptor or the level of efficiency inside a descriptor in the program participants (Domain: Engagement, influence and impact).

Descriptor/Subdomain	in 30-	in 50-	in more		
Descripton Subdomain	50%	75%	than		
	of the	of the	75%		
	partic-	partic-	of the		
	ipants	ipants	partici-		
			pants		
Working v	vith othe	rs			
Collegiality			+		
Team working		+			
People management		+			
Supervision					
Mentoring			+		
Influence and leadership			+		
Collaboration			+		
Equality and diversity		+			
Communication a	and disse	mination	1		
Communication methods			+		
Communication media			+		
Publication			+		
Engagement and impact					
Teaching		+			
Public engagement		+			
Enterprise		+			
Policy					
Society and culture	+				
Global citizenship	+				





defining skills of researchers that characterize them as scientists in a volatile informational environment. Davies et al. (Davies et al., 2011) define a set of central skills of an efficient researcher that are linked to the adaptive nature of thinking. These authors consider that scientists do cognitive activity filtering information according to its importance, using various


Figure 8: The number of co-participation in contests for researchers among the program participants.

tools and methods for it. Such an activity is defined by a certain type of thinking, which allows to use these tools and methods in the working processes, aimed at achieving the desired outcome. As Koltay et al. (Koltay et al., 2015) mention, researchers have to acquire skills, linked to innovative thinking and problem-solving. They also believe that the research process nowadays is defined by comprehending and justifying data, as the ability to find deeper meanings is more important than formal reading. Moreover, due to globalization and increased international cooperation a practical skill of working in social networks as well as cross-cultural communication skills are becoming more and more vital.

Comprehension, justifying, adaptive thinking, problem-solving and innovative activity depend on the information and define the circle of skills, necessary for a modern scientist. Contemporary resources of Research 2.0 have an impact on all the stages of the life cycle of a research, which are connected to information, starting with identifying an idea to spreading the results. Thus, Research 2.0 gives a wide spectrum of opportunities for personal growth of scientists, who nevertheless are reluctant to use these opportunities and excuse themselves by lack of time or experience. According to conclusions by the Social media and research workflow, Nicholas and Rowlands (Nicholas and Rowlands, 2011), Sheombar (Sheombar, 2019), Vlasenko et al. (Vlasenko et al., 2020b) only a few researchers make the most of all the tools that social media provide.

The authors of this paper believe that creating in researchers a quality experience of using Research 2.0 resources in professional communication could become a solution to this problem. As Mogull (Mogull, 2017) states, scientists often follow bad communication practices, reiterating typical mistakes. The most typical problems are: lack of ideas because the content is inadequate when the information is processed (inability to read summaries, incorrect application of search techniques); lack of clearly defined conclusions because of inability to integrate the findings into the structure of the general problem; poor choice of the edition for publications; ignoring the process of managing the publication, etc. By the present research the authors join such experts as Mogull (Mogull, 2017), Albert (Albert, 2000), Szklo (Szklo, 2006), Vlasenko et al. (Vlasenko et al., 2020a) who consider, that clear and transparent digital communication practices can make a difference to scientific thinking and improve the quality of scientific advancement. Thus, the suggested program of activities is based on acquiring by scientists some personal experience in research work through the usage of the means of digital communication.

The constituents of the program are aimed at improving core skills of scientists through their scientific communication. Each stage of their activity (from developing topics for the informational environment to presenting the research findings) is ensured by a program of activities, divided into several modules. Every module focuses on developing certain skills. The program means, that older age cohort scholars, who advance their qualifications, will master the basics of efficient work with information, research data management, and will get an insight into digital scientific communication, its components, new trends and technologies of scientific communication; they will learn how to use contemporary practices and search techniques when working with information resources. The attendees also master constructive means of reviewing the publications content, acquire the skills

of creating bookmarks, comments and summaries as well as communicating with editors and reviewers through open journal systems. Communication between the program participants and tutors takes place on the forum and via an on-line chat on the platform Higher School Mathematics Teacher (Vlasenko and Sitak, 2023).

This assessment showed that combining means of digital scientific communication on a certain system and ensuring personal experience in using those means contributes to the development of skills of older age cohort scholars, necessary for responsibility and control over professional development; awareness of the standards, requirements and procedures of professional behavior, necessary for the efficient research management; development of the skills, central to interaction, management and influence on academic, social, cultural and economic context, for instance, skills in financial management of research, understanding of academic and commercial system of the financial support of science.

4 CONCLUSIONS

Fast-paced development of informational environment, opportunities for researchers to communicate with their colleagues and the whole scientific world via the Internet ensured new opportunities in strengthening the global system of scientific communication. This fact made it possible for researchers to improve their core skills through promoting scientific knowledge ensuring mechanisms of participation in contests, interaction, collaboration, personal development and justified the timeliness of developing the program of activities in digital scientific communication for older age cohort scholars, based on the principles of Research 2.0.

Analysing the research into the models of scientific communication and considering the experience of mature scientists, working in Mathematics and Teaching Methods, allowed the authors of the present paper to define the structure of a comprehensive program of activities, aimed at developing skills in scientific communication and core skills of researchers, as well as to devise educational and methodological materials for its implementation in compliance with the SCLC Model, which ensures acquiring personal user experience through the practice of using the means of digital scientific communication.

The above mentioned program of activities was structured in accordance with certain stages of a researcher's activity and involves scientific communication through the means of digital learning environment. Among such activities were: on-line courses in scientific communication, presentations of programs for supporting researchers, workshops, educational videos, one-to-one counselling.

The above mentioned activities encouraged the researchers to seek sources of information and integrate their findings into the context of the overall problem by digital means; to introduce scholars to social networks; to create accounts and micro-networks; to maintain informal communication at seminars, conferences, e-mailing colleagues; to submit publications through open journal systems.

Hence, those activities were aimed at forming communication skills and presenting research findings remotely; practical skills in using bibliometric means; skills in applying contemporary practices and searching techniques when working with sources of information; practical skills in imparting scientific knowledge; skills in preparing start-up projects. All in all, the participants' activity was focused on developing systemic understanding of the nature of Research 2.0, which is based around openness, collaboration, conversation and connectedness.

The participants evaluated the findings of the program introduction by means of Researcher Development Framework, which allows to detect the level of formation of researchers' specific features in such domains as Personal effectiveness and Engagement, influence and impact. Positive changes in the stages of the descriptor development or changes in the level of its efficiency prove the efficiency of implementing the program and its influence on the development of researchers' skills in scientific communication. It was also confirmed, that the latter became a significant catalyst for lowering emotional barriers in course of professional interaction. The analysis of the information on the participants' involvement in contests and grant programs for scientists proved the skills level of in financial management of research and understanding of the system of financial support.

The findings of this research allow to develop trainings for developing specific communication skills of the academia. Courses, developed on the basis of such a program, contribute to quality and speedy increase in communication competence, thus, to a scholar's personal emotional comfort. Communication competence along with emotional comfort, in turn, become instrumental to scholars' competitiveness in the ever changing environment.

The authors of this paper consider a vector of further study to be the detection of scientific activity of the program participants and correcting the model in accordance with the specific features of age cohorts.

REFERENCES

- Albert, T. (2000). Writing for journals: a paradigm lost? Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, 54(9):642–643. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech. 54.9.642.
- American Association for the Advancement of Science (2009). Cultivating Biological Literacy. In Brewer, C. A. and Smith, D., editors, Vision and Change in Undergraduate Biology: A Call to Action, chapter 2, pages 10–19. Washington, DC. http://web.archive.org/web/20211215202621 https://live-visionandchange.pantheonsite.io/wpcontent/uploads/2011/03/Revised-Vision-and-Change-Final-Report.pdf.
- American Association for the Advancement of Science (2023). AAAS Communication Toolkit.
- Australian Qualifications Framework (2014). Addendum to AQF Second Edition January 2013. Amended Qualification Type: Masters Degree. Australian Qualifications Framework Council, South Australia. https://www.aqf.edu.au/download/420/adden dum-aqf-second-edition-january-2013-amendedqualification-type-masters-degree/14/addendum-aqfsecond-edition-january-2013-amended-qualificationtype-masters-degree/pdf
- Björk, B. and Hedlund, T. (2003). Scientific Publication Life-Cycle Model (Splc). In de Souza Costa, S. M., Carvalho, J. Á., Baptista, A. A., and Moreira, A. C. S., editors, From information to knowledge: 7th ICCC/IFIP International Conference on Electronic Publishing held at the Universidade do Minho - ELPUB 2003, Minho, Portugal, June 25-28, 2003. Proceedings. https://nbn-resolving.org/urn: nbn:se:elpub-0317.
- Björk, B. and Hedlund, T. (2004). A formalised model of the scientific publication process. *Online Information Review*, 28(1):8–21. https://doi.org/10.1108/ 14684520410522411.
- Björk, B.-C. (2007a). A model of scientific communication as a global distributed information system. *Information Research*, 12(2). http://informationr.net/ir/12-2/ paper307.html.
- Björk, B.-C. (2007b). The scientific communication life-cycle model. http://web.archive.org/web/ 20080122130452/http://sciencemodel.net/.
- Bogoyavlenskaya, D. B. (2021). The mechanism of creativity: Why we discover the new. *Voprosy Filosofii*, (9):82–89. https://pq.iphras.ru/article/view/6602.
- Brownell, S. E., Price, J. V., and Steinman, L. (2013). Science Communication to the General Public: Why We Need to Teach Undergraduate and Graduate Students this Skill as Part of Their Formal Scientific Training. *Journal of Undergraduate Neuroscience Education*, 12(1):E6–E10. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3852879/.
- Cameron, C., Lee, H. Y., Anderson, C. B., Trachtenberg, J., and Chang, S.(2020). The role of scientific communication in predicting science identity and research career intention. *PLoS One*, 15(2):e0228197. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0228197.

- Cox, C. M. (1926). The Early Mental Traits of Three Hundred Geniuses, volume II of Genetic Studies of Genius. Stanford University Press, Stanford, CA. https://archive.org/details/in.ernet.dli.2015.157060.
- Davies, A., Fidler, D., and Gorbis, M. (2011). The Reworking of "Work". Technical report, Institute for the Future for University of Phoenix Research Institute. https://legacy.iftf.org/futureworkskills.
- EdEra (2018). Akademichna dobrochesnist onlainkurs dlia vchyteliv starshykh klasiv [Academic Integrity: Online Course for Senior Readers]. https://courses.ed-era.com/courses/course-v1: AmericanCouncils+AcIn101+AcIn2019/about.
- EdEra (2019). Very Verified: Online Course on Media Literacy. https://verified.ed-era.com/ua.
- Fetiskin, N. P., Kozlov, V. V., and Manuilov, G. M. (2002). Social and Psychological Diagnostics of Personality and Small Groups Development. Institute of Psychotherapy Publishing House, Moscow.
- Garvey, W. D. and Griffith, B. C. (1972). Communication and information processing within scientific disciplines: Empirical findings for Psychology. *Information Storage and Retrieval*, 8(3):123–136. https: //doi.org/10.1016/0020-0271(72)90041-1.
- Gillen, C. M. (2006). Criticism and Interpretation: Teaching the Persuasive Aspects of Research Articles. *CBE—Life Sciences Education*, 5(1):34–38. https://doi.org/10.1187/cbe.05-08-0101.
- Gray, F. E., Emerson, L., and MacKay, B. (2005). Meeting the Demands of the Workplace: Science Students and Written Skills. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 14(4):425–435. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10956-005-8087-y.
- Guilford, J. P. (1959). Traits of Creativity. In Anderson, H. H., editor, *Creativity and Its Cultivation*, pages 142–161. Harper & Row, New York.
- Hollingworth, L. S. (1926). *Gifted children: their nature and nurture*. Experimental Education Series. Macmillan, New York. https://archive.org/details/b29818904.
- Hurd, J. M. (2000). The transformation of scientific communication: A model for 2020. Journal of the American Society for Information Science, 51(14):1279– 1283. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-4571(2000)9999: 9999<::AID-ASI1044>3.0.CO;2-1.
- Hurd, J. M. (2004). Scientific Communication: New Roles and New Players. Science & Technology Libraries, 25(1-2):5–22. https://doi.org/10.1300/J122v25n01_ 02.
- Jones, S., Yates, B., and Kelder, J.-A. (2011). Learning and Teaching Academic Standards Project: Learning and Teaching Academic Standards Statement for Science. Technical report, Australian Learning & Teaching Council. https://ltr.edu.au/resources/altc_ standards_SCIENCE_240811_v3_0.pdf.
- Kling, R., McKim, G., and King, A. (2003). A Bit More to It: Scholarly Communication Forums as Socio-Technical Interaction Networks. J. Am. Soc. Inf. Sci. Technol., 54(1):47–67. https://doi.org/10.1002/ asi.10154.

- Koltay, T., Ŝpiranec, S., and Karvalics, L. Z. (2015). The Shift of Information Literacy Towards Research 2.0. *The Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 41(1):87–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acalib.2014.11.001.
- Kozeracki, C. A., Carey, M. F., Colicelli, J., and Levis-Fitzgerald, M. (2006). An Intensive Primary-Literature–based Teaching Program Directly Benefits Undergraduate Science Majors and Facilitates Their Transition to Doctoral Programs. *CBE—Life Sciences Education*, 5(4):340–347.
- Kuzminska, O. (2021). Selecting tools to enhance scholarly communication through the life cycle of scientific research. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(3):402–414. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.19.
- Levine, E. (2001). Reading Your Way to Scientific Literacy. Journal of College Science Teaching, 31(2):122–125. https://studylib.es/doc/9019243/ reading-your-way-to-scientific.
- Lugović, S., Dunđer, I., and Horvat, M. (2015). The Secondary Experience of an Information System Enabling Scientific Communication. In Verčič, D., Jugo, D., and Ciboci, L., editors, *Proceedings of Communication Management Forum 2015*, volume 1, pages 562–587, Zagreb, Hrvatska. Edward Bernays College of Communication Management.
- Luzón, M. J. (2009). Scholarly hyperwriting: The function of links in academic weblogs. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, 60(1):75–89. https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.20937.
- MESU (2020). Naukovi komunikatsii molodykh vchenykh pid chas karantynu [Scientific communications of young scientists during quarantine]. Technical report, Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine. https://mon.gov.ua/storage/app/media/nauka/rada %20molodich%20uchenich/2020/07/komunikatsiimolodikh-vchenikh-pid-chas-karantinu.pdf.
- Mogull, S. A. (2017). Scientific and Medical Communication A Guide for Effective Practice. Routledge, New York, NY.
- Mulnix, A. B. (2003). Investigations of Protein Structure and Function Using the Scientific Literature: An Assignment for an Undergraduate Cell Physiology Course. *Cell Biology Education*, 2(4):248–255. https: //doi.org/10.1187/cbe.03-06-0025.
- Nentwich, M. and König, R. (2014). Academia Goes Facebook? The Potential of Social Network Sites in the Scholarly Realm. In Bartling, S. and Friesike, S., editors, Opening Science: The Evolving Guide on How the Internet is Changing Research, Collaboration and Scholarly Publishing, pages 107–124. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-319-00026-8_7.
- Nicholas, D. and Rowlands, I. (2011). Social media use in the research workflow. *Information Ser*vices & Use, 31(1-2):61–83. https://doi.org/10.3233/ ISU-2011-0623.
- Novikov, O. and Rovenska, O. (2017a). Approximation of classes of poisson integrals by repeated Fejer sums. *Lobachevskii Journal of Mathematics*, 38(3):502– 509. https://doi.org/10.1134/S1995080217030209.

- Novikov, O. O. and Rovenska, O. G. (2017b). Approximation of periodic analytic functions by Féjer sums. *Matematchni Studii*, 47(2):196–201. https://doi.org/ 10.15330/ms.47.2.196-201.
- Ontario Universities Council on Quality Assurance (2023). Appendix 2: OCAV's Undergraduate and Graduate Degree Level Expectations. https://oucqa.ca/ framework/appendix-1/.
- PC Technology Center (2019). How to register on ResearchGate and add own research [Kak zaregistrirovatsia na ResearchGate i dobavit svoe issledovanie]. https://www.youtube.com/watch? v=NvaF8XpXPK4&list=PL7xlaPb8vE1JLNjZS_ 5-yVO9QkuKloNxg&index=2.
- Procter, R., Williams, R., Stewart, J., Poschen, M., Snee, H., Voss, A., and Asgari-Targhi, M. (2010). Adoption and use of Web 2.0 in scholarly communications. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, 368(1926):4039–4056. https://royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/abs/10.1098/ rsta.2010.0155.
- Prometheus (2020). Naukova komunikatsiia v tsyfrovu epokhu [Scientific communication in the digital age]. https://courses.prometheus.org.ua/courses/ course-v1:UKMA+SCDA101+2020_T1/about.
- Quality Assurance Agency (2019). Subject Benchmark Statement: Biosciences. Technical Report QAA2450, The Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education. https://www.qaa.ac.uk/docs/ qaa/subjectbenchmark-statements/subject-benchmark-statementbiosciences.pdf?sfvrsn=21f2c881_4.
- Research HUB (2019). How to find Scopus indexed journals? https://youtu.be/GFGjKxkrUkY.
- Roe, A. (1961). The Psychology of the Scientist. Science, 134(3477):456–459. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. 134.3477.456.
- Rovenska, O. (2019). Approximation of analytic functions by repeated de la Vallee Poussin sums. Computer Research and Modeling, 11(3):367–377. https: //doi.org/10.20537/2076-7633-2019-11-3-367-377.
- Rovenska, O. G. and Novikov, O. A. (2020). On approximation of classes of analytic periodic functions by Fejer means. *Chebyshevskii Sbornik*, 21(4):218–226. https: //doi.org/10.22405/2226-8383-2018-21-4-218-226.
- Sheombar, A. (2019). Reflections on social media use along the academic research life cycle. IADIS Press. https: //tinyurl.com/4jfafefv.
- Smyrnova-Trybulska, E., Morze, N., and Kuzminska, O. (2019). Networking Through Scholarly Communication: Case IRNet Project. In Smyrnova-Trybulska, E., Kommers, P., Morze, N., and Malach, J., editors, Universities in the Networked Society: Cultural Diversity and Digital Competences in Learning Communities, volume 10 of Critical Studies of Education, pages 71–87, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-05026-9_5.
- Swisher, B. (2003). A Relevant Retrieval Model for the Social Sciences. http://www.ou.edu/webhelp/socialsci/ modelrationale.htm.

- Szklo, M. (2006). Quality of scientific articles. *Rev Saude Publica*, 40(Spec no.):30–35. https://doi.org/10.1590/ s0034-89102006000400005.
- Søndergaard, T. F., Andersen, J., and Hjørland, B. (1972). Documents and the communication of scientific and scholarly information: Revising and updating the UNISIST model. *Proceedings of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, 40(1):516–516. https://doi.org/10.1002/meet. 14504001102.
- Terman, L. M. (1922). A New Approach to the Study of Genius. *Psychological Review*, 29(4):310–318. https: //doi.org/10.1037/h0071072.
- The Careers Research and Advisory Centre (CRAC) Limited (2023). Vitae programme | managed by crac.org.uk. https://www.crac.org.uk/vitae.
- Ullmann, T. D., Wild, F., Scott, P., Duval, E., Vandeputte, B., Parra, G., Reinhardt, W., Heinze, N., Kraker, P., Fessl, A., Lindstaedt, S., Nagel, T., and Gillet, D. (2010). Components of a Research 2.0 Infrastructure. In Wolpers, M., Kirschner, P. A., Scheffel, M., Lindstaedt, S., and Dimitrova, V., editors, *Sustaining TEL: From Innovation to Learning and Practice*, volume 6383 of *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, pages 590–595. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- UNESCO (1971). UNISIST: study report on the feasibility of a World Science Information System. UNESCO, Paris.
- Vickery, B. C. (2000). *Scientific Communication in History*. Scarecrow Press, Lanham, Md.
- Vlasenko, K., Chumak, O., Sitak, I., Kalashnykova, T., and Achkan, V. (2020a). Clil method to increase students' motivation in studying mathematics at higher technical school. Universal Journal of Educational Research, 8(2):362–370. https://doi.org/10.13189/ujer. 2020.080205.
- Vlasenko, K., Lovianova, I., Sitak, I., Chumak, O., and Kondratyeva, O. (2019). Training of Mathematical Disciplines Teachers for Higher Educational Institutions as a Contemporary Problem. Universal Journal of Educational Research, 7(9):1892–1900. https: //doi.org/10.13189/ujer.2019.070907.
- Vlasenko, K. and Sitak, I. (2023). Higher school mathematics teacher. http://formathematics.com.
- Vlasenko, K., Volkov, S., Sitak, I., Lovianova, I., and Bobyliev, D. (2020b). Usability analysis of online educational courses on the platform "Higher school mathematics teacher". *E3S Web of Conferences*, 166:10012. https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/ 202016610012.
- Vlasenko, K. V., Lovianova, I. V., Chumak, O. O., Sitak, I. V., and Achkan, V. V. (2021). The arrangement of on-line training of master students, majoring in Mathematics for internship in technical universities. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840(1):012007. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1840/1/012007.
- West, M. (2012). STEM education and the workplace. Occasional Paper Series 4, Australian Government. Office of the Chief Scientist.

https://www.chiefscientist.gov.au/sites/default/files/ OPS4-STEMEducationAndTheWorkplace-web.pdf.

Digital Transformation in Education: Model for Higher Educational Institutions

Nataliia V. Morze¹[®] and Oksana V. Strutynska²[®]

¹Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, 18/2 Bulvarno-Kudriavska Str., Kyiv, 04053, Ukraine
²National Pedagogical Dragomanov University, 9 Pyrogova Str., Kyiv, 01601, Ukraine
n.morze@kubg.edu.ua, o.v.strutynska@npu.edu.ua

- Keywords: Digital Transformation, Digital Transformation Model, Digital Transformation of Education, Higher Educational Institution.
- Abstract: The paper is devoted to the analysis of the digital transformation processes that are currently taking place in education. Present research based on previous authors research that considered the some aspects of development a generalized digital transformation model. The research analyzes approaches to developing a model of digital transformation of education. In addition, the ways of its implementation are determined. Besides that, the generalized model of digital transformation of education is proposed. According to the results of the research, the model of digital transformation of the higher education institution was developed. In response to the impact of digital transformation, it can be used as a roadmap for solutions for the digital transition to an innovative model for the functioning of the modern university.

1 INTRODUCTION

The digital technologies have become a part of our modern everyday life: artificial intelligence, robotics, IoT, blockchain and 3D technologies, etc.

The use of digital technologies is transforming business models, resulting in new products and services; the format of works is changing (outsourcing, online platforms, improved automation, robotics, etc.). Real-time work with digital data fundamentally changes the ways of management, production, sale and use of products (Vishnevsky et al., 2020).

The report of the consulting company Accenture (for 2017) identifies five new digital technologies that can transform global economic development (Ford and Lobo, 2017): Internet of Things (IoT), Artificial Intelligence (AI), Blockchain, Big Data, Robotic Process Automation (RPA).

Thus, modern digital technologies, services and systems are extremely important for social development. Their introduction into the activities of enterprises and organizations, engineering and technology, production and non-production processes allows to expand the range of goods and services, improve their quality and compliance with consumer demand, in-

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3477-9254

crease productivity and form new value-added chains. This will ensure growth and creation of jobs in all economy sectors (from the smallest traditional enterprises to the latest high-tech industries).

However, the education system is failing behind the general state of digital transformation in society. In our opinion, the main problem is the lack of understanding by the participants of the educational process of the institutions (higher, secondary and vocational) what is the difference between the use of digital technologies and innovations provided by the transformational changes that digital technologies bring to the educational process, and comprehension of concepts, structure, required and sufficient conditions and processes of digital transformation in general and in education in particular.

Paper goals. The purpose of this research is to analyze and develop model of digital transformation model of education and digital transformation model of higher education institution.

2 RESEARCH METHODS

The authors have used the following research methods and tools for the investigation (2021-2022).

Quantitative methods: 1) scientific monographs;

Digital Transformation in Education: Model for Higher Educational Institutions

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 421-431 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3555-070X

2) research papers; 3) study and analysis of documents about digital transformation; 4) analysis approaches for development digital transformation model, also in educational field; 5) (online) meetings, (video) conferences, seminars, workshops, etc.

Qualitative methods: survey and interview of the Ukrainian educators to determine their awareness about digital transformation of education.

3 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

Digital transformation is the use of digital technologies (Negroponte, 1995) to fundamentally increase the productivity and value of enterprises (Westerman et al., 2014). Now this is the focus of managers and employees of actively competing industries around the world. Digital transformation is due to the use of rapidly developing digital technologies and their accelerated impact on society. Such transformation takes into account the changes that have already happened, happening and will happen in the future (i-SCOOP, 2021). The processes of digital transformation are affecting many areas of human activity. They are felt in all areas where there is mechanization and automation of data processing.

Figure 1 shows the areas in which fundamental changes are expected due to the digital transformation.

Digital transformation (DT) is the result of digitisation and digitalization of economies and societies. DT is an ongoing process. The introduction of digital technologies creates both new opportunities and new challenges.

Consider the challenges posed by a process, digital transformation, which is a complex phenomenon of different development. These challenges are related to the following issues:

- which areas are most affected by the digital transformation;
- how the digital transformation affects the labor market, training of future professionals, and social life in general;
- what are the ways to implement digital transformation for different industries;
- what steps need to be taken for the digital transformation of companies, production, ecosystem, and a particular industry as a whole;
- what changes in educational systems need to be made to adapt people and accelerate their inclusion into the processes of digital transformation.

One of the key issues for the implementation of digital transformation is changes in the way of thinking and requirements for the competencies of workers in the industry. First of all, it is connected with people's understanding of digital transformation processes and with their ability to use digital technologies effectively.

Our previous research focused on development of the digital transformation model (Morze and Strutynska, 2021). Based on the analysis of the considered researches (Pawlowski, 2019; Mergel et al., 2019; Bumann and Peter, 2019; Rof et al., 2020; Muluk, 2016; Patton and Santos, 2018; Wildan Zulfikar et al., 2018; Nguyen, 2018), the authors of this paper proposed a general model of digital transformation (figure 2).

The main components of this model are:

- 1. The reasons that lead to the need in digital transformation of the area/industry (the impact of digital technologies, new services, new requirements to life in a digital society, etc.).
- 2. The use of digital technologies to change business processes in the industry to increase its efficiency.
- Preparation of workers, employers, the population as a whole for life in new socio-economic conditions (change of culture, way of thinking, abilities, skills, and mutual relations) and development of their digital competences.
- 4. Effective use of existing data, including the use of modern tools for their analysis with elements of Artificial Intelligence and Big Data.
- 5. The main results of digital transformation include new products, services, policies, markets, environment and development of the digital society as a whole.

4 DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION IN EDUCATION: IMPLEMENTATION APPROACHES

In the conditions of intensive development of digital technologies, digitalization, digital transformation of many branches of human activity, fast change of professions demanded in the labor market and, accordingly, professional requirements to competences of experts, educational activity needs updating of the maintenance and methods of training, search for innovative forms of training, expanding access to educational resources, and the implementation of learning



Figure 1: Areas in which fundamental changes take place due to the digital transformation (Morze and Strutynska, 2021)

opportunities without space- and time-based restrictions, the introduction of new approaches to the organization of educational services in general. Thus, the digital transformation of education is an integral part of the processes taking place in society today.

Technologies play a key role not only in enabling new ways of teaching and learning, but also in new business models required to drive the very transformation that educational institutions are trying to effect (Patton and Santos, 2018).

Digital transformation means a qualitative increase in the effectiveness and productivity of educational activities through:

- changes (updates) of goals and content of educational activities;
- review and optimization of teaching materials and organizational solutions, tools and services used in educational activities;
- updating the organization and methods of educational activities, focusing on maximizing the potential of each student, the transition from learning and educating of all to learning and educating of everyone (personalized learning);
- review of traditional business processes, inclusion of all stakeholder into this work (especially stu-

dents and teachers), the use of digital technologies to automate all types of information processing.

The analysis of scientific publications (see above) has shown that now the development of models of digital transformation is a topical, but underdeveloped issue. In the field of education, the research (Rof et al., 2020), devoted to this, analyzes in detail the impact of digital transformation on the business model of traditional universities. Another research (HolonIQ, 2020) describes an open-source capability framework for higher education (4 dimensions, 16 domains and more than 70 capabilities). The Navitas Ventures research (Nav, 2017) is dedicated to identifying leaders and facilitators of change in the digital transformation of higher education, as well as the groups most affected by the digital transformation. Such studies show the need to develop a concept of digital transformation of education in Ukraine and develop an appropriate model.

According to the developed generalized model of digital transformation (figure 2), the model of digital transformation of education contains similar components taking into account the specifics of the industry.

Figure 3 shows the generalized model of digital transformation of education that is developed by the authors.



Figure 3: Model of Digital Transformation of Education

The proposed model takes into account the goals, features of the educational process and the conditions of using digital technologies to develop a modern educational ecosystem. The brief description is below.

Block "Processes":

- 1. Digital Strategy of Educational Institutions Development (design, implementation).
- 2. Digitalization.
- 3. Organization.
- 4. Optimization (paperless trend).

- Personalized Learning (Inquiry Based Learning, Project Based Learning).
- Virtualization (virtual collaboration, virtual communication, virtual presence).
- 7. Analysis & Control.

Block "People" transforms into block "Educators & Learners":

1. New Mindset (computational thinking, design mindset, emotional intelligence, social intelligence, etc.).

- New Skills & Competences (digital skills & competences, soft skills, media literacy, transdisciplinary competences).
- 3. Culture (innovation culture, change readiness, attitudes & motivation for education; lifelong learning, non-formal learning, informal learning; agility).
- 4. New Relationship (partnership, leadership).
- 5. Personalization (personal learner profile, personal learning environment, personal educator profile, personal teaching environment, individual needs etc.).
- 6. Ubiquity.

Block **"Technologies"** transforms into block **"Digital Technologies in Education"**:

- Use of New Digital Educational Tools (content management systems, learning content management systems, video conferencing tools, MOOCs, digital assessment tools, mobile learning tools & devices, Virtual Reality, Augmented Reality, Mixed Reality, 3D printing, robots in education, gamification, internet platforms for educational needs etc.)
- 2. Digital Technology Integration.
- 3. Digital Environments (virtual campus, learning environments, virtual spaces, virtual laboratories, virtual classes etc.).
- 4. Monitoring / Expertise of Using Technologies Effectiveness.
- 5. Cybersecurity.

Block "Data":

- 1. Retrieval / Use.
- 2. Data Mining (learner data, data-driven decisions).
- 3. Data Security (backups, reliability).
- 4. Data Analytics (learners monitoring, learners activity analytics etc.)
- 5. Big Data Storage.

Thus, the areas of developing the digital transformation of education are following:

- transformation of goals, content and corresponding methods and forms of educational activities, which are associated with the penetration of new digital tools in various areas of human activity;
- educational institutions have to master new digital tools that increase the efficiency of the educational process;

- pupils/students should master new digital tools to increase the efficiency of their educational activities, and their digital competence needs developing;
- teachers should master:
- (a) new digital tools to increase the efficiency of their professional activities;
- (b) content, methods and forms of educational activities that are transformed due to the impact of new digital tools on various areas of human activity;
- (c) new digital tools that increase the efficiency of the educational process, which is also changing;
- education leaders should master:
- (a) new digital tools that increase the efficiency of their professional activities;
- (b) digital tools that increase the efficiency of the organization of the changing educational process.

Higher education systems and institutions are particularly affected by digital transformation, which can enable new services and provide new opportunities for innovation and entrepreneurship. Higher education institutions (HEIs) embracing digital technologies can become drivers of growth and development for their own ecosystems (OECD and European Union, 2019).

Impact of digital transformation and recent research states that avoiding DT is not an option, and that HEIs need to adapt to technological changes if they want to stay relevant (Wildan Zulfikar et al., 2018).

Implementing new technologies is inevitable, that HEIs must obligatorily implement new technologies to be digitally relevant, and that the real challenge is the right execution of available digital plans and strategies, engaging and empowering students, staff, and the faculty in the process (Nguyen, 2018).

However, now the main challenges for universities today are:

- involvement of students into studying with the use of modern methods,
- providing teachers with more opportunities to fulfil their potential,
- · restructuring of the educational process,
- optimization of university management and internal processes.

The key point is the digital transformation, not the creation of digital analogues of paper or other physical media and processes. To achieve this, it is necessary to restructure all the processes in the university, starting from the educational process and ending with the formation of new thinking of all its participants.

According to the models developed above (figures 2 and 3), we will consider the components that will change within the process of digital transformation of higher education institution (figure 4).

The main components of the proposed model include:

- educational environment (taking into account conditions of wide use of digital technologies there will be a virtualization of educational process, processes of communication, cooperation, and educational institution management);
- technology and tools used by teachers and students;
- conditions of teachers-students interaction within the digital environment; it is important to overcome the academic digital gap by developing professors' digital skills, as students are already highly motivated to use digital learning tools;
- management of university process and the internal process in general.

To determine the educators' awareness level in the field of digital transformation of education, as well as whether they are ready for these processes authors have conducted survey. The online survey was elaborated (in Ukrainian) using Google Forms. 134 Ukrainian educators have taken part in the present research (during December 2021). We guaranteed participants that only anonymized data would be shared. The survey contained information about processes of digital transformation of education. The gained data are presented in figures 5-9.

Q.: Which of the following in your opinion causes the digital transformation of education?

Survey responses on the causes the digital transformation of education are shown in figure 5 (multiple answers are possible, that is why the total responses can be more than 100%):

As we can see from figure 5, the largest group of respondents defines of the digital technology impact (79%) and new requirements for the competence of specialists (62%) as the main causes the digital transformation of education. At the same time, about 48% of educators suggest that emergence of new professions also impact on the digital transformation of education.

If compare these results with our previous research in (Morze and Strutynska, 2021) we can make conclusion about increasing awareness level of the Ukrainian educators about processes of digital transformation of education. **Q**.: What processes in your opinion need to be implemented for the digital transformation of education?

Survey responses on processes need to be implemented for the digital transformation of education are shown in figure 6 (multiple answers are possible, that is why the total responses can be more than 100%).

Figure 6 are shown that the majority of respondents considered the most important steps for implementing the digital transformation of education are development of the digital educational environment (86%), development of the digital transformation strategy of an educational institution (83%) and digitalization of educational processes (66%).

At the same time, almost half of the respondents also understand the importance of taking other steps (introduction of paperless document management – 47%, introduction of paperless (electronic) document management – 36%, data analysis with the use of the digital technology – 36%). Thus, most educators correctly understand the processes that need to be implemented for the digital transformation of education.

Q.: Which of the following in your opinion can result from the digital transformation of education?

Survey responses on respondents opinion about results from the digital transformation of education are shown in figure 7 (multiple answers are possible, that is why the total responses can be more than 100%):

As we can see from figure 7, the largest group of respondents defines digital educational environment as the main result from the digital transformation of education (81%). Other survey answers also show that educators correctly appreciate the results of the digital transformation of education in general, which corresponds to the models developed by the authors in figure 3 and figure 4.

Q.: What teachers need to do to implement an effective educational process under the conditions of the digital transformation in your opinion?

Survey responses on respondents opinion about what teachers need to do to implement an effective educational process under the conditions of the digital transformation are shown in figure 8 (multiple answers are possible, that is why the total responses can be more than 100%).

Figure 8 are shown that the largest group of respondents believes that teachers need to master new digital tools (90%). At the same time, about 76% of educators suggest that teachers need to master new teaching aids. Thus, this means that educators understand that to implement the digital transformation of



Figure 4: Higher Educational Institution Digital Transformation Model.



Figure 5: Survey responses on the causes the digital transformation of education.

education, first of all, it is necessary to increase digital competence.

Q.: What students need to do for studying under the conditions of the digital transformation in your opinion?

Survey responses on respondents opinion about what what students need to do for studying under the conditions of the digital transformation are shown in figure 9 (multiple answers are possible, that is why the total responses can be more than 100%). Figure 9 are shown the very similar results as answers in previous question (figure 8). That is the largest group of respondents believes that students need to master new digital tools (78%). Also 71% of educators suggest that students need to change own motivation for e-learning.

Thus, an envisioned model in response to the impact of digital transformation (figure 4) can be used as a roadmap for solutions for the digital transition to an innovative model for the functioning of the modern university.



Figure 6: Survey responses on processes need to be implemented for the digital transformation of education.



Figure 7: Survey responses on respondents opinion about results from the digital transformation of education.

5 CONCLUSIONS

Thus, the result of the digital transformation of education is:

- creating a modern digital educational environment to provide equal access to quality educational services and resources anywhere, anytime and in order to improve the quality of education;
- digitalization of all components of the educational process;
- effective use of modern digital technologies and data through the development of digital skills and competencies of all education stakeholders;
- formation of new competencies of the educational process participants, i.e., competencies which are necessary for a successful life in the digital society;

- defining requirements for digital competencies of heads of educational institutions and educational policy makers;
- developing special innovative courses for heads of educational institutions, which provided them with an understanding of the concept of digital transformation of education and ways to ensure its.

A number of important steps need to be taken at the state, regional and local levels to implement all the abovementioned in Ukraine. We define them taking into account the analysis and synthesis of similar experience and researches (Hrynevych et al., 2020; Strutynska, 2020; European Union, 2020; Sepúlveda, 2020; Morze et al., 2020).

State-level measures are:

Creating a unified educational policy for the digi-



Figure 8: Survey responses on respondents opinion about what teachers need to do to implement an effective educational process under the conditions of the digital transformation.



Figure 9: Survey responses on respondents opinion about what students need to do for studying under the conditions of the digital transformation.

tal transformation of education.

90%

- Development of the necessary legal framework to ensure the digital transformation of education.
- Promoting the development of a highly efficient digital education ecosystem as a whole.
- Development and approval of the digital competence standard of the country citizen, including the teaching employee with the corresponding criteria of estimation of digital competence formation level.
- Strengthening cooperation and exchange of experience in models of digital education implementation with EU countries, support of interstate cooperation.

Regional-level measures are:

- Equipping educational institutions with modern computer equipment, as well as broadband connection of all educational institutions to the Internet, purchase of digital equipment, digital learning programs and platforms.
- · Development of mechanisms for the implementa-

tion of the digital competence standard of teaching employees to improve the teachers' skills.

- Expanding the active use of distance and blended learning technologies through targeted training of heads of educational institutions and teachers.
- Updating the content of training of future teachers, especially on issues relating to use of digital technologies in the educational process, new approaches to educating of modern youth.
- Improving the digital skills and competencies of the population for digital transformation in general.

Institutional-level measures are:

- Increasing of access to distance learning technologies for teachers and students who have not had this access before (by providing access to the Internet and related equipment).
- Providing flexible curriculum taking into account models of full-time, distance and blended learn-ing.
- Development of quality educational content based on the wide use of digital technologies and taking into account the principles of information security of all participants of the educational process while working with computer networks.
- Arranging of continuous training of educators.

REFERENCES

- (2017). Digital Transformation in Higher Education. Report, Navitas Ventures. https://moodle.ufsc.br/mod/ resource/view.php?id=1741051.
- Bumann, J. and Peter, M. K. (2019). Action Fields of Digital Transformation - A Review and Comparative Analysis of Digital Transformation maturity Models and Frameworks. In Verkuil, A. H., Hinkelmann, K., and Aeschbacher, M., editors, *Digitalisierung und andere Innovationsformen im Management: aktuelle Perspektiven auf die digitale Transformation von Unternehmen und Lebenswelten*, volume 2 of *Innovation und Unternehmertum*, pages 13–40. Edition Gesowip, Basel. https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/337167323.
- European Union (2020). The Digital Education Action Plan 2021-2027: Resetting education and training for the digital age. https://ec.europa.eu/education/ sites/education/files/document-library-docs/ deap-communication-sept2020_en.pdf.
- Ford, F. R. and Lobo, I. (2017). Digital disruption: Development unleashed. Multiply innovation, collaboration and impact through digital in international development. https://tinyurl.com/yc6j5ybv.

- HolonIQ (2020). *Higher Education Digital Capability Framework*. https://www.digitalcapability.org.
- Hrynevych, L. M., Ilich, L. M., Lynov, K. O., Viktorivna, M. N., Protsenko, O. B., Proshkin, V. V., Rii, H. Y., and Shemelynets, I. I. (2020). Orhanizatsiia osvitnoho protsesu v shkolakh Ukrainy v umovakh karantynu [Organization of the educational process in schools of Ukraine in quarantine]. Analytical note, Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, Kyiv. https://tinyurl. com/yxv5nx8x.
- i-SCOOP (2021). What is digital business transformation? The essential guide to DX. https://www.i-scoop.eu/ digital-transformation.
- Mergel, I., Edelmann, N., and Haug, N. (2019). Defining digital transformation: Results from expert interviews. *Government Information Quarterly*, 36(4):101385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2019.06. 002.
- Morze, N., Kucherovska, V., and Smyrnova-Trybulska, E. (2020). Self-estimation of an educational institution's digitalization level under the conditions of secondary education transformation. *Electronic Scientific Professional Journal "OPEN EDUCATIONAL E-ENVIRONMENT OF MODERN UNIVERSITY"*, (8):72–87. https://doi.org/10.28925/2414-0325.2020. 8.8.
- Morze, N. V. and Strutynska, O. V. (2021). Digital transformation in society: key aspects for model development. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1946(1):012021. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/ 1946/1/012021.
- Muluk, T. (2016). ICT in Education for Digital Transformation. In ITU Regional Workshop for CIS on "Strengthening Capacity Building in the field of Telecommunications/ICT". https: //www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Regional-Presence/CIS/ Documents/Events/2017/04_Odessa/Presentations/ ITU%20Workshop%2012.04-Turhan%20Muluk.pdf.
- Negroponte, N. (1995). *Being Digital*. Hodder & Stoughton, London. https://archive.org/details/ beingdigital0000negr.
- Nguyen, D. (2018). The university in a world of digital technologies: Tensions and challenges. *Australasian Marketing Journal (AMJ)*, 26(2):79–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ausmj.2018.05.012.
- OECD and European Union (2019). Digital transformation and capabilities. In *Supporting Entrepreneurship and Innovation in Higher Education in Italy*, chapter 5, pages 125–145. OECD Publishing, Paris. https://doi.org/10.1787/6cc2e0a5-en.
- Patton, R. and Santos, R. (2018). The next-generation digital learning environment and a framework for change for education institutions. White paper, Cisco. https: //www.cisco.com/c/dam/en_us/solutions/industries/ docs/education/digital-learning-environment.pdf.
- Pawlowski, J. M. (2019). Digital Transformation how to survive in the age of Digitization. Conference New Pedagogical Approaches in STEAM Education. September 26-27, 2019. Kyiv (Ukraine).
- Rof, A., Bikfalvi, A., and Marquès, P. (2020). Digital Transformation for Business Model Innovation in Higher

Education: Overcoming the Tensions. *Sustainability*, 12(12):4980. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12124980.

- Sepúlveda, A. (2020). The digital transformation of education: connecting schools, empowering learners. Geneva. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/ pf0000374309.
- Strutynska, O. (2020). Transformation of education under conditions of digital society development: European experience and prospects for Ukraine. Scientific bulletin of South Ukrainian National Pedagogical University named after K. D. Ushynsky, (3(132)):71–88. https://doi.org/10.24195/2617-6688-2020-3-9.
- Vishnevsky, V., Harkushenko, O., Kniaziev, S., Lypnytskyi, D., and Chekina, V. (2020). *Digitalization* of Ukrainian economy: transformational potential. Akademperiodyka, Kyiv. https://www.researchgate. net/publication/339680125.
- Westerman, G., Bonnet, D., and McAfee, A. (2014). The nine elements of digital transformation. https://sloanreview.mit.edu/article/ thenine-elements-of-digital-transformation.
- Wildan Zulfikar, M., Idham bin Hashim, A., Ubaid bin Ahmad Umri, H., and Ahmad Dahlan, A. R. (2018). A Business Case for Digital Transformation of a Malaysian-Based University. In 2018 International Conference on Information and Communication Technology for the Muslim World (ICT4M), pages 106– 109. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICT4M.2018.00028.

Formation Digital Intelligence of a Modern Economist: A Competence Approach

Olena G. Glazunova^{®a}, Taisiia P. Saiapina^{®b}, Valentyna I. Korolchuk^{®c}, Olga M. Kasatkina^{®d}, Tetiana V. Voloshyna^{®e} and Maksym V. Mokriiev^{®f}

National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine, 15 Heroiv Oborony Str., Kyiv, 03041, Ukraine {o-glazunova, t_sayapina, korolchuk, olga_kasat, t-voloshina, m.mokriiev}@nubip.edu.ua

- Keywords: Digital Intelligence, Digital Security, Future Economist, Digital Economy, Digital Citizen, Digital Creator, Digital Entrepreneur.
- Abstract: In the current context of the digitalization of various spheres of life, an important characteristic of participants in a digital society is the level of their digital intelligence. With the development of the digital economy, the skills of digital intelligence are required by all professionals in the field. The level of digital intelligence development of future economists during their university studies determines their successful employment and career development. The present paper analyzes the application of the competency approach to the formation of digital intelligence using the tools of the moodle platform. In the e-learning course, digital learning content was correlated with a competencies that are defined according to digital intelligence hoards. The authors demonstrate the stages of formation, indicators for different levels of formation, content and examples of educational representation of material. The results of the pilot study for achieving all three levels of digital intelligence are also presented. A statistical analysis of the results of the experiment was carried out and their relevance proved.

1 INTRODUCTION

The modern economy requires the digitization of economic processes, which is the basis of innovative development of economic systems. Digital economy is creating new products, shaping new needs, and the speed and volume of information is increasing day by day. The development of digital intelligence among economic actors offers significant opportunities to create and conduct business based on new technological solutions or business models not previously applied. At the current stage of the development of the global economy, digital tools were accompanying all aspects of economic activity, and digital data technology and e-business were receiving increasing attention.

The use of digital technologies is transforming the relations between the participants of economic

- ^b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9905-4268
- ° https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3145-8802
- ^d https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3952-9046
- e https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6020-5233
- f https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6717-3884

activity in its various sectors. That is why the formation and development of digital competences in economists, both general and professional, is an important task for modern universities in preparing future economists and improving their skills. "The public interest in sustainable and continuous development of the quality of labor resources and the increase of their value finds concrete expression in the rulemaking for modernization and achievement of effective structural changes in the education and qualification systems, herefore, the development of competency profiles and competency models in higher education is imperative. The realization of competence approach is meaningful, effective and supporting the future professional realization of the students and it should be prioritized. As a means of comparison with the rich theoretical experience and established practice, it is a real helper for the development of the higher education system as a responsibility not to the document, but to the result" (Nikolova Koleva, 2021). International and European institutions pay great attention to the development of standards of digital competence, in particular, the framework of digital intelligence provides the ability to adequately use digital technologies to work with data, management in-

432

Glazunova, O., Saiapina, T., Korolchuk, V., Kasatkina, O., Voloshyna, T. and Mokriiev, M

Formation Digital Intelligence of a Modern Economist: A Competence Approach.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0136-4936

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 432-447 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

formation systems, economic risks, provide cybersecurity, digital communication and more. The development of such abilities among future economists needs to take place both during the training of information technology disciplines and in professionally oriented (vocational) academic disciplines. It is therefore necessary to develop the content, methods and forms for the formation and development of digital intelligence skills of future economists during university studies through appropriate educational programs.

The purpose of the present article is to define the notions, components, levels and characteristics of digital intelligence of the modern economist, to develop approaches to the formation and development of components of digital intelligence of future economists in higher education.

2 THE THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

Digital competences, computer skills, information literacy and related abilities represent a crucial element in ICT education (Information and Communication Technologies) (Stopar and Bartol, 2018). Digital competence is a basic skill for citizens and should be systematically assessed, taking into account characteristics such as knowledge, skills and attitudes (Hazar, 2018).

Digital skills are one of the most important conditions for the development of the digital market in any country, as they are directly or indirectly linked to all spheres of society and the economy. Significant work has been done by the European community to create the potential for digital transformation of education, in particular, to change the skills and competences requirements for citizens. The work was focused on developing a digital competency framework for citizens (DigComp), educators (DigCompEdu), educational organizations (DigCompOrg) and consumers (DigCompConsumers).

Digital competence is one of the key competences and is necessary for lifelong learning as it "involves the confident and critical use of electronic media for work, leisure and communication. It is related to logical and critical thinking, to skills for handling information at a high level". The DigComp conceptual reference model identifies 5 broad areas of digital competence, broken down into 21 competences (Park, 2019). The development of the entrepreneurial capacity of European citizens and organisations is one of the key policy objectives for the EU and Member States. European Commission identified sense of initiative and entrepreneurship as one of the 8 key competences necessary for a knowledge-based society. The EntreComp proposes a shared definition of entrepreneurship as a competence, with the aim to raise consensus among all stakeholders and to establish a bridge between the worlds of education and work (Bacigalupo et al., 2016). The European e-Competence Framework is not based on job profiles but rather on competences as this approach is more flexible. Its purpose is to provide general and comprehensive e-Competences specified at five proficiency levels that can then be adapted and customised into different contexts from ICT business and stakeholder application perspectives. The 41 competences of the framework are classified according to five main ICT business areas and relate to the European Qualifications Framework (Costa and Santos, 2017).

The level of digital competence of university students is determined in accordance with the DigCom 2.1 recommendations (González Calatayud et al., 2018; López-Meneses et al., 2020; Kuzminska et al., 2019), TPACK-21 (Schmidt et al., 2009; Valtonen et al., 2017; Miguel-Revilla et al., 2020).

Any framework of digital competence presented necessarily requires mastery of the components of digital intelligence. Park (Park, 2016) defines digital intelligence as a set of social, emotional and cognitive abilities that allow individuals to meet challenges and adapt to the requirements of digital life. By acknowledging conceptual dyad, digital intelligence could be a result of the process of digital learning (Kineshanko and Jugdev, 2017). Since digital technologies support the learning process and have become an educational subject as well as teaching content, the development of digital intelligence is encouraged in contemporary students (Škoda and Luić, 2019).

Today's education is best met by the concept of digital intelligence development that includes eight interconnected areas: digital identity, digital use, digital safety, digital security, digital emotional intelligence, digital communication, digital literacy, and digital rights (Dostál et al., 2017). Cismaru et al. (Cismaru et al., 2018) explores the development of four categories of skills (operational, informational, strategic and digital fluency) as dimensions of the digital intelligence.

Entrepreneurs are often pressed to create and launch products and services as quickly as possible to achieve a first-mover advantage in the market. In doing so, they tend to overlook cybersecurity threats and risks due to a lack of awareness and insufficient funding. This can lead to theft of intellectual property, project failure, and inaccurate risk assessment (Plachkinova and Pittz, 2021).

3 IMPLEMENTATION

Digital economy is based on information and communication and digital technologies, the rapid development and spread of which are already affecting the traditional (physical-analogue) economy, transforming it from a resource-consuming economy to a resource-creating economy. Data are the key resource of the digital economy, generated and enabled by electronic communications through the operation of digital devices, tools and systems. In order to achieve digital competitiveness in the digital economy, it is necessary to develop the digital intelligence skills in a future economist.

Similar to IQ and EQ, which are used to measure general and emotional intelligence, digital skills are DQ (Digital Quotient), which is digital intelligence. The DQ framework contains 3 levels of digital intelligence (Deepak, 2017):

- "digital citizenship" is the use of digital technologies in everyday life, for interaction with each other, communication, viewing of digital content, etc.;
- "digital creativity" is the use of digital technologies to create content, media, applications, etc.;
- "digital entrepreneurship" is the use of digital technologies for business, professional activity, etc.

The defined levels are applied to such components of digital intelligence as: Digital Changemaker Identity, Digital Use, Digital Safety, Digital Security, Digital Emotional Intelligence, Digital Communication, Digital Literacy, Digital Rights. In order to determine indicators for all components of the future economist's digital intelligence, it is necessary not only to analyze the DQ framework, but also the labor market requirements to the competences of a modern digital economist. The description of the components of digital intelligence is presented in figure 1. Thus, two basic academic disciplines - "Information Technology in Economics" and "Database Management Systems", in the program of training of specialists in the economy are responsible for the formation of digital skills.

According to the data of DQ Institute, a person possesses **Digital Changemaker Identity** if he/she knows the general and emerging trends in the digital environment, identifies and evaluates innovative opportunities for business or social impact, provided by the improvement of new technologies, development of higher-order thinking skills, expansion of thinking beyond the individual scale to integrate digital networks and tools in response to broader social and eco-

nomic challenges. Such people demonstrate professionalism and value, an interest in understanding the existing gaps in their digital competence and technology, using them for self-development and further business growth (Park, 2019). At The Future of Jobs Report forum, it was stated that the more work on soft skills in addition to hard skills, the more navigate easily tomorrow's job market (The Future of Jobs Report, 2020). Soft skills are crucial for the complex and dynamic process of career management and development for an economist mostly within the knowledgebased society context (Suciu and Lacatus, 2014). Teaching detailed and nuanced industry knowledge is arguably beyond the scope of entrepreneurship education systems, but to an extent, it is of paramount importance that students are exposed to the organic industry knowledge through interaction and experiential experiences. Within such interaction, the development of convergent 21st century skills such as social elationships, leadership, creativity and critical thinking further nurture entrepreneurial intents among students (Ghafar, 2020). The indicator of the Digital Changemaker Identity is the ability to identify and develop yourself as a competent digital technology user in Economics. To reach the Digital Citizen level, it is enough for a modern economist to understand the possibilities of using digital technologies to build your own image and the impact of knowledge and technology on professional development; use technologies to control and form your own digital identity; to demonstrate honesty in technology use and selfefficacy by finding ways to take advantage of the opportunities available to you in the digital environment. The level of "Digital Creator" presupposes the future economist's understanding of how to be aware of the progress of ICT, as well as the ability to integrate digital technologies in professional life; having a healthy identity as the co-creator of the digital ecosystem, able to explore and identify contemporary problems, jointly develop new ideas for their solution through technology. To reach the Digital Entrepreneur level, it is necessary to be able to identify and evaluate innovative business or social impact opportunities that are enhanced by new technologies; monitor and integrate emerging trends and technologies, structure data collection to identify new technology products / services that determine the potential added value of the business for sustainability and profitability of the business. Within the framework of both academic disciplines, namely "Information Systems and Technology in Economics" and "Database Management Systems" the Digital Changemaker Identity skills can be developed through the use of project-based, case-based, and practice-oriented training.

		Information Systems and Technology in Economics	Database Management Systems
	Digital Changemaker Identity	An ability to identify and develop yours technologies i	self as a knowledgeable user of digital in Economics
	Digital Use	An ability to adequately use data managem and accountin	ent digital technologies, IC in management g, financial IC
	Digital Safety	An ability to understand, soften and manage the economic risks through the use of IT	
	Digital Security	An ability to identify, plan and implement the organizational measures of cybersecurity protection in production processes	
	Digital Emotional Intelligence	An ability to skillfully use the mana	agement tools for digital activities
e	Digital Communication	An ability to effectively exchange messages, ideas and thoughts on the Internet	
ę	Digital Literacy	Creation of documents, use of tools for calcuproces	ulations, analysis, visualization and statistic ssing
	Digital Rights	An ability to understand your powers and Intu use digital content and	ernet participation rights, licensed rights to specialized software

Figure 1: Components of digital intelligence.

Digital data technology, information systems in management, accounting and finance are increasingly playing a key role in managing business processes, including all areas of economic activity, and future economists therefore need Digital Use skills. In (Wong et al., 2016) several considerations and suggestions are drawn in terms of rethinking and pursuing usability in training when applied to Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP), and other business process management software systems, SAP, which comes as an integrated solution that incorporates the key business functions and processes of an organization. The rapid growth through the use of Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) systems by Indonesian companies has been responded by ERP vendors in providing skilled human resources in ERP environment by cooperating with universities, particularly for training accounting students. Satisfaction with class and instructor influence perceived ease of use, students feel satisfied with ERP training and this affects their intentions in using ERP in the future (Imbiri, 2019). Chen and Zhou (Chen and Zhou, 2013) presents the enterprise resource planning (ERP)

course layout aiming at the current problems from six aspects of the curriculum, teaching content, teaching resource, teaching method, teaching evaluation, teacher training. Shraideh et al., (Shraideh et al., 2018) conducted a practical course for teaching topics of SAP Leonardo and SAP HANA by suggesting model for conducting a capstone course consisting of eight phases. The model is geared to teaching new and innovative industry-related topics by using a project-based learning approach including elements of experiential learning and role-play teaching. The Digital Citizen level assumes the modern economist's understanding of the impact of the use of digital technologies on health, productivity of work, welfare and lifestyle, the possession of the relevant knowledge to solve these consequences; the use of technology in a targeted manner to achieve better objectives, effective use of digital content and tools for their own benefit. At the same time, a modern economist with a Digital creativity level has to be able to develop new ideas for solving the given tasks; to use self-motivation and ingenuity in using technologies in professional activity, for allocating available resources; to select and use digital technologies and information systems to plan and execute business processes. To attain the Digital entrepreneur level a student must use digital technologies to improve organizations, achieve business goals, work with economic indicators, information systems covering all spheres of economic activity, use systems to manage enterprise resources; to create, implement and use information systems and technology in different spheres of economic activity. The formation and development of such skills is ensured in the course of studying "Information Systems and Technology in Economics" and "Database management systems" academic disciplines, as well as professionally oriented disciplines in economics, accounting, analysis, modeling, management.

Organizations are faced with increasing complexity, uncertainty and enhanced threats from a wide range of forces. Depending on how this situation is handled, it can become risk or opportunity to erode or enhance business value. In addition, organizations have to meet most different stakeholders', legal and regulatory risk management requirements, comprehensive enterprise risk management are challenge and core competence for organizations' sustainable success (Stoll, 2015). Raanan (Raanan, 2009) research which applications of risk management to many aspects of modern life, from insurance, banking, health issues, business ventures, to project management and more. The Digital Safety indicator is the ability to understand, mitigate and manage economic risks using IT. To reach the level of a Digital Citizen the future economist needs: to understand the different types of behavioral cyber risks, how he/she can face these risks, how these risks can affect him/her; to develop the necessary technical, socio-cognitive, communicative and decision-making skills to deal with cyber risk situations when they occur, and know the tools to overcome these negative outcomes on the Internet. The Digital Creator level involves understanding the cyber risks of content they face on the Internet and the strategies associated with appropriate behavior, and the skills needed to develop and use conflict management techniques to reduce these risks. In order to reach the level of Digital Entrepreneur it is necessary to understand different types of cyber risks of commercial organizations, which can cause cessation or slowdown of business processes, loss of competitive advantage, loss of customers or profit, reduction of the business value and so forth. In addition, in order to encourage the use of digital entrepreneurship, it is necessary to be able to identify such risks and to develop creative strategies using digital tools to address and prevent the threats associated with those risks.

Integration of digital security skills as an independent variable is critical to the understanding of the use of online protective measures. Having the necessary skills and knowledge to engage in a cyber-safety behavior can help users avoid cyber-victimization, reducing the odds of negative outcomes such as the theft of data, money or personal information (Dodel and Mesch, 2018). Knowledge and skills in the areas of information security, information privacy, and copyright/intellectual property rights and protection are of key importance for organizational and individual success in an evolving society and labour market in which information is a core resource (Burkell et al., 2015). The indicators Digital Security are the ability to recognize, plan and deploy organizational cybersecurity tools in manufacturing processes. At the same time, it is sufficient for an economist possessing the Digital Citizen level to recognize and eliminate technical and software cyber threats at the level of the operating system, work in the network, work with personal data and copyrighted content, to know the types of threats in the digital environment, identify strategies and tools to be used to avoid such threats, use digital technologies without compromising their data and devices. The Digital Creativity level implies the ability to plan and implement cybersecurity protection in the creation of digital content, organization of data security and working information systems, identify vulnerabilities, quantify associated risks (e.g., income deficiency or business losses), use tools, strategies and protocols to ensure and improve data privacy and security. To reach the Digital Entrepreneur level, one needs to be able to organize a secure information environment for the business organization, to actively support cyber security in the organization, providing advice and guidance on potential risks and strategies for addressing them by developing and adhering to already developed communication strategies for organizations to ensure adoption and compliance of security policies and standards that ensure a viable environment for the enterprise. The formation of students' Digital Security level is carried out in the process of mastering the content-rich Module "Digital Security: Protection in the Digital Environment" within the framework of Information Systems and Technology in Economics course.

It is widely acknowledged that emotional intelligence is a crucial component in organizations. It has been proved that leaders and employees who are emotionally intelligent are more efficient, creative, and make better decisions (Bonesso et al., 2020). In today's digital and technical environment, employers are looking for personnel that can contribute to the organization not only with the use of technical skills but can also express their expertise with the use of positive emotional intelligence and communication effectiveness (Hendon et al., 2017). The indicator of Digital Emotional Intelligence is the possibility to skillfully use digital tools for management. To master the Digital Citizen level the future economists should possess social and emotional skills in digital interaction of people, connected with both psychological interaction and practical, physical actions in confirmation of socially determined socially significant things. In order to reach the level of Digital Creator it is necessary to identify, understand and use your own emotional states, to be able to direct them, promote cooperation and positive interaction between internal and external interested parties in order to achieve the set goal; to understand and use your own emotional states, which are derivative and primary to digital media and personal value systems. The Digital Entrepreneur level implies the ability to develop interpersonal skills, the ability to manage one's emotions, understand emotional responses and behaviors depending on the context and digital environment, the ability to build partnerships at personal, local, social and global levels to achieve organizational goals. The formation and development of such skills are ensured in the process of studying basic academic disciplines in information technologies - namely, Database Management Systems and Information Systems and Technology in Economics, as well as professionally oriented academic disciplines in management, project management and business modeling.

The importance of Digital Communication for economists is beyond question, as information and communication technologies are a driver of the digital economy (Domazet and Lazić, 2017). Digital communication and collaboration use features of digital technologies with confidence for communication, cooperation and collaboration; effectively search, find, retrieve, process and communicate information from a variety of digital sources and in a variety of formats (Gekara et al., 2019). The ability for an undergraduate economist to apply analytical skills to economic issues of contemporary relevance is an integral part of their tertiary training. In order to encourage students O'Brien and Freund (O'Brien and Freund, 2018) explored the potential for future economists to exploit their social media communication skills with reflective blogging. The indicator of Digital Communication is an ability to effectively exchange messages, ideas and thoughts on the Internet. Herein, it is enough for an economist with the Digital Citizen level to know and to be able to use various communication tools for effective messaging. The level of Digital Creativity implies the ability to create and transmit digital content, independently organize communication channels for communications (for a large number of users inclusive); to store message histories, to resume task on the needed Internet page, the ability to use multiple communication tools without disrupting the workflow; as well as the ability to create and organize videoconferencing; etc. Digital Communication for an economist on the third level implies the ability to create and establish different communication environments to discuss and formulate business strategies and tactics in order to achieve the organization's goals. This level partly overlaps with Entrepreneurial competence and is one of the main components of Digital Competence. The formation of appropriate skills of Digital Communication in future economists can be carried out within Information Systems and Technology in Economics academic discipline while studying the informative module "Digital Communications in Global Space". Therefore, Digital Communication for the modern economist is both the ability to use the tools of gathering and disseminating professional economic information and data, assessible through digital means.

Information technologies are rapidly evolving and changing, along with that the term Digital Literacy is constantly acquiring new interpretations. This means that the role of information technologies in training specialists in different areas is undergoing constant change as well (Pangrazio, 2014; Santos and Serpa, 2017; Spante et al., 2018). As stressed by Murray and Pérez (Murray and Pérez, 2014), many students entering the university today have a high level of exposure to digital technologies and media. However, they are not prepared to cross the bridge between personal and academic use of technology. As academic knowhow is gained through formal education, so too must technological prowess be gained through structured learning experiences. Chan et al. (Chan et al., 2017) define digital literacy as "the ability to understand and use information in multiple formats with emphasis on critical thinking". The indicator of Digital Literacy of a future economist the creation of documents, use of tools for calculations, analysis, visualization and statistic processing. The Digital Citizen level implies the ability to find, process, organize, visualize and store economic data. To reach the Digital Creator level, it is necessary to be able to work with software environments for automation of processes of economic data processing (statistical, analytical); to create and use database management systems, data warehouses; to create and use economic and mathematical methods and models, diagnostic methods of control and estimation of the level of economic growth by means of automation using digital tools; to model and forecast economic processes using modern digital technologies. At the highest level of Digital Literacy the Digital Entrepreneur implies the ability of a student to design databases, information systems, algorithms and data collection tools, to develop decision-making models. Economists may achieve such a level of Digital Literacy if they possess experience of using different technologies gained not only within the framework of studying such academic disciplines as Information Systems and Technology in Economics and Database Management Systems at the university, but also in the process of professional activity.

Organizations require skilled and knowledgeable professionals who understand risks and responsibilities related to the management of information privacy, information security, and copyright/intellectual property (Burkell et al., 2015). New digital networked technologies enable users to participate in the consumption, distribution, and creation of content in ways that are revolutionary for both culture and industry. Young people operate in the digital realm overwhelmingly ignorant of the rights, and to a lesser degree the restrictions, established in copyright law (Palfrey et al., 2009). Software publishers use digital rights management, specifically copy-protection techniques, to prevent unauthorized and illegal copying of their software products (Djekic and Loebbecke, 2005). The indicators of Digital Rights are the ability to understand your powers and Internet participation rights, licensed rights to use digital content and specialized software. Thus, to reach the level of a Digital Citizen, it is sufficient to understand the concept of confidentiality as a human right, what personal information is and how it can be used, stored, processed and shared on digital platforms along with strategies and tools that help keep personal information private and secure, is aware of copyright licenses and Creative Commons tools, licensing choices for licensors. The Digital Creator level implies the knowledge of the law and rights regarding the ownership of information and content hosted in a digital environment, the ability to distinguish between creative use and appropriation of someone else's work; the ability to track and manage changes to your digital content to protect your/organizational assets from unauthorized changes or unauthorized use; to design and use patents, trademarks, copyrights to protect your digital works through a variety of tools and applicable legislation. In order to reach the level of a Digital Entrepreneur, it is necessary to effectively integrate legislation with one's own practice to ensure the support and enforcement of digital rights in the digital environment as part of the entrepreneurial activity.

Competency indicators have been developed for each component of digital intelligence.

Indicators of digital intelligence skills at the level of "Digital Citizen":

- DI1. Digital Changemaker Identity (using digital technologies to build your own image and the impact of knowledge and technology on professional development; using technologies to control and form your own digital identity; demonstrating honesty in technology use and self-efficacy by finding ways to take advantage of the opportunities available to you in the digital environment);
- D12. Digital Use (understanding of the impact of the use of digital technologies on health, productivity of work, welfare and lifestyle, the possession of the relevant knowledge to solve these consequences; the use of technology in a targeted manner to achieve better objectives, effective use of digital content and tools for their own benefit);
- DI3. Digital Safety (understand the different types of behavioural cyber risks, how he/she can face these risks, how these risks can affect him/her; develop the necessary technical, sociocognitive, communicative and decision-making skills to deal with cyber risk situations when they occur; know the tools to overcome these negative outcomes on the Internet);
- DI4. Digital Security (ability to recognizing and eliminate technical and software cyber threats at the level of the operating system; work in the network, with personal data and copyrighted content; know the types of threats in the digital environment, identify strategies and tools to be used to avoid such threats; use digital technologies without compromising their data and devices);
- DI5. Digital Emotional Intelligence (possess social and emotional skills in digital interaction of people, connected with both psychological interaction and practical, physical actions in confirmation of socially determined socially significant things);
- DI6. Digital Communication (level to know and to be able to use various communication tools for effective messaging);
- DI7. Digital Literacy (ability to find, process, organize, visualize and store economic data);
- DI8. Digital Rights (understand the concept of confidentiality as a human right, what personal information is and how it can be used, stored, processed and shared on digital platforms along with strategies and tools that help keep personal information private and secure; is aware of copyright

licenses and Creative Commons tools, licensing choices for licensors).

Indicators of digital intelligence skills at the level of "Digital Creator":

- DI1. Digital Changemaker Identity (future economist's understanding of how to be aware of the progress of ICT; ability to integrate digital technologies in professional life; ability to explore and identify contemporary problems, jointly develop new ideas for their solution through technology);
- DI2. Digital Use (ability to develop new ideas for solving the given tasks; to use self-motivation and ingenuity in using technologies in professional activity, for allocating available resources; select and use digital technologies and information systems to plan and execute business processes);
- DI3. Digital Safety (understanding the cyber risks of content they face on the Internet; understanding the strategies associated with appropriate behavior, and the skills needed to develop; using conflict management techniques to reduce cyber risks);
- DI4. Digital Security (ability to plan and implement cybersecurity protection in the creation of digital content, organization of data security and working information systems; identify vulnerabilities, quantify associated risks (e.g., income deficiency or business losses); use tools, strategies and protocols to ensure and improve data privacy and security);
- DI5. Digital Emotional Intelligence (identify, understand and use your own emotional states, to be able to direct them; promote cooperation and positive interaction between internal and external interested parties in order to achieve the set goal; understand and use your own emotional states, which are derivative and primary to digital media and personal value systems);
- DI6. Digital Communication (create and transmit digital content, independently organize communication channels for communications (for a large number of users inclusive); store message histories, to resume task on the needed Internet page, the ability to use multiple communication tools without disrupting the workflow; ability to creating and organize videoconferencing);
- DI7. Digital Literacy (ability to work with software environments for automation of processes of economic data processing (statistical, analytical); ability to create and use database management systems, data warehouses; ability to create

and use economic and mathematical methods and models, diagnostic methods of control and estimation of the level of economic growth by means of automation using digital tools; ability to model and forecast economic processes using modern digital technologies);

– DI8. Digital Rights (knowledge of the law and rights regarding the ownership of information and content hosted in a digital environment; ability to distinguish between creative use and appropriation of someone else's work; ability to track and manage changes to your digital content to protect your/organizational assets from unauthorized changes or unauthorized use; ability to design and use patents, trademarks, copyrights to protect your digital works through a variety of tools and applicable legislation).

Indicators of digital intelligence skills at the level of "Digital Entrepreneur":

- DI1. Digital Changemaker Identity (ability to identify and evaluate innovative business or social impact opportunities that are enhanced by new technologies; ability to monitor and integrate emerging trends and technologies; ability to structure data collection to identify new technology products / services that determine the potential added value of the business for sustainability and profitability of the business);
- DI2. Digital Use (use digital technologies to improve organizations, achieve business goals, work with economic indicators, information systems covering all spheres of economic activity, use systems to manage enterprise resources; create, implement and use information systems and technology in different spheres of economic activity);
- DI3. Digital Safety (understand different types of cyber risks of commercial organizations, which can cause cessation or slowdown of business processes, loss of competitive advantage, loss of customers or profit, reduction of the business value and so forth; ability to identify risks and to develop creative strategies using digital tools to address and prevent the threats associated with those risks);
- DI4. Digital Security (ability to organize a secure information environment for the business organization; ability to support cyber security in the organization, providing advice and guidance on potential risks and strategies for addressing them by developing and adhering to already developed communication strategies for organizations to ensure adoption and compliance of security policies

and standards that ensure a viable environment for the enterprise);

- DI5. Digital Emotional Intelligence (ability to develop interpersonal skills; ability to manage one's emotions, understand emotional responses and behaviors depending on the context and digital environment; ability to build partnerships at personal, local, social and global levels to achieve organizational goals);
- DI6. Digital Communication (ability to create and establish different communication environments to discuss; ability to formulate business strategies and tactics in order to achieve the organization's goals);
- DI7. Digital Literacy (ability of a student to design databases, information systems, algorithms and data collection tools; develop decisionmaking models);
- DI8.Digital Rights (ability to effectively integrate legislation with one's own practice to ensure the support and enforcement of digital rights in the digital environment as part of the entrepreneurial activity).

4 THE RESULTS OF EXPERIMENTAL WORK

The pedagogical experiment on the development of digital intelligence competences for future economists lasted for 3 years and involved the first year students majoring in Economic (the total of 142 students). The formation and development of digital intelligence skills of future economists was carried out within the framework of studying the Information Systems and Technology in Economics academic discipline. The formation of DQ was carried out in 3 stages: (1) Digital Citizenship through two content modules in the Information Systems and Technology course; (2) Digital Creativity through a competencybased project; (3) Digital Entrepreneurship through practical training using real-life work situations. The course of experimental research included measuring students' digital intelligence skills before the start of the discipline and at the end of each stage.

The course content modules on Information Systems and Technology in Economics included: Digital Identity and Rights of the Modern Economist, Digital Security: Protection in the Digital Environment, Cyber Risks in the Public Digital Domain, Digital Communications in the Information Environment, Economic Data Tools, Visualisation of Economic Information, Digital Tools for Economist Management, Information Systems for Economic Activity. The process of forming appropriate skills in accordance with the components of digital intelligence level "Digital Citizen" was provided by a set of educational resources and services, tasks for laboratory work.

The e-learning course (ETC), based on the Moodle platform, was used as an internal resource for the university's e-learning environment to learn theoretical educational material to organize the educational process of future economists.

To determine the acquisition by students of the necessary competencies by the means available in the moodle system, the following was created:

- Technical representation of the competency framework within the system competencies repository.
- Assignment of relevant competencies to the training course.
- Assignment of appropriate competencies to individual elements of the e-learning course.

The digital competence framework includes (figure 2):

- indicator
 - level
 - * exponent

Dig	ital competencies
Þ	Digital identity
►	Digital use
►	Digital risks
$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$	Digital security
	Knows protection at the level of OS, files, network
	Knows security in network services
	Knows the risks of posting personal information on the Internet
	Knows about copyright enforcement
	Knows government programs to increase media literacy
	Is able to organize safe work with various devices
	Can configure the security of the operating system and programs
	Able to configure personal profile security online
	Uses antivirus programs
	Uses secure information interaction
	Digital creativity
	Digital entrepreneurship
►	Digital emotional intelligence
	Dig

Digital communication

Figure 2: Digital competence framework in the Moodle system.

The content of the competency framework corresponds to the components of digital intelligence skills with have been added to the relevant e-learning course. But simply the technical definition of the course in which the relevant competencies will be formed is not enough to recognize that the student has acquired these competencies. A prerequisite is the presence of educational elements, the successful development of which will symbolize that the student has acquired the competencies that these elements are designed to develop in him.

At the same time, different approaches to determine the acquisition of competencies were identified for different indicators.

To obtain the competencies "knows..." the student must review the theoretical material (read the text, watch the study video, presentation, etc.) and successfully pass the training test. The Moodle system allows you to track the successful completion of educational elements by students both automatically (fulfillment of requirements) and by students themselves (personal determination of the state of understanding of the material received). Therefore, the student can independently determine the theoretical material as performed, and the test is marked as completed when receiving a grade above 60% of the maximum. Only when all these conditions are met is the indicator of competence considered achieved.

To obtain competencies "able…" students were asked to perform a set of tasks in laboratory work. The conditions for determining these tasks as performed (and, consequently, obtaining the relevant indicators of competence, which are tied to these tasks) are to provide for the verification of work performed and receive an assessment of at least 60% of the maximum (figure 3).

When using the option of students gaining knowledge through non-formal education, to confirm the acquired competence, it was proposed to provide evidence of successful completion of third-party courses by uploading a certificate in the e-learning course. After verification of the certificate, the teacher confirmed the acquisition of competence.

Determining the achievement of competency indicators "uses..." can no longer be done automatically. In this case, the educational elements of the e-course require the student to request confirmation of the acquisition of appropriate competence from the teacher. According to the results of research conducted by the student, completed project task or completed practice, the teacher marks the acquisition of competence.

Thus, we obtained a list of activities aimed at forming the appropriate capabilities for each component of digital intelligence of the future economist (figure 4)

Also, control tasks and tests were formed according to certain indicators. Each student gained access

▼ Score	
Score	Type Points Maximum rating 10
Evaluation method	Simple rating
Rating category	Module1_2
Passing score	0 6
Anonymous views	0 No \$
Hide appraiser from students	0 No +
Use evaluation process markings	📀 No 🕈
General module	ettings
 Accessibility restr 	ictions
 Performance of a 	ctivities
Track performance	Show activity as completed when all conditions are met
You need a view	To perform this activity, the student must review it
Assessment required	\Box To perform this activity, the student must receive an assessment of the ϵ
	The student must send the work
Execution is planned to	10 November 2021 20 00 10 1
Competence	

Figure 3: Adjustment of the passing score and conditions of the performance.

to the structure of digital competence and the corresponding activities that must be performed for the successful formation of digital competence. The figure 5 shows a screen with the activities that the student sees. After completing tasks for laboratory and independent work, the student undergoes control activities, the results of which determine the level of formation of digital competence (for each component). The results of the formed components of digital competence the student can see after his teacher evaluates the relevant activities in the e-learning course or after presenting a certificate of mastery of the relevant mass online courses, which certifies the formation of relevant competencies.

After completing the two modules of the discipline, students were offered a project assignment to achieve the Digital Creativity level. During the project work, students learned how to apply a set of services and tools developed during theoretical training to solve different types of tasks related to economic activity of an enterprise. Before starting the tasks of this project, the students had to split into small groups, plan the teamwork, choose a service to manage the project, assign roles to the participants, set areas of responsibility and deadlines for the tasks. In the course of the project assignment, the students were asked to develop the information structure of

AET 2021 - Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology

Course competencies × +	
O é elearn.nubip.edu.ua/admin/tool/lp/coursecompetencies.php?mod=&courseid=2961	♥ 월 Q Å ☆ □ ▲
\bigcirc	🗼 🗩 🦸 Rybalchenko Elizaveta Dmytrivn
Information systems and technologies in economics (EP	
希 Home 会 Personal office 首 My courses 山 This course III All courses is Students	a
Courses > Faculties > Economic > Bachelors > EP > ICT in Economics (EP) (> Competences	
Course competencies	
	* No niters are used
You have acquired 11 comprehncies out of 11 available in this course	No states are used Filter competencies by resource or activity
You have acquired 11 competencies out of 11 available in this course Digital Citizenship QI-Digital Citizenship Wey: Cigal competences / C Competence Activities Competence Com	No meters are uses Filter campetencies by resource or activity
You have acquired 11 competencies out of 11 available in this course Digital Citizenship QI-Digital Citizenship Wig Data impositores / 0 Wig Data	No states are used
You have acquired 11 competencies out of 11 available in this course Digital Citizenship QI-Digital Citizenship Way Citate managements / O Way Citate management / O Way Citat	No tates are used Rear competencies by resource or activity the economic activity of the enterprise enders work 1.3 Digital communications in the global space whodular testing structure, standards ¹ priorie — Andependent work Na ² introduction to optenseourly ² — Modular testing aliazion tools — Laboratory work_3.3 Applied business management systems spendent work 3.2 Data visualization — Modular testing — Task 1 — Task 2

Way: Digital competence

Figure 4: Correspondence of competencies and activities within one of the components of digital competence.

Summary of user	competencies			
Digital Citizenship CI- Digital competence - Level	Digital Citizenship			
Path:Digital competence / THESE Related competencies:				
No other competence is relat Activity Laboratory 1_1 "Identific Laboratory work 1_2 "Le Laboratory work 1_3_Inf Laboratory work 1_4 "IT	User Tatyana Dobrovolska Curriculum No curriculum contains this con	mpetence.		
Independent work 1_1 L Independent work 1_3 D Additional points Laboratory work 3_1_Us demonstrations	Ver Evaluation Competent Appreciate Confirmation Friday, 27 May 2022 21:34	Friday, 27 May 2022 21:20 Competent The activity "Laboratory 1_1 "Identification and authentic https://elearn.nubip.edu.ua/mod/assign/view.php?id=32	ation" is completed. 9502	
Laboratory work_3_3_Ap Laboratory work_3_4 "Cy 3_1Word and Excel work Modular testing	Competent The activity "Laboratory 1_1 https://elearn.nubip.edu.ua	Taisiya Sayapina Thursday, 26 May 2022 21:55 Competent The assessment of competence is given manually in the of Economics (EP)	course "Course: Information S	Systems and Tecl

Figure 5: The final page of the student's competence.

the virtual business activity based on the analysed organisational and functional structure of the enterprise; to select the software for economic activity (processing, systematisation, visualisation and storage of economic data), tools for confidentiality and data security using appropriate cloud services. In order to achieve the "Digital Entrepreneurship" level of the learning experience, the students were asked to solve a case study based on the production situation described. An example of such a task is given below. "A retail chain is planning to expand its branches. Given the number of employees, customers and counterparties of the company planned after the expansion, to analyse the technical and functional characteristics of the existing systems in the market and to select the optimal in terms of purchase and maintenance costs: CRM-system; tool for checking the activities of counterparties; tool for assessing the financial performance of the company. Evaluate the cost of implementing such systems in the company. Set up user authorisation rules in the selected systems to ensure the security of company data". The result of the completed task is a presentation of the completed work in the form of a joint document, which is generated by all participants of the project.

As a result, after graduation each student received the following results of the formation of digital competence (figure 6).

The leading idea of the research concept is reflected in the hypothesis based on the assumption: if the training of modern economists is carried out according to the proposed phased formation of digital intelligence skills, it will increase the levels of digital intelligence: "digital citizen", "digital entrepreneur" and "digital creator".

At the beginning of the pedagogical experiment, each student assessed their own level of competence in the components of digital intelligence in accordance with the developed indicators on a scale from 0 to 10 for the levels of "Digital Citizen", "Digital Creator", "Digital Entrepreneur". For each level, the average value of the formation of the corresponding component of digital intelligence was determined. After completing the training, in which students were offered resources, tasks, training practices for the formation of digital intelligence skills at different levels during three stages, students were asked to re-evaluate the level of formation of digital intelligence competencies. The results of the experiment for 3 academic years on the formation of competencies in digital intelligence at the levels of "Digital Citizen", "Digital Creator", "Digital Entrepreneur" are presented in tables 1-3.

To confirm the hypothesis of the study, a null hypothesis was put forward: the average value of the level of formation of digital intelligence before and after the experiment for each level does not differ. Deviation of this hypothesis for each level will confirm the effectiveness of the technologies used. The sample data have a normal distribution and form a pair of correlating values, whereas the paired Student t-test was chosen to evaluate the results.

Assessment of digital intelligence skills at the level of "Digital Citizen" is presented in table 1.

The sample data have a normal distribution and form a pair of correlating values, whereas the paired

Table 1: Assess	sment of digital	intelligence	skills at	the l	level
of "Digital Citi	zen".				

Components of digital intelligence	Sampling		Deviation from the average		
	То	After	То	After	
DI1	4.78	7.94	0.26	1.14	
DI2	3.95	6.33	-0.57	-0.47	
DI3	3.70	5.67	-0.82	-1.13	
DI4	5.69	7.27	1.17	0.47	
DI5	4.26	7.41	-0.26	0.61	
DI6	3.81	5.27	-0.71	-1.53	
DI7	4.86	7.84	0.34	1.04	
DI8	5.13	6.67	0.61	-0.13	
Σ	36.18	54.40	0.02	0.00	
Average value	4.52	6.80			

Table 2: Assessment of digital intelligence skills at the level of "Digital Creator".

Components of digital intelligence	Sampling		Deviation from the average		
	То	After	То	After	
DI1	2.91	5.35	-0.07	-0.36	
DI2	2.85	5.53	-0.13	-0.18	
DI3	1.78	5.33	-1.20	-0.38	
DI4	2.98	5.58	0.00	-0.13	
DI5	1.97	5.50	-1.01	-0.21	
DI6	3.98	5.92	1.00	0.21	
DI7	3.47	6.29	0.49	0.58	
DI8	3.86	6.18	0.88	0.47	
Σ	23.80	45.68	-0.04	0.00	
Average value	2.98	5.71			

Student t-test was chosen to evaluate the results. The t-criterion was calculated by the formula $t = \frac{|M_d|}{\frac{S_d}{\sqrt{N}}}$, where M_d – is the mean difference of the values, S_d – standard deviation, N – the number of parameters. The estimated t-criterion is 8.7, the critical value of the Student's t-criterion for the number of degrees of freedom 7 is 2.365. Since t-estimated > t-critical, we can reject the null hypothesis and conclude that the difference in average values before and after the experiment is statistically significant (p = 0.05).

As can be seen from table 1, students have increased the level of skills "Digital Citizen" as a result of studying the proposed courses by an average on 22.8%. Graphical interpretation of the results of the experiment for the level of "Digital Citizen" are given in figure 7.

Assessment of digital intelligence skills at the level of "Digital Creator" is presented in table 2.

The estimated t-criterion is 2.534 and exceeds the



Figure 6: Distribution of competencies by student.





Figure 7: Graphical interpretation of digital intelligence skills at the level of "Digital Citizen".

t-critical, we can reject the null hypothesis and conclude that the difference in average values before and after the experiment is statistically significant (p = 0.05).

As can be seen from table 2, students increased the level of skills of "Digital Creator" as a result of project tasks by an average of 27.3%. Graphical interpretation of the results of the experiment for the level of "Digital Creator" are given in figure 8.

Assessment of digital intelligence skills at the level of "Digital Entrepreneur" is presented in table 3.

The estimated t-criterion is 7.22 and exceeds the

Figure 8: Graphical interpretation of digital intelligence skills at the level of "Digital Creator".

t-critical, we can reject the null hypothesis and conclude that the difference in average values before and after the experiment is statistically significant (p = 0.05). As can be seen from table 3, students have increased the level of skills "Digital Entrepreneur" as a result of internships by an average of 23.6%. Graphical interpretation of the results of the experiment for the level of "Digital Entrepreneur" are given in figure 9.

In the results of the experiment in the first, sec-

Components of digital intelligence	Sampling		Deviation from the average		
	То	After	То	After	
DI1	3.44	6.37	-0.13	0.46	
DI2	2.88	6.16	-0.69	0.25	
DI3	3.65	5.45	0.08	-0.46	
DI4	3.64	5.96	0.07	0.05	
DI5	2.98	5.91	-0.59	0.00	
DI6	4.16	5.30	0.59	-0.61	
DI7	2.55	5.85	-1.02	-0.06	
DI8	5.26	6.31	1.69	0.40	
Σ	28.56	47.31	0.00	0.03	
Average value	3.57	5,91			

Table 3: Assessment of digital intelligence skills at the level of "Digital Entrepreneur".



Figure 9: Graphical interpretation of the results for the level of "Digital Entrepreneur".

ond and third stages, presented in figures 7-9, and in tables 1-3, we observe the heterogeneity of the indicators of the formation of digital intelligence skills for different components. After the first stage, the highest level of DI is observed for the components of digital identity, security, emotional intelligence, and digital literacy, which we explain by additional thematic MOOCs and by the using of appropriately selected resources and services for training skills, matched the specified DI components. For the development of other DI components for the level of Citizen, other professionally-oriented courses are provided, during which these skills will be developed, for example, the discipline "DBMS". For the levels Creator and Entrepreneur levels, the level of skills formation with different elements is connatural, which is explained by the formation of competency and practice-oriented tasks considering the development of all components of DE, applying blended learning technology, which included project work methods, case method, individual and teamwork. Achieving the maximum values of the corresponding indicators of the digital intelligence is expected during the study of other professionallyoriented disciplines.

5 CONCLUSIONS

The analytical study made it possible to identify and describe the following components of the digital intelligence of the economist: Digital Changemaker Identity, Digital Use, Digital Safety, Digital Security, Digital Emotional Intelligence, Digital Communication, Digital Literacy, Digital Rights. The content of the Information Systems and Technologies academic discipline for training future economists at universities, in which digital intelligence skills can be developed, is proposed.

The developed approach gives the possibility to formulate digital intelligence skills of the digital citizen, digital creator and digital entrepreneur levels. The essence of the approach lies in the step-by-step formation of skills that correspond to each successive level. The initial stage involves studying the educational material and performing a series of hands-on classes within the disciplines. In this way, digital citizen skills can be formed. The second stage is to carry out a project work that requires creativity to solve the project task, and as a result, future economists will develop the skills of the Digital creator level. The third stage involves the fulfillment of a real production situation, which requires the student not only to have previously acquired knowledge, skills and their application in practice, but also to gain new experience in solving typical production situations and responding to appropriate challenges. This stage is designed to build students' Digital entrepreneur skills.

A formalized approach to the formation of tasks in the elearning course in accordance with the components of digital intelligence (DQ) using the built-in tools of the moodle platform, provides an opportunity to improve the learning process of students in accordance with the objectives of competencies.

Three-stage approach of forming skills of digital intelligence was tested for three years to train students in "Economics". As a result of pedagogical experiment, the level of digital intelligence skills has been increased, in particular, the level of "digital citizen" increases by 22.8%, the level of "digital creator" by 27.3% and the level of "digital entrepreneur" by 23.6%. The obtained results show that under the given conditions of the organization of training during studying of educational course Information Systems and Technology in Economics at students of eco-

nomic specialties the level of digital intelligence increases on the average by 24.4%. But the development of digital intelligence of future economists is carried out in the future during the study of vocational courses, internships, diploma design, as well as through non-formal education.

Among the perspective areas of research, we see the definition of conditions and construction of models of individual educational trajectory for students of economic specialties in order to effectively develop their digital intelligence.

REFERENCES

- Bacigalupo, M., Kampylis, P., Punie, Y., and den Brande, G. V. (2016). EntreComp: The Entrepreneurship Competence Framework. JRC Science for Policy Report EUR 27939 EN, Joint Research Centre, Luxembourg. https://doi.org/10.2791/160811.
- Bonesso, S., Bruni, E., and Gerli, F. (2020). Emotional and Social Intelligence Competencies in the Digital Era. In *Behavioral Competencies of Digital Professionals: Understanding the Role of Emotional Intelligence*, pages 41–62. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-030-33578-6_3.
- Burkell, J. A., Fortier, A., Valentino, L. D., and Roberts, S. T. (2015). Enhancing Key Digital Literacy Skills: Information Privacy, Information Security, and Copyright/Intellectual Property. Report 35, Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada, London, Ontario. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/fimspub/35/.
- Chan, B. S. K., Churchill, D., and Chiu, T. K. F. (2017). Digital Literacy Learning In Higher Education Through Digital Storytelling Approach. *Journal* of International Education Research (JIER), 13(1):1– 16. https://doi.org/10.19030/jier.v13i1.9907.
- Chen, T. and Zhou, G. (2013). Expanding Usability of E-Training System in ERP Education. International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning (iJET), 8(3):43–47. https://doi.org/10.3991/ijet.v8i3.2668.
- Cismaru, D.-M., Gazzola, P., Ciochina, R. S., and Leovaridis, C. (2018). The rise of digital intelligence: challenges for public relations education and practices. *Kybernetes*, 47(10):1924–1940. https://doi.org/ 10.1108/k-03-2018-0145.
- Costa, C. and Santos, M. Y. (2017). The data scientist profile and its representativeness in the European e-Competence framework and the skills framework for the information age. *International Journal of Information Management*, 37(6):726–734. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2017.07.010.
- Deepak, A. (2017). DQ is the capacity to be aware of, participate and contribute in the digital economy for professional and personal reasons. https://tinyurl.com/ u6bdvc99.
- Djekic, P. and Loebbecke, C. (2005). Software piracy prevention through digital rights management sys-

tems. In Seventh IEEE International Conference on E-Commerce Technology (CEC'05), pages 504–507. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICECT.2005.86.

- Dodel, M. and Mesch, G. (2018). Inequality in digital skills and the adoption of online safety behaviors. *Information, Communication & Society*, 21(5):712–728. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2018.1428652.
- Domazet, I. and Lazić, M. (2017). Information and communication technologies as a driver of the digital economy. In 22th International Scientific Conference Strategic Management and Decision Support Systems in Strategic Management. May 19, 2017, pages 11–19, Subotica, Republic of Serbia. http://ebooks.ien.bg.ac. rs/1090/1/03%20Domazet%2CLazicEN.pdf.
- Dostál, J., Wang, X., Steingartner, W., and Nuangchalerm, P. (2017). Digital intelligence - new concept in context of future of school education. In *ICERI2017 Proceedings*, 10th annual International Conference of Education, Research and Innovation, pages 3706–3712. IATED. https://doi.org/10.21125/iceri.2017.0997.
- Gekara, V., Snell, D., Molla, A., Karanasios, S., and Thomas, A. (2019). *Skilling the Australian workforce for the digital economy*. NCVER, Adelaide. https://tinyurl.com/mue5p267.
- Ghafar, A. (2020). Convergence between 21st Century Skills and Entrepreneurship Education in Higher Education Institutes. *International Journal of Higher Education*, 9(1):218. https://doi.org/10.5430/ijhe. v9n1p218.
- González Calatayud, V., Román García, M., and Prendes Espinosa, M. P. (2018). Formación en competencias digitales para estudiantes universitarios basada en el modelo DigComp. *Edutec. Revista Electrónica de Tecnología Educativa*, (65):1–15 (391). https://doi. org/10.21556/edutec.2018.65.1119.
- Hazar, E. (2018). Digital competence in primary education: The case of Turkish language, mathematics and personal and social development courses. *International Online Journal of Education and Teaching*, 5:443–458. https://iojet.org/index.php/IOJET/article/ view/322.
- Hendon, M., Powell, L., and Wimmer, H. (2017). Emotional intelligence and communication levels in information technology professionals. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 71:165–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chb.2017.01.048.
- Imbiri, W. (2019). Student Satisfaction and Continuance Model of Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) System Usage. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning (iJET)*, 14(01):71–83. https: //doi.org/10.3991/ijet.v14i01.8656.
- Kineshanko, M. K. and Jugdev, K. (2017). Enhancing digital intelligence through communities of learning. In Khare, A. and Hurst, D., editors, *On the Line*, pages 111–125. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62776-2_10.
- Kuzminska, O., Mazorchuk, M., Morze, N., Pavlenko, V., and Prokhorov, A. (2019). Study of Digital Competence of the Students and Teachers in Ukraine. In Ermolayev, V., Suárez-Figueroa, M. C., Yakovyna, V., Mayr, H. C., Nikitchenko, M., and Spivakovsky, A.,

editors, Information and Communication Technologies in Education, Research, and Industrial Applications, volume 1007 of Communications in Computer and Information Science, pages 148–169, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13929-2_8.

- López-Meneses, E., Sirignano, F. M., Vázquez-Cano, E., and Ramírez-Hurtado, J. M. (2020). University students' digital competence in three areas of the Dig-Com 2.1 model: A comparative study at three European universities. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 36(3):69–88. https://doi.org/10. 14742/ajet.5583.
- Miguel-Revilla, D., Martínez-Ferreira, J. M., and Sánchez-Agustí, M. (2020). Assessing the digital competence of educators in social studies: An analysis in initial teacher training using the TPACK-21 model. Australasian Journal of Educational Technology, 36(2):1–12. https://doi.org/10.14742/ajet.5281.
- Murray, M. C. and Pérez, J. (2014). Unraveling the Digital Literacy Paradox: How Higher Education Fails at the Fourth Literacy. *Issues in Informing Science and Information Technology*, 11:085–100. https://doi.org/ 10.28945/1982.
- Nikolova Koleva, L. (2021). The competency approach in the training of master students in "Education management". *KNOWLEDGE - International Journal*, 46(5):861–866. https://ikm.mk/ojs/index.php/kij/ article/view/93.
- O'Brien, M. and Freund, K. (2018). Lessons learned from introducing social media use in undergraduate economics research. *International Journal of Education and Development using ICT*, 14(1). https://www. learntechlib.org/p/183552.
- Palfrey, J., Gasser, U., Simun, M., and Barnes, R. F. (2009). Youth, Creativity, and Copyright in the Digital Age. *International Journal of Learning and Media*, 1(2):79–97. https://doi.org/10.1162/ijlm.2009.0022.
- Pangrazio, L. (2014). Reconceptualising critical digital literacy. Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education, 37(2):163–174. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 01596306.2014.942836.
- Park, Y. (2016). 8 digital skills we must teach our children. https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2016/06/ 8-digital-skills-we-must-teach-our-children/.
- Park, Y., editor (2019). DQ Global Standards Report 2019: Common Framework for Digital Literacy, Skills and Readiness. DQ Institute. https://www.dqinstitute.org/wp-content/uploads/ 2019/03/DQGlobalStandardsReport2019.pdf.
- Plachkinova, M. and Pittz, T. (2021). Assessing the Awareness of Cybersecurity Within Entrepreneurship Students: The Cyberpreneurship Project. *Entrepreneurship Education and Pedagogy*, 4(3). https://doi.org/ 10.1177/2515127420913056.
- Raanan, Y. (2009). Risk Management in Higher Education - Do We Need it? Sinergie, 78(09):43– 56. https://www.sijm.it/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/ 490-466-1-PB.pdf.
- Santos, A. I. and Serpa, S. (2017). The importance of promoting digital literacy in higher education. *Interna*-

tional Journal of Social Science Studies, 5(6):90–93. https://doi.org/10.11114/ijsss.v5i6.2330.

- Schmidt, D. A., Baran, E., Thompson, A. D., Mishra, P., Koehler, M. J., and Shin, T. S. (2009). Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK). *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 42(2):123–149. https://doi.org/10.1080/15391523. 2009.10782544.
- Shraideh, M., Drieschner, C., Betzwieser, B., Kienegger, H., Utesch, M., and Krcmar, H. (2018). Using a project-based learning approach for teaching emerging technologies: An example of a practical course for introducing SAP Leonardo and SAP HANA. In 2018 IEEE Global Engineering Education Conference (EDUCON), pages 2047–2051. https://doi.org/ 10.1109/EDUCON.2018.8363489.
- Škoda, J. and Luić, L. (2019). Creating transmedia narratives to enhance digital intelligence in high school students. In *ICERI2019 Proceedings*, 12th annual International Conference of Education, Research and Innovation, pages 9864–9872. IATED. https://doi.org/10. 21125/iceri.2019.2413.
- Spante, M., Hashemi, S. S., Lundin, M., and Algers, A. (2018). Digital competence and digital literacy in higher education research: Systematic review of concept use. *Cogent Education*, 5(1):1519143. https: //doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2018.1519143.
- Stoll, M. (2015). From information security management to enterprise risk management. In Sobh, T. and Elleithy, K., editors, *Innovations and Advances in Computing, Informatics, Systems Sciences, Networking and Engineering*, volume 313 of *Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering*, pages 9–16. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-319-06773-5_2.
- Stopar, K. and Bartol, T. (2018). Digital competences, computer skills and information literacy in secondary education: mapping and visualization of trends and concepts. *Scientometrics*, 118(2):479–498. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s11192-018-2990-5.
- Suciu, M. C. and Lacatus, M. L. (2014). Soft skills and economic education. *Polish Journal of Management Studies*, 10(1):161–168. https://www.researchgate. net/publication/287879742.
- The Future of Jobs Report (2020). The Future of Jobs Report. https://www.weforum.org/reports/ the-future-of-jobs-report-2020/.
- Valtonen, T., Sointu, E., Kukkonen, J., Kontkanen, S., Lambert, M. C., and Mäkitalo-Siegl, K. (2017). TPACK updated to measure pre-service teachers' twentyfirst century skills. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 33(3). https://doi.org/10.14742/ ajet.3518.
- Wong, W.-P., Veneziano, V., and Mahmud, I. (2016). Usability of Enterprise Resource Planning software systems: an evaluative analysis of the use of SAP in the textile industry in Bangladesh. *Information Development*, 32(4):1027–1041. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0266666915585364.

Using GitHub Cloud Service in Training Future IT Professionals: Local Study

Olena G. Glazunova[®]^a, Valentyna I. Korolchuk[®]^b, Tetiana V. Voloshyna[®]^c,

Yevhenii M. Starychenko^{od} and Oleksandra V. Parkhomenko^{of}

National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine, 15 Heroiv Oborony Str., Kyiv, 03041, Ukraine {o-glazunova, korolchuk, t-voloshina, starychenko.e, oleksa.par}@nubip.edu.ua

Keywords: GitHub, Future IT Professionals, Collective Development.

Abstract: In today's IT industry, it is important to develop the ability of IT students to collaboratively develop software, professional and personal skills. An effective method for developing such skills in future IT specialists is to organize different types of educational projects related to different programming technologies during the execution of mini projects, group and individual project assignments, term papers, academic training within the academic disciplines. The paper summarizes the results of a pedagogical study involving 29 expert students who study Computer Science and Software Engineering and used cloud service for GitHub collaborative IT development projects. The research findings testify, the most effective characteristics of this service, according to experts, identified the possibility of collaborative development of software (i1), the convenience of bug tracking (i3) and the convenience of the code editor (i7). It offers examples and results of using GitHub cloud service in the process of executing educational projects by future IT specialists.

1 INTRODUCTION

With the development of information technology (IT), the approach to the organization of collaborative development of software products is changing. Hence, it is necessary to take into account the fact that future IT specialists should be able to adapt instantly to new situations, make appropriate decisions and quickly solve their tasks not only personally, but also while working as a team. In order for students of IT profession to continue to hold leading positions in IT industry in their professional activity, to meet the requirements of customers and employers, it is necessary to develop in them the ability to design and manage projects, to work in a team, to develop skills to use cloud services for project management and team development of software products in the process of their academic training at the university.

2 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

Cloud software for team development of software products allows users to collaborate on code, manage their versions, and more. Cloud services such as GitHub, Bitbucked, GitLab, Phabricator, Beanstalk, which were researched and described in the paper (Korolchuk, 2019). become part of the cloud-oriented scientific and educational environment of the university if used on a regular basis (Glazunova and Shyshkina, 2018). GitHub is the most popular code management platform for software development, as it enables future IT professionals to manage and collaborate on their software development training projects.

GitHub is an online Git service that hosts Git repositories and provides other features such as issue tracking. GitHub has become the prominent platform for hosting open source projects (Metz, 2015). GitHub has been embraced by the software development community as an important social platform for managing software projects and to support collaborative development (Feliciano et al., 2016). The most important benefit of using GitHub is not to support the short-term priorities of a semester-long course, but, rather, to encourage sustainable and well-documented digital development, both of student projects and the course itself (Beshero-Bondar and Parker, 2017).

448

Glazunova, O., Korolchuk, V., Voloshyna, T., Starychenko, Y. and Parkhomenko, O.

Using GitHub Cloud Service in Training Future IT Professionals: Local Study.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0136-4936

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3145-8802

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6020-5233

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8608-5268

^e https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8773-0185

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 448-461 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

When using GitHub in education, one has to think about the purpose, what the goal is and then how the features in GitHub can be used to reach this goal. GitHub can be used in many different ways, but it might not be applicable in all types of courses because a certain amount of knowledge about Git is required to be able to use the features (Gunnarsson et al., 2017). Git and GitHub into data science workflows is considered best practice, and provides thoughtful advice on how to conceptualize the GitHub workflow (Fiksel et al., 2019). Other work describes a GitHub Education study that shows that using GitHub in the classroom can lead to a much improved understanding of students' project management (GitHub Education, 2020).

The most important skills employers seek in engineering are creativity, teamwork and critical thinking. Kertész (Kertész, 2015) presents the results of a collaborative learning experiment using GitHub in lab work, where the focus was on students' direct interaction with each other's learning process. Depending on how GitHub is implemented in learning programming, students may rely on GitHub for activities such as, submitting assignments, collaborating on group projects, and receiving feedback (Hsing and Gennarelli, 2019). An immediate advantage is for classes that have group projects. With GitHub Classroom, instructors can easily assign groups of students to teams and give each team their own GitHub repository within a GitHub Classroom. Students can then use Git and GitHub to collaborate on a project, just as they would in an academic or industry research project. Because teachers can see each student's commit history, it is easy to see how each student contributed to the project (Fiksel et al., 2019). A collaborative tutorial assignment on the GitHub platform was embedded in an undergraduate cybersecurity course. Students were asked to create a tutorial that would be combined with their peers' tutorials to create a course eBook. The tutorial topics were required to be in the general domain of network security. With regards to tutorial difficulty, students were told to target an audience that had completed an introductory computer networking course (Marquardson and Schuetzler, 2019).

Instead, this study was aimed at answering the following research questions: a) how to use the cloud service to collectively develop GitHub for programming training projects; b) which function-based assessment indicators affect the effectiveness of the cloud service for collective GitHub development; c) how collective GitHub development influences the formation of professional programming competence of future information technology specialists. The motivation for this study was to demonstrate the effectiveness of using the GitHub cloud service for student programming projects.

The problem of the research stems from the need to find effective information and communication technologies for the organization and implementation of various types of collaborative projects by future IT specialists. Therefore, this study was conducted to determine the characteristics of the GitHub cloud service, which affect the effectiveness of the execution of educational projects on programming in the process of training IT students and in order to form professional programming competence.

3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 General Background

In order to determine how effectively GitHub's cloud service enables students to carry out programmatic learning projects, such as interacting with team members, collectively working on code, sharing ideas, and reviewing each other's work during research, students' thoughts and impressions about using this cloud service were gathered. A descriptive study utilizing survey methodology was used as appropriate to achieve the objectives of the study. This allowed the researchers to gain a more detailed view of the students regarding the use of the GitHub cloud service in the execution of educational programming projects using pedagogical observation and peer review methods. The study was conducted in two stages. At the first stage, the role of experts was performed by students who evaluated the effectiveness of the GitHub cloud service for the implementation of programming training projects. The study of the first stage was conducted among the 3-rd year students of the Faculty of Information Technologies of the National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine (NULES of Ukraine) during the second academic term of 2019 (29 students).

Twenty-nine students of IT specialities performed a collective mini-project in the process of studying one informative module in the discipline "Object Oriented programming". The study of this academic discipline was preceded by the study of "Database Organization" discipline; "Development of a program system for working with IT company management computer systems databases" was selected as the project theme. After completion of the technological practical training, an expert evaluation of the GitHub cloud service was conducted by the students in the second phase. To understand the attitude of students to the service for collaborative development, the following indicators of their evaluation from the point of view of functionality were determined: (i1) possibility of collaborative development of software; (i2) ability to manage code versions; (i3) convenience of bug tracking; (i4) ability to organize and plan teamwork; (i5) communication capability; (i6) the ability to support platforms; (i7) the convenience of the code editor; (i8) security and privacy; (i9) availability of wiki pages. In order to evaluate the GitHub collaborative development cloud service by specific indicators, a survey was developed, which consisted of 9 questions, in which the experts evaluated the importance of the indicators by assigning a ranking number.

In 2020, the second phase of the study was conducted, during which the effectiveness of the use of the GitHub cloud service was evaluated in the training of future IT professionals for the formation of professional competence. During experimental research among 3rd year students of the faculty there were two samples of students: control (96 students) and experimental groups (99 students). Student assessment was conducted during the study of the subject "Object-Oriented Programming" for two semesters and technological practice (internship).

In the experimental study, students performed two mini-projects in academic disciplines and one group project during technological practical training. The first part of the study was to carry out the students' programming project using the resources of the elearning course (ELC) of the academic discipline combined with the cloud service for the collective development of GitHub.

3.2 Data Analysis

The experts evaluated the significance of the developed indicators by assigning them a ranking number. The highest rated factor was assigned a rank of 1. The level of agreement of experts' opinions was determined by the coefficient of concordance. The concordance coefficient was applied to assess the degree of consistency among experts, which was calculated by the formula:

where

$$S = (\sum x_{ij} - \frac{\sum \sum x_{ij}}{n})^2,$$

 $W = \frac{12S}{m^2(n^3 - n)},$

 x_{ij} – evaluations of the ranks of each object of examination, n – number of criteria evaluated, m – number of experts who evaluated the service. To calculate it, the sum of the assigned ranks and deviation squares of the rank sums from the average sum for each indicator

were determined. The statistical significance of the coefficient of concordance was checked against the Pearson correlation criterion $\chi^2 = m(n-1)W$. Based on the sums obtained, the sum of the converted ranks was determined and the weight of each indicator was calculated to the formula, where $s_{ij} = x_{max} - x_{ij}$.

Student's t-test and analysis of variance were used to test the effectiveness of using the GitHub cloud service to develop professional competence. Onefactor and two-factor analysis of variance with intergroup and intragroup factors – mixed-model analysis of variance (mixed-model ANOVA). Student's T-test allows to check the equality of mean values in two samples and is calculated by the formula:

$$t = \frac{\left|M_1 - M_2\right|}{\sqrt{\frac{\sigma_1^2}{N_1} + \frac{\sigma_2^2}{N_2}}},$$

where M_1 and M_2 – mean value in control and experimental groups; σ_1 and σ_2 – standard deviation; N_1 and N_2 – sample sizes.

The variance two-factor analysis allowed to estimate the effect of two factors on different samples of objects, and the one-factor one on the influence depending on the evaluation stage.

The following conditions were considered to obtain reliable results of analysis of variance:

- 1. In the analyzed groups, the values of the dependent variable should be normally distributed. In this case, it is assumed that the value of the dependent variable has a normal distribution within each group, relative to the levels of factors. However, the response values do not have to have this distribution. Another weakening of the normality requirements is the normality of the distribution of model residues.
- 2. Homogeneity (homoskedasticity) of group variances. That is, the values of the dependent variable in each group must be statistically equal.

4 IMPLEMENTATION

One of the important types of projects in the process of IT specialists training is the projects on the collaborative development of software products, and therefore it is important to prepare students for the implementation of such projects since college times, to develop in them the necessary professional and personal skills, in particular the skills of shared software developments. When choosing cloud services for collaborative development of software products, the following issues should be taken into account: interoperability on the code, bug tracking, discussion of the code with other team members, management of versions of code and integration of additional services, availability of a repository, wiki and code editor, etc. There arises a need to integrate additional services so that the cloud services of software products collaborative development could enable us to manage projects. While implementing software development projects, the students cannot be restricted by cloud services only while organizing the teamwork; the future IT specialists also need the services, which will allow them to work together on the product code they plan to develop.

Given the rate of change in the field of IT, the number of cloud services for teamwork is constantly increasing, but assessing the functionality of such services, they can be subdivided into two categories: cloud services for project management (1) and team development of the software product (2).

Recently, educators also started using GitHub as a teaching tool for programming courses by hosting code samples and managing student tasks, and organizing teamwork (Angulo and Aktunc, 2019). The ability to use version control is a valuable skill for computer science graduates to possess. Git is a wellestablished, well received source version control system for the software development community and beyond (Bonakdarian, 2017; Kelleher, 2014; Haaranen and Lehtinen, 2015).

To complete the programming projects, experimental group students were asked to combine ETC resources in different academic disciplines with the GitHub service. In to complete the programming projects, students' experimental group were asked to combine ETC resources in different academic disciplines with the GitHub service. Morze and Glazunova (Morze and Glazunova, 2013) proposed the structural features, the ratio of form and content of the smart course elements and its properties: individual learning paths, content personification, the use of training elements with links to public information resources, interactive training elements, multimedia, communication and cooperation elements are substantiated. Teachers of relevant disciplines and technological practical training placed tasks of collective projects in the ELC. The ETC, posted by the teacher, contained the theoretical material (Book, Lesson resources) and course terminology (Glossary resource), lab sessions assignments (Assignment resource), and the exchange of useful resources and files (Database resource). At GitHub, student teams create their own projects, in which they can further collaborate on code writing, use the repository, perform branches, issue releases, and communicate with each other while completing study project tasks. The scheme of combining Moodle resources with the GitHub cloud service is presented in figure 1.



Figure 1: The scheme of combining Moodle resources with the GitHub cloud service.

For project or lab assignments, student groups can work on a public repository sharing code and ideas. It also allows cross-team communication with multiple teams working on a larger project as it happens in industry settings or teams exchanging ideas and reviewing each other's works. GitHub's cloud service provides users with a user-friendly web interface to the repository, user profile tools, change tracking, messaging, comments and online access, allowing the instructor and students to track the contributions of each team member so that students can be held accountable for their work. Thus, we can single out the following features of the GitHub cloud service (figure 2), which are important in the course of the implementation of educational projects on programming:

- programming: code editor; code versions management; bug tracking; platform support; availability of wiki pages;
- collaborative development: joint software development; teamwork planning and organization; establishing communication; security and privacy.

Precisely these features, inherent in GitHub tools, make it possible to apply different types of educational projects related to different programming technologies. This cloud service was offered to students for completing mini projects, for group and individual project assignments, term papers within academic disciplines.

In order to determine the effectiveness of the cloud service for GitHub collaborative development, 29 students were surveyed on the above-mentioned evaluation indicators after the implementation of the programming educational projects. A questionnaire was developed to ask students to assess the importance of each of the indicators:

- i1. Possibility of collaborative development of software;
- i2. Ability to manage code versions;


Figure 2: Classification of GitHub cloud service features.

- i3. Convenience of bug tracking;
- i4. Ability to organize and plan teamwork;
- i5. Communication capability;
- i6. Ability to support platforms;
- i7. Convenience of the code editor;
- i8. Security and privacy;
- i9. Availability of wiki pages.

Table 1 provides an assessment of the results of determining the effectiveness of cloud service for GitHub team development in the course of executing educational projects on programming by future IT specialists. The highest-rated indicator was assigned a rank of 1.

The concordance coefficient W = 0.85 indicates a high degree of convergence among experts. Pearson correlation criterion was calculated to assess the significance of the concordance coefficient $\chi^2 = m(n - 1)W$. As the calculated one χ^2 (197.2) is higher than the table value (15.5) for the number of degrees of freedom K = n - 1 = 9 - 1 = 8 and at a given level of importance $\alpha = 0.05$, we may conclude that the obtained coefficient of concordance of 0.85 is not accidental, and therefore the results obtained are statistically significant.

Based on the obtained rank sum the weights of the indicators considered were calculated. The survey matrix was transformed into a matrix of transformed ranks according to the formula, where $s_{ij} = x_{max} - x_{ij}$, in which $x_{max} = 9$ and the weight of each indicator was calculated.

The analysis of the significance of the factors studied revealed that the following indicators were noted by the students as being the most significant ones: the possibility of collaborative development of software, the convenience of bug tracking, the convenience of the code editor, and the ability to manage code versions when completing educational projects on programming.

In the second stage of the study, students worked on tasks of various projects using the cloud service GitHub. It was proposed to carry out collective monoprojects during the study of professional disciplines or course work within such disciplines, which will allow the formation of future IT professionals professional competencies and soft skills using services for collective IT development for inverted learning (Glazunova et al., 2022).

While studying "Object Oriented Programming" academic disciplines students were asked to complete mini projects using a cloud service to collaboratively develop GitHub software. The purpose of such projects was to develop professional competencies and personal effectiveness skills in future IT specialists Students worked in teams of 4-5 people. In each team a leader was identified, he distributed the tasks among the participants of the collective project. The task of "Database Organization" organization mini projects was to design a relational model of databases for the future automated system (according to the topic chosen by students); constructing class diagrams and developing a system using a class composition.

Indicator	Donk sum	c	Concordance	Pearson cri	iterion	Sum of	Indicator
Indicator	Kalik Sulli	3	coefficient	predictive	table	converted ranks	weight
i1	35	12100				226	0.22
i2	121	576				140	0.13
i3	62	6889				199	0.19
i4	147	4				114	0.11
i5	173	784	0.95	107.2	15.5	88	0.08
i6	248	10609	0.85	197.2	15.5	13	0.01
i7	96	2401				165	0.16
i8	227	6724				34	0.03
i9	196	2601				65	0.06
Σ	1305	42688				1044	1

Table 1: Assessment of the results of determining the effectiveness of cloud service for GitHub team development in the course of executing educational projects on programming by future IT specialists.

Within the framework of mastering the "Object Oriented Programming" academic discipline, the students were offered to implement an educational project entitled "Development of a program system for working with IT company management computer systems databases", the objective of which was to review and analyze modern design technologies; to develop and use software standards for common computer-driven control systems; to develop software structures for the computerized management system and UML diagrams of design entities; to develop a graphical interface for computer control system software; programming and debugging using objectoriented programming techniques; testing and analysis of the performance of the developed computer management software; reporting on the performance of computer-based management systems; development of a set of standard documents to support the developed computer management software.

Within the framework of the project and technological practical training, students performed a collaborative project using the GitHub cloud service aimed at the development of their professional and personal competencies, namely: improvement of practical skills in software development and design using modern approaches and tools for flexible software development, development of teamwork skills in students, which are in demand on the modern IT labor market. The task of the team project was to develop software with web interface and relational database using HTML, CSS, JavaScript, MySQL, PHP technologies. Work on the educational project was carried out in line with the principles of Agile flexible development and Scrum methodology, which provides an incremental and iterative approach and specific roles of the participants in the development of the collaborative project. In the course of collaborative IT development using GitHub, future IT specialists kept the educational project code and necessary documentation in the public domain. In addition, a version control system was used to provide integrity and multiuser access.

5 EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

To assess the effectiveness of the use of GitHub, two samples of students were selected: a control group (Control) without the use of a joint development service in the educational process and an experimental one using GitHub (Experiment). The comparison will be made in three stages of studying the discipline "Programming". Assessments were conducted in the following sequence: exam for the first semester (Examen1), results for the second semester (Examen2) and internship (EducPractic). Accordingly, the study put forward the following null hypotheses, the deviation of which will confirm the effectiveness of the use of the cloud service GitHub for the formation of professional competence: 1) the average score in the control and experimental groups does not differ; 2) the difference in the average score at different stages of evaluation is statistically insignificant; 3) the difference in the average score by groups (samples) at different stages of evaluation is statistically insignificant.

To test the first hypothesis, Student's t-test or its non-parametric analogue, the Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon test, will be used. To check others – analysis of variance. In particular, for the second hypothesis, one-factor analysis of variance (if necessary, non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test) and for the third, two-way analysis of variance with intergroup and intragroup factors – mixed-model analysis of variance (mixed-model ANOVA).

Before starting the statistical verification, the power analysis should be used to determine the level of effect for the given methods that provide sample sizes. Table 2 shows the sample sizes in different sections. A significance level of 0.05 and a power of 80% were also selected for power analysis.

Table 2: The size of student samples at each stage of the study.

Evaluation stage		Sum	
Evaluation stage	Control	Experimental	Sum
Examen1	96	99	195
Examen2	96	99	195
EducPractic	96	99	195
Sum	288	297	-

To assess the possibility of neglecting the normality requirement, the effect level for Student's t-test was determined by the first hypothesis for samples of experimental and control groups, which are 288 and 297, respectively. The results of the calculations are presented in listing (figure 3).

Figure 3: Evaluation of the effect for the Student's t-test.

As figure 3 of the power analysis shows, the effect level is 0.232 (d value), which indicates the possibility of determining small effects (Cohen, 1988), accordingly, the requirement for data distribution according to the normal distribution law can be neglected.

To analyze the capacities for small groups, a calculation was made for pairwise comparisons of the obtained scores in terms of individual types of evaluation (sizes of groups 96 and 99), which is presented in listing (figure 4).

pwr.t2n.test(n1=96, n2=99 ,	sig.level=0.05,
power=0.80)	
t test power calculation	
n1 = 96	
n2 = 99	
d = 0.403	
sig.level = 0.05	
power = 0.8	
alternative = two.sided	

Figure 4: Evaluation of the effect for pairwise comparisons of scores in terms of individual types of evaluation.

The obtained value of the effect (0.403) corresponds to the average theoretical level of the effect, therefore, when choosing a statistical procedure, it is

advisable to consider the law of data distribution in the samples.

For the second hypothesis, where the test method should be a one-way analysis of variance with a group size of 195, the calculated effect is shown in listing (figure 5).

Balanced one-way analysis of variance power calculation

> k = 3 n = 195 **f = 0.129** sig.level = 0.05 power = 0.8

Figure 5: Effect evaluation for analysis of variance.

The obtained value (0.129) is close to the theoretical value of the small effect (0.1) but slightly exceeds it. Therefore, when establishing the inconsistency of the distribution with the normal law, we additionally use nonparametric methods.

Since there is no statistical procedure for determining the level of effect in the power analysis for two-factor analysis with an unbalanced design (groups of different sizes), this analysis was not performed. The obtained average scores in the sections of the groups and evaluation by the results of the second stage of the experiment are presented in table 3 and in figure 6.

Table 3: The average performance of students in the control and experimental groups in terms of stages of assessment.

Evaluation		Group	By types of
stage	Control Experimental		evaluation
Examen1	73.1	75.9	74.5
Examen2	76.2	79.9	78
EducPractic	74.3	82.2	78.2
By groups	74.6	79.3	-

According to the summary data, the difference between the overall scores in the groups is 4.7 points. At the same time, if we evaluate the pairwise differences in grades for different types of assessment, the biggest difference was in the success of students in the results of internship -7.9 points.

Analyzing the data presented in figure 3, we see the difference in the medians, as well as the distribution of scores – the experimental group shows the best results for both general and stages (figure 7).

In this case, if the experimental group is characterized by an increase in scores in stages: Examen1 \rightarrow Examen2 \rightarrow EducPractic; then in the control group after the growth of average scores, the average scores of internship results are lower than for the exam in the





Figure 6: Average student performance based on the results of three stages of assessment.



Figure 7: The success of students of control group and experimental group in terms of assessment stages.

2nd semester.

Comparing estimates by type of control, there is an increase in scores by stages (figure 8). At the same time, a significant change occurred between exams in different semesters (3.5 points).

The difference between such related stages as the exam in the 2nd semester and internship is insignificant (0.2 points), which is caused as noted above by the deterioration of grades for internship in the control group.

For the final choice of methods for estimating statistical hypotheses, the samples were tested for distribution normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test. The obtained results are presented in figure 9.

According to the data obtained from the Shapiro-Wilk tests, the null hypothesis about the normality of the distribution laws of the control (p-value = $1.382 \cdot 10^{-15}$) and experimental groups (p-value =



Figure 8: Student performance in terms of assessment stages.

shapiro.test(data_git\$rating[data_git\$group=='Control'])
Shapiro-Wilk normality test





Figure 9: The results of checking the samples (control group and experimental group) for the normality of the distribution.

 $3.082 \cdot 10^{-11}$) was rejected, which also illustrated the graphs of the empirical and the theoretical distribution density function.

Similarly, the verification of the obtained data was carried out by types of evaluation, which is presented in figure 10.

The obtained results (p-values: $3.536 \cdot 10^{-10}$, $7.687e \cdot 10^{-11}$ and $1.741 \cdot 10^{-11}$) indicate that these samples are not subject to the normal distribution law. Because analysis of variance is used to assess the statistical significance of differences, a group variance test (Barlett test) and an emission test (Bonferroni



Figure 10: The results of checking the data on the normality of the distribution by type of assessment.

= "EducPractic"]

test) were performed.

To conduct the Barlett test, the null hypothesis was put forward that the variances between the groups are equal. The estimate of the variance homogeneity in the groups for different types of estimation is shown in listing (figure 11).

```
bartlett.test(rating ~ probation, data=data_git)
Bartlett test of homogeneity of variances
data: rating by probation
Bartlett's K-squared = 3.9919, df = 2,
p-value = 0.1359
```

Figure 11: Estimation of variance homogeneity for different types of estimation.

The obtained value of p-value = 0.1359 is greater than the significance level – 0.05, so there is no reason to reject the null hypothesis of the test on the equality of variances in groups. The data obtained in this way indicate that the variance data are statistically different. Similarly, the statistical equality of variances for the control and experimental groups of the third hypothesis, which is presented in listing (figure 12), was estimated.

<pre>wartlett.test(rating ~ interaction(group, probation),</pre>
data=data_git)
Bartlett test of homogeneity of variances
<pre>data: rating by interaction(group, probation)</pre>
Bartlett's K-squared = 4.1934, df = 5,
p-value = 0.5219

Figure 12: Estimation of dispersion homogeneity for control group and experimental group.

As in the previous case, we decide to reject the null hypothesis of equality of variances.

The Bonferroni test listings (figure 13) show no emissions for both types of analysis of variance. Accordingly, the original data meet these two requirements for analysis of variance.

```
outlierTest(aov(rating ~ probation, data = data_git))
      No Studentized residuals with Bonferroni p < 0.05
      Largest |rstudent|:
          rstudent unadjusted p-value Bonferroni p
      309 1.875526
                             0.061222
                                                NA
outlierTest(aov(rating ~ group*probation,
                                   data = data git))
      No Studentized residuals with Bonferroni p < 0.05
      Largest |rstudent|:
         rstudent unadjusted p-value Bonferroni p
      17 1.938724
                            0.053021
                                                NA
               Figure 13: Bonferroni test.
```

Therefore, considering the obtained estimates of the normality of the data distribution and the results of power analysis, we choose the following methods for testing hypotheses:

- Hypothesis 1: to check the equality of the average overall scores – Student's t-test; for comparisons of average scores in groups for individual types of evaluation – Mann-Whitney test, as in contrast to the overall estimates, the size of the effect is estimated as average, which does not allow to ignore the normality of the distribution.
- Hypothesis 2: despite the fact that the size of the effect is close to small, in addition to one-way analysis of variance, the results were verified through the Kruskal-Wallis test.
- Hypothesis 3: since it is impossible to perform a power analysis for two-factor analysis of variance with an unbalanced design, the requirement of normality was neglected due to the large samples in each group (Zar, 1996). Moreover, tests for the homogeneity of variances and emissions indicated the possibility of analysis of variance.

After analysis and selection of the above methods, the hypotheses put forward in the study were tested.

According to a preliminary analysis, the difference between the overall scores in the groups is 4.7 points. To assess whether this difference in scores is statistically significant (Hypothesis 1), we chose in the previous stages we chose Student's t-test. Prior to the test, a check was made for the Welch amendment to be considered for samples with different variances (figure 14).

var.test(rating~group,data=data_git)

Figure 14: Test for equality of variances in samples.

As you can see from the data presented in figure 14, the probability of obtaining an error of the first kind is 78.6% with a permissible 5%, to reject the null hypothesis. Therefore, the variances are statistically equal and the Welch correction is not required. The evaluation of the t-test for the overall averages in the two groups is presented in listing (figure 15).

```
t.test(rating~group,data=data_git, var.equal = TRUE)
Two Sample t-test
data: rating by group
t = -4.2478, df = 583, p-value = 2.512e-05
alternative hypothesis: true difference in means
between group Control and group
Experiment is not equal to 0
95 percent confidence interval:
    -6.961609 -2.559435
sample estimates:
    mean in group Control mean in group Experiment
    74.55892 79.31944
```

Figure 15: Checking the equality of average overall scores.

According to the obtained results, the actual value of the criterion $-t_f = 4.25$ exceeds the critical $-t_c r = 1.967$ for a given level of significance (0.05), which is necessary to reject the null hypothesis of equality of the two averages. Therefore, we can conclude that the difference between the mean scores between the control and experimental groups (4.7 points) is statistically significant. In this case, with a probability of 95%, this difference will be from 2.6 to 7.0 points. Accordingly, the null hypothesis is rejected.

As noted earlier, a nonparametric Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon test, which is used for samples without a normal distribution, was calculated to confirm the difference in scores between samples at different stages of the assessment (figure 16).

```
wilcox.test(rating~group,data=data_git
[data_git$probation=='Examen1',], paired = FALSE)
Wilcoxon rank sum test with continuity correction
data: rating by group
W = 4059.5, p-value = 0.07764
alternative hypothesis: true location
shift is not equal to 0
```

wilcox.test(rating~group,data=data_git

[data_git\$probation=='Examen2',], paired = FALSE) Wilcoxon rank sum test with continuity correction data: rating by group W = 4035, p-value = 0.05729 alternative hypothesis: true location shift is not equal to 0

wilcox.test(rating~group,data=data_git

```
[data_git$probation=='EducPractic',], paired = FALSE)
Wilcoxon rank sum test with continuity correction
data: rating by group
W = 3206.5, p-value = 7.217e-05
alternative hypothesis: prue location
shift is not equal to 0
```

Figure 16: Calculation of the nonparametric Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon test.

The obtained test results indicate that a statistically significant difference between the averages in the groups is observed only for internship (7.9 points), which is indicated by the value of p-value which is less than the level of significance.

However, it should be noted that in addition to the fact that this test, like all non-parametric has less accuracy, the use of pairwise comparisons with the possibility of analysis of variance is not statistically effective. Therefore, this analysis can be considered as additional in a more efficient analysis of variance.

As noted in the previous analysis, the difference between the exams was significant in contrast to the exam (2 semester) and internship. To test the statistical significance of the differences in the mean score at different stages (Hypothesis 2), the significance of the differences was estimated (figure 17).

<pre>fit_probati</pre>	ion <-	aov(ra	ting ~ pr	obation,
				data = data_git)
	Df Su	um Sq Me	an Sq F	valı 🐺 Pr(>F)
probation	2	1701	850.6	4.555 0.0109 *
Residuals	582	108674	186.7	

Signif. codes: 0 '***'0.001'**'0.01'*'0.05'.'0.1' '1 Figure 17: Assessing the significance of differences.

The F-test indicates that there are differences between the groups (p < 0.05). As noted at the stage of selection of research methods, an additional analysis was performed according to the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test (figure 18).

The results of the Kruskal-Wallis test confirmed the results of one-way analysis of variance.

Figure 18: Analysis by the nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis test.

Pairwise comparisons using the Tukey test (figure 19) and graphical data (figure 20) concluded that the difference between the exams (Examen2-Examen1 – p-value = 0.029) and the exam for 1 semester was statistically significant. Internship (Examen1-EducPractic – p-value = 0.022) and is -3.7 and 3.5, respectively. The difference between the second semester and the internship is not statistically significant (p-value = 0.994 and intersects on the graph with a vertical January) and is within the statistical error.

TukeyHSD(fit_probation)

Tukeý multiple comparisons of means 95% family-wise confidence level Fit: aov(formula = rating ~ probation, data = data_git) \$probation diff lwr upr p adj Examen1-EducPractic -3.6871795 -6.9389205 -0.4354385 **0.0215893**

Examen2-EducPractic -0.1435897 -3.3953308 3.1081513 0.9940823 Examen2-Examen1 3.5435897 0.2918487 6.7953308 0.0287904 Figure 19: Conducting pairwise comparisons using the Tukey test.



Figure 20: Graphical display of pairwise comparisons.

To check the statistical significance of the difference in the mean score by groups (figure 21) at different stages of the assessment (Hypothesis 3) was used two-factor analysis of variance with intergroup and intragroup factors – mixed analysis model (ANOVA). In our study, the intergroup factor was the distribution of groups of students relative to the control and experimental, and intragroup – the stages of evaluation.





The constructed variance model for two-factor analysis of variance is presented in listing (figure 22).

fit <- aov(rating ~ group*probation + Error(id/probation), data=data_git) summary(fit)</pre>

Error: id

```
Df Sum Sq Mean Sq F value Pr(>F)
group 1 3314 3314 9.247 0.00269 **
Residuals 193 69162 358
```

Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 '' 1

Error: id:probation

```
Df Sum Sq Mean Sq F value Pr(>F)
probation 2 1701 850.6 9.257 0.000118 ***
group:probation 2 728 363.8 3.959 0.019871 *
Residuals 386 35471 91.9
```

Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1 Figure 22: Estimation of a two-factor variance model.

The calculated value of the Fisher criterion, based on the mean squares of the deviations within and between groups and the corresponding degrees of freedom for each of the factors is:

• For groups:

$$wBG = m - -1 = 2 - 1 = 1$$

vWG = n - m = 288 - 2 = 286

where *m* is the number of factor levels (groups), *n* is the number of observations (students)

Accordingly, according to tables F of Fisher's test at a significance level of 0.05, the empirical (theoretical, critical) value is $F\{0.05; 1; 286\} = 3.847$.

• For types of assessment:

vBG = m - -1 = 3 - 1 = 2vWG = n - -m = 195 - -3 = 192 Accordingly, according to tables F of Fisher's test at a significance level of 0.05, the empirical (theoretical, critical) value is $F\{0.05; 2; 192\} = 3.042$.

- · For stages and interaction of groups and stages
 - $vBG = (m_1 1) * (m_2 1) = (2 1) * (3 1) = 2$ $vWG = (m_1 + m_2 - 1) * (n - 1) = (2 + 3 - 1) + (\frac{99 + 96}{2} - 1) = 386,$
 - where m_1 , m_2 is the number of levels for intergroup (group) and intragroup (stages) factors, n is the number of observations (students) in each sample divided into groups and stages – $F\{0.05; 2; 386\} = 3.847$.

According to the results of the study, the dependence of the averages for groups and types of assessment is statistically significant, as indicated by the value of the actual F statistics, exceeding the critical values found: 9.247>3.890 and 9.257>3.042 (or according to p-value – 0.0026 and 0.00011, respectively, which is much less than the significance level of 0.05). That is, two-factor analysis of variance proved the preliminary results on the deviation of 1 and the second null hypotheses.

As for the interaction of groups and stages, is the question in assessing the statistical significance of differences by groups at different stages, the value of the obtained Fisher statistics is more than critical – 3.959>3,847 (p-value = 0.019871) indicates the presence of an additional effect from the interaction. That is, there is a significant difference in the average of individual groups by type of assessment. For the obtained model we will make multiple comparisons according to the Tukey test:

• The group comparison (figure 23) confirmed the t-test data on the statistical significance of the difference in the rating score for the control and experimental groups, which is 4.7 points.

emmG <- emmeans(fit, ~ group)
pairs(emmG)
contrast estimate SE df t.ratio p.value
Control - Experiment -4.76 1.57 193 -3.041 0.0027
Figure 23: Multiple group comparisons.</pre>

- From the obtained comparisons (figure 24) of the averages by stages (types of evaluation) for all groups, we see that the significant difference in the average evaluations corresponds to the data of one-factor analysis for the second hypothesis.
- Pairwise comparisons of the difference between the mean scores for the groups divided by both factors are significant for most comparisons (figure 25).

emmG <- emmeans(fit, ~ group) pairs(emmG)</pre>

contrast	estimate	SE	df	t.ratio	p.value
EducPractic - Examen1	3.726	0.971	386	3.838	0.0004
EducPractic - Examen2	0.176	0.971	386	0.181	0.9820
Examen1 - Examen2	-3.550	0.971	386	-3.657	0.0008
Figure 24: Multiple comparisons by type of assessment.					

emm <- emmeans(fit, ~ group*probation) pairs(emm)

contrast estimate	e SE dft.ra	tio p.value	
Control EducPractic - Experiment Ed	ucPractic	-7.874 1.93 390	-4.089 0.0007
Control EducPractic - Control Exame	11	1.172 1.36 386	0.860 0.9556
Control EducPractic - Experiment Exa	imen1	-1.593 1.93 390	-0.827 0.9624
Control EducPractic - Control Exame	า2	-1.939 1.36 386	-1.423 0.7128
Control EducPractic - Experiment Exa	men2	-5.582 1.93 390	-2.899 0.0453
Experiment EducPractic - Control Exa	imen1	9.046 1.93 390	4.698 0.0001
Experiment EducPractic - Experiment	t Examen1	6.281 1.38 386	4.540 0.0001
Experiment EducPractic - Control Exa	imen2	5.935 1.93 390	3.082 0.0266
Experiment EducPractic - Experiment	t Examen2	2.292 1.38 386	1.656 0.5617
Control Examen1 - Experiment Exan	nen1	-2.765 1.93 390 -	1.436 0.7052
Control Examen1 - Control Examen2		-3.111 1.36 386 -	2.283 0.2034
Control Examen1 - Experiment Exam	en2	-6.754 1.93 390 -3	3.508 0.0067
Experiment Examen1 - Control Exam	en2	-0.347 1.93 390 -0	0.180 1.0000
Experiment Examen1 - Experiment E	xamen2	-3.990 1.38 386 -2	2.883 0.0474
Control Examen2 - Experiment Exan	nen2	-3.643 1.93 390 -3	1.892 0.4087

P value adjustment: tukey method for comparing a family of 6 estimates

Figure 25: Multiple comparisons by groups and types of assessment.

Comparisons between the same types of evaluations between the control and experimental groups showed:

- The difference in the average scores on the exam for the first semester (Control Examen1 – Experimental Examen1) is statistically insignificant (pvalue = 0.7052>0.05);
- The difference in the average scores on the exam for the second semester (Control Examen2 – Experimental Examen2) is statistically insignificant (p-value = 0.4087>0.05);
- The difference in the average scores on internship (Control EducPractic – Experimental EducPractic) is statistically significant (p-value = 0.0007<0.05) and is 7.8 points.

These results confirmed the results of the Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon test that the effectiveness of the implementation of experimental methods affected the results of internship, during which students actively used the cloud service GitHub to implement collective projects.

Assessing separately the dynamics of differences in each of the groups by stages, we see that in the control group, each change in the average score between different types of assessment is insignificant, which indicates the absence of any dynamics in traditional learning: "Control Examen1 – Control Examen2" – p-value = 0.2034, "Control EducPractic – Control Examen2" – p-value = 0.7128, "Control EducPractic – Control Examen1" – p-value = 0.9556. In contrast, for the experimental group where such changes were statistically significant.

6 CONCLUSIONS

The educational projects on programming are an effective method for shaping the professional and personal competencies of future IT specialists. To work on educational projects, you should use modern cloud services for collaborative IT development, such as GitHub. The most effective features of this service are the possibility of collaborative development of software (i1), the convenience of bug tracking (i3), and the convenience of the code editor (i7), which are determined by the statistical processing of student peer review. Other features of this service that have also been explored include the ability to manage code versions (i2), the ability to organize and plan teamwork (i4), the ability to communicate (i5), the ability to support platforms (i6), security and privacy (i8), availability of wiki pages (i9).

The GitHub cloud service can be applied to complete mini projects, group or individual work, term papers, or during the academic training of the students. The examples of using GitHub discussed in the paper show that the specific features of this service completely satisfy the needs of students of IT profession in the implementation of the tasks of educational projects on programming. And affects the formation of professional competence of future specialists in information technology, as evidenced by the results of the study. The obtained results of the experimental group are higher by 5.93% than in the control group. Crucial to the formation of professional competence are the use of cloud service in the implementation of collective projects for software development during training.

Further research can be aimed at theoretical substantiation and development of methods of flexible training of future information technology specialists using services for joint software development in the implementation of educational projects, as the technology of agile learning is closest to real conditions in software development.

REFERENCES

Angulo, M. A. and Aktunc, O. (2019). Using GitHub as a Teaching Tool for Programming Courses. In 2018 Gulf Southwest Section Conference, Austin, TX. https://peer.asee.org/31594.

- Beshero-Bondar, E. E. and Parker, R. J. (2017). A GitHub Garage for a Digital Humanities Course. In Fee, S. B., Holland-Minkley, A. M., and Lombardi, T. E., editors, *New Directions for Computing Education: Embedding Computing Across Disciplines*, pages 259– 276. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https: //doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-54226-3_15.
- Bonakdarian, E. (2017). Pushing Git & GitHub in Undergraduate Computer Science Classes. J. Comput. Sci. Coll., 32(3):119–125.
- Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 2 edition. https://www.utstat.toronto.edu/~brunner/ oldclass/378f16/readings/CohenPower.pdf.
- Feliciano, J., Storey, M.-A., and Zagalsky, A. (2016). Student Experiences Using GitHub in Software Engineering Courses: A Case Study. In Proceedings of the 38th International Conference on Software Engineering Companion, ICSE '16, page 422–431, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/2889160.2889195.
- Fiksel, J., Jager, L. R., Hardin, J. S., and Taub, M. A. (2019). Using GitHub Classroom To Teach Statistics. *Journal of Statistics Education*, 27(2):110–119. https://doi.org/10.1080/10691898.2019.1617089.
- GitHub Education (2020). 2020 GitHub Education Classroom Report: Insights from the next generation of software developers. https://education.github.com/ classroom-report/2020.
- Glazunova, O. G., Korolchuk, V. I., Parhomenko, O. V., Voloshyna, T. V., Morze, N. V., and Smyrnova-Trybulska, E. M. (2022). Methodology for using Cloud-oriented Environment for Flipped Learning of the Future IT Specialists. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 1: AET*, pages 445– 460. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/ 0010925100003364.
- Glazunova, O. G. and Shyshkina, M. (2018). The Concept, Principles of Design and Implementation of the University Cloud-based Learning and Research Environment. In Ermolayev, V., Suárez-Figueroa, M. C., Yakovyna, V., Kharchenko, V. S., Kobets, V., Kravtsov, H., Peschanenko, V. S., Prytula, Y., Nikitchenko, M. S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, *Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kyiv, Ukraine, May 14-17, 2018, volume 2104 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 332–347. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2104/paper_158.pdf.*
- Gunnarsson, S., Larsson, P., Månsson, S., Mårtensson, E., and Sönnerup, J. (2017). Enhancing Student Engagement Using GitHub as an Educational Tool. In *Introduction to Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*. Genombrottet, Lunds tekniska högskola. https://lucris.lub.lu.se/ws/files/27854342/ group1_github_final.pdf.
- Haaranen, L. and Lehtinen, T. (2015). Teaching Git on

the Side: Version Control System as a Course Platform. In *Proceedings of the 2015 ACM Conference on Innovation and Technology in Computer Science Education*, ITiCSE '15, page 87–92, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery. https: //doi.org/10.1145/2729094.2742608.

- Hsing, C. and Gennarelli, V. (2019). Using GitHub in the Classroom Predicts Student Learning Outcomes and Classroom Experiences: Findings from a Survey of Students and Teachers. In *Proceedings of the 50th* ACM Technical Symposium on Computer Science Education, SIGCSE '19, page 672–678, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery. https: //doi.org/10.1145/3287324.3287460.
- Kelleher, J. (2014). Employing git in the classroom. In 2014 World Congress on Computer Applications and Information Systems (WCCAIS), pages 1–4. https:// doi.org/10.1109/WCCAIS.2014.6916568.
- Kertész, C.-Z. (2015). Using GitHub in the classroom a collaborative learning experience. In 2015 IEEE 21st International Symposium for Design and Technology in Electronic Packaging (SIITME), pages 381– 386. https://doi.org/10.1109/SIITME.2015.7342358.
- Korolchuk, V. (2019). Cloud services for collective projects preparation processes of future IT-professionals: Analysis and selection criteria. *New pedagogical thought*, 100(4):46–51. https://doi.org/10.37026/ 2520-6427-2019-100-4-46-51.
- Marquardson, J. and Schuetzler, R. M. (2019). Teaching Tip: Learning by Teaching through Collaborative Tutorial Creation: Experience using GitHub and AsciiDoc. Journal of Information Systems Education, 30(1):10–18. https://jise.org/Volume30/n1/ JISEv30n1p10.html.
- Metz, C. (2015). How Github Conquered Google, Microsoft, and Everyone Else. https://www.wired.com/2015/03/ github-conquered-google-microsoft-everyone-else/.
- Morze, N. V. and Glazunova, O. G. (2013). What Should be E-Learning Course for Smart Education. In Ermolayev, V., Mayr, H. C., Nikitchenko, M. S., Spivakovsky, A., Zholtkevych, G., Zavileysky, M., Kravtsov, H., Kobets, V., and Peschanenko, V. S., editors, Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications: Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer, Kherson, Ukraine, June 19-22, 2013, volume 1000 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 411–423. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-1000/ICTERI-2013-p-411-423-MRDL.pdf.
- Zar, J. H. (1996). *Biostatistical Analysis*. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, 3 edition.

Features and Results of Learning Cloud Technologies by the Teachers for the Organization of the Educational Process in Quarantine

Tetiana A. Vakaliuk^{1,2,3}¹, Oleg M. Spirin^{4,2}¹, Oleksii V. Chyzhmotria¹,

Olena H. Chyzhmotria ¹ ^[D], Inesa V. Novitska⁵^[D]^e and Svitlana O. Didkivska ⁶^[D]

¹Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, 103 Chudnivska Str., Zhytomyr, 10005, Ukraine

²Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the NAES of Ukraine, 9 M. Berlynskoho Str., Kyiv, 04060, Ukraine

³Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine

⁴University of Educational Management, 52A Sichovykh Striltsiv Str., Kyiv, 04000, Ukraine

⁵Zhytomyr Ivan Franko State University, 30 Velyka Berdychivska Str., Zhytomyr, 10002, Ukraine

⁶Cracow University of Economics, Rakowicka 27, 31-510 Kraków, Poland

tetianavakaliuk@gmail.com, {chov, ch-o-g}@ztu.edu.ua, inesanovicka@gmail.com, d2023@student.uek.krakow.pl

Keywords: Learning, Cloud Technologies, Educational Process, Distance Learning, Quarantine.

Abstract: The article substantiates the need to develop and implement a distance course "Cloud technologies in the educational process in quarantine". It is noted that the purpose of the course was to acquaint teachers of general secondary education institutions, college teachers, vocational and higher education institutions with the basic possibilities of using cloud technologies to ensure the educational process in distance learning. The list of topics with which the students get acquainted is given: basic concepts, models of cloud services, architecture and proposals from leading cloud services companies; cloud services in the work of the teacher, the peculiarities of working with mail; cloud storage as an alternative to replacing conventional drives; opportunities to create documents with the provision of sharing rights to multiple users; opportunities to create Internet surveys using cloud technologies; opportunities to create presentations using cloud technologies; cloud-based means of creating mind maps; means of creating sites; cloud-based learning management systems (for example, Google Classroom). In this article, students are understood as teachers who have taken courses. The peculiarities of the proposed distance course and the difficulties that the students had in performing certain tasks are identified and described. The statistical results of the course are given. The article also presents the results of two waves of face-to-face courses for teachers of Zhytomyr schools. However, the results of a survey of students on distance learning in schools over the past two years are presented. Organizers of such courses must take into account the following features: 1) take into account the number of participants; 2) in the registration questionnaire to focus on the correct completion of all fields, especially when filling in the field "e-mail"; 3) when connecting students to the course, not only provide materials to familiarize with the organization of courses, Google Classroom, the purpose of the courses but also conduct introductory testing to determine the level of awareness of students with the necessary materials; 4) focus on the timely completion of tasks so as not to create inconvenience to other participants.

1 INTRODUCTION

During the global pandemic, the question of the readiness of teachers of general secondary education insti-

- ^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9594-6602
- ° https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5515-6550

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8597-1292

e https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0780-0580

tutions, college teachers, vocational, and higher education institutions to carry out distance learning qualitatively became acute. Teachers had to adapt to the new challenges of today quite quickly, in a few days. In particular, teachers had to prepare in a short time to organize the educational process for the period of quarantine, which also provided for the organization of distance learning, which in turn, qualitatively possible to perform using cloud technologies.

Also, following the "Procedure for the professional development of pedagogical and scientific-

462

Features and Results of Learning Cloud Technologies by the Teachers for the Organization of the Educational Process in Quarantine. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 462-475 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6825-4697

f https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4004-6631

Vakaliuk, T., Spirin, O., Chyzhmotria, O., Chyzhmotria, O., Novitska, I. and Didkivska, S.

pedagogical workers", one of the approved forms of professional development is remote (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2019). Also, by the same procedure, one of the main areas of professional development is: "the use of information and communication and digital technologies in the educational process, including e-learning", as well as the development of digital competence (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2019).

Therefore, it was decided to modify the developed course (Vakaliuk et al., 2021) for new challenges and offer teachers to take it remotely to develop their digital competence.

For this purpose, a certificate educational program "Information systems and cloud technologies in the educational process" was developed (Vakaliuk, 2022) within the specialty 126 "Information systems and technologies" at the Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University. Within the framework of this certified educational program the course "Cloud technologies in the educational process in the conditions of quarantine" was developed.

The purpose of the course was to acquaint pedagogical and scientific-pedagogical workers with the main possibilities of using cloud technologies to ensure the educational process in terms of distance learning.

2 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

The issue of informatization of the educational process at present the subject of many works. In particular, Mintiy et al. (Mintiy et al., 2017) considered the problem of development of information and communication competencies of teachers of pedagogical institutions of higher education according to the program of advanced training courses "Information and communication technologies in full-time and distance (combined) training". Osadchyi and Osadcha (Osadchyi and Osadcha, 2017) investigated the possibilities of distance learning in the study of technical disciplines. Bogachkov et al. (Bogachkov et al., 2020) proposed a comprehensive application of Google Classroom to create variable courses. They proposed a prototype of the Classroom X application, which provides the ability to automatically plan a specific sequence of tasks, automate the verification of tasks, the organization of repetition of a certain material. etc.

Britto (Britto, 2012) considered cloud computing in higher education, Dzikite et al. (Dzikite et al., 2017) studied lecturers' competencies in information and communication technology for effective implementation of ICT-integrated teaching and learning in textiles and clothing degree programs, Hanson-Baldauf and Hughes (Hanson-Baldauf and Hughes, 2009) studied the problem of the information and communication technology competencies of students enrolled in school library media certification programs, Jalgaonkar and Kanojia (Jalgaonkar and Kanojia, 2013) analyzed the possibilities of adoption of cloud computing in distance learning, Simonson et al. (Simonson et al., 2015) studied the problem of teaching and learning at a distance.

Also, some scientists considered the problem of distance learning at school both during the quarantine period and in general (Lytvynova and Demeshkant, 2021; Zhenchenko et al., 2021; Ovcharuk and Ivaniuk, 2021; Zhorova et al., 2022; Sych et al., 2021; Trubavina et al., 2021). In particular, Lytvynova and Demeshkant (Lytvynova and Demeshkant, 2021) reviewed the results of the "SMART KIDS" experiment in the context of distance learning in primary school during the COVID 19 pandemic, Zhenchenko et al. (Zhenchenko et al., 2021) investigated the professional approach to the use of electronic educational resources on Ukrainian techniques in remote preparation for the COVID-19 pandemic, Ovcharuk and Ivaniuk (Ovcharuk and Ivaniuk, 2021) reviewed the results of a survey regarding the level of digital competence of Ukrainian teachers in the context of lifelong learning using a self-assessment tool. But the researchers ignored the question of the effectiveness of organizing such courses in a remote form.

Therefore, the purpose of the article is to identify and describe the features of distance learning of cloud technologies for teachers of general secondary education, college teachers, vocational and higher education institutions for use in the educational process in quarantine.

3 RESULTS

To provide distance learning for teachers of general secondary education, college teachers, vocational, and higher education institutions, we develop the course "Cloud technologies in the educational process in quarantine" (Vakaliuk, 2020). This course has been modified by improving the course "Cloud Technologies in Education" taking into account the new challenges currently facing pedagogical and scientific-pedagogical staff of educational institutions.

The main challenges include the organization of distance learning using cloud technologies, the organization of the educational process in quarantine, time constraints, and more.

The previous course "Cloud technologies in edu-

cation" was changed by reducing the amount of educational material, tightening the deadlines, and the feature was not traditional learning in the classroom, and distance learning.

The course was limited for 5 days, so that course participant could quickly get acquainted with the necessary cloud technologies that would allow them to organize the educational process in their educational institution.

During the course, teachers had the opportunity to get acquainted with:

- basic concepts, models of cloud services, architecture and proposals from leading cloud services companies (Markova et al., 2019);
- Google services in the work of the teacher, the peculiarities of working with mail;
- cloud storage as an alternative to replacing conventional drives;
- the ability to create documents with the provision of sharing rights to multiple users;
- opportunities to create Internet surveys by cloudbased tools;
- opportunities to create presentations by cloudbased tools;
- cloud-based mind maps (Ivanova et al., 2020);
- tools for creating sites (Pirohov et al., 2018);
- cloud-based learning management systems (for example, Google Classroom (Bondarenko et al., 2018)).

Here is an example of a training session.

Topic: Creating a mind map.

Objective: To learn how to create mind maps using cloud technologies.

- 1. Select one of the suggested services for creating mind maps.
- 2. Log in to your account.
- 3. Create a new mind map on a topic related to the subject you teach.
- 4. Give access to the 2 people after you in the list and the teacher.
- 5. Take a screenshot of the created mind map. Go to the Classroom, select the appropriate task, go to it by clicking "View Tasks", create a picture, and paste a copied screenshot.
- 6. After completing all tasks and inserting a picture, click "Submit".

Note that for each task there are theoretical materials, where the teacher step by step described the work with each service and supplemented the material with screenshots. Each topic was fully disclosed in the theoretical information and the listeners only had to open the materials and get acquainted with it.

Besides, the theoretical materials also gave examples of the use of a cloud service in the educational process of an educational institution.

We will point out the peculiarities of this course and the difficulties that students have in performing certain tasks. At this stage, we apply the method of mathematical statistics – the method of registration, which involves the detection of a particular phenomenon and its quantitative calculation.

The first is that when registering for the course, a significant number of potential students (113 people) indicated e-mails either with errors or non-existent. As a result, some of them were unable to join the course at the time it began. In this article, students are understood as teachers who have taken courses.

Second. *Listeners do not read the instructions and messages carefully*. As a result, the teacher had to spend a significant amount of time answering the questions that are fully listed in the instructions.

Third. Some students (353 people) *did not complete the tasks in the scheduled time* specified at the beginning of the course, which led to inconvenience to other participants, as all participants interacted not only with the teacher but also with each other.

Fourth. One of the forms of reporting turned out to be quite *complicated* – *inserting a picture in the form of screen capture* to confirm the performance of certain tasks. Everyone who encountered this problem did not even read the instructions, which again described all the steps step by step. Moreover, if one participant asked this question, and the teacher gave a meaningful answer, the other participants pretended not to see these comments, and just asked the question again. Again, all this reduced productivity and, accordingly, the effectiveness of the teacher's work on checking tasks, advising students on more important issues.

Fifth. The implementation of project activities, which consisted of joint work on documents of different types, proved to be problematic. For example, there were difficulties in studying the topic "Creating documents with sharing rights to multiple users". One of the tasks of this topic was:

- 1. Create an essay on "Cloud technologies in education".
- 2. Give access to 3 people on the list after you and the teacher.
- 3. Edit the document you have been granted access to.

4. In each document in which you are granted access, write a comment.

The task "Edit the document you have been granted access to" caused negative emotions in most students because they perceived this task as having another participant in the course have to make changes to show that the person is making many mistakes. Although in fact, the teacher in the organizational moments and the comments to the tasks drew attention to the fact that the purpose of the courses is to learn to work together on the project, and not another.

Significant difficulties also arose in working on a joint presentation. As in all tasks, users worked with 6-7 persons (under the conditions of tasks), and in this task, it was necessary to work at once with all groups, it led to more serious problems. In particular, the task was to create a business card about yourself on a separate slide. But some course participants already created their business cards on the created slides, or deleted already filled business cards, which led to misunderstandings and confusion when checking such a task.

There were also tasks that the students liked more, and they could express themselves creatively. In particular, one of the topics proposed for the study was cloud-based tools for creating mind maps. Course participants were offered 4 different cloud services that can be used for this type of activity, although some teachers used others not listed in the instructions.

As a result, course participants proposed their vision of using cloud-based tools to create mind maps, and created mental maps on a variety of topics: Mathematics, Biology, Polish, English (grammar, words – figure 1 and figure 2), Higher Mathematics, Computer Science, etc.

Note that an interesting and creative task was to create your presentation using cloud technologies. Each teacher, taking into account the specifics of teaching their subject, created a presentation using cloud technologies (figures 3 and 4). Several cloud services were offered to the course participants.

Upon completion of this course, students who have completed all planned tasks and worked on all assigned topics, receive a certificate of completion of the course "Cloud technologies in distance learning in quarantine".

The distance course "Cloud technologies in distance learning in quarantine" was conducted in three waves: the first wave took place from 30.03.2020to 03.04.2020, the second – from 06.04.2020 to 10.04.2020, and the third – from 13.04.2020 to 17.04.2020. Similarly, we apply the method of mathematical statistics – the method of registration, which is described above.

A total of 1,500 participants were registered, of whom 1029 took on the tasks, and only 816 completed the entire course. The statistics of participants by waves are presented in table 1 and visualized in figure 5 and figure 6 in the form of diagrams.

Table 1: Statistics of participants on waves.

	I	Wave	s	Together
	1st	2nd	3rd	logemen
A total of registered	500	600	400	1500
Joined the course	367	381	281	1029
Completed the course	296	274	246	816

Negative dynamics between registered participants and those who started the tasks is because some registered participants did not specify their e-mail when registering, some participants did not take into account external factors that hindered them in performing tasks, and some participants did not check the mail. The situation is the same with those participants who joined the course and those who completed it. This is because some of the participants did not understand that they would need to complete the task, but decided that to obtain a certificate they only need to register. Some of the participants simply could not complete the proposed tasks.

During the whole period of the courses were involved:

- teachers of general secondary education 499,
- educators of preschool educational institutions 16,
- pupils and students 5,
- teachers of higher education institutions 70,
- teachers of colleges and vocational schools 82,
- managers of educational institutions 94,
- employees of education departments 5,
- other employees at school 34,
- researchers 3,
- managers of other institutions 8.

Detailed statistics are visualized in figure 7.

Employees of 40 higher education institutions became students of the developed distance course. The most active were the employees of the following higher educational institutions:

- Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University,
- Pavlo Tychyna Uman State Pedagogical University,



Figure 1: An example of a mind map for learning foreign languages, created by students during a distance learning course.



Figure 2: An example of an intellectual map for learning foreign languages, created by students during a distance learning course.

- National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine,
- National Pedagogical Dragomanov University,
- Uzhhorod National University.

If we consider the statistics of participants about the regions of Ukraine, there were representatives of all regions of Ukraine (figure 8).

The developed course is aimed at developing information and communication competence of teachers of general secondary education, college teachers, vocational and higher education institutions by acquainting students with the basic possibilities of using cloud technologies to ensure the educational process in distance learning.

During the final survey of the course participants,

it was found that the tasks took a lot of time and effort from the participants, but they were all satisfied after the courses. Students noted that the advantage of these courses for them was that there were more practical tasks than theory, the advantages of the students included the distribution of the submitted theoretical material and material for self-study and practical work.

Most of the students noted that they acquired new knowledge and skills in working with cloud services, as well as generalized and systematized them. As noted by students, the courses are modern, creative; lecture notes are clear; the clearly defined algorithm for performing tasks.

Participants also pointed out the advantage that the



Figure 3: Example of a presentation created by students during a distance learning course.



Figure 4: Example of a presentation created by students during a distance learning course.

courses were organized and conducted in a convenient format. All participants of the courses expressed a desire to take part in further similar events.

As a result of such courses, 2 waves of face-toface courses were held for teachers of Zhytomyr secondary schools. The peculiarity of these courses was that the teachers were physically present in the auditoriums of the Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University. Full-time courses were held from 25.08.2020-28.08.2020 and 14.09.2020-18.09.2020. In total, 91 employees of general secondary education institutions were involved, among them a number of teachers – 81, number of managers – 6, number of other employees – 4 (figure 9).

For example, here is an example of performing similar tasks in full-time courses (figures 10, 11, 12,



13, 14).

This indicates that not only teachers are interested in improving their skills and improving their information and communication competence, but also managers (principals, deputy principals) and other categories of the school staff (including teacher assistants, social educators, secretaries, psychologists, etc.)).

We will point out the peculiarities of this course and the difficulties that students have in performing certain tasks in face-to-face format. At this stage, the method of mathematical statistics was used again – the method of registration, which involved the detection of a particular phenomenon and its quantitative calculation.

First and foremost. Listeners do not listen carefully to instructions and messages. As a result, the teacher had to spend a significant amount of time answering questions that are fully listed in the instructions and were voiced to students at the beginning of the lesson.

Second. Similar to distance learning courses, onetime reporting proved to be quite difficult in face-to-





Figure 7: Percentage of participants at the place of work.



Figure 8: Statistics of course participants by regions of Ukraine.

face courses – inserting a picture in the form of a screen capture to confirm the completion of certain tasks. In addition to explaining how to do this at the

beginning of each lesson, this was also described in the instructions. However, everyone who encountered this problem did not even read the instructions and did



Figure 9: Distribution of course participants by position.



Figure 10: An example of a mind map with mistakes for learning foreign languages, created by students during a face-to-face learning course.

not listen carefully to the teacher.

As a result of the courses, we can conclude that the teachers themselves are not attentive and do not want to read the instructions carefully. This reduces the productivity of the teacher and the group as a whole.

Also for teachers, the pace of courses was fast, as the courses were condensed due to the presence of a large number of students in the audience for up to three and four days, respectively.

In addition, because the teachers again had different subjects, many teachers expressed a desire to continue courses for their special subject.

However, due to the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic and the beginning of the Russian aggression against Ukraine (Hamaniuk et al., 2020, 2021, 2022), this has not been continued so far. However, the wishes of all course participants (teachers) are sure to be reflected in our further activities and further research.

As a result, the authors were interested in the dynamics of the educational process in schools. Therefore, we conducted a survey of freshmen at the Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University in 2021 on the organization of the educational process in schools at the beginning of quarantine and after such courses. A total of 263 students took part in the survey. These were first-year students of the Faculty of Information and Computer Technologies of Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University.

As a result, it was found that during the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic (March-April 2020) training was organized as follows (figure 15):

• 11.8% of respondents answered that they performed tasks independently and dealt with the ma-



Figure 11: An example of a mind map for learning foreign languages, created by students during a face-to-face learning course.



Figure 12: An example of a mind map for learning foreign languages, created by students during a face-to-face learning course.

terial;

- 35.7% indicated that teachers sent theoretical materials and assignments in Viber,
- 52.5% indicated that teachers conducted online ICT classes (Zoom, Google Meet, etc.).

During the extension of the quarantine COVID-19 (September 2020-May 2021) (after the mass courses) training was organized as follows (figure 16):

- 3.8% of respondents answered that they performed tasks independently and dealt with the material;
- 13.7% indicated that teachers sent theoretical materials and assignments in Viber;
- 82.5% indicated that teachers conducted online lessons in ICT (Zoom, Google Meet, etc.).

The comparison before and after is shown in figure 17.

As we can see, the dynamics of the use of cloud services after the courses was positive, and most teachers used cloud services to organize distance learning in the educational process.

Also during the survey, it was found that 56.7% of

Tradycyjne rymowanki- przykłady

Sroczka kaszkę warzyła, Dzieci swoje karmiła. Temu dała na łyżeczce, Temu dała na miseczce, Temu dała na spodeczku, A dla tego nic nie miała, Frrr... po więcej poleciała (rymowanka ma 5 wersji)



Figure 13: Example of a presentation created by students during a face-to-face learning course.

17. PROVIDE NAMES TO THE FOLLOWING PLACES







Figure 14: Example of a presentation created by students during a face-to-face learning course.



teachers conducted online ICT classes (Zoom, Google Meet, etc.).

teachers sent theoretical materials and assignments in Viber





teachers conducted online ICT classes (Zoom, Google Meet, etc.).

teachers sent theoretical materials and assignments in Viber

performed tasks independently and dealt with the material Figure 16: Survey results for September 2020 – May 2021.

teachers used in 2020-2021 academic year ICT learning tools that have not been used before. At the same time, students cited various tools that were covered by teachers in the above courses.

In addition, the authors found that 13.3% of respondents prefer distance learning (due to the use of different cloud services), 29.7% prefer blended learning and 57% of students chose the traditional form of learning.

It was also found that distance learning was comfortable for 44.5% of respondents, for 16.3% – was not comfortable, 36.1% said they found it difficult to answer this question, there were isolated cases where students answered 50/50; no, it is difficult to force yourself to work on the material when there are many distractions, no more than that; for some time it was convenient, but it is quite a heavy load; it all depends on the education of the teacher; has its advantages and disadvantages; different items are given differently, etc.

As we can see, in the educational process of general secondary education an important role is played by the teacher's awareness of modern means of information and communication technologies, which should be used in distance learning. Modern realities (pandemic caused by the COVID-19 virus, Russia's war against Ukraine) suggest that distance learning will still be relevant for some time, so higher education and general secondary education should pay attention to retraining professionals to improve their competencies in the field of information and communication technologies.

4 CONCLUSIONS

Organizers of such courses must take into account the following features: 1) take into account the number of participants; 2) in the registration questionnaire to focus on the correct completion of all fields, especially when filling in the field "e-mail"; 3) when connecting students to the course, not only provide materials to familiarize with the organization of courses, Google Classroom, the purpose of the courses but also conduct introductory testing to determine the level of awareness of students with the necessary materials; 4) focus on the timely completion of tasks so as not to create inconvenience to other participants.

As practice has shown, teachers who have taken courses are more adapted to distance learning and can provide students with the necessary knowledge online using cloud services. The students themselves (former students) believe that everything depends on the competence of the teacher who teaches the lesson. At the same time, each student, as well as each teacher (student of the courses) is an individual, and he perceives the material differently. However, demanding attention from students, not every teacher is like that. Therefore, teachers should also start with themselves, developing their attentiveness, ability to listen and memorize the necessary actions from the first time, and not return to the initial actions with each new task.

It is also worth noting that students who actively used cloud services in distance learning at school, easily switched to distance learning at the university when the need arose. This indicates the usefulness of such courses for both teachers and pupils, prospective students.

It should also be noted that most of the persons







who took courses in one form or another, from time to time ask the author of the course about the possibility of continuing courses on the specifics of individual subjects, and there were some requests to repeat these courses. This indicates the relevance, demand for such courses for different categories of educators.

Prospects for further research see the expansion of courses for individual groups of subjects, focusing on the specifics of each subject individually and, accordingly, to verify the feasibility of such courses, as well as interviewing not only teachers but also students.

REFERENCES

- Bogachkov, Y. M., Bukach, A. V., and Uhan, P. S. (2020). Google Classroom complex application for creating variable distance courses. *Information Technologies* and Learning Tools, 76(2):290–303. https://doi.org/ 10.33407/itlt.v76i2.3338.
- Bondarenko, O. V., Mantulenko, S. V., and Pikilnyak, A. V. (2018). Google Classroom as a Tool of Support of Blended Learning for Geography Students. In Kiv, A. E. and Soloviev, V. N., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop on Augmented Real-*

ity in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, October 2, 2018, volume 2257 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 182–191. CEUR-WS.org. http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2257/paper17.pdf.

- Britto, M. (2012). Cloud computing in higher education. Library Student Journal. http: //www.librarystudentjournal.org/index.php/lsj/ article/view/289/321.
- Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine (2019). Deiaki pytannia pidvyshchennia kvalifikatsii pedahohichnykh i naukovo-pedahohichnykh pratsivnykiv [Some issues of professional development of pedagogical and research-pedagogical workers]. https://zakon.rada. gov.ua/laws/show/800-2019-%D0%BF.
- Dzikite, C., Nsubuga, Y., and Nkonki, V. (2017). Lecturers' Competencies in Information and Communication Technology (ICT) for Effective Implementation of ICT-Integrated Teaching and Learning in Textiles and Clothing Degree Programmes. *International Journal of Educational Sciences*, 17(1-3):61– 68. https://doi.org/10.1080/09751122.2017.1305756.
- Hamaniuk, V., Semerikov, S., and Shramko, Y. (2020). ICHTML 2020 - How learning technology wins coronavirus. SHS Web of Conferences, 75:00001. https: //doi.org/10.1051/shsconf/20207500001.
- Hamaniuk, V., Semerikov, S., and Shramko, Y. (2021). ICHTML 2021 - A journal of the pandemic year. *SHS*

Features and Results of Learning Cloud Technologies by the Teachers for the Organization of the Educational Process in Quarantine

Web of Conferences, 104:00001. https://doi.org/10. 1051/shsconf/202110400001.

- Hamaniuk, V., Semerikov, S., and Shramko, Y. (2022). ICHTML 2022 - Education under attack. SHS Web of Conferences, 142:00001. https://doi.org/10.1051/ shsconf/202214200001.
- Hanson-Baldauf, D. and Hughes, H. S. (2009). The information and communication technology competencies of students enrolled in school library media certification programs. *Library & Information Science Research*, 31(1):3–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr. 2008.03.003.
- Ivanova, H. I., Lavrentieva, O. O., Eivas, L. F., Zenkovych, I. O., and Uchitel, A. D. (2020). The students' brainwork intensification via the computer visualization of study materials. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:185–209. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.346.
- Jalgaonkar, M. and Kanojia, A. (2013). Adoption of Cloud Computing in Education System. *International Jour*nal of Advanced Trends in Computer Science and Engineering, 2(1):17–20. https://tinyurl.com/2p99e3eb.
- Lytvynova, S. and Demeshkant, N. (2021). Distance learning in primary school during the COVID-19 pandemic: results of the "SMART KIDS" experiment. *Educational Dimension*, 5:61–74. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.4718.
- Markova, O. M., Semerikov, S. O., Striuk, A. M., Shalatska, H. M., Nechypurenko, P. P., and Tron, V. V. (2019). Implementation of cloud service models in training of future information technology specialists. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:499–515. https://doi. org/10.55056/cte.409.
- Mintiy, I. S., Kharadzjan, N. A., and Shokaliuk, S. V. (2017). IC competencies development of pedagogical higher educational institutions lecturers by certification training program "Information and communication technologies in the regular-distant (combined) learning". *New Computer Technology*, 15:240–244. https://doi.org/10.55056/nocote.v15i0.64.
- Osadchyi, V. and Osadcha, K. (2017). Possibilities of Distance Learning Tools in Teaching and Learning Technical Subjects. *Pedagogical Discourse*, (22):123– 128. http://ojs.kgpa.km.ua/index.php/peddiscourse/ article/view/30.
- Ovcharuk, O. and Ivaniuk, I. (2021). A self-assessment tool of the level of digital competence of ukrainian teachers in the context of lifelong learning: the results of an online survey 2021. *Educational Dimension*, 5:75–88. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim.4719.
- Pirohov, V. M., Horlo, A. M., and Mintii, I. S. (2018). Software development of the algorithm of adaptating of the website design for people with color-blindness. *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, 2292:103–108. http: //ceur-ws.org/Vol-2292/paper11.pdf.
- Simonson, M., Smaldino, S., and Zvacek, S. (2015). Teaching and Learning at a Distance: Foundations of Distance Education. Information Age Publishing, Inc., Charlotte, North Carolina, 4 edition.
- Sych, T., Khrykov, Y., and Ptakhina, O. (2021). Digital transformation as the main condition for the development of modern higher education. *Educational*

Technology Quarterly, 2021(2):4. https://doi.org/10. 55056/etq.27.

- Trubavina, I., Vorozhbit-Gorbatyuk, V., Shtefan, M., Kalina, C., and Dzhus, O. (2021). From the experience of organizing artistic and productive activities of older preschool children by means of distance education in the conditions of quarantine measures for the spread of COVID-19. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(1):2. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.56.
- Vakaliuk, T., Spirin, O., and Kontsedailo, V. (2021). Formation of digital competence of CS bachelors in the use of cloud-based learning environments. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(3):388–401. https: //doi.org/10.55056/etq.26.
- Vakaliuk, T. A. (2020). Intensyvnyi kurs "Khmarni tekhnolohii u dystantsiinomu navchanni v umovakh karantynu" [Intensive course "Cloud technologies in distance learning in quarantine"]. https://tinyurl.com/ yx6yh8yu.
- Vakaliuk, T. A. (2022). Sertyfikatni osvitni prohramy [Certificate educational programs]. https://ssdet.ztu.edu. ua/sert-osv-pr/.
- Zhenchenko, M., Melnyk, O., Prykhoda, Y., and Zhenchenko, I. (2021). Experience of Use of Electronic Educational Resources by Ukrainian Teachers During the Distance Learning due to the COVID-19 Pandemic (March-May 2020). In Lytvynova, S., Burov, O. Y., Demeshkant, N., Osadchyi, V., and Semerikov, S., editors, Proceedings of the VI International Workshop on Professional Retraining and Life-Long Learning using ICT: Person-oriented Approach (3L-Person 2021) co-located with 17th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research, and Industrial Applications: Integration, Harmonization, and Knowledge Transfer (ICTERI 2021), Kherson, Ukraine, October 1, 2021, volume 3104 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 55-65. CEUR-WS.org. http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-3104/paper158.pdf.
- Zhorova, I., Kokhanovska, O., Khudenko, O., Osypova, N., and Kuzminska, O. (2022). Teachers' training for the use of digital tools of the formative assessment in the implementation of the concept of the New Ukrainian School. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(1):56–72. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.11.

Stages of Adaptive Learning Implementation by Means of Moodle LMS

Nataliia V. Morze^{oa}, Liliia O. Varchenko-Trotsenko^{ob} and Tetiana S. Terletska^{oc}

Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, 18/2 Bulvarno-Kudriavska Str., Kyiv, 04053, Ukraine n.morze@kubg.edu.ua, l.varchenko@kubg.edu.ua, t.terletska@kubg.edu.ua

Keywords: Adaptive Learning, E-Learning, Microlearning, Students' Needs, Moodle.

Adaptive learning is a methodology that allows to identify the level of students' knowledge and their learning Abstract: styles and transform materials, tasks and ways of their delivery according to the needs of learning process participants. The interest of higher education institutions (HEI) to use adaptive learning as an innovative datadriven approach to the educational process is increasingly growing. However, the level of its actual use in HEIs is not high. The main reason is that a university has to overcome a lot of challenges in the process of adaptive learning implementation including technological, pedagogical and management-related ones. The authors address the problem of the possibility of adaptive learning integration into existing learning management systems (LMS) on the basis of Moodle as one of the most popular LMS for e-learning arrangement. The research is focused on the study of activities and resources that can be used as solutions at different stages of adaptive learning development in an e-learning course (ELC). This is an up-to-date question as it allows to cut the costs on innovation implementation and at the same time simplifies its introduction for teachers as they have already got experience in the system. Although Moodle LMS is not an adaptive learning system, it can be used as a compromise for adaptive learning implementation at higher education institutions, claim the authors. It provides administrators and teachers with tools to vary all stages of a learning process starting with delivery of information and ending with assessment. Learning materials can be adopted through choosing different types of delivery of the same information as well as through the choice of the level at which students are able to gain the knowledge. The sequence of information delivery also can be adjusted to the students' needs through using settings in lectures and other types of materials. Adaptive assessment can be achieved through adaptive quizzes tools. In the paper it is offered to look at the perspective of adaptive learning implementation through the stages of its development in an electronic learning course (ELC), activities and resources that can be used to provide those stages. Microlearning is highlighted as a means of adaptive learning implementation.

1 INTRODUCTION

Modern e-learning platforms are able to support the creation and sharing of educational content and building collective intelligence. Students can look for such content online and decide whether it is suitable for achieving their learning objectives. However, searching and organising suitable content can easily make learners lose their focus on learning (Huang and Shiu, 2012). Therefore, open and flexible approaches and the establishment of adaptive systems are required to ensure better delivery of educational content and provision of high quality education for a large number of higher education institutions (HEI) students (Pelletier et al., 2021). The interest of higher education tion institutions to use adaptive learning as an innovative data-driven approach to the educational process is increasingly growing. However, the actual use of adaptive learning by HEIs remains rather limited in spite of promising results of recent studies on its effectiveness (Mirata et al., 2020). The main types of challenges faced by HEIs in the process of adaptive learning implementation include technology, pedagogy, and management-related issues (Mirata et al., 2020). Among them there are dealing with real time data, difficulties in integrating adaptive learning solutions into existing learning management systems (LMS), the need to change e-learning courses design and content etc. In particular, in the process of adaptive learning implementation teachers often struggle with modifying learning content, because they have lack of experience with adaptive technologies. Most higher education institutions still have unified learning materials which do not consider students' learn-

476

Morze, N., Varchenko-Trotsenko, L. and Terletska, T.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 476-487 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3477-9254

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0723-4195

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8046-423X

Stages of Adaptive Learning Implementation by Means of Moodle LMS

ing styles, knowledge level difference, needed depth of study, time frameworks for the course completion etc.

In the process of knowledge consumption students tend to divide knowledge arrays into small parts, and then put them in order and format that is easy to process for them. This is also proven by the results of the survey conducted at Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University. Learners then develop links between these pieces until they fully grasp the knowledge (Huang and Shiu, 2012). This corresponds to one of the recent educational trends - microlearning. It is a learner-centred teaching and learning approach which is result oriented and provides division of the material into segments that are easy to be consumed at a time (Grevtseva et al., 2017). Microlearning components often remove any inconsequential and unrelated content and focus only on what a student needs to know. This reduces learners' cognitive load and increases retention since they are able to process information more effectively (Giurgiu, 2017). When material is split into smaller sections it is much easier to be adapted to students' needs. Thus, the authors claim that microlearning can be used as a means to implement adaptive learning in HEIs.

The aim of the research is to determine whether learning management systems (LMS) can be used as a platform for implementing adaptive learning as they are already used for e-learning arrangement in HEIs. For this purpose activities and resources in e-learning courses (ELC), that allow the adaptation and personalisation of materials in a way which is relevant to students' individual needs, are studied. The authors offer to look at the perspective of adaptive learning implementation through the stages of its development in an ELC (initial stage, pre-test stage, path generation stage, learning stage, post-test stage), activities and resources that can be used to provide those stages. The e-learning system of Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University based on Moodle LMS is taken as a background for testing adaptive learning implementation in ELC.

2 ANALYSIS OF RESEARCH AND PUBLICATIONS

Skinner (Skinner, 1968), who is considered to be a founder of personalised (adaptive) learning, stated in his book "The Technology of Teaching" that one of effective ways of teaching is dividing material into small parts and adapting learning tasks to current level of students' knowledge. Elements of adaptive learning were reflected in (Bloom, 1994; Pashler, 1998; Cronbach, 1967; Bondar and Shaposhnikova, 2013; Fedoruk, 2010; Osadcha et al., 2021).

The definition of adaptive learning by Skinner (Skinner, 1968) led us to considering microlearning as a means of adaptive learning implementation. Microlearning has got a lot of attention from scientists recently. According to Leong et al. (Leong et al., 2020) 476 relevant publications have been identified during 2006–2019. Hug (Hug, 2007) in his book "Didactics of Microlearning" is covering a vast variety of questions on the topic, including those considering adaptive learning cycles. In particular, the question of adaptive microlearning is addressed by Gherman et al. (Gherman et al., 2021), Sun et al. (Sun et al., 2016).

Among the tools for implementation of adaptive learning in HEIs learning management system is noted. One of such systems that gained popularity in universities due to its flexibility and free distribution is Moodle LMS. That makes the question of implementation of adaptivity elements in Moodle relevant and many researchers have paid attention to this topic in recent decade among whom there are Surjono (Surjono, 2011), Caputi and Garrido (Caputi and Garrido, 2015), Kukhartsev et al. (Kukhartsev et al., 2018), Gaviria et al. (Gaviria et al., 2009), Akçapınar (Akçapınar, 2015), Nikitopoulou et al. (Nikitopoulou et al., 2017), Jurenoks (Jurenoks, 2017), Rollins (Rollins, 2017).

3 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND AND PRACTICAL IMPLEMENTATION

One of promising educational technologies according to NMC Horizon Report 2018 is adaptive learning – adaptation of content and choice of means for its implementation according to the needs of educational process participants to increase the effectiveness of activities. Personalization of the approach to learning cannot be made without understanding educational technologies implemented in HEIs. Many HEIs use e-learning systems for provision of distant learning, blended learning and independent study. Moodle LMS is a widely used e-learning system as it is open source and can be adapted to HEIs' needs. Moodle LMS is used at Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, therefore it is chosen by the authors as a platform for innovation implementation.

Adaptive learning is a technique that involves periodically gathering information about students' level of knowledge and learning styles, and configuring learning resources, tasks, and assessment accordingly (Edmonds, 1987). Thus, e-learning developers are challenged to take into account the needs of users to ensure better learning outcomes. The main factors that influence the quality of ELCs according to the survey are the choice of the diversity of presentation formats, the tasks and tests complexity, the level of complexity of the course and the sequence of study of the material (figure 1). Implementing adaptive learning can ensure that these needs are met.

Adaptive design of the e-learning platform also plays an important role under the current conditions as students use various devices among which are PC, tablets and smartphones. Moodle LMS is able to provide required adaptivity of the design.

According to the the Deming or Plan-Do-Check-Act (PDCA) cycle for higher education (Gueorguiev, 2006) (figure 2) it is vital to analyse the factors that influence the effectiveness of the educational process, current situation in a HEI and tendencies in educational technologies on the international level prior to integration of any innovative tools and methodologies into the educational process.

All adaptive learning systems follow a similar PDCA architecture (figure 2) that gathers data from the learner and then uses that data to estimate the learner's progress, recommend learning activities, and provide tailored feedback. The adaptive learning algorithm is designed to make such decisions by referring to a learning plan (the knowledge to be learned), a student model of learners' background characteristics (knowledge level, learning style, individual needs, etc.), and a task model that specifies features of the learning activities (such as questions, tasks, quizzes, dynamic hints, feedback, prompts, and recommendations) (Lee and Park, 2008).

The goal of responsive e-learning is to provide students with the tools they need to absorb the material they need to the best of their ability. Requirements for tailored educational materials are tailored to the goals of the educational process (van Velsen et al., 2008). Consideration should be given to students' prior knowledge as well as differences in learning styles and individual needs. Among the objectives of the appropriate learning system is to ensure the same efficiency of the educational process for students who are not familiar with the field of knowledge as those who have previous academic experience.

Adaptive learning tools are technologies that can be synchronised with the learning process and, based on machine learning technologies, can adapt to the progress of each student and independently adjust the learning content in real time. Adaptability can be manifested in one or more elements of technology: content, evaluation, consistency.

Content adaptation is the presentation of educational materials in a form that will allow the student to navigate his own educational trajectory. Content adaptation includes contextual clues, content branching, material partitioning, volume selection and material format. For example, when giving a lecture online, you can use the question system to assess whether a student has mastered the relevant material at a sufficient level, and if necessary, return it to certain information again, or allow them to skip some of the material as previously learned.

Sequence adaptation involves the automatic selection of relevant content, the level of complexity and the order of study of the material based on the analysis of the results of its educational activities. Adaptivesequence tools are the most complex, because they analyse the data and compile and adjust the student's individual trajectory in real time.

Data collection is not limited to accumulating information about correct and incorrect answers. Adaptive programs take into account many different indicators to make a personal learning trajectory:

- correct answer;
- number of attempts;
- use of additional tools or resources;
- interests of the student (for example, what resources the student prefers).

The adaptive sequence is implemented in three stages: to collect the data, to analyse it and to adapt the sequence of the material submission to the needs of the particular student. The main advantage of a learning tool with adaptive consistency is to fill knowledge gaps. If a student has missed a class or has not yet mastered the topic and now this impedes the learning of new material, the sequence of tasks and topics changes. So the student first fills in the knowledge gap and then moves on to the current topic.

The adaptation of the assessment assumes that each subsequent question depends on the answer given by the student to the previous one. The better it is, the more difficult the tasks are, and vice versa – if it is too difficult for the student, the questions will be easier until the material is mastered. Adaptive assessment tools are commonly used for periodic monitoring every few months. Students receive a relatively voluminous test assignment, the purpose of which is to test how well they have mastered the material per module, semester, etc. After monitoring, data is analysed, and the results are used to further adjust the program and the individual learning trajectory of each student. Therefore, one of the advantages of adaptive tests is detailed statistics.

Mark what can improve the quality of e-learning courses:

44 answers



Figure 2: PCDA cycle for innovation implementation in HEI.

The adaptive learning implementation process can be classified into the following stages: initial stage, pre-test stage, path generation stage, learning stage, post-test stage (Huang and Shiu, 2012).

Initial stage. Learners login to the e-learning system and select a course to study. In Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University this stage is organised by integration of educational programmes in the e-learning system. Every student is enrolled in all the courses of their educational program and each course is bound to a specific semester(s). For this stage such activities as Subcourse, Assignment and Page are used to provide students with information on all ELCs (disciplines), their forms of control in each semester and students' progress in each discipline and in general (figure 3).

Pre-test stage. Learners are provided with a pretest and/or a survey to determine their level of knowledge, learning styles, intended learning outcomes. The testing results become the basis for learning path generation. At this stage gaps in students' knowledge are identified as well. In Moodle the stage can be implemented by such activities as Quiz, Survey, Questionnaire. The choice of the activity depends on its aim.

Thus, the activity Survey is pre-populated with questions and a teacher cannot create own questions there. The Attitudes to Thinking and Learning Survey (ALLTS) Survey resource allows you to assess the level of collaboration of a learning community (group). This will help determine the optimum balance of individual and group work in the course.

The Questionnaire module is aimed at collecting data from users. Unlike the Survey activity, it allows teachers to create a wide range of questions and modify them to the needs of the course. However, the purpose of these two modules is similar – to gather information and not to test or assess students. It can be used to determine learning styles for further selection and gradation of materials.

The Quiz resource lets you rank students' level of knowledge through standard testing. With the Overall feedback setting (figure 4), boundaries are set for each level of knowledge and the student receives a corresponding feedback. For example, students with a score of 80% and above may be offered an advanced course, with results of 60-80% a standard course, and

SEMESTER 1



Figure 3: Example of disciplines arrangement in the educational program "E-learning management in the intercultural space".

a basic course for those who scored less than 60%

Path generation stage. At this stage a student has to receive an individual learning path based on the results of the pre-test stage. Moodle LMS does not contain automated mechanisms to provide this stage being a learning management system, but not an adaptive learning platform. Therefore, alternative ways of the stage implementation must be found to provide students with their own learning trajectory.

Topics can be used to separate materials for students with different knowledge levels. By changing course layout to the section per page format and placing all materials of the corresponding level into the relevant section (figure 5) we simplify navigation in the course.

Another option is to use the Checklist module to form lists of themes or tasks that have to be fulfilled to finish the course. The items can be added to the list from the current section, from the whole course or manually created. The status of the items in the list is updated automatically as students complete the related activity. A checklist can be edited so that only activities or resources that contain tasks were listed as obligatory ones. Thus, a teacher can customise checklists to the needs of a group and create them either for the whole course or for each module/theme separately. If different items can be completed by students with different levels of knowledge or learning styles, a teacher can set up an amount of items to be checked off to complete the Checklist (figure 6).

An individual learning path in Moodle LMS can be provided to a student as a list of to-do items to complete the course based on the pre-test results. It might require individual teachers recommendations or be partly unified for a specified level of knowledge.

Learning stage. At this stage recommended material is identified and a student deals with the learning content of a course. To provide flexibility of the content microlearning is used. The material separated into small logically complete parts can be easily used in any activity or resource used at the learning stage. Microlearning has a variety of advantages including better implementation of students' needs, wider diversity of materials for different knowledge levels, lower time expenses for material consumption, a possibility for knowledge gaps filling, increased motivation etc. (Varchenko-Trotsenko et al., 2019). Such materials are also easier renewable when needed as a teacher is able to change it by small pieces. According to the results of the survey they also correspond better to students' needs who indicated materials divided into micro modules, short videos, visual materials and presentations as the most effective formats for theoretical materials (figure 7).

Among the activities used at the learning stage the most popular are Assignment, Book, Chat, File, Forum, Glossary, Lesson, Page, Quiz, Wiki and Workshop. In our work we are going to pay attention to

Grade boundary	100%														
Feedback	A۳	4-	B	I	U	÷	x ₂	x²	I	•	\$3	1	C	C	
		2 2	ļ≣	i≡	ī	•		⊞		٠		2		8 4	
	0	3 52													
	You hav	e to follo	v Adv	anced	d level	learni	ing pa	th.							11
Grade boundary	80%														
Feedback	A۳	4-	B	I	U	S	x ₂	x²	Ŧ	ø	\$3	1	٣	C	
		± ±	ļ	i≡	≣			⊞		•		ළ		8 4	
	0	5 52													
	You hav	e to follo	w Stan	ndatd	level	learnir	ng pat	h.							
															11
Grade boundary	60%														
Feedback	A.	1-	В	I	U	÷	x ₂	x²	I	%	S	1	5	C	
		ż s	ļ≣	:=	Ξ	•				٩		40		8 4	
	0														
	You hav	e to follo	v Basi	ic leve	el lear	ning p	ath,								
															4
Grade boundary	0%														

Overall feedback op

Figure 4: Overall feedback setting for introductory testing in ELC.

the activities which are the most beneficial from the perspective of adaptivity implementation, i.e. Lesson and Quiz modules.

A teacher can use Lesson activity to provide consequent theoretical materials (that is a set of pages with lecture materials) or to organise learning activities where different trajectories of a lesson are offered using transactions between pages, adding extra clusters and pages with questions (multichoice, matching, short answer questions, etc.) (figure 8). Depending on the given answer and the way a teacher uses Lesson activity, a student can either go to the next page or return to the previous page or be directed in another way that corresponds to the student's needs.

If it is required, a Lesson can be assessed, designed in different difficulty levels, and can be a part of adaptive assessment.

A type of the lesson can be chosen by a lecturer depending on the educational needs and the way it will be used – for support of in-class activities or for self study.

One of the activities through which an assessment

BASIC LEVEL

Label: 1 Page: 1 Forums: 6 URL: 1 Files: 2 Glossary: 1 Assignment: 1 Lesson: 1 Quizzes: 2 Surveys: 2

Progress: 2 / 4

STANDARD LEVEL

Label: 1 Forum: 1 Page: 1 File: 1 Glossary: 1 URL: 1 Lesson: 1 Assignment: 1 Quiz: 1

ADVANCED LEVEL

Label: 1 Page: 1 Forum: 1 URL: 1 File: 1 Glossary: 1 Assignment: 1 Lesson: 1

Progress: 0 / 1

Figure 5: Arrangement of learning materials according to the level with the help of the topic sections.



Figure 6: Activity completion settings in Checklist module.

can be organised is Quiz, its filling and display for students depends on the setting of different parameters. We can change the Question behaviour parameter to select the best student passing test mode. Selecting Adaptive mode and Adaptive mode (no penalties) allows students to make multiple attempts before moving on to the next question. That is, if students are unsure of their answers, they can check it directly during the attempt and change their answers, but the repeated answer is indicated by taking into account the appropriate penalty indicated by the teacher in the parameters of the question (Fig. 9).

Penalties are established for each question separately in the Multiple tries section of editing a question. Hints are added in the same section. Both options are used only in the correspondent modes which

What format of theoretical material delivery is the most effective in your opinion?

44 answers



Figure 8: Logical scheme of an adaptive lesson.

allows teachers to use the same question in tests with different modes. For example, a test for formative assessment might have multiple tries and hints, whereas for a summative assessment test Deferred feedback mode can be chosen.

In Interactive with multiple tries mode after submitting one answer and reading the feedback, the student must click the "Try Again" button before attempting a new answer.

The teacher can provide students with tips to help answer questions. Once a student has correctly answered the question, he can no longer change his answer. After a student has made too many mistakes with the question, the answer is evaluated as incorrect (or partially correct) and receives feedback. A student may have different feedback after each attempt. The number of attempts a student receives is the number of tips in determining the question plus one. The use of this mode gives a student an opportunity to determine whether to use the tips or not and adjust their assessment.

Deferred feedback or Immediate feedback mode with Certainty-based marking (CBM) are the modes where a student not only answers the question but also indicates how confident they are: not very sure (less than 67%); average confidence (between 67% and 80%) or very confident (more than 80%).

When the answer is assessed, both accuracy and the level of certainty are considered by the system. For example, if the answer is correct, but only



Previous page

Next page

Figure 9: A test with penalties in the Interactive with multiple tries or Adaptive mode.

guessed, the score is adjusted from 1 to 0.33. If the answer is incorrect and high level of confidence was indicated, the score can be from 0 to -2 points (figure 10).

Using this mode provides the following benefits for students:

- they have to evaluate the correctness of our own answer;
- encouraging a solution to a problem, as opposed to answering questions immediately;
- adds confidence in your own knowledge;
- get a more objective rating.

To encourage students to fill the gaps in their knowledge, Combined feedback option can be used in questions for Quiz. For each incorrect or partly correct answer a teacher can indicate a related topic to study or/and give links to the corresponding activities and resources in the course.

Post-test stage. After the learner has finished the entire learning path, it has to be checked whether the learning process was successful or not and needs some changes to be made. The summative assessment can be arranged in the form of a test, a project (individual or group), a speech etc. Thus, such activities as Quiz, Workshop, Wiki or Assignment are prevail-

ing at this stage. The results of summative assessment must be analysed to find out strengths and weaknesses of the e-learning course and plan improvements for its next PDCA cycle. It is also essential to get feedback from students on the course to see whether there was enough material on each topic and whether it was understandable, diverse and easy to use. The feedback collection can be arranged with activities Questionnaire, Feedback, Forum.

Feedback lets you create surveys with different types of questions, including multiple choice, yes / no, or text input to determine the level of satisfaction in the learning process, gaps in the course arrangement, etc. This resource allows you to view statistics in the form of diagrams, tables, and download them for further processing.

4 CONCLUSION

The survey of students carried out at Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University indicated that there is a need for personalisation of the learning environment and individual learning path arrangement. Adaptive learning is an educational approach that can meet the needs.

		Results for the whole quiz (1 questions)
Average CBM	l mark	2.00
Acc	uracy	100.0%
CBM	bonus	-10.0%
Accuracy + E	Bonus	90.0%
		Break-down by certainty
	C=3	No responses
	C=2	Responses: 1. Accuracy: 100% . (Optimal range 67% to 80%). You were a bit under-confident using this certainty level.
	C=1	No responses
Question 1 Correct CBM mark 8.00 Weight 4.00 VP Flag question		
	Обе	ріть навички мислення високого рівня за вдосконаленою таксономією Блума.
	Sele	ect one or more:
		а. Аналіз 🗸
		ь. Розуміння
	1	с. Оцінювання 🗸
		d. Створення 🗸
		е Застосування
		f 2upung
	Cert	ainty 🕐 : 🔍 C=1 (Unsure: <67%) 💿 C=2 (Mid: >67%) 🔘 C=3 (Quite sure: >80%)
	Ваш	а відповідь правильна

Figure 10: An example of answered question in a mode with CBM.

Analysis of Moodle LMS activities and resources presented in the research paper has shown that adaptive learning can be implemented in HEIs with the help of already used learning management systems. Each stage of adaptive learning implementation (initial stage, pre-test stage, path generation stage, learning stage and post-test stage) is possible to be arranged by means of Moodle LMS. Microlearning plays an essential role in adaptive learning implementation as learning materials divided into small parts are easier to meet individual educational needs of a learner, to navigate in an ELC and to update when required.

The paper is dedicated mostly to technological

challenges of adaptive learning implementation. Further research of the topic might include pedagogical and management-related issues such as learning materials modification, teacher training, adaptive elearning courses and educational programs correlation, etc.

REFERENCES

- Akçapınar, G. (2015). Profiling Students' Approaches to Learning through Moodle Logs. *Multidisciplinary* Academic Conference on Education, Teaching and Learning (MAC-ETL 2015).
- Bloom, B. S. (1994). Reflections on development retrospec-

tive. In Anderson, L. W. and Sosniak, L. A., editors, *Bloom's Taxonomy: A Forty-year Retrospective*, Yearbook of the National Society for the Study of Education, pages 1–8. The National Society for the Study of Education, Chicago, IL.

- Bondar, V. and Shaposhnikova, I. (2013). Adaptyvne navchannia studentiv yak peredumova realizatsii kompetentnisnoho pidkhodu do profesiinoi pidhotovky vchytelia [Adaptive student learning as a background for implementation of competence-based approach to the teacher training]. *Ridna shkola*, (11):36–41. http: //nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/rsh_2013_11_7.
- Caputi, V. and Garrido, A. (2015). Student-oriented planning of e-learning contents for Moodle. *Journal* of Network and Computer Applications, 53:115–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnca.2015.04.001.
- Cronbach, L. J. (1967). How can instruction be adapted to individual differences? In Gagné, R. M., editor, *Learning and individual differences*, Merrill's international psychology series. Charles E. Merrill, Columbus, Ohio.
- Edmonds, E. (1987). Adaptation, response and knowledge. *Knowledge-Based Systems*, 1(1):3–10. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0950-7051(87)90002-5.
- Fedoruk, P. (2010). The use of the EduPRO system for adaptive learning process organizing. In Proceedings of the 8th IASTED International Conference on Web-Based Education, WBE 2010, pages 7–11. https: //doi.org/10.2316/p.2010.688-023.
- Gaviria, B. E. F., Baldiris, S., and Gesa, R. F. (2009). Adaptive Evaluation Based on Competencies. In Towards User Modeling and Adaptive Systems for All: Modeling and Evaluation of Accessible Intelligent Learning Systems, In conjunction with the 14th International Conference on Artificial Intelligence in Education, TUMAS-A@AIED 2009, Brighton, United Kingdom, July 6, 2009, volume 495 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings. CEUR-WS.org. http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-495/ paper8.pdf.
- Gherman, O., Turcu, C. E., and Turcu, C. O. (2021). An approach to adaptive microlearning in higher education. In *INTED2021 Proceedings*, 15th International Technology, Education and Development Conference, pages 7049–7056. IATED. https://doi.org/10.21125/ inted.2021.1405.
- Giurgiu, L. (2017). Microlearning an Evolving Elearning Trend. Scientific Bulletin, 22(1):18–23. https://doi. org/10.1515/bsaft-2017-0003.
- Grevtseva, Y., Willems, J., and Adachi, C. (2017). Social media as a tool for microlearning in the context of higher education. In Skarzauskiene, A. and Gudeliene, N., editors, *Proceedings of the 4th European Conference on Social Media (ECSM 2017)*, pages 131–139. Academic Conferences and Publishing International Ltd.
- Gueorguiev, T. (2006). Quality management in higher education. In *Quality of higher education 2006. Univer*sity of Rousse "Angel Kanchev", Rousse. http://qedu. uni-ruse.bg/2006/bg/accpapers/gueorguiev.pdf.
- Huang, S.-L. and Shiu, J.-H. (2012). A User-Centric Adaptive Learning System for E-Learning 2.0. Journal

of Educational Technology & Society, 15(3):214–225. https://www.learntechlib.org/p/74952/.

- Hug, T., editor (2007). *Didactics of Microlearning: Concepts, Discourses and Examples.* Waxmann Verlag, Münster.
- Jurenoks, A. (2017). Adaptive e-learning system based on student activity skills in Moolde system. SOCI-ETY. INTEGRATION. EDUCATION. Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference, 3:492–499. https://doi.org/10.17770/sie2017vol3.2399.
- Kukhartsev, V., Chzhan, E., Tynchenko, V., Antamoshkin, O., and Stupina, A. (2018). Development of Adaptive E-Learning Course in Moodle System. SHS Web of Conferences, 50(01091).
- Lee, J. and Park, O.-C. (2008). Adaptive Instructional Systems. In Spector, M. J., Merrill, M. D., van Merrienboer, J., and Driscoll, M. P., editors, *Handbook of Re*search on Educational Communications and Technology, pages 469–484. Routledge, 3 edition.
- Leong, K., Sung, A., Au, D., and Blanchard, C. (2020). A review of the trend of microlearning. *Journal of Work-Applied Management*, 13(1):88–102. https://doi.org/ 10.1108/JWAM-10-2020-0044.
- Mirata, V., Hirt, F., Bergamin, P., and van der Westhuizen, C. (2020). Challenges and contexts in establishing adaptive learning in higher education: findings from a Delphi study. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 17(1):32. https: //doi.org/10.1186/s41239-020-00209-y.
- Nikitopoulou, S., Kalabokis, E., Asimakopoulos, Z., and Apergi, A. (2017). Designing an adaptive course in Moodle for enhancing distance learning. In *INTED2017 Proceedings*, 11th International Technology, Education and Development Conference, pages 6489–6497. IATED. https://doi.org/10.21125/inted. 2017.1495.
- Osadcha, K., Osadchyi, V., Kruglyk, V., and Spirin, O. (2021). Modeling of the adaptive system of individualization and personalization of future specialists' professional training in the conditions of blended learning. *Educational Dimension*, 5:109–125. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim.4721.
- Pashler, H. E. (1998). *The Psychology of Attention*. MIT Press, Cambridge.
- Pelletier, K., Brown, M., Brooks, D. C., McCormack, M., Reeves, J., Arbino, N., Bozkurt, A., Crawford, S., Czerniewicz, L., Gibson, R., Linder, K., Mason, J., and Mondelli, V. (2021). 2021 EDUCAUSE Horizon Report | Teaching and Learning Edition. https: //tinyurl.com/bdzjvc42.
- Rollins, M. (2017). Adaptive learning with Moodle. https://issuu.com/muppetmasteruk/docs/ adaptive_learning_and_moodle.
- Skinner, B. F. (1968). The Technology of Teaching. Meredith Corporation. http://www.bfskinner.org/ wp-content/uploads/2016/04/ToT.pdf.
- Sun, G., Cui, T., Beydoun, G., Shen, J., and Chen, S. (2016). Profiling and Supporting Adaptive Micro Learning on Open Education Resources. In 2016 International Conference on Advanced Cloud and Big Data (CBD),

pages 158–163. https://doi.org/10.1109/CBD.2016. 037.

- Surjono, H. D. (2011). The Design of Adaptive E-Learning System based on Student's Learning Styles. International Journal of Computer Science and Information Technologies, 2(5):2350–2353. https://ijcsit.com/docs/Volume%202/vol2issue5/ ijcsit20110205108.pdf.
- van Velsen, L., Van der Geest, T., Klaassen, R., and Steehouder, M. (2008). User-centered evaluation of adaptive and adaptable systems: a literature review. *The Knowledge Engineering Review*, 23(3):261–281. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0269888908001379.
- Varchenko-Trotsenko, L., Vember, V., and Terletska, T. (2019). Main aspects of educational video materials design for use in educational process of higher educational institutions. *Electronic Scientific Professional Journal "OPEN EDUCATIONAL E-ENVIRONMENT OF MODERN UNIVERSITY"*, (7):119–126. https: //doi.org/10.28925/2414-0325.2019.7.12.
System-Forming Aspects of the Computer Science and Mathematics Teachers' Readiness to Develop and Use Computer Didactic Games in Educational Process

Oksana V. Klochko¹^{@a}, Roman S. Gurevych¹^{®b}, Vasyl M. Fedorets²^{®c}, Vitalii I. Klochko³^{®d}, Oleh L. Konoshevskyi¹^{®e} and Mariana M. Kovtoniuk¹^{®f}

¹Vinnytsia Mykhailo Kotsiubynskyi State Pedagogical University, 32 Ostrozhskogo Str., Vinnytsia, 21100, Ukraine ²Vinnytsia Academy of Continuing Education, 13 Hrushevskoho Str., Vinnytsia, 21050, Ukraine

³Vinnytsia National Technical University, 95 Khmelnytsky Hwy., Vinnytsia, 21021, Ukraine

- Keywords: Readiness, Visual-Spatial Aspects, Computer Science Teacher, Mathematics Teacher, Computer Didactic Games, Educational Process, Professional Activity, Life-Long Learning.
- The research, based on the actualization of the innovative paradigm, the ideas of child-centrism, and the analy-Abstract: sis of system-formal aspects, presents the conceptualization of readiness of computer science and mathematics teachers to develop and use CDGs in the educational process. The results of a practically oriented research state of this readiness are presented, which is considered as an integrated professional and personal ability of the teacher, consisting of motivational-value, cognitive-active and personal-reflective components and is aimed at using CDGs in the educational process as a relevant innovative technology. In the system of the cognitive-activity component, the spatial aspect is analyzed. Actualization of the spatial aspect is considered as a way of revealing the phenomenology of real and virtual spaces, presented as significant pedagogical environments of cognitive-semantic and spatial-value contexts. Based on the generalization of the results of the study of motivational-value, cognitive-active and personal-reflective criteria of the readiness of computer science and mathematics teachers to develop and use CDGs, the average level of its formation was determined. The main educational strategies aimed at improving this readiness are determined, among which the addition of educational programs with topics that reflect the ways and practices of applying CDGs in the preparation of future computer science and mathematics teachers, their retraining and advanced training are relevant; the use of innovative pedagogical technologies for the formation of computer science and mathematics teachers to develop and use CDGs in the educational process, etc.

1 INTRODUCTION

The current direction of today's education is creating conditions for shaping an individual who is at the same time professionally competent, socially engaged and creative. The content of the knowledge to be acquired by modern specialists, its volume, the set of skills necessary for professional activities are constantly changing and increasing. All spheres of education are searching for ways to intensify and quickly modernize the training system, improve education quality by using digital technologies as an instrument

- ^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6505-9455
- ^b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1304-3870
- ^c https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9936-3458
- ^d https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9415-4451
- e https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8408-1829
- f https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7444-1234

for human activities and a new and fundamentally different way of education. This led to the development of new methods and forms for the provision of education (Yevtuch et al., 2021; Semerikov et al., 2021a,b; Klochko et al., 2020; Mayer, 2019; Bollin et al., 2021; Rocha and Barroso, 2021; Picka et al., 2022; Vakaliuk et al., 2023).

One of the most important tasks of the educational system today is to introduce educational technologies that could facilitate the formation of a creative and active personality, able to meet the challenges and to achieve the desired goals. The above highlights the importance of the development and implementation of different approaches to the realization of educational tasks, aimed at the development of students' creative activities.

A computer science and mathematics teacher today has to understand the efficient pedagogical tech-

488

Klochko, O., Gurevych, R., Fedorets, V., Klochko, V., Konoshevskyi, O. and Kovtoniuk, M.

- System-Forming Aspects of the Computer Science and Mathematics Teachers' Readiness to Develop and Use Computer Didactic Games in Educational Process. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 488-514
- ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

nologies and effectively use digital technologies in teaching informatics. The use of gaming technologies and computer didactic games (CDGs), in particular, is one of such approaches.

The games accompany people throughout life and this phenomenon greatly attracts the interest of researchers. In the current situation, they may be a great motivation for students to learn specific subjects on the one hand and a way to facilitate teachers' work on the other.

Let's consider the pedagogical and value understanding of the phenomenon of computer games. Accordingly, we will reveal the debatable understanding of computer games as an innovative educational direction and a system of modern digital technologies that can bring qualitative changes to the educational process.

Today's teachers' succeed in mastering educational electronic resources that they use in the class (Klochko et al., 2020, 2022b; Rybka, 2018; Picka et al., 2022). CDGs as a system of education may be an integral part of electronic educational resources. Computer didactic games present a type of electronic educational resource that targets students and functions on the basis of digital technologies, presenting a chain of tasks built on the basis of the development education. CDGs do not change but complement traditional game forms and classes, and present a natural way to attract students to the latest information technologies (Bollin et al., 2021; Klochko et al., 2020, 2022b). The practical application of such games demonstrates that they remain valuable educational tools as they have the following advantages (Mayer, 2019): a new way of working provokes students' interest in education; practical manipulation assists the processes of learning, memorization, increases cognitive abilities, enables the realization of individual learning strategies and stimulates students' capacity for research and talent; attractive sounds, actions and colors make games interesting and help students to obtain information in a user-friendly form.

CDGs may be divided into three groups (Tobias and Fletcher, 2012):

- 1. *Educational*. They contribute to students' education: develop basic mathematical and computer science skills, familiarize the child with the alphabet, to obtain and improve knowledge of chemistry, physics, geography etc. (figure 1).
- 2. *Developing*. They contribute to students' cognitive development, encourage activities and independent creative work, develop memory, logical thinking, develop reading skills, etc. (figure 2).



Figure 1: Bristar: Heroes of Math and Magic (Bristar, 2021).



Figure 2: Scratch: About Scratch (Scratch, 2022).

2. *Diagnostic*. They determine the level of development of students' skills (figure 1).

The studies carried out up to now demonstrate that important skills may be acquired, developed or

supported by CDGs. The spatial visualization (rotation and mental manipulation by two- and threedimension objects), for example, improves during the reproduction of the video game (Subrahmanyam and Greenfield, 1994; Klochko et al., 2020). CDGs are a perfect environment for promoting authentic educational processes: advancing a process of learning-bydoing and thus enabling a student to control his/her own training experience; provide an experience in simulating interactive scenarios that students deal with in the real world; the use as an environment for active learning and improving task solving skills.

Conducting an overview of this problematic, we will present current directions and important results and ideas of introducing computer didactic games into the educational process.

Oliveira et al. (Oliveira et al., 2023) analyzed a large volume of literature (2108 studies) and presented a panoramic view of the problem, - they identified a spectrum of rather contradictory trends and educational phenomena of the use of computer games. According to the results indicated by the authors, gamification in education is studied in the following areas (Oliveira et al., 2023): definition of the phenomenon of different perception of gamification design by people; increasing the involvement in activities and the effectiveness of students' activities; actualization of the variability and diversity of the implementation of educational activities; increasing interest and motivation to study; promoting the consideration of the individuality of students and their personal preferences in the learning process; actualization of the use of different learning styles; taking into account the perception and effectiveness of various pedagogical methods, orientation towards the transformation and variability of the structure of knowledge. At the same time, the authors note that gamification can produce contradictory educational results, which relate to both increasing the effectiveness of learning and motivation for it and interest in it. Important is their observation that in studies (Oliveira et al., 2023): for the adaptation of educational systems, students are mainly involved only as users; there is no sufficient comparison of adapted gamification with nonpersonalized gamification in the works; there is insufficient evidence of the impact of adapted gamification on student experiences; cultural and gender aspects of gamification are not studied; research does not reveal the role of an adapted gamified educational environment in relation to its design. The researchers' ideas that the actualization of cultural, gender, demographic, characterological, and design aspects can affect the effectiveness of gamification are relevant. Significant in this context is the problem of personalization and design.

The effectiveness of education with electronic educational game resources in mathematics, conducted during the study "Rozumnyky" (Smart kids) is described in (Bykov et al., 2017). Researches argue that using electronic educational game resources in the educational process contributes to the improvement of students' motivation, thinking, and memory and actualizes integrative learning and the development of key and subject competencies (Bykov et al., 2017).

The research publications gave consideration to the question of development and efficient implementation of CDGs or their elements into the educational process on different levels of education. Relevant in this aspect is the research of Zhaldak (Zhaldak, 2012) devoted to the problem of providing educational institutions with educational software. This problem is revealed by the authors in the context of humane ideas of a harmonious combination of computer-oriented learning technologies and information culture with existing pedagogical traditions. Information technologies are also represented as one of the effective ways of humanizing the educational process and expanding the communication of its participants. Pedagogical, health-preserving and spatial aspects of the use of digital technologies, in particular, work with an interactive whiteboard, are revealed in the mentioned research.

System-organizing methodological aspects of the formation of educational technologies were considered in the research of Semerikov et al. (Semerikov et al., 2021b) by rethinking the concepts of "methodical" and "methodologic/methodical system" and determining ways to develop a "new class of teaching methods – computer-based training systems". In particular, they built a model of a computer-oriented method of teaching informatics for future mathematics teachers, aimed at forming their informatics competence, a component of which is a method of training competences in programming and computer games development (Semerikov et al., 2021b).

Hakak et al. (Hakak et al., 2019) explore the issue of gamification based on cloud technologies. They point to the need to create a gamified learning environment and present an option for a gamified curriculum, within which different educational subjects can be integrated. From a spatial point of view, this study demonstrates an attempt to create a digital educational quasi-space as "smart", interactive and integrating different subject areas.

Based on the application of the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) methodology in three multidisciplinary databases of educational centers. Manzano-León et al. (Manzano-León et al., 2021) conducted research on gamification. The authors indicate that gamification is an effective means of influencing the academic performance and motivation of students.

The majority of the studies in this sphere concern primary education. To a lesser extent, attention is paid to secondary and higher education. The studies have mostly been carried out based on the examples of using CDGs to learn mathematics and languages. Game is a priority activity for pre-school children and remains an active way of discovering the world for primary school children (Varina et al., 2022). Using games in the educational process for young pupils and seniors remains less researched, since children of this age group are educated on the basis of the activitiesoriented approach with the use of more formal ways of learning.

Michala et al. (Michala et al., 2018) present the benefits of using CDGs in secondary school for the development of cognitive and emotion management skills. The authors' use of Greek art and culture when using CDGs is interesting. The use of CDGs and Greek art actualizes the expressive visual-spatial aspect of learning. This reveals the significance and educational effectiveness of interconnected spatial, visual-spatial and visual-cognitive aspects.

Rybka (Rybka, 2018) undertook a study in which she examined the phenomenon of gamification based on the example of using computer games for teaching philosophy in engineering higher educational institutions. The author identified destructive and negative phenomena in the process of using game forms, suggested ways to overcome them. She emphasizes that game practices, as those that activate and nurture emotional intelligence, are especially necessary and valuable for students studying at engineering higher educational institutions.

Research by Rocha and Barroso (Rocha and Barroso, 2021) is inclusively focused on the design and implementation of a game application for cognitive rehabilitation of children with special educational needs and the elderly. Preliminary results showed that their computer didactic game can be used as an auxiliary tool in special education and in rehabilitation.

Determining the innovative trend and the practical-technological significance of the implementation of computer didactic games in the educational process, we actualize the problem of forming a model of the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs on the selection of system-forming aspects. The specified system-forming aspects are understood as methodological and conceptual prerequisites that constitute the specified readiness not only axiomatically, but through the disclosure of the multidimensional nature of the problem. We highlight the following system-forming aspects of the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs: innovative, cognitive-activity, personalreflective, motivational-valuable, valuable, spatial which is considered as spatial-cognitive and visualspatial, temporal, cultural and educational, creative, communicative. In this study, we consider the first six system-forming aspects.

The innovative aspect was considered above in the pedagogical and value understanding of the implementation of gamification in the educational process. Accordingly, this aspect represents the significance, features and direction of the introduction of CDGs into the educational process as an innovative trend. The innovative orientation of computer didactic games is realized in relation to the concept of the triangle of knowledge (Unger et al., 2020), which includes a close interaction of education, science and innovation.

The following four aspects cognitive-active, personal-reflective, motivational-valuable, valuable are relatively traditional. They are used integratively or individually when forming models of readiness, skills, and competencies. Therefore, three of the specified aspects – cognitive-active, personal-reflective, motivational-valued – are considered as its components in our model. All other aspects to one degree or another take part in the constitution of readiness.

Special attention in the development of readiness is given to the spatial aspect, which we consider practically oriented as spatial-cognitive and visual-spatial. The use of the spatial aspect in the formation of readiness is determined by the understanding of the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs as a complex anthropological and cultural-educational phenomenon in which spatiality and visuality are expressive and significant.

As an example, we will present a study that is close in its orientation to our readiness development. Chen et al. (Chen et al., 2020) analyze five key components of game literacy -(1) basic game literacy, (2) high-level game literacy, (3) instructional design for game learning, (4) organization and management of game-based learning, and (5) evaluation of game-based learning needed by teachers to implement game-based learning. The authors emphasize the importance of educational design when implementing game-based learning. The result of the research by Mathe et al. (Mathe et al., 2018) is the conclusion that the effectiveness of the use of digital games by Swedish teachers depends on the competence and motivation of teachers for professional development, on the availability of appropriate game resources. Nousiainen et al. (Nousiainen et al., 2018) present four basic competencies – pedagogical, technological, collaborative and creative, which are necessary for teachers to effectively implement game pedagogy.

The use of didactic games, as well as game methods and technologies in general, contributes to a deeper methodological and value understanding of the environment in which they are implemented. First of all, it concerns virtual and real space. Traditionally, space is understood as a background where the educational process is implemented. In the system of modern postmodern scientific and methodological ideas, space is like time and the processes that are in them, or rather, with their help, are implemented integratively and holistically. Currently, visual-spatial approaches that have demonstrated their effectiveness in various fields of knowledge and life practices are relevant. One of such significant practices and technologies, which for their effective implementation require the active inclusion (or at least consideration) of the "visual-spatial" factor, are games. In addition to the indicated scientific and methodological trends and practical requests, we consider the issue of the development of the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs in the context of actualizing the spatial factor.

Accordingly, in this methodology, from a cognitive and axiological point of view, spatial phenomena, as well as real and virtual spaces, are considered significant for the technologicalization of education and for the professionalization of mathematics and computer science teachers. In the scientific pedagogical literature, the visual-spatial aspect of the development of the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs is not sufficiently disclosed. This, taking into account the above-mentioned trends of modern science and the socio-cultural sphere and requests for the effectiveness of the practical implementation of game-based learning methods, defines the researched problem as urgent.

For the methodological understanding of space, including virtual and spatial phenomena, the work of Avetysian (Avetysian, 2020), which reveals the meaning and nature of visuality, is relevant. In this study, the authors turn to the classical ideas of visuality by Merleau-Ponty (Merleau-Ponty, 2005) and Deleuze (Deleuze, 1989). At the same time, they emphasize ideas about: the semantic independence of the visual dimension of culture from language, the principle of the activity of a visual object, the peculiarities of the viewer's interaction with visual phenomena. Thanks to these ideas of visuality, we understand space not as a background against which certain events take place, but as a special spatial world with active spatial phenomena. From the cultural and educational point of view, the application of the presented ideas of visual theory for the development of the teacher's readiness to use didactic games is relevant. This is due to the fact that the visual-spatial aspect in the specified computer technology is one of the system-organizing factors.

In the theoretical and technological aspects of the application of the spatial approach and the idea of visuality, research by various authors is relevant.

Briantseva (Briantseva, 2016) reveals the peculiarities of designing digital didactic visual tools. Bäckman and Pilebro (Bäckman and Pilebro, 1999) present a study conducted within the framework of visual pedagogy, the results of which indicate improved cooperation during dental treatment in preschool children with autism. Du et al. (Du et al., 2022) present ways of helping children with autism spectrum disorder in teaching dental care based on the use of visual pedagogy tools. Drushliak (Drushliak, 2021) reveals the significance and features of visual information culture of future mathematics and computer science teachers and presents its model. Aiello and Parry (Aiello and Parry, 2019) reveal the features of visual communication. They emphasize the idea close to us, that visuality and visual means are a significant aspect of many disciplinary scientific and practical spheres. At the same time, the importance of visuality is not sufficiently realized. Goldfarb (Goldfarb, 2002) considers visual pedagogy, visual technology as relevant directly in the education and life of people, as it needs further purposeful development.

In scientific literature, the issue of developing the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs is insufficiently disclosed. Issues of actualization of spatial aspects in the system of the specified readiness, both during its development and during implementation, are not sufficiently disclosed. Taking into account the importance and innovativeness of the use of computer didactic games for the implementation of the processes of technologization, virtualization, digitalization, axiologisation, humanization of education, as well as for the development of the professionalization of the teacher and the formation of his innovative culture, the specified problem is presented as an actual.

The *purpose* purpose of the research is to study the value, cognitive-activity, personal-reflective and visual-spatial aspects of the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use computer didactic games.

2 SELECTION OF METHODS AND DIAGNOSTICS

Information on how CDGs are being developed and used in the educational process was generated following the results of the analysis of public educational standards (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2011), typical educational programs, curricula, other normative documents, methodological works of teachers and literature sources. Analysis as for the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs in the educational process was carried out by using empirical research methods (observation of teaching activities, questionnaires, interviews), as well as verbal-communicative and psychodiagnostic research methods.

The research used a system of methods and approaches. Axiological, systemic, spatial, visual-spatial, cognitive-spatial, psychological, anthropological, and teleological (Milat, 2017) approaches were used. The methods of mathematical statistics, in particular, descriptive statistics, cluster analysis, were used to process the research results. To develop a model of the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs, the method of pedagogical modeling was used.

The readiness of computer science and mathematics teachers to develop and use computer didactic games was determined on the basis of three generalizing criteria. The names of the three criteria correspond to the three components of this readiness. Thus, we distinguish the following criteria: motivationalvaluable, cognitive-active, personal-reflective. Accordingly, these criteria reflect the contents and meanings on the basis of which the components of readiness are formed. The criteria were determined as a result of the use of various diagnostic methods, including the author's, as well as by analyzing the educational achievements of teachers. Each criterion is characterized by three levels (low, medium, high) of the formation of a certain component of readiness. The results were summarized and interpreted based on the criteria. According to each criterion, we characterized the level of formation of its indicators. According to each criterion for evaluating the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs in the educational process, we characterized the level of formation of its indicators. Motivational-value criterion:

• Low: there is no interest in the development of CDGs; there is a fragmented and limited interest in certain topics; lack of motivation and interest in using CDGs; the selection of CDGs is random; there is no interest in training in the use and de-

velopment of CDGs.

- Medium: existing interest in the development of CDGs, related to the results; there is a responsible attitude to learning in the absence of creative activity; formal interest; motivation is due to the need to implement CDGs; existing interest in the application of CDGs in professional activity, related to its results; there is a responsible attitude to training in the development and use of CDGs; lack of understanding of the benefits of using CDGs in professional activities; episodic manifestation of creative activity.
- High: Internalization and awareness of the values of this activity, purposefulness in the implemented CDGs, formation of educational and cognitive motives, existing motivated and responsible attitude to the use of CDGs in the educational process, awareness of the educational and innovative significance of cognitive motives, systematic manifestation of creative activity, orientation towards achieving success, professional orientation for self-improvement; conscious choice of this didactic tool; training in the development and use of CDGs for the purpose of professional growth; motivated professional focus on the development and application of modern CDGs.

Cognitive-active criterion:

- Low: low level of knowledge on the development and use of CDGs, their low reproducibility, lack of systematicity; solving simple typical tasks with the help of others; the ability to use modern CDGs in professional activities is partially fragmentary in nature; fragmentary cognitive needs, interests, motives for developing and using CDGs.
- Medium: the average level of knowledge on the development and use of CDGs (partial system knowledge) and their fragmentary reproducibility; solving standard tasks on the development and use of CDGs with the help of others; the ability to independently solve the issue of choosing a CDGs is not inherent; the presence of cognitive needs, interests, motives for the development and use of CDGs.
- High: high level of knowledge (systemic, creative nature), knowledge of development and use of CDGs; the ability to independently solve typical problems, solving non-standard problems, full reproducibility, independent search for solution methods, the ability to generate new approaches in the development and application of CDGs; the ability to master modern knowledge, generating ideas, creativity in solving tasks, the ability to independently master the means of modern CDGs,

the search for and use of innovations, independent assessment of the appropriateness of the selection of modern CDGs; available cognitive activity, the desire to master modern knowledge, the availability of methods of scientific research activity, the professional orientation of cognitive activity in theoretical and practical activities; independent solving of problems of professional orientation of medium and high levels of complexity of development and use of modern CDGs tools; the presence of elements of creativity in solving problems, the ability to analyze, synthesize and establish relationships between socio-economic phenomena and processes; solving non-standard professional tasks, tasks of a high level of complexity; creative approach to solving; critical, contextual thinking; independence in assessing compliance and choosing tools of modern CDGs in solving professional problems; independent mastery of modern CDGs in order to solve professional problems, ability to work in a team.

personal-reflectiv criterion:

- Low: there is a fragmented ability to introspect; inability to plan activities in the process of developing and using CDGs; low capacity for selfcontrol and self-regulation; there are inefficient methods and methods of organizing this activity, which are not purposefully formed; awareness of the content of the activity has a fragmentary spontaneous manifestation; in the vast majority of cases, the quality of performed tasks is inadequately assessed; fragmentary, random manifestation of the ability to self-educate; inability to independently master material on CDGs.
- Medium: the presence of self-analysis skills, which is mainly manifested under the influence of external factors; existing activity planning for the development and use of CDGs and the ability to self-monitor and self-regulate in individual cases, mainly under the influence of external factors; there is a fragmentary manifestation of one's own style of activity in the development and use of CDGs; separate manifestations of a conscious and purposeful own style of activity; awareness of the content of the activity and possessing the ability to evaluate and ensure the quality of the work performed on the development and use of CDGs; there is a non-systematic manifestation of the ability to independently master the material of individual topics on the development and use of CDGs.
- High: implementation of a conscious and adequate self-analysis, awareness and prediction of

the results and consequences of the development and use of CDGs; existing planning of activities for the development and use of CDGs and the ability to self-monitor and self-regulate; cognitive abilities aimed at self-development; selforganizations that are managed and initiated by the individual himself; available skills to independently overcome obstacles; the characteristic deepness of the self-organization process in the system of activities for the development and use of CDGs; there are effective techniques and ways of organizing one's own style of activity for the development and use of CDGs, its conscious and purposeful formation with elements of creativity and innovation; awareness of the content of the development and use of CDGs and the ability to evaluate and ensure the quality of the work performed; the ability to determine promising directions for the development and use of the latest CDGs in professional activities, possessing the skills to choose and use modern CDGs tools; capable of self-education in this direction; the ability to implement knowledge, skills and abilities to achieve the goal of professional activity in the development and use of CDGs; the ability to selfrealize, systematic, persistent manifestation, the ability to achieve success in this activity.

The following techniques were used in the research: "Diagnostics of motivation for success and fear of failures" (Rean et al., 2000); tests and questionnaires on determining levels of formation of motivational-value, cognitive-activity and personality-reflexive components; "Self-controlling Abilities" (Peisakhov, 1984); "Self-Efficacy Test" (Sherer et al., 1982); "Research of Strong-willed Selfregulation" (Zverkov and Eidman, 1990).

Questionnaires were used in the research: Questionnaire for determining the computer science and mathematics teachers' value orientations as for the development and implementation of CDGs in educational process (developed by Klochko (Klochko, 2018) on the basis of Rean et al. (Rean et al., 2000) method); Questionnaire for diagnostics of motivation for success and fear of failures (Rean et al., 2000); Questionnaire for determining the significance of readiness for the development and implementation of CDGs for successful professional activities (Greene et al., 1997; Volochkov, 2007); Questionnaire to determine the percentage distribution of computer science and mathematics teachers by levels of the ability to self-governance (Peisakhov, 1984; Sherer et al., 1982; Zverkov and Eidman, 1990); Questionnaire for determining the indicators of cognitive-activity criterion of evaluation of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop CDGs and implement them into the educational process (developed by Klochko (Klochko, 2018) based on Raven (Raven, 1989) methods); Questionnaire to determine the percentage distribution of computer science and mathematics teachers by levels of the ability to self-control (Peisakhov, 1984; Zverkov and Eidman, 1990); Questionnaire for determining the Indicators of personality-reflexive criterion for evaluation of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness for CDGs development and implementation (developed by Klochko (Klochko, 2018) based on Rean et al. (Rean et al., 2000) methods); Fedorets-Klochko questionnaire for determining the value interpretation of space by computer science and mathematics teachers

The "Questionnaire for determining the computer science and mathematics teachers' value orientations as for the development and implementation of CDGs in educational process" contained the following questions (developed by Gurevych et al. (Gurevych et al., 2020) on the basis of Rean et al. (Rean et al., 2000) method):

- 1. Achieving professional success.
- 2. Developing personal strengths and abilities.
- 3. Acquiring professional and information competencies.
- 4. Providing material comfort.
- 5. Achieving recognition and respect in professional sphere.
- 6. Improvement of social status.
- 7. Striving to new achievements.
- 8. Self development and self improvement.
- 9. Recognition and respect of managers.
- 10. Achieving students' respect.
- 11. Developing students' interest to computer sciences.
- 12. Possibilities to show one's potential.
- 13. Possibility to improve pedagogical skills.
- 14. Possibilities to introduce new methods and forms of activities.

Respondents answered the questions of the questionnaire in accordance with two areas – development of CDGs and introduction of CDGs into the educational process.

The "Questionnaire for determining the indicators of cognitive-activity criterion of evaluation of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop CDGs and implement them into the *educational process*" contained the following questions (developed by Gurevych et al. (Gurevych et al., 2020) based on Raven (Raven, 1989) methods):

- I. According to the development of CDGs:
 - 1. I am aware.
 - 2. I have knowledge.
 - 3. I have skills.
 - 4. Able to develop.
 - 5. Realize didactic peculiarities.
 - 6. Realize basic functional possibilities.
 - 7. Realize basic requirements to development.
 - 8. I know how to select topics.
 - 9. I can develop design.
- 10. I know peculiarities of psychological influence on age groups of children.
- 11. I know how to classify games.
- 12. I know the basic classes of software.
- II. According to the implementation CDGs into the educational process:
 - 1. I am aware.
 - 2. I have knowledge.
 - 3. I have skills.
 - 4. Able to use.
 - 5. Realize psychological peculiarities.
 - 6. Realize basic functional possibilities.
 - 7. Realize basic requirements to implementation.
 - 8. I know how to select games aimed at attaining lesson's goal.
 - 9. I know how to select games aimed at realization of person-centered approach.
 - 10. Implement with the aim to ensure cross curriculum connections.
 - 11. I know how to classify games.
 - 12. I know which software to use in this sphere.

The "Questionnaire for determining the Indicators of personality-reflexive criterion for evaluation of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness for CDGs development and implementation" contained the following questions (developed by Klochko (Klochko, 2018) based on Rean et al. (Rean et al., 2000) methods (Gurevych et al., 2020)):

- I. According to the development of CDGs:
 - 1. I am a qualified developer.
 - 2. I strictly determine a purpose of the development.
 - 3. I work much to improve competencies.
 - 4. I want to achieve high results.

- 5. I know my weaknesses and strive to improve them.
- 6. I constantly search for new methods, forms and ways for realization.
- 7. I know what to work with and what to learn in the nearest future.
- II. According to the implementation CDGs into the educational process:
 - 1. I am a qualified user.
 - 2. I strictly determine a purpose of implementation.
 - 3. I work much to improve competencies.
 - 4. I want to achieve high results.
 - 5. I know my weaknesses and strive to improve them.
 - 6. I constantly search for new methods, forms and ways for realization.
 - 7. I know how to use and look for necessary means.

The methodology is aimed at actualizing and revealing the spatial aspect of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness for the development and use of computer didactic games. In this work, to reveal the phenomenology of CDGs, we turn to their understanding and application not only in the mental-semiotic and cognitive-operational planes, but as a spatial or, more precisely, "cognitive-spatial" phenomenon. The specified methodological insights correspond to the ideology of the "visual turn" and "spatial turn" in the methodology of science. A significant aspect of considering the indicated methodological trends, as significant, is that we can purposefully represent virtual reality, first of all, as a special informational and meaning-making space. It is important to understand the real physical space also as a special content-semantic or "cognitive-spatial" field, as a meaningful background or context actively included in the educational process. Accordingly, the use of digital technologies of virtual reality with the active participation of the teacher contributes to the "transformation" of physical space into the contentsemantic or "cognitive-spatial" field of the educational process. In our opinion, the decisive factor in the specified "cognitive transformations" of virtual reality and real space is the use of game methods. In our opinion, this is due to the fact that in the semantics of the game in its semantic contexts, the spatial component is relevant but at the same time "hidden". The game, which first appears in childhood, is primarily aimed at the child's understanding of himself as a spatial phenomenon, as well as at revealing his ability to navigate in space, which, accordingly,

are cognitive processes. Such a cognitive manifestation of life corresponds to the idea of autopoiesis of Maturana Romesín and Varela (Maturana Romesín and Varela, 2009). These authors interpret life as a cognitive autopoietic process. Accordingly, we expand and refine the specified understanding of Maturana Romesín and Varela (Maturana Romesín and Varela, 2009) to this educational context. We can note that for a person it is also a spatial and visual process. In this work, a "Fedorets-Klochko questionnaire for determining the value interpretation of space by computer science and mathematics teachers" was developed to analyze the understanding of computer science and mathematics teachers about space as a special educational value, space as a possible tool for the intellectual development of a child, space as a background and a component of didactic games. An important methodological prerequisite for the development of this questionnaire was the idea of contextual learning, which can be interpreted as follows: a teacher who understands the surrounding environment, including space, as a way, as a condition or even as a "soft" teaching tool, will be more effective, competent and according to the nature of the child, use CDGs and other methods, in the implementation of which the spatial aspect is relevant.

The "Fedorets-Klochko questionnaires for determining the value interpretation of space by a teacher of mathematics and computer science" contained the following questions:

- 1. The purposeful use of space and spatial phenomena is an important pedagogical condition for effective disclosure of the content of educational material in mathematics and computer science.
- 2. The use of virtual space, augmented reality and digital technologies is a important pedagogical condition for the effective disclosure of the content of educational material in mathematics and computer science.
- An integrative consideration of spatial phenomena and virtual space as meaning-forming and systemforming factors of the educational process is relevant for effective learning.
- 4. Virtual space, as well as real space, can be considered as a meaning-making matrix when implementing game-based learning methods.
- 5. The game-learning methods and actualization of phenomena of real space and virtual reality are presented as conceptualization tools that form a metaspace of meanings in the study of mathematics and computer science.
- 6. In order to improve the efficiency of professional activity, the teacher should apply the phenom-

ena of real space and virtual reality in order to present the educational material logically in an "expanded" and illustrative format.

- 7. Both real and virtual space have their own metalogic, which is revealed when using game methods.
- 8. Game learning methods and animation reveal the meaning-making aspect of real and virtual space, which can be purposefully applied in the study of mathematics and computer science.
- 9. The possibility of actualizing the phenomena of real space and virtual reality is considered as an instrumental value in the professional activity of a teacher of mathematics and computer science.
- 10. The actualization of the phenomena of real space and virtual and augmented reality corresponds to the spatial essence of human nature.

We will present the ideas and content-semantic aspects underlying the "Fedorets-Klochko questionnaire for determining the value interpretation of space by computer science and mathematics teachers". This questionnaire is aimed not only at diagnosing the teacher's value interpretation of real and virtual space, but also at actualizing spatial issues as significant in the study of mathematics and computer science. The reflective aspect of this questionnaire is also important, which reveals to the teacher ways of understanding spatial phenomena as educational and life values (in particular, the value of harmonization).

Question $\mathbb{N}^{\underline{n}}$ 1 – "The purposeful use of space and spatial phenomena is an important pedagogical condition for effective disclosure of the content of educational material in mathematics and computer science" – defines and actualizes the problems of real physical space represented as a "pedagogical tool" and a pedagogical condition for studying mathematics and computer science. It is clear that the real space becomes such a "pedagogical tool" by transforming into an educational semantic and meaningforming context (space) by integrating the semiotic field of the lesson. This happens with the purposeful application of various educational methods (in particular, game ones) during the implementation of which spatial phenomena are actualized.

Question $N_{\circ} 2$ – "The use of virtual space, augmented reality and digital technologies is a important pedagogical condition for the effective disclosure of the content of educational material in mathematics and computer science" – purposefully defines and actualizes the problems of virtual space, represented as an established pedagogical environment and at the same time digital technology, which is used for learning mathematics and computer science. Virtual space by its very nature is an intellectual product and, accordingly, can be considered as an operational and educational environment and, accordingly, a field of knowledge and meanings. An important ant aspect of this virtual space is that it can largely model the real space one as it corresponds to human nature, including spatial thinking, the prerequisite for the formation of which is a developed human visual analyzer.

Question N_{\circ} 3 – "An integrative consideration of spatial phenomena and virtual space as meaningforming and system-forming factors of the educational process is relevant for effective learning" - defines and actualizes the issue of the integrative application of virtual space and real space phenomena as a pedagogical condition and a "spatial" component of mathematics and computer science learning technologies. The methodological meaning of this question is the idea that the purposeful integrative application of technologies of both virtual space and phenomena of real space should give a synergistic and harmonizing educational effect. In children it is necessary to actualize mathematical thinking through visual perception and mathematical interpretations of the "world of things", "the world of geometric figures", "the world as a three-dimensional space" through the application of landscape pedagogy and through the visual disclosure of the phenomenology of the real world. As additional effects, it can be noted that this will also contribute to the preservation of physical and psychological health and aestheticization of the educational process. The specified "work" with real space in combination with the use of virtual space should form the student's understanding of virtual reality as a special tool and the world included in the real world. If the specified harmonization is not carried out, then the opposite effect is possible - the real three-dimensional space, as well as the world as a whole, will be considered by the student as a component of the virtual. This, in addition to the negative impact on the psyche, will not give the opportunity to fully reveal the student's cognitive potential. Therefore, in the educational process, according to the ancient Greek idea about the harmonious nature of man, between virtual reality and real space and the world, not competitive interactions should be formed, but synergistic, complementary and harmonious interactions.

Question N_{2} 4 – "Virtual space, as well as real space, can be considered as a meaning-making matrix when implementing game-based learning methods" – reveals the anthropobiological dimension of the teacher's understanding of spatial phenomena. Accordingly, within the semantic framework of this question, the space is simultaneously considered: in-

actively as a neutral background or condition where the game is implemented, and also as an active learning tool – as a specific context filled with contents and meanings.

Question N_{0} 5 – "The game-learning methods and actualization of phenomena of real space and virtual reality are presented as conceptualization tools that form a metaspace of meanings in the study of mathematics and computer science" – presents game learning methods not only as activity-cognitive, but also as cognitive-spatial learning phenomena, which can form "quasi-spaces" (spaces of meanings) that participate in the development of informatic and mathematical meanings and concepts.

In question N_{\bullet} 6 – "In order to increase the efficiency of professional activity, the teacher should apply the phenomena of real space and virtual reality in order to present the educational material logically in an "expanded" and illustrative format" the physical characteristics of spatial reality (first of all, length) are reflected. Virtual reality is developed based on the transformation of the characteristics of real space. This can be represented as the "logic of space" and, accordingly, consider spatial phenomena in the format of "didactics of space", which real space determines due to its length (according to Descartes (Descartes, 2018)). From the standpoint of pedagogical psychophysiology, we interpret the concept of an expanded representation of educational material, first of all, as a demonstration of certain features, regularities, phenomena, both spatial structures and relationships between them. For example, the process of multiplication or addition can be depicted as subject operations in the spatial and subject fields. This will be an expanded format that clearly illustrates a certain arithmetic operation through "spatial logic". In this case, we demonstrate the indicated operations in detail. As the indicated operation is understood, it is "transferred" into the symbolic space. The specified aspect of "transfer" to the middle (interiorization into mental reality) leads to the phenomenon of "collapse" whose essence is that operations that were represented through the "logic of space" and the "logic of object actions" (for example, the close location of two groups of objects in "spatial semantics" of which was interpreted as addition) are transformed into a certain generalizing symbol in which the cognitive operation itself (for example, revealed during the demonstration of the operation with the help of objects) may no longer be displayed as spatial interactions (location). The specified features of the actualization of the subject field and the understanding of space as a meaning-making context are presented in the classical concept of the step-by-step formation of mental

actions by Gal'perin (Gal'perin, 2012).

In question N° 7 – "Both real and virtual space have their own metalogic, which is revealed when using game methods", game methods are represented as actualizing and revealing the "multidimensional" – semiotics, axiology and contextuality of space (real and virtual). These game methods essentially transform the real space into the quasi-space of the game by "filling" it with specific meanings. Real or virtual space becomes a semiotic-symbolic field in which and thanks to which the specified game is implemented, forming conceptualization skills in the child, which are transformed into components of mathematical thinking.

Question N[®] 8 – "Game learning methods and animation reveal the meaning-making aspect of real and virtual space, which can be purposefully applied in the study of mathematics and computer science" – points out the importance of the purposeful use of real and virtual space for the representation of mathematical and informational phenomena. That is, consideration of the structure of space and the objects that fill it as environmental prerequisites for the development of mathematical thinking of rational-logical and multidimensional and systemic external and internal realities is actualized.

In question N^{0} 9 – "The possibility of actualizing the phenomena of real space and virtual reality is considered as an instrumental value in the professional activity of a teacher of mathematics and computer science" – space is revealed as a special instrumental value that can underlie the formation of meanings and goals of educational activities. In the specified question, ideas about space are presented as a valuable context of educational practices.

Question \mathbb{N} 10 – "The actualization of the phenomena of real space and virtual and augmented reality corresponds to the spatial essence of human nature" - reflects the phenomenology of man as a spatial being. In this issue, human nature is considered multidimensionally and, accordingly, space is presented as a prerequisite and component of human physicality and its intelligence. This cognitive understanding of space and the corporeality associated with it corresponds to the ideas of Lakoff and Johnson (Lakoff and Johnson, 1980) on corporeal mind and corporeal cognitivism. This question is aimed at understanding a person in whom his integrity and physical and intellectual-spiritual essence has a significant and systemic spatial aspect, which accordingly forms an anthropic image of a person who is harmonized with the world. That is, human nature is related to nature as such. The idea of "anthropo-spatial" and "spatialcognitive" intentionalities of a person, which must be

revealed in the conditions of the educational process, is embedded in this general question.

The processing of the survey results was carried out using cluster analysis in order to identify groups of respondents and to determine ways of forming and improving the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs in the educational process. Cluster analysis was performed using the SimpleKMeans method and the Weka framework for data analysis and machine learning (WEKA, 2021). We described the SimpleKMeans algorithm in the research (Klochko et al., 2022a; Berry and Linoff, 2011). Dunn, DB, SD, CDbw and S_Dbw algorithms were used in the process of data preprocessing in order to determine the recommended number of clusters (Brito Da Silva et al., 2020; Moshtaghi et al., 2018) (table 1). The structure with the number of clusters 4 was chosen as the best in terms of compactness and resolution.

Table 1: Optimal number of clusters, calculated with the help of quality indices.

Index	Algorithms SimpleKMeans
Dunn	4
DB	4
SD	3
CDbw	3
S_Dbw	5

The study was conducted in two stages: Stage I – 2017-2020, 183 computer science and mathematics teachers from different regions of Ukraine participated in the study (Gurevych et al., 2020); Stage II – 2022, 123 computer science and mathematics teachers from different regions of Ukraine and Republic of Moldova participated in the study.

3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The central theoretical result of this research is the formation of a model of the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs in educational process. In addition to the axiomatic and systematic approach, which includes the development of the field of problematization with the selection of the main aspects of the problem, the specified issue is solved by conducting research (presented below) (figure 3).

The development of this readiness model is based on teleological (target), anthropological and systemic approaches. Within the framework of the teleological approach, the harmonious, innovative development of the personality, which includes the formation of key and digital competencies, is considered as a prerequisite for the realization of the sustainable development goals and the innovative trend.

This model of readiness of the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs is based on the pedagogical value and teleological understanding of the main aspects. The specified aspects are considered as system-forming in the development of this readiness. We distinguish the following system-forming aspects – innovative, cognitiveactive, personal-reflective, motivational-value, valuable, spatial, which is considered as spatial-cognitive and visual-spatial, temporal, cultural-educational, communicative aspects (figure 3). Let's consider these aspects in more detail.

Among the specified aspects, we consider cognitive-active, personal-reflective, motivationalvalue aspects as "internal" or anthropological, as such, which can be present in the mental reality of a professional personality. Based on the actualization and selection of the specified aspects as professionally significant, a structure of readiness is developed. The specified aspects correspond to the name of readiness components and reflect the corresponding professionally significant meanings and directions. The specified "internal" aspects are formed on the basis of activity-semantic and teleological integration of individual aspects: cognitive, activity, personal, reflective, motivational, value. Such integration of the specified aspects reflects deep professionally significant features, which we present below.

The integrated cognitive-activity aspect in the readiness model is transformed into its component of the same name. It reflects the cognitive and functional specifics of the professional activity of a teacher of mathematics and informatics and the peculiarities of the intellectualized process of studying these disciplines.

The personal-reflective aspect, which in the readiness model is transformed into the component of the same name. He characterizes reflection as a defining professional ability of a computer science and mathematics teachers, which is necessary when studying the specified educational disciplines. Reflexivity in this aspect is a professional ability that determines the personal and professional potential, in particular, for the implementation of control and verification of logical operations. Therefore, reflexivity, both as a cognitive and as a personal quality, is quite developed among specialists in mathematics and computer science. For its realization, reflexivity must be deeply included in the being of a professional, in his personality. Accordingly, the specified specialists should be capable of



Figure 3: System-forming aspects of the model of the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs.

long-term, psychologically exhausting work on finding optimal solutions, which includes purposeful activities to correct possible errors.

The motivational-value aspect, which in the readiness model is transformed into the component of the same name, reflects the humanistic and humanoriented idea of professionalization of a specialist based on meaningful and internalized (that is, transferred to the inner mental reality) values, meanings, images, intentions, etc. That is, the actualization of the specified aspect and the component of readiness corresponding to it is a way of axiologising and a manifestation of humanistic, by its essence, pedagogy, which is based on values. In this aspect, the idea of "internal motivation" is implemented in accordance with the self-determination theory (Deci and Ryan, 2015).

In addition to those presented above, let's consider other relevant aspects, on the basis of which the readiness of the computer science and mathematics teacher to develop and use computer didactic games is formed – innovative, valuable, spatial (considered as spatial-cognitive and visual-spatial), temporal, cultural, educational, communicative.

Due to the actualization of the innovative aspect, the technological-innovative and socio-cultural significance of CDGs for the education of the future,

which is the education of sustainable development, is problematized and revealed. CDGs are an innovative technology, the implementation of which in the educational process aims to move to a qualitatively new level of education. The innovative aspect is also a determining goal (telosom) in developing the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs. The innovative aspect, which is primarily explicit ("external") in relation to the personality-professional during its internalization (transfer into mental reality), is considered as part of the cognitive-activity component of readiness. Possession of the educational theory and practice of the application of CDGs largely reflects the innovativeness of the teacher as a professional quality and as his focus on self-development and creativity. It is significant that innovativeness is also considered as a value reference point in the process of implementing CDGs.

The value aspect is primarily an external factor of the cultural and educational space. When internalizing the value aspect, it is considered as part of the motivational-value component of readiness, and in the system of the cognitive-activity component in the format of value-oriented knowledge. The value aspect determines the meanings and orientations that are significant in the readiness system.

The cultural and educational aspect reflects the

importance of professional and cultural contexts and professionally significant potentials of the educational environment in which readiness is developed and implemented. Guided by the anthropological ideas of Hall (Hall, 1959, p. 10-11) about the contextuality of cultures, we believe that the cultural and educational aspect is a defining professional context. The cultural and educational environment contains values, meanings, stereotypes of interaction, communication and behavior, ideas, directions, etc. in a contextual format. The development of readiness includes culturaleducational, value-semantic contexts and significant ideas that are present in them. Currently, there are ideas of direction of innovation, child-centeredness, humanization, technologization, non-violent communication, tolerance, freedom, democracy, professionalization, etc.

The communicative aspect contributes to the consideration of CDGs during their development and implementation as a special professional and communicative phenomenon, as a way of transferring knowledge, ideas and technologies. This is due to the fact that the game includes an expressive communicative aspect and can be interpreted as a way of communication. Therefore, communicability is primarily embedded in the structure of CDGs and the system of readiness itself and in all three of its components.

The creative aspect contributes to the consideration of CDGs and their implementation in the educational process as a creative phenomenon, which at the same time also contributes to the disclosure of the creative potential of an individual. Creativity, in turn, is impossible without spontaneity, a certain creative freedom, interpretability, social activity and, thus, it is a guide to the ideas of democracy and freedom as existential and educational values. Accordingly, the development of the implementation of CDGs in the educational process is a way of revealing creativity. We consider the creative aspect of readiness as part of the cognitive-activity component.

The temporal aspect actualizes the idea that CDG is a temporal phenomenon, which is important to take into consideration during their development and implementation. In turn, CDG, due to its temporal specificity, can contribute to the development of temporal competence, provided that the temporal aspect is purposefully actualized.

The spatial aspect is significant due to the fact that CDGs have a distinct spatial dimension, which must be taken into consideration during their development and implementation. We consider the spatial aspect as spatial-cognitive and visual-spatial. The spatialcognitive aspect is aimed at developing the teachers' ability to use spatial phenomena in the educational process for the representation and illustration of educational material. The visual-spatial aspect is aimed at forming the ability to work with spatial phenomena, which includes their comprehension and interpretation. This aspect is also aimed at the development of visual-spatial intelligence. We consider the visualspatial aspect of internalization into the mental reality of a professional personality within the framework of the cognitive-activity component of readiness.

Concluding the theoretical consideration of this problem, we will present the determination of the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs in educational process. By the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs, we understand the integrated cognitive-activity professionalpersonal ability of the teacher, which contains expressive value-motivational and reflective components and is aimed at implementation CDGs into the educational process, and is also implemented on the basis modern directions – innovative development, humanism, child-centrism, creativity, communicativeness, and taking into account spatial-temporal and culturaleducational specifics.

Let's proceed to consider the results of the study aimed at determining the state of the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs. The study was conducted to establish the presented readiness structure.

The authors analyzed the results of the evaluation of the components that constitute the readiness of computer science and mathematics teachers to develop and use CDGs into the educational process.

To evaluate and analyze the levels of components of the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs into the educational process, the following criteria were used: the motivational-value criterion, the cognitive-activity criterion, the personality-reflexive criterion.

The specified criteria integratively characterize the same name corresponding readiness components.

Motivational-value component of readiness. Accordingly, the motivational-value criterion characterizes a set of values, meanings, intentions, motives. The awareness of these motives, values and meanings is also important.

Interviewing, questioning and testing were used in the evaluation of the motivational-value criterion of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs in the educational process (Gurevych et al., 2020). During questioning, we were trying to realize to what extent the activities related to the development and implementation of CDGs are understandable, relevant, necessary and desirable (among the survey questions diagnostically significant were the following: "Do you agree that readiness for the development and implementation of CDGs is an important component of professional and information competencies of today's computer science teachers?", "Is it interesting for you to learn the way of developing and implementing CDGs in the educational process more deeply?").

We also used the "Questionnaire for determining the significance of readiness for the development and implementation of CDGs for successful professional activities" (Greene et al., 1997; Volochkov, 2007). Teachers' responses showed that teachers are aware of the importance of readiness for the development and implementation of CDGs for the successful professional activities (high level – 30,4 %, average – 50,1%, low – 19,5% of teachers) (Gurevych et al., 2020) (see figure 4).



Figure 4: Significance of readiness for the development and implementation of CDGs for successful professional activities (high level -30,4%, average -50,1%, low -19,5% of teachers) (Gurevych et al., 2020).

Value orientations, which had become a subject of study, also contribute to the achievement of professional success in teaching computer science and mathematics. For their diagnostics, the "Questionnaire for determining the computer science and mathematics teachers' value orientations as for the development and implementation of CDGs in educational process was used" (developed by Klochko (Klochko, 2018) on the basis of Rean et al. (Rean et al., 2000) method) (table 2, figure 5).

Thus, understanding the importance of the development and implementation of CDGs into the educational process, the dominating values of teachers are the following: possibilities to introduce new methods and forms of works with students, develop students'interest to computer sciences, possibility to improve pedagogical skills in using CDGs, selfdevelopment, self-improvement as well as achieving professional success, development of personal strengths, talents, acquiring professional and informa-

Table 2: Hierarchy of computer science and r	nathematics
teachers' value orientations as for the developm	ent and im-
plementation of CDGs in educational process.	(The ques-
tion number column is labeled "№".)	

	Rating indicators	Rating indicators
№	of the development	of the using
	of CDGs	of CDGs
1	4	6
2	4	5
3	4	9
4	13	13
5	10	11
6	14	14
7	9	7
8	2	4
9	12	12
10	11	10
11	2	1
12	7	7
13	8	3
14	1	1

tion competencies in developing CDGs. The analysis of discrepancies showed that teachers give more priorities to using CDGs in the educational process ratherthan developing them. In addition, the sphere of CDGs development is of higher priority than their implementation for acquiring professional and information competencies.

Such results may mean that teachers do not fully realize the possibilities of professional growth in develop and using CDGs and do not comprehend all possibilities and ways for improving their teaching skills. It may be assumed that computer science and mathematics teachers are sufficiently oriented in the process of implementing new methods and forms of works in the classroom. They know how to develop students' interest in computer science, to improve teaching skills and strive to selfdevelopment and self-improvement aimed at achieving professional success in the acquisition and development corresponding knowledge, abilities and skills in the sphere of CDGs. Additionally, there is a lack of care for material comfort, improvement in social status, recognition in the professional sphere, and achievement of respect. However, computer science and mathematics teachers were also observed to be more oriented towards professional realization and improvement, which dominated their requirement for recognition and respect, improve social status, ensuring material comfort.

The motivation for achievement favours an increase in persistence, self-esteem, regulation of activities, the formation of readiness for the development of



The question number

Figure 5: Hierarchy of computer science and mathematics teachers' value orientations as for the development and implementation of CDGs in educational process.

CDGs and their implementation into the educational process. The results of the survey of computer science and mathematics teachers show that following the methodology "Diagnostics of motivation for success and fear of failures" (Rean et al., 2000), 59,2% of teachers have motivation on the average level (the motivational pole is not clearly defined), 21,4% of teachers have a high level of motivation (motivation for success is diagnosed), and 19,4% of teachers have a low one (the motivation of fear of failure is diagnosed) (figure 6). The motivation for achievement activates subjective efforts of computer science and mathematics teachers, directed to the desired outcome in personal and professional development.

According to the results of the study of the motivational-value component of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs in educational process, in particular, its motivational-value component, we can conclude that 21,4% of teachers are diagnosed with motivation for success and 30,4% of teachers are diagnosed with high level of significance of readiness for the development and implementation of CDGs for successful professional activities.

Personality-reflexive component of readiness. This component was considered with the application of research methods of the ability to self-control



Figure 6: Results of the diagnosis of motivation for success and fear of failure (high level (motivation for success is diagnosed) -21,4%, average -59,2% (the motivational pole is not clearly defined), low -19,4% of teachers (the motivation of fear of failure is diagnosed).) (Gurevych et al., 2020).

and reflective potential of the individual. "Questionnaire to determine the percentage distribution of computer science and mathematics teachers by levels of the ability to self-control" (Peisakhov, 1984; Zverkov and Eidman, 1990) and "Questionnaire for determining the Indicators of personality-reflexive criterion for evaluation of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness for CDGs development and implementation" (developed by Klochko (Klochko, 2018) based on Rean et al. (Rean et al., 2000) methods) were used for this purpose. Accordingly, the personality-reflexive component was used, which is characterized by the determination of the teacher's personal style of activities, the awareness of the content of activities, the abilities to evaluate outcomes and consequences, the skills of self-education, selfrealization in the professional activities, and life-long learning. The indicators of this criterion are: the ability for self-analysis, self-control, self-organization; the availability of the personal style of activities; understanding the scope of the activities on CDGs developing and implementing; the self-education skills.

The study enabled us to set up the following system-creative factors that determine the ability of computer science and mathematics teachers for selfcontrol: restraint, sense of duty, will power, disciplined manner, and responsibility.

The research results, using the ability to selfcontrol and reflective potential of the individual methods, show that the average values of self-control quality levels of computer science and mathematics teachers were distributed as follows: high level – 39,8%, average level – 51,5%, low level – 8,7% (figure 7) (Gurevych et al., 2020). In our opinion, such results may be explained by job requirements and social context.



Figure 7: Percentage distribution of computer science and mathematics teachers by levels of the ability to self-control (high level -39,8%, average -51,5%, low -8,7% of teachers).

Hence, as average indicators of the personalityreflexive criterion of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and implement CDGs show that the highest rank belongs to teachers' striving for strong performance in this area, for awareness of shortcomings and sincere endeavor to improve performance (diagnosed using the "Questionnaire for determining the Indicators of personalityreflexive criterion for evaluation of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness for CDGs development and implementation") (table 3, figure 8) (Gurevych et al., 2020).

Summarizing the results of the research through

diness	s for CDGs development a number column is labeled	nd implementation. (1 I "№".)
	In the sphere of	In the sphere of
N⁰	CDGs development,	implementation,
	ranking	ranking
1	7	4
2	5	2
3	6	6

1

2

4

3

4

5

6

7

their integrative consideration and interpretation within the semantic framework of the personalityreflexive criterion, we note that according to the selfcontrol indicator, most computer science and mathematics teachers are diagnosed with medium and high levels of the ability to self-control. According to the results of diagnosing the indicators of the personalreflective criterion for assessing the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs, it can be concluded that teachers mostly want to achieve high results in the areas of developing and using CDGs, know their shortcomings and strive to correct them, try to work in the direction of finding new methods of techniques, forms, ways of implementing CDGs, but to a lesser extent they work on improving acquired competencies in this area.

Cognitive-activity component of readiness. Formation of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness for the development and implementation of CDGs into the educational process has to be based on practically oriented knowledge and intellectual skills. The indicators of the cognitive-activity criterion, which reflects the content and the technology of development and implementation of CDGs, as well as individual and psychological peculiarities of teachers' readiness, in particular cognitive, are: the field knowledge, the abilities to use the field knowledge for professional purposes and the cognitive activities.

Research according to the cognitive-activity criterion was carried out using the "Questionnaire for determining the indicators of cognitive-activity criterion of evaluation of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop CDGs and implement them into the educational process" (developed by Klochko (Klochko, 2018) based on Raven (Raven, 1989) methods), "Questionnaire to determine the percentage distribution of computer science and mathematics teachers by levels of the ability to self-governance" (Peisakhov, 1984; Sherer et al., 1982; Zverkov and Eidman, 1990), "Fedorets-

1

3

5

7



Figure 8: Indicators of personality-reflexive criterion for evaluation of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness for CDGs development and implementation.

Klochko questionnaire for determining the value interpretation of space by computer science and mathematics teachers", as well by the analysis of results of computer science and mathematics teachers' knowledge in CDGs development and implementation theory (the method of monitoring quiz (oral and written) were used). This criterion also reflects the importance of metacognitive strategies, which include the formed abilities for goal setting, self-evaluation, self-management, planning, control, and intellectual reflection. It is significant that the mentioned intellectual qualities should be essentially activity and, accordingly, aimed at the professional sphere of the teacher and, above all, at the development and use of CDGs. Within the framework of this criterion, spatiality is defined as an actual direction of the teacher's intellectual development. The spatial aspect is presented as spatio-cognitive and visual-spatial. Accordingly, within the semantic framework of spatiality, the problematic of the teacher's availability of valuable knowledge, understanding, intellectual intentions and reflections of both real and virtual spaces is actualized (Yevtuch et al., 2021). The cognitive-activity criterion for the evaluation of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness for development and implementation of CDGs characterizes the level of theoretical knowledge, ability to use and create activities that are of significant importance in the professional practice of computer science and mathematics teachers.

The estimation of professional achievements, however, does not fully reflect the level of computer science and mathematics teachers' knowledge in this sphere, as it is a pretty formal indicator of their readiness for the development and implementation of CDGs. The average results of the quiz show that computer science and mathematics teachers' knowledge in theory of CDGs development and implementation is as follows: high -4,2% and 24,8%; average -11,2% and 46,5%; low -84,6% and 28,7% (figure 9, figure 10) (Gurevych et al., 2020).



Figure 9: Average results of computer science and mathematics teachers' knowledge in CDGs developing theory (high level -4,2%, average -11,2%, low -86,4% of teachers) (Gurevych et al., 2020).



Figure 10: Average results of computer science and mathematics teachers' knowledge in CDGs implementation theory (high level -24,8%, average -46,5%, low -28,7% of teachers) (Gurevych et al., 2020).

Identifying the indicators of the cognitive-activity criterion, we proceeded from the importance of metacognitive strategies. Accordingly, with formed meta-cognitive strategies the computer science and mathematics teachers understand the process of development and implementation of CDGs as a focused and result-based management of the professional activities and life-long learning that simulates abilities to predict outcomes, plan, control, evaluate, monitor and manage this process, overcome difficulties at the time of achieving tactical and operational purposes as well as strategic goals. we assumed that computer science teachers understand the process of development and implementation of CDGs as a focused and result-based management of the professional activities and life-long learning that simulates abilities to predict outcomes, plan, control, evaluate, monitor and manage this process, overcome difficulties at the time of achieving tactical and operational purposes as well as strategic goals.

So, the results of the tests using the "Questionnaire to determine the percentage distribution of computer science and mathematics teachers by levels of the ability to self-governance" reveal that the computer science and mathematics teachers' ability to self-governance, mainly, is on the average level. The percentage distribution by ability levels is as follows: 35,7% – high, 53,0% – average, 11,3% – low level (figure 11) (Gurevych et al., 2020). These data show that computer science and mathematics teachers according to the self-governance indicator, which to a large extent integratively reflects the formation of metacognitive strategies, are ready to develop and use CDGs in educational process.

The study shows that the formation of the readiness of computer science and mathematics teachers to develop and implement CDGs into the educational process is impossible without the corresponding knowledge and intellectual skills in these spheres, such as: knowledge of CDGs' tools of develop-



Figure 11: Percentage distribution of computer science and mathematics teachers by levels of the ability to self-governance (high level -35,7%, average -53,0%, low -11,3% of teachers) (Gurevych et al., 2020).

ment and implementation (classification, functional possibilities, didactic peculiarities, development requirements), skills in selection of topics, design development, knowledge of psychological peculiarities of students' age groups, etc. (table 4, figure 12) (Gurevych et al., 2020). The efficient management of this process demands knowledge of problem analysis, a clear vision of the situation, and the ability to forecast and plan future actions.

Table 4: Indicators of cognitive-activity criterion of evaluation of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and implement CDGs into the educational process. (The question number column is labeled "N^e").

	In the sphere of	In the sphere of
N⁰	CDGs development,	implementation,
	ranking	ranking
1	1	1
2	7	3
3	8	4
4	10	5
5	8	12
6	6	10
7	11	8
8	2	2
9	12	11
10	4	8
11	3	5
12	5	7

Summarizing the results of the research through their integrative consideration and interpretation within the semantic framework of the cognitiveactivity criterion, we note that according to the investigated indicators of the cognitive-activity criterion, the majority of respondents are diagnosed with an average and high level of formation indicators of cognitive-activity and self-governance. The average level of theoretical knowledge of computer science and mathematics teachers on the development and use



The question number

Figure 12: Indicators of cognitive-activity criterion of evaluation of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and implement CDGs into the educational process.

of CDGs in the educational process was also diagnosed, respectively 11,2% and 46,5%, and the high level of theoretical knowledge of computer science and mathematics teachers on the use of CDGs, respectively 4,2% and 24,8%. It should be emphasized that 86,4% of respondents are diagnosed with a low level of theoretical knowledge on the development of CDGs. This may be due to the fact that in the process of training and retraining, professional development of informatics and mathematics teachers, less attention is given to the topic of developing computer games for use in the educational process. The study shows that computer science and mathematics teachers fully understand the process of development and implementation of CDGs, know how to choose games aimed at achieving lesson objectives. They have knowledge, skills and are able to use CDGs in the educational process but have little experience in their development. In their professional activities, computer science and mathematics teachers also face difficulties in understanding the psychological peculiarities of using CDGs by students. Teachers also have to deal with the issue of the definition of the main functionalities of CDGs, since their selection directly influences the realization of the student-centered approach.

During the II stage of the research, which took place in 2022, the value interpretations of space by a

mathematics and computer science teacher were studied. This study is considered in the content-semantic framework of the formation of the cognitive-activity component of readiness that was studied. The spatial direction of the research is determined by the fact that the specificity of the development of the cognitiveactivity component of readiness is the actualization of the spatial aspect. The spatial aspect is presented in two formats: visual-spatial, which helps to reveal visual-spatial intelligence, and spatial-cognitive, which is aimed at the teacher's use of spatial phenomena (both real and virtual spaces) for purposeful representation and illustration of relevant topics in mathematics and computer science.

Let's consider the results of the questionnaire using the "Fedorets-Klochko questionnaire for determining the value interpretation of space by computer science and mathematics teachers" using the methodological and interpretive potential of cluster analysis. In the process of applying the SimpleKMeans algorithm to the clustering model, built on the basis of a set of data obtained during the questionnaire survey, 4 clusters (number 0, 1, 2, 3) were formed, the centroids of which are shown in the table 5 (figure 13).

Cluster \mathbb{N} 0 is the largest in terms of volume and, accordingly, formed 53% of the responses. The specified cluster unites answers that define space (real and virtual) as a "pedagogical-technological" value that

№	Cluster № 0, 53%	Cluster № 1, 23%	Cluster № 2, 13%	Cluster № 3, 13%
1	2	1	1	3
2	3	1	1	3
3	2	2	0	3
4	2	1	0	3
5	2	1	0	3
6	2	0	1	3
7	2	1	2	3
8	2	2	2	3
9	2	1	0	3
10	1	0	3	3

Table 5: Model and evaluation of clustering data using the SimpleKMeans algorithm. (The question number column is labeled " N_{0} ".)

is significant in the process of teaching mathematics and computer science when using didactic computer games (figure 14). This cluster defines the positive interpretation of space in quantitative representation as the middle between negative and highest. Accordingly, a positive understanding of space as an "pedagogical-instrumental" value can be purposefully applied in the educational process. Cluster 0 dominates in the specified sample is half. This dominance indicates that the studied teachers, who make up half of the sample, have a generally positive attitude towards this problem. At the same time, the indicated "middle position" in the sample indicates a not maximum readiness to actualize the spatial component when using didactic computer games. The not-total "fascination" with visual-spatial issues also indicates the critical thinking and personal and intellectual maturity of teachers, because the representation of space as an instrumental value is relatively new and for many teachers it was revealed through their questionnaires. As mentioned above, the purpose of the survey was not only diagnosis, but also actualization of the phenomenology of space as valueoriented and technologically oriented. The trends of Europeanization, democratization and humanization of Ukrainian education defined in the Concept of the New Ukrainian School (Zhorova et al., 2022) play a certain role in such a dominant, but at the same time, "moderate" or "medium" distribution. The specified educational trends contribute to the professional development of the teacher. Accordingly, the teacher develops as a competent, critical-thinking and independent person who finds and forms "his" teaching methodology and methods.

Clusters $\mathbb{N}_{\mathbb{P}}$ 1 (23%) and Clusters $\mathbb{N}_{\mathbb{P}}$ 2 (13%) (total 36%) include answers that represent space (real and virtual) as a "pedagogical-technological" value that is considered significant, neutral or negative in the context of teaching mathematics and computer science

when using didactic computers computer games. Accordingly, the answers can be presented as a continuum from negative to positive -0, 1, 2 and 3 (one answer). The presence of cluster N⁰ 1 and cluster N⁰ 2 (total 36%), which are quite significant in terms of volume, which makes up more than a third, speaks of a certain novelty and possible certain incomprehensibility of the actualized issues, which are represented in general terms, and not as a specific technology. It is clear that at this stage the specified "visual-spatial approach" is first of all revealed at the level of methodology in the form of general ideas and interpretations.

Cluster № 3, which is represented by 13% of respondents' answers, represents the highest level of teachers' interpretation of space (real and virtual) as a technological value that is significant in the process of teaching mathematics and computer science when using didactic computer games. We explain the relatively small percentage of people who, at the highest level, interpret space (real and virtual) in a valueoriented way, considering it as a probable component of the implementation of computer didactic games, by the relative novelty of such a spatial approach, the complexity and non-traditionality of its implementation (figure 14). In this aspect, it can be noted that the emergence of virtual space as a digital technology, as a specific "anthropo-techno-cultural" phenomenon and the actualization of game-based learning methods provides an opportunity to better understand the educational significance of the cognitive-valuable potential of real space. In general, we observe a "shift" in pedagogy towards the active use of environmental, contextual, "background" approaches to learning. Accordingly, the environment, including space and time, is understood not only as a background for the educational process, but also as a special meaningful and value-semantic aspect of learning or, even, a "visual-spatial educational tool".

Having analyzed the structure of the distribution



Figure 13: The centroid values of the clusters according to the question number of the "Fedorets-Klochko questionnaire for determining the value interpretation of space by computer science and mathematics teachers" are presented in a bar and linear charts.

of answers by clusters, it can be noted that it reflects the indicated trends of the emergence and active development of contextual approaches (including visual-spatial) in education and the active use of digital technologies.

Summarizing and interpreting the results of the research of the spatial aspect in the system of the cognitive-activity component of the studied readiness, we can note that they reveal the relevance and significance of this "visual-spatial-cognitive" direction of the development of the specified readiness, first of all from a practical and pedagogical point of view. It is important that many teachers understand the phenomenology of real and virtual space as a significant pedagogical tool that corresponds to the current modern ideas of spatial pedagogy, existential pedagogy, child-centeredness, and contextual learning.

We can say that we are witnessing the beginning



Figure 14: The centroid values of the clusters according to the cluster number of the "Fedorets-Klochko questionnaire for determining the value interpretation of space by computer science and mathematics teachers" are presented in a bar and linear chart.

of an active integrative application of digital, spatial, game, axiological methods and technologies, which corresponds to the paradigmatic attitudes of postmodernism, including the officially defined direction of sustainable development, which pays special attention to the "terrestrial space" and the person in it.

4 CONCLUSIONS

The readiness of computer science and mathematics teachers to develop and use CDGs in the educational process is a complex integrative personalityprofessional formation, consisting of motivationalvalue, cognitive-activity and personality-reflexive components, which specified in their corresponding criteria. By the computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs, we understand the integrated cognitive-activity professional personal ability of the teacher, which contains expressive value-motivational and reflective components and is aimed at implementing CDGs into the educational process, and is also implemented on the basis of modern directions – innovative development, humanism, child-centrism, creativity, communicativeness, and taking into account spatial-temporal and cultural-educational specifics.

Determining the state of formation of the motivational-value component of readiness, we can indicate that according to the indicator of motivation for success in professional activity, 59,2% of teachers have an average level of motivation (the motivational pole is not clearly defined), 21,4% of teachers have a high level of motivation (success motivation is diagnosed), and 19,4% of teachers have a low level (diagnosed lack of success motivation). According to the indicator of the value of readiness for the development and implementation of CDGs for successful professional activity, the following levels were determined: 30,4% – high, 50,1% – medium, 19,5% – low. There is a certain correlation between the above indicators, which indicates both the formation of the motivational and value sphere and its professional orientation, as well as its focus on the application of CDGs. The following value orientations in the field of development and use of CDGs in the educational process were also determined to be significant for teachers: "Possibilities of introducing new methods and forms of working with students", which indicates developed innovativeness; "Development of students' interest in studying informatics", which indicates the child-centered orientation of teachers. Thus, analyzing and interpreting the values of the above indicators, we can note that according to the motivational-value criterion, an average level of formation of the motivational-value component of readiness is observed in most teachers.

According to the cognitive-activity component of readiness according to the indicator of the ability to self-governance, which reflects the formation of metacognitive abilities, which includes goal setting, self-esteem, self-management, planning, control, intellectual reflection, the obtained percentage distribution of its formation is 35,7% – high, 53,0% – medium, 11,3% – low in terms of levels. The presence of the prevailing high and medium levels indicates a sufficiently high initial level of formation of metacognitive abilities, which are included both in the composition of the studied readiness and in the professional and pedagogical competences of a computer science and mathematics teacher. The average level

of theoretical knowledge of informatics and mathematics teachers regarding the development and use of CDGs in the educational process was diagnosed: average - 11,2% and 46,5%; high - 4,2% and 24,8%; low - 86,4% and 28,7%. Having analyzed the relevant training programs, we believe that the reason for such a state of the level of theoretical knowledge is insufficient training in the indicated direction, both during university studies and during advanced training in the conditions of postgraduate education. The state of formation of the cognitive-activity component of the readiness of computer science and mathematics teachers for the development and implementation of CDGs according to the spatial indicator, according to the results of the cluster analysis, professional interest was determined in 53% of teachers, in 13% a formed positive attitude is present, in 36% - insignificant interest or negative attitude. We explain the small percentage of respondents who, at the highest level, interpret space (real and virtual) in a valueoriented way, considering it as a probable spatialcognitive component of the implementation of CDGs, by the relative novelty of such a spatial approach, the complexity and unconventionality of its implementation. During the integrative examination of indicators of the formation of the motivational-value component in the semantic framework of its (motivational-value) criterion, its average level of formation is determined.

The state of formation of the personal-reflective component of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs according to the indicator of the ability to self-control is characterized by the following percentage distribution – high level – 39.8%, medium level – 51,5%, low level - 8,7%. Predominance of medium and high levels of self-control formation as a quality significant for the teacher's professional activity, including the implementation of developed professional mathematical and informational competencies. According to the personal-reflexive indicator, the vast majority of teachers are diagnosed with the desire to achieve high results, knowledge of their shortcomings and the desire to correct them, which indicates purposefulness, the presence of professionally directed reflection and innovative orientation. During the integrative examination of indicators of the formation of the personalreflexive component in the semantic framework of its (personal-reflexive) criterion, the average level of its formation is determined.

Summarizing the results of the research based on consideration of motivational-value, cognitive-active and personal-reflective criteria, we can say about the diagnosis of the average level of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs. Based on this, we define the following main strategies for its improvement: supplementing educational programs with topics that represent the ways and practices of applying CDGs in the preparation of future computer science and mathematics teachers, their retraining and advanced training; application of competency-based, activity-based approaches in order to develop teachers' professional orientation to the application of CDGs; to activate the use of innovative pedagogical technologies for the formation of computer science and mathematics teachers' readiness to develop and use CDGs; to carry out an analysis of the application of CDGs in other countries and the reception of positive pedagogical experience in this direction.

REFERENCES

- Aiello, G. and Parry, K. (2019). Visual Communication: Understanding Images in Media Culture. Sage.
- Avetysian, A. (2020). Methodological fundamentals of visual theory in the philosophical projects of Maurice Merleau-Ponty and Gilles Deleuze. *Filosofska Dumka*, (5):81–92.
- Bäckman, B. and Pilebro, C. (1999). Visual pedagogy in dentistry for children with autism. ASDC journal of dentistry for children, 66(5):325–31.
- Berry, M. J. A. and Linoff, G. S. (2011). Data mining techniques: for marketing, sales, and customer relationship management. John Wiley & Sons, 2 edition. http://pzs.dstu.dp.ua/DataMining/bibl/Data% 20Mining%20Techniques%20For%20Marketing% 20Sales%20And%20Customer%20Relationship% 20Management%202Ed.pdf.
- Bollin, A., Pasterk, S., Kesselbacher, M., Reci, E., Wieser, M., and Lobnig, N. (2021). HCI in K12 Computer Science Education – Using HCI as a Topic and a Didactic Tool. In *CHItaly 2021: 14th Biannual Conference of the Italian SIGCHI Chapter*, CHItaly '21, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3464385.3464717.
- Briantseva, H. (2016). Vizualnyy pidkhid do pedahohichnoyi komunikatsiyi [A visual approach to pedagogical communication]. Ukrainian Journal of Educational Studies and Information Technology, 4(2):1–9. https://doi.org/10.32919/10.32919/uesit.2016.02.1-9.
- Bristar (2021). Heroes of Math and Magic. https://bristarstudio.com/en/games/ heroes-of-math-and-magic.
- Brito Da Silva, L. E., Melton, N. M., and Wunsch, D. C. (2020). Incremental Cluster Validity Indices for Online Learning of Hard Partitions: Extensions and Comparative Study. *IEEE Access*, 8:22025–22047. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2020.2969849.
- Bykov, V. Y., Lytvynova, S. H., and Melnyk, O. M. (2017). Effectiveness of education with electronic educational

game resources in primary school. *Information technologies and learning tools*, 62(6):34–46. https://doi. org/10.33407/itlt.v62i6.1937.

- Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine (2011). On approval of the State standard of basic and complete general secondary education. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/ show/1392-2011-%D0%BF?lang=en#Text.
- Chen, S., Zhang, S., Qi, G. Y., and Yang, J. (2020). Games literacy for teacher education: Towards the implementation of game-based learning. *Educational Technology & Society*, 23(2):77–92. https://www. researchgate.net/publication/343228250.
- Deci, E. L. and Ryan, R. M. (2015). Self-Determination Theory. In Wright, J. D., editor, *International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences*, pages 486–491. Elsevier, Oxford, 2 edition. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/B978-0-08-097086-8.26036-4.
- Deleuze, G. (1989). *Cinema 1: The Movement Image*. The Athlone Press, London & New York.
- Descartes, R. (2018). Finding a foundation for knowledge. In Philosophy: An Innovative Introduction: Fictive Narrative, Primary Texts, and Responsive Writing, pages 126–137. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/ 9780429498336.
- Drushliak, M. H. (2021). Sutnist ta struktura vizualno-informatsiynoyi kultury maybutnikh uchyteliv matematyky ta informatyky [The essence and structure of the visual and informational culture of would-be mathematics and computer science teachers]. *Visnyk universytetu imeni Alfreda Nobelya*, (1(21)):141–147. https://doi.org/10.32342/2522-4115-2021-1-21-16.
- Du, R. Y., Yang, W., Lam, P. P. Y., Yiu, C. K. Y., and McGrath, C. P. (2022). Developing a Toothbrushing Visual Pedagogy (TBVP) for Preschool Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism* and Developmental Disorders, 52(1):327–338. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s10803-021-04946-5.
- Gal'perin, P. I. (2012). An experimental study in the formation of mental actions. In *Readings in Educational Psychology: Learning and Teaching*, volume 66, pages 142–154. Routledge.
- Goldfarb, B. (2002). Visual Pedagogy: Media Cultures in and beyond the Classroom. Duke University Press. https://doi.org/10.1215/9780822384052.
- Greene, R. W., Abidin, R. R., and Kmetz, C. (1997). The index of teaching stress: A measure of studentteacher compatibility. *Journal of School Psychology*, 35(3):239–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0022-4405(97)00006-X.
- Gurevych, R. S., Klochko, O. V., Klochko, V. I., Kovtoniuk, M. M., and Opushko, N. R. (2020). Computer science teachers' readiness to develop and use computer didactic games in educational process. *Information technologies and learning tools*, 75(1):122–137. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v75i1.3394.
- Hakak, S., Noor, N. F. M., Ayub, M. N., Affal, H., Hussin, N., ahmed, E., and Imran, M. (2019). Cloudassisted gamification for education and learning – Recent advances and challenges. *Computers & Electri-*

System-Forming Aspects of the Computer Science and Mathematics Teachers' Readiness to Develop and Use Computer Didactic Games in Educational Process

cal Engineering, 74:22–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. compeleceng.2019.01.002.

- Hall, E. T. (1959). The Silent Language. Doubleday & Company, Inc.,, Garden City, New York. https://monoskop.org/images/5/57/ Hall_Edward_T_The_Silent_Language.pdf.
- Klochko, O., Fedorets, V., Tkachenko, S., and Maliar, O. (2020). The Use of Digital Technologies for Flipped Learning Implementation. In Sokolov, O., Zholtkevych, G., Yakovyna, V., Tarasich, Y., Kharchenko, V., Kobets, V., Burov, O., Semerikov, S., and Kravtsov, H., editors, *Proceedings of the* 16th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kharkiv, Ukraine, October 06-10, 2020, volume 2732 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 1233–1248. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws. org/Vol-2732/20201233.pdf.
- Klochko, O. V. (2018). Teoretychni i metodychni zasady profesiynoyi pidhotovky maybutnikh menedzheriv ahrarnoho vyrobnytstva zasobamy suchasnykh informatsiyno-komunikatsiynykh tekhnolohiy (Theoretical and methodical principles for future managers professional training in agricultural production using the latest information and communication technologies). D.Sc. thesis, Vinnytsia Mykhailo Kotsiubynskyi State Pedagogical University.
- Klochko, O. V., Fedorets, V. M., Klochko, V. I., and Kormer, M. V. (2022a). The Use of Ensemble Classification and Clustering Methods of Machine Learning in the Study of Internet Addiction of Students. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 1: AET*, pages 241–260. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10. 5220/0010923500003364.
- Klochko, O. V., Tkachenko, S. V., Babiichuk, I. M., Fedorets, V. M., and Galych, T. V. (2022b). Using Virtual Reality Technologies for Teaching Computer Science at Secondary School. In Ignatenko, O., Kharchenko, V., Kobets, V., Kravtsov, H., Tarasich, Y., Ermolayev, V., Esteban, D., Yakovyna, V., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, *ICTERI 2021 Workshops*, pages 231–246, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-14841-5_15.
- Lakoff, G. and Johnson, M. (1980). Metaphors We Live By. The University of Chicago Press, Chicago and London. https://archive.org/details/ metaphorsweliveb00lako.
- Manzano-León, A., Camacho-Lazarraga, P., Guerrero, M. A., Guerrero-Puerta, L., Aguilar-Parra, J. M., Trigueros, R., and Alias, A. (2021). Between Level Up and Game Over: A Systematic Literature Review of Gamification in Education. *Sustainability*, 13(4):2247. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13042247.
- Mathe, M., Verhagen, H., and Wiklund, M. (2018). Digital Games in Education: Exploring Teachers' Practices and Challenges From Play to Co-Design. In Proceedings of the 12th European Conference on Games Based Learning, pages 388–395.

- Maturana Romesín, H. and Varela, F. (2009). *El árbol del conocimiento: las bases biológicas del entendimiento humano*. Editorial Universitaria, Santiago de Chile. https://repositorio.uchile.cl/handle/2250/119932.
- Mayer, R. E. (2019). Computer Games in Education. Annual Review of Psychology, 70:531–549. https://doi. org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010418-102744.
- Merleau-Ponty, M. (2005). Phenomenology of Perception. Routledge, London and New York. https://tinyurl. com/59unk4e2.
- Michala, M., Alexakos, C., and Tsolis, D. (2018). Mobile Applications and Games for a Digital Educational Program on Art and Culture in Secondary School. In 2018 9th International Conference on Information, Intelligence, Systems and Applications (IISA), pages 1– 6. https://doi.org/10.1109/IISA.2018.8633697.
- Milat, J. (2017). Teacher teleological competencies. International Journal for Education, Research and Trainning (IJERT), 3(1):34–42. http://periodica.fzf.ukim.edu.mk/ijert/IJERT% 2003.1%20(2016-2017)/IJERT%202016-2017% 201.08%20Josip%20Milat%20-%20TEACHER% 20TELEOLOGICAL%20COMPETENCIES.pdf.
- Moshtaghi, M., Bezdek, J. C., Erfani, S. M., Leckie, C., and Bailey, J. (2018). Online Cluster Validity Indices for Streaming Data. https://doi.org/10.48550/ARXIV. 1801.02937.
- Nousiainen, T., Kangas, M., Rikala, J., and Vesisenaho, M. (2018). Teacher competencies in game-based pedagogy. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 74:85–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2018.04.012.
- Oliveira, W., Hamari, J., Shi, L., Toda, A. M., Rodrigues, L., Palomino, P. T., and Isotani, S. (2023). Tailored gamification in education: A literature review and future agenda. *Education and Information Technologies*, 28(1):373–406. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10639-022-11122-4.
- Peisakhov, N. M. (1984). Regularities of the dynamics of mental phenomena. KSU, Kazan.
- Picka, K., Dosedla, M., Hrbáček, J., and Hodis, Z. (2022). Teachers' experience with digital games in Czech primary schools. *Entertainment Computing*, 42:100483. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.entcom.2022.100483.
- Raven, J. (1989). The Raven Progressive Matrices: A Review of National Norming Studies and Ethnic and Socioeconomic Variation Within the United States. *Journal of Educational Measurement*, 26(1):1–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-3984.1989.tb00314.x.
- Rean, A. A., Bordovskaya, N. V., and Rozum, S. I. (2000). *Psychology and Pedagogy*. Peter, SPb.
- Rocha, T. and Barroso, J. (2021). PLAY for LEARNING: Serious Games to Assist Learning of Basic Didactic Concepts: A Pilot Study. In Fang, X., editor, *HCI in Games: Serious and Immersive Games*, volume 12790 of *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, pages 62–71, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-77414-1_6.
- Rybka, N. M. (2018). Gamification and experience of using computer games in teaching philosophy in technical

institutions of higher education. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 67(5):213–225. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v67i5.2108.

- Scratch (2022). Scratch: About Scratch. https://scratch.mit. edu/about.
- Semerikov, S. O., Mintii, M. M., and Mintii, I. S. (2021a). Review of the course "Development of Virtual and Augmented Reality Software" for STEM teachers: implementation results and improvement potentials. In Lytvynova, S. H. and Semerikov, S. O., editors, *Proceedings of the 4th International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education (AREdu* 2021), Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 11, 2021, volume 2898 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 159– 177. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2898/ paper09.pdf.
- Semerikov, S. O., Teplytskyi, I. O., Soloviev, V. N., Hamaniuk, V. A., Ponomareva, N. S., Kolgatin, O. H., Kolgatina, L. S., Byelyavtseva, T. V., Amelina, S. M., and Tarasenko, R. O. (2021b). Methodic quest: Reinventing the system. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840(1):012036. https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1742-6596/1840/1/012036.
- Sherer, M., Maddux, J. E., Mercandante, B., Prentice-Dunn, S., Jacobs, B., and Rogers, R. W. (1982). The Self-Efficacy Scale: Construction and Validation. *Psychological Reports*, 51(2):663–671. https://doi.org/ 10.2466/pr0.1982.51.2.663.
- Subrahmanyam, K. and Greenfield, P. M. (1994). Effect of video game practice on spatial skills in girls and boys. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 15(1):13–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/0193-3973(94) 90004-3.
- Tobias, S. and Fletcher, D. (2012). Learning from Computer Games: A Research Review. In De Wannemacker, S., Vandercruysse, S., and Clarebout, G., editors, Serious Games: The Challenge, volume 280 of Communications in Computer and Information Science, pages 6–17, Berlin, Heidelberg. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-33814-4_2.
- Unger, M., Marsan, G. A., Meissner, D., Polt, W., and Cervantes, M. (2020). New challenges for universities in the knowledge triangle. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 45(3):806–819. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10961-018-9699-8.
- Vakaliuk, T., Chyzhmotria, O., Chyzhmotria, O., Didkivska, S., and Kontsedailo, V. (2023). The use of massive open online courses in teaching the fundamentals of programming to software engineers. *Educational Technology Quarterly*. https://doi.org/10. 55056/etq.37.
- Varina, H. B., Osadchyi, V. V., Goncharova, O. A., and Sankov, S. M. (2022). Features of gamification component introduction during the development of constructive strategies for overcoming youth life crises. *Educational Dimension*, 6:84–107. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.4454.
- Volochkov, A. A. (2007). Aktivnost subekta bytiia: integrativnyi podkhod [Activity of the subject of being: integrative approach]. Permskiy gosudarstvennyy pedagogicheskiy universitet, Perm.

- WEKA (2021). Weka 3: Machine Learning Software in Java. http://old-www.cms.waikato.ac.nz/~ml/weka/.
- Yevtuch, M. B., Fedorets, V. M., Klochko, O. V., Shyshkina, M. P., and Dobryden, A. V. (2021). Development of the health-preserving competence of a physical education teacher on the basis of N. Bernstein's theory of movements construction using virtual reality technologies. In Lytvynova, S. H. and Semerikov, S. O., editors, *Proceedings of the 4th International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education (AREdu* 2021), Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 11, 2021, volume 2898 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 294– 314. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2898/ paper16.pdf.
- Zhaldak, M. I., editor (2012). Otsinyuvannya yakosti prohramnykh zasobiv navchalnoho pryznachennya dlya zahalnoosvitnikh navchalnykh zakladiv [Evaluation of the quality of educational software for general educational institutions]. Pedahohichna dumka, Kyiv. https://lib.iitta.gov.ua/619/.
- Zhorova, I., Kokhanovska, O., Khudenko, O., Osypova, N., and Kuzminska, O. (2022). Teachers' training for the use of digital tools of the formative assessment in the implementation of the concept of the new ukrainian school. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(1):56–72. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.11.
- Zverkov, A. and Eidman, Y. (1990). Diagnostika volevogo samokontrolja (oprosnik VSK) [Diagnostics of Strong-willed Self-regulation (VSK) questionnaire]. In Praktikum po psihodiagnostike. Psihodiagnostika motivacii i samoreguljacii [Workshop on psychological diagnostics. Psychodiagnostics of motivation and self-regulation], pages 116–126. MGU.

Computer-Mediated Communication and Gamification as Principal Characteristics of Sustainable Higher Education

Anastasiia V. Tokarieva¹¹¹, Nataliia P. Volkova²¹, Inna V. Chyzhykova^{1,2}¹ and Olena O. Fayerman²¹

¹University of Customs and Finance, 2/4 Volodymyra Vernadskoho Str., Dnipro, 49000, Ukraine ²Alfred Nobel University, 18 Sicheslavska Naberezhna Str., Dnipro, 49000, Ukraine nastia003@gmail.com, npvolkova@yahoo.com, innachigikova1502@gmail.com

- Keywords: Computer-Mediated Communication, Educational Digitalisation, Gamification, Serious Video Games, Inclusive Education, Socionomics.
- Abstract: Digimodernism and videoludification are the key drivers of present social transformations. Digital pedagogy, gamification, game-based learning and serious video games (SVGs) supported by computer-mediated communication (CMC) come to the foreground. Theoretical overview of the CMC, discussion of SVGs for e-learning in the time of the quarantine, two cases of SVGs' implementation into educational contexts, efficiency measurement of this implementation, comparison of obtained results with previous data are the aims of this article. To achieve these aims, qualitative and quantitative research methods were applied. We defined 'distance learning', 'e-learning' based on CMC, collected their characteristics, quality parameters and modes. We revised our previous work empirical data and conclusions. Later, we analysed 'gamification', 'game-based learning', 'serious video games' in contemporary education, presented two case studies of digital games' integration into educational process. We used a feedback form, a questionnaire, and a survey to measure the efficiency of the e-learning courses. We proved that they serve as informative quantitative measurement. We emphasised the topicality of the options for reorganising and refining distance and e-learning and brought forward the idea about the new vision of distance and e-learning, gamification of educational process and serious video games as one more variation of CMC that must drive our decisions about the use of technology, not vice versa. Therefore, the need to develop teacher-training programs to help educators understand, design, evaluate and apply CMC and gamified learning applications is set up as the vector of future work.

1 INTRODUCTION

The contemporary educational environment in Ukraine, as well as in many other countries, is driven by the post-industrial model of society and postmodernism that underlie rapid social changes. The transition from goods' production to the economy of services, extensive application of information and communication technologies, innovation, creativity and entrepreneurship, international travel, and migration serve as the main characteristics of societal models. In the workplace, it is characterised by professional flexibility and diversity; tasks, projects, and networks; the necessity to work in a team, technological complexity within a rapidly changing environment. Therefore, the very concept of 'education' is currently being revised to support the postmodern era based on such competencies as social and emotional intelligence, media literacy, ecological intelligence, creativity, collaboration and participatory problem-solving (Tokarieva et al., 2019). Today, there is an obvious need to address the demands of adult and senior learners as well. That is why, education now is being viewed as a process of individual development, the empowerment with knowledge from birth to death - the process that involves interconnectedness and interdisciplinarity, encouragement of students' autonomy in the form of self-guided learning and self-guided education enhancement.One of the important concepts of today's educational systems is 'ecosystemic relations' - individually oriented, based on the principles of autonomy, access to information and feedback, distributed powers, cre-

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 515 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8980-9559

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1258-7251

[°] https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2722-3258

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2487-4063

Tokarieva, A., Volkova, N., Chyzhykova, I. and Fayerman, O.

Computer-Mediated Communication and Gamification as Principal Characteristics of Sustainable Higher Education. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 515-528

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

ativity to solve problems, responsibility, dynamism, teamwork to jointly solve global problems (Luksha et al., 2018, p. 34-47). Education in the postmodern context is based on problem and project tasks without fear of making mistakes; play/game-based learning, game universes, virtual augmented reality, and computer-mediated communication (CMC), which have come to the foreground in the present context of COVID-19 lockdown and the after-pandemic period when pedagogies turned from in-personal to virtual instructions, including distance learning and e-learning to maintain the barrier-free educational environment.

Therefore, the discussions around educational digitalisation and CMC's implementation into various educational contexts continue to gather momentum and are reflected in many contemporary national and foreign scholarly works. For example, the scientific inquiry of Andreev (Andreev, 2013) is connected with didactics of distance learning, while Fedorenko et al. (Fedorenko et al., 2019) analyses the questions of informatisation in Higher Educational Institutions (HEIs). Bramble and Panda (Bramble and Panda, 2008) present the various distance and online learning models. Dabbagh and Bannan-Ritland (Dabbagh and Bannan-Ritland, 2005) focus on online learning concepts, strategies, and application. Palloff and Pratt (Palloff and Pratt, 1999) describe effective strategies for an online classroom. Rice (Rice, 2006), Bordia (Bordia, 1997), Androutsopoulos (Androutsopoulos, 2006), Dahlberg (Dahlberg, 2001), Kock (Kock, 2004), Hardaker (Hardaker, 2010), Joinson (Joinson, 2001), Walther (Walther, 1996) - these are just a few researchers' names to add to the list, which proves that both theoretical and practical interests in enhancing ways and methods based on CMC are topical on the global scientific scale (Artemyeva et al., 2005).

The literature review would be incomplete if we do not mention here the scholarly works about educational gamification and educational video games. For example, the definition and the structural characteristics of the gamification phenomenon are discussed by Deterding (Deterding, 2012). Education via gamification is analysed by Huotari and Hamari (Huotari and Hamari, 2012). Professional corporate training based on gamified applications is presented by Baxter et al. (Baxter et al., 2017). More recent studies, including works of Arnab et al. (Arnab et al., 2015), Becker (Becker, 2017), discuss the formal design paradigm for serious games. Wouters et al., (Wouters et al., 2013) present the analysis of motivational and cognitive effects of video games. Questions related to the game-based curriculum are analysed in theses of Alkind Taylor (Alkind Taylor, 2014) and Marklund

(Marklund, 2015).

Considering this, the purpose of the article is to give an overview of the computer-mediated communication modes and means, as well as serious video games (SVGs) used for e-learning in the time of the quarantine by the university faculty; to present two new cases of SVGs' implementation into educational contexts; to discuss the efficiency of the implementation based on 'The Instructional Materials Motivation (IMMS)' survey by Keller (Keller, 2010b) and a feedback form developed by the research team; to compare the obtained results with the previous research data (Tokarieva et al., 2021).

Stemming from the aim, the following research tasks were outlined:

- 1) to generalise the main theoretical and experiential findings related to CMC modes and means;
- 2) to discuss in more detail gamification and SVGs in the context of contemporary educational reality;
- to present two case studies based on SVGs' application to the learning process and evaluate the efficiency of this tool;
- 4) to compare the statistical data with the data from our previous research work;
- 5) to make the conclusions and draft the vectors for future research.

2 RESEARCH METHODS

To address the purpose of the article, a complex of qualitative as well as quantitative research methods was applied. Data collection methods were tied in with the tasks set in the research. There are four distinct stages of the present research work.

Stage number one – theoretical analysis of CMC (its means and modes) on which a literature study, backed up by general references, primary and secondary resources' analysis, a computer search of www and databases were used. On this stage the notions 'distance learning', 'e-learning', 'modes of e-learning' were studied in depth. We also revised the earlier received statistical data of the research conducted by the authors in 2020 in Prydniprovska State Academy of Civil Engineering and Architecture, the Department of Foreign Languages, related to CMC (Tokarieva et al., 2019).

On stage number two, we traced the transition from CMC application in education to its gamification, analysed the notions of 'gamification', 'gamebased learning', 'serious video games', highlighted the difference between 'serious video games' and 'computer games'. We based this analysis on the revision and extension of our previous theoretical research (Tokarieva et al., 2019).

The theoretical part is supplemented with two case studies: an integration of 'Globall Manager' - a digital game for learning - into Cross-Cultural Communication course for students of Philology; and 'Auti-Sim' and 'Prism' - games for learning and training of Educators, Psychologists and Social Workers for inclusive education that we undertook on the third stage of the present work. To evaluate the effectiveness of these innovative learning tools we used 'The Instructional Materials Motivation (IMMS)' survey by Keller (Keller, 2010b) and a feedback form at the end of the study programmes. The criteria of the efficiency of the instructional material evaluation comprised the following parameters: attention - the incorporation of a variety of tactics to gain learner's attention; relevance - the consistency of the instructional material with students' goals, learning styles and past experiences; confidence - helping students establish a positive attitude, drive for success; satisfaction - is the maintenance of positive feelings about learning experiences, i.e. positive rewards and recognition (Keller and Suzuki, 2004; Keller, 2010a). On this stage we also used a Google Forms with multiple choice/unlimited choice questions to better understand the participants' experiences with video games.

The fourth stage and the task were to compare the results of the case studies with earlier data, collected at Prydniprovska State Academy of Civil Engineering and Architecture, the Department of Foreign Languages during March-May, 2020 connected with the measurement of the e-learning courses' design efficiency for which the above-described 'The Instructional Materials Motivation (IMMS)' survey that consists of 4 subscales and 36 items was used. The learners' motivation levels were measured by applying a 5-point symmetrical Likert scale.

The authors of the article participated in the development of the framework for the 'Globall Manager' game integration into Cross-Cultural Communication course, implemented the game into the educational process. Also, we collected and analysed the data from 'The Instructional Materials Motivation (IMMS)' survey, feedback forms about e-learning at the time of the quarantine; Google Forms results after 'Auti-Sim' and 'Prism' games work with educational and scientific student group 'Fundamentals of Support for Children with Special Needs and their Families for Pre-Service Specialists' Training in the Socionomic Sphere'.

3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Stage One

We begin our results' discussion with the statement that because of the increased importance of international work settings, much of what we do and how we communicate have moved to the Web. Communication, access, and creation of information have become everyday life and work tasks that rely on the use of personal and networked technologies. Nowadays, we use Computer Mediated Communication (CMC) any human communication that occurs through the use of two or more electronic devices and is extensively used in distance and e-learning – to get news updates from around the world, to research ideas, exchange photos, publish our thoughts, tell people where we are and share experiences of all kinds. This includes text messages, e-mails, blogs and discussion forums, social networks, virtual worlds, etc.

The focus of our present discussion is 'distance learning', 'e-learning', 'modes of e-learning'.

There are many definitions of the term 'distance learning' that reflect the diversity of approaches to its understanding. In the most profound studies of the phenomenon done by Andreev (Andreev, 2013), we can find the following definitions:

- distance learning is a mode of learning, along with full-time and part-time modes, in which the educational process uses the best traditional and innovative instructional techniques and tools, as well as the forms of learning based on computer and telecommunication technologies;
- distance learning is a purposeful asynchronous process of interaction between the subject and the object of learning mediated by electronic instructional tools, where the learning process does not depend on the spatial location of the participants;
- distance learning is a set of educational services provided to the general public in the country and abroad through a specialised information educational environment based on the exchange of educational information at a distance.

Palloff and Pratt (Palloff and Pratt, 1999) distinguish three main characteristics of distance learning: 1) it does not depend on spatial location and time; 2) services are provided through a specialised information environment; 3) learning process is controlled by a student him/herself.

The history of distance learning can be traced more than two centuries back and is connected with the emergence of the correspondence institution. Other forms of communication developed during the period of industrialisation and are associated with the invention of the radio and television, i.e., radiocourses and television courses. Later on, the appearance of the World Wide Web played the most significant part in the spread of the remote mode of learning. Consequently, the historical development of distance learning is reflected in its models' evolution – on the basis of a correspondence mode, an online mode, an elearning mode (Bramble and Panda, 2008).

The term 'e-learning' also has a big number of interpretations and is used in different ways, depending on pedagogical goals and contexts. Our search for e-learning definitions via Google Search Engine yielded 1330000 entries. The generalised definition of e-learning describes it as a variation of distance learning that has gained active development due to the emergence of new technologies.

It is true that the e-learning model is the latest in the history of distance education and has a threedimensional structure. Through the training based on e-learning principles, students can acquire knowledge anywhere, anytime, and at any speed (Im, 2006).

The Instructional Telecommunications Council defines distance education as "the process of extending learning, or delivering instructional resourcesharing opportunities, to locations away from a classroom, building or site, to another classroom, building or site by using video, audio, computer, multimedia communications, or some combination of these with other traditional delivery methods" (Dalziel, 1998).

The European e-Learning Action Plan defines elearning as the use of the latest multimedia technologies and the Internet with the aim to improve the quality of the education through granting access to resources and services, distance exchange, and cooperation (Beauvois, 1997).

According to the method of interaction, such modes of e-learning can be distinguished: the interaction between a student-electronic environment, student-student, student-teacher, teacher-electronic environment, interaction inside the educational community. According to the time criterion, e-learning organisation is classified as asynchronous (different times of teaching and learning), synchronous (teaching and learning take place at the same time), or a combination of the two. For example, asynchronous communication (e-mail) allows using authentic speech and meaningful context. Compared to face-to-face communication and synchronous online tools, this environment gives students enough time to reflect and formulate their utterances. Synchronous communication - real-time communication (text chats) simulates conversation but is not complicated by the possible 'dominance' of direct discussions. Research confirms the fact that students participate more often and more proportionately in online discussions than in face-to-face communication. It should also be added that online discussions create a student-centred environment in which they are more willing to take risks (Abrams, 2006).

According to the criterion of technological means' utilisation, e-learning can be computer-based, laptopbased, video conferencing-based, forums-based, weblogs-based, etc. By the methods of information transfer – text, sound, picture, video, animation, simulation, interactive resources based, etc.

In our article, we use the term 'e-learning' broadly to relate to the learning environments where CMC is used as a fundamental of educational instruction.

We consider it necessary to illustrate the abovepresented theoretical reflections with the summative overview of the empirical results obtained at the Department of Foreign Languages, Prydniprovska State Academy of Civil Engineering and Architecture at the time of the quarantine, the year 2020.

Based on the statistics received from 'Analysis of the E-Learning Tools Preferences' form disseminated among the teaching staff of the department (the sample of 30 teachers), the most popular videoconferencing platforms chosen by teachers of the department were Skype and Zoom, while Google Hangouts and Discord with video-conferencing features were found less popular. The popularity of Viber is also explained by its video-conferencing function. Social networking apps that were actively used by the faculty were Telegram and Viber. E-mail service was also chosen for the asynchronous correspondence with students. Google Classroom was applied by instructors to exchange texts, audio, video, and hyperlinked material (figure 1).



Our experience has also provided qualitative data. For example, the benefits of Skype's application, according to our staffs' opinion, lie in the number of video chat participants (which is unlimited), the ease of operation on the screen, the inclusion of such activities as speaking, reading, and, partially, writing. Regarding the use of Google Hangouts application, which is almost identical to Skype, a 'Share Screen' feature that lets students see what the instructor demonstrates on the monitor: files, videos, etc., a 'Chat History' feature that records the number of people attending each class are regarded as supportive. At the same time, it does not have a file-sharing feature and the number of video chat participants is limited up to 10. When it comes to written assignments, the Google Classroom application is named as the best fit. Here, an instructor posts assignments and sets up the deadline, selects students for whom the tasks are assigned, evaluates students' works (the number of points is selected on a different scale principle following the instructor's choice). It is also interesting to mark here that back in March-May 2020 Google Meet was not as popular an application as it is now.

A separate part of our discussion was given to the Zoom platform's analysis, as teaching on this platform, judging by our teachers' feedback, is challenging. This is connected with the phenomenon, described as 'Zoom fatigue'.

Those teachers who used this video-conferencing platform complained that after two sequential sessions they were more tired than after the same number of face-to-face lessons in a real class setting. One of the explanations for this is provided by (Joosten, 2022). She attributes it to the Gallery view when all the sessions' participants appear, which challenges the brain's central vision, forcing it to decode many people at a time. Moreover, 'one of those boxes on the screen is you', which may mean that we spend more energy on monitoring our non-verbal communication than we do in person (Supiano, 2020). What we also experienced was a shift towards teacher-centricity and one-way communication that contradicts the conclusions of the Instructional Telecommunications Council about the effectiveness of e-learning that lies in its individually-oriented nature and student-centricity (Dalziel, 1998).

On this stage, we also organised a brief questioning of students as to what most difficult aspects of elearning they could name. The question we asked was 'What is the most challenging for you in e-learning?' The possible alternatives were pre-formulated for the students to choose from and the number of choices was not limited. Our statistics look as follows:

- 1. Problems with self-organisation, high level of distraction – eight students – 34.8%.
- 2. The excessive number of educational tasks eight students 34.8%.
- 3. Dependence on technical means twenty students 86.9%.

- 4. Poor quality of home Internet fourteen students 60.8%.
- 5. Restrictions on obtaining practical skills five students 21.7%.
- 6. Lack of opportunity to communicate freely with the teacher none 0%.
- 7. Lack of control over the level of knowledge three students 13.04%.
- 8. Insufficient duration of classes (time limit) none 0%.
- 9. The quality of the material taught four students 17.4%.
- 10. Insufficient theoretical materials to perform tests and/or tasks seven students 30.4%.
- 11. Lack of opportunity to communicate with other students thirteen students 56.5%.
- 12. The need to learn how to work online three students 13.04%.

It is necessary to mention here, that we had a chance to compare the results of our questionnaire with the results, obtained in Alfred Nobel University, Dnipro from the same questionnaire introduced during the period from 8 to 14 April 2020 in electronic form. The total number of interviewees there made up 1062 students. According to the form of education, the interviewed students were distributed as follows:

- full-time students 911 people 85.8%;
- part-time students 24 people 2.3%;
- correspondence courses' students 127 people 12%.

Alfred Nobel University's statistics look as follows:

- 1. Problems with self-organisation, high level of distraction – 351 students – 33.1%.
- 2. The excessive number of educational tasks 330 students 31.1%.
- 3. Dependence on technical means -302 28.4%.
- 4. Poor quality of home Internet -300 28.2%.
- Restrictions on obtaining practical skills 286 26.9%.
- 6. Lack of opportunity to communicate freely with the teacher 249 23.4%.
- Lack of control over the level of knowledge 186 – 17.5%.
- Insufficient duration of classes (time limit) 162 15.3%.
- 9. The quality of the material taught -122 11.5%.

- 10. Insufficient theoretical materials to perform tests and/or tasks -110 10.4%.
- 11. Lack of opportunity to communicate with other students 108 10.2%.
- 12. The need to learn how to work online -55 5.2%.

Based on the comparative analysis, we got very close statistical data on statements one, two, five, seven, and eight, though the size of the samples interviewed varied.

Overall, the results of this stage can be summarised as follows: distance learning and its later version – e-learning should be applied with the organisational culture analysis in mind. The most popular video-conferencing platforms named by the faculty are Viber, Skype, and Zoom, while Google Hangouts and Discord are found less popular. Social networking apps actively used by the faculty are Telegram, Viber. The most debatable is the Zoom platform as, on the one hand, it has a lot of advantageous features both for teachers and students. At the same time, such a phenomenon as 'Zoom fatigue' is marked by the faculty as a disadvantageous one.

With the reference to the students' feedback from as for the e-learning during the quarantine – 'dependence on technical means' is named as the main challenge, followed by the poor quality of the Internet, problems with self-organisation, the number of tasks given, the restriction on exercising practical skills, which helps highlight the current e-learning situation in HEIs, reveal challenges and needs to further action.

3.2 Stage Two

Moving on to the discussion of the second task, we would present the idea expressed by Kirby (Kirby, 2006) that digimodernism is the mainstream cultural logic of contemporary society and both the video game (as another variation of CMC) and the video gamer are its principal object and subject. In broad context, video games have fitted perfectly well in the globalised spider-web of information flows and have generated revenues as high as C22 billion in Europe in 2020 according to Global News Wire, with the number of people playing video games 1.553.5 million worldwide. 51% of the EU's population played video games, which equals to some 250 million players in the EU, the average playtime per week was 8.6 hours (Interactive Software Federation of Europe, 2022). As a response, digital pedagogy, gamification, gamebased learning, and serious video games are gradually becoming a part of the everyday toolkit of educators (figure 2).

Gamification is the use of game elements (such as points, badges, leader boards, competition, achieve-



Figure 2: Video games in broad context.

ments) in a non-game setting with the aim to turn routine tasks into more refreshing, motivating experiences (Deterding, 2012). The main idea of gamification evolved parallel with the Internet. Gamification is based on the basics of games, though, with the development of mobile phones and applications, it is actually can be used almost in every sphere, including education. For example, interactive quizzes like 'Kahoot', 'Quizlet', 'ClassDojo', 'Duolingo', 'Edmodo' or gamified learning management systems like 'Classcraft', 'Lingua Attack', 'Socrative', 'DyKnow'. At the same time, serious video games are those that are built on game-based learning principles, include basic elements of video games, and are used not for the entertainment (Zemliansky and Wilcox, 2010). The examples here are many, including educational games (or games for learning, like 'Code.org', 'GloBall Manager', 'MinecraftEdu'), games for training (e.g. 'AbcdeSIM', Kognito, 'Auti-Sim', 'Prism'), games for change (or social games, like 'Against all Odds', 'Ayiti - The Cost of Life', 'Copenhagen Challenge').

We think it necessary to note that 'video games' are considered an activity that includes one or more players, has definite goals, rules, limitations, rewards and outcomes, is artificial with the element of a competition. At the same time, 'serious video games' are those that are built on game-based learning principles, include basic elements of video games and are used not for the entertainment (Zemliansky and Wilcox, 2010).

Game-based learning (GBL) is a type of gameplay with defined learning outcomes (Shaffer et al., 2005). In the process of GBL, learners use games as a tool to study a topic or related topics. They work individually or in teams. It is expected that in this process, the use of games will enhance the learning experience through challenge, exploration, interaction, reflection, and decision-making while maintaining a balance between the content, gaming, and its application to the real world. Having a play at its base, game-based learning is effective in motivating and improving students' engagement, promoting creative thinking and developing approaches towards multi-disciplinary learning. As for educational digital games – they proved to hold great promise for instruction that is appropriate for today's learners.

Based on our previous research revision, we may state that video games present a different learning environment (with a wide spectrum of built-in assistive features) where players interact, experiment, discover and research. They are good at helping to memorise studied material (at 'grinding' things). The material studied in games is stored longer in players' memory. Games let play through the same situation applying different behavioural models, methods and approaches. Games are cost-effective and efficient in training for hazardous situations (firefighters, ambulance, pilots). Games appeal to different learning styles (visual, audio, kinesthetic). Games are adaptable to a particular player's level (with the increase of difficulty based on the player's performance). Games help develop movements' coordination and spatial sensation. As a novel educational instrument, games increase motivation. Games stimulate players' interaction, participation, discussion, and reflection (Tokarieva et al., 2019).

3.3 Stage Three

The third stage of our article is connected with the description and the discussion of two cases of serious games' implementation into the educational process. The first game for learning that was used is 'GloBall Manager' game that was developed within the GA-BALL ('Game-Based Language Learning') project - a joint project between the Engineering Faculty of Porto Politech Institute (ISEP), Virtual Campus Porto, Technical University of Gabrovo (Bulgaria) and Federal University Pelotas (Brazil) (Editorial Team, 2013). The main objective of the project was to improve students' linguistic and sociocultural skills, necessary to take part in e-marketing and e-commerce; develop skills to establish connections via social platforms; encourage students to entrepreneurial activity. The methodological approach chosen - the application of a video game as a learning tool that would provide the participants with rules, everyday professionally-oriented situations, create a cooperative environment in which players try to reach specific educational goals, and increase personal skills and social competencies. The game can be played in seven languages through six different scenarios: 1) internationalisation diagnostics; 2) participation in a fair; 3) business culture; 4) e-commerce and e-marketing management; 5) online communication; 6) institutional negotiation (figure 3).



Figure 3: Globall Manager game (Virtual Campus Lda, 2015).

The game was implemented into the Cross-Cultural Communication course delivered for the four-year course students of Philology, University of Customs and Finance, Dnipro, Ukraine. The aim of the course is to study intercultural professional communication, develop cross-cultural sensitivity of students, form theoretical knowledge about the essence, communication structure and its peculiarities in a cross-cultural environment; linguistic, psychological and socio-cultural features of cross-cultural communication; development of the skills that can help students be effective in intercultural communication. The game was used at practical classes one time per week, 30 minutes for each session during the first semester of 2021. The game was demonstrated from the main (lecturer's) computer. Students' work was initially organised as individual, pair or minigroup work and in online learning mode later on - as teacher-class interaction. Business Culture Scenario was chosen as the study material and was played from the beginning till the end. The scenario was played in English. 46 students were enrolled in the course.

It is important to say that the above-presented game was used as the study material, around which lesson plans were developed. It is an acknowledged fact that educational digital games' integration into a specific educational context is a complex process as, during a digital game-based lesson, a teacher acts as tech support, IT administrator, a moderator, a debriefer. The teacher may be an active player and provide feedback from 'inside' the game. Also, there are three distinct stages in a digital game-based lesson, i.e., before the game-play stage, during the gameplay stage, after the game-play stage, accompanied by preparing a lesson plan, setting up the game-play situation, guiding learners in the game-play process, finalising game-play experience.

We also wanted to understand the quality of the course with a video game integrated into it. Therefore, we organised a survey based on 'The Instructional Materials Motivation Survey (IMMS)' by Keller (Keller, 2010a).

There are several models that help estimate the quality of e-learning. The existing models can be divided into two categories: those based on empirical data and those based on theoretical developments. An example of the first category is the quality model proposed by the Institute for Higher Education Development 'Quality on the Line: Success Factors for Distance Learning' (IHEP, 2000); 'Critical Success Factors in Online Education' by Volery and Lord (Volery and Lord, 2000). The second category includes model 'Seven Principles for Good Practice' by Chickering and Gamson (Chickering and Gamson, 1987); model 'Quality Guidelines for Technology-Assisted Distance Education' by Barker (Barker, 1999); 'The E-learning Maturity Model' by Marshall (Marshall, 2010) (Masoumi and Lindström, 2012).

There are also a number of models that have been developed to measure the quality of a course (including distance learning) through measuring learners' motivation in order to improve a course design or to adapt a course to learners' motivational needs (Keller and Suzuki, 2004). The questions of motivation, its structural components and measurement have been studied from different theoretical perspectives in the context of the Social Cognitive Theory, the Expectancy Value Theory, the Self Determination Theory (Silva et al., 2018).

Keller (Keller, 2010a) has developed and tested a model known as the ARCS model based on its acronym (Attention, Relevance, Confidence, and Satisfaction).

Attention – is the importance of incorporating a variety of tactics to gain learner's attention by the use of interesting graphics, animation, an event that introduces a conflict, mystery, unresolved problems, and other techniques to stimulate the inquiry in learners. Relevance – the consistency of the course and the instructional material with students' goals, learning styles, and past experiences. The connection of the content to the learners' future jobs or interesting topics.

Confidence – lies in helping students establish a positive attitude, drive for success, and the experience of success as the result of their ability and efforts.

Satisfaction – is the maintenance of positive feelings about learning experiences, i.e., positive rewards and recognition (Keller and Suzuki, 2004).

The main ideas behind the ARCS model are that motivation is influenced by the degree to which a teacher and the instructional materials arise curiosity, are personally relevant with challenge levels that promote confidence, and do not contain stressors that would inhibit students' effort (Keller, 2010a).

The ARCS model and the IMMS inventory (that is an integral part of it) can be used with print-based self-directed learning, computer-based instruction, or online courses, have been successfully applied to different educational settings and proved to be informative as an instrument for the efficiency of a course measurement (Huang and Hew, 2016).

The IMMS (the Instructional Materials Motivation) survey consists of 36 items and 4 subscales. The 4 subscales are attention (12 items), relevance (9 items), confidence (9 items), and satisfaction (6 items). It measures learners' motivation level by applying a 5-point symmetrical Likert scale.

We consider it necessary to give here examples of questions for each of the subscales.

Examples for the 'Attention' subscale: 'There was something interesting at the beginning of this course that got my attention'. 'These materials are eyecatching'. 'This course is so abstract that it was hard to keep my attention (an example of a reverse question)'.

Examples for the 'Relevance' subscale: 'It is clear to me how the content of this material is related to things I already know'. 'There were stories, pictures, or examples that showed me how this material could be important to some people'. 'The content of this material is relevant to my interests'.

Examples for the 'Confidence' subscale: 'When I first looked at this course, I understood it would be easy for me'. 'This material was more difficult to understand than I would like it to be (a reverse question)'. 'After working on this course for a while, I felt confident that I would be able to pass a test on it'.

For the 'Satisfaction' subscale: 'Completing the exercises in this course gave me a satisfying feeling of accomplishment'. 'I enjoyed this course so much that I would like to know more about this topic'. 'I really enjoyed studying this course'. 'The wording of feedback after the exercises, or of other comments in this course, helped me feel rewarded for my effort' (Keller, 2010a).

46 four-year students of Philology enrolled in the Cross-Cultural Communication course took part in the survey. The data we obtained are presented in the table 1.

		e	
Motivation level	Scores	Number of participants $(N = 46)$	Percentage
High	4.00-5.00	18	39.2%
Upper Medium	3.50-3.99	7	15.2%
Medium	3.00-3.49	13	28.2%
Low	< 3.00	8	17.4%

Table 1: Motivation level range.

The results of the third stage can be summarized as follows: 18 (39.2%) out of 46 students demonstrated high level of motivation, 7 (15.2%) had uppermedium motivation level, 13 students (28.2%) of medium motivation level and 8 (17.4%) – low motivation level.

The second case discussed here is based on 'Auti-Sim' and 'Prism' - serious video games for Teachers, Psychologists and Social Workers trained for inclusive education. The idea to use video games in their study programmes is grounded in the assumptions that educational and entertaining games are central to a child's social development because, for example, they allow the child to form independent relationships with peers (Piaget, 1997). Many researchers have recognised that the development of gaming skills and using games to engage people with autism can be helpful. If we compare digital and analog games, digital games have several advantages over analog games, namely, in-game results' tracking, easier customisation, better visual interaction, which can be especially important for people with autism (Atherton and Cross, 2021).

'Auti-Sim' game attempts to simulate the experience of a child with autism, presenting an experience of auditory hypersensitivity on a school playground. The player walks around a school playground, full of talking children. As they approach the children, the noise level increases, creating a total audio distortion. This makes it quite difficult to stay around the other children for an extended period of time. As a result, the player spends most of their time at the edges of the playground, isolated from the rest of the world. The silence in the game is as powerful as the sound (Adev123 @TaylanK, 2013). Figure 4 gives understanding of this game's aesthetics and the atmosphere the players submerge in.

'Prism' game attempts to help neurotypical children aged 8 to 10 understand their peers who have autism. It is a game for the children to play, paired with a discussion framework. It is a tool to help a generation of children grow up with increased awareness and understanding for their autistic peers (Zhu et al., 2018). The unique graphics of the game is presented in figure 5.



Figure 4: Auti-Sim game (Adev123 @TaylanK, 2013).



Figure 5: Prism game (Zhu et al., 2018).

The games were used within the framework of the University Social and Psychological Service (Alfred Nobel University, Dnipro) and the meetings of an educational and scientific student group 'Fundamentals of Support for Children with Special Needs and their Families for Pre-Service Specialists' Training in the Socionomic Sphere'. Here, the variety of teaching methods to develop students' theoretical knowledge and practical skills are used: starting from a review and analysis of documentary mini-films and educational-scientific films of the researched problem; psychoanalysis of blogs, websites, educational portals, groups on social networks that are social workers, social educators, psychologists, working with families raising children with special needs, ending with game therapeutic programmes designed by foreign scholars and practitioners, in particular, joint puzzle games Nintendo Wii, ADDventurous Rhythmic planet, social robot (KASPAR); Daisy, ECHOES, Pico's Adventure, Let's Face It (LFI), Go-Go Games (Atherton and Cross, 2021). A separate educational and methodical seminar was organised to experiment with 'Auti-Sim' and 'Prism' games and to discuss their potential to develop communication skills, emotional recognition, formation of relationships with
peers. At the end of the seminar, a feedback form was distributed with the questions related to the experience of the participants with the video games and their attitude towards this tool. Multiple choice/unlimited choice questions were prepared, among which there were the following:

- 1) How would you describe your experience with two video games?
- 2) How would you describe your feelings about two video games?
- 3) Do you think that through video games there is an opportunity to develop (a set of skills and qualities)?
- 4) What benefits can video games have as an educational and therapeutical activity?
- 5) How do you rate the experience of video games as an activity in a class?
- 6) How prepared are you to use video games in your work?

18 participants of the seminar were asked. The generalised statistics we got help us understand that the participants' experience with video games is a new one and is perceived as a tool that helps find out something new (44%); 36%% of the respondents marked game-play experience as a positive one; 16% answered that they were emotionally involved; it's motivating – (64%). As for the attitude of the participants to the video games: they help organise teamwork – (64%); they help develop useful skills – (44%); they motivate to learn – (64%); they can engage – (44%); they develop independent learning – (48%); they develop skills of understanding – (72%).

As for the readiness to use video games: 60% answered that they would like to use them but need more information on how to use; 20% feel confident; 16% will use the material that they are familiar with and are used to; 4% answered that it is risky.

Among the obstacles to use video games in their practice, the respondents named the absence of specific knowledge – (68%); low level of digital competence – (48%); low level of equipment and Internet connection – (48%); some doubts as for the possible efficiency of video games as an instructional tool – (32%).

3.4 Stage Four

The task for the fourth stage was to compare the results obtained in the present study with those that we got earlier at Prydniprovska State Academy of Civil Engineering and Architecture, the Department of Foreign Languages during March-May, 2020 and connected with the measurement of the e-learning courses' design efficiency. In both cases, the IMMS instrument was used. Figure 6 represents the comparative results of two studies.



Figure 6: New and old data comparison.

The results of the fourth stage reflect the comparative new and earlier received statistics, where we may see a significant increase in students' motivation when the serious video game 'GloBall Manager' was used - 39.2% of High Level in a new study against 8.7% received earlier. At the same time, there is a decrease of Upper Medium and Medium Levels' data, which is logical as there is an increase of High Level figures. Interesting enough is the fact that the Low Level data from both studies coincide, i.e., 8 students of 46 demonstrated it in the new research and 4 out of 27 in the old one, which gives us 17.4%. We would describe the new generalised data as the demonstration of 'positive disposition' of students towards the e-learning material (with an integrated video game) whereas the previous research results gave us 'satisfactory disposition' to the e-learning courses. This difference can be explained by a thorough consideration of SVGs' integration peculiarities that resulted in better-structured material that students interacted with, better contextualisation of the material, the ability of a video game to arise curiosity, present a safe environment for experimentation, relevant study content. Also, we would mention a homogeneity of the course (as there was one instructor and one course was measured) among the factors that contributed to students' motivation increase. In the earlier work, different courses with different instructors and different syllabuses were evaluated.

4 CONCLUSIONS AND PROSPECTS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH

Digimodernism and videoludification of the society are visible through the gamification process applied

to education, labour, business, therapy, social relationships. Virtual reality, augmented reality, social networking platforms (Twitter, Facebook, Instagram, etc.) are the key contributors to the complex contemporary social and cultural transformations (Muriel and Crawford, 2018). Nowadays, a playful approach to teaching and learning is seen as effective in motivating and improving students' engagement, promoting creative thinking towards learning, and developing multi-disciplinary learning approaches. Moreover, 'play' is considered to be a powerful learning process for adults in higher education, as it is embedded in a constructivist theory of learning, and is based on experience and reflection as constitute parts of the learning process (Rice, 2009). Therewith, ICTs (information communication technologies), AI (artificial intelligence) and the digitalisation of education, including higher education, are now viewed as indispensable elements of the learning process, and computer-mediated communication and gamification as the structural components of sustainable higher education.

In the present work, we undertook the tasks of overviewing the computer-mediated communication (CMC) modes and means that have become the primary channel of communication in the context of COVID lockdown and after-pandemic period; we discussed gamification, SVGs, and game-based learning as a part of contemporary educational reality; presented the results of the courses' efficiency measurement through the application of 'The Instructional Materials Motivation (IMMS)' survey by (Keller, 2010a) and the feedback form developed by the research team.

Distance learning and its later version – e-learning that expands the educational process by giving access to knowledge from anywhere, at any time, at any speed and is backed up by the CMC, the latest multimedia technologies and the Internet, should be applied with the organisational culture analysis in mind. We maintain that the model of 'any time', 'any place', 'any way', 'any speed' needs to be supplemented by a cultural component under which we mean the culture of a particular institution (European Information Society, 2003). This, in turn, implies the need to understand what e-learning modes are used by an organisation, measure their effectiveness, and suggest the most efficient model and the ways of e-learning integration into a particular HEI according to its needs' analysis.

The most popular video-conferencing platforms and tools chosen by the teachers of the department and discussed in the earlier article (Tokarieva et al., 2021) were Viber (with its video-conferencing feature), Skype, and Zoom, while Google Hangouts and Discord with the same video-conferencing feature were found less popular. Social networking apps actively used by the faculty were Telegram, Viber; email service was used as the asynchronous mode of correspondence with students.

Skype was chosen by many because of the unlimited number of video chat participants, the ease of operation on the screen, the inclusion of such activities as speaking, reading, and, partially, writing. Google Hangouts application – because of a 'Share Screen' feature that lets students see what the instructor demonstrates on the monitor, a 'Chat History' feature – because it records the number of people attending each class, Google Classroom – as it lets post assignments and set up the deadline, evaluate students' works according to a variety of evaluation scales.

The most debatable was the Zoom platform as, on the one hand, it does not limit the number of the participants, is quite easy in operation, has a session recording feature, an instructor's screen demonstration, a whiteboard to write comments, a group chat feature, a waiting room (to prevent unregistered participants join the conference), a conference room to split students into separate mini-groups. At the same time, such a phenomenon as 'Zoom fatigue' was marked by teachers, which can be partially explained by the presence of many people at a time on the screen, the need to monitor our non-verbal language as instructors, to shift to teacher-centricity and one-way communication. It is also worth mentioning here that back in March-May 2020 Google Meet was not as popular an application as it is now.

With the reference to the students' feedback from the distance work during the quarantine – 'dependence on technical means' was named as the main challenge, followed by the poor quality of the Internet, problems with self-organisation, the number of tasks, restriction on exercising practical skills. Though the experimental sample was quite small and limited to thirty instructors and twenty-three students, we maintain that the experience of our department at the time of the quarantine due to the COVID-19 situation still highlights the current e-learning situation in our HEIs, reveals several challenges and needs, helps layout further strategies to support fluid, holistic, seamless, pervasive, personalised education optimised by technology.

Digital pedagogy, gamification, game-based learning and serious video games based on CMC and nowadays, mobile technology are becoming principal parts of contemporary education. They are capable to enhance learning through challenge, exploration, interaction, reflection, 'positive failure', adaptability to a particular player's decision-making level, etc. Practical work, based on two video games, that is described in task three proved positive results (e.g. students' increased motivation) and positive attitude of the pre-service training students in the socioeconomic sphere towards video games as a way of instruction. We would explain this 'positive disposition' of students by a better-structured material that students interacted with, better contextualisation of the material, the ability of a video game to arise curiosity, present a safe environment for experimentation and relevant study content.

Video games were also described as capable to develop skills of team-working, problem-solving, critical thinking; to enhance self-guided learning skills. At the same time, a strong need for pedagogic training that may empower teachers with the required knowledge and skills about gamified learning applications, educational digital games and digital competencies development was identified. This confirmed the earlier conclusions about the need to increase the level of digital and pedagogical skills of HEIs faculty; to further develop their didactic skills in mastering new approaches to academic courses' material design in elearning format; to encourage the culture of cooperation and sharing, as well as to experience a wide range of applications, digital tools, and services that support the process of education; the development of an educational content to be accessed by students at any time, from any place, from any computer, the increase of students' digital literacies (Tokarieva et al., 2021). All of the above brings us to the conclusion about the topicality of what information technology offers the options for reorganising and refining distance and e-learning. But the new vision of distance and elearning, gamification of educational process and serious video games as one more variation of CMC must drive our decisions about the use of technology, not vice versa. Therefore, the need to develop teachertraining programs to help educators understand, design, evaluate and apply CMC and gamified learning applications is set up as the vector of future work.

5 LIMITATIONS

Our present research holds certain limitations as for the generalisability of its results. Among them are the size of the sample. The obtained results were compared with a similar survey, which makes the comparison results as the first approximation. There is also a need for further tests of the questionnaire's reliability and validity.

REFERENCES

- Abrams, Z. (2006). From the theory to practice: Intercultural CMC in the L2 Classroom. In Ducate, L. and Arnold, N., editors, *Calling on CALL: From Theory and Research to New Dimensions in Foreign Language Teaching*, volume 5 of *Monograph Series*, pages 181–210. CALICO.
- Adev123 @TaylanK (2013). Auti-Sim. https://gamejolt. com/games/auti-sim/12761.
- Alkind Taylor, A.-S. (2014). Facilitation Matters: A Framework for Instructor-Led Serious Gaming. PhD thesis, University of Skövde. https://www.diva-portal. org/smash/get/diva2:745056/FULLTEXT01.pdf.
- Andreev, A. A. (2013). E-learning and distance learning technologies. *Open education*, 5:40–46. https: //openedu.rea.ru/jour/article/download/218/220.
- Androutsopoulos, J. (2006). Introduction: Sociolinguistics and computer-mediated communication. *Journal of Sociolinguistics*, 10(4):419–438. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1467-9841.2006.00286.x.
- Arnab, S., Lim, T., Carvalho, M. B., Bellotti, F., de Freitas, S., Louchart, S., Suttie, N., Berta, R., and De Gloria, A. (2015). Mapping learning and game mechanics for serious games analysis. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 46(2):391–411. https://bera-journals.onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/bjet.12113.
- Artemyeva, O., Makeeva, M., and Milbrud, R. (2005). Methodology of Organising Specialist Training Based on Intercultural Communication. TSTU Publishing House, Taganrog.
- Atherton, G. and Cross, L. (2021). The Use of Analog and Digital Games for Autism Interventions. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/ 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.669734.
- Barker, K. (1999). Quality Guidelines for Technology-Assisted Distance Education. Technical report, FuturEd Consulting Education Futurists. http://futured. com/pdf/distance.pdf.
- Baxter, R. J., Holderness, D. Kip, J., and Wood, D. A. (2017). The Effects of Gamification on Corporate Compliance Training: A Partial Replication and Field Study of True Office Anti-Corruption Training Programs. *Journal of Forensic Accounting Research*, 2(1):A20–A30. https://doi.org/10.2308/jfar-51725.
- Beauvois, M. (1997). Write to Speak: The Effects of Electronic Communication on the Oral Achievement of Fourth Semester French Students. In Muyskens, J. A., editor, New Ways of Learning and Teaching: Focus on Technology and Foreign Language Education, pages 102–124. Heinle & Heinle Publishers, Boston. http://hdl.handle.net/10125/69531.
- Becker, K. (2017). Choosing and Using Digital Games in the Classroom. Advances in Game-Based Learning. Springer Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-319-12223-6.
- Bordia, P. (1997). Face-to-Face Versus Computer-Mediated Communication: A Synthesis of the Experimental

Literature. *The Journal of Business Communication (1973)*, 34(1):99–118. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 002194369703400106.

- Bramble, W. J. and Panda, S., editors (2008). *Economics of Distance and Online Learning: Theory, Practice and Research.* Routledge, New York.
- Chickering, A. W. and Gamson, Z. F. (1987). Seven Principles For Good Practice in Undergraduate Education. AAHE Bulletin, 39(7):3–7. https://www.lonestar.edu/ multimedia/sevenprinciples.pdf.
- Dabbagh, N. and Bannan-Ritland, B. (2005). Online Learning: Concepts, Strategies, and Application. Pearson, Upper Saddle River, NJ.
- Dahlberg, L. (2001). Computer-Mediated Communication and the Public Sphere: a Critical Analysis. *Journal* of Computer-Mediated Communication, 7(1). https: //doi.org/10.1111/j.1083-6101.2001.tb00137.x.
- Dalziel, C., editor (1998). New Connections: A Guide to Distance Education. Instructional Telecommunications Council, Washington, D.C., 2 edition. http://web.archive.org/web/20000126105830/ https://www.itcnetwork.org/definition.htm.
- Deterding, S. (2012). Gamification: Designing for Motivation. *Interactions*, 19(4):14–17. https://doi.org/10. 1145/2212877.2212883.
- Editorial Team (2013). What is GBL (Game-Based Learning)? https://www.edtechreview.in/dictionary/ what-is-game-based-learning.
- European Information Society (2003). eLearning: Better eLearning for Europe. https://www.lu.lv/materiali/ biblioteka/es/pilnieteksti/izglitiba/eLearning%20-% 20Better%20eLearning%20for%20Europe.pdf.
- Fedorenko, E. H., Velychko, V. Y., Stopkin, A. V., Chorna, A. V., and Soloviev, V. N. (2019). Informatization of education as a pledge of the existence and development of a modern higher education. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:20–32. https://doi.org/10.55056/ cte.366.
- Hardaker, C. (2010). Trolling in asynchronous computermediated communication: From user discussions to academic definitions. *Journal of Politeness Research*, 6(2):215–242. https://doi.org/10.1515/jplr.2010.011.
- Huang, B. and Hew, K. F. (2016). Measuring Learners' Motivation Level in Massive Open Online Courses. *International Journal of Information and Education Technology*, 6(10):759–764. https://doi.org/10.7763/ IJIET.2016.V6.788.
- Huotari, K. and Hamari, J. (2012). Defining Gamification: A Service Marketing Perspective. In Proceeding of the 16th International Academic MindTrek Conference, MindTrek '12, page 17–22, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery. https: //doi.org/10.1145/2393132.2393137.
- IHEP (2000). Quality On the Line: Benchmarks for Success in Internet-Based Distance Education. Technical report, The Institute for Higher Education Policy, Washington, DC. https://www.ihep.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/ 05/uploads_docs_pubs_qualityontheline.pdf.

- Im, J. H. (2006). Development of an E-Education Framework. Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration, 9(4). https://www.learntechlib.org/p/193197.
- Interactive Software Federation of Europe (2022). Games in Society.
- Joinson, A. N. (2001). Self-disclosure in computermediated communication: The role of self-awareness and visual anonymity. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 31(2):177–192. https://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ejsp.36.
- Joosten, T. (2022). Tanya Joosten, strategic and collaborative leader for innovation. https://tanyajoosten.com/.
- Keller, J. and Suzuki, K. (2004). Learner motivation and Elearning design: A multinationally validated process. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 29:229–239. https: //doi.org/10.1080/1358165042000283084.
- Keller, J. M. (2010a). Motivational Design for Learn ing and Performance: The ARCS Model Approach. Springer, New York, NY. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-1-4419-1250-3.
- Keller, J. M. (2010b). The Instructional Materials Motivation Survey. https://learninglab.uni-due.de/file/9725/ download?token=71ZAFqWh.
- Kirby, A. (2006). The Death of Postmodernism and Beyond. *Philosophy Now*, 58:34– 37. https://philosophynow.org/issues/58/ The_Death_of_Postmodernism_And_Beyond.
- Kock, N. (2004). The Psychobiological Model: Towards a New Theory of Computer-Mediated Communication Based on Darwinian Evolution. Organization Science, 15(3):327–348. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc. 1040.0071.
- Luksha, P., Cubista, J., Laszlo, A., Popovich, M., Ninenko, I., and participants of GEF sessions in 2014-2017 (2018). Educational Ecosystems for Societal Transformation. Global Education Futures Report, Global Educational Futures. https://globaledufutures. org/educationecosystems.
- Marklund, B. B. (2015). Unpacking Digital Game-Based Learning: The complexities of developing and using educational games. PhD thesis, University of Skövde. http://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2: 891745/FULLTEXT01.pdf.
- Marshall, S. (2010). A Quality Framework for Continuous Improvement of E-learning: The E-learning Maturity Model. International Journal of E-Learning & Distance Education / Revue internationale du e-learning et la formation à distance, 24(1):143–166.
- Masoumi, D. and Lindström, B. (2012). Quality in elearning: a framework for promoting and assuring quality in virtual institutions. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 28:27–41. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1365-2729.2011.00440.x.
- Muriel, D. and Crawford, G. (2018). Video Games As Culture: Considering the Role and Importance of Video Games in Contemporary Society. Routledge, London. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315622743.
- Palloff, R. and Pratt, K. (1999). Building Learning Communities in Cyberspace: Effective Strategies for the

Online Classroom. Jossey-Bass Higher and Adult Education. Jossey-Bass Publishers, San Francisco.

- Piaget, J. (1997). *The Moral Judgment of the Child*. Free Press.
- Rice, L. (2009). Playful Learning. Journal for Education in the Built Environment, 4(2):94–108. https://doi.org/ 10.11120/jebe.2009.04020094.
- Rice, R. E. (2006). Computer-Mediated Communication and Organizational Innovation. *Journal of Communication*, 37(4):65–94. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1460-2466.1987.tb01009.x,.
- Shaffer, D. W., Squire, K. R., Halverson, R., and Gee, J. P. (2005). Video Games and the Future of Learning. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 87(2):105–111. https://doi.org/10. 1177/003172170508700205.
- Silva, R., Rodrigues, R., and Leal, C. (2018). Academic Motivation Scale: Development, Application and Validation for Portuguese Accounting and Marketing Undergraduate Students. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 13(11):1–16. https://doi.org/ 10.5539/ijbm.v13n11p1.
- Supiano, B. (2020). Why is Zoom so exhausting? https://grad.uic.edu/news-stories/ why-is-zoom-so-exhausting/.
- Tokarieva, A. V., Volkova, N. P., Degtyariova, Y. V., and Bobyr, O. I. (2021). E-learning in the present-day context: from the experience of foreign languages department, psacea. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840:012049. https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1742-6596/1840/1/012049.
- Tokarieva, A. V., Volkova, N. P., Harkusha, I. V., and Soloviev, V. N. (2019). Educational digital games: models and implementation. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:74–89. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.369.
- Virtual Campus Lda (2015). Globall Manager. https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=eu. virtualcampus.globall.
- Volery, T. and Lord, D. (2000). Critical success factors in online education. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 14(5):216–223. https://doi.org/ 10.1108/09513540010344731.
- Walther, J. B. (1996). Computer-Mediated Communication: Impersonal, Interpersonal, and Hyperpersonal Interaction. *Communication Research*, 23(1):3–43. https://doi.org/10.1177/009365096023001001.
- Wouters, P., Nimwegen, C., Oostendorp, H., and Spek, E. (2013). A Meta-Analysis of the Cognitive and Motivational Effects of Serious Games. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 105:249. https://doi.org/10.1037/ a0031311.
- Zemliansky, P. and Wilcox, D., editors (2010). Design and Implementation of Educational Games: Theoretical and Practical Perspectives. IGI Global. https: //doi.org/10.4018/978-1-61520-781-7.
- Zhu, Y., Wolpow, D., Ramesh, R., Zheng, Y., and Wang, X. (2018). Prism. https://www.gamesforchange.org/ game/prism/.

Mnemonic Techniques and Formation of Teachers' Ability to Use Them

Marina G. Drushlyak¹[®], Olena V. Semenikhina¹[®], Volodymyr V. Proshkin²[®],

Svitlana V. Puchno¹^{®d} and Artem O. Yurchenko¹^{®e}

¹Makarenko Sumy State Pedagogical University, 87 Romenska Str., Sumy, 40002, Ukraine

²Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, 18/2 Bulvarno-Kudriavska Str., Kyiv, 04053, Ukraine

 $\{marydru, e.semenikhina\} @ fizmatsspu.sumy.ua, v.proshkin@kubg.edu.ua, \{svetlanapuhno, artem.yurchenko\} @ gmail.com and a statistical st$

Keywords: Mnemonics, Mnemovisual Models, Teachers' Training, Training.

Abstract: The article reveals the problem of the expediency of teachers' training to use mnemonics in professional activities. This problem is caused by the intensification of the educational process, when the amount of information accumulated by mankind is many times greater than the amount of knowledge that can be assimilated by a particular person. It has been established that mnemonics should be used in the process of learning mathematics as a way of perceiving new information through the formation of associative connections with the help of special methods and techniques. The expediency of teachers' trainings for use of different mnemonics methods is substantiated. The classification of software used to create mnemovisual models is presented. The training on mastering mnemonic methods of teaching material development has been developed and implemented. The prospects of scientific research through the development of methodological support for the teachers' training to use the techniques of mnemonics in professional activities are outlined.

1 INTRODUCTION

Modern youth is developing in an environment saturated with powerful and intense information flows. The amount of information accumulated by mankind is many times greater than the amount of knowledge that can be acquired by a person. The constant increase in information, combined with high competition and the demands of society, leads to an intensification of the educational process. On the other hand, the intensification of the educational process leads to a number of problems in the mental and somatic health of students. In such conditions, the problem of the educatee's cognitive load appears, which consists in the fact that a person can achieve the optimal level of assimilation of material only if there is an adequate load on the subject's memory.

The success of training depends on the level of development of mnemonic processes that ensure the memorization, preservation, and reproduction of information in the brain obtained during human interac-

- ^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9648-2248
- ^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3896-8151
- ° https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9785-0612
- d https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0657-442X
- ^e https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6770-186X

tion with the outside world. Therefore, the introduction of effective approaches to memorizing a variety of information can partially solve the problem of cognitive load. As one of such approaches, we consider the use of mnemonics as a way to improve new information by creating associative relationships using special methods and techniques.

The problem of using mnemonics in the educational process is presented in the following findings:

- Scruggs and Mastropieri (Scruggs and Mastropieri, 2000) describe the effects of specific mnemonic (memory-enhancing) strategies in decision problem of memoring for academic content;
- Yesavage et al. (Yesavage et al., 1990) describe of treatment elderly, which included imagery mnemonics for remembering names, faces, and lists;
- Richter et al. (Richter et al., 2016) consider memory as medical aspect and proposed consider memoring as mnemonic representation that links present experience with overlapping past experience;
- Miller and Mercer (Miller and Mercer, 1993) provide examples of acronym mnemonics that have

Drushlyak, M., Semenikhina, O., Proshkin, V., Puchno, S. and Yurchenko, A.

Mnemonic Techniques and Formation of Teachers' Ability to Use Them.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 529-541 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

been used successfully to improve the math performance of students with learning disabilities;

- Nelson et al. (Nelson et al., 2013) describe the effects of a mnemonic strategy on the retention and application of single-digit multiplication facts with students with math difficulties;
- Manalo et al. (Manalo et al., 2000) touch upon influence of mnemonic instruction on the computational skills performance of 13- to 14-year-old students with mathematics learning disabilities;
- Kayaalti (Kayaalti, 2018) touch upon to investigate university Saudi students' attitudes towards the mnemonic keyword method;
- Sariçoban and Başibek (Sariçoban and Başibek, 2012) make the comparison analysis of the effects of using mnemonic technique providing some keywords to students and context method on the retention of the vocabulary items;
- Falkovskaya et al. (Falkovskaya et al., 2018) touch upon many mnemonic methods, which, based on the positive resources of native speaker development, contribute to the painless memo-rization and further use of difficult material.

In the above-mentioned findings, it is proved that mnemonic techniques are used to improve the assimilation of complex information that does not have established logical connections between its elements from the point of view of the person who remembers it. Mentioned above findings and other ones confirm that the use of mnemonics improves the volume and accuracy of memorization and development of cognitive processes, increases the duration of storage and the quality of reproduction of acquired information.

Analysis of findings related to the teachers' training to use mnemonics in Ukraine, revealed the fragmentary nature of such scientific research, for example, a special course devoted to mastering the mnemonic techniques by pre-service mathematics teachers was described in (Drushlyak et al., 2021).

Survey of teachers (135 Mathematics, Physics, Computer science, Ukrainian language, Biology, Chemistry, English, History teachers) on their knowledge of mnemonics showed that only half (55.5% of respondents heard about mnemonics, only a third of these (39.3%) use mnemonics at their lessons, and, as a rule, all ideas are borrowed from the Internet (100% of those who use mnemonics) (table 1).

Therefore, regarding the effectiveness of the positive impact of mnemonics on the results of educational activities and lack of teachers' awareness of various subjects in mnemonics, the problem of preparing teachers to use mnemonics in professional activities is relevant. The Research Purpose. To describe the common mnemonic techniques to support the educational process and justify the effectiveness of training in mastering the mnemonic techniques for service teachers.

2 RESEARCH METHODS

The achievement of the research objective was facilitated by the use of a set of appropriate methods: analysis of scientific literature in order to establish the state of development of the problem being studied, determining the categorical and conceptual apparatus of the study; synthesis, generalization, systematization for the theoretical justification of the appropriateness of training teachers to use the of mnemonic techniques and methods in professional activities; empirical: diagnostic (questionnaire), statistical (the sign test) to assess the appropriateness of using trainings.

The experimental base of the study is the institutions of general secondary education in Kiev, Sumy and Irpin, Makarenko Sumy State Pedagogical University, Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University.

3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The process of memorizing educational material is more intensive provided that subjects are engaged in active thinking, using their operations of comparison, analysis, synthesis, classification, generalization. Use of memos, tables, instructions, visual supports that help students gradually, without overload, to perceive and remember significant objects are effective.

An essential characteristic of the process of memorization is a measure of understanding the memorized material. Therefore, meaningful and mechanical memorization is usually emphasised.

Mechanical memorization is memorization without awareness of the logical connection between the various parts of the material (memorization of historical dates, statistics, etc.). The basis of mechanical memorization is related associations. One part of the material binds to the other only because it follows it in time. To establish such a connection, it is necessary to repeat the studied material several times.

Meaningful memorization is based on an understanding of the internal logical connections between the individual parts of the material. Two positions, one of which is derived from the other, are remembered not because they follow each other in time, but because they are logically connected. Therefore, meaningful memorization is associated with thinking

			Mathematics teachers	Physics teachers	Computer science teachers	Ukrainian language teachers	Biology teachers	Chemistry teachers	English teachers	History teachers	Total
No	Question	Answer	22	15	23	12	15	13	18	17	135
1	Do you know the mnemonics techniques?	Yes/ No	17/ 5	6/9	13/ 10	7/5	7/ 8	6/7	10/8	9/ 8	75/60
2	Do you use mnemonics at your lessons?	Yes/ No	14/8	5/10	10/13	4/8	4/11	5/ 8	5/ 13	6/11	53/82
3	Do you think it is ap- propriate to use the mnemonics techniques in the educational pro- cess?	Yes/ No	17/ 5	6/9	13/10	4/ 8	4/11	5/8	5/13	6 /11	60/ 75
4	What mnemonic tech- niques did you use at your lessons?	 Visualization Color Accent Comedian Storytelling Analogy Fiction Rhyming Hyperbole Interpretation 	1, 2, 5	1, 2, 4, 5	1, 2, 5, 8, 9	1, 2, 7	1, 2, 5	1, 2, 5	1, 2, 5, 7, 9	1, 2, 4, 6	1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9
5	Where do you get ideas for mnemonics?	A. Author's B. Internet C. Colleagues' D. Advanced training	B, C, D	В	В	B, C	В	В	B, C	В	B, C, D

Table 1: The results of a survey of teachers on the use of mnemonics in professional activities.

processes and relies mainly on generalized relationships between parts of the material at the level of the second signaling system.

It is worth paying attention to the meaningful memorization of the material studied. To do this, it is necessary to divide its semantic group into parts with the separation of the main and essential in each of its parts. In addition, it is necessary to find and highlight semantic support points in each part, that is, thoughts, expressions and images that define the essence of this part and the oral or written formulations of this essence in the form of short headings for each part. Finally, it is necessary to establish links between the selected parts and understand the logical sequence of their location, to draw up a general plan for the location of educational material.

In order to meaningful memorize educational material, mnemonic methods and techniques are determined (figure 1). The work of Chepurnoy and Bura (Chepurnoy and Bura, 2015) on educational mnemonics as a technology of effective assimilation of information became a reference point for us.

Link Method is a method of combining information units by creating associative links between them.

The method consists of the following techniques: Storytelling technique (using stories), Rhyming technique (using music, rhyme, chants, poems, songs, counting out rhymes, etc.), Sequential Associations technique (sequential associative connections are created), Bonding technique (combining information units into a single holistic image with preservation of the main features and functions), Synthesis technique (information units are combined into a single integrated image with a common associative connection), Key Letters technique (an associative connection is created between the first letters of words, you need to remember, and the first letters of words of a



Figure 1: Mnemonic methods and techniques.

specially created sentence), *Logical Questions technique* (an additional logical associative connection is created between images remembered through answers to the main questions – What? How? Why? etc. about the relationship between them).

Key Letters Technique (Mathematics). In the study of the topic "Disclosure of brackets. Similar terms and their construction" it is worthwhile to draw the attention of students to the sign that appears before the brackets. If there is a *minus*, then we change all signs to the opposite, if *plus*, then leave the expression unchanged, for example:

- (a + b) "Minus" Miniaiemo znaky (in Ukrainian), Minus - Change the signs; in Ukrainian, the words minus and change begin with the letter m;
- + (a + b) "Pljus" Perepysujemo bez zmin (in Ukrainian), Plus Rewrite without changes; in Ukrainian, the words plus and rewrite begin with the letter p.

Key Letters Technique (English). Memorizing the spelling rules of some words.

Teacher – There is an ache in every teacher.

Measurement – Be **sure** of your mea**sure**ments before you start work.

Principal – Your principal is your pal.

Necessary – Never Eat Crisps, Eat Salad Sandwiches, And Remain Young!

Transformation Method is a method of primary processing of information, which turns information that is difficult to perceive into convenient for efficient reproduction.

The method consists of the following techniques: Analogy (between the informational units of the memorable find common signs, properties, qualities, development trends, etc.), Transformation (the objects of the memorable are transformed into others in value and in order to facilitate memorization), Pictograms (abstract or such information must be remembered, schematically depicted by simplified drawings, pictograms), Stenographer (text information that is memorized is recorded using separate key letters, special characters and a number of abbreviations), Phonetic Association (a consonant word or part of it is selected to memorize an unfamiliar word, which associatively associated with the meaning of the original word), Neologism (to improve the memorization of information (words, letters, symbols) new words, terms, concepts, phrases are created) (figure 2), Digital Image (digital information when memorizing is associated with certain images or systems about times), Digital-Letter Code digits of numbers in letters to compose specially selected

words for the purpose of their further memorization), *Individual Association* (for information that is memorable, associative connections are found with individually known data, events, information), *Regularity* (for remembering information, certain logical, mathematical or other regular relationships are found and rules).

The *Amplification method* is a method of increasing the efficiency of perception, preservation and reproduction of created associative connections and images formed by the methods of transformation and binding.

The method consists of the following techniques: Modality, Character, Personification, Hyperbole, Comedian, Fiction, Stereo, Color Accent, Visualization, Interpretation, Emotional Accent. Examples of the use of some techniques are shown in figures 3, 4.

To confirm the appropriateness of mastering the mnemonic techniques, pedagogical survey was conducted. During March-May 2019, we conducted a survey of 32 service mathematics teachers in Kiev, Sumy, Dnipro and Irpin on the expediency of using mnemonic techniques in professional activities. In May 2021, we conducted a similar survey of 135 teachers, but in different subjects (Mathematics, Physics, Computer science, Ukrainian language, Biology, Chemistry, English, History). The data were integrated and analyzed. In particular, we found that 87% of teachers (Mathematics teachers in 2019) and 44.4% of teachers of various subjects (in 2021) said about the expediency of using mnemonic techniques, of which 77.2% of mathematics teachers were in favor of using mnemonic techniques.

Among the techniques Visualization, Color accent, Analogy, Storytelling, Rhyming and Interpretation are in favour. The figure 5 summarizes the results of the 2019 and 2021 surveys.

Based on the teachers' opinion that Visualization and Color Accent are the most effective techniques, which contribute to the meaningful memorization of educational material. We can paid attention to the software for creating visual models:

- 1) Office software products with Smart objects;
- 2) Mind Mapping software;
- services for creating whiteboard animation (scribing) presentations;
- 4) software for creating infographics.

Let's describe these groups. The office software package (MS Word, MS Excel, MS Power Point) is offered with the function of constructing Smart objects that allow you to efficiently create mnemovisual models in the form of a list, connection, matrix, process, cycle, hierarchy, pyramid (figure 6).



Figure 3: Color accent technique.

Mindmapping is a technology that allows you to efficiently restore information (past), generate and capture New Ideas (future), draw conclusions and establish connections between them by building mind maps. Mind maps is the development of Tony Busan – a British psychologist who began developing the concept of smart cards back in the 1970s (Buzan, 2022). Interesting Ideas and technologies for creating smart cards in the process of teaching mathematics are presented in the works of modern scientists: Choo et al. (Choo et al., 2014), Solmi (Solmi, 2016).

To build mind map software X-Mind, Free-Mind, Coggle, Mind-Meister are used. Such software help to fix ideas, organize them into various diagrams, use these diagrams together with other users. The mentioned software allow you to build mind maps (figure 7, 8), Ishikawa diagrams (fishbone diagrams or cause-effect diagrams), tree diagrams, logic diagrams, tables.

The main areas of application of mind maps in the professional activities of teachers include: creating lesson plans of any type; planning educational activities; algorithms for solving problems; study of new educational material; consolidation and verification of the studied material; systematization and repetition of the studied material in preparation for the state final certification, external independent evaluation.

Scribing technique is used to activate the cognitive and mnemonic activity of educatees, to visualize the educational process. Scribing is a mnemonic technology for the visualization of educational material, which provides the display of key moments of its content (properties of the learning object, its internal and external connections) by using simple graphic elements (drawings, pictograms, symbols, words, circuits, diagrams) sequentially created on the screen in according to the oral presentation (or audio).

The appearance of whiteboard animation (video scribing) is associated with the Andrew Park, who popularized this technology (We are Cognitive, 2023). Sarkar (Sarkar, 2009) notes that this way of presenting information has become more productive for explaining to the audience, because it uses the parallel effect when the audience simultaneously hears



Figure 4: Color accent technique "Past Simple".

The use of mnemonic techniques by teachers



Figure 5: The use of mnemonic techniques by teachers according to the results of surveys in 2019 and 2021 (%).

and sees about the same thing, while the graphic series is fixed on key moments of the audio sequence.

Among a large number of services there are several useful for creating video scribing presentations such as: Sparcol Video Scribe (https://www. sparkol.com/en/, figure 9, 10), Powtoon (https://www. powtoon.com/), Vyond Studio (https://www.vyond. com/), Plotagon Story (https://www.plotagon.com/).

Infographics is the technology of the presentation of educational material in the form of statistical graphs, maps, charts, diagrams, tables that "explain". Educational visibility is used not only for illustration, but also as an independent source of knowledge (figure 11). Services for creating infographics are Infogram, Easel.ly, Parchment, Venngage and more.

Starting in 2020, we have launched trainings for teachers on mastering the mnemonic techniques (3 hours) (table 2). Teachers of various subjects were invited to the trainings. The total number of teachers involved in the training was 135 persons. The training is based on training for students, pre-service mathematics teachers (Drushlyak et al., 2021).

We investigated the impact of training on the development of teachers' skills of various subjects to create and use mnemonic didactic materials.

To determine the level of awareness of teachers in mnemonics, a survey was conducted (135 respondents). 39% (53 people) of teachers confirmed, but fragmentary, the use of mnemonics in their own lessons. Among the positive aspects of the use of mnemonic techniques, teachers noted the revival of the learning process (39%, 53 people) for students and the development of creative thinking for teachers (33%, 45 people). According to them, the lack of time to search for or develop mnemonic didactic materials (30%, 41 people) and the lack of developed mnemonic didactic materials for each topic (33%, 53 people) are negative in the use of mnemonic techniques.

4 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS OF RESULTS

At the beginning of each training, teachers were assessed for their ability to reproduce any of the mnemonic techniques using digital technology (office package and online services was allowed to create



Figure 6: Mnemovisual models created using Smart objects.



Figure 7: Mind Map "Similar triangles".

images). The evaluation criteria were: comprehensibility of reception (1 point), rational choice of digital technology (1 point), quality of visual content (1 point), determining the didactic purpose of the created



Figure 8: Mind Map "Irregular Verbs".



Figure 9: Video scribe "Proportion".

mnemonic means (1 point).

After the training, teacher evaluation was conducted again (a similar task with the same evaluation criteria was used).

Some of the works of teachers are presented in figures 7, 10, 11.

According to the results of data processing, the positive impact of training on the development of teachers' skills in various subjects to create and use mnemonic didactic materials was confirmed. Statistical analysis of the results was performed on the basis of non-parametric sign test for dependent samples. We compiled comparative tables, which recorded the dynamics of results for each of the trainings (2020 - 2 trainings, 2021 - 2 trainings). Each time the results were collected on samples of 32, 35, 37, 31, respectively. 30 pairs of results taken at random from the total set of results were studied (table 3).

These points (table 4) determined the number of



Figure 10: Video scribe "Degrees of adverb comparison".



Figure 11: Infographics.

respondents whose total score decreased ("-"), did not change ("0") and increased ("+").

In accordance with the objectives of the experiment, a null hypothesis was formulated: the organization of training does not promote the development of skills of teachers of different subjects to create and use mnemonic didactic materials. Then an alternative hypothesis: the organization of training promotes the development of such skills.

The constructed hypotheses defined a one-sided sign test for testing dependent samples. According to the decision-making rule (Grabar and Krasnjanskaja, 1977) we have: value $T_{exp} = 16$ (number of "+" in the sample), n = 20 (number of respondents, which have changes in results), acceptance interval of null hypothesis: [6, 14] at the significance level 0.05.

Since T_{exp} is not included in the acceptance interval of hypothesis H_0 , we reject the null hypothesis and accept the alternative one, concluding that the training promotes the development of teachers' skills of different subjects to create and use mnemonic didactic materials. Since the value of T_{exp} went beyond the interval on the right, we concluded that the positive dynamics of the number of teachers who have developed the ability to create and use mnemonic didactic materials.

Additionally, we studied the ability to create authorial examples of mnemonic techniques and the ability to reproduce them in digital form. It should be noted that natural sciences and mathematics teachers, as a rule, had no problems with the technical implementation of the plan in contrast to humanities teach-

The number of hours	Contents	Training methods	Learning tools	Expected learning outcomes
0,25	Memory. Mechan- ical and meaningful memorization	Verbal methods (story, conversation)	Presentation	An idea of the mechanisms of hu- man memory, knowledge of the types of memorization of educa- tional information; development of teacher professional competence
0,75	Educational mnemonics as a technology for the effective assimila- tion of information. Mnemonics and their corresponding mnemonic tech- niques	Verbal methods (story, conversa- tion), visual methods (demonstration, display), Interactive methods (brain- storming)	Presentation	Knowledge of the methods and techniques of mnemonics: Link Method (techniques: Sequential Associations, Key Letters Method), Transformation Method (Analogy technique), Amplification method (techniques: modality, character, personification, hyperbole, come- dian, fiction, stereo, color ac- cent, visualization, interpretation, emotional accent); development of teacher professional competence
0,5	Specialized soft- ware for supporting mnemonic tech- niques	Visual methods (demonstration, dis- play)	 Presentation, Specialized software: 1) office software products with Smart-objects; 2) mind mapping programs; 3) services for creating scribing presentations; 4) programs for creating infographics 	The concept of specialized software groups for supporting mnemonic techniques, knowledge of special- ized software (including freeware) and its computer tools for support- ing mnemonic techniques; develop- ment of teacher professional com- petence
1,5	Development of copyright materials for mnemonic sup- port	Interactive methods (brainstorming, case- method)	MS Power Point, X-Mind, Free-Mind, Powtoon Easel.ly	Knowledge of specialized software examples, knowledge of software tools (MS Power Point, X-Mind, Free-Mind, Powtoon, Easel.ly), the ability to use specialized soft- ware tools to accompany mnemonic techniques; ability to analyze cre- ated products; development of teacher professional competence

Table 2: Detailing the content of the training on the development of mnemonic techniques.

ers, who rather presented ideas of mnemonic techniques, but spent more time implementing the technical part of creating mnemonic didactic materials.

5 CONCLUSIONS

In the process of analyzing the scientific literature, it was found that the level of development of mnemonic processes that ensure the memorization, storage and reproduction of information in the brain, depends on the success of learning. In order to introduce effective ways to memorize a variety of information, mnemonics is considered as a way of perceiving new information through the formation of associative connections using special methods and techniques.

The method of "Binding" consists of techniques: Storytelling, Rhyme, Sequential Associations, Gluing, Synthesis, Key Letters, Logical Questions. The method of "Transformation" consists of techniques:

Table 3: Results of evaluation of respondents.

Respondent	The first assessment	The second assessment	Respondent	The first assessment	The second assessment	Respondent	The first assessment	The second assessment
1	2	4	11	3	4	21	2	3
2	4	4	12	2	3	22	1	4
3	3	3	13	2	2	23	4	5
4	3	3	14	3	2	24	1	3
5	3	3	15	3	3	25	1	2
6	1	2	16	3	3	26	4	5
7	2	3	17	3	3	27	3	4
8	2	2	18	4	5	28	3	2
9	4	3	19	2	3	29	3	4
10	3	3	20	3	4	30	3	2

Table 4: Comparison results.

Dynamics of points	Number of		
Dynamics of points	respondents		
Negative, "-"	4		
Without changes, "0"	10		
Positive, "+"	16		
Number of changes, $n = "-" + "+"$	20		

Analogy, Transformation, Icons, Stenographer, Phonetic Association, Neologism, Digital Image, Alphanumeric Code, Individual Association, Regularity. The method of "Amplification" consists of techniques: Modality, Sign, Personification, Hyperbole, Comedian, Fable, Stereo, Color Accent, Visualization, Interpretation, Emotional Accent.

As a result of the teacher's survey, a positive attitude to the use of mnemonics was revealed, the most popular of mnemonic techniques were Visualization, Color Accent, Analogy, Storytelling, Rhyme and Interpretation.

The classification of software used to create mnemonic didactic materials is given: a package of office software with Smart-objects; mind mapping software; services for creating video scribing presentations; software for creating infographics.

The training on mastering mnemonic methods of presenting educational material was developed. According to the results of the training, its positive influence on the development of skills to create and use mnemonic didactic materials by teachers of various subjects was confirmed. At the same time, it was noted that natural sciences and mathematics teachers had no problems with the technical implementation of the plan in contrast to humanities teachers, who rather presented ideas of mnemonic techniques, but spent more time implementing the technical part of creating mnemonic didactic materials.

The effectiveness of the training was confirmed by the sign test.

Prospects for further research are seen in the developed methodological support for the training of pre-service teachers to use the techniques of mnemonics in professional activities.

REFERENCES

- Buzan, T. (2022). Improve your Thinking Skills The Inventors of Mind Maps. https://tonybuzan.com/.
- Chepurnoy, G. and Bura, L. (2015). *Educational mnemonics: technology for the effective mastering of information: a training manual.* RIBEST, Sevastopol.
- Choo, P. K., Lou, Z. N., Camburn, B. A., Wood, K. L., Koo, B., and Grey, F. (2014). Ideation Methods: A First Study on Measured Outcomes With Personality Type. In International Design Engineering Technical Conferences and Computers and Information in Engineering Conference, volume 7: 2nd Biennial International Conference on Dynamics for Design; 26th International Conference on Design Theory and Methodology. https://doi.org/10.1115/DETC2014-34954.
- Drushlyak, M. G., Semenikhina, O. V., Proshkin, V. V., and Sapozhnykov, S. V. (2021). Training pre-service mathematics teacher to use mnemonic techniques. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840:012006. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1840/1/012006.
- Falkovskaya, A. V., Mukhamedzyanova, E. K., Goryacheva, O. N., and Potanina, A. V. (2018). Mnemonics efficiency in language practice. *Revista San Gregorio*, 25:69–74. https://revista.sangregorio.edu.ec/index. php/REVISTASANGREGORIO/article/view/763.
- Grabar, M. I. and Krasnjanskaja, K. A. (1977). Application of mathematical statistics in pedagogical researches. Nonparametric methods. Pedagogika, Moscow.
- Kayaaltı, M. (2018). Mnemonic Technique An Effective Vocabulary Teaching Method to Plurilingual Students. *Modern Journal of Language Teaching Methods* (*MJLTM*), 8(5). http://mjltm.org/article-1-219-en. html.
- Manalo, E., Bunnell, J. K., and Stillman, J. A. (2000). The Use of Process Mnemonics in Teaching Students with Mathematics Learning Disabilities. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 23(2):137–156. https://doi.org/10.2307/ 1511142.
- Miller, S. P. and Mercer, C. D. (1993). Mnemonics: Enhancing the Math Performance of Students with Learning Difficulties. *Intervention in School* and Clinic, 29(2):78–82. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 105345129302900204.
- Nelson, P. M., Burns, M. K., Kanive, R., and Ysseldyke, J. E. (2013). Comparison of a math fact rehearsal

and a mnemonic strategy approach for improving math fact fluency. *Journal of School Psychology*, 51(6):659–667. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2013.08. 003.

- Richter, F. R., Chanales, A. J., and Kuhl, B. A. (2016). Predicting the integration of overlapping memories by decoding mnemonic processing states during learning. *NeuroImage*, 124:323–335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2015.08.051.
- Sarkar, S. (2009). Wiki-enhanced social scribing of lectures: A case study in an undergraduate course. In 2009 39th IEEE Frontiers in Education Conference, pages 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1109/FIE.2009. 5350818.
- Sarıçoban, A. and Başıbek, N. (2012). Orta-üstü Düzeyde Sözcük Öğretiminde Kullanılan Bağlam Yöntemine Karşı Bellek Destekleyici Tekniği [Mnemonics Technique versus Context Method in Teaching Vocabulary at Upper-Intermediate Level]. Eğitim ve Bilim [Education and Science], 37(164):251– 266. http://egitimvebilim.ted.org.tr/index.php/EB/ article/view/783.
- Scruggs, T. E. and Mastropieri, M. A. (2000). The Effectiveness of Mnemonic Instruction for Students with Learning and Behavior Problems: An Update and Research Synthesis. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 10(2):163–173. https://doi.org/10.1023/A: 1016640214368.
- Solmi, R. (2016). Instance Modeling Assisted by an Optional Meta Level. In *Proceedings of the International Workshop on Domain-Specific Modeling*, DSM 2016, page 53–57, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/ 3023147.3023156.
- We are Cognitive (2023). What is whiteboard animation? https://www.wearecognitive.com/ whiteboard-animation.
- Yesavage, J. A., Sheikh, J. I., Friedman, L., and Tanke, E. (1990). Learning mnemonics: roles of aging and subtle cognitive impairment. *Psychology and Aging*, 5(1):133–137. https://doi.org/10.1037//0882-7974.5. 1.133.

The Potential of Higher Education Digitalization in Central and Eastern Europe

Anastasiia Simakhova¹¹^a and Artem Artyukhov²^b

¹National Aviation University, 1 Liubomyra Huzara Ave., Kyiv, 03058, Ukraine ²Sumy State University, 2 Rymskogo-Korsakova Str., Sumy, 40007, Ukraine anastasiia.simakhova@npp.nau.edu.ua, a.artyukhov@pohnp.sumdu.edu.ua

Keywords: Digitization, Global Indicators, Grouping, SWOT Analysis, Pandemic, War.

Abstract: Digital has penetrated into all spheres of life. Since 2020, due to the pandemic, all countries around the world have started using online learning. The digitalization of higher education during the war in Ukraine is especially important, because avoided the collapse of the educational system. The aim of the article is to highlight the potential of higher education digitization in Eastern and Central Europe. To achieve the goal of the article, the following tasks were set: to study the theoretical basis of the digitization of education, to analyze the trends and problems of the higher education digitalization. The article analyzed the ranks of the Network Readiness Index, Digital Skills Gap Index (DSGI), and IMD World Digital Competitiveness Ranking in terms of technological readiness of universities and digital skills of academic teachers and students. The article offers a case study of the Ukrainian university for the implementation of an e-learning environment and new instruments of e-learning during the war in Ukraine. The authors grouped countries of Central and Eastern Europe according to their potential for higher education digitalization. For these groups of countries, the authors identified specific criteria. SWOT analysis of the higher education digitalization was conducted for the countries of Central and Eastern Europe.

1 INTRODUCTION

Digital transformation involves the transformation of all areas of public life under the influence of advanced innovative information and communication technologies (ICT), including in the education system, which is the foundation of an innovative economy and shapes its human potential. This determines the relevance of accelerating the digital transformation of education in the countries of Central and Eastern Europe. The digital transformation of education is necessary to ensure that the educational process meets the needs of the labor market, increases the level of participation in these processes of educational institutions of all levels and other organizations of the educational system, as well as scientists, managers and specialists of government agencies, representatives of the private sector of business.

The huge potential of digitalization for higher education is that online platforms, online courses, online universities can be used in the face of global challenges. First of all, these are pandemics, when social contacts need to be reduced, and war, when there are many refugees, the territorial connection of students with their university is lost. Especially in the current war between Ukraine and Russia, the issue of effective use of the potential of digitalization of higher education is relevant, given the large number of Ukrainian refugees (including students) in neighboring Eastern and Central Europe.

The *aim* of the article is to highlight the potential of higher education digitization in Easternand Central Europe. The object of the research is the digitization of higher education. The subject of the research is the potential of higher education digitization in Eastern and Central Europe.

The *scientific novelty* of the research is the grouping of the countries of Central and Eastern Europe according to their potential of higher education digitalization. The practical significance of the study is that the results of the article can be used during the war in Ukraine, when hundreds of thousands of entrants and students leave the country for Central and

542

Simakhova, A. and Artyukhov, A.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7553-4531

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1112-6891

The Potential of Higher Education Digitalization in Central and Eastern Europe.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 542-553 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Eastern Europe.

The research methods used in the article include literature analysis (a review of research to date in the field of higher education digitalization) and taxonomic methods used to determine the development and potential of higher education digitalization in the countries of Central and Eastern Europe, according to the ranks of the Network Readiness Index, Digital Skills Gap Index, and IMD World Digital Competitiveness Ranking in terms of technological readiness of universities, academic teachers and students for online education, as well as the method of SWOT analysis (according to the higher education digitalization in Central and Eastern Europe).

2 LITERATURE REVIEW

The VOSViewer and SciVal tools were used to conduct a brief bibliometric analysis on the re quest "digitalization of education". The array of publications for analysis was obtained from the Scopus database (https://www.scopus.com/).

Bibliometric analysis using the VOSViewer tool (base for analysis - 1408 articles for the period 2010-2020) (figure 1) made it possible to identify the main keywords that are most often found in scientific papers in connection with the direction of digitalization in education. The cluster "education" is of great interest for analysis, which links the terms "e-learning", "virtual reality", "augmented reality", "decision making", "sustainable development", "economics" and, in fact, demonstrates the model of university development. in this direction. The relevance of considering this cluster is confirmed by a number of domestic works that are devoted to. in particular, digitalization of education in general (Yarovenko et al., 2021), state regulation and management of the quality of education (Vorontsova et al., 2020; Pavlenko et al., 2020), ensuring the quality of education in subject areas (Onopriienko et al., 2021; Lyeonov and Liuta, 2016), quality of education and sustainable development goals (Artyukhov et al., 2021).

It should be noted that in the world the topic of digitalization of education is gaining momentum, as can be seen from the data in figure 2 (SciVal bibliometric analysis tool). However, the number of publications in comparison with other industries is insignificant, which confirms the relevance of studying various aspects of this direction.

Continuing the analysis, it is also necessary to address the topics that are most often associated with the request for digitalization of education (figure 3, Sci-Val bibliometric analysis tool). The combination of keywords shown in the figure that add up to topics (the figure shows top-1% of topics by prominence, 2510 articles for the period 2011-2020 were used for analysis) leads the reader to the main promising ("break-through") directions of the development of the digitalization model of education. These areas can be taken as general ones when creating a digitalization strategy for the educational process at the university.

Thus, the data of bibliometric analysis provide a basis for finding optimal solutions for the digitalization of education in the region, which is studied in this work.

With regard to scientific papers on the digitalization of education, it is worth paying attention to the research of such authors. The problem of using digital technologies in education was studied by Henderson et al. (Henderson et al., 2017), Turuk (Turuk, 2021), Pettersson (Pettersson, 2021), Kafyulilo et al. (Kafyulilo et al., 2016), Sahu (Sahu, 2020), Artino (Artino, 2010), Alqurashi (Alqurashi, 2019). The authors examined the prospects for the digitalization of education, as well as the attitude of students towards distance and online learning. This issue has become esppesiallt important since beginning of COVID-19 pandemic.

The digitalization of education in Central and Eastern Europe was dealt with by Chitez et al. (Chitez et al., 2020), Rogobete and Chitez (Rogobete and Chitez, 2019), Simakhova et al. (Simakhova et al., 2022), Frances and Fleck (Frances and Fleck, 2020), Zinovieva et al. (Zinovieva et al., 2021). These scientists have studied the strategies, models, phases and problems of digitalization of education in Central and Eastern Europe.

Despite the mentioned studies, the issue of comparing, grouping and highlighting the potential of higher education digitalization in Central and Eastern Europe has not been resolved. This led to the relevance of this article.

3 CASES OF HIGHER EDUCATION DIGITALIZATION IN CENTRAL AND EASTERN EUROPE

The total quarantine and the abrupt conversion of educational institutions to distance learning in March 2020 revealed some of the problems with the digitization of education in the countries of Central and Eastern Europe.

Since the beginning of the quarantine in March 2020, higher education institutions in Ukraine were



Figure 1: Results of bibliometric analysis using VOSViewer tool.



2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Figure 2: Number of publications in the field of digitalization of education.

not fully prepared for online education, they used only certain elements of online education. And online teaching methods needed development and clear regulation. During the interviews in May-June 2020, most HEIs noted that their institutions used certain elements of online education before the quarantine and relied heavily on the Moodle system. In addition, the development of online education had a specific date and was a response to the demands of time or circumstance. Thus, some online courses were introduced for students of the displaced HEI's (HEI's who were resettled from Donetsk and Luhansk region (Stukalo and Simakhova, 2020)).

Nevertheless, online training courses on digital platforms, online courses, were established in the first

month. In addition, the session, certification and even passing the state exams in the summer of 2020 were held online.

It is worth noting that Ukrainian universities have positive experience with online accreditation.

For two years now, the countries of Central and Eastern Europe have had the experience of distance learning at universities on various online platforms.

The European Commission has approved a Digital Education Action Plan (2021-2027). It focuses on two important areas (EU, 2020):

- promoting the development of an effective digital education system (infrastructure, communications, technical means, development of teaching and teaching competencies, high-quality educational content);
- improving digital skills (basic digital skills from an early age, combating misinformation, ensuring equal access for women and girls to digital learning, etc.).

Distance education, new requirements for the educational process have become a challenge for the educational system. The pandemic has affected the habitual lifestyles of students, their families and teachers, caused economic and social consequences, ex-



Figure 3: Top-1% of topics by prominence on digitalization of education.

acerbated a number of socio-economic problems, including (MON, 2020):

- Equitable access to education (disparity in families' provision of distance education resources and unequal access to quality Internet);
- Provision of educational services for children with special educational needs (children with certain pathologies are not able to receive educational services at a distance);
- other socio-economic problems caused by the pandemic.

In Ukraine at the beginning of 2020, 86% of Ukrainian teachers did not have significant experience in using online education tools, so universities provided teaching to teach skills in using these tools, creating or transferring courses online and organizing learning in general – by issuing instructions, creating YouTube channels, Telegram, Facebook groups, instructions for creating syllabus courses for online learning, etc. (Nazarenko and Polishuk, 2021). But an important problem was the increase in the workload of teachers, including additional time to master the skills of using digital technologies in education, creating or transferring their courses to distance education systems, their regular updating, supplementation and communication with students. It was noted that the time spent on communication with students has increased, as explaining the task in writing (or adding a description to the online course) is longer than in the classroom, as well as possible additional individual questions from students, and correspondence with them also increases working hours of teachers. In addition, the reason for irregular working hours was the need to develop classes in a new format and search for additional materials (Nazarenko and Polishuk, 2021).

In Ukraine about half of Ukrainians are negative about the introduction of distance education in connection with the pandemic, 32% of citizens supported this step. Categorically negative assessments are most in the Southern (29%) and Eastern (28%) regions (Razumkov Center, 2020).

The most significant problems faced by Ukrainians in connection with the transition to distance learning are the decline in children's achievement (26%), lack of attention of teachers to children's learning needs (22%) and technical problems: poor quality of the Internet (21%) or lack of devices for online learning (19%). About 20-30% of citizens in small towns (up to 100 thousand inhabitants) report a lack of technical means (Razumkov Center, 2020).

Thus, the survey showed problems in the technical equipment of participants in the educational process.

The Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine in May 2021 prepared a draft Concept of Digital Transformation of Education and Science for the period until 2026 (MON, 2021), which is a strategic document with a state vision for the development of these industries and solving the problems of their development.

Digitalization of higher education in Poland is more developed than in other Eastern European countries. Kozminski University, Lodz University of Technology, Warsaw School of Economics and the Jagiellonian University are universities with different educational profiles combining exemplary use of digital tools in scientific, administrative and research activities. All four universities were the first in Poland to be awarded in the Most Innovative Universities Program and to receive the title of "Microsoft Cloud University" (BRIEF, 2021).

Despite the fact that Poland has more experience in distance education than Ukraine and Belarus, some important problems appeared in 2020 and 2021:

- insufficient supply of computers to participants of the educational process (97% of households have at least one computer, but many of them have difficulties because computers have to be shared by siblings, etc.) (Delmanowicz, 2021);
- reduced bandwidth of connection and limited amount of monthly data transfer;
- lack of digital skills among teachers (85% of teachers reported that they had very little experience in using the tools needed for distance education, and only 5% of them described their skills in this area as "very good". Only 8% of students believe that teachers are very well prepared for online learning, and 62% of them consider distance learning ineffective) (Delmanowicz, 2021).

Thus, the problems of digitization of education in Poland are similar to Ukrainian problems.

4 PROBLEMS OF DIGITALIZATION OF HIGHER EDUCATION IN CENTRAL AND EASTERN EUROPE

The main problems of digitization of education in Central and Eastern Europe:

- inadequate preparation of teachers for distance education (use of methods of cyber-pedagogy, work on online platforms, underdeveloped digital skills);
- management problems (insufficiently developed digital competences among representatives of the management of educational institutions);
- lack of technical equipment in educational institutions (virtual classrooms, electronic laboratories, etc.);
- lack of quality Internet connection among individual participants in the educational process in connection with their place of residence;
- insufficient provision of individual computers for all participants in the educational process;
- lack of methodological support for distance learning courses (workshops, lectures, etc.);
- increase the time load on teachers due to increased online communications and development of on-line materials for students.

As the above analysis has shown, the countries of Central and Eastern Europe have similar problems in providing digitalization of higher education. Let us analyze the ranks of the Network Readiness Index (NRI), Digital Skills Gap Index (DSGI), and IMD World Digital Competitiveness Ranking in terms of technological readiness of universities and digital skills of teachers and students (table 1, 2, 3).

According to the NRI rating of the studied countries, Switzerland, Germany and Austria have the highest positions -5, 9 and 18, respectively. Also in terms of technological support, Switzerland has a higher position, and Germany -7th. Thus, the Central European high-income countries of the group have a greater potential for digitalization of higher education than the countries of Eastern Europe.

According to table 2, for DSGI Switzerland, Germany and Austria also have the highest positions. Romania, Moldova and Ukraine have the lowest scores of DSGI.

IMD World Digital Competitiveness Ranking represents 64 countries. Among the studied countries, Moldova and Serbia are not represented in this report. As for other Central and Eastern European countries, Switzerland, Austria and Germany have the highest rank. Croatia and Ukraine have the lowest rankings according to this global indicator. The same situationthere is for the level of country preparedness to exploit digital transformation.

Thus, the analysis of global indicators showed different readiness and potential for the introduction of remote and digital technologies in higher education in Central and Eastern Europe.

	NRI	NRI	Technology	Tech	nology S	ub-pillars		
Countries	ronk	score	(Pillar)	1 22255	Contont	Future	Income group	
	Talik		Rank	Access	Content	Technology		
Ukraine	64	49.93	62	79	46	53	Lower-middle-income	
Poland	33	61.80	36	32	34	60	High-income	
Bulgaria	46	55.03	43	50	33	78	Upper-middle-income	
Czech Republic	28	66.33	26	33	20	32	High-income	
Hungary	39	60.05	31	21	32	44	High-income	
Moldova	71	47.09	74	56	66	126	Lower-middle-income	
Romania	49	51.14	46	18	48	82	High-income	
Slovakia	35	60.78	34	38	37	37	High-income	
Austria	18	73.92	16	35	15	17	High-income	
Croatia	43	55.94	52	49	38	118	High-income	
Serbia	52	52.96	53	51	42	103	Upper-middle-income	
Slovenia	27	66.58	29	24	26	35	High-income	
Germany	9	77.48	7	27	10	3	High-income	
Switzerland	5	80.41	1	4	1	7	High-income.	

Table 1: Network Readiness Index ranks in 2020.

Table 2: Digital Skills Gap Index (DSGI) in 2021.

Countries	Score	Rank
Ukraine	4.8	69
Poland	5.6	42
Bulgaria	5.0	60
Czech Republic	5.5	44
Hungary	5.2	50
Moldova	4.7	73
Romania	4.7	74
Slovakia	5.1	52
Austria	6.5	21
Croatia	4.8	66
Serbia	4.8	64
Slovenia	5.7	40
Germany	7.1	14
Switzerland	7.2	11

5 POTENTIAL OF HIGHER EDUCATION DIGITALIZATION IN CENTRAL AND EASTERN EUROPE

The above analysis allowed the authors to group the countries of Central and Eastern Europe according to their potential for the higher education digitalization. Authors have highlighted specific criteria (table 4).

Thus, authors proposed 3 groups of Central and Eastern European countries according to their potential for higher education digitalization of with their indicator. Also, it is necessary to mention that this potential correlates with countries' income group.

Table 3: IMD World Digital Competitiveness Ranking in2021.

		Future Readiness Rank				
		(Level of country				
Countries	Rank	preparedness to				
		exploit digital				
		transformation)				
Ukraine	54	58				
Poland	41	39				
Bulgaria	52	55				
Czech Republic	33	37				
Hungary	45	61				
Romania	50	49				
Slovakia	47	46				
Austria	16	16				
Croatia	55	60				
Slovenia	35	40				
Germany	18	18				
Switzerland	6	3				

High potential for the higher education digitalization have the countries of Central Europe – Austria, Germany, Slovenia and Switzerland. So, the universities of these countries will be more attractive for foreign students in modern conditions of globalization.

Lower-middle potential for higher education digitalization has Ukraine and Moldova. This is an alarming signal given today's war in Ukraine. Firstly, Ukraine currently has a large outflow of young people due to the war. At the end of March 2022, more than 3.8 million people left Ukraine due to the war, mostly young people. Secondly, according to the study, Ukrainian universities and society as a whole have less potential for digitalization of higher educa-

Group	Countries	Indicators	Income group
	Switzerland,		
High potential for the	Germany,	NRI rank ≤ 27 ,	Uigh income
higher education digitalization	Austria,	DSGI rank ≤ 40 ,	rigii-income
	Slovenia		
	Romania,		
	Bulgaria,		
	Poland,		
Middle potential for	Slovakia,	$28 \le \text{NRI rank} \le 60$,	High-income,
higher education digitalization	Hungary,	$41 \le \text{DSGI rank} \le 67$	Upper-middle-income
	Croatia,		
	Serbia,		
	Czech Republic		
Lower-middle potential for	Ukraine,	NRI rank >60,	Lower-middle-income,
higher education digitalization	Moldova	DSGI rank >68	Upper-middle-income

Table 4: Grouping Central and Eastern European countries according to their potential of the higher education digitalization.

tion than other countries in Central and Eastern Europe. Thus, it is possible to predict the outflow of Ukrainian entrants and students to the countries of the group of high potential for the higher education digitalization and middle potential for higher education digitalization.

In our opinion, the practical recommendations for higher education digitalization is public-private partnerships with the participation of manufacturers and suppliers of advanced information and communication technologies that have prospects of application in the educational process in higher education institutions of countries.

In the future, the higher education digitalization will ensure the development of digital competences for all participants in the educational process, the formation of ecological and digital awareness among students (Stukalo and Simakhova, 2019), the adaptation of educational programs to changing socioeconomic conditions and the scientific and technological revolution, and the development of a digital economy.

To summarize the results of the study, a SWOT analysis of the potential of the higher education digitalization for the countries of Central and Eastern Europe was carried out (table 5). SWOT analysis is a model for forming an information base and developing on its basis the most effective option for managing socio-economic processes (including the higher education digitalization). It is assumed that SWOT analysis is used to assess the situation under conditions of uncertainty and to regulate individual parameters. In this case, the regulation of parameters is understood as the correction of the values of control parameters for the implementation of the optimal development scenario at a certain segment of the planning period.

6 E-LEARNING ENVIRONMENT: UKRAINIAN UNIVERSITY'S CASE

As an example, let us present the case of Sumy State University (Ukraine) on the creation of an e-learning platform based on its own unique developments. The e-learning environment is shown in figure 4.

The e-learning ecosystem includes various tools for the implementation of distance, e-learning and blended learning, platforms for creating educational materials, a platform for massive open online courses, a repository of educational materials. The developer of educational materials works autonomously, without involving technical services in the software implementation of the project in the process of creating a package of tasks. In the process of creation, only the developer communicates with consultants of various levels. After agreeing on the content, the materials are reviewed and posted in open or closed (directly for course students within the university) access; programmers implement only non-trivial tasks within the framework of educational courses (interactive elements, virtual and augmented reality, etc.) (figure 5).

As part of the implementation of various models of electronic learning, they are constantly being improved on the basis of feedback from developers of educational materials, reviewers, programmers, and listeners. As an example, the questionnaire of a survey of developers of educational materials of the "Mix" platform (blended learning) in 2021 is given.

The advantages of the "Mix" platform:

all teachers and students are in a single learning space;

Strengths	Weakness
 high digital skills of academic teachers (DSGI Score 4.8); state support; relevant regulatory framework; high level of country preparedness to exploit digital transformation. 	 negative attitude of population to distance education (30%); lack of methodological support for distance courses; increase the time load on teachers
Opportunities	Threats
 development of the digital economy and distance education; the future of technology; opportunities for education during pandemics and war; creation of the Digital European University with Artificial Intelligence 	 different level of provision of families with means for online learning (21% of families have poor quality of the Intern; 19% – lack of devices for online learning); low level for readiness for future technologies in Eastern Europe (Score: 60-126)

Table 5: SWOT analysis of the higher education digitalization for the countries of Central and Eastern Europe.



Figure 4: E-learning environment: Sumy State University case (Ukraine).

- the ability to control the educational process in real time;
- the platform is synchronized with the unified information system of the university;
- systematic support from the university;
- the opportunity for teachers to work collectively both in the creation of materials and in virtual classrooms;
- unified tools simplifies the use of the platform for all users;
- automatic connection, control, archiving;

- the ability to manage user registration, define roles, manage content;
- creation of virtual classes, adjustment of the necessary parameters.
 - Disadvantages of the "Mix" platform:
- instability of work;
- inconvenient interface for working with mobile devices;
- insufficient functionality to provide the necessary activities;
- difficulty in settings;



Figure 5: Algorithm for creating educational materials.

- inconvenient interface for working with a personal computer;
- insufficient level of technical support for users;
- excessive openness and transparency for control by the university.

Measures to improve the "Mix" platform:

- integration with services for webinars (Meet, Zoom, Microsoft Teams, etc.);
- integration with plagiarism testing services;
- mobile version with chat;
- integration with additional services of ACS "University".

The proposed e-learning system has proven to be an effective tool for remote work during a pan-The use of this system in synchronousdemic. asynchronous training during the war for the independence of Ukraine, which began on February 24, 2022 with the invasion of the Russian Federation, became even more relevant. Due to the destruction of individual universities or the impossibility of studying in the occupied territories, students resort to internal mobility, which is possible under the conditions of creating a proper educational environment for elearning. Currently, the National Agency for Higher Education Quality Assurance has compiled a list of about 50 universities (the list continues to expand), which is ready to ensure internal academic mobility of students with subsequent transfer of credits to home university (students who have the opportunity to continue online learning) more than 20 Ukrainian universities that continue the educational process, showed that at least 50% of the contingent are ready to join

synchronous learning. Another 20-25% are ready to study asynchronously in the e-learning environment.

For the above reasons, the e-learning system can be upgraded by introducing the following educational components:

- 1. Creating a model of student learning, which is the simultaneous use of "Rotation" (study time is divided between individual e-learning and online meetings with tutors, "flipped classroom") and "Flex" (most of the curriculum is mastered in e-learning with group or individual consultations) models. The basis of the combined model are active teaching methods (problem lecture and lecture-visualization, group work on creative tasks, etc. - face-to-face learning) and e-learning technologies (distance learning, work with simulators, author's open electronic resources, electronic resources of the world's leading universities). also in order to identify his propensity for a particular activity pi after graduating from university.
- 2. Lecture "puzzle"

The model proposed above has sometimes proved inflexible in terms of the ability to master 10 skills that employers need in the last 2–3 years. The model only partially satisfied the conditions for acquiring skills and is now obsolete in terms of developing e-learning opportunities. In addition, the monotony of the types of work led to a significant reduction in student productivity.

"Puzzle": each lecture is formed from blocks F2F, MOOC, VR and AR+.

Element 1: in block F2F there is a possibility to move from one type of lecture to another, for example, "problem" – "knowingly wrong answer" – "discussion" (complex multilevel problem solving, critical thinking, forming one's own opinion and decision making).

Element 2: in the F2F block there is an opportunity to move from lecture to practical classes using the practice of active learning, MOOC, VR and AR+ (creativity in the broadest sense)

Element 3: the F2F block uses the practice of interactive learning, "substitution" of teacher-student communication for student communication with each other (emotional intelligence, customer orientation, negotiation skills).

3. "Project – incentive – motivation"

In today's educational environment, some teachers are "info-gypsies" – translators of their courses, which have no practical significance.

Mentoring is one of the most promising tools for professional development of students. However, it is a misconception to use pseudo-mentoring for a group of people (within traditional practical classes), which is ineffective due to the individuality of each learner. Implementing mentoring in classroom conditions is quite difficult. Individual work with the student is limited to discussing the individual task with the teacher - the head of educational or qualification work and does not transfer consideration of the issue of motivation, support. Mentoring as an element of "guardianship" of the learner is a tool for learning competencies, which does not motivate the student (there is only an incentive - the need to defend the task to obtain a certain number of points) and among other things implements the function of advice.

The institute of mentoring has become widespread in foreign universities, but in fact it can be called an institute of mentoring. Mentoring "as is", by analogy with domestic universities, has problems with implementation due to the inability to work with students individually in the classroom. Extracurricular work as an element of the training course due to the lack of a mechanism for its evaluation does not contribute to the teacher's role as a mentor. Thus, solving the problem of mentoring in online learning will provide an opportunity for students to acquire new skills and awareness of the phenomenon of motivation at the level of mental processes. The selection of mentoring and mentoring as separate teaching methods allows us to trace the evolution of the teacher on the path of "info-gypsy - mentor - mentor" with the change of functions at each stage.

7 CONCLUSIONS

Thus, the countries of Central and Western Europe can be divided into three groups according to global indicators of their potential for digitalization of higher education. The most attractive for students are the countries of the first group with high potential for digitalization, namely Austria, Germany, Switzerland, and Slovenia.

The pandemic COVID-19 has led to the active digitalization of higher education. Despite the fact that in the beginning of 2020 there were many problems with online learning, for two years now the higher education system has been operating effectively at a distance. It is the digitalization of higher education that will overcome the negative consequences of the migration of entrants and students from Ukraine through the war to Central and Eastern Europe. In view of this, it would be promising to create a European platform for teaching Ukrainian students, where, along with English, the languages of Central or Eastern Europe, it would be possible to study subjects in Ukrainian.

The case study of the implementation of digitalization tools in Ukrainian universities showed that the digitalization of higher education ensured the continuity of the process of persuasion during the pandemic and war in Ukraine.

The recommendations for improving the digitalization of education are:

- public-private partnerships with the participation of manufacturers and suppliers of advanced information and communication technologies that have prospects of application in the educational process in higher education institutions;
- teachers training in e-tools of online learning;
- mentoring use for professional development of students.

So, the higher education digitalization allows minimizing the negative social consequences of global challenges such as pandemics and wars. The perspectives of further higher education digitalization of Central and Eastern Europe is the creation of a Digital European University with artificial intelligence based on a partnership between the state and business.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was funded by the grants from the Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine "Reforming the lifelong learning system in Ukraine for the prevention of the labor emigration: a competition model of institutional partnership" (reg. n. 0120U102001), "Convergence of economic and educational transformations in the digital society: modeling the impact on regional and national security" (reg. n. 0121U109553).

REFERENCES

- Alqurashi, E. (2019). Predicting student satisfaction and perceived learning within online learning environments. *Distance Education*, 40(1):133–148. https: //doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2018.1553562.
- Artino, A. R. (2010). Online or face-to-face learning? Exploring the personal factors that predict students' choice of instructional format. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 13(4: Special Issue on Web 2.0):272–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2010. 07.005.
- Artyukhov, A., Volk, I., Vasylieva, T., and Lyeonov, S. (2021). The role of the university in achieving SDGs 4 and 7: a Ukrainian case. E3S Web of Conferences, 250:04006. https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/ 202125004006.
- BRIEF (2021). Polskie uczelnie wzorem transformacji cyfrowej w sektorze edukacji. https://tinyurl.com/ epfdr3sj.
- Chitez, M., Rogobete, R., and Foitoş, A. (2020). Digital Humanities as an Incentive for Digitalisation Strategies in Eastern European HEIs: A Case Study of Romania. In Curaj, A., Deca, L., and Pricopie, R., editors, *European Higher Education Area: Challenges for a New Decade*, pages 545–564, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-030-56316-5_34.
- Delmanowicz, D. (2021). Report reveals digital learning issues in Polish education. https://tinyurl.com/ 3e8xy4k5.
- EU (2020). Digital Education Action Plan (2021-2027). https://education.ec.europa.eu/focus-topics/ digital-education/digital-education-action-plan.
- Frances, B. G. and Fleck, J. (2020). The Next Phase of Digitalization in Central and Eastern Europe: 2020 and Beyond. Issue Brief, Atlantic Council. https: //tinyurl.com/5yw3xtbe.
- Henderson, M., Selwyn, N., and Aston, R. (2017). What works and why? Student perceptions of 'useful' digital technology in university teaching and learning. *Studies in Higher Education*, 42(8):1567–1579. https: //doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2015.1007946.
- Kafyulilo, A., Fisser, P., and Voogt, J. (2016). Factors affecting teachers' continuation of technology use in teaching. *Education and Information Technologies*, 21(6):1535–1554. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10639-015-9398-0.
- Lyeonov, S. and Liuta, O. (2016). Actual Problems of Finance Teaching in Ukraine in the Post-Crisis Period. In Azarmi, T. and Amann, W., editors, *The Financial Crisis*, pages 145–152, Cham. Springer

International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-319-20588-5_8.

- MON (2020). Osvita v Ukraini: vyklyky ta perspektyvy [Education in Ukraine: challenges and prospects]. Kyiv. https://mon.gov.ua/storage/app/ media/zagalna%20serednya/serpneva-konferencia/ 2020/metod-zbirka-osvita-ta-covid-2020.pdf.
- MON (2021). Draft Concept of Digital Transformation of Education and Science: MES invites to public discussion. https://tinyurl.com/24b2cxtu.
- Nazarenko, Y. and Polishuk, O. (2021). Education in the condition of pandemic in 2020-2021: analysis of problems and consequences [Osvita v umovakh pandemiyi v 2020-2021: analiz problem i naslidkiv]. https://tinyurl.com/f7nuxe5t.
- Onopriienko, K., Onopriienko, V., Petrushenko, Y., and Onopriienko, I. (2021). Environmental education for youth and adults: a bibliometric analysis of research. *E3S Web of Conferences*, 234:00002. https://doi.org/ 10.1051/e3sconf/202123400002.
- Pavlenko, O., Martynets, V., Dreval, O., and Smolennikov, D. (2020). Analysis of Influence of the Quality of Specialist Training on Social and Economic Development. *Quality - Access to Success*, 21(176):81–86.
- Pettersson, F. (2021). Understanding digitalization and educational change in school by means of activity theory and the levels of learning concept. *Education and Information Technologies*, 26(1):187–204. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s10639-020-10239-8.
- Razumkov Center (2020). Osvita i pandemiia: shcho ukraintsi dumaiut pro dystantsiine navchannia ta yak otsiniuiut ZNO [Education and the pandemic: what Ukrainians think about distance learning and how they evaluate external evaluation]. https://tinyurl.com/ 2p9ruhrp.
- Rogobete, R. and Chitez, M. (2019). Disparities in Humanities Research Initiatives Within the European Higher Education Area. *Analele Universității de Vest din Timișoara. Seria Științe Filologice*, LVII:145–153. https://www.diacronia.ro/ro/indexing/details/A31622.
- Sahu, P. (2020). Closure of Universities Due to Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): Impact on Education and Mental Health of Students and Academic Staff. *Cureus*, 12(4):e7541. https://doi.org/10.7759/ cureus.7541.
- Simakhova, A. O., Artyukhov, A. E., and Shmarlouskaya, H. A. (2022). Problematic issues of digitalization of education in Eastern Europe. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 9:1–15. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.64.
- Stukalo, N. and Simakhova, A. (2019). Social Dimensions of Green Economy. *Filosofija. Sociologija*, 30(2):91–99.
- Stukalo, N. and Simakhova, A. (2020). COVID-19 Impact on Ukrainian Higher Education. Universal Journal of Educational Research, 8(8):3673–3678. https://doi. org/10.13189/ujer.2020.080846.
- Turuk, M. (2021). An Overview of Digital Entrepreneurship in Central and Eastern European Countries. In Wu, R. M. X. and Mircea, M., editors, *E-Business*, chap-

ter 2. IntechOpen, Rijeka. https://doi.org/10.5772/ intechopen.95961.

- Vorontsova, A., Shvindina, H., Mayboroda, T., Mishenina, H., and Heiets, I. (2020). The impact of state regulation in a sphere of education on sustainable development of national economy. *Problems and Perspectives* in Management, 18(4):275–288.
- Yarovenko, H., Bilan, Y., Lyeonov, S., and Mentel, G. (2021). Methodology for assessing the risk associated with information and knowledge loss management. Journal of Business Economics & Management, 22(2):369–387. https://doi.org/10.3846/jbem. 2021.13925.
- Zinovieva, I. S., Artemchuk, V. O., Iatsyshyn, A. V., Popov, O. O., Kovach, V. O., Iatsyshyn, A. V., Romanenko, Y. O., and Radchenko, O. V. (2021). The use of online coding platforms as additional distance tools in programming education. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840(1):012029. https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1742-6596/1840/1/012029.

Using Online Services to Create Comics with Elements of AR in the Educational Process of Elementary School

Dmytro M. Bodnenko¹[®]^a, Oleksandra V. Lokaziuk¹[®]^b, Lesya A. Poryadchenko¹[®]^c, Volodymyr V. Proshkin¹[®]^d and Svitlana H. Lytvynova²[®]^e

¹Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, 18/2 Bulvarno-Kudriavska Str., Kyiv, 04053, Ukraine

²Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the NAES of Ukraine, 9 M. Berlynskoho Str., Kyiv, 04060, Ukraine {d.bodnenko, o.lokaziuk, l.poriadchenko, v.proshkin}@kubg.edu.ua, s.h.lytvynova@gmail.com

- Keywords: Cloud Services, Comics with AR Elements, Comic Book Creation Algorithm, Readiness, Educational and Methodological Materials.
- Abstract: The article presents the actual state and practical ways to solve the problem of students and teachers of elementary school readiness to use cloud services to create comics with AR elements. The didactic potential of comics as a means of learning in the educational process has been clarified. A comparison of modern cloud services, programs, and applications for creating comics is given. Their advantages and disadvantages are highlighted. The functionality of AR programs for creating content based on comics (Vuforia, EasyAR, Maxst, ARCore, AR.js, 8th Wall) is analyzed. The results of a survey of teachers on distinguishing the most popular cloud services are given, among them are Pixton, Marvel HD, Comica. Algorithms of the educational materials' development in these cloud services for the creation of comics are presented. The levels of readiness for the use of cloud services for creating comics with AR elements (elementary, basic, creative) have been developed. The real state of readiness of teachers and students to use cloud services to create comics with AR elements is presented and characterized. Educational and methodological support has been developed for implementation in the practice of university education and the teacher development system. The prospects of the study, which are to further monitor the readiness of students and teachers to use cloud services to create comics with AR elements after the introduction of the author's educational and methodological support, are given.

1 INTRODUCTION

Modern teaching methods in elementary school focus on the use of non-traditional, in particular interactive and playful methods of working with children. The traditional lesson is often not effective, which encourages teachers to look for new means and forms of teaching. The teacher should become an innovator and be able to organize an interesting lesson-play, lesson-travel, lesson-quest, etc. One of such educational tools is comics, which allow forgiveness, visualization, and virtualization of complex information. The visual quality of comics increases the level of learning. Movies and animation, unlike comics, are visual, but "time-limited". Language and actions in cinema and animation are "fast-paced". Time in the comic book progresses as fast as the reader moves his eyes across the page. The speed of information transmission is fully determined by the reader. We agree with Chykalova (Chykalova, 2020) that comics is one tool for the development of imagination and fantasy, skills to clearly and capaciously formulate and express their opinion, to distinguish the main, key from the text. Working with comics contributes to the formation of the skills of younger schoolchildren of the 21st century: to emphasize the main thing and be able to cooperate in a team.

Today, educational technologies for the use of comics have proven to be quite effective and productive. As evidenced by the pedagogical experience of the authors of the study, educational materials containing or based on AR technology are especially popular. However, the analysis of the real practice of the educational process in primary school allows us to state a lack of high readiness of teachers to apply comics in pedagogical activities in general and with

554

Bodnenko, D., Lokaziuk, O., Poryadchenko, L., Proshkin, V. and Lytvynova, S.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 554-563 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9303-6587

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9663-251X

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8596-8907

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9785-0612

e https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5450-6635

Using Online Services to Create Comics with Elements of AR in the Educational Process of Elementary School

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS - Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

the use of AR in particular. On the one hand, there is a lack of methodological developments on the use of comics with AR elements in training. Another significant problem is the weak capacity of teachers to develop and use comics with AR elements using cloud services. This outlines another significant problem – the preparation of future primary education teachers for the use of cloud services for creating comics with AR elements in professional activities.

2 ANALYSIS OF PREVIOUS RESULTS

The importance of comics used as a means of learning is outlined in several studies (Panchenko et al., 2020; Panchenko, 2021; Kuzminsky and Omelyanenko, 2008; Danylenko, 2010; Olshansky, 2002; Pustinnikova, 2013; Danylenko, 2011; Bilousova et al., 2021). Of particular interest in the context of the problems of our work are studies on the use of digital technologies as a means of effective visualization in the use and development of comics. The works (Azman et al., 2016, 2015) analyze the modern software Bitstrips, Comic Life, Pixton, MakeBeliefs-Comix, Cartoon Maker, and Graphix Comic Builder, their functions, characteristics, capabilities, and disadvantages. Fragments of the use of the said software for implementing the educational process are presented. Zerkina et al. (Zerkina et al., 2019) analyzed the possibilities of using Pixton to form the ICT competence of engineering students using a project approach. Different didactic possibilities of the specified cloud service are given in the studies (Meyers, 2014; Cabrera et al., 2018; Hobri et al., 2019). Weber (Weber, 2015) considered the use of cloud-based graphic narrative software in medical ethics teaching. In addition, the theoretical and practical aspects of data visualization and the use of digital technologies for this are presented in the works (Segel and Heer, 2010; Yuksel-Arslan et al., 2016; Sadik, 2017; Bodnenko et al., 2014). The subject of research is the use of augmented reality to work with comic bookbased teaching material (Damopolii et al., 2022; Nidhom et al., 2019; Koutromanos and Alivisos, 2018).

3 THE OBJECTIVE OF THE RESEARCH

The purpose of the article is to reveal the possibilities of using online services to create comics with AR elements in the educational process of elementary school.

The purpose of the study is specified in the following tasks: to identify the most popular cloud services for creating comics among teachers and characterize them; to reveal the algorithms for developing educational materials in cloud services for creating comics with AR elements; to investigate the actual state of readiness of future teachers and students to use cloud services for creating comics with AR elements; to develop educational and methodological support for the use of these cloud services in the educational process.

4 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

To implement the study, the following methods were used: theoretical (analysis and synthesis of psychological, pedagogical and methodological sources, programs, handbooks, systematization and generalization of theoretical material; study of the experience with the research problems; clarification of the basic knowledge of the studied problem), empirical (pedagogical observation, interviews with teachers and questionnaires, writing methodological recommendations, formulating conclusions and determining the sequence of research), statistical (Pearson's criteria for identifying the real state of readiness of students and teachers for the use of cloud services).

The study was conducted based on Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, 11 schools in Kyiv during March – to December 2021. The study was attended by 28 primary school teachers, as well as 84 students of the specialty "Primary Education" of 1–4 years of study.

5 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

5.1 Analysis of Cloud Services for Creating Comics

Comics are a new, effective and democratic tool of the primary school teacher in the formation and comprehensive development of the initiative and creative personality of the schoolchild. Combining visual and playful nature, comics can satisfy the interests and meet the peculiarities of the course of mental processes in modern junior schoolchildren, representatives of the generation, to prevent the occurrence of stress during the study (Chykalova, 2020). There are plenty of online services and apps to create comics. However, not all of them are suitable for the teacher to organize work in class. Most services are paid, too complex, and require special knowledge and skills, or their content is not created for children's audience. Finding the right program, service, or app is difficult and time-consuming, which teachers usually lack.

Lack of time for training is also a problem because the service must not only be found but also learn to work in it and know how and when to use the developed materials.

In the study, we were interested in functional, free and, most importantly, simple services that provide easy access to programs for both teachers and students (table 1).

Each of these online services contains a certain number of templates grouped by types:

- people (children, teens, young men, adults, elderly people);
- animals;
- things;
- transport;
- · special characters;
- backgrounds (school, forest, city, houses, historical and mythological views, nature, etc.).

When creating a plot, you can choose the expression of the face, the position of the body, the mood of the hero, change his appearance, clothes, etc.

It should be noted that in table 1 you can also get acquainted in detail with the main characteristics of modern online services, programs, and applications for creating educational comics, which can be used not only for working online but also for working in the classroom with the ability to print material.

All offered by us online services, programs, and applications for creating comics can use instant translation in Ukrainian and maintain it in the services themselves. Using these services, the teacher can diversify the form of educational material presentation, will be able to convey complex ideas and concepts using minimal artistic means, and will be able to organize not only face-to-face but also distance learning qualitatively and interestingly. It is also possible to organize work with services not only individually but also in a group format.

The services are quite simple, so schoolchildren will be able to work with them. Most of them do not require users to register, and they can start working with them right away. Talking about the advantages of using these services, we can note the following:

- Availability of services in material terms (most are free or have the possibility of using the trial/free version);
- Simple interface (intuitive);

- Use of templates (each service has its template database for use);
- The ability to create a completely new product (the ability to download own resources is provided);
- Dissemination of materials (it is possible to disseminate or embed the created materials of the author);
- Versatility (materials can be used to work in any lesson for individual or frontal work, both online and printouts). It is also worth highlighting the disadvantages:
- Other-language interface (most programs are foreign, but there is a possibility of using Google instant translation);
- Preliminary training of teachers and students;
- Conversion (not all file formats are supported; their size is limited).

The creation of training materials such as comics using the specified software can be supplemented with AR elements. The experience of implementing the educational process using AR also allows us to highlight programs for developing and working with AR.

- Vuforia can easily create marker-based AR, markerless-based AR, and cloud-based AR. Provides sufficient support to create an application for minor tasks. In particular, it allows you to recognize 2D and 3D objects, English text (the vocabulary contains over 100,000 words, or you can use your dictionary) and allows you to play videos.
- EasyAR offers its next-generation SDK, which has some features such as SLAM, 2D–3D screen tracking and recording, cloud-based object recognition, and unlimited recognition requests. In addition, the free version can store up to 1000 tags on the device.
- Maxst offers two types of augmented reality software: Maxst AR SDK 2D and Maxst AR SDK 3D. The first tool can only recognize 2D images, and the other is much more powerful and can track 3D objects. The Maxst AR 3D SDK has features such as SLAM, physical engine effect, and occlusion effect. The Maxst AR SDK 2D features multiple image recognition (up to 200 images per channel), video zoom, instant object tracking, image and marker tracking, and a QR/barcode scanner.
- ARCore is not only supported on Android, but also on iOS devices, allowing you to develop

On	line services	Need to be uploaded					
StoryboardThat	Price: Free basic version;	Comic Life	SW: Windows/macOS;				
	Language: English.		Price: Free version – 30 days;				
			Language: choice.				
Pixton	Price: Free;	Krita	SW: Windows;				
	Language: Italian.		Price: Free;				
			Language: choice.				
Make Beliefs	Price: Free;	MediBang	SW: Windows/macOS;				
Comix	Language: choice.	Paint Pro	Price: Free;				
			Language: choice.				
Debate365	Price: Free;		Mahila anns				
	Language: English.		<i>Mobile apps</i>				
Canva	Price: Free;	Comica	SW: Android/iOS;				
	Language: Ukrainian.		Price: Free;				
			Language: choice.				
Write Comics	Price: Free;	Comic and	SW: Android/iOS;				
	Language: English.	cartoon maker	Price: Free;				
			Language: choice.				
Marvel HD	Price: Free;	MomentCam	SW: Android/iOS;				
	Language: English.		Price: Free;				
			Language: choice.				

Table 1: Modern online services, apps and applications for creating comics.

cross-platform AR applications. Features of the application include: in addition to identifying key points, ARCore can detect flat surfaces, and can also estimate the average illumination around them; determining the size and location of vertical, horizontal, and inclined surfaces; tracking movement according to the position of the phone, accurate placement of virtual objects; assessing light and understanding depth.

- AR.js is an open-source AR SDK based on JavaScript. Can create AR scenes based on markers. The tool comes with an A-Frame and three.js extension that works with any smartphone, regardless of its OS version, including Android, iOS, and other. Markers are stable but limited in shape, color, and size.
- 8th Wall provides support for markers (Image Target), World Effects, Face Effects, SLAM. Video recording, light evaluation, and relative zoom function are available. Can be used in combination with Unity and Unreal engines.

When choosing modern online services, programs, and applications for creating comics, as well as AR, which a teacher can use in his educational activities to study in elementary school, we were guided by three main criteria:

- Service availability;
- · Easy to use;
- Functionality.

As a result of a survey of primary education teachers, it was found that all services meet such requirements, but separately, for working with primary school students, the following services are most often distinguished: for teachers – Pixton; for schoolchildren's work – Marvel HD, and the app installed on the gadget – Comica.

5.2 Algorithms of Development of Educational Materials in Cloud Services for the Creation of Comics

Let's start with Pixton comic book designer that allows you to create your stories almost from scratch. Allows you to customize models, background images, people's postures and emotions, and other image details, allowing you to create interactive comics. We start working at Pixton by choosing the type of user (teacher, pupil, parent, or business). We are interested in the user-teacher. A sign-up window appears, indicating that you can sign up for free. After registration, the user is flipped to the configuration panel. Suggested three steps to set up the service.

Step 1 – Watch an introductory video where pupils who work with this service share their impressions. After watching the video, click the "Next Step" button.

Step 2 – Familiarize yourself with the process of creating comics in the Pixton service. Press the button "Create a comic book" and go to the Pixton work

field. The work field contains a page panel, four comic creation toolbars, a search bar, and a comic display area. In the first toolbar, select the background of the comics (for example, the pupil's room) and the main characters (the girl). Use the search bar to enter the name of the desired background or character (in English) or use the suggested groups (under the search bar). You can also upload your own materials – the camera icon under the comic book display area. Go to the toolbar to focus the image. Select the desired type of drawing (for example, "to the right"). Next, go to the text panel and enter the lines of the characters. This can be direct language (round dialog window), thoughts (window-cloud), shout (orange window), and whisper (dotted window). In the face setting panel, choose the desired emotion, for example, a thoughtful look. There is also the option to choose the character's look. The last panel is the position setting of the hero's body. Here you can choose the posture, the direction of movement and the possibility of holding objects in the left or right hand. In the upper-right corner, click the "Finish" button and go to the third step of the settings.

Step 3 – enter the name of the comic book and choose a class. Next, the service offers to make a teacher's avatar, which is created similarly to the comic, following the instructions offered by Pixton. Then the user is moved to the personal account, where the existing 4 sections (created classes, student comics, class photos and printed versions of comics) are also displayed on the right-hand side, where the "Link for pupils" button is displayed, from which the teacher can invite students to the virtual classroom. A fragment of work with the program is shown in figure 1.

The following program, which was chosen by us, is excellent for both individual and group work of junior school students. It is not required to register and fill out various forms here. There is an opportunity to create the simplest comic with ready-made templates.

Write Comics – is the easiest service to create comics and stories. After all, this is just one page where you can set all the parameters of your plot: characters, background; text box.

We start by entering the name of the comic. Scroll the cursor further and select the characters in our story, dragging them to the desired location in the comic book image area. Next, we choose the background, the place where the events of the story take place and enter the lines of the characters. Press the "Finish" button, the comic book is ready (see figure 2).

The next program that can be used to create comics in primary school is Comica. This is an app



Figure 1: Example of a comic created using the Pixton online service.

that you can use to create a comic from your own photos. First, you need to download the app and install it on your gadget. It can be done in any user-friendly service (for example, in the Play Market).

Open the app and view the menu: Gallery – processing of one photo in the comic book editor; Camera – instant photo creation; Multi is the comic book editor.

Select "Multi", set the number of episodes in the picture (for example, 3 pictures), click on the field and select a photo from the gallery. We process the photo in the photo editor and choose the comic style. We individually adjust brightness and contrast, if needed. Next, we select the stickers and the comic book elements that the user needs. We do the same thing with the other two photos and create an episode of the comic. Download the comic book or share it (see figure 3).

These services are quite convenient and understandable. The key value of resources is that in each program there is an opportunity to use ready-made templates of drawings, characters, backgrounds, signs, objects, etc., and to adjust them as needed. Working with these applications does not require special knowledge and skills, which is why it is an immense advantage. After all, even junior school students will be able to work in the service.

However, a significant disadvantage is that the de-



Figure 2: Fragment of work with the Write Comics service.

velopers of these online services and applications do not provide any instructions on how to work with them, so users have to deal with the way applications work by themselves.

5.3 Determination of the Real State of Readiness of Teachers and Pupils to Use Cloud Services to Create Comics with AR Elements

As a result of a survey of teachers, it was found that many people "do not know where to start" or consider it an impossible mission to create comics on their own. Many teachers know about cloud services, where you can find ready-made developments, but can not select the appropriate comic for a particular learning situation or lesson. Most teachers do not know how to create comics, including with AR elements, using cloud services. These and some other circumstances keep many teachers from introducing this kind of teaching activity into teaching practice.

The analysis of the student survey also shows that within the informatics disciplines at the university, the use of cloud services for creating comics is not given due attention (table 2).

As a result of the experiment, we found the willingness of teachers and students to use cloud services



Figure 3: Comic Book Editor Comica.

to create and use comics in educational practice. Appropriate criteria and levels of readiness have been identified and developed.

- Level 1 elementary, characterized by superficial knowledge of working with cloud services to create comics with AR elements;
- Level 2 basic, characterized by a focus on the use of cloud services at the demonstration level;
- Level 3 creative, characterized by the active use of cloud services to create comics with AR elements.

As a result of the questionnaires developed by us on the theoretical principles of using cloud services, tasks on working with cloud services and the results of self-assessment, the real state of readiness of teachers and students to use cloud services for creating comics with AR elements was revealed (table 3).

According to the results of the study, students and teachers showed approximately the same ability to use cloud services. Most students (63.1% of the total number of respondents) and teachers (67.9%) have an elementary level of readiness. Only 10.7% of students and 8% of teachers reached the creative level.

The results confirmed the problem of the the preparation of future primary education teachers for the use of cloud services for creating comics with AR elements in professional activities.
Level	Characteristics of the level	Teacher skill level requirements
Elementary	Lower awareness of cloud services use, in partic-	Using the pedagogical capabilities of comics at
	ular AR. The teacher knows fragmentarily about	the starting level, for example, conducting a les-
	the peculiarities of working with these cloud	son with a multimedia presentation or a ready-
	tools, but does not have a goal to learn how to	made animated resource already developed by a
	create comics, cannot relate to the pedagogical	bulk product with AR elements. Using didactic
	expediency of their use.	materials with the help of cloud services, already
		developed and ready for the lesson comics.
Basic	Uses cloud services to create comics and AR at	Designing tasks for pupils using cloud services
	the demonstration level (presentations, pictures,	that involve the use of comics, including with
	slides). Formulates the request in relation to the	AR elements in class and outside classroom
	specific topic of the upcoming lesson. Can as-	hours, for example, for homework tasks related
	sociate with the pedagogical feasibility of their	to search and selection of information, including
	use. Can create his own comic book by analogy,	on the Internet.
	including with AR elements, using step-by-step	
	instructions.	
Creative	Actively uses cloud services to create new and	Integrated use of cloud services and modern edu-
	use ready-made comics with AR elements. Dis-	cational technologies: integrated lessons, project
	seminates its developments and participates in	activities of pupils using comics with AR ele-
	network communities.	ments. Advise colleagues on using and work-
		ing with resources to create comics with AR el-
		ements.

Table 2: Levels of readiness of teachers and students to use cloud services to create comics with AR elements.

Table 3: The state of teachers and students readiness to use cloud services to create comics with AR elements.

Loval	Students	Teachers	
Level	(84 persons), %	(28 persons), %	
Elementary	63.1	67.9	
Basic	26.2	25.0	
Creative	10.7	7.1	

Table 4: Critical value of the Pearson criterion χ^2 .

$\chi^2 (p = 0.05)$	$\chi^2 (p = 0.01)$
5.991	9.21

To compare the results obtained, we used the Pearson criterion χ^2 . For this purpose, statistical hypotheses are formulated:

H0 – the level of students' readiness to use cloud services does not exceed the level of teachers' readiness;

H1 – the level of students' readiness to use cloud services exceeds the level of teachers' readiness.

The obtained empirical value of the Pearson's criterion $\chi^2 = 0,932$ we compared with the tabular values (for the number of degrees of freedom 2 (table 4).

Thus, we accept the hypothesis H0 that the level of students' readiness to use cloud services does not exceed the level of teachers' readiness.

Note that given the insufficiently large sample size, we certainly do not claim a strong scientific justification for the state of this readiness in the context of the activities of all teachers and students of primary education. The data obtained, rather, indicate an overall trend regarding the research problem and require finding ways to improve it.

5.4 Educational and Methodological Support for Teachers

As a result of a survey of teachers, we identified fundamental problems with the use of cloud services. Among them, we can note the lack of time for selfeducation and learning.

Taking into account this problem, Iryna R. Chopyk have developed a website, where the necessary information was collected and methodological recommendations were prepared on the organization of the teacher's work using cloud services for creating comics in classes in primary school (https://blogger090.wixsite.com/comics).

This educational website helps elementary school students and teachers improve their own competencies in using cloud services to create comics.

Thus, the work of the website is aimed at helping the primary school teacher to create their own development of interactive educational content, as well as using them in lessons in primary school. The website contains 4 sections:

- 1. Homepage;
- 2. "About the project";

- 3. "For teacher";
- 4. Feedback.

The homepage provides a brief description of the project, links to articles, and a contact window where anyone can contact the author of the website if needed. At the top, the site menu is presented, which is intuitive and allows the user to go to the following categories (figure 4).



Figure 4: The main page of the developed website.

The section "About the project" provides basic information about the master's study, the purpose of creating the site, what its work is aimed at, and short theses "Here you will learn":

- What is a tutorial comic?
- How to work with online services to create comics?
- How to organize work in the classroom using the comic book technique?

The category "For the teacher" contains three subdivisions:

- "Theoretical information", which provides information about what is the process of reading and its importance in human life, reveals the essence of basic concepts, describes the reasons for the popularity of educational comics, and identifies the strengths of their application in education;
- "Services", where the user can find a list of free and available online services for creating their educational comics. Separately, in the section, there are links to instructions for the described services.
- "Methodological recommendations", which provides practical advice and methodological recommendations for working with the technology of using comics in primary school. The unit provides a step-by-step description of the technology of working with comics, describes the preparatory

work with pupils, defines the rules for selecting the subject of comics, provides examples of building educational tasks for working with comics and links to online resources for creating educational comics.

Looking at the "Services" section in more detail, users can see the rating from the TOP-3 online services for creating educational comics. This rating of tools was formed based on three key criteria: functionality, affordability (all services are free) and ease of use of the service for both teachers and pupils.

Each presented service contains instructions for use, which the user will be able not only to view but also to download to himself on a PC as a MS Word document.

Each service title contains a link to its main page, which the user of the site will be able to start working on creating his own educational comic, using the downloaded instructions and methodological recommendations presented on the educational website.

Thus, the work of the educational website is aimed at helping teachers of primary education in the development of relevant educational comics using online services Pixton, Write Comics and Comica for conducting lessons in primary school, as well as for methodological support of educators.

6 CONCLUSIONS

1. It has been established that the use of comics with AR elements in primary school is one of the effective didactic means that increases the interest of children in learning, and allows simplifying, visualizing ,and virtualizing complex information. As a result of the analysis of modern cloud services, programs and applications for creating comics, their advantages are highlighted: the availability of services in material terms; a simple interface; the use of templates; the possibility of creating a completely new product and distributing materials; versatility. The major disadvantages have been clarified: a foreign language interface, the need for preliminary preparation for working with them; conversion. The functionality of AR programs for creating content based on comics (Vuforia, EasyAR, Maxst, ARCore, AR.js, 8th Wall) is analyzed. As a result of a survey of 28 primary school teachers, considering the availability, ease of use and functionality, the most popular cloud services are highlighted: for teachers - Pixton; for pupils - Marvel HD and the app installed on the gadget - Comica. Algorithms of the development of educational materials in these cloud services for the creation of comics are presented.

- 2. The levels of readiness for the use of cloud services for creating comics with elements of AR (elementary, basic, creative) are highlighted. It is established that most teachers and students have an elementary level of readiness. To improve the real state of readiness of teachers and students to use cloud services, an educational website has been developed. Its goal is to help primary school students and teachers improve their competencies in using cloud services to create comics. Methodological recommendations on the use of comics in primary school using digital technologies have also been developed.
- 3. The next step of the study will be the implementation of the developed methodological recommendations in the practice of university education, in the system of teachers certification training, as well as further monitoring of the readiness of students and teachers to use cloud services to create comics with AR elements in the main school.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The research was performed within the framework of a complex scientific topic of the Department of Computer Science and Mathematics of Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University "Mathematical methods and digital technologies in education, science, technology", DR № 0121U111924.

REFERENCES

- Azman, F. N., Zaibon, S. B., and Shiratuddin, N. (2015). Digital Storytelling Tool for Education: An Analysis of Comic Authoring Environments. In Badioze Zaman, H., Robinson, P., Smeaton, A. F., Shih, T. K., Velastin, S., Jaafar, A., and Mohamad Ali, N., editors, Advances in Visual Informatics, volume 9429 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 347– 355, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https: //doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-25939-0_31.
- Azman, N. F., Zaibon, S. B., and Shiratuddin, N. (2016). Pedagogical analysis of comic authoring systems for educational digital storytelling. *Journal* of Theoretical and Applied Information Technology, 89:461–469. http://www.jatit.org/volumes/Vol89No2/ 18Vol89No2.pdf.
- Bilousova, L., Gryzun, L., and Zhytienova, N. (2021). Interactive methods in blended learning of the fundamentals of UI/UX design by pre-service specialists. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(3):415–428. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.34.

- Bodnenko, D. M., Radchenko, S. P., and Yurtyn, I. I. (2014). The usage of illustration for material perception improvement in studying natural disciplines. In Society, Integration, Education. Proceedings of the International Scientifical Conference, pages 225– 236, Rezekne, Latvia. https://doi.org/10.17770/ sie2014vol1.776.
- Cabrera, P. H., Castillo, L., González, P., Quiñónez, A., and Ochoa, C. (2018). The impact of using Pixton for teaching grammar and vocabulary in the EFL Ecuadorian context. *Teaching English with Technology*, 18:53–76. http: //cejsh.icm.edu.pl/cejsh/element/bwmeta1.element. desklight-65acf8b1-db70-4a7a-9a8c-88afc73583a3/ c/ARTICLE4.pdf.
- Chykalova, T. H. (2020). Didactics possibilities of the use of comics are on lesson at elementary school. *Innovative Pedagogy*, 20(3):52–55. http://innovpedagogy. od.ua/archives/2020/20/part_3/13.pdf.
- Damopolii, I., Fridolin, F. P., and Nunaki, J. H. (2022). The Development of Comic Book as Marker of Augmented Reality to Raise Students' Critical Thinking. *TEM Journal*, 11(1):348–355. https://doi.org/10. 18421/TEM111-44.
- Danylenko, Y. V. (2010). Didactic possibilities of comics in the process of teaching biology. *Director of school, lyceum, gymnasium*, 6:101–106.
- Danylenko, Y. V. (2011). Didactic comics on biology, as a means of activating the cognitive activity of young adolescents. *Scientific Journal of Drahomanov National Pedagogical University: Biology*, 3:186–191.
- Hobri, Murtikusuma, R. P., and Hermawan, L. I. (2019). Development of e-comic using Pixton and Kelase web on linear program of two variables assisted by Geogebra. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1265:53–76. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/ 1265/1/012010.
- Koutromanos, G. and Alivisos, S. (2018). Augmented reality-based creation of comics in primary education. In Kourtis-Kazoullis, V., Aravossitas, T., Skourtou, E., and Trifonas, P. P., editors, *Interdisciplinary Research Approaches to Multilingual Education*, pages 225–236. Routledge. https://doi.org/10. 4324/9781351170086-18.
- Kuzminsky, A. I. and Omelyanenko, V. L. (2008). Pedagogy. Znannia, Kyiv.
- Meyers, E. A. (2014). Theory, Technology, and Creative Practice: Using Pixton Comics to Teach Communication Theory. *Communication Teacher*, 28(1):32–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/17404622.2013.839051.
- Nidhom, A. M., Smaragdina, A. A., Dyah, K. N. G., Andika, B. N. R. P., Setiadi, C. P., and Yunos, J. M. (2019). Markerless Augmented Reality (MAR) through Learning Comics to Improve Student Metacognitive Ability. In 2019 International Conference on Electrical, Electronics and Information Engineering (ICEEIE), volume 6, pages 201–205. https: //doi.org/10.1109/ICEEIE47180.2019.8981411.
- Olshansky, D. V. (2002). Didactic conditions of use comics in teaching foreign languages to junior high school

students. PhD thesis, Institute of Pedagogy, Academy of Pedagogical Sciences of Ukraine, Kyiv.

- Panchenko, L. (2021). Digital storytelling in adult education: barriers and ways to overcome them. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(4):673–688. https: //doi.org/10.55056/etq.41.
- Panchenko, L. F., Vakaliuk, T. A., and Vlasenko, K. V. (2020). Augmented reality books: concepts, typology, tools. In Burov, O. Y. and Kiv, A. E., editors, Proceedings of the 3rd International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 13, 2020, volume 2731 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 283–296. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-2731/paper16.pdf.
- Pustinnikova, I. M. (2013). Increasing students' interest in teaching materials with the help of comics. *Scientific treasury of education of Donetsk region*, 2:105–110.
- Sadik, A. (2017). Students' acceptance of file sharing systems as a tool for sharing course materials: The case of Google Drive. *Education and Information Technologies*, 22(5):2455–2470. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10639-016-9556-z.
- Segel, E. and Heer, J. (2010). Narrative Visualization: Telling Stories with Data. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 16(6):1139–1148. https://doi.org/10.1088/10.1109/TVCG.2010.179.
- Weber, A. S. (2015). Use of Cloud-Based Graphic Narrative Software in Medical Ethics Teaching. *International* Association for Development of the Information Society, 8:167–172. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED562472.
- Yuksel-Arslan, P., Yildirim, S., and Robin, B. R. (2016). A phenomenological study: teachers' experiences of using digital storytelling in early childhood education. *Educational Studies*, 42(5):427–445. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/03055698.2016.1195717.
- Zerkina, N. V., Chusavitina, G. P., and Karmanova, E. M. (2019). Use of Network Services Web 2.0 for ICT Competence Formation of Students in Engineering with Application of Project Approach. In Proceedings of the 15th International Scientific Conference "eLearning and Software for Education", volume 3, pages 133–139, Bucharest, Romania. https://doi.org/ 10.12753/2066-026X-19-155.

Mobile Application for Advertising Educational Services and Research the Efficiency of Its Use

Galyna V. Marchuk^{®a}, Vitalii L. Levkivskyi^{®b}, Maryna S. Graf^{®c}, Dmytro K. Marchuk^{®d} and Iryna V. Panarina^{®e}

Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, 103 Chudnivska Str., Zhytomyr, 10005, Ukraine mgv.555.mgv@gmail.com, levkivskyy@ztu.edu.ua, graf.maryna@gmail.com, dimonoso96@gmail.com, kknpiv@ztu.edu.ua

- Keywords: Augmented Reality, Vuforia, Intelligence Analysis, Descriptive Statistics, Processing of Data Processing of Data, Advertising.
- Abstract: The article shows the use of augmented reality technology and the creation of a mobile application for advertising educational services of the Faculty of Information and Computer Technologies of Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, Ukraine. Today, augmented reality technologies are one of the most relevant for application in the field of advertising. However, little research has been conducted to determine the effectiveness of its use. The purpose of the study is to create and determine the effectiveness of using a mobile application for advertising educational services. The object of the study is the technology of creating mobile applications using augmented reality technology and analyzing the feasibility of its use in advertising. The application was created using the Vuforia Software Development Kit in Unity and compiled for various platforms. It can be used on iOS and Android mobile devices, creating a wide range of uses. To determine the effectiveness of the proposed mobile application, statistical and visual analysis methods were used, namely descriptive statistics and exploratory analysis. Based on the results of the analysis, the effectiveness of using a mobile application in career guidance has been proven. It is proved that the interest of applicants who have used the created application in the proposed specialties has increased. The proposed mobile application can be used to get acquainted with the list of specialties in an educational institution, increase the information content of advertising flyers and increase the interest of applicants. In the future, it is planned to expand this mobile application for use in all faculties of the university.

1 INTRODUCTION

Human-computer interaction is a dynamically developing area of science. The constant improvement of technology leads to the possibility of innovative user interface paradigms. The globalization of virtual reality has led to the introduction of a new related terms like augmented reality into scientific circulation. If current user interface technologies focus mainly on human-computer interaction, then augmented reality (AR) with the help of computer technology offers an improvement in the interaction between humans and the real world.

At the moment, augmented reality is one of the most relevant objects for research. Augmented reality

- ^a https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2954-1057
- ^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1643-0895
- ^c https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4873-548X
- ^d https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8675-8047
- e https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4783-2587

is a concept that describes the process of augmenting existing reality with virtual objects.

Smartphones and tablets are becoming more powerful as the share of web browsing using desktop PCs is reduced to 48.7% (Wha, 2022). Currently, the number of people using a mobile device exceeds the population of China, India and Europe combined. The balance between mobile and desktop traffic will never be restored.

Currently, the vast majority of educational institutions teach on a state and commercial basis. In addition, the constant increase in the number of private educational institutions leads to the fact that universities are forced to "fight" for each entrant. Having the same areas of training and educational programs contributes to the deterioration of perception and memory of the educational institution by potential entrants and their parents. To attract customers, strengthen their position in the market of educational services and increase competitiveness, universities should use rele-

564

Marchuk, G., Levkivskyi, V., Graf, M., Marchuk, D. and Panarina, I.

Mobile Application for Advertising Educational Services and Research the Efficiency of Its Use.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 564-577 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

vant marketing tools and instruments.

Therefore, the combination of mobile devices and augmented reality technologies will give even more advantages in the advertising purposes of educational services.

Advantages of using AR for advertising purposes:

- informing entrants and their parents;
- creating a positive impression;
- increasing the level of recognition of the university;
- increasing the efficiency of career guidance activities.

On the basis of the Department of Computer Science of Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, Ukraine, specialists in the field of game development and augmented reality created the software product UniAd. The development was presented in detail on May 20, 2022 at The 5th International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education at Kryvyi Rih National University.

The purpose of this study is to determine the effectiveness of a mobile application UniAd for advertising educational services of the Faculty of Information and Computer Technology (FICT), Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, Ukraine using augmented reality technology. It is planned to conduct the study:

- use the data collected during career guidance work;
- make a sample of the required data;
- to conduct intelligence analysis;
- to conduct statistical analysis in terms of various indicators;
- · draw conclusions based on the analysis.

2 LITERATURE REVIEW

At the AREdu 2020 (Augmented Reality in Education 2020) conference, AR technologies were considered as part of their use in science education (Burov et al., 2020).

Particular attention should be paid to the development of AR applications as a promising area of research for students (Bilous et al., 2020). The article outlines the essence of AR, directions and advantages of using AR technology in the educational process. It has been proven that AR is a unique tool that allows educators to start a new digital generation in a readable, understandable form and is the basis for developing interest in learning to share work. The current state and relevance of the use of augmented reality are discussed in many articles. The described developed software application demonstrates the behavior of solar system objects in detail with augmented reality technology (Hordiienko et al., 2020). The described application has its own features, because to implement the distance to the planets uses dimensions in scale that correspond to the real.

The development of technology and the increasing use of mobile devices affects the educational process. He et al. (He et al., 2014) describes a study demonstrating the best results in learning English using AR technology. Using the mobile camera, a bright picture appears to represent the English word on the card. This approach improves children's interest in learning. Vakaliuk et al. (Vakaliuk et al., 2021) demonstrates the possibilities of using AR technology to create a software application in the field of local lore "Monuments of the city of Zhytomyr". The application was tested during city tours with the participation of elementary school students. As a result of this approach, the interest of schoolchildren in studying the history of the native city has increased. Zhou et al. (Zhou et al., 2020) presents a mobile application, the purpose of which is to popularize the lifestyle in augmented reality, allowing users to enjoy it. The initial goal of the project is to give children the opportunity to combine practical skills and visuals in order to better realize multidimensional intelligence development.

Nechypurenko et al. (Nechypurenko et al., 2023) explains the current state of augmented reality (AR) technology use in contemporary chemical education and the potential for using augmented reality technology to enhance students' chemistry research projects. The article describes the development of augmented reality software to support the research activities of 11th grade chemistry students in the form of an AR-based virtual chemical laboratory, as well as its implementation in the teaching and learning process. The article (Krainyk et al., 2019) considers the development of a historical guide based on augmented reality technology. Hruntova et al. (Hruntova et al., 2018) theoretically substantiate the application of augmented reality technology and its features in higher technical educational institutions. Bilyk et al. (Bilyk et al., 2022) shows the feasibility of using augmented reality in the case of STEM education in Ukraine. The expediency of using augmented reality in the case of using STEM education in Ukraine is shown.

All considered articles are aimed at achieving the effectiveness of the educational process. In addition to the educational process, augmented reality technologies are used in various spheres of human life.

The application described in (Jung et al., 2020) is intended for virtual tours of Jeju Island. Sometimes it is difficult to find time to travel, but such software applications allow you to get acquainted with the cultural heritage of even remote regions. Wang et al. (Wang et al., 2021) examines the popularity of augmented reality mobile applications in 4 categories: augmented reality mobile games, advertising, videos and augmented reality shopping for mobile devices. As a result of the research, the author's team came to the conclusion that augmented reality mobile games are most often used.

The role of virtual and augmented reality for accessibility and marketing in tourism is studied in (Ozdemir, 2021). AR has both strengths, such as enriching knowledge, expanding experience, and weaknesses, such as high cost, insecurity. The high cost of both technologies limits availability and marketing.

Wang et al. (Wang et al., 2020) analyzing the status of the application of AR technology in domestic logistics and the benefits of using technology. This article summarizes 36 applications of augmented reality technology in domestic logistics. In addition, the prospects for the application of augmented reality technology in logistics are summarized and analyzed.

Osadchyi et al. (Osadchyi et al., 2021) analyzes the possibilities of using innovative AR technologies in the process of forming the viability of the future specialist based on the implementation of competence and subject-personal approach to the introduction of AR technologies in the educational process. Research by (Hu et al., 2021) aims to study the attributes of theatrical performances using augmented reality in theme parks that affect the emotional experience of visitors. The results showed that the use of AR technology had a positive effect on nostalgia and emotional arousal of visitors, which caused a sense of belonging to the theme park.

Carmigniani et al. (Carmigniani et al., 2011) considers the current state of augmented reality technologies, systems and applications. The problems of augmented reality mobile systems and the requirements for successful mobile systems are considered.

Young and Koo (Young and Koo, 2020) discusses the development of library services of the university with the use of technology and content of virtual and augmented reality (VR/AR). Based on the results of the research, questions were suggested that should be taken into account when using VR/AR technologies and content to provide university library services.

AR is used in various fields and is increasingly used in the educational process. Although research on the use of this technology in education is still scarce, the research literature points to its potential and effectiveness. The research results by Wyss et al. (Wyss et al., 2022) show that students have a very positive attitude towards augmented reality technologies and are very interested in working with this technology. With the advent of information technology, AR has made a significant contribution to industrial applications, namely: medicine, aviation, manufacturing, etc.

Park (Park, 2021) introduces ARLooper, an iOS augmented reality application for multiplayer audio and performance. The aim is to explore the possibility of using mobile augmented reality technology to create new music interfaces and collaborative audio-visual experiences.

Based on the analysis of recent publications and the experience of using augmented reality technologies, it can be concluded that this technology can also be used in education for advertising purposes.

3 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND AND SYSTEM DESIGN

3.1 Augmented Reality Technology

Augmented reality is a concept that describes the process of complementing existing reality with virtual objects. AR is evolving rapidly and is ready to take off and will be as important a technological advancement as the Internet or mobile devices. AR is the most important tool for brands, which attracts consumers, improves communication with people and strengthens consumer confidence. The camera transforms AR from gaming technology into a complete experience that makes people's lives exciting and rewarding. Augmented reality is already here, widely recognized as both interesting and useful, and also promotes rapid implementation and growth. There is an untapped demand to increase the number of applications in AR. Consumer demand for AR needs to be met, and now is the time to act for brands, platforms and developers.

The introduction of augmented reality is associated with a boom in the use of mobile devices – by 2025 almost 75% of the world's population and almost all smartphones users will be frequent users of AR. Deloitte Digital and Snap Inc. conducted a survey of 15 thousand people and published global "Consumer Augmented Reality" report, according to which (Deloitte Digital, 2021):

• 73% of people successfully identify augmented reality when they see it, but when they talk about it, it's hard for them to tell if a description of what it is.

- 65% of augmented reality consumers worldwide use AR to have fun; most discover AR through social/communication programs.
- Augmented reality is usually considered a "toy", but 76% of people expect it and want to use AR as a practical "tool" in everyday life.
- The use of augmented reality technology in advertising leads to a 94% increase in conversion rate compared to companies that do not use AR in advertising. Consumers are 41% more likely to prefer a product that uses AR technology to promote.

AR can be implemented using applications for ordinary smartphones and tablets, augmented reality glasses, stationary screens, projection devices and more. The essence of augmented reality technology is to combine the real image with its complement and the output of the final image on the visualization device.

The basis of augmented reality technology is an optical tracking system. There are several options for using AR technology: marker-based, markerless.

Marker-based technology is easier to use. It is easier to recognize by the camera and gives a tighter binding to the location for the virtual model. This technology works almost smoothly. A sheet of paper with some special image often acts as a marker. The type of image can vary greatly and depends on image recognition algorithms. You can use pictures, photos, booklets, but of good quality. The advertising booklet of the Faculty of Information and Computer Technologies of Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, Ukraine is used in the work. Before using the booklet, to activate the application, you need to mark it with Vuforia. The booklet image must be less than 2 megabytes in size, with a clear picture or photo. You need to upload it to the Vuforia website and get a rating. It is better not to use a 1-2 star rating, because the speed and quality of recognition will be very low and incorrect program reviews are possible. The booklet to be used has a rating of 4-5 stars. This means that the recognition in the software application does not take much time and will be displayed reproduced information about the specialty.

Marker technology using Vuforia creates static markers and uses them to enable an object to be activated (figure 1).

The left part of figure 1 shows an advertising flyer of the Faculty of Information and Computer Technologies of the Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, Ukraine. On the right in the same figure is a flyer with markers on it with Vuforia.

3.2 Create 3D Objects

A number of graphics have been developed to create the UniAd mobile AR application. All 3D models are developed in Blender.

Figure 2 shows the main 3D models that were created. The main, but the most time-consuming model is the university building. In addition to the main facility, a number of others have been created. Models of trees whose leaves should have animation – movement in the wind. Models of people can also be seen in figure 2. Each human object has an animation of walking on its own trajectory. Models of benches, lanterns and a model of a fountain located at the main entrance to the university were also created.

In addition to 3D models, the mobile application has added a number of 2D models that act as buttons. With the help of buttons the user has the opportunity to select certain actions (figure 3).

The orange plus button expands a kind of menu with different buttons, where each has its own function. The green button with the letter "i" is responsible for displaying information cards for each specialty of the Faculty of Information and Computer Technology (FICT). The button, with the image of the social network Facebook, will take the user to the main page of FICT in this network. The button showing the point on the map is responsible for the location of the university on Google Maps. The button of the social network Instagram is responsible for going to the main page of the faculty in this social network. The button with the symbol of the university is responsible for the user's transition to the official website of the educational institution.

3.3 Design and Implementation of Individual System Modules

The Unity engine is used to create the program. Its main advantage is the use of a component-oriented system of working with objects. All interactivity and gameplay in Unity are based on three fundamental blocks: GameObject objects, components and variables (Scr, 2022). Any object in the application is a GameObject, be it characters, light sources, special effects, scenery and everything else. Components determine the behavior of game objects to which they are attached and control them.

Figure 4 shows a precedent diagram. This diagram demonstrates possible user actions when using a mobile application. The precedent corresponds to a separate service of the system, determines one of the options for its use and determines the typical way of user interaction with the system. Usage parame-



Figure 1: Creating targets on the booklet for the UniAD application.

ters are commonly used to determine system requirements.

The Activity diagram was used to describe the behavior of the mobile application (figure 5). The diagram reflects the dynamic aspects of system behavior. In essence, this diagram is a flowchart that illustrates how the control flow moves from one activity to another.

3D application simulation was created using the Blender development environment. The main model created is the university building. Auxiliary objects on the stage have also been created – bushes, benches, trees, and a fountain, which are partially animated. Many animations have been created in the mobile application. Animation of the university building – it can be viewed from all sides, rotating 360 degrees. Implemented bone animation of 3D characters of students moving near the university. The animator controller is created by Unity and allows you to manage a set of animations for GameObject and switch between them when you need to meet certain conditions.

After launching the mobile application, as soon as the user hovers over the image of the paper advertising, the "Start" button will appear and the melody will start playing. After that, the user can press a button, and then the animation of the appearance of the university as if from the floor and scrolling the building 360 degrees will begin. Other objects located on the ground will also appear. Gait animation is applied to objects in the form of people, the movement of leaves on trees under the influence of wind is realized. The animator controller is created by Unity and allows you to manage a set of animations for GameObject and switch between them when you need to meet certain conditions.

The scheme presented in figure 6 shows the general algorithm of the system. With the help of an AR camera, the focus is on the booklet of the Faculty of Information and Computer Technology. If the appropriate markers are found in the image, the "Start" button is displayed.

Let's take a closer look at some of the Vuforia methods that were used to create the software application. This piece of code helps to determine how you can "catch" the marker.

public enum TrackingStatusFilter {
 Tracked,
 Tracked_ExtendedTracked,



Figure 2: 3D models developed in Blender.

}

}



```
Tracked_ExtendedTracked_Limited
}
```

The part of the code that is responsible for pressing the "Start" button and launching the animation on the stage of the software application.

```
public class GIFShow : MonoBehaviour{
  public GameObject gif;
  public GameObject hide;

  public void ShowGif() {
    if (gif != null) {
        bool isActive = gif.activeSelf;
        if (!isActive)
           gif.SetActive(true);
        else
        if (isActive)
        gif.SetActive(false);
    }
    if(hide != null) {
        bool isActiveHide = hide.activeSelf;
        if (!isActiveHide)
    }
}
```

```
hide.SetActive(true);
}
else
if(isActiveHide)
hide.SetActive(false);
```

After pressing the "Start" button, the main scene of the program starts. 3D models and textual information appear on the stage. A piece of code that is responsible for tracking the camera's position and rotates the text toward the camera so that it can be read.

```
public class TextCenter : MonoBehaviour{
   public GameObject target;
   void Start() {}
   void Update() {
      Vector3 targetPosition =
        new Vector3(
        target.transform.position.x,
        target.transform.position.y,
        target.transform.position.z);
```

transform.LookAt(targetPosition);

A sprite animation has been created for each spe-



Figure 4: Use Case diagram of a mobile application.

cialty available in the application, which reflects the specifics of the specialty. An array of graphic images is used to play the animation. The part of the code that is responsible for converting an array of images into a sprite animation.

```
public class AnimationGIF : MonoBehaviour
{
   public Sprite[] animatedImages;
   public Image animateImageObject;

   void Start() {}
   void Update() {
      animateImageObject.sprite =
        animatedImages[(int)(Time.time*10)
        % animatedImages.Length];
   }
}
```

The code snippet that is responsible for defining items in the Dropdown menu. Each list item has its own method.

```
public class DropdownAction: MonoBehaviour
{
    public GameObject Image;
    private Animator animator;
    void Start() {
```

```
GetComponent().value = 5;
}
void Update() {}
public void ShowImage() {
  if(Image != null) {
    bool isActive = Image.activeSelf;
    if(isActive == false)
      Image.SetActive(true);
    else
      if(isActive == true)
        Image.SetActive(false);
  }
}
public void ValueChanged() {
  Debug.Log("Choosen element:
                                " +
    GetComponent().value);
  if (GetComponent().value == 0) {
    Application.OpenURL(
"https://www.instagram.com/fikt_ztu/");
    GetComponent().value = 5;
  if (GetComponent().value == 1) {
    Application.OpenURL(
"https://goo.gl/maps/Me2vbsnkUzmLfxrN6");
    GetComponent().value = 5;
  }
  if(GetComponent().value == 3) {
    Application.OpenURL(
"https://www.facebook.com/zstufikt");
    GetComponent().value = 5;
  if (GetComponent().value == 4) {
    Application.OpenURL(
"https://ztu.edu.ua/");
    GetComponent().value = 5;
  }
  if(GetComponent().value == 2) {
    ShowImage();
    GetComponent().value = 5;
  }
}
```

Unity supports C# scripting that follows one of two main approaches: the traditional and widely used object-oriented approach and the informationoriented approach.

3.4 Mobile Application Interface

}

The application is implemented using Unity and Vuforia. Vuforia Engine is a software development kit (SDK) for creating Augmented Reality apps. Management is carried out with the help of the camera of the smartphone on which the application is installed, Mobile Application for Advertising Educational Services and Research the Efficiency of Its Use



Figure 5: Activity diagram.



Figure 6: Scheme of project elements and its works.

and the booklet of the faculty on which the user has to point the camera.

The application can be used on devices with Android operating system version 10 and higher and requires 210 MB of free memory. The interface of the application is quite simple. Management is carried out using the camera of the smartphone on which the application is installed, and pictures of triggers (advertising paper advertising of the faculty) on which the user must point the camera.

After launching the mobile application and pressing the "Start" button, calm music starts playing and the animation of the university appearance will start. Near the university there are people who have an animation of walking, trees whose leaves have an animation of rustling, as well as benches, lanterns, a fountain, an inscription above his head. Another "Menu" button appears on the screen. An image of the program after clicking the "Start" button can be seen in figure 7.

Currently, you can view the model of the university by turning around a paper advertisement with ad-



Figure 7: General view of the program after pressing the Start button.

vertising, it is also possible to enlarge or reduce the image of the institution.

The user has the opportunity to open a drop-down menu, where you can go to additional resources of the university: the main site of the university, Instagram, Facebook. It is also possible to open the Google Maps service, which will indicate the location of the Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, Ukraine.

By pressing the "I" button, the user will open seven cards. All cards have the same design (figure 8 – they are depicted in the form of a rectangle with round edges, but each of them is a representation of a separate specialty at the faculty.

At the top of the card you can see the name and number of the specialty. Below is a list of preferences, subjects or interests about each specialty. At the bottom of the card, the user sees a button labeled "View animation", when pressed instead of the card appears sprite animation related to the main activity, which is studied in a particular specialty. Figure 8 shows an animation showing an IT professional creating software. This animation reflects the essence of the specialty 121 "Software Engineering". By flipping the screen to the left, the user can see all the animations and all the cards. To close the card view, the user must click on the "I" icon again.

When the user loses sight of the camera paper advertising with advertising, all objects, music and sounds will be lost. To view the program again, you need to point the camera at the paper advertising again.

4 THE RESULTS OF THE STUDY

The application was intensively used during the career guidance work of the Faculty of Information and Computer Technology in 2021. In the process, a set of data was accumulated, on the basis of which the analysis was conducted. A data set in CSV format was used for analysis. The file contains 1086 records. The data set is represented by the following fields: submitted documents, saw AR advertising, entered the university, competitive score. Among them, 3 fields are categorical data (0 or 1, saw advertising -1 did not see -0) (figure 9).

It is better to use descriptive statistics in the initial stages of the analysis of the created dataset. Measures of the central tendency were considered, where the following indicators were revealed: the minimum value on the competitive score is 125 points, the maximum -200 points.

The scope is 27 points. The arithmetic mean is one of the most common measures of the central trend. The average value indicates that the "typical" score in the dataset is approximately 160.76. Accordingly, most entrants have a fairly high competitive score. Estimation of tightness established by Spearman's rank correlation established a connection between two parameters – competitive score and admission. There is still a small relationship between parameters such as admission and ad viewing. The distribution of observations showed the following data: the first quarter is 152, the second quarter – 162, the third quarter – 166. The standard deviation of the competition score is 13.32.

After profiling the file, it was determined that out of all applicants who submitted documents, 630 saw advertising, which is 58% of all submitted documents.

Of all entrants who submitted documents, 60% (652) of applications were submitted for specialty 121 "Software Engineering", 23.8% (259) for spe-



Figure 8: The result of pressing the "I" button

	video_pres	sex	entered	<pre>competitive_ball</pre>	speciality
0	1	1	1	175	125
1	1	1	1	172	125
2	1	1	1	175	125
3	1	1	1	162	122
4	1	1	1	165	125
5	1	1	1	183	125
6	0	1	0	145	122
7	0	1	0	149	125
8	0	1	0	144	126
9	1	1	1	142	121
10	0	1	0	182	121

Figure 9: Fragment of a data set.

cialty 122 "Computer Science", 6.9% (75) for specialty 125 Cybersecurity, 5.5% (60) for specialty 123 "Computer Engineering", 3.7% (40) for specialty 126 "Information Systems and Technologies".

Of all the applicants who applied, 374 became students of the Faculty of Information and Computer Technology of Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, Ukraine.

Figure 10 shows the general schedule of all applicants and those who enrolled and those who saw the advertisement. The results show that not everyone who used the mobile application enrolled at the Faculty of Information and Computer Technology of the Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University.

Figure 11 shows the data for the target variable entered. Elements of the sample according to the value of the target variable entered are divided into



Figure 10: The general schedule of all applicants and those who enrolled and those who saw the advertisement.

two graphs, which show a separate number of applicants who did not enroll in FICT, but saw advertising and those who saw advertising and enrolled in FICT. From the received schedule it is possible to draw conclusions that on two values, the number of entrants who saw advertising is more. This demonstrates the search conducted before admission and increased interest in specialties at the university.

Figure 12 shows a histogram showing the data on the viewing of advertising using the application and the number of students enrolled in terms of specialties FICT. The histogram is an estimate of the central trend for a numerical variable and gives an idea of the uncertainty of this estimate using the error bar. It is interesting to note that in the specialty 122 "Computer Science" the number of entrants who viewed the ad is less than the number of entrants. Although specialty 122 is given special attention to the study of augmented reality technology, on the basis of which the created and researched mobile application UniAd is built. Analyzing in more detail the data of entrants to the specialty 122, it was found that a significant number of students came from other regions of Ukraine than Zhytomyr region (Lviv, Luhansk, Kyiv, Khmelnytsky, Rivne regions) and did not have the opportunity to use applications and are not reflected in the collected statistics. The coverage of a larger number of geographical regions of Ukraine has a great influence.

The results show a significant number of entrants who saw the ad, but did not enroll. This is due to various factors. One of them is the low competitive score of entrants (figure 13). The next factor – the fact that the passing score for admission was quite high (different in each specialty) – this created a significant competition. The graph in figure 13 establishes the relationship between categorical and continuous variables. Vertical segments indicate part of the data of a particular category.

Another factor influencing admission is the lack of budget places (for new specialties), due to which entrants are looking for other specialties or universities.

Considering the data in the context of gender, shown in figure 14, we can observe a much smaller number of female entrants to technical specialties. In contrast, the girls' competitive score varies between 154-176, which is above the mean, and the standard deviation is less than the total. It should also be noted that girls are more interested in specialties 121 "Software Engineering" and 122 "Computer Science".

Based on the analysis of the data set, it can be concluded that advertising services using a mobile application based on AR technology are effective. Such applications attract entrants, as information about the specialty is provided in an interesting way. Not always textual information is perceived qualitatively and in full. The information presented in the animated video briefly represents the essence of the specialty that improves perception.

Methods of descriptive statistics and exploratory analysis were used for the analysis. This is implemented using the Python programming language, namely the libraries numpy, pandas, seaborn, matplotlib.

5 CONCLUSIONS

In the process of studying the effectiveness of the use of a mobile application for advertising educational services of the Faculty of Information and Computer Technologies of the Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University was an analysis of data collected during career guidance work. The metrics for the analysis were: the number of entrants who submitted applications, taking into account the specialty, the number of entrants who used the mobile application, the competition score and the number of entrants.

According to the results of the study, we can conclude that it is appropriate to use the developed mobile application. This is proved by the fact that the enrollment of first-year students in 2021 has increased for all specialties of the faculty. The number of submitted applications exceeded the number of licensed volumes by specialties (Marchuk et al., 2023).

Therefore, we believe that the use of augmented reality technology is appropriate to promote the educational process and advertising of the educational in-







Figure 12: Histogram of views of advertising and specialties entered.



Figure 13: Data on the competitive score of entrants by specialties.

stitution. This will undoubtedly increase the interest of applicants, as well as increase the level of perception of information about the specialties of the fac-



Figure 14: Diagram of advertising views by gender.

ulty. This is achieved through diversity, interactivity and visual presentation of information.

The mobile application was tested on the basis of the Faculty of Information and Computer Technologies of the Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, Ukraine. In the future, it is planned to expand it so that it can be used by various faculties and published in the Play Market.

REFERENCES

- (2022). Scripting in Unity for experienced programmers. https://unity.com/how-to/programming-unity.
- (2022). What percentage of internet traffic is mobile in 2022? https://webtribunal.net/blog/ mobile-percentage-of-traffic/#gref.

- Bilous, V. V., Proshkin, V. V., and Lytvyn, O. S. (2020). Development of AR-applications as a promising area of research for students. In Burov, O. Y. and Kiv, A. E., editors, *Proceedings of the 3rd International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 13, 2020*, volume 2731 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 205–216. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2731/paper11.pdf.
- Bilyk, Z. I., Shapovalov, Y. B., Shapovalov, V. B., Megalinska, A. P., Zhadan, S. O., Andruszkiewicz, F., Dołhańczuk-Śródka, A., and Antonenko, P. D. (2022). Comparison of Google Lens recognition performance with other plant recognition systems. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(4):328–346. https://doi. org/10.55056/etq.433.
- Burov, O. Y., Kiv, A. E., Semerikov, S. O., Striuk, A. M., Striuk, M. I., Kolgatina, L. S., and Oliinyk, I. V. (2020). AREdu 2020 - How augmented reality helps during the coronavirus pandemic. In Burov, O. Y. and Kiv, A. E., editors, *Proceedings of the 3rd International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education*, *Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 13, 2020*, volume 2731 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 1–46. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2731/paper00.pdf.
- Carmigniani, J., Furht, B., Anisetti, M., Ceravolo, P., Damiani, E., and Ivkovic, M. (2011). Augmented reality technologies, systems and applications. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 51:341–377. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s11042-010-0660-6.
- Deloitte Digital (2021). Deloitte digital and snap inc. report reveals the rich, untapped future of augmented reality for customer experience. https://tinyurl.com/ 4yh5746a.
- He, J., Ren, J., Zhu, G., Cai, S., and Chen, G. (2014). Mobile-Based AR Application Helps to Promote EFL Children's Vocabulary Study. In 2014 IEEE 14th International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies, pages 431–433. https://doi.org/10.1109/ ICALT.2014.129.
- Hordiienko, V. V., Marchuk, G. V., Vakaliuk, T. A., and Pikilnyak, A. V. (2020). Development of a model of the solar system in AR and 3d. In Burov, O. Y. and Kiv, A. E., editors, *Proceedings of the 3rd International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 13, 2020*, volume 2731 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 217– 238. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2731/ paper12.pdf.
- Hruntova, T. V., Yechkalo, Y. V., Striuk, A. M., and Pikilnyak, A. V. (2018). Augmented reality tools in physics training at higher technical educational institutions. In Kiv, A. E. and Soloviev, V. N., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, October 2, 2018*, volume 2257 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 33–40. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2257/ paper04.pdf.
- Hu, R., Wang, C., Zhang, T., Nguyen, T., Shapoval, V., and Zhai, L. (2021). Applying augmented reality (AR) technologies in theatrical performances in theme parks: A transcendent experience perspective.

Tourism Management Perspectives, 40:100889. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2021.100889.

- Jung, K., Nguyen, V. T., Piscarac, D., and Yoo, S.-C. (2020). Meet the Virtual Jeju Dol Harubang—The Mixed VR/AR Application for Cultural Immersion in Korea's Main Heritage. *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information*, 9(6):367. https://doi.org/10. 3390/ijgi9060367.
- Krainyk, Y. M., Boiko, A. P., Poltavskyi, D. A., and Zaselskiy, V. I. (2019). Augmented Reality-based historical guide for classes and tourists. In Kiv, A. E. and Shyshkina, M. P., editors, *Proceedings of the 2nd International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, March 22, 2019*, volume 2547 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 241– 250. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2547/ paper17.pdf.
- Marchuk, G., Levkivskyi, V., Graf, M., Dombrovska, Y., and Panarina, I. (2023). Mobile application for advertising faculty educational services. *Educational Technology Quarterly*. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.30.
- Nechypurenko, P., Semerikov, S., and Pokhliestova, O. (2023). Cloud technologies of augmented reality as a means of supporting educational and research activities in chemistry for 11th grade students. *Educational Technology Quarterly*. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq. 44.
- Osadchyi, V., Varina, H., Falko, N., Osadcha, K., and Katkova, T. (2021). The peculiarities of the usage of AR technologies in the process of hardiness of future professionals. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840(1):012059. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/ 1840/1/012059.
- Ozdemir, M. A. (2021). Virtual Reality (VR) and Augmented Reality (AR) Technologies for Accessibility and Marketing in the Tourism Industry. In Eusébio, C., Teixeira, L., and Carneiro, M., editors, *ICT Tools and Applications for Accessible Tourism*, pages 277–301. IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/ 978-1-7998-6428-8.ch013.
- Park, S. (2021). ARLooper: A Mobile AR Application for Collaborative Sound Recording and Performance. In Kronland-Martinet, R., Ystad, S., and Aramaki, M., editors, *Perception, Representations, Image, Sound, Music*, pages 554–562, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-030-70210-6_35.
- Vakaliuk, T. A., Marchuk, G. V., Levkivskyi, V. L., Morgun, A. M., and Kuznietsov, D. V. (2021). Development of ar application to promote the historical past of the native land. In *Digital Humanities Workshop (DHW* 2021), December 23, 2021, Kyiv, Ukraine, pages 125–131, New York, NY, United States. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/ 3526242.3526244.
- Wang, W., Wang, F., Song, W., and Su, S. (2020). Application of Augmented Reality (AR) Technologies in inhouse Logistics. *E3S Web of Conferences*, 145. https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/202014502018.
- Wang, Y., Wang, Y., and Fan, Z. (2021). Current Status and Prospects of Mobile AR Applications. In 2021

International Conference on Culture-oriented Science Technology (ICCST), pages 34–37. https://doi.org/10. 1109/ICCST53801.2021.00018.

- Wyss, C., Degonda, A., Bührer, W., and Furrer, F. (2022). The Impact of Student Characteristics for Working with AR Technologies in Higher Education -Findings from an Exploratory Study with Microsoft HoloLens. *Information*, 13(3):112. https://doi.org/10. 3390/info13030112.
- Young, K. S. and Koo, J. H. (2020). University Librarians' Perception and Needs Assessment of Library Services Development Applying Virtual/Augmented Reality (VR/AR) Technologies. *Journal of Korean Library and Information Science Society*, 51(4):375– 403. https://doi.org/10.16981/kliss.51.4.202012.375.
- Zhou, J., Xu, Z., Yan, H., Gao, B., Yang, O., and Zhao, Z. (2020). AR Creator: A Mobile Application of Logic Education Based on AR. In 2020 International Conference on Virtual Reality and Visualization (ICVRV), pages 379–380. https://doi.org/10.1109/ ICVRV51359.2020.00109.

Mathematical Interpretation of Educational Student's and Scientific Studies in Form of Digital Ontologies

Viktor B. Shapovalov^{^b} and Yevhenii B. Shapovalov^{^b}

The National Center "Junior Academy of Sciences of Ukraine", 38-44 Degtyarivska Str., Kyiv, 04119, Ukraine svb@man.gov.ua, sjb@man.gov.ua

Keywords: Ontology, IMRAD, Structuration, Scientific Studies, Biogas.

Abstract: Because of the problem of the large amount of scientific data generated, it is relevant to develop structuring and processing methods. Using ontology graphs is the modern perspective way of their representation. Considering that most studies are written based on IMRAD, it was used to provide integration of different studies at a single structure and provide structuration at all. The different ways to create integrated ontology using IM-RAD are described. To get the necessary level of abstraction, IMRAD elements as part of a set of the specific studies were decomposed as levels of abstraction from L1 (general node that describes a branch of science) to L5 (specific papers with detailed data) depending on the abstraction. The content of each node in the form of metadata and its further processing is described. The particular way of using proposed modes has been described in the example of describing studies in biogas production. The mathematical model of the proposed ontology is developed and presented. It is shown that a set of corteges describes IMRAD representation of the scientific studies in the form of ontologies.

1 INTRODUCTION

The data nowadays is generated with colossal intensity. Due to this, Big Data processing is a trend (Globa et al., 2019; Stryzhak et al., 2021). Processing a considerable amount of data in real life is complicated by the high gain of publishing scientific studies. In general, it seems like an exponentially growing of the publications. According to lens.org, in 1900, only 532 M of scientific papers were published, but their amount in 2015 was near 10 B (figure 1).

Considering the development of STEM, studies are provided not only by experienced scientists by youth. Such a considerable number of studies generated complicated tasks to process such data. One of the problems of low spreading and usage (in the example of Ukraine (Hrynevych et al., 2021; Martyniuk et al., 2021; Shapovalov et al., 2020b; Stryzhak et al., 2017)) may be related to difficulties with the processing of science.

Now, scientific studies are published in different forms of report, such as articles, conference proceedings, books, etc. However, its process is complicated due to studies are low-structured. Sure, they are all built by a similar structure named IMRAD (Oriokot et al., 2011; Pardede, 2012). It envisages requirements for the paper to consist of some generalized Introduction, describing used Materials and Methods, naming the Results of the study and the Discussion by comparing with other scientific materials or providing use cases. However, it seems not enough. Here just some examples of problems due to it:

- it is hard to start the researcher carrier due to complicated process of understanding of the methods and equipment that need to be used in specific fields of study;
- it is hard for youth scientists to understand main parameters that have measured to provide study analysis;
- for expired scientists, it is hard to analyze and collect data of new studies.

These are only very few cases that are a problem due to high amount of data of scientific studies. However, these cases are makes relevant to develop new methods to provide better structuration and data processing of scientific studies.

Sure, there are few solutions for this problem that provides automated science data processing (Klampfl et al., 2014; Portenoy and West, 2020; Gorashy and Salim, 2014; Shakeel et al., 2018; Paschke and

578

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6315-649X

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3732-9486

Shapovalov, V. and Shapovalov, Y.

Mathematical Interpretation of Educational Student's and Scientific Studies in Form of Digital Ontologies

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 578-587 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS - Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)



Figure 1: Dynamic of published papers according to Lens.org web service.

Schäfermeier, 2018), but it seems that they do not take to account IMRAD. One of the appropriate methods to solve the problems is ontology taxonomies (Globa et al., 2015; Mintser et al., 2018; Stryzhak et al., 2018; Schäfermeier et al., 2021) with semantic technologies (Alnemr et al., 2010). Also, ontology taxonomies have a lot of advantages, such as the possibility to combine with other types of materials (Gruber et al., 2020), including interactive and web-based courses (Bovtruk et al., 2020; Slipukhina et al., 2018), other information technologies (Markova et al., 2019; Modlo and Semerikov, 2018) and GIS GIS (Stryzhak et al., 2019). This research aims to develop a model that can structure the set of the studies using IMRAD.

Previously, it was proposed to provide support using ontologies for single specific study, but not to create glossaries and structured sets of data. To provide it tools Open provenance, Ontologyt and EXPO (da Cruz et al., 2012) were developed. Another ontology solution in the field of science is MoKi that provides creation of wiki-based information scientific sources (Dragoni et al., 2014; Ghidini et al., 2012). There some specific ontology tools such as Gene ontology (Smith, 2008) or Centralized educational environment (Stryzhak et al., 2021). However, creation of ontology to structure the set of the studies seems relevant due lack of approaches to provide it.

2 METHODS OF THE RESEARCH

In the paper, the ontology model has developed using the main principles of Graph Theory, Set Theory, and a Theory of Abstraction (Giunchiglia and Walsh, 1992). The graph was modelled using a simple hierarchical algorithm that foresees using only nodes and links. So, such a model further may be updated using the more comprehensive graph building tools such as weight coefficients. However, without simple modelling, providing it will not be possible. To provide structuration generally accepted structuring method IMRAD has been proposed and used.

To model data processing was developed taking to account the processing possibilities of the Polyhedron system due it has some advantages compare well known Protégé (The Board of Trustees of the Leland Stanford Junior University, 2020; Ameen et al., 2012) and OWL tools (Sinha and Couderc, 2012; Soldatova and King, 2006). Furthermore, the features of cognitive IT-platform tools Filtering, Audit, and Ranking to provide decision-making (Stryzhak et al., 2021; Shapovalov et al., 2019a,b) were described in equitations to describe the data processing in the ontology model.

3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Using IMRAD to Provide Structure

As was noted before, IMRAD is used to prepare science papers. So, to provide structuration, it is possible to use parent nodes that represent IMRAD components. IMRAD – Introduction, Methods, Results, and Discussion. The discussion part can't be structured by ontology because it contains the obtained data analysis and comparison. That is why discussion will be represented as the processing of the results.

$$(D \in S) \implies (P \in S) \tag{1}$$

where S – study (or set of studies), D – discussion of studies' results, P – processing of the results of a set of studies.

Approximate, ontology can be devoted to a specific field of science or integrate different fields. Depending on it, the ontology will have 5 or 4 abstract levels of deep. In the case of general ontology, the parent node will be "Scientific studies", and its subsidiary nodes will name a specific field. In the case of a specific ontology, the parent node will name a specific field. Then it links with elements of IMRAD structure. Each element of IMRAD has its specific representation, and it's in turn linked with more specific for the study describing the element of IMRAD. And the leaf node will be a set of specific studies belonging to the field. Let's name each level with L symbols taking to account position in the hierarchy:

- L1 General name of parent's node "Scientific studies",
- L2 Name of field of the study,
- L3 Part of IMRAD,
- L4 Specific representation of IMRAD (specific method, used materials, specific type of the results),
- L5 Specific study where were used specific representations of IMRAD L4.

Therefore, the hierarchy in a specific study will have a form of {L2, L3, L4, L5} or the general ones will have a form of {L1, L2, L3, L4, L5}. Interoperability of the L2 nodes of two different graphs may be provided by using the graph constructor. It provides the possibility to merge graphs in two ways. The first foresees that graphs will be constructed as a general graph in the form of {L1, L2, L3, L4, L5} and with the same name of L1. And the second is to create L1 in the constructor and add there two specific graphs in the form of {L2, L3, L4, L5}. Schematic representation of the general ontology is shown in figure 2, and taxonomy of the specific field is shown in figure 3.

An alternative and a more humanly more humanreadable way to provide abstraction are to revert this model and begin with L5 and end with L1. In this case, ontology will have structure form $\{L5, L4, L3,$ L2, L1 $\}$. The graph based on the abstraction that begins from specific studies L1 and ends by field of the research is shown in figure 4.

However, the main disadvantage of such a graph is evident and is the consequences of the structure:



Figure 2: The taxonomy of the general science report ontology, where LR1, LR2, M1, R1, R2 – are abstract classes of literature review (LR), Methods and results of object.



Figure 3: The taxonomy of the specific field science report ontology.

the leaf node SR ("Scientific study") will be not very useful for users. Anyway, this type of graph may be built as $\{L5, L4, L3\}$ and in this case, it will be used to evaluate the specific report, for example, during qualifying work evaluation (PhD or Master's study). It will show abstract classes of each specific part of IMRAD for each specific study and can provide an evaluation of the set of methods and results that the researcher obtained. Anyway, in this research, we'll use the first way to provide hierarchies in the form of $\{L2, L3, L4, L5\}$, and $\{L1, L2, L3, L4, L5\}$.

As it can be seen, the general science report ontology is significantly more complicated due to links between L1 and L2 levels, and also, there will be some problems with a vast amount of methods, results, etc. that can be not necessary to the user that looking for information on the specific field. Also, it will be much harder to create such type of graphs due it will have two levels of links "one to many" (see figure 2, links between L2 and L3 level and links between L4 and L5 levels) compare to only one in case of specific ontology (see figure 3, only links between L4 and L5 levels). It may be unreasonable to create a compli-



Figure 4: The graph based on the abstraction that begins from specific studies L1 and ends by field of the research.

cated graph. Therefore, it seems relevant to provide both types of hierarchies. To provide it, the ontologies should be created in specific fields and then merged, as noted before.

In this case, specific parts of IMRAD will be used as subsidiaries nodes in the field of the study, and specific studies will be used as leaf nodes. So, the general structure of such ontology may be represented as:

$$\{I, M, R, P\} \in REP \tag{2}$$

where I – sets of Introduction of all studies, M – set of Materials and Methods an of all studies, R – set of Results of all studies, P – processing of the results of a set of studies; replaces discussion; REP – report (or set of report).

To provide better systematization and we have split the introduction into two different parts due to their specific – basic metadata and literature review; it is possible to represent the introduction as further:

$$I = \langle BMD, LR \rangle \tag{3}$$

where BMD – is set of basic metadata of study, LR – set of Sources used for Literature Review.

Basic metadata of the study node linked with graph nodes that characterized the essential data on the study, such as hypothesis, object, subject, practical value, and scientific novelty. And so, a node of the primary report's metadata of the study can be presented as a further equation:

$$BMD = \langle H_i, O_i, S_i, PV_i, S_i \rangle \tag{4}$$

where H – hypothesis or hypotheses of each specific study; O – object of the study; S – the subject of each specific study; PV – practical value of each specific study; SC – the scientific novelty of each specific study.

Each work of the set of the Introductions, Methods, Results, and Processing of the data (Discussion). Then each work will be represented as the future:

$$S_I = \langle I_I, M_I, R_I, P_I \rangle \tag{5}$$

$$S_{II} = \langle I_{II}, M_{II}, R_{II}, P_{II} \rangle \tag{6}$$

So, these articles can be integrated into a single ontology using IMRAD:

 $\langle S_I, S_{II} \rangle = \langle I_I, M_I, R_I, P_I, I_{II}, M_{II}, R_{II}, P_{II} \rangle$ (7)

3.2 Using Taxonomy Nodes as Structure of Science Data

The main advantages of using such structures are that some parts of the introduction (for example, keyword), materials and methods and results elements (entities and measured parameters) of studies/report in the same field can coincide and, in this case, such coinciding sub-nodes will be used as links for them and provide their interoperability. The proposed approach uses IMRAD to collect and process the data with ontologies. In this way, the ontologies are constructed not by the specific structure of each work but by the generally accepted IMRAD structure. The parent node will be a specific area to which a set of the studies belongs to $(L2 = \sum_{i}^{n} RS_{Ii})$, where L2 – specific area and RS – set of the represented studies). The L2 node is linked with I, M, R, P nodes (representing IM-RAD). Each IMRAD node is linked with a specific node (such as ammonia determination by Nessler's method (for methods) or "chicken manure" or "glycerine" (for subjects)) that belongs to such types. And each specific IMRAD type is linked with leaf nodes of ontology - specific studies where such entities were used.

In this case, a few studies/report (REP1, REP2, and REP3 that belong to L5) will be integrated with some of the methods or results (M1, R1, R2 that belong to L4). So, the L4 level will be used to provide the structuration of the studies (L5). The user can use it in both ways: to find which method, result, etc., that belong to L4 were used in a specific report that belongs to L5; and define in which studies belong to L4 were used.

The same approach will be provided for each element of the structure. General can be represented as:

$$L4(M) = \sum_{i}^{n} M_i \tag{8}$$

where M_i – every separated scientific method.

Case of coinciding of the methods may be represented as single mortises of methods of each study:

$$M_I = \{M_a, M_b, M_c, M_d\}$$

$$\tag{9}$$

$$M_{II} = \{M_b, M_d, M_f\}$$
(10)

Therefore, in this case, M_b can be used as a parent node that connects two different studies. The node

 M_b itself will contain general theoretic information on it, and node S_I and S_{II} will contain information on the specific case of its usage and measured parameters using it.

Also, for example, there will be a hierarchical way of representing and using the keywords:

$$K_w(BMD_i) = Kw_a Kw_b, Kw_c, Kw_d$$
(11)

where $K_w(BMD_i)$ – node of the basic metadata that integrates all keywords; Kw_i – specific keyword of the specific research.

In this case, some of the studies, same as for the methods, Kw_i will be elements of two different studies $(Kw_a, Kw_c \in S_I, S_{II})$. This will be useful, especially for students and young scientists looking to find methods (M_I) and parameters that can be used in specific fields and their usage in practice. Also, this way provides a list of the parameters and methods used in specific fields.

3.3 Metadata Processing

The metadata of each work will be used for processing the data. It may be included for each node. For example, metadata of L4 nodes will represent the general information (for example, the essence of the method itself), and the resulting leaf nodes will contain the specific metadata related to a specific study (such as specific results of the study obtained using set methods M; for example, metadata: "5,35", and it's class: "Ammonium nitrogen content, g/l). And so, metadata with the same class will be processed by filtering by users' request or by ranking by providing the rank of nodes by specific class (or their set) based on the user's request. So, each node located on each level E_i contains metadata with the abstract level that corresponds to several levels; for level 1st - it will be the most abstract metadata, and for 5th - it will be the most specific.

As can be seen, all data in levels L1-L4 contains generalized metadata and wouldn't be used to process specific study, but just used to get generalized abstract information on entities used in specific fields. Only the L5 level contains metadata related to a specific study and will be used for further processing.

3.4 Using Metadata to Provide Data Processing

Specific mechanisms "Filtering", "AUDIT" and "RANK" of cognitive IT solution Polyhedron are used to provide processing of the information. It will be used for the case when different studies will have the same Class and Type of information, but different values:

 $\{Class: C1; Type: Number; Value: V1\} \in REP1$ (12)

$$\{Class: C1; Type: Number; Value: V2\} \in REP2$$
 (13)

$$\{Class: C1; Type: Number; Value: V3\} \in REP3$$
 (14)

And the values V_1, V_2, V_3 can be equal or not equal. Anyway "Filtering", "AUDIT" and "RANKING" can be used to process the data. Filtering can be described by function if:

If $(V_{min} < V < V_{max})$ then (display nodes with such V)

or

If $(V = V_{set})$ then (display nodes with such V) where Vmin, Vmax, Vset are maximum, minimum, and given (set) values, respectively, that inputted by the user.

The function of AUDIT can also be described as a function if:

If $(V_i = V_{set})$ than (mark red such V_i); for each V_i .

The ranking is much more complicated and can be described as:

$$RANK_{abs(i)} = \sum (OR_i \times IMP_i \times \frac{V_i}{V_{max}})$$
(15)

where $RANK_{abs(i)}$ – ranking rank in absolute value for *i*'s node OR_i – orientation maximum or minimum for metadata of *i*'s object (can be +1 or -1); IMP_i – importance coefficient for metadata of *i*'s object; V_i – the value of metadata of *i*'s object; V_{max} – maximum value of the set of metadata.

$$RANK_i = \frac{RANK_{(abs(i))}}{RANK_{max}}$$
(16)

where $RANK_i$ – the relative value of the rank (can be maximum =1) of each object; $RANK_{max}$ – the maximum value of the RANK for all sets of objects.

3.5 Formalization Description

The object of formalization is specific scientific stud-The result of formalization is a specialized ies. research-oriented subject area formed precisely from existing research and allows to familiarize with the specialized subject area. Any research essentially has the same components (which are proposed to be systematized in the form of graphs) - introduction (landscape, object of research, subject of research, novelty, etc.), methods (a set of methods that ensures the achievement of a scientific result or measurement), specific achievements and results (e.g., systems and approaches developed or metrics) and discussion. All components except the last one can be formalized using the IMRAD approach in such a way that they form an ontology of the subject area of a specific field of research. Discussion, in its essence, is finding the place

MD(L1)	no metadata
MD(L2)	{Class: Information about the field; Type: String; Value: Description}
MD(L3)	[MD(LR); MD(BMS); MD(M); MD(R)]= LR, BMS, M, R{Class: General information; Type: String; Value: Describing and detailing of meaning results, methods, literature re- view, etc.}
MD(L4)	$\sum[MD(LR_i); MD(BMS_i); \{ MD(M_i); MD(R_i) \} = \{ \text{ Class: Essence of the name (specific method, results, etc.; Type: String; Value: Describing of way of providing or specific measured parameter} \}$
MD(L5)	\sum {Class: all metadata of specific study; Type: Number or String; Value: Text or number}

Table 1: Description of the metadata on each ontology of proposed ontology model.

of this research in the system of scientific research – that is, it is the process of comparing the results of research, numerical and other data with existing other data and providing explanations of the differences of this specific stud. In fact, such processing is provided by the ranking tools and the CIT Polyhedron alternative.

4 DISCUSSION

4.1 Case of Usage: An Example on Biogas Production

So, for the specific case of biogas production studies (Ivanov et al., 2019; Shapovalov et al., 2020a; Plyatsuk and Chernish, 2014; Bochmann et al., 2020), it seems relevant to use ontology for a specific field (in the form of $\{L2, L3, L4, L5\}$). In this case, a node in the L2 line will be single and named "Studies on anaerobic digestion". It will be linked with nodes Introduction, Methods, Results, and Processing. As for all other cases, Introduction will be divided into Basic Metadata and Literature review (L3 level).

Basic Metadata will be linked with nodes Objects, Subjects, Aims, Practical Value, Scientific novelty, Hypothesis, Keywords, Abstract, Conclusion (L3 level).

Each of these nodes will be connected with specific nodes relevant to the set of the structured studies (L4 level). Each specific L3 will have metadata with general information on the described object. So, an example of values of metadata in the "Basic metadata" elements node in the L4 level is shown in table 2.

*verbs "are defined" or "has provided" etc. and articles "the", "a" and "an" aren't use due to their huge vitiation and to provide better structuration and to have more coincidences between nodes and metadata

Each such node will be connected with the study where it was used (L5 level). For example, "Biogas

production from the poultry waste" or "Utilization of the meat production wastewater using anaerobic digestion".

The Literature review node (L4 level) will be connected with specific studies used in a set of studies. Its name will be the name of the study (paper, article, conference processing, thesis, etc.), similar to the name of the study used to provide structuration with the addition of the publishing year. For example, it can be named "Utilization of the meat production wastewater using anaerobic digestion, 2011". In addition, each such node should be connected to one of the few studies used to provide structuration (L5 level).

The most useful will be Methods and Results nodes. They will be helpful to students and youth scientists who want to be familiar with methods used in the field and set the measured parameters used in the field of science. Sure, the established scholars will use such a tool too to increase outlook. The Materials and Methods node will be divided into Methods, Equipment, and Materials. An example of material and methods and results nodes, their links and metadata are presented in table 3.

Each such subsidiary node is connected with a leaf node that is a specific study. For example, the Processing node has metadata with type link and its value in the form of a link to Audit and Ranking tools for the structured set of studies. Detailed algorithms of its usage are described before.

Each work has metadata that mostly duplicates the structure. For this, all numeric and semantic data of the works is added to a node of the specific work it belongs to. Examples of the metadata of the leaf nodes are presented in the table. It is foreseen to provide automatically. For example, it will be necessary to provide filtering, Audit, and ranking. An example of metadata and its classes (subclasses) of the specific report node is shown in table 4.

Derant's node	Matadata of the par	Linked nodes (L4)
Farent's noue	Metadata of the pai-	Lilikeu lioues (L4)
(L3)	ent's node	
Objects		"biogas production", "inhibition", "waste utilization"
Subjects	Comonal	"Effect of ammonium nitrogen content on biogas production", "Opti-
-	General	mization of the process of waste treatment by optimization of the waste
	definition	destruction rate"
Aims		"Provide mathematical modeling of the anaerobic digestion of high-
	elements	ammonium waste", "Define of influence of the addition of spirulina to
	metadata	the process of anaerobic treatment of straw"
Practical	metadata	"Main kinetic parameters of the anaerobic digestion", "Model of am-
Value		monia effect on the anaerobic digestion"
Scientific		"Relation between ammonia content and biogas production"
novelty		
Hypothesis		
Keywords		"Straw", "Sludge", "Meat wastewater", "Biogas", "Methane", "Ammo-
		nium nitrogen"
Abstract		-
Conclusion	1	-

Table 2: An example of "Basic metadata" elements nodes in L3 level and linked with them nodes in L4 level.

Table 3: An example of material and methods and results nodes links and metadata

Parent's node	Metadata of the father's	Linked subsidiary nodes	Metadata
	node (type: text)		
Methods	General information what is	"Dry organic matter by frying",	Methodology of using of
	methods	"Methane content in biogas using	each specific method (type:
		gas chromatography", "Free acid	text)
		content by titrimetric method"	
Equipment	General information what is	"Digital microscope", "Burette",	Description of each spe-
	equipment	"Gas chromatograph"	cific equipment (type: array)
			Link to ontology of the
			equipment (type: text)
Materials	General information what is	"Straw", "Sludge", "Meat wastew-	Description of each specific
	material	ater", "Water"	materials (type: text)
Results	General information what is	"Biogas", "Methane", "Ammonium	Description of each mea-
	results	nitrogen"	sured parameter (type: text)

4.2 Role of the Proposed Model

Ontology models are the basis of the effective ontology creative process. Such models like proposed and others (for example, ontologies of educational environments, will be useful to build a set of the different ontologies and have similar conceptual states of abstraction. Using such approaches and providing semantic technologies can be useful to provide interoperability (Alnemr et al., 2010).

Sure, the proposed research focused on the ontology of the specific field in the form of $\{L2, L3, L4, L5\}$, but it is proposed to use an integrator of the ontologies of fields and create general ontology in the form of $\{L1, L2, L3, L4, L5\}$. The proposed integration is important to provide transdisciplinary (Dovgyi and Stryzhak, 2021). The proposed approach will be useful and relevant for most fields. Anyway, it will be very specific to process humanitarian data where less standardization and numeric data, but it seems that some automated tools like recursive reducer (Stryzhak et al., 2018) can process and provide structuration even in such fields.

4.3 Perspectives of Development

Currently, the proposed approach has a few user stories implemented by the proposed model. They are helpful for all scientists, but as the development of the proposed model was provided in the Navigational center Of Junior Academy of Sciences of Ukraine, it has much more advantages for youth students involved in activities of the organization. The mathematical interpretation of educational students and sci-

Name of class	Name of subclass	Туре	Values example
Methods	-	Array	"Dry organic matter by frying", "Methane
			content in biogas using gas chromatog-
			raphy", "Free acid content by titrimetric
			method"
	Biogas content, ml/ g TS	Number	"305.15"
Results	Methane content, %	Number	"55"
	Ammonium nitrogen content, g/l	Number	"3.6"
	Straw/TS content, %	Number	"95"
Materials	Straw/Ammonium nitrogen content, g/l	Number	"0.3"
	Sludge/TS content, %	Number	"0.05"
Main metadata	Keywords	Array	"Straw", "Sludge", "Meat wastewater",
			"Biogas", "Methane", "Ammonium nitro-
			gen"

Table 4: An example of metadata and its classes (subclasses) of the specific report node.

entific studies in the form of digital ontologies provides the possibility to easily manage information of science studies to simplify finding of relevant studies and simplify familiarization process with some specific subject area.

- The proposed approach
- allows very quickly (especially for a young scientist) to research the subject field related to this field of research by using → Introduction → Keywords (contains the main terms of the subject field of specific research) and other components of the Introduction (for example, scientific novelty formulates the directions of research, which formulates relevant research directions);
- allows to process numerical research data using the ranking tool and find such works that are necessary for research;
- allows you to quickly familiarize with the existing research methods used in this field → Methods;
- allows to quickly familiarize with the indicators used in research in a specific field (→ Results) Communication with L5 vertices is essential because it is he who forms the novelty (since the approaches to the ontological display of subject area have been known for a long time);
- 5) allows the researcher/student (young scientist) to quickly find practical examples where this or that element of research is used – for example, quickly find all works where ammonia was measured using the Nessler method or works where graph theory was used.

In addition, this approach has the potential for development, which is as follows:

 the possibility of providing scientometrics based on ontologies (similar to scientific databases) – since it is possible to calculate how many times a particular work has been referred to due to the connections in such a taxonomy;

- the possibility of interoperability providing with educational programs;
- the possibility of adding one's own research for a few clicks to the general ontology.

5 CONCLUSIONS

It is firstly proposed the model of ontology based on IMRAD to provide a set of different studies that belong to the same field and to provide generation of the integrated ontology that collected the data of different fields. Using such a method will provide both structuration of the set of studies by using specific elements of IMRAD that belongs to the set of the studies of the same field and processing such studies' data.

A specific case of usage is shown in the example creation of such ontology in the field of biogas production. It is shown in both model and example using single sets of keywords, results, methods, etc., to provide structuring and data processing.

It seems relevant to provide additional further studies of the proposed model to improve it and make it even more automatized, for example, by using weight mechanisms.

The proposed approach in case of providing property infrastructure and widespread will provide interoperability of data located in papers. Therefore, it will simplify providing of scitintific studies and simplify determination of relevance and practic value of scientific works. To provide such interoperability graphs of specific fields should be created and proivded their further merging. So, the onotologies type {L2, L3, L4, L5} must be integrated into single one with form of {L1, L2, L3, L4, L5}.

REFERENCES

- Alnemr, R., Paschke, A., and Meinel, C. (2010). Enabling Reputation Interoperability through Semantic Technologies. In *Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Semantic Systems*, I-SEMANTICS '10, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/1839707.1839723.
- Ameen, A., Khan, K. U. R., and Rani, B. P. (2012). Creation of Ontology in Education Domain. In 2012 IEEE Fourth International Conference on Technology for Education, pages 237–238. https://doi.org/10.1109/ T4E.2012.50.
- Bochmann, G., Pesta, G., Rachbauer, L., and Gabauer, W. (2020). Anaerobic Digestion of Pretreated Industrial Residues and Their Energetic Process Integration. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2020.00487.
- Bovtruk, A., Slipukhina, I., Mieniailov, S., Chernega, P., and Kurylenko, N. (2020). Development of an electronic multimedia interactive textbook for physics study at technical universities. In Bollin, A., Mayr, H. C., Spivakovsky, A., Tkachuk, M. V., Yakovyna, V., Yerokhin, A., and Zholtkevych, G., editors, Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume I: Main Conference, Kharkiv, Ukraine, October 06-10, 2020, volume 2740 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 159–172. CEUR-WS.org. https: //ceur-ws.org/Vol-2740/20200159.pdf.
- da Cruz, S. M. S., Campos, M. L. M., and Mattoso, M. (2012). A Foundational Ontology to Support Scientific Experiments. In Malucelli, A. and Bax, M. P., editors, Proceedings of Joint V Seminar on Ontology Research in Brazil and VII International Workshop on Metamodels, Ontologies and Semantic Technologies, Recife, Brazil, September 19-21, 2012, volume 938 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 144–155. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-938/ontobras-most2012_paper12.pdf.
- Dovgyi, S. and Stryzhak, O. (2021). Transdisciplinary Fundamentals of Information-Analytical Activity. In Ilchenko, M., Uryvsky, L., and Globa, L., editors, Advances in Information and Communication Technology and Systems, volume 152 of Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems, pages 99–126, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-030-58359-0_7.
- Dragoni, M., Bosca, A., Casu, M., and Rexha, A. (2014). Modeling, Managing, Exposing, and Linking Ontologies with a Wiki-based Tool. In Proceedings of the Ninth International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC'14), pages 1668– 1675, Reykjavik, Iceland. European Language Resources Association (ELRA). http://www.lrec-conf. org/proceedings/Irec2014/pdf/769_Paper.pdf.
- Ghidini, C., Rospocher, M., and Serafini, L. (2012). Conceptual Modeling in Wikis: a Reference Architecture and a Tool. In Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Information, Process, and

Knowledge Management (eKNOW 2012), pages 128–135. https://www.thinkmind.org/index.php?view=article&articleid=eknow_2012_6_10_60015.

- Giunchiglia, F. and Walsh, T. (1992). A theory of abstraction. *Artificial Intelligence*, 57(2):323–389. https: //doi.org/10.1016/0004-3702(92)90021-O.
- Globa, L., Kovalskyi, M., and Stryzhak, O. (2015). Increasing Web Services Discovery Relevancy in the Multi-ontological Environment. In Wiliński, A., Fray, I. E., and Pejaś, J., editors, *Soft Computing in Computer and Information Science*, volume 342 of Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, pages 335–344, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-15147-2_28.
- Globa, L. S., Sulima, S., Skulysh, M. A., Dovgyi, S., and Stryzhak, O. (2019). Architecture and Operation Algorithms of Mobile Core Network with Virtualization. In Ortiz, J. H., editor, *Mobile Computing*, Rijeka. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.89608.
- Gorashy, Z. and Salim, N. (2014). Systematic literature review (SLR) automation: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Theoretical and Applied Information Technology*, 59(3):661–672.
- Gruber, M., Eichstädt, S., Neumann, J., and Paschke, A. (2020). Semantic Information in Sensor Networks: How to Combine Existing Ontologies, Vocabularies and Data Schemes to Fit a Metrology Use Case. In 2020 IEEE International Workshop on Metrology for Industry 4.0 & IoT, pages 469–473. https://doi.org/10. 1109/MetroInd4.0IoT48571.2020.9138282.
- Hrynevych, L., Morze, N., Vember, V., and Boiko, M. (2021). Use of digital tools as a component of STEM education ecosystem. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(1):118–139. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq. 24.
- Ivanov, V., Stabnikov, V., Stabnikova, O., Salyuk, A., Shapovalov, E., Ahmed, Z., and Tay, J. H. (2019). Iron-containing clay and hematite iron ore in slurryphase anaerobic digestion of chicken manure. *AIMS Materials Science*, 6(5):821–832. https://doi.org/10. 3934/matersci.2019.5.821.
- Klampfl, S., Granitzer, M., Jack, K., and Kern, R. (2014). Unsupervised document structure analysis of digital scientific articles. *International Journal on Digital Libraries*, 14(3):83–99. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00799-014-0115-1.
- Markova, O. M., Semerikov, S. O., Striuk, A. M., Shalatska, H. M., Nechypurenko, P. P., and Tron, V. V. (2019). Implementation of cloud service models in training of future information technology specialists. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:499–515. https://doi. org/10.55056/cte.409.
- Martyniuk, O. O., Martyniuk, O. S., Pankevych, S., and Muzyka, I. (2021). Educational direction of STEM in the system of realization of blended teaching of physics. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(3):347–359. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.39.
- Mintser, O. P., Pryhodnyuk, V. V., Stryzhak, O. Y., and Shevtsova, O. M. (2018). Transdisciplinary reporting of information with interactive documents. *Med-*

ical Informatics and Engineering, (1):47–52. https://doi.org/10.11603/mie.1996-1960.2018.1.8891.

- Modlo, Y. O. and Semerikov, S. O. (2018). Xcos on Web as a promising learning tool for Bachelor's of Electromechanics modeling of technical objects. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 5:34–41. https://doi.org/10.55056/ cte.133.
- Oriokot, L., Buwembo, W., Munabi, I. G., and Kijjambu, S. C. (2011). The introduction, methods, results and discussion (IMRAD) structure: a Survey of its use in different authoring partnerships in a students' journal. *BMC Research Notes*, 4(1):250. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1756-0500-4-250.
- Pardede, P. (2012). Scientific Articles Structure. In Scientific Writing Workshop, The English Teaching Study Program of the Christian University of Indonesia (UKI), April 29—May 27, 2012. https://www. researchgate.net/publication/260453687.
- Paschke, A. and Schäfermeier, R. (2018). OntoMaven -Maven-Based Ontology Development and Management of Distributed Ontology Repositories. In Nalepa, G. J. and Baumeister, J., editors, Synergies Between Knowledge Engineering and Software Engineering, pages 251–273, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-64161-4_ 12.
- Plyatsuk, L. and Chernish, E. (2014). Intensification of Anaerobic Microbiological Degradation of Sewage Sludge and Gypsum Waste Under Bio-Sulfidogenic Conditions. *The Journal of Solid Waste Technology* and Management, 40(1):10–23. https://doi.org/10. 5276/JSWTM.2014.10.
- Portenoy, J. and West, J. D. (2020). Constructing and evaluating automated literature review systems. *Scientometrics*, 125(3):3233–3251. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11192-020-03490-w.
- Schäfermeier, R., Herre, H., and Paschke, A. (2021). Ontology Design Patterns for Representing Context in Ontologies Using Aspect Orientation. In Blomqvist, E., Hahmann, T., Hammar, K., Hitzler, P., Hoekstra, R., Mutharaju, R., Poveda-Villalón, M., Shimizu, C., Skjæveland, M. G., Solanki, M., Svátek, V., and Zhou, L., editors, Advances in Pattern-Based Ontology Engineering, extended versions of the papers published at the Workshop on Ontology Design and Patterns (WOP), volume 51 of Studies on the Semantic Web, pages 183–203. IOS Press. https://doi.org/10.3233/ SSW210014.
- Shakeel, Y., Krüger, J., von Nostitz-Wallwitz, I., Lausberger, C., Durand, G. C., Saake, G., and Leich, T. (2018). (Automated) Literature Analysis: Threats and Experiences. In *Proceedings of the International Workshop on Software Engineering for Science*, SE4Science '18, page 20–27, New York, NY, USA. Association for Computing Machinery. https: //doi.org/10.1145/3194747.3194748.
- Shapovalov, V. B., Shapovalov, Y. B., Bilyk, Z. I., Atamas, A. I., Tarasenko, R. A., and Tron, V. V. (2019a). Centralized information web-oriented educational environment of Ukraine. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:246–255. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.383.

- Shapovalov, Y., Zhadan, S., Bochmann, G., Salyuk, A., and Nykyforov, V. (2020a). Dry anaerobic digestion of chicken manure: A review. *Applied Sciences*, 10(21):7825. https://doi.org/10.3390/app10217825.
- Shapovalov, Y. B., Shapovalov, V. B., Andruszkiewicz, F., and Volkova, N. P. (2020b). Analyzing of main trends of STEM education in Ukraine using stemua.science statistics. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:448–461. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.385.
- Shapovalov, Y. B., Shapovalov, V. B., and Zaselskiy, V. I. (2019b). TODOS as digital science-support environment to provide STEM-education. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:235–245. https://doi.org/10.55056/ cte.382.
- Sinha, A. and Couderc, P. (2012). Using OWL ontologies for selective waste sorting and recycling. In Klinov, P. and Horridge, M., editors, *Proceedings of OWL: Experiences and Directions Workshop 2012, Heraklion, Crete, Greece, May 27-28, 2012,* volume 849 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings.* CEUR-WS.org. https: //ceur-ws.org/Vol-849/paper_16.pdf.
- Slipukhina, I. A., Olkhovyk, V. V., Kurchev, O. O., and Kapranov, V. D. (2018). Development of education and information portal of physics academic course: Web design features. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 64(2):221–233. https://doi.org/10. 33407/itlt.v64i2.1781.
- Smith, B. (2008). Ontology (Science). Nature Precedings. https://doi.org/10.1038/npre.2008.2027.1.
- Soldatova, L. N. and King, R. D. (2006). An ontology of scientific experiments. *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, 3(11):795–803. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rsif.2006.0134.
- Stryzhak, O., Horborukov, V., Prychodniuk, V., Franchuk, O., and Chepkov, R. (2021). Decision-making System Based on The Ontology of The Choice Problem. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1828(1):012007. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1828/1/012007.
- Stryzhak, O., Prychodniuk, V., and Podlipaiev, V. (2019). Model of Transdisciplinary Representation of GEOspatial Information. In Ilchenko, M., Uryvsky, L., and Globa, L., editors, Advances in Information and Communication Technologies, volume 560 of Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering, pages 34– 75, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https: //doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16770-7_3.
- Stryzhak, O. Y., Prykhodniuk, V. V., Haiko, S. I., and Shapovalov, V. B. (2018). Vidobrazhennia merezhevoi informatsii u vyhliadi interaktyvnykh dokumentiv. Transdystsyplinarnyi pidkhid. *Matematychne modeliuvannia v ekonomitsi*, (3):87–100. http://nbuv.gov.ua/ UJRN/mmve_2018_3_10.
- Stryzhak, O. Y., Slipukhina, I. A., Polikhun, N. I., and Chernetckiy, I. S. (2017). STEM-education: Main definitions. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 62(6):16–33. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt. v62i6.1753.
- The Board of Trustees of the Leland Stanford Junior University (2020). protégé. https://protege.stanford.edu/ products.php.

The Current Level of Competence of Schoolteachers on How to Use Cloud Technologies in the Educational Process During COVID-19 and the Russian-Ukrainian War

Tetiana A. Vakaliuk^{1,2,3}[®]^a, Oleg M. Spirin^{4,2}[®]^b, Dmytro S. Antoniuk¹[®]^c, Mariia O. Medvedieva⁵[®]^d, Olha O. Osova⁶[®]^e and Inesa V. Novitska⁷[®]^f

¹Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, 103 Chudnivsyka Str., Zhytomyr, 10005, Ukraine

²Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the NAES of Ukraine, 9 M. Berlynskoho Str., Kyiv, 04060, Ukraine

³Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine

⁴University of Educational Management, 52A Sichovykh Striltsiv Str., Kyiv, 04053, Ukraine

⁵Pavlo Tychyna Uman State Pedagogical University, 2 Sadova Str., Uman, 20300, Ukraine

⁶Kharkiv Humanitarian Pedagogical Academy, 7 Rustavelli Str., Kharkiv, 61001, Ukraine

⁷Zhytomyr Ivan Franko State University, 40 Velyka Berdychivska Str., Zhytomyr, Ukraine, 10008

{tetianavakaliuk, oleg.spirin}@gmail.com, dmitry_antonyuk@yahoo.com, medvedeva-masha25@ukr.net,

{osova.olga, inesanovicka}@gmail.com

Keywords: Competence, Cloud Technologies, Cloud Services, Distance Learning, Educational Process, COVID-19.

- During the period of total lockdown, teachers had to move to distance learning to organize a continuous ed-Abstract: ucational process, which is not possible without the active use of modern information and communication technologies, including cloud services. Because of this, at the beginning of the pandemic, Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University conducted several free distance online courses for teachers, which included studying the possibilities of using cloud technologies in teaching in a pandemic. Somewhat later, some secondary schools in Zhytomyr expressed a desire to take the same courses, but in person. 98 teachers of schools of the city of Zhytomyr were covered by training on courses "Cloud technologies in the educational process in the conditions of quarantine". After face-to-face courses, teachers in Zhytomyr schools have significantly increased their competence in the use of cloud technologies in the educational process in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Not only has their level increased in general, but the horizons regarding the variety of cloud services that should be used in distance learning have expanded. Course training, organized according to scientifically sound methods, helps to increase the motivation of students (teachers) to self-study, as well as to the future use of cloud technologies in the educational process. The two-year pandemic and the start of a full-scale war between Russia and Ukraine contributed to the fact that teachers of secondary schools began to actively engage in self-education and self-development. If earlier (at the beginning of the pandemic) it was difficult for teachers to switch to online learning, then with the outbreak of war, teachers were already ready to use various online tools in their practice. As the study showed, all the interviewed teachers continued their self-education in different ways, studied a large number of services that can be used in the educational process, and provided the authors with ideas for further expanding the courses according to their desires, which should be used in the educational process. It should be noted that it is important that all the respondents unanimously approved that they use the acquired competencies in their professional activities during the period of Russian aggression. In addition, in additional comments, teachers noted that among their acquaintances there are many teachers who want to take such courses since at one time they had no desire or motivation.
 - ^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6825-4697
 - ^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9594-6602
 - ^c https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7496-3553

^e https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7316-1196

1 INTRODUCTION

With the spread of COVID-19, the educational process of foreign and domestic educational institutions

^f https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0780-0580

588

Vakaliuk, T., Spirin, O., Antoniuk, D., Medvedieva, M., Osova, O. and Novitska, I.

The Current Level of Competence of Schoolteachers on How to Use Cloud Technologies in the Educational Process During COVID-19 and the Russian-Ukrainian War. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 588-604

ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9330-5185

is undergoing significant changes. During the period of total lockdown, teachers had to move to distance learning to organize a continuous educational process, which is not possible without the active use of modern information and communication technologies (ICT), including cloud technologies and services. Many teachers had to simultaneously increase their competence in using such services and teach students to do it. Students and teachers had to cope with many challenges for the proper and effective use of cloud services in the organization of such training.

With this in mind, at the beginning of the pandemic, Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University conducted a series of free distance online courses for teachers, which included studying the possibilities of using cloud technologies in teaching in a pandemic. A scientifically sound methodology was developed, which contained a semantic component with a list of topics and features of forms, methods, and means of conducting such courses were described in the previous work (Vakaliuk et al., 2021b). 1,500 teachers were registered for the course, and 816 people completed the course. Therefore, some institutions of secondary education in Zhytomyr expressed a desire to go through the same courses, but full-time mode. It was decided to hold such courses for schoolteachers. Before starting the courses, it was necessary to find out the current level of their competence in the use of cloud technologies in the educational process in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. The courses were held at Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University in August 2020 full-time.

2 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

Throughout the pandemic, scientists from around the world have raised questions about the use of different information and communication technologies in the educational process, the introduction of distance and blended learning, and more.

In particular, Nagaraju et al. (Nagaraju et al., 2021) analyzed the effectiveness of online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic and studied adapting teaching and learning in times of COVID-19. According to an online survey of 683 respondents (teachers and students), 38% did not even start such training, although it is inevitable in such a situation.

Falfushynska et al. (Falfushynska et al., 2021) identified various ICT tools for the implementation of distance learning, including Zoom, Moodle, Google Meet, BigBlueButton, and Cisco. The study showed the satisfaction of subjects and their positive attitude to distance learning, satisfaction with the quality of such tools. During the pandemic, the readiness of students and pupils to organize independent learning becomes especially important, which requires them to be motivated to learn, keep track of time, can use modern ICT, self-discipline, and control.

Korobova et al. (Korobova et al., 2019) created an educational environment uses Google's cloud services, the use of which allows taking into account the individual characteristics of students in education, the geographical region of their residence, etc.

Korobeinikova et al. (Korobeinikova et al., 2020) show an example of the use of cloud services in their activities as a means of improving student learning and teaching disciplines, in particular Google Classroom, which allows you to manage the independent work of students while studying disciplines. The authors emphasize that when organizing the educational process using cloud technologies, it is necessary to move to the application of the model of blended learning in universities.

The analysis of domestic and foreign experience in the use of cloud services for the formation of professional competence of future teachers is demonstrated by Shyshkina and Marienko (Shyshkina and Marienko, 2020). Particular attention is paid to the development of the professional competence of future mathematics teachers. Researchers have defined this competence and identified two components: digital and subject competence. Emphasis is placed on the feasibility of using cloud services in the formation and development of this competence, in particular, the prospects for using the CoCalc cloud service are described.

The issue of professional training of teachers for the organization of learning with the help of cloud services was studied by Velychko et al. (Velychko et al., 2021), who conducted a survey of mathematics teachers on the use of ICT in the educational process. The authors found that 82% of mathematics teachers who participated in the survey use cloud services in education, implement on their basis modern methods and forms of teaching, use a variety of modern cloud services to teach mathematics.

The connection between the concepts of cloud systems and cloud learning environments is covered in the study of Popel and Shyshkina (Popel and Shyshkina, 2019). The authors define the cloud learning system as a component of such an environment. Scientists consider approaches to defining the cloud learning system – the first approach is based on the definition of such a system as a set of cloud services or technologies, the second – defines the cloud learning system as a separate type of cloud service (Popel and Shyshkina, 2019).

The use of cloud services in the organization of training affects the quality of training of future professionals. Such practical experience is described in (Volikova et al., 2019). It is emphasized that it is impossible to build a new educational environment without cloud services as a means of learning, which is a powerful tool for mastering new competencies of both teachers and students in the study of fundamental disciplines.

Markova et al. (Markova et al., 2019) dealt with the research of cloud learning technologies, cloudbased learning environment, provision of cloud educational services for the organization of professional training of future IT specialists, who concluded that it is advisable to use different models of cloud services (SaaS, PaaS, IaaS), as well as the possibilities of new tools for parallel programming.

In (Astafieva et al., 2019) the expediency of using cloud learning technologies for the formation of skills of future teachers of mathematics of the 21st century, in particular critical thinking, is emphasized. The authors consider forms and methods of teaching based on the GeoGebra computer system and cloud technologies. To evaluate the effectiveness of this approach, the methods of fuzzy set theory are used.

The professional competence of a teacher according to European standards is described by Morze and Glazunova (Morze and Glazunova, 2019), which presents a model for the development of this competence of information technology teachers, consisting of stages, subjects, and resources. The authors emphasize the need to use existing e-CF and ISTE standards to develop this competence in teachers.

In the conditions of the introduction of cloud services and means of distance learning in the educational process of modern secondary education institutions, one of the main competencies of teachers becomes information and communication competence. The methodology for the development of this competence in teachers of the military education system is presented in (Yahupov et al., 2020), in particular, the main tasks of its development are identified. Teaching aids have been identified, among which ICT tools are mandatory: computer-based educational systems in the multimedia versions; laboratory remote workshops; simulators; electronic libraries with remote access, etc. In addition, the expediency of the introduction of active learning methods, which are implemented through the use of computer networks, audiovideo, and other telecommunications, including the Internet.

In (Moiseienko et al., 2020) one of the modern competencies is considered – digital, as one of the factors of formation of the information society in Ukraine. Based on the analysis of the definition of digital competence, its interpretation is given, the didactic conditions of its formation are singled out.

It is also worth noting that a number of authors have studied the development of digital competencies associated with the use of cloud services. Basilotta-Gómez-Pablos et al. (Basilotta-Gómez-Pablos et al., 2022) study a systematic literature review for teachers' digital competencies in higher education; Findeisen and Wild (Findeisen and Wild, 2022) research general digital competences of beginning trainees in commercial vocational education and training; Spada et al. (Spada et al., 2022) explored problems are universities ready to deliver digital skills and competences. Tzafilkou et al. (Tzafilkou et al., 2022) are development and validation of students' digital competence scale. In particular, Vakaliuk et al. (Vakaliuk et al., 2021a) also studied the formation of digital competence of CS bachelors in the use of cloud-based learning environments, and Morze et al. (Morze et al., 2022) researched systems for digital professional development of university teachers.

According to Spirin (Spirin, 2019), any individual can move faster in learning a new profession through online courses. Because with such training there is a possibility to combine online and offline courses. Various platforms have recently been used to conduct online courses, such as Coursera, MIT OCW, Prometheus, Udemy, edX, Udacity, Stanford online, etc. The author pays special attention to course aggregators. In particular, Course Buffet is an aggregator that allows you to choose a specialization from a certain set of courses. This specialization will correspond to the number of credits in the specializations of different universities around the world. As a result, it is possible to study according to the same subject load as at the university, where the educational process takes place according to traditional teaching.

In the conditions of quarantine in March-April 2020 in Ukraine in general secondary education institutions, the use of the web service Zoom for conducting video lessons in combination with Google Classroom became widely popular. However, the use of the latter imposes some requirements and restrictions, in particular:

- participants must have a Google account;
- the system must be registered as an educational institution, otherwise, the teacher's own disk space is used, which is limited for an individual user;
- Google's children's profile is limited to 13 years for the free use of resources, including no access to videos used for educational purposes on YouTube.

In addition, as of the end of December 2022, the most popular (in terms of trust rating and a number of downloads from Google Workspace Marketplace) digital video conferencing services, webinars, and organizers are: Zoom, Yamm, and MS Teams (Google, 2022).

That is why the purpose of the article is to determine the current level of competence of schoolteachers on how to use cloud technologies in the educational process during COVID-19 and the Russian-Ukrainian war.

3 RESULTS

The purpose of training on the courses "Cloud technologies in the educational process in quarantine" was to get acquainted with the basic methodologies of using cloud technologies in education; a general overview of existing cloud technologies and consideration of the main provisions of cloud technologies for use in the educational process. The course was completely identical to the course conducted in the period March-April 2020 (Vakaliuk et al., 2021b). The main difference was that teacher training was conducted traditionally – in the classroom.

98 teachers of schools of the city of Zhytomyr were covered by training on courses "Cloud technologies in the educational process in the conditions of quarantine". At the beginning of the course, a survey was conducted to clarify general issues. To the question "Do you have a computer (laptop) at home?", 98.98% of respondents answered in the affirmative.

The same answer was given to the question "If you have a computer at home, is it connected to the Internet?" and "Can you find the information you need on the Internet?" (figure 1a). Interestingly, 100% of respondents indicated that "the Internet is necessary for his / her professional activity".

These general questions are also important because, unfortunately, nowadays not all teachers (including those from villages) have their own computer or access to the Internet.

In response to the question "Are you able to choose and use software to optimally present the different types of materials needed for the learning process?", 63.92% of respondents indicated that they know how to choose and use software for optimal presentation of different types of materials, necessary for the learning process, while all the others answered that they do not know how (figure 1).

The next question of the general unit was whether teachers have their website or blog. In response to this question, only 23.71% of respondents answered that

there is, and 76.29% do not (figure 2) At the same time, 96.91% of respondents indicated that they had a website for their school, and only 3.09% said no (figure 2).

The following questions were about whether the course participants know what cloud technologies and services are, to which 60.82% of respondents answered in the affirmative, 39.18% answered "no" (figure 3). At the same time, only 44.9% used cloud technologies in teaching their subject before taking the courses, and 55.10% did not use them before taking the courses (figure 3).

The following questions served to establish the competence of teachers on the use of cloud technologies in the educational process during COVID-19 and were studied before and after the courses that included the acquisition of basic competencies for working with cloud technology in the educational process in the conditions of a pandemic.

When finding out what motives motivate teachers to use cloud technologies in the educational process (table 1 and figure 4), it was found that more than 50% of respondents in both cases chose the need to be able to use different cloud technologies (at the end of the experiment respondents who chose this type of motive increased by 4.2%), the need for self-study using various cloud technologies at the beginning of the experiment was chosen by 25.54% of respondents, at the end -22.10%. Regarding the other two motives there was an interesting dynamic: the need to be acquainted with cloud technologies before the experiment chose 10.2%, after -5.81%, when choosing the need to study the main types of cloud technologies the situation was the opposite – at the beginning of the experiment 6.12%, at the end – 11.63%. Accordingly, at the beginning of the experiment 2.04% and at the end of 1.16% of respondents did not see the need to use cloud technologies in the educational process in general.

In general, according to the results of the survey, after the courses, the motivation of teachers to use cloud technology in the educational process has increased.

Determining which of the proposed motives motivate teachers to self-study using cloud services, it was found that 76.54% (before the experiment) and 69.88% (after the experiment) of respondents chose the need for self-improvement and self-development in future professions; the need to understand the significance of the acquired skills before the experiment was chosen by 12.24% and after – 16.87%; the need to understand the significance of the acquired knowledge was chosen by 10.2% and 7.23%, respectively (table 2 and figure 5).



Figure 1: Survey results to the question "If you have a computer at home, is it connected to the Internet?", "Can you find the information you need on the Internet?", and "Are you able to choose and use software to optimally present the different types of materials needed for the learning process?".



Figure 2: Survey results to the question "Are you have their website or blog?" and "Are you have a website for your school?".

	At the beginning	At the end of
	of the experiment	the experiment
The need to be able to use different cloud technologies	55.10%	59.30%
The need for self-study using various cloud technologies	26.54%	22.10%
The need to get acquainted with cloud technologies	10.20%	5.81%
The need to study the main types of cloud technologies	6.12%	11.63%
I do not see the need to use cloud technologies in the educational process	2.04%	1.16%

Table 1: Respondents' answers to the question "Which of the following motives motivate you to use cloud technologies in the educational process?"

The need to be a leader was not a priority, and some respondents did not see the need for self-study at all.

Regarding the level of teachers' knowledge of cloud technologies, at the beginning of the experiment, 51.02% of respondents only knew what cloud technologies were (while after the experiment the

share of respondents was 9.64%), at the end of the experiment 53.01% of respondents already knew basic cloud services that can be used in the educational process (at the beginning of the experiment, this percentage was 24.49%). It should be noted that 17.35% did not hear about cloud technologies at the beginning of the experiment, while this figure decreased to

The Current Level of Competence of Schoolteachers on How to Use Cloud Technologies in the Educational Process During COVID-19 and the Russian-Ukrainian War



Figure 3: Survey results to the question "What is cloud technologies and services?" and "Do you used cloud technologies in teaching your subject?".



Figure 4: Respondents' answers to the question "Which of the following motives motivate you to use cloud technologies in the educational process?"

2.41% at the end of the experiment (table 3 and figure 6).

Regarding the level of teachers' mastery of the ability to use cloud technologies, the following was

Table 2: Respondents' answers to the question "Which of the following motives motivate you to self-study using cloud services?"

	At the beginning	At the end of
	of the experiment	the experiment
The need for self-improvement and self-development in future profes-	76.54%	69.88%
sions		
The need to understand the significance of the acquired knowledge	10.20%	7.23%
The need to understand the significance of the acquired skills	12.24%	16.87%
The need to be a leader	1.02%	3.61%
I do not see the need for self-study at all	0.00%	2.41%



At the beginning of the experiment At the end of the experiment

Figure 5: Respondents' answers to the question "Which of the following motives motivate you to self-study using cloud services?"

	Table 3: Respondents'	answers to the question	"What is the level of your	r mastery of cloud	technology knowledge?
--	-----------------------	-------------------------	----------------------------	--------------------	-----------------------

	At the beginning	At the end of
	of the experiment	the experiment
I haven't heard of cloud technology at all	17.35%	2.41%
I know what cloud technology is	51.02%	9.64%
I know the difference between cloud computing, cloud technology, and	4.08%	7.23%
services		
I know the basic cloud services that can be used in the educational process	24.49%	53.01%
I know the peculiarities of using different cloud services, and ways to	3.06%	27.71%
choose the best cloud service		

found: 53.01% of teachers after the courses (compared to 14.29% before the courses) can work with cloud technologies, while at the beginning of the course 48.98% only knew what cloud technology was; from 5.1% to 19.28% increased the number of teachers who can use cloud technology for self-study.

The Current Level of Competence of Schoolteachers on How to Use Cloud Technologies in the Educational Process During COVID-19 and the Russian-Ukrainian War



At the beginning of the experiment At the end of the experiment

Figure 6: Respondents' answers to the question "What is the level of your mastery of cloud technology knowledge?"

It is worth noting that the percentage of those teachers who do not know what cloud technologies are and what they are used for has decreased from 20.41% (before the courses) to 2.41% (after the courses).

A detailed presentation of the level of teachers' mastery of the skills to use cloud technologies is presented in the table 4 and figure 7).

Since in the course of the courses attention was paid to certain types of cloud tools, it was important to ask how many teachers have learned to use different tools in the learning process. In particular, the level of teachers' mastery of the ability to use cloud-based mind maps in the educational process can be described as follows. They did not know at all what mind maps were and what they were used for - 51.02% at the beginning of the experiment, and this percentage dropped to 1.2% after the experiment; 41.84% of respondents knew what mind maps were before the courses, and there were isolated cases of knowledge of different cloud-based mind maps, skills to work with cloud-based mind maps and the ability to use cloud-based mind maps for self-study. After the experiment, the number of those who knew different cloud-based mind maps increased from 2.04% to 12.05%, as well as those who knew how to work with cloud-based mind maps – from 3.06% to 48.19%. The percentage of those who were able to use cloud-based mind maps for self-study increased from 2.04% to 19.28%. A detailed presentation of the level of teachers' mastery of the ability to use cloud-based mind maps is presented in the table 5 and figure 8).

Working on a joint project plays an important role in distance learning, as well as in blended learning. Therefore, establishing the level of mastery of teachers' ability to work on a joint project in the use of cloud technologies was also important. As a result, it was found that 42.86% of teachers (at the beginning of the experiment) did not know what a joint project was and how to work on it in the conditions of using cloud technologies, and after that, the percentage significantly decreased to 1.20%. Among teachers, 42.86% also knew what a joint project was before the courses.

The percentage of those who knew different cloud services to work on a joint project, knew how to choose different cloud services to work on a joint project, and knew how to use different cloud services to work on a joint project, even in self-study, was too small at the beginning of the experiment (9.18%, 3.06%, 2.04%, respectively). At the same time, after
	At the beginning	At the end of
	of the experiment	the experiment
I do not know what cloud technology is and what it is used for	20.41%	2.41%
I know what cloud technology is	48.98%	10.84%
I know different cloud technologies	11.22%	14.46%
I can work with cloud technologies	14.29%	53.01%
I can use cloud technologies for self-study	5.10%	19.28%

Table 4: Respondents' answers to the question "What is the level of mastery of your skills to use cloud technologies?"



At the beginning of the experiment At the end of the experiment

Figure 7: Respondents' answers to the question "What is the level of mastery of your skills to use cloud technologies?"

Table 5: Responde	ents' answers to t	he question "V	What is the le	evel of m	nastery of y	our skills	to use clou	d-based	mind	maps in
the educational pro	ocess?"									

	At the beginning	At the end of
	of the experiment	the experiment
I do not know at all what mind maps are and what they are used for	51.02%	1.20%
I know what mind maps are	41.84%	19.28%
I know different cloud-oriented mind maps	2.04%	12.05%
I can work with cloud-based mind maps	3.06%	48.19%
I can use cloud-based mind maps for self-study	2.04%	19.28%

the courses, these indicators increased significantly – 14.46%, 37.35%, and 30.12%, respectively.

A detailed presentation of the level of mastering the skills of teachers to work on a joint project in the use of cloud technologies is presented in the table 6 and figure 9). The next indicator that was evaluated was the level of teachers' mastery of the skills of using cloudbased learning management tools. Again, before the courses, 44.9% did not know what cloud-based learning management tools were and what they were used for, while after the experiment, this percentage





Figure 8: Respondents' answers to the question "What is the level of mastery of your skills to use cloud-based mind maps in the educational process?"

Table 6: Respondents' answers to the question "What is the level of mastering your skills to work on a joint project in the use of cloud technologies?"

	At the beginning	At the end of
	of the experiment	the experiment
I do not know at all what a joint project is and how to work on it in the	42.86%	1.20%
conditions of using cloud technologies		
I know what a joint project is	42.86%	16.87%
I know different cloud services to work on a joint project	9.18%	14.46%
I can choose different cloud services to work on a joint project	3.06%	37.35%
I can use various cloud services to work on a joint project, even with self-	2.04%	30.12%
study		

dropped to 2.41%. At the beginning of the experiment, 32.65% of teachers knew what cloud-based learning management tools were, and there were few cases when teachers knew different cloud-based learning management tools (15.31%), we're able to work with cloud-based learning management tools (7.14%). At the same time, no teacher was able to use cloud-based learning management tools for self-study before the experiment. After the courses, 46.99% of teachers knew different cloud-based learning management tools, 19.28% were able to use cloud-based learning management tools for self-study. A detailed presentation of the level of mastering by teachers of the skills of using cloud-based learning management tools is presented in the table 7 and figure 10).

The level of teachers' mastery of the skills of using cloud-based means of presenting educational materials after the courses have significantly increased (table 8 and figure 11).

Also, the level of mastering by teachers of skills of using cloud-oriented means of communication has significantly increased, which is presented in the table 9 and figure 12).



Figure 9: Respondents' answers to the question "What is the level of mastering your skills to work on a joint project in the use of cloud technologies?"

Table 7: Respondents' answers to the question "What is your level of mastery of the skills of using cloud-based learning management tools?"

	At the beginning	At the end of
	of the experiment	the experiment
I do not know at all what cloud-based learning management tools are and	44.90%	2.41%
what they are used for		
I know what cloud-based learning management tools are	32.65%	20.48%
I know various cloud-based learning management tools (electronic jour-	15.31%	10.84%
nal, calendar, placed in the cloud)		
I can work with cloud-based learning management tools	7.14%	46.99%
I can use cloud-based learning management tools for self-study	0.00%	19.28%

Table 8: Respondents' answers to the question "What is your level of mastery of the skills of using cloud-based teaching materials?"

	At the beginning	At the end of
	of the experiment	the experiment
I don't even know what cloud-based learning materials are	39.80%	1.20%
I know what cloud-based teaching materials are	30.61%	12.05%
I know various cloud-oriented tools for presenting educational materials	21.43%	25.30%
(electronic library, presentations, video files, electronic textbooks placed		
in the cloud, cloud data warehouses)		
I can work with cloud-oriented tools of presenting educational materials	7.14%	38.55%
I can use cloud-based tools for presenting educational materials for self-	1.02%	22.89%
study		

The Current Level of Competence of Schoolteachers on How to Use Cloud Technologies in the Educational Process During COVID-19 and the Russian-Ukrainian War



Figure 10: Respondents' answers to the question "What is your level of mastery of the skills of using cloud-based learning management tools?"

Table 9: Respondents' a	answers to the question	"What is you	ur level of mastery	y of cloud-based	communication skills?"
-------------------------	-------------------------	--------------	---------------------	------------------	------------------------

	At the beginning	At the end of
	of the experiment	the experiment
I don't even know what cloud-based communication is	37.76%	0.00%
I know what cloud-based tools of communication are	34.69%	12.05%
I know various cloud-based tools of communication (discussion, chat, on-	18.37%	21.69%
line consultations, webinars)		
I can work with cloud-based tools of communication	7.14%	42.17%
I can use cloud-based communication tools for self-study	2.04%	24.10%

After face-to-face courses, teachers in Zhytomyr schools have significantly increased their competence in the use of cloud technologies in the educational process in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. It is worth noting that not only their level, in general, has increased, but also the horizons regarding the variety of cloud services that should be used in distance learning have expanded. Course training, organized according to scientifically sound methods, helps to increase the motivation of students (teachers) to selfstudy, as well as to the future use of cloud technologies in the educational process.

Finally, it should be noted that the advantages of full-time education include: clarity, accessibility, comprehensibility, and the advantages of distance learning include: mass, no need for classrooms, no need to transfer university teachers, and school teachers' classes.

The continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic and the beginning of Russian aggression in Ukraine prompted the authors of the article to determine how useful the competencies acquired by teachers were and whether they improved them over the past 1.5 years.

Accordingly, a questionnaire was prepared and sent to all participants who were involved in the described courses, which included the following questions:

1. How useful were the competencies you received?



At the beginning of the experiment At the end of the experiment

Figure 11: Respondents' answers to the question "What is your level of mastery of the skills of using cloud-based teaching materials?"

- 2. Do you use acquired competencies in your professional activities during the period of Russian aggression?
- 3. What cloud services are you currently using?
- 4. Did you improve your level of ICT competence in the period September 2020-May 2022?
- 5. If the answer to the previous question is yes, how?
- 6. What purpose of massive open online courses did you use to develop your competence?
- 7. Which ICTs that you have become familiar with during this period do you use in your activities?
- 8. Which ICTs that you have become familiar with during this period would you recommend to other teachers?
- 9. What other services would you like to get acquainted with in the future for effective professional work?

As a result, the survey involved 90 school teachers in the city of Zhytomyr, previously involved in the courses (which is 92%). For certain reasons, not all teachers could complete the proposed survey (the lack of the ability to view any information via the Internet, the absence of the Internet itself, lack of any technical means (laptop, tablet, personal computer), etc.).

When answering the first question, 100% of respondents indicated that the acquired competencies were useful to them, of which 77% indicated a high level of usefulness, and 23% – medium.

All the respondents unanimously approved that acquired competencies in professional activities were used during the period of Russian aggression. Also, in additional comments, teachers noted that among their acquaintances there are many teachers who want to take such courses because at one time they had no desire or motivation.

When asked what services you currently use, 80% chose all the services they learned during the courses, 15% chose most services (except for one, each had their own), and 5% of respondents chose only services. Google Classroom and Google Meet. This indicates that the services we have chosen for training have not lost their relevance over time.

The next question was about the development of teachers in the period 2020-2022. Namely, the question was whether teachers improved their level of ICT competence in the period September 2020-May 2022.

The Current Level of Competence of Schoolteachers on How to Use Cloud Technologies in the Educational Process During COVID-19 and the Russian-Ukrainian War



At the beginning of the experiment At the end of the experiment

Figure 12: Respondents' answers to the question "What is your level of mastery of cloud-based communication skills?"

At the same time, 70% of teachers answered yes to this question. At the same time, the majority of these 70% (89%) chose self-study as a means for their own professional development, 63% chose advanced training courses, and 71% indicated massive open online courses.

When determining which massive open online courses teachers preferred, it was found that 67% of those who chose massive open online courses went through MOOC related to the use of various ICTs in the educational process, 44% chose massive open online courses to improve their foreign language proficiency, and 22% chose massive open online courses to improve their knowledge native language.

It is worth noting here that the Prometheus platform turned out to be the most common for passing massive open online courses, since the platform itself is Ukrainian-language, and most of the courses on this platform are Ukrainian-language. In particular, teachers noted that on this platform, most of the respondents were interested in the Science of Education course: "What the leader of an educational startup should know" (https://courses.prometheus.org.ua/ courses/course-v1:PCSC+SL101+2019_T3/about).

This course is designed for 30 hours, which can

be completed in 3 weeks. The teachers were most interested in the fact that among the questions to study there are such as: for whom digital education is needed, what is the essence of the educational project, digital security and privacy during online learning, psychological support for online project participants, As a result of taking this course, teachers etc. noted that they improved: their own knowledge of modern trends in the development of education; features of the processes of teaching and learning of schoolchildren; the specifics of digital education and understanding of what it is intended for, improved their own skills (creativity, initiative, critical thinking, etc.), improved the ability to work with digital educational online tools and improved the method of teaching their subject, taking into account the psychological characteristics of all participants in the educational process.

Mathematics teachers also singled out such a service as: Learning with passion (https://novatika.org/ uk/). This service includes a range of simulators for learning mathematics from grades 1 to 8. The specificity of this service is that the simulators are divided not only by classes, but also by sections and topics.

All teachers, not only in mathematics, answered

that they often use ready-made online tests in their own subjects in their practice. There are a lot of such tests on the Internet now, so there is a choice. The only thing that the teachers emphasized was that each time before using any tests, they should be reviewed by themselves and checked for relevance to the topics being studied. The use of such tests ensures the interest and stimulation of students and promotes the development of creativity, initiative, creativity, independence, and other qualities necessary in the educational process.

All teachers surveyed unequivocally answered that they recommend all the services they have read to their colleagues.

The last question was creative and included the establishment of what services teachers would like to get acquainted with in the future for effective professional work. As a result, the following was established.

Biology teachers noted that in their educational activities it is advisable to use augmented reality applications to familiarize students with individual topics for study (human anatomy, animal structure, etc.), as well as various game services to interest and motivate students.

Geography teachers noted that they would also use augmented reality applications in their activities to familiarize students with the features of different types of terrain, different countries, modeling processes, and phenomena.

Computer science teachers noted that in their activities there are many online tools for use in the educational process (online compilers, automated systems for checking solutions to programming problems, massive open online courses, diagramming tools, etc.), but they became more familiar with gaming programs for learning languages and simulators for studying the structure of a computer.

Chemistry teachers noted that there are few different tools in their educational activities, and they would prefer any specialized tools to improve their own teaching methods.

English teachers noted that it would be advisable to get acquainted with additional services for learning English (by the level of knowledge, by grades, by topic), including game services for primary schools since learning English in most schools in Ukraine starts from 1 class.

Physical education teachers noted that there are no services at all for teaching their subject, except for watching various videos on the YouTube channel. For them, this issue is quite relevant and requires a separate study.

All teachers agreed that online learning lacks a

quality service that would replace a regular blackboard at school. Although there are a large number of online boards on the Internet, however, ordinary teachers are not fully functional enough to be used in the educational process.

Also, all teachers unambiguously agreed that everything they studied in the previous courses is useful to the present. Since now the use of cloud services for distance learning has become an even more urgent problem.

4 **DISCUSSION**

Here it should be noted that the reason for the selfdevelopment of teachers is of their own free will, namely the situations that have developed in the world in general and in Ukraine in particular. The global pandemic caused by the COVID-19 virus was only the beginning of this. The full-scale offensive of the Russian troops was a second impetus for even greater awareness of the need to master the skills of using various information and communication technologies when teaching their subject. After all, in such periods it is necessary not only to teach your subject in a quality manner but to use various information and communication technologies to motivate and interest students, as well as to take into account the psychological characteristics of all participants in the educational process in such a difficult time.

In addition, not the possibility of learning in the classroom simply requires the teacher to master all the means of information and communication technologies, including cloud services, to improve and conduct classes in general. In this regard, those positions are advantageous when teachers have mastered some means of teaching either on their own or with the help of certain courses. And it is cloud services that are a means of providing distance learning in the conditions that have arisen before Ukraine.

As for the teachers who chose massive open online courses to improve their native language skills, this, in our opinion, is connected with the beginning of Russian aggression against Ukraine. After all, part of the population of Ukraine spoke Russian, and for them, the transition to their native language became important only after the start of a full-scale invasion.

The massive open online courses for the study of foreign languages is also connected precisely with the need to consider the possibility of moving to another country after the start of a full-scale invasion of Russian troops into the territory of Ukraine.

It should be noted that in additional comments to the survey, some teachers indicated that during the war they lost the opportunity to use technical means in connection with a forced quick move to another area (village, another region, another country). Some of the respondents indicated that some teachers lost their technical equipment, which was in the occupied territories. As a result, we have that not all teachers can perform their functional duties in such conditions. Here we can only state that during the development of our state in the post-war period, the Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine should provide the possibility of purchasing technical equipment for teachers who suffered as a result of a full-scale war.

5 CONCLUSIONS

The two-year pandemic and the start of a full-scale war between Russia and Ukraine contributed to the fact that teachers of secondary schools began to actively engage in self-education and self-development. If earlier (at the beginning of the pandemic) it was difficult for teachers to switch to online learning, then with the outbreak of war, teachers were already ready to use various online tools in their practice.

As the study showed, all the interviewed teachers continued their self-education in different ways, studied a large number of services that can be used in the educational process, and provided the authors with ideas for further expanding the courses according to their desires, which should be used in the educational process.

It should be noted that it is important that all the respondents unanimously approved that they use the acquired competencies in their professional activities during the period of Russian aggression. In addition, in additional comments, teachers noted that among their acquaintances there are many teachers who want to take such courses since at one time they had no desire or motivation.

It is also important that all teachers expressed their desire to study in the future with a division into subjects of study. Therefore, here it should just be emphasized that it is important for teachers to study certain methods of using various information and communication technologies in the educational process.

In the future, we plan to develop a continuation of the courses, the specifics of which will be the distribution into separate groups according to the subjects of teaching for a more detailed study of the methods of using various specific services within the framework of the study of individual disciplines (physics, mathematics, chemistry, biology, geography, foreign language, computer science, etc.). Also, in further research, we see the use of other practice-oriented methods to determine the level of formation of teachers' competence.

Also, since this was not the object of this study, in the future we see the prospects for studying teachers' digital competence levels depending on their age.

REFERENCES

- Astafieva, M., Bodnenko, D., and Proshkin, V. (2019). Cloud-oriented Training Technologies as a Means of Forming the XXI Century Skills of Future Mathematics Teachers. In Ermolayev, V., Mallet, F., Yakovyna, V., Mayr, H. C., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume I: Main Conference, Kherson, Ukraine, June 12-15, 2019, volume 2387 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 507–512. CEUR-WS.org. http: //ceur-ws.org/Vol-2387/20190507.pdf.
- Basilotta-Gómez-Pablos, V., Matarranz, M., Casado-Aranda, L.-A., and Otto, A. (2022). Teachers' digital competencies in higher education: a systematic literature review. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 19:8. https: //doi.org/10.1186/s41239-021-00312-8.
- Falfushynska, H. I., Buyak, B. B., Tereshchuk, H. V., Torbin, G. M., and Kasianchuk, M. M. (2021). Strengthening of e-learning at the leading Ukrainian pedagogical universities in the time of COVID-19 pandemic. CTE Workshop Proceedings, 8:261–273. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.237.
- Findeisen, S. and Wild, S. (2022). General digital competences of beginning trainees in commercial vocational education and training. *Empirical Research in Vocational Education and Training*, 14(1):2. https: //doi.org/10.1186/s40461-022-00130-w.
- Google (2022). Workspace Marketplace.
- Korobeinikova, T. I., Volkova, N. P., Kozhushko, S. P., Holub, D. O., Zinukova, N. V., Kozhushkina, T. L., and Vakarchuk, S. B. (2020). Google cloud services as a way to enhance learning and teaching at university. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:106–118. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.315.
- Korobova, I., Golovko, N., Goncharenko, T., and Hniedkova, O. (2019). Experience of Developing and Implementation of the Virtual Case Environment in Physics Learning by Google Services. In Ermolayev, V., Mallet, F., Yakovyna, V., Mayr, H. C., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, *Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume 1: Main Conference, Kherson, Ukraine, June 12-15, 2019, volume 2387 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 358–369. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2387/20190358.pdf.*
- Markova, O. M., Semerikov, S. O., Striuk, A. M., Shalatska, H. M., Nechypurenko, P. P., and Tron, V. V.

(2019). Implementation of cloud service models in training of future information technology specialists. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:499–515. https://doi. org/10.55056/cte.409.

- Moiseienko, M. V., Moiseienko, N. V., Kohut, I. V., and Kiv, A. E. (2020). Digital competence of pedagogical university student: definition, structure and didactical conditions of formation. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:60–70. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.310.
- Morze, N., Buinytska, O., Varchenko-Trotsenko, L., Vasylenko, S., Nastas, D., Tiutiunnyk, A., and Lytvynova, S. (2022). System for digital professional development of university teachers. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(2):152–168. https: //doi.org/10.55056/etq.6.
- Morze, N. and Glazunova, O. G. (2019). Development of Professional Competencies of Information Technology University Teachers: Motivation and Content. In Ermolayev, V., Mallet, F., Yakovyna, V., Mayr, H. C., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume I: Main Conference, Kherson, Ukraine, June 12-15, 2019, volume 2387 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 334–347. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-2387/20190334.pdf.
- Nagaraju, K. C., Madhavi, K., and Murthy, J. N. (2021). Research on efficacy of webinars organized for faculty during lockdown of COVID-19. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 8:287–303. https://doi.org/10.55056/ cte.239.
- Popel, M. V. and Shyshkina, M. P. (2019). The areas of educational studies of the cloud-based learning systems. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:159–172. https: //doi.org/10.55056/cte.375.
- Puradiredja, D. I., Kintu-Sempa, L., Eyber, C., Weigel, R., Broucker, B., Lindkvist, M., Casamitjana, N., Reynolds, R., Klinkel, H.-F., Matteelli, A., and Froeschl, G. (2022). Adapting teaching and learning in times of COVID-19: a comparative assessment among higher education institutions in a global health network in 2020. *BMC Medical Education*, 22:507. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-022-03568-4.
- Shyshkina, M. P. and Marienko, M. V. (2020). The use of the cloud services to support the math teachers training. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:690–704. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.419.
- Spada, I., Chiarello, F., Barandoni, S., Ruggi, G., Martini, A., and Fantoni, G. (2022). Are universities ready to deliver digital skills and competences? A text mining-based case study of marketing courses in Italy. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 182:121869. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2022. 121869.
- Spirin, O. M. (2019). Information and digital technologies of the virtual university of postgraduate education. In IV All-Ukrainian electronic scientific-practical conference "Open education and distance learning: from theory to practice".

- Tzafilkou, K., Perifanou, M., and Economides, A. A. (2022). Development and validation of students' digital competence scale (SDiCoS). *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 19:30. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-022-00330-0.
- Vakaliuk, T., Spirin, O., and Kontsedailo, V. (2021a). Formation of digital competence of CS bachelors in the use of cloud-based learning environments. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(3):4. https://doi. org/10.55056/etq.26.
- Vakaliuk, T. A., Spirin, O. M., Lobanchykova, N. M., Martseva, L. A., Novitska, I. V., and Kontsedailo, V. V. (2021b). Features of distance learning of cloud technologies for the organization educational process in quarantine. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840(1):012051. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/ 1840/1/012051.
- Velychko, V. Y., Fedorenko, E. H., Kaidan, N. V., Soloviev, V. N., and Bondarenko, O. V. (2021). The support of the process of training pre-service mathematics teachers by means of cloud services. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 8:318–332. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte. 265.
- Volikova, M. M., Armash, T. S., Yechkalo, Y. V., and Zaselskiy, V. I. (2019). Practical use of cloud services for organization of future specialists professional training. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:486–498. https: //doi.org/10.55056/cte.408.
- Yahupov, V. V., Kyva, V. Y., and Zaselskiy, V. I. (2020). The methodology of development of information and communication competence in teachers of the military education system applying the distance form of learning. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:71–81. https: //doi.org/10.55056/cte.312.

Cloud Service Blogger as Effective Communication Tool of Teacher and Students at the University

Dmytro M. Bodnenko¹[®], Tamara O. Fedyk¹[®], Oleksandra V. Lokaziuk¹[®],

Volodymyr V. Proshkin¹^{®d}, Olena Y. Korzh ²^{®e}, Ihor A. Tverdokhlib³^{®f} and Andrii M. Striuk⁴^{®g}

¹Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, 18/2 Bulvarno-Kudriavska Str., Kyiv, 04053, Ukraine

²State University of Telecommunications, 7 Solomenska Str., Kyiv, 03110, Ukraine

³National Pedagogical Dragomanov University, Str., 9 Pyrohova Kyiv, 01601, Ukraine

⁴Kryvyi Rih National University, 11 Vitaliy Matusevych Str., Kryvyi Rih, 50027, Ukraine

{d.bodnenko, t.fedyk, o.lokaziuk, v.proshkin}@kubg.edu.ua, madam.korzh2017@gmail.com, i.a.tverdokhlib@npu.edu.ua, andrii striuk@knu edu ua

Keywords: Cloud Service, Blogger, Communication, Educational Process, University Environment.

Abstract: The article outlines the important problem of communication between teachers and students in a mixed form of education. The Blogger cloud service is considered as a mean of communication. Based on the analysis of the service functions and the available definitions, the own interpretation of the cloud service Blogger is presented. Its advantages and disadvantages are highlighted. We developed the strategy of creation of the block in Blogger cloud service, consisting of 7 stages: formulation of the name, choice of design, selection of topics, determining the frequency of publications and target audience, building a scheme of blog creation, testing. Fisher's test proves the effectiveness of the Blogger cloud service in the educational process, in particular in the learning process of the discipline "Methods of teaching linguistic disciplines". As a result of the survey, it was found that the systematic work of the blog has a positive effect on the formation of a conscious and active student movement.

1 INTRODUCTION

The implementation of the educational process in terms of social distancing encourages the search for alternative forms and methods of communicative interaction between teachers and students. Effective means of communication aimed at minimizing gaps in communication between participants in the educational process become especially relevant. One of such tool is a blog – a notable cultural and social phenomenon that, due to its popularity, ease of use and creation, has a significant impact on today's youth. The advantages of the blog, which are especially important in a mixed form of education, include: the ability to work on an Internet project of several peo-

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9303-6587

- ° https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9663-251X
- ^d https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9785-0612
- e https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8130-9111
- f https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6301-0159
- ^g https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9240-1976

ple; openness and availability of information; interactivity, providing feedback and reviews from users – students, applicants and teachers. Therefore, we consider it appropriate to analyze the features of the blog as a means of communication on the example cloud service Blogger, who does not require additional software; to explore the practical application of the Blogger cloud service in a university environment.

Today, the research of many scientists is devoted to the creation of information educational environment. In particular, Burov et al. (Burov et al., 2020) studied the effectiveness of teaching individuals with the use of electronic education resources. Zhaldak et al. (Zhaldak et al., 2021) believed that by using cloud services in the work, users can use those resources that are on remote servers. Kukharenko et al. (Kukharenko et al., 2022) was inclined to think that it is important for both students and teachers to develop their competencies, which are related to modern ICT. Popel and Shyshkina (Popel and Shyshkina, 2019) believed that in the modern environment of information and educational technologies there are new models of educational activities organization, which

Bodnenko, D., Fedyk, T., Lokaziuk, O., Proshkin, V., Korzh, O., Tverdokhlib, I. and Striuk, A.

Cloud Service Blogger as Effective Communication Tool of Teacher and Students at the University.

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3673-7077

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 605-616 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS - Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

are primarily based on innovative solutions for the organization of technological infrastructure of the environment, to which we can also include cloud-oriented. Bodnenko et al. (Bodnenko et al., 2022) revealed the importance of using the Yammer cloud service to organize project-based learning methods. Bodnenko (Bodnenko, 2013) revealed the role and the impact of informatization on the professional teacher competences.

The problem of the "blog" integration and its features have been studied in the works of many scholars. Thus, Nosenko and Bogdan (Nosenko and Bogdan, 2015), Ifinedo (Ifinedo, 2018), Dovzhik et al. (Dovzhik et al., 2021), Winster and Swamynathan (Winster and Swamynathan, 2010), Garcia et al. (Garcia et al., 2019) considered issues highlighting the definition of "blog", on the features of using cloud services to create blogs. Tsetsos and Prentzas (Tsetsos and Prentzas, 2021) focused on a survey of approaches integrating blogs in school education. Bondarchuk (Bondarchuk, 2013) emphasized the compatibility of Blogger with other Google subsidiaries and support for "drag and drop when setting up a page".

We consider interesting the scientific achievements in which it is revealed methodological aspects of the implementation of the educational blog "Development of a creative child. ICT" as part of educational course "Database Management System Microsoft Access" (Pokryshen et al., 2019).

2 THE OBJECTIVE OF RESEARCH

The object of the study is a cloud service from Google Corporation – Blogger. The subject of the research is the use of Blogger to organize communication between teachers and students at the university. The aim of the study is to reveal the relevance and expediency of using the cloud service Blogger for communication of students and professors of the university.

To achieve this goal next tasks were performed: analyze the main definitions of the study; highlight the advantages and disadvantages of using the Blogger cloud service; explore the strategy of creating a blog on the cloud service Blogger; to test the developed blog among university students

3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

The following research methods were used to implement the outlined tasks:

- comparative and analytical, which became leading in the study of the basic terms "blog" and "Blogger" and the study of their features;
- structural, through which the advantages and disadvantages of cloud service Blogger were identified;
- descriptive, which presents all the main stages of creating and filling the blog "Students IF";
- statistical (Fisher's method) to prove the importance of using the Blogger cloud service as a communication tool for teachers and students at the university.

The study was conducted based on Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University during September – December 2021. The survey involved 1324 students and 358 teachers of Grinchenko University.

4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Theoretical Framework

The dynamic development of technology creates new challenges for society, but at the same time, it is driven by a desire to meet the growing needs of society. One of the important needs is communication, the range of means of providing which has significantly expanded due to the rapid improvement of information technology. Forms of communication are changing in the context of globalization, and one such form is the blog. The blog acquires special significance for the implementation of communication between teachers and students at the university, especially in the conditions of distance learning.

Let's define the definition of "blog". For our study, seems to be an acceptable definition proposed by Nosenko and Bogdan (Nosenko and Bogdan, 2015): blog (from "weblog", "online journal or event diary") is a website whose content is regularly accompanied by entries with text, images or multimedia. We agree with the authors that the key feature of the blog is short posts, placed in reverse chronological order, which are public, i.e. available to all Internet users who have the opportunity to view and comment on them.

There are several classifications of blog features. Herring identifies three main social goals of the blog: "Get information; to impress others; have fun" (Herring, 2007). Følstad et al. (Følstad et al., 2021) identifies five functions: "Maintaining contact with relatives and friends; getting information; entertainment; public opinion monitoring; socialization". In turn, Polyuzhin and Vrábely (Polyuzhin and Vrábely, 2005) give a more detailed classification of blog functions, he singles out "Communicative function, selfpresentation function, entertainment function, function of cohesion and maintenance of social ties, function of memoirs, function of self-development and reflection, psychotherapeutic function". The last classification will be used in our study.

It should be noted that the use of blogs in online education implies a clear definition of didactic goals and tasks:

- actualization of basic knowledge and skills;
- understanding the essence of concepts, methods of activity;
- consolidation of acquired knowledge;
- solving problem situations, control and assessment of knowledge, level of satisfaction with classes, etc.

Applying blogs during online education to fulfill set didactic tasks creates

- a creative nature of educational and cognitive activity;
- elements of competition, game nature of the lesson are introduced;
- intergroup and group interaction of students is organized;
- constant monitoring of their satisfaction, emotional comfort, etc. is carried out.

Therefore, the communication of teachers and students at the university with the help of a blog as a digital tool promotes cooperation, understanding, tolerance and benevolence, enables the implementation of personally oriented learning. Given that the mentioned communication in the blog is implemented mainly in the conditions of cooperative learning, when each student contributes to joint achievements, it is worth considering the availability of the necessary technical equipment and the availability of digital tools and services.

Their selection was based on the following requirements for the implementation of communication between teachers and students:

- understanding that the collective way of organizing learning, joint educational activity is an effective form of the educational process;
- 2) creation of conditions for group interaction;
- activation of independent assimilation of educational material in the course of subject-subject dialogue;

- 4) processing of educational information in different forms and at different levels of complexity;
- 5) mandatory reflexive activity in the process of group work.

To find out if blog as a form of communication meets the needs of society, the service Blogger was chosen. Because many people are users of Google Mail, which allows free access to all of Google's cloud applications. "Blogger is a leader in the means of publishing materials on the Internet - the creation of so-called web blogs or blogs" (Pyatak, 2012). Scientific papers provide various definitions of this service, for example, the most succinct of which is the definition that "Blogger is a website whose main content is recordings, images or multimedia that are regularly added" (Alekseienko and Usata, 2019). Pyatak (Pyatak, 2012) gives a more detailed definition: "Blogger is a blogging platform, formerly known as Pyra Labs, which Google acquired in February 2003, a web tool that allows you to quickly and easily post messages on the Web".

After analyzing and summarizing the definitions offered by scientists, the following definition was derived: Blogger is a free blogging service that allows you to freely blog, meet and communicate with new people without resorting to programming and without worrying about installing and configuring software.

The blog creation algorithm is easily accessible to most PC users, as "there is no need to create program code or install any server software or scripts" (Pyatak, 2012), as the process involves three important steps to start filling your blog: "Choose a profile, name a blog, choose a template, then the user will be given a domain like name.blogspot.com" (Bondarchuk, 2013). Posting a blog post is done by filling out a simple form on the Blogger cloud site. An important feature of Blogger is"freedom of speech", because censorship contradicts the concept of this service. Bondarchuk et al. (Bondarchuk et al., 2020) also noted an interesting detail that "Blogger, as a division of Google, allows you to place Google Adsense ad units and thus earn money from traffic (which is impossible in LJ). Also, the service is fully compatible with other Google products - Picasa Web Albums, Google Data API support, supports drag and drop when setting up the page".

Systematic and long-term work with Blogger service allows analyzing its advantages and disadvantages. The study focused on aspects such as accessibility, administration, appearance, functionality and interaction of the blog with other platforms. The Blogger cloud service allows one user to create several blogs at the same time (about a hundred for one user), which, in turn, indicates a number of additional benefits: a wider range of problems coverage; mutual advertising between blogs; more audience coverage. Instead, the service has an imperfect procedure for moving files between blogs, as it is not possible to share images.

The next attractive aspect of using Blogger is its accessibility and that it is free: its construction is as simple as possible, so any PC user can manage and populate the blog, and the usage policy provides free access to Google Account holders.

A significant bonus for users is the ability to share one blog. This allows the team of authors to co-create content and maintain the collaboration. Users share many services, and it is Blogger that can allow a niche to be hosted by several people. However, even this advantage does not extend the range of available features. The toolkit offered in the free version is a template and cannot be expanded, but the number of designs is sufficient to create an original blog. A preview feature is also available.

Another important feature is backup: all users can save their own data and thus secure it. This option is possible because Blogger is a subsidiary of Google. However, this can be seen as a disadvantage of this service. Google bought Blogger in the early 2000s, and during that time the site has been advanced and improved, but the company has not released an update recently and seems to be shutting down the service (as has happened with Google Reader, AdSense).

When creating its own blog, the user should understand that a company that provides a free service may suddenly terminate it or switch to paid mode. However, the cooperation of the cloud service with such a large corporation provides several nice bonuses, free subscriptions among them. In addition, the service distributes news, adds a blog to the newsletter, shows a panel and a chart of visits. The site is actively promoted in the Google search engine. The author can add his blog to the search engine and thus facilitate the promotion process and avoid problems associated with indexing new pages. Plus for users – all those who are already registered in the system and have a Google account can subscribe to a blog.

So, the Blogger cloud service is the best platform for those who want to start promoting their own blog. Despite the limited number of templates, the service has enough tools to implement own ideas. In addition, working with Google provides the site with a number of features: availability, backup feature, access to other services, etc. So, the site is easy to use, which deserves its audience.

4.2 Development of a Blog of the University Structural Unit

In order to implement communication between teachers and students with the help of a blog, we have highlighted a number of approaches to ensuring this communication.

The systematic approach. It ensures the integrity, unity and interconnectedness of communication between teachers and students. The value of the mentioned approach is that it allows you to outline the communicative process as a unity of theory and practice, goals, tasks, forms and methods, etc.

The systematic approach makes it possible to consider the use of blogs in the learning process from the point of view of integrity, mutual enrichment, and interdependence.

The competency-based approach is one of the leading in the modern educational process, the most relevant in the modern paradigm of education, defines the list of competencies of teachers and students to ensure communication.

The activity approach is aimed at developing the skills of using blogs for communicative interaction. The educational process is based on the internal motives of the specified activity, which allows it to be perceived as personally meaningful.

This approach promotes the development of research skills, initiative, and the disclosure of creative potential. This will contribute to the formation of a valuable attitude to the use of blogs in the communication process.

The personally-oriented approach. It directs the teacher to take into account the individuality, originality and uniqueness of students on the basis of universal human values. The attitude towards them is implemented in the context of existing features, interests and abilities.

The mentioned approach resonates with the student-centered approach, which involves:

- encouraging students of higher education to play the role of autonomous and responsible subjects of the educational process;
- creation of an educational environment focused on meeting the needs and interests of higher education seekers, in particular, providing opportunities for the formation of an individual educational trajectory;
- construction of the educational process on the basis of mutual respect and partnership between the participants of the educational process.

The environmental approach makes it possible

to create special conditions and organize the educational process due to their impact on students.

We believe that the approaches that we have outlined are integrated, complemented and specified by the environmental approach, as they are implemented within the educational environment as an important lever of using blogs to implement communication.

The axiological (value) approach, which is based on the concept of value and makes it possible to find out the qualities and properties of objects, phenomena, processes capable of satisfying certain needs of an individual or society. Such needs appear in the form of norms and ideals. The subject of pedagogical axiology is the process of forming a system of values, value attitudes of an individual.

The cultural approach is important for the formation of prognostic competence of future bachelors of computer sciences, as it involves purposeful consideration of cultural heritage, human values, provides opportunities for personal and professional growth, development of their creative potential. In this context, it resonates with a creative approach that enables the use of non-standard teaching methods in the process of professional training.

The process of communication between teachers and students using a digital blog follows the following patterns:

- correspondence of the content, forms, methods and means of using blogs to the demands of real practice;
- unity of purpose and results of the process of using blogs to ensure communication between teachers and students;
- orientation in education to material and technical resources, including availability of high-speed Internet;
- the intensity of feedback between teachers and students as a guarantee of the process of using blogs in communication.

We will also outline the principles (systemforming factors (requirements and rules)).

The principle of scientificity and interdisciplinarity, which makes it possible to take into account in the process of using digital blogs for the communication of modern scientific theories, concepts and views.

The principle of continuity and perspective. We believe that the use of blogs in education should be experience-oriented, continuous, step-by-step, and outline the prospects for student growth. In addition, take into account individual characteristics of students, focus on creative development, disclosure and realization of potential opportunities, enrichment of subjective experience.

The principle of focusing on digital technologies, which involves the systematic use of open educational resources, computer and multimedia tools, software, mobile devices, etc.

The principle of reflexivity, which prompts teachers and students to analyze and correct the process of using digital blogs.

The principle of culturology. The implementation of communication between teachers and students is based on the recognition of such activity as the highest value, the ability to realize the personality in professional life.

Analysis of the needs and desires of students and teachers of the Institute of Philology of the Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University has become decisive in choosing the topic of the blog, which is implemented within the research of the Blogger service. The survey showed that potential readers would be most interested in reading the news of the Institute of Philology. To implement the study, a number of stages were performed: from the formulation of the title and the choice of design to the content of the blog.

Stage 1. Formulation of the title. When choosing the name of the blog, we were guided by three, in our opinion, the most important features – accessibility, functionality and content. That's why the blog was named "Students IF".

The chosen title of the blog should be clear to the readers on whom it is aimed and easy to remember, as this will increase the audience. Second, Latin letters were used in the title, as it significantly expand the boundaries of the target audience and the possibility of its use to promote the blog. Regarding the third feature, the content and informativeness of the blog name is important. The title should evoke in the recipient a wide range of associative and give the opportunity to predict its thematic direction, so readers immediately understand whether this blog is in their area of interest.

Stage 2. Choosing a design. Blogger service can only use standard templates, which are quite limited: a few options for posting, choosing colors, setting your own main photo blog. To design the overall look of the blog, a typical model \mathbb{N}^{9} 1 was chosen, as it is the most convenient to use: the news is arranged in chronological order, i.e. from current to the oldest (figure 1).

As for colors, the choice was due to two factors. First, the Grinchenko University has an approved Brand Book, which sets out recommendations for the use of corporate identity, it regulates the corporate colors of educational units, in particular, the

Students IF The brightest events and news of the Institute of Philology of Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University Image: Control of C

Figure 1: Typical model № 1 cloud service Blogger.

Institute of Philology has a green color. Another important factor is the recognizability of philologists by color, which is caused by the active promotion of corporate products, the availability of appropriate design corridors of the educational unit, the use of different shades of green when preparing additional materials for the educational process (figure 1). The third feature of the Blogger service is that you can choose the main photo, which will meaningfully complement the name of the blog.

In our opinion, the logo of the Student Self-Government Council correlates most accurately with the name of the "Students IF" channel (figure 2). It reflects the most important values of a student of the Institute of Philology: a book, sleep, Wi-Fi and coffee – an associative series of words that are necessary for the full existence of each student. The introduction of common values evokes emotions in all those involved in the educational process, which increases the likelihood of their involvement in the readers of the blog.

Stage 3. Selection of topics. The content plan of the blog "Students IF" was developed based on the results of the survey (figure 3) and contains four main thematic areas.

According to the results of the survey, the most interesting to readers (75.9%) is information about events in different directions of Kyiv and Ukraine – the first thematic block. Coverage of such news will help raise awareness and active involvement of student youth in events of various levels (city, na-



Figure 2: Logo of the Student Self-Government Council of the Institute of Philology of the Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University.

tional, international), which, in turn, will strengthen existing partnerships with the Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine, National Agency for Quality Assurance in Higher Education, Kyiv City State Administration and youth public organizations (PO "Ukrainian Student Association", "Foundation for Regional Initiatives", "Ukrainian Academy of Leadership").

The second most popular was the thematic area related to the events of active student life of the Institute of Philology (71.3%). Over 100 events are held at Borys University in Kyiv every month: educational-professional, scientific, volunteer, entertaining, etc. So informing the participants of the educational process will positively affect the involvement of students in events they can choose depending on their interests.

Another important aspect of interest to potential users of the blog "Students IF" is related to changes in



Figure 3: Content of the blog "Students IF".

the organization of the educational process (60.2%) – changes in the schedule, the transition to distance learning, urgent headmaster and more. Today's students are active Internet users, so blogging in this direction is more effective because it covers a larger number of students, and the dissemination of information requires much less time and effort.

The fourth thematic block is the current state of science and the place of students in it (33.3%). Science is an integral part of the educational process, so the coverage of scientific events and the results of such events (conferences, round tables, workshops, webinars, lectures, etc.) will expand the circle of stakeholders and motivate them to start a scientific career.

Stage 4. Determining the frequency of publications. The survey showed that the majority of potential readers (72.2%) believe that placing publications in the blog "Students IF" should depend on the availability of news, as certain time periods are rich in events, so we consider it best to disseminate information in the order of its receipt (figure 4).

Stage 5. Defining the target audience. Among potential readers of "Students IF", which is the focus of the blog, can be divided into three major groups: students, research and teaching staff and entrants. First, the content of this information channel is interesting for students because it is a means of one-way communication between the educational unit and students. Second, the blog is useful for the research and pedagogical staff of Grinchenko University, where they get to know the students better, which allows them to build the best individual educational trajectory for applicants. The third and most numerous group are potential applicants. The "Students IF" blog, a so-called university life diary, is a powerful career guidance tool.

Stage 6. Building a scheme of blogging strat-

egy. During the implementation of research and work with the cloud service Blogger, considering all its advantages and disadvantages, we have developed a scheme that contains step-by-step instructions for creating your own blog (figure 5).

As a result of working with the Blogger cloud service, students should:

- · know: practical methods and methods of building blogs; methods of organizing activities for working with blogs; modern development trends, methods of creating blogs;
- be able to: work with software tools for solving tasks related to creating blogs; apply the acquired knowledge when solving actual problems of theory and practice, making forecasts and comprehensive assessments;
- · have: practical skills of working with the Blogger cloud service; practical experience of drafting review reports, descriptions of the development of situations and assessment of trends in the development of activities related to the creation of blogs.

Stage 7. Approbation. The relevance and demand for the blog "Students IF" was tested among students of the Institute of Philology of the Grinchenko University (figure 6). To determine the level of communication with users of the "Students IF" blog, a survey was published on the format of study in the second semester, which was attended by over 1500 readers, which testifies to the relevance of this blog and its further development. Analysis of students' responses showed that the majority (68.2%) want to resume full-time study in the second semester, but 22.7% of these applicants are convinced that lectures should be left online. Some respondents (31.8%) prefer distance learning. The results of the survey were passed on to the administration of the educational unit and can serve as one of the key ar-



Figure 4: Frequency of publications in blog.

guments when deciding on the format of education in the future.

The results of the survey showed that contact with the applicants was established, so it was decided to go beyond the structural unit. To interest a wider range of readers, content has been expanded. The blog has publications that apply to applicants for various specialties. The expansion of the topic contributed to the rapid growth of the audience. Today, our readers include representatives of all departments of the university. The analysis of the audience showed that the content is interesting to applicants for various specialties.

Increased activity on the "Students IF" blog was the impetus for the launch of the Blogger cloud service in the educational process. First of all, we tested this service on the educational program "Ukrainian Language and Literature", during the implementation of the mandatory component "Methods of teaching linguistic disciplines". The task was to create and fill the teacher's educational blog as one of the ways to present theoretical information.

During the internship, undergraduate students (11 persons) had the opportunity to test their blogs on students of 1–2 courses of the Institute of Philology. Applicants were divided into two groups: one submitted part of the theoretical material through the cloud service Blogger (experimental group), another used traditional methods (control group).

Examples of using the Blogger service in the educational process are shown in figure 7. We consider the study successful if, according to the results of the test, students received grades A, B, C (at least 75 out of 100 points), see table 1.

Table 1: Comparison of control and experimental group.

	Control	Experimental
	group	group
Number of students	15 (62%)	18 (78%)
who received grades		
A, B, C		
Number of students	9 (38%)	5 (22%)
who received other		
grades		

Using Fisher's test, it is established that

$$\varphi *_{emp} = 2.489, \ \varphi *_{cr} = \begin{cases} 1.64 & p \le 0.05\\ 2.31 & p \le 0.01 \end{cases}$$

therefore, hypothesis H1 accepted, the difference in the learning outcomes of the experimental and control groups is statistically proven.

The functioning of the "Students IF" blog for 3 months was productive and effective. This is confirmed by the analysis of the involvement of applicants at the beginning of the school year and after a few months from the launch of the blog (figure 8). Looking at the chart, we see that the figures have increased significantly. We are convinced that the further systematic work of the blog "Students IF" will have a positive impact on the formation of a conscious and active student movement.



Figure 5: Scheme of blog creation in the cloud service Blogger.



Figure 6: Format of study in the second semester.

It is interesting that as a result of the survey of

teachers, the types of various educational activities of students, within which it is possible to develop educational blogs with the help of cloud services, were summarized:

- an interdisciplinary practical session, which is conducted by teachers of various educational disciplines with the aim of realizing interdisciplinary connections;
- analytical workshop where professional situations are worked out;
- a webinar-conference where students present reports on given topics with further discussion;
- workshop-discussion;



Figure 7: An example of using a blog during the educational process.



Figure 8: Statistics of applicants' participation in various directions events.

- research practicum, which involves the implementation of research-oriented training;
- a business game that simulates a real problem situation;
- practicum "brainstorming", students are offered a case in advance, then students offer options for solving the problem with further discussion and selection of the most effective proposal;
- workshop a master class from stakeholder representatives;
- practicum meeting with graduates of the educational and professional program.

The main areas of implementation of research-

based education and enabling the creation of researchthemed blogs are also highlighted:

- 1. Work of students in scientific laboratories, centers, problem scientific groups and other scientific associations.
- 2. Individual research work of students.
- 3. Studying the theoretical foundations of setting, methodology, organization and execution of scientific research, planning and organization of a scientific experiment, processing of scientific data within the framework of specialized courses included in the OPP.
- 4. Independent scientific research carried out during informal education (taking courses on open online platforms).
- 5. Carrying out tasks of a research nature, laboratory works, coursework, projects that contain elements of scientific research or are of a research nature.

Methodical development of the implementation of educational activities and research work of students, which involves the creation of blogs using cloud services, will become the perspective of our further research.

5 CONCLUSIONS

The study confirmed the relevance and feasibility of using the Blogger cloud service for communication between teachers and students at the university.

- 1. Analysis of definitions of "blog" and "Blogger" gave grounds to formulate own definition, which shows the functionality of these terms. The advantages and disadvantages of the Blogger cloud service have been identified. Among the advantages are the following: one user can have several blogs, page filling and management can be done by several authors; a number of additional opportunities that open up through collaboration with Google, etc. Disadvantages include the limited number of design templates and tools.
- 2. Having found out the desires and needs of potential readers through a survey, the stages of creating a blog using the cloud service Blogger were identified, which meets the needs of users and helps to raise awareness of higher education students about the organization of the educational process and active student life. A blogging scheme has been developed in the Blogger cloud service. It was announced that the results of the study are more applied than theoretical.

3. Successful approbation of the blog "Students IF" among students of the Institute of Philology of Grinchenko University was confirmed by Fisher's test. This shows that Blogger is the optimal platform for organizing training, quality communication of higher education institutions with applicants. The blog also helps to improve the level of information and consideration of students' opinions, serves as a platform for discussions, consultations, etc.

Prospects for further research we seen in the development of methodological recommendations for the use of the Blogger cloud service in implementing practical classes at the university.

REFERENCES

- Alekseienko, V. and Usata, O. (2019). Designing a sitedirectory of web resources for a teacher of informatics. Ukrainian Journal of Educational Studies and Information Technology, 7(2):1–10. https://doi.org/10. 32919/uesit.2019.02.01.
- Bodnenko, D. (2013). The Role of Informatization in the Change of Higher School Tasks: the Impact on the Professional Teacher Competences. In Ermolayev, V., Mayr, H. C., Nikitchenko, M. S., Spivakovsky, A., Zholtkevych, G., Zavileysky, M., Kravtsov, H., Kobets, V., and Peschanenko, V. S., editors, Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications: Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer, Kherson, Ukraine, June 19-22, 2013, volume 1000 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 281– 287. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-1000/ ICTERI-2013-p-281-287.pdf.
- Bodnenko, D. M., Kuchakovska, H. A., Lokaziuk, O. V., Proshkin, V. V., Lytvynova, S. H., and Naboka, O. H. (2022). Using the yammer cloud service to organize project-based learning methods. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 9:245–258. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte. 118.
- Bondarchuk, L., Podgurska, T., and Kovtunets, O. (2020). Intercultural Component in Teaching Foreign Students in Ukraine. In Proceedings of the III International Scientific Congress Society of Ambient Intelligence 2020 (ISC-SAI 2020), pages 316–322. Atlantis Press. https://doi.org/10.2991/aebmr.k.200318.039.
- Bondarchuk, L. M. (2013). Vykorystannia zasobiv Internetu yak suchasnyi metod roboty na zaniattiakh iz ukrainskoi slovesnosti [The use of the Internet as a modern method of working in Ukrainian literature classes]. In Konsolidatciia nauchnykh issledovanii i Diversifikatciia nauchnykh podkhodov kak osnovanie povysheniia kachestva issledovanii, page 82–85. Znanie. https://ir.kneu.edu.ua/handle/2010/3526.
- Burov, O., Bykov, V., and Lytvynova, S. (2020). ICT Evolution: from Single Computational Tasks to Modeling of

Life. In Sokolov, O., Zholtkevych, G., Yakovyna, V., Tarasich, Y., Kharchenko, V., Kobets, V., Burov, O., Semerikov, S., and Kravtsov, H., editors, *Proceedings* of the 16th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kharkiv, Ukraine, October 06-10, 2020, volume 2732 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 583–590. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-2732/20200583.pdf.

- Dovzhik, G. V., Dovzhik, V. N., and Kurasova, O. V. (2021). Empathy and Identification as an Online Technology of Blogger's Communication in Digital Marketing. In Popkova, E. G., Ostrovskaya, V. N., and Bogoviz, A. V., editors, *Socio-economic Systems: Paradigms for the Future*, volume 314 of *Studies in Systems, Decision and Control*, pages 1291–1301. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-030-56433-9_135.
- Følstad, A., Araujo, T., Law, E. L.-C., Brandtzaeg, P. B., Papadopoulos, S., Reis, L., Baez, M., Laban, G., McAllister, P., Ischen, C., Wald, R., Catania, F., Meyer von Wolff, R., Hobert, S., and Luger, E. (2021). Future directions for chatbot research: an interdisciplinary research agenda. *Computing*, 103:2915–2942. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s00607-021-01016-7.
- Garcia, E., Moizer, J., Wilkins, S., and Haddoud, M. Y. (2019). Student learning in higher education through blogging in the classroom. *Computers & Education*, 136:61–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2019. 03.011.
- Herring, S. C. (2007). A Faceted Classification Scheme for Computer-Mediated Discourse. Language@Internet, 4:1. https://www.languageatinternet. org/articles/2007/.
- Ifinedo, P. (2018). Determinants of students' continuance intention to use blogs to learn: an empirical investigation. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 37(4):381–392. https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X. 2018.1436594.
- Kukharenko, V., Shunevych, B., and Kravtsov, H. (2022). Distance course examination. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(1):1–19. https://doi.org/10. 55056/etq.4.
- Nosenko, Y. G. and Bogdan, V. O. (2015). Characteristics of Google cloud services in aspect of preschool educational institution management. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 3:9–15. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.205.
- Pokryshen, D. A., Prokofiev, E. H., and Azaryan, A. A. (2019). Blogger and youtube services at a distant course "database management system microsoft access". *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:516–528. https: //doi.org/10.55056/cte.410.
- Polyuzhin, M. and Vrábely, T. (2005). Lectures and Method-Guides for Seminars on the Course for Choice. Basic problems of speech act theory. Lira, Uzhhorod. https://dspace.kmf.uz.ua/jspui/handle/ 123456789/215.
- Popel, M. V. and Shyshkina, M. P. (2019). The areas of educational studies of the cloud-based learning systems.

Educational Dimension, 1:60–79. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.v53i1.3832.

- Pyatak, M. M. (2012). Mozhlyvosti sotsialnykh servisiv Google u konteksti informatyzatsii osvity [Possibilities of Google social services in the context of informatization of education]. Modern informational technologies and innovative methods in professional training: methodology, theory, experience, problems, 32:39–42. https://vspu.net/sit/index.php/sit/ article/view/3728.
- Tsetsos, S. and Prentzas, J. (2021). A Survey of Recent Approaches Integrating Blogs in School Education. In Khosrow-Pour, M., editor, Handbook of Research on Modern Educational Technologies, Applications, and Management, pages 229–245. IGI Global, Hershey, PA. https://doi.org/10.4018/ 978-1-7998-3476-2.ch014.
- Winster, S. G. and Swamynathan, S. (2010). Blog Trust Model for Blog Readers. In 2010 International Conference on Recent Trends in Information, Telecommunication and Computing, pages 314–317. https: //doi.org/10.1109/ITC.2010.58.
- Zhaldak, M. I., Franchuk, V. M., and Franchuk, N. P. (2021). Some applications of cloud technologies in mathematical calculations. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840:012001. https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1742-6596/1840/1/012001.

Developing Translators' Soft Skills in a Cloud-Based Environment Using the Memsource System

Rostyslav O. Tarasenko¹[®]^a, Svitlana M. Amelina¹[®]^b, Serhiy O. Semerikov^{2,3,4}[®]^c and Living Shen^{1,5}[®]^d

¹National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine, 15 Heroiv Oborony Str., Kyiv, 03041,Ukraine ²Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine

³Kryvyi Rih National University, 11 Vitalii Matusevych Str., Kryvyi Rih, 50027, Ukraine

⁴Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the NAES of Ukraine, 9 M. Berlynskoho Str., Kyiv, 04060, Ukraine

⁵Anhui International Studies University, 2 Fanhua Ave., Hefei, 231201, Anhui, China

r_tar@nubip.edu.ua, svetlanaamelina@ukr.net, semerikov@gmail.com, 1954023795@qq.com

Keywords: Soft Skills, Cloud-Based Learning Environment, Memsource System, Translator.

Abstract: The paper deals with the possibilities of developing translators' soft skills in a cloud-based learning environment using the Memsource system. The main advantages of Memsource in the educational process are identified. The main advantages of Memsource in the educational process are identified: accessibility through the offer of a demo and an academic programme, easy for mastering, the user-friendly interface, a wide functional range. Experimental training of students in groups for translation projects with mastery of the tasks of team members of different statuses was carried out. Students' evaluation of the functionality of the Memsource system was analysed in terms of learning effectiveness and application in their future professional life. A list of soft skills improved by students during the experiential learning period was identified: digital skills, communication skills, teamwork skills, self-monitoring abilities, responsibility, leadership skills.

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Statement of the Problem

Today, the arsenal of tools that translators use in their professional work is quite diverse. It includes not only automated and machine translation systems, terminology management systems and translation memory systems, but also a range of service programmes and translation support information sources. There is a clear tendency to focus not only on the use of information support predominantly from Internet resources, but also on the use of cloud services that duplicate traditional desktop systems and are accessed via network resources. This leads to the view that today it is not advisable to concentrate on mastering a single software product or information resource, but rather to form a cloud-oriented environment as a system of necessary tools and resources to carry out the full range of operations for translation projects. At the same time, an important aspect of professional training of translators is the development of their soft skills when working in a cloud-oriented environment, as this type of activity requires the ability to cooperate, lead or follow a leader, and meet deadlines for tasks or individual phases of a task. It is common for large tasks to be carried out by a team of translators in translation projects. This requires clear coordination of the work of individual project participants, monitoring of task progress, self-monitoring of deadlines by translators (time management), digital skills in a cloud-oriented environment, and remote communication skills.

1.2 The Purpose of the Article

The purpose of this paper is to explore the possibility of developing the soft skills of prospective translators when completing training projects in a cloud-based environment using the Memsource system.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6258-2921

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6008-3122

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0789-0272

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7421-2899

Developing Translators' Soft Skills in a Cloud-Based Environment Using the Memsource System.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 617-628 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

1.3 Literature Review

The popularity of cloud technologies is growing rapidly in all fields of application. The translation industry is no exception. Researchers in the field of language technology attribute the increasing use of cloud systems to their greater independence from operating systems and locations, easier conditions for collaboration, savings through operation without installation, and the offer of flexible licensing models (Imhof, 2014).

The last two decades have seen a dynamic of scholarly attitudes that correlate with the development of information technologies. In particular, whereas previously only the main benefits of information technology learning for translators were considered, with suggestions for rethinking the teaching of translation (Bowker, 2002), the translation process as a whole is now understood as an interaction between translator and computer (Bundgaard et al., 2016; Chan, 2015; O'Brien, 2012; Tarasenko and Amelina, 2020; Tarasenko et al., 2020). The proliferation of information technologies in the translation industry, in particular cloud-based technologies, is illustrated, for example, by data from TAUS, a think tank whose mission is to automate and innovate in the translation industry (Choudhury and McConnell, 2013).

According to Gambín (Gambín, 2014), one of the most important changes over the last ten years has been the proliferation of solutions with a clear trend towards cloud solutions. The use of cloud technologies in translation, according to the scholar, promotes competition, which in turn means lower and more flexible prices. This is particularly relevant for the activities of small groups of translators who do not have the infrastructure and finances that large corporations do, but thanks to cloud platforms, they will be able to compete with them in some way. At the same time, Gambín (Gambín, 2014) notes that the level of technologies on offer today is very different, but that highquality solutions are becoming more affordable over time than they used to be. DePalma and Sargent (De-Palma and Sargent, 2013) holds the same view and argues that the field of translation services will undoubtedly move to cloud-based solutions in the near future. Practitioners say the most popular translation management systems (TMS) on the market include SDL WorldServer, Memsource, GlobalLink, Across (Choudhury and McConnell, 2013; Tarasenko et al., 2020; Ultimate Languages, 2018). The availability of a choice of cloud offerings is emphasised by Muegge (Muegge, 2013), noting their wide range, e.g. Wordfast Anywhere, Lionbridge Translation Workspace, Memsource Cloud, Wordbee, XMT Cloud. Based on the experience of teaching a master's course for translators, Muegge (Muegge, 2013) concludes that cloudbased systems are easy to use, because all a translator needs is an Internet connection and a login. Since the "heavy" processes (segmentation, TM and glossary search, etc.) in all cloud-based systems take place on the server, there are no multi-step installation procedures required as for desktop systems.

As we can see, from a scholarly perspective, the professional activity of translators is rapidly shifting towards working in a cloud-oriented environment and is carried out through the execution of a translation project by a team of translators. This form of work assumes that translators have a number of soft skills, primarily related to organisational and communicative aspects. Soft skills are classified as "a broad set of skills, competencies, behaviors, attitudes, and personal qualities that enable people to effectively navigate their environment, work well with others, perform well, and achieve their goals. These skills are broadly applicable and complement other skills such as technical, vocational, and academic skills" (Lippman et al., 2015). Recently, employers have been focusing on these skills, stating that university graduates lack them (ManpowerGroup, 2013).

Employers consider soft skills to help professionals succeed in the labour market as: social skills, communication skills, higher-order thinking skills (problem solving, critical thinking and decision-making), self-control skills and a positive self-concept (Lippman et al., 2015). In the context of our study, we should focus on some of these skills. Social skills are understood by scholars as the ability to get along with other people, to avoid conflicts and to find ways to resolve them when they arise. For the translators involved in the project, the ability to work as part of a team and to cooperate with other team members in a conflict-free manner are important. From this perspective, the communication skills of project participants are extremely important, which can be realised verbally or in writing, in particular in the form of communication within the project.

The broadest coverage of the list of soft skills necessary for the successful career of young professionals is presented, in our view, in the U.S. Secretariat's detailed analysis of the U.S. Commission on Achieving Required Skills (SCANS). The thinking skills cover creative thinking, decision making, problem solving, reasoning, and the ability to learn. SCANS specifies that personal qualities include responsibility, self-esteem, sociability, self-management, integrity, and honesty. SCANS identifies five groups of workplace competencies: the ability to allocate resources (time, money, facilities), interpersonal skills (such as teamwork, teaching others, leadership), the ability to acquire and to use information, the ability to understand systems, and the ability to work well with technology (Kautz et al., 2014).

Given that the vast majority of publications on the subject of soft skills development also point to the importance of digital skills for professionals, we think it is worth considering the possibility of developing the soft skills of prospective translators precisely in the cloud-oriented environment in which they will have to work in the future.

2 RESULT AND DISCUSSION

2.1 Memsource as a Key Component of a Cloud-Based Environment in Which to Develop Translators' Soft Skills

The Memsource cloud-based system for mastering the principles of translation projects is a good choice as the basic component of a cloud-based training environment for translators. The following arguments can support this decision:

- although this CAT system offers proprietary software, Memsource provides the opportunity to take advantage of free software demos for 30 days, subject to registration and compliance with the relevant conditions,
- the software interface is clear and easy to master,
- the demo versions are functional on all the main operations of translation projects,
- ability to integrate with other cloud-based translation tools,
- there is a wide choice of interface languages during the registration process,
- the possibility of supplementing the functionality of the system by connecting terminology resources via terminology and translation memory databases.

An equally important argument in favour of using Memsource as the base element of a cloud-based system is its widespread use and study in the world's leading universities training translators (figure 1).

2.2 Selection of Memsource Version for Creating a Cloud-Oriented Environment From the Perspective of Translators' Soft Skills Development

The official Memsource website offers different versions of the programme, structured according to need and the level of work to be performed. In particular, offers are presented in different packages: for freelancers, small translation structures and powerful translation structures in four separate packages: Team Start, Team, Ultimate, and Enterprise.

Each of these packages can be used to form a cloud-based environment for translator training. However, we have chosen Team to model, as closely as possible, the organisation of the workflow and the automation of its stages with a multi-level management structure and control of the conditions of translation services according to the ISO 17100:2015 standard.

Of course, its potential for soft skills development in prospective translators also played an important role in the choice of the Team package. Having analysed the functional aspects of the package, we concluded that by using it, students can develop a number of soft skills necessary for their future professional activities, namely:

- the ability to work in a team, fulfilling a specific role assigned by the project administrator,
- the ability to communicate with other project participants based on the needs of the project,
- the ability to exercise self-monitoring in the performance of tasks within a translation project.

Another important condition for using this package was that we received an annual licence to use it under the academic programme (figure 2).

This is necessary, given that building a cloudbased environment based on this Memsource package is a painstaking and time-consuming job, and its use should provide training for students throughout the academic year, which unfortunately cannot be fully realised using the demo.

2.3 Developing Teamwork Skills in Implementing Translation Projects in a Cloud-Based Environment Using the Team Version

As mentioned earlier, the Team package is best suited to meet the needs of translation structures operating



Figure 1: Geography of university use of the Memsource cloud system.



Figure 2: Marking on the Memsource cloud system website that the licence has been granted.

under a defined management hierarchy and practising a team approach to delivering translation projects. Mastering the Team suite will enable students to acquire skills in the administration of translation projects, management of human resources, terminology management, automated task preparation and distribution, analytical evaluation of project tasks, and performance evaluation of each individual participant in project implementation.

In order to use the Team package, a number of additional steps need to be taken to form a team of translators, managers and task distribution.

As the Team package allows the organisation of a

hierarchical management system, a cadre of performers was formed from the students and given different statuses. In particular, the system provides four different statuses that can be given to enrolled performers, namely: "Administrator", "Project Manager", "Linguist" and "Guest". Depending on their status, each performer had different opportunities and rights of access to carry out certain actions.

The administrator provided by far the highest level of functionality. In particular, he or she could create translation projects; enroll new performers; set and change performer statuses; assign tasks to performers within a project; monitor the status of each individual performer and the whole project team; and create, edit and populate translation memories and terminology databases.

The immediate work of the administrator, which started at the applicant enrollment stage, was the process of forming the project team, giving them appropriate statuses and distributing tasks among the participants. This enrollment could be done in two ways. One is to fill in the relevant form for each applicant and the other is to enroll applicants comprehensively by importing data from a pre-filled table in XLSX format (figure 3).

Once Memsource has enlisted people with different roles in translation projects, it is necessary to form teams of performers for individually defined projects. In this case, a project manager is selected, who in turn distributes tasks between translators within the project, either alone or together with the administrator. Of course, all the steps involved in creating projects and allocating tasks to projects need to be completed before the tasks can be allocated.

In order to master other roles as participants in a translation project, students could be given the statuses of "Project Manager" and "Linguist", which changed over the course of their work on different projects.

Students with Project Manager status mastered management skills. The range of functionality of the system manager depended largely on the settings set by the administrator. One of the main functions of the manager was to work out the distribution of tasks between the projects implementers (figure 4).

However, it should be noted that by activating all the possible options for manager status, the range of his capabilities will come close to those of an administrator. If partial options are activated, his/her powers will usually be limited to access to a specific project only, managing the executors of that project as a team of translators (linguists), managing translation memories and terminology databases. By observing the activities of the students in the implementation of training translation projects, we have in some cases raised the status of project participants to managerial status, giving them the opportunity to exercise their own abilities at this level.

The settings established for this status also allowed for the creation and maintenance of terminology and translation memory bases within a single project, the management of its executing team, and the monitoring of the project's progress status (figure 5).

The project administrator can obtain information on the level of implementation of the individual tasks within a certain project, in particular the number of translated and confirmed segments as a percentage, the status of the task as a whole, the name of the performer, etc. (figure 6). In addition to this information it is possible to perform various actions on the analysis of individual tasks. The use of these functions enables the development of critical thinking skills in the performers of the project. In particular, it is possible to see statistical indicators relating directly to the translation aspects of a particular task. In the structure of the window, a separate block called "Analysis" will be formed under the list of tasks. In this block, entries for the analysis of a particular task will be placed in separate lines.

To perform the analysis, it is possible to directly activate a table with a number of indicators (figure 7) related to the translation of the task for which the analysis is performed. These indicators will provide information on the total number of segments into which the system automatically divides the whole document, the number of pages in it, the number of words and characters. An important aspect of such an analytical table is also the information about the number of matches of these indicators against the translation memory, if such a database is connected to the project. In this case, the table contains detailed information even in terms of percentage matches between the words or segments present in the text and the corresponding words or segments in the translation memory database.

It is worth noting that the project participants, who were given the roles of administrator and manager, were able to demonstrate and develop their leadership skills through these roles. They were given full responsibility for the implementation of the project, so they coordinated the work of the entire team of translators.

The vast majority of the students in each individual project had the status of "Linguist". They were engaged directly to carry out the translation by performing a specific task. Students who acted as editors also held this status. The students who acted as editors also had this status. There can be any number of such performers in a project, but each of them must be assigned a separate task to perform. Both the administrator and the project manager can define such a task and monitor its progress. A translator with Linguist status also has a range of settings, which can restrict or expand the range of possible actions. These settings are usually made by the project manager. In particular, the settings can give the translator access to edit entries in the terminology database, edit entries in the translation memory, use machine translation, etc.

Before the translation started, the manager ensured that a specially created terminology and trans-

AET 2021 - Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology

1	Last name	Email	Username	Role	Active	Receive newsletter	Note
2			Must be unique.	LINGUIST or PROJECT_MANAGER or ADMIN or GUEST	TRUE or FALSE	TRUE or FALSE	
3	Doe	alice.doe@company.foo	alice.doe	ADMIN	TRUE	TRUE	
4	Гаценко	megakiti@ukr.net	Catherine!!	LINGUIST	TRUE	TRUE	
5	Дещенко	mdeshchenko@ukr.net	Maria!!	LINGUIST	TRUE	TRUE	
6	Єрема	Ponomarenko320@ukr.net	Anna!!	LINGUIST	TRUE	TRUE	
7	Єрченко	oleksandrayerchenko@gmail.com	Alexandra!!!	LINGUIST	TRUE	TRUE	
8	Жеребченко	yanaolegivna93719@gmail.com	Yana!!	LINGUIST	TRUE	TRUE	
9	Коваленко	jambogirl666@gmail.com	Alexandra!!	LINGUIST	TRUE	TRUE	
10	Багацький	al3xc00ntcrush3r@gmail.com	Alexander!!	LINGUIST	TRUE	TRUE	

Figure 3: Enrollment of participants by the administrator and assignment of their respective roles.

Зад	ания 🔺		Новые Редактиро	ать Скачать		Предварительно перевести	Инструменты Удалить
	<u>#</u> •	Подтвержде но	Файл			Статус	Перевод
	1	100%	😡 До_Лр_10_Memso	urse_завдання (1).c	locx …	Завершен	HO UK ^{UA}
	2	0%	w Текст_1.docx			Новые	UK ^{UA}
	3	0%	w Текст_8.docx			Принято	UK ^{UA}
	4	100%	w Текст_9.docx			Принято	UK ^{UA}
	5	0%	w Текст_10.docx			Новые	UK ^{UA}

Figure 4: Distribution of tasks between project implementers in the Memsource system.

lation memory database was connected to the project. This was done with the aim of having students with Linguist status practise the overwhelming number of possible features implemented in the Memsource system. In particular, provided the original segmented text was presented in a special window, the student was able to fill in variants of the target text in different ways (figure 8). These included: writing the target text manually from the keyboard; substituting a suggested translation variant based on the translation results in the selected machine translation system; substituting a suggested translation variant based on the results of a match with a segment in the connected translation memory, selecting the corresponding individual term suggested from the terminology database.

2.4 Developing Self-Monitoring Skills Based on Translation Quality Management in a Cloud-Based Environment Using the Memsource System

The large volume of material cannot be translated by using even highly qualified translators without the latest information technology-based tools. Experience has shown that the traditional approach to translating large volumes of documentation in the education sector by a team of translators has a number of negative consequences:

- low productivity due to the need for each translator to translate the same terminology several times in isolation,
- lack of uniform terminology used by each translator in a particular academic and scientific field, which leads to difficulty in understanding the content of the translated text by users,
- the difficulty of coordinating the activities of a group of translators,
- the difficulty of coordinating the activities of a group of translators,
- a high degree of dependence of the successful completion of a translation on the individual translator as the individual owner of the terminology resource.

With this in mind, it is advisable to train translators with the understanding that their future professional activities will involve them mainly in teamwork in translation projects with the obligatory use of the latest information technologies. Cloud-based systems are promising in this regard and have a number of advantages, as already mentioned in this paper.

The execution of translation projects enables a team of translators to coordinate their work, distribute tasks and get results, thereby achieving the goal of translating large amounts of textual material.

Зада	ания 🔺		Новые I Удалить	Редактировать	Скачать	Анализиров	ать Пред	варительно перевести	Инструменты
	<u>#</u>	Подтвержде но	<u>Файл</u>			<u>Статус</u>	Перевод	Поставщик	Срок
	1	100%	₩ До_Лр_1 ння (1).d	.0_Memsourse_: ocx	завда 🔐	Завершено	UK ^{UA}	Чеберяко Аліна	10 апр 00:00
	2	100%	W Текст_1.0	docx …		Завершено	UK ^{UA}	Багацький Олександр	
	3	100%	W Текст_8.0	docx …		Завершено	UK ^{UA}	Война-Кім Микита	
	4	100%	w Текст_9.0	docx …		Завершено	UK ^{UA}	Верна Олександра	
	5	0%	🕡 Текст_10			Принято	UK ^{UA}	Гаценко Катерина	
	6 🔔	100%	👿 Текст_11	docx		Завершено	UK ^{UA}	Атаманчук Анастасія	

Figure 5: General monitoring of the status of projects and tasks in the Memsource system.

Анали	3 🔺		Редактировать Г	Іересчитать Удалить	Скачать		
	#	Имя	Поставщик	Тип	Создан	Автор	Языки
•	3 💧	<u>Analysis #3</u>		По умолчанию	15 июл 18:26	r_tar!!!!	EN → UK ^{UA}
	2	Analysis #2		По умолчанию	15 июл 18:23	r_tar!!!!	$EN \rightarrow UK^{UA}$
	1	Analysis #1		По умолчанию	10 апр 16:48	Alina!!	$EN \rightarrow UK^{UA}$

Figure 6: Monitoring the level of implementation of the individual tasks within the project.

The execution of translation projects enables a team of translators to coordinate their work, distribute tasks and get results, thus achieving the goal of translating a large volume of textual material.

At the same time, however, there is also the issue of ensuring the quality of the translated material, since losses in translation quality can be due to various types of errors, ranging from minor ones that do not make the target text difficult to understand to important ones that can lead to future misunderstandings or even losses due to incorrect or inaccurate translation. Particular attention is required to ensure that translators working on the same project use consistent terminology in order to avoid disagreements when translating parts of the same text.

In this aspect, it is valuable for training future translators to learn to apply the QA (Quality Assurance) management processes built into Memsource after the translation has been completed, or even in the intermediate stages of completion. This gives the translator a powerful tool to see what spelling mistakes have been made, identify missing elements in the translated segment in relation to the source segment, and ensure terminology consistency based on a connected terminology database, and so on (figures 9, 10).

In order to successfully master the QA processes, students learned a sequence of actions, namely:

- activate the tab of the same name in the window, which, by default, displays the suggested translation options. In this case, a list of errors detected by the system will be displayed with the number of the segment in which they occurred,
- make the necessary changes to the target text in those segments where the system has detected errors.

Once the translation of the file had been completed, the students' next steps were to receive the translation results as a file in the format in which the original file was also posted, or to submit the results to the editor for review.

In the first case, they activated the browser tab with the translation project window, highlighted the task whose translation results were to be received as a file and selected the finished file for downloading via the context menu. Because of these actions, the student received on their own computer a downloaded Базы памяти переводов: База_1, lad10

	Pauli Teken_10.000x											
			Сегменты		Страницы		Слова		Символы (без пробелов)		%	
	Bce		1387		29.68		8138		46683		100	
	Повторы		31		0.23		61		385		0.7	
	101%		7		0.16		47		249		0.6	
-	100%	Память переводов	96	39	0.21	0.07	104	43	366	119	1.3	0.5
		Непереводимые элементы		57		0.14		61		247]	0.7
		Машинный перевод		0		0		0		0		0
+	95%-99%		46		0.47		133		761		1.6	
+	85%-94%		7		0.13		27		220		0.3	
+	75%-84%		16		0.35		75		568		0.9	
_	50%-74%		177		3.99		986		6375		12.1	
	0%-49%		1007		24.14		6705		37759		82.4	





Figure 8: Example of translation in the Memsource system.

file with the target text, created based on the results of the translation and quality assurance activities.

In the second case, when editing is necessary before uploading the final translation results, students are reminded to select the DOCX option in the context menu. This will allow uploading the translation results by means of a bilingual text whose segments are placed in a table.

This option is useful if the person editing the translated text prefers to work with a text file in a text editor. It is also possible to check spelling when working with such a file, using the appropriate features of a text editor.

In general, in terms of translation quality assurance, a cloud-based translation memory system is better suited to cooperation between distributed teams of translators. By storing the linguistic resources (TM, TB, and bilingual MXLIFF) on one central server, translators can easily access the resources together and simultaneously. This allows already translated segments and created terms to be shared during the translation process. In addition, the workflow feature allows different project participants, such as translators, editors and proofreaders, to work on a document simultaneously, which can significantly reduce the turnaround time of a translation project.

3 ANALYSIS OF THE FEASIBILITY OF USING MEMSOURCE TO DEVELOP TRANSLATORS' SOFT SKILLS WITHIN A CLOUD-BASED ENVIRONMENT

In order to determine the feasibility of using Memsource in translator training as the main component of a cloud-based environment that can be used to form and develop soft skills, we asked students who had gained experience with this cloud-based automated translation system while studying "Information Technology in Translation Projects" (67 people) first to rate the usefulness of individual functions of the system on a 5-point system, and second to identify the

	Run 👻		Hide ignor	red
#	Туре	Info	i	*
3	Spelling	Сингента		
0	Leading/trailing spaces			
0	Spelling	Сингента		
8	Spelling	Сингента		
	Multiple spaces			
	Spelling	Сингента		
	Spelling	Сингента		
13	Spelling	антирезистентні		
	Terminology	missing = Implement		
14	Terminology	missing = Implement		
17	Spelling	Сингента		
21	Not confirmed			

Figure 9: Checking spelling in Memsource.

ID	#	Source (en)	Target (uk-ua)	
	1	Changes in Water-Extractable Organic Carbon with Cover Crop Planting under Continuous Corn Silage Production	Зміна водо-екстрагованого органічного вуглецю при посадці покривних культур при безперервному виробництві кукурудзяного силосу	75
	2	The conversion of natural wetland and prairie habitats to row crop agriculture lands has led to long-term reductions in organic carbon (DOC) in soil.	Перетворення природних водно-болотних та прерійних середовищ існування ряду сільськогосподарських земель призвело до довгострокового скорочення органічного вуглецю (DOC) у ґрунті.	75
	З	The availability of soil carbon is an essential component of soil health that influences soil microbial activity, nutrient availability, water holding capacity, and water filtration.	Наявність ґрунтового вуглецю є важливим компонентом здоров'я ґрунту, який впливає на активність ґрунтових мікробів, доступність поживних речовин, водоутримуючу здатність і фільтрацію води.	75
	4	Thus, practices to restore soil carbon and organic matter are being investigated globally to increase the sustainability of row crop agriculture.	Таким чином, практики відновлення ґрунтового вуглецю та органічної речовини досліджуються в усьому світі для підвищення стійкості сільського господарства.	75

Figure 10: Checking the correctness of the translation by comparing segments of the source and target texts.

soft skills that they were able to improve when carrying out translation projects using the Memsource system.

The list of functions include: source text review during translation, display of full matches, display of fuzzy matches, integration with the MT system, merge/divide segments, use of repetitions, spell check on input, automated search for terms in the database, confirmation and saving of a segment, formal criteria check with error message, spell check of all translation units, export of target text, editing of source text, comments, automatic completion of the target segment based on MT translation results, copying a segment of source text into a segment of target text.

The results obtained (number of responses with a

score to each function) are presented in table 1.

The responses received indicate that the following Memsource features received a 100% positive rating (a positive rating was taken to mean a score of 4 and 5):

- display of full matches (26+41),
- display of fuzzy matches (30+37),
- integration with the MT system (8+59),
- use of repetitions (23+44),
- spellcheck on input (11+56),
- automated search for terms in the database (26+41),
- confirmation and saving of a segment (18+49),

1			0 11		
Function	Evaluation	Evaluation	Evaluation	Evaluation	Evaluation
Function	1	2	3	4	5
Source text review during translation	0	0	4	18	45
Display of full matches	0	0	0	26	41
Display of fuzzy matches	0	0	0	30	37
Integration with the MT system	0	0	0	8	59
Editing of source text	3	6	7	48	3
Automatic completion of the target	0	0	12	38	17
segment based on MT translation results	0	0	12	50	17
Copying a segment of source text into	0	0	17	35	15
a segment of target text	Ŭ	0	17	55	15
Merge/divide segments	0	0	18	27	22
Use of repetitions	0	0	0	23	44
Spell check on input	0	0	0	11	56
Comments	5	7	35	9	11
Automated search for terms in the database	0	0	0	26	41
Confirmation and saving of a segment	0	0	0	18	49
Spell check of all translation units	0	0	0	13	54
Formal criteria check with error message	0	0	0	29	30
Export of target text	0	0	0	21	46

Table 1: Comparison of selected mobile language learning applications (paid).

- spell check of all translation units (13+54),
- export of target text (21+46).

This high score for a significant number of functions indicates that the students have understood their benefits and usability, have mastered their skills and realised their effectiveness.

At the same time, several functions received a lower proportion of positive ratings, in particular:

- source text review during translation (94%),
- formal criteria check with error message (88%),
- automatic completion of the target segment based on MT translation results (82%),
- copying a segment of source text into a segment of target text (75%),
- merge/divide segments (73%).

This is, in our opinion, primarily because these functions are not quite typical in the translation process and the students have not fully understood their meaning and necessity.

The two functions that received the most varied evaluations were editing of the source text and comments. It is likely that some students did not appreciate their role in the translation process.

Overall, the vast majority of students who participated in the experiential learning, positively evaluating most features of the system, confirmed our assumption about the use of Memsource as a core component of a cloud-based environment. At the same time, students were also generally positive about the possibility to develop soft skills when performing translation projects in a cloud-based environment based on Memsource. Table 2 presents a rating list of the skills highlighted by the students.

Table 2: List of soft skills developed in translation projects using Memsource.

Skills/Abilities	Number of responses
Digital skills	67
Ability to work in a team	64
Communicative skills	55
Ability to self-control	38
Responsibility	32
Leadership skills	5

As shown in table 2, all students improved their digital skills. It should be noted that at the same time during the verbal communication with the participants of the experiment they stated their understanding of the importance of these skills for their future professional activities. Almost 100% indicated the ability to work in a team, because without this ability of each team member, the project would not be possible. About half of the students highlighted the capacity for self-control and responsibility, which encourages us to increase our focus on developing these personal qualities in the future. Quite a small number of participants in the experiment stated that they had improved their leadership skills. This is explained by the fact that the respective roles (administrator and

manager) were played by a small number of students, as it actually happens in real professional activity.

4 CONCLUSIONS

The use of Memsource in the training of translators contributes to the development of a number of soft skills necessary for their future professional career, namely:

- the ability to work in a team, fulfilling a specific role assigned by the project administrator (manager, linguist) and to practise relevant skills,
- leadership skills (in the case of the role of project administrator or manager),
- the ability to communicate with others involved in the project, which passes through the Memsource system and requires the development of digital skills,
- the ability to carry out self-monitoring of tasks within a translation project consisting of time management, meeting deadlines for a task or part of a task, checking the quality of one's own translation using the system functions, etc,
- the ability to make decisions at the level of their role (e.g. to allocate tasks),
- responsibility for their part of a translation project based on the awareness of the importance of their own contribution to the common cause,
- digital skills as part of the technological training of translators for professional activities in a new environment using information technologies.

The use of the Memsource system as the main component for creating a cloud-based environment for training translators has shown that it can be used in the educational process due to a number of significant advantages, which include:

- accessibility through the offer of a demo and an academic programme,
- easy for students to master, especially in cases where they have already studied one of the desktop translation systems,
- the user-friendly interface, which greatly simplifies working with the system,
- a wide functional range, allowing prospective translators to practise the different roles of participants in a translation project with relevant skills and abilities,
- the prospect of applying the experience gained with the system to future professional activities.

The cloud-based environment built using the Memsource platform ensures that prospective translators are systematically equipped with the tools and resources they need to carry out a full range of translation projects and, just as importantly, develop their soft skills.

The creation of a cloud-based environment will also optimise the structure and components of translation projects in the educational process of higher education institutions that train translators. This involves the justification, selection and enhancement of translation project tools, the basis of which will be cloudbased automated translation systems integrated with translation memory systems and systems for the creation and maintenance of educational and scientific terminology databases.

REFERENCES

- Bowker, L. (2002). Computer-Aided Translation Technology: A Practical Introduction. Didactics of Translation. University of Ottawa Press, Ottawa. https: //www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt1ch78kf.
- Bundgaard, K., Christensen, T. P., and Schjoldager, A. (2016). Translator-computer interaction in action — an observational process study of computer-aided translation. *The Journal of Specialised Translation*, 25:106–130. https://www.jostrans.org/issue25/ art_bundgaard.php.
- Chan, S.-W. (2015). The development of translation technology: 1967–2013. In Chan, S.-W., editor, *The Routledge Encyclopedia of Translation Technology*, pages 3–31. Routledge, London, 1 edition. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315749129.
- Choudhury, R. and McConnell, B. (2013). Translation technology landscape report. Technical report, De Rijp. https://silo.tips/downloadFile/ translation-technology-landscape-report.
- DePalma, D. A. and Sargent, B. B. (2013). Translation Services and Software in the Cloud. How LSPs Will Move to Cloud-Based Solutions. Common Sense Advisory, Cambridge, MA. https://tinyurl.com/2zxfd5af.
- Gambín, J. (2014). Evolution of cloud-based translation memory. *MultiLingual*, 25(3):46–49. https://dig. multilingual.com/2014-04-05/index.html?page=46.
- Imhof, T. (2014). Übersetzung in der Cloud Geschichte, Tools und Trends. *Infoblatt*, (01):8– 10. http://web.archive.org/web/20150430005107/ http://infoblatt.adue-nord.de/infoblatt-2014-01.pdf.
- Kautz, T. D., Heckman, J. J., Diris, R., ter Weel, B., and Borghans, L. (2014). Fostering and Measuring Skills: Improving Cognitive and Non-cognitive Skills to Promote Lifetime Success. Technical Report 110, OECD. https://doi.org/10.1787/19939019.
- Lippman, L. H., Ryberg, R., Carney, R., and Moore, K. A. (2015). Workforce connections: Key "soft skills" that foster youth work-

force success: Toward a consensus across fields. Technical Report 2015-24, Child Trends. https://web.archive.org/web/20161015025201/http: //www.childtrends.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/ 2015-24WFCSoftSkills1.pdf.

- ManpowerGroup (2013). 2013 Talent Shortage Survey: research results. http://hdl.voced.edu.au/10707/280848.
- Muegge, U. (2013). Cloud-basierte Übersetzungs-Management-Systeme: Wer teilt, gewinnt. MDÜ: Fachzeitschrift für Dolmetscher und Übersetzer, 59(1):14–17.
- O'Brien, S. (2012). Translation as human-computer interaction. *Translation Spaces*, 1(1):101–122. https: //doi.org/10.1075/ts.1.05obr.
- Tarasenko, R. and Amelina, S. (2020). A unification of the study of terminological resource management in the automated translation systems as an innovative element of technological training of translators. In Sokolov, O., Zholtkevych, G., Yakovyna, V., Tarasich, Y., Kharchenko, V., Kobets, V., Burov, O., Semerikov, S., and Kravtsov, H., editors, *Proceedings* of the 16th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kharkiv, Ukraine, October 06-10, 2020, volume 2732 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 1012–1027. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws. org/Vol-2732/20201012.pdf.
- Tarasenko, R. O., Amelina, S. M., and Azaryan, A. A. (2020). Improving the content of training future translators in the aspect of studying modern CAT tools. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:360–375. https://doi. org/10.55056/cte.365.
- Ultimate Languages (2018). What are CAT Tools? https://ultimatelanguages.com/2018/10/16/ what-are-cat-tools/.

Raising Students' Motivation in Terms of Blended Learning: The Example of Interface Design Mastering

Liudmyla I. Bilousova¹[®], Liudmyla E. Gryzun²[®] and Natalia V. Zhytienova³[®]

¹Independent researcher, Professor, Israel

²Simon Kuznets Kharkiv National University of Economics, 9A Nauky Ave., Kharkiv, 61166, Ukraine

³H. S. Skovoroda Kharkiv National Pedagogical University, 2 Valentynivska Str., Kharkiv, 61168, Ukraine LIB215@gmail.com, Lgr2007@ukr.net, melennaznv@gmail.com

- Keywords: Learning Motivation, Blended Learning, Blended Learning Activities, Interactive Methods, User Interface Design, Pre-Service Specialists' Training.
- Abstract: The problems of raising students' motivation in terms of blended learning implementation at national universities are discussed in the paper in the context of interface design mastering by the students of various specialties. In the progress of work, there were analyzed the core features and challenges of blended learning, and covered the ways of enrichment of the blended learning techniques (flipped learning, gamification, digital storytelling, cooperative learning etc.) with interactive methods and forms of work. The experience of interactive methods practical realization in the process of the user interface design mastering by university students is presented. It is also covered the preparation stage of the survey on the estimation of the students' motivation. The survey was designed to evaluate whether the interactive methods introducing into the blended learning activities is in line with the aforementioned rules and detect what students' motivation levels are. The results of the survey, according to the levels of students' motivation are presented and discussed. The prospects of the research are outlined.

1 INTRODUCTION

According to recent studies, there is an increasing focus on the students' retention at university and accomplishing their higher education. For instance, the percentage of the university dropouts is pointed out as quite high (40% in USA, and about 10% in Europe) (Eur, 2023). Consequently, it raises the urgency of identifying factors that can cause decreasing the students' dropouts. Among the reasons for students leaving higher education (Bonfield et al., 2020; Eur, 2023; Hanson, 2022), there were identified some factors as affecting student's retention and their educational success: (1) trainee's characteristics including their motivation and cognitive abilities; (2) university surrounding comprising teaching quality, learning strategies and interactions with peers and educational staff; and (3) external factors connected with non-academic external problems (current job market situation, family responsibilities).

According to a psycho-educational dimension, motivation to learn is understood as a student's energy and drive to learn, work efficiently and realize their potential (Islam et al., 2018; Ibrahim and Nat, 2019). In numerous works motivation is considered as an important contributor to trainee's academic success and essential for their retention in higher education.

The issues of student's motivation boosting in terms of blended learning are widely discussed by the researchers. Especially urgent this problem is seen for the blended learning models with the focus on distant learning which are currently getting more common due to pandemic and war conflict situations. Despite the great advantages of the blended learning versus conventional classroom education, there are serious drawbacks and challenges of its successful implementation in the university studying pointed out by the researchers and practitioners.

In particular, it is stressed not satisfactory didactic and methodological provision in the context of current educational process. In addition, it is pointed out that in order to succeed, the correct blending of the conventional and online educational delivery needs to be realized. Conventional approaches to the learning

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2364-1885

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5274-5624

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3083-1070

Raising Students' Motivation in Terms of Blended Learning: The Example of Interface Design Mastering.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 629-643 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

aids creation, educational content design, and techniques of tutoring do not totally suit blended learning paradigm and do not enable to involve students properly into active learning process. One more problem in this context is associated with the fact that university curriculum is recently guided mostly by cognitive approaches rather than by motivation theory, therefore learners' motivation to study is undervalued (Islam et al., 2018; Ibrahim and Nat, 2019).

The said problems cause students' passive position at blended learning, lack of classroom atmosphere and interactivity, losing their cognitive interest, not satisfactory academic results, which finally leads to decreasing of students' motivation to master educational content and obtain top level professional expertise.

Thus, it is essential to find out the approaches to motivation boosting based on the involving students into the blended learning activities enriched with interactive methods.

The aim of the paper is to elaborate and cover the ways of raising students' motivation at blended learning and to probe them at user interface mastering in the progress of the university students' training.

2 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

Theoretical framework of the research is made by the analysis of the (1) fundamentals of motivation theory; (2) main characteristics of blended learning and its typical learning techniques used in the practice of blended learning; (3) basic approaches to the mastering of the fundamentals of user interface design in the training of different specialists.

According to motivation theory and its educational dimensions, motivation to learn is defined as the personal efforts which encourage to learning activities, ensure their continuity and point direction to the activities with the aim at achievement of student's desired goals (Puspitasari, 2012). Learning motivation is seen as a psychological factor that plays a role in raising the spirit of learning for individuals. Motivation to learn is characterized as a drive of the tutorial process and significantly contributes to reaching the goal of taking the benefit from the learning, what is especially essential for professional university education.

It is also underlined by the researchers the tight connection between motivation and academic results of a student. It is recommended to analyze the factors which influence the learning outcomes in the context of learning motivation that is considered as a necessary requirement for studying, providing enthusiasm in overcoming leaning difficulties (Alderfer, 1969). Some experts also look at learning motivation as at the student's eagerness to do the learning activities driven by the desire to achieve the best achievement and academic results (Sofyan and Uno, 2004).

According to Keller (Keller, 1987), the most common factors that affect motivation in the process of learning are: attention, appealing to learner's past experience, positive attitude, and satisfaction. It is argued that provision of all these ingredients may promote and sustain motivation throughout the learning process (Keller, 1987, 2010). It is also formulated core rules that have to be met in the progress of tutoring to provide these components (Huang and Hew, 2016).

According to the first rule, a variety of learning strategies should be implemented to attract and retain learners' attention. The second rule recommends to set clear instructional goals and provide learners with educational content which refers to learner's past experience (academic or working one). The third rule which is responsible for shaping student's confidence says that learning environment should promote learners' positive attitude to the tutoring process and suggest focusing towards success. According to the fourth rule, it is essential to help students gain satisfactory feeling.

It is also pointed out that on condition the first three rules are met, students' overall satisfaction will be enhanced accordingly (Keller and Kopp, 1987; Keller, 2010). According to studies (Petsche, 2009; Ormrod et al., 2019) motivation may have different kinds of influence on the student's learning and their behavior toward subjects mastering. For instance, the motivation can: (1) direct learner's behavior toward proper aims; (2) lead to increased effort and energy; (3) raise initiation and persistence in doing learning activities; (4) strengthen cognitive processes; (5) lead to better performance.

There are distinguished two kinds of learning motivation: internal and extrinsic motivation (Petsche, 2009; Ormrod et al., 2019).

Intrinsic motivation typically arises without obvious reward. As an own reward, a person takes accomplishing the task or achieving their goal. Internally motivated behavior is said to be natural, and is considered to result in creativity and flexibility, experience of interest and enjoyment, and in feelings of being competent and self-determined.

Extrinsic motivation arrives from the outside a learner, and is driven by the apparent rewards or reinforcements for learners to engage them in the activities. The motivational rewards may include verbal praise, higher points, special beiges that can lead to academic privileges, certificates etc. The external motivation factors provide student's satisfaction and joy which the activity itself and their results may not give to a learner. Thus, it can be a challenge for educational staff to find out special stimulus as external motivation factors to provoke student's cognitive interest which can lead to raising his internal motivation and taking pleasure of learning activities and obtained results.

The process of students' motivating to learning is seen as a way of their encouraging to productive cognitive activities and active mastering of the educational content. This process has the features of a certain cycle which is repeated at each segment of learning on higher level. Therefore, educational staff have to provide each stage of motivational cycle with the help of special methods and techniques. Among them experts distinguish such stimulation techniques as communicative attack, suggestion, overcoming difficulties, positive expression shaping etc., and emphasize the increasing role of communication and interaction during learning. In particular, it is recommended to develop and apply the interactive forms of learning focused on the provoking students' cognitive interest and involving them into productive cognitive activities. In lots of works it is proved the connection of motivation with students' engagement and interactive strategies of learning which is coordinated perfectly well with the stimuli both for intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. It is pointed out, that interactive forms of learning are able to demonstrate students their personal role in common productive discussion, to make them understand the importance of their own contribution into common result, to feel pleasure of learning, which finally can influence on their learning motivation.

For successful blended leaning implementation, the introducing of interactive methods is seen also beneficial (Vakaliuk et al., 2021; Vlasenko et al., 2021; Dellatola et al., 2020). Thus, it is possible to anticipate the positive impact of enrichment of blended learning techniques with different kinds of relevant interactivity on students' motivation.

Covering main characteristics of blended learning and current challenges of its implementation in national higher educational practice, we would like to emphasize the following aspects.

Blended learning is considered as a combination of face-to-face and virtual learning, when educational content is presented and worked out online but with some features of typical classroom studying. According to Wear and Levenson (Wear and Levenson, 2020), the core goal of the virtual learning is to provide the access to education with technology support and enable a learner to achieve their personal educational targets. The final outcome of virtual learning is a distant learning provided by an online learning management system. These online systems enable trainees to get access to the necessary materials and trainers' responses at their outworking from any point with the Internet access. This model of blended learning is called online driver. However, it is concluded that the model is not effective enough, because the students' learning activity is not managed by the educational staff.

Researchers and practitioners find more appropriate for higher education two other blended learning models: flex model (mostly focuses on the online learning with trainers' support during online studies on a flexible basis) and rotation model (provides interchanging of in-person and online tutorial process). Their main benefits are sufficient levels of the control over the students' learning, and of flexibility, as the learners are provided with tailored learning techniques and platforms designed regarding blended learning strategy. In particular, the researchers and practitioners (Adel and Dayan, 2021; Wear and Levenson, 2020) point out that the learning systems in flex and rotation models are ought to be designed taking into account core features of the national educational systems, current peculiarities of tutoring process, trainees' needs etc.

In this connection, it is also emphasized that within any model of blended learning, it is essential to pick up proper learning techniques, which causes necessity to analyze common ones, available in the practice of blended learning. There are described some attempts to create the system of blended learning activities which might provide trainees with a total learning model, successfully using digital technologies and blending them with conventional learning techniques (Wear and Levenson, 2020). In the terms of blended learning, in particular, it is pointed out the benefit of using the system of the learning methodologies such as flipped learning approach, gamification strategy, digital storytelling, team work, cooperative learning and others. However, other researchers argue that these kinds of learning activity systems are not efficient enough for students' motivation raising, and must be improved in the lines of attracting rather interactive methods into said blended learning techniques regarding the challenges in terms of efficient communication (Dellatola et al., 2020).

Among the influential factors of successful elaboration of blended learning in higher education, it is also relevant to include the factor of regarding the specifics of the subject area and the features of exact academic subject due to the great variety of majors
and difference of the curriculum disciplines. Therefore, the blended learning of the specific subject has to involve the trainees into special kinds of learning activities which are able to influence on their motivation to master exactly this subject domain and for the trainees of the exact major. The said learning activities must be selected in accordance with the proper educational content, also designed regarding the peculiarities of training the specific pre-service specialists.

Here we would like to cover authors' approaches to the mastering of the fundamentals of user interface design in the training of different specialists, partially based on our previous works (Bilousova et al., 2021b,a).

The focus on the educational challenges in this field is caused by the evidence of the national course on the digitalization of economy which raises the urgency of the training high level specialists in different areas who have advanced digital skills. Among such skills there is a competence in the field of user interface and user experience design (UI/UX design) which is essential today for a wide range of professionals from pure IT specialists to the experts in digital products development, marketing and humancomputer interaction.

In our earlier works we presented special approach to the curriculum building for students' training in this area which was elaborated with understanding that UI/UX design is complicated subject domain that integrates the set of related areas, like graphical design, software development, digital products promotion, psychology, engineering, ergonomics and others. Thus, a designer is expected to master special inter-discipline knowledge and skills.

Characterizing our approach to the curriculum and educational content building for potential specialists' learning of the basics of UI/UX design, we would point out that it was also created based on the analysis of the essence of the UI/UX design and role of its mastering in the vocational training of different specialists.

In fact, the UI design rather focuses on the product appearance and supplies exactly interaction functions (Bilousova et al., 2021b). UI design is developed on some core regulations shaped regarding mostly the psychological features of the human perception of information, influence of visual language on this process, peculiarities of human interaction with devices and their software (Mikhnova, 2019). UX design differs from UI type of design. It is understood by the experts as a tool for provision of the best user's impression, practice and satisfaction of the interaction with the product of any kind (Platonova, 2019). It rests on the deep understanding of the user's profile, their needs and requirements; functionality of the product; possible user's behavior etc.

However, the both types of design are two sides of the same process and serve the same purpose of the best final marketing result, using different means. Hence, the mastering of the UI/UX fundamentals by the students of different branches should rest on understanding of some unique postulates and common instruments, and at the same time reflect the state-ofart tendencies in design shaped in different branches.

Thus, it was offered the practically-driven approach to the building of educational content for learning of UI/UX design basics which expects separation of the two parts (stable and varying) in the curriculum of the potential specialists' training.

The stable part includes the modules covering general fundamentals of the design that rest on common principles and must be mastered by the designers in any sphere. It was justified (Bilousova et al., 2021b) the structure and content of three academic modules of the stable part of the curriculum. The first module "Psychological base of visual perception" is aimed at forming the students' knowledge for realizing the psychological mechanisms and features of visual information perception. In addition, in the module it is discussed widely the psychological significance of the graphical image semantics due to the involvement of various information channels (logical, aesthetic, semantic) and their roles in the shaping of visual image in human mind (Mikhnova, 2019; Platonova, 2019).

Next module "Graphic interface design" of the stable part is dedicated to mastering basics of the graphical interface creation based on the principles of visual language application. Here it is learnt how to create and render the interface ideas using colors, typography, imagery, bootstraps etc., how to add visual anchors, and how to make interface function smoothly and in user-centric way. Thus, the module gives the trainees understanding of the peculiarities of both types of design and at the same time, their joint role in the successful interface creation. The final module "Tools for interface design" of the stable part of the UI/UX design university curriculum is expected to focus on practical work in one of the common environments (for example, in Figma) for the interface development. In fact, Figma is known an online design tool which enables to make mockups, interactive animations, and efficient apps prototypes (Bilousova et al., 2021b; Mikhnova, 2019). Figma environment also arranges version control, joint work opportunities, code generation and other essential features. In such a way, regarding Figma facilities, the process of the clickable prototype design is greatly coordinated with the multi-step process towards the software development, demonstrating the role of both UI and UX design at each stage of this practice. This promotes cultivating of the best experience for potential designers in any sphere. Thus, Figma is seen to be a state-ofart universal instrument of a designer and it is really beneficial for the trainees of different majors to master basics of UI/UX design on Figma platform. Finally, resting on the psychological knowledge and design skills obtained in the previous modules, the students will apply this methodology within the third module to produce a digital prototypes of their apps, working out the UI/UX design mastery.

The stable part of the UI/UX design curriculum of the potential specialists' training, according to our approach to the building of educational content, must be extended by the modules of varying part. They are recommended to concentrate on the learning other special tools appropriate for solving interface design problems in different subject domains including the facilities of a number of environments (such as Adobe Photoshop, Adobe XD, InVision, Sketch, Adobe Illustrator etc.) (Bilousova et al., 2021b).

Thus, the theoretical framework depicted above served a basis for our research covered in the following up chapters.

3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 The Ways of Enrichment of the Blended Learning Techniques with Interactive Methods

Basing on the provided theoretical framework, we are going to present distinguished learning methodologies (flipped learning approach, gamification strategy, digital storytelling, cooperative learning etc.) within the flex model of blended learning, and to offer the ways how to enrich them with interactive methods, which can make them more efficient in terms of improving students' motivation.

Flipped learning is seen by researchers as an educational approach where the conventional outlook of classroom-based studying is inverted in the lines of offering trainees to master the certain educational content before the classroom time (Dellatola et al., 2020). Therefore, the learners come to class being ready to discuss the familiar content with their peers and teacher that enables extended understanding through debating and problem-solving activities arranged by the educational staff. In terms of blended learning, flipped classroom seems to be commonly applicable and organic. Nevertheless, its implementation takes special teacher's efforts to arrange and facilitate students' interaction (discussion, efficient feedback, collaborative problem-solving, etc.) during online classes on the interface design mastering.

Different productive methodology which is available in blended learning is gamification strategy that allows to apply game-playing practices used in nongame contexts. It is emphasized, that attracting game elements into educational area provokes students' essential needs for their motivation (in particular, the needs to communicate, interact and cooperate with others, to feel own expertise in a certain area, and to control their own actions). According to studies, gamification techniques implementation is able to promote collaboration and raise communication, which is significantly important for flex model of blended learning. Some researchers also emphasize the essential feature of the strategy to apply game-based mechanisms and game thinking to diversify learning, to raise students' eagerness to study, and solve offered non-conventional problems (Zainuddin et al., 2020).

Besides the common application of the gamification methodology, for blended learning there might be also beneficial to use a gamification variant in the lines of the encouraging students to design a gamified product. Such an activity enables to trigger off gamification mechanisms, on condition of having enough importance for the trainees, involved into the creation of the gamified product, which can stimulate their sense of discovery and encourage them to master challenging material to develop a good product. At the same time, according to the theoretical background of the gamified products development (Dichev and Dicheva, 2017), the trainees have to follow some principles which are significant in the context of the user interface design mastering. In particular, it is essential for a potential user of the gamified product to feel that the game has a feasible goal exactly for him. Therefore, the product must have clear reward system and demonstrate individual user's progress along with its identification within other players who try to achieve the same target. It should make both competition and a feeling of belonging to a similar minded community. In addition, it is necessary to mind at the design of a gamified product that its main aim is to stimulate users to play the game trying to overcome difficulties in order to raise their scores. Thus, gamification strategy using in blended mastering of user interface design may be beneficial on condition of its didactically correct application.

Besides flipped learning and gamification strategies, it is also recommended to apply digital storytelling as a productive blended leaning technique. Digital storytelling is understood as a practice when people apply digital tools to tell and share their narratives which have a special purpose and devoted to important topic, presented in emotional way, and can be interactive. A digital story can be determined as a multimedia presentation that comprises a variety of digital components to convey the target audience a narrative. Besides, digital narratives may be presented as web-based stories, interactive stories, narrative computer games and other types of multimedia products (Rutta et al., 2021).

According to studies and evidence (Rutta et al., 2021; Sagri et al., 2018), the digital storytelling approach has also been introduced in education. Merging images, sounds and plot within digital story enables to reinforce concepts being appropriate to different learning types of trainees. It is pointed out that digital storytelling can be used by educators with different didactic purposes: to introduce new learning material, to facilitate its discussion by students, to help them get a deeper understanding of complicated concepts etc.

In addition, students can be also encouraged to create their own digital stories devoted to some learning elements and pursuer a certain pedagogical aim. Such learning activity can provide important benefits for the students. Through the stories making they have to analyze, synthesize, and finally to take ownership of the information they are presenting. These things provoke higher-level thinking and raise responsibility. In this context, comic-based digital storytelling can play significant role. In particular, it is underlined that student-generated comic-based digital story is a learning technique when trainees create personalized comics to achieve a didactic purpose. This activity can facilitate mastering difficult (or controversial) academic material and work out their research skills. Finally, created by the students digital stories of any type may be used as efficient learning aids and curricular resources.

Among different activities applicable to blended learning, group work plays special role. Group work (or cooperative learning) is characterized as an instructional strategy when groups of trainees work together upon a common assignment. Usually, each group participant is individually responsible for a part of the task and has to contribute into the common result. There are some key points which ensure the success of the group work: students should feel responsibility for their share of work and interdependence on the results of other peers; the group should be accountable for achieving its goal; face-to-face students' interaction and mutual support; group participants should obtain instructions in the interpersonal, social, and collaborative skills necessary to work with others.

It is clear that some of the mentioned key points are really challenging in terms of their realization at blended learning. Some challenges also include assessing of the each person's contribution, resolving conflicts etc., which demands development of special learning strategies. Carefully prepared activities can help students obtain the skills to work together successfully, structured discussion and reflection on group work can predict and avoid some problems.

Thus, as it was mentioned above, the discussed kinds of blended learning activities should be innovated with the help of introducing interactive methods of learning to raise the level and quality of communication. According to Edgar Dale's cone of experience, we can conclude in favor of interactive methods, that after two weeks we tend to remember 50% of the material that we see and hear (option of passive learning) and up to 90% of what we say and do ourselves (option of active learning) (Dellatola et al., 2020).

In contrast to just active learning, interactive approach provides trainees' interaction not only with the teacher but with each other as well. It is characterized by the researchers as a form of learning and communicative activities in which trainees are involved into contemplation on their own knowledge, estimation of their own abilities, skills etc. in comparing with their peers. Teacher's role changes drastically, as the interactive learning concentrates rather on the trainees' interests, needs, and abilities. Learners become active participants of the tutoring process and not only perceive information. Being engaged by the learning activity and based on their experience, students have to activate their knowledge and abilities, earn new skills, shape their attitude towards learnt material, and express their opinions.

The teacher's mission in interactive learning is shifted towards achieving the students' goals. The teacher has to arrange interactive forms of work and tasks, working upon which students receive new information, and an individual assignment is transformed into a group task where each member of the group contributes to the whole group's success.

Some basic types of interactivity are distinguished by the researchers: (1) individual interaction of the trainee and the learning content; (2) interaction between the trainee and the teacher who encourages trainee's motivation via offering them exciting learning material and stimulating to apply knowledge for solving specific tasks; (3) interaction between peers and teacher that expects involving the students into the interaction among themselves, an individual trainee with other students in the group (with or without the teacher) (Dellatola et al., 2020).

The last type of interaction seems to give the highest degree of the students' involvement in to the learning activity, which may cause the raise of the students' motivation to the subject learning. However, it is expected to be the most challenging to achieve, especially in terms of blended learning focused on remote mode. Thus, it is essential to apply certain interactive teaching methods that can guarantee efficient involvement of students in the interactive learning process. In fact, there is no general classification of such methods. However, it is possible to distinguish some of them which have special meaning in the context of their using in terms of blended learning in higher education. These methods may include lectures of selected kinds (inquiry-based, with deliberate errors, with the analysis of the specific situation etc.); game methods (business games, imitations, roleplaying); debate methods (mini-conferences, seminars, Socratic dialogue, case studies); group solution method; project making.

3.2 Probation in Terms of User Interface Design Mastering

This subsection intends to demonstrate how the said activities (flipped learning, gamification, storytelling etc.) were enhanced with interactive methods in the process of blended learning of the course "User interface design basics" within the curriculum modules presented above in the progress of training of the university students' of different specialties.

Blended learning was implemented in its flex model when all the course materials were available for the students on the distant learning platform and there were delivered online (via Zoom, Google Meet etc.) lectures and practical studies according to common schedule including online consultations.

In the progress of going through the first course module dedicated to psychological fundamentals of visual perception that makes essential basis for user interface design there were applied mostly flipped learning and gamification strategies which were enhanced by different interactive methods.

For example, one of the flipped learning lectures on the topic of psychological mechanisms of data perception was held as an online mini-conference. There were assigned (in advance) different tasks to the pairs of students to learn proper theoretical material on the features of different data perception, to find out proper examples which illustrate peculiarities of human vision and their connection with interface design, and to elaborate presentation to take part in the miniconference both as presenters and listeners.

For instance, one of the students' pairs had to learn physiological background of human perception of printed information. The students worked independently with digital sources to understand how our velocity of reading depends on the number of characters available for perception by our vision, and how this feature can be accounted at the interface design. During the flipped learning lecture hold in the form of online mini-conference which aimed at the exchange of results of the tasks assigned to different pairs of students, this pair gave a presentation on the results of their findings. In particular, they explained that the efficiency of reading depends in linear way on the amount of characters visible by eyes, and covered the reason of this fact based on psychological underlying of human eyes' parabolic movements similar to discrete leaps between words during reading. They also attracted the listeners' attention to the paradox of this cognitive and psychological phenomena, because despite their non-smooth nature, our eyes jumps improve our reading abilities, as we use the sense of skipped adjacent context to decrease the time of our comprehension of the read information.

The rest of the students who were listeners at the moment, were encouraged by the presenters and the teacher to discuss the connection of these findings with the problems of efficient interface. In particular, the listeners were attracted to speculation and making conclusions on the (1) efficiency of perception of isolated words and words connected into the long phrase; (2) the difference between task-driven and contentdriven user interface; (3) the dependence of the efficiency of text comprehension in these types of interface; (4) the typographic decision-making at the interface design etc. In the end, the students-presenters supported the prepared discussion with the visual examples of the both types of user interface illustrating fruitful and non-fruitful using of these psychological peculiarities.

In similar way there was also arranged presentations of the results of the flipped learning tasks by the rest of the students' pairs with involvement other listeners into similar interactive debates. The group solutions finding during these mini-conferences within the first module were productively used by the students while their mastering subsequent modules.

For instance, in the progress of the interface design of potential web-application prototypes worked out at the workshops of the second module, there was used specially created interactive card game, focused on the involving the trainees in the analysis of applying various psychological techniques. Original card deck Mental Notes, suggested by Anderson (Anderson, 2009) presents over 50 insights from psychology, and can be used as an efficient brainstorming tool. Each card depicts an insight into human behavior and represents ways to apply this one to the user interface design. Selected samples of digital cards with insights are presented in figure 1.



Figure 1: Selected samples of digital cards with insights into human behavior, representing the ways how to apply them to the user interface design.

The original card deck was transformed into interactive didactic game with digital "cards" and was virtually played during online workshop. At the initial stage of the game the students were assigned the topics of their potential web-application to speculate over its probable users, their targets, tasks, application functions etc. As the game starts, the participants "choose" in turn a card from the deck, which presents a psychological technique (insight) used in the current practice of user interface design such insights as: curiosity, social proof, reciprocity, regularity establishing and others.

The participants (individually or in pairs) analyze the insight presented in the card, then they explain and prove their decision as for how they can use this insight at the interface design of their potential application: which elements of visual language and how it is relevant to apply; what means of typography, color, and graphical images and why will be right to use; the insight is going (or is not going) to be successful exactly for their application, according to the results of their initial speculations. The rest of the players are involved by the teacher into active discussion of the presented solutions and into collective decision making.

In terms of motivation raising, such a game playing provoked students' cognitive interest to the topic; facilitated their understanding of effective psychological techniques and benefits of their using in interface design; promoted fluent communication on the professional topic, which finally led to joy feelings of the students and motivated them to be active participant of the tutorial process.

After the game the trainees may use the whole deck of the mental cards with variety of psychological techniques. As a game extension, the students are encouraged to apply at least five of the insights in the design of their interface prototype with their sequential presentations for the group.

In addition, the whole tutorial process on interface design mastering was immersed into the game online environment Classcraft, which enabled us to apply successfully gamification strategy. The environment allows to maintain gamification approach during any academic period, and encourages a trainee to go through the course sections individually or within the group, solving practical tasks, tests, and quests, deliberately created by the teacher for all the course modules, and earning game bonuses of different kinds.

In order to add interactivity into this gamified blended learning, we arranged the role playing game within Classcraft and involved individual students into the team role game, when each student should choose a character (a role of a Wizard, Warrior, Healer etc.) with proper skills, and cooperatively learn a topic via doing quests. The quests were prepared regarding the educational content and didactic purpose of the module.

For example, during the work within the second module "Graphic interface design" there were prepared the quests on the number of topics. One of them was the quest "Brief creation for UI design" which encouraged students to go through some quest stations. To overcome "Avatar" station, it was necessary to identify a character (in fact, a potential user) who is a target audience for the designing interface. The second station "Competitors" involved the students into analysis of the possible competitors of the interface design for potential user and sphere of their activity. Next quest station expected students to develop a chart of basic use cases for the developing interface. The final quest station "Visualization" encouraged students into determination of proper color palette and fonts as well as into picking up certain tools for the realization of different stages of the interface design regarding the analysis results obtained in previous quest stations.

At each quest station the students received specified tasks with exact scheme of actions. For example, at "Competitors" station (figure 2) the trainees' were focused on the analysis of strong and weak points of the competitors' interface design with subsequent concentration on successful and non-fruitful design solutions which led students to their unique design outlook for the identified user.



Figure 2: The episode of work at the quest station "Competitors" in the team game "Brief creation for UI design".

While overcoming the learning quests in the team, each participant used their skills according to their role and tried to contribute the best into the common results, doing quest tasks and earning different bonuses (Experience Points, Gold Pieces, Crystals, and Health) which gave them various additional opportunities and helped their team to achieve best learning results in the most effective way. Thus, the awareness of their personal responsibility for the team final success definitely raised the students' motivation to learn more and contribute more to feel the pride of the common academic result.

The trainees were also encouraged to solve the

Boss Battles tests in the Classcraft game environment with the option of both individual and team work, which is the most beneficial in terms of raising motivation at blended learning. Doing the tests by the whole team prompted the students' interactivity, as only the joint and well thought efforts of each participant could bring the success to the team. In addition, Boss Battles option enables team members to give and get mutual help while test doing, which raised common responsibility and team spirit.

On the Classcraft gamified platform it was also organized students' group work upon real-life tasks. For instance, within the third module focused on mastering Figma tools for interface design, the students were assigned to build a dynamic prototype of the site with landing pages in Figma environment. The full assignment was formulated as follows.

Let us imagine, that you are a marketing director of a company which is a new player in the coffee trade market. The company buy coffee beans from Latin America, fry, blend, and mix them ourselves. Currently, there are three blends that are available for selling, and the company are working on adding three new ones. The company is concentrated rather on the retailers, but there is also have an offer for specialized retail chains, restaurants and other wholesalers. The company need to develop a site to talk about the company (services, offers etc.) and about coffee in general. In addition, the company is going to sell prepared blends via the site.

To solve this real-life problem and make a fullfunctioning dynamic site prototype in Figma, we offered students to create three groups, according to the roles which are typically fulfilled by interface designers at the different stages of the prototype developing. Therefore, there were selected the groups of Analytics, Developers, and Testers.

The didactic benefit of such group work on Classcraft platform in terms of blended learning is seen in following. Each group has to realize perfectly well the aim and essence of work at each stage of the prototype creation, and to allocate the roles inside the group correspondently. Thus, the students (with the teacher's help) have to interact with each other within the group in order to discuss and understand its specific task, final goal of the whole group, and the importance of their results for the success of other two groups who realize their own mission in the iterative process of the dynamic prototype development.

For example, the group of Analytics was encouraged by the teacher to hold debates with the help of, for instance, Socratic method of discussion as a kind of cooperative argumentative discussion based on asking and responding questions to provoke students' critical thinking and come with fruitful ideas. In particular, the set of issues for discussion by the Analytics for the understanding of their group mission included the following questions:

- 1. Who are our potential users?
- 2. What may be their age, education, needs, preferences etc.?
- 3. What tasks do the users want to solve via the site?
- 4. How are they going to solve their problems?
- 5. Which benefits from the users' standpoint can the site interface provide?
- 6. How to collect the said data from the users?
- How can the collected information about users and their potential behavior on the site help the group of Developers? Is it essential also for Testers group? and others.

As a result of these argumentative debates, the group can obtain comprehensive understanding of their role in the whole iterative process of the prototype design, and can easily allocate the roles within the group with understanding by each member their own duties, responsibilities and scope of necessary interaction with members of other groups.

Similar debates were prepared and held in the groups of Developers and Testers. At some stages of work, it was initiated by the teacher interaction all the groups together in order to analyze the middle results of group work, such as Use Case diagram, Sequence diagram, mockups etc. built by the Developers group basing on the recommendations of the Analytics group. It helped to correlate the previous Analytics work, improve the Developers work immediately and avoid drawbacks and mistakes which may be revealed by the Testers group.

Analyzing the progress of the presented group work upon real-life tasks which also had a character of a role playing game, we would conclude the following. This form of work brought obvious interest and joy both to students and teacher, which caused a fruitful influence on the students' attitude to learning process and its results.

In particular, we could monitor appearing true incentives to learning, and arising motivation to classes preparation as well as to active participation in common work.

Emotional involvement into the group game according to their personal role and practical value of the tasks, made students keep educational content longer in their memory, speculate on it before and after classes, which provoked their inquisitiveness and enhanced their cognitive interest. Therefore, it is possible to anticipate that such kind of blended learning technique enriched with interactive methods can have a positive impact on the students' motivation.

Digital storytelling as a common blended learning technique was also implemented in the process of interface design mastering within all the modules. We would like to demonstrate the example of creation of student-generated comic-based story in the progress of learning psychological basics of interface design which had a didactic purpose to investigate the influence of color pallet on the emotional stay of a user and implementation of its impact in the interface development.

At the preparation stage of the comics' creation the trainees were stimulated to discuss in group the issues which could help direct them during this creative task:

- 1. What is the goal of telling your story?
- 2. Who is the target audience of your digital story?
- 3. What feelings, emotions and ideas would you like to convey to the target audience?
- 4. What are the steps of your plot? How can you sequence the story with a beginning, middle part and final?
- 5. Which tools could be used to create your digital comic-based story? Which of them fit better for your idea and why? etc.

After this group solution findings, the students came to the core stage of the digital story making, according to their plot, and applying some of the graphic design tools on their choice.

Then, the groups of students demonstrated their comics and "told" their digital stories on the said topic during online practical classes.

Other trainees were engaged in the critical watching of their peers' digital stories. Therefore, at this stage student-generated digital stories served as cases that allowed involving all of the trainees into effective case studies, which added interactivity in the storytelling learning approach, raised the degree of students' participation in the tutorial process, which obviously affected their motivation.

In addition, the students were informed that their digital stories will be implemented as learning aids for further generations of trainees in the relevant interface design courses, which had a positive impact on the students' self-estimation, raised their responsibility, provoked their desire to contribute the best, and finally influenced on their learning motivation.

Episodes of one of student-generated comic-based digital stories where trainees expressed their ideas (in

Ukrainian) for associated meaning of different colors are given in figure 3(a)-(c)). In particular, in their digital story the students tried to render the associations of colors with our feelings and emotions: white – horror, black – grief, green – envy, pink – pleasure, purple – evil, light – happiness.







Побілів від жаху Позеленів від Заздрощів РЕБЕТТИТОВАТ Порозовів від Порозовія Від Порозовія Від Порозовія Від Порозовід Від Порозовія Від Порозовія Від Порозовія Від Порозов

(c)

Figure 3: (a-c) Episodes of the student-generated digital stories on associated meaning of different colors (the explanations are given in the text above).

3.3 Preparation of the Survey on the Estimation of Students' Motivation

In order to estimate the level of the students' motivation to learning it is necessary to elaborate its criteria, develop their indicators, and determine the levels of their revealing.

As it was mentioned above, according to psychological background of motivation theory and its educational aspects, motivation to learn is defined as the personal efforts which encourage trainees to learning activities, ensure their continuity and concentrate a trainee on the activities with the aim at achievement of their desired goals. Among the most influential factors which affect student motivation are called attention, appealing to learner's past experience, positive attitude, and satisfaction.

Resting on this understanding of the learning motivation, and minding core rules for design of tutorial process and environment regarding motivation raising, we managed to elaborate several indicators and their levels. The core rules were presented in the theoretical framework chapter and can be formulated in brief as follows:

- 1. to apply methods for attraction and retaining learners' attention;
- to set clear instructional goals and provide learners with educational content which refers to learner's needs and experience (academic and/or working one);
- to shape student's confidence, creating learning environment which enables to promote learners' positive attitude to the tutoring process and suggest focusing towards success;
- to create conditions to help students gain satisfactory feeling.

The survey was designed to evaluate whether the interactive methods introducing into the blended learning activities is in line with the aforementioned rules and detect what students' motivation levels are.

The survey consists of 20 items comprising 4 subsections corresponding to the amount of the rules. Each subsection included 5 items to get a feedback from the students on each motivation dimension. It measures learners' motivation level by applying a 5-point Likert-type scale (1 is strongly agree; 5 is strongly disagree).

Subsection 1 (attention) included the following questions.

Q1 There was some thought-provoking content of the course that got my attention.

Q2 I attended online classes with desire because there were used variety of gripping activities.

Q3 Communication with other students during debates and discussion helped hold my attention.

Q4 I was eager to attend classes because there usually were some things that were surprising or unexpected.

Q5 This course has things that stimulated my curiosity and I speculated about the learning material after classes.

Subsection 2 (*appealing to learner's needs and experience*) included the following set of items.

Q6 It is clear to me how the content of this course is associated with the things I already know.

Q7 I was involved into the work upon the tasks that demonstrated me how this course material could be useful to me and some other people.

Q8 Completing this course successfully was essential to me.

Q9 The content and style of the course material mastering is relevant to my needs and interests.

Q10 There are explanations, examples, cases etc. of how to use the competence from the course in daily professional activity.

Subsection 3 (*positive attitude*) included the following items.

Q11 The tutoring process within the course was entertaining.

Q12 Team interaction during material mastering suggested me confidence in my abilities to succeed in the course.

Q13 When I had learning difficulties, I felt confident that I could overcome them with my peers' help.

Q14 During online classes I felt myself happy as if I learnt material with my peers in real classroom.

Q15 As I worked on this course, I was confident that I could learn the content.

Subsection 4 (*satisfaction*) included the following items.

Q16 Completing the tasks and presenting my results in front of the group during online classes gave me a satisfying feeling of accomplishment.

Q17 I enjoyed this course so much that I would like to know more about this topic.

Q18 I really enjoyed when I contributed my expertise into the common result of my team going through the course material.

Q19 The sounding of feedback during and after the exercises in this course helped me feel rewarded for my effort.

Q20 It was a pleasure to work on the course in such a friendly and cooperative atmosphere.

To obtain preliminary results and test the designed survey reliability, it was conducted in one of the groups of pre-service IT specialists who completed the course "User interface design basics" in terms of blended learning activities enhanced with interactive methods and built according to our modules depicted above. In total, 27 students took part in the survey.

The scale reliability test was conducted to estimate the result. The reliability of all the four scales (for each motivation dimension) on standard-ized Cronbach Alpha was 0.75 (n = 27 on 20 items), which proved an acceptable reliability of the obtained result (Glen, 2023).

3.4 Discussion of the Preliminary Results

The average score of the students' motivation level as for all motivation dimensions, detected during the survey is presented in table 1.

Table 1: The average score of the students' motivation level (n = 27)

Motivation dimensions (5 items each)	Average
wouvation dimensions (5 nems each)	score
Attention	3.42
Appealing to learner's needs and experience	3.61
Positive attitude	3.65
Satisfaction	3.63
Overall (20 items)	3.57

According to the score intervals, we distinguished four levels of motivation:

- High level (4.0-5.0),
- Intermedium level (3.5-3.99),
- Pre-intermedium level (3.0-3.49),
- Low level (lower than 3.0).

The results of the survey, according to the levels of students' motivation are shown in the table 2.

Table 2: Range of students' motivation level as a result of the survey.

Motivation level	Scores	Total $N = 27$	Percent
High	4.0-5.0	13	48.15%
Intermedium	3.5-3.99	6	22.22%
Pre-intermedium	3.0-3.49	4	14.81%
Low	<3.00	4	14.81%

As far as we can judge from the table 2, 13 (48.15%) out of the 27 respondents demonstrated high motivation level, 6 students (22.22%) had intermedium motivation level, 4 respondents (14.81%) revealed pre-intermedium level, and 4 respondents (14.81%) demonstrated low motivation levels. Thus, it was found out that the survey participants were mostly satisfied with the course material and blended

learning techniques enhanced with interactive methods, with almost half of the respondents who had high level of motivation, and over 22% of them who revealed intermedium level of motivation to learning.

In addition, characterizing roughly the students' answers of the survey questions (Q1–Q20), we would like to emphasize the following.

About 70% of the trainees admitted that they attended online classes with desire because there were used variety of gripping activities; communication with other students during debates and discussion helped hold their attention; the course stimulated their curiosity and they speculated about the learning material after classes.

Over the half of the students said that during the course doing, they were involved into the work upon the tasks that demonstrated them how this course material could be useful to them in their potential professional life.

About 63% of the course participants revealed positive attitude to learning admitting that the tutoring process within the course was entertaining; team interaction during material mastering suggested them confidence in their abilities to succeed in the course; during online classes they felt myself happy as if they worked with their peers in real classroom.

Finally, about 72% said that they were pleased to work on the course in such a friendly and cooperative atmosphere.

The obtained survey results are complemented with our own observations. It was prepared by us special program of monitoring the students' attendance and behavior at online classes during different stages of the course. Our monitoring, according to this program, testified raising the percentage of students' attendance by 20% in comparing between beginning and end of the course.

In addition, our observations as for the students' cognitive behavior allowed to conclude that applied methods were productive in terms of encouraging motivation. They helped students feel the class-room atmosphere during online classes, promoted their cognitive eagerness to work with remote digital resources, contributed into effective learning communication, which helped overcome the feeling disconnection between the students inherent to blended learning in its flex model.

It was also monitored the growing of students' desire to take part in group activities, to reveal their knowledge and contribute best into the common group result. It was really pleasant to notice also some students' increasing tendency to find out additional learning materials and eagerness to do the tasks of higher complexity. It was also detected the raising of overall academic achievements of the group.

Thus, the obtained results of the conducted survey and our monitoring program may be taken as a basis for holding the full empirical research for the verification of the impact that made the offered blended learning activities enriched with interactive methods on the level of students' motivation and the results of pre-service specialists' training. It is planned to widen respondents' range to generalize the survey results and to expand it by clarifying and specifying the changes made in the research, which makes a prospect of our work.

4 CONCLUSIONS

The problems of raising students' motivation in terms of blended learning implementation at national universities are discussed in the paper in the context of interface design mastering by the students of various specialties.

Based on the recent studies review and educational practice analysis, it is revealed the urgency of our research connected with the problems of dropping students' motivation to study and to accomplish university education in general (students very often are eager to. It is analyzed that the situation is getting even worse in terms of blended learning with the focus to remote tutorial process. Retaining students' motivation to attend online classes, to earn knowledge and skills and work them out via different typical learning activities becomes really challenging task for educational staff.

It is also revealed that the using of the specially developed learning activities and methods is underestimated by the researchers and practitioners of blended learning implementation. It underlined the urgency of enhancing typical blended learning techniques with interactive methods in order to overcome the core challenges of the blended learning implementation, and to raise students' learning motivation in terms of current online studying.

Theoretical framework of the research is made by the analysis of the (1) fundamentals of motivation theory; (2) main characteristics of blended learning and its typical learning techniques used in the practice of blended learning; (3) basic approaches to the mastering of the fundamentals of user interface design in the training of different specialists.

In the progress of work, there were analyzed the core features and challenges of blended learning, and covered the ways of enrichment of the blended learning techniques (flipped learning, gamification, digital storytelling, cooperative learning etc.) with interactive methods and forms of work.

The experience of interactive methods practical realization in the process of the user interface design mastering by university students is presented. It was demonstrated how the considered leaning techniques which are typically used at blended learning in its flex model can be enhanced and enriched via using different interactive methods. Exact examples of their applications in real blended learning process are given.

It is also covered the preparation stage of the survey on the estimation of the students' motivation. The survey was designed to evaluate whether the interactive methods introducing into the blended learning activities is in line with the aforementioned rules and detect what students' motivation levels are.

The survey consists of 20 items comprising 4 subsections corresponding to the amount of the revealed motivation dimensions (attention, appealing to learner's past experience, positive attitude, and satisfaction).

To obtain preliminary results and test the designed survey reliability, it was conducted in one of the groups of pre-service IT specialists who completed the course "User interface design basics" in terms of blended learning activities enhanced with interactive methods and built according to our modules depicted above. The acceptable reliability of the scales was proved.

According to the score intervals, there were distinguished four levels of motivation. The results of the survey, according to the levels of students' motivation are presented and discussed. There were also given and discussed the results of the authors' observations according to the monitoring program.

It was concluded that the obtained results of the conducted survey and our monitoring program may be used potentially as a basis for holding the comprehensive empirical research for the verification of the impact which made the offered blended learning activities enriched with interactive methods on the level of students' motivation and the results of pre-service specialists' training. It is planned to widen respondents' range to generalize the survey results and to expand it by specifying the changes caused by the introduced methods, which makes a prospect of our work.

The prospects of the research also can be focused on finding out the most effective combinations of blended learning techniques and interactive methods in the process of interface design mastering by the students of different fields.

REFERENCES

- (2023). Early leavers from education and training. https: //ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index. php?title=Early_leavers_from_education_and_training.
- Adel, A. and Dayan, J. (2021). Towards an insystem of learning activtelligent blended model for New Zealand institutions: ities an investigative approach. Humanities and Communications, Social Sciences 8(1):72. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-020-00696-4.
- Alderfer, C. P. (1969). An empirical test of a new theory of human needs. Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, 4(2):142–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0030-5073(69)90004-X.
- Anderson, S. P. (2009). Get Mental Notes. https:// getmentalnotes.com.
- Bilousova, L., Gryzun, L., and Zhytienova, N. (2021a). Interactive methods in blended learning of the fundamentals of UI/UX design by pre-service specialists. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(3):415–428. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.34.
- Bilousova, L. I., Gryzun, L. E., and Zhytienova, N. V. (2021b). Fundamentals of UI/UX design as a component of the pre-service specialist's curriculum. SHS Web of Conferences, 104:02015. https://doi.org/10. 1051/shsconf/202110402015.
- Bonfield, C. A., Salter, M., Longmuir, A., Benson, M., and Adachi, C. (2020). Transformation or evolution?: Education 4.0, teaching and learning in the digital age. *Higher Education Pedagogies*, 5(1):223–246. https://doi.org/10.1080/23752696.2020.1816847.
- Dellatola, E., Daradoumis, T., and Dimitriadis, Y. (2020). "Exploring Students' Engagement Within a Collaborative Inquiry-Based Language Learning Activity in a Blended Environment". In Yu, S., Ally, M., and Tsinakos, A., editors, *Emerging Technologies and Pedagogies in the Curriculum*, Bridging Human and Machine: Future Education with Intelligence, pages 355– 375. Springer Singapore, Singapore. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-981-15-0618-5_21.
- Dichev, C. and Dicheva, D. (2017). Gamifying education: what is known, what is believed and what remains uncertain: a critical review. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 14(1):9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-017-0042-5.
- Glen, S. (2023). Cronbach's Alpha: Definition, Interpretation, SPSS. https://www.statisticshowto. com/probability-and-statistics/statistics-definitions/ cronbachs-alpha-spss/.
- Hanson, M. (2022). College Dropout Rates. https:// educationdata.org/college-dropout-rates.
- Huang, B. and Hew, K. F. (2016). Measuring Learners' Motivation Level in Massive Open Online Courses. *International Journal of Information and Education Technology*, 6(10):759–764. https://doi.org/10.7763/ IJIET.2016.V6.788.
- Ibrahim, M. M. and Nat, M. (2019). Blended learning motivation model for instructors in higher education institutions. *International Journal of Educational Tech*-

nology in Higher Education, 16(1):12. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s41239-019-0145-2.

- Islam, S., Baharun, H., Muali, C., Ghufron, M. I., el Iq Bali, M., Wijaya, M., and Marzuki, I. (2018). To Boost Students' Motivation and Achievement through Blended Learning. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1114(1):012046. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/ 1114/1/012046.
- Keller, J. M. (1987). Development and use of the ARCS model of instructional design. *Journal of instructional development*, 10(3):2–10. https://doi.org/10. 1007/BF02905780.
- Keller, J. M. (2010). Motivational Design for Learn ing and Performance: The ARCS Model Approach. Springer, New York, NY. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-1-4419-1250-3.
- Keller, J. M. and Kopp, T. W. (1987). An Application of the ARCS Model of Motivational Design. In Reigeluth, C. M., editor, *Instructional Theories in Action: Lessons Illustrating Selected Theories and Models*, page 289–320. Routledge, New York.
- Mikhnova, N. S. (2019). Graphic interface design in the software industry. In Vazhnik, S. A., editor, Actual problems of humanitarian education, Materials of the VI International scientific-practical Conference, pages 474–477. https://elib.bsu.by/handle/ 123456789/234235.
- Ormrod, J. E., Anderman, E. M., and Anderman, L. H. (2019). *Educational Psychology: Developing Learn*ers. Pearson, 10 edition.
- Petsche, A. (2009). Factors that influence student motivation. Research paper requirement for the degree of Master of Arts in Education: Educational Psychology: Professional Development for Teachers, University of Northern Iowa. https://scholarworks.uni.edu/ grp/1326.
- Platonova, M. N. (2019). Osnovnye printcipy vizualnogo dizaina, ispolzuemye dlia upravleniia vnimaniem polzovatelia [Basic principles of visual design used to use user attention]. In Problemy kachestva graficheskoi podgotovki studentov v tekhnicheskom vuze: traditcii i innovatcii. Materialy VIII Mezhdunarodnoi nauchno-prakticheskoi internetkonferentcii (Perm, fevral – mart 2019 g.), volume 5. https://dgng.pstu.ru/media/files/%D0%A1%D0% B1%D0%BE%D1%80%D0%BD%D0%B8%D0% BA_%D0%9A%D0%93%D0%9F-2019.pdf.
- Puspitasari, K. (2012). Effects of Learning Strategy Intervention and Study Time Management Intervention on Students' Self-Regulated Learning, Achievement, and Course Completion in a Distance Education Learning Environment. PhD thesis, Florida State University. http://purl.flvc.org/fsu/fd/FSU_migr_etd-5124.
- Rutta, C. B., Schiavo, G., Zancanaro, M., and Rubegni, E. (2021). Comic-based digital storytelling for content and language integrated learning. *Educational Media International*, 58(1):21–36. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09523987.2021.1908499.
- Sagri, M., Sofos, F., and Mouzaki, D. (2018). Digital Storytelling, comics and new technologies in education:

review, research and perspectives. *International Education Journal: Comparative Perspectives*, 17(4):97–112. https://openjournals.library.sydney.edu.au/index. php/IEJ.

- Sofyan, H. and Uno, H. B. (2004). *Teori motivasi dan aplikasinya dalam penelitian*. Nurul Jannah, Gorontalo.
- Vakaliuk, T. A., Spirin, O. M., Lobanchykova, N. M., Martseva, L. A., Novitska, I. V., and Kontsedailo, V. V. (2021). Features of distance learning of cloud technologies for the organization educational process in quarantine. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840(1):012051. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/ 1840/1/012051.
- Vlasenko, K. V., Rovenska, O. G., Chumak, O. O., Lovianova, I. V., and Achkan, V. V. (2021). A Comprehensive Program of activities to develop sustainable core skills in novice scientists. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1946(1):012017. https://doi.org/ 10.1088/1742-6596/1946/1/012017.
- Wear, J. O. and Levenson, A. (2020). Distance Education. In Dyro, J., editor, *Clinical Engineering Handbook*, The Biomedical Engineering Series, pages 309–311. Elsevier. https: //www.inf.ufpr.br/lmperes/2017_2/ci167/no_exam/ The_Clinical_Engineering_Handbook_Joseph_Dyro. pdf.
- Zainuddin, Z., Chu, S. K. W., Shujahat, M., and Perera, C. J. (2020). The impact of gamification on learning and instruction: A systematic review of empirical evidence. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2020.100326.

The Use of ICT of Educational Purposes in the Independent Work of Students in the Study of the Basics of Programming by Future Software Engineers

Tetiana A. Vakaliuk^{1,2,3}[©]^a, Oleksii V. Chyzhmotria¹[©]^b, Olena H. Chyzhmotria¹[©]^c, Dmytro S. Antoniuk¹[©]^d, Mykhailo G. Medvediev⁴[©]^e and Svitlana O. Didkivska⁵[©]^f

¹Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, 103 Chudnivska Str., Zhytomyr, 10005, Ukraine

²Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the NAES Ukraine, 9 M. Berlynskoho Str., Kyiv, 04060, Ukraine

³Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine

⁵Cracow University of Economics, 27 Rakowicka Str., Kraków, 31-510, Poland

 $tetianavakaliuk@gmail.com, \{chov, ch-o-g\}@ztu.edu.ua, dmitry_antonyuk@yahoo.com, miserablewisdom@ukr.net, here a standard a standa$

 $d2023 @ {\it student.uek.krakow.pl}$

Keywords: Massive Open Online Courses, Fundamentals of Programming, Software Engineering Specialists.

Abstract: The article describes the author's experience of using a number of information and communication technologies of education in the independent work of students in teaching the discipline "Fundamentals of Programming" to future specialists in software engineering. The content of studying the discipline "Fundamentals of Programming" and the number of hours allotted for its study in institutions of higher education in Ukraine is analyzed. When studying the discipline "Fundamentals of Programming" at the Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, the study of the corresponding course on the platform of massive open online courses Sololearn is submitted for independent work, and use of other ICTs of educational purposes. A description of the possibilities of using this Massive Open Online Course (MOOC) in teaching the discipline "Fundamentals of Programming" for future specialists in software engineering is presented. In addition, using a pedagogical experiment, the effectiveness of using a number of information and communication technologies of education in the independent work of students in teaching the discipline "Fundamentals of Programming" to future software engineering specialists was tested. The results of the pedagogical experiment showed the effectiveness of using a number of information and communication in the independent work of students in teaching the "Fundamentals of Programming" to future software engineering specialists was tested. The results of the pedagogical experiment showed the effectiveness of using a number of information and communication technologies of education in the independent work of students in teaching the "Fundamentals of Programming" to future software engineering specialists of Programming" to future software engineering specialists.

1 INTRODUCTION

In the process of professional training of students of specialty 121 "Software Engineering", some professional disciplines are required to study, in particular, "Fundamentals of Programming", "Object-Oriented Programming", "Web Technologies", etc. All disciplines are studied in the manner prescribed by the educational professional program and provide for a certain "basic" level of knowledge for the preliminary study of the subject.

Analysis of the curricula of higher education in Ukraine (National University of Life and Environment Sciences of Ukraine, Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, National Technical University of Ukraine "Igor Sikorsky Kyiv Polytechnic Institute", Odesa Polytechnic National University) showed that the study of the discipline "Fundamentals of Programming" is given from 150 to 330 hours. Note that in some universities this discipline is divided into two Programming and Fundamentals of Software Engineering.

A sufficiently large number of hours predetermines the need to submit part of the material for independent study (usually from 30% to 60% of the

644

ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

⁴ADA University, 61 Ahmadbay Agha-Oglu Str., Baku, AZ1008, Azerbaijan

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6825-4697

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5515-6550

[°] https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8597-1292

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7496-3553

e https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3884-1118

^f https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4004-6631

Vakaliuk, T., Chyzhmotria, O., Chyzhmotria, O., Antoniuk, D., Medvediev, M. and Didkivska, S.

The Use of ICT of Educational Purposes in the Independent Work of Students in the Study of the Basics of Programming by Future Software Engineers. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 644-657

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

material is submitted for independent study, and universities themselves operate on this). A variety of additional learning tools becomes useful here for both teachers and students (Seidametova et al., 2022; Vakaliuk et al., 2021; Kovalenko and Palamarchuk, 2018; Semerikov et al., 2020).

Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs) has already gained popularity in the first quarter of the 21st century, so there are a lot of articles concentrated on that topic, even more, there are books, that are devoted to the disclosure of this topic from different angles. For example, we can see a demonstration of the historical perspective on various stages of development of these courses and how their value changed, depending on the stage (Waks, 2016), advises on optimizing the process of their implementation and use according to the type and stage of development of the information infrastructure of the educational institution advice on optimizing the process of their implementation and use respectively the type and stage of development of the information infrastructure of the educational institution (Mesquita and Peres, 2015) or just perspective of its evolution from a higher education point of view (Bennett and Kent, 2017).

Speaking about the latest research results, which undoubtedly appeared more due to the growing popularity of distance learning as a result of the pandemic, it is worth paying attention to Scopus as one of the most reliable sources of verified information. There are currently 48 articles available in this source that focus on this topic part of them are concentrating on the adaptation of the course to the general type and specifics of the country's study conditions or just on solving some specific problems universities are forced to face too, like overcrowded universities on the impossibility of organizing real-time face-toface lessons (Naji et al., 2020). However, one of the most important and interesting aspects of the Massive Open Online Courses study is its use in teaching students a specific subject, for example, mathematics (Vagaeva et al., 2021), international relations (Kaempf and Finn, 2019), geography (Syvyi et al., 2020), physics (Huangqing and Yanping, 2021) or languages (Lebedeva, 2021). Still, we have to remember about digital barriers (Ling et al., 2020) that students might have while studying that way. Those barriers could make effect data results and lead to a distortion of information about the prospects for the development of the MOOC industry in education since every year students are better versed in digital technologies. The best way out of the situation is to test such courses on subjects that are studied by students of specialties related to information technology. A good example of such subjects could be computer networks (Vakaliuk et al., 2020) or software engineering.

A review of various MOOC platforms showed that they mostly contain theoretical material, test tasks; the possibility of communication between other participants, and, in the case of learning programming languages, a compiler is built in to train the acquired skills.

In the professional training of future software engineering specialists in the context of a pandemic and the Russian-Ukrainian war, a combination of traditional, distance, and blended learning opportunities, as well as the use of various additional tools, including massive open online courses, are becoming increasingly important, which allows increasing motivation and student interest.

2 LEARNING THE FUNDAMENTALS OF PROGRAMMING WITH MOOCs

The purpose of studying the discipline "Fundamentals of Programming" is to form students' theoretical basis necessary for further work, obtaining theoretical knowledge and practical skills in the algorithmization of computational processes, the basic principles of software development in the C programming language.

The objectives of studying the academic discipline "Fundamentals of Programming" are:

- providing students with the necessary knowledge on the theory and practice of using algorithmic programming languages;
- to form an idea among students about the main stages of solving a computer problem;
- the sequence of actions, skills, and abilities to work with modern software, program debugging;
- providing students with basic knowledge and skills with basic algorithmic structures;
- mastering by students of basic knowledge and skills in working with arrays;
- mastering by students of different methods of sorting arrays;
- providing students with basic knowledge and skills for working with functions, as well as the ability to implement recursive functions;
- mastering students the ability to work with structures, string values, pointers;
- mastering by students the basic skills of working with repositories.

Let us give an indicative topic for studying this discipline (as an example, the program is given, according to which they study at the Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University).

Content module 1. Introduction to programming. Basic construction methods.

Topic 1. Introduction to programming. Basic concepts. The concept of a method. Ways of representing algorithms. The alphabet of the C programming language. Directives. Connecting libraries. Data types. Constants and variables. Declaring variables. Operations of the C programming language. Data input-output operators. Formatting specifiers. Arithmetic operations. Features of working with them. Increment, decrement. Math functions. Block diagram. Basic elements of flowcharts. Basic algorithmic constructions.

Topic 2. Branching. Comparison operations. Logical operations. Boolean expressions. Simple and compound logical expressions. The if branching statement. Ternary operation. Switch statement.

Topic 3. Introduction to the Git version control system. The concept of a repository. Existing version control systems. Introduction to the Git version control system.

Topic 4. Loops. The concept of a loop. Loops with while condition. Loops with "for" parameter. Break and continue. Loops with postcondition "do ... while". The comma operation. Nested loops.

Content module 2. Arrays.

Topic 5. Setting up the program. Testing. Basic concepts. Setting. Error types. Test types.

Topic 6. Arrays. Array concept. Onedimensional arrays. Declaring and calling in onedimensional arrays. Generation of pseudo-random numbers. Operations with one-dimensional arrays.

Topic 7. Sorting arrays. Sort by the exchange. Sorting by the selection method. Insertion sort. Shell sorting. Pyramid sort.

Topic 8. Multidimensional arrays. Declaring and accessing multidimensional arrays. Twodimensional arrays. Operations with matrices.

Content module 3. Functions, pointers, structures.

Topic 9. Functions. The concept of a function. Function prototype. Passing parameters. Functions with a changing number of parameters. Passing an array to a function. Recursive functions.

Topic 10. Pointers. Local and global variables. Variable address. The concept of a pointer. Declaring a variable of pointer type. Basic operations on pointers. Features of the scanf function. Pointers and arrays.

Topic 11. Character variables. Working with

string and character variables. String functions.

Topic 12. Structure. The concept of structure. Arrays of structures. Programming with structures.

When studying the discipline "Fundamentals of Programming" at the Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, students are recommended to study the materials of massive open online courses as part of their independent work. Students can take the course offered on the MOOC platform Sololearn (Sololearn, 2023). This course provides an opportunity to study individual theoretical blocks, and perform individual test tasks and certain final works.

Let us consider the possibility of using MOOC Sololearn when studying the course "Fundamentals of Programming" as part of additional independent work. The first thing to point out is that this course is in English, and since this platform does not provide for any actions of teachers or instructors, it is not possible to localize in another language.

This course involves studying the material and improving skills in the basics of programming in the following sections: basic concepts of the C programming language; conditional expressions and loops; functions, arrays, pointers; strings and function pointers; structures; memory management; file and error handling; preprocessor.

These topics fully cover the topics for study in the main course "Fundamentals of Programming" and are their logical addition. Another feature of this MOOC platform is that the courses are freely available and anyone can take them. Yes, not all features of the platform are freely available, but if you wish, you can purchase the full version for an in-depth study of the material. Another feature of this platform is that each course is provided with a separate address where you can enter the course without wasting time searching for the course.

When you log into your account at the address of a specific course (Sololearn, 2023), the user opens his profile of passing (studying) the course (figure 1).

Each section (study topic) in this MOOC includes theoretical information (figure 2), containing material for repeating what was learned in the classroom.

This MOOC can leave comments on all activities of each topic. Such a section is located in the upper right corner, by entering which a registered user at the stage of viewing theoretical material can communicate with other registered users through comments (figure 3).

However, it should be noted that not in all sections of the MOOC data, such an opportunity is open immediately. In addition to theoretical material, users are allowed to view examples of program execution and try to work with them on their own, making cerThe Use of ICT of Educational Purposes in the Independent Work of Students in the Study of the Basics of Programming by Future Software Engineers

🗳 sololearn		Courses Code Playg	ound Discuss Blog	🚖 Go PRO	224
	C Our C tutorial covers basic concep structures, unions, and much mor	ots, data types, arrays, pointers, re.	conditional statements, loops,	functions, strings,	
	Basic Concepts			7/7 🗸	
	Conditionals and Loops			7/7 🗸	
	Functions, Arrays & Pointers			3/8 🗸	
		Take a Shortcut			
	Strings & Function Pointers			0/5 🗸	
	Structures & Unions			0/5 🗸	

Figure 1: Personal account for studying the course.

tain changes (figure 4 and figure 5).

This platform MOOC also provides a task for testing knowledge of various forms, for example, choosing 1 answer from several proposed ones (figure 6) and entering your answer (figure 7). At the same time, it should be noted that the section of communication through comments in such tasks becomes available only after checking the answer. For each topic, up to 10 tasks of this type are given to consolidating knowledge.

After passing the module, the user is presented with a final test (figure 8), which consists similarly of several questions (from 5 to 10), and according to the result, it is set whether the module was enrolled to him.

It should also be noted here that the next module will not be opened to the user until he completely completes the previous one (figure 1).

If we consider each topic offered in this MOOC, then in section 1 "Basic concepts" there is a repetition of the base of the C programming language, namely: data types, arithmetic operators, comments in the code, working with the console (input and output). In section 2 "Conditional statements and loops", conditional statements were considered, such as: if, else, switch, three types of loops: for, while, do... while. The section also included theory on logical operators, which are &&, which means "and", and ||, which means "or".

Section 3 "Functions, Arrays, and Pointers" provides material that is completely repetitive to the classroom material. As a result, in this section, there is only a repetition of the studied material, as well as the consolidation of the necessary skills for working with arrays, functions, and pointers.

Section 4 "Strings and Function Pointers" has a new topic that doesn't overlap with the classroom material. This is the "Pointers to Functions" topic, which explains in detail how to declare and access functions using pointers. The next section is "Structures and Unions". It should be noted here that again students were offered a new topic for study – this is the topic "Union", in which students can learn about unions, which allow storing different types of data in the same place in memory, accessed through the dot operator located between the name of a variable and the name of a particular union member.

In Section 6 "Memory Management", the following functions were considered for memory allocation on dynamic array memory (malloc, calloc), array expansion (realloc), and freeing (free). This material is not new to the student, since this topic completely AET 2021 - Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology



Figure 2: Theoretical material in the MOOC Sololearn.

overlaps with the topic for studying in the classroom, so students in this section only consolidated their knowledge and skills.

Section 7 "File and error handling" is the largest section in terms of the amount of new material that is submitted for independent processing. By studying the topics in this section, students can learn how files are handled in the C language, which is used for this function, what binary files are, and how to handle errors.

Section 8 "Preprocessor" contained some of the material that students studied in the classroom and some of the new. The topics covered in this section are preprocessor directives, conditional compilation directives, and preprocessor statements.

Note that the advantage of such MOOC is that all the material is structured, and for each topic, there is theoretical material, attempts to work with the program code, and knowledge testing.

The use of this MOOC for self-processing by students within the framework of the course "Fundamentals of Programming" contributes to the consolidation of the mastered theoretical material, since the course contains a repetition of the theory presented to students in lectures on this discipline, as well as the development and improvement of skills in programming in the C language.

During the course, students can view the progress bar (figure 9), and after successful completion of the course, students receive a certificate (figure 10).

Note that the MOOC Sololearn is adaptive for various systems and, accordingly, devices, so the user has the opportunity to use it from any device.

The use of MOOCs in the educational process of higher education contributes to the assimilation of the material through one's own practical experience, mostly independent. After all, students can get acquainted with additional theoretical information, view various examples with solutions in the C language, and at the same time they can also try to change a fragment of the program code using the knowledge gained; perform a separate task by writing code fragments in the answer, and, of course, take a test to test your knowledge.

The use of such a MOOC provides 100% coverage of the topics provided by the training program for studying the discipline "Fundamentals of Programming". Note that MOOC is not the main one in the study of the course "Fundamentals of Programming". It is only an auxiliary tool for consolidating knowl-



Popular Recent

for (i = 0; i< m; i++) for (j = 0; j <

Figure 3: The ability to communicate through comments in the MOOC Sololearn.

edge and skills during lectures and practical exercises.

In particular, to study the basics of programming, students are also offered the following MOOC for independent study:

- 1. C programming (https://moocfi.github.io/courses/ 2016/aalto-c/en/)
- 2. Learn the Basics of С Programming Language (https://www.eduonix. com/courses/Software-Development/ Learn-the-Basics-of-C-Programming-Language)
- Fundamentals 3. Programming (https://www. coursera.org/learn/programming-fundamentals? specialization=c-programming)
- 4. Writing, Running, and Fixing Code С (https://www.coursera.org/learn/ in writing-running-fixing-code?specialization= c-programming)
- 5. Pointers, Arrays, and Recursion (https://www. coursera.org/learn/pointers-arrays-recursion? specialization=c-programming)
- 6. Interacting with the System and Managing Memory (https://www.coursera.org/ learn/interacting-system-managing-memory? specialization=c-programming)
- 7. Learn C (https://www.learn-c.org/)

The listed MOOC are offered for additional study of the basics of programming, their content covers the topics of studying the course "Fundamentals of Programming". However, to fully study the course, for example, on the MOOC Coursera, you need to complete 4 courses.

Note that within the framework of studying the discipline "Fundamentals of Programming", students have the right to choose any similar course that fully covers the study of the topics of this discipline, of course, by the decision of the teachers.

It should be noted that in order to motivate students to use additional means, including MOOC, the Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University decided to count certificates of certain courses as separate components of the study of the subject (as part of the study of individual topics). To enroll as a separate topic or within the subject is decided by teachers who teach the basics of programming to collective solutions. In addition, at the discretion of the teachers, the completion of such courses is counted as a separate part of the number of points for the overall rating. This helps to motivate students to successfully complete the full course.

It should be noted that most of the proposed MOOCs are in English, which, along with mastering certain programming knowledge, helps to im-

Accessing Two-Dimensional Arrays

To access an element of a two-dimensional array, both the row index and column index are required.

For example, the following statements display the value of an element and then assign a new value:



Just as a **for** loop is used to iterate through a one-dimensional array, nested **for** loops are used to traverse a two-dimensional array:



Figure 4: Ability to work with program code in Sololearn.



Figure 5: Working with program code in Sololearn.

Data Types

Which of the following are valid data types in C?



Figure 6: Choice of 1 correct answer.

prove the level of foreign language proficiency, which is a mandatory requirement for future programmers, testers and project managers when applying for a job.

We also note that once a year, before the start of a new academic year, it is necessary to check the available new MOOC for a qualitative update of the proposed list.

Students are encouraged to master these materials on their own as an additional source of study of a particular subject.

These courses were chosen in accordance with the subject "Fundamentals of Programming", as well as in accordance with the competencies that students have at the end of the course. The experience of teachers working with international software companies will also play a role in choosing a course.

The work of students with MOOC provides:

- study of theoretical material on a particular subject;
- implementation of scientific projects using acquired knowledge and skills;
- implementation of joint projects with their further presentation and defense in front of a group of students.

In addition, other teaching aids should be used for independent work of students. In particular, to get acquainted with theoretical information, we offer for use a number of electronic textbooks on the basics of programming in the C language:

1. https://metanit.com/cpp/c/1.1.php

- 2. https://www.codesdope.com/c-lets-start/ (figure 11)
- https://www.codingeek.com/ c-programming-tutorials/ (figure 12)
- https://www.codingeek.com/ tutorials/c-programming/ beginning-with-c-programming-language/
- 5. https://www.geeksforgeeks.org/ c-programming-language/

It should be noted here that all but the first two resources are in English. These electronic manuals are clearly structured, freely available, and offered to a wide range of users. The second service is quite popular because it contains not only theoretical information but also specific examples for each topic.

Such online resources allow not only to get acquainted with theoretical material, but also to communicate with each other through comments on relevant topics. Often, the authors of such resources support feedback and provide users with comprehensive answers.

Teachers offer students for preliminary acquaintance with theoretical material and subsequent discussion of problematic issues of individual topics in the classroom. In addition, at the discretion of the teacher, the material can be taken out for independent study by students, and then the presentation of the material at lectures by the students themselves in front of their fellow students for additional points.

In addition, students are encouraged to use freely available videos, in particular, the free online programming course in C for beginners (https://www. youtube.com/playlist?list=PL76809ED684A081F3). This course is logically divided into lessons, where the author offers his own vision of learning the C programming language. So, for independent work, and familiarization with the material, this is a fairly useful resource that clearly shows all the possibilities of the C programming language.

The listed means contribute to the consolidation of theoretical knowledge on the basics of programming, as well as self-learning and self-development.

In addition, to consolidate practical programming skills, the authors offer a number of available tests to test knowledge and programming skills:

- 1. C Programming Online Test https: //www.tutorialspoint.com/cprogramming/ cprogramming_online_test.htm
- C Programming Test https://www.indiabix.com/ online-test/c-programming-test/
- C Online Test https://www.testdome.com/tests/ c-online-test/62

The free Function	Recursive Functions
Fill in the blanks to allocate memory and then free the memory allocated by malloc().	Fill in the blanks to define a recursive function for calculating the factorial of n:
<pre>int * ptr = malloc(10); free (ptr);</pre>	<pre>int fact(int n) { if (n == 1)</pre>
Well done!	Well done!
Figure 7: Enter	ing your answer.
Which choice indicates a single-line comment?	Fill in the blanks to print the numbers 0 through 5 using the do-while loop:
##single line comment	int c = 0;
**single line comment	do {
//single line comment	<pre>printf("%d", c);</pre>
	} while (c <= 5) ;
Well done!	Well done!
Figure 8: 1	Module test.
Certification We are happy to present your certificat	e to you for completing this course.
	Claim Certificate



- 4. C Quiz | C Online Test https://www.javatpoint. com/c-quiz (figure 13)
- 5. C Online Test http://www.pskills.org/c.jsp (figure 14)
- 6. Online C Programming Test Free MCQ's to test your C Skills https://data-flair.training/blogs/

online-c-programming-test/

- 7. C Online Quiz Test https://codescracker.com/ exam/showtest.php?subid=2 (figure 15)
- 8. C Programming Online Test https://www. jobstron.com/c-programming-online-test

It should be noted here that some of the tests are

The Use of ICT of Educational Purposes in the Independent Work of Students in the Study of the Basics of Programming by Future Software Engineers



Figure 10: Certificate.

generalized for the entire course C (1, 3 - hereinafter, respectively, the number of the means for testing), and the other part is a set of tests on topics <math>(2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8). Note that these tests are divided into topics in different ways. Some services offer detailed breakdowns into topics (2, 4, 5, 6), while others are superficial and cover only selected topics.

Here it should be noted that, again, the decision of teachers, to pass tests covering most topics, may be accompanied by additional motivation in the form of additional points instead of lost ones (for late delivery, for example, laboratory work).

In addition to all of the above for independent work, students are offered a parallel study of various programming languages. To do this, students are offered the same resources, only with an emphasis on a different programming language. Also, dual education started this year at the Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University. Its essence lies in the fact that in the course of studying the basics of programming in the 1st semester, students can study object-oriented programming in courses from ISM Ukraine. As a result of taking these courses, students were asked to have an interview on theoretical material with the course teacher and subject teachers at the university, and as a result, receive an appropriate grade in the next subject. This contributes to the development of the selforganization of students, the organization of their employment, and usually the use of various additional means for self-study.

It should be noted that the list of proposed ICTs for teaching the basics of programming was formed by the authors as a result of their many years of experience (Vakaliuk et al., 2020, 2021) and other their works, as well as preliminary scientific research on the selection of appropriate learning tools. Therefore, the each teacher can choose the range of information and communication technologies for teaching independently. In particular, as you know, now there

Table 1: Comparative distribution of students from the CG and the EG by the level of educational achievements in the fundamentals of programming at the beginning and end of the pedagogical experiment.

Level of academic	Before		After	
achievement	CG	EG	CG	EG
Beginner (1-59)	10	10	9	5
Average (60-73)	25	27	21	10
Sufficient (74-89)	21	19	24	33
High (90-100)	9	8	11	16
Total	65	64	65	64

are many games and simulators for learning programming languages. The only drawback in our case is that there are no such tools specifically for learning the C language. However, if the basics of programming in some higher education institutions are studied on the example of another programming language, the use of such games contributes to even greater interest and motivation of students.

In addition, another tool for effective independent work of students we see Gitlab, which on the basis of the Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University is used not only in classroom work, but also in extracurricular activities. Thus, in cooperation with ISM Ukraine, on the basis of this institution of higher education began to implement the so-called program "Code Review", in which employees of IT companies provide their recommendations to students to successfully improve their own laboratory work. All this is done within the framework of using the Gitlab service for successful communication of all members of the educational process.

To test the effectiveness of the implementation of a number of information and communication technologies of education in the independent work of students in the study of the discipline "Fundamentals of Programming", a pedagogical experiment was conducted based on the Zhytomyr Polytechnic State University, which consisted in comparing the learning outcomes according to the traditional method of teaching the basics of programming and the author's using a number of information and communication technologies of education in the independent work of students.

For this, the applicants for the education of 1 year of study were divided into the EG and the CG (experimental and control groups, respectively). In the CG, training was carried out according to the traditional method, and in the EG – using a number of information and communication technologies of education in the independent work of students.

Statistical data of the EG and CG before and after the experiment are presented in table 1 and figure 16.

To test the statistical equivalence (to the exper-

About Courses Discussion Practice Blog PRO	よ Sign Up 🛛 🗗 Login
Introduction Lefs start I am data Operators Decide tiffelse Loop and loop Decide and loop Decide and loop My functions Basics of C Array	CODESDOPE PRO Irs Simple and Conceptual with Chance for Internship* Pro Course Features Simple Videos Questions to Practice Solved Examples Internship Chance* Certificate of Competion Discussion with Exarts
String Pre-processor Now let's start from where we left off, 'The Hello World' code. Figure 11: https://www.codesdope.com/c-lets-start/	Learn for FREE
A https://www.codingeek.com/c-programming-tutorials/	☆ ♡ ⊻ ◙ @ ♥ ⊕ •
NOW TRENDING: PYTHON PROGRAM TO DISPLA PYTHON PROGRAM TO FIND A EASIEST WAY TO REVERSE A MULTIPLE WAYS TO FIN	D SU
CODINGEEK	PUZZLES SQL HOW TO FORUM
C Programming tutorials	C Programming Tutorials Introduction to C Flow Control in C Arrays in C Functions in C Fointers in C Strings in C Strings in C
These tutorials include a series of well-written and tested tutorials for the C Programming language	> Files in C
	> IO in C
It starts with the very basics explanations and will take you to the deeper levels of the programming concepts including data types, loops, functions, pointers, arrays, header files, file operations, IO operations, strings, console IO, etc.	> Additional topics
To Practice the C Language please follow the C Programming examples	Ask me something
Note :- All the tutorials already visited/read will be marked in red color.	
Introduction to C	Advertisement Queries? Do you want to put ads on our website or have some queries regarding it? Then drop us an email and reach visitors all over the world. Email - hiteshkumargarg+ads[at]gmail[dot]com
01 Beginning with C Programming Language – Write your first C program	Copying is a bad karma
02 How to run a C program without an IDE?	DMCA PROTECTED

Figure 12: https://www.codingeek.com/c-programming-tutorials/

iment) and statistical non-equivalence (after the experiment), the Pearson test was applied, the result of which was found:

was found that $\chi^2_{emp} = 0.36, \chi^2_{emp} < \chi^2_{0.05}$, therefore, the samples do not have statistically significant differences, and this means that the composition of students in the EG and CG is approxi-

• at the beginning of the pedagogical experiment, it

The Use of ICT of Educational Purposes in the Independent Work of Students in the Study of the Basics of Programming by Future Software Engineers



Figure 14: C Online Quiz Test.

\leftrightarrow \rightarrow C $rightharpoonup codescracker.com/examples$	m/showtest.php?subid=	-2		
	A			
		C	Online Quiz Test	:
All QUIZ LIST	Examine your skill in C, by giving the test. All C quiz tests are based on multiple choice questions (MCQs). After the completion of			
	any test, you can	review the answers (submitted	and correct) 😀	
Buthon Quiz	These tests are d the test and start	lesigned for both beginner and v	veteran, in the field of C . There is no i	need to register to start the test. Just choose
C Quiz	C Test I	-		10.11000
	C lest-l			TO MICUS
HTML Quiz	C Test-II			10 MCQs
	C Test-III			10 MCQs
JavaScript Quiz	C Test-IV			10 MCQs
Operating System Quiz	C Test-I			20 MCQs
Artificial Intelligence Quiz	C Test-II			20 MCQs
Data Science Quiz	C Test-III			20 MCQs
Data Structure Quiz	C Test-I			100 MCQs
Cyber Security Quiz	C Test-V			10 MCQs
loT Quiz	C Variables Tes	+ I		
	T. Vananiae Tae	Figure 15: C Onli	ine Quiz Test.	
35				
30				
25				
25				
20				
45				_
15				
10				
5 —				
0				
Beginn	er (1-59)	Average (60-73)	Sufficient (74-89)	High (90-100)

■ Before CG ■ Before EG ■ After CG ■ After EG

Figure 16: Comparative distribution of students in CG and EG according to the level of academic achievements in the fundamentals of programming at the beginning and end of the pedagogical experiment.

mately equivalent;

• at the end of the pedagogical experiment, it was found that $\chi^2_{emp} = 8.48, \chi^2_{emp} > \chi^2_{0.01}$ and this indicates that the samples have statistically significant differences at this stage.

Since the statistical data testify to the positive dynamics of a sufficient and high level of educational achievements in the experimental group at the end of the pedagogical experiment, which is confirmed experimentally, we can conclude that the experimental methodological system of teaching "Fundamentals of Programming" using a number of information and communication technologies of education in the independent work of students is more effective than the traditional one. The Use of ICT of Educational Purposes in the Independent Work of Students in the Study of the Basics of Programming by Future Software Engineers

3 CONCLUSIONS

When teaching the basics of programming to future software engineers, changes should be made to the curriculum of the discipline with the addition of a number of information and communication technologies of education for independent work. As the conducted pedagogical experiment showed, the use of a number of information and communication technologies of education in the independent work of students in teaching the basics of programming to future bachelors in software engineering helps to increase the level of student's educational achievements. In addition, as the students themselves point out, the use of various tools in the educational process contributes to their self-development, motivation, and interest, and helps to consolidate the acquired knowledge and skills. As for the prospects for further research, the authors see them in the search and development of new qualitatively new learning tools for the basics of programming.

REFERENCES

- Bennett, R. and Kent, M., editors (2017). Massive Open Online Courses and Higher Education What Went Right, What Went Wrong and Where to Next? Taylor & Francis.
- Huangqing, L. and Yanping, X. (2021). Online teaching research on college physics by using different teaching tools. *Physics Education*, 56(3):035007. https: //doi.org/10.1088/1361-6552/abdee1.
- Kaempf, S. and Finn, C. (2019). Teaching International Relations through the Format of a Massive Open Online Course (MOOC). *International Studies Perspectives*, 22(1):1–24. https://doi.org/10.1093/isp/ekz025.
- Kovalenko, O. and Palamarchuk, Y. (2018). Algorithms of Blended Learning in IT Education. In 2018 IEEE 13th International Scientific and Technical Conference on Computer Sciences and Information Technologies (CSIT), volume 1, pages 382–386. https: //doi.org/10.1109/STC-CSIT.2018.8526605.
- Lebedeva, M. (2021). Instructional Design of Skill-Balanced LMOOC: a Case of the Russian Language MOOC for Beginners. *Journal of Universal Computer Science*, 27(5):485–497. https://doi.org/10.3897/jucs. 67136.
- Ling, V., Sotnikova, L., Rodionova, I., Vasilets, I., Zavjalova, O., Fedorovskaya, V., and Datkova, E. (2020). Online educational resources for students and digital barrier. *TEM Journal*, 9(1):373–379. https://doi.org/ 10.18421/TEM91-51.
- Mesquita, A. and Peres, P., editors (2015). Furthering Higher Education Possibilities through Massive Open Online Courses. IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/ 978-1-4666-8279-5.

- Naji, K., Ibriz, A., and Mourdi, Y. (2020). Adoption of MOOCs by Emerging Countries Seeking Solutions to University Overcrowding: Literature Review and Feedback from the First Scientific MOOC Held by Sidi Mohammed Ben Abdullah University – Fez, Morocco. International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning (iJET), 15(22):78–103. https://doi. org/10.3991/ijet.v15i22.16945.
- Seidametova, Z., Abduramanov, Z., and Seydametov, G. (2022). Hackathons in computer science education: monitoring and evaluation of programming projects. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(1):20–34. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.5.
- Semerikov, S., Striuk, A., Striuk, L., Striuk, M., and Shalatska, H. (2020). Sustainability in Software Engineering Education: A case of general professional competencies. *E3S Web of Conferences*, 166:10036. https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/202016610036.
- Sololearn (2023). Introduction to C. https://www.sololearn. com/learn/courses/c-introduction.
- Syvyi, M. J., Mazbayev, O. B., Varakuta, O. M., Panteleeva, N. B., and Bondarenko, O. V. (2020). Distance learning as innovation technology of school geographical education. In Burov, O. Y. and Kiv, A. E., editors, *Proceedings of the 3rd International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 13, 2020*, volume 2731 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 369–382. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2731/paper22.pdf.
- Vagaeva, O. A., Galimullina, N. M., Liksina, E. V., Efremkina, I. N., and Lomakin, D. E. (2021). Role of MOOCs in teaching Mathematics to students majoring in Engineering. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1889(2):022043. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/ 1889/2/022043.
- Vakaliuk, T., Spirin, O., and Kontsedailo, V. (2021). Criteria for selecting open web-oriented technologies for teaching the basics of programming to future software engineers. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(1):3. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.16.
- Vakaliuk, T. A., Yefimenko, A., Bolotina, V., Bailiuk, Y., Pokotylo, O., and Didkivska, S. (2020). Using Massive Open Online Courses in Teaching the Subject "Computer Networks" to the Future IT Specialists. In Sokolov, O., Zholtkevych, G., Yakovyna, V., Tarasich, Y., Kharchenko, V., Kobets, V., Burov, O., Semerikov, S., and Kravtsov, H., editors, *Proceedings* of the 16th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kharkiv, Ukraine, October 06-10, 2020, volume 2732 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 665–676. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-2732/20200665.pdf.
- Waks, L. J. (2016). The Evolution and Evaluation of Massive Open Online Courses: MOOCs in Motion. The Cultural and Social Foundations of Education. Palgrave Pivot, New York. https://doi.org/10.1057/ 978-1-349-85204-8.

The Modern STEM Center as a Perspective Educational Resource for Undergraduate Science and Mathematics Training

Mariana M. Kovtoniuk¹¹, Olena M. Soia¹, Oksana St. Turzhanska¹, Olena P. Kosovets¹, and Ivanna M. Leonova¹

¹Vinnytsia Mykhailo Kotsiubynskyi State Pedagogical University, 32 Ostrozhskogo Str., Vinnytsia, 21100, Ukraine kovtonyukmm@vspu.edu.ua, soia.om@vspu.edu.ua, turganskaoksana@gmail.com, kosovets.op@vspu.edu.ua, ivannaleonova6@gmail.com

- Keywords: Natural Sciences and Mathematics Education, STEM Education, STEM Center, Education of Pedagogical Workers.
- Abstract: The development of education in the field of STEM as an innovative direction of science and mathematics education in Ukraine is carried out through the effective use of STEM methods as tools for learning, career guidance of pupils/student youth, training, retraining or advanced training of scientific and pedagogical workers. The article analyzes trends in the development of education in the field of STEM as one of the key fields of research worldwide from the point of view of geospatial focus, main disciplinary areas, methodological and theoretical assumptions in the formation of research and STEM education practices. The regulatory and legal field of the implementation of the state program of the STEM field in Ukraine has been studied. The article focuses on effective pedagogical strategies of STEM education from the standpoint of creating a STEM center as a perspective educational resource for undergraduate science and mathematics training at the Vinnytsia Mykhailo Kotsiubynskyi State Pedagogical University. The key performance indicators of the STEM center "Educational and Scientific Training Center for Computer Science and Computer Mathematics" have been determined. The popularization of STEM education among young people, teachers of general secondary education institutions and teachers of higher education institutions thanks to holding meetings in the direction of STEM education with leading specialists of Delphi Software, an expert of Panasonic is described. The experience of the functioning of the STEM center based on the Department of Mathematics and Computer Science is highlighted. Innovative forms of implementing STEM education to attract young people to educational, practical and scientific research activities are considered. The effectiveness of the work of the "Educational and Scientific Training Center for Computer Science and Computer Mathematics" is evidenced by the achievements of university students in various Olympiads, competitions, and presentations at conferences. Pedagogical research on the perception by respondents of the functions performed by the STEM center was analyzed using factor analysis. Factor analysis was performed using principal component analysis and varimax rotation (Varimax Normalized). The optimal number of factors and their statistical significance were checked according to the Kaiser criterion.

1 INTRODUCTION

Ukraine, integrating into the European and world educational space, strives to reform the modern education system for the versatile training of highly competent education seekers who are able to demonstrate relevant learning results of theoretical and applied con-

- ^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7444-1234
- ^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0937-299X
- ° https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2636-354X
- d https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8577-3042
- e https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0319-1370

tent. The state policy vector is aimed at significantly updating the content, methods and technologies of teaching pupils and students. Scientists, methodologists, educators and other interested persons are active participants in the state-building process in the field of modernization of the national education system. Therefore, relying on the experience of such countries as Australia, Great Britain, Israel, China, Korea, Singapore, the USA and others, Ukraine joins the world practice of introducing education in the field of STEM as an innovative direction of the development of science and mathematics education.

658

Kovtoniuk, M., Soia, O., Turzhanska, O., Kosovets, O. and Leonova, I.

The Modern STEM Center as a Perspective Educational Resource for Undergraduate Science and Mathematics Training. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 658-674 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

Note that the acronym STEM is used to denote a popular direction in education, which includes natural sciences (Science), technology (Technology), technical creativity (Engineering) and mathematics (Mathematics) (IMZO, 2018a). Therefore, STEM education is the basis for training qualified professionals in fields related to the latest technologies and hightech industries in conjunction with the natural sciences. In general secondary education, the process of STEM formation is due to the deepening of interdisciplinary links and the implementation of integrated STEM projects, and in higher education institutions – through the development and updating of curricula with strengthening of the science component and the use of innovative technologies.

Developed countries have been implementing government programs in the field of STEM education for many years. In Ukraine, the Institute for Modernization of Educational Content has established a department of STEM education in which the following sectors (IMZO, 2018b) operate: innovative forms and methods of teachers, scientific and methodological support of STEM education, research of educational processes. Specialists of the department deal with practical issues of analysis of the process of development and dynamics of development, identification of problems and forecasting of further trends in the implementation of STEM education; providing scientific and methodological support for experimental innovation activities, providing practical assistance to educational institutions implementing STEM majors; carrying out various activities to train and improve the skills of teachers in educational activities in the field of STEM education, providing them with professional methodological assistance in the organization of STEM training; coordinating the activities of working groups of scientists, educators and specialists in STEM education and establishing communication links with the structures of the education sector, stakeholders and other institutions in the regions; initiation, attraction of resources and funds, coordination, organization of educational projects, publications, presentations during educational events of various levels aimed at promoting STEM learning and career guidance among students, dissemination of experience and achievements of STEM education and other important tasks, absent which a systematic approach to the implementation of STEM education is difficult to imagine.

The legal field for the development of STEM direction in domestic education includes Orders of the Ministry of Education and Science of February 29, 2016 № 188 "On the establishment of a working group on the implementation of STEM education

in Ukraine" (Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine, 2016), of May 17, 2017 № 708 "On research and experimental work at the national level on the topic: "Scientific and methodological principles of creation and operation of the All-Ukrainian scientific and methodological virtual STEM center" for 2017-2021" (Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine, 2021) and from April 29 2020 № 574 "On approval of the Standard list of teaching aids and equipment for classrooms and STEM laboratories" (Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine, 2020), Order of the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine of August 5, 2020 № 960-r "On approval of the Concept of development of natural and mathematical education (STEM education)" (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2020) (hereinafter - the Concepts), the implementation of which is scheduled for 2027, and a number of orders and letters of the Institute for Modernization of Educational Content, other official documents and guidelines, collegial decisions and responses measures regulating the provision of educational services in Ukraine.

In particular, the main goal of the Concept is "to promote the development of natural sciences and mathematics education (STEM education) as a basis for competitiveness and economic growth of our country, the formation of new competencies of citizens, training new generations capable of learning and developing and using new technologies". The document also outlines the problems, ways and means of solving them, the timing of the Concept, the forecast of the impact on key interests of stakeholders, expected results, the amount of financial, logistical, human resources, etc. Accordingly, the following are defined: the purpose of natural sciences and mathematics education (STEM education) and current competencies in the labor market, which should be formed through the development of appropriate teaching methods and training programs; principles, main tasks and priority directions of its development at the levels - primary (preschool, out-ofschool, primary education), basic (basic secondary, out-of-school education), profile (profile secondary, out-of-school, professional (vocational) education), higher / professional (Higher Education). "Natural sciences and mathematics education (STEM education) in Ukraine can be implemented through all types of education, namely: formal, non-formal, informal (on online platforms, in STEM centers / laboratories (including virtual), by conducting tours, quests, tournaments, competitions, Olympiads, festivals, workshops, events, during which specialists in the field of software development work on solving a problem, creating new computer programs)" (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2020).

Thus, an integral component of science and mathematics education (STEM education) is the creation of a network of modern STEM centers as promising educational resources (including virtual ones), the activities of which should be aimed at: organizing science-oriented project and research activities of education seekers with the use of high-tech teaching aids, innovative education models, their development and approval; popularization of the results of inventive, science-oriented activities and development of pupils/students creativity, critical thinking skills; professional improvement and growth of scientificpedagogical and pedagogical workers, deepening of their professional training in a way acceptable to them, including using distance learning technologies.

Because STEM centers can be equipped with "general secondary education institutions, as well as vocational (technical) and professional higher education institutions that provide complete general secondary education, as well as higher education institutions that train teachers" (Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine, 2020). Therefore, in the framework of the Concept we consider it expedient to create a STEM center as an educational resource for training in the context of the development of natural and mathematical education (STEM education) on the basis of Vinnytsia Mykhailo Kotsiubynskyi State Pedagogical University.

The goal is to determine the key functions and effectiveness of the STEM center on the basis of Vinnytsia Mykhailo Kotsiubynskyi State Pedagogical University.

Main tasks:

- to carry out an analysis of trends in the development of education in the field of STEM based on the practical experience of scientists from different countries;
- to investigate the regulatory and legal field of implementation of the state program of the STEM field in Ukraine;
- to popularize STEM education among young people, teachers of general secondary education institutions and teachers of higher educational institutions thanks to the experience of the operation of the STEM center "Educational and Scientific Training Center for Computer Science and Computer Mathematics" on the basis of the Department of Mathematics and Computer Science of the Vinnytsia Mykhailo Kotsiubynskyi State Pedagogical University;
- to determine the purpose of the operation of the STEM center for junior year students and pupils, teachers of general secondary education institu-

tions, to determine the key indicators that affect the development of education in the field of STEM as an innovative direction of the development of science and mathematics education in Ukraine;

- conducting events in the direction of STEM education to attract scientific and pedagogical workers to the use of new technologies, as well as their training, retraining or advanced training for the effective use of STEM methods as tools for training and career guidance of pupils/students;
- to verify the pedagogical research on the perception by respondents of the functions that will be performed by the STEM center, based on the results of the scientific experiment by means of factor analysis;
- to describe the prospects of further research of the STEM center "Educational and Scientific Training Center for Computer Science and Computer Mathematics" on the basis of the Department of Mathematics and Computer Science of Vinnytsia Mykhailo Kotsiubynskyi State Pedagogical University.

2 LITERATURE REVIEW

The analysis of trends in the development of STEM education based on practical experience shows that STEM education is one of the key areas of research worldwide. A critical review of the transdisciplinary point of view on geospatial focus, main disciplinary areas, methodological and theoretical assumptions in the formation of research and practice of STEM education is presented in the article (Takeuchi et al., 2020). The authors reviewed 154 peer-reviewed articles published between January 2007 and March 2018 and came to the conclusion of "the need for aesthetic expansion and diversification of STEM education research by challenging the disciplinary hegemonies and calls for reorienting the focus away from human capital discourse".

In the world educational practice there is a serious problem of inconsistency of indicators for STEM programs in higher education in different countries of the world. Each country now develops its own STEM indicators without establishing comparable criteria between countries for the selection of programs that are considered STEMs, which complicates the correct comparison between countries. Maldonado et al. (Maldonado et al., 2020) propose a criterion for selecting STEM programs to create internationally comparable data through a conceptual and contextual socio-historical review of the STEM movement.

There is considerable interest in STEM education and major projects in the development of STEM curricula around the world. Therefore, efforts should be made to increase the number of STEM teachers through the proper and effective professional development of teachers. Jong et al. (Jong et al., 2021) propose to enable researchers and practitioners in the field of STEM education to implement a scientific platform to reflect on the problems and obstacles faced by STEM teachers, as well as to share new theoretical and practical knowledge gained from empirical research on program design, implementation and evaluation, professional development to develop the potential of teachers in STEM education.

Exploring the mentoring model for teacher education, Yabaş and Boyaci (Yabaş and Boyaci, 2022) considered the STEM program for young researchers and practitioners, which aimed to integrate STEM integrated learning knowledge into the teacher training process. Content analysis showed that awareness of STEM education, development of integrated learning skills and program elements were relevant topics in the program experience.

Toma and Retana-Alvarado (Toma and Retana-Alvarado, 2021) considered the issue of improving teachers' perceptions of STEM education. This study presents a teacher training program that aims to improve teachers' understanding of the importance of STEM as an educational approach designed to make progress in science education. The results of the implementation of six different STEM models are presented, ranging from the simplest (for example, STEM as an abbreviation) to more developed models that meet current definitions (for example, STEM as an educational integration of four disciplines).

Santangelo et al. (Santangelo et al., 2021) described a multi-institution, multidisciplinary approach to transforming undergraduate STEM education. "It is founded upon three strong theoretical frameworks: Communities of Transformation, systems design for organizational change, and emergent outcomes for the diffusion of innovations in STEM education... While the systemic transformation of STEM higher education is challenging, the (STEM) Network directly addresses those challenges by bridging disciplinary and institutional silos and leveraging the reward structure of the current system to support faculty as they work to transform this very system".

Dare et al. (Dare et al., 2021) show that all teacher participants viewed STEM education from an integrative perspective that fosters the development of 21st century skills, using real-world problems to motivate students; that teachers have varying ideas related to the STEM disciplines within integrated STEM instruction, which could assist teacher educators in preparing high-quality professional development experiences. Findings related to real-world problems, 21st century skills, and STEM careers provide a window into how to best support teachers to include these characteristics into their teaching more explicitly.

The study by AlMuraie et al. (AlMuraie et al., 2021) aimed to recognize upper-secondary school science teachers' perceptions of the meaning, importance, and integrating mechanisms of science, technology, engineering, math (STEM) education, taking into account the differences between the science teachers' perceptions according to their specialties, years of experience, and degrees. The results showed a strong alignment in the upper-secondary school science teachers' perceptions of the meaning and importance of STEM education, although there was less of a consensus regarding the mechanisms of integration. Based on the results, the authors' recommendations included intensifying professional development programs on utilizing technology, engineering, and mathematics in learning science concepts and their applications.

Carmona-Mesa et al. (Carmona-Mesa et al., 2020) shows the experience of integrating mathematics with physics and technology through mathematical modeling. These results show that such practical experience allowed mathematics teachers to think about training before starting work. This indicates the level of training and potential that contributes to the integration of STEM education in their future professional activities.

There is a broad consensus on the need to promote scientific literacy and promote the full development of students' competence in education. The toolkit for this is interdisciplinarity, the continuous questioning of traditional teaching methods due to their ineffectiveness. Ortiz-Revilla et al. (Ortiz-Revilla et al., 2022) proposed a theoretical basis for integrated scientific, technical, engineering and mathematical (STEM) education, built a consistent model that can contribute to the development of coherent integrated education STEM, gave an example of real application of this theoretical framework in developing, implementing and evaluating didactic block STEM.

Using the cognitive neuroscientific paradigm of spatial navigation, Li and Wang (Li and Wang, 2021) investigate the spatial cognitive process in STEM students and its role in STEM education is studied. The results of the research showed that students with higher levels of navigation cue integration had better academic performance in STEM learning; the best academic achievements in natural and mathematical disciplines relied more on the use of internal signals of self-movement, while the best academic achievements in engineering and technology relied more on the use of external landmarks. Research sheds some light on the spatial cognitive process and its role in STEM education from the cognitive neuroscience perspective, thus deepening the functional understanding of spatial ability as a systemic source of individual differences for STEM education, and provides an empirical reference point for interdisciplinary studies on the role of cognition in the context of STEM education.

Research by Yıldırım (Yıldırım, 2022) investigated teachers' views of Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs) in STEM education. Participants use MOOCs because they are free of charge and have good content and high quality. MOOCs help them learn science, technology, engineering, and mathematics, gain professional knowledge, and develop skills, and positive attitudes and values. It is recommended that MOOCs be designed in such a way that they increase participants' motivation and allow for feedback.

Mella-Norambuena et al. (Mella-Norambuena et al., 2021) analyzed the use of smartphones by students studying science, technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM) during the COVID-19 pandemic. Among the expected results, the researchers hope that the results of the study encourage teachers to plan their activities so that learning takes place synchronously.

The connection between learning and group work is often seen as obvious, but today's conditions require further study of the social organization of group work. Group work is an arena of learning in STEM education (Rusk and Rønning, 2020). Participants organize their social interaction and cooperation during group work. Important factors that may affect group work include access to physical resources, participants 'expressed knowledge and focus on participants' expressed knowledge, and access to new knowledge.

Lasica et al. (Lasica et al., 2019) review the project Enlivened Laboratories in Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (EL-STEM) and describe the possibilities of using augmented reality in STEM – education to attract students and increase their interest in EL-STEM, improve student performance in STEM – training. In addition, EL-STEM provides teachers with high-quality professional development opportunities to acquire knowledge and skills for the effective implementation of augmented and mixed reality (AR / MR) technologies in teaching and learning.

Rahman's results of the thematic analysis (Rahman, 2021) showed that the expected learning outcomes in robotics lessons are related not only to the educational achievements (content knowledge) observed in traditional learning, but also to the improvement of behavioral, social, scientific, cognitive and intellectual opportunities and abilities of students. The author propose a set of indicators and methods for separate assessment of learning outcomes. The results of the study of educators and teachers showed the approval of participants in the educational process, the effectiveness and suitability of indicators and assessment methods. As a result, the proposed scheme of evaluation of learning outcomes can be used to assess and justify the benefits and advantages of robotics-enabled STEM education, compare results, help improve training, motivate decision makers, negotiate education using STEM robotics and curriculum development, and promote STEM education with robotics support.

Chang and Chen's research (Chang and Chen, 2022) aimed to study psychomotor productivity and perception on the basis of practical STEM training in task-oriented educational robotics. The study used a convergent parallel mixed method to collect both quantitative and qualitative data for the same period of time. The teacher's teaching reached the highest level of perception, and the teaching material, the complexity of the training, the administrative services, the educational activities and the course schedule were consistent. Chang and Chen (Chang and Chen, 2022) has confirmed that a practical approach to task-oriented STEM learning is effective for teaching students educational robotics. Finally, the study offers values and recommendations for working in robotics.

Sari et al. (Sari et al., 2022) argue that there is a need for practical classes on how to develop algorithmic thinking and what activities and learning content can be used in lessons. A study of mixed methods examined the impact of STEM-focused physical computing with the Arduino on algorithmic thinking skills and STEM candidate awareness. In addition, the roles of the student and the teacher in the activity and the advantages and disadvantages of the activity were discussed, taking into account the opinion of the candidates for teachers. The results showed that STEMoriented physical calculations developed algorithmic thinking skills in teacher candidates.

Kovtoniuk and Didovyk (Kovtoniuk and Didovyk, 2018) note that in modern conditions for the successful training of future teachers of mathematics and physics there is an urgent need to design and implement innovative methods and technologies in the field of management and education. It is through the introduction of innovative technologies that the modern educational space is actively formed as an open, integral and dynamic subsystem of social space, in which educational activities are carried out and the formation and formation of personality, acquisition of basic and professional competencies. Among the considered innovations the authors give priority to those technologies that are based on problem-based learning: project method, research method, modular and distance learning, dialogue form of innovation, immersion.

Training in STEM centers is becoming increasingly important to meet new educational needs, caused mainly by the high speed with which new technologies have been entering our lives in recent years. Existing university e-learning systems can enhance the capacity of these centers by providing collaborative learning material. Stoyanov et al. (Stoyanov et al., 2022) presents a distributed educational platform that supports the sharing of educational material at the university and in STEM centers in secondary schools. Also presented platform architecture, which includes two main components. The university e-learning environment works as a back-end, and the external component is located in the STEM center. In addition, Stoyanov et al. (Stoyanov et al., 2022) consider the implemented prototype of the platform. The use of the platform is demonstrated by two educational games. The platform is expanded with four educational robots to increase the attractiveness of the educational process.

Fedoniuk et al. (Fedoniuk et al., 2021) has shown that the process of STEM projects development requires solving many organizational, psychologicalpedagogical, educational-methodical issues: development of appropriate educational-methodical support, formation of culture of research work, development of creative abilities, cognitive and creative activity of listeners, formation of individual style of their scientific activities. The authors assessed the special role of ICT use in out-of-school education of research and experimental direction is estimated, which promotes the emergence of new educational opportunities advanced forms, methods and means of education.

Rushton and King (Rushton and King, 2020) suggest that play has an important pedagogical role in informal STEM activities, including making, when it is grounded in free-choice exploration and imagination. Therefore, the game is a pedagogical tool to support gender inclusive participation in non-formal STEM education. They identify that play has three key affordances, namely: (1) play can provide structure, (2) play is considered to be synonymous with openended science inquiry, and, (3) play can enable gender inclusive STEM spaces through promoting freechoice (Rushton and King, 2020).

Zhu (Zhu, 2020) described effective pedagogical strategies for STEM Education from Instructors' Perspective. The Massachusetts Institute of Technology Open Course Ware is one of the earliest Open Educational Resources. The most effective pedagogical strategies used by teachers were active learning, personalization of learning, involvement of students, providing feedback, creating a learning community and clarifying the purpose of learning. Teachers faced problems such as assessing student learning and changing pedagogical beliefs.

Soia et al. (Soia et al., 2021) presents the general characteristics of mobile technologies and means of teaching STEM education in institutions of general secondary and higher pedagogical education. The model of using mobile educational environments in the process of teaching students of pedagogical institutions of higher education as a system combination of target, content, technological and effective structural blocks is presented. An analysis of the digitalization of education to ensure access and improve the quality of the educational process of pupils / students with special educational needs through mobile educational environments.

The overall aim of paper by Ortiz-Revilla et al. (Ortiz-Revilla et al., 2020) is to establish an initial framework for philosophical discussion, to help analyse the aims and discourse of integrated STEM education, and consider the implications that adopting any particular epistemological view might have on the aims for general education, and on the construction of science curricula oriented towards citizenship and social justice. Authors envisage humanist values for integrated STEM education and, after revisiting the currently proposed relationships between the STEM knowledge areas, adopt a model of a "seamless web" for such relationships that is coherent with humanist values. A few issues emerging from this model are addressed through the lens of the so-called "family resemblance approach", a framework from the field of research on the nature of science, in order to identify some potential central features of "nature of STEM".

Ross et al. (Ross et al., 2022) examined the responses of STEM academics in higher education to educational reform of the academic role using the theoretical construct of resilience and Bronfenbrenner's socio-ecological model. Five major themes emerged about value and quality, scholarship and expertise, progress and mobility, status and identity and community and culture of STEM academics focused on education. Therefore more attention on the direction and reciprocal relationships in the socio-ecological model of higher education is needed in order for educational reform in higher education STEM to be effective.

McGee (McGee, 2020) conducted research and critical analysis of structural racism in STEM higher education. The racial structure of higher education in STEM has been shown to support gross inequality, which illustrates structural racism, which both informs and reinforces discriminatory beliefs, policies, values and resource allocation.

Tandrayen-Ragoobur and Gokulsing (Tandrayen-Ragoobur and Gokulsing, 2022) investigated the presence of potential gender disparities in admission to higher education STEM. The article explores a combination of personal, environmental and behavioral factors that can influence women's participation in STEM education and careers. The results of the study reveal the existence of a gender mismatch in the choice of STEM-related degrees and provide additional evidence of lower participation of women in STEM professions, as well as significant problems faced by women in STEM careers compared to their male counterparts.

Kara et al. (Kara et al., 2021) assessed the impact of class size on the academic performance of university students, distinguishing between areas of STEM and non-STEM. The authors investigated the heterogeneity of the effect in terms of socioeconomic status, abilities and gender of students, finding that smaller classes are especially useful for students with low socioeconomic level, and within STEM areas for students with higher abilities and male students.

Davey et al. (Davey et al., 2021) considered individual-oriented approaches to accessibility in STEM education. "Building on discipline-based education research (DBER) principles in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) education, a modified holistic approach is proposed that primarily centers on students and tailors the teaching methods to the needs of individuals and the dynamic of the whole class". Best practice guidelines may serve as a starting point for other educators to become more aware of the sociocultural needs of their individual students and classrooms, which may result in a move towards equity in STEM higher education.

Bittinger et al. (Bittinger et al., 2021) investigated the career aspirations of high school students, modeling the probability that students with individualized education programs (IEPs) aspire to a STEM career. The results did not show any differences in STEM career aspirations, lower math and science identities for students with IEPs, and proportionally more students with ADHD aspiring to STEM careers.

Through the analysis of scientific and methodological sources, it was found that the introduction of education in the field of STEM is relevant for Ukraine and is rapidly gaining popularity. This is evidenced by numerous studies and publications (Bilyk et al., 2022; Botuzova, 2018; Burak and Holovko, 2021; Hrynevych et al., 2021; Kramarenko et al., 2020; Lukychova et al., 2022; Martyniuk et al., 2021a,b; Mintii, 2023; Morze et al., 2022; Oleksiuk and Oleksiuk, 2022; Pylypenko, 2020; Shapovalov et al., 2019a,b, 2020; Valko et al., 2020). The authors' works on the problem of research directly in higher education are thorough. In particular, Balyk and Shmyher (Balyk and Shmyher, 2017) characterize the main approaches and features of modern STEM education, determine promising steps in the implementation of STEM training at Ternopil Volodymyr Hnatiuk National Pedagogical University through the creation of STEM center "Digital Scholars" at the Department of Computer Science and Teaching Methods; Botuzova (Botuzova, 2018) reveals competence and STEM approaches in the professional training of future teachers of mathematics; Tsinko (Tsinko, 2017) emphasizes that the training of teachers of the new format in higher pedagogical educational institutions should be carried out from the standpoint of the introduction of STEM education in Ukraine; Podliesnyi and Tarasov (Podliesnyi and Tarasov, 2019) describe the relevance of the use of STEM-STEAM-STREAM technologies in the field of engineering education.

3 METHODS

Theoretical analysis of research works and resources containing materials about current realities and promising areas of STEM center as an educational resource of STEM education contributes to the development and implementation of STEM center for training in the context of natural sciences and mathematics education (STEM education) on the basis of Vinnytsia Mykhailo Kotsiubynskyi State Pedagogical University.

3.1 Theoretical Framework

In order for civil society to properly perceive the state initiative on STEM education, a number of efforts should be made to reduce obstacles to its successful development. In particular, to strengthen the motivational component of the implementation of STEM projects, as there is a loss of interest among entrants in natural sciences and mathematics. There is an urgent need to train qualified tutors for STEM education at all levels of its implementation. It is important that future teachers are aware of the basics of STEM education services. Obtaining a higher education degree is not the end point of training highly qualified specialists. Due to the rapid development of modern science and new technologies, graduate subject teachers are in a state of constant professional development and regularly need training in the field of science and mathematics education (STEM education), and novice teachers also need mentorship from experienced colleagues. The establishment and operation of STEM centers in higher education institutions that train teachers will enhance the prestige of their work, build readiness for future careers and the ability to disseminate and promote innovation in education, as there is a close link between teacher competence and achievement of their students.

One of the key factors influencing the development of STEM education as an innovative direction in the development of science and mathematics education in Ukraine is the lack of financial resources / funds needed to fully equip STEM centers - structural units of educational institutions established to provide science and mathematics education, organization and interaction of stakeholders (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2020). Another lever that determines the possibility of STEM learning activities is the training of research and teaching staff to use new technologies, as well as their training, retraining or advanced training for the effective use of STEM tools as tools for teaching and career guidance of students. Directly in front of those who seek to create a STEM center as a promising educational resource in their educational institution, the problem arises of developing integrated educational methods and educational programs aimed at the comprehensive development of the personality of pupils and students, the formation of algorithmic thinking and digital literacy in them, scientific and research and other skills presented in the Concept (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2020), as well as the organization of research-oriented activities of students using high-tech learning tools and innovative models of education, including for people with special educational needs.

The world is growing employment opportunities in science, technology, engineering and mathematics, ie in STEM areas. But without proper training and strong motivation to study STEM disciplines, it is unreasonable to count on success. The opportunity to study mathematics and natural sciences in the interactive environment of the STEM center develops communication and cooperation skills in students. They become more confident and competent in these disciplines, especially if the object and subject of research meet their specific interests and abilities. Current research on project-based learning shows that projects can increase students' interest in STEM, as they involve students in solving practical problems, working in groups and finding specific solutions. Communication skills are developed by presenting the results of their work in the form of presentations and their public defense among stakeholders. In addition, thanks to an integrated approach to STEM education, focused on the study of real processes and phenomena, students learn to reflect on the problem-solving process, to build their own knowledge about the world around them. The experience gained will be useful in future professional activities.

As an example, we offer the project "Mathematical modeling of real processes using differential equations". Training in our case is conditionally divided into 3 stages. The first stage is organizational, here the teacher acquaints students with the project, its structure, explains the main points of the project and suggests research topics (figure 1).

The second stage, in fact, is an independent work of the student. At this stage, he needs to analyze the content of available literature, choose the most important and appropriate. Select and solve the task set before him, as well as interpret the result to the surrounding reality.

The third stage is the design and defense of the results. Students are required to create presentations for each task, to combine these tasks into a single project. Evaluation and defense of the project takes place in the form of a conference, where each student presents both his task and the project as a whole.

The main novelty of this project is the acquaintance and application by students of the method of mathematical modeling.

Thus, mathematics gives us the apparatus that helps to explore as closely as possible the world around us, what we face every day, or what we can not explore with direct methods ("incomprehensible, unattainable"). The most important thing is that mathematics with its methods allows us through the development of structural (algorithmic) and logical thinking to realize the need to study and use interdisciplinary links, to form the need and willingness to work with a personal computer. Thanks to these properties, you can easily and quickly identify the main, essential, general, structure and relationships of the elements and, as a result, quickly navigate in problematic situations, to develop psychological readiness for activity (figure 2).

Since STEM education is an integration of several disciplines, it is necessary to develop an appropriate approach to their teaching and learning on the basis of STEM centers, to develop advanced training courses and professional skills through the coopera-



Figure 1: Structure of the project.

tion of university/school teachers and the involvement of specialists in high-tech industries in the educational process. Maximum efforts should be made to promote the expansion of scientific and research cooperation between educators, scientists, technologists, engineers and other stakeholders, which will contribute to the improvement of relationships and exchange of information between interested parties. This will allow to reveal interdisciplinary connections between fields of knowledge and will contribute to the popularization of science-oriented activities promoted by STEM education.

In order to get a new generation of highly skilled workers, it is necessary to update the content of natural, mathematical and technological educational fields. The Concept (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2020) defines "the essential role of mathematics in the integrative approach to the implementation of natural and mathematical education (STEM education), consistent, thorough, high-quality teaching". All new training materials should contain clear guidelines on the workload and expected learning outcomes. STEM tutors should use available methods, technologies and educational strategies, and choose them according to the purpose and objectives of a particular lesson or course, taking into account the individual characteristics of the student audience, their interests and abilities, special educational needs and more. Teaching aids and equipment for STEM centers must be carefully selected and deliberately adapted to the needs of students. Only in this way will all students have the opportunity to succeed. Therefore, classrooms should be conducive to learning. If the necessary tools are available in Ukrainian educational institutions in sufficient numbers, it will strengthen the ability of teachers to facilitate students' learning activities and improve the educational achievements of students. Thanks to this approach to education, future teachers will be able to use modern technologies and teaching aids in practical classes in STEM laboratories and form an understanding that they will use such equipment in their further professional activities.

3.2 Research Results and Discussion

Introduction of methodical decisions of STEM education in educational process of educational institutions allows to form in pupils, students the most important competences of the modern expert: ability to see and formulate a problem, ability to suggest ways of its decision, flexibility as ability to understand a new point of view and stability in defending the position, originality of ideas, ability to abstract, concretize, analyze and synthesize. The implementation of STEM education approaches presupposes that students learn about technology, field of knowledge and acquire practical skills at the same time. Early involvement of pupils and students in STEM can support not only the development of creative, technical thinking, but also contribute to better socialization of the individual, because it develops such skills as: cooperation, communication, creativity.

Extracurricular STEM education in Ukraine is a variety of competitions, events, activities of the Small Academy of Sciences, clubs, centers and more.

One of the ways to develop STEM education is the creation of appropriate centers in institutions of higher pedagogical education, which contributes to increasing interest in the study of natural and mathematical sciences among pupils, providing opportu-



Figure 2: Research project.

nities for high school pupils and students to develop research potential on the basis of a specially created scientific laboratory at the university and attracting the best school graduates to the student ranks of this higher education institution.

Within the framework of STEM education at Vinnytsia Mykhailo Kotsiubynskyi State Pedagogical University at the Department of Mathematics and Computer Science there is a STEM Center "Educational and Scientific Training Center for Computer Science and Computer Mathematics" for junior university students and school students, teachers of institutions of general secondary education. The purpose of the STEM center:

- motivation to study technical, natural and mathematical sciences;
- popularization of technical and natural science and mathematics specialties;
- training of a new generation capable of accepting the challenges of the future, transforming and producing new knowledge in any independent and group activity.

Classes in the STEM center are conducted using the educational technology "peer to peer" (students look at the experience of other students, and therefore more boldly and actively get involved in the work – "they did it and we will succeed too!").

The main objectives of the "Educational and Scientific Training Center for Computer Science and Computer Mathematics" are: involvement of young people in educational and practical and research activities; deepening the knowledge of pupils and students in technical and natural sciences; creating conditions for the development of creative activity of a young researcher; promoting students' professional self-determination; involvement of students in teaching activities, creation of creative research teams, preparation of the reserve of pedagogical university students, education of students' needs to constantly improve their knowledge of the chosen profession.

STEM center "Educational and Scientific Training Center for Computer Science and Computer Mathematics" on the basis of the Department of Mathematics and Computer Science has been operating since 2019. Classes are held twice a month for 2 hours on the basis of training laboratories of the Faculty of Mathematics, Physics and Computer Science of Vinnytsia Mykhailo Kotsiubynskyi State Pedagogical University and are open to visitors. The main types of classes – lectures, practical and laboratory classes, meetings with specialists in the field of informatics, teachers of general secondary education, participation in scientific and practical activities. Individual educational and research activities are combined with participation in scientific and practical activities.

The program of work of the "Educational and Scientific Training Center for Computer Science and Computer Mathematics" is prepared in advance, all members of the department, as well as members of the STEM center of previous years take part in its formation. The topics of the center's classes are reviewed
and updated at the beginning of the school year. The main principles that guide teachers and students in compiling the program are scientific, systematic, as well as personal approach. The high level of scientific knowledge is provided by the highly skilled scientific staff of the department, which has experience, its own traditions and history. Systematization is realized by the clear planning of group meetings, and individuality – in accordance with the content of group meetings to the interests of schoolchildren, students.

In 2019-2021 STEM center worked on the following modern areas of computer science: Python: tkinter library, Windows applications, Construct 2, game creation, Platformer, one-dimensional (multidimensional) arrays, modern methods of Web page layout, ways to use graphic images in applications with graphical interface (on Lazarus), Bezier and Hermit problems, practical application of knowledge and skills in mathematics and computer science to solve real problems on the example of Google, cryptography: Caesar cipher, Wiegener and RSA cipher, creating cyclic animation, importing images and audio.

It should be noted that the members of the STEM Center have repeatedly met with leading experts in the field of informatics. Thus, in 2019, an interesting report "Augmented Reality (Microsoft HoloLens)" was made by Matviishen, senior project manager of Delphi Software and demonstrated augmented reality with the latest developments in computer science. There was a meeting with the trainer of Intel "Learning for the Future", "Equal Access to Quality Education", Panasonic's interactive equipment expert, multiple winner and winner of the "Teacher-Innovator" competition, Microsoft trainer, Microsoft expert teacher Poida, who acquainted the members of the STEM center with the use of Microsoft services in educational activities.

In the modern realities of the forced transition to distance learning, members of the STEM center "Educational and Scientific Training Center for Informatics and Computer Mathematics" held a number of online classes in which schoolchildren and students participated. During the classes, the participants were provided with software for performing tasks on the subject of the corresponding class: "Actual trends in IT. Algorithms for solving problems"; "Creating loop animation. Import images and audio"; "Animation of particles"; "Python basics: one-dimensional (multidimensional) arrays" and others.

At the stage of empirical research, a questionnaire was used on the attitude of pupils/students to the main functions that should provide STEM-oriented educational environment to support the implementation of STEM-approach in the educational process. In order to study scientific and research interests, expectations from classes, and to determine the priority functions of the work of the STEM center, questionnaires and surveys of the participants of the STEM center are systematically conducted.

In order to determine the priority functions that should be provided by the STEM center "Educational and Scientific Training Center for Informatics and Computer Mathematics", we used the online survey method. The online survey was conducted using the Google Form tool. Participants of the STEM center were the respondents of the online survey. Since the respondents were students of a senior specialized school and students of junior courses, the survey was conducted according to one form of the questionnaire. Respondents were asked to rate the functions of the STEM center that we highlighted on a scale of significance (1-5 points) (access to the initial data of the questionnaire: https://u.to/qetDHA).

As a result of the study for data analysis we have fully completed 82 questionnaires.

We used factor analysis to determine the question and structure of respondents' perceptions of the functions to be performed by the STEM laboratory. Factor analysis allows to classify survey data in the form of factors and determine the most significant of them for respondents. In our research the obtained factor structures made it possible to identify the most important functions of the STEM laboratory for the respondents. Interpretation of the results of factor analysis was carried out taking into account the contributions of the variance of functions in total variance factor.

Factor analysis allows you to identify a number of key factors that are the basis of the structure of the survey data. Factor analysis was performed by the principal components analysis and varimax rotation (Varimax Normalized). The optimal number of factors and their statistical significance were tested by Kaiser's test. According to the Kaiser criterion, it is necessary to leave only those factors whose eigenvalues are greater than 1.0; factor load is considered significant if its absolute value is greater than 0.5. To determine the stability of the resulting factors, a single factor must contain at least two components.

The result of the selection of factors indicates that the 3-factor solution is optimal for the study data at a significance level of p smaller than 0.05 (table 1).

Summarizing the results of factor analysis, we can conclude that the function "Ensuring the mobility of students" does not belong to any factor, which indicates that this function is not significant for respondents in the functioning of STEM center.

The percentage of the total variance of each of the identified factors is determined, the results are shown

No	Function	Factor			
J1=	Function	Ι	II	III	
1	Ensuring learning mobility of pupils / students	-0.021	0.454	0.138	
2	Participation in competitions	0.789	0.047	0.112	
3	Assistance in conducting STEM research	0.815	0.091	-0.092	
4	Participation in competitions of student scientific works / MAS	0.697	0.031	0.187	
5	Development of algorithmic thinking of pupils / students	0.118	0.096	0.909	
6	Development of creative thinking of pupils / students	0.130	0.224	0.885	
7	Development of collective cooperation between pupils / students;	-0.314	0.801	0.068	
	teachers, professionals and employers				
8	Providing a combination of creativity and technical knowledge	0.239	0.201	0.701	
9	Emphasis on the integration of academic disciplines	0.496	0.751	-0.034	
10	Writing mathematical creative projects of applied direction	0.729	-0.016	0.153	

Table 1: Factor loads of STEM laboratory functions.

in table 2.

From table 2, the first factor explains the 62.661% variance of the functions and includes the following functions:

- "Participation in competitions" (factor load 0.789);
- "Assistance in conducting STEM-research" (factor load 0.815);
- "Participation in competitions of student research papers / IAS" (factor load 0.697);
- "Writing mathematical creative projects of applied direction" (factor load 0.729).

Summarizing the content of the functions included in the first factor, we can highlight a common feature – all of them to some extent demonstrate the desire of respondents to participate in research and feel in the role of scientists.

The second factor explains 30.753% of the variance and includes the following functions:

- "Development of collective cooperation between pupils / students; teachers, specialists and employers "(factor load – 0.801);
- "Emphasis on the integration of academic disciplines" (factor load 0.751).

For the functions included in the second factor, we can identify such a common feature – the deepening of cooperation between the parties to the educational process.

The third factor explains 49.819% of the variance and includes the following functions:

- "Development of algorithmic thinking of pupils / students" (factor load – 0.909);
- "Development of creative thinking of pupils / students" (factor load 0.885);

• "Ensuring a combination of creativity and technical knowledge" (factor load – 0.701).

For the functions of the third factor we can identify such a common feature – the formation of innovative thinking, mastering the tools of a creative approach to solving innovative problems.

Thus, the results of the factor analysis allowed us to identify the structure of the main factors in relation to the functions to be provided by the STEM laboratory. The most important factor is the one that includes functions that demonstrate the respondents' desire to participate in research. Therefore, in the planning of the work of the STEAM center, considerable attention is paid to the participation of pupils/students in Olympiads, competitions of student scientific works, and the small academy of sciences.

The analysis of the internal consistency of the questionnaire on the main functions to be provided by the STEM laboratory was carried out by determining the correlation between factors and its components (table 3).

The level of correlation between the components varies from very weak to moderate (from 0.27 to 0.47), which indicates a high level of discriminant validity of the questionnaire.

During the research, we studied the expediency and effectiveness of the operation of the STEM center in relation to educational, economic and social indicators.

The effectiveness of the work of the "Educational and Scientific Training Center for Computer Science and Computer Mathematics" in terms of educational indicators is evidenced by the achievements of pupils/students in various Olympiads, competitions, and presentations at conferences. Thus, significant success was achieved by students who took part in the II stage of the All-Ukrainian Student Olympiad in Programming (quarter finals of the ACM

Factor	Eigenvalue	Cumulative Eigenvalue	% Total variance	Cumulative %
Ι	1.284	6.266	6.266	62.661
II	3.075	3.075	30.753	30.753
III	1.907	4.982	4.982	49.819

Table 2: The cumulative variance is explained.

Nº 1	№ 2	<u>№</u> 3	№ 4	№ 5	№ 6	№ 7	№ 8	№ 9	№ 10
1.00	0.02	0.18	0.08	0.22	0.09	0.25	0.16	0.06	0.12
0.02	1.00	0.61	0.47	0.12	0.25	-0.21	0.18	0.24	0.43
0.18	0.61	1.00	0.42	0.12	0.00	-0.18	0.20	0.34	0.47
0.08	0.47	0.42	1.00	0.23	0.20	-0.16	0.21	0.29	0.41
0.22	0.12	0.12	0.23	1.00	0.71	0.10	0.14	0.12	0.22
0.09	0.25	0.00	0.20	0.71	1.00	0.18	0.35	0.20	0.21
0.25	-0.21	-0.18	-0.16	0.10	0.18	1.00	0.40	0.22	-0.14
0.16	0.18	0.20	0.21	0.14	0.35	0.40	1.00	0.39	0.15
0.06	0.24	0.34	0.29	0.12	0.20	0.22	0.39	1.00	0.38
0.12	0.43	0.47	0.41	0.22	0.21	-0.14	0.15	0.38	1.00
	№ 1 1.00 0.02 0.18 0.08 0.22 0.09 0.25 0.16 0.06 0.12	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $

Table 3: Correlation between the functions of the STEM laboratory.

ICPC World Championship) in the South-West region (2019). The VSPU-BreakOut team, consisting of Dmytro Boichuk, Svitlana Tkachenko, and Yuri Lyulko, took 1st place among the teams of pedagogical educational institutions and 2nd place among the teams of pedagogical educational institutions in the III (final) stage of the All-Ukrainian Student Programming Olympiad, Maria Levytska participated in the All-Ukrainian competition of student scientific works in mathematics and statistics and was awarded a diploma for significant achievements. Participant of the STEM center and student of the senior specialized school Iryna Turzhanska won the first place in the II stage and the III place in the III stage of the All-Ukrainian competition for the defense of research works of students who are members of the Small Academy of Sciences of Ukraine.

Using the method of surveying pupils/students, we have determined the competencies that, in their opinion, contribute to the formation of classes in the STEM center. According to the results of the survey, 96% of respondents chose the competence "development of technical culture", "acquiring experience of own design activity" – 85%, "acquiring experience of inventive activity" – 56%, "acquiring experience of research and experimental activity" – 65%, "development of design abilities" – 86%, "development of logical thinking" – 96%; "development of creative initiative and self-realization" – 98%.

The STEM center is free for pupils/students, so from the point of view of the economic effect, it contributes to the optimization of financial expenses by parents for extracurricular education of children in the direction of STEM. Among the social indicators related to the functioning of the STEM center, we single out the popularization of STEM education, increasing the prestige of science and mathematics professions.

4 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Introduction of methodical decisions of STEM education in educational process of educational institutions allows to form in pupils, students the most important competences of the modern expert: ability to see and formulate a problem, ability to suggest ways of its solution, flexibility as ability to understand a new point of view and stability in defending the position, originality of ideas, ability to abstract, concretize, analyze and synthesize. The implementation of STEM education approaches presupposes that students learn about technology, field of knowledge and acquire practical skills at the same time. Early involvement of pupils and students in STEM can support not only the development of creative, technical thinking, but also contribute to better socialization of the individual, because it develops such skills as: cooperation, communication, creativity.

As a result of the research, we highlighted the key performance indicators of the STEM center "Educational and Scientific Training Center for Computer Science and Computer Mathematics" at Vinnytsia Mykhailo Kotsiubynskyi State Pedagogical University:

• for the university: promotion of STEM education

among young people;

- for teachers: mastering modern technologies in demand in the labor market, awakening interest of students in the disciplines of the natural cycle, the disclosure of creative potential of youth, the search for talented youth, talents;
- for students: increasing competitiveness in the labor market through the mastery of modern technologies, participation in competitions, contests, competitions of student research papers;
- for teachers of general secondary education: providing methodological assistance on the implementation of STEM education in the educational process;
- for students of general secondary education institutions: participation in competitions, research contests of the Small Academy of Sciences of Ukraine, adaptation of future entrants to the conditions of student scientific activity; the opportunity to decide on the choice of a future profession, which will influence the choice of a higher education institution for further education and realization of a life trajectory;
- for parents: free participation of students in the projects of the STEM center will allow to optimize financial expenses from the family budget for extracurricular education in the STEM direction.

In the future, the STEM center plans to design and operate a laboratory for educational robotics.

It is planned that the main purpose of the laboratory of educational robotics will be:

- information and analytical work on topical issues of robotics in order to provide information to the educational process, strengthening its practical direction;
- use of software to control the electronics and mechanics of robots;
- collection of materials for research and preparation of publications in accordance with the scientific topics of the laboratory;
- 3D modeling and printing of prototypes and ready-made models of robots on a 3D printer;
- analysis of world practices in the field of robotics and information technology;
- organization and participation in scientific, educational and educational activities in the field of robotics.

On the basis of STEM laboratory in the future it is planned to conduct a training course on the organization of project-technological and interdisciplinary project activities, development of methods of STEM training, creation of interactive complexes for lessons, reports, lectures, laboratory and practical classes, presentations for studying natural sciences and mathematics.

The results of the pedagogical research on the perception of responders of the functions performed by the STEM center were analyzed by means of factor analysis. Factor analysis was performed using principal component analysis and varimax rotation (Varimax Normalized). The optimal number of factors and their statistical significance were checked according to the Kaiser criterion.

So, the goal has been achieved, the tasks of the scientific research have been successfully fulfilled, namely:

- the analysis of trends in the development of education in the field of STEM has been carried out based on the practical experience of scientists from different countries;
- the normative and legal field of implementation of the state program of the STEM field in Ukraine was investigated;
- thanks to the experience of the operation of the STEM center "Educational and Scientific Training Center for Computer Science and Computer Mathematics" on the basis of the Department of Mathematics and Computer Science of the Vinnytsia Mykhailo Kotsiubynskyi State Pedagogical University, the popularization of STEM education among young people, teachers of general secondary education institutions and teachers has been ensured higher educational institutions;
- the purpose of the operation of the STEM center for junior year students and pupils, teachers of general secondary education institutions, key indicators affecting the development of education in the field of STEM as an innovative direction of the development of science and mathematics education in Ukraine is defined;
- holding meetings in the direction of STEM education with leading specialists in the field of computer science to involve scientific and pedagogical workers in the use of new technologies, as well as their training, retraining or advanced training for the effective use of STEM tools as tools for training and career guidance of pupils/students;
- a questionnaire was conducted, interviewing respondents to study scientific research interests, expectations from classes, determining the priority functions of the STEM center, competences, the formation of which is facilitated by classes,

to analyze the structure and perception by respondents of the functions that the STEM center should perform, we used factor analysis;

• determined the prospects for further research.

REFERENCES

- AlMuraie, E. A., Algarni, N. A., and Alahmad, N. S. (2021). Upper-secondary school science teachers' perceptions of the integrating mechanisms and importance of STEM education. *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, 20(4):546–557. https://doi.org/10.33225/ jbse/21.20.546.
- Balyk, N. and Shmyher, G. (2017). Approaches and peculiarities of modern STEM-education. *Physical and Mathematical Education*, (2(12)):26–30. http://nbuv. gov.ua/UJRN/fmo_2017_2_6.
- Bilyk, Z. I., Shapovalov, Y. B., Shapovalov, V. B., Megalinska, A. P., Zhadan, S. O., Andruszkiewicz, F., Dołhańczuk-Śródka, A., and Antonenko, P. D. (2022). Comparison of Google Lens recognition performance with other plant recognition systems. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(4):328–346. https://doi. org/10.55056/etq.433.
- Bittinger, J. D., Wells, R. S., and Kimball, E. W. (2021). STEM Career Aspirations for High School Students with Individualized Education Programs. *The Educational Forum*, 85(1):49–62. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 00131725.2020.1772928.
- Botuzova, Y. V. (2018). Competent and STEM approaches in the professional training of future teachers of mathematics. Academic Notes. Series: Pedagogical Sciences, 173(2):51–54. https://www.cuspu.edu.ua/images/conferences/2018/ VIIMiznarod/Zbirnik_statey_VII_konf.pdf.
- Burak, V. I. and Holovko, D. V. (2021). Measuring acceleration at uniformly accelerated motion in terms of differentiation of learning. *Educational Dimension*, 5:194–207. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim.4449.
- Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine (2020). Pro skhvalennia Kontseptsii rozvytku pryrodnycho-matematychnoi osvity (STEM-osvity) [On approval of the Concept of development of natural and mathematical education (STEM-education)]. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/ show/960-2020-#Text.
- Carmona-Mesa, J. A., Cardona Zapata, M. E., and Castrillón-Yepes, A. (2020). Study of Physical Phenomena in Mathematics Teachers Training. A STEM Education Experience. *Uni-pluriversidad*, 20(1):18–38. https://doi.org/10.17533/udea.unipluri.20.1.02.
- Chang, C.-C. and Chen, Y. (2022). Using mastery learning theory to develop task-centered hands-on STEM learning of Arduino-based educational robotics: psychomotor performance and perception by a convergent parallel mixed method. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 30(9):1677–1692. https://doi.org/10. 1080/10494820.2020.1741400.

- Dare, E. A., Keratithamkul, K., Hiwatig, B. M., and Li, F. (2021). Beyond Content: The Role of STEM Disciplines, Real-World Problems, 21st Century Skills, and STEM Careers within Science Teachers' Conceptions of Integrated STEM Education. *Education Sciences*, 11(11):737. https://doi.org/10.3390/ educsci11110737.
- Davey, T., Salazar Luces, J. V., and Davenport, R. (2021). Individual-Centred Approaches to Accessibility in STEM Education. *Education Sciences*, 11(10):652. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11100652.
- Fedoniuk, V. V., Fedoniuk, M. A., and Pushkar, N. S. (2021). ICT application in the development of STEM-projects in geoscience extracurricular education. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 85(5):78–94. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt. v85i5.3955.
- Hrynevych, L., Morze, N., Vember, V., and Boiko, M. (2021). Use of digital tools as a component of STEM education ecosystem. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(1):118–139. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq. 24.
- IMZO (2018a). STEM-osvita [STEM-education]. http:// imzo.gov.ua/stem-osvita/.
- IMZO (2018b). Viddil STEM-osvity [STEM-education department. https://imzo.gov.ua/pro-imzo/struktura/ viddil-stem-osviti/.
- Jong, M. S.-Y., Song, Y., Soloway, E., and Norris, C. (2021). Editorial Note: Teacher Professional Development in STEM Education. *Educational Technology* & Society, 24(4):81–85. https://www.jstor.org/stable/ 48629246.
- Kara, E., Tonin, M., and Vlassopoulos, M. (2021). Class size effects in higher education: Differences across STEM and non-STEM fields. *Economics of Education Review*, 82:102104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. econedurev.2021.102104.
- Kovtoniuk, M. M. and Didovyk, M. V. (2018). Formation of an innovative environment for future teachers of mathematics and physics. Modern informational technologies and innovative methods in professional training: methodology, theory, experience, problems, 50:293–298. https://doi.org/10. 31652/2412-1142-2018-50-293.
- Kramarenko, T. H., Pylypenko, O. S., and Muzyka, I. O. (2020). Application of GeoGebra in Stereometry teaching. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:705–718. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.418.
- Lasica, I.-E., Meletiou-Mavrotheris, M., Mavrotheris, E., Pitsikalis, S., Katzis, K., Dimopoulos, C., and Tiniakos, C. (2019). Enlivened Laboratories within STEM Education (EL-STEM): A Case Study of Augmented Reality in Secondary Education. In Prodromou, T., editor, Augmented Reality in Educational Settings, chapter 12, pages 267 – 294. Brill, Leiden, The Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004408845_012.
- Li, X. and Wang, W. (2021). Exploring Spatial Cognitive Process Among STEM Students and Its Role in STEM Education. *Science & Education*, 30(1):121– 145. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-020-00167-x.

- Lukychova, N. S., Osypova, N. V., and Yuzbasheva, G. S. (2022). ICT and current trends as a path to STEM education: implementation and prospects. *CTE Work-shop Proceedings*, 9:39–55. https://doi.org/10.55056/ cte.100.
- Maldonado, Y. P., Burelo, E. D. L. C., and Solorzano, C. M. V. (2020). The problem of pseudo-STEM programs in higher education: A classification criterion. *Cogent Education*, 7(1):1833813. https://doi.org/10. 1080/2331186X.2020.1833813.
- Martyniuk, O. O., Martyniuk, O. S., and Muzyka, I. O. (2021a). Formation of informational and digital competence of secondary school students in laboratory work in physics. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 8:366–383. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.294.
- Martyniuk, O. O., Martyniuk, O. S., Pankevych, S., and Muzyka, I. (2021b). Educational direction of STEM in the system of realization of blended teaching of physics. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(3):347–359. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.39.
- McGee, E. O. (2020). Interrogating Structural Racism in STEM Higher Education. *Educational Researcher*, 49(9):633–644. https://doi.org/10.3102/ 0013189X20972718.
- Mella-Norambuena, J., Cobo-Rendon, R., Lobos, K., Sáez-Delgado, F., and Maldonado-Trapp, A. (2021). Smartphone Use among Undergraduate STEM Students during COVID-19: An Opportunity for Higher Education? *Education Sciences*, 11(8):417. https: //doi.org/10.3390/educsci11080417.
- Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine (2016). Pro utvorennia robochoi hrupy z pytan vprovadzhennia STEM-osvity v Ukraini [On the formation of a working group on the implementation of STEMeducation in Ukraine]. https://imzo.gov.ua/2016/02/ 29/nakaz-mon-vid-29-02-2016-188.
- Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine (2020). Pro zatverdzhennia Typovoho pereliku zasobiv navchannia ta obladnannia dlia navchalnykh kabinetiv i STEM-laboratorii [On approval of the standard list of training tools and equipment for classrooms and STEM-laboratories]. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/ show/z0410-20#n17.
- Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine (2021). Pro zavershennia doslidno-eksperymentalnoi roboty vseukrainskoho rivnia "Naukovo-metodychni zasady stvorennia ta funktsionuvannia Vseukrainskoho naukovo-metodychnoho virtualnoho STEM-tsentru (VNMV STEM-tsentr)" za 2017-2021 roky [On the completion of the all-Ukrainian research and experimental work "Scientific and methodological principles of the creation and functioning of the All-Ukrainian scientific and methodological virtual STEM center (VNMV STEM center)" for 2017-2021]. https://mon.gov.ua/storage/app/uploads/ public/619/3b9/016/6193b90166ea1533680980.pdf.
- Mintii, M. M. (2023). Selection of pedagogical conditions for training STEM teachers to use augmented reality technologies in their work. *Educational Dimension*. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim.4951.

- Morze, N. V., Mashkina, I. V., and Boiko, M. A. (2022). Experience in training specialists with mathematical computer modeling skills, taking into account the needs of the modern labor market. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 9:95–196. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte. 106.
- Oleksiuk, V. P. and Oleksiuk, O. R. (2022). Examining the potential of augmented reality in the study of Computer Science at school. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(4):307–327. https://doi.org/10. 55056/etq.432.
- Ortiz-Revilla, J., Adúriz-Bravo, A., and Greca, I. M. (2020). A Framework for Epistemological Discussion on Integrated STEM Education. *Science & Education*, 29(4):857–880. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11191-020-00131-9.
- Ortiz-Revilla, J., Greca, I. M., and Arriassecq, I. (2022). A Theoretical Framework for Integrated STEM Education. *Science & Education*, 31(2):383–404. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s11191-021-00242-x.
- Podliesnyi, S. V. and Tarasov, O. F. (2019). Actuality of Use Stem-Steam-Stream Technologies in Engineering and Technical Education for Sustainable Development of Ukraine's Economy. *Visnyk of Vinnytsia Politechnical Institute*, (2):123–131. https://doi.org/10.31649/ 1997-9266-2019-143-2-123-131.
- Pylypenko, O. (2020). Development of critical thinking as a means of forming STEM competencies. *Educational Dimension*, 3:317–331. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.v55i0.3955.
- Rahman, S. M. M. (2021). Assessing and Benchmarking Learning Outcomes of Robotics-Enabled STEM Education. *Education Sciences*, 11(2):84. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/educsci11020084.
- Ross, P. M., Scanes, E., Poronnik, P., Coates, H., and Locke, W. (2022). Understanding STEM academics' responses and resilience to educational reform of academic roles in higher education. *International Journal* of STEM Education, 9(1):11. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40594-022-00327-1.
- Rushton, E. A. and King, H. (2020). Play as a pedagogical vehicle for supporting gender inclusive engagement in informal stem education. *International Journal of Science Education, Part B*, 10(4):376–389. https://doi.org/10.1080/21548455.2020.1853270.
- Rusk, F. and Rønning, W. (2020). Group work as an arena for learning in STEM education: negotiations of epistemic relationships. *Education Inquiry*, 11(1):36–53. https://doi.org/10.1080/20004508.2019.1638194.
- Santangelo, J., Hobbie, L., Lee, J., Pullin, M., Villa-Cuesta, E., and Hyslop, A. (2021). The (STEM)² Network: a multi-institution, multidisciplinary approach to transforming undergraduate STEM education. *International Journal of STEM Education*, 8(1):3. https: //doi.org/10.1186/s40594-020-00262-z.
- Sarı, U., Pektaş, H. M., Şen, Ö. F., and Çelik, H. (2022). Algorithmic thinking development through physical computing activities with Arduino in STEM education. *Education and Information Technologies*, 27(5):6669–6689. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10639-022-10893-0.

- Shapovalov, V. B., Shapovalov, Y. B., Bilyk, Z. I., Atamas, A. I., Tarasenko, R. A., and Tron, V. V. (2019a). Centralized information web-oriented educational environment of Ukraine. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:246–255. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.383.
- Shapovalov, V. B., Shapovalov, Y. B., Bilyk, Z. I., Megalinska, A. P., and Muzyka, I. O. (2019b). The Google Lens analyzing quality: an analysis of the possibility to use in the educational process. *Educational Dimension*, 1:219–234. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim. v53i1.3844.
- Shapovalov, Y. B., Shapovalov, V. B., Andruszkiewicz, F., and Volkova, N. P. (2020). Analyzing of main trends of STEM education in Ukraine using stemua.science statistics. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:448–461. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.385.
- Soia, O. M., Tyutyun, L. A., and Kosovets, O. P. (2021). General characteristics of mobile technologies and teaching aids in general secondary and higher pedagogical education institutions. Pedagogical and psychological sciences: regularities and tendencies of development, pages 252–269. Baltija Publishing, Riga, Latvia. https://doi.org/10.30525/ 978-9934-26-023-0-22.
- Stoyanov, S., Glushkova, T., Tabakova-Komsalova, V., Stoyanova-Doycheva, A., Ivanova, V., and Doukovska, L. (2022). Integration of STEM Centers in a Virtual Education Space. *Mathematics*, 10(5):744. https://doi.org/10.3390/math10050744.
- Takeuchi, M. A., Sengupta, P., Shanahan, M.-C., Adams, J. D., and Hachem, M. (2020). Transdisciplinarity in STEM education: a critical review. *Studies in Science Education*, 56(2):213–253. https://doi.org/10. 1080/03057267.2020.1755802.
- Tandrayen-Ragoobur, V. and Gokulsing, D. (2022). Gender gap in STEM education and career choices: what matters? *Journal of Applied Research in Higher Education*, 14(3):1021–1040. https://doi.org/10.1108/ JARHE-09-2019-0235.
- Toma, R. B. and Retana-Alvarado, D. A. (2021). Improving pre-service teachers' conceptions of STEM education. *Iberoamerican Journal of Education*, 87(1):15– 33. https://doi.org/10.35362/rie8714538.
- Tsinko, S. V. (2017). Pidhotovka vchyteliv novoho formatu z pozytsii uprovadzhennia STEM-osvity v Ukraini [Training of teachers of a new format from the perspective of introducing STEM-education in Ukraine]. In *The I Regional Scientific and Practical Web Conference "STEM-education and ways of its implementation in the educational process*", pages 74–78, Ternopil, Ukraine. TOKIPPO. http://elar.ippo.edu.te. ua:8080/bitstream/123456789/4578/1/Cinyko.pdf.
- Valko, N. V., Kushnir, N. O., and Osadchyi, V. V. (2020). Cloud technologies for STEM education. CTE Workshop Proceedings, 7:435–447. https://doi.org/10. 55056/cte.384.
- Yabaş, D. and Boyaci, S. (2022). A mentorship model for teacher education: Young STEM researchers and practitioners program. *Turkish Journal of Education*, 11(1):36–55. https://doi.org/10.19128/turje.950335.

- Yıldırım, B. (2022). MOOCs in STEM Education: Teacher Preparation and Views. *Technology, Knowledge and Learning*, 27(3):663–688. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10758-020-09481-3.
- Zhu, M. (2020). Effective Pedagogical Strategies for STEM Education from Instructors' Perspective: OER for Educators. *Open Praxis*, 12(2):257–270. https://doi.org/ 10.5944/openpraxis.12.2.1074.

The Use of ICT Tools in Teaching Mathematical Modeling to Students

Olha I. Matiash¹[®]^a, Liubov F. Mykhailenko¹[®]^b, Natalia Y. Dmitrenko¹[®]^c, Halyna D. Kateryniuk²[®]^d and Ihor V. Kalashnikov¹[®]^e

¹Vinnytsia Mykhailo Kotsiubynskyi State Pedagogical University, 32 Ostrozkoho Str., Vinnytsia, 21001, Ukraine
²Regional Scientific Lyceum of the Municipal Higher Education Institution "Vinnytsia Humanitarian Pedagogical College", 13 Nahirna Str., Vinnytsia, 21001, Ukraine matyash_27@ukr.net, mikhailenkolf@gmail.com, nataliadmitrenko0302@gmail.com, galina-zk@ukr.net, kalashnikov.igor.1@gmail.com

Keywords: Mathematical Modeling, Information and Communication Technologies, Distance Learning.

Abstract: The study reveals that for the development of students' mathematical competency it is important to provide effective conditions for the formation of mathematical modeling skills. It is considered that methodologically balanced use of information and communication technologies (ICT) in the process of teaching mathematical models is a key means in the formation of students' mathematical modeling skills. In the article, the authors described the possibilities of using the electronic manual "Methodological Tool for Developing Students. Ability to Mathematical Modeling" and the mathematics teacher's website in today's conditions of forced distance learning. According to the results of the expert survey, it was elucidated that there was a request from the mathematics teachers for methodologically adapted and substantiated electronic manuals. For mathematics teachers, the most important aspects in such manuals were: methodologically successful selection of applied problems; modern, relevant content of tasks for students; methodological assistance to teachers in order to increase the effectiveness of teaching. The research on the effective use of ICT in the process of formation of students' mathematical modeling skills was based on the same principles as the development of computer-oriented methodical learning systems were based: the principle of interest in learning, the principle of adaptability to the individual characteristics of students, the principle of the student's search activity, the principle of self-evaluation and self-actualization, the principle of individualization of learning, and the principle of cooperation and mentoring. It is concluded that it is important to form skills of using ICT for creation and study of mathematical models to prospective teachers of mathematics.

1 INTRODUCTION

All recent Ukrainian educational documents on mathematics education emphasize that mathematical competency is the ability to see and apply mathematics in real life, understand the content and method of mathematical modeling, build a mathematical model and study it by using mathematical methods, and interpret the obtained results. We consider the ability to mathematical modeling as a direct feature of students' practical competency, which is formed in parallel with the formation and development of skills to use mathematical modeling in educational activities and practice.

- ^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7149-9545
- ^b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5051-5561
- ^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3556-0003
- d https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5794-7743
- e https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7961-8134

The analysis of scientific and methodological publications shows that research on the problems of teaching mathematical modeling to students in different countries around the world has evolved from simple quality research cases to large research projects. The analysis of the Ukrainian scholars' pedagogical research reveals that special attention should be paid to the problem of providing the effective conditions for the formation of students' mathematical modeling skills. We completely agree with opinion of Semerikov et al. (Semerikov et al., 2010), formulated more than ten years ago, that "today it is no longer necessary to prove the obvious fact that increasing the effectiveness of the study of all school subjects is based on the systematic use of ICT". The intensive development of computer technologies is leading to the emergence of new approaches to the educational process. The quarantine requirements for COVID-19 have accelerated this process. The program of education reform

The Use of ICT Tools in Teaching Mathematical Modeling to Students.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

Matiash, O., Mykhailenko, L., Dmitrenko, N., Kateryniuk, H. and Kalashnikov, I

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 675-687 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

activities developed by the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine provides the creation of modern electronic educational resources, in particular, electronic textbooks and manuals. In the context of this article, the particular interest is paid to the scientific heritage of Myroslav I. Zhaldak as to the methodological activities of teachers, in particular, "pedagogically balanced, theoretically and experimentally justified use of innovative ICT in the educational process harmoniously combining with the scientific-educational heritage of the past allow to form the knowledge that underlies many contemporary professions related to new information and production technologies" (Zhaldak, 2003).

The purpose of the article is an explanation of the methodologically balanced use of ICT by the mathematics teacher in the process of teaching mathematical modeling to students in the present-day forced conditions of distance learning.

2 LITERATURE REVIEW

The analysis of scientific publications has shown that the problem of formation and development of mathematical modeling skills is one of the most globally recognized problems in the study of mathematical education. The most important arguments for this conclusion are:

- Since 1983, the International Conference on the Teaching and Learning of Mathematical Modeling and Application (ICTMA) has been held every two years. The conference discusses the state and problems of teaching mathematical modeling to students in the form of an international discussion. The conference abstracts are regularly published in the series Springer's International Perspectives on the Teaching and Learning of Mathematical Modeling.
- At the CERME International Forum, organized by the European Society for the Study of Mathematical Education, one of the traditional sections is "Applications and Modeling".
- Springer search system issued 58,613 search results for "Mathematical modeling in secondary school". Moreover, these results are publications of recent decades, which address the problem of formation and development of mathematical modeling skills.

In order to obtain information about the areas of current studies and their results related to the use of ICT in teaching mathematical modeling, it is considered to observe some recent publications. Tezer and Cumhur (Tezer and Cumhur, 2017) analyzed the results of research connected with the impact on mathematical achievement, problem-solving skills and students' views by means of the educational model 5E and the method of mathematical modeling in the process of studying the topic "Geometric Objects". The results of statistical analysis proved that learning with the 5E "Instructional Model" in experimental group 1 and the method of mathematical modeling in experimental group 2, improved students' academic achievements. However, the method of mathematical modeling was more effective for mathematical achievements and problem-solving skills.

Blum (Blum, 2011) and Kaiser (Kaiser, 2019), the most authoritative German researchers on the formation and development of mathematical modeling skills, founded the ISTRON group. Since 2014, the ISTRON group has published 20 volumes of publications to support teachers in solving real problems of teaching mathematical modeling to students at school. In all these studies, various aspects of the problem of modeling training were analyzed in complex. In particular, one of the learning environments, designed specifically for beginners in modeling, examined the KOMMA (computer learning environment). The KOMMA learning environment included four variants of heuristic activity samples. In these samples, two fiction characters solved simulation problems and explained their ideas, heuristic strategies, and tools. All samples were structured by means of a 3-step simulation cycle. The eight-grade students' competency of modeling (316 people) was tested before the experimental training, immediately after it, and four months after the experiment. The results of the research have shown a significant increase in the competency of modeling immediately after the implementation of the learning environment and a slightly lower long-term effect (Greefrath and Vorhölter, 2016; Blum, 2015).

In recent years, in Germany, the methodological activity of teachers in teaching mathematics (including modeling) has changed mainly due to the active development and implementation of digital technologies. Solving application problems, a computer or a well-equipped graphing calculator can be especially useful tools to support teachers and students. For example, Henn (Henn, 2007) suggested the use of digital tools, such as notebooks with algebra software, as it allows to incorporate complex programs and modeling into everyday learning.

One of the possibilities of using digital technologies is research and experiments (Hilscher, 2002). For instance, a real situation can be transferred to a geometric model, where one can experiment with dynamic geometry software or spreadsheet analysis that seems to be similar to experimental modeling. Modeling in the process of experiments is designed to provide an idea of the real system presented in the model (Greefrath and Weigand, 2012). Applied mathematical simulations performed by a computer can be perceived as part of a simulation cycle in which a numerical model, developed from a mathematical model, is tested and validated by comparing it with measurement results (Sonar, 2001). A common use of digital tools, especially computer algebraic systems, is to calculate or estimate numerical or algebraic solutions (Hilscher, 2002). Without the use of a computer, students would not be able to make these assessments. at least in a reasonable amount of time. In addition, digital tools can perform visualization of the studied object (Barzel and Hußmann, 2009; Hilscher, 2002; Weigand and Weth, 2002). Digital tools also play a useful role in controlling and testing the mathematical modeling skills (Barzel and Hußmann, 2009). If computers with Internet connections are provided for teaching mathematics, they can be used for research (Barzel and Hußmann, 2009), for example, in the context of programs.

German scientists state that there is currently little empirical knowledge about the possibilities of learning modeling and recommendations for working with digital tools in teaching mathematics. Only some case studies have been conducted, there are no large-scale experiments on the introduction of computer technology in the process of teaching mathematical modeling. Case studies (Greefrath et al., 2011; Geiger, 2011) note that digital tools can be useful for each step of the modeling process, especially for interpretation and validation. Open research questions can be found in the studies of Niss et al. (Blum et al., 2007; Niss and Højgaard Jensen, 2002): "How should digital tools be used in different classes to support modeling processes? What is the impact of digital tools on the range of modeling issues that need to be discussed? How does the use of digital technologies affect the learning culture? When do digital tools improve or hinder learning opportunities in the modeling process?"

Based on the mentioned analysis of teaching mathematical modeling in Germany, we indicate several current issues and tasks in formation of students' mathematical modeling skills for Ukrainian mathematics education:

- modeling activities can be significantly changed due to the development of digital technologies;
- the activity and role of mathematics teachers in the successful implementation of mathematical modeling in mathematics lessons is important;

• the focus should be on research of particular modeling lessons, as well as the entire modeling education environment.

In the article (Matiash and Mykhailenko, 2021) we analyzed the course of scientific discussions in terms of the International Forum CERME-2021 (we were lucky enough to be participants of it), which related to the use of information technology in the formation of mathematical competencies of students. Nowadays, the attention of researchers of mathematics education in the world is focused on problems: blended learning of mathematics students, blended learning in the process of professional training of mathematics teachers, and the developing tools, platforms and learning equipment for online mathematics education.

3 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

Systematic application of the method of mathematical modeling at the process of teaching mathematics at school can be considered as a means of implementing the applied orientation of the school course of mathematics. In particular, it means: creating a bank of mathematical models that describe real phenomena and processes, have general cultural significance, and are studied in related courses; formation of students' knowledge and skills which are required for the study of these mathematical models; teaching students to build and study the simplest mathematical models of real phenomena and processes.

3.1 Mathematical Modeling

The essence of the concept of "mathematical modeling" is explained in different ways in many modern available sources:

- Modeling is the study of knowledge objects on their models; construction of models of real objects and phenomena (living organisms, engineering structures, social systems, various processes, etc.). Mathematical modeling is the most modern comprehensive method of scientific research; it is the process of creating mathematical models. A mathematical model is a system of mathematical relations that describes the studied object, process, or phenomenon (Mathematical model, 2023).
- Mathematical modeling or mathematical simulation is a research method of processes or phenomena by creating mathematical models and studying these models. Mathematical modeling allows

to replace a real object with its model and then study it (Mathematical model, 2023).

- 3. Mathematical modeling is one of the main modern methods of systems research. It usually involves the creation of a conceptual model of the studied object, its formalization and transformation into a mathematical or computer model, verification of adequacy and further study of the model by means of analytical or numerical methods and modern computer technology (Semenova, 2014).
- 4. Modeling is a process of real system research, which includes construction of a model, its research and transfer of the obtained results to the studied system. A model can be defined as an object that in some respects coincides with the prototype and is a means of describing, explaining and/or predicting its behavior. The mathematical model of the real system (process) means a set of relationships (formulas, equations, inequalities, logical conditions, operators, etc.) that determine the characteristics of the system depending on its parameters, external conditions (input signals, influences), initial conditions and time (Bakhrushin, 2004).
- 5. Modeling is the construction (or selection) and study of an object of any nature (model) that can replace the studied object (the original) and the study of model provides new information about the studied object. *Mathematical modeling* is the highest form of modeling. It contributed to the development of science and technology in industrial society, and the advent of electronic computing facilities led to the rapid development of contemporary – post-industrial society (Stanzhytskyi et al., 2006).

Thus, *mathematical modeling* is considered mostly as the study of the object properties in a mathematical model. Simultaneously, the mathematical model is an approximate description of a phenomenon or process of the external world, which is presented by mathematical symbolism. Mathematical modeling is one of the most up-to-date directions, which is closely related to the introduction of modern computer equipment and information technologies (Zahrai and Kotovenko, 2007).

From the pedagogical point of view, it does not matter where (mathematics, physics, computer science) students learn to model. It is important to understand that by means of modeling, the systemcombinatorial thinking and the ability to solve real problems are formed (Teplytskyi, 2000). It is worth mentioning that modeling forms the world view and the scientific picture of the world not only for the student but also for the teacher. Modeling is the method, the most adequate to modern requirements for the education system, of including a computer in the learning process, which provides an active type of educational and cognitive activities (Morze et al., 2022). In particular, a computer model is a software environment for a computational experiment. Based on a mathematical model of a phenomenon or process, it combines tools of the experiment object analysis and information display. Using widely computer graphics, 3D modeling programs help to turn individual ideas into smart models and prototypes. 3D models are used in various fields: cinema, computer games, interior design, architecture, etc. Choosing software for modeling is a rather difficult process, as it is not easy to find a program that would have all the required functionality.

The use of computer modeling in the learning process (study of phenomena based on ready-made models, constructing models by students themselves) can increase the intensity of learning and the students' cognitive activity. The advantages of educational computer modeling are related to overcoming the formality of knowledge acquisition, the development of research and design skills, and the development of students' intellectual abilities (Morze et al., 2022).

Teplytskyi (Teplytskyi, 2000) proposed a methodological system for studying computer modeling and aimed to reveal the content of all school education through the introduction of the concepts of "model" and "modeling", which have developed both in specific sciences and in the methodology of science in general. The scholar considered the following definitions to be the most accessible to students: a model is a mentally imagined or materially realized system of reflecting or reproducing the studied object and the study of the model provides new knowledge about this object (Shtoff, 1963). Additionally, the model is considered as a system that does not differ from the studied object in some of its essential properties and differs in all other insignificant properties (Biriukov and Gutchin, 1982; Maliarchuk, 1997).

In our study, we reveal the content of the mathematical model as a set of mathematical relationships, equations, and inequalities that describes the basic laws in the studied process, object, or system (Kvietnyi et al., 2012). Modeling in the teaching of mathematics at school is understood as the process of building a model. Studying mathematics at school, students should realize that the process of any applied problem solving is divided into three stages: 1) formalization (transition from the situation described in the problem to a formal mathematical model of this situation, and from it to a clearly formulated mathematical task); 2) solving the problem within the constructed model; 3) interpretation of the obtained solution of the problem and its application to the initial situation.

3.2 Key Aspects of the ICT Use in Teaching Mathematics to Students

In the publications of Zhaldak (Zhaldak, 2003; Zhaldak and Hrybiuk, 2014), ICT in education are considered as a set of computer-oriented educational and teaching materials, software, and hardware for educational purposes, as well as a system of scientific knowledge about the role and place of computer technology in the educational process, the methods and forms of their pedagogically balanced, methodologically motivated, and appropriate use in order to improve the educational process.

There is awareness among mathematics teachers that the introduction of ICT tools can significantly help to create more effective conditions for students' cognitive activity and contribute to the formation of their competencies. "The basis of informatization of the educational process is grounded on the creation and widespread introduction of new computer-based teaching methods into everyday pedagogical practice based on the gradual and non-antagonistic principles, omitting destructive reforms. Embedding information and communication technologies in existing didactic systems is considered as a harmonious combination of traditional and computer-oriented learning technologies, without denying and rejecting the achievements of pedagogical science of the past, but, on the contrary, their improvement and strengthening by means of including the use of advances in computer technology and communications as well" (Zhaldak and Hrybiuk, 2014). According to Zhaldak (Zhaldak, 2003), the specific components of a teacher's information culture are the ability to use ICT for training, support, analysis, adjustment, and management of the educational process; the ability to choose the most rational methods and tools of learning, and take into account the individual characteristics of students, their requests, inclinations, and capabilities; ability to combine effectively traditional teaching methods with new ICT. At the same time, the use of ICT in the educational process (Zhaldak, 2003; Zhaldak and Hrybiuk, 2014) should not promote only the study of certain learning material, but, first of all, the comprehensive and harmonious development of students' personalities and their creative capabilities. Thus, in the conditions of active use of ICT tools in teaching mathematics, the requirements for the methodological competency of the teacher increase significantly.

Nowadays, in the era of mobility and globalization, there is an urgent need to use the Internet, social networks, and personal sites. Looking at modern students' level of informatization, it becomes clear that the teacher needs "to keep up with the times", as traditional teaching methods, in some way, lose their effectiveness. Currently, a mathematics teacher should have to some extent universal, fundamental and modern knowledge in order to be able to use ICT in a methodically competitive and effective way, and create conditions to develop students' inclinations and capabilities, meet educational and cognitive needs.

The study and justification of the required directions of ICT use in the educational process should be considered as one of the most important pedagogical problems. Zhaldak (Zhaldak, 2003) note that the problems of teaching mathematics in secondary schools by means of ICT are studied insufficiently. Despite a significant amount of research on this topic, there is a lack of computer-based scientific and methodological support for teaching school subjects in the context of systematic pedagogically balanced and methodologically motivated use of ICT, particularly, in mathematics. The methods of studying the effectiveness of computer use in education need to be improved (Zhaldak, 2003; Zhaldak and Hrybiuk, 2014). Studying the effectiveness of teaching mathematics to students by means of ICT, it is necessary to identify its criteria and reasoning factors. The teacher can achieve the set goals only if these goals are accepted and achieved by the students. Evaluating the possibilities and expediency of using ICT in teaching mathematics to students, it should be mentioned that a computer is only teachers and students' tool for educational activities.

It was remarked principally by Razumovsky et al. (Razumovsky et al., 2013) that with the introduction of computers in the educational process, the possibilities of many methods of scientific knowledge are increased, especially the method of modeling, which can dramatically influence the intensity of learning. While modeling, the essence of phenomena is singled out and their commonality is cleared up, i.e. scientific and theoretical thinking is developed. However, the fascination with the use of ready-made models threatens to prematurely disconnect between the studied phenomenon and reality. It often happens when students are asked to work with ready-made models without disclosing the process of model creation. Since the objects of study must still be real phenomena, their replacement, by abstract concepts and symbols with an insufficient base of observations and experience, often leads to pernicious formalism, when the pretended knowledge lacks the essence.

The issue of computerization of school education and the development of appropriate pedagogical software is the subject of constant attention of Ukrainian scholars (Zhaldak, 1989; Zhaldak et al., 2012, 2020; Zhaldak and Franchuk, 2020; Leshchuk et al., 2022; Kramarenko et al., 2019; Morze et al., 2022; Semerikov et al., 2021).

4 TEACHING MATHEMATICAL MODELING TO STUDENTS IN CONDITIONS OF ICT USE

4.1 Literature Review of Ukrainian Scientists' Research Results

The Ukrainian scientists study the problem of students' forming mathematical modeling skills in many In particular, the content of teaching stuways. dents the methods of mathematical modeling is determined; the main stages of constructing a mathematical model and their operational composition are highlighted; the functions of modeling in the educational process are described; some methodological recommendations for teaching mathematical modeling to students have been developed; the ways of using ICT in the process of teaching mathematical modeling to students are proposed. The main methodological fundamentals of teaching mathematical modeling to students are revealed in the studies of Vozniak and Vozniak (Vozniak and Vozniak, 2003), Gnedenko (Gnedenko, 2020), Slepkan (Slepkan, 1983), Shvets (Shvets, 2009).

Filimonova and Shvets (Filimonova and Shvets, 2010; Shvets and Filimonova, 2010) developed the main fundamentals of the methods of forming the middle-class students' knowledge, skills and abilities in mathematical modeling. Among them are the following aspects: the formation of mathematical modeling skills should be provided through successful use of organizational and methodological tools. In particular: a rational combination of traditional and innovative teaching methods. A special role should be given to interactive and project methods.

Panchenko and Shapovalova (Panchenko and Shapovalova, 2010), one of the goals of mathematical training of prospective mathematics teachers in higher education is teaching the basics of mathematical modeling and training students for the introduction of ideas and methods of mathematical modeling in the course of mathematics in secondary school. To achieve this goal, it is necessary to perform some tasks, namely: to teach students and pupils to use ICT in creating and studying mathematical models.

From the point of view of our research, the following position draws our attention: it is expedient to include elements of mathematical modeling in secondary school education to a somewhat greater extent and with greater penetration into the essence of models than it is done in many cases today. Obviously, it should be done in classes of an advanced study level of mathematics in secondary school. However, in classes with a general academic level of mathematics, physics or computer science, the appeal to mathematical modeling should be moderately dosed and balanced with the interests and abilities of students (Krasnytskyi and Shvets, 1997).

Since the method of mathematical modeling is a powerful tool for studying various processes and systems, according to many Ukrainian scholars, the concept of mathematical model and some general fundamentals related to it should be illustrated in one form or another at the learning process of the entire systematic course of mathematics in school. The samples of this method application for solving specific problems are presented in many well-known monographs and textbooks.

Ukrainian scientists' research emphasizes that for older adolescents it would be appropriate to organize the educational process with lessons-lectures, lessons-seminars, lessons-conferences, etc., involvement in writing research papers, and projects. Units of school curricula in various discipline courses related to solving problems for work, movement, interest, progression, application of derivatives and integrals can serve to develop the students' mathematical modeling skills. At the same time, Ukrainian researchers point out the current problems in the mathematical training of students, which often cause difficulties in the process of developing mathematical modeling skills. As for the method of mathematical modeling as a method of scientific research and learning cognition, in fact, it was not realized systematically and continuously in the school course of mathematics in the last three decades.

4.2 Methods of the Research

The Ukrainian and foreign researchers emphasize the need to use project technologies in the process of formation of students' mathematical modeling skills. We consider the organization of project activities of students at school as one of the priorities of modern education. Educational projects allow taking into account the individual characteristics of students that contribute to the formation of their active and independent position in learning, and readiness for selfdevelopment. The project method, as a component of the education system, creates personal motivation to solve an interesting problem. The project method is associated with active practical activities and teamwork. We assign a significant role to ICT in the organization of students' project activities. In particular, ICT (mathematics teacher's website, social network group, and the electronic manual) were actively used in the process of teaching mathematics to students of the 9th grade in order to improve the conditions for the formation of mathematical modeling skills.

We tested the students' implementation of a research project on the topic "Geometry and Football". A group of nine-grade students from the Regional Sports and Humanitarian Lyceum-Boarding School of the Municipal Higher Education Institution "Vinnytsia Humanitarian Pedagogical College" took part in the project. The designed project was awarded the third place at the Ukrainian Conference-Olympiad of Geometric Creativity named after V. A. Yasinskyi. As the participants of the project were students of the sports and humanitarian profile, the sports direction was chosen for the project. Out of one hundred students of the lyceum - 70 students were engaged in various kinds of sport at that time. The most number of lyceum students played football - 22 students (31% of all lyceum students). Therefore, the play of football was stressed in the project. Students learned with great enthusiasm that mathematical models can be used to solve certain practical problems in football, helping the team and coaches to achieve the best results. Our experience has shown, that solving football problems has increased interest, motivation, and as a result, the effectiveness of the study of mathematics, geometry in particular. Cooperation with students was established by means of the teacher's personal website and social networks. All students in the class were asked to solve geometric tasks about football. Each student sent the solution personally, hidden from other project participants. If the student solved the problem correctly, he received the next task, in case he did not solve the task, he received instructions about mistakes and tips on how to correct them. The students were motivated by the fact that they did not know at what stage (what task) the rest of the classmates were currently solving.

The project aim was not only to increase the motivation of sports students to learn geometry with the help of new technologies but also to show the importance and practicality of geometric knowledge in everyday life and future activities. It was important to ensure that students learned to come up with their ideas, were not afraid to express their opinions, and were able to think logically and critically.

In order to do this, students were offered a research task: to create problems in geometry, which would be directly connected to football and things related to it (football field, football goal, football ball, etc.). Surprisingly, but not only the students with the high level of academic achievements worked hard. As samples, the students used the problem tasks that they solved remotely in the first phase of the project.

We managed to ensure that students learned to come up with their ideas, were not afraid to express their opinions, and tried to think logically, in particular, critically. In the process of implementing the designed project, it became clear that we managed to create conditions with good opportunities to convince students that mathematics is the way to improve a lot of circumstances of the surrounding reality. For further diversifying the methods of motivation to master the method of mathematical modeling, it is important to select and accumulate effective teaching tools and techniques by mathematics teachers. Among effective teaching tools and techniques are applied tasks, methods of implementing interdisciplinary links, preparation and conduct of special practical work with an applied focus.

As we have already mentioned in this article, one of the main problems in the process of forming students' skills of mathematical modeling in Methodology of mathematics is the lack of methodological materials, especially for high school students. Therefore, in order to help mathematics teachers, we have developed and experimentally tested the textbook "Methodological Tools for Developing Students' Ability to Mathematical Modeling" (Matiash and Kateryniuk, 2019). In the textbook, it is presented and substantiated the theoretical aspects of students' ability to mathematical modeling, offered a system of applied problems for the formation of mathematical modeling skills (tasks to find the smallest or largest values; geometric problem-tasks; physical problems; stochastic problems; production problems; everyday and professionally oriented tasks), explained the methodological aspects of solving problems based on mathematical modeling. The methodological recommendations on the organization of independent cognitive activity of students in order to form the skills of mathematical modeling, students' project activities, and diagnostic tools for the formation of students' mathematical modeling skills were given. As a separate unit of the textbook, we have provided teachers with a list of publications on the development of students' mathematical modeling skills. Thus, we have systematized relevant material for practical use in mathematics lessons at school, and proposed authors' tasks. In the textbook, we have emphasized that at school, according to the learning outcomes identified in the mathematics curriculum, mathematics teachers must provide conditions for the development of students' mathematical modeling skills. The textbook is prepared for teachers of mathematics and prospective teachers of mathematics in order to provide methodological assistance in overcoming the problem of developing students' mathematical modeling skills.

Based on the printed textbook "Methodological Tools for Developing Students' Ability to Mathematical Modeling", we have developed an electronic manual. It is not just an electronic version of the printed textbook; it is also an electronic supplement to it. Simple and clear navigation allows turning pages quickly and easily. The use of an electronic appendix to the third section of the manual, which is devoted to the systematization of publications for further detailed study of materials on this topic, is of great practical value. It is much more convenient to use it as it contains all the publications we have mentioned, not just a list of them (as in the print version). They are available for viewing and downloading in pdf or djvu format. To download the e-manual, the following link can be used: https://drive.google.com/ file/d/1K9B9VI6Yr12w0JHG4Y_aSOSJVsm3cuGd/ view?usp=sharing.

According to the results of our research and experimental study aimed at finding ways to improve the effectiveness of forming the students' mathematical modeling skills, we can summarize that the personal website of the mathematics teacher is in great use. The personal website of a mathematics teacher should facilitate the exchange of experiences with colleagues, reduce the distance between teacher and parents, as well as between students and parents, and most importantly between students and teachers. The teacher's website allows implementing an individual approach, and focusing on the development of the personality of a particular student. With the help of the website, the teacher can distribute the required information in a short time, share important news, post educational and methodological hand-outs, creative work of students, their achievements, and much more. The personal website of the mathematics teacher has the opportunity to convey information to students in multimedia forms.

On the pages of the personal site, our teacherexperimenter (co-author of this article) added, edited and commented on materials, posted and analyzed test tasks, discussed various issues, and communicated with students. It is observed that modern students spend increasingly much time online and it is

much easier for them to get the required materials online than to use libraries, books, reference books, and even writing home-assignment. According to most teachers' opinion, it is not very good. However, teachers should understand that they work with students of the new generation, and train them for life in a new society, which requires a modern personality, who is ready to live in a new information society. Out of 100 students (the survey was conducted at the Regional Sports and Humanitarian Lyceum-Boarding School of the Municipal Higher Education Institution "Vinnytsia Humanitarian Pedagogical College"), 95 have mobile phones (95% of respondents). 68% of students have mobile Internet access, and the rest students use Wi-Fi. After classes, 100% of respondents have access to the Internet. It confirms the ability of the mathematics teacher to communicate actively with students via the personal website.

During the experiment studying, the mathematics teacher's website provided an opportunity to draw students' attention by interesting learning materials, in particular, to the teacher's information competency. It expanded the possibilities of conveying interesting and important information to students and showing the wide application of the acquired mathematical knowledge in everyday life.

Such an environment allowed implementation of educational functions. The teacher, for example, placed the text of a problem task on the forum of the website and set the instruction: to construct a mathematical model. In the process of completing the task, students discussed, suggested their models, and when everyone expressed the opinion, the teacher corrected their steps, explained the incorrectness or inaccuracy of their reasoning, if a mathematical model did not correspond to the task in a result. On the contrary, the teacher could emphasize the right considerations, encourage further work, and summarize which model was still correct, or the most appropriate. The next step was the process of collective research of the mathematical model. Those students, who were not able to participate in the online discussion, had the opportunity to open the forum later and get acquainted with the discussion and the whole process of solving the tasks proposed by the teacher. Thus, we consider the function of the mathematics teacher's website "teacher-student interaction" to be quite effective. While experimental training, the question was put: "Why can't the teacher's personal website be replaced by communication with students on social networks?" According to the results of our research, we came to the conclusion that it is better to leave social networks for personal communication and entertainment, and everything that the mathematics teacher wants to convey to his/her students is better to post on the pages of the teacher's personal website. In our opinion, the modern mathematics teacher can create a personal website by him/herself with the help of a site designer, using a simple and free service Google Sites, as well as due to information competency which was formed in the process of professional training in a higher educational institution.

We created the mathematics teacher's personal website (URL: https://sites.google.com/view/ kateryniuk/). Its content and effectiveness in improving the conditions for the formation of students' mathematical modeling skills were essential for us.

Thus, modern content management systems (CMS), the availability of free hosting, and free website designers allow teachers to create and develop their personal websites. The personal pedagogical website is not just a matter of time, but a necessity for the fruitful work of any subject teacher who cares about providing conditions for improving the effectiveness of teaching. Distance learning and external studies are developing extremely, so the exchange of tasks between a student and a teacher is rapidly moving into the ICT medium. In our opinion, the main tasks that are effectively solved with the help of the teacher's personal website are searching for new ways to interact with students and the organization of distance learning and project activities on the Internet.

5 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Different research and experiment methods allowed to construct an up-to-date method for the formation of students' mathematical modeling skills and to explain the place and role of ICT use in this method. In order to determine the attitude of the mathematics teachers to some results of our research (expediency and quality of the electronic manual "Methodological Tools for Developing Students' Ability to Mathematical Modeling"), we used the method of expert evaluation (Delphi method). The main stages of implementation of the method of expert evaluations in our study were: expert selection, identifying factors for the survey, conducting the survey, analyzing the results of the survey, and processing the results.

32 experts were chosen from a group of mathematics teachers of Vinnytsia and Vinnytsia region, who took courses of continuing professional development for teachers in-service based on the Department of Algebra and Methods of Teaching Mathematics at Vinnytsia Mykhailo Kotsiubynskyi State Pedagogical University. Before the presentation of the electronic manual "Methodological Tool for Developing Students' Ability to Mathematical Modeling" to expert teachers, we found out the experts' preliminary vision of the importance of certain characteristics of the use of electronic manuals in teaching mathematics to students.

The survey suggested 10 factors:

- (1) quality of the manual design;
- (2) the presence of clear scientifically grounded recommendations for the formation of students' mathematical modeling skills;
- (3) increasing the number of school mathematics lessons;
- (4) modern, relevant for students the content of tasks;
- (5) the conviction of the mathematics teacher in the need for special conditions for the formation of students' mathematical modeling skills;
- (6) high teacher salaries;
- (7) successful selection of applied tasks;
- (8) the teacher's methodological competency;
- (9) students' interest in learning material;
- (10) teacher's knowledge and understanding of the criteria and indicators of the formation of students' ability to mathematical modeling.

The used methods of mathematical statistics were based on ranking. In our case, each factor was assigned a rank from 10 to 1 by each expert (in descending order to determine their relative importance). The required condition for the reliability of the collective assessment was sufficient consistency of opinions of the interviewed experts. To determine the consistency of group assessments, we used the concordance coefficient – a common rank correlation coefficient for a group of experts. Statistical processing of the results of the teacher survey allowed us to state that the most significant ranks were:

5. Conviction of the mathematics teacher in the need for special conditions for the formation of students' mathematical modeling skills;

7. Successful selection of applied tasks;

4. Modern, relevant for students the content of tasks;

9. Students' interest in learning material;

8. Teacher's methodological competency.

The consistency of experts' opinions was assessed by the concordance coefficient:

$$W = \frac{12}{m^2(n^3 - n)} \cdot \sum_{j=1}^n \left[\sum_{i=1}^m x_{ij} - \frac{m(n+1)}{2} \right]^2,$$

where m – the number of experts, n – the number of factors.

In our case, m = 32, n = 10. The obtained value is W = 0.64, according to the scale for rank correlation coefficients, which falls into the interval (0.6; 0.8). It demonstrates a good consistency of experts.

According to the results of the expert survey, it was found that the designed electronic manual contained the important characteristics of the use of electronic manuals in the teaching of mathematics to students that were relevant for mathematics teachers, and therefore would be useful for the formation of students' mathematical modeling skills. In order to identify the needs of mathematics teachers in printed or electronic manuals for the formation of students' mathematical modeling skills, the survey was proposed. The seventh question of the questionnaire was: "Would you like to have a manual in printed or electronic version?".

The response results of 500 surveyed teachers to the proposed question are presented in the following diagram (figure 1).

Analysis of respondents' answers to other questions of the proposed survey allowed to assert that 78% of mathematics teachers (out of 500 participants) need educational and methodological literature on the formation of students' mathematical modeling skills; 97.2% of teachers find it useful to develop a system of applied tasks; 66.4% of teachers need to master the method of solving problem tasks based on the mathematical modeling; 58.4% of teachers state that it is appropriate to develop lesson outlines for teachers oriented on the topic of mathematical modeling, and 30.8% of teachers admit the usefulness of such outlines. 90.4% of teachers are interested in diagnostic tools for the formation of students' mathematical modeling skills. 95.6% of respondents express a desire to get acquainted with the scientific and methodological publications on the formation of students' mathematical modeling skills. 58.6% of teachers want to have a textbook on teaching students mathematical modeling in the printed version and 68.3% of teachers - in the electronic version.

In the process of pedagogical experiment, and active communication with mathematics teachers, it was confirmed that "the use of ICT can significantly improve the efficiency of learning messages and data circulating in the educational process, due to their timeliness, usefulness, appropriate dosage, availability (intelligibility), noise minimization, and operational relationship between the source of educational information and the student, adapting the pace of presentation of educational material to the speed of its assimilation, taking into account individual characteristics of students, effective combination of individual and collective activities, teaching methods and tools, organizational forms that to some extent contributes to solving the problems of educational process humanization. Students and teachers remain the main participants in the educational process. Computers, software, and communication tools, are the only means of their activities. The effectiveness and efficiency of educational and cognitive activities of students depend on the teacher's awareness and skillfulness" (Zhaldak, 2003).

6 CONCLUSIONS

ICT and communication tools play an important role in the forming technology of students' mathematical modeling skills. Nowadays, it is important to teach prospective mathematics teachers to use ICT in the creation and study of mathematical models, and in the process of teaching mathematics to students. Due to forced conditions, distance learning development is accelerating, so communication between teachers and students is rapidly moving into the ICT medium. The results of teachers' surveys and the pedagogical experiment lead to the conclusion that the task of methodologically balanced use of ICT is complicated by the necessity to change the personal attitude of both teachers and students to self-education, self-development, and cooperation. Simultaneously, the Ukrainian scientists' ideas are confirmed that the readiness of mathematics teachers to use ICT depends significantly on:

- understanding the effectiveness of the use of ICT and communication tools in the educational process;
- ability to use modern computer equipment and tools of communication in professional activities;
- ability to competently assess the benefits, opportunities, and limitations of the use of ICT in the educational process;
- understanding the place and role of autonomous work of students using ICT;
- understanding the changes in the functions of the teacher in the organization of the educational process with using ICT (Zhaldak and Hrybiuk, 2014).

Our research on the effective use of and other methodological tools and techniques for forming students' mathematical modeling skills was based on the same principles as the principles of the development of computer-based teaching methodological educational systems were grounded by Zhaldak and Hrybiuk (Zhaldak and Hrybiuk, 2014): the principle of interest in learning; the principle of adaptability to

I would like to have this manual ...





the individual characteristics of students; the principle of the student's search activity; the principle of self-evaluation and self-actualization; the principle of individualization of learning; the principle of cooperation and mentoring. Thus, adherence to these principles in the process of formation of students' mathematical modeling skills is an important component of the methodological activities of mathematics teachers at school.

REFERENCES

- Bakhrushin, V. E. (2004). *Matematychne modeliuvannia* [Mathematical modeling]. ZIDMU, Zaporozhye.
- Barzel, B. and Hußmann, S. (2009). *Computer, Internet & Co. im Mathematik-Unterricht*. Cornelsen Vlg Scriptor.
- Biriukov, B. V. and Gutchin, I. B. (1982). Mashina i tvorchestvo [Machine and creativity]. Radio i sviaz, Moscow.
- Blum, W. (2011). Can Modelling Be Taught and Learnt? Some Answers from Empirical Research. In Kaiser, G., Blum, W., Borromeo Ferri, R., and Stillman, G., editors, *Trends in Teaching and Learning of Mathematical Modelling*, volume 1 of *International Perspectives on the Teaching and Learning of Mathematical Modelling*, pages 15–30, Dordrecht. Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-94-007-0910-2_3.
- Blum, W. (2015). Quality Teaching of Mathematical Modelling: What Do We Know, What Can We Do? In Cho, S. J., editor, *The Proceedings of the 12th International Congress on Mathematical Education*, pages 73–96, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-12688-3_9.
- Blum, W., Galbraith, P. L., Henn, H.-W., and Niss, M., editors (2007). Modelling and Applications in Mathematics Education: The 14th ICMI Study, volume 10 of New ICMI Study Series. Springer, New York, NY. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-29822-1.
- Filimonova, M. and Shvets, V. (2010). Matematychne modeliuvannia v kursi osnovnoi shkoly: zmist i vymohy

do pidhotovky uchniv [Mathematical modelling in the course of mathematics at secondary school: contents of the course and requirents for training schoolchildren]. *Didactics of mathematics: Problems and Investigations*, 34:72–76. http://www.dm.inf.ua/_34/%D1%81.72-76.pdf.

- Geiger, V. (2011). Factors Affecting Teachers' Adoption of Innovative Practices with Technology and Mathematical Modelling. In Kaiser, G., Blum, W., Borromeo Ferri, R., and Stillman, G., editors, *Trends in Teaching and Learning of Mathematical Modelling*, volume 1 of *International Perspectives on the Teaching and Learning of Mathematical Modelling*, pages 305–314, Dordrecht. Springer Netherlands. https: //doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0910-2_31.
- Gnedenko, B. V. (2020). Matematika i matematicheskoe obrazovanie v sovremennom mire [Mathematics and mathematical education in the modern world]. URSS.
- Greefrath, G., Siller, H.-S., and Weitendorf, J. (2011). Modelling Considering the Influence of Technology. In Kaiser, G., Blum, W., Borromeo Ferri, R., and Stillman, G., editors, *Trends in Teaching and Learning of Mathematical Modelling*, pages 315–329, Dordrecht. Springer Netherlands. 10.1007/978-94-007-0910-2_32.
- Greefrath, G. and Vorhölter, K. (2016). Teaching and learning mathematical modelling: Approaches and developments from german speaking countries. In *Teaching and Learning Mathematical Modelling: Approaches and Developments from German Speaking Countries*, ICME-13 Topical Surveys, pages 1–42. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-45004-9_1.
- Greefrath, G. and Weigand, H.-G. (2012). *Simulieren: Mit Modellen experimentieren*, volume 174 of *mathematik lehren*. Friedrich Verlag, Hannover.
- Henn, H.-W. (2007). Modelling Pedagogy Overview. In Blum, W., Galbraith, P. L., Henn, H.-W., and Niss, M., editors, *Modelling and Applications in Mathematics Education: The 14th ICMI Study*, volume 10 of *New ICMI Study Series*, pages 321–324. Springer US, Boston, MA. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-0-387-29822-1_33.
- Hilscher, H. (2002). Mathematikunterricht und Neue Me-

dien Hintergründe und Begründungen in fachdidaktischer und fachübergreifender Sicht. Franzbecker.

- Kaiser, G. (2019). ZDM Mathematics Education—Its Development and Characteristics. In Kaiser, G. and Presmeg, N., editors, *Compendium for Early Career Researchers in Mathematics Education*, ICME-13 Monographs, pages 481–492. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-030-15636-7_25.
- Kramarenko, T. H., Pylypenko, O. S., and Zaselskiy, V. I. (2019). Prospects of using the augmented reality application in STEM-based Mathematics teaching. *Educational Dimension*, 1:199–218. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.v53i1.3843.
- Krasnytskyi, M. P. and Shvets, V. O. (1997). Peredumovy zdiisnennia dyferentsiatsii pry pohlyblenomu vyvchenni matematyky [Prerequisites for the implementation of differentiation in the in-depth study of mathematics]. In *Modern information technologies in the educational process*, pages 156–164.
- Kvietnyi, R. N., Bohach, I. V., Boiko, O. R., Sofyna, O. Y., and Shushura, O. M. (2012). Kompiuterne modeliuvannia system ta protsesiv. Metody obchyslen. [Computer modeling of systems and processes. Calculation methods]. Vinnytsia National Technical University.
- Leshchuk, S. O., Ramskyi, Y. S., Kotyk, A. V., and Kutsiy, S. V. (2022). Design a progressive web application to support student learning. *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, 3077:83–96. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-3077/ paper16.pdf.
- Maliarchuk, S. M. (1997). Formuvannia osnov informatsiinoi kultury uchniv 6–7 klasiv za dopomohoiu seredovyshcha Loho [Formation of bases of information culture of pupils of 6–7 classes by means of the Logo environment]. PhD thesis, National Pedagogical Dragomanov University. The thesis for the degree of candidate of pedagogical sciences on speciality 13.00.02 – theory and methods of teaching informatics.
- Mathematical model (2023). Mathematical model. https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title= Mathematical_model&oldid=1138362942.
- Matiash, O. and Mykhailenko, L. (2021). Aktualni aspekty mizhnarodnykh doslidzhen vykorystannia informatsiinykh tekhnolohii navchannia v haluzi matematychnoi osvity [Current aspects of international research on the use of information technologies of learning in the field of mathematical education]. *Modern information technologies and innovation methodologies of education in professional training: methodology, theory, experience, problems*, 60:81–90. https: //doi.org/10.31652/2412-1142-2021-60-81-90.
- Matiash, O. I. and Kateryniuk, H. D. (2019). Metodychnyi instrumentarii formuvannia zdatnosti uchniv do matematychnoho modeliuvannia [Methodological Tools for Developing Students' Ability to Mathematical Modeling]. Works. https://drive.google.com/ file/d/1K9B9VI6Yr12w0JHG4Y_aSOSJVsm3cuGd/ view?usp=sharing.
- Morze, N., Buinytska, O., Varchenko-Trotsenko, L., Vasylenko, S., Nastas, D., Tiutiunnyk, A., and

Lytvynova, S. (2022). System for digital professional development of university teachers. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(2):152–168. https: //doi.org/10.55056/etq.6.

- Niss, M. and Højgaard Jensen, T., editors (2002). Number 18 in Uddannelsesstyrelsens temahæfteserie. Undervisningsministeriets forlag. http://static.uvm.dk/ publikationer/2002/kom/hel.pdf.
- Panchenko, L. L. and Shapovalova, N. V. (2010). Tsilovi aspekty navchannia studentiv pedahohichnoho universytetu matematychnoho modeliuvannia [Target aspects of teaching students of pedagogical university of mathematical modeling]. Scientific Journal of NPU Named after M.P. Drahomanova, 6:101–108. Series 3. Physics and mathematics in high school and high school.
- Razumovsky, V. G., Saurov, Y. A., and Sinenko, V. Y. (2013). Siberian Teacher, (2(87)):5–16. http://sibuch.ru/sites/default/files/%D0%90%D0% B1%D1%80%D0%B8%D1%81%D0%A0%D0% B0%D0%B7%D1%83%D0%BC%D0%BE%D0% B2%D1%81%D0%BA%D0%B8%D0%B9_%D0% B8_%D0%B4%D1%80.pdf.
- Semenova, I. Y. (2014). Matematychni modeli MSSJ. Kyiv. http://www.mechmat.univ.kiev.ua/wp-content/ uploads/2018/03/MatModelMSSlast.pdf.
- Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O. (2021). 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology: Outlook. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(4):429–604. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.53.
- Semerikov, S. O., Mintii, I. S., Slovak, K. I., Teplytskyi, I. O., and Teplytskyi, O. I. (2010). Mobilne prohramne zabezpechennia navchannia informatychnykh dystsyplin u vyshchii shkoli [Mobile software for teaching computer science disciplines in high school]. Scientific Journal of NPU Named after M.P. Drahomanova. Series 2: Computer-Based Learning Systems, 8(15):18–28. https://doi.org/10.31812/0564/ 939.
- Shtoff, V. A. (1963). *O roli modelej v poznanii [On the role of models in cognition]*. Publishing House of Leningrad University.
- Shvets, V. O. (2009). Matematychne modeliuvannia yak zmistova liniia shkilnoho kursu matematyky [mathematical modeling as profound line of the school math course]. *Didactics of mathematics: Problems and Investigations*, 32:16–23. http://www.dm.inf.ua/_32/ 16-23_32_2009.pdf.
- Shvets, V. O. and Filimonova, M. O. (2010). Evoliutsiia matematychnoho modeliuvannia yak metodu piznannia i navchannia [Evolution of mathematical modeling as a method of cognition and learning]. *Mathematics at school*, 4:22–25.
- Slepkan, Z. I. (1983). Psihologo-pedagogicheskie osnovy obucheniya matematiki [Psychological and pedagogical foundations for teaching mathematics]. Radianska shkola, Kiev.
- Sonar, T. (2001). Angewandte Mathematik, Modellbildung und Informatik: Eine Einführung für Lehramtsstudenten, Lehrer und Schüler. Mit Java-Übungen im Internet von Thorsten

Grahs. Vieweg+Teubner Verlag, Wiesbaden. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-322-80225-5.

- Stanzhytskyi, O. M., Taran, Y. Y., and Hordynskyi, L. D. (2006). Osnovy matematychnoho modeliuvannia [Fundamentals of mathematical modeling]. Kyiv University.
- Teplytskyi, I. O. (2000). Rozvytok tvorchykh zdibnostei shkoliariv zasobamy kompiuternoho modeliuvannia [Development of pupils' creative capacities by means of computer simulation]. The thesis for the degree of candidate of pedagogical sciences on speciality 13.00.02 – theory and methods of teaching informatics, Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University. http://elibrary.kdpu.edu.ua/handle/0564/1599.
- Tezer, M. and Cumhur, M. (2017). Mathematics through the 5E Instructional Model and Mathematical Modelling: The Geometrical Objects. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education*, 3(8):4789–4804. https://doi.org/10.12973/ eurasia.2017.00965a.
- Vozniak, H. M. and Vozniak, O. H. (2003). Matematyka. Prykladni zadachi: vid teorii do praktyky [Mathematics. Applied tasks: from theory to practice]. Mandrivets, Ternopil.
- Weigand, H. and Weth, T. (2002). Computer im Mathematikunterricht: Neue Wege zu alten Zielen. Mathematik Primarstufe und Sekundarstufe I + II. Spektrum Akademischer Verlag, Heidelberg.
- Zahrai, Y. M. and Kotovenko, O. A. (2007). *Modeliuvannia i prohnozuvannia stanu dovkillia*. KNUBA, Kyiv. https://tinyurl.com/42k55m5k.
- Zhaldak, M. I. (1989). Sistema podgotovki uchitelya k ispol'zovaniyu informatsionnoy tekhnologii v uchebnom protsesse [The system of preparing a teacher for the use of information technology in the educational process]. A dissertation in the form of a scientific report for the degree of Doctor of Pedagogical Sciences on specialty 13.00.02 – theory and methods of teaching informatics, Kyiv State Pedagogical Institute named after A. M. Gorky. http://elibrary.kdpu.edu.ua/ handle/0564/1365.
- Zhaldak, M. I. (2003). Pedahohichnyi potentsial kompiuterno-oriientovanykh system navchannia matematyky [Pedagogical potential of computerbased mathematics teaching systems]. Scientific Journal of NPU Named after M. P. Drahomanova. Series 2: Computer-Based Learning Systems, 7:3–16. https://sj.npu.edu.ua/index.php/kosn/article/view/584.
- Zhaldak, M. I. and Franchuk, V. M. (2020). Some applications of cloud technology in mathematical calculations. Scientific journal of National Pedagogical Dragomanov University. Series 2 Computer-based learning systems, (22(29)):3–17. https://doi.org/10. 31392/NPU-nc.series2.2020.22(29).01.
- Zhaldak, M. I., Goroshko, Y. V., Vinnychenko, E. F., and Tsybko, G. Y. (2012). *Mathematics with a computer: The teacher's guide*. National Dragomanov Pedagogical University, Kyiv, 3 edition. http://erpub.chnpu. edu.ua:8080/jspui/handle/123456789/1523.
- Zhaldak, M. I. and Hrybiuk, O. O. (2014). Psykholohopedahohichni vymohy do kompiuterno-

oriientovanykh system navchannia matematyky [psychological and pedagogical requirements for computer-based mathematics education systems]. Scientific Journal of NPU Named after M. P. Drahomanova. Series 2: Computer-Based Learning Systems, 14(21):3–19. https://sj.npu.edu.ua/index.php/kosn/article/view/486.

Zhaldak, M. I., Kuzmina, N. M., and Mykhalin, H. O. (2020). Teoriia ymovirnostei i matematychna statystyka : Pidruchnyk dlia studentiv fizykomatematychnykh ta informatychnykh spetsialnostei pedahohichnykh universytetiv [Probability Theory and Mathematical Statistics. Textbook for students of physics, mathematics, and computer science specialties of pedagogical universities]. National Dragomanov Pedagogical University, Kyiv, 4 edition. http: //enpuir.npu.edu.ua/handle/123456789/35207.

Features of Using Mobile Applications to Identify Plants and Google Lens During the Learning Process

Zhanna I. Bilyk¹[®]^a, Yevhenii B. Shapovalov¹[®]^b, Viktor B. Shapovalov¹[®]^c, Pavlo D. Antonenko²[®]^d, Sergey O. Zhadan³[®]^e, Daniil Lytovchenko⁴[®]^f and Anna P. Megalinska⁵[®]^g

¹The National Center "Junior Academy of Sciences of Ukraine", 38-44 Degtyarivska Str., Kyiv, 04119, Ukraine

²College of Education, University of Florida, PO Box 117042, Gainesville, FL 32611-7044, U.S.A. ³Individual Entrepreneur "Dyba", Kiev, 03035, Ukraine

⁴Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv, 60 Volodymyrska Str, Kyiv, 01033, Ukraine

⁵National Pedagogical Dragomanov University, 9 Pyrohova Str., Kyiv, 01601, Ukraine

zhanna_bio@man.gov.ua, sjb@man.gov.ua, svb@man.gov.ua, zhadan@nuft.edu.ua, p.antonenko@coe.ufl.edu, daniil.lytovchenko@gmail.com, anna.megalin@ukr.net

Keywords: Mobile Application, STEM, Augmented Reality, Plant Identification, Google Lens.

Abstract: Students' motivation by providing personalized studies and using IT during classes is relevant in STEM. However, there is a lack of research devoted to justifying these approaches. The research aims to justify the choice of AR-plant recognition application, choosing to provide personalized experience during both the educational process at school and extracurricular activities. All apps have been analyzed and characterized by all interaction processes of the app with the user. In addition, the social environments of the apps and their usage during extracurricular activities are described. The didactics of the usage of AR-recognition apps in biology classes have been described. To provide usability analysis, a survey of experts on digital didactics was conducted to evaluate such criteria as installation simplicity, level of friendliness of the interface, and accuracy of picture processing. To evaluate the rationality of usage, apps were analyzed on the accuracy of plants recognition of the "Dneprovskiy district in Kyiv" list. It is proven that Google Lens is the most recommended app to use for these purposes. Considering the analysis results, Seek or Flora Incognita are both valid alternative options. However, these apps were characterized by lower accuracy. The use of mobile applications to identify plants is especially relevant for distance learning.

1 INTRODUCTION

The implementation of a mobile phone as a modern instrument into educational process has proven to achieve impressive results. Mobile phone usage during classes provides visualization of educational material, thus involving students in research and increasing their motivation for learning (Martín-Gutiérrez et al., 2015; Kinateder et al., 2014). Compared to computer approaches, mobile phone applications are characterized by the most promising advantages, in-

- ^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2092-5241
- ^b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3732-9486
- ^c https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6315-649X
- d https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8565-123X
- e https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7493-2180
- f https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1328-7077
- ^g https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8662-8584

cluding portability and the possibility to use both internal and external sensors (not commonly used). The modern educational directions include personalization and the research process, which may be achieved through the use of mobile phones (Marienko et al., 2020). However, it was proved that a general didactic approach led to a significant effect rather than using the device (mobile phone) for some separate aspects of education (Amelina et al., 2022). STEM/STEAM/STREAM technologies appear to be the most promising and relevant for the use of mobile apps.

1.1 Types of Software That Can Be Used During Education

All software that can be used during the learning process in the application of STEM can be divided into

688

Bilyk, Z., Shapovalov, Y., Shapovalov, V., Antonenko, P., Zhadan, S., Lytovchenko, D. and Megalinska, A.

Features of Using Mobile Applications to Identify Plants and Google Lens During the Learning Process.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 688-705 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

desktop applications, mobile applications, and weboriented technologies. The most perspective of information and communication technology (ITC) in education are augmented reality (Martín-Gutiérrez et al., 2015; Marienko et al., 2020; Modlo et al., 2019a; Agustina et al., 2019; Nechypurenko et al., 2019, 2023; Kramarenko et al., 2019; Oleksiuk and Oleksiuk, 2022; Rashevska et al., 2020), virtual reality (Kinateder et al., 2014; Potkonjak et al., 2016; Joiner, 2018; Lee and Wong, 2014; Sala, 2014; Hussein and Nätterdal, 2015; Zantua, 2017; Antonietti et al., 2001; Park, 2014), providing digital environments of education, including computer modelling (Sarabando et al., 2014; Sahin, 2006; Sifuna et al., 2016; Khine, 2018; Clark and Ernst, 2008), providing of ontological educational networks (Tarasenko et al., 2021; Shapovalov et al., 2021; Stryzhak et al., 2019), mobile-based education (Modlo et al., 2019b,a; Nechypurenko et al., 2023), modelling environments (Dziabenko and Budnyk, 2019; de Jong et al., 2014; de Jong, 2019; Kapici et al., 2019), providing of education visualization by including YouTube videos (Chorna et al., 2019), 3D modelling, and printing, smart physiological tools (Shapovalov et al., 2022) etc. A comparison of the most used software in the education process is presented in table 1.

Using mobile phone apps during the educational process is characterized by advantages such as multicapabilities, interaction with students in their research, and visualization of the educational process. Mobile apps can be classified as measuring apps, analyzing apps, image recognition, and classification apps, course platforms, and VR/AR-based apps. Based on the functions of apps, they can be divided into the following categories:

- training (course) platforms;
- measuring apps;
- measuring apps;
- video analysis apps;
- applications that analyze images and classify them;
- augmented and virtual reality (AR and VR) apps.

A comparison of different mobile apps categories is shown in table 2.

Apps-identifiers are characterized by the high potential, especially in biology classes, due to their capability to provide personalized studies. Nowadays, there is an entire range of mobile applications for identifying wildlife. Such apps may help identify insects (for example, Insect identifier Photo), animals (Dog Scanner), mushrooms (Fungus) and plants (Flora Incognita, PlantSnap, Picture This). In addition, some apps (such as Seek) provide identification of a few types of nature (both plants and animals). Nonetheless, in our opinion, the most promising applications provide analysis of the static objects of nature (plants and mushrooms). It is dependent on lower requirements for image quality, meaning that one does not require a high-end expensive smartphone to use the app effectively. Therefore, Inclusion of most students in most schools is not guaranteed.

1.2 The Problem of Plants Identification

There are about 27,000 species of flora in Ukraine. Such biodiversity requires detailed description and study. Natural conditions are constantly changing, causing changes in the species composition of biocenosis. Both aspects indicate a problem with plant identification. One of the basic principles of pedagogy is the principle of a natural experiment. For a modern child, a mobile phone with Internet access is a natural environment. So, training should be carried out within the environment where a mobile phone should become a full-fledged learning tool.

Some apps can be installed on a student's mobile phone free of charge while still allowing to determine the species of plants, their morphology, the range of distribution, and more.

There are about ten applications that can be used to identify plants. Most common of them are LeafSnap, Seek, PlantNet, Flora Incognita, PlantSnap, Picture This, Florist-X (in Russian), What is a flower (in Russian), Manager of houseplants (in Russian).

These applications can be divided into three groups:

- plant identifiers that can analyze photos (for example, Google Lens, PlanNet, Flora Incognita, PlantSnap, Picture This);
- 2) plant identifiers with the function of classification allow to identify plants manually. The plant's classificatory commonly contains pictures and information about plant species. However, the quality of analysis, in this case, will depend on the user's knowledge and skills, which may cause difficulties for both teachers and students. Their use in biology lessons within the STEM approach has considerable potential because it allows them to learn plant morphology. However, its efficiency depends on the user's knowledge, which may be lacking in the case of pupils (for example, Florist-X and What is a flower);
- 3) plants-care apps that remind to water a plant or change the soil, characterized by a lower potential

Туре	Web-oriented	Mobile applications	Desktop applications	
Installation Not required		From official stores or using appli-	From official stores or installa-	
		cation file	tion files	
General re-	Compatible Internet	A compatible version of Android,	A compatible version of Win-	
quirements	browser for all features	iOS or another mobile operating	dows / macOS /Linux or another	
	support	system	desktop operating system	
Facilities	Modelling, calculation,	Modelling, calculation, visualiza-	Modelling, calculation, visual-	
	visualization, video pre-	tion, video presenting, AR, measur-	ization, video presenting, using	
	senting	ing with both internal and external	additional external sensors	
		sensors, photo analysis, AR, VR		
Main ad-	Cross-platforming, no in-	Huge possibilities, portability	Stability and variation of appli-	
vantages	stallation required, low		cations	
	device space usage			
Main dis-	Limited opportunities,	Needs technical updates, which	Lack of individualization, the	
advantages	may not start correctly de-	may be expensive (a new phone	lesser effect of increasing moti-	
	pending on the platform,	purchase may be required each two	vation during STEM-education	
	lack of individualization	or three years)		

Table 1: Comparison of the most used in the education process software.

Table 2:	Comparison	of different	mobile apps	categories.
14010 2.	companioon	or annoione	moone upps	eutegonies.

Type of application	Description	Examples
Education platforms	These platforms allow the teacher to	Google Classroom, Prometheus,
	create instructional content, communi-	Coursera, Microsoft Office 365 for
	cate with students, give them assign-	Education
	ments and check them out automatically	
Measuring applications	These sensors and their software are al-	Measure, AR-ruler, Smart Mea-
	ready built into mobile phones	sure, Lux-meter, Accelerometer,
		Magnet Field Meter
Image analysis apps	It allows you to measure distances, an-	ImageMeter
	gles, perimeters, areas, and calculate	
	with this data.	
Image recognizing and it's clas-	These mobile applications allow you to	Identification, Mushroom, Iden-
sification applications that ana-	identify species of plants and animals	tify, Shazam, Dog Scanner, Iden-
lyze images and classify them	using photos	tify
VR and AR-based apps	Allow virtual travel, get a spatial image	Minecraft Earth, IKEA Place, Ide-
	of the training material.	ofit, Lego Hidden Side

than other application types (for example, Manager of houseplants).

Considering all advantages of plant identifiers, they were used as an object of the research. It was proven that Google Lens provides high efficiency in plant type and species identification (Bilyk et al., 2022). Furthermore, Google Lens can analyze reallife objects in AR and provide additional information using neural network algorithms. A few articles have been devoted to Google Lens that prove its relevancy and usability (du Plessis, 2015; Bilyk et al., 2020; Devi and Gaurav, 2018). However, some appsidentifiers may be more specialized and may provide better identification efficiency.

Despite the greater specialization of other applications, the research hypothesis is that Google Lens is the best plant analyzer because it may use a more extensive database, better algorithms or analysis and teaching AI using the Google crowdsource app (500 000+ installation).

Therefore, this article aims to analyze existing applications that can be used in teaching biology both in the classroom and in the field.

1.3 New Features in Google Lens

Interest in learning Google Lens capabilities usage for the learning process is growing. This is due to the development of both the technology itself and the pedagogical and psychological aspects of its application. For example, Google Lens can be installed on a desktop computer via Chrome. In this version, Google Lens allows you to not only search for similar images, but also to perform operations with text on images.

Google Lens announces the emergence of a new search algorithm Multitasking Unified Model (MUM). At the presentation, they demonstrated how it works by searching for "Socks with this pattern". As a result – a list of stores selling socks with a similar pattern was shown. There is another way to use it for other purposes, for example looking up how to fix a speed shifter on a bicycle. Simply by pointing the lens on the object and asking "How to fix it", MUM would show a video with the necessary timecode.

At a first glance, the above example with the sock pattern resembles a successful marketing move, but it also involves the moment of finding information and clarifying its proper use. For example, bicycle repair is a classic STEM project. There is a problem statement and its practical solution by way of the engineering method.

An interesting aspect of Google Lens use is facial recognition of employees working for large enterprises. The developers of Google Lens are also working hard to implement the translation feature. Photographing text in one language provides automatic translation into another. Such technology would be especially relevant for teaching deaf and dumb students.

Yue's work has shown that the use of Google Lens significantly expands the vocabulary among English for lower primary pupils (Sergeeva et al., 2021) examined the possibility of utilizing Google Lens in teaching foreign language. These studies reported that Google Lens can be applied in foreign language classes as it contributed to the optimization of the educational process by filling it with information, involving students, and successfully influencing the process of development.

Psychological and pedagogical aspects of the Google Lens application are currently being actively studied. The study results (Nguyen, 2021) showed that performance expectancy, utilitarian value, and social influence had a statistically significant and positive impact on behavioral intention, but the perceived risk had a statistically significant and negative effect on behavioral intention.

Nowadays, some aspects of Google Lens use in marketing, in learning foreign languages with students of all ages, and in biology lessons are explored. However, the effectiveness of Google Lens in recognizing living objects requires further study and comparison with other mobile applications.

2 ANALYSIS METHODS

To analyze the plant identification apps' usability, a survey of experts on digital didactics was provided. The main criteria were installation simplicity, level of friendliness of the interface, and accuracy of picture processing. Each criterion was evaluated from 0 to 5 (the higher the better). Those applications which were characterized by an average evaluation grade of more than four were used to further analyze quality of identification taking into account the condition that the application may be used by both students and teachers with a low level of ICT competence.

Analysis of quality of identification was provided by a simplified method compared to our previous research (Sala, 2014) due to the aim of this paper to obtain a general state on application plant identification accuracy. 350 images from the list of plants of the catalog "Dneprovskiy district of Kyiv" were taken to analyse the identification accuracy. The key from the "Dneprovskiy district of Kyiv" plant classification was used as a control. The vast majority of photographs of plants on this list contain distinct vegetative organs (shoots with stems, leaves, buds) and generative organs (flowers or fruits). The presence of the latter is necessary to accurately determine the species.

To analyze the data, tables with names of the plant as lines and as names of the app in columns have been created. Each successful identification was evaluated as 1 and unsuccessful as 0 (see an example in table 3).

Table 3: Example of the table of apps analyzing.

The name of the plant	Flora Incognita	PlantNet	Seek	LeafSnap	Picture This
Prunus armeniaca (Apricot)	0	0	0	0	1
Jasione montana	0	1	1	1	1
Ageratum houstonianum	0	1	0	1	1
Chaenomeles japonica	0	0	0	0	0
Amaranthus	1	0	1	1	0
Ambrosia artemisiifolia	0	1	0	1	1
Amorpha fruticosa	0	0	1	1	0
Anemone sylvestris	1	1	1	1	0
Anemonoides ranunculoides	1	0	0	0	1
Anisanthus tectorum	0	0	1	0	0

Finally, all obtained results, including general usability evaluation (survey) and results on identification quality, were compared with results on Google Lens to summarize information.

3 RESULTS

3.1 Analysis of the Interaction with Apps

General characteristics of the apps. The apps' databases are significantly differing. For example, the lowest number of plants in the database is in Flora Incognita (4800 species), and the highest is in PlantSnap (585,000 species).

In addition, the app's databases differ in the presence of species based on geographical locations. For example, Flora Incognita's database is very limited geographically and contains only German flora; Conversely, PlantNet's data is geographically vast and contains flora of Western Europe, USA, Canada, Central America, Caribbean islands, Amazon, French Polynesia, including, medicinal plants, invasive plants, weeds.

Login procedure and instruction. For education, the login procedure is significant because it is related to the safety of students' personal data. On the other hand, login possibility is vital to save achievements, progress, and communications which motivates the student.

Only LeafSnap does not use the additional account at all (it automatically connected to the Google account). However, almost all apps request their own account. For example, Seek requests Inaturalist account (to connect with Inaturalist social network). Apps such as FloraIncognita start with the account creation page; PictureThis starts from the page with subscription plans, which may be a disadvantage when used by students. The login process into Flora Incognita, PlantNet, PlantSnap, Seek, Picture-This, and PictureThis's is accompanied by aggressive advertising illustrated in figure 1.

The feature of detailed video instructions is available via e-mail only in the PlantSnap app (English audio and Russian subtitles available). Other apps provide instructions within themselves. PlantNet does not feature any instructions whatsoever. Instructions of PictureThis are very simple. LeafSnap's help section is not displayed with the first launch confined to a specific tab. Instructions presentation in Flora Incognita (a), PlantSnap (b), PictureThis (c) LeafSnap (d) and Seek (e, f) apps is presented in figure 2.

Data and photo input process. According to botanical science, the algorithm for determining a plant includes: establishing the life form of the plant (tree, bush, grass); studying the vegetative parts of the plant (leaves, stem). In addition, generative organs (flower or fruit) analysis is helpful to determine a specific species name. Flora incognita and LeafS-

nap request the addition of different parts of the given plant's pictures. The mechanism of processing can differ. For example, Flora incognita processes photos of different parts of the plant; PlantNet provides photography and then choice of the plant part (analysis of only one photo)

Geographic location is significant to identify many species. For example, Picea omorika and Picea abies are very similar species, but Picea omorika is only found in Western Siberia and Eastern Bosnia and Herzegovina. Seek, Flora Incognita, LeafSnap, PlantNet request geolocation access during the first launch. If the algorithm for determining the plant in the application includes the definition of life form, photographing the vegetative and generative organs, and the geographical location of the object, such algorithm has been evaluated as entirely correct. If the application of the plant is based on the analysis of one image in a single click, the algorithm has been evaluated as simple. The interface of different apps' photo and data input is presented in figure 3.

apps are free, but PlantSnap limits the quantity of identifications by 25 plants per day per account. The mobile application PictureThis has the biggest amount of advertising. This mobile application also allows you to identify only 5 plants per day for free. Therefore, the use of PictureThis during the learning process is quite limited. The programs can request a single photo of the plant or photos of different parts of plants (PlantNet). In addition, LeafSnap provides automatic detection of the part of the plant presented in the photo. In general, all programs allow both making a real-life photo or uploading the photo made before.

Identification results. All apps (except PlantNet and Seek) provide information on the determined plant. All data on the plant is very structured in all apps and displayed, for example, in the manner: "Genus: Fucus".

FloraIncognita, PlantNet, PlantSnap provide interaction with other sources. Both public sources such as Wikipedia and more specialized sources, such as Plants for a Future, are used for interaction. The most interactive app among them is Plant net. It provides links to Catalogue of Life, Plants for a Future, and Wikipedia Flora Incognita. When used with the Russian interface, it provides the additional link to the site https://www.plantarium.ru (figure 4). Comparison results of mobile applications that can analyze plant photos are presented in table 4.

There are some spesific functions available during identification:

• PictureThis can provide an auto diagnosis of plant's problems with pests and determination of their diseases (figure 5);



Figure 1: Login process of Flora Incognita (a), PlantNet (b), PlantSnap (c), Seek (d), Picture-This (e), and PictureThis's aggressive advertising (f, g).

• PlantSnap finds the plant on amazon and provides an infographic on solar activity, water usage and activation temperature.

3.2 Infrastructure and Social Environment

Some applications have their own approach to providing complex research of nature. Those features are useful forincreasing students' motivation to research nature. However, it is worth noting that the most developed environment is in Seek used iNaturalist application (developed by California Academy of Science and National Geographic), which delivers robust systems of different instruments to students and teachers.

Photo sharing and communications. PlantNet provides the feed of photos to identify plants shared by other users of PlanNet. The information in the feed is divided into classes "identified", "unidentified", and "All" filter (displays both identified and unidentified). The items in the feed with an "identified" filter will display already identified plants by users, and "unidentified" filter will display unidentified plants by users. The most promising approach is to use an "unidentified" feed which may be helpful in a few cases:

- To help with identifying the plant
- · To train own identification skills by providing



Figure 2: Instructions in Flora Incognita (a), PlantSnap (b), PictureThis (c) LeafSnap (d) and Seek (e, f) apps.

identification of pictures of others

• To share thoughts in the field of botanic, communicate with other researchers, and provide social science networking. *Personal journals.* The first instrument to motivate a young researcher is providing a personal journal of observation and identification. It is a widespread feature. For example, Flora Incognita has



Figure 3: The interface of photo and data input of Flora Incognita (a), PlantNet (b) PlantSnap (c) PictureThis (d) LeafSnap Seek (e) apps.

the tab "My observations"; PictureThis has "My garden"; Leaf snap has "My plants". However, some apps do not provide an explicitly personal journal. For example, PlantNet only saves the history of observations.

Projects and social. Seek provides collaboration



Figure 4: Data on identified plant Flora Incognita (a), PlantNet (b), PlantSnap (c, d), PictureThis (e), LeafSnap (f), and Seek (g).

through access to projects. Users can find and choose projects that they would like to join. It is worth noting that the app is ubiquitous and that there are even projects available in Ukraine. The project selection and specific project interfaces are presented in figure 6a.

Achievements. Seek-identification app provides a significantly different approach to increasing students' motivation. It provides achievements for each plant students may find, which motivates them to delve into new studies from time to time. The effect of achievement affects the brain as exaltation, and people desire it repeatedly. It is used in games to motivate students to play again and again (Abramovich et al., 2011; Hart and Albarracín, 2009; Weiner, 1985). In the case of Seek, some factors will motivate students to research nature.

The iNaturalist offers to observe plant and animal species, which a student can find nearby. This feature is activated by the "Exploring All" function and choosing "My location". Moreover, based on location, students can use Missions which gibes quests for students to do, for example, to find a "Rock Pigeon". Hence, students can observe nature nearby to study it in general terms while the program keeps encouraging students by illustrating progress through completion of various missions. The Exploring All and Missions functions are presented in figure 6b, c.

Application	Number of plants in the database	Accuracy of the analyzing process	Links to other information services
Flora Incognita	4800 (only German)	The analysis algorithm is correct	Links to Catalogue of Life, Plants for a Future and Wikipedia. Flora Incognita, with a Russian interface, provides links to the Russian site
PlantNet	21920	The analysis algorithm is entirely correct	Gives only the name of the plant. Includes elements of social networks (by sharing plants student found and subscriptions). In addition, it contains links to Wikipedia.
PlantSnap	585000	The analysis algorithm is simple.	Has its own description. Searches via Amazon to give purchase options of the plant in question.
Picture This	10000	The analysis algorithm is simple.	Provides very structured information (in- cluding type, lifespan, height, flower di- ameter), care aspects, usage of the plant
LeafSnap	No data	The analysis algorithm is correct. Evaluation of health state (healthy and unhealthy) is included into de- termination process.	Contains links to Wikipedia, Pl@ntUse, Global Biodiversity Information Facility
Seek	No data	The analysis algorithm is the sim- plest. Achievements are given to users after some successful identi- fications	Has no detailed description but proposes "species nearby in this taxon"

Table 4: Comparison results of mobile applications that can analyze plant photos.

3.3 Analysis of Application Identification Accuracy

PlantNet is the most straightforward app to install. Google Lens, LeafSnap and Flora Incognita have also simple installation procedure. Google Lens, LeafSnap, Flora Incognita, Seek have the most straightforward interface. Google Lens, PlantSnap, PictureThis, and PlantNet are characterized by the most uncomfortable identification process, which can be complicated for teachers. Results of detailed analyses on plant identification applications are presented in figure 7.

In general, Google Lens, LeafSnap, Flora Incognita, PlanNet, and Seek have proven to be the most usable after detailed research. However, the total number of points each application received is presented in figure 8.

The most accurate apps are Google Lens, with 92.6% identification accuracy. Flora Incognita correctly identifies 71% of cases; PlantNet – 74%; Seek – in 76%, LeafSnap – in 76%. The PictureThis percentage of correct definitions was not determined, because this mobile application allows to identify only three plants per day for free. For a comparison of the identification plants accuracy by research applications, see

figure 9.

Our previous work demonstrated that Google Lens does not differentiate native species from Ukraine. It seems that Seek, PlantNet and Google Lens mostly use data of American and European kinds of plants to train the neural network, and they have missed during identification of specific Ukrainian kinds of plants. Flora Incognita provides significantly different specific analyses; it may be due to Flora Incognita using a Russian database (similar to the Ukrainian region).

In our previous studies, it was shown that the accuracy of plant detection by the mobile application PlantNet is 55%. However, in the current test, the percentage of correct identification of plants by this mobile application has increased to 74%. This tendency indicates the ability of this neural network to learn.

The algorithm for determining plants using Seek also differs significantly. All other applications studied, except Seek, require a clear real-time photograph of the plant. Seek works with the user by interactively managing his activities in terms of image quality.

From the point of view of botanical science, the possibility to add different parts to the plants and choose the plant's type and geolocation access must



Figure 5: PictureThis' app features autodiagnosis on pests and diseases function: photo input interface (a) and the result of the analysis (b).

affect the identification process accuracy. However, considering the results of the experiment, applications with a simple algorithm definition (analysis of a single image) more accurately identify plants. Therefore, it seems that internal algorithms of identification (due to higher statical characteristics of neural network) and the fullness of the database are more important than accuracy of data input or taking user geolocation into account.

It should be noted that Seek identifies plants according to the algorithm used by professional botanists. Firstly, Seek defines the department, then the class, family, genus, and, finally, the species. Therefore, Google Lens is the most recommended app for use during classes (Bilyk et al., 2020). It is thus characterized by the highest general evaluation with 4.6 points of interface analysis, which is significantly higher than marks for other apps. However, taking into account results of usability analysis and quality of analysis, it is possible to use Seek or Flora Incognita for students and teachers who do not like the Google Lens app for whichever reason. However, PlantNet cannot be recommended to use due to low accuracy which may result in half of incorrect analysis results.

3.4 Advantages of Using Mobile Phone Applications in the Educational Process

In our opinion, the use of mobile applications that identify plants during the education process has the following functions:

1. Function of creating a learning environment. Even in the works of Montessori (Montessori,



Figure 6: The Exploring All (a), Missions functions (b) and concrete project (c) functions.

1961) (a true classic of pedagogical thought), it was proven that the environment should develop the child. To a greater or lesser extent, mobile applications create such an environment. For example, Seek stimulates the child to search for new plant objects, manages the process of photographing plants, provides links to additional information about the plant, creates its own synopsis for the child, and motivates the child with "achievements".

- 2. Cognitive function. Only 70 hours are allotted to study all plants in Ukrainian schools. Such amount of time is insufficient for such task Mobile applications allow students to learn about the diversity of the plant world.
- 3. Training function. Due to the limited number of teaching hours, a teacher cannot focus enough on the development of practical skills, such as determining the life form of plants (bush, grass, tree, vine). Such skills are developed as a result of repeated training. Some applications, for instance Flora Incognita, request a definition of life form. All these functions contribute to the formation of this skill.

The use of mobile applications promotes the development of students with the following competencies:

- 1. *STEM competence*. When using mobile applications, students gain experience in the study of nature.
- 2. *Environmental competence*. Some applications, such as Seek, explain the rules of behavior in nature.
- ICT competence. Mobile applications allow students to demonstrate the safe use of technology for learning.
- 4. *Lifelong learning competence*. The use of mobile applications teaches students to find opportunities for learning and self-development throughout life.

4 DISCUSSION

4.1 The Effect of UI/UX of the Apps on the Student's Motivation

The likelihood of students using mobile applications to identify plants depends on their interest. According to modern theories, there is individual and situational interest. Individual interest depends on the psychological characteristics of the individual. In contrast, situational interest arises in response to the peculiarities of the environment. Situational interest



Figure 7: Results of detailed results on plants identification applications usability analysis.



Figure 8: Integrated results on the usability of plants identification applications.

(SI) is divided into triggered situational interest and maintained situational interest (Linnenbrink-Garcia et al., 2010). Triggered-SI occurs quickly, directly, and on the "catch". Maintained-SI is a more stable form of interest in which the student begins to delve into the details. If maintained-SI deepens, this interest may become individual. According to Schiefele (Schiefele, 1991), Maintained-SI can be divided into maintained-SI, feeling component and maintained-SI, value component. These researchers believe that personality's value and sensory component support interest.

Situational interest may depend on the content of the study material. Quite a small number of students are interested in plants. However, many students may be interested in mobile applications. One way to capture users's attention is to provide mobile applications on the social network principle. PlantNet works accordingly. Users can share unique photos of plants and discuss the species. In modern pedagogics, social networks have significant didactic potential (Greenhow and Askari, 2017).

Enhancing students' motivation is an essential element, when modern informational tools usage is concerned. Motivation enhancement is significantly dependent on many factors. Situational interest plays a vital role in this context. In the case of mobile phones, students' motivation state is affected by both of them. Other factors affect motivation, such as engagement (Fredricks et al., 2004), well-being (Renshaw and Arslan, 2016; Bates and Boren, 2019; Renshaw, 2015), satisfaction (Ritzhaupt, 2019), positive



Figure 9: Comparison of the definition plants mobile apps accuracy.

and negative factors affect schedule (PANAS) (Ebesutani et al., 2012; Laurent et al., 1999). However, it seems that situational interest is caused by other factors; therefore, for analysis' sake, we will focus on situational interest. Indeed, some students will be looking for a tool that will help them satisfy their need for investigation of nature, and that causes a high level of maintained-SI when using identification mobile applications. However, triggered-SI will affect students that are not interested in nature investigation. For this purpose, the program's interface and UI/UX are very important because these are the components forming the first impression.

For example, the use of situational interest, which was triggered yet not maintained – markedly decreased from pre-test to post-test during a digital mathematics game (Rodríguez-Aflecht et al., 2018). This result may be explained by the program interface, which was neither easy to understand nor enjoyable to use. Consequently, enhancement of motivation when using such tools during biology classes becomes impossible with the interface, which contributes neither to the ease of understanding nor enjoyment of app use.

Due to the above understanding, detailed results on usability analysis (UI/UX) of plant identification applications are utterly significant (figure 7). The examples of comparison between different parts of the programs' interface are shown in figures 1-4. As shown in figure 7, the programs with the best UI/UX are Leaf Snap, Flora incognita, and Google lens.

The login process is an important part of UX, especially in the case of school usage. The experts took into account the login procedure during the evaluation of the simplicity and friendliness of the interface (figure 7). The most straightforward procedures were in Google Lens and Plant Net because it is possible to use them without additional login steps. Plant Snap and Seek also have relatively simple login procedure. Instructions are helpful, but their effect seems to have a much lesser influence on student motivation (figure 2). However, their absence may have a significant negative effect on students' motivation.

However, no programs were characterized by the absence of instructions. The simplicity and friendliness of the interface during the process of plant identification seem to deliver reverse accuracy within such a process. Even with the inaccuracy of inputting photos, some programs, such as Google Lens, nonetheless provide impressive results. Therefore, we will take into account the simplicity of such process. Google lens, PlantNet and Seek were also the easiest due to their one-click-based process. All the above steps are essential to use the factors to transfer situational triggered to maintaining interest. In most cases, obtaining additional data UX/UI will depend on maintaining situational interest. Consequently, obtaining additional data on UX/UI contribution to students' motivation will exhibit a lesser effect.

Furthermore, it is essential to consider that triggered motivation is affected not only by UI/UX, but also, by involving students in the investigation process, for instance, by providing the social network effect and communication with other young researchers – a function available in Seek.

The Seek mobile application system is interesting from the point of view of didactics. The principle of operation of this application uses gamification principles. Numerous studies have proven the high educational potential of games. In many cases, the application of games and simulations for learning provides an opportunity for learners to apply acquired knowledge and experiment. Some things cannot be applied in real-world contexts. Games can motivate to learn, increasing the likelihood that the desired learning outcomes will be achieved. Learning is defined as the acquisition of knowledge or skills through experience or practice, and what better way to learn is there other than through a game? (Pivec and Kearney, 2007).

The student can register in Seek and get a nickname. For each plant identified, he receives an achievement and becomes a higher-level user. During computer games, the participant learns to use their knowledge in a specific situation without even realizing it. These steps allows to use knowledge, skills, and abilities automatically (Facer et al., 2001). The impact of games on motivation to learn is not unambiguous; it all depends on the game itself. Students whose situational interest trajectories were stable (either high or low) presented no changes in individual interest, yet the individual interest of students whose situational interest was triggered but not maintained markedly decreased from pre-test to post-test. Results suggest that it is vital to use game-based learning not because games are believed to be "motivating"; rather, games with proven learning outcomes should be carefully selected (Rodríguez-Aflecht et al., 2018).

When a student uses Seek for a while, he sees that first, the mobile application defines the class, then the family, then the species. This knowledge is deeply remembered.

Therefore, Seek increases the motivation to learn because, in addition to virtual awards, it offers participation in real environmental projects.

4.1.1 Alignment With Relevant K-12 STEM Education Standards in the United States and Ukraine

The main document declaring the introduction of STEM education in Ukraine is the concept of the implementation of natural and mathematical (STEM) education (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2020). According to this document, the task of STEM in education is the formation of skills for solving complex (complex) practical problems, comprehensive development of personality by identifying its inclinations and abilities; mastering the means of cognitive and practical activities; education of a person who strives for lifelong learning, the formation of skills of practical and creative application of acquired knowledge.

In our opinion, the use of mobile applications:

1. allows to solve a practical problem (determining the type of plant, for example, if it is a parasitic plant and one needs to get rid of it);

- comprehensive development of personality is realized through the acquisition of biological knowledge, the practice of using mobile applications, and communication with people who have similar interests;
- 3. the concept of lifelong learning is perfectly implemented when using mobile applications because anyone can use them at any time.

In the United States and many European countries, the ISTE 2016 standard is one of the most wellknown educational standards. According to this standard, the modern student must be able to solve specific problems, making optimal use of modern technology. Such technologies include mobile applications for identifying plants which solve a specific problem. ISTE states that students use collaborative technologies to interact with others, including peers and experts, to study problematic issues from different points of view. This item is significantly supported by mobile applications for identifying plants, which are created on the principle of social networks. Using these applications, a student can discuss s photos of the most interesting plants with others. According to ISTE 2016, students jointly explore the problems at both local and global levels and use technology to develop standard ways to solve these problems. Seek promotes real projects from researching a few faunas and flora representatives to solve global problems.

5 CONCLUSION

- 1. Apps related to plant identification can be referred to as those which can analyze photos, devoted to manual identification, and apps devoted to plant care monitoring.
- 2. It has been proven that LeafSnap, Flora Incognita, PlanNet, and Seek are the most usable plant identifier apps.
- 3. Seek and LeafSnap correctly identified plant species in 76% of cases, PlantNet correctly did this in 74% of cases, Flora Incognita correctly identified plant species in 71% of cases, which is significantly lesser than the same parameter for Google Lens (92.6%). Google Lens was characterized by the highest usability mark compared to PlantNet, Flora Incognita, LeafSnap, and Seek.
- 4. Based on the above, Google Lens is the most recommended app for use during biology classes. However, it is possible to use Seek or Flora Incognita for students and teachers who do not like the Google Lens app for whichever reason.

- 5. The Seek mobile application can be used as a learning environment.
- 6. PlantNet app is characterized by an accuracy of 55% and cannot be recommended for use during biology classes.

REFERENCES

- Abramovich, S., Schunn, C., Higashi, R., Hunkele, T., and Shoop, R. (2011). 'Achievement Systems' to Boost 'Achievement Motivation'. In *Proceedings* of Games+Learning+Society Conference 7.0 (GLS '11), July, 2011. https://www.ri.cmu.edu/publications/ achievement-systems-to-boost-achievement-motivation/.
- Agustina, W. W., Sumarto, S., and Trisno, B. (2019). Augmented reality based on stem for supporting science literacy in vocational education. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1375(1):012088. https://doi.org/ 10.1088/1742-6596/1375/1/012088.
- Amelina, S. M., Tarasenko, R. O., Semerikov, S. O., and Shen, L. (2022). Using mobile applications with augmented reality elements in the self-study process of prospective translators. *Educational Technol*ogy Quarterly, 2022(4):263–275. https://doi.org/10. 55056/etq.51.
- Antonietti, A., Imperio, E., Rasi, C., and Sacco, M. (2001). Virtual reality and hypermedia in learning to use a turning lathe. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 17(2):142–155. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0266-4909. 2001.00167.x.
- Bates, M. and Boren, D. M. (2019). Assessing Wellbeing in Schools: An Educator's Practical Guide to Measuring Wellbeing. EdTech Books. https://edtechbooks.org/ wellbeing.
- Bilyk, Z. I., Shapovalov, Y. B., Shapovalov, V. B., Megalinska, A. P., Andruszkiewicz, F., and Dolhanczuk-Sródka, A. (2020). Assessment of mobile phone applications feasibility on plant recognition: comparison with Google Lens AR-app. In Burov, O. Y. and Kiv, A. E., editors, *Proceedings of the 3rd International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 13, 2020*, volume 2731 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 61–78. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2731/paper02.pdf.
- Bilyk, Z. I., Shapovalov, Y. B., Shapovalov, V. B., Megalinska, A. P., Zhadan, S. O., Andruszkiewicz, F., Dołhańczuk-Śródka, A., and Antonenko, P. D. (2022). Comparing Google Lens Recognition Accuracy with Other Plant Recognition Apps. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 2: AET*, pages 20– 33. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/ 0010928000003364.
- Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine (2020). Pro skhvalennia Kontseptsii rozvytku pryrodnycho-matematychnoi osvity (STEM-osvity) [On approval of the Concept of development of natural and mathematical education

(STEM-education)]. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/ show/960-2020-#Text.

- Chorna, O. V., Hamaniuk, V. A., and Uchitel, A. D. (2019). Use of youtube on lessons of practical course of german language as the first and second language at the pedagogical university. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:294–307. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.392.
- Clark, A. C. and Ernst, J. V. (2008). STEM-Based Computational Modeling for Technology Education. *The Journal of Technology Studies*, 34(1):20–27. https: //doi.org/10.21061/jots.v34i1.a.3.
- de Jong, T. (2019). Moving towards engaged learning in STEM domains; there is no simple answer, but clearly a road ahead. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 35(2):153–167. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12337.
- de Jong, T., Sotiriou, S., and Gillet, D. (2014). Innovations in STEM education: the Go-Lab federation of online labs. *Smart Learning Environments*, 1(1):3. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s40561-014-0003-6.
- Devi, A. N. and Gaurav (2018). Reviews on Augmented Reality: Google Lens. International Journal of Computer Trends and Technology, 58(2):94–97. https: //doi.org/10.14445/22312803/IJCTT-V58P116.
- du Plessis, L. K. (2015). Through the Google Lens: Development of lecturing practice in Photography. Master of Technology in Photography, Durban University of Technology. https://openscholar.dut.ac.za/bitstream/ 10321/1437/1/DU%20PLESSIS_2015.pdf.
- Dziabenko, O. and Budnyk, O. (2019). Go-Lab ecosystem: Using online laboratories in a primary school. In *ED-ULEARN19 Proceedings*, 11th International Conference on Education and New Learning Technologies, pages 9276–9285. IATED. https://doi.org/10.21125/ edulearn.2019.2304.
- Ebesutani, C., Regan, J., Smith, A., Reise, S., Higa-McMillan, C., and Chorpita, B. F. (2012). The 10-Item Positive and Negative Affect Schedule for Children, Child and Parent Shortened Versions: Application of Item Response Theory for More Efficient Assessment. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 34(2):191–203. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10862-011-9273-2.
- Facer, K., Furlong, J., Furlong, R., and Sutherland, R. (2001). Constructing the Child Computer User: From Public Policy to Private Practices. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 22(1):91–108. http://www. jstor.org/stable/1393216.
- Fredricks, J. A., Blumenfeld, P. C., and Paris, A. H. (2004). School Engagement: Potential of the Concept, State of the Evidence. *Review of Educational Research*, 74(1):59–109. https://doi.org/10. 3102/00346543074001059.
- Greenhow, C. and Askari, E. (2017). Learning and teaching with social network sites: A decade of research in K-12 related education. *Education and Information Technologies*, 22(2):623–645. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10639-015-9446-9.
- Hart, W. and Albarracín, D. (2009). The effects of chronic achievement motivation and achievement primes on the activation of achievement and fun goals. *Journal*
of Personality and Social Psychology, 97(6):1129–1141. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0017146.

- Hussein, M. and Nätterdal, C. (2015). The Benefits of Virtual Reality in Education: A Comparison Study. Bachelor of Science Thesis in Software Engineering and Management, Chalmers University of Technology, University of Gothenburg, Göteborg, Sweden.
- Joiner, I. A. (2018). Virtual Reality and Augmented Reality: What Is Your Reality? In Joiner, I. A., editor, *Emerging Library Technologies*, Chandos Information Professional Series, chapter 6, pages 111– 128. Chandos Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-0-08-102253-5.00007-1.
- Kapici, H. O., Akcay, H., and de Jong, T. (2019). Using Hands-On and Virtual Laboratories Alone or Together—Which Works Better for Acquiring Knowledge and Skills? *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 28(3):231–250. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10956-018-9762-0.
- Khine, M. S., editor (2018). Computational Thinking in the STEM Disciplines: Foundations and Research Highlights. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-319-93566-9.
- Kinateder, M., Ronchi, E., Nilsson, D., Kobes, M., Müller, M., Pauli, P., and Mühlberger, A. (2014). Virtual reality for fire evacuation research. In 2014 Federated Conference on Computer Science and Information Systems, pages 313–321. https://doi.org/10. 15439/2014F94.
- Kramarenko, T. H., Pylypenko, O. S., and Zaselskiy, V. I. (2019). Prospects of using the augmented reality application in STEM-based Mathematics teaching. *Educational Dimension*, 1:199–218. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.v53i1.3843.
- Laurent, J., Catanzaro, S. J., Rudolph, K. D., Joiner, T. E., Potter, K. I., Lambert, S., Osborne, L., and Gathright, T. (1999). A measure of positive and negative affect for children: Scale development and preliminary validation. *Psychological Assessment*, 11(3):326–338. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.11.3.326.
- Lee, E. A.-L. and Wong, K. W. (2014). Learning with desktop virtual reality: Low spatial ability learners are more positively affected. *Computers & Education*, 79:49–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu. 2014.07.010.
- Linnenbrink-Garcia, L., Durik, A. M., Conley, A. M., Barron, K. E., Tauer, J. M., Karabenick, S. A., and Harackiewicz, J. M. (2010). Measuring Situational Interest in Academic Domains. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 70(4):647–671. https://doi. org/10.1177/0013164409355699.
- Marienko, M. V., Nosenko, Y., and Shyshkina, M. P. (2020). Personalization of learning using adaptive technologies and augmented reality. In Burov, O. Y. and Kiv, A. E., editors, Proceedings of the 3rd International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 13, 2020, volume 2731 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 341– 356. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2731/ paper20.pdf.

- Martín-Gutiérrez, J., Fabiani, P., Benesova, W., Meneses, M. D., and Mora, C. E. (2015). Augmented reality to promote collaborative and autonomous learning in higher education. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 51:752–761. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014. 11.093.
- Modlo, Y. O., Semerikov, S. O., Bondarevskyi, S. L., Tolmachev, S. T., Markova, O. M., and Nechypurenko, P. P. (2019a). Methods of using mobile internet devices in the formation of the general scientific component of bachelor in electromechanics competency in modeling of technical objects. In Kiv, A. E. and Shyshkina, M. P., editors, *Proceedings of the 2nd International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, March 22, 2019*, volume 2547 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 217– 240. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2547/ paper16.pdf.
- Modlo, Y. O., Semerikov, S. O., Nechypurenko, P. P., Bondarevskyi, S. L., Bondarevska, O. M., and Tolmachev, S. T. (2019b). The use of mobile Internet devices in the formation of ICT component of bachelors in electromechanics competency in modeling of technical objects. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:413–428. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.402.
- Montessori, M. M. (1961). Maria Montessori's contribution to the cultivation of the mathematical mind. *International Review of Education*, 7(2):134–141. https: //doi.org/10.1007/BF01433363.
- Nechypurenko, P., Semerikov, S., and Pokhliestova, O. (2023). Cloud technologies of augmented reality as a means of supporting educational and research activities in chemistry for 11th grade students. *Educational Technology Quarterly.* https://doi.org/10.55056/etq. 44.
- Nechypurenko, P. P., Stoliarenko, V. G., Starova, T. V., Selivanova, T. V., Markova, O. M., Modlo, Y. O., and Shmeltser, E. O. (2019). Development and implementation of educational resources in chemistry with elements of augmented reality. In Kiv, A. E. and Shyshkina, M. P., editors, *Proceedings of the 2nd International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, March 22, 2019*, volume 2547 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 156– 167. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2547/ paper12.pdf.
- Nguyen, V. (2021). Determinants of Intention to use Google Lens. International Journal of Information Science and Technology, 5(2):4–11. https://doi.org/10.57675/ IMIST.PRSM/ijist-v5i2.201.
- Oleksiuk, V. P. and Oleksiuk, O. R. (2022). Examining the potential of augmented reality in the study of Computer Science at school. *Educational Technol*ogy Quarterly, 2022(4):307–327. https://doi.org/10. 55056/etq.432.
- Park, N. (2014). The Development of STEAM Career Education Program using Virtual Reality Technology. *Life Science Journal*, 11(7):676– 679. http://www.lifesciencesite.com/lsj/life1107/097_ 25058life110714_676_679.pdf.

- Pivec, M. and Kearney, P. (2007). Games for Learning and Learning from Games. Organizacija, 40(6). http://organizacija.fov.uni-mb.si/index.php/ organizacija/article/view/208.
- Potkonjak, V., Gardner, M., Callaghan, V., Mattila, P., Guetl, C., Petrović, V. M., and Jovanović, K. (2016). Virtual laboratories for education in science, technology, and engineering: A review. *Computers & Education*, 95:309–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu. 2016.02.002.
- Rashevska, N. V., Semerikov, S. O., Zinonos, N. O., Tkachuk, V. V., and Shyshkina, M. P. (2020). Using augmented reality tools in the teaching of twodimensional plane geometry. In Burov, O. Y. and Kiv, A. E., editors, *Proceedings of the 3rd International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, May 13, 2020*, volume 2731 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 79–90. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2731/paper03.pdf.
- Renshaw, T. L. (2015). A Replication of the Technical Adequacy of the Student Subjective Wellbeing Questionnaire. Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment, 33(8):757–768. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0734282915580885.
- Renshaw, T. L. and Arslan, G. (2016). Psychometric Properties of the Student Subjective Wellbeing Questionnaire With Turkish Adolescents: A Generalizability Study. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, 31(2):139–151. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0829573516634644.
- Ritzhaupt, A. (2019). Measuring learner satisfaction in self-paced e-learning environments: Validation of the Electronic Learner Satisfaction Scale (eLSS). In Marks, G. H., editor, *Proceedings of International Journal on E-Learning 2019*, pages 279–299, Waynesville, NC USA. Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE). https://www. learntechlib.org/p/178466.
- Rodríguez-Aflecht, G., Jaakkola, T., Pongsakdi, N., Hannula-Sormunen, M., Brezovszky, B., and Lehtinen, E. (2018). The development of situational interest during a digital mathematics game. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 34(3):259–268. https: //doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12239.
- Sahin, S. (2006). Computer Simulations in Science Education: Implications for Distance Education. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 7(4):132–146. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED494379.
- Sala, N. (2014). Applications of Virtual Reality Technologies in Architecture and in Engineering. *International Journal of Space Technology Management and Innovation*, 3(2):78–88. https://doi.org/10.4018/ijstmi. 2013070104.
- Sarabando, C., Cravino, J. P., and Soares, A. A. (2014). Contribution of a Computer Simulation to Students' Learning of the Physics Concepts of Weight and Mass. *Procedia Technology*, 13:112–121. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.protcy.2014.02.015.
- Schiefele, U. (1991). Interest, Learning, and Motivation. *Educational Psychologist*, 26(3-4):299–323. https:// doi.org/10.1080/00461520.1991.9653136.

- Sergeeva, N. A., Zakharova, A. N., Tyutyunnik, S. I., and Rubleva, O. S. (2021). Features of using methods and means of the augmented reality technology when teaching a foreign language. *Perspektivy nauki i obrazovania – Perspectives of Science and Education*, 50(2):472–486. https://doi.org/10.32744/pse.2021.2. 33.
- Shapovalov, Y., Tarasenko, R., Usenko, S. A., Shapovalov, V., Andruszkiewicz, F., and Dołhańczuk-Śródka, A. (2021). Ontological information system for the selection of technologies for the treatment and disposal of organic waste: engineering and educational aspects. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, 236:226– 239. https://doi.org/10.5004/dwt.2021.27689.
- Shapovalov, Y. B., Bilyk, Z. I., Usenko, S. A., Shapovalov, V. B., Postova, K. H., Zhadan, S. O., and Antonenko, P. D. (2022). Using Personal Smart Tools in STEM Education. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology Volume 2: AET*, pages 192–207. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/0010929900003364.
- Sifuna, J., Manyali, G. S., Sakwa, T., and Mukasia, A. (2016). Computer Modeling for Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics Curriculum in Kenya: A Simulation-Based Approach to Science Education. *Science Journal of Education*, 4(1):1–8. https://doi. org/10.11648/j.sjedu.20160401.11.
- Stryzhak, O., Prychodniuk, V., and Podlipaiev, V. (2019). Model of Transdisciplinary Representation of GEOspatial Information. In Ilchenko, M., Uryvsky, L., and Globa, L., editors, Advances in Information and Communication Technologies, volume 560 of Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering, pages 34– 75, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https: //doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16770-7_3.
- Tarasenko, R. A., Usenko, S. A., Shapovalov, Y. B., Shapovalov, V. B., Paschke, A., and Savchenko, I. M. (2021). Ontology-based learning environment model of scientific studies. In Kiv, A. E., Semerikov, S. O., Soloviev, V. N., and Striuk, A. M., editors, Proceedings of the 9th Illia O. Teplytskyi Workshop on Computer Simulation in Education (CoSinE 2021) colocated with 17th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research, and Industrial Applications: Integration, Harmonization, and Knowledge Transfer (ICTERI 2021), Kherson, Ukraine, October 1, 2021, volume 3083 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 43–58. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-3083/paper278.pdf.
- Weiner, B. (1985). An Attributional Theory of Achievement Motivation and Emotion. *Psychological Review*, 92(4):548–573. http://acmd615.pbworks.com/ f/weinerAnattributionaltheory.pdf.
- Zantua, L. S. O. (2017). Utilization of Virtual Reality Content in Grade 6 Social Studies Using Affordable Virtual Reality Technology. Asia Pacific Journal of Multidisciplinary Research, 5(2):1– 10. http://www.apjmr.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/ 05/APJMR-2017.5.2.2.01.pdf.

How Concept Learning Changes Strategic Choice in Guessing Games?

Oleksii Ignatenko^{1,2} Da

¹Ukrainian Catholic University, 17 Sventsitsky Str., Lviv, 79011, Ukraine
 ²Kyiv Academic University, 36 Vernadsky Blvd., Kyiv, 03142, Ukraine
 o.ignatenko@ucu.edu.ua

Keywords: Behavioral Game Theory, Guessing Game, K-Beauty Contest, Active Learning, R, Agent-Based Modeling.

Abstract: This paper deals with the k-beauty contest game. The research question formulated in this work is how players (mainly children and undergraduates) learn in complex strategic situations that they have never faced before and how we can model this learning process. We examine data from different games played during popular lectures about game theory and present findings of players' progress in strategic learning while competing with other players. The raw data gathered is available in an open repository for replication and analysis and an R file with data manipulations, metrics calculations, and plots. Based on the conclusions from experimental data, we create the agent-based model and launch ten thousand simulations for different setups. Then we apply analysis from experimental data and discuss findings and similarities between agents and humans.

1 INTRODUCTION

Game theory is a field of science investigating rational players' decision-making under uncertainty. The source of the uncertainty can be strategic structure, e.g., probability of certain events, lack of information about future possibilities, or decisions of other agents that can generate it. In the last case, we can talk about the interdependence of strategic actions, when some players' decisions affect others' payoffs. Such situations arise around us daily, and we, consciously or unconsciously, participate in them. The success heavily relies on our perception of the actions of other players.

The problem is how we can know the future actions of other players. We cannot, but we can start with some assumptions that will help create a framework, model, or theory of "mind", which will predict future (reasonable) actions. Game theory proposed approach, which is now under questioning (especially from the side of the experimental or behavioral economy). Nevertheless, we will start from standard notions and proceed to experimental data.

One can expect that other players will play "reasonably", and this game theory means they will try to achieve a better result in some agent's sense. This idea is grasped by the term **rationality**. Every rational player must calculate the best possible result, taking into account the rules of the game and the interests of other participants. In other words, think strategically. It is well known from theory that rational players will play Nash equilibrium (NE) if there is any, which is very useful in games where only one unique NE exists. The notion of rationality was indeed fundamental for the development of game theory. However, the problems with this notion are also quite famous.

First, it is very demanding because it presupposes that the agent has complete, transitive preferences and is capable of computing equilibrium in a given strategic situation. However, this is not feasible in many natural situations (for example, we know about NE in chess, but still no computer can compute it). Secondly, probably more important, there are many games where NE is the poor prediction of actual human behavior. This paper investigates some of the data from such a game and discusses the difference.

All this makes decision making exciting problem to investigate. This is a rich area of research, where theoretical constructions of the game theory seem to fail to work, and experimental data shows unusual patterns. These patterns are persistent and usually do not depend on age, education, country, and other things. During the last 25 years, behavioral game theory in numerous studies has examined bounded rationality (best close concept to the rationality of game theory), cognitive distortions, and heuristics people use to reason in strategic situations. For example we can note surveys of Crawford et al. (Crawford

706

Ignatenko, O.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 706-720 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS - Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8692-2062

How Concept Learning Changes Strategic Choice in Guessing Games?.

et al., 2013) and Mauersberger and Nagel (Mauersberger and Nagel, 2018). Also, there is a comprehensive description of the field of behavioral game theory by Camerer (Camerer, 2003).

We will concentrate on the guessing games, which are a significant part of research because of their simplicity for players and easy analysis of rules from a game-theoretic perspective. In this paper, we present the results of games played during the 2018-2021 years as part of popular lectures about game theory (Ignatenko, 2020). The audience of these lectures was quite heterogeneous, but we can distinguish the following main groups:

- children at schools (strong mathematical schools, ordinary schools, alternative education schools);
- students (bachelor and master levels);
- · mixed adults with almost any background.
- · adults with a business background
- · participants of Data Science School
- · participants of summer STEM camps for children

We propose a framework of four types of games, each presenting one idea or concept of game theory. These games were introduced to players with no prior knowledge (at least in the vast majority) about the theory. On the other hand, games have simple formulation and clear winning rules, making them intuitively understandable even for kids. This makes these games the perfect choice to test the ability of strategic thinking and investigate the process of understanding complex concepts during the play, with immediate application to the practice. This dual learning, as we can name it, shows how players try and learn in natural conditions and react to interaction challenges with other strategic players.

In this paper, we will concentrate on the first game – the famous p-beauty contest game. For this game, we analyze data and try to formulate simple rules which are plausible for an explanation of players' behavior. In the next section, we created the agent-based model using the Netlogo environment and discussed the model's main features. To investigate the model and its properties, we performed simulations using the BehaviorSpace tool of Netlogo; as a result, about 10000 games were simulated. Such a volume of data is impossible to get using humanbased experiments. We recreated plots and metrics developed for human data and analyzed its similarity and differences. In the end, we formulate conclusions and future work directions.

First, let us start with some definitions.

1.1 Game Theory Definitions and Assumptions

Consider games in strategic or normal form in a noncooperative setup. A non-cooperativeness here does not imply that the players do not cooperate, but it means that any cooperation must be self-enforcing without any coordination among the players. The strict definition is as follows.

A non-cooperative game in strategic (or normal) form is a triplet $G = \{\mathcal{N}, \{S_i\}_{i \in \mathcal{N}}, \{u_i\}_{i \in \mathcal{N}}\}$, where:

- \mathcal{N} is a finite set of players, $\mathcal{N} = \{1, \dots, N\};$
- *S_i* is the set of admissible strategies for player *i*;
- $u_i: S \to \mathcal{R}$ is the utility (payoff) function for player *i*, with $S = \{S_1 \times \cdots \times S_N\}$ (Cartesian product of the strategy sets).

A game is said to be static if the players take their actions only once, independently of each other. In some sense, a static game is a game without any notion of time, where no player has any knowledge of the decisions taken by the other players. Even though, in practice, the players may have made their strategic choices at different points in time, a game is still static if no player has any information on the decisions of others. In contrast, a dynamic game is one where the players have some (full or imperfect) information about each others' choices and can act more than once. In this work, we deal with repeated static games, which means that the same game is played twice (sometimes three times) with the same players.

Agents' rationality is a significant issue; sometimes, it is called full rationality (to differentiate it from bounded rationality – a less restricting notion). When a fully rational agent tries to find the best action, it usually depends on the action of other selfinterest agents. So the first agent must form beliefs about the second agent's beliefs about the beliefs of the first agent, and so on. Such constructions seem too complicated, but they are based on the predictions of classical game theory, which assumes all agents to be fully rational.

One quite famous result by Aumann (Aumann, 1995) is that for an arbitrary perfect-information extensive-form game, the only behavior that is compatible with (1) common knowledge of rationality, and in particular by (2) each agent best responding to their knowledge is for each agent to play according to the strategy, obtained by the backward induction. Aumann and Brandenburger (Aumann and Brandenburger, 1995) showed that common knowledge of rationality, the game payoffs, and the other agent's beliefs are sufficient conditions for Nash equilibrium in an arbitrary game.

In this regard, the most accepted solution concept for a non-cooperative game is that of a Nash equilibrium, introduced by John F. Nash (Kuhn et al., 1996). Loosely speaking, a Nash equilibrium is a state of a non-cooperative game where no player can improve its utility by changing its strategy if the other players maintain their current strategies. Of course, players also use information and beliefs about other players, so we can say that (in Nash equilibrium) beliefs and incentives are important to understand why players choose strategies in real situations.

The NE is the core concept of game theory, but it differs from experiments and sometimes reality. In some games, humans demonstrate convergence to equilibrium, but in others do not. This gap between similarly-looking games is slim and not easy to catch. We will consider guessing games as a playground to work with players' behavior.

2 GUESSING GAMES HISTORY

In early 90xx, Rosemary Nagel started a series of experiments of guessing games, summarized in (Nagel, 1995). She was not the first to invent the games; they were used during the lectures by different game theory researchers (for example, Moulin (Moulin, 1986)). In recent work (Nagel et al., 2017) authors provide extensive research of the origins of the guessing game with unexpected links to the editor of one french newspaper Alain Ledoux, who, as far as it is known today, was the first who used the rules and then publish an article about unusual patterns observed (Ledoux, 1981). The work of Nagel (Nagel, 1995) was the first experimental try to investigate the hidden patterns in the guessing game, and in this working framework of k-level models was proposed.

Later, Ho et al. (Ho et al., 1998) gave the name "pbeauty contest" inspired by Keynes's comparison of stock market instruments and newspaper beauty contests.

The beauty contest game (BCG) has become an important tool to measure the "depth of reasoning" of a group of people using simple abstract rules. To begin with, we should note that behavioral game theory aims to develop models, which explain human behavior in a game-theoretic setup more accurately, based both on experiments and theory (Camerer, 2003). There are two main approaches how to dealing with the problem of replacing full rationality with bounded rationality. The first view is to consider boundedness as an error. For example quantal response notion (Camerer et al., 2002) or ε -equilibrium (Leyton-Brown and Shoham, 2008) assume that agents make

an error by choosing not optimal strategy profile. They play near-optimal response because they do not have the capacity to calculate the exact best action.

The second approach is to treat bounded rationality as a structural property of an agent's reasoning process. One of the most prominent classes of models of this type is the iterative model's scheme. They include the k-level reasoning (Nagel, 1995; Costa-Gomes et al., 2001), cognitive hierarchy (Camerer et al., 2004) and quantal cognitive hierarchy models (Wright and Leyton-Brown, 2017). All these models consider boundedness as an immanent part of the reasoning. Each agent has a non-negative integer level representing the degree of strategic reasoning (i.e., modeling of recursive beliefs) of which the agent is capable. Level-0 agents are nonstrategic - they do not model other agents' beliefs or actions at all; level-1 agents model level-0 agents' actions; level-2 agents model the beliefs and actions of level-1 agents; and so forth (Wright and Leyton-Brown, 2016). In this work, we support the latter idea, analyzing experimental data to estimate changes in numbers of different levels in the learning and teaching process.

2.1 Learning Models

Recently, game theorists began to research the process of reasoning toward equilibrium actively. Two prominent simple learning models are reinforcement and belief learning (e.g., fictitious play). In reinforcement, strategies have numerical attraction levels, which are reinforced (increased) when a strategy is chosen, and the result is good. Reinforcement is a good model of animal learning but does not gracefully accommodate the fact that people often choose strategies that have not been directly reinforced.

In the fictitious play, players form beliefs based on a weighted average of what others have done in the past, and best respond given their beliefs. Remarkably, weighted fictitious play is equivalent to a generalized reinforcement model in which unchosen strategies are reinforced by the forgone payoffs they would have yielded.

There are a lot of other approaches; we will mention the approach which enriches 0-level reasoning (Wright and Leyton-Brown, 2017). Specifically, they investigate general rules that can be used to induce a level-0 specification from the normal-form description of an arbitrary game.

Also, we can note work (Gill and Prowse, 2016), where participants were tested on cognitive abilities and character skills before the experiments. Then authors perform statistical analysis to understand the impact of such characteristics on the quality of making strategic decisions (using a p-beauty contest game with multiple rounds). In more recent work (Fe et al., 2019) even more elaborate experiments are presented. It is interesting that in the mentioned paper, experiments are very strict and rigorous (as close to laboratory purity as possible) in contrast to games played in our research. However, at the end of the day, the results do not differ very much.

As we know, there are not many works about game theory experiments for children. In our previous work (Ignatenko, 2020) we presented data from games with participants 15-18 years old. There is a master thesis (Povea and Citak, 2019), with the study of the behavior of children aged 8-11 in a beauty contest game with ten repetitions. The author found evidence that children are able to play a beauty contest game using not only cognitive skills but also empathy.

To deal with these problems, computer simulation, mainly agent-based modeling ABM can be used. Agent-based models are essentially a tool to discover patterns in behaviors that emerge from simple rules – micro behavior. Agent-based modeling for guessing games is not a very developed area of research. For example see paper (Nichols and Radzicki, 2007).

3 EXPERIMENTS SETUP

We claim that our setup is closer to reality than the laboratory, and this is the point of this research: how people learn under real-world situations. All games were played under the following conditions:

- 1. Game was played during the lecture about the game theory. Participants were asked not to comment or discuss their choice until they submitted it. However, this rule was not enforced, so usually, they have this possibility if they wanted;
- Participants were not rewarded for a win. The winner was announced (so get some "good feelings"), but no more;
- 3. During some early games, we used pieces of paper, and we got some percentage of joking or trash submission, usually very small. Later we switched to google forms, which is a better tool to control submission (for example, only natural numbers are allowed).
- 4. Google forms give a possibility to make multiple submissions (with different names) since we did not have time for verification, but a total number of submissions allows us to control that to some extent.

The aim of this setup was to free participants to explore the rules and give them the flexibility to make a decision in an uncertain environment. We think it is closer to real-life learning without immediate rewards than laboratory experiments. Naturally, this setup has strong and weak sides. Let us summarize both.

The strong sides are:

- 1. This setup allows to measure how people make decisions in "almost real" circumstances and understand the (possible) difference with laboratory experiments;
- 2. These games are part of an integrated approach to active learning, when games are mixed with explanations about concepts of game theory (rationality, expected payoff, Nash equilibrium), and they allow participants to combine experience with theory;
- 3. Freedom and responsibility. The rules do not regulate manipulations with conditions. So this setup allows (indirectly) to measure the preferences of players: do they prefer to cheat with rules, choose random decisions without thinking or put effort into solving the task;
- 4. During the 2020-2021 years, lectures were mainly online. That fact brings new challenges for our experiments, but since we initially rely on google spreadsheets for gathering the answers, all routines remain mainly the same.

Weak sides are:

- 1. Some percentage of players made "garbage" decisions. For example, choose the obviously worse choice to spoil efforts for others;
- 2. Kids has (and often use) the possibility to talk out decision with the neighbors;
- 3. Sometimes participants (especially kids) lost concentration and did not think about the game but made a random choice or did not make decisions at all;
- 4. Even for the simplest rules, sometimes participants failed to understand the game the first time. We suppose it is due to conditions of lecture with (usually) 30-40 persons around;
- 5. Still, we should note that online lectures are less involving. It is demotivating for a lecturer not to see listeners and also demotivating for students to listen to lectures online.

3.1 Rules

In this paper, we concentrate on the p-beauty contest. The winning number is the closest to p of average. As usual, p = 2/3, but we have used other setups as well (for clarity, we omit data from that games in this

analysis). Participants are asked to choose an integer number in the range 1 - 100, margins included. Note that some setups investigated in references use a range starting with 0. However, the difference is negligible. To provide quick choice calculation, we have used a QR code with a link to google form, where participants input their number. All answers were anonymous (players indicated nicknames to announce the winners, but then all records were anatomized).

4 RESULTS AND DATA ANALYSIS

In this section, we present a summary of data gathered during the games. A summary of the results of the game is given in table 1. Columns descriptions are:

- id is the id of the experiment;
- type is the type of group. Alternative H and M are for alternative schools (not in the governmental system) with humanitarian and mathematical directions, respectively. Math lyceum also goes for summer camps with participants from different lyceums;
- age is the approximate age of participants, only indicated for children, to distinguish possible borderline between stages of strategic reasoning;
- round is the round of the game;
- average is the average of choices;
- winning number is the average * 0.66;
- zlevel is the percent of players, choosing numbers bigger than 50. It is an estimation of 0-level players in this round. As one can expect, it is declining with round;
- median is the median of choices (sometimes it is more informative than average);
- count is the number of choices;
- irrationality is the percent of choices wider than 90.

First, we observe statistics of choices for different types of participants.

As we can see from the plot (figure 1) some setups have one round, some two and two cases have three rounds. It was limited by format (popular scientific lecture), so we can only safely compare two rounds.

Almost all winning numbers fall (roughly) in the experimental margins, obtained in (Nagel, 1995). With winning number no more significant than 36 and not smaller than 18 in the first round. Two exceptions in our experiments were Facebook online game (15.3) when players could read information about the game in, for example, Wikipedia. Moreover, Another is the alternative humanitarian school (40.1), where participants seem did not get the rules the first time.

4.1 Metrics and Analysis

The first metric to observe is the percent of "irrational choices" - choices that cannot win in (almost) any case. Let us explain, imagine that all players will choose 100. It is impossible from practice but not forbidden. In this case, everybody wins, but if only one player deviates to a smaller number - he/her will win, and others will lose. So playing numbers bigger than 66 is not rational unless one does not want to win. Furthermore, here we come to an important point, in all previous experiments, this metric drops in the second round and usually is very low (like less than 5%) (Ho et al., 1998). However, in our case, there are experiments where this metric becomes higher or changes very slightly. Moreover, initially, values are much higher than expected. So here, we should include the factor of unique behavior; we can call it "let us show this lecturer how we can cheat his test!" what is more interesting - is that this behavior is more apparent in the case of an adult than in kids.

It is also interesting to see a distribution of choices for different groups. We can summarize choices on the histograms (figure 2). Using models of strategic thinking, we will adopt the theory of k-levels. According to this idea, 0-level reasoning means that players make random choices (drawn from a uniform distribution), and k-level reasoning means that these players use the best response for the reasoning of the previous level. So 1-level reasoning is to play 33, which is the best response to the belief that the average will be 50, 2-level is the best response to the belief that players will play 33, and so on.

As we can see from the diagram (figure 2), some spikes in choices are predicted very well, but it depends on the background of the players. The best prediction is for the Data Science conference attendees, which presume a high level of cognitive skill and computer science background.

On figure 3, we can see boxplots defined by several players with different levels of perception for different types of players. We compare here ordinary schools and mathematical lyceums. Levels are defined in the following subsection, but we can see a pattern of behavior. The number of "irrational" (choices with big numbers) is decreasing, so as "nextto-win-but-bigger" numbers. Several 2-level reasoning, especially after explaining the equilibrium concept, is growing substantially, while some "too smart" choices from [1, 5] are more or less the same.

Id	Туре	Age	Round	Average	Winning	Zlevel	Median	Count	Irrationality
1	Alternative H	12-14	1	66.7	44.5	69.23	78	13	46.15
1	Alternative H	12-14	2	3.91	2.61	0	3.5	12	0
2	Alternative M	12-14	2	42.82	28.54	23.52	45.0	17	0
2	Alternative M	12-14	2	24.37	16.24	0	26.5	16	0
3	Adults		1	40.57	27.05	31.57	40.0	19	5.26
4	Alternative H	12-14	1	52.54	35.03	63.63	55	11	9.09
4	Alternative H	12-14	2	15.41	10.27	8.33	6	12	8.33
5	Adults		1	22.98	15.32	11.76	17.0	102	0
6	TechSchool	16-18	1	43.41	28.94	35.29	45.0	51	3.92
6	TechSchool	16-18	2	46.5	30.99	35.48	29.0	62	32.25
7	Math lyceum	16-18	1	30.58	20.38	16	27.5	50	2.0
7	Math lyceum	16-18	2	14.26	9.5	5.26	7	57	5.26
8	Math lyceum	15-16	1	37.06	24.71	20.68	33.0	29	3.44
8	Math lyceum	15-16	2	26.20	17.47	10.34	17.0	29	6.89
9	Math lyceum	14-16	1	42.0	27.99	44.44	42.5	18	11.11
9	Math lyceum	14-16	2	23.1	15.39	5.0	19.0	20	0
10	Ordinary school	14-16	1	48.69	32.46	46.15	46.5	26	0
10	Ordinary school	14-16	2	19.78	13.18	0	22.0	23	0
11	DS conference		1	37.25	24.83	28.33	33.0	60	8.33
11	DS conference		2	21.44	14.29	15.78	9.0	57	12.28
12	Students		1	42.40	28.27	33.33	40.0	27	3.7
13	Students		1	27.37	18.24	12.5	25.5	8	0
13	Students		2	8.62	5.74	0	8.5	8	0
14	Math lyceum	14-16	1	41.05	27.37	22.22	35.0	18	11.11
14	Math lyceum	14-16	2	17.23	11.49	5.88	13.0	17	0
15	Adults		1	34.32	22.88	20.73	30.0	82	1.21
15	Adults		2	12.48	8.32	2.19	8.0	91	2.19
16	Adults		1	43.05	28.70	33.96	40.0	53	1.88
16	Adults		2	14.69	9.79	1.88	11.0	53	1.88
17	Adults		1	50.33	33.55	41.66	50.0	12	8.33
17	Adults		2	13.50	8.99	0	12.0	46	0
18	Math lyceum	14-16	1	41.72	27.81	36.36	37.0	11	9.09
18	Math lyceum	14-16	2	26.36	17.57	0	30.0	11	0
19	Math lyceum	14-16	1	29.43	19.62	13.63	25.0	44	0
19	Math lyceum	14-16	2	27.25	18.16	20.45	9.5	44	20.45
20	Students		1	30	19.9	5.2	27	19	0
20	Students		2	24.9	16.6	20	11.5	20	15
21	Ordinary school	14-16	1	43	28.7	33.9	40	53	1.88
21	Ordinary school	14-16	2	14.7	9.7	1.88	11	53	1.88

Table 1: Summary of first game for id of experiment and type of players. Explanation of columns is in the text

Interesting hypotheses that need to be tested in detail can be formulated: **Higher number of choices from [50, 100] in the first round leads to the higher number of choices from [1, 5] in the second round and vice verse.** We can support this hypothesis with the following plot (figure 5).

Another metric (Güth et al., 2002) is how much winning choice in the second round is smaller than in the first. Due to multi-level reasoning, every player in this game is trying their best to win but can't do all the steps to winning. So there are players who have 0-level reasoning. They choose random numbers. First-level players choose 33, which is the best response for players of 0-level and so on. Based on the result of the first round and, in fact, an explanation of the Nash equilibrium, players must know that it is better to choose much lower numbers. However, the graph shows that the decrease is quite moderate. Only students show good performance in this matter. Moreover, the tech school shows a (small) increase in winning number in the second round!



Figure 1: Histogram of choices for each round.



Figure 2: Histogram of choices for each round.

4.2 Levels of Reasoning Snalysis

Another point about the learning process in this game is how players' decisions are distributed over the space of strategies. We claim that there is a distinct difference in changes between the first and second rounds for different groups. To perform this analysis, we apply the idea of k-level thinking.



Figure 3: Change in winning number for number of ordinary schools participants.



Figure 4: Change in winning number for number of mathematical lyceums schools participants.

To find differences, we need to simplify this approach. First, we define **b-level** players players who choose numbers from the range [50, 100]. Beginner players who do not understand rules (play randomly) or do not expect to win or want to lose intentionally (for reasons discussed above). The substantiation for such a range is that numbers above 50 did not win in any game. Second level we call **m-level**, it is for range [18, 50]. It is for players with middle levels of reasoning. The first-round winning number is usually

in this range (and in part of the second rounds). Third level is **h-level**, it is for range [5, 18]. It is for high level reasoning and finally **inf-level** ([1, 5] range) is for "almost common knowledge" level of thinking.

By calculating the number of levels for each game, we can estimate change (in the percentage of the number of players) in adopting different strategy levels.

What conclusions can we draw from this data? There are no clear differences in changes, but at least we can summarise a few points:



Figure 5: Choices number in [1, 5] range and in [50, 100] range by rounds and type.

Туре	b-difference	m-difference	h-difference	inf-difference
Alternative humanitarian	-72	-8	0	72
Alternative mathematical	-24	-6	30	-6
Alternative humanitarian	-52	0	17	43
Math lyceum	-9	-36	24	34
Math lyceum	-10	-24	28	7
Ordinary school	-49	12	20	4
DS conference attendees	-14	-32	14	27
MS students	-12	-50	50	12
Alternative mathematical	-17	-34	23	23
DS conference attendees	-17	-30	23	35
Business	-32	-17	21	28

Table	γ .	Summary	of	change	in	strategy	level	ls
Table	2.	Summary	01	Change	III	sualegy	ICVC	10

- Usually after first round and equilibrium concept explanation there is decrease in **b-level** and **m-level**;
- Symmetrically, there is an increase in two other levels, but sometimes it is more distributed, sometimes it is (almost) all for **inf-level**;
- the Last situation is more likely to happen in schools, where kids are less critical of new knowledge;
- Usually second round winning choice in the realm of **h-level**, so groups with the biggest increase in this parameter are the ones with better understanding.

Another possible approach to the measurement of irrationality is to calculate the percent of choices wider than 50 (quite low chances for the win) and the percent of choices wider than 90 (no chances to win). We can see an interesting picture when we plot these metrics for different types. As we can see here, there is a nice direct line of green dots of unknown nature. And all red dots are gathered below. This is interesting dependence that needs to be investigated in detail.

4.3 Size and Winning Choice

This game is indeed rich for investigation. Let us formulate the last (in this paper) finding of this game. Can we in some way establish the connection between the number of players and the winning number (actually with strategies players choose during the game)? To clarify our idea, see at figure 7. It is a scattered plot of a two-dimensional variable; the x-axis is for the number of participants in the game, and the y-axis is for the winning choice per round. Different colors are for different types of groups where games were played.

As we can observe, the first and second rounds form two separate clusters. This situation is expected



Figure 7: Change in winning number for number of participants.

and informs us that players learn about the equilibrium concept between rounds and apply it to practice. Also, there is a mild tendency for smaller groups to have bigger winning numbers. At least the variation is more significant.

This is yet too bold to formulate a connection between the size of the group and the winning number, but probably the reason is that when the size of the group is bigger, the number of "irrational" players increases. It can be due to some stable percentage of such persons in any group or other reasons, but it is an exciting connection to investigate.

4.4 Intentionally Irrational?

Another interesting finding is that after the first round finished, observing the result and listening explanation about the NE number of players who choose over 90 (it is an non-winning choice) increases. It is not accidental; data from (Povea and Citak, 2019) also show an increase in 2-5 rounds. We believe that this is quite an important part of the play. This phenomenon is evident in high school children with solid math backgrounds (usually, they have more freedom and selfconfidence in choosing non-standard strategies). All experimental data and R files for graphs can be accessed in the open repository (Ignatenko, 2021).

5 AGENT-BASED MODEL

The existence of irrational behavior challenges the basic game-theoretic assumption about self-interest and the capability to calculate the best option. In other words, real people do not think like machines or algorithms. They form hypotheses or expectations using simple rules. These rules are influenced by emotions and social norms and can be changed depending on feedback (reinforced). This use of inductive reasoning leads to two issues. First, what rules that people follow? Second, suppose we know these rules. How do we model the behavior of many interacting, heterogeneous agents in that situation? We start with the definition of agents and the formulation of rules of their behavior.

So we have agents of one type – players. Each agent has three variables: level of thinking (current level of reasoning), choice (a current number he chooses), and Boolean variable irrational, which is true or false.

Also, we define interface parameters, which define the setup of players. First of all, it is the number of players. We can also define the percentage of level 0 players, p of the game, and irrational setup, which will be explained later.

The setup of the game is following:

- 1) creates several players;
- defines the level of reasoning for each player using the formula: level-0 percent from the interface, 100 level-0 is divided into three parts. Two parts are level-1 reasoning, and one part is level-2 reasoning;

One round of the game proceeds in the following way:

- 1) each player chooses a number using their level of reasoning and some randomization. Basically, player with *k* level generates normal variable with mean $50 * p^k$ if k > 0 and $k \le 4$. If k = 0, the choice is uniformly random from 1 to 100. When k = 5, the choice is 1 (this is an infinity level of reasoning);
- if the player is irrational, he chooses 100. It is to model irrational behavior that can be observed from experiments;
- 3) the winner is calculated using the game formula;
- 4) players, with a choice wider than the winning number, increase their understanding level by 1.

If the level is already equal to 5, it remains the same;

5) if the player is not winner, he becomes irrational with some small probability if boolean variable irrational is on.

The model is available in COMses library of Netlogo models. To measure experiments data we use BehaviorSpace tool with following parameters:

```
["percent-level-0" [50 5 100]]
["num-players" [10 10 100]]
["irrational1" false true]
["p" 0.66]
```

Here [10 10 100] means we launch simulation for 10, 20, and so on several players. On each step, we wrote to file the choices of players. 10 steps limited each particular games. In total, we had 11000 runs.

Epstein (Epstein, 1999) defines following characteristics of agent-based model:

- 1) heterogeneity; agents are different in some ways;
- 2) autonomy; each agent make own decisions;
- explicit space; agents interact in a given environment;
- 4) local Interaction; agents generally interact with their neighbors and immediate environment.
- bounded Rationality; agents have limited information and computing power. Agent behavior is generated by simple rules that may adapt over time;
- 6) non-equilibrium dynamics.

In this model, we consider only five levels, where level 5 means common knowledge when a player chooses 1. When no irrationality is in the model, we can observe typical convergence to equilibrium (figure 8) left, and this is a stable pattern.

But as we already know from the experiments, it is not what we can observe in real life. So irrational behavior was included to meet the pattern from the data. Irrationality in our model is implemented as 'anger' when a player who is currently a loser sometimes goes to irrational mode and chooses 100 in one next round. This leads to an exciting pattern (figure 8) right, when sometimes the winning number increases in the second round, but convergence to equilibrium is inevitable.

5.1 Data Analysis

In this section, we analyze data from simulations and compare them to previous results. In the following plot (figure 9) we can observe convergence towards



Figure 8: Plots of players win choice over round.



Figure 9: Plots of players win choice over round.

equilibrium. As expected volatility of choices is more significant in smaller groups.

Now let us plot (figure 10) winning choice in the first round compared to the winning choice in the sec-

ond round. As we can see, there is a big cluster around (33,31). The color here is the initial percentage of low-level players. High level means that almost all players initially are randomizers, and then they learn



0 20 40 Percent of choices bigger then 50 Figure 11: Irrationality of players.

from round to round. A trim level allows for more efficiency when points are like (30,20). This is quite similar to human experiments data.

0

The next plot is about the irrationality of players. It seems that there is a connection between the percent of players who chooses numbers bigger than 90 and the percent of players who chooses numbers bigger than 50. It is very similar to figure 8 from experimental data. The reason, as we can understand it, is in

the nature of irrational behavior in games like the kbeauty contest. It was a common situation when players at some point (we have data for round 2) lost hopes of winning and just chose 100 for fun. At the same time, the majority of players are still thinking strategically and choose numbers around winning numbers (20 - 30 range). This gives a characteristic line of dots because, at some point, all players who chose numbers bigger than 50 are the players who chose 100.

60

6 CONCLUSIONS

In this paper, we have presented data from experiments on the k-beauty contest game. We provide access to raw data files and files with data manipulation, metrics calculation, and plot building. This will hopefully support reproducibility in this area of research. Then we discuss the results of the experiments and provide an analysis and explanation of patterns of behavior. It seems possible to confirm the existence of a pattern in decision-making - every group behaves almost the same way when dealing with an unknown strategic situation. We can formulate findings in a few short notes. First, participants have chosen not winning moves (> 66) partly because of a new situation and trouble understanding the rules. However, a high percentage of such choices was present in the second round, when players knew what was going on. This effect was especially notable in the cases of high school and adults and almost zero in the case of special math schools and kids below 9th grade. We can hypothesizeesis that high school is the age of experimentation when children discover new things ared do not afraid to do so. Second, the winning number as the decision of a group is decreasing in all cases, so we can see that group is learning fast and steady. Even if some outliers choose 100, the mean still declines with every round. There seems to be an unspoken competition between players that leads to improvement in the aggregated decision even if no prize is at stake. It is a plausible scenario when all participants choose higher numbers. However, this did not happen in any experiment. Third, a a stable percent of people choose about 100, and it is not about learning how to play the game. We think this is something like a -1 level of reasoning when the player intentionally plays a "bad move", and this is an essential part of the model. If we neglect such persons and their motivation, our model will not be correct.

In the second part of the paper, we presented an agent-based model using conclusions about human behavior in the game. Simplification is the key to building good ABM, so in the model, agents have only a few parameters: level and irrationality. Based on these two parameters, agents choose a number on each step. Depending on other players' choices model determine winners and losers: this state influences agents' future level and irrationality. We perform about ten thousand games (each ten rounds long) and apply the same analysis as before. This approach shows that in some aspects, agents' behavior is close to humans. Future investigation of this model will concentrate on the following possible modifications:

• deterministic choices of agents;

- different numbers of reasoning levels;
- rewards and punishments as elements of learning;
- implementation learning models from current research;
- build testing environment to automatically compare different learning strategies.

REFERENCES

- Aumann, R. and Brandenburger, A. (1995). Epistemic Conditions for Nash Equilibrium. *Econometrica*, 63(5):1161–1180. http://www.jstor.org/stable/ 2171725.
- Aumann, R. J. (1995). Backward induction and common knowledge of rationality. *Games and Economic Behavior*, 8(1):6–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0899-8256(05)80015-6.
- Camerer, C. F. (2003). *Behavioral game theory: Experiments in strategic interaction*. The Roundtable Series in Behavioral Economics. Princeton University Press.
- Camerer, C. F., Ho, T.-H., and Chong, J.-K. (2002). Sophisticated experience-weighted attraction learning and strategic teaching in repeated games. *Journal of Economic theory*, 104(1):137–188. https://doi.org/10. 1006/jeth.2002.2927.
- Camerer, C. F., Ho, T.-H., and Chong, J.-K. (2004). A cognitive hierarchy model of games. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 119(3):861–898. https://doi.org/10. 1162/0033553041502225.
- Costa-Gomes, M., Crawford, V. P., and Broseta, B. (2001). Cognition and Behavior in Normal-Form Games: An Experimental Study. *Econometrica*, 69(5):1193– 1235. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0262.00239.
- Crawford, V. P., Costa-Gomes, M. A., and Iriberri, N. (2013). Structural models of nonequilibrium strategic thinking: Theory, evidence, and applications. *Journal* of Economic Literature, 51(1):5–62. https://doi.org/ 10.1257/jel.51.1.5.
- Epstein, J. M. (1999). Agent-based computational models and generative social science. *Complexity*, 4(5):41– 60. https://cutt.ly/hKtpQa9.
- Fe, E., Gill, D., and Prowse, V. L. (2019). Cognitive skills, strategic sophistication, and life outcomes. Working Paper Series 448, The University of Warwick. https: //tinyurl.com/2p8jmnjn.
- Gill, D. and Prowse, V. (2016). Cognitive Ability, Character Skills, and Learning to Play Equilibrium: A Level-k Analysis. *Journal of Political Economy*, 124(6):1619– 1676. https://doi.org/10.1086/688849.
- Güth, W., Kocher, M., and Sutter, M. (2002). Experimental 'beauty contests' with homogeneous and heterogeneous players and with interior and boundary equilibria. *Economics Letters*, 74(2):219–228. https: //doi.org/10.1016/S0165-1765(01)00544-4.
- Ho, T.-H., Camerer, C., and Weigelt, K. (1998). Iterated Dominance and Iterated Best Response in Experimental "p-Beauty Contests". *The American Economic*

Review, 88(4):947–969. https://www.jstor.org/stable/ 117013.

- Ignatenko, O. (2020). Guessing Games Experiments in School Education and Their Analysis. In Sokolov, O., Zholtkevych, G., Yakovyna, V., Tarasich, Y., Kharchenko, V., Kobets, V., Burov, O., Semerikov, S., and Kravtsov, H., editors, Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kharkiv, Ukraine, October 06-10, 2020, volume 2732 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 881–892. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-2732/20200881.pdf.
- Ignatenko, O. P. (2021). Data from experiments. https:// github.com/ignatenko/GameTheoryExperimentData.
- Kuhn, H. W., Harsanyi, J. C., Selten, R., Weibull, J. W., Van Damme, E., Nash Jr., J. F., and Hammerstein, P. (1996). The work of John Nash in game theory. *Journal of Economic Theory*, 69(1):153–185.
- Ledoux, A. (1981). Concours résultats complets. Les victimes se sont plu à jouer le 14 d'atout. *Jeux & Stratégie*, 2(10):10–11.
- Leyton-Brown, K. and Shoham, Y. (2008). Essentials of game theory: A Concise, Multidisciplinary introduction. Synthesis lectures on artificial intelligence and machine learning, 2(1):1–88. https://doi.org/10.2200/ S00108ED1V01Y200802AIM003.
- Mauersberger, F. and Nagel, R. (2018). Levels of reasoning in Keynesian Beauty Contests: a generative framework. In Hommes, C. and LeBaron, B., editors, Handbook of Computational Economics, volume 4 of Handbook of Computational Economics, pages 541–634. Elsevier.
- Moulin, H. (1986). *Game theory for the social sciences*. New York University Press, New York, 2nd edition.
- Nagel, R. (1995). Unraveling in Guessing Games: An Experimental Study. *The American Economic Review*, 85(5):1313–1326. https://www.cs.princeton.edu/courses/archive/spr09/cos444/papers/nagel95.pdf.
- Nagel, R., Bühren, C., and Frank, B. (2017). Inspired and inspiring: Hervé Moulin and the discovery of the beauty contest game. *Mathematical Social Sciences*, 90:191–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mathsocsci.2016.09.001.
- Nichols, M. W. and Radzicki, M. J. (2007). An Agent-Based Model of Behavior in "Beauty Contest" Games. Working Paper 07-010, University of Nevada. https: //www.researchgate.net/publication/23694542.
- Povea, E. and Citak, F. (2019). Children in the beauty contest game: behaviour and determinants of game performance. Master's thesis, Norwegian School of Economics. https://openaccess.nhh.no/nhh-xmlui/handle/ 11250/2611651.
- Wright, J. R. and Leyton-Brown, K. (2016). Models of level-0 behavior for predicting human behavior in games. *CoRR*, abs/1609.08923. https://doi.org/10. 48550/ARXIV.1609.08923.
- Wright, J. R. and Leyton-Brown, K. (2017). Predicting human behavior in unrepeated, simultaneous-move

games. *Games and Economic Behavior*, 106:16–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geb.2017.09.009.

The ICT Usage in Teaching Maths to Children with Hearing Impairment

Kateryna Bondar^{1,2}[®]^a, Olena Shestopalova²[®]^b and Tetiana Kramarenko²[®]^c

¹Freie Universität Berlin, 16-18 Kaiserswerther Str., Berlin, 14195, Germany

²Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine art.psy@kdpu.edu.ua, katerynabondarr@gmail.com, kramarenko.tetyana@kdpu.edu.ua

- Keywords: ICT, Mathematics Performance, Teaching Maths, Mathematical Skills of Students with Hearing Impairment, GeoGebra.
- Abstract: The purpose of our research was the modification of teaching strategies of maths for deaf and hard-of-hearing learners. More specifically, we aimed to study the possibilities of optimal use of interactive exercises such as LearningApps and GeoGebra Dynamic Mathematics system in order to provide methodical and didactic support for training sessions, but also to assure independent study and implementation of monitoring activities. The developed visual materials for teaching children with hearing impairments were partially introduced into the educational process in a pilot project for the retraining of 12 school teams working with children with hearing impairments in Kryvyi Rih in educational strategies, for learning mathematics in grades 8-9 of an inclusive type for instructors teaching in a mainstreamed classroom with a mix of hearing, deaf and hardof-hearing students (students 12-14 years old: N = 80 children with hearing impairments; data collected in 2019-2021). In the context of research goals the academic success (algebra, geometry), and mathematical skills of students were analysed. According to the study results, there was a significant increase in the mean score of performance after the intervention than before the intervention. In other words, this increase represents the effectiveness of ICT educational methods. Furthermore, we highlighted some recommendations for using online service LearningApps, GeoGebra Dynamic Mathematics system, and project-based learning technologies in Mathematics, in particular.

1 BACKGROUND CONTEXT

On review of the literature, researchers have stated that deaf and hard-of-hearing learners may lack general vocabulary and the fundamental mathematical vocabulary needed to be able to understand maths concepts/processes such as seriation and classification (Ariapooran, 2017; Barrett, 2005; Nunes and Moreno, 1999; Ray, 2001). It is more difficult for children who are deaf or hard of hearing to acquire the connection between language and maths concepts from their environment incidentally (e.g., from conversations with parents and games with friends about the counting of subjects). Without this type of natural learning, a child with hearing impairment cannot boost beginning maths concepts such as "more/less" or "one/a lot" etc. without educational support (Barrett, 2005).

That is why most children with hearing impairment (HI) have a gap of approximately three years behind their hearing peers in mathematics (Nunes and Moreno, 1999).

Despite the importance of communication with other people as the basis of maths skills, communication with children with hearing impairments may be problematic and poor. That is why these children cannot take part in studying mathematical processes such as problem-solving, developing logic and reasoning, and effectively communicating mathematical ideas without communication skills and maths vocabulary (Le Brun, 2022). Perhaps we can boost maths Ukrainian vocabulary for deaf and hard-ofhearing learners if we use Information and Communication technologies (ICT) for visualisation maths. This is a relatively new area of enquiry, with little research existing in the literature. The current research, therefore, aims to investigate if using ICT for study of maths becomes a booster and helps to improve children's performance on problem-solving tasks in maths, to predict and make observations based on the given information, which requires strong language skills and the ability to critically think.

Bondar, K., Shestopalova, O. and Kramarenko, T.

The ICT Usage in Teaching Maths to Children with Hearing Impairment.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 721-732 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2441-4203

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3401-1790

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2125-2242

2 ANALYSIS OF PUBLICATIONS

The world standard of inclusive education strategy is based on the idea that students with special educational needs require support in getting key life competencies such as cognitive, non-cognitive skills, and "functional literacy" for independent life and socialisation (UNICEF, 2020). Particularly, the success of the students with hearing impairments in the targeted acquisition of these key maths competencies depends on class management, teaching approaches, and methods such as the universal design of learning or differential instruction with ICT (Global Education Monitoring Report Team, 2020). ICT is also a school subject in which students learn to use computers and other electronic equipment to store and send information (UNICEF, 2020).

According to a newsletter prepared by NORAD -Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation and by AFD - Agence Française de Développement "Information and Communication A technology that supports the inclusion of children with disabilities in education" (National Deaf Center on Postsecondary Outcomes, 2020b). ICTs can support the inclusion of children with disabilities in education, allowing them to overcome some of the barriers that cause their exclusion. ICTs complement other face-to-face communication methods and tools such as teacher training and inclusive pedagogy (de Dinechin and Boutard, 2021). ICT is a tool for both an inclusive and gendersensitive approach to education, which was introduced over the two years 2020-2022 during the transition to distance education due to COVID-19 pandemics (UNICEF, 2020).

In general, when teaching mathematics, ICT for deaf and hard-of-hearing learners can be divided into three main categories:

- educational content and digital media, the purpose of which is to convey lessons/skills to the student (for example, a learning video on stochastics with translation into sign language). An example would be the development of Best Practices at the Secondary Level of DeafTEC: Technological Education Centre for Deaf and Hard-of-Hearing Students (National Deaf Center on Postsecondary Outcomes, 2020b).
- Software that serves as an intermediary to make certain educational content/activities available (e.g., GeoGebra for geometry or LearningApps) (Rochester Institute of Technology, 2022a).
- Accessibility features that make the hardware accessible to everyone (e.g., software to convert maths problem text into sign language) (National Deaf Center on Postsecondary Outcomes, 2020a).

The main goal of the strategies of using ICT in inclusive education is designed to promote access to mathematics content based on the Standards of instructional strategies and should be based upon current and accurate information about the child's sensory functioning. Most researchers agree that access to appropriate ICTs can reduce differences in inclusive education, and deaf and hard-of-hearing learners must have access to ICT-based programs being a part of the schedule of school (Rochester Institute of Technology, 2022b). That is why digital inclusion in maths education as a process is a system of a student's empowerment through participation in education processes with ICT-programs (de Dinechin and Boutard, 2021); individual curricula of studying maths (Ray, 2001); providing reasonable accommodation of materials (Ray, 2001). However, despite the huge potential benefits of ICT usage in inclusive education, it only rarely worked in Ukrainian schools.

2.1 The Principles and Methods of Mathematics with the Instruction of Deaf and Hearing Students in Mainstream Classes

We need to highlight that for teaching deaf and hardof-hearing learners, the same methods as for other children are used. However, the peculiarities of the psychophysical development of the students lead to other ways of applying these methods. In particular, the methods of teaching are remedial and developmental, and they stimulate deaf and hard-of-hearing learners to work independently and to take initiatives (Fritz et al., 2019).

The principles and methods of maths education in an inclusive class of the middle school are based on the determination of needs of deaf and hard-ofhearing learners:

Step one – to determine the current level of maths knowledge, communicative skills, and maths vocabulary of the children who are deaf or hard of hearing.

Step two – to determine the effective teaching style (visual, kinesthetic, poly-sensory and another one, especially if one of the styles dominates). For mainstream classes it is important to use multimedia approaches for a visual representation of maths course content (e.g., GeoGebra for geometry or LearningApps for particular stochastics is to achieve strong mastering of knowledge, the formation of practical skills to solve problems on the basics of combinatorics, probability theory, and mathematical statistics) (Kidd, 2018). Using LearningApps is especially important for students who are relying on speechreading for receptive communication as it reduces eyestrain. Also, there is an appropriate language model that can effectively provide not only the vocabulary to label objects but also a language model for expressing concepts and ideas, using the child's mode of communication in maths.

Step three - to identify specific aspects of the child's learning activities; where he or she needs outside help during the educational process. For example, use more than one mode of presentation for maths concepts. These may include manipulatives, verbal, gestural, pictorial, and symbolic modes. Encourage students to translate between modalities, particularly the language of mathematics, to make connections (Kollosche et al., 2019). For example, instructional strategies of using GeoGebra visualisation to provide an enriched learning environment that promotes a wide range of real world, meaningful mathematical experiences with opportunities for exploration and problem-solving in geometry. Initially introduce word problems as informal stories with maths facts through dramatization, using pictures, drawings, and manipulatives, and then translating the action into a maths sentence. Students can use images, objects, and visualise or pantomime the action in a problem to move from the concrete to more abstract representations of the problem.

2.2 Methods of Maths Teaching to Children with Hearing Impairments

There are specific methods of class management and teaching where children with hearing impairment (Kidd, 2018; National Deaf Center on Postsecondary Outcomes, 2020b; Nunes and Moreno, 1999; Ray, 2001; Singh, 2019). Firstly, teachers need to use alternative forms of communication and the strategy of studying maths based on non-verbal intelligence and competences (seriation, analogy, systematisation) (Fritz et al., 2019). The adaptation of the education maths content to the cognitive abilities of the students for children with HI, this is the removal of complex verbal material.

Secondly, it is visual learning. Taking into account the specificity of the HI, the types of showing objects are additionally selected. For example, for children with hearing impairment, the visual manuals should be specific, with details that concentrate on the perception of main things. The teacher needs some tips for classroom management: slowing down the educational process. Communication of the information for deaf and hard-of-hearing learners is carried out with consideration of the slower perception of the verbal information. For deaf and hard-of-hearing learners, more time is given to think about the answer (Kidd, 2018).

Thirdly, repeatability in teaching. The repetition variability should be used to fill the gaps in the perception of children with hearing impairment especially if we use ICT (Kidd, 2018). The optimization of the work pace and fatigue dynamics of deaf and hard-of-hearing learners. This tool is aimed at activation of the students' cognitive activities, support of their ability to work and includes, in particular: switching the students to different types of activities to prevent fatigue (gamification, visualisation, modelling, extrapolation examples in classroom space); using interesting facts, examples, and details in the process of presentation of the material; emotional presentation; organising the minutes of rest at the lessons; creating success situations for the deaf and hard-of-hearing learners (Shestopalova et al., 2019). Conceptually, difficulties of deaf and hard-of-hearing learners in middle school in maths class depend on the expression of disorders and manifest themselves in the following areas: fundamentally, it's understanding of spoken language and formation of active speech (Barrett, 2005).

Generally, the main purpose of studying maths is the formation of verbal-logical thinking children with HI and well as the formation of the auditory-visualtactile perception of mathematical concepts (child with HI asks questions to clarify details; makes decisions on the use of approaches and materials learned earlier; can explain decisions and establish logical connections; knows how to systemize features; plans activities) (Rochester Institute of Technology, 2022a; Kidd, 2018).

3 CURRENT RESEARCH AND HYPOTHESIS

We have a goal of comprehensive estimation of if using ICT for the study of maths became a booster and helps to improve HI children's performance on problem-solving tasks in maths and their ability to predict and make observations based on the given information, which requires strong language skills and the ability to critically think.

Learning difficulties in this category of children are related to speech delay and specific problems in conceptual and figurative thinking (Barrett, 2005). In particular, the peculiarity of the formation of visualaction thinking is that it occurs almost without speech, which makes it imperfect and does not contribute to the transition to the visual image level. In turn, the formation of formal-logical thinking is also difficult

(Le Brun, 2022).

That is why the purpose of our research is the modification of teaching strategies for deaf and hardof-hearing learners. More specifically, we aim to study the possibilities of optimal use of interactive exercises such as LearningApps and GeoGebra Dynamic Mathematics system in order to provide methodical and didactic support for training sessions, but also to assure independent study and implementation of monitoring activities. Consequently, some aspects of the problem of teaching maths to students with hearing impairment can be eliminated through the use of ICT as a provider of training materials through adapted, assistive devices, information and communication technologies, and support. However, there are some problems with ICT for children with hearing impairment. ICT as a provider of training materials adapted for maths teaching to deaf and hard-ofhearing learners is not firmly established and needs further research and testing.

The research question that guided the present study was: does ICT boost the maths skills of hearing impaired teenagers? The current research hopes to extend on the work of previous research by investigating that all three methods LearningApps, Geogebra, and STEM boost maths skills.

4 METHOD

4.1 Design

The design of the study includes a model of ICT application and the impact of effective inclusive education strategies and methods on the process of learning mathematics for children with hearing impairment. The study utilised a within subject design with one IV (intervention: pre vs post) and the DV being the maths performance (as outlined in the Materials section).

4.2 Procedure

The study consists of three stages:

The first stage was to collect data for diagnosing the level of mathematical abilities by analysing the level of spatial thinking of the Raven's Progressive Matrices (Raven, 2020), Rey-Osterriet Composite Figures Test (ROCF), Gottschaldt's Hidden Figure Test (GHFT) and the educational achievements in algebra and geometry of potential ICT users (students with hearing impairments). Purpose: at this stage, information was collected on the level of performance of a sample of students with hearing impairments, and their spatial skills were analysed using diagnostics.

The second stage consisted of an analysis of existing ICTs for teaching mathematics (algebra and geometry) classes, their usefulness, limitations, requirements, etc., which served as the basis for reflection in the analysis stage. Purpose: to study the possibilities of optimal use of interactive exercises LearningApps and the GeoGebra dynamic mathematics system for methodological and didactic support of training sessions, independent study, and control activities.

The third stage is the processing and analysis of data in order to make recommendations on the appropriateness of using ICT technologies in schools in Kryvyi Rih (taking into account the usefulness of ICTs, their cost, ease of use, impact on school inclusiveness, etc.). In addition, the main problems in the implementation of ICT and inclusive education programs were identified and recommendations were given.

4.3 Participants

Implementation of ICT programs in educational strategies signed in USL and voiced for learning mathematics in grades 8-9 of an inclusive type for instructors teaching in a mainstreamed classroom with a mix of hearing, deaf and hard-of-hearing students.

Table 1: Demographics of the sample (N = 80, mean age = 12.5; SD = 1.06).

Total of the Vear	deaf students	hard-of-hearing		
	deal students	students		
2019 (N = 30)	8	22		
2020 (N = 21)	6	15		
2021 (N = 29)	10	19		
Total	24	56		

Overall, 80 participants took part in the study (40 females, 40 males; mean age = 12.5; SD = 1.06). Thirty participants were deaf from birth and 70 with hearing loss in early childhood (on average diagnosed at the age of 3; SD = 1.5). Tables 1, 2 present the detailed demographics of the sample.

Table 2: Demographics of the sample (N = 80, mean age = 12.5; SD = 1.06).

Mainstream class (N)	Special class (N)
24	56

There was no significant difference in intelligence score between different educational levels, F(5.49) = 2.46; p = .05. Participants were recruited through the Department of Education and Science of the Executive Committee of the Kryvyi Rih City and advertising in Non-Governmental organisations.

The work of the research team was aimed at developing a concept for supporting inclusive mathematics education in Kryvyi Rih in cooperation with the Department of Education and Science of the Executive Committee of the Kryvyi Rih City Council and Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University. The developed visual materials for teaching children with hearing impairments were partially introduced into the educational process in a pilot project for the retraining of 12 school teams working with children with hearing impairments in Kryvyi Rih using STEM methods and in the course of the Suziriya Mathematical Multidisciplinary Educational and Rehabilitation Centre for children with hearing impairments in 2019-2021.

4.4 Materials

4.4.1 Academic Success

In the system of Ukrainian education, educational success is assessed by summing up current grades in the classroom, and test works on the topic on the basis of a 12-point scale (max 12). The rating of grades is available to all students in the class. In the context of conducting mathematics lessons (algebra, geometry), the mathematical skills of students were analysed.

4.4.2 Stereotype Threat

For our study, situational factors that increase stereotype threat may include expectations of difficulty in maths, and the expectation of discrimination due to one's identification with a negatively stereotyped group of children with special educational needs. To reduce the repetitive experience of stereotype threat in teaching mathematics using ICT, we used a preliminary diagnosis of the Rey-Osterriet Composite Figures Test, the Raven's Progressive Matrices and the Gottschaldt's Hidden Figure Test, followed by the identification of the level of mathematical spatial abilities, the level of intelligence. To anticipate a decline in maths learning confidence, poor performance, and loss of interest in the relevant area of achievement, we pre-reported individual scores to students, emphasising that they did well on tests and that their spatial ability was sufficient for maths learning.

4.4.3 Raven's Progressive Matrices

Standard Progressive Matrices (RSPM) a classic study using this test contains numerous motors used for various purposes. RPM is a non-verbal test typically used to measure general human intelligence and abstract reasoning and is regarded as a non-verbal estimate (Raven, 2020). The Raven Progressive Matrices test is one of the non-verbal intelligence tests and is based on two theories developed by Gestalt psychology: the theory of form perception and the so-called "neogenesis theory" by Charles Spearman (Lovie, 1983). Raven's matrices can be applied to subjects with any linguistic composition and sociocultural background, with any level of speech development. We used several algorithms for the psychological interpretation of the results obtained: the definition of intelligence according to the percentage scale; the translation of the obtained results into an IQ-indicator (Raven, 2020).

4.4.4 Gottschaldt's Hidden Figure Test (GHFT)

This test measures figure-ground discrimination abilities. A participant is asked to look at 30 masked figures to find one of the 5 reference figures. Masked figures are presented in turn, it is necessary to record the total time of the task by the subjects. An example was given before starting the technique performing the exercise with the correct answer for children with hearing impairments to be sure that they understand the text of instruction. Calculation of results obtained by respondents according to the method "Figures of Gottschaldt" was carried out according to the formula:

$$I = \frac{N}{T},$$

where I – index of field dependence or field independence; N – the total number of points (correctly completed tasks); T – time to complete all tasks in minutes.

4.4.5 Rey-Osterriet Composite Figures Test (ROCF)

Rey-Osterriet Composite Figures Test (ROCF) is a neuropsychological technique, in which a participant is asked to paint an image (subtest 1), and then paint it from memory (subtest 2). The test figure itself (shown in the figure) is made up of 18 elements, which can be divided into three groups: the head form, the outer elements, and the internal elements in the head form. The technique allows for the development of memory, deep-space functions, and deep-constructive habits. It is significant that this test is included in the international list of tools for assessing cognitive dysfunctions in neurology.

All tests have traditionally been used as psychometric methods to assess factors of intelligence and/or disturbances in spatial perception. Through their combined use, researchers were able to obtain an integrative assessment of using ICT for the study of maths that became a booster and helps for problemsolving tasks in maths for a child to predict and make observations based on the given information, which requires strong language skills and the ability to critically think. Thus, it becomes possible to effectively identify the problems and opportunities for using ICT.

4.4.6 Criteria for Assessing the Academic Performance

The results of the e-learning course were examined to make judgments on students' academic performance. In such a manner, in case of the absence of mistakes in Gottschaldt's Hidden Figure test, the child's performance was rated as high. If one or two mistakes were made, the performance was deemed moderate. More than two mistakes corresponded to low academic attainment. The analysis of Raven's test results used several algorithms for the psychological interpretation of the results obtained: the definition of intelligence according to the percentage scale; translation of the obtained results into an IQ. When conducting Rey-Osterriet Composite Figures Test (ROCF), the level of student's visual and spatial thinking was determined high if the head form, the outer elements, and the internal elements in the head form without errors; average if the child was unable to copy form and details without mistakes; and low if no tasks were completed successfully.

4.5 Intervention Methods

The intervention lasted for each grade selected by the researchers (8th and 9th grade of high school) for two academic years (October to May) of online learning under quarantine restrictions during the COVID-19 pandemic. The intervention was carried out by integrating the ICT programs described in the article into the methodology of teaching mathematics by teachers and modifying the curriculum by the general school support team (teacher's assistants, psychologists, and parents).

An example of adapted and modified planimetry curricula for students with hearing impairments (Geometry, grade 8-9):

 Topic 1 (28 hours). Quadrilaterals. Quadrilateral, its elements. The sum of the angles of a quadrilateral. Parallelogram, its properties and signs. Rectangle, rhombus, square and their properties. Trapeze. Inscribed and circumscribed quadrilaterals. Inscribed and central corners. Thales' theorem. The middle line of a triangle, its properties. The middle line of a trapezoid, its properties.

- Topic 2 (14 hours). Similarity of triangles. Generalized theorem of Thales. Similar triangles. Signs of similarity of triangles.
- Topic 3 (22 hours). Polygons. Areas of polygons. Polygon and its elements. Convex and nonconvex polygons. The sum of the angles of a convex polygon. Inscribed and circumscribed polygons. The concept of the area of a polygon. Main properties of areas. Area of a rectangle, parallelogram, triangle. The area of the trapezium.
- Topic 4 (20 hours). Solving right triangles. Sine, cosine, tangent of an acute angle of a right triangle. Theorem of Pythagoras. Perpendicular and inclined, their properties. The ratio between the sides and angles of a right triangle. The value of sine, cosine, tangent of some angles. Solving right triangles.
- Topic 5 (4 hours). Solving triangles. Sine, cosine, tangent of angles from 0° to 180°. Basic trigonometric identity, reduction formulas.
- Topic 6 (16 hours). Cartesian coordinates on the plane. Coordinates of the middle of the segment. Distance between two points with given coordinates. The equation of a circle and a straight line.
- Topic 7 (20 hours). Vectors on the plane. Vector. Modulus and direction of the vector. Equality of vectors. Coordinates of the vector. Adding and subtracting vectors. Multiplication of a vector by a number. Collinear vectors. Scalar product of vectors.

4.5.1 Online Service LearningApps Usage for Teaching the Students with HI

Based on the conducted research the authors developed the teaching aid (Kramarenko, 2019). The first part covers general guidelines for teaching pupils with special educational needs using ICT and means of remote technologies. The second section focuses on the usage of LearningApps online training. The teaching aid provides both references on worked out exercises and QR codes which are generated through The use of a variety of online rethe service. sources, including online services and learning environments, is becoming increasingly popular. One of the prime examples of such environments is the LearningApps multimedia didactic exercising service (https://learningapps.org/). It is intended for the development, storage, and usage of interactive exercises in the educational process. Such exercises can be applied not only on a lesson with an interactive whiteboard but also as individual tasks for students with special needs (figure 1). A significant advantage of this service is the ability of task integration into Moodle LMS.

The educational aim of using interactive exercises of the LearningApps service in the study of Mathematics and in particular stochastics is to achieve strong mastering of knowledge, the formation of practical skills to solve problems on the basics of combinatorics, probability theory, and mathematical statistics, to show the connection between stochastics and real life and to teach students to carry out non-typical tasks.

4.5.2 Using GeoGebra in Mathematics Teaching

For the use of GeoGebra Maths Apps (Kramarenko, 2019) mathematics teachers are offered several visuals for visualisation of geometric constructions, the hypothesis concerning the properties of geometric figures, and the proof of theorems. GeoGebra Dynamic Mathematics (https://www.geogebra.org/) visuals include the usage of mobile phone applications such as Geometry, 3D-Calculator, Graphing Calculator, and the visuals demonstrating stochastic experiments in the teaching of probability theory and mathematical statistics.

It is extremely positive that using both of the above-mentioned services allows students to collaborate in the offered virtual classes (Google Classroom). These features have recently appeared. And they can play a significant role in socialisation, especially for deaf and hard-of-hearing learners. As our research has shown, Mathematics teachers practically do not use them in their work. Partly because of a lack of competence in this matter.

GeoGebra has become the leading provider of dynamic mathematics software, supporting science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) education and innovations in teaching and learning worldwide. We consider it reasonable to use the GeoGebra Maths Apps in teaching deaf and hard-ofhearing learners. The authors offered a mathematics teacher a teaching guide and tasks for students to use GeoGebra in teaching Planimetry and Stochastics. In particular, the use of built-in functions for calculating the values of combinatorial compounds, testing using GeoGebra and examining electronic visuals that simulate accidental events by Sada (Sada, 2021).

To present an experiment demonstration, a teacher can use the GeoGebra dynamic Maths program. In an exercise developed by a teacher in advance, a student will be able to simulate a large number of bone tosses and monitor their results. In developing visuals that model accidental events, we used the ideas of Sada (Sada, 2021).

5 RESULTS

Data obtained before and after the intervention from groups were analysed using descriptive and inferential statistics (t test, and repeated measures ANOVA), by SPSS software version 17 at p < 0.05 significance level. Kolmogorov-Smirnov test determined whether the data were normally distributed (p = 0.9) and also homogeneity of variances with p = 0.21 was determined. Nonparametric statistics were used to describe qualitative sociodemographic characteristics of participants. T-tests were used to compute the mean scores and compare the maths performance before and after the intervention. This quasi-experimental intervention study aimed to evaluate the effect of using ICT in maths courses.

The results of this study are based on the data of 80 students with hearing impairments participating in the research. The mean and standard deviation of their age was 12.5 ± 1.06 . In this study, deaf students' performance in relation to the subjects (geometry, algebra) was examined before and after the training using ICT in the maths course.

To reduce the repetitive experience of stereotype threat in teaching mathematics using ICT, we used a preliminary diagnosis of the Rey-Osterriet Composite Figures Test, the Raven's Progressive Matrices and the Gottschaldt's Hidden Figure Test, followed by the identification of the level of mathematical spatial abilities, the level of intelligence (table 3). In addition, children with hearing impairments are more (63) related to the field-dependent style (1.9 ± 0.13) according to the results of the Gottschild Figures and trust visual impressions more and hardly overcome the visible field when it is necessary to detail and structure the situation (table 3).

A pretest of students' maths performance indicated that all children had a poor performance in advanced geometry such that the mean total performance score of students in the intervention group before the training was 6.3 ± 1.08 ; algebra (6.23 ± 1.04) (table 4). Therefore, based on the independent t-test results, there was no significant difference between the mean pretest scores in groups 2019-2021. The assumption of equality of variances was also met (Levene's test p = .920). Descriptive statistics are presented in table 4. The highest and the lowest mean scores, obtained in various dimensions of the performance checklist after the intervention, were on the topics how the position of the center of a circle (9.2 ± 1.01) and learning about the concept of an event, an impossible, accidental, and probable event (8.6 ± 1.04) , respectively.



Figure 1: Geometry exercise for the topic "Triangles" (LearningApps software).Table 3: Descriptive stats table of mean performance scores of students (N = 80).Raven's Progr. Matr.^{ab}Rey-Osterriet Comp. Figures Test^{ac}Figures of Gottschaldt^{ad}101.8 ± 6.43 8.1 ± 2.36 1.9 ± 0.13

Note. ^{*a*} Data are presented as mean ± SD ^{*b*} IQ-index ^{*c*} Summary score of Copy Presence and Accuracy, Organization (According to BQSS (Le Brun, 2022)). ^{*d*} I index.

6 DISCUSSION

The research question investigated in this study was: does ICT boost the maths skills of hearing-impaired teenagers? The current research extended the work of previous research by investigating whether ICTs such as LearningApps, Geogebra can boost maths skills.

Previous research showed that most children with hearing impairment have a gap of approximately three years behind their hearing peers in mathematics (Rochester Institute of Technology, 2022b). Our participants before were known for their individual scores on Rey-Osterriet Composite Figures Test, the Raven's Progressive Matrices, and the Gottschaldt's Hidden Figure Test, emphasising that they did well on tests and that their spatial ability was sufficient for maths learning. This diagnostic was for the prediction of reducing the repetitive experience of stereotype threat in teaching mathematics using ICT.

According to the study results, there was a significant increase in the mean score of performance after the intervention than before the intervention. In other words, this increase represents the effectiveness of ICT educational methods. Furthermore, we highlighted some recommendations for using online service LearningApps, GeoGebra Dynamic Mathematics system.

6.1 Case Study – Example 1: Using Online Service LearningApps for Teaching the Children with HI

Let us demonstrate how LearningApps service interactive exercises can be applied at different stages of learning maths. For example, at the stage of learning about the concept of an event, an impossible, accidental, and probable event, it is reasonable to offer students an exercise to determine the type of event. The following events appear alternately in the exercise window. A student should determine which events are probable, which are impossible, and which are accidental.

Task 1. Determine "which" type is the event.

In this task, each word is stressed. It is reason-

Performance	Geometry	Algebra
Before intervention	6.3 ± 1.08	6.23 ± 1.04
After intervention	8.1 ± 1.9	8.2 ± 1.6
Paired t-test results (P, t)	0.001, 0.61	0.002, 0.21

Table 4: Comparison of mean performance score of students before and after intervention (N = 80).

able to introduce exercises to children with hearing impairment in such a way. In the following lessons, this exercise can be also used at the stage of refreshing students' basic knowledge on the topic.

Students with SEN may find it difficult to understand and memorise theoretical material, so it is best first to demonstrate examples of learned concepts and then return to the theory when necessary. For this purpose, it is reasonable to offer the students with special educational needs the opportunity to find a pair in the LearningApps online service during the initial consolidation stage. In the process of studying events operations, one should use as many examples as possible, reflecting not only the essence of these operations but also the differences between them.

Children with hearing impairment can easily find both the sum and value of events using definitions. So solving applied problems is important in this process. After students have mastered the theorems of adding incompatible events and multiplying independent events, they use them to calculate the probability of events, solving the corresponding problems.

Here are some other examples of tasks that can be conveniently created in LearningApps templates and used in Stochastics teaching.

Task 2. "Classification" exercise. The essence of this exercise is that the screen on the student's computer or mobile phone is divided into two fields: a right triangle and an isosceles triangle. Next, students are given definitions, properties, constituents, or examples of triangles to be referred to as a right triangle or an isosceles one. After completing the exercise, the student can "push" the button to the right from the bottom to check if the tasks are done correctly.

Task 3. "Classification" exercise. In figure 1 a screenshot of the 7th grade geometry exercise on the topic "Triangles" is presented (https://learningapps. org/display?v=p1gk6f39a22). The exercise is intended for students to repeat the types of triangles and consolidate knowledge on the signs of equality of triangles. A small number of words are used in the exercise. Stress is placed before the corresponding stressed syllables. Students must match concepts, names of theorems with corresponding pictures.

Task 4. "Match" Exercise. The essence of this exercise is that a student should connect the notion with its definition or example. For instance, the term "bisector" refers to the definition of a bisector of a trian-

gle, to a certain notion corresponding to a picture that illustrates it, to calculate the perimeter of a triangle, if the lengths of its sides are given, etc.

The use of similar tests allows a teacher to determine the level of success of a child with hearing impairment and to identify gaps in his/her knowledge. It will help to correct his learning and to plan further work. For example, the possibility of repeated repetition of the exercises created with LearningApps will give students confidence. It will also contribute to better learning.

6.2 Case Study – Example 2: GeoGebra Dynamic Mathematics System

We have upgraded the set of visuals offered by Sada (Sada, 2021) to adapt it to students' learning in Ukrainian. For example, one of the exercises allows us to see changes and patterns in the process of any number of the tests carried out. The student can observe whether there is any tendency as the number of falls in a single number increases, and compare it with the number of falls in another number. Such activity in the lesson should be structured for a student with special needs in the form of clearly formulated actions, and algorithms for completing the task. Instructions should be brief and clear, repeated several times. It may be difficult for a student with disabilities to concentrate, so he or she has to be repeatedly urged to carry out, to control this process until its completion. The task should be adapted so the student has time to work at the pace of the whole class.

The task is complicated when the student is offered the following exercise: modelling and counting the results when throwing two, three or more dice and calculating the sum of the falling numbers, etc. By practising research on the tossing of two and three coins, it may be easier for the student to imagine the situation of tossing 4 coins and others. It gives a good result and use of the lessons of planimetry, the library of electronic visibility (Sada, 2021).

Task 5: How the position of the centre of a circle described around a triangle is related to the view of a triangle (figure 2).

It should be taken into consideration that the GeoGebra Dynamic Mathematics system can be installed on smartphones. So the children with hearing AET 2021 - Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology



Figure 2: Investigation of the position of the centre described around a triangle of a circle (GeoGebra Geometry): a) an acuteangled triangle, b) rectangular, c) obtuse.

impairment will be able to check the correctness of their tasks during the lesson, especially when working independently or in groups. One can also start the exercise by using the link or QR code for the exercise. It is enough for the student to install a code scanner on his/her smartphone. One of these is the free Qrafter application, which allows you instantly to read QR codes using only your smartphone's camera and Internet access.

The use of GeoGebra in preparation for admission to higher education institutions provides ample opportunities for students with special educational needs. Using GeoGebra 3D Calculator, they will be able to develop spatial imagination, master the techniques of constructing spatial figures. A number of illustrations for solving problems of open type of external independent evaluation (EIE) are given by us in the manual (Kramarenko, 2019). Here are some of them in this article. These are two open-ended tasks with a detailed answer, which are evaluated by examiners according to special rules (EIE-2018).

Task 6. In a regular quadrangular pyramid SABCD, the side of the base ABCD is equal to c, and the side edge SA forms an angle a with the plane of the base. A plane c is drawn through the base of the height of the pyramid parallel to the plane ASD. Construct a section of the pyramid SABCD plane in, justify the type of section and determine its perimeter (figure 3).

By studying the function line, students will be able to use the GeoGebra Graphing Calculator to determine all possible solutions to an equation or inequality. This will provide visualization, help students better understand the process of solving such complex problems.

Task 7 (GeoGebra Geometry, grade 8-9). Construct an arbitrary convex quadrilateral. Investigate: a) the quadrilateral formed by the successive connection of the midpoints of this quadrilateral is a parallelogram; b) the area of the resulting parallelogram is half the area of the original quadrilateral (figure 4).

Using the same visualization, it would be possible to investigate that the quadrilateral formed as a result of mapping an arbitrary point relative to the midpoints of the sides of the original quadrilateral is also a parallelogram. And therefore its area does not depend on the choice of a point inside. However, the substantiation of such a hypothesis goes beyond the mathematics curriculum for deaf children.

7 CONCLUSION

- 1. The conducted research proved the relevance of the problem of modifying the strategy of teaching mathematics to deaf and hard-of-hearing students based on the implementation of distance learning technologies. Studying the problems of teaching mathematics to deaf and hard-of-hearing students made it possible to draw the following conclusions: the most important task of a teacher and teacher's assistant is to encourage deaf and hardof-hearing students to study; one of the effective ways of teaching mathematics to students of the specified categories is the use of remote technologies; in the text messages of visual aids offered to students with hearing impairments, it is advisable to emphasize each word so that they know how to read the words correctly.
- 2. We found that the LearningApps educational environment can be used at different stages of the lesson: during the organization of independent, individual activities, in joint research activities. Thanks to interactive exercises, deaf and hard of hearing students should become active participants in the educational process. The toolkit of the service allows you to create training classes, inviting them to your students by hyperlink. Since deaf and hard-of-hearing students put much more effort into the task, the system for evaluating the educational achievements of such students can be stimulating. After each student has completed



Figure 3: Examples of open-ended tasks (task 32 from EIE-2018 (https://zno.osvita.ua/mathematics/298/), GeoGebra 3D Calculator).



Figure 4: Studying the shape of a quadrilateral using GeoGebra.

each exercise, the teacher should analyze and compare the expected results with the actual performance of the students. A mandatory condition for teaching students with special educational needs in mathematics is feedback: to find out whether students are satisfied with their work and the knowledge they have acquired, whether they understand the importance of this knowledge for further study of the subject.

- Using the proposed clarifications will help a student with hearing impairments to better understand mathematical material. Therefore, the student receives complete information if it is supported by visual perception of the text, tables, diagrams.
- 4. In order to investigate progressive shifts in the learning of mathematics by deaf and hard of hearing students using ICT, it is appropriate to compare the shifts in the scores of the diagnostic test

and the test. Statistical groups can be analyzed by two G-tests and Wilcoxon tests. These algorithms involve the use of small sample sizes. So we used it and tested it for individual academic groups. We observed a trend of increasing values of the characteristic (scored points) from the initial training exercises to the control of the achieved level of knowledge and skills.

The prospects of the research are related to the expediency of using the GeoGebra dynamic mathematics system for the development of spatial imagination and spatial thinking, etc., in children with hearing impairments.

REFERENCES

- Ariapooran, S. (2017). Mathematics Motivation, Anxiety, and Performance in Female Deaf/Hard-of-Hearing and Hearing Students. *Communication Disorders Quarterly*, 38(3):172–178. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1525740116681271.
- Barrett, E. (2005). Mathematics: it's all about language. Master of Science of Secondary Education of Students Who are Deaf or Hard of Hearing (NTID), Rochester Institute of Technology. https://scholarworks.rit.edu/ theses/3996/.
- de Dinechin, E. and Boutard, A. (2021). Information and Communication Technologies (ICTs) and Inclusive Education. Humanity & Inclusion, Lyon. https://www.hi.org/sn_uploads/document/ Inclusive-ICT-report_1.pdf.
- Fritz, A., Haase, V. G., and Räsänen, P., editors (2019). International Handbook of Mathematical Learning

Difficulties: From the Laboratory to the Classroom. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-319-97148-3.

- Global Education Monitoring Report Team (2020). 2020 Global Education Monitoring Report: Inclusion and Education: All means all. https://gem-report-2020. unesco.org/.
- Kidd, D. H. (2018). Mathematics Learning: Keeping Deaf Students Engaged. https://cutt.ly/J8dTD0Z.
- Kollosche, D., Marcone, R., Knigge, M., Penteado, M. G., and Skovsmose, O., editors (2019). *Inclusive Mathematics Education: State-of-the-Art Research from Brazil and Germany*. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-030-11518-0.
- Kramarenko, T. H. (2019). Vybrani pytannia elementarnoi matematyky z GeoGebra [Selected questions of elementary mathematics with GeoGebra]. https://www. geogebra.org/m/gqpk8yfu.
- Le Brun, D. (2022). 7 tips for teaching the language of maths to deaf learners. https: //mathsnoproblem.com/blog/learner-focus/ tips-for-teaching-maths-to-deaf-learners/.
- Lovie, A. D. (1983). Aspects of neogenesis: Spearman's system of cognition and applied psychology. In Bern, S., Rappard, H., and van Hoorm, W., editors, Studies in the History of Psychology and the Social Sciences: Proceedings of the First European Meeting of Cheiron, International Society for the History of the Behavioral and Social Sciences, pages 120–136. Psychologisch Instituut van de Rijksuniversiteit Leiden, Leiden, The Netherlands.
- National Deaf Center on Postsecondary Outcomes (2020a). Take Control of Your Online Learning: Tips for Deaf College Students. https://cutt.ly/u8dTUMO.
- National Deaf Center on Postsecondary Outcomes (2020b). Tips for Instructors: Teaching Deaf Students Online. https://cutt.ly/L8dTx5m.
- Nunes, T. and Moreno, C. (1999). Is hearing impairment a cause of difficulties in learning mathematics? In Donlan, C., editor, *The Development of Mathematical Skills*, pages 227–254. Psychology Press. https: //tinyurl.com/4yrv8z7b.
- Raven, J. (2020). The Outstanding Properties of the *Standard Progressive Matrices Plus* test. http://eyeonsociety.co.uk/resources/ Outstanding-properties-of-SPM-PLUS.pdf.
- Ray, E. (2001). Discovering mathematics: The challenges that deaf/hearing-impaired children encounter. ACE Papers: Student Edition, (11):62–78. https://cdn.auckland.ac.nz/assets/education/about/research/docs/FOED%20Papers/Issue%2011/ACE_Paper_6_Issue_11.doc.
- Rochester Institute of Technology (2022a). STEM Sign Video Dictionary. https://deaftec.org/ stem-dictionary/.
- Rochester Institute of Technology (2022b). Teaching Math to Deaf Students. https://deaftec.org/ teaching-learning/strategies-for-teaching-math/ teaching-math-to-deaf-students/.

- Sada, M. (2021). Probabilidad: simulaciones y problemas. https://www.geogebra.org/m/qjWuUAgs.
- Shestopalova, O. P., Bondar, K. M., Sklianska, O. V., Doroshenko, L. V., Trushyk, O. V., Zhukova, L. V., and Smekhnova, T. V. (2019). *Teoriia i praktyka inkliuzyvnoi osvity [Theory and Practice of Inclusive Education]*. Proekt "Pidtrymka inkliuzyvnoi osvity u m. Kryvyi Rih", 2 edition. https://doi.org/10.31812/ 123456789/3544.
- Singh, S. (2019). Revisiting Inclusion of Children with Hearing Impairment: Issues and Possibilities. In Chennat, S., editor, *Disability Inclusion and Inclusive Education*, pages 157–174. Springer, Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0524-9_8.
- UNICEF (2020). COVID-19: Are children able to continue learning during school closures? A global analysis of the potential reach of remote learning policies. UN, New York. https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/ 3886022.

Novel Methods for Integrating Personal Physiological Devices in STEM Education

Viktor B. Shapovalov¹[®]^a, Yevhenii B. Shapovalov¹[®]^b, Zhanna I. Bilyk¹[®]^c, Pavlo D. Antonenko²[®]^d, Stanislav A. Usenko¹[®]^e, Sergey O. Zhadan³[®]^f, Daniil Lytovchenko⁴[®]^g and Katerina Postova⁵[®]^h

¹The National Center "Junior Academy of Sciences of Ukraine", 38-44 Degtyarivska Str., Kyiv, 04119, Ukraine

²College of Education, University of Florida, PO Box 117042, Gainesville, FL 32611-7044, U.S.A.
³Individual Entrepreneur "Dyba", Kiev, 03035, Ukraine

⁴Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv, 60 Volodymyrska Str, Kyiv, 01033, Ukraine

⁵Institute of Gifted Child of the NAES of Ukraine, 52D Sichovykh Striltsiv Str., Kyiv, 04053, Ukraine

sjb@man.gov.ua, zhanna_bio@man.gov.ua, farkry17@gmail.com, svb@man.gov.ua, p.antonenko@coe.ufl.edu,

zhadan@nuft.edu.ua, daniil.lytovchenko@gmail.com, kateruna_p@ukr.net

Keywords: IoT, Personal Physiological Devices, Motivation, BPMN, STEM, ECG.

Abstract: STEM education employs a variety of computer-based methods to improve motivation, personalization, and the quality of learning and instruction in the STEM disciplines. However, STEM educators and researchers often lack the knowledge and skills to integrate Internet of Things (IoT) and emerging personal physiological devices (PPDs) to enhance STEM education research and practice. The number of smartwatches, bands, and other PPDs has been expanding but research has so far failed to keep pace with the application of these technologies in education. The concept of STEM (the academic and professional disciplines of science, technology, engineering, and mathematics), adopted by Ukraine for 2020-2027, highlights the necessity to develop such efforts in Ukraine. The use of PPDs in STEM education research and practice may contribute to the introduction of STEM practices to students in Ukraine. To advance our understanding of integrating PPDs in STEM education, we have developed 13 new methods that facilitate the use of PPDs in STEM courses and educational research. We used a variety of inexpensive and widely used devices to test our proposed methods. Our team was probably the first one to apply the process mapping approach of "As Is - To Be" in educational research using the Business Process Model and Notation (BPMN) method to evaluate changes in educational processes before and after using PPDs in Biology classes from both pedagogical and technological points of view.

1 INTRODUCTION

The US National Science Foundation developed and disseminated the acronym "STEM" in 2001 to replace "SMET". As a separate area of didactics, STEM stood out in the USA in 2009 with its "Educate to Innovate" program. However, in Ukraine, STEM use is still in its infancy. However, its use is much less com-

- ^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6315-649X
- ^b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3732-9486
- ^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2092-5241
- ^d https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8565-123X
- e https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2092-5241
- f https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7493-2180
- g https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1328-7077
- h https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9728-4756

pared to the traditional educational approach (Shapovalov et al., 2020) even contrary to its advantages. A key focus in STEM education has been on increasing the engagement and motivation of students to take up STEM (Azevedo, 2015; Belland et al., 2013). Furthermore, STEM courses are designed to facilitate the development of 21st century learning and digital citizenship skills such as communication, data processing, and project management, all of which largely depend on informed use of information technology (International Society for Technology in Education (ISTE), 2023; Battelle for Kids, 2019). Significant attention in STEM is dedicated to increasing the students' motivation.

The main factor in forming the STEM is the growing demand for well-prepared and qualified STEM professionals thus contributing to the increasing em-

Novel Methods for Integrating Personal Physiological Devices in STEM Education.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

Shapovalov, V., Shapovalov, Y., Bilyk, Z., Antonenko, P., Usenko, S., Zhadan, S., Lytovchenko, D. and Postova, K.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 733-750 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

phasis on STEM in education. STEM professions require non-routine problem-solving skills and design and implementation of solutions to the current science, engineering, and design challenges for our society. Other factors have also contributed to the increased interest of educators, researchers and policy makers in the STEM approach within education. For example, there is a need to transform instructional methods in the educational space from more teachercentered approaches (the sage on stage) to more content and student-focused active learning approaches (Freeman et al., 2014).

STEM education tools may be classified into instrumental measurers, software, and modern perspective, but not widely used tools. In turn, the instrumental measurers can be divided into digital laboratories, digital equipment, mobile phones, mobile phones with additional sensors, and intelligent devices. Software like graphical calculators, modelling environments, games and simulations, VR video, VR and AR (Azevedo, 2015; Belland et al., 2013; International Society for Technology in Education (ISTE), 2023; Battelle for Kids, 2019), 3D printing, 3D modelling tools (Almusawi et al., 2021), and so on. One of the promising modern tools without widespread use is the usage the Internet of Things (IoT) that has high untapped potential in education due to several advantages, such as using cloud computing as well as computation and visualization of data measured or captured by measurers. In addition, those devices connected to the personal ecosystem provide personalized data.

Internet of Things (IoT) can use cloud servers for data processing and storage. Internet of Things includes the M2M (machine-to-machine) connection method for measurement and interaction requiring no human involvement.

PPDs can be considered as part of the IoT that have automatic algorithms for processing information and notify about a specific user parameter change. PPDs such as IoT are electronic devices connected through the Internet or Bluetooth and NFC. They send measured (fixed) data into the cloud, where such data is saved. Users can get information using the cloud from any place using an Android/iOS application or web interface. The main advantages of its use is personalization (the personal connection of the device to the personal page of the application/web interface). Distinctive features of PPDs as smart tools are:

- · Measurement of actual real-time data
- Processing of measured data and obtaining calculated indicators
- Analysis of the data to state changes or to display an important to the user parameters.

PPDs include fitness bands (tracks), smartwatches, smart scales, and smartphones. Smartwatches/bands, scales, temperature sensors, humidity sensors, and specific plant sensors possess most promising potential for use in the education process (Gubbi et al., 2013). Personal physiological devices (PPDs; or personal smart tools) possess most promising potential for enhancing the student learning experiences in STEM education courses.

The relevance of the research is substantiated by the increase in the number of personal wearable devices due to their much higher affordability and simplicity (Pal et al., 2020). There was an expected jump from 100 million in 2016 to over 373 million in 2020 (Laricchia, 2022) and even up to 1.1 billion in 2022 due to the transformation of mobile internet connection from 4G to 5G (Visual Paradigm, 2016).

2 METHODS

The study was conducted using the methods of theoretical and empirical research. Firstly, analysis and synthesis were used to determine the main trends in the use of PPDs in education. Next, a comparative qualitative analysis was conducted to examine and compare the best pedagogical practices using PPDs. The cultural-system analysis and synthesis also have been used to build a theoretical model of as is-to be process. The following devices were used for proving our experiments: Colmi band 1, Xiaomi mi band 4, Samsung Smart Fitness Band, and Xiaomi Mi Smart Scale 2.

To analyze the proposed teaching process modification, the use of "As is-to be" method (Next Generation Science, 2023; Common Core, 2011) was the first necessary step. This method uses the Business Process Model and Notation (BPMN) (Guest, 2007) to note the current process and the proposed approach for both technological and pedagogical process business analyses. BPMN provides a decomposition of the complex processes into simple elements and connects them by arrows to interpret the total process. Additionally, BPMN uses "lines" to decompose elements of the process by the executor, for example, teacher and student.

In general, BPMN is used in business analysis. Still, considering its specifics, it will be suitable for use in scientific work to justify the practicality of using proposed educational approaches. Besides, very few researchers have used BPMN to describe processes in education (Nechypurenko and Soloviev, 2018; Cabinet of Ministries of Ukraine, 2020).

Hotline (https://hotline.ua/) web-market and its

filters were used to evaluate the characteristics and existence of devices that can measure the exact parameters.

3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Existing IoT and PPDs ecosystems

The most popular devices are part of a smart home and are connected using Wi-Fi or Bluetooth protocols. The most common devices are scales, watches, and fitness trackers. The leading manufacturers of these products are Samsung, Xiaomi with Amazfit/Huami sub-brands, Apple, Google Nest and others.

Samsung smartphones can become a central link within the entire ecosystem. From a phone, one can control watches, devices, and headphones, write some notes, and then continue working on them on the other device. At the same time, all synchronization is seamless. Internet availability is the necessary prerequisite for the entire system to work smoothly and as intended. Even without the Internet, one can exchange data between a tablet and a smartphone using Samsung Flow. The heart and brain of their developments are Bixby 2.0, an intelligent assistant that easily connects to Samsung devices. Bixby 2.0 is the central hub of the IoT ecosystem, learning from the daily interaction with users' devices to better understand and anticipate all needs of its user.

Today more than two hundred companies and start-ups are located under Xiaomi, each responsible for its product type. The Amazfit brand is developing fitness trackers and intelligent clock, and SmartMi produces intelligent home appliances. Wearing electronics has long since ceased to be a curiosity, and today it helps monitor physical activity, sleep quality, and overall health for millions of users worldwide. Xiaomi could not remain indifferent and, together with Amazfit, has found its niche in the ranks of intelligent wearable gadget manufacturers. It is no secret that Xiaomi Mi Band is one of the best and most popular fitness trackers. The fitness bracelet is improving its capabilities with each new generation and becoming more functional. Moreover, it maintains a reasonably loyal price tag thus ensuring the gadget's enduring popularity.

Nonetheless, the company is not in charge of wearable gadgets. Household medical devices, such as electronic thermometers, inhalers, and tonometers, have also found their place within the model ranges of the aforementioned Chinese technology giants. Recently, Xiaomi has begun mastering another area – home simulators. At the moment, among Xiaomi's

simulators, one can find the WalkingPad A1 folding treadmill. There is no doubt that the company will also cover other sports equipment for home sports in the nearest future.

Apple HomeKit and Health app are the platforms, the central purpose of which is to unite all the smart technologies within one home. The HomeKit platform was released by Apple back in 2014 as part of the WWDC conference, and already a year later, full-fledged devices based on it became available for sale. Starting with the iOS 8 operation system, Apple mobile devices would be able to manage compatible home appliances and home life support systems. One of the advantages of HomeKit is close integration with the Siri virtual assistant. Home Kit can be controlled by voice commands, which opens up enormous opportunities for home appliance developers and software developers. A native application appeared in iOS 10 to replace third party software. The program was able to take over the management of all Smart Home appliances equipped with the appropriate software. Apple's Health app allows to monitor health and daily activity whilst providing important information to one's family or friends when needed. It is especially critical in the event of an accident or sudden illness and while tracking fitness stress. The app excellently works with Apple Watch. For example, Apple Watch can measure the level of O2 in blood and take electrocardiograms.

Google began taking its first steps towards a smart home back in 2016 when it introduced the first Google Home speaker. It is supposed to be an analogue of Amazon Echo, i.e. it can control home appliances and be used as a multimedia device. The Google Cast application, which is used to configure and manage Chromecast devices, has since been renamed Google Home. One of the latest innovations from Google in this field was the Google Home Hub, shown last year. Google Home Hub is a tablet with a display that can combine information about your smart devices in the Google Home ecosystem and display it on a built-in display. In 2019, Google presented its product Nest Hub Max at a presentation. Google's Home Hub had a camera and added multiplayer functions. Several operating tools of Google Nest are supporting Google Assistant. In addition to the devices produced and presented by Google itself, many companies manufacture devices compatible with this ecosystem. Their number has already surpassed 500. Each day, there are more and more manufacturers producing products marked "works with Google Assistant".

However, it seems relevant to analyze the ecosystems of those companies based on the parameters that can be measured by particular equipment. The main parameters used during educational research are heart rate, blood pressure, ECG, oxygen content, weight, muscle, fat, bone, and water content in the human body. Exa plus devices of different companies that can measure exact parameters are presented in table 1.

3.2 Analysis of Proposed Teaching Process Modification

PPDs are capable of providing a transcendent educational experience, meaning students can interact with objects directly. They investigate whether it is necessary by themselves. By using PPDs, students can perform different activities such as assessing the level of O2 in blood, heart rate, and more. To create an intelligent lesson, it is necessary to achieve connectivity between innovative tools and smartphones via specific applications, for example, Xiaomi Mi Fit.

During the "As is" for research, STEM-lesson process anticipates that the teacher explains the theory, sometimes challenging for students' understanding, with further explanation of parameters that will affect the object or function. In all cases, the teacher will explain an experiment using the class board without any research, less often by providing demonstrations, and, very rarely, by conducting a group experiment. In these cases, a student does not understand the material clearly. Moreover, skills and competencies delivered using this process will be limited only by a specific topic, laid down in the lesson, which may be insufficient according to the latest international and Ukrainian documents.

The technical part for all demonstrations and group experiments will be mostly provided manually by students or teachers. The results will be calculated, processed, and interpreted manually. This time can be used more beneficially for students' teaching process. Thus, measurement starts with choosing the measurer and providing measurement. Obtained data must be noted and written using a class board or worksheets. The calculation is provided manually, which may be more useful than automatic computation. The best effect may be obtained by combining both manual and automated analysis. Obtained data is interpreted in graphs, board, or worksheets. Finally, the graphics and data are analyzed.

Typically for the "As is" process, the teacher starts classes from the theory and further transfers to the more practically oriented part, explaining the factors affecting some object or function. Pupils will have demonstrations, group experiments, or personal experiments based on the available innovative tools. Understanding of the materials will be better due to the higher speed of the research. Calculation and graph creation will be provided automatically. Students will work with personal data and graphs. Then they will understand how to work with graphics and data and how to use unique wearable intelligent tools to provide research that will motivate students to research and present better usage for health care. Due to personal experiments, students will have more questions than in the as-is process due to higher motivation. Proceeding towards the final part of "As is" process classes will finish with investigation and discussion of the results.

The main features of the "To be" approach are time-saving and motivation increase. From a technical point of view, "To be" process is significantly more automatic. In this case, all methods of measuring and analyzing are provided by teachers and students. The entire analysis process – which includes sending measured data to a smartphone, saving data, processing data and creating a graph – must be conducted by the teacher or student. The data using additional software can be imported to Excel for further processing.

The "To be" process is more interactive, engaging, and beneficial for students. Furthermore, it motivates them to provide personal research and learn how to use individual smart gadgets in healthcare. "To be" process may save much more time when used effectively. Surely, it is worth noting that students are familiar with how to process the data during the "As is" process. Thus, it seems useful to combine these methods.

3.3 Methods for Integrating Personal Physiological Devices in STEM Education

3.3.1 Methods That Can Be Used in Biology

Topic: Measuring heart rate before and after physical activity with smartwatches/bands.

Learning objective: Develop knowledge and skills to use a smartwatch/band to measure heart rate and study the effects of physical activity on heart rate.

Target age group: middle and high schoolers.

Equipment: PPDs or smartwatch/bands or fitness tracks with heart rate monitoring functions; blood pressure, oxygen concentration (optional)

Experimental procedure: This method involves selecting 10 participants of each biological sex for the study. Firstly, each participant takes their heart rate, blood pressure (optional), and oxygen concentration (optional) measurements at rest. Afterwards, each student must do 20 squats. Following this exercise, he/she needs to take measurements one more

	Samsung	Xiaomi	Apple	Google	Other brands	
		Smart watches	/bands			
Heart rate	100% of devises: Sam-	100% of devises:	100% of devises:	N/A	100% Aspolo Smart-	
	sung Galaxy Watch	Amazfit T-Rex,	Apple Watch Series		Watch U8, UWatch	
	1, Samsung Galaxy	Amazfit Bip S,	1, Apple Watch Se-		U8, SmartYou DZ09	
	Watch 2, Samsung	Amazfit Stratos	ries 2, Apple Watch			
	Galaxy Watch 3		Series 3			
Blood pressure	-(3,9%)Samsung	- (0%)	- (0%)	N/A	5.5% Havit HV-	
_	Galaxy Watch 3				H1100, UWatch	
	-				DT88 Pro, Aspolo	
					DT88 Pro	
ECG	(0%)	+ (4.4 %) Xiaomi	+ (52.5 %) Apple	N/A	7 % No.1 DT28, Lige	
		Mi Watch Color,	Watch Series 5, Ap-		Smart, Gelius GP-L3	
		Xiaomi Haylou	ple Watch Series 6,			
		Smart Watch	Apple Watch SE			
Oxygen content	- (3,9 %) Samsung	- (0 %)	10,2 % of devises:	N/A	11.7% Aspolo	
	Galaxy Watch 3		Apple Watch Series		M1Plus, Aspolo	
			6		DT35, UWatch E66	
Sleep quality	100% of devises: Sam-	100% of devises:	100% of devises:	N/A	100% Aspolo Smart-	
(stages of the	sung Smart Charm,	Xiaomi mi band	Apple Watch Series		Watch U8, UWatch	
sleep)	Samsung Galaxy Fit	4, Xiaomi mi	5, Apple Watch Se-		U8, SmartYou DZ09	
	E, Samsung Galaxy	band 5, Amazfit	ries 6, Apple Watch			
	Watch Active	GTS,	SE			
	1	Smart scal	es		1	
Weight measur-	N/A	+ (100%) Xiaomi	N/A	N/A	100% Laretti LR	
ing		Mi Smart Scale 1,			BS0015, HUAWEI	
		Xiaomi Mi Smart			Body Fat Scale,	
		Scale 2			AEG PW 5653 BT	
					Black	
Muscle, fat,	N/A	+ (100%) Xiaomi	N/A	N/A	100 % Yunmai Mini	
bone, and water		Mi Smart Scale 1,			Smart Scale, Garmin	
content in the		Xiaomi Mi Smart			Index Smart Scale,	
human body		Scale 2			Acme Smart Scale	
	1			1		

time. The analyzed data can be personalized as a graph on their smartphone and in a table drawn on a blackboard. The teacher finds regularities related to all students (including sex, weight, age, etc.) and explains them to the audience (figure 3) and fill the table 2.

Data analysis: We need to find regularities before and after physical activity to analyze the data. For example, compare actual and relative changes in indicators after physical activity in boys and girls, and we need to find dependencies from other indicators, such as height and weight.

Topic: The effect of sleep duration on heart rate.

Aim: Demonstrate to students that sleep duration affects the functioning of the circulatory system. Use the personal example to prove to students the importance of sleep and adherence to the daily habit

Equipment: Smartwatches/bands with heart rate,

blood pressure (optional), oxygen concentration (optional), ECG (optional).

Experimental procedure: The research is personalized, so each student must carry it out separately. The method foresees changing the time regime in two steps. Firstly, students during the experiment must get sleep daily for seven days, falling asleep at 22:00 and getting up at 7:00. As soon as they wake up, students measure their heart rate, blood pressure (optional), oxygen concentration (optional), ECG (optional), as well as the quality of their sleep. After the first seven days of the test, students must fall asleep at 23:00 and wake up at 6:00 with students measuring the same parameters and recording the findings. To determine the cardiac cycle, use figure 4.

Data analysis: Analysis of the data is performed through comparison of the heart rate and oxygen concentration in the blood during the first stage (falling



Figure 1: "As is" process (including technical interaction).





Figure 2: "To be" process (including technical interaction).

asleep at 22:00 and waking up at 7:00) and during the second stage (falling asleep at 23:00 and waking up at 6:00) with the normal condition. Using theoretical knowledge, changes in data must be attached to stress

or adaptation state and fill the table 3.

The experiment is safe and can be conducted regardless of any health conditions. However, we recommend that the teacher or adults supervise the re-

Age	Sex	Heart rate	Heart rate	Blood	pressure	Blood pressure	Oxygen	concentra-	Oxygen	concentra-
		(before)	(after)	(optiona	al) before	(optional) after	tion (opti	onal) before	tion (opt	ional) after

Table 2: Table to experimental project "Measuring heart rate before and after physical activity with smartwatches/bands".





Figure 3: Experimental part of the work (a), heart rate before (b) and after exercise (c).

search. Based on the results, it is possible to study adaptation, human comfort areas, and stress conditions. Figures to illustrate analysis process is shown in figure 5.

To determine the cardiac cycle, use figure 4.

Topic: Determination of differences in muscle, fat and bone composition in males and females.

Aim: Demonstrate to students some differences

Table 3: Table to project "The effect of sleep duration on heart rate".

	Sleep duratio		
	9 hours	7 hours	
Heart rate			
Blood pressure (optional)			
Oxygen concentration (optional)			
The duration of the cardiac cycle			
on the ECG (*)			



Figure 4: Relationship between ECG and cardiac cycle stages.

in male's and female's muscle, fat, and bone composition. Explain the reasons for such differences.

Experimental procedure: The technique involves selecting 10 participants of each sex for the study. Each of the students must measure muscle, fat and bone tissue. The analyzed data can be personalized as a graph on their smartphone and in a table drawn on a blackboard, where the teacher finds regularities and explains them to the audience and fill table 4.

Data analysis: To analyze the data, it is necessary to find regularities in the amount of muscle, fat, and bone tissue and compare the actual and relative speed


Figure 5: Interface of smart watch's application sleep tab (Amazfit Zepp) (a) and the result of the analysis (b).

Table 4: Table to project "Demonstration to students some differences in male's and female's muscle, fat, and bone composition. Explain the reasons for such differences".

Ν	Age	Sex	The amount	The	The amount
			of muscle	amount	of bone tissue
				of fat	

of change in male and female bodies. It is necessary to mention that the method is simple and easy to use in any school, especially, since it does not require sophisticated, expensive smart equipment. At the same time, it is useful because students measure the real indicator, compared to the traditional process, and they also learn to analyze data and graphs on their smartphones. Students are also more motivated to continue research after class. To analyze the data, we need to find regularities in the amount of muscle, fat, and bone tissue and compare the actual and relative speed of change in the amount of muscular, fat, and bone tissue in male and female bodies bodies (figure 6).

Topic: Determination of the oxygen saturation level in blood as indicator of SARS-CoV-2 (related to COVID-19).

Aim: Teach students to measure the level of blood saturation in the blood, which became especially relevant during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Equipment: PPDs or smartwatch or fitness trackers with the ability to monitor oxygen concentration – saturation.



Figure 6: The procedure of weight measuring (a), example of weight displaying (b), interface of integral automatic weight state assessment (c), details of body state (d, e).

Experimental procedure: Measure your oxygen concentration in blood with smartwatch/band. If the value is less than 95%, consult a doctor immediately and fill the table 5 (figure 7).

Table 5: Table to project "Determination of the oxygen saturation level in blood as indicator of SARS-CoV-2 (related to COVID-19)".

Condition	Blood saturation
Condition	(oxygen concentration)
Before dinner	
After dinner	
Before exercises	
After exercises	

Data analysis: This experiment can be performed once and can be ported to Excel for a long time every day. For a healthy person, the level is the same and does not depend on any factor.



Figure 7: The result of oxygen content in blood determination.

3.3.2 Methods performed for a Long Time

Topic: Diet effect on body parameters, especially on the amount of muscle, fat and bone tissue.

Aim: Demonstrate to students the relationship between diet and the amount of body fat, to form an understanding of healthy nutrition.

Equipment: smart scales.

Experimental procedure: Firstly, students measure the amount of muscle tissue, fat tissue, and bone tissue using smart scales. Based on the results of measuring the amount of fat, muscle, and bone tissue in your body, students define a goal for themselves (for example, to get rid of fat tissue), consult with a teacher and, based on it, choose the diet. Students provide daily measurements of the amount of fat, muscle and bone tissue for six months, preferably in the morning before meals. The data can be analyzed using a smartphone or using an Excel table and to do it, fill table 6.

Table 6: Table to project "Diet effect on body parameters, especially on the amount of muscle, fat and bone tissue".

N	Condition	The	The	The	amount
		amount	amount	of bo	ne tissue
		of muscle	of fat		
1	Before diet				
2	After diet				

Data analysis: Students must define the efficiency of the diet and make conclusions about the personal fit of the diet. Students must analyze the tendencies by determining the specific periods (stressed state of the organism and adaptation). The method can be used in any school, but it is a lengthy experiment. It is highly advised that such research is conducted under supervision of either a teacher or adults. It can be used as a source of data for research works aimed at participation in research contests among students.

Topic: The physical activity affects sleep duration and heart rate.

Aim: Demonstrate to students the physical activity effect on heart rate and sleep duration.

Equipment: Smartwatch or fitness trackers with heart rate monitoring functions; blood pressure, oxygen concentration (optional).

Experimental procedure: Measure the duration of sleep and heart rate, blood pressure, and oxygen concentration (optional) without physical effort before going to bed for a week. Afterwards, 3 hours before sleep, students must do one of the two possible things: A) Perform three sets, thirty squats each, and three sets with ten push-ups each; repeat the exercise cycle four times a week; spend three days resting. B) Perform a 2-4 km run each day for six days per week (1 day left to rest). Each day, students must measure the duration of sleep and heart rate, pressure, and blood oxygen level. Enter blood pressure, heart rate, and long and short sleeping phases into the table 7, and analyze the results.

Table 7: Table to project "The physical activity affects sleep duration and heart rate".

Ν	Condition	Heart	Blood	Blood oxy-
		rate	pressure	gen level
1	Before activity			
2	After activity			

Data analysis: Compare the measured parameters before the activities and during the "active" week. Define whether the quality of the long phase of sleep is increased, define the changes in heart rate before sleep. Finally, compare the obtained data with wellbeing. The method is simple and can be used in almost every school, especially considering that only smartwatch/band is required. In addition, it can be used as a source for data fused in research works aimed at participation in research contests among students.

Topic: Physical activity effect on human muscle and fat tissue amount.

Aim: Demonstrate to students that regular exercise increases the amount of muscle tissue.

Equipment: smart scale.

Experimental procedure: Measure the amount of your muscle tissue using smart scales. Starting the next day, perform one of the two options:

A) Perform three sets, 30 squats each and three sets of push-ups, ten reps each. Repeat the exercise cycle four times a week. Leave three days for rest.

B) Make a 2-4 km run every day. Measure your muscle tissue using smart scales over six months. Measure the amount of your muscular tissue using



Figure 8: Screenshot of the method of mathematical modelling of student's nutrition ration (a), dynamic of the automatically body state estimation (b), current state of the body (fats, muscles, water content) (c) and weight dynamic and comparing with other users (d).

smart scales every day for six months. Capture data with the smartwatch/band interface as data or import it into Excel and, at the end of the year, analyze the data on your muscle tissue development and fill table 8.

Data analysis: Analyze the dynamic of the weight changes and their content. Define the tendencies in changes of fat and muscles tissue amount. Define changes in time stages (stress and adaptation). Calculate the weight of fat and muscles lost during the

N	Condition	The	The	The
		amount	amount	amount of
		of muscle	of fat	bone tissue
1	Before exercises			
2	After exercises			

Table 8: Table to project "Demonstrate to students that regular exercise increases the amount of muscle tissue".

research. Try to define whether the process of fat decrease is linear, or features steps. Describe the steps, if applicable. The method involves performing exercises, which can be qualified as doing sports, so a preliminary medical examination and teacher's supervision are required.



Figure 9: Dynamic of the long and short stages of sleep (a) and dynamic of the heart rate (b).

Topic: Influence of fitness zone training on resting heart rate.

Aim: To teach students to individually calculate the maximum heart rate and the number of contractions that correspond to the fitness zone of physical activity, to select a set of exercises, the implementation of which will determine the required heart rate.

Equipment: PPDs or smartwatch/band or fitness trackers with heart rate monitoring functions.

Experimental procedure: Students measure heart rate with a smartwatch/band. For the next step, they calculate maximum heart rate according to the formula:

- For females $209 (0.9 \cdot age)$
- For males $214 (0.8 \cdot age)$

Then count 70-80% of maximum heart rate. This will be the optimal amount of heart rate during exercise. Students need to choose their own exercises,

which will require the number of heartbeats controlled by a smartwatch/band. After three months of regular exercise, students measure their resting heart rate again.

Data analysis: Define the optimal physical activity that provides a student's heart rate in the fitness zone. Define the mean physical activity in the group and compare the individual results. Define dependencies of optimal physical activity on sex, weight and age.

Students learn to use smartwatches/bands and process their data when doing work.

Topic: Effect of holding breath on heart contraction.

Aim: investigate whether holding one's breath affects heart rate and ECG.

Equipment: Smartwatches/bands with heart rate, blood pressure (optional), oxygen concentration (optional), ECG (optional), stopwatch.

Experimental procedure: It is first necessary to measure the time of maximum possible period of holding breath in the standing and sitting position after inhalation/exhalation with a stopwatch. Between measurements, it is necessary to have a rest for no less than 5 minutes. Next, a student needs to hold his/her breath and measure one of the following parameters: heart rate, blood pressure (optional), oxygen concentration (optional), and ECG (optional) while standing. Rest for 5 minutes is due next. A similar experiment has to be repeated in a standing position.

Data analysis: Analyze the time of holding breath among different students. Does this value depend on inhalation/exhalation, body position, sex, and level of physical fitness? Fill in table 9 (A). Compare heart rate, blood pressure (optional), oxygen concentration (optional), duration of the cardiac cycle on the ECG without holding breath and with respiratory arrest during exhalation/inhalation in sitting and standing positions. Fill in table 10 (B).

Table 9: Table A to project "Effect of holding breath on heart contraction".

N	Condition (sex)	Respiratory ar-	Respiratory ar-
		rest time after	rest time after
		inhalation (c)	exhalation (c)
	Sitting position		
	(female)		
	Sitting position		
	(male)		
	Standing posi-		
	tion (female)		
	Standing posi-		
	tion (male)		

N	Condition		Blood pressure	Oxygen concen-	Duration of the car-
		rate	(optional)	tration (optional)	diac cycle (optional)
	With respiration, in a sitting position				
	With respiration, in a standing position				
	Breath held after inhalation, sitting position				
	Breath held after inhalation, standing posi-				
	tion				
	Breath held after exhalation, sitting position				
	Breath held after exhalation, sitting position				
	standing position				

Table 10: Table B to project "Effect of holding breath on heart contraction".

Topic: Influence of controlled hyperventilation on the duration of holding breath.

Aim: Demonstrate to students that the removal of CO2 from the body affects the breath-holding time.

Equipment: Smartwatches/bands with a stop-watch.

Experimental procedure: A student has to hold one's breath for as long as possible, record the duration of this state. The next step presupposes assuming horizontal body position. A student has to take 30 intense breaths (breathe a little faster than usual) then exhale calmly and relax their lungs. Afterwards, oneneeds to move a little quicker than usual and then hold breath on exhaling as long as possible. It is necessary to record the duration of the breathless state. A student is to takeone deep breath next and hold you're their breath for 15 seconds and repeat the actions described above two more times. This technique should not be used while swimming, driving, in the shower, or anywhere else while standing and fill table 11.

Table 11: Table to project "Influence of controlled hyperventilation on the duration of holding breath".

N	Condition	Duration,
		seconds
1	Simple approach to holding breath	
2	Holding breath with hyperventila-	
	tion, first time	
3	Holding breath with hyperventila-	
	tion, second time	
4	Holding breath with hyperventila-	
	tion, third time	

Data analysis: Compare the duration of holding breath without and with controlled hyperventilation. How does preliminary controlled hyperventilation affect the breath-holding time? What is the impact of each iteration?

Topic: Effect of hypoxia on blood oxygen levels. **Aim:** Demonstrate to students that the concentration of oxygen in the blood can be temporarily affected.

Equipment: Smartwatches/bands with oxygen concentration.

Experimental procedure: Hold your breath for as long as possible. At the end of the period without breath, use the gadget's oximeter function to measure the value of oxygen concentration in the blood. Assume a horizontal body position. Take 30 deep breaths (breathe a little faster than usual). Exhale calmly, just to relax your lungs. It would be best if you breathe a bit faster than normal. Hold your breath on exhalation as long as possible. At the end of the period without breath, use the gadget's oximeter function to measure the value of oxygen concentration in the blood. Take one deep breath and hold it for 15 seconds. Repeat these steps two more times. This technique should not be used while swimming, driving, in the shower, or anywhere else while standing and fill table 12.

Table 12: Table to project "Effect of hypoxia on blood oxygen levels".

Ν	Condition	Oxygen con-					
		centration, %					
1	Before holding breath						
2	Simple approach to holding						
	breath						
3	Holding breath with hyperventi-						
	lation, first time						
4	Holding breath with hyperventi-						
	lation, second time						
5	Holding breath with hyperventi-						
	lation, third time						

Data analysis: Is it possible to reduce the oxygen concentration in the blood by simply holding your breath? Compare the value of blood oxygen concentration due to respiratory arrest with and without controlled hyperventilation. How does preliminary hyperventilation affect blood oxygen levels? What is the impact of iteration? **Topic:** Effect of vagus nerve stimulation on heart rate.

Aim: Demonstrate to students that vagus nerve stimulation can affect heart rate.

Equipment: Smartwatches/bands with heart rate.

Experimental procedure: Measure your heart rate. Wash your face with cold water or immerse it in a bowl of cold water for a few seconds. Measure the heart rate again.

Data analysis: Compare heart rate before and after face contact with cold water. What is the influence of vagus nerve stimulation on heart rate? Can this effect be applied in practice?

Table 13: Table to project "Effect of vagus nerve stimulation on heart rate".

N	Condition	Heart rate, bpm %
1	Before nerve stimulation	
2	After nerve stimulation	

Topic: Does the heart rate change depending on the position of the human body?

Aim: Demonstrate whether the heart rate changes with the different position of the human body?

Equipment: Smartwatches/bands with heart rate. **Experimental procedure:** Lie down horizontally. Wait a few minutes. Measure your heart rate. Sit up.

Wait a few minutes. Measure your heart rate. Stand up. Wait a few minutes. Measure your heart rate. Data analysis: Compare the heart rate at different

Data analysis: Compare the heart rate at different body positions. Is there a difference? How can this be explained?

Table 14: Table to project "Does the heart rate change depending on the position of the human body?".

Ν	Condition	Heart rate, bpm %
1	Lying	
2	Sitting	
3	Standing	

4 DISCUSSION

4.1 Advantages of Using PPDs in the Educational Process

The main functions of PPDs devices in the educational process are defined as:

• *The training functions.* The training involves direct use of PPDs to study individual subjects, primarily STEM subjects. Most often, certain types of devices are used as a tool to perform a learning

task. They can also be used in the design of research activities and the performance of research tasks.

- *The health-preserving function* involves using PPDs devices as a tool for monitoring the prime indicators of the body in order to form a healthy lifestyle with the subsequent formation of skills to control physical shape. It can also monitor vital signs for people in need of such service.
- *The control function* involves using devices as a tool for self-control and external control (parents, managers). We control certain activities and the children's GPS, especially among primary school and preschool children, by parents or other people performing parenting duties. If necessary, such control may be carried out by a teacher. It helps to increase self-control, which is supported by habits.
- *The ergonomic function* involves using devices to improve productivity, namely planning, coordinating the use of their time, and the effectiveness of the actual use of tools that help increase the productivity of each child and the educational process as a whole.

Rational use of PPDs devices and time allows the control the child's admissible physical, nervous and mental loads while also having the potential to increase said child's working capacity.

The use of smartwatches/bands in the learning process contributes to the development of principal competencies:

- *Mathematical competence* expressed in the formulation of navigation, calculation of the necessary parameters using indicators created at a reasonable age.
- Competencies in the field of natural sciences, engineering and technology are formed based on acquiring skills in working with physical parameters, vital signs, geolocation data, ability to work with different models of specific devices and their analogues, etc.; innovation is defined in the formation of skills in the use of leading technologies for personal and public health. During the connection process of smartwatches/bands with a smartphone, the students get acquainted with the concepts of "cloud technology", "synchronization", and "remote access". The mastery of this knowledge will facilitate information and digital competence formation.
- Social competencies manifest in the configuration of the ability to be aware of personal feelings and pay attention to internal needs, which

is displayed in the perceived need to maintain a healthy lifestyle. Smartwatches/bands encourage students to take accurate measurements of their heart rate, blood oxygen concentration and stress levels. This knowledge allows them to produce health-preserving competencies. For example, a student can see that negative emotions (anger, aggression) accelerate their heart rate on their smart clock. In addition, these devices can contribute to the motivation increase to maintain a healthy lifestyle. For instance, one can offer students a cup of coffee, an 'energy drink' and then measure their heart rate. Such experiments will demonstrate the effect of certain substances on the functioning of individual organs and systems.

Smartwatches/bands also have considerable potential to develop valuable skills and habits. For example, most of these devices have a reminder mode. At first, one can set up a notifier that one needs to do some exercises after 40 minutes in a sitting position (while doing homework). After 40 repetitions of this sequence, a helpful skill becomes a habit that can be reproduced without a smart device.

Notwithstanding, smartwatches/bands have the most pedagogical potential in shaping research competencies.

The document "The European Qualifications Framework for Lifelong Learning" (Guest, 2007) determines that a high-level specialist should have research competence in their field of knowledge. Research competence is the ability of the acquired education to perform educational research tasks and carry out research activities to obtain new knowledge and find ways to apply them, following the profile of the study (Nechypurenko and Soloviev, 2018; Cabinet of Ministries of Ukraine, 2020).

With the help of smart watches/bands, a student can obtain a large amount of data – this is the stage of acquiring new knowledge. A student can also analyze this data with mathematical tables – thus fulfilling the step of creating a knowledge system.

It is also possible to use smartwatches/bands to create motivation for learning activities within the STEM approach. For example, students observe the phenomenon of heartbeat acceleration after physical activity, and they will ask problematic questions: Why does it happen? How is the heart activity regulated? Therefore, the whole lesson is laid out around these questions of doubt.

There is also potential in using smartwatches/bands for students with special needs. For example, it is challenging to teach a child with hearing disabilities how to measure their pulse. Smartwatches/bands can help solve this issue. This article presents several methods of using smartwatches/bands during the learning process. These methods can be divided according to the time they consume:

- 1) methods that can be directly used in the learning process at school;
- methods that ensure long-term experiments, for example, within 24 hours, the latter's application is relevant to the performance of research work or projects by students;
- 3) methods that can be used out of school and after school.

Thus, the use of the smartwatch/band allows:

- 1) to create motivation for learning activities;
- 2) to create an impulse for a healthy lifestyle;
- 3) to develop information-digital, health care and research competencies.

4.2 Alignment of PPD Use with Curriculum Standards

IoT technologies and Cloud Services are becoming more and more popular in education (Fossland and Krogstie, 2016). IoT will significantly improve the quality of education. Implementation of IoT in education will create new ways to learn by supporting more personalized and dynamic learning experiences. IoT will give teachers new methods to explain the material during lessons (Fossland and Krogstie, 2016; Mendling and Weidlich, 2013). Moreover, IoT will offer an excellent opportunity to provide individual lessons to people with some disabilities (Morais et al., 2020). However it is lack of the studies related to using them in education. Furthermore, it was shown that the use of IoT technologies in the educational process will improve the quality of learning (Wiechetek et al., 2017). Besides, their scientific research showed that the use of IoT technologies significantly increases overall opportunities to fulfill creative abilities for both teachers and students.

Using the Internet of Things in Education is excellent for involving and educating students. Different researchers in their articles have tried implementing PPDs to provide various services in smart campuses accessible on handheld devices by ensuring ideal connectivity among multiple things. Some authors create educational systems based on wearable devices and IoT technologies (McRae et al., 2018; Abd-Ali et al., 2020). This education system integrates with the IoT tools and special apps to create more interactions between teachers and students in class while providing more innovative learning possibilities. Also, IoT can inspire school students and increase their concentration in the classroom during the lessons (Liang et al., 2019).

Previously, it was proposed to use such technologies as mobile Internet devices to form the general scientific component of a bachelor in electromechanics competency in the modelling of technical objects (Modlo et al., 2019a,b). However, using mobile Internet devices is a perspective way to improve the quality of education in general. The authors have proposed different tools to work with. For example, mobile augmented reality tools, mobile computer mathematical systems, cloud-oriented tabular processors as modelling tools, mobile communication tools for organizing joint modelling activities and more (Mavroudi et al., 2018; Pervez et al., 2018).

At the same time, despite showing promise PPDs are not widely used in education. There is currently no complete, systematic list of approaches and guidelines for integrating PPDs in the classrooms. Today, the most popular PPDs is a smartphone, but there is a lack of methods that have been proposed methods implying the use of smart scales and bands/watches. PPDs are becoming increasingly popular in most of the healthcare system. For example, some human diseases require constant monitoring of the heart. Devices used for this purpose transmit data to the cloud and, if necessary, signal their users regarding any issues, requiring immediate attention (Modlo et al., 2019b). PPDs have been used widely in everyday life, sport, medicine and healthcare (Wu et al., 2008). For example, wearable devices are used to monitor the state of the patients in clinics and to alert the doctors whenever necessary (Wu et al., 2008). However, there is a lack of studies that substantiated using of PPDs.

One of the proposed systems were collected data from the classroom, not only presenting information to students but also collecting data based on their interactions. This data can be uploaded and accessed by using a smart e-learning application. In smart classrooms, tools are aimed at either real-time monitoring of teaching space or PPDs that support students, when multiple functions are brought together (Modlo et al., 2019a; Stradolini et al., 2017; Veeramanickam and Mohanapriya, 2016).

Some schools, colleges and universities, such as Oral Roberts University in Oklahoma, have introduced the mandatory wearing of fitness bracelets to monitor students' physical activity during the day or physical training. However, there are also potential concerns about the consistent use of PPDs. For example, psychologists warn that wearing these devices can harm people with digestive disorders (Valks et al., 2019). Buchanan (Buchanan, 2015) also proves the positive role of fitness bracelets for students' health, as they create motivation to take the required number of steps per day. A study by Ertzberger and Martin (Ertzberger and Martin, 2016) showed that teachers wear fitness bracelets to increase motivation for physical activity).

4.3 Role of Personalized PPDs in Educational Standards of Ukraine

The introduction of STEM in Ukraine is regulated at the legislative level in the Concept of Development of Natural and Mathematical Education (STEM). According to this document, science and mathematics education (STEM) is a holistic system of science and mathematics education. The term 'interdisciplinary' in STEM according to Ukrainian interpretation means the integration of natural sciences (biology, chemistry, etc.), but not such disciplines as science, technology, engineering and math (Polikhun et al., 2018). Usually, in English-language sources, integration is understood as the relationship of one of the disciplines of sciences (biology, chemistry, or physics) with engineering and mathematics to solve a particular problem. According to the concept, the goal of STEM education is the development of personality through the formation of competencies, natural science picture of the world, worldviews, and life values using a transdisciplinary approach to learning. In our opinion, it is difficult to apply a transdisciplinary approach during the real process of learning at school. Transdisciplinary implies deep integration of disciplines in content and methods and foresees providing a new quality of research or problem-solving. Transdisciplinary provides close integration of knowledge fields, and - as a result - disciplines such as nanotechnology emerge. Due to the conditions of the modern Ukrainian school education system, such courses are practically not conducted. So, the term transdisciplinary will not be used in this paper.

In the Ukrainian Concept, STEM, natural sciences and mathematics are relegated to a single document. We believe that the concept quite successfully describes the aims of STEM education, including the formation of skills to solve complex, practical problems, comprehensive development of personality by identifying its inclinations and abilities; mastering the means of cognitive and practical activities; education of a person who strives for lifelong learning, the formation of practical skills, and creative application knowledge.

Thus, considering the Concept of naturalmathematical education (STEM) in Ukraine, the use of personal PPDs during the educational process is not only modern but may also be effective and promising.

Providing educational research with students using PPDs corresponds to STEM. Since biology is one of the scientific disciplines, it is corresponding to sciences (S). Furthermore, the teacher may ask questions and request students to find and analyze some scientific publications to formulate hypotheses. In addition, students provide the research using proposed methods. As a result of each work, students may make conclusions that are related to their optimum to reach some aim. For example, they may find their optimum that keeps their health and well-being during physical activities, which in turn leads to the formation of personalized methodology (technology; T) in personal health. Taking part in classes, students will think or ask about how a PPDs works: how it measures, how it provides calculation, and how it sends data on the devices. Thereby, it will develop their engineering thinking (E). Proposed methods contain all automated calculations by PPDs manual calculations by students, and analysis of obtained results (M).

Nevertheless, despite some deviations from the classical (American) interpretations of definitions related to STEM education in Ukraine, in our opinion, the Concept positively impacts the development of education and pedagogy in Ukraine and ensures using enchasing motivation and measuring tools such as PPDs.

4.4 Alignment with Relevant K-12 STEM Education Standards in the United States

The activities and methods for implementing PPDs in STEM education align well with a number of STEM education standards in the United States. For example, Next Generation Science Standards a relevant standard for students in elementary grades 4-PS4-3 Waves and Their Applications in technologies for Information Transfer (Next Generation Science, 2023). This standard supports teachers and students in generating and comparing multiple solutions that use patterns to transfer information (e.g., ECG information sent from a smartwatch to a mobile phone smartphone interface).

Similarly, the Common Core State Standards for teaching literacy and mathematics include a set of standards for measurement and data analysis. For instance, standard CSS.Math.Content.5.MD.B.2 requires that students learn to represent and interpret data such as plotting the trends in a person's ECG based on smartwatch recordings (Common Core, 2011).

Finally, a highly relevant set of US standards to support the use of PPDs in STEM education was developed in 2016 by the International Society for Technology in Education (International Society for Technology in Education (ISTE), 2023). For example, students are expected to "critically curate a variety of resources using digital tools to construct knowledge, produce creative artifacts and make meaningful learning experiences for themselves and others" (1.3 Knowledge Constructor). Students are also supposed to engage in computational thinking to "develop and employ strategies for understanding and solving problems in ways that leverage the power of technological methods to develop and test solutions" (1.5 Computational Thinker). All these standards are highly relevant to the implementation of PPDs in STEM education and support teachers' use of smart technologies in the classroom.

Thus, the use of PPDs meets Ukrainian and American educational standards. The development of methods for using PPDs during the educational process is an urgent issue.

5 CONCLUSIONS

The number of PPDs increases due to their usability and usage potential. In 2022, up to 1.1 billion individual smart instruments may be represented due to the shift from 4G to 5G communication protocols, meaning that every seventh person on the Earth will use PPDs. The article showcases exact methods used during educational research of STEM-based processes.

The "As is – To be" BPMN method was proposed to evaluate the effect of the proposed method. Using these methods proved that using smart personal tools during STSTEM education characterized by enhanced automatization provides development of student's thought process, use of graphs, calculation and encourages students to conduct their own individual researches.

Training, health-preservation, mathematical competencies, competencies in the natural sciences, engineering and technology, and social competence can be achieved using personal physiological tools to provide educational research.

The following methods have been developed and are ready to use – "Measure of the heart rate before and after physical activity with smartwatches/bands", "Effect of sleep duration on heart rate", "Determination of differences in muscle, fat and bone composition in males and females", "Determination of the level of saturation in suspected COVID-19", "Diet effect on body parameters, especially on the amount of muscle, fat and bone tissue", "The physical activity effect on sleep duration and heart rate", "Physical activity effect of human muscle and fat tissue amount", "Influence of fitness zone training on resting heart rate".

REFERENCES

- Abd-Ali, R. S., Radhi, S. A., and Rasool, Z. I. (2020). A survey: The role of the internet of things in the development of education. *Indonesian Journal of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science*, 19(1):215–221. https://doi.org/10.11591/ijeecs.v19.i1.pp215-221.
- Almusawi, H. A., Durugbo, C. M., and Bugawa, A. M. (2021). Wearable Technology in Education: A Systematic Review. *IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies*, 14(4):540–554. https://doi.org/10. 1109/TLT.2021.3107459.
- Azevedo, R. (2015). Defining and Measuring Engagement and Learning in Science: Conceptual, Theoretical, Methodological, and Analytical Issues. *Educational Psychologist*, 50(1):84–94. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 00461520.2015.1004069.
- Battelle for Kids (2019). P21 Frameworks & Resources. https://www.battelleforkids.org/networks/ p21/frameworks-resources.
- Belland, B. R., Kim, C., and Hannafin, M. J. (2013). A Framework for Designing Scaffolds That Improve Motivation and Cognition. *Educational Psychologist*, 48(4):243–270. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520. 2013.838920.
- Buchanan, K. S. (2015). What Fitness Bands Can Teach Us about Classroom Assessment.
- Cabinet of Ministries of Ukraine (2020). State standard of basic secondary education. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/898-2020-%D0%BF#n16.
- Common Core (2011). The Common Core State Standards Initiative. https://files.ascd.org/staticfiles/ascd/ pdf/siteASCD/policy/CommonCoreStds.pdf.
- Ertzberger, J. and Martin, F. (2016). Use of Fitness Bands by Teachers in the Classroom. *TechTrends*, 60(4):392– 397. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-016-0079-7.
- Fossland, S. and Krogstie, J. (2016). Enterprise Process Modeling in Practice - Experiences from a Case Study in the Healthcare Sector. In Schmidt, R., Guédria, W., Bider, I., and Guerreiro, S., editors, Enterprise, Business-Process and Information Systems Modeling - 17th International Conference, BPMDS 2016, 21st International Conference, EMMSAD 2016, Held at CAiSE 2016, Ljubljana, Slovenia, June 13-14, 2016, Proceedings, volume 248 of Lecture Notes in Business Information Processing, pages 365–380. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-39429-9_23.
- Freeman, S., Eddy, S. L., McDonough, M., Smith, M. K., Okoroafor, N., Jordt, H., and Wenderoth, M. P. (2014). Active learning increases student performance in science, engineering, and mathematics. *Proceedings*

of the National Academy of Sciences, 111(23):8410–8415. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1319030111.

- Gubbi, J., Buyya, R., Marusic, S., and Palaniswami, M. (2013). Internet of Things (IoT): A vision, architectural elements, and future directions. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, 29(7):1645–1660. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.future.2013.01.010.
- Guest, G. (2007). Lifelong learning from a European perspective: Graham Guest explains the background to proposals for a European Qualifications Framework. https://www.thefreelibrary.com/Lifelong+learning+ from+a+European+perspective%3A+Graham+ Guest+explains...-a0160321801.
- International Society for Technology in Education (ISTE) (2023). The ISTE Standards. https://www.iste.org/ iste-standards.
- Laricchia, F. (2022). Wearables statistics & facts. https:// www.statista.com/topics/1556/wearable-technology/.
- Liang, J.-M., Su, W.-C., Chen, Y.-L., Wu, S.-L., and Chen, J.-J. (2019). Smart Interactive Education System Based on Wearable Devices. *Sensors*, 19(15):3260. https://doi.org/10.3390/s19153260.
- Mavroudi, A., Divitini, M., Gianni, F., Mora, S., and Kvittem, D. R. (2018). Designing IoT applications in lower secondary schools. In 2018 IEEE Global Engineering Education Conference (EDUCON), pages 1120–1126. https://doi.org/10.1109/EDUCON.2018. 8363355.
- McRae, L., Ellis, K., and Kent, M. (2018). Internet of Things (IoT): Education and Technology: The relationship between education and technology for students with disabilities. Technical report, Curtin University. http://hdl.handle.net/20.500.11937/69810.
- Mendling, J. and Weidlich, M., editors (2013). Business Process Model and Notation: 4th International Workshop, BPMN 2012, Vienna, Austria, September 12-13, 2012, Proceedings, volume 125 of Lecture Notes in Business Information Processing. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-33155-8.
- Modlo, Y. O., Semerikov, S. O., Bondarevskyi, S. L., Tolmachev, S. T., Markova, O. M., and Nechypurenko, P. P. (2019a). Methods of using mobile Internet devices in the formation of the general scientific component of bachelor in electromechanics competency in modeling of technical objects. In Kiv, A. E. and Shyshkina, M. P., editors, *Proceedings of the 2nd International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, March 22, 2019*, volume 2547 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 217– 240. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2547/ paper16.pdf.
- Modlo, Y. O., Semerikov, S. O., Nechypurenko, P. P., Bondarevskyi, S. L., Bondarevska, O. M., and Tolmachev, S. T. (2019b). The use of mobile Internet devices in the formation of ICT component of bachelors in electromechanics competency in modeling of technical objects. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:413–428. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.402.
- Morais, C., Pedrosa, D., Fontes, M. M., Cravino, J., and Morgado, L. (2020). Detailing an e-Learning

Course on Software Engineering and Architecture Using BPMN. In Queirós, R., Portela, F., Pinto, M., and Simões, A., editors, *First International Computer Programming Education Conference, ICPEC 2020, June 25-26, 2020, ESMAD, Vila do Conde, Portugal (Virtual Conference)*, volume 81 of *OASIcs*, pages 17:1–17:8. Schloss Dagstuhl - Leibniz-Zentrum für Informatik. https://doi.org/10.4230/OASIcs.ICPEC. 2020.17.

- Nechypurenko, P. P. and Soloviev, V. N. (2018). Using ICT as the Tools of Forming the Senior Pupils' Research Competencies in the Profile Chemistry Learning of Elective Course "Basics of Quantitative Chemical Analysis". In Kiv, A. E. and Soloviev, V. N., editors, Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, October 2, 2018, volume 2257 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 1–14. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2257/paper01.pdf.
- Next Generation Science (2023). Next Generation Science Standards. https://www.nextgenscience.org/.
- Pal, D., Funilkul, S., and Vanijja, V. (2020). The future of smartwatches: assessing the end-users' continuous usage using an extended expectationconfirmation model. *Universal Access in the Information Society*, 19(2):261–281. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10209-018-0639-z.
- Pervez, S., ur Rehman, S., and Alandjan, G. (2018). Role of Internet of Things (IoT) in Higher Education. In Proceedings of ADVED 2018 – 4th International Conference on Advances in Education and Social Sciences, 15-17 October 2018 – Istanbul, Turkey, pages 792–800. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/ 328477764.
- Polikhun, N. I., Postova, K. H., Slipukhina, I. A., Onopchenko, H. V., and Onopchenko, O. V. (2018). Uprovadzhennia STEM-osvity v umovakh intehratsii formalnoi i neformalnoi osvity obdarovanykh uchniv [Implementation of STEM education in the context of integration of formal and non-formal education of gifted students]. Instytut obdarovanoi dytyny NAPN Ukrainy, Kyiv. https://lib.iitta.gov.ua/718661/.
- Shapovalov, Y. B., Shapovalov, V. B., Andruszkiewicz, F., and Volkova, N. P. (2020). Analyzing of main trends of STEM education in Ukraine using stemua.science statistics. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:448–461. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.385.
- Stradolini, F., Lavalle, E., De Micheli, G., Motto Ros, P., Demarchi, D., and Carrara, S. (2017). Paradigm-Shifting Players for IoT: Smart-Watches for Intensive Care Monitoring. In Perego, P., Andreoni, G., and Rizzo, G., editors, Wireless Mobile Communication and Healthcare, volume 192 of Lecture Notes of the Institute for Computer Sciences, Social Informatics and Telecommunications Engineering, pages 71– 78. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https: //doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-58877-3_9.
- Valks, B., Arkesteijn, M., and Den Heijer, A. (2019). Smart campus tools 2.0 exploring the use of realtime space use measurement at universities and or-

ganizations. *Facilities*, 37(13/14):961–980. https://doi.org/10.1108/F-11-2018-0136.

- Veeramanickam, M. R. M. and Mohanapriya, M. (2016). IOT enabled Futures Smart Campus with effective E-Learning : i-Campus. *GSTF Journal of Engineering Technology*, 3:81–87. http://www.etc.edu.cn/public/2019/2/ b2750bfb-f75f-42c6-aa3f-526a7e177823.pdf.
- Visual Paradigm (2016). How to Develop As-Is and To-Be Business Process? https://www.visual-paradigm. com/tutorials/as-is-to-be-business-process.jsp.
- Wiechetek, Ł., Mędrek, M., and Banaś, J. (2017). Zarządzanie procesami biznesowymi w kształceniu akademickim – na podstawie kursu dla studentów logistyki UMCS. Problemy Zarządzania – Management Issues, 15(4 (71)):146–164. https://doi.org/10.7172/ 1644-9584.71.10.
- Wu, W., Cao, J., Zheng, Y., and Zheng, Y.-P. (2008). WAITER: A Wearable Personal Healthcare and Emergency Aid System. In 2008 Sixth Annual IEEE International Conference on Pervasive Computing and Communications (PerCom), pages 680–685. https: //doi.org/10.1109/PERCOM.2008.115.

The Role of Digital Competency in Educational Process of Participants When Designing a Digital Educational Environment

Nataliia V. Morze^{®a} and Viktoriia O. Kucherovska^{®b}

Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, 18/2 Bulvarno-Kudriavska Str., Kyiv, 04053, Ukraine n.morze@kubg.edu.ua, v.kucherovska@gmail.com

- Keywords: Digital Educational Environment, Educational Strategies, Digitization of Education, SELFIE Tool, Digital Skills, K-12 Educational Policy.
- Abstract: Graduates' digital competency isn't a new demand. On the contrary, it is a necessity, which is a response to the world's tendencies. Not taking into account the fact that those concepts today are among the hottest topics, and the most asked questions, there is still a lack of practical research and use, the results received from practice. Measuring digital competency is a key task for educational institutions to keep following their current state and to respond to the issues in time. Having this information, educational institutions could create studying programs, which would provide personal and professional development for education applicants. That's why the research covers a theoretical overview of the tools needed for estimating digital competency, and the importance of creating an educational policy on digital technology usage is described. The importance of conducting surveys about digital competency levels is justified in this work as well.

1 INTRODUCTION

Today digitalization has become one of the most significant tendencies of civilization development. Digitalization of objects and attributes shapes inclusive society and contributes to the renewal of management mechanisms, giving continuous access to health protection, education, and the economic sector. It raises the quality and number of governmental services being included and broadens opportunities for cooperation for people. The pandemic of COVID-19 and the war in Ukraine have proved the importance and necessity of spreading and popularizing digital technologies for ensuring safety, equal access to informational sources, national well-being, and stability of economical processes.

A modern graduate of a secondary educational institution must be competitive, mobile, and ready for constant learning. Such demands must lead to the renovation of the structure and content of educational services given by institutions of secondary education. Using and mastering the newest forms of educational activity, the modernisation of educational approaches will contribute to forming competent specialists, who will meet the needs and demands of Industry 4.0. In its turn, Industry 4.0 provides an implementation of new digital solutions for the optimization of production systems. New development opportunities appear thanks to the connection between Industry 4.0 opportunities and educational transformations. Education of workers for connecting complex productive environments plays a key role. The main educational role is in the development of competencies, necessary for a competitive and changeable market. Digital competency is the main condition for transformation in the 4th Industrial Revolution.

Such challenges and demands of the time caused the need for approval and implementation of The Digital Competence Framework for Citizens in Ukraine (Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine, 2021b). The Framework was adapted after a complex expert analysis counting on the results of projects and scientific works concerning the development of digital competency in Ukraine and outside its borders. The Framework is based on the European model Dig-Comp 2.1, which is adapted for the national, cultural, educational, and economic features of the country.

Yet we can see that until now the essence of education has stayed still, and conditions of learning and teaching are being changed very slowly and too carefully. On the governmental level documents which are supposed to regulate the implementation and spreading of digital technologies are being used, although

Morze, N. and Kucherovska, V.

The Role of Digital Competency in Educational Process of Participants When Designing a Digital Educational Environment. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 751-759 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS - Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3477-9254

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4064-9416

the system of their usage is still incomplete.

The *purpose* of the article is to define the role of digital competency of participants in the educational process in projecting a digital educational environment.

2 LITERATURE REVIEW

Nowadays the question of learning theoretical, methodological and methodical aspects of digital transformation of secondary education and the creation as well as effective usage of the digital policy in an educational institution is fairly actual and not fully explored and summarised in the realisation of the Concept of a New Ukrainian school (Elkin et al., 2017), renewed Law of Ukraine "On the full secondary education" (Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine, 2020) and Framework of digital competency for citizens (Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine, 2021b).

Problems of digital education are at the center of the pedagogical community attention, as evidenced by numerous conceptual and thorough studies of foreign and domestic scientists.

Berawi et al. (Berawi et al., 2020) claim that the spread of innovations changes stable economic systems and causes structural changes in various areas. Innovations become the basis of the need for digitalization of society. According to authors, digital technologies are used to manage integrated product life cycles and improve efficient, reliable and sustainable business operations. Artificial intelligence, internet of things, machine learning, blockchain, big data and other digital technologies are creating new conditions for the development of economies.

Zawacki-Richter and Anderson (Zawacki-Richter and Anderson, 2014) gives advice on how to organize distance education describing the positive aspects of distance education practices such as: cost issues, social justice issues, cultural biases, etc.

Gillpatrick (Gillpatrick, 2020) believes that the key drivers for changing education are the rapid introduction of new digital technologies, the development of new educational delivery systems, economic models as well as changing educational expectations from a new generation of learners, digital natives.

Gavrilova and Voronova (Gavrilova and Voronova, 2018) describes the theoretical aspects of modern digital environment development. The scientists describes the importance of digital culture skills as an indicator of successful pedagogical activity in the structure of the digital environment.

Barna and Kuzminska (Barna and Kuzminska,

2020) notes that today's challenges accelerate the processes of transformation of educational institutions. They describe the importance of designing, applying and developing a digital educational environment, the degree of possession of digital competences by all participants of the educational process. Analyzes of indicators of the educational institution's readiness for digital transformation and tools for their assessment are conducted. Digitization of educational environments (unlike to informatization) involves a change in the implementation of educational business processes, the creation of new services and forms of interaction for maximum realization of the potential of the educational process subjects and ensuring the accelerated development and evolution of institutions, economy and the state.

Morze and Strutynska (Morze and Strutynska, 2021) analyses the digital transformation processes currently taking place in the economy, production, education and society as a whole. Scientists assume that the driver of digital transformation is the influence of digital technologies. One of the key issues for the implementation of digital transformation is changes in the way of thinking and requirements for the competences of employees in the industry. First of all, it is related to people's understanding of digital transformation processes and their ability to use digital technologies effectively.

Researchers of the problems of education transformation pay considerable attention to the management of the formation of the state educational policy and directions of its development, part of which is the educational policy in the field of the use of digital technologies. Methodological principles and various aspects of the implementation of the state educational policy in the field of education management were studied by Karim (Karim, 2021). The author described the stages of design and implementation of the development of educational policy and practice in a globalized world

Hardy et al. (Hardy et al., 2021) describes Finland's experience from reforms to real implementation.

Separate issues of the digital transformation of educational policy highlighted in (Kuzminska and Nanaieva, 2016; Sych et al., 2021).

3 RESEARCH RESULTS

In 2021 the Concept of the development of digital competences was accepted (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2021). This move was more than just necessary, as the absence of conceptual basics of how to

form educational policy in the digitalization sphere doesn't allow to provide the development of other spheres according to modern demands, tendencies, and processes of global economic digitalization. The concept is made for solving specific tasks:

- defining law regulation of aspects of digital competencies;
- forming demands and descriptions for necessary digital competencies;
- renewing professional standards;
- shaping demands for digital competencies in educational institutions;
- creating an indication system for monitoring the development of digital skills and digital competencies;
- coordination of actions for the realization of governmental policy in the sphere of digital development and digital competencies.

The main obstacle on the way to creating digital transformation of the educational process is the lack of understanding of where to start, the absence of a systematic view and understanding of necessary and sufficient measures for a successful digital transformation as such. As the perspective of radical changes can be deceitful, it is important to understand which strategy to choose and how to develop an effective educational policy in the digital sphere and create a quality educational environment. Conduction of studies on the digital literacy of education applicants, graduates, pedagogical workers, and managers will contribute to the search for the right way for creating educational policies.

The approval of the Framework of digital competencies for citizens (Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine, 2021b) makes demands for all the participants in the educational process as the basics of computer literacy, information literacy, the ability to work with data, creating digital content, communication and interaction in a digital society, digital safety, problem-solving in a digital society and lifelong learning are the competencies everybody working in educational sphere needs. Measures, described in the Framework, are wholesome and in one way or another, they define the necessary set of skills for teachers, students and managers. Those skills are necessary for both domestic and professional aspects. Usage of the Framework forwards adding and changing professional standards and demands for positions, also the creation of the programs for studies, training, and educational resources. Creating detailed professional Frameworks will contribute to increasing competitiveness and the level of giving services.

The Ministry of digital transformation of Ukraine together with the Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine has created a project called "Conceptual referent Framework of digital competency of pedagogical and scientifically pedagogical workers" (Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine, 2021a). The European model of Framework for educators called "The Digital Competence Framework for Educators" (DigCompEdu) is the base of the Ukrainian one (European Commission et al., 2017). The Framework for educators includes 5 measures, 5 spheres, 22 competencies and 5 levels of owning. It characterises digital technology in education as a transformed environment, which gives extended possibilities for learning without borders in time and location. Thanks to using the Framework comes up the opportunity of projecting individual education trajectories for educational applicants. New approaches for using technologies will contribute to a faster change from simple consumption of electronic resources to their creation. According to the approach described in the Framework, the teacher becomes a guide in the digital world instead of being a library full of knowledge as it used to be. Therefore, it becomes a push for increasing the level of personal competencies for teachers and managers of educational institutions.

Poor level of digital competency among teachers makes the process of forming high competency among students much slower. The results of the digital competency level made by the Ministry of digital transformation in 2021 (Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine, 2021c) showed that almost 30 % of studying youngsters in the secondary educational institution system, 14 % in the secondary special education system and 3 % in unfinished higher education don't have basic digital skills and 39.4 %, 47.2 %, 26.7 % accordingly have skills on the level lower than medium.

In 2019 (Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine, 2019) for the first time in the history of Ukraine, there was a sociological survey of the digital skills of citizens. After getting the results, the design of a National online platform for developing digital literacy started. Thus for today, we have already formed a certain bank of National testing for digital literacy (Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine, 2023):

- Digigram 1.0 for citizens;
- Digigram 2.0 for citizen;
- For government workers;
- · For medical workers;
- For teachers;
- ICDL Ukrainian digital citizen.

Digigram is a national test for estimating digital competencies. It consists of 90 questions. The tasks of the test are gathered according to the spheres of knowledge from the European The Digital Competence Framework for Citizens of DigComp 2.1. (Carretero et al., 2017), adapted by Ukrainian experts.

In 2021 (Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine, 2021c) there was a repeated survey of digital literacy done among Ukrainians, and the following results were received. The questionnaire was held among 1800 respondents from 18 to 70 y.o. as a faceto-face interview, 410 respondents from 17 y.o. in an online format, 401 respondents from occupied territories of Donetsk and Luhansk region from 18 to 60 as a face-to-face interview, 349 respondents with hearing problems as an online questionnaire, and also 8 groups of respondents of other categories, specifically workers of medical sphere (doctors), educational sphere (teachers), local authorities and communal services sphere, elderly people (people of 60 and more years). For comparison, in 2019, the sample consisted of the following respondents: 1800 respondents from 18 to 70 y.o. as a face-to-face interview, 859 people from 10 to 17 as a face-to-face interview, 400 respondents from occupied territories of Donetsk and Luhansk region from 18 to 70 as a face-to-face interview, 219 respondents from 18 to 59 respondents with hearing problems as a questionnaire.

In the new research, we can see the dynamics of changes, the majority of which move to improvement. This way for the period of the 2019-2021 years the part of people who have Internet access rose by 4 %. The situation in 2021 was that 92 % of respondents had access to the web. For the majority of participants who didn't have access, the access wasn't considered a necessity.

Compared to 2019 (Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine, 2019) the part of those who don't set Internet at home because of not being able to use it has shrunk by 17 %. We can see a decrease among respondents who have the "No skills" category and, as an outcome, the number of people with levels identified as "Basic" and higher, increases.

Dynamics of increase of digital skills is visible according to the next parameters:

- 36.8 % skills of creating digital content (+6.7 %);
- 79.2 % communicative skills (+3.5 %);
- 78.9 % informational skills (+2.8 %);
- 55,8 % skills of solving life problems (+2.6 %).

It is worth mentioning that from 2019 (Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine, 2019) the most developed skills have been informational and communicative. Demand for digital skills is partially caused by increasing the number of people who within the last year faced problems connected to safety because of using the internet. Compared to the year 2019, the percentage of victims increased almost by 12 % and became 45.7 % of participants. From them, 37.3 % of Ukrainians faced fishing last year, and 18 % faced farming. A positive conclusion is the fact that almost half more people compared to 2019 (Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine, 2019) became more careful and aware while using the Internet.

According to the research from 2019 (Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine, 2019), 53 % of the population of Ukraine had digital skills lower than a basic level, in 2021 shrunk by 5.2 % or 1.42 million people and now is 47.8 %.

The percentage of people who used the Internet within the last 3 months at the moment of the survey was 88 % of the respondents, and 93 % of them did it almost every day. The most popular place for using the Internet was and stays home (89 % of Ukrainians), second place is work and place of study. The leader device for using the Internet is still a smartphone.

52 % of participants mention that they tried online tools, the most spread of which are applications for buying goods online, monitoring news on the Internet, and remote working for the first time during COVID-19. The third part of the respondents mentioned that since the pandemic started, they began spending more time online. 53 % of asked Ukrainians aged from 18 to 70 y.o. buy things online and this indicator is 13 % higher than in 2019 (Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine, 2019). Most people buy clothes, and domestic goods and make regular payments.

An average Ukrainian spends approximately 3 hours 50 minutes online during the weekdays and 4 hours 05 minutes at the weekend.

8 from 10 of the participants think that using the Internet has more advantages than disadvantages, and 44.4 % are interested in improving their digital skills. The most interested in learning is the group of young people from 10 to 29 years old. Respondents are interested in learning the basics of online safety, quick and efficient searching for information on the net, being able to differentiate between reliable and non-reliable sources and using online banking services.

Therefore, there is a need in ensuring that society is ready for gaining the key competencies for the digital technologies sphere. Experience shows, that for the development of the digital competency of stakeholders in the educational process the sufficient condition is creating a digital educational environment, effective usage of which will lead to ensuring the quality of the results of educational activities of students. The educational policy can fasten the progress of renewing approaches to using digital educational technologies. A clear plan for all the interaction levels will contribute to broadening the opportunities of educators for using digital technologies which help their professional activity.

For creating educational policy, it is essential to define the outer and inner components of the educational environment and tools to use, the efficient way for interaction between the participants of the educational process and the way of coordination, management, and estimation of the results. It is important to note that such activity isn't limited to working on an educational institution's territory, on the contrary, it continues to exist outside of those institutions, thanks to digital tools as well as other tools.

Based on scientific research analysis (Kulesz, 2017) we created a model showing the ways of projecting a digital educational environment (figure 1).

Relying on the model and The Digital Competence Framework for Citizens (Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine, 2021b), we can create an algorithm for the implementation of digital educational policy in a secondary school institution (figure 2).

Innovations have great potential for ensuring the quality of educational programs, although participants of the educational process may not be ready for the integration of the technologies and not have corresponding knowledge and skills for using them. Successful usage of digital technologies in an educational program relies on teachers' and managers' readiness for accepting changes (Intel, 2019).

The world has already got different resources and tools for estimating the digital competency level. For instance, MyDigiSkills, Wheel of digital competency, Digital Skills and Jobs Platform, Digigram, and SELFIE.

MyDigiSkills is a tool allowing to define the level of digital competency based on each of five areas of the European system of The Digital Competence Framework for Citizens (DigComp) (Carretero et al., 2017):

- Informational literacy and data literacy;
- Communication and cooperation;
- Creating digital content;
- Safety;
- · Problem solving.

The resource is available in Ukrainian, and the online questioning lasts for about 20 minutes and consists of 82 questions approximately.

The Wheel of digital competency is an online test for defining digital competency. It is available in English. The Wheel is designed by the Digital competency centre. The purpose of the survey is to create an understanding of the level of personal digital competency and to suggest resources for further development. The Wheel of digital competency is also theoretically based on an exploratory project of EU Dig-Comp (Carretero et al., 2017).

Digital Skills and Jobs Platform is an online platform with an opportunity to estimate the digital competency level. According to the conclusions of the survey, there is an opportunity to create a road map for the development of your competencies based on interests and goals, and afterwards, there is the possibility of taking such a course on the platform.

From the point of view of the analysis of secondary educational institutions, therefore the main step before designing ICT policy should be the SELFIE tool (JRC et al., 2021), using which is, in our opinion, a necessary condition for creating an educational institution's outer policy in the sphere of digitalization of educational environment.

SELFIE is a free online tool, which helps schools estimate their usage of digital technologies for innovative and effective learning. This process of selfevaluation helps to start a dialogue about potential directions for development at schools. Thanks to SELFIE, schools can make a short description of where they stand in using digital technologies, taking into account boards of teachers, students and class tutors (JRC et al., 2021).

Usage of SELFIE by educational institutions is an important tool of the algorithm for implementing a digital policy of an educational institution. SELFIE lets schools find key problems in digitalization, form the ways of their solving, and set specific goals for key indicators of efficiency.

During 2020-2021 ninety-one educational institutions piloted SELFIE. The general quantity of respondents was 12714, 10447 were students, 1899 teachers and 368 institutions managers. 1193 primary educational institutions, 10592 secondary school institutions, and 929 professional education institutions took part in the experiment. The average level of digital preparation of participants, which went through the survey, was 7.97 (figure 3).

The highest indicator of preparations was seen among the managers of the institutions, average – of 8,81, although the teachers also showed a fairly high result of 8.25. The students showed an average result, which was 7.89 (figure 4).

Among educational institutions, the highest level is seen in professional educational institutions -8.30. Almost equal data is seen among the primary educational institutions and secondary educational institu-







Figure 2: Steps for implementing digital educational policy into secondary educational institutions.



Figure 4: Percentage frequency distribution by user profile.

tions, which are 7.96 and 7.95 accordingly.

For now, educational institutions need to learn the results gotten, create a plan for fixing the existing flaws, and, as the next step, design a strategy of development for digital technologies.

The Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine plans that from the beginning of a new academic year there will be preparation for a broad implementation of SELFIE (JRC et al., 2021) in all the systems of secondary and professional education.

4 CONCLUSIONS

Summarising foreign and domestic experiences analysis of scientific and methodical sources, methods, ways and tools of digital transformation of secondary education and organization of self-assessment of all the participants of educational process on the questions of implementation of digital technologies in Frameworks of designing educational policy, defining the ways of designing digital educational environment of a secondary educational institution, the results of the conducted survey let us make the following conclusions.

 The modern educational system in Ukraine, and the educational process of every specific institution needs digital transformation, which can ensure the quality and efficiency of the educational process. For the sake of it, it is appropriate to foresee and project educational policy, which will include aspects of digitalization and development of digital educational environment. Necessary and sufficient conditions for its effective usage is a high level of digital competency of all stakeholders of the educational process. Thanks to the fast development of digital technologies and modern techno trends systematic approach to digital transformation imply complex interaction of all participants in the educational process. For avoiding resistance to the usage of digital technologies it's important to delineate the advantages of digital transformation in education and popularise it on the governmental level as well as locally. Understanding and using educational digitalization are the key to success, that's why prioritizing this is important. Highlighting contribution to the development of digital community among teachers and students, having made its a base of the educational policy of an educational institution, it is possible to create quality and effective educational space for the new generation. In its turn, it will help an educational institution to stay actual, suggesting to educational applicants a modern level of learning. The level which is needed for further success in life. Projecting, designing, developing, and using a modern digital educational environment is the right way for the digital maturity of all its participants.

- 2. Realization of this model of digital educational environment requires creating a team of likeminded people, defining the main goals and tasks, technologies, methodologies, and innovations needed for their achievement. An important stage of the digital educational environment will be the stage of defining and further shaping of levels of digital competency of all the participants in the educational process: students, teachers, educational managers of different levels, parents as citizens of digital society, employers as citizens of digital society and business-communities.
- 3. Monitoring the level of digital skills and digital readiness of all the participants in the educational process is an integral part of the algorithm for designing and implementing digital policy in a secondary educational institution, and that is why every educational institution should be required to have demands for the digital competency level of all participants and ensure it with the help of arranging special seminars and training for advanced training and learning. Choice of the tool, which will allow an educational institution to arrange self-reflection and self-assessment correctly and will help estimate the level of readiness for the digitalising the educational environment, plays an important role. The SELFIE tool

helps educational institutions to analyse and estimate the current state of digital competency, and to develop educational programs and processes in the future. Renewing the content of learning, improving the digital competency of all participants in the educational process, the newest pedagogical technologies, and modern logistical equipment are the factors which form the quality of given educational services.

REFERENCES

- Barna, O. V. and Kuzminska, O. H. (2020). Vvznachennia hotovnosti zakladu vyshchoi osvity do tsyfrovoi transformatsii [Determining the readiness of a higher education institution for digital transformation]. In Suchasni informatsiini tekhnolohii ta innovatsiini metodyky navchannia: dosvid, tendentsii, perspektyvy: materialy IV Mizhnarodnoi naukovo-praktychnoi internetkonferentsii, page 92-93, Ternopil. TNPU im. V. Hnatiuka. http://dspace.tnpu.edu.ua/bitstream/ 123456789/15374/1/31_Barna_Kuzminska.pdf.
- Berawi, M. A., Suwartha, N., Asvial, M., Harwahyu, R., Suryanegara, M., Setiawan, E. A., Surjandari, I., Zagloel, T. Y. M., and Maknun, I. J. (2020). Digital Innovation: Creating Competitive Advantages. *International Journal of Technology*, 11(6):1076–1080. https://doi.org/10.14716/ijtech.v11i6.4581.
- Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine (2021). On the approval of the Concept of the development of digital competences and the approval of the plan of measures for its implementation. https://tinyurl.com/mry8pyaw.
- Carretero, S., Vuorikari, R., and Punie, Y. (2017). *DigComp* 2.1: The Digital Competence Framework for Citizens with eight proficiency levels and examples of use. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg. https://doi.org/10.2760/38842.
- Elkin, O., Hrynevych, L., kalashnikova, S., Khobzey, P., Kobernyk, I., Kovtunets, V., Makarenko, O., Malakhova, O., Nanayeva, T., Shiyan, R., and Usatenko, H. (2017). *The New Ukrainian School: conceptual principles of secondry school reform.* https://mon.gov.ua/storage/app/media/zagalna% 20serednya/Book-ENG.pdf.
- European Commission, Joint Research Centre, Redecker, C., and Punie, Y. (2017). European Framework for the Digital Competence of Educators: DigCompEdu. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg. https://doi.org/10.2760/159770.
- Gavrilova, L. G. and Voronova, N. S. (2018). Digital culture as a phenomenon of modern informational and communication pedagogical environment. Zasobi navčal'noj ta naukovo-doslidnoï roboti, (48):21–34. http://journals.hnpu.edu.ua/index.php/ sciencemeans/article/view/688.
- Gillpatrick, T. (2020). Innovation and the Digital Transformation of Education. *The Journal of Limitless Educa*-

tion and Research, 5(3):194 – 201. https://doi.org/10. 29250/sead.797372.

- Hardy, I., Heikkinen, H., Pennanen, M., Salo, P., and Kiilakoski, T. (2021). The 'spirit of the times': Fast policy for educational reform in Finland. *Policy Futures in Education*, 19(7):770–791. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1478210320971530.
- Intel (2019). Transforming Education for the Next Generation: A Practical Guide to Learning and Teaching with Technology. https://www. intel.com/content/www/us/en/education/solutions/ transforming-education-next-generation-guide.html.
- JRC, ETF, Bocconi, S., Lightfoot, M., Brolpito, A., Giannoutsou, N., Hippe, R., and Kampylis, P. (2021). Scaling up and integrating the SELFIE tool for schools' digital capacity in education and training systems: Methodology and lessons learnt. Joint report TA-02-21-335-EN-N (online), Joint Research Centre (JRC, B.4) of the European Commission, and the European Training Foundation (ETF), Turin. https://www.etf.europa. eu/en/publications-and-resources/publications/ scaling-and-integrating-selfie-tool-schools-digital.
- Karim, S. (2021). Acculturation in a globalised world: Implications for theory and educational policy and practice. International Journal of Comparative Education and Development, 23(1):44–58. https://doi.org/ 10.1108/IJCED-11-2020-0078.
- Kulesz, O. (2017). Culture in the Digital Environment: Assessing impact in Latin America and Spain. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, Paris.
- Kuzminska, O. H. and Nanaieva, T. V. (2016). Education policy and information technologies: How to achieve a systemic effect? *INFORMATION TECH-NOLOGIES AND LEARNING TOOLS*, 52(2):121– 132. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v52i2.1376.
- Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine (2019). Digital literacy of the population of Ukraine. https://osvita.diia.gov.ua/uploads/0/588-the_first_in_ the_history_of_ukraine_research_compressed.pdf.
- Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine (2021a). Conceptual-referential framework of digital competence of pedagogical and scientific-pedagogical workers: draft. https://osvita.diia.gov.ua/uploads/0/ 2629-frame_pedagogical.pdf.
- Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine (2021b). DigCompUA for Citizens 2.1. https://cutt.ly/ iLimwNz.
- Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine (2021c). Digital literacy of the population of Ukraine: Report on the Results of the National Survey. https://osvita. diia.gov.ua/uploads/0/2623-research_eng_2021.pdf.
- Ministry of Digital Transformation of Ukraine (2023). Digigram. https://osvita.diia.gov.ua/en/digigram.
- Morze, N. V. and Strutynska, O. V. (2021). Digital transformation in society: key aspects for model development. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1946(1):012021. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/ 1946/1/012021.

- Sych, T., Khrykov, Y., and Ptakhina, O. (2021). Digital transformation as the main condition for the development of modern higher education. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(2):293–309. https://doi.org/ 10.55056/etq.27.
- Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine (2020). Law "About Full General Secondary Education". https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/ laws/show/463-20#Text.
- Zawacki-Richter, O. and Anderson, T., editors (2014). Online Distance Education: Towards a Research Agenda. Issues in Distance Education. Athabasca University Press. https://doi.org/10.15215/aupress/ 9781927356623.01.

Advanced Technological Solutions to Support Distance Learning via Open-Source H5P Interactive Tools

Olena H. Kuzminska¹[®]^a, Maksym V. Mokriiev¹[®]^b, Olena G. Glazunova¹[®]^c, Joana Markovska², Valentyna I. Korolchuk¹[®]^d and Tetiana V. Voloshyna¹[®]^e

¹National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine, 15 Heroyiv Oborony Str., Kyiv, 03041, Ukraine ²Wrocław University of Environmental and Life Sciences, Norwida 25, 50-375 Wrocław, Poland

o.kuzminska@nubip.edu.ua, m.mokriiev@nubip.edu.ua, o-glazunova@nubip.edu.ua, joanna.markowska@upwr.edu.pl, korolchuk@nubip.edu.ua, t-voloshina@nubip.edu.ua

Keywords: Distance Learning Tools, H5P, Interactive Content, Active Learning, Higher Education.

Abstract: The widespread introduction of distance learning in the conditions of quarantine restrictions caused by COVID-19 increases the need to modernize the resource-and-organizational as well as methodological support of the educational process. The materials of the present paper embrace the study of the possibilities of using open-source H5P tools to support distance learning in higher education institutions. The authors analyzed the state of research of the problem of development and introduction of interactive didactic H5P tools in higher education institutions and identified insufficient use of this tool in higher education institutions of Ukraine despite successful foreign practices in place. Based on the results of the comparative analysis of the functionality of various means to support distance learning, which have become most common in higher education institutions, they defined the benefits of using H5P to maximize the involvement of students in distance learning and demonstrated the wider possibilities of creation, use and distribution of interactive educational elements on the basis of H5P in comparison with other technologies. The paper presents the results of a questionnaire conducted among the academic staff of the National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine and Wrocław University of Environmental and Life Sciences on determining the complexity of development and pedagogical feasibility of using various H5P tools to support distance learning. Based on the analysis of academic staff's needs, they determined the necessity for specialized training on pedagogical design of the content of H5P didactic materials, delivery technologies and methods of their use in teaching various disciplines of higher education.

1 INTRODUCTION

As new information technologies and digital tools are developed and disseminated, technologies for the development, delivery and use of educational content are being enriched to ensure the quality of e-learning, taking into account: students' learning styles and age characteristics (Umryk, 2013), the available resources and competence of the subjects of the educational process (Kuzminska et al., 2019). However, during the mass transition to distance learning (Stauffer, 2020) in the conditions of COVID-19 (Miller, 2022), the problem of providing quality education is relevant, which, in our opinion, requires the training of specialists who will be able not only to use ICT in educational activities, but also acquire competences in e-learning management (Morze et al., 2017). Analysis of the attitude of teachers and students to the opportunities and problems associated with the introduction of distance learning (El Refae et al., 2021) is the basis for the assumption of actualizing the need to develop interactive teaching materials and educational content as a means of ensuring quality student-centered education (Homanová and Havlásková, 2019). The creation of interactive didactic materials and methods of their use in the educational process will contribute to the involvement of students in active learning: students can create resources independently or "interact" with the teacher to increase motivation, better understanding of learn-

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8849-9648

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6717-3884

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0136-4936

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3145-8802

e https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6020-5233

Kuzminska, O., Mokriiev, M., Glazunova, O., Markovska, J., Korolchuk, V. and Voloshyna, T.

Advanced Technological Solutions to Support Distance Learning via Open-Source H5P Interactive Tools.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 760-767 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS - Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

ing material, practical skills, evaluation of their own learning activities, etc.

From a technical point of view, the use of tools to create interactive didactic materials was limited by the need for computer programming skills. However, with the development of H5P technology, an opensource Internet tool, the creation of such materials does not require special training.

Therefore, **the purpose of this study** is to identify the potential of H5P to support distance learning in higher education institutions and to analyze the teachers' needs as for its application in educational practice.

2 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

H5P (https://h5p.org/) is a module with a library of learning resources developed in HTML5, which is integrated for direct use in publishing systems (namely: Wordpress, Drupal) and learning management systems (such as Canvas, Moodle or Blackboard). The latter allows you to create interactive learning elements (development can be done by both teachers and students, for example, when doing independent work), which can be used at different stages of elearning to form both general and subject competences of students.

The conducted analysis of research and publications on the use of H5P service in education is the basis for expressing an assumption about the effectiveness of the use of this service in the process of training specialists regardless of the educational program and specialty.

Santos et al. (Santos et al., 2019) represent the method of using the H5P service as a tool for gamification of practical skills (students' laboratory work) on local network administration, which provides a fast, intuitive and attractive for students method of applying the Flip-Game Engineering and Technology methodology (Flip-GET), developed by researchers at the University of Cadiz.

Methodology and practical cases of H5P application in the process of learning English in higher education institutions in Japan and Indonesia are presented in (Wicaksono et al., 2021). The experience of using H5P didactic materials in the study of chemistry (Zeller et al., 2021) is an example of the transformation of video into an interactive educational resource. The results of a study of the use of H5P in the training of future specialists in biological sciences (Manacek et al., 2020) indicate that this platform is an effective and universal tool for forming students' critical thinking, independence and confidence in mastering educational material in problem-oriented learning. Methodical recommendations for creating an interactive H5P video for the implementation of personalized and active learning are given in (Singleton and Charlton, 2019; Thurner et al., 2022). The experience of using H5P tools for the implementation of blended learning (Sinnayah et al., 2021) and development flipped classroom framework (Wehling et al., 2021) based on learning management systems highlights the need for additional research on the application of these tools in the educational practice of Ukrainian higher education institutions.

Research tasks:

- 1. To investigate the functionality of H5P for the feasibility of using the H5P service to create and distribute interactive content.
- 2. To analyze the needs and readiness of the academic staff of the National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine (NULES) and Wrocław University of Environmental and Life Sciences (WUELS) to create and use interactive didactic H5P materials in the educational process.

To achieve the goal and objectives of the study, the following methods were used: analysis of theoretical sources, study of successful H5P practices in the educational process of higher education institutions; generalization and systematization of experience in the use of e-learning support tools; empirical methods, in particular, questionnaires and monitoring of the educational process in higher education institutions during the implementation of distance learning during the COVID-19 quarantine restrictions.

3 MAIN FINDINGS

H5P is an open tool for creating, distributing and reusing educational interactive content, based on HTML5, CSS and JavaScript technologies, which does not require additional software for its work, therefore will work in all modern browsers, operating systems and devices.

Since H5P technology is integrated into a number of learning management engine drivers, such as Moodle, Canvas, Blackboard, Brightspace, and a variety of web content management systems, such as Wordpress and Drupal, integration into the higher education environment does not require additional costs at the technological level (environmental administration) and organizational – teachers can create educational content in a convenient for them environment with the ability to save and reuse. Figure 1 shows an example of creating and demonstrating the "interac-

Purpose	Program	Module	Features
	H5P	Accordion	Ability to create a hidden (folded) text block with image
Folding text			formatting, etc.
blocks	Moodle	Absent	Implementation using HTML, CSS or Bootstrap classes
("accordion")	GWorkspace	Absent	
	H5P	Agamotto	Using simulation of dynamic change in time on the map.
Interchangeable		8	in space, zooming out/zooming in
pictures	Moodle	Absent	
swapping	GWorkspace	Absent	
	H5P	Audio	Recording audio messages directly from the browser
Recording	1151	Recorder	Recording additionessages ancerty from the browser
audio	Moodle	Function in	The corresponding functionality is implemented in the
messages	Wioodie		built-in ATTO editor
incisages	GWorkspace	Ahsent	
	U WOIKSpace	Dialog Cards	Several solutions are available
Creating flash	11.51	Elechearde	Several solutions are available
creating hash	Maadla	Abcont	
carus	CWarlanaaa	Absent	
	Gworkspace	Absent	
	НЭР	12 types of	Drag and Drop, Drag the Words, Essay, Fill in the
		questions	Blanks, Find Multiple Hotspots, Find the Hotspot, Image
			pairing, Image Sequencing, Mark the Words, Multiple
		1.5	Choice, Single Choice Set, True/False Question
	Moodle	15 types of	Implementation of standard types of questions:
		questions +	Calculated, Simple Calculated, Drag and drop into text,
Creating test		informal types	Drag and drop markers, Drag and drop onto image,
questions		of questions	Calculated Multichoice, Essay, Matching, Embedded
			Answers (Cloze), Multiple Choice, Random Short
			Answer Matching, Select missing words, Short-Answer,
			Numerical, True/False
	GWorkspace	9 question	Short answer, Paragraph (Essay), Multiple choice,
		types (in	Checkboxes, Dropdown, File upload, Linear scale,
		Google Forms)	Multiple choice grid, Checkbox grid
	H5P	Quiz	You can choose from only 6 types of questions;
			available mixing of questions, sample questions;
			not recommended for final testing
Holding tests	Moodle	Quiz	Full-fledged testing with lots of settings, automatic
fiolding tests			checking and review of ratings; possible reuse of
			questions in different tests
	GWorkspace	Forms	Standard Google form with Google spreadsheets
			connected to display test results
Time	H5P	Timeline	Create a timeline with slides on timestamps
Timetine	Moodle	Absent	
creation	GWorkspace	Absent	
	H5P	Interactive	Multi-page resource with an ability to embed almost any
		Book	of the other elements of H5P on any page, including test
Interactive			questions
book creation	Moodle	Book	Multi-page resource with text. graphic information
			embedded video, audio: without the possibility of testing
	GWorkspace	Absent	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,

Table 1: Comparative analysis of H5P, Moodle and Google Workspace functionality (not all the available H5P functionality is considered).

tive video" module directly in the Moodle environment (implemented in the training and information portal of NULES).

In the absence of a learning environment in an educational institution with which H5P technology is already integrated, interactive learning content can be created and stored in the commercial cloud (https: //h5p.com) or in the community one (https://h5p.org) (H5P, 2023). To use the H5P cloud, you need to register, after which users have the opportunity to post their own projects, optimize downloaded videos, adjust the parameters of educational analytics for students using individual projects, share materials on other sites and use additional features. The https://h5p.org site is an open resource for creating interactive materials, testing them, and commenting on resources created by other users. In addition, the Lumi desktop application has been developed for teachers who prefer to create offline learning content. In any of the three described options, the program interface is identical, simple and clear. So far, templates have been developed to create 49 types of H5P content (https: //h5p.org/content-types-and-applications). They can be approximately grouped into three main categories: game content (Games), multimedia content (Multimedia), and methods of testing students' knowledge (Questions).

Since a number of higher education institutions use learning management systems that have their own modules for creating interactive didactic materials to deliver educational content and organize e-learning (blended, distance learning), a comparative analysis of H5P, LMS Moodle and Google Workspace functionality was additionally conducted (table 1, 2).

As you can see from table 1 and 2, H5P technology has many more unique interactive learning elements than those that Moodle and Google Workspace can offer. In addition, H5P can be integrated into other learning management systems to expand their functionality and increase the freedom of teachers to use pedagogical technologies and disseminate their own learning content. It should be noted that unlike Moodle, in which H5P is fully integrated, integration with Google Workspace involves embedding individual elements from the site https://h5p.com. You can also download the created H5P element to a local computer as a file and then distribute it not only in learning management systems, but also on the sites of publishing systems to which this technology is integrated.

To determine the feasibility of using H5P technology for the development of didactic teaching materials and the readiness of teachers to use them in the educational process (the second task of the study), specialized training of the academic staff of NULES and WUELS was conducted. Within the "Distance Learning Tools" course (https://elearn. nubip.edu.ua/course/view.php?id=3000) the representatives of the center of distance learning technologies NULES developed (https://elearn.nubip.edu.ua/ course/view.php?id=216) a "Fundamentals of working with H5P" module, in which the teachers had the opportunity to get acquainted with the functionality and features of using H5P technology, as well as to develop separate didactic materials (figure 2).

To determine the attitude of the academic staff to the use of H5P technology in educational practice, a questionnaire was conducted (https://forms.gle/ CgVpKWYkqgaUUhm16).

58 faculty members of NULES (46 members) and WUELS (12 members) were embraced by the questionnaire, who train future specialists in the field of technical sciences (41.7%), natural sciences (32.6%) and social sciences (25.7%). The vast majority of respondents are middle-aged people (5.7% - up to 25)years; 30.8% - 25-35 years; 41.3% - 35-45 years; 19.4% - 45-55 years; 2.8% - over 55 years old) with a sufficient level of digital competence (68.3% defined their own level of digital competence as sufficient; 25.6% - high; only 6.1% - basic). All respondents stated that they have experience in using e-learning resources, with 76.4% developing e-content independently. 100% of respondents supported the statement that the use of interactive educational content helps to increase students' learning motivation; 91.3% agree that the study material needs to be adapted to the learning styles and needs of the students. Therefore, it is possible to make assumptions about the high degree of readiness of the academic staff to use interactive content in the educational process. At the same time, H5P technology is new for the vast majority of respondents (awareness of specialized training was determined): to the question "Do you know about H5P technology?" 14.1% gave an affirmative answer, and only 1.2% stated that they have experience in developing their own didactic materials.

Upon completion of the training, 63.6% of respondents answered the question "Do you consider it appropriate to use didactic H5P materials in your own e-learning courses?" in the affirmative, especially if there is sufficient and quality methodological support (100% of respondents need methodological assistance). 27.1% refused because, in their opinion, the development of H5P materials for the discipline they teach (mainly in the natural sciences) requires additional equipment, for example, for video recording, and their use is restricted under the copyright law. Only 9.3% of the surveyed teachers gave the negative

AET 2021 - Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology



Figure 1: Example of an educational interactive H5P element in the Moodle environment (a – educational video viewing mode, b – interactive video editing form).

Table 2: Comparative analysis of H5P, Moodle and Google Workspace functionality (not all the available H5P functionality is considered).

Purpose	Program	Module	Features		
	H5P	Interactive	Feed interactive material directly in the video clip; with a		
Interactive video creation		Video	possibility to add test questions		
	Moodle	Lesson	Video feed by separate clips with a possibility of adding		
			test questions		
	GWorkspace	Absent			
Construction of an	H5P	Branching	Ability to write a transition script depending on the		
individual		Scenario	pchoice of transition and answers to questions		
trajectory of	Moodle	Lesson			
studying the topic	GWorkspace	Absent			
	H5P	Virtual	Panoramic image with the possibility of transition and		
Panoramic image		Tour (360)	explanations of the elements in the picture		
creation	Moodle	Absent			
	GWorkspace	Absent			



Figure 2: Examples of created interactive elements (a - timeline, b - interactive video with a question on top of the video).

answer.

Given the broad functionality of H5P, in the final questionnaire, researchers were asked to assess on a

5-point scale the pedagogical feasibility of using individual interactive H5P elements (table 1) in the learning process (group I questions) and the complexity of



Development complexity

Figure 3: Matrix of correlation of development complexity and educational effect from application of separate elements of H5P technology.

their independent development (group II questions). Having created a matrix with four quadrants and reflecting the complexity of development (x-axis) and pedagogical expediency of application (y-axis), the authors visualized the attitude of the academic staff to the development and use of H5P didactic tools in the educational process (figure 3).

According to the academic staff surveyed (figure 3), the most optimal (high pedagogical expediency and ease development) is the use of different types of questions that can be added to the educational content. Not much more difficult to develop, but also appropriate, is the use of full-fledged tests. It should be noted that H5P developers do not recommend using such tests for final assessment, but only for the current test of knowledge and self-assessment of students. It should be noted that the pedagogical expediency of using educational elements with a script game ("Branching Scenario"), interactive video ("Interactive Video"), interactive book ("Interactive Book") is high, despite the relative complexity of their creation. Creating such interactive elements requires more prior training, digital competence, and implementation time from the teacher.

In general, the academic staff, according to the questionnaire, praised the educational effect of using H5P technology to support distance learning and noted their willingness to use it in the learning pro-

cess. The need for additional training related to the pedagogical design of e-learning courses and methodological support in the use of interactive didactic H5P materials in teaching specific disciplines was also identified. The latter is defined as prospects for further research.

4 CONCLUSION

The massive transition to distance learning caused by the COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the need for additional research to ensure the quality of education under quarantine restrictions. In this context, many factors favor the usage of the H5P service to create and disseminate interactive content as a means of strengthening the motivation and involvement of students in active learning. It is evidenced by:

- openness: H5P is an open-source software;
- integration with learning management systems such as: Moodle, Canvas, Blackboard;
- wide range of templates: 49 templates have been developed so far, based on which you can create materials of different complexity and degree of interactivity;
- choice of operating mode: you can work with interactive learning material on your own learning site, in the https://h5p.com cloud environment or in the desktop application;
- personalized use: teachers and students can store the created materials in personal environments or portfolios.

The results of comparing the H5P service with the Moodle and Google Workspace learning management systems are grounds for claiming that the development of interactive didactic content using H5P meets the requirements for innovative educational resources, expands the functionality of learning management systems and increases teachers' freedom to use pedagogical technologies. The questionnaire, conducted upon the completion of specialized training of the academic staff of NULES and WUELS, shows a high degree of readiness of the academic staff to use interactive content in the educational process if they are provided with technical and methodological support.

Among the various options for didactic content that can be created using H5P, teachers prefer to use interactive elements using educational video. However, given the complexity of independent development of such elements, the need to create a bank of educational video with the involvement of specialists in its shooting and editing is relevant. Instead, teachers have shown willingness to actively create a variety of test questions, as the proposed H5P templates significantly expand the functionality of LMS Moodle and Google Workspace.

Consequently, noting the potential of H5P as a tool to support distance learning in a broad context, the results of this study can be used by administrators and teachers of institutions of higher education to make a decision on the application of this technology in a specific HEI. Methodology of creating and using of interactive didactic H5P materials to support distance learning and professional development of the academic staff of Ukrainian and Polish higher education institutions are included in the prospects for further research.

REFERENCES

- El Refae, G. A., Kaba, A., and Eletter, S. (2021). Distance learning during COVID-19 pandemic: satisfaction, opportunities and challenges as perceived by faculty members and students. *Interactive Technology* and Smart Education, 18(3):298–318. https://doi.org/ 10.1108/ITSE-08-2020-0128.
- H5P (2023). Create and Share Rich HTML5 Content and Applications. https://h5p.org/.
- Homanová, Z. and Havlásková, T. (2019). H5P interactive didactic tools in education. In *EDULEARN19 Proceedings*, 11th International Conference on Education and New Learning Technologies, pages 9266–9275. IATED. https://doi.org/10.21125/edulearn.2019.2303.
- Kuzminska, O., Mazorchuk, M., Morze, N., and Kobylin, O. (2019). Digital Learning Environment of Ukrainian Universities: The Main Components to Influence the Competence of Students and Teachers. In Ermolayev, V., Mallet, F., Yakovyna, V., Mayr, H. C., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, *Information and Communication Technologies in Education, Research, and Industrial Applications - 15th International Conference, ICTERI 2019, Kherson, Ukraine, June 12-15, 2019, Revised Selected Papers, volume 1175 of Communications in Computer and Information Science, pages 210–230. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-030-39459-2_10.*
- Manacek, S., Figg, B., Hicks, T., and Scheirmann, A. (2020). H5P Interactive Video: An Opportunity to Personalize Learning. In Langran, E., editor, *Proceedings of SITE Interactive Conference 2020*, pages 520–526, Online. Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE). https://www. learntechlib.org/p/218196.
- Miller, A. L. (2022). Adapting to teaching restrictions during the COVID-19 pandemic in Japanese universities. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(3):251–262. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.21.

- Morze, N., Glazunova, O. G., and Kuzminska, O. (2017). Training of E-learning Managers at Universities. In Bassiliades, N., Ermolayev, V., Fill, H., Yakovyna, V., Mayr, H. C., Nikitchenko, M. S., Zholtkevych, G., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Information and Communication Technologies in Education, Research, and Industrial Applications - 13th International Conference, ICTERI 2017, Kyiv, Ukraine, May 15-18, 2017, Revised Selected Papers, volume 826 of Communications in Computer and Information Science, pages 89–111. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-319-76168-8_5.
- Santos, D. R., Cordon, C. R., and Palomo-Duarte, M. (2019). Extending H5P Branching Scenario with 360° scenes and xAPI capabilities: A case study in a local networks course. In 2019 International Symposium on Computers in Education (SIIE), pages 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1109/SIIE48397.2019.8970117.
- Singleton, R. and Charlton, A. (2019). Creating H5P content for active learning. *Pacific Journal of Technol*ogy Enhanced Learning, 2(1):13–14. http://doi.org/ 10.24135/pjtel.v2i1.32.
- Sinnayah, P., Salcedo, A., and Rekhari, S. (2021). Reimagining physiology education with interactive content developed in H5P. Advances in Physiology Education, 45(1):71–76. https://doi.org/10.1152/advan. 00021.2020.
- Stauffer, B. (2020). What's the difference between online learning and distance learning? https://www.aeseducation.com/blog/ online-learning-vs-distance-learning.
- Thurner, S., Schön, S., Schirmbrand, L., Tatschl, M., Teschl, T., Leitner, P., and Ebner, M. (2022). An Exploratory Mixed Method Study on H5P Videos and Video-Related Activities in a MOOC Environment. *International Journal of Technology-Enhanced Education (IJTEE)*, 1(1):1–18. http://doi.org/10.4018/ IJTEE.304388.
- Umryk, M. (2013). Using active e-learning to accommodate the net generation of learners. In Smyrnova-Trybulska, E., editor, *E-learning & Lifelong Learning*, pages 101–113. Studio NOA for University of Silesia in Katowice, Katowice-Cieszyn.
- Wehling, J., Volkenstein, S., Dazert, S., Wrobel, C., van Ackeren, K., Johannsen, K., and Dombrowski, T. (2021). Fast-track flipping: flipped classroom framework development with open-source H5P interactive tools. *BMC Medical Education*, 21(1):351. https: //doi.org/10.1186/s12909-021-02784-8.
- Wicaksono, J. A., Setiarini, R. B., Ikeda, O., and Novawan, A. (2021). The Use of H5P in Teaching English. In Proceedings of the First International Conference on Social Science, Humanity, and Public Health (ICO-SHIP 2020), pages 227–230. Atlantis Press. https: //doi.org/10.2991/assehr.k.210101.049.
- Zeller, D., Gökkuş, Y., Kremer, R., and Bohrmann-Linde, C. (2021). H5P-Videos in der chemiedidaktischen Lehre. *CHEMKON*, 28(6):245–248. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ckon.202100010.

Computer Mathematics Systems and Tasks with Parameters

Yurii V. Horoshko¹^{®a}, Tetiana V. Pidhorna²^{®b}, Petro F. Samusenko³^{®c} and Hanna Y. Tsybko¹^{®d}

¹T. H. Shevchenko National University "Chernihiv Colehium", 53 Hetman Polubotka Str., Chernihiv, 14013, Ukraine

²State University of Trade and Economics, 19 Kyoto Str., Kyiv, 02156, Ukraine

³National Technical University of Ukraine "Igor Sikorsky Kyiv Polytechnic Institute", 37 Peremohy Ave., Kyiv, 03056, Ukraine

y.horoshko@ukr.net, t.pidhorna@knute.edu.ua, psamusenko@ukr.net, a.tsb@ukr.net

Keywords: Computer Mathematics Systems, Tasks with Parameters, GeoGebra, GRAN.

Abstract: Methodological aspects of using software GeoGebra and GRAN1 for solving tasks with parameters are considered in the paper. Criteria of software selection are developed and a comparative analysis of the specified software for solving tasks with parameters is given.

1 INTRODUCTION

Modeling of various processes and phenomena is one of the main general methods used in scientific research.

Learning to solve tasks with parameters considered in the process of teaching mathematics is one of the preparatory stages for mathematical modeling, where models are studied under different conditions, in particular, under different values of the parameters of mathematical models.

For decades, solving tasks with parameters was usually included in the program of entry exams to higher education institutions of Ukraine, currently this skill is required for a successful completion of an external independent evaluation in mathematics, which has been held in Ukraine for more than 10 years. As evidenced by the practice and results of pedagogical research, solving tasks with parameters causes many difficulties for students (Ilany and Hassidov, 2014), more than 85% entrants at the external independent evaluation in mathematics do not even attempt to solve such tasks (Botuzova, 2019).

A number of publications are devoted to the teaching method of solving tasks with parameters (Amelkin and Rabtsevich, 2004; Gornshteyn et al., 1992; Prus and Shvets, 2016; Gonda, 2018; Zakirova et al., 2019).

With the development of computer technology and corresponding software, the range of such problems, means and methods of learning how to solve them have expanded. Among the most famous free educational software, that provide rational solving of tasks with parameters, GeoGebra, Wolfram|Alpha, SageMath and GRAN can be distinguished (Bhagat and Chang, 2015; Krawczyk-Stańdo et al., 2013; Gunčaga, 2011; Kramarenko et al., 2019; Kashitsyina, 2020; Hrybiuk, 2017; Kramarenko, 2005; Pokryshen, 2007; Ivashchenko, 2015; Zhaldak, 2016).

The topic of research publications on the use of software for the analysis of mentioned tasks covers various aspects of teaching methods for solving tasks with parameters: studying the forms of graphs of functions for different values of the parameter (Ilhan, 2013; Božić et al., 2021); using a computer to illustrate analytical solutions (Pokryshen, 2007; Gunčaga, 2011); the method of organizing the research activity of pupils and students in the process of preliminary graphic analysis of tasks solutions with the further analytical solution (Kramarenko, 2005; Hrybiuk, 2017; Kramarenko et al., 2019; Krawczyk-Stańdo et al., 2013; Gornshteyn et al., 1992); obtaining solutions of the tasks based on detailed graphical analysis (Ivashchenko, 2015; Zhaldak, 2016). As a rule, the cited works consider examples of tasks, where solutions can be obtained analytically, but this is an exceptional case in practice.

Despite the fact that a large number of studies on mathematics teaching methods have been devoted to this topic, in particular with the use of modern

768

Horoshko, Y., Pidhorna, T., Samusenko, P. and Tsybko, H.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9290-7563

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1414-3489

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4241-6173

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1861-3003

Computer Mathematics Systems and Tasks with Parameters.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 768-780 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

computer-oriented technologies, its importance is undoubtful, since the number of mentioned tasks and their types is constantly increasing. It is clear that for practical use it is important to know not so much the exact solution value of the task, which describes the mathematical model of a real process or phenomenon, but whether the task is compatible and stable. Then, with the use of modern software, it is possible to find an approximate value of a certain solution of the task with a predetermined accuracy, and that is quite sufficient for practice.

In this work there have been developed criteria for the selection of software, advisable for the use in the process of solving tasks with parameters.

The work contains examples of solving such tasks by both analytical and graphical methods. Considerable attention is paid to the tasks that cannot be solved by analytical methods. At that, the plotting of quite complex graphs of functions for different values of parameters with the use of appropriate software helps to avoid errors in the plotting of such graphs, to focus attention on the analysis of their form and to find the answer to the task question. Examining tasks that can be solved only approximately with the use of the graphic method expands the students' understanding that in the process of describing mathematical models of various objects and phenomena, such solutions are used as well.

2 COMPUTER MATHEMATICS SYSTEMS FOR SOLVING TASKS WITH PARAMETERS

Let's consider the conditions of selection and use of computer mathematics systems (CMS) for solving tasks with parameters.

Today, web-oriented software, including CMS, is being used more and more. As already mentioned, the software tools GeoGebra, Wolfram|Alpha, Sage-Math, etc are among the most popular freely distributed computer mathematics systems.

Wolfram Alpha is a knowledge base of various scientific fields, including mathematical ones. It is based on various algorithms and technologies of artificial intelligence. The web-based version can be accessed at https://www.wolframalpha.com/.

SageMath is a free and open source math system licensed under the GPL. The web-based version can be accessed via the link https://www.sagemath.org/.

One of the most widespread educational computer mathematics systems in Ukraine is the software complex GRAN, as evidenced by a significant number of scientific and pedagogical publications devoted to various aspects of the organization and implementation of the educational process in modern learning conditions.

The software complex GRAN was developed at the National Pedagogical Dragomanov University under the leadership of M. I. Zhaldak. This complex consists of three programs: GRAN1, GRAN2D, GRAN3D.

The GRAN1 program is intended for graphic analysis and solving tasks related to the plotting of graphs of functions on the Cartesian plane, defined explicitly and implicitly, parametrically, tabularly, in the polar coordinate system; for processing statistical data, plotting graphs of the probability distribution functions of random variables, calculating definite integrals, the length of curves, the area of curved trapezoids, the area of surfaces and volumes of bodies of rotation, etc.

The first version of the GRAN1 was developed for the Yamaha personal computer back in 1990 by A. V. Penkov (Zhaldak et al., 2016). Later, GRAN1 was improved and adapted for use under the operating system of the Windows family by Y. V. Horoshko. In 2019, this software tool was laid out on a remote desktop, which allows it to be used through a browser remotely (Zhaldak et al., 2021), and not only on local computers. The GRAN-2D program is intended for graphical analysis of systems of geometric objects on a plane, and the GRAN-3D program is intended for graphical analysis of systems of threedimensional geometric objects. The first versions of the GRAN-2D and GRAN-3D programs were developed in 2002. The complex is freely distributed and can be downloaded from the website https://zhaldak. fi.npu.edu.ua/.

One of the most common educational computer mathematics systems is the GeoGebra system. The first version of GeoGebra was developed in 2001-2002 by M. Hohenwarter (Hohenwarter and Fuchs, 2004). In December 2021, GeoGebra was acquired by the conglomerate Byju's (Singh, 2021). This software tool can be used both remotely and on a local computer by downloading the appropriate program modules. A component of the GeoGebra system are programs for graphic analysis and solving tasks related to the plotting graphs of functions on the Cartesian plane, defined in explicit or implicit form, in the polar coordinate system, tasks in the theory of probability, planimetry and stereometry. Using CMS GeoGebra, one can also create didactic materials for different users, provide access to them for others; create an educational classroom environment for students to use.

The table 1 analyzes the presence of program

functions, which, in our opinion, are needed for graphical analysis of solving tasks with parameters.

Thus, it is advisable to use, first of all, GRAN1 and GeoGebra from the listed software tools for solving tasks with parameters. We will give appropriate examples.

3 SOME EXAMPLES

1. Solve the equation

and

$$1 - \frac{3}{x+a-1} = \frac{5a}{(x+a-1)(x+1)}.$$
 (1)

To analyze the task, we will use CMS GRAN1. Let's plot graphs of functions

$$f(x) = 1 - \frac{3}{x + a - 1}$$
$$g(x) = \frac{5a}{(x + a - 1)(x + 1)}$$

for specific values of the parameter *a*. To do this, we specify the parameter *a* by *p*1 (the default parameter name). Changing the values of the *p*1 parameter, for example, from -5 to 5 with a step 0.1 (these values are set by default) leads to a corresponding shape change of the graphs of the specified functions. The equation (1) solutions are the abscissas of the points of intersection of the graphs of the functions f(x) and g(x). Since for values of the parameter *p*1 from -4.9 to -3.1, from -2.9 to -0.1 and from 0.1 to 5 the graphs of the functions f(x) and g(x) intersect at two points, the equation (1) for such *p*1 has two solutions (figure 1).

If p1 = -5, then visually the graphs of the functions intersect at one point, that is an exceptional case for the equation (1), since it, generally speaking, reduces to a quadratic equation, and therefore, under certain conditions, has two solutions. Therefore, it is advisable to consider the p1 parameter, for example, from -6 to 5.

Considering the shape of the graphs of the functions f(x) and g(x) for p1 = -5.2, p1 = -5.1, p1 = -4.9 and p1 = -4.8 and taking into account, that even increasing the scale for p1 = -5 it is not possible to get a clear answer about the number of roots of the equation (1) (figure 2), we come to the conclusion about the need of analytical equation study (1) when the value of the parameter *a* is changing in a neighborhood of the point -5.

In the case when p1 equals -3 or 0 the graphs of the functions f(x) and g(x) intersect at one point, that is, the equation (1) has a unique solution (figure 3, figure 4).

Taking into account the continuity of the functions f(x) and g(x) on the corresponding intervals, it is possible to hypothesize about the existence of two solutions of the equation (1) for $a \in (-\infty; -5) \cup$ $(-5; -3) \cup (-3; 0) \cup (0; \infty)$ and about the existence of one solution of the equation (1) for a = -5, a = -3and a = 0. To confirm or refute it, as a rule, it is necessary to make an analytical study of the problem.

We present the analytical solution of the given equation. It is clear that $x \neq -1, x \neq 1-a$. Then

$$(x+a-4)(x+1) - 5a = 0$$

or $x^2 + x(a-3) - 4a - 4 = 0$.

According to Viet's theorem

$$x_1 = 4, x_2 = -a - 1.$$

From the restrictions imposed on the variable *x*, it follows that

$$x_1 \neq -1, x_1 \neq 1-a, x_2 \neq -1, x_2 \neq 1-a.$$

The first and fourth conditions are obvious. Therefore, let's consider the rest of the conditions in more detail. From the inequality $x_1 \neq 1 - a$ we get that $a \neq -3$. That is for a = -3 the value $x_1 = 4$ is not a root of the given equation (in this case, the root will be $x_2 = 2$) (figure 2). The third inequality $x_2 \neq -1$ is equivalent to $a \neq 0$. Therefore, for a = 0 the root of the equation will be $x_1 = 4$ (figure 3).

Thus, if a = -3, then x = 2 (figure 2), if a = 0, then x = 4 (figure 3), and if $a \neq -3$ and $a \neq 0$, then x = 4 or x = -a - 1 (figure 1).

Thus, the previously proposed hypothesis about the number of roots of the equation (1) was partially confirmed.

In figures 1-3 the parameter value respectively is 0.4, -5 and -3. Note that the parameter value can also be selected using a slider. At that, the same drawing can contain images of graphs of functions that correspond to different fixed values of the parameter.

As it is known, there exists a slightly different approach to constructing a geometric interpretation of the task (1). Namely, it is necessary to find the intersection points of the graph of the function

$$h(x) = 1 - \frac{3}{x+a-1} - \frac{5a}{(x+a-1)(x+1)}$$

for different values of the parameter a with the abscissa axis. It is clear that solving such a task using appropriate software is similar in complexity to the presented above. In figure 5 the graph of the function h(x) is plotted under the condition that a = 0.4. In this case the graph of the function h(x) intersect the abscissa axis at two points, that is, the equation (1) has two solutions.

T 1 1		D	•
Table	1.	Program	comparison
raute	1.	TIOPIAIII	comparison.
			· · · · · · ·

Program functions		GeoGebra	Wolfram Alpha	SageMath
Plotting graph of a function given in explicit form		+	+	+
Plotting graph of a function given in implicit form		+	+	+
Using a parameter in the function definition and its change,	+	+	-	-
automatic change of a graph depending on the parameter				
value, the possibility to change the parameter changing step				
Plotting of a tangent to a curve at a point	+	+	+	+
Ability to change the scale	+	+	-	-
Determination of the coordinates of the intersection of graphs		+	+	_
of functions				



Figure 1.

Note that the use of this approach to solving tasks with parameters can lead to a more adequate geometric interpretation of the task. So, for a = -5 the graph of the function h(x) at the point with abscissa x = 4touches the abscissa axis (figure 6).

This means that

$$h(4) = 0, h'(4) = 0,$$

i.e. the equation

$$h(x) = 0,$$

and therefore the equation (1) has two identical roots x = 4. Indeed, by construction

$$h(x) = (x-4)^2 h(x), h(4) \neq 0$$

2. Find the number of roots of the equation

$$a^x = \log_a x. \tag{2}$$

In this case, we use GeoGebra software for graphic illustrations. Let's plot the graphs of the functions $f(x) = a^x$ and $g(x) = \log_a x$ for specific values of the *a* parameter. Increasing the value of the parameter a from 0 with a step of 0.1, we come to conclusion if the parameter a takes values from 0.1 to 0.9, then the equation (2) has one root, from 1.1 to 1.4 – the equation (2) has two roots, and finally, if the parameter value is greater than 1.4, then the equation (2) has no roots.

It is clear that the use of only a graphical way of solving the equation (2) does not only not allow to make the correct conclusion about the number of roots of the equation for $a \in (0; 1) \cup (1; \infty)$, but also does not allow us to express an adequate hypothesis about the length of the intervals of change of the parameter a, where the equation (2) has the same number of roots. And the situation is not improved by a significant decrease in the step of changing the parame-

0





ter a, since the values of the parameter, when passing through which the number of roots of the equation (2) changes, are transcendental numbers.

Therefore, an analytical study of the task is necessary.

On the condition of the task $x \in (0;\infty)$ and $a \in (0;1) \cup (1;\infty)$. Let it first $a \in (1;\infty)$. We find a tangent point *M* of graphs of the functions $y = a^x$ and

 $y = \log_a x$. It is clear that the abscissa of the tangent point will be the solution of the equation (2). Since these functions are mutually turned, their graphs are symmetrical relative to the line y = x. Taking into account the strict monotony of functions $y = a^x$ and $y = \log_a x$ and the immutability of the type of convexity of their graphs, we come to the conclusion that if the tangent point of the graphs of these functions

Computer Mathematics Systems and Tasks with Parameters



Figure 5.

exists, then it is unique and lies on the line y = x (figure 6).

It is known that the coordinates of the tangent point of graphs of the functions $y = \varphi(x)$ and $y = \psi(x)$ meet the system of equations

$$\begin{cases} \phi(x) = \psi(x), \\ \phi'(x) = \psi'(x), \end{cases}$$

that in our case will look like

$$\begin{cases} a^x = x, \\ a^x \ln a = 1 \end{cases}$$

From here we get $a = \sqrt[e]{e}$, M(e,e). Suppose, that $a > \sqrt[e]{e}$. Then graphs of the functions $y = a^x$ and y = x do not intersect, that is, the equation (2) has no solution (figure 8).

AET 2021 - Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology



Indeed, we denote as $h(x) = a^x - x$, $x \ge 0$. Then $h'(x) = a^x \ln a - 1$ and $x = -\frac{\ln \ln a}{\ln a}$ is a stationary point of function h(x). Since $h''(x) = a^x \ln^2 a > 0$, $x \ge 0$, then $x = -\frac{\ln \ln a}{\ln a}$ is a minimum point of the function h(x).

Taking into account that

$$h(0) = 1 > 0$$

and

$$h\left(-\frac{\ln\ln a}{\ln a}\right) = \frac{1+\ln\ln a}{\ln a} > 0, \ a > \sqrt[e]{e},$$

then h(x) > 0, $x \ge 0$, i.e. $a^x > x$, $x \ge 0$. Let it now be $1 < a < \sqrt[e]{e}$. Then the equation (2) has two solutions.

Indeed, determining the function h(x), like before,



we get

$$h(0) = 1 > 0, \ h\left(-\frac{\ln\ln a}{\ln a}\right) < 0$$
$$\lim_{x \to 1-\infty} h(x) = +\infty.$$

Since graphs of the functions $y = a^x$ and $y = \log_a x$ have no points of inflection, then according to the Bolzano-Koshi theorem, they intersect at two points that are besides contained on the line y = x (figure 9).

Let 0 < a < 1. We denote as $l(x) = \log_a x - a^x$, $a \in [a_0; 1)$, where a_0 will be determined below. Let's investigate the function l(x) on monotony:

$$l'(x) = \frac{1 - xa^x \ln^2 a}{x \ln a}$$

The value a_0 we select so that $l'(x) \leq 0, x \in (0; \infty)$. Since $x \ln a < 0$, $x \in (0; \infty)$, $a \in (0; 1)$, then $l'(x) \le 1$ 0, $x \in (0; \infty)$, than and only when

$$1 - xa^x \ln^2 a \ge 0, \ x \in (0; \infty).$$

Select a_0 so that

$$1 - xa^x \ln^2 a \ge 0, x \in (0; \infty), a \in [a_0; 1).$$

We denote as $m(x) = xa^x \ln^2 a$, $x \in (0; \infty)$ and investigate m(x) per extremum. Calculating

$$m'(x) = a^{x} \ln^{2} a(1 + x \ln a),$$

$$m''(x) = a^{x} \ln^{3} a(2 + x \ln a),$$

we are convinced, that the stationary point $x = -\frac{1}{\ln a}$ of the function m(x) is a maximum point.

Since

and

$$m\left(-\frac{1}{\ln a}\right) = -\frac{1}{e}\ln a \le -\frac{1}{e}\ln\frac{1}{e^e} = 1, \ a \in \left[\frac{1}{e^e}; 1\right)$$

m(0) = 0

then $a_0 = \frac{1}{e^e}$. Thus, $l'(x) \le 0$, $x \in (0;\infty)$, and points where l'(x) = 0, do not form a segment. Therefore, the function $l(x), x \in (0; \infty), a \in \left[\frac{1}{e^e}; 1\right)$ is descending. Therefore, the equation (2) has one solution (figure 10).

Let it finally $a \in (0; \frac{1}{e^e})$. In this case, the equation (2) has three solutions (figure 11).

Indeed, graphs of the functions $y = a^x$ and y = $\log_a x$ intersect at some point of the line y = x. Let us denote the abscissa of this point as x_0 . It is clear that $x = x_0$ is a solution of the equation (2). Consider the interval (0; x_0). Note that $\lim_{x\to 0+} l(x) = +\infty$. Determine a sign of the number $l(x_0 - \varepsilon)$, where ε – is a quite small positive constant.

$$l(x_0 - \varepsilon) = \log_a(x_0 - \varepsilon) - a^{x_0 - \varepsilon} = \log_a\left(1 - \frac{\varepsilon}{x_0}\right) + \log_a x_0 - a^{x_0}a^{-\varepsilon} = x_0 + \frac{1}{\ln a}\ln\left(1 - \frac{\varepsilon}{x_0}\right) - x_0a^{-\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{\ln a}\ln\left(1 - \frac{\varepsilon}{x_0}\right) - x_0\left(a^{-\varepsilon} - 1\right) = \frac{1}{\ln a}\left(-\frac{\varepsilon}{x_0} - \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\varepsilon}{x_0}\right)^2 - \frac{1}{3}\left(\frac{\varepsilon}{x_0}\right)^3 - \dots\right) - \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\varepsilon}{x_0}\right)^2 - \frac{1}{3}\left(\frac{\varepsilon}{x_0}\right)^3 - \dots\right)$$


AET 2021 - Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology



since inequality

$$-\frac{1}{x_0 \ln a} + x_0 \ln a < 0 \tag{3}$$

is correct for all $a \in (0; \frac{1}{e^e})$. Indeed, inequality (3) is equivalent to $x_0^2 \ln^2 a > 1$



Figure 11.



Figure 12.

or to

 $\ln^2 x_0 > 1,$ i.e. $x_0 \in (0; \frac{1}{e}) \cup (e; \infty).$ Since $x = \frac{1}{e}$ is a solution of the equation $\log_{\frac{1}{e^e}} x = x,$ then the solution of the equation $\log_a x = x$ is less than $\frac{1}{e}$, if $0 < a < \frac{1}{e^e}$. And therefore $x_0 \in (0; \frac{1}{e})$, that is inequality (3) is correct.

Thus, according to the Bolzano-Cosh Theorem the equation (2) in the interval $(0; x_0)$ has a solution. For reasons of symmetry, taking into account the immutability of the type of convexity of graphs of the functions $y = a^x$ and $y = \log_a x$, it follows that for $a \in (0; \frac{1}{e^e})$ equation (2) has three solutions.

Summarizing the analysis we come to the conclusion. Equation (2) has three solutions if $a \in (0; \frac{1}{e^e})$, two solutions if $a \in (1; \sqrt[e]{e})$, one solution if $a \in [\frac{1}{e^e}; 1) \cup \{\sqrt[e]{e}\}$ and has no solution if $a \in (\frac{1}{e^e}; \infty)$.

3. Find the values of the parameters *a* and *b*, for which the equation

$$\sin x = ax + b \tag{4}$$

has two solutions.

The equation (4) will have two solutions if graphs of the functions $y = \sin x$ and y = ax + b will intersect at two points. It is clear that one of these points is the tangent point of the graphs of these functions (figure 12).

In the GRAN1 program, it is possible to plot a tangent to a curve at a given point. In this case, the abscissa of the point of tangency can be considered a parameter. Further, by gradually changing the value of the parameter, one can observe the change in the position of the tangent and visually determine the number of roots of the considered equation. So, for which values of the parameters a and b does the equation (4) have 2 solutions?

Let the point with the abscissa x_1 is a tangent point of graphs of the functions $y = \sin x$ and y = ax + b. Also suppose that the solutions of the equation (4) belong to the segment $\left[-\frac{3\pi}{2};0\right]$.



Then the parameters a and b meet the inequalities

$$\begin{cases} -1 < a < 0 \\ -\pi < b < 0 \end{cases}$$

Since

$$\begin{cases} \sin x_1 = ax_1 + b, \\ \cos x_1 = a, \end{cases}$$

then, using the basic trigonometric identity, we get

$$\cos\left(\sqrt{\frac{1}{a^2} - 1} + \frac{b}{a}\right) = a.$$
 (5)

Note that the inverse statement is correct as well. Namely, from the condition (5) it follows that at the point with the abscissa

$$x_1 = -\sqrt{\frac{1}{a^2} - 1} - \frac{b}{a}$$

graphs of the functions $y = \sin x$ and y = ax + b touch.

The line y = ax + b intersects the abscissa axis at the point $\left(-\frac{b}{a};0\right)$. Then when meeting the condition

$$-\pi < -\frac{b}{a} < 0,$$

the line y = ax + b and the curve $y = \sin x$ will only have two common points.

Thus, if

$$\begin{cases} \cos\left(\sqrt{\frac{1}{a^2}-1+\frac{b}{a}}\right)=a\\ a\pi < b < 0, \end{cases}$$

then the equation (4) has two solutions.

Thinking similarly, one can find the conditions, under which there exist two solutions of the equation (4) at an arbitrary interval from the range $(-\infty; +\infty)$ so that at the whole range $(-\infty; +\infty)$ the equation (4) would have two solutions.

Note that the equation (4) can be solved approximately with the use of expansion of the function $y = \sin x$ in a Maclaurin series, namely,

$$x - \frac{x^3}{3!} + \frac{x^5}{5!} - \dots = ax + b.$$
 (6)

Then, taking into account the convergence of the series in the left side of equality (5) in the range $(-\infty; +\infty)$, instead of of the equation (5) such equation can be considered

$$\sum_{k=1}^{p} \frac{x^{2k-1}}{(2k-1)!} = ax + b,$$
(7)

where the expression in the left part is a polynomial. The value of p is determined by the specified accuracy.

The equation (7) contains a polynomial of an odd degree with real coefficients. Therefore, it has an odd number of real roots. The latter fact in no way contradicts the proven statement of the even number of real roots of equation (4), since the equation (4) unlikely (7) is transcendental and the properties of the function $y = \sin x$ (limited, monotony, bulge) are significantly different from the corresponding properties

of the polynomial
$$\sum_{k=1}^{p} \frac{x^{2k-1}}{(2k-1)!}.$$

Using the developed approach to solving the equation (4), it is possible to consider various problems related to finding a given number of their solutions.

4 CONCLUSIONS AND FURTHER RESEARCH PROSPECTS

The graphical method of finding solutions of equations, inequalities and their systems is based on the procedure of plotting graphs of the corresponding functions. In the case of implicit or parametric definition of functions, the process of plotting their graphs is quite complicated. The task becomes even more cumbersome if it contains a parameter. That is why they often try to solve these problems using various software tools.

This paper substantiates the expediency of using GRAN1 and GeoGebra computer mathematics systems for solving tasks with parameter. In the GRAN1 program, it is possible to write the formula of the function with the designation of parameters through the variables p1, p2, ..., p10. At that, the parameter can be changed both by assigning it a certain value and by using a slider. In the process of changing the parameter values, the graph of the function is automatically constructed, taking into account the updates of the parameter values. Similar functions are inherent in the GeoGebra program. It is only needed to define the variables through which the parameters are denoted.

Using the automatic change of the shape of the graph for different values of the parameter, the change of the step of changing the value of the parameter, the change of scale for viewing the graph of the function or its fragment, the automatic determination of the coordinates of the point of intersection of the graphs of the functions, in the work there are established the conditions of compatibility of the geometric character of three illustrative tasks with the parameter and their analytical solutions are given. At that for geometrical support of the process of solving the specified tasks, GRAN1 and GeoGebra computer mathematics systems were used, as already mentioned above. The mentioned software tools are equally convenient for use in the process of solving tasks with parameters.

REFERENCES

- Amelkin, V. V. and Rabtsevich, V. L. (2004). *Tasks with parameters*. Asar, Moscow.
- Bhagat, K. K. and Chang, C.-Y. (2015). Incorporating GeoGebra into Geometry learning-A lesson from India. EURASIA Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education, 11(1):77–86. https://doi.org/ 10.12973/eurasia.2015.1307a.
- Botuzova, Y. V. (2019). Parametric tasks in the context of STEM-education. In Problems of mathematics education (PMO-2019): materials of the international scientific and methodological conference, pages 237–238, Cherkasy. http://dspace.cuspu.edu.ua/jspui/ handle/123456789/3392.
- Božić, R., Takači, Đ., and Stankov, G. (2021). Influence of dynamic software environment on students' achievement of learning functions with parameters. *Inter-*

active Learning Environments, 29(4):655–669. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2019.1602842.

- Gonda, D. (2018). Analysis of the causes of low achievement levels in solving problems with parameter. *European Journal of Education Studies*, 4(4):339–354. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.1218119.
- Gornshteyn, P. I., Polonskyi, V. B., and Yakir, M. S. (1992). *Tasks with parameters*. Tekst, Kyiv.
- Gunčaga, J. (2011). GeoGebra in Mathematical Educational Motivation. Annals. Computer Science Series, 9(1):75–84. https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/352038906.
- Hohenwarter, M. and Fuchs, K. (2004). Combination of dynamic geometry, algebra and calculus in the software system GeoGebra. In Sarvari, C., editor, *Computer Algebra Systems and Dynamic Geometry Systems in Mathematics Teaching*, pages 128–133, Pecs, Hungary. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/ 228398347.
- Hrybiuk, O. O. (2017). Features of using the system GeoGebra in teaching course "Mathematical foundations of informatics". *Mathematics. Information Technol*ogy. Education, 1(4):34–39. https://lib.iitta.gov.ua/ 707285/.
- Ilany, B.-S. and Hassidov, D. (2014). Solving Equations with Parameters. *Creative Education*, 5(11):963–968. https://doi.org/10.4236/ce.2014.511110.
- Ilhan, E. (2013). Introducing parameters of a linear function at undergraduate level: use of GeoGebra. *Mevlana International Journal of Education*, 3(3):77–84. http://web.archive.org/web/20140308041226/http: //mije.mevlana.edu.tr/archieve/issue_3_3/8_mije_si_ 2013_08_volume_3_issue_3_page_77_84_PDF.pdf.
- Ivashchenko, A. A. (2015). Solving tasks with parameters using a computer. *Computer in school and family*, 2:25–30. http://nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/komp_2015_2_9.
- Kashitsyina, Y. N. (2020). Teaching methods for solving problems with parameters using the "GeoGebra" program. *The world of science, culture, and education*, 1(80):249–255. https://doi.org/10.24411/ 1991-5497-2020-00102.
- Kramarenko, T. H. (2005). Some methodical aspects of solving tasks with parameters. Scientific journal of National Pedagogical Dragomanov University. Series 2: Computer-based learning systems, 2(9):170–177. https://sj.npu.edu.ua/index.php/kosn/article/view/721.
- Kramarenko, T. H., Korolskyi, V. V., Semerikov, S. O., and Shokaliuk, S. V. (2019). *Innovative information* and communication technologies for teaching mathematics. Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, Kryvyi Rih, 2 edition. http://elibrary.kdpu.edu.ua/ xmlui/handle/123456789/3315.
- Krawczyk-Stańdo, D., Gunčaga, J., and Stańdo, J. (2013). Some examples from historical mathematical textbook with using GeoGebra. In 2013 Second International Conference on E-Learning and E-Technologies in Education (ICEEE), pages 207–211. https://doi. org/10.1109/ICeLeTE.2013.6644375.
- Pokryshen, D. A. (2007). Learning information technologies when solving mathematical tasks with pa-

rameters. Scientific journal of National Pedagogical Dragomanov University. Series 2: Computer-based learning systems, 5(12):136–141. https://sj.npu.edu. ua/index.php/kosn/article/view/616.

- Prus, A. V. and Shvets, V. O. (2016). Tasks with parameters in the school mathematics course. Ruta, Kyiv.
- Singh, M. (2021). Indian edtech giant Byju's acquires Austria's GeoGebra in a \$100 million deal. https:// techcrunch.com/2021/12/08/byjus-geogebra-austria/.
- Zakirova, V. G., Zelenina, N. A., Smirnova, L. M., and Kalugina, O. A. (2019). Methodology of Teaching Graphic Methods for Solving Problems with Parameters as a Means to Achieve High Mathematics Learning Outcomes at School. EURASIA Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education, 15(9):em1741. https://doi.org/10.29333/ejmste/ 108451.
- Zhaldak, A. V. (2016). Computerized analysis of functions and equations with parameters. Scientific journal of National Pedagogical Dragomanov University. Series 2: Computer-based learning systems, 18(25):111–124. http://enpuir.npu.edu.ua/handle/ 123456789/18933.
- Zhaldak, M. I., Franchuk, V. M., and Franchuk, N. P. (2021). Some applications of cloud technologies in mathematical calculations. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840(1):012001. https://doi.org/10. 1088/1742-6596/1840/1/012001.
- Zhaldak, M. I., Morze, N. V., Ramskyi, Y. S., V., H. Y., Tsybko, H. Y., Vinnychenko, Y. F., and Kostiuchenko, A. O. (2016). In memory of Andrii Viktorovych Penkov. Scientific journal of National Pedagogical Dragomanov University. Series 2: Computer-based learning systems, 18(25):170–173. http://nbuv.gov.ua/ UJRN/Nchnpu_2_2016_18_27.

Intercultural and Intracultural Diversity in Interdisciplinary Cloud-Oriented Foreign Language Teaching

Vita Hamaniuk¹¹^a and Iryna Selyshcheva¹^b

¹Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine vitana65@gmail.com, irina.selischeva2016@gmai.com

- Keywords: Intercultural Communication, Intercultural Competence, Interdisciplinary Approach, Country Studies, Cloud-Oriented Environment, Learning Foreign Languages, Learning History, Media Resources.
- Abstract: The article deals with the problem of the development of intercultural competence, which is one of the key competences in foreign language education. The focus lies on examining the opportunities available to use inter- and intracultural differences as a material for developing intercultural competence. The theoretical foundations on which the research was conducted are analyzed: the essence of intercultural communication, the conditions of its smooth flow; the essence of intercultural competence, its constituents and the relations between them; the role of country studies (both the country of the target language and its own history) in the acquisition of background knowledge, the ability to compare cultures, to tolerate differences between them, and furthermore. Considering that the development of intercultural competence at a level that would ensure the effective implementation of intercultural communication is primarily due to the presence, in addition to language acquisition, of intercultural knowledge, perceptions of the rules of communicative behavior and the positive disposition of learners, an important element is the approaching of the target culture, the removal of prejudices about the "alien". This can be achieved through the inclusion in the educational process of materials from the immediate environment of learners. For exemple, the theme "Foreigner in Ukraine" is used, in which work, on the one hand, reveals facts of the history some people in the European format, and on the other, the facts of the history of their own country, the history of their immediate surroundings, at the expense of which the story of "alien" is transferred to the personal sphere. The article also considers the possibilities of an interdisciplinary approach in foreign language teaching on a theoretical and practical level, proves the effectiveness of developing intercultural competence using the example of creating interdisciplinary connections between a foreign language and history. It is emphasized that in modern conditions, when the educational process has been transferred to a distance format, the creation of a cloud-oriented environment plays an important role, which on the one hand allows immersion in the language and on the other hand creates multiple opportunities, to include into the lesson relevant, authentic materials and a variety of actual information.

1 INTRODUCTION

A few centuries ago, most states in Europe were monocultural. Language was understood as the basis on which the state was built, so the principle of "one state – one language" was fundamental in most European countries. In the twentieth century, Europe has become multicultural for a variety of reasons, including historical, economic, social and educational influences. Two world wars, the founding of the European Union, the abolition of borders within its framework, integration processes, migration (refugees, guest workers), mobility in the educational sector, the open European labor market, tourism, globalization worldwide, Internet technologies that make the world a" global village" – all this has more or less changed the social structure in all European countries and allowed people from different ethnic, linguistic, cultural and religious contexts to get in touch and communicate.

In this regard, the question of readiness for intercultural communication becomes very topical. Under what conditions is one capable of intercultural interaction? The answer is clear: if you tolerate foreign cultures and have basic ideas about them and speaks the target language at least at level A1-A2. Linguistic (communicative) and intercultural compe-

Hamaniuk, V. and Selyshcheva, I.

Intercultural and Intracultural Diversity in Interdisciplinary Cloud-Oriented Foreign Language Teaching.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS - Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3522-7673

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4841-6449

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 781-793 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

tence belong to the core of foreign language training in schools and universities, they are also regarded as goals at other educational institutions that offer foreign languages (language schools, language courses, online offers) when it comes to controlled teaching. However, the lack of time as a general problem in foreign language education, regardless of which educational institution is involved, often does not allow all components to be taken into account in the classroom; linguistic components are practiced more, while intercultural content as well as intercultural skills and positive attitudes towards the "foreign" are often neglected or not trained enough. Therefore, the question of how to teach intercultural content and effectively develop intercultural competence, which means are best suited for this, which forms and types of exercises can lead to success and in which areas of application is very topical today.

2 INTERCULTURAL ASPECTS OF FOREIGN LANGUAGE LEARNING

2.1 Intercultural Competence, Intercultural Communication and Intercultural Dialogue

In the research on the problems of foreign language teaching and the development of competence within its framework, the concept of "intercultural competence" is one of the central ones and is considered from different sides. One can find numerous definitions of this term, schematic and detailed description of its structure both in the contributions of scientists and in national and pan-European normative documents in the field of foreign language education. The development of "intercultural competence" is formulated as a learning goal in all foreign language curricula, but the purely pragmatic goal of learning a foreign language is to be able to communicate successfully and conflict-free with representatives of other cultures in their language, i.e. to communicate. Two more terms are important in this regard - "intercultural communication" and "dialogue of cultures".

The term "intercultural communication" has many definitions because it has been analyzed from different points of view. Based on the existing considerations of the German and Ukrainian researchers, we try to define the term in such a way that it could most clearly depict the essence of intercultural communication in the context of foreign language teaching.

Broszinsky-Schwabe defines the term as follows: "Intercultural communication refers to understanding between two or more people who belong to different cultures, which results in a number of difficulties and problems" (Broszinsky-Schwabe, 2011, p. 21). The scientist proposes the following understanding of intercultural communication: "Intercultural communication" also emphasizes the meaning of the culture for communication. Understanding is significantly influenced by the respective *cultural background*. The extent to which and whether the partners are aware of the cultural difference and adapt to it is decisive for the success of communication between individuals or groups" (Broszinsky-Schwabe, 2011, p. 11). It is about at least two notable features of intercultural communication: The importance of knowledge / understanding of the foreign culture and the attitude of the interlocutor to cultural differences, i.e. the perception of the culture, the tolerance of the "foreign" and understanding as a goal and result the communication.

The Ukrainian researcher of intercultural communication Batsevych (Batsevych, 2007) considers this notion in a broad sense and in a narrow sense. In a narrow sense, he understands this term as the process of communication (verbal or non-verbal) among people (or groups of people) belonging to different national linguistic-cultural communities, using different languages, having different levels of communicative competence, the result of which is communicative failure or culture shock. Among the important features of intercultural communication, Batsevych (Batsevych, 2007): the use of interlocutors in the intercultural shaped situations of different strategies and verbal means from those in their own culture, and the recognition of mutual "foreignness" of the cultures of communicants.

In a broad sense, he defines intercultural communication as "the whole spectrum of possible types of communication" that are possible outside of homogeneous social groups. Communicants from different ethnic groups or cultures as well as from different social groups are understood within the framework of a culture or society (age, gender, profession, etc. can appear as criteria) (Batsevych, 2007).

Batsevych (Batsevych, 2007) thus expands the barriers and broadens the concept of "intercultural communication" to those groups that may belong to the same cultural or ethnic group, but have differences in occupation, age, everyday life, social status, or education (on verbal and non-verbal level). But it's all about the differences that you notice anyway, the perception and acceptance of which and the willingness to come to an understanding requires a positive attitude.

For his part, Krumm et al. (Krumm et al., 2011) emphasizes: "One speaks of intercultural communication when people of different cultural backgrounds communicate with one another and are aware of the fact *that* their own perception and the perception of others differ, so that, in order to avoid misunderstandings, it is an intercultural one competence is required in order to communicate despite linguistically and culturally different points of view" (Krumm et al., 2011, p. 139). An important word in his understanding is "aware" because any participant in intercultural communication cannot notice and accept the differences if he is not aware of them.

In contrast to intercultural communication, which is understood as a process, the term "dialogue of cultures" is not conceived as theoretical and does not belong to the field of linguistics, but is understood as a socio-political phenomenon. While the term "dialogue of cultures" is used more often in Ukrainian specialist literature, the term "intercultural dialogue" is more common in the German-speaking scientific and political landscape. The following definition can be found in the "White Paper on Intercultural Dialogue «Living Together Equally in Dignity»": "Intercultural dialogue describes a process of open and respectful exchange of opinions between individuals and groups of different ethnic, cultural, religious and linguistic backgrounds and traditions in a spirit of mutual understanding and respect. The freedom and the ability to express one's opinion, but also the will and the ability to listen to what others have to say, are indispensable here. Intercultural dialogue contributes to political, social, cultural and economic integration and to the cohesion of societies with different cultures" (www.coe.int/dialogue, 2008, p. 17).

Based on this, it is clear that intercultural dialogue as a phenomenon in the socio-political area focuses on the interaction of cultures and their representatives on the basis of tolerance and acceptance of peculiarities and equality of different cultures, which contributes to understanding and conflict-free coexistence of people from different cultural contexts.

2.2 Intercultural Competence in Normative Documents and Research

The term "intercultural competence" has been conceptualized in different ways over the course of two decades: different interpretations have emerged depending on the researcher, the national characteristics and the period in which it was analyzed. The components in the structure of intercultural competence that were determined at the beginning of the research were constantly being added, which either expanded the term (as a result of powerful societal, social, political and / or educational policy, methodological and didactic developments) or described it more precisely, made it more concrete, reinterpreted. Normative documents contain already recognized formulations of the term "intercultural competence" and its structure, but are based on the results of scientific considerations, therefore they are theoretically justified and emphasize the practical value of intercultural competence, which is important for educational decision-makers, teachers, curricula and textbook developers.

The dynamics of the term development in normative documents can be illustrated using the example of selected definitions if they are analyzed in chronological order. For example, The Common European Framework of Reference for Languages (CEFR) (Council of Europe, 2001) does not consider "intercultural competence" as a particular competence among other competences. Sociocultural knowledge and intercultural awareness, which according to this edition of the CEFR belong to declarative knowledge, are also components of general competence. Sociocultural knowledge includes general knowledge about the society and culture of the community(s) and the character of people and its society (everyday life, living conditions, interpersonal relationships, values, beliefs, attitudes, body language, social conventions, ritual behavior, etc.). The (Council of Europe, 2001) defines intercultural awareness as that which arises "from the knowledge, awareness and understanding of the relationships" between "one's own" and "foreign" worlds. In this document, then, the cognitive side of interculturality is emphasized: it helps one "to be aware of regional and social diversity"; both cultures "to be placed in a larger context" (Trim et al., 2013, pp. 104-105).

In the next edition of the (Council of Europe, 2001) entitled "Common European Framework of Reference for Languages: learning, teaching, assess-Companion volume with new descriptors" ment. (Council of Europe, 2018) was published, one finds not only the term "intercultural competence", but also descriptors that - in contrast to the previous edition allow to measure and assess intercultural competence. The following Aspects, Component and Skills become emphasizes : "Many notions that appear in the literature and descriptors for intercultural competence are included, for example: the need to deal with ambiguity when faced with cultural diversity, adjusting reactions, modifying language, etc.; the need for understanding that different cultures may have different practices and norms, and that actions may be perceived differently by people belonging to other cultures; the need to take into consideration differences in behaviors (including gestures, tones and attitudes), discussing over-generalizations and stereotypes; the need to recognize similarities and use them as a basis to improve communication; the will to show sensitivity to differences; readiness to offer and ask for clarification: anticipating possible risks of misunderstanding. Key concepts operationalized in the scale at most levels include the following: recognizing, acting on cultural, socio-pragmatic, and socio-linguistic conventions/cues; recognizing and interpreting similari ties and differences in perspectives, practices, events; evaluating neutrally and critically" (Council of Europe, 2018, p. 158).

The first thing that strikes you in this excerpt is not just the cognitive side (need for understanding, to take into consideration, need to recognize), but also the practical application of acquired intercultural knowledge, the willingness to act (to take, to show, to action). Second, the CEFR 2018 edition (Council of Europe, 2018) considers "intercultural competence" as a specific competence alongside other new terms, among which "pluricultural repertoire" and "plurilingual competence" with their descriptors for each of the levels from A1 to C2. In addition, today the understanding of the term "intercultural competence" has become much broader and primarily includes the ability to act according to the situation, to choose and use appropriate verbal and non-verbal language tools, as well as to master relevant communicative strategies and to develop personal qualities, that can contribute to successful communication and intercultural interaction (tolerance, empathy, etc.).

"To interact with members of another culture as *sensitively, respectfully and without conflict as possible, requires a cognitively and emotionally open personality who is willing to reflect on one's own standards and prejudices, one's own self-image and that of others to think things through, to <i>react* to the experience of cultural differences with *tolerance for ambiguity and empathy*, and *to recognize other cultures as equals*" (Trim et al., 2013, p. 140). Following the definition given, it can be said that intercultural competence consists of at least three components: emotions and attitudes (tolerance, respect, empathy, reflection), language skills, intercultural knowledge, ability to compare and analyze (cognitive side) and action (behavioural pattern).

The Pan-European Framework of Reference for Languages (CEFR) counts *socio-cultural knowledge* and *intercultural awareness* to declarative knowledge and considers them as components of general competence. Intercultural knowledge includes: The general knowledge of the society and culture of the community(s) and the characteristics that are characteristic of this society (everyday life, living conditions, interpersonal relationships, values, beliefs, attitudes, body language, social conventions, ritual *behavior*, etc.) (Höfinghoff, 2006, pp. 103-104).

German scientists have confronted themselves with the term. For example, the Barkowski and Krumm (Barkowski and Krumm, 2010) defines "intercultural competence" as: "the ability to interact with members of another culture as sensitively, respectfully and without conflict as possible, [they] requires a cognitively and emotionally open personality that is willing to reflect on one's own standards and prejudices, to think through one's own image of oneself and others, to react to the experience of cultural differences with tolerance for ambiguity and empathy, and to recognize other cultures as equals [...]. Intercultural competence represents an important learning objective in competence-oriented concepts of foreign language teaching" (Barkowski and Krumm, 2010, p. 140).

Barmeyer (Barmeyer, 2011) has presented the structure, characteristics of intercultural competence and relationships between its components in a model (figure 1) where the same structural elements occur. The difference, however, is that Barmeyer (Barmeyer, 2011) counts foreign language skills as part of behavior, while we believe that skills belong to the cognitive block.



Figure 1: Phases and characteristics of intercultural competence (Barmeyer, 2011, p. 68).

According to this definition, corresponding psychologically determined personal characteristics are primarily important for the development of intercultural competence. It is assumed that the person has a certain amount of knowledge from the areas of culture, literature, everyday life and language skills, but they are not included in the definition; the attention is on the actions, reactions, activities, behavior of the speaker. It is also emphasized that intercultural competence is an important learning objective in foreign language teaching; not just what communicators need to have in order to have a successful conversation, but also seen as the meaning of the path that leads to it. It follows that taking into account these three components (knowledge and language skills), attitudes and behavior in the context of foreign language teaching is a prerequisite for the successful development of intercultural and, more broadly, communicative competence. The attitude, in our opinion, is at the center of the development process in the case of "intercultural competence" because a positive attitude towards other cultures arouses interest and motivates learning foreign languages and cultures. On the contrary, negative perception of the "foreign" acts as a disruptive factor when learning a foreign language and a foreign culture, leads to a lack of understanding and often triggers aggressiveness and not infrequently conflicts.

2.3 Intracultural Diversity as a Basis for the Development of Intercultural Competence

When learning a foreign language and in the case of "intercultural communication", the factor "intercultural knowledge" is fundamental. Without such knowledge, it would be difficult to understand, let alone embrace, a "foreign" culture. Regional studies form the basis of intercultural knowledge in foreign language teaching. The term "Landeskunde" has been interpreted similarly, but not identically, in theoretical sources of German-language scholarly discourse in different periods of time, so it would be useful to summarize views from different scholars.

Knowledge of a country includes systematized facts from various areas (history, culture, geography, politics, society, social affairs, everyday life, customs, etc.), which are not necessarily taught in foreign language lessons as part of the curriculum. In schools, learners usually learn about the culture of the target country in language classes, but many aspects are taught and learned in an interdisciplinary manner (geography, history, literature, art, society, politics, etc.). Foreign language teaching is a special area. It is claimed that "learning a foreign language

is necessarily linked to content and knowledge: the foreign words carry meanings, the texts make statements about the target language country, optical media give pictures of foreign reality, even the sentences of form-related exercises convey content" (Storch, 1999, p. 285). In foreign language lessons, learners receive detailed information from listening or reading texts and other sources, which can later be processed and acquired in the target language, including vocabulary. In "German as a Foreign Language -A Didactics", Storch (Storch, 1999) quotes the statement by M. Deutschmann, who emphasizes the need to take regional knowledge into account when selecting the content for German lessons: "The question of regional studies in foreign language lessons is first of all the question according to content in foreign language lessons" (Storch, 1999, p. 285).

This content can be learned and acquired in many different ways. But in any case, if it is not about direct contact with the foreign culture, this process – regardless of whether it is controlled or not – is concentrated on the sum of facts, not on "experiencing the foreign culture". The "immersion" in a foreign culture is artificial, bound to lessons, so unfortunately it doesn't always turn out to be something that one perceives and experiences as something personal (Semerikov et al., 2022).

In multicultural societies today there is an opportunity to recognize and get to know foreign cultures on site. It takes intercultural learning to a higher level, because the learners not only get to know another culture as something familiar, something that is close by, but also learn and understand more about their own culture, into which the foreign one is integrated, about their own and European history. So the intracultural diversity becomes what can be considered as an aid in learning the cultural content in foreign language teaching. In addition, dealing with the topic "foreigners (German, English, French, etc.) in the home country (town, village)" creates favorable conditions for learning the "foreign" culture, makes the learners aware of the fact that the "foreign" is not so foreign, that they already have to do with the presence of languages, cultures and people in their environment. It contributes to the acceptance of the "foreign", teaches to tolerate them.

Another positive point of the presence of the "foreign" (people, companies, goods, cultural heritage) in the area and their use in foreign language teaching as a way of acquiring language skills and cultural knowledge about the target country is that this knowledge can be shared both online, as well as interactively. Learners have the opportunity both to search for information via the Internet and to communicate

Author	Expression	Area / target				
Pauldrach	"Cultural knowledge is social knowledge. It can therefore	foreign language teaching / pri-				
	be interpreted, depending on the interests of the information	vate sphere				
	sources [], its mediation is never complete per se" (Paul-					
	drach, 1992, pp. 9-10).					
Solmecke	"a specific term related to foreign language teaching"; cul-	foreign language teaching				
	tural information on the target language community as a cur-					
	ricular component of teaching a foreign language (Bausch					
	et al., 2007, p. 13).					
Dressler et al.	specific living conditions and behavior of the target culture	foreign language teaching; ability				
	(Dressler et al., 1980).	of learners to "behave appropri-				
		ately in a foreign culture/society"				
Zeuner	culture in the broadest sense or as the geographic, economic	Context knowledge for learning				
	and political conditions of a country; Knowledge or previ-	foreign languages / private sphere				
	ous knowledge about the country (often conveyed to learn-					
	ers through the media), experiences with the country and					
	judgments or prejudices about the country (Zeuner, 2009,					
	p. 5).					
Puetz	"the minimal and didactically relevant goal of maximizing	foreign language teaching / pri-				
	knowledge about an unknown country" (Bausch et al., 2007,	vate sphere				
	pp. 127-128).					
Betterman	Country and culture-specific content, methods and strategies	foreign language teaching				
	for their presentation, mediation, appropriation and applica-					
	tion (Barkowski and Krumm, 2010, pp. 180-181).					
Krumm et al.	Regional studies can no longer be presented as a clearly de-	foreign language teaching / pri-				
	finable scientific sub-discipline of the subject DaF / DaZ ,	vate sphere / profession				
	but rather as a theoretical-conceptual concept that is used in					
	the context of foreign language didactic debates as an in-					
	terpretation and argumentation pattern for describing (and					
	contouring) the socio-cultural dimensions of language, lan-					
	guage acquisition and language usage serves (Krumm et al.,					
	2011, p. 1442).					

Table 1: The term "regional studies" and its role in foreign language teaching.

directly with natives, to establish contacts with real people, which motivates them to take further steps in learning a foreign language.

2.4 "Foreign" Traces in Ukraine: Didactic Considerations

Migration processes have shaped the image of Europe for many centuries. As a result of these processes, there are many places on the map of Europe where the representatives of different ethnic groups live far from their national states. Different ethnic groups are represented in Ukraine, in almost all regions of the country where they have lived for a long time and where their descendants still live today (Hamaniuk, 2020). Their presence in eastern, western and central Ukraine has different reasons in terms of historical aspects, as well as the number of ethnic Germans, Bulgarians, Poles, Czechs or Russians in these areas.

786

In Ukraine there are no regions like South Tyrol in Italy, where the population is bilingual (Italian and German); the representatives of other ethnic groups live together among Ukrainians and representatives of other ethnic groups. They maintain contacts with each other and stick to their traditions, but make a significant contribution to the development of the cultures of their neighbors. In this regard, the issue is not alien to Ukraine. It is no coincidence that native languages are also taught in schools alongside Ukrainian.

Foreign languages are taught in Ukraine in various teaching areas and at each level with specific goals: in kindergartens, in elementary school (English), in general schools English as L2 and as L3 (German, rarely French, Spanish or Russian), at the Schools with extended foreign language instruction (English, German, French), at universities as part-time German instruction (two foreign languages (English, German, French, Spanish, Chinese, Korean) in some subjects such as tourism, law, business, etc.), in philological faculties (English, German, French, Spanish, Chinese, Japanese), at language schools and language courses (a wider range on offer).

For each area and at each level, specific goals are set and age-appropriate textbooks are selected that can be maximally achieved. One of the strategic goals in foreign language teaching is the development of communicative language competence, but one should not forget intercultural competence, which is considered a part of communicative language competence. Since there is a lack of apprenticeship time in every teaching area, it is important to design the lessons in such a way that more skills are developed with each subject. The topic "Strange tracks in my environment" is considered a good reason for various activities. On the one hand, the topic "Strange and strangers" lets you experience and through its presence in the vicinity everything that does not belong to your own identity as something familiar, not perceive what is foreign, on the other hand it allows learners to understand more of the history and language of their homeland, of their own identity and the image of others.

"Strange tracks in my environment" is not a new topic. It can be called a "generative theme" because it is "interesting, thematically open, linguistically rich and culturally differentiable" and comes in different encodings, in the form of historical documents, films, photos, literary texts, songs" (Krumm et al., 2011, p. 1508). International contacts in the social, scientific, educational policy area, as well as linguistic and literary studies, the influences and connections of languages and cultures represented in the home country, have always been among the focal points in the research of philologists, culturologists and literary scholars. This research was mostly aimed at academics, while our practice-oriented approach is intended for a different target group, those who teach foreign languages. From a didactic point of view, this theme is very beneficial, as it allows to see the strange in the familiar. Ukraine, like many European countries, also has some language islands where German, Hungarian, Slovak ethnic groups live and where many traces of their cultures are clearly visible. The people who have lived in these areas for a long time are not largely bilingual in the sense that they can communicate Ukrainian and their native language on the same level, but historical, cultural, technical and economic traces of the former or present presence of foreigners the territory of Ukraine can be easily discovered. Using "foreign" languages and "foreign" cultures locally as a source of cultural knowledge is considered a good didactic way to motivate learners to learn a

foreign language and its culture.

3 INTERDISCIPLINARY AND CLOUD-ORIENTED FOREIGN LANGUAGE TEACHING

3.1 Interdisciplinary Approach in Foreign Language Teaching

"Interdisciplinarity" is not a new term in the scientific and teaching environment; however, it is much discussed in the specialist literature. As Schatz (Schatz, 2009) notes in his study "Research-oriented, interdisciplinary teaching in a multidisciplinary environment": "Although interdisciplinarity is a scientifically well-studied topic, there is no coherent understanding of this term" (Schatz, 2009, p. 2). Labudde (Labudde, 2004) emphasizes "a shambles in defining" interdisciplinary teaching because so many components are tied together to designate the term: including intra-, trans-, multi-, pluri - or intra-disciplinary, interdisciplinary, -coordinating, -connecting or -linking. "The terms "cross-curricular" or "interdisciplinary" teaching apply as generic terms [...]. But that is where unity ends" (Labudde, 2004, p. 60).

A basic analysis of a number of classifications can be found in the scientific work by Dethlefs-Forsbach (Dethlefs-Forsbach, 2005) "Interdisciplinary teaching from the perspective of the subject music". The researcher characterizes attempts to systematize interdisciplinary teaching by Skiera (Skiera, 1994), Huber et al. (Huber et al., 1996), Hiller-Ketterer and Hiller (Hiller-Ketterer and Hiller, 1997), etc. For example, Skiera (Skiera, 1994) differentiates between three types of interdisciplinary teaching based on the didactic-methodological criterion (identification of subject-related cross-connections on a topic; multi-perspective treatment of a suitable topic over a longer period of time; formation of learning areas according to interdisciplinary thematic or methodological criteria). For his part, Huber et al. (Huber et al., 1996) determines five types of interdisciplinary teaching according to the organizational form (cross-subject, subject-linking, subjectcoordinating, subject-complementary and subjectinterrupting teaching) and three types according to orientation (orientation towards deepening and supplementing the subject; towards a change of perspective and reflection; towards a common problem). (Dethlefs-Forsbach, 2005, p. 179). Hiller-Ketterer and Hiller (Hiller-Ketterer and Hiller, 1997) also identify five types of interdisciplinary teaching

according to didactic functions: to justify the need for specialist special courses, to demonstrate the usefulness of special courses for them, to relativize perspectives, for the purpose of demonstrating and testing common processes and formal interactions, for the reconstruction of everyday reality to build up the ability to act and to test it in limited actions (Dethlefs-Forsbach, 2005, p. 179).

Based on well-known classifications, including those mentioned above, Labudde (Labudde, 2004) developed his own summary classification, which describes certain types of teaching at the level of subjects and at the level of the timetable. This classification includes all of the types mentioned above (although they are called differently, but they contain similar content) and takes into account organizational as well as didactic-methodological and functional aspects of interdisciplinary teaching.

Labudde (Labudde, 2004) thus distinguishes three types of interdisciplinary teaching at the subject level, based on the relationships between the subject, the content taught and the way in which the content is incorporated into the teaching process. In the case of interdisciplinary teaching, relevant content from other subjects is introduced once into a single subject. Subject-linking teaching differs in the systematic and changeable nature of the linking of teaching content relevant to several subjects (basic concepts and methods). Labudde (Labudde, 2004) considers the so-called "subject-coordinating" or "theme-centered" lessons to be genuinely interdisciplinary, where the taught content is "an overarching theme or a key problem of humanity" that is processed "from the perspective of different subjects" (Labudde, 2004, p. 60). Subject-coordinated teaching provides for both systematic and one-off implementation and links subjects with one another that contain common problems or topics in their content.

At the level of the lesson table, Labudde (Labudde, 2003) distinguishes between supplementary and integrated lessons. The difference, explains Labudde (Labudde, 2003), is that in the first case it is about additional modules or disciplines, within the framework of which necessary content is taught, and in the second case "the individual subjects no longer appear in the timetable, but are in an integration subject such as NMM ("Natur – Mensch – Mitwelt") or 'People and Environment' embedded" (Labudde, 2003, p. 59).

It should be noted that all three types of interdisciplinary teaching at the subject level, as well as the two (subject-supplementing and integrated teaching) are relevant for use in foreign language teaching, depending on the goal and subject combination.

3.2 Interdisciplinary Approach in History and Foreign Language Teaching

One of the perspective directions in learning German is dealing with history. Successful communication requires not only a common language in which both / some interlocutors can communicate, foreign language skills at level A1 or higher, but also the desire to talk to each other. This desire or need arises when one has a common theme and *what* to say, when one wants to share or contradict, tell, discuss, clarify or express one's opinion about something (information, knowledge, experience). In this respect, history and historical content are on the one hand a good opportunity for communication in different contexts, on the other hand they are good material for understanding one's own identity and accepting the identity of the "other".

The following reasons can be given for the interdisciplinary use in foreign language teaching, at least from the perspective of Ukrainian teaching practice: diverse positive effects of interdisciplinary teaching (arouses interest in the subject and/or department), use of different methods and mutual linking, time economy and saving, development of analytical thinking (relationships are determined), inclusion of different knowledge and skills.

The subjects for interdisciplinary teaching depend on many teaching contexts. Different combinations are possible, but, in our opinion, among those most appropriate are literature, history, geography, politics, economics, and art – that is, the disciplines of the humanitarian field, because each of these disciplines is part of the geography in the sense of "knowledge of that destination country". The subject of history is particularly beneficial for the development of communicative skills on the one hand and for the development of intercultural competence on the other.

The term "history" has the following meanings: political, social, cultural development of a specific geographical, cultural area and the resulting sequence of events; scientific representation of a historical development; verbal or written description of an actual or imagined happening, event; story; [unpleasant] matter, matter (Müller et al., 1985, pp. 295-296).

"History" thus includes historical developments (city, country, world, humanity) and their descriptions in scientific or literary form; an event, something extraordinary or unpleasant, and its depiction; a school or study subject.

History as a subject and historical content within it are taught in different ways at educational institutions in Ukraine: two methods are most preferred: linear – arranged chronologically from the past to the present or focused on events – certain events are considered two or three times, you change perspective, you delve into details. One analyzes not only consequences, but also reasons, motives and circumstances. The aim of the process, which focuses on events, is not only the knowledge that students acquire, but also the conscious examination of historical facts.

The positive thing about using historical content in foreign language teaching is that history, in each of the above-mentioned meanings and in different contexts, always appears as a good occasion for communication. Every story (as a scientific representation of historical events, a literary narration of an event, a family history or similar) contains specific data, describes the people involved and their deeds, evaluates processes, etc. In historical texts you will find concrete content (data and information) that is presented (illustrative, graphical, tabular) or verbal as a series of keywords naming events or processes. Based on this information, students can summarize content presented in schemes or diagrams. The visualization of the summarized information contains necessary data, vocabulary and, if illustrated in chronological chains, also the content rendering plan. This facilitates the way from the text (reception) via schematic, summarized or detailed representation to speech (production).

"Interdisciplinary forms of teaching are an opportunity to break new pedagogical and methodological paths and to open up new horizons for both the students and the teacher" (Aigner, 2015, p. 10). This thesis applies to the combination of foreign language teaching and history teaching. Knowledge of foreign languages allows students to access information sources that are not accessible in their mother tongue. It is not only about archive materials or scientific contributions, but also about diverse learning materials that are offered on different platforms today. On the other hand, the conscious examination of the history of the target country in foreign language lessons broadens the perspective of the learners, allows them to better understand today's everyday life and the views of the people who live in this country, which contributes to the development of intercultural competence (knowledge of the country, attitudes, intercultural actions and behavior).

History can be integrated into foreign language teaching in different ways. It depends on what is the focus: history on a social level (history of Europe and national history in the context of European history or world history, individual events or an epoch) or history on a personal level (well-known personalities, their lives, their work, family histories, etc.). Each story text must be didactic for each level. The higher the language level of the learner, the lower the level of didactic knowledge. For level A2, authentic texts are offered with worksheets prepared by the teacher, which not only contain the necessary vocabulary, but also pre-filled schemes. Learners at language level B1 – C1 can collect information from the texts themselves, both authentic and in their mother tongue, so the following tasks would be useful:

- 1. Read the text and highlight the most important information.
- Arrange the information (data) and events or processes according to the scheme: When? What? / Who? Where? How?
- 3. Gather words and phrases that you need for communication.
- 4. Compare your results.
- 5. Enter the collected data in the schema (diagram).
- 6. Summarize the most important information (orally or in writing).

Other ways in which the story can be used as a means of communication in the classroom are: talking to foreigners living or working in the area, asking for and summarizing information about their families, tabulating CVs and family histories and telling about their fates; choose a topic and search for information from different sources, graph it and talk about it; Collect, organize and process information in the mother tongue. Speak in a foreign language on the basis of the prepared schemes or tables on the topic.

Of course, there are also different exercises and tasks for other goals possible, e.g. for the expansion of vocabulary, for the development of grammatical competence, etc.

3.3 Cloud-Oriented Interdisciplinary Foreign Language Teaching: Ideas and Their Practical Implementation

First, general remarks on cloud-oriented foreign language teaching. 2019-2022 is already being called the time of virtual learning and teaching. COVID-19 and later the war in Ukraine caused many familiar processes and formats in the field of education to be designed differently (Kovalchuk et al., 2023). The teaching institutions in schools and universities, private language and art schools give lessons mainly online and use all possible Internet platforms, apps, technical possibilities that are available: computers, tablets, laptops, phones. The tendency to use different ICT in the classroom has been observed since 2000; therefore, enough practical experience has been gained with it and the results justified theoretically. But so many ICT in all their diversity have only been in use in schools and universities since 2019.

For foreign language teaching, the transition from traditional teaching and blended learning, which is well known in didactics, is advantageous because numerous technical possibilities create favorable conditions for immersion in a foreign language. With the help of ICT, an immersive cloud-oriented environment is created where receptive and productive language skills are developed. The positive is that thanks to modern technologies, virtual classrooms can be created with specific teaching content for different target groups (age, interests, language level, learning goals, etc.). Of course, different technologies (apps, programs, platforms, social networks) and content (internet and other sources) are chosen for the classes, where language skills and certain sub-skills are developed, and for theoretical courses.

The following resources are relevant for the design of the cloud-oriented environment for foreign languages: asynchronous (texts: official pages of newspapers/magazines, blogs; videos: YouTube offer topics such as history, society, environmental protection, family, etc., documentary, educational films, movies); synchronous/asynchronous (social networks, spreadsheets); synchronously (chats, learning platforms with interactive exercises, etc.). For theoretical disciplines, short and instructional films on specific terms (literature, history, lexicology, and stylistics), works, authors (literature), events (history), etc. can be used asynchronously on YouTube, as well as lectures on many disciplines, conference contributions, monographs, other publications/presentations. The platforms Google Classroom and Moodle, where the appropriate cloud-oriented environment is created, play a major role here, as well as Zoom and Google Meet, which ensure immediate, synchronous communication.

The following resources and tasks are conceivable for cloud-oriented interdisciplinary foreign language teaching with a focus on "history". There is a large selection of materials for asynchronous use. These are official pages of newspapers and magazines in the target language. These are visual and textual, auditory and audiovisual media, examples of which are provided by Huneke and Steinig (Huneke and Steinig, 2013, p. 44). For example, for level A2 – B1 you can download the edition "German History 1914 – 1990" where you can short texts with many pictures that illustrate the events, on 16 pages of German history of these years (free of charge), available at (https: //www.bpb.de/system/files/dokument_pdf/Zeitleiste_ deutsch_zum-Selbstdruck_16_Einzelseiten.pdf)

For level B1-C1 on the official website of https:// www.bpb.de/shop/zeitschriften you will find free editions of three magazines (Fluter, Informationen für politische Bildung and APUZ (Aus Politik und Zeitgeschichte (From Politics and Contemporary History)), where historical contents are presented. It is about the history of different countries in different epochs (including Germany, France, the USA, Ukraine, China, etc.) and about the most important historical events, which are sometimes interpreted controversially. The editions are intended for young people, so all texts are written in clear and understandable language.

Another example are excerpts from the latest editions of German history, as well as excerpts from earlier publications, e.g. https://files.hanser.de/Files/ Article/ARTK_LPR_9783446249387_0001.pdf. They are available free of charge and are relevant for learners from level B1.

Auditory media, which include podcasts, are also conceivable for creating the cloud-oriented environment, but much more favorable for interdisciplinary German history lessons is filmed history of Germany from ZDF "Die Deutschen", which includes a total of 20 films (45 minutes). In the center is a historical figure (Otto und der Reich, Luther und die Nation, etc.) who represents the entire epoch, and there you will not only find fragments that tell about the story like a movie, but also commentaries by scientists and brief information on the epoch. All films can be found to download for free at: https://www.zdf.de/dokumentation/terra-x/ die-deutschen-140.html. There are already finished didactic versions: https://tinyurl.com/ysjrkfdw.

Not to be forgotten is the YouTube offer, where educational films, documentaries of various lengths, movies and literary adaptations in all possible languages and on historical events are available worldwide, sometimes with tasks. There is also an option to read comments and comment yourself. For example, on the history of Germany: in German "The 10 greatest turning points in German history" at https: //www.youtube.com/watch?v=CDrpYGeXuy4, "Wir Deutschen" at https://www.youtube.com/watch?v= 1miI2JlpFxg and in Ukrainian; on the history of France "The Animated History of France" at https:// www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZNk2QOn9oGE in English; on the history of Scotland "The Animated History of Scotland"; on the history of Ukraine in Ukrainian at https://www.youtube.com/watch?v= LJFR_3myjUk, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v= ITw2Lk93qrY and in English at https://www.youtube. com/watch?v=zJvz3Ai9Ppw and many others.

Social media can be used both synchronously (chats) and asynchronously. Texts can be selected that also emphasize intracultural diversity and shared history. For example, the presence of Germans in Ukraine is discussed in comments on Facebook. In this case, one can not only develop tasks related to the texts with information, but also motivate the learners to take part in the discussion (figure 2).

You can use many Ukrainian Internet resources in the classroom, which are of theoretical/academic, as well as popular science nature, or are designed for learners. So, for example, the page "A day in history" (available at https://www.history.com/ this-day-in-history) is bilingual (Ukrainian and English), contains interesting data about events on a specific day and can easily be used in the classroom. World History Encyclopedia (https://www. worldhistory.org/) provides not only verified fact texts on world events, but also educational materials. There you will also find many pictures, videos and an has many pictures, media materials and guizzes. These and many other pages of academic texts are conceivable for learners with a high level of proficiency, a genuine interest in history, and provided that the material is grammatically and lexically prepared.

When selecting the media for productive use in the classroom, it is important to remember that it is important that they primarily have a mediating function and that certain selection criteria must be observed. According to Huneke and Steinig (Huneke and Steinig, 2013) emphasize the following: authenticity (focus on target language, real reality of the target country rather than an "overly filtered art world"), level of sophistication (accessible but with the new material), prior knowledge (built on the prior knowledge but with new content), reflective handling (comparison of cultures, habits, events) and openness (different opinions and interpretations are possible) (Huneke and Steinig, 2013, p. 219).

4 CONCLUSION

According to European documents in the field of foreign language training and theoretical research results from recent years, the structure of intercultural competence includes language skills, knowledge of the destination and home country (cognitive level), attitudes, willingness to communicate and make contacts, acceptance of the foreigner, tolerance (emotive level), behavioral patterns (conative level) counted. Not to be underestimated are personal qualities and social skills (cognitive, emotive and conative) that can be considered as prerequisites for successful communication, and which include such qualities as the ability to: empathize, think analytically, compare, evaluate and receive information from different people and to link sources, areas of knowledge associatively, to draw conclusions. These skills and abilities are developed within different disciplines, which shows that the interdisciplinary approach should be used as one of the possible tools. Intercultural communication can be trained in different ways.

Foreign language teaching offers many opportunities for the development of intercultural competence, because the conditions of learning a foreign language are becoming more and more favorable for assimilation of foreign culture. You learn a language through its culture in word and spirit, which is why so much attention is paid to intercultural content and culture in foreign language classes. Another way to develop the intercultural competence is intracultural diversity, which is seldom used. Regional studies of a foreign culture through local history not only helps to learn about the target country and the people in this country and understand their development, but also about one's country, one's compatriots, one's own culture and history. It contributes to a positive and tolerant attitude towards others, because such acquaintance with the "foreign" world occurs through the "personal" (specific local people, familiar things).

From all classifications of types of interdisciplinary teaching, we consider the classification proposed by P. Labudde to be the best (it was based on the previously developed classifications (Hiller-Ketterer and Hiller, 1997)). All types (inter-subject, subject-linking, subject-coordinating) are relevant for the development of intercultural competence, most favorably in the case of foreign language teaching in combination with other disciplines there are two of them: interdisciplinary and subject-coordinating (theme-centered).

Many areas of knowledge and subjects in most curricula can be interdisciplinary linked to foreign language teaching: literature, geography, history, politics, economics, art, etc. All of these subjects contain components that are referred to as regional knowledge and that have a certain attitude towards the "foreigners" and to the "foreign" culture. Especially favorable for the development of intercultural competence is the combination "foreign language lessons + history lessons" because, firstly, history of the target country and the people allows learners to understand backgrounds that shaped the national character, spirit and way of thinking of the people; second, each story describes certain patterns of behavior, rituals, manners and customs that lead to the perception and later acceptance of the differences in both cultures.

Visit the page https://www.facebook.com/groups/deutsche.in.UA "Deutsche im Gouvernement Katerynoslav" and read reports and comments. Summarize new information.

II. viele deutsche Bauern nach Russland einge- laden. Sie kamen zuerst nach Sankt-Petersburg # Ganz abgesehen von der Frage, ob A. Poll als Deutscher und wohnten in der schwedischen Festung Jam- betrachtet werden kann (er selbst hielt sich trotz seines
laden. Sie kamen zuerst nach Sankt-Petersburg # Ganz abgesehen von der Frage, ob A. Poll als Deutscher und wohnten in der schwedischen Festung Jam- betrachtet werden kann (er selbst hielt sich trotz seines
und wohnten in der schwedischen Festung Jam- betrachtet werden kann (er selbst hielt sich trotz seines
and wommen in der senwedisenen i estang bann oberation werden namm (er senest ment steht abez sentes
burg. Da war auch die erste bayerische Kolonie deutschen Großvaters und des Namens für Ukrainer),
in Russland. Aber der Boden war da nicht sehr haben Deutsche eine wichtige Rolle bei der Erkundung
gut für die Landwirtschaft. 1773 haben 15 Fami- des Eisenerzvorkommens bei Krywyj Rih gespielt: in
lien aus Velburg, Burgenland, Oberpfalz, Bayern der Bergakademie Freiberg wurden die Erzproben unter-
die Genehmigung bekommen, ins Gouvernement sucht, Fachleute aus Freiberg unter Leitung des bekan-
Katerynoslaw umzusiedeln. Sie haben zuerst im nten Montaningeniers Leo Balthasar Leberecht Strippel-
Dorf Kodak gewohnt und haben dann das neue mann (1826-1892) haben auf Bitte (und auf Kosten)
Dorf Jamburg gegründet. von O.M. Poll das Vorkommen vor Ort studiert und
1789 wohnten in Jamburg 148 Männer, 1793 – ein Buch dazu geschrieben. Es hieß "Süd-Russlands
schon 485. Im Russischen Reich wurden nur die Magneteisenstein- und Eisenglanzlagerstätten in den Gou-
Männer besteuert, darum hat man in erster Linie vernements Jekatherinosslaw und Cherson" und wurde 1873
sie gezählt. Die Geschichte von Jamburg ist in in Leipzig und Sankt-Petersburg (in russischer Übersetzung)
einem Buch von Jakob Mohr beschrieben. Das herausgegeben. (Angaben aus Wikipedia)
Buch wurde 2004 in Deutschland gedruckt. Jakob
Mohr hat nie in #Jamburg gewohnt, aber seine # Hier müsste man eigentlich auch davon absehen, dass
Mutter stammte aus Jamburg. die Gegend des heutigen Krywyj Rih damals gar nicht zu
Jakob Mohr. Geschichten der bayerischen Gouvernement Katerynoslaw, sondern zu Gouv. Cherson
Kolonie Jamburg, derer Tochterkolonien und Ver- gehörte. Aber das ist ja eine Kleinigkeit, die nur davon
bannungsort Asbest. – Bad Laer, 2004. – 470 S. zeugt, wie weitreichend der Einfluss von Katerynoslaw
schon immer war.

Figure 2: Excerpt from the worksheet on "German traces in the Ukraine".

Cloud-oriented environment creates additional opportunities for interdisciplinary use. It is created and expanded with the help of different resources (asynchronous, synchronous, asynchronoussynchronous); visual and textual, auditory and audiovisual media are used, depending on the language level of the learners, the language of the materials offered and the learning objective. The selection criteria must be observed because the learning success depends on them.

REFERENCES

- Aigner, M. (2015). Fächerübergreifender Unterricht am Beispiel Biologie – Über den Tellerrand der Physik hinausschauen. Delta Phi B. http: //www.physikdidaktik.info/data/_uploaded/Delta_ Phi_B/2015/Aigner(2015)Faecheruebergreifender_ Unterricht_Biologie_DeltaPhiB.pdf.
- Barkowski, H. and Krumm, H.-J., editors (2010). Fachlexikon Deutsch als Fremd- und Zweitsprache. A. Francke Verlag, Tübingen, Basel. https://doi.org/10. 36198/9783838584225.
- Barmeyer, C. (2011). Interkulturalität. In Barmeyer, C., Genkova, P., and Scheffer, J., editors, Interkulturelle Kommunikation und Kulturwissenschaft. Grundbe-

griffe, Wissenschaftsdisziplinen, Kulturräume, pages 37–77. Karl Stutz, Passau. https://www.researchgate. net/publication/281069162.

- Batsevych, F. S. (2007). Slovnyk terminiv mizhkulturnoi komunikatsii. Dovira, Kyiv. https://library.megu.edu.ua: 9443/jspui/handle/123456789/1739.
- Bausch, K.-R., Christ, H., and Krumm, H.-J., editors (2007). *Handbuch Fremdsprachenunterricht*. A. Francke Verlag, Tübingen, Basel.
- Broszinsky-Schwabe, E. (2011). Interkulturelle Kommunikation: Missverständnisse – Verständigung. VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften, Springer Fachmedien, Wiesbaden. https://tinyurl.com/mt68cw3j.
- Council of Europe (2001). Common European Framework of Reference for Languages: Kearning, teaching, assessment. Cambridge University Press, Strasbourg. https://rm.coe.int/16802fc1bf.
- Council of Europe (2018). Common European Framework of Reference for Languages: learning, teaching, assessment. Companion volume with new descriptors. Strasbourg. https://rm.coe.int/ cefr-companion-volume-with-new-descriptors-2018/ 1680787989.
- Dethlefs-Forsbach, B. C. (2005). Fächerübergreifender Unterricht aus der Sicht des Faches Musik. Eine historisch-systematische Untersuchung von Theorien und Praxen sowie der Entwurf eigener Modelle und einer Konzeption des fächerübergreifenden Unter-

richts mit Musik. Schneider Verlag Hohengehren, Erlangen.

- Dressler, G., Reuter, B., and Reuter, E. (1980). Welche Landeskunde braucht der FU?: Grundsätzliche Überlegungen zur Vermittlung von Sprache und Kultur im FU. *Linguistik und Didaktik*, 11(43/44):233–251. https://doi.org/10.1163/25890859-0110304006.
- Hamaniuk, V. A. (2020). German traces in Ukraine in German lessons: illustrative, interactive, communicative. *Educational Dimension*, 2:34–55. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.v54i2.3853.
- Hiller-Ketterer, I. and Hiller, G. (1997). Fächerübergreifendes Lernen in didaktischer Perspektive. In Duncker, L. and Popp, W., editors, Über Fachgrenzen hinaus: Chancen und Schwierigkeiten des fächerübergreifenden Lehrens und Lernens, volume 1. Grundlagen und Begründungen, pages 166–195. Agentur Dieck, Heinsberg.
- Huber, L., Kroeger, H., and Schülert, J. (1996). Eine Curriculum-Werkstatt für fächerübergreifenden Unterricht. Ansätze am Oberstufen-Kolleg der Universität Bielefeld. Zeitschrift für Pädagogik, 42(4):575– 587. https://www.pedocs.de/volltexte/2015/10760/ pdf/ZfPaed_1996_4_Huber_Kroeger_Schuelert_ Curriculum_Werkstatt_faecheruebergreifender_ Unterricht.pdf.
- Huneke, H.-W. and Steinig, W. (2013). Deutsch als Fremdsprache: Eine Einführung, volume 34 of Grundlagen der Germanistik. Erich Schmidt Verlag, Berlin.
- Höfinghoff, M. (2006). Deutsche Entlehnungen im Ukrainischen an der Wende vom 19. zum 20. Jahrhundert. Bestand und Entwicklung bis zur Gegenwart. Praesens Verlag, Wien.
- Kovalchuk, V., Maslich, S., and Movchan, L. (2023). Digitalization of vocational education under crisis conditions. *Educational Technology Quarterly*. https: //doi.org/10.55056/etq.49.
- Krumm, H.-J., Fandrych, C., Hufeisen, B., and Riemer, C., editors (2011). Deutsch als Fremd- und Zweitsprache: Ein Internationales Handbuch. Band 2. Halbband, volume 35.2 of Handbücher zur Sprach- und Kommunikationswissenschaft / Handbooks of Linguistics and Communication Science [HSK]. De Gruyter Mouton, Berlin, New York. https://doi.org/10.1515/ 9783110240252.
- Labudde, P. (2003). Fächer übergreifender Unterricht in und mit Physik: eine zu wenig genutzte Chance. *PhyDid A - Physik und Didaktik in Schule und Hochschule*, 1(2):48–66. http://phydid.de/index.php/ phydid/article/view/8.
- Labudde, P. (2004). Fächer übergreifender Unterricht in Naturwissenschaften: 'Bausteine' für die Ausund Weiterbildung von Lehrpersonen. *Beiträge* zur Lehrerbildung, 22(1):54–68. https://doi.org/10. 25656/01:13539.
- Müller, W. et al., editors (1985). Bedeutungswörterbuch, volume 10 of Duden. Bibliographisches Institut, Mannheim.
- Pauldrach, A. (1992). Eine unendliche Geschichte. Anmerkungen zur Situation der Landeskunde in den 90er Jahren. Fremdsprache Deutsch, (6):4–15.

- Schatz, W. (2009). Forschungsorientierter, interdisziplinärer Unterricht in einem multidisziplinären Umfeld. In von Berendt, B., Voss, H.-P., and Wildt, J., editors, *Neues Handbuch Hochschullehre. Lehren* und Lernen effizient gestalten, chapter E 1.6. Raabe, Stuttgart, Berlin. https://zenodo.org/record/1288626/ files/E_1.6_37._EL_Schatz.pdf.
- Semerikov, S. O., Vakaliuk, T. A., Mintii, I. S., Hamaniuk, V. A., Soloviev, V. N., Bondarenko, O. V., Nechypurenko, P. P., Shokaliuk, S. V., Moiseienko, N. V., and Shepiliev, D. S. (2022). Design methodology for immersive educational resources. *Educational Dimension*, 6:176–199. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.4716.
- Skiera, E. (1994). Stichwort: Fächerübergreifender Unterricht. In Keck, R. W. and Sandfuchs, U., editors, Wörterbuch der Schulpädagogik, pages 109–110. Verlag Julius Klinkhardt, Bad Heilbrunn.
- Solmecke, G. (1997). Texte hoeren, lesen und verstehen. Eine Einfuehrung in die Schulung der rezeptiven Kompetenz mit Beispielen fuer den Unterricht Deutsch als Fremdsprache. Langenschedt, Berlin, München.
- Storch, G. (1999). Deutsch als Fremdsprache Eine Didaktik: Theoretische Grundlagen und praktische Unterrichtsgestaltung. Wilhelm Fink Verlag, München.
- Trim, J., North, B., Coste, D., and Sheils, J. (2013). Gesamteuropäischer Referenzrahmen für Sprachen: lernen, lehren, beurteilen. Klett-Langenscheidt, München.
- www.coe.int/dialogue (2008). Weißbuch zum Interkulturellen Dialog "Gleichberechtigt in Würde zusammenleben". Europarat, Strasbourg. https://www.coe.int/t/dg4/intercultural/Source/Pub_ White_Paper/WhitePaper_ID_GermanVersion.pdf.
- Zeuner, U. (2009). Landeskunde und interkulturelles Lernen. Eine Einführung. http: //wwwpub.zih.tu-dresden.de/~uzeuner/studierplatz_ landeskunde/zeuner_reader_landeskunde.pdf.

Methodical System of Teaching Informatics to Pre-Service Mathematics Teachers

Nadiia S. Ponomareva^{Da}

Kharkiv University of Technology "STEP", 9/11 Malomyasnytska Str, Kharkiv, 61000, Ukraine ponomareva.itstep@gmail.com

- Keywords: Pre-Service Mathematics Teachers, Informatics, Computer-Oriented Methodical System of Teaching, Informatics Competences, Model of Computer-Oriented Methodical System of Teaching Informatics to Pre-Service Mathematics Teachers.
- Abstract: The article is devoted to the problem of development and implementation of computer-oriented methodical system of teaching informatics to pre-service mathematics teachers. Based on the analysis of scientific literature, the role and place of informatics in the competence-oriented training of pre-service mathematics teachers are revealed; the structure, content, indicators and levels of informatics competencies formation of pre-service mathematics teachers are clarified and characterized; the model of computer-oriented methodical system of teaching informatics to pre-service mathematics teachers has been developed. Theoretically grounded and developed the computer-oriented methodical system of teaching informatics teachers, consisting of the target (formation of informatics competencies of pre-service mathematics teachers), design (design the system of informatics competencies and methodical system of teaching), technological (creation of a computer-oriented learning environment for informatics courses) and result blocks; its experimental verification was carried out and confirmed on the basis of the developed criteria and indicators.

1 INTRODUCTION

The Law of Ukraine "About the Basic principles of development of information society in Ukraine for 2007-2015" defines the creation of an education system focused on the use of the latest digital technologies in the formation of a comprehensively developed personality as the main strategic goal of the development of the information society in Ukraine (Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine, 2007). To achieve this goal, the "Strategy for the Development of the Information Society in Ukraine" (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2013) defines a number of priority areas of state policy, the implementation of which will ensure the improvement of the educational process, accessibility and effectiveness of education. Leading among them are: formation and development of the informational educational environment in the system of general secondary and higher education; implementation of an information system for supporting the educational process; development of the distance learning system and ensuring, based on it, the effective implementation and use of digital technologies at all educational levels of all forms of education (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2013).

According to the "Concept of the Development of the Digital Economy and Society of Ukraine for 2018-2020", the main directions of digitalization of education are the development and implementation of innovative computer-oriented learning tools to create a digital learning environment and the development of a distance form of education using cognitive and multimedia technologies (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2018). The main driver of the digitization of education is a competent teacher, whose training must meet social demands, take into account world trends and recommendations of influential international organizations. Among the factors of the imbalance between the public demand for highly qualified pedagogical workers, the prospects for the development of society, global technological changes and the existing system of pedagogical education, as well as the level of readiness / ability of modern teachers to implement educational reforms in Ukraine, the leading ones are the outdated content, structure, standards and methods of teaching in system of pedagogical education, as well as the inconsistency of key professional competencies of graduates of pedagogical education insti-

794

Ponomareva, N.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9840-7287

Methodical System of Teaching Informatics to Pre-Service Mathematics Teachers.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 794-803 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

tutions with the challenges of the digital society.

The action plan for improving the quality of physical and mathematical education involves: bringing the content of physical and mathematical education in line with the modern development of science and the needs of society; digitization of mathematics education by including laboratory workshops with a computer mathematics system, calculation visualization tools in mathematical disciplines; training of teachers to develop in students the ability to interpret quantitative data presented in tables, charts and graphs, teaching students to independently obtain the necessary information, analyze it, perform calculations and choose the optimal solution (Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine, 2008). The decree of the President of Ukraine "On the declaration of the 2020/2021 academic year as the Year of Mathematics Education in Ukraine" provides for the creation of conditions for equal access to modern and highquality mathematics education and ensuring the modern level of teaching mathematics disciplines, in particular with the use of effective technologies taking into account the best domestic and international practices (President of Ukraine, 2020).

Therefore, there is a socially determined and legally justified need to improve the quality of training of future teachers of mathematics, in particular informatics training. One of the leading directions for achieving this goal is the development and implementation of computer-oriented methodical systems and training tools for future teachers of mathematics.

2 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

The problems of development, modification and implementation of computer-oriented methodological systems for teaching mathematics and informatics in institutions of general secondary and higher education were studied by Bieliavtseva and Kanevska (Bieliavtseva and Kanevska, 2007), Vlasenko et al. (Vlasenko et al., 2020), Horoshko and Pokryshen (Horoshko and Pokryshen, 2010), Gubanov (Gubanov, 2010), Zhaldak et al. (Zhaldak et al., 2021), Klochko (Klochko, 2017), Tryus (Tryus, 2010), Shokaliuk (Shokaliuk, 2012) and others.

The professional competences of the future mathematics teacher are considered in (Zhukova, 2009; Ramskyi, 2013; Marienko, 2022; Lovianova et al., 2019; Semenikhina et al., 2022; Rakuta, 2013; Matiash and Mykhailenko, 2020; Skvortsova and Romanyshyn, 2019; Hrabovskyi, 2016; Lebedyk, 2017; Razlivinskih, 2011; Sadulaeva, 2012). In particular, the use of digital technologies in the training of future mathematics teachers and the formation of their IT competences is highlighted in (Bilousova and Zhytienova, 2010; Gubanov, 2010; Zhaldak, 2003; Zhernovnykova et al., 2020; Kirilenko, 2009; Kolgatin et al., 2022; Krishtof, 2011; Robert et al., 2016; Kushnir, 2014; Sarkeeva, 2010; Senkevich, 2005).

Analysis of the current state of development of the information society in Ukraine and the world (Schwab, 2016; Schwab and Malleret, 2020), the potential of information technologies as a means of integrating mathematics, computer science and natural sciences (Gromov, 2001; Semenov, 1995; Karakozov and Ryzhova, 2019), as well as the problems of informatics training of future mathematics teachers (Ershov, 1987; Zhaldak et al., 2012; Tikhomirov, 2000) discovered that the prospects for the development of digitization tools should be reflected in the anticipatory content of teaching informatics disciplines at all levels of education. Therefore, modernization of IT training and IT competences of future teachers needs special attention (Zhukova, 2009; Ramskyi, 2013), since it is the teacher who must introduce digital technologies into the educational process, form students' IT competences, and prepare the new generation for full-fledged life in the information society.

Mathematics and informatics are related sciences that significantly influence each other in the process of their development and largely determine the development of natural sciences and technologies. The main source for changes in the education system is the public order, which reflects the development of technology, science and socio-economic relations. In the 20s of the 21st century, this complex, named Industry 4.0, is extremely computerized, which makes it necessary to clarify the IT competencies of future teachers by reflecting new content and new abilities. It is shown that the formation of key and subject information-communication (digital) and mathematical competences in the European educational space is considered as a component of the fundamental literacy of workers in demand on the labor market of the future. Therefore, in the process of forming general professional digital competences of the teacher, it is necessary to take into account such basic ICT innovations as open educational resources, social networks, mobile technologies, the Internet of Things, artificial intelligence, virtual and augmented reality, big data, programming, ethics and privacy protection.

As a result of the analysis of domestic, foreign (Commonwealth of Australia, 2022; Association of Mathematics Teacher Educators, 2017) and international (UNESCO, 2018) teacher training standards, the components and indicators of such general professional digital competences as the ability to: evaluate, implement and use ICT-oriented educational platforms have been determined; application of elearning in social media; pedagogical design for elearning; analysis, implementation and evaluation of the effectiveness of evaluation; application of ICTrelated knowledge; implementation of improved educational practices; analysis of industrial implementations and e-learning systems. Special attention should be paid to the recommendations of the Association of Mathematics Teacher Educators and the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics of the USA aimed at pedagogically appropriate and balanced use of ICT in teaching mathematics in general secondary education institutions.

The generalization of the theoretical provisions gave reason to specify the structure, indicators and levels of formation of the IT competencies of the future mathematics teacher: at the first (initial) level, competencies related to performing tasks with the help of a personal computer, various software and digital devices are formed; at the second (minimum basic) competences in the use of ICT in any field are formed; the third (basic) develops competences in a wide range of ICT, including animation, the basics of cloud technologies, cyber security, digital media, computer networks, programming, computer systems and web development; the fourth (advanced) develops digital competencies related to solving a wide range of problems related to database management, computer game development, computer network configuration, programming, system administration, and web development; the fifth (in-depth) level provides for further development of general professional and formation of specialized competencies in computer networks, programming, web development, business analysis, cloud computing, cyber security, databases, design and development of computer games, system administration and system analysis; the sixth (research) level completes the process of forming informatics competencies of future mathematics teachers at the second level of higher education.

3 **EMPIRICAL RESEARCH OF STUDENTS' VIEWPOINTS**

Based on the analysis of various approaches to the design and development of methodical systems of education, the components of the computer-oriented methodical system of teaching informatics to pre-service mathematics teachers are determined. The choice of a methodical system as an object of modeling is related to the need to reflect in the model its structural components, technologized in terms of competencies, results and goals, external factors affecting the system, principles and approaches to its design. In the developed model of the computer-oriented methodical system of teaching informatics to pre-service mathematics teachers (figure 1), ICTs determine the goal, serve as design factors and leading means of teaching informatics disciplines. The model consists of four blocks.

The target block reflects the goal: the formation of informatic competences of future teachers of mathematics, which is a component of the professional competences of a mathematics teacher, which are summarized in integral competence: the ability to solve complex specialized tasks and practical problems in the field of general secondary education in the process of teaching mathematics, which involves the application of psychological-pedagogical theories and teaching methods and is characterized by complexity and uncertainty of conditions. The formulation of the goal involved taking into account social, educational and information technology factors: crisis phenomena in science and mathematics education, the social need for competent mathematics teachers, the need to change professional IT competencies and new means of Industry 4.0.

The design block reflects the process of designing the system of informatics competences of the mathematics teacher and the core of the methodological system of learning, which consists of interconnected components (goals, content and technology of learning informatics) based on systemic, competence-based, activity-oriented and personallyoriented methodological approaches and the principles of a harmonious combination of traditional and innovative technologies, continuity, extensibility, invariance and variability, predictability, contextuality, integrability; general didactic and partially didactic principles of teaching informatics and principles of designing an open methodical system: feedback, dynamic balance, integrity and structural stability of the system.

The system of IT competencies of a mathematics teacher is designed in the form of a hierarchy, each level of which is a certain specialization or specification of the previous one: at the first level there are basic IT competencies, which at the second level are specified in competencies in system administration, web technologies, programming and system analysis; the third level reflects the development of: competencies in system administration - in competencies in computer networks and cyber security, competencies in web technologies - in competencies in cloud technologies, competencies in programming - in competencies in the development of computer games, com-



Figure 1: Model of the computer-oriented methodical system of teaching informatics to pre-service mathematics teachers (Semerikov et al., 2021).

petencies in system analysis – in competencies in databases; the fourth level reflects promising competencies in the Internet of Things, which is the development of competencies in computer networks.

The components of the system are interconnected not only through the learning goals and the technological result, formulated in terms of the informatics competencies of the mathematics teacher, but also through the content of education by mapping: the structure of informatics competencies – to the structure of informatics training in the relevant educational program; the content of informatics competences on the content of training in informatics disciplines; mandatory and optional IT competences – for the structuring of IT disciplines.

The technological block reflects the process of creating a computer-oriented learning environment for informatics disciplines, in which there is direct and ICT-mediated educational communication between teachers and students, monitoring and diagnosis of the level of formation of informatics competencies at one of six levels: initial, minimum-basic, basic, advanced, in-depth and research.

The resulting block of the model reflects the projected goal of applying the developed methodical system: increasing the level of formation of informatics competencies of future mathematics teachers. The latter is considered both as a current result, which is diagnosed in the process of forming informational competences, and as a component of the overall result of professional training, which is diagnosed after the completion of the process of their formation.

Semerikov et al. (Semerikov et al., 2021) defines the principles of classification of teaching aids, selects teaching aids for general and special purpose IT disciplines, and provides elements of their application methodology. The interrelationships of the informatics competencies of future mathematics teachers with a wide range of tools have been revealed, which made it possible to characterize the following groups of leading tools for teaching informatics disciplines: communication tools; means of creating documents; means of access to databases; means of digital media technologies; hardware testing tools; software development and testing tools; project management tools; computer modeling tools.

In the training of informatics disciplines of future teachers of mathematics, it is appropriate to use learning strategies (Ploetzner, 2012) – sequences of effective teaching methods used purposefully and flexibly are increasingly automated, but remain consciously applied: yes, the method of problem presentation, heuristic and research the methods can be used both sequentially with increasing the level of formation of students' IT competences, and simultaneously in a group of students with different levels of their formation.

4 COURSEWARE STRUCTURE AND BACKGROUND OF EMPIRICAL STUDY

Experimental work on the research problem took place in 3 stages:

- 1) the analytical-declarative stage (2012 2013), the task of which was to study the state of computer science education of future mathematics teachers and to determine approaches to solving the research problem. In order to implement the set tasks, dissertations, domestic and foreign standards for the training of mathematics teachers, sources on computer science education and the formation of digital competencies of the future mathematics teacher were analyzed, which made it possible to formulate a research hypothesis. At the first stage, the main attention was paid to the issues of using ICT means of organization, monitoring and diagnosing the results of independent work of students in informatics disciplines. The conditions for the use of distance learning technologies in the training of future mathematics teachers were determined, and the content and forms of organization of training in informatics disciplines were selected. The identified problems of informatics training of future mathematics teachers provided an opportunity to identify competence and system approaches as leading to achieving the research goal;
- 2) the design and research stage (2014 2016) is dedicated to clarifying the structure and content of the mathematics teacher's informatics competencies and justifying the feasibility of using Web 2.0 tools for the development of research telecommunications projects, mathematical packages as universal programming and modeling environments, cloud-oriented the G Suite tool for comprehensive online support for teaching informatics disciplines for future mathematics teachers. At the second stage, the main components of the model of the computer-oriented methodical system of teaching informatics to pre-service mathematics teachers were determined and the ascertaining stage of the pedagogical experiment was conducted;
- the formative and generalizing stage (2017 2020) is devoted to the development and implementation of a computer-oriented methodical sys-

tem for training informatics disciplines for future mathematics teachers. The formative stage of the pedagogical experiment was conducted; the obtained results of experimental work were analyzed, elaborated and summarized; general conclusions are formulated and prospects for further research are determined.

114 students of Kharkiv National Pedagogical University named after H. S. Skovoroda and Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University took part in the formative stage of the pedagogical experiment to test the effectiveness of the computer-oriented methodical system of teaching informatics to pre-service mathematics teachers (the control group 71, experimental – 43). Comparison of the distributions of participants of the control and experimental groups at the beginning of the experiment using the H-criterion of Kruskal-Wallis showed the absence of statistically significant differences between them at the 0.05 level $(H = 3.6435 < H_{crit}(0.05) = 5.991)$.

The training of informatics subjects of the students of the experimental group was carried out according to the updated educational programs. In particular: in the educational discipline "Informatics" aimed at the formation of basic IT competencies of a mathematics teacher, the content module "Hardware and software of computing systems" has been updated to ensure the formation of basic competencies in the basics of system administration and application software for automating the document flow of an educational institution and competences for organizing safe joint work in a cloud-oriented educational environment; content modules have been introduced to the educational discipline "Methodology of Informatics Education" to ensure the formation of basic competencies in intellectual property, development and implementation of educational innovations, interaction with educational ICT clients and project activities; in the educational discipline "Computer Networks", content modules related to the design, installation, configuration and management of local networks of the scale of a computer class, support of network ICT systems, troubleshooting of computer networks have been updated, network security, Internet of Things, installation and configuration of virtual machines and desktop virtualization; the content modules of the educational discipline "Programming Languages" reflect competence in programming technologies, object-oriented programming, database programming, designing user interfaces, developing mobile applications and software extensions.

To ensure the formation of competences in web and cloud technologies and the development of computer games, new educational disciplines "Cloud technologies" and "Development of computer games" were introduced, which consider the issues of developing websites, social media, choosing and configuration of cloud services, 2D and 3D modeling, complex design and development of 3D interactive games (including mobile and online), their content and media components, characters with elements of artificial intelligence, as well as the creation of game environments for the organization of joint educational activities.

The effectiveness of the methodical system was determined by measuring the level of formation of IT competencies at 6 levels: initial (0-51 points), minimum-basic (52-60 points), basic (61-70 points), advanced (71-80 points), in-depth (81-90 points) and research (91-100 points). After the completion of the formative stage of the pedagogical experiment, the comparison of the distributions of students of the control and experimental groups according to the level of formation of IT competences using the χ^2 Pearson test showed that they have statistically significant differences at the 0.01 level $\chi^2 = 17.253 > \chi^2_{crit}(0.01) =$ 15.086. Taking into account the presence of individual violations of the conditions for applying the Pearson's χ^2 test (in 25% of the categories, the number of observations was less than 5), an additional test of the hypothesis that the level of formation of IT competences in the experimental group increased was performed using Fisher's angular transformation: $\phi^* = 3.969 > \phi^*_{crit}(0.01) = 2.31$, which is the basis for the conclusion that in the experimental group the level of formation of IT competencies has increased, and therefore, the research hypothesis is proven.

5 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

In order to test the effectiveness of the developed computer-oriented methodical system of teaching informatics to pre-service mathematics teachers, a formative stage of the pedagogical experiment was conducted, during which 71 students studied according to the traditional methodical system (control group), and 43 students - according to the author's method (experimental group). Using the Kruskal-Wallis test, it was established that at the beginning of the experiment, the distributions of participants in the control and experimental groups did not have statistically significant differences. After the experiment was completed, the level of formation of the informatics competencies of mathematics teachers was diagnosed, and statistically significant differences at the 0.01 level were established in the distributions of students of the control and experimental groups according to the Pearson criterion ($\chi^2 = 17.253 > \chi^2_{crit}(0.01) = 15.086$), and by applying the angular Fisher's transformation confirmed the statistical significance of the increase in the level of formation of IT competencies of the students of the experimental group ($\phi^* = 3.969 > \phi^*_{crit}(0.01) = 2.31$). Taking into account that the experimental group used the developed computer-oriented methodical system of teaching informatics to pre-service mathematics teachers, the indicator of the effectiveness of which is the diagnosed increase in the level of formation of informatics competences, it was concluded that the research hypothesis is proven.

6 CONCLUSIONS

The conducted analysis of the current state of informatization of society, the development of information technologies and the directions of reforming STEM education made it possible to conclude that its digitalization requires an end-to-end comprehensive appropriate use of models, methods and tools of informatics, systematic design of the anticipatory content of learning in informatics disciplines and modernization of informatics training of future teachers of mathematics.

It is shown that informatics as a complex discipline, the object of which is information processes of any nature, the subject is new information technologies, and the methodology is a computational experiment, is the basis for the integration of natural sciences, ICT, engineering and mathematics in STEM education.

The main areas of modernization of the professional training of mathematics teachers are identified and characterized: digitalization of research-oriented teaching of mathematics, informatization of the content of the teaching of mathematical disciplines, and strengthening of the IT training of mathematics teachers. It is substantiated that future teachers of mathematics should master new information technologies (mobile, ubiquitous, cloud-fog and quantum computing) and the ability to remotely manage social (in the process of distance learning) and cyber-physical systems, as well as the application of mathematical methods and models of artificial intelligence to them intelligence for the implementation of optimal management of training and robotic systems.

According to the results of the analysis of the standards of key competences, basic and full secondary education, training of teachers and specialists in information technology, the system of computer competences of the mathematics teacher was clarified in terms of structure, content and indicators of their formation. It is shown that the formation of IT competences of a mathematics teacher begins with basic IT competences: from the basics of system administration, in application software, from the organization of safe joint work, from digital media, from intellectual property, from the development and implementation of innovations, from interaction with educational ICT clients and project activities. Further development of basic IT competences takes place: in competences in system administration, which acquire further development in competences in computer networks (in computer network administration, in troubleshooting computer networks, in network security and in virtualization) and the Internet of Things, as well as competences in cyber security; in competences in web technologies, which acquire further development in competences in cloud technologies; in programming competences, which acquire further development in computer game development competences; competencies in system analysis and competencies in databases.

A model of a computer-oriented methodical system for training informatics disciplines for future mathematics teachers has been developed, which consists of four blocks: 1) target, which defines the goal of forming the informatics competencies of future mathematics teachers; 2) design, which reflects the process of designing the system of informatics competences of the mathematics teacher and the components of the methodical system of learning (goals, content and technology of learning informatics), interconnected on the basis of systemic, competence-based, activity-oriented and personally oriented methodological approaches and the principles of a harmonious combination of traditional and innovative technologies, continuity, extensibility, invariance and variability, predictability, contextuality, integrability, general didactic and partially didactic principles of teaching computer science and principles of designing an open methodical system; 3) technological, which reflects the process of creating a computer-oriented learning environment for informatics disciplines, in which direct and ICT-mediated educational communication, monitoring and diagnosis of the level of formation of informatics competencies takes place; 4) result, which reflects the achievement of the predicted result of the application of the model - increasing the level of formation of informatics competencies of future mathematics teachers.

The developed model is specified in the components of the computer-oriented methodical system of teaching informatics to pre-service mathematics teachers. Competencies related to innovative means of general education (electronic educational resources, social networks, mobile technologies, programming tools, virtual and augmented reality tools) and special purpose tools (means of compliance with confidentiality and ethics of data processing, Internet tools) are reflected in the content of training in informatics disciplines. things and means of artificial intelligence). It was determined that the leading means of teaching informatics disciplines for future teachers of mathematics are means of communication; creation of documents; access to databases; digital media technologies; hardware testing; development and testing software development; project management; computer modeling. It is shown that the educational activity of future teachers of mathematics acquires a research orientation under the condition of constructing educational strategies from methods of active learning, in particular, the method of projects, trainings, business games, cooperative learning. The selected learning strategies determined the choice of forms of organization of the educational process in general, educational classes in informatics, educational activities in class, independent work, practical training and forms of organization of control activities.

7 PROSPECT FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

The performed research does not cover all aspects of the analyzed problem. Further scientific searches for its solution are expedient in the following directions: integration of programming systems and computer mathematics in the professional training of future mathematics teachers; modernization of learning calculation methods based on the use of models and artificial intelligence tools; integrated teaching of mathematics and informatics in a specialized school; application of means of an immersive environment for the development of virtual manipulatives.

REFERENCES

- Association of Mathematics Teacher Educators (2017). Standards for Preparing Teachers of Mathematics. https://amte.net/standards.
- Bieliavtseva, T. V. and Kanevska, M. V. (2007). Provedennia navchalnykh doslidzhen pry vyvchenni metodiv obchyslen. Naukovyi chasopys NPU imeni M.P. Drahomanova. Seriia 2. Kompiuterno-oriientovani systemy navchannia, (5 (12)):149–151. https://sj.npu. edu.ua/index.php/kosn/article/view/619.
- Bilousova, L. I. and Zhytienova, N. V. (2010). Formation of pupils basic school cognitive interest to study of

natural sciences and mathematical subjects with computer support. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 16(2). https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v16i2.223.

- Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine (2013). Strategy for the Development of the Information Society in Ukraine. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/ 386-2013-%D1%80#Text.
- Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine (2018). Concept of the Development of the Digital Economy and Society of Ukraine for 2018-2020. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/ laws/show/67-2018-%D1%80#Text.
- Commonwealth of Australia (2022). TAE Training and Education Training Package. Release 5.0. https://training.gov.au/TrainingComponentFiles/TAE/ TAE_R5.0.pdf.
- Ershov, A. P. (1987). Informatics as a new subject in secondary schools in the USSR. *Prospects*, 17(4):559– 570. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02193675.
- Gromov, M. (2001). Possible Trends in Mathematics in the Coming Decades. In Engquist, B. and Schmid, W., editors, *Mathematics Unlimited — 2001* and Beyond, pages 525–527. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-642-56478-9_26.
- Gubanov, V. A. (2010). Formirovanie gotovnosti uchitelja matematiki k ispol'zovaniju programmyh sredstv v obrazovatel'nom processe. dis. ... kand. ped. nauk : 13.00.08 – teorija i metodika professional'nogo obrazovanija, Penzenskij gosudarstvennyj pedagogicheskij universitet imeni V.G. Belinskogo, Penza.
- Horoshko, Y. V. and Pokryshen, D. A. (2010). Intersubject conjuctions of informatics with mathematics and physics for future engineers training. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 9(1). https: //doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v9i1.17.
- Hrabovskyi, P. P. (2016). Rozvytok informatsiinoi kompetentnosti vchyteliv pryrodnycho-matematychnykh predmetiv u pisliadyplomnii pedahohichnii osviti. Dys. dys. ... kand. ped. nauk : 13.00.04, Zhytomyr. derzh. un-t im. Ivana Franka, Zhytomyr. http://eprints. zu.edu.ua/20223/.
- Karakozov, S. D. and Ryzhova, N. I. (2019). Information and education systems in the context of digitalization of education. *Journal of Siberian Federal University -Humanities and Social Sciences*, 12(9):1635–1647.
- Kirilenko, N. M. (2009). Pedagogical conditions of computer didactic games' application in future mathematic and computer science teachers' preparation. The dissertation for obtaining of the degree of the candidate of pedagogical sciences in specialty 13.00.04 – theory and methods of professional education, Vinnytsia State Pedagogical University named after Mykhailo Kotsyubynskiy, Vinnitsya. http://web.archive.org/web/20211016083149/ http://dspace.vspu.edu.ua/handle/123456789/724.
- Klochko, V. I. (2017). Formation of mathematical competencies of students of technical universities. *Naukovyi* chasopys NPU imeni M.P. Drahomanova. Seriia 2. Kompiuterno-oriientovani systemy navchannia, (19 (26)):64–67. https://sj.npu.edu.ua/index.php/kosn/ article/view/10.

- Kolgatin, O. H., Kolgatina, L. S., and Ponomareva, N. S. (2022). Stochastic process computational modeling for learning research. *Educational Dimension*, 6:68–83. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim.4498.
- Krishtof, S. D. (2011). Tekhnolohiia pidhotovky maibutnoho vchytelia pryrodnycho-matematychnykh dystsyplin do vykorystannia internet-pidtrymky u navchalnomu protsesi [Technology of preparation of future teacher of naturally-mathematical disciplines to the use of internetsupport in an educational process]. *Naukovi zapysky*, 98:125–131. http://enpuir.npu.edu. ua/handle/123456789/5223.
- Kushnir, V. (2014). Kontseptsiia modeliuvannia informatsiino-osvitnoho seredovyshcha v profesiinii pidhotovtsi maibutnikh uchyteliv matematyky. *Naukovi zapysky. Seriia: Pedahohichni nauky*, 132:6– 11. http://nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/Nz_p_2014_132_4.
- Lebedyk, L. V. (2017). Didactic Principles Of The Formation Of ICT-Competences Of Future Mathematical Teachers In The Process Of Professional Training. *Physical and Mathematical Education*, (3(13)):215– 219. https://fmo-journal.fizmatsspu.sumy.ua/publ/ 1-1-0-363.
- Lovianova, I. V., Bobyliev, D. Y., and Uchitel, A. D. (2019). Cloud calculations within the optional course Optimization Problems for 10th-11th graders. *Educational Dimension*, 1:95–110. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.v53i1.3835.
- Marienko, M. V. (2022). The Current State of using the Cloud-based Systems of Open Science by Teachers of General Secondary Education. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 2: AET, pages 466– 472. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/ 0010932900003364.
- Matiash, O. and Mykhailenko, L. (2020). Opportunities for method competence development of mathematics teachers: The role of participation in competitions with colleagues. Universal Journal of Educational Research, 8(3):747–754. https://doi.org/10. 13189/ujer.2020.080303.
- Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine (2008). Action plan for improving the quality of physical and mathematical education for 2009-2012. https://zakon. rada.gov.ua/rada/show/v1226290-08.
- Ploetzner, R. (2012). Cognitive Learning Strategies for Digital Media. In Seel, N. M., editor, *Encyclopedia of Sciences of Learning*, page 596–599. Springer, New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1428-6_ 309.
- President of Ukraine (2020). On the declaration of the 2020/2021 academic year as the Year of Mathematics Education in Ukraine. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/ laws/show/31/2020#Text.
- Rakuta, V. M. (2013). Experience on implementation of ICT competence professional development of mathematics teachers. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 38(6):70–82. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt. v38i6.892.

- Ramskyi, Y. S. (2013). Metodychna systema formuvannia informatsiinoi kultury maibutnikh vchyteliv matematyky [Methodical system of formation of information culture of future teachers of mathematics]. D. Sc. thesis, National Pedagogical Dragomanov University.
- Razlivinskih, I. N. (2011). Formirovanie matematicheskoj kompetentnosti u budushhih uchitelej nachal'nyh klassov v processe professional'noj podgotovki v vuze. Dis. ... kand. ped. nauk : 13.00.08 – teorija i metodika professional'nogo obrazovanija, Cheljab. gos. un-t, Cheljabinsk.
- Robert, I., Martirosyan, L., Gerova, N., Kastornova, V., Mukhametzyanov, I., and Dimova, A. (2016). Implementation of the Internet for Educational Purposes. In Uskov, V. L., Howlett, R. J., and Jain, L. C., editors, *Smart Education and e-Learning 2016*, volume 59 of *Smart Innovation, Systems and Technologies*, pages 573–583, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-39690-3_51.
- Sadulaeva, B. S. (2012). Formirovanie special'nyh kompetencij budushhih bakalavrov profilja "Informatika" v processe obuchenija matematicheskoj informatike. Dis. ... kand. ped. nauk : 13.00.02 – teorija i metodika obuchenija i vospitanija (informatika, uroven' professional'nogo obrazovanija), Cheljab. gos. ped. un-t, Cheljabinsk.
- Sarkeeva, A. N. (2010). Ispolzovanie kompiuternykh matematicheskikh paketov dlia obucheniia programmirovaniiu i modelirovaniiu v shkolnom kurse informatiki na profilnom urovne. Dis. ... kand. ped. nauk :247 13.00.02 – teoriia i metodika obucheniia i vospitaniia (informatika), Moscow.
- Schwab, K. (2016). *The Fourth Industrial Revolution*. World Economic Forum, Geneva.
- Schwab, K. and Malleret, T. (2020). COVID-19: The Great Reset. World Economic Forum, Geneva.
- Semenikhina, O. V., Drushlyak, M. G., and Shishenko, I. V. (2022). STEM project as a means of learning modeling for pre-service mathematics and computer science teachers. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 90(4):46–56. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt. v90i4.4946.
- Semenov, A. L. (1995). Matematicheskaia informatika v shkole. *Informatika i obrazovanie*, (5):54–58.
- Semerikov, S. O., Teplytskyi, I. O., Soloviev, V. N., Hamaniuk, V. A., Ponomareva, N. S., Kolgatin, O. H., Kolgatina, L. S., Byelyavtseva, T. V., Amelina, S. M., and Tarasenko, R. O. (2021). Methodic quest: Reinventing the system. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840(1):012036. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/ 1840/1/012036.
- Senkevich, L. B. (2005). Formirovanie informatcionnoi kompetentnosti budushchego uchitelia matematiki sredstvami informatcionnykh i kommunikatcionnykh tekhnologii. Dis. ... kand. ped. nauk : 13.00.02 – teoriia i metodika obucheniia i vospitaniia (informatika, uroven vysshego professionalnogo obrazovaniia), Omskii gos. ped. un-t, Omsk.
- Shokaliuk, S. V. (2012). Zmist ta dydaktychni zasoby perepidhotovky vchyteliv z pytan vykorystannia innovatsiinykh prohramnykh zasobiv dlia kompiuter-

noi pidtrymky navchannia. Naukovyi chasopys NPU imeni M.P. Drahomanova. Seriia 2. Kompiuternooriientovani systemy navchannia, (12 (19)):127–133.

- Skvortsova, S. and Romanyshyn, R. (2019). Universal Journal of Educational Research, 7(12):2817–2829. https://doi.org/10.13189/ujer.2019.071232.
- Tikhomirov, V. M. (2000). O nekotorykh problemakh matematicheskogo obrazovaniia. https://www. mccme.ru/conf2000/tikh.htm.
- Tryus, Y. V. (2010). Kompiuterno-oriientovani metodychni systemy navchannia matematychnykh dystsyplin u vnz: problemy, stan i perspektyvy. Naukovyi chasopys NPU imeni M.P. Drahomanova. Seriia 2. Kompiuterno-oriientovani systemy navchannia, (9 (16)):20–34. https://sj.npu.edu.ua/index.php/kosn/ article/view/298.
- UNESCO (2018). UNESCO ICT Competency Framework for Teachers. Version 3. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, Paris. https: //unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000265721.
- Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine (2007). About the Basic principles of development of information society in Ukraine for 2007-2015. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/ 537-16#Text.
- Vlasenko, K., Rovenska, O., Lovianova, I., Korchagina, S., Zahrebelna, H., and Dmytryshyn, I. (2020). On arranging the procedure of public debate on the educational curriculum draft for Master students majoring in 014 Secondary Education (Mathematics), academic discipline 01 Education/Pedagogics. *Educational Dimension*, 3:303–316. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.v55i0.4341.
- Zhaldak, M. I. (2003). Pedahohichnyi potentsial kompiuterno-oriientovanykh system navchannia matematyky [Pedagogical potential of teaching computer-based mathematics sys-Naukovyi chasopys NPU imeni tems]. M.P. Drahomanova. Seriia 2. Kompiuternosystemy oriientovani navchannia, 7:3-16.https://sj.npu.edu.ua/index.php/kosn/article/view/584.
- Zhaldak, M. I., Franchuk, V. M., and Franchuk, N. P. (2021). Some applications of cloud technologies in mathematical calculations. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840(1):012001. https://doi.org/10. 1088/1742-6596/1840/1/012001.
- Zhaldak, M. I., Goroshko, Y. V., Vinnychenko, E. F., and Tsybko, G. Y. (2012). *Mathematics with a computer: The teacher's guide*. National Dragomanov Pedagogical University, Kyiv, 3 edition. http://erpub.chnpu. edu.ua:8080/jspui/handle/123456789/1523.
- Zhernovnykova, O. A., Peretiaha, L. Y., Kovtun, A. V., Korduban, M. V., Nalyvaiko, O. O., and Nalyvaiko, N. A. (2020). The technology of prospective teachers' digital competence formation by means of gamification. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 75(1):170–185. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt. v75i1.3036.
- Zhukova, V. M. (2009). Formuvannia informatychnoi kompetentnosti maibutnoho vchytelia matematyky v protsesi profesiinoi pidhotovky [Formation of informatic competence of the future teacher of mathematics in the

process of professional training]. PhD thesis, Luhansk Taras Shevchenko National University.

The Use of Mobile Internet Devices in Teaching Bachelors of Electromechanics Modeling of Technical Objects

Yevhenii O. Modlo[®], Ruslan P. Shaida[®] and Oleksandr V. Lytovchenko[®]

State University of Economics and Technology, 5 Stepana Tilhy Str., Kryvyi Rih, 50006, Ukraine eugenemodlo@gmail.com, aumpekmi.nmetau@gmail.com, exp06lorer@ukr.net

- Keywords: Modeling of Technical Objects, Bachelors of Electromechanics, Mobile Internet Devices, Bachelor of Electromechanics Competency in Modeling of Technical Objects, A Model of Using Mobile Internet Devices in Learning Bachelors of Electromechanics in Modeling of Technical Objects, A Technique of Using Mobile Internet Devices in Learning Bachelors of Electromechanics in Modeling of Technical Objects.
- Abstract: The article is devoted to the problem of using development and implementation of methodic of using mobile Internet devices in learning bachelors of electromechanics in modeling of technical objects. Based on the analysis of scientific literature, the content of the bachelor of electromechanics competency in modeling of technical objects, the criteria for its formation and the model of using mobile Internet devices in learning bachelors of electromechanics in modeling of technical objects are theoretically substantiated and developed. The methodic of using mobile Internet devices in learning bachelors of electromechanics in modeling of technical objects was developed and experimentally tested; the concept of a mobile Internet device is clarified; the system of mobile ICT for learning bachelors of electromechanics has been improved; the methodic of learning bachelors of electromechanics to computer modeling was further developed.

1 INTRODUCTION

The Law of Ukraine "About the National Informatization Program" (Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine, 2022) defines the creation of an education system focused on the use of the latest ICT in the formation of a comprehensively developed personality as the main direction of the use of information and communication technologies (ICT), which provides the opportunity for each person to independently acquire knowledge, skills and abilities during education and professional training.

The goal of the Strategy for the development of higher education in Ukraine for 2022-2032 is to update the content, forms, methods and means of education through the wide introduction of modern ICT and electronic content into the educational process (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2022). The absolute priority of education development is the introduction of modern ICTs, which ensure the improvement of the educational process, accessibility and effectiveness of education, and the preparation of the younger generation for life in the information society. Among the key directions of the state education policy defined by the strategy, two directions are interrelated. This is the informatization of education and the creation of a modern material and technical base of the education system, which require updating the outdated fleet of computer equipment, due to an increase in the share of mobile Internet devices (MID), which are the leading modern means of ICT education (Chieng, 2007).

One of the components of the professional training system of a modern engineer is computer modeling of technical objects and processes, which are widely used in all types of engineering activities. Modeling plays a special role in the training of specialists in the field of knowledge 14 "Electrical engineering", providing from 60% in the cycle of mathematical, natural and scientific training to 72% in the cycle of professional and practical training of electrical engineering and electromechanics bachelors. This is connected to the fact that, on the one hand, computer modeling of electromechanical objects and the processes flow in electromechanical systems is one of the types of professional activity of an electromechanical engineer, and on the other hand, to the fact that mathematical modeling is the basis of fundamental (physical and mathematical) training of an elec-

804

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2037-1557

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7942-9592

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2142-2697

Modlo, Y., Shaida, R. and Lytovchenko, O.

The Use of Mobile Internet Devices in Teaching Bachelors of Electromechanics Modeling of Technical Objects.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 804-816 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS - Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

tromechanical engineer. Therefore, the ability of electromechanics bachelor to apply the modeling methods, theoretical and experimental research using ICT is the basis of the general professional competences of electromechanics bachelors in modeling technical objects.

Despite the fact that ICT tools are actively used by electromechanical engineers, the method of their use in the process of teaching professionally oriented disciplines for electromechanics bachelors has been considered in few studios of Ukrainian researches (Sobko, 2002; Kobysya, 2012). The analysis of theory and practice of the researched problem revealed a contradiction between:

- the high level of mobility of an electromechanical engineer in the professional activity process and ensuring its ICT support with the help of mobile devices, on the one hand, and the lack of focus on their use in the process of training bachelors of electromechanics at the HEI – on the other hand;
- the need to develop integral competence in electromechanics bachelors in solving specialized problems and solving practical problems characterized by the complexity and uncertainty of the conditions modeling of technical objects, and the insufficient level of development of its components;
- the significant influence of mobile Internet devices on all components of the process of teaching bachelors of electromechanics modeling of technical objects and the lack of scientifically based methods of their use.

2 METHOD

The relevance of the investigated problem, its insufficient development in pedagogical theory and practice, as well as the need to resolve isolated contradictions led to the choice of the research object – the process of teaching bachelors of electromechanics modeling of technical objects – and the research subject: the method of using mobile Internet devices in the process of teaching bachelors of electromechanics modeling of technical objects.

The *purpose* of the study is to theoretically justify, develop and experimentally verify the methodology of using mobile Internet devices in teaching bachelors of electromechanics modeling of technical objects.

The *hypothesis* of the study is the assumption that the methodically justified use of mobile Internet devices in the training of bachelors of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects will contribute to increasing the level of formation of their competence in the modeling of technical objects.

In accordance with the purpose and hypothesis, the following main *tasks* of the research are defined:

- 1. To analyze the sources of the problems of teaching bachelors of electromechanics modeling of technical objects and the use of mobile Internet devices in education.
- To theoretically substantiate the content, structure, criteria and levels of formation of the competence of the bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects.
- 3. To develop a model of the process of using mobile Internet devices in teaching bachelors of electromechanics modeling of technical objects.
- 4. To develop a method of using mobile Internet devices in training of bachelors in electromechanics modeling of technical objects
- 5. Experimentally verify the effectiveness of the developed methodology in the process of forming the competence of bachelors of electromechanics in modeling technical objects.

The following *research methods* were used to solve the tasks:

- *theoretical* analysis, generalization, systematization of the legal framework, educational standards, Internet resources, modern mobile ICT learning tools to determine the theoretical basis of the research, substantiation of the model and methods of using mobile Internet devices in education bachelors of electromechanics modeling of technical objects;
- *empirical* purposeful pedagogical observations, conversations with teachers and students, questionnaires, analysis of teachers' work experience, expert evaluation to determine the structure and content of the competence of a bachelor of electromechanics in modeling technical objects, selection of mobile Internet devices for training bachelors of electromechanics in modeling and formative stages of the pedagogical experiment for the purpose of approbation of the proposed methodology and experimental implementation of the main provisions of the study into the practice of higher education institutions;
- *statistical* for quantitative and qualitative analysis of learning results according to the developed methodology.

The theoretical and methodological foundations of the research are philosophical propositions about the unity of theory and practice, interdependence and interrelationship of objective and subjective factors of personality formation; conceptual ideas of the philosophy of education (Andrushchenko, 2020; Savchenko and Kurylo, 2018; Kremen and Ilyin, 2020); theoretical foundations of the organization of the educational process in institutions of higher education (Atanov and Dudyanova, 2003; Yildirim et al., 2019), in particular technical higher education institutions (Luzik et al., 2019); theoretical foundations of modeling of training and education systems (Bykov, 2010; Dokuchaieva, 2022); scientific provisions of the competence approach in education (Spirin, 2010; Ovcharuk and Ivaniuk, 2021; Volkova et al., 2021), in particular, the formation of competence in modeling (Teplytskyi, 2000; Teplytskyi et al., 2019); theoretical and methodological principles of professional training of specialists in electromechanics (Roney, 1966a,b; Sobko, 2002; Wang et al., 2009; Kobysya, 2012; Dixit, 2012); scientific provisions of the theory and methods of using ICT in education (Bykov, 2010; Robert et al., 2016; Leshchuk et al., 2022; Nychkalo et al., 2021; Semerikov et al., 2021; Volkova et al., 2021; Zhaldak et al., 2021; Kukharenko et al., 2022; Spirin et al., 2022); theory and practice of implementing innovative technologies in institutions of higher education (Bespalko, 2018; Savchenko and Kurylo, 2018; Symonenko et al., 2020; Drushlyak et al., 2021; Volkova, 2022), in particular the use of mobile ICT in education (Slovak, 2013; Tkachuk, 2013; Echkalo, 2014; Kyslova and Slovak, 2015; Kazhan et al., 2020; Stepanyuk et al., 2020; Amelina et al., 2022; Tkachuk et al., 2022).

3 THEORETICAL PRINCIPLES OF THE USE OF MOBILE INTERNET DEVICES IN TEACHING BACHELORS OF ELECTROMECHANICS MODELING OF TECHNICAL OBJECTS

Analysis of the theory and practice of professional training of bachelors of electromechanics in Ukraine and abroad (Roney, 1966a,b; Hanson, 1994; Motorina, 2002; Vishniakova, 2004; Vaughan et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2009; Kobysya, 2012) made it possible to determine that one of the leading trends in its modernization is the synergistic integration of various branches of engineering (mechanical, electrical, electronic engineering and automation) for the purpose of

designing, manufacturing, operation and maintenance of electromechanical equipment (Dixit, 2012). This approach, called mechatronics, involves the meaningful integration of various disciplines of professional and practical training of electromechanics bachelors based on the concept of modeling and the complex use of various forms of organization and training methods based on the concept of mobility.

It is shown that with such an approach, mobile Internet devices - multimedia mobile devices that provide wireless access to information and communication Internet services for collection, systematization, storage, processing, transmission, presentation - become the leading means of forming the competence of a bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects all kinds of messages and data (Chieng, 2007; Modlo et al., 2018). The possibilities of using mobile Internet devices in education in order to ensure equal access to education (Molina and Chirino, 2010), personalization of education (Kinshuk et al., 2010), instant feedback and assessment of learning results (Bas and Slovak, 2014), organization of mobile learning (Traxler, 2021) are characterized, effective use of study time (Idrus, 2015), formation of mobile learning communities (Kukharenko, 2013), support of situational learning (Restivo et al., 2014), development of continuous "seamless" learning (Fernando et al., 2013), provision of communication connection between formal and informal education (Baloch et al., 2012), minimization of the consequences of the destruction of the educational process in areas of military conflicts or natural disasters (Dahya, 2016), assistance in education for persons with special educational needs, improvement of the quality of communication and management of an educational institution, maximization of cost effectiveness.

The generalization of the theoretical provisions gave grounds to define the competence of a bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects as a personal and professional education, which includes a system of knowledge, abilities, skills, activity experience in the modeling of mechatronic systems and a positive value attitude towards it, and is manifested in the readiness and ability to apply modeling methods and software and hardware tools for process analysis, system synthesis, assessment of their reliability and efficiency for solving practical problems in professional activity, and distinguishing its components: cognitive, praxeological, axiological and information-communicative (communicability, ability to adapt and integrate). The structure of competence is reflected in the corresponding system of competences (figure 1).

The content of each competency is specified in competency matrices, which contains assessment criteria for 4 components (cognitive, praxeological, axiological, information-communicative) at 4 levels (levels of formation, low, medium and high). The use of the defined assessment criteria made it possible to determine the integral level of formation of the competence of the bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects. Taking into account that the highest level of systematicity in the process of its formation is achieved during preparation for state certification (exam, passing of the qualification work), it is appropriate to take into account its detection by students during state certification when assessing the level of formation.

4 METHODICAL PRINCIPLES OF USING MOBILE INTERNET DEVICES IN THE EDUCATION OF BACHELORS OF ELECTROMECHANICS OF MODELING TECHNICAL OBJECTS

The model of the process of using mobile Internet devices in teaching bachelors of electromechanics modeling of technical objects (figure 2) contains: socially and technologically significant factors that determine the expediency and necessity of developing a methodology for using mobile Internet devices in teaching bachelors of electromechanics modeling technical objects; methodological approaches (competent, systemic, interdisciplinary, model and activity) use of mobile ICT and learning tools; a target block that specifies the goal - formation of the competence of a bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects; content-technological block, which reflects the connection between the content of education and the formation of individual components of the competence of a bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects and the technology of using mobile Internet devices in the education of bachelors of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects (a system of forms of organization of the educational process with using mobile Internet devices, methods of their use and mobile ICT tools); a diagnostic result block containing evaluation criteria, indicators, levels of formation and tools for diagnosing the competence of a bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects. The implementation of the process of using mobile Internet devices in the training of bachelors of electromechanics in modeling technical objects is an appropriate method of use, the components of which are partial methods of using mobile Internet devices in the formation of general scientific, general professional and specialized professional components of the competence of a bachelor of electromechanics in modeling technical object.

It was determined that the leading ones for the formation of general scientific competences are: in applied mathematics, the content of the academic disciplines "Higher mathematics" and "Computer technology and programming"; in ICT - "Computer technology and programming" and "Engineering and computer graphics"; in fundamental sciences - "Higher mathematics", "Theoretical mechanics" and "Electric machines" (Modlo et al., 2019a,b). It was determined that in the process of forming the general scientific component of the competence of a bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects, it is advisable to use: for visualization of the structure of objects and the results of modeling – mobile means of augmented reality (SIKE Software); at all stages of modeling - mobile computer mathematical systems with object and symbolic input type (Scilab on cloud, MATLAB Mobile, Octave, SMath Studio, SageCell); cloud-based spreadsheet processors as modeling tools (Google Sheets, Microsoft Excel) and text editors for software description of models (Google Documents, Microsoft Word); mobile automated design systems for creating and viewing physical properties of models of technical objects (Electrical, Autodesk Inventor, AutoCAD - DWG Viewer & Editor, A360 - View CAD files, Fusion 360); mobile communication tools for organizing joint modeling activities (Modlo and Semerikov, 2014; Syrovatskyi et al., 2018; Kiv et al., 2019; Shepiliev et al., 2020).

It has been established that the content of the educational disciplines "Computing technology and programming", "Theory of automatic control" and "Modeling of electromechanical systems" are the leading ones for the formation of general professional competences: from solving professional problems by means of ICT; in electric machines - "Electric machines" (Modlo et al., 2020). It is substantiated that for competence in the application of various methods of presentation of models and competence in critical thinking, it is not possible to single out the leading educational disciplines - the formation of these components of the competence of a bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects takes place throughout the professional training of a bachelor of electromechanics. It was determined that in the process of forming the general professional compo-



Figure 1: The system of competences of a bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects.

nent of the competence of a bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects, it is advisable to use: cloud-oriented spreadsheet processors, such as Google Sheets as modeling tools, including neural networks (Modlo, 2013); visual modeling systems, such as Xcos and Simulink, for structural modeling of technical objects (Modlo and Semerikov, 2018); mobile computing mathematical systems, such as SageCell, Scilab and MATLAB Online, used for all stages of modeling; mobile communication tools for organizing joint modeling activities. It was determined that the content of the educational discipline "Modeling of electromechanical systems" is leading to the formation of specialized professional competencies: in the modeling of electric power objects, systems and processes in them, and in the modeling of electromechanical systems; from the analysis of processes in power equipment - "Theoretical foundations of electrical engineering"; in making decisions on the management of modes of electric power facilities and systems and in the application of the results of analysis and calculation of permanent and transient processes for the prevention and elimination of accidents in power systems and facilities - "Automatic control theory" and "Electric drive theory". The expediency of using specialized systems for calculating

electric circuits (ZRLC(Circuit solver)) in the process of formation of the specialized professional component of the competence of the bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects is substantiated. visual modeling systems for simulation modeling of technical objects (Xcos); means of simulation of dispatch control and data collection for simulation modeling of processes in electric power systems (Simple-Scada); mobile computer mathematical systems (Scilab); mobile communication tools for organizing joint modeling activities. Leading forms of organizing the educational process using mobile Internet devices: demonstrations for the formation of new concepts and methods of action using mobile augmented reality devices; laboratory work, during which all classes of mobile ICT tools are comprehensively used; lectures: informative (when presenting new material), lecture-seminars (provided the problem-based method is used), demonstration lectures (for the comprehensive formation of modeling skills) and consultation lectures (for the preparation and support of a research project); a business game using SCADA systems to develop operator skills means of simulation modeling; work in pairs and small groups; project form of education; consultations (face-to-face and remote).



Figure 2: The model of the mobile Internet devices using process in teaching bachelors of electromechanics modeling of technical objects.

The leading methods of using mobile Internet devices in teaching bachelors of electromechanics modeling of technical objects: the method of problem presentation, in which mobile Internet devices are used as a means of obtaining information from various sources related to the subject of the lesson; partial search method, in particular, the techniques of symbolic and figurative vision, which correspond to different ways of presenting the model of a technical object - mathematical and structural; the method of errors, which is advisable to apply when presenting the model both as a program in a mobile computer mathematical system and as a structural diagram in a visual modeling system; the research method is used as the main one in the process of forming the competence of a bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects; the project method is used to organize joint educational and research activities of modeling students; the method of demonstration examples is used in lectures, demonstrations and in practical classes to study the adequacy of ready-made models and their further development; computational experiment (as one of the stages of modeling) and programming (as one of the methods of implementing the model); lecture method.

In table 1, the MID software tools, which are leading to the formation of each component of the competence of a bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects, are highlighted with a " $\sqrt{}$ " mark.

5 EXPERIMENTAL WORK

The development and testing of the theoretical provisions of the research took place in three stages.

The task of the analytical-declarative stage of the research (2007 - 2011) was to study the current state of training in the modeling of technical objects of bachelors of electromechanics, the use of mobile Internet devices as a means of learning, and the selection of the starting points of the research. To implement the tasks, the scientific and methodological literature on the use of mobile ICT in education, domestic and foreign experience of training specialists in electromechanics was analyzed, which made it possible to formulate the relevance of the research and its hypothesis. Developed, tested, and improved training programs, virtual laboratories for modeling technical objects and systems; studied modern domestic and foreign methods of using ICT in the training of bachelors of electromechanics; a theoretical analysis of domestic and foreign psychological-pedagogical literature was carried out to find out the degree of study and

810

development of the problem, the ascertaining stage of the pedagogical experiment was carried out.

At the design and research stage of the research (2012 - 2015), the system of competences of the bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects was determined, the educational course "Modeling of electromechanical systems" was designed and developed, mobile Internet devices and software tools for learning the modeling of electromechanical systems were selected, a model of the use of mobile Internet devices in teaching bachelors of electromechanics modeling of technical objects was developed. As a result of an expert survey aimed at determining the contribution of each component of the competence of a bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects to its formation, it was determined that the contribution of general professional and specialized professional competences is the same – 35.3% for each group, while the contribution of general scientific – 29.4%. Among general scientific competences, competence in applied mathematics was the leading one, among general professional competences - critical thinking, and among specialized professional competences - competence in modeling electromechanical systems. Processing the results of the survey made it possible to determine quantitative indicators of the formation of each of the components of the competence of the bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects and an integral indicator reflecting the level of the formation of competence in general.

At the *formative and generalization stage* of the research (2016 – 2018), a method of using mobile Internet devices in teaching bachelors of electromechanics modeling of technical objects was developed, the formative stage of the pedagogical experiment was conducted; the obtained results of experimental work were analyzed and summarized; general conclusions are formulated and prospects for further research are determined.

201 students majoring in "Electromechanics" took part in the formative stage of the pedagogical experiment: the control group (CG) – 150 students of the Kryvyi Rih National University, who studied according to the traditional method, which did not involve the systematic use of mobile Internet devices, and the experimental group (EG) – 51 a student of the National Metallurgical Academy of Ukraine, who studied according to the developed method of using mobile Internet devices in the process of teaching bachelors of electromechanics modeling of technical objects. Processing of the results of the experimental work was carried out using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov criterion. It was established that before the beginning

Table 1: The use of mobile Internet devices in the process of forming the competence components of the bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects.

	General	General	Special
Software tools	scientific	professional	professional
	component	component	component
mobile computer math systems	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
mobile communication tools	\checkmark		\checkmark
cloud-oriented table processors	\checkmark	\checkmark	
visual modeling systems		\checkmark	\checkmark
mobile tools of augmented reality	\checkmark		
cloud-oriented text editors	\checkmark		
mobile CAD-systems			
specialized systems for calculating electric circuits,			
means of modeling dispatch control and data collection			



Figure 3: Distribution of CG and EG students according to the level of formation of the competence of the bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects after the completion of the formative stage of the experiment.

of the formative stage of the pedagogical experiment, there were no statistically significant differences in the distributions of CG and EG students of one year of admission based on the results of the entrance exams.

After the completion of the formative stage of the pedagogical experiment, the integral level of competence formation of the bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects was diagnosed, and the distribution of CG and EG students by level was compared (figure 3). Statistically significant differences at the level of 0.99 in the distributions of students of the control and experimental groups were established ($\lambda = 1.752 > \lambda_{crit}(0.01) = 1.63$).

Based on the fact that the experimental group used the developed method of using mobile Internet devices, we come to the conclusion that this was a factor in increasing the level of formation of their competence in modeling technical objects, and therefore, the research hypothesis is proven.

6 CONCLUSION

The obtained results of the research give grounds for making the following conclusions:

 Analysis of the experience of professional training of electromechanics bachelors in Ukraine and abroad made it possible to determine that one of the leading trends in its modernization is the synergy of mechanical, electrical, electronic engineering and automation in mechatronics for the purpose of designing, manufacturing, operation and maintenance of electromechanical equipment. The study of mechatronics involves the content integration of various disciplines of professional and practical training of electromechanics bachelors based on the concept of modeling and the technological integration of various forms of organization and training methods based on the concept of mobility. According to this approach, mo-
bile Internet devices - multimedia mobile devices that provide wireless access to information and communication Internet services for the collection, systematization, storage, processing, transmission, presentation of all kinds of messages and data - become the leading means of education for bachelors of electromechanics. The work reveals the main possibilities of using mobile Internet devices in education to ensure equal access to education, personalization of education, instant feedback and assessment of learning results, organization of mobile learning, effective use of time in classrooms, formation of mobile learning communities, support of situational education, the development of continuous "seamless" education, ensuring the connection between formal and informal education, minimizing the consequences of the destruction of the educational process in areas of military conflicts or natural disasters, assisting in the education of persons with special educational needs, improving the quality of communication and management of an educational institution and maximizing efficiency of its costs.

2. The competence of a bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects is a personal and professional education that includes a system of knowledge, abilities, skills, experience in modeling mechatronic systems and a positive value attitude towards it, and is manifested in the readiness and ability to apply methods and software-hardware modeling tools for process analysis, system synthesis, assessment of their reliability and efficiency for solving practical problems in professional activity. The competence structure of a bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects is reflected in three groups of competences: general scientific (in applied mathematics; in ICT; in fundamental sciences), general professional (application of various ways of presenting models; critical thinking; solving professional problems by means of ICT; in electric machines) and specialized professional (in modeling of electric power objects, systems and processes in them; in the analysis of processes in power equipment; in decision-making on the management of modes of electric power objects and systems; in the application of the results of analysis and calculation of permanent and transient processes for the prevention and elimination of accidents in electric power systems and objects; in modeling of electromechanical systems). The content of each competency is defined in the competency matrices allowed to develop criteria for evaluating their formation according to cognitive,

praxeological, informational and communicative components at the levels of unformedness, low, medium, and high.

- 3. The model of the process of using mobile Internet devices in the training of bachelors of electromechanics in modeling technical objects is built on the basis of competence, system, interdisciplinary, model and activity approaches and consists of three blocks: the target, which specifies the goal the formation of the competence of bachelors of electromechanics in modeling technical objects; content-technological, which reflects the connection of the content of education with the formation of individual components of competence and the technology of using mobile Internet devices in teaching bachelors of electromechanics modeling of technical objects (a system of forms of organization of the educational process using mobile Internet devices, methods of their use and mobile ICT means); and diagnostic results, containing evaluation criteria, indicators, levels of formation, and tools for diagnosing the competence of a bachelor of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects.
- 4. The implementation of the technology of using mobile Internet devices in the training of bachelors of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects is an appropriate method of use, the components of which are partial methods of using mobile Internet devices in the formation of general scientific, general professional components of the competence of a bachelor of electromechanics in modeling technical objects, disclosed on the example of the academic disciplines "Higher mathematics", "Computing technology and programming", "Engineering and computer graphics", "Theoretical mechanics", "Electric machines", "Automatic control theory", "Modeling of electromechanical systems", "Theoretical foundations of electrical engineering", "Electric drive theory". The leading forms of organizing the educational process using mobile Internet devices are demonstrations, laboratory work, lectures, business games, work in pairs and small groups, project form and consultations; the leading methods of using mobile Internet devices in the teaching of bachelors of electromechanics modeling of technical objects are lecture, partial research, problem, research, error method, project method, method of demonstration examples, computing experiment and programming, and the leading means are mobile computer mathematical systems (universal tools used at all stages of modeling training), mobile communication tools (for

organizing joint modeling activities), cloud-based spreadsheet processors (as modeling tools, including neural networks), visual modeling systems (for structural modeling of technical objects), mobile tools of augmented reality (for visualizing the structure of objects and modeling results), cloud-based text editors (for software description of models), mobile automated design systems (for creating and viewing the physical properties of models of technical objects), specialized systems (for calculating electric circuits), means of modeling dispatch control and data collection (for simulation modeling of processes in electric power systems).

5. In order to verify the effectiveness of the method of using mobile Internet devices in the training of bachelors of electromechanics in the modeling of technical objects, a pedagogical experiment was conducted, at the formative stage of which 150 students of electromechanics studied according to the traditional method, which did not involve the systematic use of mobile Internet devices (control group), and 51 electromechanical students studied according to the developed methodology (experimental group). With the application of the Kolmogorov-Smirnov criterion, it was established that before the beginning of the formative stage of the pedagogical experiment, there were no statistically significant differences in the distributions of students of the control and experimental groups of one year of admission according to the results of the entrance tests. After the completion of the formative stage of the pedagogical integral level of in the modeling of technical objects, statistically formation significant of the experiment differences of the bachelor of were the electromechanics competence of established at the level of 0.99 in the distributions of students of the control and experimental groups. Considering that the experimental group used the developed method of using mobile Internet devices, it can be concluded that its implementation became a factor in increasing the level of formation of their competence in modeling technical objects, and therefore, the research hypothesis is proven.

7 FUTURE WORK

The performed research does not cover all aspects of the analyzed problem. Further scientific searches for its solution are expedient in the following directions: the use of augmented reality tools in the training of future mechatronics specialists; virtualization of the environment for professional and practical training of future mechatronics specialists; SCADA systems as a means of teaching bachelors of electrical engineering and electromechanics.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The research was completed in accordance with the plan of research work of the joint research laboratory on the use of cloud technologies in education of the Kryvyi Rih National University and the Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the National Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine within the framework of the complex topic "Theoretical and methodological foundations of the use of mobile information and communication technologies in education" (state registration number 0116U001867).

REFERENCES

- Amelina, S. M., Tarasenko, R. O., Semerikov, S. O., and Shen, L. (2022). Using mobile applications with augmented reality elements in the self-study process of prospective translators. *Educational Technol*ogy Quarterly, 2022(4):263–275. https://doi.org/10. 55056/etq.51.
- Andrushchenko, V. (2020). Post-pandemic education. Interdisciplinary Studies of Complex Systems, (17):5–13. https://doi.org/10.31392/iscs.2020.17.005.
- Atanov, G. and Dudyanova, E. (2003). The hypertext semantic synopsis as a tool to realize the activities approach in learning. In *Proceedings 3rd IEEE International Conference on Advanced Technologies*, pages 438–. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICALT.2003.1215161.
- Baloch, H. Z., Abdul Rahman, A., and A Ihad, N. (2012). Mobile Collaborative Informal Learning Design: Study of collaborative effectiveness using Activity Theory. *International Journal of Interactive Mobile Technologies (iJIM)*, 6(3):pp. 34–41. https: //doi.org/10.3991/ijim.v6i3.2090.
- Bas, S. V. and Slovak, K. (2014). Ways of processing requests and characteristics of mobile access to Wolfram|Alpha. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 2:309–316. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.226.
- Bespalko, V. P. (2018). Kyberpedahohyka. Pedahohycheskye osnovy upravliaemoho kompiuterom obuchenyia (E-Learning) [Cyberpedagogy pedagogical basics of computer assisted education (E-Learning)]. Narodnoe obrazovanie, Moscow.
- Bykov, V. Y. (2010). The theoretical and methodological grounds for modeling of educational environment of modern pedagogic systems. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 1(1). https://doi.org/10.33407/ itlt.v1i1.285.
- Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine (2022). Stratehiia rozvytku vyshchoi osvity v Ukraini na 2022-2032

roky [Strategy for the development of higher education in Ukraine for 2022-2032]. https://tinyurl.com/ 25yrevy4.

- Chieng, D. (2007). Mobile Internet Devices. HardwareMAG (Singapore), pages 106–115.
- Dahya, N. (2016). Education in Conflict and Crisis: How Can Technology Make a Difference? A Landscape Review, Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH, Bohn. https: //tinyurl.com/yxjcey7b.
- Dixit, U. S. (2012). Mechatronics Education. In Davim, J. P., editor, *Mechanical Engineering Education*, pages 61–106. ISTE, John Wiley & Sons, London, Hoboken.
- Dokuchaieva, V. V. (2022). Design of innovative pedagogical systems as a transdisciplinary-oriented concept. *Educational Dimension*, 7:1–20. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.4470.
- Drushlyak, M. G., Semenikhina, O. V., Proshkin, V. V., Kharchenko, S. Y., and Lukashova, T. D. (2021). Methodology of formation of modeling skills based on a constructive approach (on the example of GeoGebra). *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 8:458–472. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.300.
- Echkalo, Y. V. (2014). Elements of a mobile learning environment. CTE Workshop Proceedings, 2:152–157. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.199.
- Fernando, N., Loke, S. W., and Rahayu, W. (2013). Mobile cloud computing: A survey. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, 29(1):84–106. Including Special section: AIRCC-NetCoM 2009 and Special section: Clouds and Service-Oriented Architectures.
- Hanson, M. (1994). Teaching mechatronics at tertiary level. *Mechatronics*, 4(2):217–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0957-4158(94)90045-0.
- Idrus, R. M. (2015). The Mobile Learning Flipped Classroom. In Psarris, K., editor, Recent Advances in Education and Educational Technology : Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Education and Educational Technology (EDU'15). Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. April 23-25, 2015, volume 16 of Educational Technologies Series, pages 65–68. WSEAS Press. http://www.wseas.us/e-library/ conferences/2015/Malaysia/EDU/EDU-10.pdf.
- Kazhan, Y. M., Hamaniuk, V. A., Amelina, S. M., Tarasenko, R. O., and Tolmachev, S. T. (2020). The use of mobile applications and Web 2.0 interactive tools for students' German-language lexical competence improvement. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:392–415. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.376.
- Kinshuk, Chang, M., Graf, S., and Yang, G. (2010). Adaptivity and Personalization in Mobile Learning. *Technology, Instruction, Cognition and Learning*, 8(2):163–174.
- Kiv, A. E., Merzlykin, O. V., Modlo, Y. O., Nechypurenko, P. P., and Topolova, I. Y. (2019). The overview of software for computer simulations in profile physics learning. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:352–362. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.396.

- Kobysya, V. M. (2012). Electrician training facilities design-oriented computer technology training in vocational schools. The dissertation for obtaining of the degree of candidate of pedagogical sciences in specialty 13.00.04 - theory and methods of professional education, Vinnytsia State Pedagogical University named after Michailo Kotsiubynsky, Vinnytsia. https://library.vspu.net/jspui/handle/123456789/564.
- Kremen, V. H. and Ilyin, V. V. (2020). Presentation of visual literacy in the educational process and its explication in the culture of thinking. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 75(1):1–12. https://doi.org/10. 33407/itlt.v75i1.3660.
- Kukharenko, V., Shunevych, B., and Kravtsov, H. (2022). Distance course examination. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(1):1–19. https://doi.org/10. 55056/etq.4.
- Kukharenko, V. M. (2013). Problems of massive open online distance learning courses in distance learning systems. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 1:55–56. https: //doi.org/10.55056/cte.89.
- Kyslova, M. A. and Slovak, K. I. (2015). Cloud tools of constructing mobile learning environment in higher mathematics. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 3:194–199. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.264.
- Leshchuk, S. O., Ramskyi, Y. S., Kotyk, A. V., and Kutsiy, S. V. (2022). Design a progressive web application to support student learning. *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, 3077:83–96.
- Luzik, E., Kokarieva, A., Hurska, O., Veselska, O., and Konivitska, T. (2019). Information Technology for Formation and Implementation of the Personal Trajectory of a Future Specialist's Success in the Information and Educational Environment. In Gnatyuk, S., Fedushko, S., Hu, Z., Odarchenko, R., Syerov, Y., Peleshchyshyn, A., and Korobiichuk, I., editors, Proceedings of the International Workshop on Cyber Hygiene (CybHyg-2019) co-located with 1st International Conference on Cyber Hygiene and Conflict Management in Global Information Networks (CyberConf 2019), Kyiv, Ukraine, November 30, 2019, volume 2654 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 556–570. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-2654/paper44.pdf.
- Modlo, E. O. and Semerikov, S. O. (2014). Development of SageMath filter for Moodle. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 2:233–243. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.213.
- Modlo, Y. O. (2013). Using desktop programs in the cloud environment. CTE Workshop Proceedings, 1:39. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.78.
- Modlo, Y. O. and Semerikov, S. O. (2018). Xcos on Web as a promising learning tool for Bachelor's of Electromechanics modeling of technical objects. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 5:34–41. https://doi.org/10.55056/ cte.133.
- Modlo, Y. O., Semerikov, S. O., Bondarevskyi, S. L., Tolmachev, S. T., Markova, O. M., and Nechypurenko, P. P. (2019a). Methods of using mobile internet devices in the formation of the general scientific component of bachelor in electromechanics competency in modeling of technical objects. In Kiv, A. E. and

Shyshkina, M. P., editors, *Proceedings of the 2nd In*ternational Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, March 22, 2019, volume 2547 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 217– 240. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2547/ paper16.pdf.

- Modlo, Y. O., Semerikov, S. O., Nechypurenko, P. P., Bondarevskyi, S. L., Bondarevska, O. M., and Tolmachev, S. T. (2019b). The use of mobile Internet devices in the formation of ICT component of bachelors in electromechanics competency in modeling of technical objects. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:413–428. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.402.
- Modlo, Y. O., Semerikov, S. O., Shajda, R. P., Tolmachev, S. T., Markova, O. M., Nechypurenko, P. P., and Selivanova, T. V. (2020). Methods of using mobile internet devices in the formation of the general professional component of bachelor in electromechanics competency in modeling of technical objects. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:500–534. https://doi.org/10. 55056/cte.400.
- Modlo, Y. O., Semerikov, S. O., and Shmeltzer, E. O. (2018). Modernization of Professional Training of Electromechanics Bachelors: ICT-based Competence Approach. In Kiv, A. E. and Soloviev, V. N., editors, Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, October 2, 2018, volume 2257 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 148–172. CEUR-WS.org. http: //ceur-ws.org/Vol-2257/paper15.pdf.
- Molina, A. and Chirino, V. (2010). Mejores Prácticas de Aprendizaje Móvil para el Desarrollo de Competencias en la Educación Superior. *IEEE-RITA*, 5(4):175–183. http://oldrita.det.uvigo.es/index. php?content=Num_Pub&idiom=Es&visualiza=1& volumen=5&numero=4&orden=desc.
- Motorina, N. P. (2002). Metodika organizatcii professionalnoi elektrotekhnicheskoi podgotovki sovremennogo inzhenera. Dis. ... kand. ped. nauk : 13.00.08 – teoriia i metodika professionalnogo obrazovaniia, Tambovskii gosudarstvennyi tekhnicheskii universitet, Tambov.
- Nychkalo, N. H., Gurevych, R. S., Kademija, M. Y., Kobysia, A. P., Kobysia, V. M., and Gordiychuk, G. B. (2021). Formation of professional competence of future teachers of vocational education in the conditions of dual education by means of computer-oriented technologies. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 85(5):189–207. https://doi.org/10.33407/ itlt.v85i5.4446.
- Ovcharuk, O. and Ivaniuk, I. (2021). A self-assessment tool of the level of digital competence of Ukrainian teachers in the context of lifelong learning: the results of an online survey 2021. *Educational Dimension*, 5:75–88. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim.4719.
- Restivo, M. T., Chouzal, M. d. F., Rodrigues, J., Menezes, P., Patrão, B., and Lopes, J. B. (2014). Augmented Reality in Electrical Fundamentals. *International Journal of Online and Biomedical Engineering (iJOE)*, 10(6):pp. 68–72. https://doi.org/10.3991/ijoe.v10i6. 4030.

- Robert, I., Martirosyan, L., Gerova, N., Kastornova, V., Mukhametzyanov, I., and Dimova, A. (2016). Implementation of the Internet for Educational Purposes. In Uskov, V. L., Howlett, R. J., and Jain, L. C., editors, *Smart Education and e-Learning 2016*, volume 59 of *Smart Innovation, Systems and Technologies*, pages 573–583, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-39690-3_51.
- Roney, M. W. (1966a). Electromechanical Technology. Part I: A Field Study of Electromechanical Technician Occupations. Final Report, The Oklahoma State University, School of Industrial Education, Stillwater, Oklahoma.
- Roney, M. W. (1966b). Electromechanical Technology. Part II: A Post-High School Technical Curriculum. Final Report, The Oklahoma State University, School of Industrial Education, Stillwater, Oklahoma.
- Savchenko, S. and Kurylo, V. (2018). Patriotic Education in the Process of Youth Socialization in Conditions of Hybrid Warfare. *The Journal of Social Sciences Research*, (Special Issue 5):1121–1125. https: //doi.org/10.32861/jssr.spi5.1121.1125.
- Semerikov, S., Kiianovska, N., and Rashevska, N. (2021). The early history of computer-assisted mathematics instruction for engineering students in the United States: 1965-1989. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(3):360–374. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq. 18.
- Shepiliev, D. S., Modlo, Y. O., Yechkalo, Y. V., Tkachuk, V. V., Mintii, M. M., Mintii, I. S., Markova, O. M., Selivanova, T. V., Drashko, O. M., Kalinichenko, O. O., Vakaliuk, T. A., Osadchyi, V. V., and Semerikov, S. O. (2020). WebAR development tools: An overview. *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, 2832:84–93. http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2832/paper12.pdf.
- Slovak, K. I. (2013). Mobile mathematical environments as a means of cloud technologies. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 1:131–132. https://doi.org/10.55056/ cte.165.
- Sobko, R. M. (2002). Didactic peculiarities of integration teaching of computer technologies in professional electricians preparation. Dissertation on winning of scientific candidate degree of pedagogic sciences for speciality 13.00.04 – theory and methods of professional education, Pedagogics Institute and psychologies of professional education Ukraine APN, Kiev. https://nrat.ukrintei.ua/searchdoc/0402U000926.
- Spirin, O. M. (2010). Information and communication and informatic competences as komponents of the system of professional-specialized competences of informatics teacher. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 13(5). https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v13i5.183.
- Spirin, O. M., Kolos, K. R., Kovalchuk, O. A., Demianchuk, O. O., and Zhuravlev, F. M. (2022). Build a Technology for Mass Organization of Distance Learning for Pupils in Quarantine. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology -Volume 1: AET*, pages 97–108. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/0010920900003364.

- Stepanyuk, A. V., Mironets, L. P., Olendr, T. M., Tsidylo, I. M., and Stoliar, O. B. (2020). Methodology of using mobile Internet devices in the process of biology school course studying. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:535–547. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.403.
- Symonenko, S. V., Osadchyi, V. V., Sysoieva, S. O., Osadcha, K. P., and Azaryan, A. A. (2020). Cloud technologies for enhancing communication of IT-professionals. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:225–236. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.355.
- Syrovatskyi, O. V., Semerikov, S. O., Modlo, Y. O., Yechkalo, Y. V., and Zelinska, S. O. (2018). Augmented reality software design for educational purposes. *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 193–225.
- Teplytskyi, I. O. (2000). Rozvytok tvorchykh zdibnostei shkoliariv zasobamy kompiuternoho modeliuvannia [Development of pupils' creative capacities by means of computer simulation]. The thesis for the degree of candidate of pedagogical sciences on speciality 13.00.02 – theory and methods of teaching informatics, Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University. https://doi.org/10.31812/0564/1599.
- Teplytskyi, O., Teplytskyi, I., Semerikov, S., and Soloviev, V. (2019). Training future teachers in natural sciences and mathematics by means of computer simulation: a social constructivist approach. arXiv. https://doi.org/ 10.48550/arXiv.1907.09726.
- Tkachuk, V. V. (2013). Cloud computing as the basis for mobile learning. CTE Workshop Proceedings, 1:54. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.88.
- Tkachuk, V. V., Yechkalo, Y. V., Semerikov, S. O., Khotskina, S. M., Markova, O. M., and Taraduda, A. S. (2022). Distance learning during COVID-19 pandemic: mobile information and communications technology overview. *Educational Dimension*, 7:282–291. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim.7612.
- Traxler, J. (2021). A Critical Review of Mobile Learning: Phoenix, Fossil, Zombie or? *Education Sciences*, 11(9):525. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11090525.
- Vaughan, J., Fortgang, J., Singhose, W., Donnell, J., and Kurfess, T. (2008). Using mechatronics to teach mechanical design and technical communication. *Mechatronics*, 18(4):179–186. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.mechatronics.2008.01.003.
- Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine (2022). Pro Natsionalnu prohramu informatyzatsii [About the National Informatization Program]. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/ laws/show/en/2807-20#Text.
- Vishniakova, L. N. (2004). Poniatiino-modulnaia metodika formirovaniia u studentov professionalnogo elektrotekhnicheskogo myshleniia. Dis. ... kand. ped. nauk : 13.00.08 – teoriia i metodika professionalnogo obrazovaniia, Magnitogorskii gosudarstvennyi universitet, Magnitogorsk.
- Volkova, N., Tarnopolsky, O., Lebid, O., and Vlasenko, K. (2021). Students' computer-based workshops in mandatory classes of english for students majoring in psychology and linguistics: A comparative experimental study. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(2):274–292. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.55.

- Volkova, N. P. (2022). Technologically organized instructional process of higher education. *Educational Dimension*, 7:21–80. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim. 4444.
- Wang, Y., Yu, Y., Xie, C., Wang, H., and Feng, X. (2009). Mechatronics education at CDHAW of Tongji University: Laboratory guidelines, framework, implementations and improvements. *Mechatronics*, 19(8):1346– 1352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mechatronics.2009. 09.001.
- Yildirim, A., Celikten, M., Desiatov, T., and Lodatko, Y. (2019). The Analysis of Teachers' Cyber Bullying, Cyber Victimization and Cyber Bullying Sensitivity Based On Various Variables. *European Journal of Educational Research*, 8(4):1029–1038. https://doi.org/ 10.12973/eu-jer.8.4.1029.
- Zhaldak, M. I., Franchuk, V. M., and Franchuk, N. P. (2021). Some applications of cloud technologies in mathematical calculations. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840:012001. https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1742-6596/1840/1/012001.

Digital Tools for Designing Interactive Tasks for Teaching German and Analyzing Learners' Performance

Yuliya Kazhan¹¹^a and Valentyna Karpiuk²^b

¹Mariupol State University, 6 Preobrazhenska Str., Kyiv, 03037, Ukraine
²Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine ukashan2005@gmail.com, karpiukval2017@gmail.com

- Keywords: Mobile Applications, Interactive Tools, Web 2.0 Technology, Communicative Competence, Foreign Language, Didacticization, Authentic Materials.
- Abstract: The article focuses on the use of interactive tools to create the interactive exercises for German lessons and to assess learners' performance. The concept of didacticization of educational materials and authentic texts is considered. The steps of didacticization of authentic texts are indicated and examples of the use of digital tools for the didacticization of authentic materials are given in order to use them in the educational process to develop language competence, as well as to check the achieved learning outcomes. It is proved that the use of mobile applications and Web 2.0 interactive tools helps to organize students' work in and outside classrooms effectively for the formation and improvement of their language competence.

1 INTRODUCTION

The most important task of foreign language teaching at universities is the practical mastery of a foreign language, the ability to conduct a foreign language communication with native speakers, taking into account the cultural characteristics, because the language and the culture are inseparable (Piankovska, 2020). Modern foreign language teaching relies on the authenticity of teaching materials, because learning a foreign language involves getting to know the foreign culture and because linguistic content is always linked to cultural and social information.

One can motivate students to learn German by offering them well-prepared materials to which they bring experiences from their own world and which encourage them to see their own world anew from a changed perspective (Hufeisen and Neuner, 2004, p. 30).

Appropriate use of media can further increase motivation to engage with the materials because technologies are taken for granted by modern young people, and they enjoy using various mobile devices in their everyday lives to communicate and research, play and learn.

We should also not forget that students must be

able to use modern information and communication technologies and digital tools to solve the job-related problems (Standard, 2019).

The use of the authentic materials, taking into account the methodological-didactic principles, certainly contributes not only to the development of linguistic and regional competences, but also to increasing the motivation to learn German (Vyrsta, 2020). And the preparation of the texts with the help of Web 2.0 tools also promotes the students' media competence, among other things (Kazhan et al., 2020).

2 DIDACTIZATION OF THE AUTHENTIC MATERIALS

In the methodological literature there is a lot of discussion about the use of authentic materials and one can also find different definitions of authenticity. Mostly it is about texts from newspapers or magazines, song texts, audio texts or similar, which are used parallel to a textbook in class and are linguistically authentic (Bärlund, 2012).

Since authentic texts are both linguistic and cultural products, they give learners the opportunity to observe and draw conclusions about the customs and rules of communication in the target culture, which can help learners form a cultural frame of reference

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS - Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4248-4248

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8194-4596

Kazhan, Y. and Karpiuk, V.

Digital Tools for Designing Interactive Tasks for Teaching German and Analyzing Learners' Performance.

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 817-824 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

for the language (Mishan, 2005, p. 45).

The relevant literature deals with either authentic or synthetic texts, and their use in the classroom depends on the particular goal. However, we should not forget that authentic texts are often quite difficult for learners and therefore require a certain adaptation to the learners' level of knowledge.

As for the adaptation of the authentic texts, there are different opinions about it. Nosonovich (Nosonovich, 2000) believes that:

- adapted texts lose the characteristic features, the individuality of the author and the national peculiarity;
- authentic texts differ in style and content and are therefore of interest to learners; they illustrate the functioning of language as adopted by its speakers;
- use of artificial, simplified texts can lead to further difficulties in perceiving real-life texts (Nosonovich, 2000, p. 12).

Wicke (Wicke, 1997), based on the experience of his work with authentic texts, points out that learners have an extraordinary interest in everything "other" connected with everyday life, i.e. in authentic materials (Wicke, 1997, p. 22).

Heyd (Heyd, 1990) notes that the formation and development of skills with artificial, non-existent texts is hardly possible, because they are not typical for the real communication process.

A different point of view regarding the use of the authentic unprepared texts is represented by Weigmann (Weigmann, 1999). He believes that the authentic text used for teaching purposes, first of all, changes the addressee for whom it was written. Weigmann (Weigmann, 1999) believes that authentic texts, due to their language complexity, may even reduce the motivation to read, as they exceed the level of knowledge of learners. Therefore, they can and must be adapted for teaching (Weigmann, 1999, p. 73).

Below we give an example of an authentic text used in language history class (not adapted) with the task of underlining the lexical units whose spelling differs from modern German literary language and explaining the differences. Then the students were to find obsolete words and grammatical structures and try to replace those with modern German words and rewrite the text.

However, such historical texts are very specific and are hardly suitable for regular German lessons, where modern authentic texts should be used. In this regard, the Internet portal of the Germans of Ukraine also offers many interesting materials, namely the traveling exhibition (Eisfeld, 2019), which presents

Ankauf zweier Glokken in der Kolonie Elisabethdorf und hiernach getroffene

christliche Ordnung (Stach, 1942, p. 22-23) Bevor noch der Stamm der, aus Badnern und Hessen-Darmstadtern bestehenden, Gemeinde der Kolonie Elisabethdorf ganz aussterben mögte, beschloß diese Gemeinde; damit die heranwachsende Jugend die christliche Ordnung kennen lerne und bewahre, in welcher ihre Aeltern im Auslande erzogen worden, einige Glokken anzukaufen und zur gewohnten Sitte anzuwenden. Im Herbste des 1836 sten Jahres ging der Beschluß, zur Freude Aller, in Erfüllung. Zwei ziemlich große Glokken wurden aus Charkow besorgt und unter einen Glokkenthurm gebracht. Von Stund an traf die Gemeinde auch die Anordnung, durch Läuten der Glokken folgende christliche Sitte, zu der der Prediger noch ermahnte, festzustellen, nämlich: bei Anbruch des Tages zur Erinnerung an das Morgengebet; und Mittag die Mittagsstunde und den Gott schuldigen Dank für Speise und Trank an's Herz zu legen, bei eintretender Abenddämmerung zum Dank gegen den Geber aller guten Gaben, nach vollbrachtem Tagewerke, durch ein zu betendes Vater Unser aufzufordem; um 9. Uhr Abends jedem Gemeindegliede einen Wink zu geben, daß auf Straßen und in Schenken Ruhe hergestellt werde; an Sonn- und Festtagen den Beginn des Gottesdienstes anzuzeigen; nach der Predigt, beim Beten des Vater Unsers, allen zu Hause Befindlichen ein Merkmal zur Verrichtung desselben Gebets darzubieten; und bei Leichenbegängnissen den Leichenzag anzukündigen und feierlicher zu machen. Außerdem hat gedachte Gemeinde noch die Einrichtung beim Gebrauch der Glokken hinzugefügt: den Abend vor einem Festtage um die gewöhnliche Zeit, statt, wie an gewöhnlichen Tagen, mit einer, alsdann mit beiden Glokken zu läuten, um den bevorstehenden Festtag anzuzeigen; ingleichen bei Beerdigungen mit beiden Glokken zu läuten, und so auch das dritte und letzte Mal an Sonn- und Festtagen, als eine Viertel-Stunde vor Beginn des Gottesdienstes.

interesting facts about the history of the Germans in Ukraine. The author of the concept of this exhibition and the texts for it is Dr. Alfred Eisfeld, a Russian-German historian, expert on the history and culture of Germans in the Russian Empire, the Soviet Union and the CIS and author of numerous scientific works. Part of the exhibition is devoted to the Azov region and is about the colonies founded in the 18th-19th centuries by German resettlers from West Prussia, Bavaria, Hesse, Alsace and Baden near Mariupol. The texts and pictures from the exhibition were used in the regional studies classes in the 7th semester and in the language practice classes in the 3rd semester as part of the topic "Germany and Germans".

Die Ansiedlung deutscher Kolonisten in den Steppen des Asowschen Gebiets erfolgte in mehreren Etappen. Die ersten Kolonien wurden am Fluss Molotschnaja 1804–1810 gegründet. Außer den Mennoniten siedelten sich hier aus Württemberg, aus Baden und Preußisch-Polen Stammende an, welche den Molotschnaer Kolonistenbezirk bildeten. Das Zentrum wurde Prischib. Die in den Jahren 1818–1819 aus der Umgebung von Danzig, Elbing und Marienburg (Preußen) angekommenen 500 Familien von Katholiken und Lutheranern hielten sich 5 Jahre lang in den alten Kolonien auf, weil das ihnen zugeteilte Land sich als für die Bewirtschaftung nicht geeignete wasserlose Salzerde erwies. Sie lehnten es ab, dort zu siedeln. Schließlich wurde ihnen Land in der Nähe von Mariupol zugewiesen, auf dem die Mariupoler Kolonien, auch Planer Kolonien oder Preußenplan genannt, mit dem Zentrum in Grunau gegründet wurden (1823). Die 1822 in der Nähe von Berdjansk von schwäbischen Pietisten gegründeten 3 Kolonien wurden als Separatisten-Kolonien bezeichnet. Die Pietisten haben schon in ihrer Heimat die Verbindung mit der lutherischen Kirche abgelehnt. Sie wurden Chiliasten oder Separatisten genannt.

When preparing the regional studies texts, one should follow certain steps suggested by Rösler and Würffel (Rösler and Würffel, 2014, p. 119):

- 1) establish sublearning objectives;
- analyze vocabulary and linguistic structures and adapt the text as needed;
- 3) develop tasks related to the text.

Since our idea was to didactize the texts with the help of the digital applications, the next section is about digital tools that are suitable for this purpose.

3 DIGITAL APPLICATIONS FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF LINGUISTIC PERFORMANCE

Digitalization is reaching into all areas of life, and the learning process is of course no exception (Sych et al., 2021). Students need to master technologies that are available to them so that they can use them to learn German successfully and later, as future teachers of German, to carry out their own teaching activities.

The Internet offers a wide range of modern online tools and applications for learning a foreign language (Kuts and Lavrentieva, 2022). Of course, everything in this area changes very quickly, and one should inform oneself regularly in order not to miss important developments. In addition, care should be taken to ensure that language teaching encourages students in the competent use of media and develops media literacy.

In this article, we focus on the ability to use media and look at digital offers that can bring regional studies topics closer to students. We are interested in the Web 2.0 platforms that can be used to create interactive exercises, because the idea is to didactize the found materials in such a way. For our goals we have chosen two tools: Learningapps and Wordwall, which are similar in their functions, but differ in the external appearance and in some additional possibilities.

LearningApps.org supports learning and teaching processes with small interactive, multimedia building blocks that are created online and integrated into learning content (Kramarenko, 2017). A whole range of different exercise options are available for the building blocks: Match Pairs, Group Matching, Number Line, Simple Sequence, Free Text Response, Match to Picture, Multiple Choice Quiz, Cloze, App Matrix, Audio/Video with Overlays, Million Game, Group Puzzle, Crossword, Puzzle, Match with Map, Word Grid, Where's What, Hangman, Horse Race, Pairs Game, and Guess (LearningApps, 2023). The apps do not represent self-contained learning units, but must be embedded in a teaching scenario, which actually offers unlimited possibilities for creating your own exercises (LearningApps, 2012).

Wordwall, a Web 2.0 tool that can be used to design vocabulary and grammar exercises, as well as various learning games, puzzles and tests, has similar functions. The templates range from simple quiz formats such as true-or-false to crossword puzzles and fill-in-the-blank exercises. There are various design options, images can be inserted from an image archive of Wordwall or even your own photographs. This allows you to adapt the task to the topic and the learning group. For example, you could use pictures to visualize certain facts in a lesson on the topic "German Traces" (Hamaniuk, 2020; Karpiuk, 2020; Kazhan, 2020b). You can also use a differentiated approach by providing pictures as additional help.

Some exercise types, such as multiple-choice quizzes, are suitable for collaborative play, i.e. learners can participate in the quiz together via their own end devices, which is in line with the principle of learner activation. Some task types can be saved and printed as PDFs, and can therefore be used not only digitally but also analogously, if it fits the logic of the lesson.

It should be noted, however, that both applications can only be used to create closed task formats, i.e. those for which there is only one solution that the computer can evaluate as correct, automatically marking the other solutions as incorrect. To encourage creativity and critical thinking, more exercises should be developed that involve discussing and debating the content. And this means that digital and analog offerings should be closely linked in the learning process. The interactive exercises can serve as a basis for further engagement with the topic, as an introduction to the topic, as exercises that awaken interest in the topic and increase motivation to learn German.

4 DIGITAL APPLICATIONS FOR PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

Evaluation of learners' performance is an essential part of the educational process, and competence orientation is one of the most important principles of teaching German. That is why formative evaluation as such approach, which allows to reduce negative aspects in learning, to promote individualization of educational process, to increase motivation to learn and autonomy of learners (Zhorova et al., 2022), is absolutely contemporary and corresponds to the goals of teaching German.

Nowadays, there are many digital tools that can be successfully used for formative evaluation. Depending on the goal of the evaluation, you can use them in different phases of teaching.

AnswerGarden (https://answergarden.ch) can be integrated in the context of numerous teaching situations, for example as a simple brainstorming tool, as a survey or as anonymous feedback. The words entered are visualized directly in real time as a word cloud. The tool is free and no account is required to use it. The disadvantages include the fact that the interface is completely in English and that the app for iOS requires a fee.

With *ChatterPix* (https://www.duckduckmoose. com/educational-iphone-itouch-apps-for-kids/

chatterpix/), you can make pictures talk and practice speaking and reading aloud in this way. The learners take or select a photo, write a text and speak or read it aloud. In this way, a short story is created. The products can be shared, for example, a common padlet where the learners introduce themselves or tell about their daily routine, and so on. This is very easy and fun for the learners. For formative assessment one can use the tool by evaluating the texts created by the learners according to certain predefined criteria. The texts can be assessed by both teachers and learners. The app is free and intuitive to use.

Wordwall (https://wordwall.net/) offers a lot of possibilities for formative evaluation, as it is possible to use created exercises on different templates, so it can serve not only for evaluation but also for practice. A big advantage is that the teacher has an overview of the learners' answers, so it is easy to see the learning progress of each individual. Such intermediate results can also be very helpful for further planning, which has a positive effect on the achievement of the global learning goal. Another plus point is that you can also print out many exercises as PDFs. Most templates are available in both interactive and printable versions. After creating an activity, you can transfer it from one template to another with a single click. This saves time and is great for internal differentiation. The tool can be used in class if learners have access to their own devices, or as homework.

Cacoo (https://cacoo.com/) is a tool that can be used in many ways, for example to create diagrams, mind maps, infographics or sketches. For schools and for the educational sector, the use is free, but a registration with a school address is necessary. The program works cloud-based and therefore simultaneous collaborative use is possible. A number of templates and templates can be used to create collaborative products.

For formative evaluation, this can be used by, for example, repeating vocabulary on a particular topic, creating a mind map. The mind map can be developed during the lesson and the teacher determines whether the learners have learned the vocabulary. The results are discussed immediately in class.

Tagxedo (http://www.tagxedo.com) is an alternative to the tool known to all as "Word Cloud". However, to use Tagxedo, the Silverlight browser plugin must be installed. With Tagxedo you can create word clouds in real time, customize font, theme, color, alignment and shape, save as images for printing and sharing with many options, display word clouds as thumbnails and select the one you want for further customization or saving, choose from many default fonts, limit the word cloud to selected shapes (heart, star, animals, etc.), use images as custom shapes (e.g., a portrait, an animal silhouette). In class you can use Tagxedo as an introduction to the topic and also for evaluating the results.

Formative evaluation is one of the most effective forms of performance assessment that allows learners to fill in the gaps in their knowledge and skills. And using digital tools for formative evaluation helps learners become more motivated and interested in the language.

5 POSSIBLE APPLICATIONS OF THE CREATED INTERACTIVE EXERCISES

The exercises described here were used in regional studies classes in the 7th semester and in language practice classes in the 3rd semester as part of the topic "Germany and Germans". The broad objective was to acquaint the students with the German traces in their own region, the sub-objectives were related to the development of sub-skills. After each exercise, which was fulfilled in individual work, the reflection phase was scheduled, where the students reflected on the content in plenary and had the opportunity to ask additional questions to the teacher.

Beispiel 1 (Kazhan, 2023a).

Aufgabe: Ergänzen Sie die Lücken im Text, indem Sie die Wörter von der Leiste oben in die Lücken im Text ziehen.

Ziel: Die Studierenden kennen die Geschichte der deutschen Kolonisten, sie können die Bedeutung der Wörter aus dem Kontext erschließen und beherrschen die Lesestrategien auf der Satzebene.



Figure 1: Interactive exercise "Settlement of German colonists in the steppes of the Azov region".

The interactive exercise works on the principle of "drag and drop" and can be controlled by the students themselves. The teacher can see the progress of the students if the appropriate settings have been made. This was not our goal, we did not develop the exercises for summative evaluation, but for practicing, that's why we tried them out together in class and discussed the content afterwards.



Beispiel 2 (Kazhan, 2023c).

Aufgabe: Bringen Sie die Wörter in die richtige Reihenfolge.

Ziel: die Studierenden kennen die Geschichte der deutschen Kolonisten im Asowschen Gebiet, sie kennen die Wortfolge in verschiedenen Satztypen und können die Sätze bilden.



Figure 3: Exercise "Economic branches in the colonies".

Die	
w ichtigsten Wirtschaftszweige	е
in den Kolonien waren d	ler
Ackerbau und die Viehzu	icht .

Figure 4: Exercise "Economic branches in the colonies" (solution).

The reflection phase is also an important component in this exercise because in its development we were guided by the theoretical foundations of constructivist theory established by Jonassen (Jonassen, 1995). He believed that learning tasks should model the real world by creating a problem-based learning environment and that learners should be involved in the mental processing of information. They should reflect on how they achieved a particular learning outcome and also be accountable for it. To solve a particular problem, they would, according to Jonassen, combine new knowledge with what they already have and try to achieve the cognitive goal in an active and purposeful way. Moreover, they have to work in groups to acquire new knowledge and skills, as they are part of a group working together to create a knowledge system in the classroom (Jonassen, 1995, p. 61).

Beispiel 3 (Kazhan, 2023b).

Aufgabe: Bringen Sie die Buchstaben in die richtige Reihenfolge, sodass Sie die Namen von Kolonien bekommen, deren Gründung im 18. Jahrhundert auf Initiative der Zarin Katharina II. stattfand.

Ziel: die Studierenden kennen die Geschichte der deutschen Kolonisten im Asowschen Gebiet, sie kennen die Namen der sogenannten Mariupoler Kolonien.



Exercise 3 is directly connected to exercise 4, which was created with learning apps. Here it is about the students listening to the names of the Mariupol colonies and finding them on the virtual map. The map is also available in printed form in the room, and after completing the interactive exercise, they go to the map to discover the former German colonies and understand where they were actually located.

Beispiel 4 (Kazhan, 2020a).

Aufgabe: Hören Sie die Namen von Mariupoler Kolonien, deren Gründung im 18. Jahrhundert auf Initiative der Zarin Katharina II. stattfand, und finden Sie die an der Karte.

Ziel: die Studierenden kennen die Geschichte der deutschen Kolonisten im Asowschen Gebiet, sie können die Namen der sogenannten Mariupoler Kolonien beim Hören verstehen.



Figure 7: Exercise "Mariupol colonies on the map" (Amanda, 2019).

Beispiel 5 (Kazhan, 2019).

Aufgabe: Spielen Sie das Spiel "Wer wird Mil-

lionär?". Entscheiden Sie sich für die richtige Variante.

Ziel: die Studierenden kennen interessante Tatsachen über die Deutschen im Asowschen Gebiet.



Figure 8: Exercise "Who wants to be a millionaire?".

In developing this interactive exercise, we used information about well-known Germans such as Peter Regier, who founded one of the largest shipping companies in the Russian Empire in Mariupol, and Viktor von Graff, who created the first artificially planted forest in the arid steppes of Azov, and architect Viktor Nilsen, according to whose design the famous water tower in Mariupol was built.

6 CONSLUSION

As can be seen from the above examples, the digital tools offer many possibilities to didactize the authentic materials and to evaluate the learners' performance. The students' feedback on the materials and on the exercises was very positive. The analysis of the questionnaires that the students filled in after completing the tasks testifies that the students enjoyed the topic and the exercises, that they were motivated and interested. Thanks to the interactive exercises developed on the basis of the authentic materials, they would have developed their country knowledge skills and media literacy. This was because they had to develop similar exercises based on the recommended materials for their fellow students as homework. The students also found the reflection periods after the interactive exercises very important because they had been stimulated to reflect and discuss.

REFERENCES

- Amanda (2019). Die Ansiedlungspolitik unter Alexander I. (Teil 2 von 3): Die Kolonien bei Mariupol1 am Asowschen Meer. https: //www.migrazioni.altervista.org/deu/3deutsche_ in_russland/2.71_a_ansiedlung_mariu1.html.
- Bärlund, P. (2012). Lernen ohne Lehrbuch im DaF-Unterricht – Initiierung eines Pilotprojekts in zwei mittelfinnischen Grundschulen. GFL – German for Foreign Language, (2/3):158–184. http://www. gfl-journal.de/2-2012/Baerlund.pdf.
- Eisfeld, A. (2019). Wanderausstellung. http://deutsche.in. ua/de/cms/mobilnaja_vystavka.html.
- Hamaniuk, V. A. (2020). German traces in Ukraine in German lessons: illustrative, interactive, communicative. *Educational Dimension*, 2:34–55. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.v54i2.3853.
- Heyd, G. (1990). Deutsch lehren. Grundwissen für den Unterricht in Deutsch als Fremdsprache. Verlag Moritz Diesterweg, Frankfurt am Main.
- Hufeisen, B. and Neuner, G., editors (2004). The Plurilingualism Project: Tertiary Language Learning – German after English. European Centre for Modern Languages, Council of Europe Publishing, Strasbourg. http://archive.ecml.at/documents/ pub112E2004HufeisenNeuner.pdf.
- Jonassen, D. H. (1995). Supporting Communities of Learners with Technology: A Vision for Integrating Technology with Learning in Schools. *Educational Technology*, 35(4):60–63.
- Karpiuk, V. A. (2020). Development of regional and communicative skills when learning German in Kryvyi Rih. *Educational Dimension*, 2:70–83. https://doi. org/10.31812/educdim.v54i2.3855.
- Kazhan, Y. (2019). Deutsche Spuren in Mariupol. https: //learningapps.org/display?v=p8bhj32yc19.
- Kazhan, Y. (2020a). Mariupoler Kolonien auf der Karte. https://learningapps.org/display?v=pnzo8rmdn20.
- Kazhan, Y. (2023a). Ansiedlung deutscher Kolonisten in den Steppen des Asowschen Gebiets. https://tinyurl. com/3vps3hbf.
- Kazhan, Y. (2023b). Mariupoler Kolonien. https:// wordwall.net/resource/7069889/mariupoler-kolonien.

- Kazhan, Y. (2023c). Wirtschaftszweige in den Kolonien. https://wordwall.net/resource/7069561/ wirtschaftszweige-den-kolonien.
- Kazhan, Y. M. (2020b). Development of the socio-cultural competence of student teachers on the basis of the findings on the topic "German traces in Ukraine". *Educational Dimension*, 2:56–69. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.v54i2.3854.
- Kazhan, Y. M., Hamaniuk, V. A., Amelina, S. M., Tarasenko, R. O., and Tolmachev, S. T. (2020). The use of mobile applications and Web 2.0 interactive tools for students' German-language lexical competence improvement. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:392–415. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.376.
- Kramarenko, T. G. (2017). Training of teacher to school students collaborate with educational resources of cloud based projects. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 4:206–210. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.351.
- Kuts, M. and Lavrentieva, O. (2022). Ergonomic aspects of computer-oriented pedagogical technologies implementation in teaching foreign languages to students of higher education institutions. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(1):88–104. https://doi.org/10.55056/ etq.9.
- LearningApps (2012). LearningApps.org: multimediale, interaktive Lernbausteine erstellen einfach gemacht. https://learningapps.org/LearningApps.pdf.
- LearningApps (2023). LearningApps interactive and multimedia learning blocks. https://learningapps.org/ createApp.php.
- Mishan, F., editor (2005). *Designing Authenticity into Language Learning Materials*. Intellect Books, Bristol.
- Nosonovich, Y. V. (2000). Metodicheskaya autentichnost' v obuchenii inostrannym yazikam. *Inostrannyye yazyki* v shkole, (1):11–16.
- Piankovska, I. V. (2020). Exercise types for reading comprehension in foreign language classes. *Educational Dimension*, 2:84–97. https://doi.org/10.31812/ educdim.v54i2.3871.
- Rösler, D. and Würffel, N. (2014). Lernmaterialien und Medien, volume 5 of Deutsch Lehren Lernen. Ernst Klett Sprachen, Stuttgart.
- Stach, J. (1942). Grunau und die Mariupoler Kolonien: Materialien zur Geschichte Deutscher Siedlungen im Schwarzmeergebiet, volume 7 of Sammlung George Leibbrandt: Quellen zur Erforschung des Deutschtums in Osteuropa. Verlag von S. Hitzel in Leipzig, Leipzig. https://chort.square7.ch/Buch/Grunau.pdf.
- Standard (2019). Standart vyshchoyi osvity za spetsial'nistyu 035 "Filolohiya" dlya pershoho (bakalavrs'koho) rivnya vyshchoyi osvity. https://mon.gov.ua/storage/app/media/ vishcha-osvita/zatverdzeni%20standarty/2021/07/28/ 035-Filolohiya-bakalavr.28.07-1.pdf.
- Sych, T., Khrykov, Y., and Ptakhina, O. (2021). Digital transformation as the main condition for the development of modern higher education. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(2):293–309. https://doi.org/ 10.55056/etq.27.

- Vyrsta, N. B. (2020). Didacticization of the press texts of the galician germans in daf-lessons. *Educational Dimension*, 2:20–33. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim. v54i2.3852.
- Weigmann, J. (1999). Unterrichtsmodelle für Deutsch als Fremdsprache. Max Hueber Verlag, München.
- Wicke, R. (1997). Aktive Schüler lernen besser. Ein Handbuch aus der Praxis für die Praxis. Ernst Klett Verlag, München.
- Zhorova, I., Kokhanovska, O., Khudenko, O., Osypova, N., and Kuzminska, O. (2022). Teachers' training for the use of digital tools of the formative assessment in the implementation of the concept of the New Ukrainian School. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(1):56–72. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.11.

Mobile ICT for Teaching Informatics of Future Bachelors of Professional Education

Viktoriia V. Tkachuk¹[®]^a, Serhiy O. Semerikov^{2,1,3}[®]^b, Yuliia V. Yechkalo¹[®]^c and Viktoriia M. Zinchenko⁴[®]^d

¹Kryvyi Rih National University, 11 Vitalii Matusevych Str., Kryvyi Rih, 50027, Ukraine

²Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine

³Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the NAES of Ukraine, 9 M. Berlynskoho Str., Kyiv, 04060, Ukraine

⁴Donetsk State University of Internal Affairs, Kryvyi Rih Educational and Scientific Institute, 92A Spivdruzhnosti Str., Kryvyi Rih, 50084, Ukraine

{viktoriya.tkachuk, semerikov, uliaechk}@gmail.com

- Keywords: Mobile ICT, Computer Sciences, Teaching of Future Bachelor's in Professional Education, Information and Communication Competences of Future Bachelors in Professional Education, Model of Mobile ICT Application as a Training Tool for Teaching Computer Sciences to Future Bachelors in Professional Education, Methods for Mobile ICT Application to Teaching Computer Sciences to Future Bachelors.
- Abstract: The paper considers the problem of using mobile information and communication technologies as a tool of teaching Computer Sciences to future bachelors in Professional Education. Based on the analysis of the scientific literature, the problem of applying information and communication technologies to teaching Computer Sciences and training future bachelor's in Professional Education is theoretically analysed. The content, criteria and levels of information and communication competences of future bachelor's in Professional Education are defined. The model of applying mobile information and communication technologies to training future bachelors in Professional Education is theoretically substantiated and developed. Methods of using mobile ICT as a training tool for teaching Computer Sciences to future bachelors in Professional Education are developed and their effectiveness experimentally verified. The structure and content of information and communication competences of future bachelor's in Professional Education soft teaching Computer Sciences to future bachelor's in Professional Education are elaborated.

1 INTRODUCTION

The Concept for implementing the state policy in Professional Education and training "Modern Professional (Professional) Education and Training" for the period up to 2027 (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2019) notes that nowadays qualifications of workers, including graduates of Professional Educational and training institutions, do not meet current and future socio-economic needs. The problem is supposed to be solved by creating a system of quality assurance of Professional Education, which includes informatization of Professional Education, development of pedagogical software tools, and access to global informa-

Tkachuk, V., Semerikov, S., Yechkalo, Y. and Zinchenko, V.

Mobile ICT for Teaching Informatics of Future Bachelors of Professional Education

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

of training, retraining, and professional development of teachers. In Ukraine, the decline in the state order for work-

tion resources as well as improvement of the system

force training, coupled with significant variation in the volume across different sectors of the economy, necessitates the training of bachelor's in Professional Education – future teachers at colleges and Professional Education institutions who can quickly adapt to meet the labour market's demand for qualified workers, considering international practices. This requires the development of information and communication technologies (ICT) competences of future bachelor's in Professional Education, for in-service training.

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5879-5147

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0789-0272

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0164-8365

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3080-4272

In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 825-834 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

2 LITERATURE REVIEW

National and international researchers have been studying various aspects of this issue: the creation and use of ICT tools (Sultana and Brown, 2017; Tan et al., 2019; Bingimlas, 2009; Heo, 2016; Matteucci et al., 2013), the use of ICT in training bachelors in Professional Education (Singh and T. S., 2014; Lytvyn et al., 2020; Humeniuk, 2018; Tytova, 2018: Loftus and Kinsella, 2021: Sell and Rüütmann, 2015; Tsidylo et al., 2019), training of future bachelors in Professional Education (Bakum and Tkachuk, 2014; Köhler et al., 2013; Kersten, 2018; Diachok et al., 2020; Ravi, 2022), formation of components of ICT competences and teaching Computer Sciences (Hevko et al., 2021; Oleksiuk and Oleksiuk, 2022; Seidametova et al., 2022; Spirin et al., 2018; Shepiliev et al., 2020; Shyshkina, 2013; Vakaliuk, 2015; Yatsko, 2014).

Improving the structure of teachers' training and retraining is a priority task for development of continuous teacher-training education, aimed at implementation of acmeological and axiological principles in teachers' training, formation of motivation and creation of conditions for their training and selfdevelopment in the course of professional activity, comprehensive modernization of the content, forms, and methods of education and training technologies in accordance with the requirements of the information civil multicultural society.

Ensuring the principles of continuous teachertraining education development, including integration of national educational traditions and global best practices, flexibility in responding to social changes and prognostication, innovativeness, etc. requires modernization of Computer Sciences training for future bachelor's in Professional Education, based on the use of mobile ICT tools, which provide the opportunity to meet educational needs of the learning target anytime and anywhere.

3 THEORETICAL PRINCIPLES OF TEACHING COMPUTER SCIENCES TO FUTURE BACHELORS IN PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION

After analysing the current state of training bachelors in Professional Education, the problem of forming their information and communication competences, the structure and content of ICT training of bachelors in Professional Education in Computer Sciences are determined.

In Ukraine, bachelor's in Professional Education major in Specialty 015 Professional Education. The training content is harmonized with the international IGIP standard, specified by area of expertise and expressed in terms of competences (International Society for Engineering Pedagogy, 2023).

The conducted analysis of standards for training bachelor's in Professional Education reveals the need to modernize components of the national standard of higher education for bachelor training. The result analysis of the expert survey made it possible to single out 18 general professional competences of bachelors in Professional Education:

- the ability to apply the system of knowledge about communication patterns and methods of managing an individual and a group in the training process;
- 2) the ability to control and correct the educational process;
- the ability to perform work at the appropriate qualification level (by profession);
- the ability to master new types of equipment and innovative technologies (by profession);
- the ability to adapt, adjust and use modern training technologies, automated learning systems, and electronic learning tools in professional and educational activities;
- 6) the ability to use modern methods of theoretical education in general professional subjects, general technical subjects and specific subjects (disciplines), as well as industrial training in the selected field;
- the ability to improve the training process by searching for optimal methods, forms, and tools of teaching, using modern training and information technologies;
- the ability to organize one's own work in a reasonable manner, and to possess general labour skills and abilities;
- the ability to analyse the results and process of one's own work, setting and implementing tasks in the field of professional self-improvement, establishing the compliance of one's professional activity with changing requirements;
- 10) the ability to predict the results of professional and training activities;
- the ability to form professional knowledge, skills and abilities of those who study, to ensure their professional, social and personal development;

- 12) understanding the essence and social significance of one's profession, the main problems in a specific field of one's activity;
- the ability to acquire new knowledge using modern technology;
- the ability to maintain and control labour and production discipline;
- 15) the ability to conduct psychological and pedagogical diagnosis, analyse its results and apply them to managing individual training activities;
- 16) the ability to work with regulatory, technical and reference literature;
- 17) the ability to prepare documents (work schedules, instructions, plans, applications, business letters, etc.), and reports (by area of expertise) according to established formats;
- 18) the ability to create a training complex, develop its main components and adapt them to the actual situation of the institution.

The analysis of international (UNESCO, 2018) and foreign standards (Ständigen Konferenz der Kultusminister der Länder in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland, 2019; Gérard, 2006) and the results of an expert survey enables determining 13 specific professional (information and communication) competences of bachelors in Professional Education (digital technologies). The compentences are formed when studying Computer Sciences according to the following content blocks: theoretical foundations of Computer Sciences, architecture of modern computer technology, basics of algorithmization and programming, computer system software, computer technologies in professional activities of bachelors in Professional Education.

4 MODELLING AND DESIGN OF MOBILE ICT APPLICATION TO TEACHING COMPUTER SCIENCES TO FUTURE BACHELORS IN PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION

The content of information and communication competences of future bachelors in Professional Education is determined when designing a tool for monitoring the formation of competences and diagnosing the level of their maturity, i.e. the competence matrices. In the matrices, the rows correspond to specific criteria (cognitive, operational-technological, and valuemotivational), the columns correspond to the levels (low, medium, and high), and the cells to the maturity indicators of each competence. Assessment of the maturity level of information and communication competences of future bachelors in Professional Education is proposed at 6 levels – initial, minimum basic, basic, high, advanced, and research (according to Spirin et al. (Spirin et al., 2018)).

According to the hypothesis, mobile ICTs, applied to teaching Computer Sciences, which, following Rashevska and Tkachuk (Rashevska and Tkachuk, 2015) are defined as a set of mobile hardware and software tools and a system of methods and forms of using such tools in teaching Computer Sciences for receiving, storing, processing and reproducing audio, video, text, graphic and multimedia data in the context of operational communication with global and local electronic educational resources, will contribute to improving the maturity level of information and communication competences of future bachelors in Professional Education (Tkachuk et al., 2020b).

The developed structural and functional model of mobile ICT application as a tool of teaching Computer Sciences to future bachelors in Professional Education (figure 1) (Tkachuk et al., 2018) is based on competence-based, personality-centred and systematic methodological approaches, built on the principles of Professional Education, general didactic principles, Computer Sciences teaching principles and mobile learning principles, taking into account current conditions and trends in mobile ICT development.

The model consists of four blocks:

- the purpose-oriented block, which identifies the factors of change in training bachelors in Professional Education that led to the design of the information and communication competence system of future bachelors' training in Professional Education and the corresponding goal – its formation in the process of studying Computer Sciences with mobile technologies;
- the content-technological block, which defines the content blocks of Computer Sciences, mobile ICT tools, forms of organization and methods of teaching them;
- the diagnostics block, which defines general and special tools of monitoring and diagnosing the process of competence development; and
- 4) the result block, which defines the predicted result of the model implementation – increasing the level of maturity of information and communication competences of future bachelors in Professional Education (digital technologies). All blocks of the model are interconnected both directly and through their components.



Figure 1: Model of mobile ICT application in teaching Computer Sciences to future bachelors in Professional Education (Tkachuk et al., 2018).

5 METHODOLOGICAL BASIS OF MOBILE ICT APPLICATION IN TEACHING COMPUTER SCIENCES TO FUTURE BACHELORS IN PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION

In the course of the research, we have developed a structure of methods for mobile ICT application in teaching Computer Sciences to future bachelors in Professional Education. There are determined goals and the content of teaching Computer Sciences to future bachelors in Professional Education and relevant mobile ICT tools for teaching Computer Sciences to future bachelors of Professional Education are selected. The main components of methods for mobile ICT application as a tool for teaching Computer Sciences to future bachelors in Professional Education are selected.

Based on the results of the expert survey, the feasibility of teaching Computer Sciences by using the following mobile ICT tools is determined (table 1):

- Mobile Learning Management Systems adaptive, accessible, and mobile e-learning resources that support educational and administrative tasks, assign participant roles in the training process, assess students' learning outcomes, contribute to collaboration between students and teachers, facilitate various types and methods of presenting educational materials, etc;
- Mobile Modeling and Programming Environments – software packages adapted to different operating systems and mobile devices that combine the basic tools needed to write and debug software;
- Mobile Database Management Systems software for creating and managing databases which allows users and programmers to design, create, retrieve, update, and manage data through client access to the server side provided by a mobile software interface and/or mobile Internet devices;
- Mobile Multimedia Authoring Tools mobile software that develops electronic training resources based on multimedia principles, spatial proximity, temporal contiguity, coherence, modality, redundancy, personalization, interactivity, signaling, and consideration of individual differences;
- Audience Response Systems mobile software for measuring students' learning outcomes through automatizing current and final control

processes based on the latest testing tools and comprehensively enhancing the learning process.

It is revealed that:

- Mobile Audience Response Systems and Mobile Learning Support Systems are universal tools for teaching Computer Sciences;
- Mobile Multimedia Authoring Tools are highly feasible for all Computer Sciences, except for low-level and system programming and system software, which also allows for their universal classification;
- Mobile Modeling And Programming Environments are the leading tools of teaching theoretical foundations of Computer Sciences and the basics of algorithmization and programming (with the exception of visual programming and low-level and system programming);
- Mobile Database Management Systems are the basic teaching tools only for database programming.

Methodology of using mobile ICT as a tool of teaching Computer Sciences to future bachelors in Professional Education is defined as a theoretically grounded set of methods, ways, techniques and forms of using mobile ICTs:

- methods of using mobile audience response systems (Plickers);
- methods of using mobile learning support systems (Moodle and Intune for Education);
- methods of using mobile multimedia authoring tools (augmented reality multimedia authoring tools);
- methods of using mobile modelling and programming environments in Machine Learning training (Pydroid and Jupyter Notebook environments);
- methods of using mobile database management systems in teaching relational DBMSs (the Google Cloud SQL server and mobile clients).

6 ORGANIZATION, CONDUCT AND RESULTS OF EXPERIMENTAL WORK

In the course of the research, experimental work was carried out to design a system of information and communication competences. At the confirmation stage of the pedagogical experiment, 57 students were included in the control and experimental groups. Pearson's χ^2 criterion was used to find

Table 1: Assessment of feasibility of mobile ICT application to teaching Computer Sciences to future bachelors in Professional Education (Tkachuk et al., 2020a).

Content block	Group of Informatics subjects	Mobile ICT tools					
Concin block		mobile learning management systems	mobile modelling and programming environments	mobile database management systems	mobile multimedia authoring tools	mobile audience response systems	Average efficiency estimate for subject group
Theoretical principles of Informatics	Discrete Programming, Operations Research, Computer Logic, Theory of Automatic Control	4.09	4.36	3.27	4.18	4.45	4.07
Anabitaatuma of madam	Computer Cryptology	4.00	4.00	3.36	4.00	4.18	3.91
computing machines	Microprocessor Systems	4.09	3.55	3.00	4.09	4.27	3.80
Basics of algorithmization and programming	Basics of Algorithmization and Elements of Pro-	4.27	4.45	3.27	4.36	4.36	4.15
	gramming	4.00	2.01	0.70	1.20	4 10	2.05
	Visual Programming	4.09	3.91	2.73	4.30	4.18	3.85
	High Level Programming Language	4.00	5.91	3.00	3.91	4.09	J.70 A 11
	Web Programming	4.09	4.45	3.55	4.27	4.10	4.11
	Software Design Technologies	4.27	4.50	3.55	4.10	4.30	4 13
	Database Programming	4 09	4 27	4.82	4 09	4 27	4.31
Software of	Project Management	4.09	2.82	2.82	4.09	4.27	3.62
	Application Software	4.36	2.91	3.09	4.27	4.45	3.82
	Systems Software	4.09	3.45	3.18	3.91	4.27	3.78
computing	Basics of Information Security	4.09	3.00	3.09	4.00	4.27	3.69
systems	Computer Design and Multimedia	4.18	3.64	2.64	4.73	4.36	3.91
	Engineering and Computer Graphics	4.09	3.00	2.55	4.91	4.55	3.82
	Computer Aided Design	4.18	3.45	3.09	4.18	4.36	3.85
Computer technologies	Automation Systems for Document	4.27	3.36	3.45	4.09	4.36	3.91
of professionals in	Computer Pedagogical Technologies Computer						
engineering pedagogy	Ergonomics	4.36	2.91	2.91	4.64	4.82	3.93
Average efficiency estimate of the tool		4.15	3.70	3.21	4.23	4.33	

out whether there are statistically significant differences between the obtained distribution of the levels of information and communication competences of students in the control and experimental groups. The calculated empirical value of the criterion $T_{emp} = 1.556 < T_{crit}(0.05) = 7.815$ provided the basis for concluding that there are no statistically significant differences in the control and experimental groups.

After the completion of the formative stage of the pedagogical experiment, which included the systematic teaching of Computer Sciences through mo-



Figure 2: Distribution of students of the control (CG) and experimental (EG) groups by levels of information and communication competences after the formative stage of the pedagogical experiment.

bile ICT application according to the developed methods, the diagnostics of the maturity level of information and communication competences of future Professional Education bachelors was repeated (figure 2). The results processed with Pearson's χ^2 criterion reveal that $T_{emp} = 8.38$ is greater than the critical $T_{crit}(0.05) = 7.815$ at the 0.05 level of statistical significance and less than the critical $T_{crit}(0.01) = 11.345$ at the 0.01 level of statistical significance. This provides a basis for concluding that when the formative stage of the pedagogical experiment is completed, there is a statistically significant difference between the experimental and control groups at the 0.05 significance level.

The results show that after the formative stage of the educational experiment, the percentage of students with initial, minimum basic, and basic levels of competence decreased (8.40 %, 13.82 %, and 3.13 %, respectively), while the percentage of students with high, advanced, and research levels increased (5.84 %, 13.53 %, and 5.98 %, respectively). Thus, it can be assumed that an increase in the number of students with high information and communication competences is due to the transition from lower level groups, i.e., the effect of the increase in the level of information and communication competences of future bachelors in Professional Education in Computer Sciences. To verify this assumption, the ϕ^* criterion, i.e. Fisher's angle transformation, was applied. The calculated criterion value $\phi^* = 2.51$ is higher than the limits at the levels of statistical significance 0.05 ($\phi^*_{crit}(0.05) = 1.64$) and 0.01 ($\phi^*_{crit}(0.01) = 2.31$). This gives grounds to assert the existence of the effect of increasing the maturity level of information and communication competences of future bachelors in Professional Education (Digital Technologies) in the experimental group at the formative stage of the pedagogical experiment at the level of significance of 0.01.

Based on the fact that the experimental group applied the developed methods of using mobile ICTs as a tool of teaching Computer Sciences to future bachelors in Professional Education, we can conclude that this was a factor of increasing the maturity level of their information and communication competences, and, therefore, the research hypothesis is proven.

7 CONCLUSIONS

- Bachelors in Professional Education are trained in accordance with the international IGIP standard, and in Ukraine, they major in Specialty 015 Professional Education. Its component is Computer Sciences training, which is carried out in the following content blocks of Computer Sciences: 1) theoretical foundations of Computer Sciences; 2) architecture of modern computer technology; 3) basics of algorithmization and programming; 4) computer system software; 5) computer technologies in professional activity of bachelors in Professional Education.
- 2. Students majoring in Speciality 015.39 Professional Education (Digital Technologies) and teachers of Computer Sciences have a high level of technological readiness, an average level of psychological readiness and a low level of methodological readiness to use mobile ICTs in training, which necessitates the development of appropriate research principles. Based on the results of the expert survey, basic and auxiliary mobile ICT training tools are identified for each of

the content blocks of Computer Sciences.

- 3. The result of teaching Computer Sciences to future bachelors in Professional Education majoring in Digital Technologies is the maturity level of their information and communication competences. The content of information and communication competences is determined when designing a tool for monitoring the formation of competences and diagnosing the level of their maturity through competence matrices. A comprehensive methodology for assessing the maturity level of information and communication competences of future bachelors in Professional Education (digital technologies) is developed.
- 4. The developed model of using mobile ICTs as a tool of teaching Computer Sciences to future bachelors in Professional Education is based on competence-based, personality-oriented and systematic methodological approaches, built on the principles of Professional Education, general didactic principles, principles of teaching Computer Sciences and mobile learning principles, taking into account current conditions and trends in mobile ICT development.
- 5. Methodology of using mobile ICTs as a tool of teaching Computer Sciences to future bachelors in Professional Education is defined as a theoretically grounded set of methods, ways, techniques and forms of mobile ICT application to teaching Computer Sciences to future bachelors in Professional Education. The components of the methodology are partial methods of using Mobile Audience Response Systems, Mobile Learning Support Systems, Mobile Multimedia Authoring Tools, Mobile Modelling And Programming Environments, and Mobile Database Management Systems.
- 6. The analysis of the results of the experimental work allows asserting that the experimental group at the formative stage of the pedagogical experiment has the effect of increasing the maturity level of ICT competences of future bachelors in Professional Education. Based on the fact that the experimental group used the developed methods, we can conclude that this was a factor in increasing the maturity level of ICT competences.

REFERENCES

Bakum, Z. and Tkachuk, V. (2014). Mining engineers training in context of innovative system of Ukraine. *Metallurgical and Mining Industry*, (5):29–34. https://www. metaljournal.com.ua/assets/Journal/7-Tkachuk.pdf.

- Bingimlas, K. A. (2009). Barriers to the Successful Integration of ICT in Teaching and Learning Environments: A Review of the Literature. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education*, 5(3):235– 245. https://doi.org/10.12973/ejmste/75275.
- Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine (2019). On approval of the Concept of state policy implementation in the sphere of professional (vocational and technical) education "Modern professional (professional and technical) education" for the period up to 2027. https://zakon.rada. gov.ua/laws/show/419-2019-%D1%80#Text.
- Diachok, N., Chernukha, N., Tokaruk, L., Udovenko, I., and Petrova, M. M. (2020). Practical-Oriented Concept as a Principle of Professional Education of the Future Professionals. *International Journal of Higher Education*, 9(4):272–282. https://doi.org/10.5430/ijhe. v9n4p272.
- Gérard, P. (2006). Certificat informatique et Internet: Achèvement de la généralisation du C2i® niveau 2 "enseignant". Enseignement supérieur, recherche et technologie: le Bulletin officiel, (33):1800–1802. http://www.education.gouv.fr/bo/ 2006/33/MENT0602067C.htm.
- Heo, H. (2016). Reflecting teachers' voices: Profiling Competency Standards in ICT-enhanced teaching and learning (Republic of Korea). In Diverse Approaches to Developing and Implementing Competency-based ICT Training for Teachers: A Case Study, volume 1, pages 45–65. UNESCO, Paris. https://unesdoc. unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000246003.locale=en.
- Hevko, I. V., Lutsyk, I. B., Lutsyk, I. I., Potapchuk, O. I., and Borysov, V. V. (2021). Implementation of web resources using cloud technologies to demonstrate and organize students' research work. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1946(1):012019. https://doi.org/ 10.1088/1742-6596/1946/1/012019.
- Humeniuk, T. (2018). The professional education bachelors training concept in technical specializations in universities. *The Educational Discourse*, 7(8):51–64. http://nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/eddcsp_2018_7_7.
- International Society for Engineering Pedagogy (2023). ING.PAED.IGIP. https://www.igip.org/ ing-paed-IGIP.php.
- Kersten, S. (2018). Approaches of Engineering Pedagogy to Improve the Quality of Teaching in Engineering Education. In Drummer, J., Hakimov, G., Joldoshov, M., Köhler, T., and Udartseva, S., editors, Vocational Teacher Education in Central Asia: Developing Skills and Facilitating Success, volume 28 of Technical and Vocational Education and Training: Issues, Concerns and Prospects, pages 129– 139. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https: //doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-73093-6_14.
- Köhler, M., Umlauf, T., Kersten, S., and Simmert, H. (2013). Projekt: Ingenieurdidaktik an Sächsischen Hochschulen "e-Didact", volume 33 of Dresdner Beiträge zur Berufspädagogik. SFPS – Wissenschaftlicher Fachverlag. https://docplayer.org/ 109485322-Projektabschlussbericht.html.
- Loftus, S. and Kinsella, E. A. (2021). Embodiment and Professional Education: Opening a Conversa-

tion. In Loftus, S. and Kinsella, E. A., editors, *Embodiment and Professional Education: Body, Practice, Pedagogy*, volume 8 of *Debating Higher Education: Philosophical Perspectives*, pages 1–10. Springer Singapore, Singapore. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-981-16-4827-4_1.

- Lytvyn, A., Lytvyn, V., Rudenko, L., Pelekh, Y., Didenko, O., Muszkieta, R., and Żukow, W. (2020). Informatization of technical vocational schools: Theoretical foundations and practical approaches. *Education and Information Technologies*, 25(1):583–609. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10639-019-09966-4.
- Matteucci, M. C., Nardini, E., and Omicini, A. (2013). Collaborative Learning and ICT: A Prototypal Learning Environment. In Roselli, J. and Gulick, E., editors, *Information and Communications Technology: New Research*, Media and Communications - Technologies, Policies and Challenges. Electronics and Telecommunications Research, chapter 9, pages 175–188. Nova Science Publishers, Inc., Hauppauge, NY, USA. https: //www.researchgate.net/publication/236238087.
- Oleksiuk, V. P. and Oleksiuk, O. R. (2022). Examining the potential of augmented reality in the study of Computer Science at school. *Educational Technol*ogy Quarterly, 2022(4):307–327. https://doi.org/10. 55056/etq.432.
- Rashevska, N. and Tkachuk, V. (2015). Technological conditions of mobile learning at high school. *Metallurgical and Mining Industry*, (3):161–164. https://www.metaljournal.com.ua/assets/Journal/ english-edition/MMI_2015_3/021%20Rashevska. pdf.
- Ravi, R. V. (2022). The Effects of the National Education Policy 2020 on Professional Education. https://doi. org/10.5281/zenodo.7312738.
- Seidametova, Z., Abduramanov, Z., and Seydametov, G. (2022). Hackathons in computer science education: monitoring and evaluation of programming projects. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(1):20–34. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.5.
- Sell, R. and Rüütmann, T. (2015). The International Cooperation on Remote Laboratories in the Framework of Engineering Didactics. *International Journal of Engineering Pedagogy (iJEP)*, 5(1):pp. 8–11. https: //doi.org/10.3991/ijep.v5i1.3917.
- Shepiliev, D. S., Modlo, Y. O., Yechkalo, Y. V., Tkachuk, V. V., Mintii, M. M., Mintii, I. S., Markova, O. M., Selivanova, T. V., Drashko, O. M., Kalinichenko, O. O., Vakaliuk, T. A., Osadchyi, V. V., and Semerikov, S. O. (2020). WebAR development tools: An overview. *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, 2832:84–93. http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2832/paper12.pdf.
- Shyshkina, M. (2013). Emerging Technologies for Training of ICT-Skilled Educational Personnel. In Ermolayev, V., Mayr, H. C., Nikitchenko, M. S., Spivakovsky, A., and Zholtkevych, G., editors, Information and Communication Technologies in Education, Research, and Industrial Applications - 9th International Conference, ICTERI 2013, Kherson, Ukraine, June 19-22, 2013, Revised Selected Papers, volume 412 of Communications in Computer and Information

Science, pages 274–284. Springer. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-319-03998-5_14.

- Singh, V. P. and T. S., R. R. (2014). Globalization, ICT and Professional Education in India. In XVIII ISA World Congress of Sociology. 13–19 July 2014. Facing an Unequal World: Challenge for Global Sociology. Book of Abstracts, page 906. International Sociological Association. http://www.isa-sociology.org/ uploads/files/isa-wcs2014-book-of-abstracts.pdf.
- Spirin, O., Oleksiuk, V., Oleksiuk, O., and Sydorenko, S. (2018). The Group Methodology of Using Cloud Technologies in the Training of Future Computer Science Teachers. In Ermolayev, V., Suárez-Figueroa, M. C., Yakovyna, V., Kharchenko, V. S., Kobets, V., Kravtsov, H., Peschanenko, V. S., Prytula, Y., Nikitchenko, M. S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, *Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kyiv, Ukraine, May 14-17, 2018, volume 2104 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 294–304. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/ Vol-2104/paper_154.pdf.*
- Ständigen Konferenz der Kultusminister der Länder in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland (2019). Ländergemeinsame inhaltliche Anforderungen für die Fachwissenschaften und Fachdidaktiken in der Lehrerbildung (Beschluss der Kultusministerkonferenz vom 16.10.2008 i. d. F. vom 16.05.2019). Sekretariat der Kultusministerkonferenz, Berlin. http://www.kmk. org/fileadmin/veroeffentlichungen_beschluesse/2008/ 2008_10_16-Fachprofile-Lehrerbildung.pdf.
- Sultana, T. and Brown, L. (2017). Students' use of ICT tools: Choices and reasons. In Kaur, B., Ho, W. K., Toh, T. L., and Choy, B. H., editors, Proceedings of the 41st conference of the International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education PME 41, Singapore, 17-22 July 2017, volume 1, Singapore. PME. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/351161158.
- Tan, C. K., Auh, A. M. H., and Lee, K. W. (2019). The Difference in the Definition of Successful Implementation of the ICT Curriculum between the Teacher Trainees, Administrator and Lecturer. *Journal of Information System and Technology Management*, 4(14):01–17. https://doi.org/10.35631/jistm.414001.
- Tkachuk, V., Semerikov, S., Yechkalo, Y. V., Khotskina, S., and Soloviev, V. N. (2020a). Selection of Mobile ICT for Learning Informatics of Future Professionals in Engineering Pedagogy. In Sokolov, O., Zholtkevych, G., Yakovyna, V., Tarasich, Y., Kharchenko, V., Kobets, V., Burov, O., Semerikov, S., and Kravtsov, H., editors, Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kharkiv, Ukraine, October 06-10, 2020, volume 2732 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 1058–1068. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2732/20201058.pdf.
- Tkachuk, V., Yechkalo, Y. V., Semerikov, S., Kislova, M., and Khotskina, V. (2020b). Exploring Student Uses of Mobile Technologies in University Classrooms: Au-

dience Response Systems and Development of Multimedia. In Sokolov, O., Zholtkevych, G., Yakovyna, V., Tarasich, Y., Kharchenko, V., Kobets, V., Burov, O., Semerikov, S., and Kravtsov, H., editors, *Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kharkiv, Ukraine, October 06-10, 2020*, volume 2732 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 1217–1232. CEUR-WS.org. https: //ceur-ws.org/Vol-2732/20201217.pdf.

- Tkachuk, V. V., Shchokin, V. P., and Tron, V. V. (2018). The Model of Use of Mobile Information and Communication Technologies in Learning Computer Sciences to Future Professionals in Engineering Pedagogy. In Kiv, A. E. and Soloviev, V. N., editors, Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih, Ukraine, October 2, 2018, volume 2257 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 103–111. CEUR-WS.org. https: //ceur-ws.org/Vol-2257/paper12.pdf.
- Tsidylo, I. M., Tereshchuk, H. V., Kozibroda, S. V., Kravets, S. V., Savchyn, T. O., Naumuk, I. M., and Kassim, D. A. (2019). Methodology of designing computer ontology of subject discipline by future teachersengineers. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:217–231. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.381.
- Tytova, N. (2018). The professional mobility significance in psychological and pedagogical training of pedagogies Professional Education. *Educational Discourse*, 6(6-7):7–17. http://nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/eddcsp_2018_6_3.
- UNESCO (2018). UNESCO ICT Competency Framework for Teachers. Version 3. UNESCO, Paris. https: //unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000265721.
- Vakaliuk, T. A. (2015). LMS service for SaaS as alternative solution to the problem of designing a cloud-based learning environment for computer science bachelors. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 3:118–125. https://doi. org/10.55056/cte.253.
- Yatsko, O. M. (2014). Cloud technologies in teaching computer science of future economists. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 2:249–262. https://doi.org/10.55056/ cte.215.

Developing Research Competencies in High School Students Through Specialized Chemistry Education: A Computer-Based Approach

Pavlo P. Nechypurenko¹[®] and Serhiy O. Semerikov^{1,2,3}[®]

¹Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine
 ²Kryvyi Rih National University, 11 Vitalii Matusevych Str., Kryvyi Rih, 50027, Ukraine
 ³Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the NAES of Ukraine, 9 M. Berlynskoho Str., Kyiv, 04060, Ukraine acinonyxleo@gmail.com, semerikov@gmail.com

- Keywords: Students, Self-Development, Research Competencies, Educational Chemical Research, Structuring of Competencies, System of Research Competencies, Cognitive Activity, Experiment, Development, ICT, Computer-Based Chemistry Training.
- Abstract: The article discusses the trends in the development of the education system with a focus on specialized education in chemistry. The goal of specialized education is to deepen theoretical knowledge, improve practical skills, and foster independent and continuous self-education in students. The school chemistry course prioritizes the unity of theory and practice, a research approach to teaching, and differentiation. Research competencies are described as new personality formations that develop gradually in the process of educational and research activities. Specialized chemistry education is the optimal form for the formation and development of students' research competencies. The key concept of the study is research competencies of high school students in specialized chemistry teaching, which are defined as a systemic professionally oriented property of the student's personality. A system of research competencies of high school students in specialized chemistry education is designed, consisting of three groups: general scientific research competencies, scientific research competencies, and special chemical research competencies. The article also discusses the stages of educational and research activities, lesson and extracurricular forms of organizing educational and research activities, and the importance of forming research competencies in students.

1 INTRODUCTION

The main tasks of the National strategy for the development of education in Ukraine for the period up to 2021 in general secondary education are to update the content, forms and methods of organizing the educational process; create conditions for strengthening the professional orientation of students, providing specialized training, individual educational trajectory of students in accordance with their personal needs, interests and abilities; increase the effectiveness of the educational process through the introduction of the achievements of psychological and pedagogical science, pedagogical (President of Ukraine, 2013).

The Concept for the development of science and mathematics education (STEM education), aimed at consistent and systematic solution of issues related to ensuring sustainable innovative development of science and mathematics education and improving its quality, identifies among the ways to solve this problem, in particular, the creation of information and methodological complexes for science and mathematics subjects (electronic manuals, virtual laboratories, electronic databases, educational portals, etc.), as well as ensuring conditions for their use (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2020).

According to the Law of Ukraine "On Education" (Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine, 2017) specialized secondary education corresponds to the third level of the National Qualifications Framework, which requires students to develop the ability to work effectively in a team, critical thinking, independent educational and professional activities, responsibility for its progress and results, oral and written communication skills, etc. Studies of in the field of theory and methodology of ICT in education have proven the effectiveness of using ICT tools to develop these abilities. According to the (Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine, 2017), specialized education in science involves the acquisition

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5397-6523

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0789-0272

Nechypurenko, P. and Semerikov, S.

Developing Research Competencies in High School Students Through Specialized Chemistry Education: A Computer-Based Approach. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 835-849 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

of competencies by students in research and development, design, invention and rationalization activities that can be supported by ICT.

The main tasks of specialized education include assistance in the development of creative independence, the formation of a system of ideas, value orientations, research skills – components of research competencies that will provide a school graduate with the opportunity to successfully realize himself/herself. The issues of forming students' research competencies in the context of specialized education were considered by Alibekian (Alibekian, 2013), Verbytskyi (Verbytskyi, 2012), Zhuk (Zhuk, 2021), Kiv et al. (Kiv et al., 2019).

The main goal of competence-based learning of chemistry students is to develop the competencies necessary for the creative realization of the individual and the acquisition of skills of independent scientific and practical research and development activities, and the leading forms of organizing such activities are laboratory work and projects aimed at forming students' research competencies. The theoretical and methodological foundations of specialized teaching of chemistry were developed in (Jegstad et al., 2022; Sawatruksa and Rodpun, 2019; Segerblom, 1931; Velychko and Fitsailo, 2010). ICTs as a means of teaching chemistry were considered by Aksela (Aksela, 2005), da Silva et al. (da Silva et al., 2019), Derkach (Derkach, 2021), Hernández et al. (Hernández et al., 2014), Husaruk (Husaruk, 2010), Lewis (Lewis, 2004), Martínez-Argüello et al. (Martínez-Argüello et al., 2018), Sadykov and Čtrnáctová (Sadykov and Čtrnáctová, 2019), Silva and Ramos (Silva and Ramos, 2016).

The realization of the purpose and tasks of specialized chemistry education is impossible without taking into account the principle of flexibility, which consists in providing opportunities and conditions for changing the content, methods and forms of organization of specialized education, in particular the main form of meeting individual student requests according to individual plans and programs (for example, in rural areas in the absence of students to form a class) – distance learning, which occurs mainly through the indirect interaction of remote participants in the educational process in a specialized environment that operates on the basis of modern psychological, pedagogical, and information and communication technologies.

The analysis of the experience of organizing specialized chemistry education has revealed a *contradictions* between the potential of computer-oriented chemistry education in the formation of research competencies of high school students and the lack of development of methods for using ICT in the process of forming research competencies in students of specialized classes, which gives rise to a socially significant problem, which is the focus of this research.

2 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

Research object is information and communication technologies for teaching chemistry in general secondary education.

Research subject is the process of using information and communication technologies as a means of forming research competencies of high school students in specialized chemistry education.

Research aim is to substantiate the theoretical and methodological foundations of the use of information and communication technologies as a means of forming research competencies of senior pupils in specialized chemistry teaching.

The research hypothesis: the process of using ICT as a means of forming research competencies of senior pupils in specialized teaching of chemistry will be effective if

- the system of research competencies is designed as interrelated groups of general scientific, natural scientific and chemical research competencies;
- the selection of general and special purpose ICT tools aimed at forming research competencies of senior pupils in specialized teaching of chemistry;
- the model of forming research competencies of senior pupils is substantiated.

In accordance with the research aim, subject, and hypothesis, the following main *research objectives* have been identified:

- 1. Based on the analysis of scientific literature, to identify and reveal the theoretical and methodological foundations of the process of forming students' research competencies in specialized chemistry education.
- To determine the content, structure and features of the system of research competencies of high school students in accordance with the tasks of specialized teaching of chemistry.
- To identify and characterize information and communication technologies as a means of forming research competencies of students in specialized classes in chemistry.
- 4. To theoretically substantiate the model of forming research competencies of senior pupils in specialized chemistry teaching by means of information and communication technologies.

5. To develop and experimentally test the effectiveness of the methodology of using information and communication technologies as a means of forming research competencies of senior pupils in specialized chemistry teaching.

To solve the tasks, the following *research methods* were used:

- theoretical analysis, generalization, systematization of scientific, methodological and psychological-pedagogical literature on topical research issues, current state standards of general secondary education, school curricula and textbooks to determine the theoretical and methodological foundations of the research, development of methods of using information and communication technologies as a means of forming research competencies of high school students; modeling to develop a model for the formation of research competencies of high school students in specialized chemistry teaching by means of information and communication technologies;
- empirical diagnostic (targeted pedagogical observation, interviews with teachers and students, questionnaires, analysis of teachers' work experience) to determine the state of formation of research competencies of high school students;
- experimental (stating and formative stages of the pedagogical experiment) to test the developed methodology for the formation of research competencies of high school students.

The theoretical and methodological foundations of the study are the philosophical positions on the unity of theory and practice, interdependence and interconnection of objective and subjective factors of personality formation; fundamental ideas of systemic (Afanas'ev, 1981; Aver'janov, 1985; Blauberg and Judin, 1973; González, 2011), personal and activity (Brushlinskij, 1979; Gal'perin, 2012; Davydov, 2008; Rubinstein and Myasoed, 2009; Talyzina, 1974), competence (Bibik et al., 2019; Il'chenko, 2015; Lokshyna, 2022; Ovcharuk, 2020; Tarasenkova et al., 2019; Khutorskaya and Korol, 2008), cognitive (Bruner, 1984; Piaget, 1980; Vygotsky, 2004) approaches; provisions of the theory of pedagogical systems (Bespalko, 2018; Härkönen, 2009; Derkach and Kuz'mina, 1993), theoretical foundations of modeling of training and education systems (Bykov, 2008; Cifuentes and Olarte, 2023; Dokuchaieva, 2022); scientific provisions of education informatization (Bykov et al., 2017; Gergei and Mashbits, 1986; Glushkov, 1976; Gurevych et al., 2020; Hrynevych et al., 2021; Kademiya and Kobysia, 2017; Kuzmina et al., 2022;

Meniailenko et al., 2017; Panchenko, 2021; Polat, 2009; Robert et al., 2016; Semerikov, 2021; Vlasenko et al., 2020; Vakaliuk et al., 2022; Volkova et al., 2021; Zhaldak, 2012), in particular the use of ICT in the educational process of general secondary education (Monakhov, 1986; Morze et al., 2022a; Zhaldak, 2013); theoretical foundations of researchbased teaching and learning (Rakov et al., 2009; Mongkonthan, 2021; Park et al., 2023); provisions of the theory and methodology of teaching chemistry at school (Garnett and Tobin, 1989; van Rens et al., 2010; Roehrig and Luft, 2004; Yaroshenko, 2021); conceptual provisions of specialized education (Chebykin and Maksymenko, 2008; Tarasenkova et al., 2020; Volkovyskii et al., 1987), in particular chemistry (Halkyard, 1944; Pak, 2012; Velychko and Fitsailo, 2010); psychological and pedagogical features of computerization of the educational process in general secondary education institutions (Lehka and Shokaliuk, 2021; Monakhov et al., 1986; Smulson, 2012).

3 THEORETICAL FOUNDATIONS OF THE FORMATION OF RESEARCH COMPETENCIES OF HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS IN SPECIALIZED TEACHING OF CHEMISTRY

Modern trends in the development of the education system, due to the intensification of the development of all spheres of science and the establishment of new social requirements for the individual, are aimed at forming the skills of independent and continuous selfeducation in students. Based on the views of Bibik et al. (Bibik et al., 2019), Chebykin and Maksymenko (Chebykin and Maksymenko, 2008), Velychko and Fitsailo (Velychko and Fitsailo, 2010) on the content, purpose and ways of implementing specialized education, we note that specialized education in chemistry provides students with opportunities to deepen their theoretical knowledge and improve their practical skills in chemistry; to conduct individual and group research aimed at acquiring skills of independent scientific and practical, research and search activities by high school students; to develop their own intellectual, mental, creative, moral, social qualities, as well as the desire for self-development and selfeducation.

One of the main features of the school chemistry

course is the priority of the principle of unity of theory and practice (Pedersen, 1983; Podlasyi, 1982; Wiggins, 2011), the research approach to teaching (Lim, 2022; Morze et al., 2022b; Peltekova et al., 2014; Rakov et al., 2009) and the principle of differentiation (Gruber, 2008; Unt, 1981; Yaroshenko, 2021), which is reflected in the organization of various types of educational and *research activities* of students, which is understood as an activity aimed at mastering subjectively new knowledge and leading scientific methods of its acquisition, carried out in accordance with the methodology of scientific research in the chosen field, and in the widespread use of the research approach in teaching chemistry, in particular in the context of specialized education.

Based on the general theoretical provisions of the competence-based approach in school education (Bibik et al., 2019; Lokshyna, 2022; Lupión-Cobos et al., 2022; Ovcharuk, 2020) O. Savchenko, scientific views of Baizulaeva (Baizulaeva, 2010) and Golovan' (Golovan', 2012) on the structure and content of research competencies, *research competencies* are interpreted as qualitative new personality formations, the formation and development of which occurs in the process of students' educational and research activities with a gradual complication of its types.

Taking into account the fundamental ideas of the personality-activity approach (Davydov, 2008; Gal'perin, 2012; Talyzina, 1974), scientific principles of specialized education (Chebykin and Maksymenko, 2008; Tarasenkova et al., 2020; Volkovyskii et al., 1987) and features of the implementation of specialized teaching of chemistry (Pak, 2012; Velychko and Fitsailo, 2010; Yaroshenko, 2021), the key concept of the study - research competencies of high school students in specialized chemistry teaching - is defined as a systemic professionally oriented property of the student's personality, which combines knowledge, skills, experience of educational and research activities in chemistry and a positive value attitude towards it and is manifested in the willingness and ability to conduct educational chemical research using general scientific, natural scientific and special chemical methods.

The main driving force in the formation and development of students' research competencies in chemistry is educational and research activities, the stages of organization of which generally correspond to the stages of organization of research activities, and specialized chemistry education is the optimal form of education for the formation and development of students' research competencies. It has been proved that the priority lesson forms of organizing educational and research activities in specialized teaching of chemistry, the use of which contributes to the formation of students' research competencies at a high level, are the solution of educational and research tasks and laboratory work, and the leading extracurricular forms are chemical workshops, educational and research projects, individual educational and scientific research, practical and home chemical experiments, the implementation of which is advisable during elective classes and in extracurricular scientific and educational activities.

Based on the research of Khutorskoi (Khutorskoi, 2012) on the structuring of competencies, Pometun and Remekh (Pometun and Remekh, 2019) on the connection of general subject and subject competencies, Il'chenko (Il'chenko, 2015) on the ways of forming natural scientific competencies of schoolchildren, Timirgalieva (Timirgalieva, 2013) on the essence and features of the development of chemical competencies of high school students, a system of research competencies of high school students in specialized chemistry education, consisting of three groups, is designed:

- general scientific research competencies (GRC), which are related to the mastery of universal research methods necessary for research activities in the process of studying any discipline, and include the following abilities: the ability to formulate the research hypothesis (GRC-01), the ability to plan the hypothesis testing (GRC-02), the ability to realize and justify the relevance of the research (GRC-03), the ability to evaluate the moral and social aspects of scientific research (GRC-04), the ability to find and use the reference materials that are necessary for the research (GRC-05), the ability to think critically (GRC-06), the ability to analyze and formalize the research results (GRC-07), the ability to formulate conclusions (GRC-08), the ability to substantiate the submission of research results, to protect the own opinion, to discuss (GRC-09), the ability to work together in the research process (GRC-10);
- scientific research competencies (SRC) related to the study of real natural objects and the relationships between them, which are necessary for research activities in the field of natural sciences and are represented by: the formation of representations about the stages of the cognitive activity in natural sciences, the elements of metrology (SRC-01), the ability to plan an experiment (SRC-02), the ability to carry out the individual operations competently during the experiment (SRC-03), the ability to conduct experiments in order to know the properties of bodies and substances, to identify the features of the growth, the development



Figure 1: Interrelation of ICT tools with the formation of a system of research competencies of high school students in specialized chemistry education.

and the behavior of organisms (SRC-04), the ability to adhere to the safety rules during the experiment (SRC-05), the ability to perform the mathematical analysis of the experimental research results (SRC-06), the formation of representations of the general laws of nature and the natural sciences picture of the world, the general structure of the universe, the integrity of nature (SRC-07), the ability to use the experimental and statistical methods and the modeling in the study of objects of live and inanimate nature (SRC-08), the ability to distribute work in the process of experiment that the purpose of optimization (SRC-09);

 chemical research competencies (CRC), which are related to the mastery of special chemical research methods necessary for research activities in the fields of chemical sciences, include the ability to: the ability to distinguish the chemical phenomena of nature from the others (CRC-01), the ability to use the chemical dishes and equipment correctly (CRC-02), the ability to adapt the existing chemical dishes and equipment for the experiment needs (CRC-03), the ability to compose and use the devices for carrying out the experiments (CRC-04), the ability to perform the laboratory operations correctly: heating, cooling, filtering, mixing, weighing, etc. (CRC-05), the ability to use the chemical symbols, the formulas, the modern Ukrainian chemical nomenclature (CRC-06), the ability to predict the course of chemical reactions, based on the properties of the substances that are taking part in them, and the conditions of the reaction (CRC-07), the ability to justify the relationship between the structure of matter and its properties (CRC-08), the ability to perform the various types of chemical calculations (CRC-09), the ability to draw conclusions about the properties of matter, based on the structure of the molecule substances (CRC-10), the ability to draw conclusions about the structure of substances based on their properties (CRC-11), the ability to solve the experimental problems in chemistry (CRC-12).

The different groups of the system of research competencies of high school students in specialized chemistry education are shown in figure 1.

4 METHODOLOGICAL FOUNDATIONS OF USING INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGIES AS A MEANS OF FORMING RESEARCH COMPETENCES OF SENIOR PUPILS IN SPECIALIZED TEACHING OF CHEMISTRY

Theoretical analysis of the conceptual provisions on informatization of education (Fedorenko et al., 2019; Li, 2021; Liu and Wang, 2021; Mynbayeva and Anarbek, 2016; Qi et al., 2009; Wang and Xing, 2011; Wen, 2022; Yan and Yang, 2021), the use of ICT in the educational process of general secondary education (Gil-Flores et al., 2017; Lai and Pratt, 2004; Mooij and Smeets, 2001; Webb, 2002; Wikan and Molster, 2011), taking into account the psychological and pedagogical features of computerization of the educational process of schoolchildren, the results of the analysis of the theory and practice of specialized teaching of chemistry gave grounds to distinguish two main groups of ICT learning tools in accordance with the tasks of specialized teaching of chemistry, in particular: general-purpose tools used to support the teaching of any discipline, and specialpurpose tools that are specific means of supporting the teaching of chemistry.

Based on the results of the expert survey (Nechypurenko et al., 2021), 17 ICT tools were selected, the use of which contributes to the formation of research competencies of high school students in specialized chemistry teaching: seven general-purpose tools (spreadsheets; tools for monitoring and selfmonitoring of learning achievements; tools for creating multimedia presentations; general-purpose search engines; learning support systems; text editors; cloudbased tools for supporting collaborative learning and research activities) and ten special-purpose tools (adaptive automated learning systems in chemistry; virtual chemical laboratories; electronic periodic systems; computer modeling of chemical processes; educational games in chemistry; popular science and career guidance chemical information resources on the Internet; software and methodological complexes for educational purposes in chemistry; simulators and electronic workshops; chemical search engines; chemical editors).

It has been proved that most research competencies correspond to one or more leading ICT tools to support their formation. It has also been found that 16 selected ICT tools are leading in the process of forming at least one research competence, with general-purpose ICT tools being necessary for the formation of primarily general scientific ones, and special-purpose tools – for the formation of chemical and natural scientific research competences of high school students in specialized chemistry education. Schematically, the types of these connections are shown in figure 1.

ICT tools for the formation of senior students' research competencies in specialized chemistry education have become one of the key elements of the developed model of the formation of senior students' research competencies in specialized chemistry education by means of ICT, which consists of four blocks (figure 2).

Thus,

- the goal unit contains components that define the goal – the formation of research competencies of high school students using ICT (rapid growth of chemical knowledge and the need of society for highly qualified specialists in chemistry, computerization of all types of chemical activities, preprofessional training in chemistry in high school and research-oriented teaching of chemistry);
- the conceptual unit reflects modern approaches to the implementation of a competence-based approach in specialized chemistry teaching and contains normative documents (international and state standards), the content of chemistry teaching, an expert survey as the main selection tool and a designed system of research competencies of high school students in specialized chemistry teaching;
- the technological unit contains a set of ICT tools for the formation of research competencies of high school students in specialized chemistry teaching, which is interconnected with the methods of specialized chemistry teaching and forms of organization of students' research activities in chemistry and determines the ways to achieve the goal;
- diagnostic and result unit includes the predicted result of applying the model – increasing the level of high school students' research competencies in specialized chemistry education and a set of assessment criteria, indicators, levels and means of diagnosing the formation of students' research competencies, designed to determine the effectiveness of achieving the result.

The components of the model that ensure the interconnection of all units are information and communication technologies, methodological approaches



Figure 2: The model of research competence formation of high school students in specialized chemistry teaching using ICT.

(systemic, personal-activity, competence, cognitive) and principles (general didactic and specific didactic – specialized education, chemistry education).

In accordance with the model of forming research competencies of high school students in specialized chemistry teaching using ICT, a methodology for using ICT as a means of forming research competencies of high school students in specialized chemistry teaching has been developed, consisting of a target block (formation of students' research competencies), content block (teaching the basics of quantitative chemical analysis) and technological block (ICT tools, methods and forms of their use in specialized chemistry teaching). Proceeding from the fact that the formation of a system of research competencies of high school students is effective provided that the appropriate selection of ICT tools and conditions for their use for the formation of each of the research competencies, the developed methodology was tested in the process of teaching the optional course



Figure 3: Levels of research competencies of high school students of high school students in the control (CG) and experimental (EG) groups at the beginning and end of the pedagogical experiment.

"Fundamentals of Quantitative Chemical Analysis", as well as individual topics of the high school chemistry course at the specialized level.

5 EXPERIMENTAL WORK

The research and experimental work consisted of three stages: analytical and stating (2007 - 2009), design and search (2010 - 2013) and formative and generalizing (2014 - 2017). At the first stage, the problem was identified and the research hypothesis was formulated.

At the second stage, the structure of research competencies and indicators for diagnosing the level of their formation were determined, which was carried out through observations, conversations, questionnaires, studying the products of students' activities, high school students' performance of psychological tests, sets of test tasks and written tests in the subject. This made it possible to determine the levels of research competencies on a four-level ordinal scale (initial, intermediate, sufficient and high) using research competency matrices that were filled out for each student. The level of formation of the system of research competencies of high school students in specialized chemistry education was determined based on the level of formation of each individual research competency and its contribution to the formation of the system of research competencies.

At the third stage, in order to test the effectiveness of the developed methodology of using ICT as a means of forming research competencies of high school students in specialized chemistry teaching, the curriculum of the optional course "Fundamentals of Quantitative Chemical Analysis" was developed (Nechypurenko and Soloviev, 2018); the selection of ICT tools was carried out, the use of which ensured the formation of research competencies of high school students in the process of their study in the optional course; control (CG) and experimental (EG) groups were formed, in which the process of formation of research competencies was monitored.

The results of the pedagogical experiment showed no significant difference in the distribution of CG and EG students by levels of research competencies at the beginning of the experiment and the presence of such a difference after its completion against the background of a general increase in the number of students with sufficient and high levels of research competencies in both groups (figure 3).

The statistical processing of the pedagogical experiment data was carried out using Pearson's χ^2 test. The results of the statistical processing confirmed the assumption that there were no significant differences between the distribution of CG and EG students at the beginning of the experiment by the levels of formation of research competence groups ($\chi^2_{emp} = 0.943$; 1.751 and 1.243 for general scientific, natural scientific and chemical research competencies, respectively) and the system of research competencies in general ($\chi^2_{emp} = 0.884$) and showed the presence of significant differences at the level of p = 0.01 in the distribution of CG and EG students by the levels of formation of the system of research competencies in general (χ^2_{emp} = 11.470) and significant at the level of p = 0.05 differences in the distribution of CG and EG students by the levels of formation of chemical research competencies (χ^2_{emp} = 8.649) after the pedagogical experiment, which confirmed the research hypothesis.

6 CONCLUSION

The article presents a theoretical generalization and solution to the scientific problem of using ICT as a means of forming research competencies of high school students in the process of specialized chemistry teaching. The research results give grounds to draw the following conclusions:

 Based on the results of the analysis of scientific literature, regulatory and legislative documents, it was found that in general secondary education the priority task is to update the content, forms and methods of organizing the educational process; create conditions for strengthening the professional orientation of students by providing specialized training and individual educational trajectory of students in accordance with their personal needs, interests and abilities; improving the quality of the educational process through the introduction of ICT as an effective means of forming research competencies.

The theoretical and methodological foundations of the process of forming students' research competencies in specialized chemistry education are revealed, which include a definitional analysis of the key concepts of the research, a theoretical substantiation of the model of forming research competencies of high school students in the process of specialized chemistry education, a designed system of research competencies of high school students in accordance with the tasks of specialized chemistry education, a description of ICT as a means of forming research competencies of students in specialized classes in chemistry.

2. Based on the fundamental ideas of competence, personality and activity approaches, scientific principles of specialized education and taking into account the peculiarities of its implementation in the process of teaching chemistry, the key concept of the study – research competencies of high school students in specialized teaching of chemistry – is defined as a systemic professionally oriented property of the student's personality, which combines knowledge, skills, experience of educational and research activities in chemistry and a positive value attitude towards it and is manifested in the readiness and ability to conduct educational chemical research using general scientific, natural science and special chemical methods.

It has been proved that the main driving force for the formation and development of students' research competencies in chemistry is educational and research activity, which is considered as an activity aimed at mastering subjectively new knowledge and leading scientific methods of its acquisition, carried out in accordance with the methodology of scientific research in the chosen field, and the stages of its organization correspond to the stages of organization of research activity. On the basis of a methodologically sound combination of traditional and innovative technologies, it is established that the priority forms of its organization are the solution of educational and research tasks and laboratory work, and the leading extracurricular forms are chemical workshops, educational and research projects, individual educational and scientific research, practical and home chemical experiments, the implementation of which is advisable during optional classes and in extracurricular scientific clubs.

- 3. Taking into account theoretical provisions on the structuring of competencies, the relationship between general subject and subject competencies, ways of forming natural scientific competencies of schoolchildren, the essence and features of the development of chemical competencies of senior pupils, a system of research competencies of senior pupils in specialized teaching of chemistry is designed, consisting of three groups: general scientific research competencies related to the mastery of universal research methods; natural scientific competencies that provide for the development of scientific research. The article investigates the links between different groups of the research competencies system and establishes that the formation of some research competencies indirectly determines the development of others, which requires the selection of means for the formation of research competencies of high school students in specialized education, taking into account the interrelated development of all three groups of competencies with an emphasis on those that have the most connections with other competencies and can be considered key research competencies.
- 4. The research identifies 17 ICT tools that contribute to the formation of research competencies of high school students in specialized chemistry education, including seven general tools (spreadsheets; tools for monitoring and self-monitoring of learning achievements; tools for creating multimedia presentations; general-purpose search engines; learning support systems; text editors;

cloud-based tools for supporting collaborative learning and research activities) and ten specialpurpose tools (adaptive automated learning and teaching tools).

It has been proved that the most significant ICT tool for the formation of research competencies is virtual chemical laboratories, which are appropriate for the formation of the largest number of research competencies of high school students in the process of specialized chemistry education (Nechypurenko and Semerikov, 2017; Nechypurenko et al., 2019, 2020).

5. The developed model for the formation of research competencies of senior pupils in specialized teaching of chemistry using ICT consists of the following interrelated units: goal, the components of which determine the purpose of forming research competencies of senior pupils using ICT; conceptual, reflecting modern approaches to the implementation of a competence-based approach to specialized teaching of chemistry; technological, which contains a set of ICT tools for the formation of research competencies of high school students in specialized chemistry teaching, interconnected with the methods of specialized chemistry teaching and forms of organizing students' research activities in chemistry; diagnostic and result, representing the predicted result of the model.

The components of the model that ensure the interconnection of all blocks are information and communication technologies, methodological approaches (systemic, personal and activity, competence, cognitive) and principles (general didactic and specific didactic – of specialized education and chemistry education).

6. The methodology of using ICT as a means of forming research competencies of high school students in specialized chemistry teaching consists of a target block (formation of students' research competencies), a content block (teaching the basics of quantitative chemical analysis as a universal course for different chemical profiles) and a technological block (ICT tools, methods and forms of their use in specialized chemistry teaching).

The experimental verification of the developed methodology in the form of a sequential pedagogical experiment and the results of statistical processing of the data confirmed the assumption that there were no significant differences in the distribution of students of the control and experimental groups at the beginning of the experiment in terms of the levels of formation of research competence groups ($\chi^2_{emp} = 0.943$; 1.751 and 1.243 for general scientific, natural scientific and chemical research competencies, respectively) and the system of research competencies in general ($\chi^2_{emp} = 0.884$) and showed the presence of significant differences at the level of p = 0.01 differences in the levels of formation of the system of research competencies in general ($\chi^2_{emp} = 11.470$) and significant at the level of p = 0.05 differences in the levels of formation of chemical research competencies ($\chi^2_{emp} = 8.649$) after the completion of the pedagogical experiment, which confirmed the hypothesis of the study.

The research results can be used in the process of organizing research teaching of chemistry using ICT in general secondary and higher education institutions of various profiles; in the process of professional training of future chemistry teachers; in the system of postgraduate pedagogical education and advanced training of science teachers; in the self-educational activities of high school students.

7 FUTURE WORK

The study does not exhaust all aspects of the problem under consideration. Further scientific research into its solution is advisable in the following areas: development of methods for using expert systems as a means of generalization and systematization in teaching chemistry; development of adaptive systems for teaching chemistry; design of a system of cloudbased virtual chemical laboratories and development of methods for their use; theoretical and methodological foundations for designing a computer-oriented environment for the professional training of future chemistry teachers.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The research was carried out within the framework of the complex topic "Modernization of the school educational experiment on the basis of Internet-oriented pedagogical technologies" (No. 0112U000280) in accordance with the research plan of the joint research laboratory of the SHEI "Kryvyi Rih National University" and the Institute of Digitalisation of Education of the National Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine (Kyiv) on the use of cloud technologies in education. Developing Research Competencies in High School Students Through Specialized Chemistry Education: A Computer-Based Approach

REFERENCES

- Afanas'ev, V. G. (1981). Obshhestvo: sistemnost', poznanie i upravlenie [Society: consistency, knowledge and management]. Politizdat, Moscow.
- Aksela, M. (2005). Supporting Meaningful Chemistry Learning and Higher-order Thinking through Computer-Assisted Inquiry: A Design Research Approach. PhD thesis, University of Helsinki, Helsinki. https://helda.helsinki.fi/handle/10138/21127.
- Alibekian, M. (2013). Pedagogicheskie uslovija razvitija issledovatel'skoj kompetentnosti uchashhihsja v sisteme nachal'nogo professional'nogo obrazovanija: na materialah Islamskoj Respubliki Iran [Pedagogical conditions of development of research competence of students in initial vocational training: on materials of the Islamic Republic of Iran]. diss. ... cand. ped. sciences : 13.00.01 – general pedagogy, history of pedagogy and education, Tajik State Pedagogical University named after Sadriddin Aini, Dushanbe. https://viewer.rsl.ru/ru/rsl01005537595.
- Aver'janov, A. N. (1985). Sistemnoe poznanie mira: Metodologicheskie problemy [Systemic knowledge of the world: Methodological problems]. Politizdat, Moscow.
- Baizulaeva, O. L. (2010). Razvitie uchebno-issledovatelskoi deiatelnosti uchashchikhsia profilnykh klassov litceia na osnove integrativno-lichnostnogo podkhoda. Dis. ... kand. ped. nauk : 13.00.01 – obshchaia pedagogika, istoriia pedagogiki i obrazovaniia, Magnitogorsk.
- Bespalko, V. P. (2018). Kyberpedahohyka. Pedahohycheskye osnovy upravliaemoho kompiuterom obuchenyia (E-Learning) (Cyberpedagogy pedagogical basics of computer assisted education (E-Learning)). Narodnoe obrazovanie, Moskva.
- Bibik, N. M., Zhorova, I. Y., and Marusynets, M. M. (2019). Personality sense transformation of the professional activity of practical psychologists with different behavior strategies. *Asia Life Sciences*, (2):59–75.
- Blauberg, I. V. and Judin, J. G. (1973). Stanovlenie i sushhnost' sistemnogo podhoda [Formation and essence of the system approach]. Nauka, Moscow.
- Bruner, J. (1984). Notes on the cognitive revolution. *Interchange*, 15(3):1–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF01807938.
- Brushlinskij, A. V. (1979). *Myshlenie i prognozirovanie* [*Thinking and forecasting*]. Mysl', Moscow.
- Bykov, V. Y. (2008). Modeli orhanizatsiinykh system vidkrytoi osvity [Models of the open education organizational systems]. Atika, Kyiv. https://lib.iitta.gov.ua/ 845/.
- Bykov, V. Y., Spirin, O. M., Ramskyi, Y. S., Franchuk, V. M., Franchuk, N. P., and Iatsyshyn, A. V. (2017). The role of the scientific school of academician M. I. Zhaldak in the informatization of secondary and higher pedagogical education in Ukraine. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 60(4):1–16. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v60i4.1836.
- Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine (2020). Pro skhvalennia Kontseptsii rozvytku pryrodnycho-matematychnoi

osvity (STEM-osvity) [On approval of the Concept for the development of science and mathematics education (STEM education)]. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/ laws/show/960-2020-%D1%80#Text.

- Chebykin, O. Y. and Maksymenko, S. D. (2008). Emotional regulation of the learning process. In Chebykin, O. Y., Bedny, G., and Karwowski, W., editors, *Ergonomics* and Psychology: Developments in Theory and Practice, page 325 – 339. CRC Press.
- Cifuentes, J. and Olarte, F. (2023). A macro perspective of the perceptions of the education system via topic modelling analysis. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 82(2):1783–1820. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11042-022-13202-6.
- da Silva, I. M., Lins, W. C. B., and Leão, M. B. C. (2019). Evaluation of the application of the methodology problem-basead learning in the discipline of information technology and communication in chemistry teaching [Avaliação da aplicação da metodologia aprendizagem baseada em problemas na disciplina de tecnologia da informação e comunicação no ensino de química]. *Educacion Quimica*, 30(3):64 – 78. https: //doi.org/10.22201/FQ.18708404E.2019.3.68493.
- Davydov, V. V. (2008). Problems of developmental instruction: a theoretical and experimental psychological study. International perspectives in non-classical psychology. Nova Science Publishers.
- Derkach, A. A. and Kuz'mina, N. V. (1993). Akmeologija: puti dostizhenija vershin professionalizma [Acmeology: ways to achieve the heights of professionalism]. RAU, Moscow.
- Derkach, T. M. (2021). The origin of misconceptions in inorganic chemistry and their correction by computer modelling. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1840(1):012012. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/ 1840/1/012012.
- Dokuchaieva, V. V. (2022). Design of innovative pedagogical systems as a transdisciplinary-oriented concept. *Educational Dimension*, 7:1–20. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.4470.
- Fedorenko, E. H., Velychko, V. Y., Stopkin, A. V., Chorna, A. V., and Soloviev, V. N. (2019). Informatization of education as a pledge of the existence and development of a modern higher education. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:20–32. https://doi.org/10.55056/ cte.366.
- Gal'perin, P. I. (2012). An experimental study in the formation of mental actions. In *Readings in Educational Psychology: Learning and Teaching*, volume 66, pages 142–154. Routledge.
- Garnett, P. J. and Tobin, K. (1989). Teaching for understanding: Exemplary practice in high school chemistry. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 26(1):1–14. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.3660260102.
- Gergei, T. and Mashbits, E. (1986). Psychological and pedagogical problems of effective computer use in the educational process. *Russian Education & Society*, 28(10-11):213–229. https://doi.org/10.2753/ RES1060-9393281011213.
- Gil-Flores, J., Rodríguez-Santero, J., and Torres-Gordillo, J.-J. (2017). Factors that explain the use of ICT in

secondary-education classrooms: The role of teacher characteristics and school infrastructure. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 68:441–449. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.chb.2016.11.057.

- Glushkov, V. M. (1976). Man and the Automation of Control. Soviet Education, 18(8):10–16. https://doi.org/ 10.2753/RES1060-9393180810.
- Golovan', M. (2012). Model formuvannia doslidnytskoi kompetentnosti maibutnikh fakhivtsiv u protsesi profesiinoi pidhotovky [Model of the formation of the study of future professional competence during training]. Pedahohichni nauky: teoriia, istoriia, innovatsiini tekhnolohii, (5 (23)):196–205. http: //web.archive.org/web/20220408022235if_/https:// essuir.sumdu.edu.ua/bitstream-download/123456789/ 58591/2/Holovan_profesiina_pidhotovka.pdf.
- González, A. M. (2011). Kant's Philosophy of Education: Between Relational and Systemic Approaches. *Journal of Philosophy of Education*, 45(3):433–454. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9752.2011.00809.x.
- Gruber, P. (2008). Bringing Abstract Concepts Alive. How to Base Learning Success on the Principles of Playing, Curiosity and In-Classroom Differentiation. In Mittermeir, R. T. and Sysło, M. M., editors, *Informatics Education - Supporting Computational Thinking*, volume 5090 of *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, pages 134–141, Berlin, Heidelberg. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-69924-8_12.
- Gurevych, R. S., Klochko, O. V., Klochko, V. I., Kovtoniuk, M. M., and Opushko, N. R. (2020). Computer science teachers' readiness to develop and use computer didactic games in educational process. *Information technologies and learning tools*, 75(1):122–137. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v75i1.3394.
- Halkyard, N. W. (1944). Chemistry in the army specialized training program. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 21(12):593 – 595. https://doi.org/10.1021/ed021p593.
- Hernández, M. R., Rodríguez, V. M., Parra, F. J., and Velázquez, P. (2014). Information and communication technologies (ICTs) for the teaching of organic chemistry by means of pictures, games and videos [Las tecnologías de la información y la comunicación (TICs) en la enseñanza-aprendizaje de la química orgánica a través de imágenes, juegos y videos]. Formacion Universitaria, 7(1):31–40. https://doi.org/10.4067/ S0718-50062014000100005.
- Hrynevych, L., Morze, N., Vember, V., and Boiko, M. (2021). Use of digital tools as a component of STEM education ecosystem. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(1):118–139. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq. 24.
- Husaruk, N. I. (2010). Informatsiini tekhnolohii v navchanni khimii [Information technology in learning chemistry]. *Biolohiia i khimiia v shkoli*, (5):13–15.
- Härkönen, U. (2009). Pedagogical Systems Theory and Model for Sustainable Human Development in Early Childhood Education and Care (ECEC). Journal of Teacher Education for Sustainability, 11(2):77–86. https://doi.org/10.2478/v10099-009-0042-1.
- Il'chenko, V. (2015). The competence model of educational area as the essential condition of effective education.

Ukrainian Educational Journal, (1):163–170. https://uej.undip.org.ua/index.php/journal/article/view/52.

- Jegstad, K. M., Höper, J., and Remmen, K. B. (2022). Using the Schoolyard as a Setting for Learning Chemistry: A Sociocultural Analysis of Pre-service Teachers' Talk about Redox Chemistry. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 99(2):629–638. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. jchemed.1c00581.
- Kademiya, M. Y. and Kobysia, V. M. (2017). Implementation SMART-learning tools of modern network technologies. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 4:36–40. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.322.
- Khutorskaya, A. V. and Korol, A. D. (2008). Dialogue as a problem of modern education (philosophical and methodological aspect) [Dialogichnost' kak problema sovremennogo obrazovaniia (filosofskometodologicheskii aspekt)]. *Voprosy Filosofii*, (4):109 – 115.
- Khutorskoi, A. V. (2012). Metasubjective Content of Individual's Education. *European Journal of Contemporary Education*, 1(1):15–29. https://oaji.net/articles/ 2014/2-1393609565.pdf.
- Kiv, A. E., Merzlykin, O. V., Modlo, Y. O., Nechypurenko, P. P., and Topolova, I. Y. (2019). The overview of software for computer simulations in profile physics learning. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 6:352–362. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.396.
- Kuzmina, N. M., Samusenko, P. F., and Kuzmin, A. V. (2022). About some aspects of the organization of students individual work at pedagogical universities in the process of teaching classical optimization methods. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 2288(1):012009. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/ 2288/1/012009.
- Lai, K.-W. and Pratt, K. (2004). Information and communication technology (ICT) in secondary schools: the role of the computer coordinator. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 35(4):461–475. https: //doi.org/10.1111/j.0007-1013.2004.00404.x.
- Lehka, L. V. and Shokaliuk, S. V. (2021). Hardware and software tools for teaching the basics of quantum informatics to lyceums students. *Educational Dimension*, 4:102–121. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim. v56i4.4440.
- Lewis, S. (2004). Using ICT to enhance teaching and learning in chemistry. Royal Society of Chemistry, London.
- Li, J. (2021). Research on the Reform and Innovation of Preschool Education Informatization under the Background of Wireless Communication and Virtual Reality. *Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing*, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/3176309.
- Lim, F. V. (2022). A Design-Based Research Approach to the Teaching and Learning of Multiliteracies. *The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s40299-022-00683-0.
- Liu, S. and Wang, J. (2021). Ice and snow talent training based on construction and analysis of artificial intelligence education informatization teaching model. *Journal of Intelligent and Fuzzy Systems*, 40(2):3421 – 3431. https://doi.org/10.3233/JIFS-189380.

Developing Research Competencies in High School Students Through Specialized Chemistry Education: A Computer-Based Approach

- Lokshyna, O. (2022). Belarus, Russia and Ukraine: Development of National Education in the Context of Globalization and Europeanization. In Wolhuter, C. C. and Wiseman, A. W., editors, World Education Patterns in the Global South: The Ebb of Global Forces and the Flow of Contextual Imperatives, volume 43B of International Perspectives on Education and Society, pages 1–18. Emerald Publishing Limited, Bingley. https: //doi.org/10.1108/S1479-36792022000043B001.
- Lupión-Cobos, T., Hierrezuelo-Osorio, J., Cruz-Lorite, I., and Ángel Blanco-López (2022). Key factors in the reform of competence-based science teaching in Spain. A case study with secondary school teachers involved in a training programme focusing on contextbased approach. *Research in Science & Technological Education*, pages 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02635143.2022.2070149.
- Martínez-Argüello, L. D., Hinojo-Lucena, F. J., and Díaz, I. A. (2018). Application of Information and Communication Technologies (ITC) in teaching-learning processes by chemistry teachers [Aplicación de las Tecnologías de la Información y la Comunicación (TIC) en los procesos de enseñanza-aprendizaje por parte de los profesores de química]. *Informacion Tecnologica*, 29(2):41 – 52. https://dialnet.unirioja.es/servlet/ articulo?codigo=7211469.
- Meniailenko, O. S., Zakhozhai, O. I., and Bidiuk, P. I. (2017). Pidvyshchennia dostovirnosti perevirky unikalnosti tekstiv z vykorystanniam kombinovanykh system rozpiznavannia obraziv [Improving the reliability of checking the uniqueness of texts using combined image recognition systems]. Systemni doslidzhennia ta informatsiini tekhnolohii, (4):29–37. http://nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/sdtit_2017_4_5.
- Monakhov, V., Lapchik, M., and Kuznetsov, A. (1986). Teaching the new course. Soviet Education, 28(10-11):95–99. https://doi.org/10.2753/RES1060-939328101195.
- Monakhov, V. M. (1986). Computer literacy for school pupils: The psychological and pedagogical problems. *Soviet Education*, 28(10-11):196–212. https://doi.org/ 10.2753/RES1060-9393281011196.
- Mongkonthan, S. (2021). Implementing the Earth System Science Curriculum in School through Research-Based Learning and Technology Enhancing 21st Century Skills. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1957(1):012026. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/ 1957/1/012026.
- Mooij, T. and Smeets, E. (2001). Modelling and supporting ICT implementation in secondary schools. *Computers* & *Education*, 36(3):265–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0360-1315(00)00068-3.
- Morze, N. V., Barna, O. V., and Boiko, M. A. (2022a). The importance of computational thinking training for primary school teachers. *Educational Dimension*, 6:22–39. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim.4466.
- Morze, N. V., Mashkina, I. V., and Boiko, M. A. (2022b). Experience in training specialists with mathematical computer modeling skills, taking into account the needs of the modern labor market. CTE Workshop

Proceedings, 9:95–196. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte. 106.

- Mynbayeva, A. and Anarbek, N. (2016). Informatization of education in Kazakhstan: New challenges and further development of scientific schools. *International Review of Management and Marketing*, 6(3):259 – 264.
- Nechypurenko, P., Evangelist, O., Selivanova, T., and Modlo, Y. O. (2020). Virtual Chemical Laboratories as a Tools of Supporting the Learning Research Activity of Students in Chemistry While Studying the Topic "Solutions". In Sokolov, O., Zholtkevych, G., Yakovyna, V., Tarasich, Y., Kharchenko, V., Kobets, V., Burov, O., Semerikov, S., and Kravtsov, H., editors, Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kharkiv, Ukraine, October 06-10, 2020, volume 2732 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 984–995. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2732/20200984.pdf.
- Nechypurenko, P., Selivanova, T., and Chernova, M. (2019). Using the Cloud-Oriented Virtual Chemical Laboratory VLab in Teaching the Solution of Experimental Problems in Chemistry of 9th Grade Stu-In Ermolayev, V., Mallet, F., Yakovyna, dents. V., Kharchenko, V. S., Kobets, V., Kornilowicz, A., Kravtsov, H., Nikitchenko, M. S., Semerikov, S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kherson, Ukraine, June 12-15, 2019, volume 2393 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 968-983. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2393/ paper_329.pdf.
- Nechypurenko, P. and Semerikov, S. (2017). VlabEmbed the New Plugin Moodle for the Chemistry Education. In Ermolayev, V., Bassiliades, N., Fill, H., Yakovyna, V., Mayr, H. C., Kharchenko, V. S., Peschanenko, V. S., Shyshkina, M., Nikitchenko, M. S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, *Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer, ICTERI 2017, Kyiv, Ukraine, May 15-18, 2017*, volume 1844 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 319–326. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-1844/10000319.pdf.
- Nechypurenko, P., Semerikov, S., Selivanova, T., and Shenayeva, T. (2021). Selection of ICT tools for the development of high school students' research competencies in specialized chemistry training. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(4):617–661. https: //doi.org/10.55056/etq.22.
- Nechypurenko, P. P. and Soloviev, V. N. (2018). Using ICT as the Tools of Forming the Senior Pupils' Research Competencies in the Profile Chemistry Learning of Elective Course "Basics of Quantitative Chemical Analysis". In Kiv, A. E. and Soloviev, V. N., editors, Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop on Augmented Reality in Education, Kryvyi Rih,
Ukraine, October 2, 2018, volume 2257 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 1–14. CEUR-WS.org. https://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2257/paper01.pdf.

- Ovcharuk, O. (2020). European strategy for determining the level of competence in the field of digital technologies: a framework for digital competence for citizens. *Educational Dimension*, 3:25–36. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.v55i0.4381.
- Pak, M. S. (2012). Didaktika khimii. TRIO, Sankt-Peterburg, 2 edition. https://mspak.herzen.spb.ru/ wp-content/uploads/2013/12/dh.pdf.
- Panchenko, L. (2021). Digital storytelling in adult education: barriers and ways to overcome them. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(4):673–688. https: //doi.org/10.55056/etq.41.
- Park, J., Yoon, H.-G., and Lee, I. (2023). Research-based teaching: Analyzing science teachers' process of understanding and using academic papers to teach scientific creativity. *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, 22(1):57 – 72. https://doi.org/10.33225/jbse/23.22.57.
- Pedersen, J. (1983). Geometry: the unity of theory and practice. *The Mathematical Intelligencer*, 5(4):37–49. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03026508.
- Peltekova, E., Miteva, D., Stefanova, E., and Stefanov, K. (2014). Mobile technologies supporting research approach in teaching and learning: weSPOT inquirybased study. In 2014 International Conference on Interactive Mobile Communication Technologies and Learning (IMCL2014), pages 198–202. https://doi. org/10.1109/IMCTL.2014.7011131.
- Piaget, J. (1980). The psychogenesis of knowledge and its epistemological significance. In Piattelli-Palmarini, M., editor, *Language and Learning: The Debate Between Jean Piaget and Noam Chomsky*, pages 1–23. Harvard University Press.
- Podlasyi, I. (1982). Training of a Specialist: Optimal Models and Pragmatic Solutions. *Higher Education in Europe*, 7(2):39–42. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 0379772820070207.
- Polat, E. S., editor (2009). New pedagogical and information technologies in education. Logos, Moscow.
- Pometun, O. and Remekh, T. (2019). Assessment of students in civic education in a context of the competence approach. Ukrainian Educational Journal, (1):86–97. https://doi.org/10.32405/2411-1317-2019-1-86-97.
- President of Ukraine (2013). Natsionalna stratehiia rozvytku osvity v Ukraini na period do 2021 roky [National Strategy for the Development of Education in Ukraine for the period up to 2021]. https://zakon.rada. gov.ua/laws/show/344/2013#Text.
- Qi, B., Dong, Y., Chen, L., Qi, W., and Okawa, Y. (2009). The Impact of Robot Instruction to Education Informatization. In 2009 First International Conference on Information Science and Engineering, pages 3497– 3500. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICISE.2009.1216.
- Rakov, S., Gorokh, V., and Osenkov, K. (2009). Mathematics, computer mathematical systems, creativity, art. In Braman, J., Vincenti, G., and Trajkovski, G., editors, Handbook of Research on Computational Arts

and Creative Informatics, pages 253–279. IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-60566-352-4.ch015.

- Robert, I., Martirosyan, L., Gerova, N., Kastornova, V., Mukhametzyanov, I., and Dimova, A. (2016). Implementation of the Internet for Educational Purposes. In Uskov, V. L., Howlett, R. J., and Jain, L. C., editors, *Smart Education and e-Learning 2016*, volume 59 of *Smart Innovation, Systems and Technologies*, pages 573–583, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-39690-3_51.
- Roehrig, G. H. and Luft, J. A. (2004). Inquiry teaching in high school chemistry classrooms: The role of knowledge and beliefs. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 81(10):1510 – 1516. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ed081p1510.
- Rubinstein, S. L. and Myasoed, P. A. (2009). The idea of live person in psychology. *Voprosy Psikhologii*, (4):108–118.
- Sadykov, T. and Čtrnáctová, H. (2019). Application interactive methods and technologies of teaching chemistry. *Chemistry Teacher International*, 1(2):20180031. https://doi.org/10.1515/cti-2018-0031.
- Sawatruksa, C. and Rodpun, K. (2019). Chemistry experiment training for science high school teachers toward active learning approach. *AIP Conference Proceedings*, 2081(1):030005. https://doi.org/10.1063/1. 5094003.
- Segerblom, W. (1931). The qualifications of chemistry teachers in secondary schools. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 8(1):83 88. https://doi.org/10.1021/ed008p83.
- Semerikov, S. (2021). Educational Technology Quarterly: in the beginning. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(1):1–50. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.13.
- Silva, R. C. and Ramos, E. d. S. (2016). Virtual labs in the teaching of chemistry applied to the integrated technical course in computer science [Aplicação de laboratórios virtuais no ensino de química voltado ao curso técnico integrado em informática]. *Espacios*, 37(2):E–1. https://www.revistaespacios.com/ a16v37n02/163702e1.html.
- Smulson, M. L. (2012). Psychological specifics of virtual instructional environments. Aktualni problemy psykholohii, 8(8):116–126. http://newlearning.org.ua/ sites/default/files/praci/2012_8/st10.pdf.
- Talyzina, N. F. (1974). Cybernetics and pedagogy. *Soviet Education*, 16(5):69–77.
- Tarasenkova, N., Akulenko, I., Burda, M., and Hnezdilova, K. (2020). Factors affecting techniques of teaching theorem proof. Universal Journal of Educational Research, 8(2):508 – 519. https://doi.org/10.13189/ujer. 2020.080222.
- Tarasenkova, N., Akulenko, I., Hnezdilova, K., and Lovyanova, I. (2019). Challenges and prospective directions of enhancing teaching mathematics theorems in school. Universal Journal of Educational Research, 7(12):2584–2596. https://doi.org/10.13189/ujer.2019. 071205.
- Timirgalieva, T. K. (2013). Metodika informatcionnodeiatelnostnogo obucheniia khimii na starshei stupeni

Developing Research Competencies in High School Students Through Specialized Chemistry Education: A Computer-Based Approach

obshcheobrazovatelnoi shkoly. Dis. ... kand. ped. nauk : 13.00.02 – teoriia i metodika obucheniia i vospitaniia (khimiia), Krasnoiarskii gosudarstvennyi pedagogicheskii universitet im. V. P. Astafeva.

- Unt, I. E. (1981). Further Development of the Didactic Legacy of J. Käis in Soviet Estonia. Soviet Education, 24(2):35–43. https://doi.org/10.2753/ RES1060-9393240235.
- Vakaliuk, T., Spirin, O., Korotun, O., Antoniuk, D., Medvedieva, M., and Novitska, I. (2022). The current level of competence of schoolteachers on how to use cloud technologies in the educational process during COVID-19. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(3):232–250. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.32.
- van Rens, L., Pilot, A., and van der Schee, J. (2010). A framework for teaching scientific inquiry in upper secondary school chemistry. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 47(7):788–806. https://doi.org/10. 1002/tea.20357.
- Velychko, L. and Fitsailo, S. (2010). Instruktyvnometodychni rekomendatsii shchodo vyvchennia khimii u 2010/2011 navchalnomu rotsi [Instructions and guidelines for the study of chemistry in the 2010/2011 academic year]. Biolohiia i khimiia v shkoli [Biology and chemistry at school], (5):7–10.
- Verbytskyi, V. V. (2012). Doslidnytska kompetentnist starshoklasnykiv yak zasib formuvannia osobystosti. In Sukhomlynska, O. V., Bekh, I. D., Pustovit, H. P., and Melnyk, O. V., editors, Suchasnyi vykhovnyi protses: sutnist ta innovatsiinyi potentsial Materialy zvit. nauk.-prakt. konf. In-tu problem vykhovannia NAPN Ukrainy za 2011 rik, volume 2, pages 44–47. Typovit, Ivano-Frankivsk. https://lib.iitta.gov.ua/4453/.
- Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine (2017). Law on Education. https://mon.gov.ua/ua/npa/law-education.
- Vlasenko, K., Rovenska, O., Lovianova, I., Korchagina, S., Zahrebelna, H., and Dmytryshyn, I. (2020). On arranging the procedure of public debate on the educational curriculum draft for Master students majoring in 014 Secondary Education (Mathematics), academic discipline 01 Education/Pedagogics. *Educational Dimension*, 3:303–316. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.v55i0.4341.
- Volkova, N., Tarnopolsky, O., Lebid, O., and Vlasenko, K. (2021). Students' computer-based workshops in mandatory classes of English for students majoring in psychology and linguistics: A comparative experimental study. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(2):274–292. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.55.
- Volkovyskii, R. I., Gershenzon, E. M., Kamenetskii, S. E., Gleizer, L. D., Bugaev, A. I., Samsonova, A. V., Vol'shtein, S. L., Sarv, E. S. A., Turychev, I. K., Filiutanova, A. V., and Fokin, I. M. (1987). Our Study and Discussion of the Physics Curriculum for the Eleven-year School. *Soviet Education*, 29(8):60 – 80. https://doi.org/10.2753/RES1060-9393290860.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (2004). Imagination and Creativity in Childhood. Journal of Russian & East European Psychology, 42(1):7–97. https://doi.org/10. 1080/10610405.2004.11059210.

- Wang, B. and Xing, H. (2011). The application of cloud computing in education informatization. In 2011 International Conference on Computer Science and Service System (CSSS), pages 2673–2676. https://doi.org/ 10.1109/CSSS.2011.5973921.
- Webb, M. E. (2002). Pedagogical Reasoning: Issues and Solutions for the Teaching and Learning of ICT in Secondary Schools. *Education and Information Technologies*, 7(3):237–255. https://doi.org/10.1023/A: 1020811614282.
- Wen, X. (2022). An English Blended Teaching Model under the Background of Education Informatization. *Mobile Information Systems*, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2022/9246966.
- Wiggins, N. (2011). Critical pedagogy and popular education: towards a unity of theory and practice. *Studies in the Education of Adults*, 43(1):34–49. https: //doi.org/10.1080/02660830.2011.11661602.
- Wikan, G. and Molster, T. (2011). Norwegian secondary school teachers and ICT. European Journal of Teacher Education, 34(2):209–218. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/02619768.2010.543671.
- Yan, S. and Yang, Y. (2021). Education Informatization 2.0 in China: Motivation, Framework, and Vision. *ECNU Review of Education*, 4(2):410–428. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/2096531120944929.
- Yaroshenko, O. G. (2021). Chemistry textbooks as a means of supporting cognitive activity of general secondary education students. *Bulletin of the Karaganda Uni*versity Chemistry Series, 101(2):105 – 114. https: //doi.org/10.31489/2021Ch2/105-114.
- Zhaldak, M. I., editor (2012). Otsinyuvannya yakosti prohramnykh zasobiv navchalnoho pryznachennya dlya zahalnoosvitnikh navchalnykh zakladiv [Evaluation of the quality of educational software for general educational institutions]. Pedahohichna dumka, Kyiv. https://lib.iitta.gov.ua/619/.
- Zhaldak, M. I. (2013). Problemy informatyzatsii navchalnoho protsesu v serednikh i vyshchykh navchalnykh zakladakh [Problems of informatization of educational process in secondary and higher education]. Kompiuter v shkoli ta simi, (3):8– 15. https://ktoi.fi.npu.edu.ua/images/files/problemy_ informatuzazii_navchalnogo_procesu.pdf.
- Zhuk, Y. O. (2021). Zasoby navchannia [Learning tools]. In Kremen, V. H., editor, *Entsyklopediia osvity [Encyclopedia of Education]*, pages 359–360. Yurinkom Inter, Kyiv, 2 edition. https://lib.iitta.gov.ua/731245/.

Digital Learning Space to Improve the Conceptual Understanding of Mathematics of non-Mathematical Specialties Students

Mariia M. Astafieva¹[©]^a, Oksana M. Hlushak¹[©]^b, Oksana S. Lytvyn¹[©]^c and Volodymyr V. Proshkin¹[©]^d

¹Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, 18/2 Bulvarno-Kudriavska Str., Kyiv, 04053, Ukraine m.astafieva@kubg.edu.ua, o.hlushak@kubg.edu.ua, o.lytvyn@kubg.edu.ua, v.proshkin@kubg.edu.ua

- Keywords: Conceptual Knowledge, Conceptual Understanding of Mathematics, Mathematical Training of Students, Digital Learning Space, Go-Lab, Derivative Functions.
- Abstract: The article considers the problem of improving the conceptual understanding of mathematics of nonmathematical specialties students by means of digital learning space. The results of a survey of students on the effectiveness of their mathematical training are presented. It is established that most often students use procedural rather than conceptual knowledge, which complicates the application of mathematical methods on practice. As a result of the analysis of the most common strategies for teaching mathematics, the author's vision of teaching mathematics using digital tools is presented. Such teaching is aimed at forming students' conceptual mathematical knowledge, which is harmoniously combined with procedural knowledge. A learning space has been developed to study the topic "Derivative", where you can explore mathematical concepts and relationships between them, formulate hypotheses, experiment, ask questions, draw conclusions and discuss the results. One of the developed educational spaces is described, namely for studying the topic "Derivative". In it, you can explore mathematical concepts and relationships between them, formulate hypotheses, experiment, ask questions, draw conclusions, and discuss the results obtained. Digital tools are built into the space, which allow to implement different types of educational activities of students (individual, group and frontal) and thus ensure the effectiveness of the formation of conceptual knowledge about the derivative. On the example of studying Lagrange's theorem on finite increments and solving various applied mathematical problems, methods of forming a conceptual understanding of students' mathematics are given.

1 INTRODUCTION

In modern high-tech and digitalized society, the main trend in the development of mathematics is the process of its penetration into various sciences – the mathematization of science, which, in turn, leads to mathematization and computerization of human practice. In these conditions, a competent specialist must know the mathematical methods and models used in his profession, be able to use them, be able to use appropriate computer programs to develop new models for his/her professional needs. That is, mathematical training is a necessary and integral part of the training of highly qualified specialists at all levels of higher education.

Mathematical knowledge is dual: it is knowledge

of "what" and "why" (conceptual knowledge) and knowledge of "how" (procedural knowledge). Therefore, learning mathematics will be successful if this process is aimed at understanding concepts and mastering procedures.

Many works are devoted to the definition of the content of the concepts "conceptual knowledge" and "procedural knowledge", their relationships, theoretical and methodological principles of formation (Hiebert and Lefevre, 1986; Cobb, 1988; Byrnes and Wasik, 1991). Based on them, it can be argued that conceptual knowledge involves, in addition to knowledge of concepts, facts, methods, understanding of the relationships and interdependencies between them; the ability to see the key idea of a method, to assess in what contexts it may be useful; find different solutions to one problem; analyze and evaluate the obtained result.

Procedural knowledge involves a number of steps that must be performed to solve the problem. Proce-

850

Astafieva, M., Hlushak, O., Lytvyn, O. and Proshkin, V.

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2198-4614

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9849-1140

^c https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5118-1003

^d https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9785-0612

Digital Learning Space to Improve the Conceptual Understanding of Mathematics of non-Mathematical Specialties Students. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 850-859 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

dural knowledge includes knowledge of algorithms, techniques and methods.

There are different views on the causal relationship between conceptual and procedural knowledge (Byrnes and Wasik, 1991; Rittle-Johnson et al., 2001; Forrester and Chinnappan, 2010). Most researchers believe that the effectiveness of learning is higher if conceptual knowledge precedes procedural and its knowledge is based on conceptual (Balka et al., 2012; Nahdi and Jatisunda, 2020; Forrester and Chinnappan, 2010). For example, Forrester and Chinnappan (Forrester and Chinnappan, 2010) found in testing students the dominance of their procedural skills over conceptual knowledge. All common errors were related to incorrect application of procedures due to misunderstanding of their conceptual basis.

It should be noted that the purpose of mathematical training of students of non-mathematical specialties is not to master the knowledge of higher mathematics as a value that is important in itself. The goal (and at the same time the motivation to study mathematical disciplines) is the opportunity and ability to apply mathematics in his/her field. Therefore, questions arise: 1) how do different types of knowledge (conceptual and procedural) affect this ability? 2) what should be the educational strategy aimed at forming in students of non-mathematical specialties conceptual mathematical knowledge that is harmoniously combined with procedural knowledge?

There are many methodological techniques that allow you to implement this pedagogical task. But the most effective, in our opinion, is research-oriented teaching of mathematics using digital technologies (Leung, 2006; Smetana and Bell, 2012; Astafieva et al., 2020). It involves active interaction between teacher and student, which includes identifying problems, joint search for solutions, research, discussion, consideration of alternatives, rethinking and evaluating the result. On the other hand, the use of ICT provides active communication between teachers and students, their independent research work (both individual and group), competent and effective organization of educational space and its management.

The aim of research – development and theoretical substantiation of some methodical methods of using digital learning space to improve the conceptual understanding of mathematics of non-mathematical specialties students.

Research methods:

 theoretical – analysis, synthesis, systematization and generalization of scientific, methodological literature, to determine the impact of conceptual and procedural mathematical knowledge on the ability to apply mathematics and study educational strategies of mathematical training of nonmathematical specialties, definition of conceptual and categorical research apparatus ("conceptual knowledge", "procedural knowledge", "educational and research spaces"); generalization of progressive ideas and existing shortcomings in modern higher education to justify ways to improve the mathematical training of students by means of digital technologies that allow active learning, in particular, to conduct experiments, research and modeling;

• empirical: surveys to determine the effectiveness of mathematical training of non-mathematical specialties students.

2 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University trains, among others, specialists in "Computer Science", "Management", "Economics", "Finance, Banking and Insurance". These educational programs include the study of higher mathematics. In June 2022, we conducted a survey of students of these specialties on the effectiveness of their mathematical training. A total of 63 first-fourth year students took part in the survey. All students took a course in higher mathematics and had the opportunity to use the acquired mathematical knowledge in practice in the process of studying professional disciplines.

Firstly, we asked students to assess the general level of their mathematical training after studying the discipline "Higher Mathematics" (on a 4-point scale: 1 - low, 2 - medium, 3 - sufficient, 4 - high). It turned out that the vast majority of students (74.6% of respondents) believe that they have a sufficient and high level of mathematical training, 22.2% - medium, 3.2% – low. Interestingly, the answers of junior students (I - II courses) were not fundamentally different from the answers of senior students (III – IV courses). Next, we found out if they feel the need to apply mathematical knowledge in the study of professional disciplines. The majority of students, 68.3%, answered in the affirmative - "yes" and "rather yes", 22.2% of respondents - "rather not", 9.5% of students do not feel the need to apply mathematical knowledge in the study of professional disciplines.

We also tried to determine whether students had to apply mathematical knowledge in the study of professional disciplines (on a 4-point scale). 68.3%of respondents answered that they use mathematical knowledge in the study of professional disciplines, 23.8% – rather no, 7.9% – no. Figure 1 shows the results of students' survey.



We compared the available empirical distributions using Pearson's test χ^2 . It turned out that $\chi^2_{emp} = 1.631$ at $\chi^2_{cr} = 12.562$ (at p = 0.05). Thus, we can say that there is a certain relationship between the level of mathematical training of students (figure 1a), a sense of their need (figure 1b) and the real opportunity to apply mathematical knowledge on practice (figure 1c). For example, 25.4% of students do not appreciate the level of their own mathematical training, while 31.7% of respondents do not see a special need and opportunity to apply mathematical knowledge.

One of the key mathematical concepts is the concept of "derivative of a function". We asked students to comment on the essence of this concept. As a result of self-assessment it was found that only 12.7% of students believe that they remember the definition well, understand the essence of this concept and use it in the study of professional disciplines, 34.9% – remember the definition well, understand the essence of the concept, but do not use it. study of professional disciplines. The majority of students (52.4%) stated that they had some information about the derivative function or did not remember anything about it.

We decided to check the obtained results and asked students to choose the correct definition of the derivative function from the proposed options. The majority of students (34 people or 54.0%) chose the wrong answers. It should be noted that among them 14 people (22.2%), answering the previous question, thought that they well understood the essence of the concept of "derivative function".

To test the conceptual understanding of the concept of a derivative, we also asked students to explain in one word what a derivative is. Options were proposed: speed, productivity, tangent, consequence, area, work, mass. The correct options were chosen: "speed" - 46%; "productivity" - 17.5% of students. The majority of respondents (57.1%) chose the "tangent" option, which indicates a lack of conceptual knowledge, first of all, an understanding of the essence of the concept of a derivative (a derivative is not a tangent, but an angular coefficient of a tangent). Another number of students chose other wrong options: consequence (28.6% of respondents), area (11.1%), work (4.8%), mass (1.6%). It can be assumed that the reason for the incorrect answer was mainly the formal following of a certain algorithm for using the derivative in solving applied problems. In our opinion, students generally remember the rules of differentiation, can use the table of derivatives, but do not feel the main thing - the essence of the concept of "derivative function". Thus, most of them are not able to use this concept in non-mathematical contexts. Interestingly, among the 29 students who recognized the correct definition of the derivative function from the proposed ones, there were only two in which the derivative was associated with both speed and productivity, and they did not choose the wrong options. And this indicates the formality of knowledge and lack of conceptual understanding of the concept of derivative in the remaining 27 students.

The results of the survey, as well as the real experience of teaching mathematical disciplines to the authors of the study showed that students of all specialties to some extent feel the need to apply mathematical knowledge in the study of professional disciplines, as well as use this knowledge in practice. At the same time, most students are more likely to use procedural rather than conceptual knowledge. In particular, students work mechanically according to known algorithms, schemes or rules, but have a poor understanding of the essence of mathematical concepts, facts, methods and tools. The results of our survey are close to the results of the study of Aydın and Özgeldi (Aydın and Özgeldi, 2019). The authors of this study, analyzing the success of prospective elementary mathematics teachers in solving PISA-2012 problems, found that few students were able to give "mathematical explanations for conceptual knowledge items, and that their contextual knowledge was fragmented" (in this article the authors understand contextual knowledge those that allow you to connect the real world – the context in which the problem arises, with mathematics (Sáenz, 2009)). In addition, students had particular difficulty with tasks that required a combination of conceptual and procedural knowledge.

Thus, we approached the main question: what teaching of mathematics to non-mathematical specialties students will be effective, how to teach that the acquired mathematical knowledge became useful in the future professional activity?

There are two extremes in teaching mathematics to non-mathematical specialties students. The first is the desire for formal rigor of proofs of theoretical facts, formulations of definitions. Teachers are supporters of this point of view, pay too much attention to strict deductive reasoning. They, striving for formal rigor (which is still not achieved due to the limited time allocated in the educational programs of non-mathematicians to study mathematical disciplines), often have little concern about how this material will "work" in the future to solve problems that lie outside mathematics.

The second extreme is a minimum of attention to theoretical justification, learning algorithms, solving typical problems according to the instructions, the use of certain formulas, and etc. Teachers are apologists for this point of view, believing that they teach applied mathematics, do not attach due importance to the justification of certain actions, clarifying the limits of the method, and etc. Such training critically limits the ability of the future specialist to use mathematics as a tool, because the mechanical implementation of certain procedures can lead to unreasonable and incorrect decisions.

In both cases, students do not develop the ability to use mathematics to solve applied problems, which is the purpose of teaching mathematics to nonmathematical specialties students.

In our opinion, the course of higher mathematics (or a block of mathematical disciplines) for nonmathematical specialties students should have an applied orientation. But it should not be narrowly utilitarian and prescription, because applied mathematics is not a simplified version of "pure" mathematics. Courses of mathematical disciplines should be based on the necessary theoretical concepts: key mathematical concepts, facts, a set of ideas and methods that have a wide range of applications. For mathematics to be applied, deep knowledge of the essence of mathematical concepts, facts, methods is required, i.e. conceptual knowledge is required. It is also necessary to have not only (and not so much!) deductive, but also empirical thinking, which would be convincing, although not necessarily strict from the standpoint of "pure" mathematics. Rigor should be in the exact (correct) presentation of the idea, not in the fetishization of the form of presentation.

Teaching mathematics to "applicators" should, in our opinion, pursue the following goals:

- formation of conceptual understanding of key mathematical concepts, facts, methods with illustration of their applied application, study of the corresponding mathematical apparatus;
- 2) developing basic skills of mathematical research and mathematical modeling.

In view of this, we consider it effective to use (as tools) digital technologies for the formation of conceptual and procedural knowledge, which make it possible to implement active learning, in particular, to conduct experiments, research and modeling.

One of the platforms that has these tools is Go-Lab. The Go-Lab project (Global Online Science Labs) is a research innovation project co-financed by the European Commission. Its goal is to bring science closer to pupils and students by providing open access to online science laboratories created by scientists and teachers from different countries (Next-Lab, 2022).

On the portal (https://www.golabz.eu) for the teacher there is an opportunity to work with the base of ready laboratories and training spaces (ILS). And also create your own learning spaces in the Graasp environment (https://graasp.eu/), using Go-Lab tools and resources.

Go-Lab Inquiry Learning Spaces (ILSs or Inquiry Spaces) are research-oriented activities structured through Go-Lab Inquiry Cycles, which can include laboratories, training resources, programs, online services and other digital tools to provide and support research learning (de Jong, 2015).

The functionality of such a space allows you to organize a special environment. Here, under the guidance of the teacher, students explore mathematical concepts and the relationships between them, formulate hypotheses, experiment, ask questions, draw conclusions and discuss the results.

In fact, with the help of ILS, the teacher can encourage students to actively learn, using methods and techniques that require students to conscious learning activities, to involve them in the process of constructing new knowledge, research skills. The active participation of the student in the educational process is the key to the formation of conceptual understanding and achievement of high results during training, as well as his ability to apply the acquired knowledge and skills in further professional activities.

An example of such a space can be created by educational and research space to study the topic "Derivative".

The learning space contains tasks that involve working with a variety of digital tools (figure 2 - 6). These tools are selected so that you can implement different types of student learning activities (individual, group and frontal) and ensure maximum efficiency in the formation of conceptual knowledge in solving the problem.

There are things that integrated into the space:

- a ready made Go-Lab laboratory (Labs), which allows students to conduct research using computer simulations;
- built in GeoGebra environment for research and geometric modeling;
- built in online spreadsheets with the ability to co-edit;
- TEXT Input forms for answers (the teacher has the opportunity to see the answers of all students from his profile, and students see only their answers);
- Apps Sticky Notes, in which participants in the process can write down their ideas on stickers;
- Apps Concept Mapper for compiling problemsolving algorithms;
- Padlet board for joint work of students and teacher;
- Apps Quest 2.0 tests to check the mastery of the topic.

Let's illustrate the use of these tools on some tasks of our educational space "Derivative".

Task 2. The motorcyclist moves in a straight line according to the law x(t). When changing some parameters of the motorcyclist's movement, observe how others change. Record the results of your observations in the form below. Can you independently build graphs of speed and acceleration according to a known graph of the law of motion? And the schedule of the passed way according to the schedule of speed?

The task is performed in Go-Lab. When performing this task, students have the opportunity to conduct an experiment by changing certain parameters of the motorcyclist's movement (figure 2). One of the most important theorems of differential calculus is Lagrange's theorem on finite increments.

Theorem. If the function f(x) is continuous on the interval [a;b] and differentiable on the interval (a;b), then on this interval there exists a point *c* such that the equality (Lagrange formula):

$$\frac{f(b) - f(a)}{b - a} = f'(c).$$

The theorem has a simple (even obvious!) geometric meaning: on a solid smooth curve connecting two points, there is a point where the tangent is parallel to the chord. Students are given the task to experimentally "prove" the validity of the theorem. To do this, they should draw a line parallel to the chord AB, and then move this line parallel to itself and make sure, thus, the validity of the theorem formulated in geometric terms. The task is performed using the built – in environment GeoGebra (figure 3).

Such a geometric illustration (and argumentation!) is quite convincing, it is intuitively clear. Therefore, it is not necessary to "frighten" students, for whom mathematics will not be the sphere of their professional activity in the future, with a strict mathematical formulation of the theorem, especially – by proving it. Students will easily come to the analytical formulation when they have before their eyes the appropriate graphic image. The teacher can (if necessary) provide assistance in the form of a question: "What is the condition of parallel lines?"

With the pedagogical mediation of the teacher (or without him), students, changing the curve, just as easily establish graphically that the point c, which is discussed in the theorem, may not be one (figure 4).

To improve the conceptual understanding of mathematics and the formation of conceptual knowledge, it is important to clarify the implication links between statements. Therefore, the chance will be lost if, when studying Lagrange's theorem, we do not stimulate students to answer the question: "Are the conditions of the theorem necessary, essential, is each of them individually, sufficient?" (**Task 5**). In this particular situation, we organize the collective work of students using the built – in online Google Sheet. Students fill in the so-called. conceptual table on the topic "Lagrange's theorem" (figure 5).

What is a "conceptual spreadsheet"? A conceptual table is a summary, organized, and structured information about the content of a particular topic, ways to solve a particular problem, the results of a study, and etc. Students fill in the spreadsheet collectively, most often – working in small groups. At the same time, they must demonstrate an understanding of the essence of concepts, facts of this topic, their connection with previously studied, physical, economic,

Digital Learning Space to Improve the Conceptual Understanding of Mathematics of non-Mathematical Specialties Students



Figure 2: Computer simulation of the mechanical content of the derivative.



etc. content, the ability to correlate different forms of presentation of a mathematical content (verbal, symbolic, graphic).

The work with the conceptual spreadsheet, which summarizes the results of the study of the conditions of Lagrange's theorem (whether each of them is necessary, essential, sufficient) can be organized in different ways. For example, one group of students formulates conclusions, and another one provides a graphical argumentation of the correctness (or incorrectness) of the verbal conclusion. Or vice versa – one group gives a graphic image, and the other one makes a verbal conclusion that can be made on the basis of this image.

It will be useful to find out the mechanical meaning of Lagrange's formula (it indicates that when a body moves according to the law s(t), then at some point in time the velocity of the body will be equal to its average velocity over a period of time).

Instead of a rigorous analytical proof of the theorem, which will not add any more convincing (for geometric simulation) arguments to students, it is worth considering various applications of the theorem in physics, economics, computational mathematics, and so on. It will be appropriate to draw students' attention to the fact that the number c in the Lagrange for-

AET 2021 - Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology







Figure 5: Conceptual spreadsheet on the topic "Lagrange's theorem".

mula is unknown, but the formula is useful in problems to estimate the difference between the values of the function, and hence – profit, work, distance traveled and other quantities.

In the context of what has been said, it will be useful, for example, to estimate the difference (**Task 6**):

$\arctan 0.55 - \arctan 0.45$

Solution. The function $\arctan x$ is continuous and differentiable for all real *x*, so Lagrange's theorem can be applied. According to this theorem, we can say that between the numbers 0.45 and 0.55 there is a number *c* that the equality

$$\frac{\arctan 0.55 - \arctan 0.45}{0.55 - 0.45} = (\arctan x)'|_{x=c}$$

that is

$$\arctan 0.55 - \arctan 0.45 = \frac{0.1}{1+c^2}$$

Hence, given that function $\frac{1}{1+x^2}$ decreases for positive *x*, we have

 $\frac{0.1}{1+0.55^2} < \frac{0.1}{1+c^2} < \frac{0.1}{1+0.45^2}$

or:

$$0.0767 < \arctan 0.55 - \arctan 0.45 < 0.0832$$

Students were asked (**Task 8**) to formulate questions on the topic "Derivative" to this figure, which shows a graph of the function f(x) (figure 6).

\equiv (\bigcirc Educational space "Derivative"



Figure 6: Task 8.

The ability to ask questions (form tasks) is one of the signs of conceptual knowledge. Therefore, the purpose of such tasks is to form a conceptual understanding of the concept of a derivative function, in particular, its geometric content, and the ability to graphically illustrate this understanding.

Students are divided into two subgroups. One formulates questions or tasks, and the other provides answers. In our space for this purpose the use of the Padlet board where each student attaches the questions – answers is provided. At the same time, an "editor" is appointed, who groups the same type of questions, "forbids" questions that are not related to the topic, and etc. Students attach the answers to the questions next to the questions themselves. Then, under the guidance of the teacher, questions and answers are discussed with a vote for the best question.

Here are the most interesting, in our opinion, questions (tasks) of freshmen:

- Does it have the roots of an equation f'(x) = 0. If so, is it possible to find out: a) how much?
 b) which ones?
- 2. Solve the inequality: f'(x) > 0 (f'(x) < 0)..
- 3. Does the equation f''(x) = 0 have roots? If so, how much?

- 4. Does the inequality f''(x) < 0 have integer solutions? If so, how much? What are these solutions?
- 5. Does the function f'(x) have a breakpoint? If so, what is the nature of these gaps?
- 6. Is it possible to determine the approximate value of its derivative at the point: a) -1; b) 1. If possible, explain how to find this value and find it. If not, then argue.

Task 10. Write an algorithm for approximating the value of the function f(x) at the point $x_0 + \Delta x$ using a differential. Such tasks form a conscious understanding of the algorithm, i.e. the construction of procedural knowledge on the basis of conceptual.

It is suggested to perform this task in the Concept Mapper application, which contains tools for plotting.

Task 11. The plant received an order from the cannery to produce a batch of cylindrical cans of a certain volume for canned olives. Design the shape of the tin cans so that as little material as possible is used to make them. Check out the various canned cylindrical cans at your nearest supermarket. Is their packaging economical in terms of the cost of materials for their manufacture?

This is an optimization problem "from life", which requires the use of a differential calculus to solve it. We plan to use the Sticky Notes application to solve this problem. Students describe their research on stickers, which are placed in a common field. In this way, each student sees the results of others. Then you can have a general discussion.

Conceptual understanding of mathematics involves the ability to translate a real problem into the language of mathematics and vice versa, to interpret a mathematical result in the language of a real non-mathematical context, in particular, to predict the course of the process or the end result. To develop such an ability (and, at the same time, to check its formation) we offer the following task.

Task 17. The volume of products manufactured at the enterprise is determined by the function

$$f(t) = -2t^3 + 6t^2 + 9,$$

where t is the time (in years). Give reasonable answers to questions (1 - 6), without using the graph of the function f(t):

- 1. During what period will production increase (decrease)?
- 2. Indicate the periods when the growth rate of production accelerates (slows down), if any?
- 3. Is there a time when the nature of the rate of growth (decline) of production changes to the opposite? If so, indicate this point.
- 4. When will the volume of production be the largest?
- 5. Predict whether the volume of output may fall to zero? If so, when will this happen. If not, why not?
- 6. Imagine that you became the head (manager) of this company after a year of its work. Would you consider it necessary to change the production strategy (function f(t))? If not, justify (for example, all is well, because production is growing, i.e. the company operates efficiently). If your answer is yes, then explaining what exactly would alarm you?
- 7. On the basis of conducted in pp. 1 6 research and analysis provide a graphic illustration of the results.

Since all questions are formulated by the teacher in advance, and the answers to them must be individual and explained, we consider it convenient to perform this task form TEXT Input. For graphic illustration (p. 7 of the task), we suggest using the GeoGebra tools.

At the end of the study of the topic it is necessary to assess the level and quality of knowledge. In the digital space, these can be tests. To test the conceptual understanding of mathematical concepts, facts, methods, the most appropriate are open tests. Because in test tasks with the choice of the correct answer among the proposed ones there is a temptation to just guess it. And, even if we exclude guessing, there is a big difference between choosing the right answer among the several given (i.e. recognizing) and formulating it yourself. Therefore, we believe that closed-type tests should be avoided or minimized.

An example of an open – ended test task with **Task 18** is: "A body moves rectilinearly according to the law $s(t) = -4 + 2t + t^2$ (*s* is measured in meters, *t* is measured in seconds). Find the speed of this body at time (t = 3s). In response, write a number, for example, 7".

3 CONCLUSIONS AND PROSPECTS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH

- As a result of a survey of non-mathematical specialties students, it was found that students to some extent feel the need to apply mathematical knowledge in the study of professional disciplines, as well as to use this knowledge in practice. However, students do not sufficiently understand the essence of mathematical concepts and facts, the relationships and interdependencies between them. Therefore, they cannot always recognize mathematical structures in non-mathematical contexts and, therefore, apply mathematics effectively.
- 2. The purpose of studying mathematics by nonmathematical specialties students is to provide them with the ability to apply mathematics to solve professional problems. An analysis of the various practices of teaching mathematics has revealed that in many cases this goal is not achieved due to the lack of a reasonable balance between the formal rigor of the presentation of theoretical principles and the teaching of procedures. Therefore, the teaching of mathematics should pursue the following goals: the formation of a conceptual understanding of key mathematical concepts, facts, methods with an illustration of their application, the study of the relevant mathematical apparatus; developing basic skills of mathematical research and mathematical modeling.
- The described methods of using the digital educational space are designed to improve the conceptual understanding of mathematics among students of non-mathematical specialties through the

study of mathematical concepts and their connections, experimentation, formulation of questions, hypotheses, conclusions, and discussion of the obtained results.

4. Prospects for further research are to develop criteria and indicators of conceptual understanding of mathematics by non-mathematical specialties students, as well as quantitative analysis of the effectiveness of the use of digital learning space for the formation of conceptual mathematical knowledge of students.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The research was performed within the scientific topic "Mathematical methods and digital technologies in education, science, technology" (state registration number: 0121U111924) of the Department of Computer Science and Mathematics of Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University.

REFERENCES

- Astafieva, M. M., Zhyltsov, O. B., Proshkin, V. V., and Lytvyn, O. S. (2020). E-learning as a mean of forming students' mathematical competence in a researchoriented educational process. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:674–689. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte. 421.
- Aydın, U. and Özgeldi, M. (2019). The PISA Tasks: Unveiling Prospective Elementary Mathematics Teachers' Difficulties with Contextual, Conceptual, and Procedural Knowledge. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 63(1):105–123. https://doi.org/10. 1080/00313831.2017.1324906.
- Balka, D., Hull, T., and Harbin Miles, R. (2012). What is conceptual understanding? https://nild.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/ What-is-Conceptual-Understanding.pdf.
- Byrnes, J. P. and Wasik, B. A. (1991). Role of conceptual knowledge in mathematical procedural learning. *Developmental Psychology*, 27(5):777–786. https: //doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.27.5.777.
- Cobb, P. (1988). The Tension Between Theories of Learning and Instruction in Mathematics Education. *Educational Psychologist*, 23(2):87–103. https://doi.org/ 10.1207/s15326985ep2302_2.
- de Jong, T. (2015). Go-Lab Deliverable D1.4 Go-Lab classroom scenarios handbook. Technical report, Go-Lab consortium. https://telearn.archives-ouvertes.fr/ hal-01274922v1/preview/Go-Lab_D1.4.pdf.
- Forrester, P. A. and Chinnappan, M. (2010). The predominance of procedural knowledge in fractions. In Sparrow, L., Kissane, B., and Hurst, C., editors, *Shaping the future of mathematics education: Proceedings of*

the 33rd annual conference of the Mathematics Education Research Group of Australasia, pages 185– 192. MERGA Inc., Fremantle, WA. https://ro.uow. edu.au/edupapers/770/.

- Hiebert, J. and Lefevre, P. (1986). Conceptual and Procedural Knowledge in Mathematics: An Introductory Analysis . In Hiebert, J., editor, *Conceptual and Procedural Knowledge The Case of Mathematics*, volume 2. Routledge, New York.
- Leung, F. K. S. (2006). The Impact of Information and Communication Technology on Our Understanding of the Nature of Mathematics. For the Learning of Mathematics, 26(1):29–35. http://www.jstor.org/ stable/40248521.
- Nahdi, D. S. and Jatisunda, M. G. (2020). Conceptual Understanding And Procedural Knowledge: A Case Study on Learning Mathematics of Fractional Material in Elementary School. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1477(4):042037. https://doi.org/10. 1088/1742-6596/1477/4/042037.
- Next-Lab (2022). About | NextLab Support. https://support. golabz.eu/about.
- Rittle-Johnson, B., Siegler, R. S., and Alibali, M. W. (2001). Developing conceptual understanding and procedural skill in mathematics: An iterative process. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 93(2):346–362. https://doi. org/10.1037/0022-0663.93.2.346.
- Sáenz, C. (2009). The role of contextual, conceptual and procedural knowledge in activating mathematical competencies (PISA). *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 71(2):123–143. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10649-008-9167-8.
- Smetana, L. K. and Bell, R. L. (2012). Computer Simulations to Support Science Instruction and Learning: A critical review of the literature. *International Journal of Science Education*, 34(9):1337–1370. https: //doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2011.605182.

Implementing GeoGebra as a Tool for STEM Education in Pre-Service Mathematics Teacher Training: Pedagogical Conditions and Effectiveness

Valentyna V. Pikalova^{Da}

National Technical University "Kharkiv Polytechnic Institute", 2 Kyrpychova Str., Kharkiv, 61002, Ukraine valentyna.pikalova@khpi.edu.ua

- Keywords: STEM Education, GeoGebra, Pre-Service Mathematics Teacher Training, Pedagogical Conditions, Cloud-Oriented Educational Environment, Explorative Study, Motivational Measures, Pedagogical Experiment.
- Abstract: This paper explores the development and implementation of pedagogical conditions for the use of GeoGebra as a tool for STEM education in the training of pre-service mathematics teachers. STEM education is discussed, and the potential and features of GeoGebra as a tool for implementing this concept are characterized. Three pedagogical conditions are proposed, including the creation of a cloud-oriented educational environment, the introduction of STEM-oriented investigations using GeoGebra, and the application of motivating measures to stimulate students. Criteria and indicators for the effectiveness of these conditions are developed, and a pedagogical conditions and demonstrate the potential for GeoGebra as a tool for providing STEM education in the training of pre-service mathematics teachers. This paper provides insights and recommendations for educators seeking to incorporate GeoGebra and STEM education into their mathematics teacher training programs.

1 INTRODUCTION

Improving the quality of science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) education is a key task for countries focused on strengthening economic competitiveness and developing human capital to support science-based industries and technologies (Hrynevych et al., 2021). International comparative studies of the quality of STEM education (PISA, TIMSS) are recognized indicators of the state of a country's STEM education. These studies allow for comparing a nation's educational progress with global trends in its development. The latest PISA studies have shown a significant decline in the science and particularly mathematics skills of Ukrainian high school students (Mazorchuk et al., 2021). Results of recent admissions campaigns have confirmed a decline in interest among applicants in STEM fields, which creates strategic risks for social, economic, and technological development in Ukraine. In 2020, only two of the ten most popular specialties chosen by applicants related to STEM education, and only one of them involved information technology. The need to increase the prestige of STEM education as a guarantee of the country's development necessitates improving the quality of professional training for pre-service STEM teachers.

The strategic tasks for training pre-service teachers are determined in the laws of Ukraine "On Education" (Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine, 2017), "On Higher Education" (On Higher Education, 2017) and other regulatory documents, which prioritize achieving a qualitatively new level of mathematical education through the introduction of progressive concepts, optimal combination of humanitarian and naturalmathematical components of education, the use of modern pedagogical and information technologies, and the preparation of a new generation of teaching staff. The adopted Concept of Development of Natural-Scientific and Mathematical Education (STEM Education) in Ukraine (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2020) is based on UNESCO documents, in particular, the Incheon Declaration "Education 2030" (UNESCO, 2015), where STEM education is recognized as a key strategy for achieving sustainable development goals. The concept provides for its wide-scale implementation at all levels of education, emphasizes the key role of mathematics in

860

Pikalova, V.

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0773-2947

Implementing GeoGebra as a Tool for STEM Education in Pre-Service Mathematics Teacher Training: Pedagogical Conditions and Effectiveness In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 860-868 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

STEM education, and emphasizes the need for significant changes in the training system, including preservice mathematics teachers.

Therefore, there is a social demand and legislatively justified necessity to improve the quality of professional training of pre-service mathematics teachers through the implementation of the STEM education concept.

Bilousova et al. (Bilousova et al., 2022) point out the significant didactic potential of computer mathematics systems for pedagogical purposes, such as the GRAN and GeoGebra packages, in implementing STEM education in higher and secondary schools. However, the problem of effectively using these systems as tools for implementing STEM education in the practice of professional training of pre-service mathematics teachers remains insufficiently developed in both theoretical and practical aspects.

The analysis revealed contradictions between society's demand for improving the quality of natural and mathematical education and its unsatisfactory state at the key level – the level of general secondary education; recognition of STEM education as the leading direction of modernizing natural and mathematical education and the insufficient level of implementing the STEM approach in the process of professional training of pre-service mathematics teachers; the potential of the GeoGebra package for implementing STEM mathematics education and the lack of scientifically substantiated approaches to effectively using the GeoGebra package as a tool for implementing the STEM education concept in the process of training pre-service mathematics teachers.

2 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

The relevance of the outlined problem, its insufficient development in pedagogical theory and practice, as well as the need to solve the identified contradictions, determined the *object of research* – the implementation of the concept of STEM education in the process of preparing future mathematics teachers.

The subject of research is the pedagogical conditions for using the GeoGebra package as a tool for implementing the concept of STEM education in the process of training pre-service mathematics teachers.

The purpose of the research is to theoretically justify, develop and experimentally verify the pedagogical conditions for using the GeoGebra package as a tool for implementing the concept of STEM education in the process of training pre-service mathematics teachers.

The research methods:

- theoretical analysis, comparison, systematization, and generalization of scientific literature to identify the state of the topic's development and clarify the conceptual and terminological apparatus; analysis of the experience of implementing STEM education in the preparation of pre-service mathematics teachers; generalization and systematization of theoretical positions to justify pedagogical conditions for the use of the GeoGebra package as a tool for implementing STEM education in the process of training pre-service mathematics teachers;
- empirical observation, survey, testing, questioning, analysis of the results obtained.

The experimental research was conducted from 2015 to 2020 at the following institutions: H. S. Skovoroda Kharkiv National Pedagogical University, Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, Vinnytsia Mykhailo Kotsiubynskyi State Pedagogical University, Lesya Ukrainka Volyn National University, K. D. Ushynskyi Chernihiv Regional Institute of Postgraduate Pedagogical Education, and the National Technical University "Kharkiv Polytechnic Institute". A total of 343 students and 26 teachers were involved at various stages of the research.

3 THEORETICAL UNDERPINNINGS OF ICT USE IN STEM EDUCATION IMPLEMENTATION AT PRE-SERVICE MATHEMATICS TEACHER TRAINING

Based on the analysis of psychological and pedagogical literature (Pylypenko, 2020; Shapovalov et al., 2020, 2022; Valko et al., 2020; Hrynevych et al., 2021; Martyniuk et al., 2021; Lukychova et al., 2022; Slipukhina et al., 2022; Mintii, 2023), it has been found that STEM education emerged as a response to the challenge posed by the rapid development of technologies, which necessitates the orientation of education towards the preemptive satisfaction of the needs of the modern economy for specialists capable of ensuring its development on a high-tech basis. The experience of implementing STEM education in the USA, France, Great Britain, Australia, Israel, China, Singapore, Hong Kong, Canada, and other countries was analised. In Ukraine, STEM education is considered a priority direction for the development of natural science and mathematics education, as declared in

the corresponding Concept (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2020).

The theoretical foundations of STEM education are being developed jointly by scientists and educators, taking into account practical experience. It has been established that despite differences in the strategies of implementing STEM education in different countries, there is a shared understanding of the purpose of STEM education (improving human capital by developing STEM competencies and a natural science worldview in students), its key principles (integrative, interdisciplinary, transdisciplinary, activity-based, competency-based, person-centered, and research-oriented approaches), and the expected result in personal (acquisition of practical natural science, mathematical, IT, and engineering knowledge and skills to solve practical problems in educational and professional activities) and societal dimensions (increasing the country's competitiveness in the international market of high technologies).

Based on the above, within the scope of the study, STEM education is understood as an innovative model of natural and mathematical education of the 21st century, and its implementation is considered a large-scale global experiment during which the content component of the model is determined (selection and structuring of educational content), the procedural component is tested (forms, methods, and means of teaching, specific aspects of organizing the educational process), and the conceptual basis is clarified (terminology, founding principles, etc.).

It is shown that mathematics has an integrative role in the complex of STEM disciplines, which is due to the universality of mathematical tools, the mathematization of various fields of knowledge, the significant influence of mathematical education on the cognitive, moral-volitional, and aesthetic development of an individual, and the exceptional importance of mathematical modeling and computational experimentation based on it as a leading method of scientific, engineering, technical, and practical human activities. The latter determines the leading role of computer mathematics systems in the implementation of interdisciplinary STEM projects.

The generalization of experience in implementing STEM education into the system of training preservice teachers of mathematics, natural sciences, and technologies has shown the need for further research in the context of modernizing higher pedagogical education based on the implementation of the concept of STEM education. This includes the theoretical justification of pedagogical conditions for using the GeoGebra package as a tool for its implementation.

4 JUSTIFICATION OF PEDAGOGICAL CONDITIONS FOR USING THE GEOGEBRA PACKAGE AS A TOOL FOR IMPLEMENTING THE CONCEPT OF STEM EDUCATION IN THE PREPARATION OF PRE-SERVICE MATHEMATICS TEACHERS

Based on theoretical analysis, it has been proven that the special role of mathematics justifies the expediency of implementing STEM education primarily in the process of fundamental mathematical training for pre-service mathematics teachers. It is shown that the leading way to implement STEM education is through specially organized research and project activities, the main feature of which is the construction of the subject's knowledge system in the process of acquiring and comprehending their own experience in such activities. The organization of research and project activities requires the construction of communities whose members possess ICT tools for conducting theoretical and empirical research. This necessitates the need for pre-service teachers to master social-constructivist technologies for organizing computer-based STEM-oriented research and methods for forming a complex of research competencies as components of the STEM competency system.

The educational and developmental potential of the GeoGebra package as a tool for implementing the STEM education concept in the training of preservice mathematics teachers is characterized, as well as the defining features of the package in (Kramarenko et al., 2020; Drushlyak et al., 2021). GeoGebra is positioned as a computer mathematics system aimed at supporting the educational and research activities of students and teachers. The package has a developed functionality and continuous improvement by an international team of developers, and a wide range of applications in STEM education and its branches (STEAM, STREAM, and others), scientific and practical activities of various directions. The full-featured version of the package is freely available in Ukrainian, independent of hardware and operating system, and has a cloud-based version. The large database of freely distributed educational STEM resources created by the open GeoGebra community, the possibility of visualizing computer models in virtual and augmented reality, and their materialization by 3D printing are also noted.

The 20-year history of using the GeoGebra package in mathematics education has revealed its synergetic effect – the inheritance of STEM applications. The demand for the skills and knowledge of using GeoGebra acquired by pre-service mathematics teachers is not only relevant in their professional activities but also beyond its scope.

Using the GeoGebra package as a tool for implementing the STEM education concept required the development and justification of a complex of pedagogical conditions that ensure the effectiveness of such use. Considering that STEM education is a multipurpose concept, the focus was on the goals that the use of the GeoGebra package contributed to achieving: developing students' motivation to acquire mathematical education, forming beliefs about its significance and the effectiveness of mathematical knowledge, acquiring research competencies, and developing the ability for self-education and a desire to independently enhance their educational potential.

With these goals in mind, a complex of pedagogical conditions was developed and theoretically justified, which includes designing an educational process using GeoGebra that promotes the active involvement of students in the research and discovery process, using interactive methods of teaching and learning, and promoting self-education and research activities. The GeoGebra package also helps to develop students' mathematical thinking, creative abilities, and research skills, as well as to integrate mathematics with other disciplines.

Thus, the GeoGebra package has significant potential as a tool for implementing the STEM education concept in the training of pre-service mathematics teachers. Its effective use requires the development of a complex of pedagogical conditions, which are aimed at promoting students' motivation, developing their research competencies, and promoting selfeducation and research activities.

The first pedagogical condition is to create a cloud-oriented educational environment that contains software, informational, didactic, and methodological resources for organizing, supporting, and accompanying various types of student learning activities using the GeoGebra package: educational and cognitive, educational and research, scientific and research, and project-based.

The second pedagogical condition is to introduce a practical course in computer STEM-oriented research in the GeoGebra package into the educational process of training pre-service mathematics teachers, which is based on the principles of a technological approach, involving a step-by-step engagement of students in researching mathematical objects, objects from other disciplines, objects of the surrounding world, and gradually mastering the research tools of the GeoGebra package.

The third pedagogical condition is the use of a complex of tools to stimulate students' STEMoriented GeoGebra modeling, based on the organization of their extracurricular activities, involvement in the GeoGebra community, and the use of individual and group coaching.

Within the framework of extracurricular activities, students are expected to:

- familiarize themselves with additional (nonprogram) materials that reveal the significance of mathematics, the value of mathematical modeling, the breadth of its applications in various areas of human activity, including creative ones;
- prepare non-standard events to popularize such information; create illustrative support for such events using the GeoGebra package;
- participate in the GeoGebra community, which promotes the transfer of pedagogical ideas and technologies, as well as the involvement of students in the development of GeoGebra models, GeoGebra projects, conducting and presenting their own GeoGebra research as a personal contribution to open world GeoGebra resources. The ability to see their own results on the site and participate in the scientific and methodological developments of teachers adds confidence to the student in the significance of the knowledge they receive in the educational process and in research and project work.

The use of individual and group coaching contributes to the development of the personal potential of pre-service math teachers, stimulates their independent cognitive activity, and increases the practical significance and demand for the results of computer STEM-oriented research using GeoGebra software. The pedagogical conditions are interconnected, interdependent, and complementary, which necessitates their comprehensive implementation.

5 ORGANIZATION, CONDUCT AND RESULTS OF THE PEDAGOGICAL EXPERIMENT

During the preparatory stage of experimental work (2015–2017), educational and methodological support for using the GeoGebra package as a tool for implementing the concept of STEM education in the process of training pre-service mathematics teachers

in higher education institutions was developed. This included a textbook for mastering the dynamic mathematics GeoGebra package as a tool for implementing the concept of STEM education; sets of research tasks and educational models for conducting STEMoriented research in GeoGebra; a cloud-based complex of interdisciplinary models presented in GeoGebra Book; tasks for individual STEM-oriented research and educational activities of students using GeoGebra modeling; STEM project topics using the GeoGebra package; and working materials for organizing extracurricular STEM-oriented student work using GeoGebra modeling in the format of a discussion club (thematic developments, scenarios, presentations, compilations of audio and video materials, etc.).

Criteria and indicators for the formation of the ability of pre-service mathematics teachers to use the GeoGebra package as a tool for implementing the concept of STEM education were also developed, including motivational-value (the awareness by pre-service teachers of the value of mathematical knowledge and the mathematical apparatus as the basis for computer research on any object; motivation to learn mathematics; readiness to overcome difficulties), praxiological (the ability of pre-service teachers to step-by-step plan computer research using the technology of its implementation; the ability to use the GeoGebra functional rationally for conducting research; the ability to analyze its results and make conclusions), and metacognitive (the ability of pre-service teachers to critically evaluate their own knowledge level for solving a problem; the ability to effectively use various ways of acquiring knowledge; the desire for constant educational growth; the ability to apply the GeoGebra package for conducting transdisciplinary research).

Each indicator is described at three levels of formation of pre-service mathematics teachers' ability to use GeoGebra as a tool for implementing the concept of STEM education: reproductive (the ability to use GeoGebra to conduct subject mathematical research according to the teacher's plan), partially exploratory (the ability to use GeoGebra to conduct independent and collaborative subject mathematical research and interdisciplinary research with the teacher's support), and creative (the ability to use GeoGebra to conduct independent and collaborative transdisciplinary research). Tools for their diagnosis have been developed.

The exploratory and formative stages of the pedagogical experiment were conducted at the H. S. Skovoroda Kharkiv National Pedagogical University and Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University. During the exploratory stage (2018), experimental and control groups were formed; the absence of a statistically significant difference at the 0.05 level in the levels of formation of mathematics teachers' ability to use GeoGebra as a tool for implementing the concept of STEM education was proven.

During the formative stage (2018-2020), measures were implemented to introduce reasoned pedagogical conditions for using the GeoGebra package as a tool for implementing STEM education and testing a complex of educational and methodological materials. The stage's tasks also included testing a complex of didactic materials that provide the implementation of these pedagogical conditions, tracking the dynamics of the process of using the GeoGebra package as a tool for implementing the concept of STEM education in the process of training pre-service mathematics teachers. The pedagogical experiment was conducted in natural conditions of the educational process with the involvement of students in the experimental group. Students in the control group were taught using traditional methods.

To implement the first pedagogical condition based on the use of specially selected and developed software, informational, didactic, and methodological resources during the preparatory stage of the experimental work, a cloud-oriented educational environment was created to organize, support, and accompany various types of independent student activity using the GeoGebra package (educational-cognitive, educational-research, scientific-research, project).

To implement the second pedagogical condition, a practical course on conducting computer STEMoriented research using the GeoGebra package was developed and implemented. The practical course provided for the sequential mastering by pre-service mathematics teachers of the technology of research and the research toolkit of the GeoGebra package in the process of step-by-step involvement in the study of mathematical objects, objects from other disciplines, real objects with the support of a specially created and constantly updated database of educational models. To support and direct the independent work of students during the practical course, a teaching and methodological guide was used. Each research project carried out by the student consisted of three stages. At the first stage, the student was involved in constructing a visual model of the mathematical object in the GeoGebra environment, guided by instructions for its construction (provided in the practical course in a table of dynamic drawing construction, which contains a step-by-step description of construction, comments, and illustrations) and mastering a certain toolkit of GeoGebra in this way. Next,

Table 1: The distribution of students in the specialty 014.04 Secondary Education (Mathematics) by the level of formation of the ability to use GeoGebra software as a tool for implementing the STEM education concept after the formative stage of the pedagogical experiment (in %).

Levels	Control group		Experimental group			
Criteria	Reproductive	Partial-equivalent	Creative	Reproductive	Partial-equivalent	Creative
Motivational-value	37.7	39.3	23.0	19.4	38.7	41.9
Praxiological	42.6	37.7	19.7	16.1	40.3	43.6
Metacognitive	42.6	36.1	21.3	17.7	37.1	45.2

the student carried out the study of the mathematical object according to the provided step-by-step plan, which reproduced the technology of research. Each step was accompanied by questions that drew the student's attention to the essence of the obtained result. The second stage of the research was carried out by the student using the same model, but using it to study an interdisciplinary object, which required activation of knowledge from other disciplines. The questions posed were aimed at involving the student in the analysis and understanding of the results obtained, arousing his interest and initiative in satisfying it. The third stage led to a transdisciplinary level of research and concerned a real object, requiring the demonstration of a complex of acquired knowledge. The questions posed to the student aimed to arouse his natural curiosity, stimulate the development of a plan for further research, possibly with modification of the created model.

To implement the third pedagogical condition, a set of tools to stimulate students to engage in STEMoriented GeoGebra modeling was developed and applied. In particular, extracurricular activities were organized in the form of a discussion club, where the leading method of cognitive activity was GeoGebra modeling. Students were also involved in GeoGebra community activities by developing GeoGebra models and presenting their own GeoGebra research as a personal contribution to open world GeoGebra resources, including GeoGebra Book, for the exchange of ideas and technologies, as well as the implementation and adaptation of productive international experience in the educational process of training pre-service math teachers to use the GeoGebra package in STEM education, which played a powerful motivational factor for students. The club format contributed to the growth of various interactions between teachers and students on the principles of mutual respect and trust, the establishment of partnership relations between them, the implementation of individual and group coaching, which found expression in personalized student counseling, directing them towards achieving significant educational results, engaging in the development of practical STEM projects, and jointly conducting full-fledged scientific

STEM research throughout the entire cycle of training pre-service math teachers. After completing the experimental work, the level of formation of pre-service math teachers' ability to use the GeoGebra package as a tool for implementing the concept of STEM education was determined (table 1).

During the control stage, the results of the conducted experiment were analyzed. The obtained results allowed us to conclude about the positive effect of implementing the developed pedagogical conditions on the level of formation of pre-service mathematics teachers' ability to use GeoGebra software as a tool for implementing the STEM education concept. The verification was carried out using the Pearson correlation coefficient, which confirmed that the difference factor in the distributions of the students of control and experimental groups is statistically significant at the 0.05 level. Therefore, the research hypothesis was confirmed that the use of GeoGebra software as a tool for implementing the STEM education concept in the process of training pre-service mathematics teachers will be effective under the implementation of justified pedagogical conditions.

6 CONCLUSIONS

- 1. The research proposes a solution to the scientific problem of substantiating the pedagogical conditions for using GeoGebra as a tool for implementing STEM education in the training of pre-service mathematics teachers. The generalization of the results of theoretical research and the conducted pedagogical experiment allow the following conclusions to be made.
- 2. The analysis of psychological and pedagogical literature showed that STEM education is an innovative approach that is being implemented and developed jointly by scientists and educators from many countries of the world who are interested in the development of science-intensive production and high technologies. STEM education is being spread at all educational levels, which determines its special importance in the system of

training pre-service teachers, since the teacher is the main driving force for change in education.

3. STEM education is defined as an innovative model of natural-mathematical education of the 21st century, and its implementation is a large-scale world experiment, during which the content component of the model is determined (the selection and structuring of the content of education is carried out), the procedural component is tested (the forms, methods, means of teaching, the specificity of organizing the educational process in its specific aspects are used), and the conceptual component is refined (terminology, basic principles, etc.).

Integrated, activity-based, and technological approaches are highlighted as key components of STEM education. Increasing the volume and significance of independent research requires its rational organization on technological principles.

The potential of mathematics as a STEM discipline in both school and university education is analyzed. The integrative role of mathematics in the complex of STEM disciplines is determined by the universality of the mathematical apparatus, its widespread use, the mathematization of various fields of knowledge; the significant impact of mathematical education on the intellectual, moral, and aesthetic development of the individual; and the exceptional importance of mathematical modeling and computational experimentation based on it as the leading method of scientific, engineering, and practical human activity.

The problems in training mathematics teachers for the implementation of STEM learning are outlined, which necessitate the need for theoretical justification and research regarding the modernization of higher education in the context of effective implementation of the STEM concept.

4. The educational and developmental potential as well as defining features of the GeoGebra package as a tool for implementing the STEM education concept in the process of training pre-service mathematics teachers have been revealed. The GeoGebra package is positioned as a computer mathematics system oriented towards supporting educational and research activities. The package is powerful and continuously improved by an international team of developers. It has a wide range of applications in STEM education and its branches (such as STEAM, STREAM, etc.), scientific and practical activities of different directions. The full-featured version of the package is freely available in Ukrainian. It is independent of

hardware and operating systems and has a cloudoriented version. There is a large base of freely distributed educational STEM resources created by the open GeoGebra community. The package allows for visualizing computer models in virtual and augmented reality and their materialization through 3D printing.

- 5. Pedagogical conditions for using the GeoGebra package as a tool for implementing the STEM education concept in the process of training preservice mathematics teachers have been developed and theoretically substantiated. These include creating a cloud-oriented educational environment that contains software, informational, didactic, and methodological resources for organizing, supporting, and accompanying various types of student learning activities using the GeoGebra package. Introducing a practicum in conducting computer-based STEM-oriented research in the GeoGebra package into the educational process of training pre-service mathematics teachers. Using a set of tools to stimulate students to engage in STEM-oriented GeoGebra modeling based on organizing their extracurricular work, involving them in the GeoGebra community, and using individual and group coaching.
- 6. A pedagogical experiment was conducted to verify the effectiveness of the reasoned pedagogical conditions for the use of the GeoGebra package as a tool for implementing STEM education in the preparation of pre-service mathematics teachers. Criteria and indicators were developed for the formation of the ability of pre-service mathematics teachers to use the GeoGebra package as a tool for implementing the concept of STEM education: motivational-value (pre-service teachers' awareness of the value of mathematical knowledge and the mathematical apparatus as the basis for computer research of any objects; motivation to learn mathematics; readiness to overcome difficulties); praxiological (ability of preservice teachers to step-by-step plan computer research using the technology of its conduct; ability to use GeoGebra functionality rationally for research; ability to analyze its results and draw conclusions); metacognitive (the ability of preservice teachers to critically evaluate their level of knowledge for solving the problem; ability to effectively use various ways of acquiring knowledge; desire for continuous educational growth; ability to use the GeoGebra package for conducting transdisciplinary research). The reproductive, partially exploratory, and creative levels of formation were characterized for each criterion, scales

were developed for their measurement, and diagnostic tools were determined and selected. The experimental data were processed using mathematical statistics methods. The results obtained confirmed the effectiveness of the reasoned pedagogical conditions for the use of the GeoGebra package as a tool for implementing the concept of STEM education in the preparation of pre-service mathematics teachers.

7 FUTURE WORK

The research conducted does not exhaust all aspects of the analyzed problem. We consider the development of a model of professional training of preservice mathematics teachers on the basis of an integrative approach and methodological principles for implementing STEM education in the training of preservice physics, computer science, and technology teachers as promising directions for further scientific research.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The research was carried out in accordance with the plan of scientific research of the Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University within the framework of the comprehensive theme "Theoretical and Methodological Foundations of Using Mobile Information and Communication Technologies in Education" (No. 0116U001867) and according to the work plan of the joint scientific research laboratory on the use of cloud technologies in education of the Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University and the Institute for Digitalisation of Education of the National Academy of Educational Sciences of Ukraine (Kyiv).

REFERENCES

- Bilousova, L. I., Gryzun, L. E., Lytvynova, S. H., and Pikalova, V. V. (2022). Modelling in GeoGebra in the Context of Holistic Approach Realization in Mathematical Training of Pre-service Specialists. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 1: AET*, pages 499–510. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10. 5220/0010925700003364.
- Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine (2020). Pro skhvalennia Kontseptsii rozvytku pryrodnycho-matematychnoi osvity (STEM-osvity) [On approval of the Concept

for the development of science and mathematics education (STEM education)]. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/ laws/show/960-2020-%D1%80#Text.

- Drushlyak, M. G., Semenikhina, O. V., Proshkin, V. V., Kharchenko, S. Y., and Lukashova, T. D. (2021). Methodology of formation of modeling skills based on a constructive approach (on the example of GeoGebra). *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 8:458–472. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.300.
- Hrynevych, L., Morze, N., Vember, V., and Boiko, M. (2021). Use of digital tools as a component of STEM education ecosystem. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(1):118–139. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq. 24.
- Kramarenko, T. H., Pylypenko, O. S., and Muzyka, I. O. (2020). Application of GeoGebra in Stereometry teaching. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:705–718. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.418.
- Lukychova, N. S., Osypova, N. V., and Yuzbasheva, G. S. (2022). ICT and current trends as a path to STEM education: implementation and prospects. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 9:39–55. https://doi.org/10.55056/ cte.100.
- Martyniuk, O. O., Martyniuk, O. S., Pankevych, S., and Muzyka, I. (2021). Educational direction of STEM in the system of realization of blended teaching of physics. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(3):347–359. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.39.
- Mazorchuk, M. S., Vakulenko, T. S., Bychko, A. O., Kuzminska, O. H., and Prokhorov, O. V. (2021). Cloud technologies and learning analytics: web application for PISA results analysis and visualization. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 8:484–494. https://doi. org/10.55056/cte.302.
- Mintii, M. M. (2023). Selection of pedagogical conditions for training STEM teachers to use augmented reality technologies in their work. *Educational Dimension*. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim.4951.
- On Higher Education (2017). Law of Ukraine on Higher Education. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/ show/1556-18?lang=en#Text.
- Pylypenko, O. (2020). Development of critical thinking as a means of forming STEM competencies. *Educational Dimension*, 3:317–331. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.v55i0.3955.
- Shapovalov, Y. B., Bilyk, Z. I., Usenko, S. A., Shapovalov, V. B., Postova, K. H., Zhadan, S. O., and Antonenko, P. D. (2022). Using Personal Smart Tools in STEM Education. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology Volume 2: AET*, pages 192–207. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/0010929900003364.
- Shapovalov, Y. B., Shapovalov, V. B., Andruszkiewicz, F., and Volkova, N. P. (2020). Analyzing of main trends of STEM education in Ukraine using stemua.science statistics. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:448–461. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.385.
- Slipukhina, I. A., Polishchuk, A. P., Mieniailov, S. M., Opolonets, O. P., and Soloviov, T. V. (2022). Method-

ology of M. Montessori as the Basis of Early Formation of STEM Skills of Pupils. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 1: AET*, pages 211– 220. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/ 0010922500003364.

- UNESCO (2015). Incheon Declaration: Education 2030: Towards Inclusive and Equitable Quality Education and Lifelong Learning for All. https://unesdoc. unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000233813.
- Valko, N. V., Kushnir, N. O., and Osadchyi, V. V. (2020). Cloud technologies for STEM education. CTE Workshop Proceedings, 7:435–447. https://doi.org/10. 55056/cte.384.
- Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine (2017). Law on Education. https://mon.gov.ua/ua/npa/law-education.

Didactic Terms of Shaping Pedagogical Universities Students' Digital Competence in the Process of Teaching Informatics Courses

Olena O. Lavrentieva^{1,2}¹⁰^a, Mykhailo V. Moiseienko²^b and Natalia V. Moiseienko²^c

¹Alfred Nobel University, 18 Sicheslavska Naberezhna Str., Dnipro, 49000, Ukraine
²Kryvyi Rih State Pedagogical University, 54 Gagarin Ave., Kryvyi Rih, 50086, Ukraine {helav68, seliverst17moiseenko, n.v.moiseenko}@gmail.com

- Keywords: Didactic Terms, Information Competence, Digital Competence, Students of Pedagogical Universities, Informative Disciplines, Structural-Functional Model.
- Abstract: In this study the results of the conducted theoretical and experimental research on determining, grounding and testing of didactic terms of shaping pedagogical universities students' digital competence in the process of teaching informatics courses have been presented. The object of the research is the process of shaping digital competency of pedagogical universities students. The subject of the research is the didactic terms that contribute to the shaping of digital competence of pedagogical universities students in the process of teaching informatics courses. The article provides insight into the essence of the conducted pedagogical experiment on the assesses of the effectiveness of didactic terms of shaping pedagogical universities students' digital competence in the process of teaching informatics courses. The conducted quantitative, qualitative and statistical analyses have identified a positive and statistically significant dynamic in the levels of formation of the competence in question in accordance with the defined criteria; in the degree of the system acquisition of this phenomenon; in general levels of the formation of digital competence of students from the experimental group.

1 INTRODUCTION

The current pace and vector of the evolution of the post-industrial world community necessitate a rethinking of the structure of professional competencies of the students of pedagogical specialities, the inclusion in their list of the ability and readiness to function effectively in a digital society, the development and improvement of skills to competently and appropriately use models, methods and tools of informatics, the latest information technologies in professional activities and social practice.

The Strategy for the Development of the Information Society in Ukraine (Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, 2013) set a course for creating an education system focused on the use of the latest ICTs in forming a well-rounded personality and ensuring the continuity of education. The Concept of the New Ukrainian School (Elkin et al., 2017) calls the information and digital competencies key and essential competence for living in modern society. The Regulation on the National Educational Electronic Platform (Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine, 2018) emphasizes the need to develop them for participants in the educational process. The concept of the Digital Agenda of Ukraine (Adz, 2016) recognized the digitalization of society, which includes future teachers, as an object of attention and integrated public administration. In the quarantine restrictions context, it is digitalization that has become the primary tool for distance and blended learning, and digital competence has been the guarantee of effectiveness.

The researches which are the basis for the study of the problem are the works examining the theoretical and methodological foundations of teachers' professional preparation as agents of social change (Honcharenko, 2012; Chernilevskyi et al., 2010; Sultanova et al., 2021; Hrynevych et al., 2022; Semychenko, 2004; Slastenin et al., 1997; Falfushynska et al., 2021; Rybalko et al., 2020; Ziaziun, 1989; Madzigon and Vachevskyi, 2011; Havrilova and Topolnik, 2017; Kuts and Lavrentieva, 2022), ways of modernizing of higher pedagogical education and updating its content and organizational forms (Aleksiuk, 1993; Bespalko,

Lavrentieva, O., Moiseienko, M. and Moiseienko, N.

Didactic Terms of Shaping Pedagogical Universities Students' Digital Competence in the Process of Teaching Informatics Courses. In Proceedings of the 2nd Myroslav I. Zhaldak Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology (AET 2021), pages 869-880 ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

^a https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0609-5894

^b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4401-0297

[°] https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0789-0272

1960; Kodliuk et al., 2021; Lozova, 2003; Ogneviuk et al., 2020), the source developing the competence approach and reveal the essence of the teacher's professional competence (Khutorskaya and Korol, 2008; Raven, 2020; Zimnyaya, 2021; Ovcharuk, 2020; Pometun, 2003; Dakhin, 2012; Morze et al., 2022).

A lot of theoretical and experimental works of domestic and foreign scientists are devoted to the problems of implementation and effective use of ICT in education, in particular (Bespalko, 2018; Burov et al., 2020; Gershunsky and Pullin, 1990; Honcharenko, 2000; Gurevych et al., 2020; Kademiya and Kobysia, 2017; Hurevych et al., 2012; Robert et al., 2016; Sysoieva, 1998; Zhaldak, 2012). The issues of digitalization of the educational space are thoroughly considered by foreign scholars in their publications (Manovich, 2001; Polat, 2004; Stommel, 2014; Vuorikari et al., 2016) and Ukrainian researchers (Balyk et al., 2019; Kukharenko et al., 2022; Bilousova et al., 2022; Spivakovsky et al., 2013; Rakov, 2005; Teplytskyi et al., 2019; Trius and Sotulenko, 2017; Zhaldak et al., 2012).

The analysis of the current state and directions of reforming science education (STEM education) has led to the conclusion that its digitalization requires the modernization of computer science training and the cross-cutting integrated systematic design of advanced content for teaching computer science to students of pedagogical universities based on a competence approach. These problems are comprehensively addressed in the works of Hrynevych et al. (Hrynevych et al., 2021), Ramsky and Rezina (Ramsky and Rezina, 2005), Semerikov et al. (Semerikov et al., 2022).

Meanwhile, the analysis of primary sources revealed a terminological inconsistency in the use of the term "digital competence". The scientific researches which comprehensively studies the categorical and terminological field of informatics, information and communication competencies in line with our study are valuable in this context (Ovcharuk and Ivaniuk, 2021; Ovcharuk et al., 2022; Spivakovsky et al., 2022; Soroko, 2021; Vakaliuk et al., 2021a; Martyniuk et al., 2021; Bondarchuk et al., 2022; Vakaliuk et al., 2021b; Prokhorov et al., 2022; Pinchuk and Prokopenko, 2021; Riezina et al., 2022; Moiseienko, 2020; Moiseienko et al., 2020a,b).

It has been established that the Digital Competence Framework for Citizens (Carretero et al., 2017) and the Digital Competence Framework for Educators (European Commission et al., 2017) developed within the European Research Center of the European Commission have become reference models, clearly defined guidelines for creating conditions for the development of educational space, forming the digital competence of participants in the educational process, and they also laid the foundations for building an educational institution's digital learning environment. However, despite the significant achievements in the field of research, there are still contradictions such as:

- between the socially determined and stateregulated need for a high level of digitalization of all spheres of society and the insufficient level of digital competence of the key actors of the information society – students of pedagogical specialities;
- between the need for students to acquire critical thinking skills, lifelong learning, and mobility to changing technologies as the basis for their sustainable professional and personal growth and traditional approaches to teaching computer science at pedagogical universities;
- between the didactic findings, forms, methods and techniques accumulated in science and practice and the degree of substantiation and experimental verification of the didactic terms for the formation of students' digital competence in teaching computer science disciplines.

The aim of the study is to identify, theoretically substantiate didactic terms, develop and experimentally test a model that promotes the formation of digital competence of pedagogical universities students during the study of computer science disciplines.

2 THEORETICAL ASPECTS OF SHAPING PEDAGOGICAL UNIVERSITIES STUDENTS' DIGITAL COMPETENCE

Taking into account the results of the analysis of the procedural and content aspects of the competence approach as a leading educational paradigm of higher pedagogical education, the role, place and significance of digital competence have been clarified which are a key and essential component of the teachers' professional competence in a modern globalized society. It has been found that such competence allows them to creatively introduce ICT innovations into professional and pedagogical activities, to promote the development of relevant ICT competencies in students.

It has been established that in its essence, digital competence is a personality's dynamic characteristic

determining the ability to secure information interaction, communication and collaboration, design digital educational resources and solve complex professional problems with the use of ICT and tools. From this point of view, it performs *motivational and incentive*, gnostic and transformative, activity and methodological, evaluative and reflective, and communicative and procedural functions in the professional activity and social practice of pedagogical institutions' students.

Given the peculiarities of informatics as a complex scientific and engineering discipline, the object of which is information processes of any nature, the subject – new information technologies, and the methodology – computational experiment, we define digital competence as a separate phenomenon that is directly related with the information competence, as well as computer, information and technological, and informatics competencies of pedagogical universities' students.

The analysis of the key and related concepts made it possible to formulate the author's vision of this multi-dimensional category. *Digital competence* is determined as the subject's ability and capacity to purposefully use ICT to create, search, process, and exchange information in the virtual space, to demonstrate information and media literacy, to comply with Internet security and cybersecurity rules, to understand and consciously adhere to ethics in working with information.

It has been found, that by its structure, digital competence is a complex and multidimensional personal formation, a professionally and personally significant integrative quality covering a set of competencies necessary for orientation and activity in the information space. These include functional literacy in information and data, communication and collaboration competence, digital content competence, digital security competence, and problem-solving competence (figure 1). It has been established the digital competence of pedagogical universities students can function at two qualitative levels. One is the basic level making it possible to solve educational problems by means of general-purpose computer technologies, and yet another is subject-oriented allowing the introduction of specialized digital technologies and resources into educational activities.

It has been fixed that the digital competence content reflects the structure of activities for consistent, literate and multidimensional work with information and is determined by the relevant following structural and criterion components (figure 2):

 motivational-value component contains the goals, motives, interests, value orientations, special abilities, focus on self-realization in professional and pedagogical activities and self-realization in the information space;

- *cognitive-informational* one as a set of knowledge and experience that ensures information processing and work with information objects on the cybersecurity and ethical behaviour foundation;
- operational-activity one a set of skills and abilities for the active usage of information technology and computer equipment in professional activities as tools of learning and development, selfimprovement and creativity;
- personal-reflexive one features and qualities determining the student's personal reflective attitude towards themselves as a subject of activity in the information space, as well as their self-awareness, self-control, self-assessment of actions and responsibility for their results.

The article proposes to assess the formation of digital competence of pedagogical university students by the degree of manifestation of relevant indicators at four levels – elementary, intermediate, sufficient and advanced ones.

3 DIDACTIC SUPPORT FOR THE SHAPING OF STUDENTS' DIGITAL COMPETENCE

The analysis of scientific sources and the results of practical activities made it possible to clarify the essential characteristics of the educational process in pedagogical universities, to identify key disciplines and to determine didactic means (forms, methods, techniques, technologies) for the formation of components of students' digital competence in the process of studying computer science disciplines. According to the results of the analysis of educational programs, the content of teaching informatics disciplines has been presented in three content areas:

- algorithmization and programming (Fundamentals of algorithmization and data structure, Object-oriented and event-driven programming, Web programming);
- software of computer systems (Fundamentals of office technologies, Numerical methods and modelling, Multimedia);
- computer technologies in the professional activity of a teacher (School course of informatics, Methods of teaching informatics, Olympiad in informatics, Modern lesson of informatics).



Figure 2: Structural and criterion components of the digital competence.

It has been recorded that in order to improve the students' digital competence and its separate components, the practice of pedagogical universities widely uses the possibilities of a variable block of computer science disciplines (Fundamentals of Media Literacy, Educational Smart Technologies, Network Communities, etc.), as well as the LMS of HEIs, MOOCs and open educational resources.

It has been substantiated that increasing the efficiency of the process of shaping the digital competence of pedagogical universities students is ensured by the creation of certain didactic terms that are educational procedures specially modelled as a result of the systematic selection, design and implementation of elements of content, as well as methods, techniques and organizational forms of computer science disciplines. The complex of *didactic terms* includes: the motivational conditionality of interaction of subjects' educational process in the information and digital learning environment; structuring of educational information in the form of problematic, heuristic and integrative models of learning and its translation into the project activities mode; ensuring the systemic complicating nature of students' study activities, diagnosis and timely correction of its products on the basis of modern ICT.

In the authors' opinion, the development of a structural and functional model contributes to the identification, theoretical substantiation and implementation of the didactic terms. In the model, each structural component (target, theoretical and methodological, content and procedural, criterion and diagnostic, and resulting blocks) has a specific function: orientation, analytical, formative and corrective ones serving to optimize the organization of activities for the shaping of students' digital competence during the study of computer science disciplines (figure 3).

The *target of the modelling* is to build a system of pedagogical work on the shaping digital competence of pedagogical university students during the study of informatics courses. The didactic model is based on the principles of comprehensive information support, optimality and pedagogical expediency, interactivity, comprehensive differentiation, controllability, effectiveness, proceduralism, diagnostics, gamification, adaptability, and ergonomics. The *target block* of the didactic model reflects the sequence of steps in defining goals and objectives, so it performs an orientation function in the formation of students' digital competence at each segment of the educational material. The *theoretical and methodological block* describes the content of the information and digi-



Figure 3: Didactic model of digital competence development of pedagogical university students.

tal learning environment, methodological approaches, principles and didactic terms that are the subject of analysis when designing the research process. The *content and procedural block* reflects the complex of didactic support (selected forms, methods, technologies, tools), as well as the logic and stages of forming students' digital competence and its components. The *criterion and diagnostic block* perform a corrective function, so far as shows the criteria, levels, and diagnostic tools for determining the level of students' digital competence during the study of computer science disciplines. The *result of the model implementation* is the achievement of the advantage of sufficient and high levels of digital competence at each stage of mastering computer science disciplines.

4 ORGANIZATION AND METHODOLOGY OF EXPERIMENTAL WORK

The investigation of the state and analysis of the problem in the practice of pedagogical universities made it possible to diagnose the goals and content of teaching computer science disciplines at the bachelor's level. First of all, it has been found that mastering the basics of algorithmization and programming, software of computer systems is provided only for the main or additional speciality "Informatics" (15% of the total curriculum). For the rest students, elective and integrated courses are offered covering the issues of computer technology in the professional activities of a subject teacher. Evidently, it does not contribute to the full and purposeful digital competence formation as one of the key competencies for a teacher. At the same time, other contradictions and a number of objectives, conceptual and procedural difficulties have been identified, and the superiority of the primary and secondary levels of digital competence in more than 52% of students has been stated both by separate criteria and in general.

Experimental testing of the effectiveness of the identified didactic terms was carried out in stages. At the organizational stage, on the basis of systemic, competence, personal activity, information, technological, task-focused, modular, and reflective approaches, the empirical research program was developed, the content was clarified and the electronic educational content of computer science disciplines ("Event-driven programming" and "3D modelling") was updated, the author's electronic special course "Digital Technologies in Education" (3 ECTS credits) was prepared, didactic support for teaching com-

puter science disciplines (lectures, multimedia presentations, electronic textbooks, instructional materials and forms, tests, a system of educational tasks for the formation of digital competence and its components) was selected.

The components of the information and digital learning environment – methodological, consulting, subject, programmatic, and communication were developed and filled with content in accordance with the components of the didactic model of students' digital competence formation. The guideline was the prepared structural and logical scheme of teaching computer science disciplines with a system of classroom work and independent and self-educational activities of students with the support of the LMS of HEIs, open educational resources, specialized departmental websites and teachers' personal websites (blogs, pages, etc.), and digital communication tools.

The testing of such didactic term as the motivational conditionality of interaction of subjects' educational process in the information and digital learning environment carried out at the formative stage of the experimental work provided for the use of the advantages of such an environment to organize effective cooperation and co-creation in the system "teacherstudent-class" during the study of computer science disciplines. The development of students' learning motivation in mastering digital competence was facilitated by the use of problem-based and developmental learning technologies, the creation of success situations, the introduction of emotional stimulation, and rating control with elements of gamification. The projects implemented (individual or group) were aimed at developing motivation, forming cognitive readiness for digital activities, practising leading digital activities, and integrating computer science knowledge.

Students' progression from motives in mastering digital activities to knowledge, skills, abilities, and evaluative judgments to digital competence was ensured by creating a didactic term such as *structuring of educational information in the form of problematic, heuristic and integrative models of learning and its translation into the project activities mode*. Based on the logic and stages of the studied activity, a technological scheme for the formation of students' digital competence was developed, namely:

entrance and introductory diagnostics \rightarrow goalmotivational module (formation to students of a system of motives and an approximate basis for activities in the virtual space) \rightarrow cognitive-operational module (solving a system of educational tasks to develop components of digital competence, forming of constituent elements of digital competencies, inputting them into Didactic Terms of Shaping Pedagogical Universities Students' Digital Competence in the Process of Teaching Informatics Courses

Criteria and indicators	Experimental group	Control group
Motivational-value criterion	+25.26%	+10.75%
Formation coefficient / χ^2 – Pearson's criterion	+0.09 / 79.28	+0.04 / 7.43
Cognitive-informational criterion	+35.79%	+13.98%
Formation coefficient / χ^2 – Pearson's criterion	+0.11 / 143.48	+0.04 / 9.54
Operational-activity criterion	+23.16%	+7.53%
Functional literacy in information and data	+0.11%	+0.04%
Effective communication and cooperation competence	+0.11%	+0.02%
Creation of digital content competence	+0.07%	+0.01%
Security competence	+0.08%	+0.03%
Problem-solving competence	+0.07%	+0.02%
Formation coefficient / χ^2 – Pearson's criterion	+0.09 / 63.58	+0.03 / 3.21
Personal-reflexive criterion	+17.89%	+13.98%
Formation coefficient / χ^2 – Pearson's criterion	+0.06 / 31.73	+0.04 / 9.95
The level of digital competence	+26.32%	+10.75%
Elementary	-17.89%	-9.68%
Intermediate	-8.42%	-1.08%
Sufficient	+16.84%	+8.6%
Advanced	+9.47%	+2.15%
Formation coefficient / χ^2 – Pearson's criterion	+0.09 / 113.95	+0.04 / 9.74

Table 1: Comparative results of experimental work.

the metastructure of digital competence during the creation, search, processing, exchange of information) \rightarrow control and result module (control, evaluation, self-assessment, correction of the formed constructs via information and digital learning environments).

This work was supported by a system of study tasks, contextual, game and problem situations, and web quests created by, which in their content covered motivational and value, cognitive and informational, operational and activity, and personal and reflective aspects of students' activities in the virtual space. The content of the tasks was aimed at both understanding, comprehension, and memorization, structuring the learned tools in the student's memory, actualization and reflection on their own activities.

Ensuring the systematic complication of students' study activities, diagnostics and timely correction of its products based on modern ICTs, as the next didactic term, involved the introduction of virtual space tools that together optimized and intensified the learning of students of computer science disciplines. These include new ways of organizing classes, technological models of mobile, distance, and blended learning, game design, video and teleconferencing, web forums, and workshops in synchronous and asynchronous modes.

The corrective stage involved monitoring and correcting the results of students' learning activities using both general (testing, questionnaires, interviews, tests) and specific methods (competency matrices, expert cards, cases, learning projects, blog).

According to the results of quantitative, qualitative and statistical analysis of the experimental work results, a tendency towards positive changes in the levels of students' digital competence formation both by separate criteria and in general has been established (table 1).

The comparative analysis revealed a positive dynamic of achievements of pedagogical university students of both groups, which, however, is more pronounced and statistically significant for students of the experimental group. According to the research results, the cognitive-informational (+35.79%) and motivational-value (+25.26%) structural-criterion components have turned out the most developed. Changes in the control group's indicators are due to the influence of the educational process and the overall development of students. The non-randomness of the obtained changes was proved with the use the mathematical statistics methods.

5 CONCLUSIONS

1. The study analyses the procedural and substantive aspects of the competence approach as a leading paradigm of higher pedagogical education, clarifies the role and importance of informatization and digitalization in the development of the educational space, highlights the need for digitalization of science education (STEM education) and the urgency of end-to-end integrated systematic design of advanced content of teaching computer science disciplines to students of pedagogical universities. On this basis, the place of digital competence in the structure of the professional competence of future teachers is determined as a key and essential component in performing motivational and incentive, gnostic and transformative, activitymethodological, evaluative and reflective, and communicative and procedural functions in their professional activities and social practice. At the same time, it is established that the problems in the formation of students' digital competence during the study of computer science disciplines in traditional approaches are associated with the prevalence of a knowledgeoriented paradigm in the organization of the information and digital learning environment, the focus on the one-sided mastery of the basics of algorithmization and programming and software of computer systems. Yet another reason is the insufficient level of educational innovations introduced in the teaching of computer science disciplines.

2. It has been found that the digital competence of pedagogical university students is inherently a dynamic characteristic of a personality determining the ability and capacity to purposefully use ICT to create, search, process, and exchange information in the digital space, to demonstrate information and media literacy, to comply with Internet security and cybersecurity rules, to understand and consciously adhere to ethics in working with information, to creatively introduce ICT innovations in professional and pedagogical activities, to promote the development of relevant their students' digital competence.

Digital competence is an integrative quality that encompasses a set of competencies necessary to navigate and operate in the information space in order to fulfil personal and social needs and carry out professional activities. These include functional literacy in information and data, communication and collaboration competence, digital content competence, digital security competence, and problem-solving competence.

The structural and criterion components of digital competence are motivational-value (indicators: interest in mastering information in the subject area; motivation to use ICT to search for information), cognitive-informational (indicators: knowledge of information sources, methods of working with information, methods of presenting information, knowledge of security and cybersecurity), operational-activity (mastery of methods of obtaining, storing, processing and transmitting information, ability to use information technology in working with sources), and personal-reflexive (indicators: a reflection of information activities, the ability to evaluate information differently and critically select it). It allows monitoring of their formation during the study of informatics disciplines according to the signs of elementary, intermediate, sufficient and advanced levels.

3. The didactic support of shaping pedagogical university students' digital competence in the process of teaching informatics courses has been developed. By analyzing educational programs, the content basis for the formation of the studied phenomenon is represented by three areas in the study of computer science disciplines (algorithmization and programming, computer system software, and computer technologies in the teacher's professional activity), as well as the possibilities of a variable block of the curriculum, in particular, using the LMS of HEIs, MOOCs and open educational resources.

The set of didactic terms for shaping pedagogical university students' digital competence in the process of teaching informatics courses has been determined and justified. Among them are the following ones: 1) motivational conditionality of interaction of subjects' educational process in the information and digital learning environment; 2) structuring of educational information in the form of problematic, heuristic and integrative models of learning and its translation into the project activities mode; 3) ensuring the systemic complicating nature of students' study activities, diagnosis and timely correction of its products on the basis of modern ICT.

4. The effectiveness of creating the system of didactic terms is ensured by the substantiation and experimental verification of the didactic model, which schematically reflects the system of work on the formation of the digital competence characterizing the hierarchy, sequence, components, stages, blocks and applied tools, connections between them and performs orientation, analytical, formative and corrective functions in the organization of teaching students of computer science disciplines.

The implemented didactic modelling led to the content, specification and correction of the educational goals of the components of teaching the pedagogical universities students (target, theoretical and methodological, content and processual and criterion and diagnostic blocks), structuring of educational material into functional modules (goal-motivational, cognitive-operational and control-resultant ones); made possible the logic and gradual introduction of didactic terms for the formation of digital competence in the educational process, in the classroom and students' independent study work.

The motivational conditionality of the interaction of the subjects of the educational process in the infor-

mation and digital learning environment contributed to a shift in emphasis from the mentoring model of communication between teachers and students to the partnership model.

Structuring educational information in the form of problem-based, heuristic, and integrative learning models and transferring it to the project activity mode made it possible to transform students' reproductive activities into creative ones, which contributed to the skills development to navigate the information space, generalize and integrate knowledge, and choose effective ways and methods of solving problems.

Ensuring the systematic complication of students' study activities, diagnostics and timely correction of its products based on modern ICTs made it possible to gradually increase the complexity of the learning tasks performed, contributed to students' confidence in their abilities and building-up motivation and interest in learning.

Apart from traditional study means additional academic modules were created including special and elective courses in Digital Technologies and 3D Modelling.

According to the results of the empirical research in the experimental groups, there is a statistically significant dynamics in the levels of students' digital competence, namely a 17.89% decrease in the number of students with an elementary level, an 8.42%reduction in the number of students with an intermediate level, 16.84% increase in the number of students with a sufficient level, 9.47% – with a high level. The cognitive-informational, operational-activity and structural-criterion components of digital competence have developed the most.

The paper does not exhaust all aspects of this problem. Further research is reasonable to update the content of educational programs of pedagogical universities in accordance with the needs of the information society and the goals of STEM education; modernization of computer modelling training based on the use of modern tools and software, factors of improving the content and mechanisms for organizing students' activities in the information and digital learning environment, ways to develop and apply educational SMART systems.

REFERENCES

- (2016). Project "Digital Agenda of Ukraine" 2020. Conceptual Background (version 1.0). https://ucci.org.ua/ uploads/files/58e78ee3c3922.pdf.
- Aleksiuk, A. M. (1993). Pedahohika vyshchoi shkoly. Kurs lektsii: modulne navchannia. Kyiv. derzh. un-t, Kyiv.

- Balyk, N., Vasylenko, Y., Shmyger, G., Oleksiuk, V., and Skaskiv, A. (2019). Design of Approaches to the Development of Teacher's Digital Competencies in the Process of Their Lifelong Learning. In Ermolayev, V., Mallet, F., Yakovyna, V., Kharchenko, V. S., Kobets, V., Kornilowicz, A., Kravtsov, H., Nikitchenko, M. S., Semerikov, S., and Spivakovsky, A., editors, *Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kherson, Ukraine, June 12-15, 2019*, volume 2393 of *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*, pages 204–219. CEUR-WS.org. http: //ceur-ws.org/Vol-2393/paper_237.pdf.
- Bespalko, V. P. (1960). Requirements of educational films for professional and technical education. *Soviet Education*, 2(3):17–19. https://doi.org/10.2753/ RES1060-9393020317.
- Bespalko, V. P. (2018). Kyberpedahohyka. Pedahohycheskye osnovy upravliaemoho kompiuterom obuchenyia (E-Learning) (Cyberpedagogy pedagogical basics of computer assisted education (E-Learning)). Narodnoe obrazovanie, Moskva.
- Bilousova, L. I., Gryzun, L. E., Lytvynova, S. H., and Pikalova, V. V. (2022). Modelling in GeoGebra in the Context of Holistic Approach Realization in Mathematical Training of Pre-service Specialists. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 1: AET*, pages 499–510. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10. 5220/0010925700003364.
- Bondarchuk, O., Balakhtar, V., Gorova, O., Lytvynenko, N., Pinchuk, N., Shmanko, O., Kiv, A., and Oleksiuk, V. (2022). Features of responsibility of future specialists of the socionomic professions as an indicator of their digital competence. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(1):35–55. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.12.
- Burov, O., Bykov, V., and Lytvynova, S. (2020). ICT Evolution: from Single Computational Tasks to Modeling of Life. In Sokolov, O., Zholtkevych, G., Yakovyna, V., Tarasich, Y., Kharchenko, V., Kobets, V., Burov, O., Semerikov, S., and Kravtsov, H., editors, *Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on ICT in Education, Research and Industrial Applications. Integration, Harmonization and Knowledge Transfer. Volume II: Workshops, Kharkiv, Ukraine, October 06-10, 2020*, volume 2732 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 583–590. CEUR-WS.org. http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2732/20200583.pdf.
- Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine (2013). Strategy for the Development of the Information Society in Ukraine. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/ 386-2013-%D1%80#Text.
- Carretero, S., Vuorikari, R., and Punie, Y. (2017). *DigComp* 2.1: The Digital Competence Framework for Citizens with eight proficiency levels and examples of use. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg. https://doi.org/10.2760/38842.
- Chernilevskyi, D. V., Antonova, O. Y., Baranovska, L. V., Vozniuk, O. V., and Dubaseniuk, O. A. (2010).

Metodolohiia naukovoi diialnosti. Vydavnytstvo AM-SKP, Vinnytsia.

- Dakhin, A. (2012). Modelirovanie kompetentnosti uchastnikov otkryitogo obschego obrazovaniya.
- Elkin, O., Hrynevych, L., kalashnikova, S., Khobzey, P., Kobernyk, I., Kovtunets, V., Makarenko, O., Malakhova, O., Nanayeva, T., Shiyan, R., and Usatenko, H. (2017). *The New Ukrainian School: conceptual principles of secondry school reform.* https://mon.gov.ua/storage/app/media/zagalna% 20serednya/Book-ENG.pdf.
- European Commission, Joint Research Centre, Redecker, C., and Punie, Y. (2017). European Framework for the Digital Competence of Educators: DigCompEdu. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg. https://doi.org/10.2760/159770.
- Falfushynska, H. I., Buyak, B. B., Tereshchuk, H. V., Torbin, G. M., and Kasianchuk, M. M. (2021). Strengthening of e-learning at the leading Ukrainian pedagogical universities in the time of COVID-19 pandemic. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 8:261–273. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.237.
- Gershunsky, B. S. and Pullin, R. T. (1990). Current Dilemmas for Soviet Secondary Education: an Anglo-Soviet Analysis. *Comparative Education*, 26(2-3):307–318. https://doi.org/10.1080/0305006900260212.
- Gurevych, R. S., Klochko, O. V., Klochko, V. I., Kovtoniuk, M. M., and Opushko, N. R. (2020). Computer science teachers' readiness to develop and use computer didactic games in educational process. *Information technologies and learning tools*, 75(1):122–137. https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v75i1.3394.
- Havrilova, L. H. and Topolnik, Y. V. (2017). Digital culture, digital literacy, digital competence as the modern educational phenomena. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 61(5):1–14. https://doi.org/10.33407/ itlt.v61i5.1744.
- Honcharenko, S. U., editor (2000). Vocational education: vocabulary. Vyshcha shkola, Kyiv.
- Honcharenko, S. U. (2012). Naukovi shkoly v pedahohitsi [Scientific schools in pedagogy]. In Kremen, V. and Levovitsky, T., editors, Stanovlennia i rozvytok naukovo-pedahohichnykh shkil: problemy, dosvid, perspektyvy [Formation and development of scientific and pedagogical schools: problems, experience, perspectives], pages 27–43. Vyd-vo ZhDU imeni Ivana Franka, Zhytomyr. http://eprints.zu.edu.ua/id/eprint/ 8552.
- Hrynevych, L., Morze, N., Vember, V., and Boiko, M. (2021). Use of digital tools as a component of STEM education ecosystem. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(1):118–139. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq. 24.
- Hrynevych, L. M., Khoruzha, L. L., and Proshkin, V. V. (2022). Improving the quality of mathematical education of pupils: diagnostics and analytics. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 2288(1):012022. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/2288/1/012022.
- Hurevych, R. S., Kademiia, M. I., and Koziar, M. M. (2012). Informatsiino-komunikatsiini tekhnolohii v

profesiinii osviti maibutnikh fakhivtsiv [Information and communication technologies in the professional education of future specialists]. LDU BZhD, Lviv.

- Kademiya, M. Y. and Kobysia, V. M. (2017). Implementation SMART-learning tools of modern network technologies. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 4:36–40. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.322.
- Khutorskaya, A. V. and Korol, A. D. (2008). Dialogue as a problem of modern education (philosophical and methodological aspect) [Dialogichnost' kak problema sovremennogo obrazovaniia (filosofskometodologicheskii aspekt)]. *Voprosy Filosofii*, (4):109 – 115.
- Kodliuk, Y., Bibik, N., Kodliuk, I., Kodliuk, L., and Radchenko, O. (2021). School textbook as an object of pedagogical research. SHS Web of Conferences, 104:02009. https://doi.org/10.1051/shsconf/ 202110402009.
- Kukharenko, V., Shunevych, B., and Kravtsov, H. (2022). Distance course examination. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(1):1–19. https://doi.org/10. 55056/etq.4.
- Kuts, M. and Lavrentieva, O. (2022). Ergonomic aspects of computer-oriented pedagogical technologies implementation in teaching foreign languages to students of higher education institutions. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(1):88–104. https://doi.org/10.55056/ etq.9.
- Lozova, V. I. (2003). Stratehichni pytannia suchasnoi dydaktyky. Shliakh osvity, (2(28)):11–16.
- Madzigon, V. M. and Vachevskyi, M. V. (2011). Quality of education system as a factor for high level of professional competences of marketing managers. *Actual Problems of Economics*, 115(1):69 – 76.
- Manovich, L. (2001). *The Language of New Media*. The MIT Press. https://dss-edit.com/plu/Manovich-Lev_The_Language_of_the_New_Media.pdf.
- Martyniuk, O. O., Martyniuk, O. S., and Muzyka, I. O. (2021). Formation of informational and digital competence of secondary school students in laboratory work in physics. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 8:366–383. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.294.
- Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine (2018). Polozhennia pro Natsionalnu osvitniu elektronnu platformu [Regulation on the National Educational Electronic Platform]. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/ show/z0702-18#Text.
- Moiseienko, M. (2020). Didactic model of formation pedagogical universities students' digital competence. *Educational Dimension*, 3:347–357. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.v55i0.4379.
- Moiseienko, M. V., Moiseienko, N. V., and Kiv, A. E. (2020a). Didactic conditions for the formation of digital competence of students of pedagogical universities. *Educational Dimension*, 2:165–178. https: //doi.org/10.31812/educdim.v54i2.3866.
- Moiseienko, M. V., Moiseienko, N. V., Kohut, I. V., and Kiv, A. E. (2020b). Digital competence of pedagogical university student: definition, structure and didactical conditions of formation. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 7:60–70. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.310.

- Morze, N., Buinytska, O., Varchenko-Trotsenko, L., Vasylenko, S., Nastas, D., Tiutiunnyk, A., and Lytvynova, S. (2022). System for digital professional development of university teachers. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2022(2):152–168. https: //doi.org/10.55056/etq.6.
- Ogneviuk, V., Morze, N., Buinytska, O., and Varchenko-Trotsenko, L. (2020). *I am in the digital environment of the university*, chapter 5, pages 117–174. I am a student. Borys Grinchenko Kyiv University, Kyiv, 9t edition.
- Ovcharuk, O. (2020). European strategy for determining the level of competence in the field of digital technologies: a framework for digital competence for citizens. *Educational Dimension*, 3:25–36. https://doi.org/10. 31812/educdim.v55i0.4381.
- Ovcharuk, O. and Ivaniuk, I. (2021). A self-assessment tool of the level of digital competence of ukrainian teachers in the context of lifelong learning: the results of an online survey 2021. *Educational Dimension*, 5:75–88. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim.4719.
- Ovcharuk, O. V., Gurzhii, A. M., Ivaniuk, I. V., Kartashova, L. A., Hrytsenchuk, O. O., Vakaliuk, T. A., and Shyshkina, M. P. (2022). The use of digital tools by secondary school teachers for the implementation of distance learning in the context of digital transformation in Ukraine. *CTE Workshop Proceedings*, 9:16–27. https://doi.org/10.55056/cte.96.
- Pinchuk, O. and Prokopenko, A. (2021). Actual areas of development of digital competence of officers of the Armed Forces of Ukraine. *Educational Dimension*, 5:89–108. https://doi.org/10.31812/educdim.4720.
- Polat, E. S. (2004). Pedagogical technologies for distance learning. Upravlyayushchie Sistemy i Mashiny, (4):62–69.
- Pometun, O. I. (2003). The youth choses to act a new approach to youth education. In *Metod proektiv: traditsiyi, perspektivi, zhittyevi rezultati*, pages 327–333.
- Prokhorov, O. V., Lisovichenko, V. O., Mazorchuk, M. S., and Kuzminska, O. H. (2022). Implementation of digital technology for student involvement based on a 3d quest game for career guidance and assessing students' digital competences. *Educational Technol*ogy Quarterly, 2022(4):366–387. https://doi.org/10. 55056/etq.430.
- Rakov, S. A. (2005). Mathematical education: a competence approach using ICT. Kharkiv.
- Ramsky, Y. and Rezina, O. (2005). Study of information search systems of the internet. In Mittermeir, R. T., editor, From Computer Literacy to Informatics Fundamentals, International Conference on Informatics in Secondary Schools - Evolution and Perspectives, ISSEP 2005, Klagenfurt, Austria, March 30 -April 1, 2005, Proceedings, volume 3422 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 84–91. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-31958-0_11.
- Raven, J. (2020). The Outstanding Properties of the *Standard Progressive Matrices Plus* test. http://eyeonsociety.co.uk/resources/ Outstanding-properties-of-SPM-PLUS.pdf.

- Riezina, O. V., Puzikova, A. V., and Kotyak, V. V. (2022). The experience of thesis writing in terms of the methodological students' digital competence development. *Educational Dimension*, 7:242–260. https: //doi.org/10.31812/educdim.4715.
- Robert, I., Martirosyan, L., Gerova, N., Kastornova, V., Mukhametzyanov, I., and Dimova, A. (2016). Implementation of the Internet for Educational Purposes. In Uskov, V. L., Howlett, R. J., and Jain, L. C., editors, *Smart Education and e-Learning 2016*, volume 59 of *Smart Innovation, Systems and Technologies*, pages 573–583, Cham. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-39690-3_51.
- Rybalko, L., Topuzov, O., and Velychko, L. (2020). Natural science education concept for sustainable development. *E3S Web of Conferences*, 166:10030. https: //doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/202016610030.
- Semerikov, S., Teplytskyi, I., Yechkalo, Y., Markova, O., Soloviev, V., and Kiv, A. (2022). Using spreadsheets as learning tools for neural network simulation. *Ukrainian Journal of Educational Studies and Information Technology*, 10(3):42–68. https://doi.org/10. 32919/uesit.2022.03.04.
- Semychenko, V. A. (2004). Problems of motivation of human behavior and activity. Modular psychology course. Module "Orientation" (Lectures, practical exercises, assignments for independent work) (Problemy motivatsii povedeniya i deyatel'nosti cheloveka. Modul'nyy kurs psikhologii. Modul' "Napravlennost" (Lektsii, prakticheskiye zanyatiya, zadaniya dlya samostoyatel'noy raboty)). Milenium, Kyiv.
- Slastenin, V. A., Isaev, I. F., Mishhenko, A. I., and Shijanov, E. N. (1997). *Pedagogika [Pedagogy]*. Shkola-Press, Moscow.
- Soroko, N. (2021). The augmented reality functions to support the STEAM education at general education institutions. *Physical and Mathematical Education*, 29(3):24–30. https://doi.org/10.31110/ 2413-1571-2021-029-3-004.
- Spivakovsky, A. V., Petukhova, L. Y., Omelchuk, S. A., Spivakovska, Y. A., Kotkova, V. V., and Yurchuk, Y. Y. (2022). The Evolution of the Information and Educational Environment in the Context of the Theory of Generational Development. In Semerikov, S., Osadchyi, V., and Kuzminska, O., editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Symposium on Advances in Educational Technology - Volume 1: AET*, pages 287– 299. INSTICC, SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/ 0010923800003364.
- Spivakovsky, O. V., Lvov, M. S., and Kravtsov, H. M. (2013). Innovatsiini metody upravlinnia informatsiinymy aktyvamy vyshchoho navchalnoho zakladu (Innovative methods of management of information assets of the university. *Kompiuter u shkoli ta simi*, 3:3– 7.
- Stommel, J. (2014). Critical Digital Pedagogy: a Definition. https://hybridpedagogy.org/ critical-digital-pedagogy-definition/.
- Sultanova, L., Khomych, L., Tsiuniak, O., and Romaniuk, O. (2021). Structural and functional model of developing pedagogical skills of teachers of economics

in Master's degree programmes. SHS Web of Conferences, 104:02013. https://doi.org/10.1051/shsconf/ 202110402013.

Sysoieva, S. O. (1998). Pedahohichna tvorchist. Karavela.

- Teplytskyi, O., Teplytskyi, I., Semerikov, S., and Soloviev, V. (2019). Training future teachers in natural sciences and mathematics by means of computer simulation: a social constructivist approach. arXiv. https://doi.org/ 10.48550/arXiv.1907.09726.
- Trius, Y. and Sotulenko, O. (2017). Creating a distance learning support system for health professionals based on Moodle. In Automation and computerintegrated technologies in production and education: state, achievements, development prospects: materials All-Ukrainian scientific-practical Internet conference (AKIT-2017), page 259–261, Cherkasy. ChNU B. Khmelnytsky.
- Vakaliuk, T., Spirin, O., and Kontsedailo, V. (2021a). Criteria for selecting open web-oriented technologies for teaching the basics of programming to future software engineers. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(1):3. https://doi.org/10.55056/etq.16.
- Vakaliuk, T., Spirin, O., and Kontsedailo, V. (2021b). Formation of digital competence of CS bachelors in the use of cloud-based learning environments. *Educational Technology Quarterly*, 2021(3):388–401. https: //doi.org/10.55056/etq.26.
- Vuorikari, R., Punie, Y., Carretero, S., and Van den Brande, L. (2016). DigComp 2.0: The Digital Competence Framework for Citizens. Update Phase 1: The Conceptual Reference Model. Publication Office of the European Union, Luxembourg. https://doi.org/10. 2791/11517.
- Zhaldak, M. I., editor (2012). Otsinyuvannya yakosti prohramnykh zasobiv navchalnoho pryznachennya dlya zahalnoosvitnikh navchalnykh zakladiv [Evaluation of the quality of educational software for general educational institutions]. Pedahohichna dumka, Kyiv. https://lib.iitta.gov.ua/619/.
- Zhaldak, M. I., Goroshko, Y. V., Vinnychenko, E. F., and Tsybko, G. Y. (2012). *Mathematics with a computer: The teacher's guide*. National Dragomanov Pedagogical University, Kyiv, 3 edition. http://erpub.chnpu. edu.ua:8080/jspui/handle/123456789/1523.
- Ziaziun, I. A. (1989). A teacher for all seasons. Soviet Education, 31(8):38–54. https://doi.org/10.2753/ RES1060-9393310838.
- Zimnyaya, I. (2021). A psychological analysis of translation as a type of speech activity, volume 3.

AUTHOR INDEX

Achkan, V. 40 Amelina, S. 390, 61 Antonenko, P. 688, 73 Antoniuk, D. 92, 588, 64 Artyukhov, A. 54 Astafieva, M. 85	6 7 3 4 2 0
Balakhtar, K. 20, 7 Balakhtar, V. 20, 7 Bielinskyi, A. 19 Bilousova, L. 62 Bilyk, Z. 688, 73 Bobyliev, D. 17 Bodnenko, D. 554, 60 Bondar, K. 20, 7 Branitska, T. 30 Buinytska, O. 35, 118, 23 Burov, O. 66	559930515362
Chorna, A	8 6 4 5
Didkivska, S 462, 64 Didkivskyi, V 9 Dmitrenko, N 67 Dolins'ka, L	14 12 15 13 19 13
Fayerman, O. 51 Fedorenko, E. 253, 326, 37 Fedorets, V. 303, 48 Fedyk, T. 60 Franchuk, N. 281, 29 Franchuk, V. 281, 29	5 18 18 15 13
Garpul, O	3 54 50 52 9 8
Hamaniuk, V	31 60 44 68 63 72

Hryshchenko, Y	
Hrytseliak, B236	
5	
Ignatenko, O	
Kaidan, N	
Kaidan V 326 378	
Kalashnikov I 675	
Karashinkov, I	
Karpiuk, v	
Kasatkina, O	
Kateryniuk, H675	
Kazhan, Y 817	
Khoroshailo, V 103	
Kiv, A	
Klochko, O	
Klochko V 303 488	
Kolgatin O 144	
Kolgatina I 144	
Kolgatilla, L	
Konosnevskyi, O 488	
Kopylova, O	
Korolchuk, V 432, 448, 760	
Korzh, O 605	
Kosovets, O658	
Kostikov, A 103	
Kovtoniuk, M 488, 658	
Kramarenko, T	
Kruglyk, V. 158	
Kucherenko I 62	
Kucherovska V 751	
Kuchen V 62	
Kuchyn, I. $\dots \dots	
Kukilaiciluk, K 1/9	
Kuls, M	
Kuzminska, O 20, 760	
Lavrentieva, O 46, 869	
Lehka, L	
Leonova, I	
Levkivskyi, V 564	
Lokaziuk, O554, 605	
Lovianova, I	
Lytovchenko, D	
Lytovchenko O 804	
$I \text{ vtvvn } \mathbf{O} $	
Lytvyn, O	
Lytymenko N 75	
Lytvynenko, N	

Medvediev, M	644
Medvedieva, M	588
Megalinska, A	688
Merzlikin, P	220
Mintii, I	272
Modlo, Y	804
Moiseienko, M	869
Moiseienko, N Mokriiev, M432, Morkun, V Morze, N35, 236, 421, 4 751	869 760 272 476,
Mulesa, P	338
Mykhailenko, L	675
Mykytenko, P	. 62
Naumenko, O	. 62
Nechypurenko, P	835
Novitska, I179, 462,	588
Oleksiuk, O	349 349 . 92 . 20 179 588
Panarina, I	564 448 362 .75 768 860 0,75 .20 794 554 733 554, 529
Rovenska, O	406
Ryabko, A	179
Saiapina, T Samusenko, P Savchenko, I Selyshcheva, I Semenikhina, O338, Semerikov, S 220, 272, 3 617, 825, 835	432 768 362 781 529 390,

Serdiuk, I158
Shaida, R
Shapovalov, B5
Shapovalov, V 5, 128, 362,
578, 688, 733
Shapovalov, Y 5, 128, 362,
578, 688, 733
Shapovalova, I
Shen, L
Shestopalova, O721
Shmanko, O75
Shokaliuk, S
Shynkaruk, V 390
Shyshkina, M
Simakhova, A
Smirnova, V
Soia, O
Soloviev, V
Spirin, O 349, 462, 588

Starychenko, Y
Striuk, A 605
Strutynska, O 421
Tarasenko, R 128, 362, 390,
617
Tarasova, O
Terletska, T
Tkachuk, V
Tokarieva, A
Tsybko, H
Turzhanska, O
Tverdokhlib, I605
Usenko, S 128, 362, 733
Vakaliuk, T. 92, 179, 462, 588,
644
Varchenko-Trotsenko, L 35,
476

Vasylenko, S	3
Velychko, V253, 326, 378	3
Vizghalov, O92	2
Vlasenko, K 103, 406	5
Vlasenko, O62	2
Volkova, N 46, 515	5
Voloshyna, T 432, 448, 760)
Yanchuk, V	2
Yechkalo, Y	5
Yurchenko, A 529)
Zaika, O179)
Zavalnuk, V	3
Zhadan, S 688, 733	3
Zhaldak, M	3
Zhytienova, N629)
Zinchenko, V	5

PUBLISHED BY:



SUPPORTED BY:



CO-ORGANIZED BY:



IN COLLABORATION WITH:



Copyright © 2023 by SCITEPRESS – Science and Technvology Publications, Lda. Under CC license (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)

ISBN: 978-989-758-662-0

